SPRINGER REFERENCE

DAVID E. FISHER BORIS C. BASTIAN EDITORS

Melanoma



Melanoma

David E. Fisher • Boris C. Bastian Editors

Melanoma

With 160 Figures and 55 Tables



Editors David E. Fisher Department of Dermatology Harvard/MGH Cutaneous Biology Research Center and Melanoma Program MGH Cancer Center Massachusetts General Hospital Harvard Medical School Boston, MA, USA

Boris C. Bastian Departments of Dermatology and Pathology Helen Diller Family Comprehensive Cancer Center University of California, San Francisco San Francisco, CA, USA

ISBN 978-1-4614-7148-6 ISBN 978-1-4614-7147-9 (eBook) ISBN 978-1-4614-7146-2 (print and electronic bundle) https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-7147-9

© Springer Science+Business Media, LLC, part of Springer Nature 2019

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors, and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, express or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

This Springer imprint is published by the registered company Springer Science+Business Media, LLC, part of Springer Nature.

The registered company address is: 233 Spring Street, New York, NY 10013, U.S.A.

To the memory of our son Samuel Fisher (1991–2016) —David E. Fisher

To my children Lennart, Ingmar, Stella, and Juliet —Boris C. Bastian

Preface

The scientific and clinical melanoma research communities have made tremendous progress over the last two decades, which produced a dramatic improvement in outcome for patients with advanced disease as well as remarkable insights into the biology of the disease. These advances were catalyzed by a quantum leap in techniques to interrogate the cancer genomes and in breakthrough discoveries into ways through which cancers evade eradication by immune cells. Massive parallel sequencing enabled the large-scale cataloging of genetic alterations and development of matching drugs that set the stage for therapies that target specific mutations in the tumor of the individual patient. Functional analyses of the interaction of immune cells with each other and with cancer cells have informed ways to block key mechanisms that tumor cells hijack to paralyze the immune system.

The field continues to move forward at high speed after this phenomenally productive period in research that is akin to the Cambrian explosion in the evolution of life on Earth. This book represents a systematic effort of many of the thought leaders in the field to comprehensively portrait the current understanding of key aspects related to melanoma. It is written with a broad audience in mind that we hope will include students and professionals from basic and translational research as well as the community of clinical caregivers. One of the most impactful aspects of this "melanoma revolution" has been the rapid deployment of similar tools and therapeutic strategies to other highly challenging human cancers. It is our hope that the revolution will continue, both for patients with melanoma who still require great advances due to unmet needs and for the broader cancer community which may continue to benefit from ongoing progress in melanoma science and clinical discovery.

July, 2019

David E. Fisher Boris C. Bastian

Contents

Part	I Introductory Concepts	1
1	Developmental Biology of Melanocytes Lukas Sommer	3
2	The Biology of Pigmentation	21
3	Ultraviolet Radiation and Melanoma Thomas M. Rünger	51
4	Key Signaling Pathways in Normal and NeoplasticMelanocytesAndrew E. Aplin and Ashani T. Weeraratna	63
5	Epigenetic Regulation in Melanoma Michelle Dang and Leonard Zon	83
6	Melanoma Metabolism Franziska Baenke, Nathalie Dhomen, Eyal Gottlieb, and Richard Marais	99
7	Molecular Genetics of Melanocytic Neoplasia Eran Hodis and Levi A. Garraway	123
8	Biology of Melanoma Metastasis	147
9	Principles of Targeted Therapy Gideon Bollag and Keith T. Flaherty	165
10	Melanomics: Comprehensive Molecular Analysis of Normal and Neoplastic MelanocytesXuan Tien Steven Nguyen and Ian R. Watson	181
11	Inherited Contributions to Melanoma Risk	225
12	Epidemiology of Melanocytic Neoplasia Margaret Anne Tucker	249

13	Prevention of Cutaneous Melanoma Craig Sinclair, Louise F. Wilson, Catherine Olsen, and Anna Nicholson	271
14	Microbiome and Melanoma	287
15	Animal Models of Melanoma Zackie Aktary, Martin McMahon, and Lionel Larue	303
Part	II Types of Melanocytic Neoplasms	335
16	Primary Cutaneous Melanocytic Neoplasms Pedram Gerami	337
17	Congenital Melanocytic Naevi Veronica A. Kinsler, Miguel Reyes-Mugica, and Ashfaq Marghoob	365
18	Spitz Tumors	395
19	Acral Melanoma Toshiaki Saida	411
20	Mucosal Melanoma Tjoson Tjoa and Kevin Emerick	439
21	Ocular Melanoma Armin R. Afshar, Bertil E. Damato, and Boris C. Bastian	453
22	Desmoplastic Melanoma Teresa A. Bailey, John F. Thompson, and Richard A. Scolyer	469
Part	III Clinical Management	483
23	Melanoma Clinical Staging (Historical and Current) Michael E. Egger and Jeffrey E. Gershenwald	485
24	Clinical Management of Primary Cutaneous Melanoma Sonia Cohen and Kenneth Tanabe	501
25	Management of Locally and Regionally RecurrentMelanomaCristina O'Donoghue, Jonathan S. Zager, andVernon K. Sondak	515
26	Melanoma Brain Metastasis: Insights, Progress,Challenges, and OpportunitiesGrant M. Fischer and Michael A. Davies	535

х

27	Imaging Melanoma Richard L. Wahl	557
28	Genetic Counseling Kelly Jo Hamman, Wendy Kohlmann, and Sancy Leachman	583
29	Artificial Intelligence Approach in Melanoma Clara Curiel-Lewandrowski, Roberto A. Novoa, Elizabeth Berry, M. Emre Celebi, Noel Codella, Felipe Giuste, David Gutman, Allan Halpern, Sancy Leachman, Yuan Liu, Yun Liu, Ofer Reiter, and Philipp Tschandl	599
30	Molecular Diagnostics in Melanocytic Neoplasia	629
31	Melanoma Immunology and Immunotherapy Ryan J. Sullivan and F. Stephen Hodi	651
32	Targeted Therapy in Advanced MelanomaJeffrey A. Sosman and Douglas B. Johnson	667
33	Combinatorial Approach to Treatment of Melanoma Kamran Abri and Adil I. Daud	687
34	Viral-Based Therapies in Melanoma Ann Silk, Praveen K. Bommareddy, and Howard L. Kaufman	699
35	Adjuvant Therapy Diwakar Davar and John M. Kirkwood	717
36	Cutaneous Adverse Events of Systemic Melanoma Treatments Christian Menzer, Steven T. Chen, Gregory S. Phillips, and Mario E. Lacouture	743
37	Side Effects of Systemic Therapy and Their ClinicalManagementSuthee Rapisuwon and Geoffrey T. Gibney	773
38	Evolving Role of the Oncology Nurse in the Care of Patients with Melanoma Krista M. Rubin	791
Inde	x	819

About the Editors



David E. Fisher Department of Dermatology, Harvard/MGH Cutaneous Biology Research Center, and Melanoma Program, MGH Cancer Center, Massachusetts General Hospital, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, USA

David E. Fisher, M.D., Ph.D., is chief of the Department of Dermatology at Massachusetts General Hospital (MGH). He also serves as director of Mass General's Cutaneous Biology Research Center, director of the Melanoma Center, and chair of the MGH Executive Committee on Research. A professor of dermatology and of pediatrics at Harvard Medical School, Dr. Fisher came to Mass General from the Dana-Farber Cancer Institute, where he previously directed the melanoma program. Dr. Fisher's research has focused on understanding the molecular and genetic events which underlie formation of melanoma as well as skin pigmentation. As a clinician, he has worked to translate these understandings into advances in diagnosis, treatment, and prevention of human diseases related to the skin and associated disorders.

A graduate of Swarthmore College with a degree in biology and chemistry, Dr. Fisher is also an accomplished concert cellist and graduated from the Curtis Institute of Music in Philadelphia. He received his doctorate under Nobel Laureate Gunter Blobel and Henry Kunkel at Rockefeller University and his medical degree at Cornell University Medical College. Dr. Fisher's specialty training in Medicine, Pediatrics, and Oncology were carried out at Dana-Farber Cancer Institute, Boston Children's Hospital, and Brigham and Women's Hospital, Harvard Medical School. His research contributions include elucidation of the pathway through which UV radiation induces pigmentation, identification of MITF as master transcriptional regulator in melanocytes and melanoma oncogene, novel approaches to melanoma treatment and prevention, and discovery of the link between ultraviolet radiation and addictive behaviors.



Boris C. Bastian Departments of Dermatology and Pathology, Helen Diller Family Comprehensive Cancer Center, University of California, San Francisco, San Francisco, CA, USA

Boris C. Bastian, M.D., received his medical degree from the University of Munich, Germany. He completed his residency in dermatology at the University of Würzburg, Germany. He did a postdoctoral fellowship at the Cancer Genetics Program at the University of California, San Francisco, and joined the UCSF faculty in 1999 with appointments in dermatology and pathology. He served as the chair of the Pathology Department at Memorial Sloan-Kettering Cancer Center and was president of the Society of Melanoma Research from 2010 to 2013. In 2011 he returned to UCSF, where he now leads a research laboratory focused on the genetic underpinnings of skin cancer with the goal of improving disease classification and diagnosis, therapy, and prevention.

Editorial Board

Part I: Introductory Concepts

David E. Fisher Department of Dermatology, Harvard/MGH Cutaneous Biology Research Center, and Melanoma Program, MGH Cancer Center, Massachusetts General Hospital, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, USA

Nick Hayward QIMR Berghofer Medical Research Institute, Herston, Queensland, Australia

David C. Whiteman QIMR Berghofer Medical Research Institute, Herston, Queensland, Australia

Keith T. Flaherty Henri and Belinda Termeer Center for Targeted Therapies, MGH Cancer Center, Cambridge, MA, USA

F. Stephen Hodi Department of Medicine, Brigham and Women's Hospital, Dana-Farber Cancer Institute, Boston, MA, USA

Hensin Tsao Harvard-MIT Health Sciences and Technology, Cambridge, MA, USA

Glenn Merlino Center for Cancer Research, National Cancer Institute, Bethesda, MD, USA

Part II: Types of Melanocytic Neoplasms

Boris C. Bastian Departments of Dermatology and Pathology, Helen Diller Family Comprehensive Cancer Center, University of California, San Francisco, San Francisco, CA, USA

Hensin Tsao Harvard-MIT Health Sciences and Technology, Cambridge, MA, USA

Part III: Clinical Management

Keith T. Flaherty Henri and Belinda Termeer Center for Targeted Therapies, MGH Cancer Center, Cambridge, MA, USA **Boris C. Bastian** Departments of Dermatology and Pathology, Helen Diller Family Comprehensive Cancer Center, University of California, San Francisco, San Francisco, CA, USA

Hensin Tsao Harvard-MIT Health Sciences and Technology, Cambridge, MA, USA

F. Stephen Hodi Department of Medicine, Brigham and Women's Hospital, Dana-Farber Cancer Institute, Boston, MA, USA

Contributors

Kamran Abri Early Phase Investigational Therapeutics, University of California San Francisco, San Francisco, CA, USA

Armin R. Afshar Vitreoretinal Surgery and Ocular Oncology, Department of Ophthalmology, University of California, San Francisco, San Francisco, CA, USA

Zackie Aktary Normal and Pathological Development of Melanocytes, Institut Curie, PSL Research University, INSERM U1021, Orsay, France

Universite Paris-Sud, Universite Paris-Saclay, CNRS UMR 3347, Orsay, France

Equipe Labellisée Ligue Contre le Cancer, Orsay, France

Institut Curie, Paris, France

Andrew E. Aplin Department of Cancer Biology and Sidney Kimmel Cancer Center, Thomas Jefferson University, Philadelphia, PA, USA

Reetakshi Arora Department of Surgical Oncology, The University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center, Houston, TX, USA

Franziska Baenke Molecular Oncology Laboratory, Cancer Research UK Manchester Institute, The University of Manchester, Manchester, UK

Teresa A. Bailey Melanoma Institute Australia, The University of Sydney, Sydney, NSW, Australia

Boris C. Bastian Departments of Dermatology and Pathology, Helen Diller Family Comprehensive Cancer Center, University of California, San Francisco, San Francisco, CA, USA

Elizabeth Berry Department of Dermatology, Oregon Health and Science University, Portland, OR, USA

Gideon Bollag Plexxikon Inc., Berkeley, CA, USA

Praveen K. Bommareddy Rutgers Cancer institute of New Jersey, New Brunswick, NJ, USA

School of Graduate Studies, Rutgers University, New Brunswick, NJ, USA

Kevin M. Brown Laboratory of Translational Genomics, Division of Cancer Epidemiology and Genetics, National Cancer Institute, National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, MD, USA

M. Emre Celebi Department of Computer Science, University of Central Arkansas, Conway, AR, USA

Steven T. Chen Department of Dermatology, Massachusetts General Hospital, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, USA

Noel Codella IBM Research AI, Armonk, NY, USA

Sonia Cohen Department of Surgery, Massachusetts General Hospital, Boston, MA, USA

Clara Curiel-Lewandrowski Department of Dermatology, University of Arizona Cancer Center, University of Arizona, Tucson, AZ, USA

Bertil E. Damato Ocular Oncology Service, Departments of Ophthalmology and Radiation Oncology, University of California, San Francisco, San Francisco, CA, USA

Michelle Dang Stem Cell Program and Division of Hematology/Oncology, Boston Children's Hospital and Dana Farber Cancer Institute, Howard Hughes Medical Institute, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, USA

Harvard Stem Cell Institute, Harvard University, Cambridge, MA, USA

Adil I. Daud Department of Medicine, Division of Hematology/Oncology, Melanoma Clinical Research, UCSF Helen Diller Family Comprehensive Cancer Center, University of California, San Francisco, CA, USA

Diwakar Davar Division of Hematology-Oncology, Department of Medicine, University of Pittsburgh Medical Center, Pittsburgh, PA, USA

Michael A. Davies Department of Melanoma Medical Oncology, Department of Systems Biology, Department of Translational Molecular Pathology, Division of Cancer Medicine, The University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center, Houston, TX, USA

Michael Detmar Institute of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Swiss Federal Institute of Technology, ETH Zurich, Zurich, Switzerland

Nathalie Dhomen Molecular Oncology Laboratory, Cancer Research UK Manchester Institute, The University of Manchester, Manchester, UK

Lothar C. Dieterich Institute of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Swiss Federal Institute of Technology, ETH Zurich, Zurich, Switzerland

Allison S. Dobry Department of Dermatology, Harvard/MGH Cutaneous Biology Research Center, and Melanoma Program, MGH Cancer Center, Massachusetts General Hospital, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, USA

Michael E. Egger Department of Surgical Oncology, The University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center, Houston, TX, USA

Kevin Emerick Massachusetts Eye and Ear Infirmary, Boston, USA

Grant M. Fischer Department of Melanoma Medical Oncology, Department of Cancer Biology, Department of Translational Molecular Pathology, The University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center, Houston, TX, USA

David E. Fisher Department of Dermatology, Harvard/MGH Cutaneous Biology Research Center, and Melanoma Program, MGH Cancer Center, Massachusetts General Hospital, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, USA

Keith T. Flaherty Henri and Belinda Termeer Center for Targeted Therapies, MGH Cancer Center, Cambridge, MA, USA

Levi A. Garraway Department of Medical Oncology, Dana-Farber Cancer Institute, Boston, MA, USA

The Broad Institute of MIT and Harvard, Cambridge, MA, USA

Howard Hughes Medical Institute, Chevy Chase, MD, USA

Department of Medicine, Brigham and Women's Hospital, Boston, MA, USA

Eli Lilly and Company, Indianapolis, IN, USA

Pedram Gerami Feinberg School of Medicine, Northwestern University, Chicago, IL, USA

Jeffrey E. Gershenwald Department of Surgical Oncology, Unit 1484, The University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center, Houston, TX, USA

Melanoma and Skin Center, The University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center, Houston, TX, USA

Geoffrey T. Gibney Georgetown-Lombardi Comprehensive Cancer Center, Washington, DC, USA

Division of Hematology/Oncology, Medstar-Georgetown University Hospital, Washington, DC, USA

Felipe Giuste Department of Biomedical Engineering, Emory University, Georgia Tech, Atlanta, GA, USA

Eyal Gottlieb Cancer Metabolism, Rappaport Faculty of Medicine, Technion Israel Institute of Technology, Haifa, Israel

David Gutman Department of Neurology and Psychiatry, Emory University, Atlanta, GA, USA

Allan Halpern Department of Medicine, Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center, New York, NY, USA

Kelly Jo Hamman Department of Molecular and Medical Genetics, Oregon Health and Science University, Portland, OR, USA

Amanda Hermann Department of Surgical Oncology, The University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center, Houston, TX, USA

F. Stephen Hodi Department of Medicine, Brigham and Women's Hospital, Dana-Farber Cancer Institute, Boston, MA, USA

Eran Hodis Department of Medical Oncology, Dana-Farber Cancer Institute, Boston, MA, USA

The Broad Institute of MIT and Harvard, Cambridge, MA, USA

Douglas B. Johnson Vanderbilt University Medical Center and Vanderbilt Ingram Cancer Center, Nashville, TN, USA

Howard L. Kaufman Division of Surgical Oncology, Massachusetts General Hospital, Boston, MA, USA

Replimune, Inc., Woburn, MA, USA

Veronica A. Kinsler Paediatric Dermatology Department, Great Ormond Street Hospital for Children, London, UK

John M. Kirkwood Division of Hematology-Oncology, Department of Medicine, University of Pittsburgh Medical Center, Pittsburgh, PA, USA

Wendy Kohlmann Huntsman Cancer Institute, University of Utah, Salt Lake City, UT, USA

Mario E. Lacouture Dermatology Service, Department of Medicine, Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center, New York, NY, USA

Lionel Larue Normal and Pathological Development of Melanocytes, Institut Curie, PSL Research University, INSERM U1021, Orsay, France

Universite Paris-Sud, Universite Paris-Saclay, CNRS UMR 3347, Orsay, France

Equipe Labellisée Ligue Contre le Cancer, Orsay, France

Institut Curie, Paris, France

Matthew H. Law Statistical Genetics, QIMR Berghofer Medical Research Institute, Brisbane, Australia

Sancy Leachman Department of Dermatology, Oregon Health and Science University, Portland, OR, USA

Yuan Liu Google AI Healthcare, Mountain View, CA, USA

Yun Liu Google AI Healthcare, Mountain View, CA, USA

Qiaoli Ma Institute of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Swiss Federal Institute of Technology, ETH Zurich, Zurich, Switzerland

Stuart MacGregor Statistical Genetics, QIMR Berghofer Medical Research Institute, Brisbane, Australia

Richard Marais Molecular Oncology Laboratory, Cancer Research UK Manchester Institute, The University of Manchester, Manchester, UK

Ashfaq Marghoob Hauppauge Dermatology Section, Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center, New York, NY, USA

Martin McMahon Department of Dermatology and Huntsman Cancer Institute, University of Utah, Salt Lake City, UT, USA **Christian Menzer** Dermatology Service, Department of Medicine, Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center, New York, NY, USA

Xuan Tien Steven Nguyen Rosalind and Morris Goodman Cancer Research Center, Department of Biochemistry, McGill University, Montreal, QC, Canada

Anna Nicholson Center for Behavioural Research in Cancer, Cancer Council Victoria, Melbourne, VIC, Australia

Jeffrey P. North Departments of Dermatology and Pathology, University of California, San Francisco, CA, USA

Roberto A. Novoa Departments of Pathology and Dermatology, Stanford University, Stanford, CA, USA

Cristina O'Donoghue Department of Surgery, Division of Surgical Oncology, Rush University, Chicago, IL, USA

Catherine Olsen Cancer Control Group, QIMR Berghofer Medical Research Institute, Herston, QLD, Australia

School of Public Health, The University of Queensland, Brisbane, Australia

Gregory S. Phillips Dermatology Service, Department of Medicine, Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center, New York, NY, USA

Suthee Rapisuwon Georgetown-Lombardi Comprehensive Cancer Center, Washington, DC, USA

Department of Oncology, Georgetown University, Washington, DC, USA

Ofer Reiter Dermatology Service, Department of Medicine, Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center, New York, NY, USA

Miguel Reyes-Mugica Division of Pediatric Pathology, Children's Hospital of Pittsburgh of UPMC, Pittsburgh, PA, USA

Krista M. Rubin Center for Melanoma, Massachusetts General Hospital Cancer Center, Boston, MA, USA

Thomas M. Rünger Department of Dermatology, Boston University School of Medicine, Boston, MA, USA

Toshiaki Saida Department of Dermatology, Shinshu University School of Medicine, Matsumoto, Japan

Richard A. Scolyer Tissue Pathology and Diagnostic Oncology, Royal Prince Alfred Hospital, Camperdown, Australia

Sydney Medical School, The University of Sydney, Sydney, NSW, Australia

Melanoma Institute Australia, The University of Sydney, Sydney, NSW, Australia

Ann Silk Rutgers Cancer institute of New Jersey, New Brunswick, NJ, USA

Craig Sinclair Center for Behavioural Research in Cancer, Cancer Council Victoria, Melbourne, VIC, Australia

Lukas Sommer Stem Cell Biology, Institute of Anatomy, University of Zurich, Zurich, Switzerland

Vernon K. Sondak Department of Cutaneous Oncology, Moffitt Cancer Center, Tampa, FL, USA

Jeffrey A. Sosman Northwestern University and Robert H. Lurie Comprehensive Cancer Center, Chicago, IL, USA

Ryan J. Sullivan Center for Melanoma, MGH Cancer Center, Boston, MA, USA

Kenneth Tanabe Division of Surgical Oncology, Department of Surgery, Massachusetts General Hospital, Boston, MA, USA

John F. Thompson Melanoma Institute Australia, The University of Sydney, Sydney, NSW, Australia

Tjoson Tjoa University of California at Irvine, Irvine, CA, USA

Philipp Tschandl ViDIR Group, Department of Dermatology, Medical University of Vienna, Wien, Austria

Margaret Anne Tucker Human Genetics Program, Division of Cancer Epidemiology and Genetics, National Cancer Institute, Bethesda, MD, USA

Richard L. Wahl Mallinckrodt Institute of Radiology, Washington University School of Medicine, St. Louis, MO, USA

Jennifer A. Wargo Department of Surgical Oncology, The University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center, Houston, TX, USA

Department of Genomic Medicine, The University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center, Houston, TX, USA

Ian R. Watson Rosalind and Morris Goodman Cancer Research Center, Department of Biochemistry, McGill University, Montreal, QC, Canada

Ashani T. Weeraratna Melanoma Research Center, Immunology, Microenvironment and Metastasis, The Wistar Institute, Philadelphia, PA, USA

Louise F. Wilson Cancer Control Group, QIMR Berghofer Medical Research Institute, Herston, QLD, Australia

Iwei Yeh Departments of Dermatology and Pathology, University of California, San Francisco, San Francisco, CA, USA

Jonathan S. Zager Department of Cutaneous Oncology, Moffitt Cancer Center, Tampa, FL, USA

Leonard Zon Stem Cell Program and Division of Hematology/Oncology, Boston Children's Hospital and Dana Farber Cancer Institute, Howard Hughes Medical Institute, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, USA

Harvard Stem Cell Institute, Harvard University, Cambridge, MA, USA

Part I

Introductory Concepts



Developmental Biology of Melanocytes

Lukas Sommer

Contents

Introduction: Neural Crest Stem Cells, the Embryonic Progenitors of Melanocytes	4
Generation of the Melanocyte Lineage from the Neural Crest In Vivo	6
Generation of Melanocytes by an Alternative Path: From Nerves to Pigment Cells	8
Transcription Factors Regulating NCSCs and Melanocyte Specification	9
Growth Factors Regulating NCSCs and Melanocyte Specification	11
Conclusion: A Link Between NCSCs, Melanocyte Development, and Melanoma Formation	14
References	15

Abstract

Apart from embryonic stem cells (ESCs) in the blastocyst, neural crest stem cells (NCSCs) in vertebrate embryos represent the stem cell population in our body with the broadest developmental potential, generating most of the neurons and glia of the peripheral nervous system (PNS) as well as various nonneural cell types, such as smooth muscle cells in the outflow tract of the heart, craniofacial bone, and cartilage and, in particular, melanocytes in the skin. It is assumed that a third of all congenital birth defects are due to failures in neural crest development, illustrating the significance of this stem cell population. Moreover, processes underlying melanocyte development appear to be recapitulated, at least partially, during formation of melanoma, the most aggressive skin tumor. For instance, it has recently been shown that an embryonic NCSC gene expression signature is reactivated upon tumor initiation in a zebrafish model of melanoma, suggesting a functional involvement of a NCSC program in tumors originating from neural crest derivatives. Thus, to gain insights into melanoma biology, it is important to understand the mechanisms regulating NCSC and melanocyte development, as outlined in this chapter.

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-7147-9 23

L. Sommer (🖂)

Stem Cell Biology, Institute of Anatomy, University of Zurich, Zurich, Switzerland e-mail: lukas.sommer@anatom.uzh.ch

[©] Springer Science+Business Media, LLC, part of Springer Nature 2019 D. E. Fisher, B. C. Bastian (eds.), *Melanoma*,

Keywords

Neural crest · Neural crest stem cell · Melanocyte · Embryonic development · Lineage specification · Tumor cell of origin

Introduction: Neural Crest Stem Cells, the Embryonic Progenitors of Melanocytes

Melanocytes not only provide the pigmentation to our skin but are also found in the inner ear, the eye, and some internal organs such as the heart. In the skin, melanocytes transfer the pigment melanin to keratinocytes and the growing hair in order to protect skin tissue from damage caused by UV light of the sun. In the inner ear, melanocytes control development and function of a structure termed the stria vascularis, which is required for proper hearing. In the eye, melanocytes are found both in the iris (which, among others, adjusts the amount of light entering the eye) and the choroidea (a thin epithelial structure behind the retina shielding deeper tissues from excessive light). Thus, defects in melanocyte formation as found, for instance, in Waardenburg syndrome in humans are associated with abnormal pigmentation of the skin and the eyes as well as varying degrees of hearing loss.

During embryonic development of vertebrates, melanocytes are produced from the so-called neural crest, a structure unique to vertebrates. The neural crest emerges during neurulation in the dorsal neural tube between the anlage of the future central nervous system and the surface ectoderm. Neural crest cells in the neural tube undergo an epithelial to mesenchymal transition before migrating to various structures in the embryo and producing, apart from melanocytes, a wealth of other cell types as diverse as neurons and glia of the peripheral nervous system, craniofacial chondrocytes and bone cells, smooth muscle cells in the heart outflow tract, chromaffin cells of the adrenal medulla, and others.

While melanocytes as well as sensory neurons and peripheral glia are produced from all axial levels in the embryo, other neural crest derivatives – such as craniofacial cartilage and bone, cardiovascular smooth muscle cells, and the enteric nervous system innervating the gastrointestinal system - only emerge from discrete axial levels of the neural tube. This indicates that the fate of neural crest cells is influenced by positional cues along the neuraxis (Le Douarin et al. 2008). In principle, such fate-determining factors could act selectively to favor the development of specific predetermined precursor cells (e.g., neuroblasts) over precursor cells of other cell lineages (e.g., melanoblasts); in this case, neural crest cells would represent a heterogeneous population composed of several lineage-restricted precursors (Fig. 1). Alternatively, local fate specification could be achieved by factors that act instructively on multipotent cells. According to this second model, the neural crest would constitute a homogenous population of stem cells, each with the potential to produce distinct cell types in response to instructive factors (Fig. 1).

Pioneering studies by Nicole Le Douarin and others, involving in vivo transplantation of neural crest cells in avian embryos, have shown that on the population level neural crest cells of virtually axial levels exhibit similar potentials all (Le Douarin and Dupin 2003). For instance, when cranial neural crest cells of a donor embryo were transplanted into the neural tube at the trunk level of a host embryo, the cells from the donor adapted the fates normally acquired by the host cells in that area. Thus, environmental factors present in the host trunk influenced the development of the transplanted donor cells. Similarly, neural crest cells from the trunk, when put into cell culture, were able to produce bone and cartilage (i.e., derivatives that normally only arise from the cranial neural crest), when exposed to appropriate growth factors (Graham et al. 1996; Shah et al. 1996). Likewise, although in quail neural tube explant culture cells biased to the melanocyte lineage were preferentially found in late emigrating neural crest cells (Henion and Weston 1997), formation of melanocytes can readily be induced by appropriate growth factor combinations in early migratory neural crest cells (Shakhova and Sommer 2015).

However, the ultimate demonstration that neural crest cells are multipotent had to be provided on the single cell level in so-called clonal analyses, in which prospectively identified,



Fig. 1 During embryonic development of vertebrates, the neural crest emerges in the dorsal-most part of the neural tube (NT). Subsequently, neural crest cells delaminate from the NT to migrate either along a dorsolateral pathway (DLP) to produce melanocytes or along a ventral pathway to produce, for instance, sensory neurons and satellite glia in dorsal root ganglia (DRG), autonomic neurons and satellite glia in sympathetic ganglia (SG), or Schwann cells along peripheral nerves (PN). In principle, two models can explain the generation of these various derivatives. According to the model on the left, premigratory neural crest cells consist of a homogeneous population of stem cells (*red*) that all have the capacity to give rise to multiple cell types (see, e.g., Bronner 2015). Melanocytes,

undifferentiated neural crest cells were individually traced, while they proliferated and differentiated to form a clone of multiple neural crest derivatives (Dupin and Sommer 2012). Such experiments were done, among others, with early migratory neural crest cells isolated from neural tube explant cultures that can be derived from avian, rodent, and even human embryos (Etchevers 2011). In avian and rodent systems, neural crest cells from explant cultures were replated at clonal density to demonstrate the existence of multipotent neural crest cells in cell culture (Baroffio et al. 1988; Cohen and Konigsberg 1975; Sieber-Blum and Cohen 1980; Stemple and Anderson 1992). In particular, studies performed

in this case, would derive from multipotent NCSCs. According to the model on the right, the neural crest consists of distinct lineage-restricted progenitors that each generate a specific derivative (see, e.g., Krispin et al. 2010a). In this case, melanocytes would originate from progenitors that normally do not give rise to other cell types. Recently, it has been reported that melanoma-initiating cells acquire properties of their embryonic counterpart (Kaufman et al. 2016). The molecular nature of a melanoma-initiating cell, and ultimately mechanisms of melanoma initiation, might thus depend on the mode of melanocyte generation during embryonic development (Figure by courtesy of Dr. Arianna Baggiolini, University of Zurich)

with cranial neural crest from chicken embryo revealed the presence of neural crest cells with a very broad potential that had the capacity as single cells to give rise to peripheral neurons and glia, chondrocytes, osteoblasts, smooth muscle cells, as well as melanocytes (Calloni et al. 2009). In addition, neural tube explant cultures were also used to demonstrate by serial subcloning that a considerable fraction of neural crest cells are not only multipotent but also display the capacity for self-renewal (Stemple and Anderson 1992). Thus, at least in culture, some neural crest cells appear to be functional neural crest stem cells (NCSCs).

In other studies, however, in which individually labeled neural crest cells were followed in high-density neural tube explant cultures rather than in low-density cultures after replating, most cells appeared to be fate-restricted rather than multipotent (Henion and Weston 1997). Although neural crest cell fates may be influenced in highdensity cultures by fate-restricting community effects acting between the cells (Hagedorn et al. 1999), these studies raised a debate of whether multipotency of neural crest cells might be the consequence of a cell culture artifact, dependent on the culture condition. Indeed, cells with NCSC features could also be derived from various postmigratory neural crest derivatives, including dorsal root ganglia (DRG), the gut, sciatic nerves, and the skin (Delfino-Machin et al. 2007). For instance, neural crest cells isolated from the epidermis of quail embryos were able to produce neurons and glia in culture, although these cells supposedly generate only melanocytes in normal development (Richardson and Sieber-Blum 1993). Even some adult neural crest-derived cells, when exposed to a new microenvironment as, for instance, presented by certain cell culture conditions, maintain the capacity to self-renew and to generate a plethora of cell types typically produced from embryonic neural crest cells (Shakhova and Sommer 2010). In particular, prospective identification and direct isolation of neural crest-derived cells marked by genetic in vivo fate mapping indicated the presence of NCSC-like cells in peripheral nerves of the skin and in the bulge of adult hair follicles (Wong et al. 2006), which comprises melanocyte stem cells (MSCs) (Nishimura et al. 2002). Possibly, adult neural crest-derived structures such as peripheral nerves or hair follicles contain a small reservoir of multipotent adult NCSC-like cells that may normally be quiescent and only activated in a pathophysiological context. Alternatively, isolation or other processes disturbing the physiological 3D situation may promote reprogramming in differentiated cells, such as Schwann cells or melanocytes, resulting in dedifferentiation and acquisition of stem cell features. In support of this idea, pigmented melanocytes from chicken could be induced to dedifferentiate in culture, to self-renew, and to produce neural crest lineages

other than melanocytes (Dupin et al. 2000). Similarly, melanoblasts from postnatal murine skin were shown to exhibit "stemness" properties upon exposure to stromal cells (Motohashi et al. 2009).

The combined data demonstrate that cells with stem cell features can be isolated from the neural crest and neural crest-derived tissues, from early embryonic stages up to postnatal and even adult stages. Such NCSCs can be propagated in vitro and are able to generate virtually all cell types that are normally generated in the embryo from the neural crest. In animal models, researchers have already made use of this potential to repair myelination and bone defects, respectively, by transplantation of cells exhibiting NCSC properties (Lavoie et al. 2009; McKenzie et al. 2006). Similarly, the potential of NCSCs to produce melanocytes might be applied in the future to treat pigmentation defects, for instance, in skin substitutes grafted onto burn patients.

Generation of the Melanocyte Lineage from the Neural Crest In Vivo

From a scientific perspective, however, a question to be addressed is whether neural crest-derived multipotent stem cells indeed reside in the living organism or whether NCSCs solely represent "in vitro stem cells" (Smith 2006), which comparable to embryonic stem (ES) cells isolated from the blastocyst reveal their potential only upon expansion in culture or exposure to other, hitherto unknown stimuli. Over the years, various laboratories aimed to tackle this issue by clonal analyses in vivo, with sometimes contradicting results (Bronner 2015). Although clonal assays have not yet been performed in postnatal neural crest derivatives, single neural crest cells have been traced in embryos of various species both at premigratory and migratory stages. In avian embryos, for instance, single neural crest cells in or emerging from the dorsal neural tube were labeled by dye labeling or by low-titer infection with markerexpressing virus (Bronner-Fraser and Fraser

1988, 1989; Frank and Sanes 1991). Likewise, labeling of single neural tube cells by dye injection was performed in whole mouse embryos (Serbedzija et al. 1994). In these early studies, many neural crest cells generated clones composed of multiple derivatives, including peripheral neurons and glia, smooth muscle cells, as well as melanocytes (Fig. 1). Although the experiments did not exclude the presence of lineagerestricted neural crest cells, these findings revealed the existence of multipotent neural crest cells giving rise to the melanocytic and other lineages.

Others suggested, however, that melanocytes arise from precursor cells that are either already fate-restricted in the neural tube or segregate from other neural crest lineages at early developmental stages while emigrating from the neural tube. Unlike neural progenitors, which migrate ventrally, the first melanoblasts (as defined by neural crest-derived cells expressing melanocyte lineage markers) are detectable in the so-called migration staging area close to the neural tube, before they continue their journey on a dorsolateral pathway underneath the ectoderm (Weston 1991). Ventral migration occurs before dorsolateral migration in avian and zebrafish embryos, and pigment cells express first signs of lineage specification later in development than, e.g., peripheral neuroblasts (Erickson et al. 1992; Hari et al. 2012; Raible et al. 1992), consistent with a temporal pattern of lineage segregation. More recent work also pointed to a temporal switch from neural to melanocyte specification in the avian neural crest and reported lineage segregation of neural and melanocyte progenitors already in the premigratory neural crest, before emigration from the neural tube (Krispin et al. 2010b). This study repeated dye labeling experiments of single neural crest cells similar to those done before (Bronner-Fraser and Fraser 1988) but – unlike the earlier studies – found that migratory neural crest cells are lineagecommitted and sequentially localize first to sympathetic ganglia, then to the DRG, and finally to the skin to generate melanocytes. According to these findings, the premigratory neural crest represents heterogeneous cell а population,

consisting of discrete fate-restricted cell lineages (Krispin et al. 2010a) (Fig. 1).

It is difficult to reconcile this work with those previous studies that identified multipotent neural crest cells in embryos of chicken and other species (Bronner 2015). With the goal to potentially solve this controversy, a recent study sought to follow the development of single cells and their progeny without invasive manipulation in order to avoid potential experimental influences on cell fate decisions. This was achieved by means of clonal analyses in mouse embryos in vivo using a genetic cell tracking system that allows fate mapping of single cells (Baggiolini et al. 2015; Snippert et al. 2010) (Fig. 2). In this system, Cre-mediated recombination of a multicolor Cre-reporter allele termed R26R-Confetti leads to expression of various colors in a stochastic manner (nuclear green, cytoplasmic yellow, cytoplasmic red, membranebound blue, or combinations thereof in the case of homozygous R26R-Confetti) (Snippert et al. 2010). When combined with a tamoxifeninducible form of Cre recombinase, the extent of Cre-mediated fluorescent marker expression can be restricted to few cells, the clonal progeny of which can be distinguished by expression of different colors. Using Cre lines that activate R26R-Confetti either in the premigratory crest or in neural crest cells having just emigrated from the neural tube, it was demonstrated that the vast majority of neural crest cells are multipotent, with only very few clones being restricted to single derivatives (Baggiolini et al. 2015). Intriguingly, multipotency was even maintained in neural crest cells after their emigration from the neural tube. Of note, all clones containing melanocytes were founded by multipotent cells, speaking against early segregation and lineage restriction of the melanocytic lineage (Fig. 2). The data do not exclude that melanocyte-restricted progenitors exist at stages later than those analyzed. However, given that unlike in avian embryos, dorsolateral migration in mouse embryos already takes place as soon as neural crest cells start to emigrate from the neural tube, i.e., concomitantly with ventral migration (Serbedzija et al. 1990), it is conceivable that at least in mammals a



Fig. 2 Clonal in vivo tracing of premigratory vs. migratory neural crest cells using a multicolor Cre reporter allele (*R26R-Confetti*) induced at embryonic day (E)9.0 by *Wnt1-CreERT* or by *Sox10-CreERT2*. Analysis of the embryos at E10.5 revealed that the vast majority of neural crest cells are multipotent, both at premigratory and at migratory stages (Baggiolini et al. 2015). Two examples

considerable fraction of melanocytes derive from multipotent neural crest cells.

Generation of Melanocytes by an Alternative Path: From Nerves to Pigment Cells

Apart from melanocytes arising from dorsolaterally migrating neural crest cells, some melanocytes appear to originate from ventrally migrating neural crest cells that usually give rise to the neural cells of the PNS (Sommer 2011). For instance, cells expressing pigment cell markers were detectable of clones are shown that produced multiple neural cell types in different structures of the PNS and also contributed to the melanocytic lineage (arrows). Scale Bars, 50 µm. Of note, all melanocytes analyzed in this study derived from multipotent NCSCs rather than from committed neural crest progenitor cells (Figure by courtesy of Dr. Arianna Baggiolini, University of Zurich)

on both the dorsolateral and the ventral pathway in zebrafish (Camp and Lardelli 2001), consistent with the presence of ventrally migrating bipotent glial-melanocytic progenitors in zebrafish in vivo (Raible and Eisen 1994). Extending on these findings, in vivo imaging of pigment cell precursors traced by green fluorescent protein (GFP) expression showed that, at postembryonic stages, peripheral nerves serve as reservoir for specific subsets of adult pigment cells in zebrafish (Budi et al. 2011). Similarly, Ernfors and colleagues reported that in chicken and mice some ventrally migrating neural crest-derived cells are fated to become melanocytes (Adameyko et al. 2009; Ernfors 2010). According to these studies, cells associated with nerves innervating the skin start to upregulate melanocyte lineage markers after detachment from the nerves, once these have reached their target structure (Adameyko et al. 2009, 2012). This alternative way of melanocyte cell production was detected in chicken by electroporation of neural tube cells with GFP, allowing tracing of GFP-positive melanocytic cells in nerve endings in the skin. Likewise, in mice, inducible Cre recombinasemediated cell fate mapping was used to demonstrate that cells traced during a restricted time period (around embryonic day 11) were later found to detach from peripheral nerves and to express early melanocyte markers. However, it is difficult to estimate how many melanocytes in the adult skin originate from nerve-associated cells, because the Cre line used in these studies appears to display expression at least in some multipotent neural crest cells as well as in melanoblasts in the skin (Hari et al. 2012; Leone et al. 2003). Nonetheless, the finding that a fraction of melanocytes derives from peripheral nerves is intriguing and raises the question of whether this potential is restricted to a particular embryonic stage or whether it can also be realized at later stages, including after birth. Indeed, under the influence of appropriate culture conditions, Schwann cells isolated form peripheral nerves were able to generate pigmented melanocytes in vitro (Dupin et al. 2003; Sherman et al. 1993). Apparently, such a fate-switch can even be triggered in vivo upon injury of the sciatic nerve, which leads to appearance of pigmented areas at the nerve stump (Rizvi et al. 2002). However, it remains to be shown whether melanocytes derived from nerves are produced from residual multipotent stem cells potentially present in peripheral nerves, from bipotent glial-melanocytic progenitor cells, or from Schwann cells dedifferentiating, e.g., upon nerve injury.

Transcription Factors Regulating NCSCs and Melanocyte Specification

During neurulation, the neural crest becomes specified in the dorsal neural tube by the combined activity of so-called neural crest specifier genes that include transcription factors such as FoxD3, Ets1, Snai1/2, and SoxE (Prasad et al. 2012; Simoes-Costa and Bronner 2015). These factors are part of a complex gene regulatory network that, besides neural crest specification, also regulates delamination and emigration of neural crest cells from the neural tube. Other transcription factors, such as Pax3 and Zic1, act upstream of these neural crest specifier genes and also modulate signaling pathways involved in early neural crest development, such as canonical Wnt (Plouhinec et al. 2014). As demonstrated by the R26R-Confetti-based lineage-tracing analysis described above (Baggiolini et al. 2015), neural crest cells delaminate from the neural tube as multipotent cells. However, it is only poorly understood how multipotency of migratory neural crest cells is controlled. Recently, it has been reported that in *Xenopus* embryos, neural crest cells retain a gene expression program active in the blastula stage and controlling pluripotency (Buitrago-Delgado et al. 2015). Among the factors identified was FoxD3, which is not only a neural crest specifier but has also been shown by loss-of-function experiments to regulate neural crest cell survival and, hence, proper development of multiple neural crest derivatives (Lister et al. 2006; Teng et al. 2008). Likewise, the SoxE family factor Sox10 is involved in early neural crest specification and also required for proper development of neural crest derivatives (Cheung et al. 2005; Taylor and Labonne 2005). In particular, overexpression of Sox10 in NCSCs in culture conferred multipotency while suppressing neuronal differentiation (Bondurand et al. 2006; Kim et al. 2003), whereas depletion of Sox10 affected the generation of PNS structures and melanocytes, but not of other nonneural derivatives of the NC (Britsch et al. 2001).

Intriguingly, key factors involved in neural crest specification and NCSC maintenance, such as FoxD3, Pax3, and Sox10, also play a role in melanocyte development from NCSCs. These factors, together with the β -catenin effector proteins Lef1/Tcf and the basic-leucine zipper protein Creb, are part of a transcriptional network that controls in a positive or negative manner the expression of the microphthalmia-associated

transcription factor Mitf (Mort et al. 2015). The so-called M-Mitf isoform of this basic helix-loophelix leucine zipper transcription factor marks melanoblasts at an early developmental stage, is central to melanocyte specification, and directly controls several pigmentation genes (Cooper and Raible 2009; Levy et al. 2006; Mort et al. 2015). In human, mice, and other species, mutations in *Mitf* are associated with pigmentation defects, consistent with roles of Mitf in melanocyte development and survival (Hornyak et al. 2001; Opdecamp et al. 1997). In contrast, overexpression of Mitf or Mitf orthologues promotes melanocyte marker expression in mouse fibroblasts (Tachibana et al. 1996), ectopic pigmentation in zebrafish in vivo (Lister et al. 1999), and melanocyte formation in Medaka blastula cells (Bejar et al. 2003).

Although these findings clearly underline a role of Mitf in the specification of melanocytes from neural crest cells, it is likely that other factors are implicated in this process as well. Indeed, although lacking Mitf, cells expressing the early melanocyte lineage marker Dopachrome tautomerase (Dct) are initially present at early stages of development in Mitf-mutant embryos (Hornyak et al. 2001; Opdecamp et al. 1997). Moreover, Mitf is apparently dispensable for melanoblasts to engage in dorsolateral migration (Thomas and Erickson 2008). Thus, other factors in addition to (and likely in conjunction with) Mitf support melanoblast development from the neural crest.

In NCSCs and neural progenitors, *Mitf* expression is repressed by FoxD3, presumably by direct binding to *Mitf* promoter sequences (Curran et al. 2009). Accordingly, FoxD3 expression is normally downregulated in melanocytic cells (Kos et al. 2001), which at least in zebrafish is mediated by histone deacetylase1 (hdac1) (Ignatius et al. 2008). When overexpressed in neural crest cells, FoxD3 prevented *Mitf* transcription, promoting generation of glia at the expense of melanocytes in culture (Thomas and Erickson 2009) and counteracting dorsolateral cell migration and melanocyte formation in avian embryos (Kos et al. 2001). In contrast, inactivation of *FoxD3* in neural crest cells promoted dorsolateral migration

in avian embryos and led to increased and expanded *Mitf* expression in zebrafish (Curran et al. 2009; Ignatius et al. 2008; Kos et al. 2001). Of note, however, *FoxD3* inactivation on its own is not sufficient to promote the formation of pigmented cells from neural crest cells, indicating that this transcription factor represents only one of the players in the gene regulatory network that controls melanocyte specification in neural crest cells.

In zebrafish, FoxD3 is involved in additional steps of pigment cell development, which are associated with the production of differentially colored cells typical for this species. The majority of pigment cells in zebrafish are directly generated from the neural crest. However, a subpopulation of these cells originate from a bipotent Mitf-positive progenitor either producing iridophores or melanophores. This fate decision is controlled by FoxD3. When reexpressed in progenitors, FoxD3 represses *Mitf*, thus promoting iridophore production; conversely, FoxD3-negative/Mitf-positive progenitors give rise to melanophores (Curran et al. 2010).

In contrast to FoxD3, the NCSC regulator Sox10 is involved in activation of *Mitf* expression. Sox10, in synergy with Pax3, binds to the *Mitf* promoter to activate Mitf expression in cell culture (Bondurand et al. 2000; Potterf et al. 2000). However, Pax3 is apparently dispensable for melanocyte specification and rather controls melanoblast numbers. Indeed, in mice homozygous for a Pax3 loss-of-function mutation, dorsolaterally migrating melanoblasts were detectable (although drastically reduced in numbers), speaking against a role of this factor in melanocyte lineage specification (Hornyak et al. 2001). This is in contrast to mouse embryos lacking Sox10, in which melanoblasts are virtually absent (Bondurand et al. 2000; Britsch et al. 2001). Consistent with its crucial role in melanocyte development, Sox10 not only regulates the expression of melanocytic genes such as *Mitf* and *Dct* but also controls survival and expansion of the lineage. Moreover, the function of Sox10 is gene dosage- and contextdependent (Paratore et al. 2001). In the embryo, Sox10 haploinsufficiency results in diminished melanoblast numbers (Britsch et al. 2001) and,

in adult mice and human patients, causes Waardenburg-Hirschsprung disease associated with defects in the enteric nervous system and in pigmentation (Bondurand et al. 1999; Kuhlbrodt et al. 1998; Pingault et al. 1998). Such pigmentation defects are significantly increased in mice heterozygous for both Sox10 and Mitf mutations, demonstrating genetic interactions between Sox10 and Mitf in vivo (Potterf et al. 2000). Other genes interact with Sox10 in an antagonistic rather than synergistic manner during melanocyte development. Deletion of Sox5, encoding a member of the SoxD subfamily of Sox transcription factors, does not affect the formation of melanocytes (Stolt et al. 2008). However, loss of Sox5 partially rescues the pigmentation defects associated with Sox10 heterozygosity, revealing that Sox5 is able to modulate the activity of Sox10.

Consistent with the above-described loss-offunction data, overexpression of Sox10 in zebrafish and Xenopus embryos resulted in expansion of Mitf expression and pigment cell formation, respectively (Aoki et al. 2003; Dutton et al. 2001; Elworthy et al. 2003). However, there appear to be species-specific differences with respect to the role of Sox10 in pigment cell specification. Indeed, Sox10 overexpression in cultured mouse neural crest cells did not induce Mitf expression but rather increased the cells' neural potential (Kim et al. 2003). In addition, overexpression of Mitf was able to rescue pigmentation defects in Sox10-mutant zebrafish but not in Sox10-mutant mice, pointing to activities of Sox10 in mice that go beyond transcriptional regulation of *Mitf* (Elworthy et al. 2003; Hou et al. 2006). Unlike in zebrafish, Sox10 protein is detectable at later stages of pigment cell development in mice and human skin, including in differentiated melanocytes (Dutton et al. 2001; Shakhova et al. 2015). Conditional ablation of Sox10 in the melanocytic lineage in adult mice led to depletion of both the MSC pool and differentiated melanocytes, showing a requirement for Sox10 at multiple developmental stages of the lineage (Harris et al. 2013). Intriguingly, overexpression of Sox10 also led to loss of MSCs and hair graving by promoting premature

differentiation, indicating that proper levels of Sox10 are crucial for melanocyte development and maintenance.

Growth Factors Regulating NCSCs and Melanocyte Specification

It is well established that the cell-intrinsic gene regulatory networks described above are engaged in an interplay with signaling pathways activated by extracellular growth factors. As mentioned before, such signaling pathways elicit either selective effects during neural crest development by promoting survival and proliferation of specific lineage-restricted progenitor cells or instructive effects by inducing a particular fate in multipotent cells at the expense of other possible fates (Dupin and Sommer 2012). However, it was so far not possible to identify specific growth factors stimulating melanocyte production in NCSCs in an instructive manner. Nonetheless, melanocytes can be efficiently obtained in neural tube explant cultures by treatment with a cocktail of factors, including Edn3 (endothelin-3), SCF (stem cell factor), α -MSH (alpha-melanocyte-stimulating hormone), and TPA (12-O-tetradecanoylphorbol-13-acetate) (Shakhova and Sommer 2015). Best studied among these cues with respect to melanocyte development is Edn3 (Saldana-Caboverde and Kos 2010), which rather acts selectively than instructively on NCSCs. Indeed, Edn3 appears to foster formation of glial and melanocytic unipotent and glial/melanocytic bipotent progenitor clones in quail neural crest cells and, surprisingly, also when added to differentiated melanocytes or Schwann cells (Dupin et al. 2000, 2003; Lahav et al. 1998). Thus, at least in these neural crest derivatives in culture, Edn3 can trigger a de- or even transdifferentiation program. However, in mouse neural crest cell cultures, treatment with Edn3 supported melanoblast proliferation and differentiation, but not their specification from undifferentiated neural crest cells (Opdecamp et al. 1998). The combined data indicate that Edn3 signaling can promote the expansion of progenitor cells with melanocytic potential but does not instruct NCSCs to exclusively produce melanoblasts.

In addition, Edn3 plays a role in the melanocytic lineage at later stages of development. Mutations in genes coding for ligands or receptors of the endothelin signal transduction pathway result in pigmentation defects (Saldana-Caboverde and Kos 2010). However, inactivation of the Edn3 receptor Ednrb in murine neural crest cells interfered with pigment cell differentiation without affecting melanoblast generation in culture (Hou et al. 2004). Likewise, pigmentation defects in Ednrb mutant mice could be rescued when Ednrb overexpression was induced at a developmental stage after melanoblast specification (Shin et al. 1999). Apart from melanocyte differentiation, Edn signaling also appears to regulate guidance of migratory melanoblasts to the dorsolateral pathway. For instance, overexpression of an avian-specific Edn receptor in mouse ES cells was sufficient to steer these cells preferentially toward the dorsolateral pathway upon in ovo transplantation (Pla et al. 2005). Similarly, neural crest cells overexpressing an Edn receptor remain undifferentiated but prefer the dorsolateral migratory pathway over the medioventral pathway normally chosen by most neural crest cells (Harris et al. 2008; Krispin et al. 2010b), again confirming a role of the Edn signaling pathway in melanocyte development independent of lineage specification.

Comparable to Edn, sonic hedgehog (Shh) has also been reported to sustain neural crest progenitor cells with melanocytic potential without influencing melanocyte specification (Dupin and Sommer 2012). In particular, in cultures of cranial neural crest cells, Shh treatment elevated the frequency of clones with a very broad developmental potential that apart from neural and osteochondrogenic potentials also maintained the capacity to generate melanocytes (Calloni et al. 2009; Dupin et al. 2010). The in vivo relevance of these findings remains to be elucidated. In contrast, signaling mediated by the tyrosine kinase receptor Kit or its ligand Kitl controls melanocyte development in vitro as well as in vivo. Indeed, mutations in this signaling pathway result in pigmentation defects due to impaired melanoblast survival, proliferation, migration along the dorsolateral pathway, and

possibly differentiation (Mackenzie et al. 1997; Wehrle-Haller and Weston 1995; Hou et al. 2000, 2004). However, melanocyte specification from NCSCs and expression of early lineage markers such as Mitf and Dct is Kit signaling independent (Hou et al. 2000; Mackenzie et al. 1997; Wehrle-Haller and Weston 1995).

A central signal transduction pathway in melanocyte development is canonical Wnt signaling, which via activation of the intracellular signaling component β-catenin and of downstream transcription factors of the Tcf/Lef family directly controls expression of Mitf (Dorsky et al. 2000; Takeda et al. 2000; Widlund et al. 2002). However, Mitf expression as a Wnt signaling readout seems to be context dependent: Indeed, addition of a canonical Wnt ligand or ectopic expression of a constitutively active, stabilized form of β-catenin did not promote Mitf expression and melanocyte lineage specification in NCSCs of murine neural tube explant cultures but rather fostered sensory neurogenesis (Lee et al. 2004) (Fig. 3). In accordance with these data, conditional expression of stabilized β-catenin in premigratory neural crest cells in mice induced sensory neuron formation in vivo, while actually suppressing generation of melanocytes and other neural crest lineages.

In striking contrast to these findings, expression of constitutively active β -catenin in cranial neural crest cells in zebrafish induced pigment cell formation, while repressing neural differentiation (Dorsky et al. 1998). Similarly, melanocyte numbers in cultured quail neural crest cells were increased upon Wnt signal activation without overt changes in proliferation, consistent with a melanocyte lineage-inducing activity of Wnt (Jin et al. 2001). In support of studies claiming a role of Wnt/β-catenin in melanocyte formation in vivo, inactivation of canonical Wnt signaling either by injection of a dominant-negative Wnt ligand or of a mutant form of Tcf3 in zebrafish, or by conditional deletion of β -catenin in neural crest cells in mouse embryos, interfered with Dct and Mitf expression and pigment cell production (Dorsky et al. 1998; Hari et al. 2002). Unlike in zebrafish, however, loss of Wnt/β-catenin signaling in the murine neural crest not only affected the



Fig. 3 The readout of Wnt/ β -Catenin signal activation in NCSCs is stage dependent: When activated in premigratory NCSCs, canonical Wnt signaling promotes sensory neurogenesis; when activated in migratory NCSCs, the same pathway promotes melanocyte formation (Hari et al. 2012; Lee et al. 2004). Thus, induction of a melanocytic program is dependent on the progenitor cell's intrinsic molecular configuration. This finding is

melanocyte but also the sensory neuronal lineage (Hari et al. 2002), which is again consistent with the abovementioned finding that gain-of- β catenin induces sensory neurogenesis (Lee et al. 2004).

The combined data, although controversial at first sight, speak for a context- and, in particular, stage-dependent role of canonical Wnt signaling in neural crest cells. From cell culture experiments, it is known that Wnt activity can be modulated by other signaling pathways (Kleber and Sommer 2004). For instance, when added together with BMP, Wnt is unable to induce sensory neurogenesis in mouse neural crest cells (Kleber et al. 2005) and melanocyte formation in

likely relevant for melanoma formation as well: Assuming that melanoma initiation involves oncogene-induced reprogramming (Kaufman et al. 2016; Van Keymeulen et al. 2015; Wong et al. 2008), the extent of cellular dedifferentiation might determine whether a cell is responsive to further cues promoting a melanocytic/melanoma program (Figure by courtesy of Dr. Arianna Baggiolini, University of Zurich)

quail neural crest cells (Jin et al. 2001). Similarly, in melanoblasts, Wnt promotes proliferation and pigmentation, but only when applied concomitantly with Edn (Dunn et al. 2000). Thus, whether or not Wnt/ β -catenin signal activation affects melanocyte generation appears to rely on the presence or absence of factors modulating its activity. This, in turn, conceivably depends on spatiotemporal parameters. To test this idea, Hari and colleagues (Hari et al. 2012) used an inducible form of Cre recombinase to conditionally overexpress constitutively active β -catenin at different stages of neural crest development (Fig. 3). When expression was induced in premigratory neural crest cells, sensory neurons rather than melanocytes were predominantly generated, as described before (Lee et al. 2004). Intriguingly, when the active form of β -catenin was induced in migratory neural crest cells, i.e., only after their delamination from the neural tube, the cells gave rise predominantly to melanocytes (Fig. 3), which moreover migrated extensively throughout the embryo including at ectopic places usually not harboring neural crest-derived structures (Hari et al. 2012). These data are in line with the previous report that conditional β -catenin ablation in the neural crest results in loss of both sensory neurons as well as melanocytes (Hari et al. 2002). Of note, the capacity of activated Wnt/ β -catenin to promote melanocyte formation was restricted to migratory NCSCs present during a narrow time window of development, and activation at a later time point failed to induce melanocytes (Hari et al. 2012). In sum, a melanocytic program can apparently be activated only within a very specific and finely tuned context.

Conclusion: A Link Between NCSCs, Melanocyte Development, and Melanoma Formation

It is believed that the biology of a given tumor is dependent on its ontogeny and that tumor cells share properties with normal cells of the tissue, from which the tumor arises. In particular, initiation of tumors has been functionally associated with reactivation of embryonic or organ-specific stem cell programs (Van Keymeulen et al. 2015; Wong et al. 2008). As melanoma derives from melanocytic cells originating during embryonic development from NCSCs, it is conceivable that the broad developmental potential and migratory capacity of NCSCs is causally linked with the aggressiveness of melanoma. As discussed above, melanocytes emerge during development from multipotent migratory NCSCs (Baggiolini et al. 2015) as well as from peripheral nerveassociated cells (Adameyko et al. 2009), which could be residual stem cells located along the nerve, restricted progenitors, or even differentiated Schwann cells. On the other hand, cells with NCSC features can be induced from differentiated pigment cells (Dupin et al. 2000; Motohashi et al. 2009). Whether such dedifferentiation processes ever occur under normal physiological circumstances is unknown. But the question whether during development and even more so in the adult melanocytes arise from multipotent stem cells, from restricted progenitors, or also upon reprogramming from differentiated cell types is not just relevant for basic developmental and stem cell biology but also for tumor biology: If differentiated cells, such as Schwann cells or melanocytes, can under certain circumstances acquire the potential for self-renewal and, hence, extensive proliferation, could tumorigenic events also lead to dedifferentiation and foster selfrenewal in these cells? Moreover, if dedifferentiation is accompanied by acquisition of multipotency, could, for instance, Schwann cells be promoted to dedifferentiate and to respond to a melanocytic program in the context of tumorigenesis? This would imply that melanoma could potentially have multiple origins, presumably dependent on the cell-intrinsic and extrinsic oncogenic events driving tumor formation. According to this view, melanoma could derive from MSCs as well as from differentiated melanocytes and even from Schwann cells along peripheral nerves.

It has to be noted, however, that the cell of origin in human melanoma is currently unknown. The most compelling evidence for a dedifferentiation event being at the origin of melanoma formation has recently been provided by live-cell tracing in a zebrafish model of melanoma (Kaufman et al. 2016). In this study, the tumorinitiating cell emerged in a field of tumor-prone melanocytes, which apparently involved a process of in vivo reprogramming and expression of a gene normally only active in the developing neural crest. In mouse models, both MSCs and melanocytes might be involved in melanoma initiation, depending on the genetic driver of tumorigenesis. However, the lack of genetic tools exclusively marking stem cells as opposed to differentiated melanocytes in vivo has so far precluded researchers from answering this issue by genetic cell fate mapping. Moreover, to what extent findings in animal models are applicable to the situation in human patients is unclear given the species-specific histology (with, for instance, human skin harboring interfollicular melanocytes unlike most areas of mouse skin).

Independent of the question of whether a stem cell rather than a differentiated cell is at the origin of melanoma formation, there is increasing evidence for stem cell features being implicated in melanomagenesis. Emergence or upregulation of particular NCSC markers in melanoma has been functionally associated with tumorigenesis in genetic mouse models of spontaneous melanoma formation and in human melanoma cells. For instance, expression of the NCSC marker CD271 correlates with increased metastasis formation in human melanoma patients (Boiko et al. 2010; Civenni et al. 2011). Likewise, the NCSC transcription factor Sox10 is upregulated by oncogenic signaling in melanoma and required at high levels for tumor initiation and growth in vivo (Shakhova et al. 2012). The RhoGTPase Rac1 regulates self-renewal of NCSCs at a particular developmental stage (Fuchs et al. 2009), and gainof-function mutations in RAC1 have been implicated in driving human melanoma (Krauthammer et al. 2012). Finally, the roles of both Mitf and canonical Wnt signaling in melanoma are well established (Damsky et al. 2011; Delmas et al. 2007; Mort et al. 2015; Murakami et al. 2001; Zuidervaart et al. 2007). In sum, it seems that initiation and progression of melanoma involves the reuse of an embryonic NCSC regulatory program. Thus, targeting mechanisms regulating NCSCs might represent a promising treatment strategy.

References

- Adameyko I, Lallemend F, Aquino JB, Pereira JA, Topilko P, Muller T, Fritz N, Beljajeva A, Mochii M, Liste I, Usoskin D, Suter U, Birchmeier C, Ernfors P (2009) Schwann cell precursors from nerve innervation are a cellular origin of melanocytes in skin. Cell 139:366–379
- Adameyko I, Lallemend F, Furlan A, Zinin N, Aranda S, Kitambi SS, Blanchart A, Favaro R, Nicolis S, Lubke M, Muller T, Birchmeier C, Suter U, Zaitoun I, Takahashi Y, Ernfors P (2012) Sox2 and Mitf crossregulatory interactions consolidate progenitor and melanocyte lineages in the cranial neural crest. Development 139:397–410
- Aoki Y, Saint-Germain N, Gyda M, Magner-Fink E, Lee YH, Credidio C, Saint-Jeannet JP (2003) Sox10

regulates the development of neural crest-derived melanocytes in Xenopus. Dev Biol 259:19–33

- Baggiolini A, Varum S, Mateos JM, Bettosini D, John N, Bonalli M, Ziegler U, Dimou L, Clevers H, Furrer R, Sommer L (2015) Premigratory and migratory neural crest cells are multipotent in vivo. Cell Stem Cell 16:314–322
- Baroffio A, Dupin E, LeDouarin NM (1988) Cloneforming ability and differentiation potential of migratory neural crest cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 85:5325–5329
- Bejar J, Hong Y, Schartl M (2003) Mitf expression is sufficient to direct differentiation of medaka blastula derived stem cells to melanocytes. Development 130:6545–6553
- Boiko AD, Razorenova OV, van de Rijn M, Swetter SM, Johnson DL, Ly DP, Butler PD, Yang GP, Joshua B, Kaplan MJ, Longaker MT, Weissman IL (2010) Human melanoma-initiating cells express neural crest nerve growth factor receptor CD271. Nature 466:133–137
- Bondurand N, Kuhlbrodt K, Pingault V, Enderich J, Sajus M, Tommerup N, Warburg M, Hennekam RC, Read AP, Wegner M, Goossens M (1999) A molecular analysis of the yemenite deaf-blind hypopigmentation syndrome: SOX10 dysfunction causes different neurocristopathies. Hum Mol Genet 8:1785–1789
- Bondurand N, Pingault V, Goerich DE, Lemort N, Sock E, Caignec CL, Wegner M, Goossens M (2000) Interaction among SOX10, PAX3 and MITF, three genes altered in Waardenburg syndrome. Hum Mol Genet 9:1907–1917
- Bondurand N, Natarajan D, Barlow A, Thapar N, Pachnis V (2006) Maintenance of mammalian enteric nervous system progenitors by SOX10 and endothelin 3 signalling. Development 133:2075–2086
- Britsch S, Goerich DE, Riethmacher D, Peirano RI, Rossner M, Nave KA, Birchmeier C, Wegner M (2001) The transcription factor Sox10 is a key regulator of peripheral glial development. Genes Dev 15:66–78
- Bronner M (2015) Confetti clarifies controversy: neural crest stem cells are multipotent. Cell Stem Cell 16:217–218
- Bronner-Fraser M, Fraser S (1988) Cell lineage analysis shows multipotentiality of some avian neural crest cells. Nature 335:161–164
- Bronner-Fraser M, Fraser S (1989) Developmental potential of avian trunk neural crest cells in situ. Neuron 3:755–766
- Budi EH, Patterson LB, Parichy DM (2011) Postembryonic nerve-associated precursors to adult pigment cells: genetic requirements and dynamics of morphogenesis and differentiation. PLoS Genet 7:e1002044
- Buitrago-Delgado E, Nordin K, Rao A, Geary L, LaBonne C (2015) NEURODEVELOPMENT. Shared regulatory programs suggest retention of blastula-stage potential in neural crest cells. Science 348:1332–1335
- Calloni GW, Le Douarin NM, Dupin E (2009) High frequency of cephalic neural crest cells shows coexistence of neurogenic, melanogenic, and osteogenic

differentiation capacities. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 106:8947–8952

- Camp E, Lardelli M (2001) Tyrosinase gene expression in zebrafish embryos. Dev Genes Evol 211:150–153
- Cheung M, Chaboissier MC, Mynett A, Hirst E, Schedl A, Briscoe J (2005) The transcriptional control of trunk neural crest induction, survival, and delamination. Dev Cell 8:179–192
- Civenni G, Walter A, Kobert N, Mihic-Probst D, Zipser M, Belloni B, Seifert B, Moch H, Dummer R, van den Broek M, Sommer L (2011) Human CD271-positive melanoma stem cells associated with metastasis establish tumor heterogeneity and long-term growth. Cancer Res 71:3098–3109
- Cohen AM, Konigsberg IR (1975) A clonal approach to the problem of neural crest determination. Dev Biol 46:262–280
- Cooper CD, Raible DW (2009) Mechanisms for reaching the differentiated state: insights from neural crestderived melanocytes. Semin Cell Dev Biol 20:105–110
- Curran K, Raible DW, Lister JA (2009) Foxd3 controls melanophore specification in the zebrafish neural crest by regulation of Mitf. Dev Biol 332:408–417
- Curran K, Lister JA, Kunkel GR, Prendergast A, Parichy DM, Raible DW (2010) Interplay between Foxd3 and Mitf regulates cell fate plasticity in the zebrafish neural crest. Dev Biol 344:107–118
- Damsky WE, Curley DP, Santhanakrishnan M, Rosenbaum LE, Platt JT, Gould Rothberg BE, Taketo MM, Dankort D, Rimm DL, McMahon M, Bosenberg M (2011) Beta-catenin signaling controls metastasis in Braf-activated Pten-deficient melanomas. Cancer Cell 20:741–754
- Delfino-Machin M, Chipperfield TR, Rodrigues FS, Kelsh RN (2007) The proliferating field of neural crest stem cells. Dev Dyn 236:3242–3254
- Delmas V, Beermann F, Martinozzi S, Carreira S, Ackermann J, Kumasaka M, Denat L, Goodall J, Luciani F, Viros A, Demirkan N, Bastian BC, Goding CR, Larue L (2007) Beta-catenin induces immortalization of melanocytes by suppressing p16INK4a expression and cooperates with N-Ras in melanoma development. Genes Dev 21:2923–2935
- Dorsky RI, Moon RT, Raible DW (1998) Control of neural crest cell fate by the Wnt signalling pathway. Nature 396:370–373
- Dorsky RI, Raible DW, Moon RT (2000) Direct regulation of nacre, a zebrafish MITF homolog required for pigment cell formation, by the Wnt pathway. Genes Dev 14:158–162
- Dunn KJ, Williams BO, Li Y, Pavan WJ (2000) Neural crest-directed gene transfer demonstrates Wnt1 role in melanocyte expansion and differentiation during mouse development. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 97:10050–10055
- Dupin E, Sommer L (2012) Neural crest progenitors and stem cells: from early development to adulthood. Dev Biol 366:83–95

- Dupin E, Glavieux C, Vaigot P, Le Douarin NM (2000) Endothelin 3 induces the reversion of melanocytes to glia through a neural crest-derived glial-melanocytic progenitor. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 97:7882–7887
- Dupin E, Real C, Glavieux-Pardanaud C, Vaigot P, Le Douarin NM (2003) Reversal of developmental restrictions in neural crest lineages: transition from Schwann cells to glial-melanocytic precursors in vitro. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100:5229–5233
- Dupin E, Calloni GW, Le Douarin NM (2010) The cephalic neural crest of amniote vertebrates is composed of a large majority of precursors endowed with neural, melanocytic, chondrogenic and osteogenic potentialities. Cell Cycle 9:238–249
- Dutton KA, Pauliny A, Lopes SS, Elworthy S, Carney TJ, Rauch J, Geisler R, Haffter P, Kelsh RN (2001) Zebrafish colourless encodes sox10 and specifies non-ectomesenchymal neural crest fates. Development 128:4113–4125
- Elworthy S, Lister JA, Carney TJ, Raible DW, Kelsh RN (2003) Transcriptional regulation of mitfa accounts for the sox10 requirement in zebrafish melanophore development. Development 130:2809–2818
- Erickson CA, Duong ED, Tosney KW (1992) Descriptive and experimental analysis of the dispersion of neural crest cells along the dorso-lateral path and their entry into ectoderm in the chick embryo. Dev Biol 151:251–272
- Ernfors P (2010) Cellular origin and developmental mechanisms during the formation of skin melanocytes. Exp Cell Res 316:1397–1407
- Etchevers H (2011) Primary culture of chick, mouse or human neural crest cells. Nat Protoc 6:1568–1577
- Frank E, Sanes JR (1991) Lineage of neurons and glia in chick dorsal root ganglia: analysis in vivo with a recombinant retrovirus. Development 111:895–908
- Fuchs S, Herzog D, Sumara G, Buchmann-Moller S, Civenni G, Wu X, Chrostek-Grashoff A, Suter U, Ricci R, Relvas JB, Brakebusch C, Sommer L (2009) Stage-specific control of neural crest stem cell proliferation by the small rho GTPases Cdc42 and Rac1. Cell Stem Cell 4:236–247
- Graham A, Koentges G, Lumsden A (1996) Neural crest apoptosis and the establishment of craniofacial pattern: an honorable death. Mol Cell Neurosci 8:76–83
- Hagedorn L, Suter U, Sommer L (1999) P0 and PMP22 mark a multipotent neural crest-derived cell type that displays community effects in response to TGF-β family factors. Development 126:3781–3794
- Hari L, Brault V, Kléber M, Lee HY, Ille F, Leimeroth R, Paratore C, Suter U, Kemler R, Sommer L (2002) Lineage-specific requirements of ß-catenin in neural crest development. J Cell Biol 159:867–880
- Hari L, Miescher I, Shakhova O, Suter U, Chin L, Taketo M, Richardson WD, Kessaris N, Sommer L (2012) Temporal control of neural crest lineage generation by Wnt/beta-catenin signaling. Development 139:2107–2117

- Harris ML, Hall R, Erickson CA (2008) Directing pathfinding along the dorso-lateral path – the role of EDNRB2 and EphB2 in overcoming inhibition. Development 135:4113–4122
- Harris ML, Buac K, Shakhova O, Hakami RM, Wegner M, Sommer L, Pavan WJ (2013) A dual role for SOX10 in the maintenance of the postnatal melanocyte lineage and the differentiation of melanocyte stem cell progenitors. PLoS Genet 9:e1003644
- Henion PD, Weston JA (1997) Timing and pattern of cell fate restrictions in the neural crest lineage. Development 124:4351–4359
- Hornyak TJ, Hayes DJ, Chiu LY, Ziff EB (2001) Transcription factors in melanocyte development: distinct roles for Pax-3 and Mitf. Mech Dev 101:47–59
- Hou L, Panthier JJ, Arnheiter H (2000) Signaling and transcriptional regulation in the neural crest-derived melanocyte lineage: interactions between KIT and MITF. Development 127:5379–5389
- Hou L, Pavan WJ, Shin MK, Arnheiter H (2004) Cellautonomous and cell non-autonomous signaling through endothelin receptor B during melanocyte development. Development 131:3239–3247
- Hou L, Arnheiter H, Pavan WJ (2006) Interspecies difference in the regulation of melanocyte development by SOX10 and MITF. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103:9081–9085
- Ignatius MS, Moose HE, El-Hodiri HM, Henion PD (2008) colgate/hdac1 repression of foxd3 expression is required to permit mitfa-dependent melanogenesis. Dev Biol 313:568–583
- Jin EJ, Erickson CA, Takada S, Burrus LW (2001) Wnt and BMP signaling govern lineage segregation of melanocytes in the avian embryo. Dev Biol 233:22–37
- Kaufman CK, Mosimann C, Fan ZP, Yang S, Thomas AJ, Ablain J, Tan JL, Fogley RD, van Rooijen E, Hagedorn EJ, Ciarlo C, White RM, Matos DA, Puller AC, Santoriello C, Liao EC, Young RA, Zon LI (2016) A zebrafish melanoma model reveals emergence of neural crest identity during melanoma initiation. Science 351:aad2197
- Kim J, Lo L, Dormand E, Anderson DJ (2003) SOX10 maintains multipotency and inhibits neuronal differentiation of neural crest stem cells. Neuron 38:17–31
- Kleber M, Sommer L (2004) Wnt signaling and the regulation of stem cell function. Curr Opin Cell Biol 16:681–687
- Kleber M, Lee HY, Wurdak H, Buchstaller J, Riccomagno MM, Ittner LM, Suter U, Epstein DJ, Sommer L (2005) Neural crest stem cell maintenance by combinatorial Wnt and BMP signaling. J Cell Biol 169:309–320
- Kos R, Reedy MV, Johnson RL, Erickson CA (2001) The winged-helix transcription factor FoxD3 is important for establishing the neural crest lineage and repressing melanogenesis in avian embryos. Development 128:1467–1479
- Krauthammer M, Kong Y, Ha BH, Evans P, Bacchiocchi A, McCusker JP, Cheng E, Davis MJ, Goh G, Choi M, Ariyan S, Narayan D, Dutton-Regester K, Capatana A,

Holman EC, Bosenberg M, Sznol M, Kluger HM, Brash DE, Stern DF, Materin MA, Lo RS, Mane S, Ma S, Kidd KK, Hayward NK, Lifton RP, Schlessinger J, Boggon TJ, Halaban R (2012) Exome sequencing identifies recurrent somatic RAC1 mutations in melanoma. Nat Genet 44:1006–1014

- Krispin S, Nitzan E, Kalcheim C (2010a) The dorsal neural tube: a dynamic setting for cell fate decisions. Dev Neurobiol 70:796–812
- Krispin S, Nitzan E, Kassem Y, Kalcheim C (2010b) Evidence for a dynamic spatiotemporal fate map and early fate restrictions of premigratory avian neural crest. Development 137:585–595
- Kuhlbrodt K, Herbarth B, Sock E, Enderich J, Hermans-Borgmeyer I, Wegner M (1998) Cooperative function of POU proteins and SOX proteins in glial cells. J Biol Chem 273:16050–16057
- Lahav R, Dupin E, Lecoin L, Glavieux C, Champeval D, Ziller C, Le Douarin NM (1998) Endothelin 3 selectively promotes survival and proliferation of neural crest-derived glial and melanocytic precursors in vitro. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95:14214–14219
- Lavoie JF, Biernaskie JA, Chen Y, Bagli D, Alman B, Kaplan DR, Miller FD (2009) Skin-derived precursors differentiate into skeletogenic cell types and contribute to bone repair. Stem Cells Dev 18:893–906
- Le Douarin NM, Dupin E (2003) Multipotentiality of the neural crest. Curr Opin Genet Dev 13:529–536
- Le Douarin NM, Calloni GW, Dupin E (2008) The stem cells of the neural crest. Cell Cycle 7:1013–1019
- Lee HY, Kleber M, Hari L, Brault V, Suter U, Taketo MM, Kemler R, Sommer L (2004) Instructive role of Wnt/ beta-catenin in sensory fate specification in neural crest stem cells. Science 303:1020–1023. https://doi.org/ 10.1126/science.1091611
- Leone DP, Genoud S, Atanasoski S, Grausenburger R, Berger P, Metzger D, Macklin WB, Chambon P, Suter U (2003) Tamoxifen-inducible glia-specific Cre mice for somatic mutagenesis in oligodendrocytes and Schwann cells. Mol Cell Neurosci 22:430–440
- Levy C, Khaled M, Fisher DE (2006) MITF: master regulator of melanocyte development and melanoma oncogene. Trends Mol Med 12:406–414
- Lister JA, Robertson CP, Lepage T, Johnson SL, Raible DW (1999) nacre encodes a zebrafish microphthalmiarelated protein that regulates neural-crest-derived pigment cell fate. Development 126:3757–3767
- Lister JA, Cooper C, Nguyen K, Modrell M, Grant K, Raible DW (2006) Zebrafish Foxd3 is required for development of a subset of neural crest derivatives. Dev Biol 290:92–104
- Mackenzie MA, Jordan SA, Budd PS, Jackson IJ (1997) Activation of the receptor tyrosine kinase Kit is required for the proliferation of melanoblasts in the mouse embryo. Dev Biol 192:99–107
- McKenzie IA, Biernaskie J, Toma JG, Midha R, Miller FD (2006) Skin-derived precursors generate myelinating Schwann cells for the injured and dysmyelinated nervous system. J Neurosci 26:6651–6660

- Mort RL, Jackson IJ, Patton EE (2015) The melanocyte lineage in development and disease. Development 142:1387
- Motohashi T, Yamanaka K, Chiba K, Aoki H, Kunisada T (2009) Unexpected multipotency of melanoblasts isolated from murine skin. Stem Cells 27:888–897
- Murakami T, Toda S, Fujimoto M, Ohtsuki M, Byers HR, Etoh T, Nakagawa H (2001) Constitutive activation of Wnt/beta-catenin signaling pathway in migrationactive melanoma cells: role of LEF-1 in melanoma with increased metastatic potential. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 288:8–15
- Nishimura EK, Jordan SA, Oshima H, Yoshida H, Osawa M, Moriyama M, Jackson IJ, Barrandon Y, Miyachi Y, Nishikawa S (2002) Dominant role of the niche in melanocyte stem-cell fate determination. Nature 416:854–860
- Opdecamp K, Nakayama A, Nguyen MT, Hodgkinson CA, Pavan WJ, Arnheiter H (1997) Melanocyte development in vivo and in neural crest cell cultures: crucial dependence on the Mitf basic-helix-loophelix-zipper transcription factor. Development 124:2377–2386
- Opdecamp K, Kos L, Arnheiter H, Pavan WJ (1998) Endothelin signalling in the development of neural crest-derived melanocytes. Biochem Cell Biol 76:1093–1099
- Paratore C, Goerich DE, Suter U, Wegner M, Sommer L (2001) Survival and glial fate acquisition of neural crest cells are regulated by an interplay between the transcription factor Sox10 and extrinsic combinatorial signaling. Development 128:3949–3961
- Pingault V, Bondurand N, Kuhlbrodt K, Goerich DE, Prehu MO, Puliti A, Herbarth B, Hermans-Borgmeyer-I, Legius E, Matthijs G, Amiel J, Lyonnet S, Ceccherini I, Romeo G, Smith JC, Read AP, Wegner M, Goossens M (1998) SOX10 mutations in patients with Waardenburg-Hirschsprung disease. Nat Genet 18:171–173
- Pla P, Alberti C, Solov'eva O, Pasdar M, Kunisada T, Larue L (2005) Ednrb2 orients cell migration towards the dorso-lateral neural crest pathway and promotes melanocyte differentiation. Pigment Cell Res 18:181–187
- Plouhinec JL, Roche DD, Pegoraro C, Figueiredo AL, Maczkowiak F, Brunet LJ, Milet C, Vert JP, Pollet N, Harland RM, Monsoro-Burq AH (2014) Pax3 and Zic1 trigger the early neural crest gene regulatory network by the direct activation of multiple key neural crest specifiers. Dev Biol 386:461–472
- Potterf SB, Furumura M, Dunn KJ, Arnheiter H, Pavan WJ (2000) Transcription factor hierarchy in Waardenburg syndrome: regulation of MITF expression by SOX10 and PAX3. Hum Genet 107:1–6
- Prasad MS, Sauka-Spengler T, LaBonne C (2012) Induction of the neural crest state: control of stem cell attributes by gene regulatory, post-transcriptional and epigenetic interactions. Dev Biol 366:10–21

- Raible DW, Eisen JS (1994) Restriction of neural crest cell fate in the trunk of the embryonic zebrafish. Development 120:495–503
- Raible DW, Wood A, Hodsdon W, Henion PD, Weston JA, Eisen JS (1992) Segregation and early dispersal of neural crest cells in the embryonic zebrafish. Dev Dyn 195:29–42
- Richardson MK, Sieber-Blum M (1993) Pluripotent neural crest cells in the developing skin of the quail embryo. Dev Biol 157:348–358
- Rizvi TA, Huang Y, Sidani A, Atit R, Largaespada DA, Boissy RE, Ratner N (2002) A novel cytokine pathway suppresses glial cell melanogenesis after injury to adult nerve. J Neurosci 22:9831–9840
- Saldana-Caboverde A, Kos L (2010) Roles of endothelin signaling in melanocyte development and melanoma. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res 23:160–170
- Serbedzija GN, Fraser SE, Bronner-Fraser M (1990) Pathways of trunk neural crest cell migration in the mouse embryo as revealed by vital dye labeling. Development 108:605–612
- Serbedzija GN, Bronner-Fraser M, Fraser SE (1994) Developmental potential of trunk neural crest cells in the mouse. Development 120:1709–1718
- Shah N, Groves A, Anderson DJ (1996) Alternative neural crest cell fates are instructively promoted by TGFß superfamily members. Cell 85:331–343
- Shakhova O, Sommer L (2010) Neural crest-derived stem cells. In: StemBook (ed) The stem cell research community. StemBook. https://doi.org/ 10.3824/stembook.3821.3851.3821
- Shakhova O, Sommer L (2015) In vitro derivation of melanocytes from embryonic neural crest stem cells. Methods Mol Biol
- Shakhova O, Zingg D, Schaefer SM, Hari L, Civenni G, Blunschi J, Claudinot S, Okoniewski M, Beermann F, Mihic-Probst D, Moch H, Wegner M, Dummer R, Barrandon Y, Cinelli P, Sommer L (2012) Sox10 promotes the formation and maintenance of giant congenital naevi and melanoma. Nat Cell Biol 14:882–890
- Shakhova O, Cheng P, Mishra PJ, Zingg D, Schaefer SM, Debbache J, Hausel J, Matter C, Guo T, Davis S, Meltzer P, Mihic-Probst D, Moch H, Wegner M, Merlino G, Levesque MP, Dummer R, Santoro R, Cinelli P, Sommer L (2015) Antagonistic crossregulation between Sox9 and Sox10 controls an antitumorigenic program in melanoma. PLoS Genet 11:e1004877
- Sherman L, Stocker KM, Morrison R, Ciment G (1993) Basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF) acts intracellularly to cause the transdifferentiation of avian neural crest-derived Schwann cell precursors into melanocytes. Development 118:1313–1326
- Shin MK, Levorse JM, Ingram RS, Tilghman SM (1999) The temporal requirement for endothelin receptor-B signalling during neural crest development. Nature 402:496–501
- Sieber-Blum M, Cohen A (1980) Clonal analysis of quail neural crest cells: they are pluripotent and differentiate
in vitro in the absence of non-neural crest cells. Dev Biol 80:96–106

- Simoes-Costa M, Bronner ME (2015) Establishing neural crest identity: a gene regulatory recipe. Development 142:242–257
- Smith A (2006) A glossary for stem-cell biology. Nature 441:1060
- Snippert HJ, van der Flier LG, Sato T, van Es JH, van den Born M, Kroon-Veenboer C, Barker N, Klein AM, van Rheenen J, Simons BD, Clevers H (2010) Intestinal crypt homeostasis results from neutral competition between symmetrically dividing Lgr5 stem cells. Cell 143:134–144
- Sommer L (2011) Generation of melanocytes from neural crest cells. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res 24:411–421
- Stemple DL, Anderson DJ (1992) Isolation of a stem cell for neurons and glia from the mammalian neural crest. Cell 71:973–985
- Stolt CC, Lommes P, Hillgartner S, Wegner M (2008) The transcription factor Sox5 modulates Sox10 function during melanocyte development. Nucleic Acids Res 36:5427–5440
- Tachibana M, Takeda K, Nobukuni Y, Urabe K, Long JE, Meyers KA, Aaronson SA, Miki T (1996) Ectopic expression of MITF, a gene for Waardenburg syndrome type 2, converts fibroblasts to cells with melanocyte characteristics. Nat Genet 14:50–54
- Takeda K, Yasumoto K, Takada R, Takada S, Watanabe K, Udono T, Saito H, Takahashi K, Shibahara S (2000) Induction of melanocyte-specific microphthalmiaassociated transcription factor by Wnt-3a. J Biol Chem 275:14013–14016
- Taylor KM, Labonne C (2005) SoxE factors function equivalently during neural crest and inner ear development and their activity is regulated by SUMOylation. Dev Cell 9:593–603
- Teng L, Mundell NA, Frist AY, Wang Q, Labosky PA (2008) Requirement for Foxd3 in the maintenance of neural crest progenitors. Development 135:1615–1624
- Thomas AJ, Erickson CA (2008) The making of a melanocyte: the specification of melanoblasts from

the neural crest. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res 21:598-610

- Thomas AJ, Erickson CA (2009) FOXD3 regulates the lineage switch between neural crest-derived glial cells and pigment cells by repressing MITF through a non-canonical mechanism. Development 136:1849–1858
- Van Keymeulen A, Lee MY, Ousset M, Brohee S, Rorive S, Giraddi RR, Wuidart A, Bouvencourt G, Dubois C, Salmon I, Sotiriou C, Phillips WA, Blanpain C (2015) Reactivation of multipotency by oncogenic PIK3CA induces breast tumour heterogeneity. Nature 525:119–123
- Wehrle-Haller B, Weston JA (1995) Soluble and cellbound forms of steel factor activity play distinct roles in melanocyte precursor dispersal and survival on the lateral neural crest migration pathway. Development 121:731–742
- Weston JA (1991) Sequential segregation and fate of developmentally restricted intermediate cell populations in the neural crest lineage. Curr Top Dev Biol 25:133–153
- Widlund HR, Horstmann MA, Price ER, Cui J, Lessnick SL, Wu M, He X, Fisher DE (2002) Betacatenin-induced melanoma growth requires the downstream target Microphthalmia-associated transcription factor. J Cell Biol 158:1079–1087
- Wong CE, Paratore C, Dours-Zimmermann MT, Rochat A, Pietri T, Suter U, Zimmermann DR, Dufour S, Thiery JP, Meijer D, Beermann F, Barrandon Y, Sommer L (2006) Neural crest-derived cells with stem cell features can be traced back to multiple lineages in the adult skin. J Cell Biol 175:1005–1015
- Wong DJ, Liu H, Ridky TW, Cassarino D, Segal E, Chang HY (2008) Module map of stem cell genes guides creation of epithelial cancer stem cells. Cell Stem Cell 2:333–344
- Zuidervaart W, Pavey S, van Nieuwpoort FA, Packer L, Out C, Maat W, Jager MJ, Gruis NA, Hayward NK (2007) Expression of Wnt5a and its downstream effector beta-catenin in uveal melanoma. Melanoma Res 17:380–386



2

The Biology of Pigmentation

Allison S. Dobry and David E. Fisher

Contents

Introduction	22
Part 1: Creating the Pigmentary Phenotype	22
Melanin, Melanocytes, and Melanosomes	23
Pigment-Recipient Phenotype + Pigment Patterning	28
Pigmentation in Other Tissues	30
Part 2: Molecular Control of Pigmentation	34
MC1R and the Pigment-Type Switching System	34
Part 3: UVR, Skin Phototype, and the Link to Melanoma	39
An Overview of UV, Tanning, and Sunburns	39
Redefining the Roles of UVR and Melanin in Melanomagenesis	42
Conclusion	47
References	48

Abstract

Having roots in the earliest Mendelian experiments, the scientific examination of pigmentation offers the unique opportunity to better understand the contributions of genetics, signaling pathways, hormones, and the external environment on the phenotype of our body's largest organ system: the skin. Epidermal pigmentation is a product of the genetically determined melanin content, the cellular response to

A. S. Dobry · D. E. Fisher (🖂)

external stimuli, and the individual capacity for tanning. These processes are dependent upon a functional pigmentation pathway, which requires proper melanocyte migration, adequate melanogenic enzyme activity, and correct packaging and transfer of melanin to neighboring cells. Disruption of any of these processes leads to alterations in pigmentation. Although cutaneous pigmentation is most heavily focused upon, information about pigment patterning can also be gleaned from other pigmented tissues, including the hair and eyes. Numerous molecular signaling pathways and hormone systems converge to modulate pigment at the cellular level, which further contribute to the overall phenotype. These systems acquire greater importance when considered in

Department of Dermatology, Harvard/MGH Cutaneous Biology Research Center, and Melanoma Program, MGH Cancer Center, Massachusetts General Hospital, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, USA e-mail: dfisher3@mgh.harvard.edu

[©] Springer Science+Business Media, LLC, part of Springer Nature 2019 D. E. Fisher, B. C. Bastian (eds.), *Melanoma*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-7147-9 24

the context of melanoma development, as these pathways are frequently found to be dysregulated.

Keywords

Pigmentation · Melanocyte · MC1R · MITF · Melanocyte stem cells · Tanning · Melanin · Ultraviolet

Introduction

Evolution is perhaps the greatest artist of all time. The natural world is ripe with masterpieces: from the iridescent blue and green plumage of the peacock to the blotchy dark spots scattered along the cream-colored fur of the cheetah, these pigmentary patterns all add to the beauty of the natural world. External coloration is an important evolutionary trait in the animal world – it confers a survival advantage via thermoregulation, camouflage, protection from solar radiation, and the facilitation of reproductive and social behavior. Most of our understanding of human pigmentation – the exterior coloration that absorbs or reflects light – is derived from studies on our animal counterparts.

Epidermal pigmentation is not a shared trait among all mammals. While many mammals don pigmented coats, their underlying skin is often surprisingly lacking in color. For these species, their pelage is an adequate form of defense against solar radiation. The appearance of cutaneous pigmentation in humans is thought to have coincided with the loss of body hair on the majority of the skin surface area. This evolutionary event was believed to take place when the Homo erectus population migrated to the African savannah (Maresca et al. 2015). Over countless generations, our ancestors developed an increased number of sweat glands and a reduced amount of body hair. Concurrently, hair became more heavily concentrated on top of the head. These changes were thought to develop in response to the hot environment, which created physiological stress and, via selective pressure over several generations, favored survival of those with improved thermoregulatory capacity. Hypotheses for the gradual

pigmentation of skin are more variable. Some researchers argue that pigmentation developed as a protective mechanism against ultraviolet (UV)mediated skin damage, whereas others argue that it developed because pigmented skin operates as a more effective barrier against the harsh environment. Over time, migration and dominion of new lands led to variations in skin phenotype. Those that migrated to Europe and Asia, where solar radiation is less intense, escaped the functional constraint on the gene(s) promoting dark pigmentation of the skin and developed more varied and lighter shades of pigmentation.

The scientific examination of pigmentation is not new. In the early 1900s, French biologist Lucien Cuénot performed one of the earliest mammalian genetic experiments, in which he crossed normally pigmented mice with unpigmented albino mice to demonstrate Mendelism applied to animals as well as plants. Although Cuénot demonstrated the important role of genetics in skin/fur phenotype, pigmentation is truly a result of a complex interplay between genetics, molecular signaling pathways, hormones, and the external environment. This chapter will cover the biology of pigmentation in depth and will touch upon the molecules and cells that act as building blocks of pigmentary units, the underlying signaling pathways that mediate pigmentation, and finally the relationship between pigmentation, solar radiation, and melanoma.

Part 1: Creating the Pigmentary Phenotype

Skin color results from reflected and absorbed light of unpigmented skin in combination with its constitutive pigments. The primary molecules that contribute to the coloring of human skin are melanin, hemoglobin, and carotenoids, although melanin is the greatest contributor to the resulting phenotype. When light hits the surface of the skin, it may be reflected back, scattered, or absorbed by molecules called chromophores, within the skin. The epidermal layers scatter light, while epidermal melanin granules absorb light and create brownish-black or reddish-yellow colors depending on melanin type. Some light also reaches the dermis, where part of it is scattered and part of it is absorbed by collagen, creating a yellow color. Oxygenated hemoglobin produces a reddish tint, whereas reduced hemoglobin generates a bluish tint.

Skin pigmentation is primarily a trait of epithelial cells, in which most of the epidermal melanin resides after being synthesized and transferred from melanocytes. Epidermal pigmentation can be divided into two categories: constitutive and facultative. Constitutive pigmentation is the baseline color of the skin and is a function of the genetically determined melanin content (i.e., amount, type, and distribution). Facultative pigmentation is the result of the interplay between UV exposure, hormones, and the capacity for tanning. For instance, UV exposure in individuals with good tanning capability leads to an increase in the amount and type of melanin produced by melanocytes.

In 1975, Harvard dermatologist Thomas Fitzpatrick devised a numerical skin phototype classification system for use in clinical practice (see Table 1). The thereafter named Fitzpatrick scale ranges from phototypes I to VI and classifies persons by skin complexion and tolerance of sunlight. At the extremes, persons with phototype I (red-haired individuals) have light skin and eyes, always burn, and do not tan. Persons with phototype VI have dark-brown or black skin, never burn, and tan darkly. Although this scale is imperfect, it is a widely used metric both in research and in the clinic. Dermatologists most frequently utilize this tool to assess a patient's cancer risk.

Melanin, Melanocytes, and Melanosomes

Melanin

Melanins are a class of polymorphous biopolymers derived from the amino acid tyrosine. Two kinds predominate in the skin, hair, and eyes: eumelanin and pheomelanin (Thody et al. 1991). They differ both in their chemical composition and physical properties and thus respond disparately to light. Eumelanins are dark brown/black and highly polymerized, whereas the sulfurcontaining pheomelanins are blond/red and less polymerized. Eumelanin is found in abundance in individuals with darker hair and skin. In contrast, pheomelanin predominates in individuals of skin types I and II but is also found together with eumelanin in darker phototype individuals. Hair concentrations of eumelanin and pheomelanin are higher than those in the skin.

As seen in Fig. 1, both eumelanin and pheomelanin share the first step of biosynthesis, in which tyrosinase catalyzes the conversion of tyrosine to dihydroxyphenylalanine (DOPA), which is then further oxidized by tyrosinase to dopaquinone. At this point, the pathways diverge. If available, cysteine or glutathione will rapidly conjugate with dopaquinone to form cysteinyldopa or glutathionyldopa before ultimately forming

Table 1 Fitzpatrick scale. The Fitzpatrick scale classifies persons to skin phototype according to both constitutive and facultative pigmentations. This chart demonstrates

characteristics associated with each phototype, including sunburn and/or tanning history and minimal erythema dose (MED) (Table adapted from Astner and Anderson 2004)

Phototype	Constitutive color	Sunburn and tanning history	UVA-MED (mJ/cm ²)	UVB-MED (mJ/cm ²)
Ι	Ivory white	Burns easily, never tans	20-35	15-30
II	White	Burns easily, tans minimally with difficulty	30-45	25-40
III	White	Burns moderately, tans moderately and uniformly	40–55	30–50
IV	Beige-olive	Burns minimally, tans moderately and easily	50-80	40-60
V	Moderate brown	Rarely burns, tans profusely	70–100	60–90
VI	Dark brown- black	Never burns, tans profusely	100	90–150



pheomelanin. Otherwise, dopaquinone is transformed to leukodopachrome followed by a series of oxidoreduction reactions that result in the intermediates dihydroxyindole (DHI) and DHI carboxylic acid (DHICA), which become oxidized and polymerize to form eumelanin. Individual melanocytes can synthesize both eumelanin and pheomelanin, but only one pathway can remain active at a time since it is determined by the presence or absence of reduced thiols. The ratio of eumelanin to pheomelanin within the cell is a product of tyrosinase activity, as well as availability of tyrosine and sulfhydryl-containing reducing agents in melanosomes (the organelles responsible for pigment production, storage, and transport).

Several enzymes play a key role in producing pigment and are thus named melanogenic enzymes. These include tyrosinase, the tyrosinaserelated proteins TRP1 and TRP2 (also commonly known as DCT), melan-A (MLNA), the P protein, and premelanosome protein (PMEL) (Hirobe 2011). Tyrosinase is a copper-containing enzyme that catalyzes three reactions in the pigmentproducing pathway: (1) the hydroxylation of tyrosine to DOPA, (2) the oxidation of DOPA to dopaquinone, and (3) the oxidation of DHI to indolequinone. TRP1 and TRP2 share approximately 40% homology with tyrosinase (Lin and Fisher 2007). Both TRP1 and TRP2 are thought to stabilize the enzymatic activity of tyrosinase. Mutations in these enzymes can result in oculocutaneous albinism (OCA1-4), in which melanocytes are intact but have altered ability to produce pigment (see Table 2). Specifically, defects in the *TYR* gene, which encodes tyrosinase, lead to tyrosinase-negative OCA1. OCA2 results from mutation of the *OCA2* gene encoding P protein, OCA3 is due to mutation of *TRP1*, and OCA4 is a product of mutation of the gene encoding membrane-associated transport protein (*SLC45A2*).

In humans, eumelanin is the primary determinant of dark eyes, hair, and skin color. Additionally, eumelanin has been established as a potent photoprotective agent due to its broadband absorption spectrum. Eumelanin may partially shield organisms from intense sunlight, through dissipating a percentage of UV energy as heat in a nanosecond or less. Despite the ubiquity of melanins in nature, the underlying physical structure has been surprisingly elusive to researchers. The structure of melanin is difficult to study outside of living organisms, as, once it is isolated, it loses its structure and may transform into an amorphous mass. More than 100 variations of eumelanin composition have been noted to exist. Interestingly, a group of researchers has recently uncovered a unique optical property of eumelanin in that eumelanin has geometric disorder in addition to previously recognized chemical disorder (Chen et al. 2014a). Geometric disorder

Table 2 Genetics of oculocutaneous albinism. The TYR,
 OCA2,
 TRP1,
 and
 MATP genes are all implicated in oculocutaneous albinism (Image adapted from Grønskov
 Grønskov

et al. 2007, available under a CC BY 2.0 license. URL: http://ojrd.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/1750-1172-2-43. © Grønskov et al.; licensee BioMed Central Ltd. 2007)

	Chr.			
Gene	localization	Size	Disease name	Prevalence
TYR	11q14.3	65 kb	OCA1	1:40,000
		(529aa)		
			OCA1A	
			OCA1B (yellow alb.)	
OCA2	15q11.2-q12	345 kb	OCA2 (brown OCA in	1:36,000 (white Europeans), 1:3,900
(p gene)		(838aa)	Africans)	(Africans)
TRP1	qp23	17 kb	OCA3 (Rufous OCA)	Rare (white Europeans, Asians), 1:8,500
		(536aa)		(Africans)
MATP	5p13.3	40 kb	OCA4	Rare (white Europeans), 1:85,000
		(530aa)		(Japanese)

is a result of randomly oriented and randomly sized molecules forming the aggregate structures. The interplay of geometric order and disorder of eumelanin aggregate structures generates random excitonic couplings among the molecules. These couplings broaden the absorption spectrum.

Eumelanin and pheomelanin respond differently to UV radiation (UVR). Eumelanin, as a heterogeneous polymer of DHI, DHICA, and their derivatives, acts as a UV filter and also scavenges for UV-induced free radicals. Additionally, the melanin precursor DHICA has been shown to inhibit lipid peroxidation as well as stimulate the antioxidant defense systems and differentiation of keratinocytes. Pheomelanin is a poor UV filter and has also been found to increase formation of reactive oxygen species (ROS). Within melanosomes containing dark/eumelanin pigment, it has been noted that the initial (deepest) melanins are pheomelanin, but these become overlaid or "caged" by layers of eumelanin which may protect the cell from ROS production by the underlying pheomelanin. Absorption of radiation by various melanin species, and particularly pheomelanin, can generate radicals that are strong oxidants. Furthermore, melanin synthesis involves a series of highly reactive quinone intermediates that promote ROS and oxidative DNA damage.

Melanocytes

Melanin is the most important molecule in producing skin pigmentation, and proper functioning of melanocytes is vital for appropriate melanin production. As seen in Fig. 2, melanocytes are found within the human skin dispersed along the dermal/epidermal border. There, they can interact with the underlying fibroblasts of the dermis and the surrounding keratinocytes in the dermis. However, melanocytes are not merely pigment producers. They release a diverse array of signaling peptides (e.g., melanocortin peptides, catecholamines, serotonin, eicosanoids, and nitric oxide) that tightly connects them with both the neural and immune systems. Because of this, melanocytes are thought to play an important role in general epidermal homeostasis.

Cutaneous melanocytes are derived from pluripotent neural crest cells. Neural crest cells also give rise to neurons, glial cells, the adrenal medulla, cardiac cells, and craniofacial tissue. Upregulation of microphthalmia-associated transcription factor (MITF) by paired-box 3 (PAX3), the Wingless-type (WNT) signaling pathway, and sex-determining region Y (SRY)-box 10 (SOX10), in combination with downregulation of forkhead box D3 (FOXD3) and SRY-box 2 (SOX2), is important in creating committed melanocyte lineage cells. Melanoblasts, the melanocyte precursors, proliferate and migrate dorsolaterally from the dorsal portion of the neural tube to populate the basal epidermis and hair follicles. An additional pathway of melanocyte development from Schwann cell precursors has recently been found to be a significant contributor to cutaneous pigment cell formation (Mort et al. 2015). Human melanocytes can be detected in the



Fig. 2 Skin histology. (**a**) Hematoxylin and eosin staining of normal human skin tissue. Hematoxylin stains nuclei purple and eosin stains cytoplasm and collagen pink. The arrows point to melanocytes within the basal layer of the epidermis. (**b**) Immunohistochemistry of the same tissue.

The melanocytes are stained brown by the antibody D5 (antimicrophthalmia-associated transcription factor) (Image from Lin and Fisher (2007) with permission from S. R. Granter)

dermis and epidermis by 7 weeks of estimated gestational age. Defects in melanoblast migration result in unpigmented patches of the skin.

Many signaling pathways and transcription factors provide input for proper melanocyte migration and proliferation. Integration of spatial and temporal signals from these pathways allows for precise control of melanocytes. Signals important in homing of melanocytes to the skin include the KIT proto-oncogene receptor tyrosine kinase (KIT) and its cognate ligand KITLG, as well as endothelin and its receptor B (EDNRB). Furthermore, the appropriate migration of melanoblasts and melanocytes is dependent upon integrins, cadherins, and extracellular matrix molecules. For example, mouse studies show that at embryological day 11.5 in mice, most dermal melanoblasts are E- and P-cadherin negative, but over the next 48 h during migration from the dermis to the epidermis, the majority of melanoblasts become E-cadherin high/P-cadherin low (Mort et al. 2015).

Overall, absolute melanocyte numbers are not the main drivers in pigmentary differences between races. Rather, it is the overall cellular activity, the type of melanin produced, and the size, number, and packaging of melanosomes that determine pigmentation. Variation in melanosome size can be seen between different skin types. Individuals with dark skin types have larger melanosomes that are packaged as single units, which limit their degradation in keratinocytes and provide greater visible pigmentation. Lighterskinned individuals have smaller melanosomes that are packaged in groups, making them more vulnerable to degradation.

There is high variability in melanocyte population densities both within individuals and between individuals. For instance, there are twice as many melanocytes in the head and forearm skin compared to elsewhere on the body. The density of melanocytes within the skin is a function of UVR and stimulatory factors secreted by neighboring cells. Studies have suggested that after reaching 30 years of age, a person will lose approximately 10-20% epidermal melanocytes per decade. However, it is also possible that a reduction in pigmentation may be due to a reduction in melanogenic enzyme activity rather than complete cell loss. Aging additionally causes changes in melanocyte morphology and proliferative capacity, as well as a reduction in melanogenic enzyme activity. Terminally differentiated melanocytes are characterized by an accumulation of cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitors (e.g., p16^{INK4A}), hypophosphorylation of retinoblastoma protein (pRB), and decreased levels of cyclin D1. After time, terminally differentiated melanocytes also suffer from high levels of ROS due to a reduction in catalase activity and downregulation of anti-apoptotic factor BCL2.

Reduced activity of the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathway also leads to a reduction in melanocyte proliferation.

Melanosomes

Within melanocytes, there are large, specialized pigment-producing organelles (measuring up to 500 nm in diameter) called melanosomes, which are responsible for melanin synthesis, storage, and transport. Melanosomes are a type of lysosomerelated organelle and protect the rest of the melanocyte from the toxic by-products of melanin synthesis. Melanosomes are synthesized in the perinuclear region of the melanocyte. Melanosome development occurs in four morphologically distinct stages; the two earliest stages are associated with little to no pigment, whereas melanosomes are pigmented by the later stages. Stage I premelanosomes are formed by an outpouching of a smooth membrane from the rough endoplasmic reticulum. At stage II, PMEL is sorted into intraluminal vesicles and undergoes proteolytic cleavage to form the fibrillar matrix. The melanogenic enzymes tyrosinase and TRP1 are delivered to the organelle, inducing pigment synthesis. In stage III, melanin pigment is deposited onto the fibrillar matrix. In stage IV, the melanosome matures and is fully melanized (Slominski et al. 2004). This stepwise process can become dysregulated under pathological conditions like melanoma. In such states, tyrosinase can become activated by stage I of melanosomes synthesis, and melanin can be deposited without an underlying matrix.

For melanosomes to be transferred to surrounding epithelial cells, they must travel from the perinuclear region to the tips of dendrites within the melanocyte. Transport to the melanocyte dendrite is mediated by microtubules and microtubule-associated motor proteins (kinesins and cytoplasmic dyneins). Once at the tip, melanosomes are captured for migration to nearby keratinocytes. Myosin VA (MYO5A) is involved in the capture of melanosomes at the tip. Ras-related protein Rab-27a (RAB27A) assists in phosphatidylserine addition to synaptotagminlike protein2-a (SLP2A), which docks melanosomes to the protein membrane.

Pigment transfer from melanocytes to keratinocytes has been extensively studied but remains incompletely understood. There are currently four non-mutually exclusive models for melanin transfer: (1) phagocytosis of melanocytic dendrites by keratinocytes, (2) melanosome transport by membrane nanotubules, (3) melanosome exocytosis of a polymerized melanin extracellularly followed by keratinocyte internalization, and (4) shedding by melanocytes of plasma membrane-enclosed melanosome-rich packages that are then phagocytosed by keratinocytes (Wu and Hammer 2014). The third and fourth models have gained considerable traction due to supporting evidence from experimental studies (Tarafder et al. 2014). More studies are required for the underlying mechanism to be fully elucidated. Once transferred to keratinocytes, the melanosomes are positioned over the superficial/top (sun-exposed) side of the nucleus, potentially shielding DNA from the deleterious effects of UVR.

Melanosomal disorders include Chédiak-Higashi syndrome (CHS), Hermansky-Pudlak syndrome (HPS), and Griscelli syndrome (GS). These disorders involve aberrant melanosome biogenesis. They are often accompanied by immunodeficiency and neurological dysfunction due to parallel roles of their genetically encoded mediators, which regulate melanosome-like vesicular structures in other cellular compartments. Other disorders include macromelanosomes and autophagic giant melanosomes, which can be seen in complexes of nevocellular nevi, lentigo simplex, and malignant melanoma.

Pigmented Lesions

Pigmented lesions arise on the skin from alterations in melanocyte cellular activity or increases in melanocyte number. One of the most focused upon pigmented lesions in the dermatology clinic is the melanocytic nevus, more commonly known as a mole. Striking in appearance, most people have a few dozen melanocytic nevi on their body, with many fair-skinned people having more. Nevi may either be congenital, developing in utero, or acquired during a person's lifetime, which is the more common presentation. Typically found in sun-exposed sites, the common acquired melanocytic nevus can appear within the first 6 months of life, reaching its largest diameter in young adulthood and regressing with advancing age. Dermatology patients are provided with the mnemonic ABCDE (asymmetry, border irregularity, color variation, diameter, and evolutionary change) to assist in at-home monitoring of their nevi. Nevi meeting any one of these criteria should be pointed out to a dermatologist for appropriate clinical evaluation, which may include a biopsy and histopathologic analysis.

A melanocytic nevus is defined as a local proliferation of melanocytes in contact with each other, forming nests. Melanocytic nevi can be further subclassified into junctional, compound, or intradermal nevi based upon the histologic location of melanocytic nests. Nevi can progress from junctional to compound to intradermal locations as they migrate deeper into the skin, evolving from a flat macule to a raised papule.

Although benign, melanocytic nevi are formed by an activating mutation in an oncogene, causing proliferation until the onset of senescence which is thought to limit further growth. Although higher numbers of melanocytic nevi are associated with an increased risk of melanoma formation, only about one in four melanomas is derived from an apparent preexisting melanocytic nevus. Congenital and acquired melanocytic nevi vary in their oncogenic drivers. Congenital melanocytic nevi are thought to form from an error in neuroectodermal development and migration. Mutations in both neuroblastoma RAS viral oncogene (NRAS) and B-raf proto-oncogene (BRAF) have been found in CMN, with NRAS mutations being the primary driver in giant congenital melanocytic nevi. Acquired melanocytic nevi are thought to be a result of UV exposure and carry BRAF mutations in 50–70% of cases.

Other pigmented lesions that are commonly seen are ephelides (also known as freckles), lentigines (also known as age spots), and café au lait spots. Ephelides are small brown macules that arise on sun-exposed skin. They are seen most frequently in fair-skinned people, especially those with red hair. After UV exposure, increased melanin production occurs within melanocytes, which then transfer the pigment to neighboring keratinocytes. Accumulation of melanin in a localized group of keratinocytes creates the brown macular appearance of an ephelis. Typically, ephelides will fade during the winter months. Lentigines are brown macules that commonly arise in middle age, often due to sun damage. They are most frequently found on the face and hands and are generally larger and more defined than ephelides. They persist for a long time and do not fade in the winter months like ephelides. They are a localized proliferation of melanocytes and can be distinguished from melanocytic nevi by the absence of melanocyte nests. Café au lait spots are hyperpigmented lesions caused by an increase in melanin content in combination with giant melanosomes. They often develop in isolation, but a large number of them are suggestive of neurofibromatosis type 1 (NF1). Interestingly, café au lait spots of NF1 patients have increased melanocyte density and higher levels of KITLG than in those of individuals without NF1.

Pigment-Recipient Phenotype + Pigment Patterning

The Pigmentary Unit

Although melanocytes are the primary focus of pigment biology, epithelial cells play an equally important role. Indeed, the skin and hair are made up almost entirely of keratinocytes, while melanocytes are much fewer in number. Melanocytes may be the pigment generators, but proper skin color patterning ultimately relies on a finely controlled communication network between melanocytes and the surrounding epithelial cells. The underlying process by which this coloration happens has been named the "pigment-recipient phenotype." In this model, melanocytes act as the pigment donors, and dedicated epithelial cells behave as pigment recipients. Together they comprise what is called a "pigmentary unit," in which the melanocyte makes dendritic connections to a defined group of epithelial cells (typically there is one melanocyte interacting with 30-40 keratinocytes). Four major classes of pigment recipients have been identified in humans:

(1) keratinocytes of the basal layer of the epidermis, (2) keratinocytes of the first suprabasal layer of the epidermis, (3) progenitors of the hair cortex, and (4) precursors of medulla follicular cells.

In the epidermis, melanocytes sit above the basement membrane. From there, they communicate with basal and first suprabasal layers of epithelial cells. Via this arrangement, melanocytes are able to deliver pigment to the least differentiated keratinocytes with the greatest proliferative capacity. After melanin acquisition, epidermal keratinocytes concentrate the pigment on the apical side of the nucleus, forming a nuclear cap that functions as a parasol to shield the nucleus from sunlight.

Clues that keratinocytes may influence melanocyte behavior arose in early in vitro experiments. When isolated human melanocytes are placed into a culture dish with epidermal keratinocytes, the melanocytes localize to the basal layer, just as they do in the human epidermis. Thus, it appears that the epidermal cells provide vectorial signals to the melanocytes that assist in their positioning. Keratinocytes can also influence melanocyte survival, proliferation, melanogenesis, and dendricity by production of paracrine growth factors and cell adhesion molecules. Factors secreted by the keratinocyte include α -melanocyte-stimulating hormone (α -MSH), endothelin 1, KITLG, basic fibroblast growth factor (FGF2), nerve growth factor (NGF), prostaglandins, and granulocyte macrophage colonystimulating factor (GM-CSF).

Epithelial Cell Targeting

As the skin develops, some epithelial cells become pigmented, while others do not. What drives this difference? Central to this question is whether epithelial cells are simply passive recipients of melanin or are self-driven to actively recruit melanin from melanocytes. Several studies have suggested the latter may be the case, and the major molecules thought to activate the pigment-recipient phenotype will be covered here. Two molecules that have been heavily studied in the interactions between epithelial cells and melanocytes are the transcription factor Forkhead box protein N1 (FOXN1) and its target FGF2. Both of these molecules are expressed in epithelial cells that are pigment recipients.

In humans, FOXN1 is present in the differentiating hair cortex, first suprabasal layer of the epidermis, and small portions of the basal layer of the epidermis. FOXN1 is most highly expressed in these areas during cellular transitions from proliferation to differentiation. Humans with a nonsense mutation in FOXN1 suffer from T cell immunodeficiency, congenital alopecia, and nail dystrophy. Mutation of Foxn1 in mice, a gene that is 86% identical to the human gene, results in a nude phenotype. Mouse studies by Weiner and colleagues have suggested that Foxn1 appears to have a role in pigmentation directioning (Weiner et al. 2007). FOXN1 is thought to cause keratinocytes to release FGF2, which is detected by melanocytes and allows them to recognize FOXN1-positive epithelial cells as pigment targets. Thus, through FOXN1 and the release of FGF2, epithelial cells appear to engineer their own pigmentation. This means that pigment recipients, like pigment donors, are also specialized cells dedicated to a pigmentary function. However, humans do not have FOXN1-mutation associated abnormalities, and thus, more research must be done to clarify its role in human pigmentation.

KITLG plays a clear and important role in melanocyte development. Mutations in KITLG (or KIT receptor itself) result in piebaldism: patches of unpigmented hair. KITLG exists both in diffusible and cell-bound forms, which are produced by alternative splicing of the same RNA transcript. The diffusible form is thought to mediate chemotaxis, whereas the cell-bound form is thought to direct cell positioning and promote proliferation and survival. KITLG activates the MAP kinase pathway in melanocytes through the KIT receptor, which is a receptor tyrosine kinase. KITLG may help identify or activate pigment recipients, either in conjunction with FOXN1 or in place of it. Other factors that may play a role in the recipient phenotype are noggin (NOG), epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR), F2R like trypsin receptor 1 (F2RL1), and derivatives of proopiomelanocortin (POMC).

This division of activities – one cell producing pigment, another cell using it – is specific to the skin and carries unique advantages: specificity in pigmentary interactions and the creation of a finely mapped template for pigmentation.

Pigmentation in Other Tissues

Hair Pigmentation

The hair is one of the defining characteristics of mammals. In contrast to most mammals, humans grow long, thick hair on the scalp, with relatively short, thin hairs on the remainder of the body. The biological and evolutionary significance of this is uncertain, but purported theories range from UV protection on the scalp to serving as a method of expelling built-up toxic chemicals via melanin binding (Tobin and Paus 2001). A hair shaft is comprised of compact terminally differentiated keratinocytes known as trichocytes. Hair shafts grow from a follicle at a rough rate of 1 cm per month. Humans have different types of hair, including terminal, vellus, and androgenic hairs, which serve different biological purposes. Vellus hair is generally more lightly pigmented, fine, and short in length, whereas terminal and androgenic hair are thicker, darker, and longer.

The color of the hair is a function of the ratio of eumelanin to pheomelanin. Black hair follicles have melanocytes with a large number of eumelanosomes with a fibrillar matrix. Brown hair is associated with smaller bulb melanocytes. Blonde hair has poorly melanized melanosomes, such that only the melanosomal matrix is visible. Red hair is associated with pheomelanosomes that contain a vesicular matrix and irregularly deposited melanin. Most of the human population has dark hair. This was thought to arise evolutionarily as a selective advantage in tropical UV-intense climates. It is also believed that persons with a loss-of-function melanocortin 1 receptor (MC1R) mutation, which gives rise to the red hair phenotype, might have escaped this evolutionary pressure, explaining the wider variety of hair colors within Northern European populations. Interestingly, hair and skin pigmentations do not always perfectly correlate. Melanin is processed differentially by recipient hair cortical keratinocytes and epidermal keratinocytes. Melanin transferred to epidermal keratinocytes is partially digested. In contrast, melanin processing in hair keratinocytes is minimal. These variable degrees of melanin processing are thought to account for seemingly unrelated hair and skin phenotypes, such as dark hair and light skin.

The hair follicle is considered to be a miniorgan. It is tightly connected to many cell types, including keratinocytes, fibroblasts, nerves, and immune cells, all of which influence the hair growth cycle. The hair follicle is made up of concentric cylindrical layers of cells: the innermost layers make up the hair shaft, and the intermediate layers make up the inner root sheath. Stem cells at the hair bulb, which forms the base of the follicle, generate the cells forming the hair shaft and inner root sheath. These segments are displaced up and through the surrounding outer root sheath. Another important structure is the bulge region of the outer root sheath, which is the site of arrector pili muscle attachment.

The hair follicle pigmentary unit is tightly coupled to the hair growth cycle, whereas the epidermal pigmentary unit experiences continuous melanogenesis. It is comprised of follicular melanocytes, matrix keratinocytes, and dermal papilla fibroblasts. Hair becomes actively pigmented by proliferating melanocytes during anagen, the first phase of the hair cycle (see Fig. 3). During the subsequent two phases, catagen and telogen, melanogenic enzymes are downregulated before melanocytes ultimately undergo apoptosis. Melanogenesis and pigmentation then begin anew during the next cycle (Schneider et al. 2009).

Hair pigmentation develops via a coordinated sequence of events: the melanogenic activity of follicular melanocytes increases followed by transfer of melanin granules into cortical and medullary keratinocytes, ultimately producing a pigmented hair shaft. Melanocytes achieve this specific targeting of pigment transfer by extending their dendrites upward along the columns of cortical and medullary cells. Within the hair follicle, melanocytes exist in a 1:5 ratio with keratinocytes, which is more balanced than the



Fig. 3 Melanocyte stem cells and the hair cycle. (a) Shown here are the different stages of the hair cycle, including telogen, anagen, and catagen. At the beginning of anagen, melanocyte stem cells (purple) in the hair bulge give rise to amplifying cells (red) that migrate to the dermal

ratio within the epidermis. Melanin production within the anagen hair bulb is thought to mediate cellular stress caused by production of ROS through the free radical scavenger properties of melanin.

Like the rest of cutaneous melanocytes, hair follicle melanocytes are derived from neural crest cells. Homing to the follicular pigmentary unit during embryogenesis is thought to be directed by two receptor-ligand pairs that have been previously discussed: (1) receptor tyrosine kinase KIT and its ligand KITLG and (2) endothelin-3 and its receptor EDNRB. Melanoblasts expressing KIT migrate into the KITLG-positive hair follicle epithelium. Once there, differentiated KIT-positive melanocytes travel to the bulb when it is KITLGpositive. KIT-negative melanoblasts migrate to the outer root sheath and bulge region within the

papilla. Once there, they differentiate into melanocytes (green). (b) Melanocyte stem cells give rise to two types of daughter cells: those that self-renew (purple) and those that differentiate (red) (Image from Steingrímsson et al. 2005) (Adapted from Nishimura et al. 2002)

hair follicle. After homing is complete, active melanocytes are found within the basal layer of the infundibulum, the upper dermal papilla, and the basal layer of the sebaceous gland.

Melanocyte Reservoirs and Aging

Observations of vitiligo patients led to the hypothesis that collections of melanocyte stem cells might exist. Vitiligo is a skin condition characterized by loss of groups of melanocytes mirrored by patchy loss of skin pigmentation. Repigmentation in patients with autoimmune vitiligo following immunosuppressive UV therapy manifests as tiny islands of color centered upon hair follicles. This was suggestive of a stem cell reservoir within hair follicles. Early scientific studies supported this idea, as the presence of DOPA-negative amelanotic melanocytes was observed within the outer root sheath and bulge areas of the hair follicle. Under normal conditions, these melanocytes did not produce pigment. However, after stimulation by UVR or epidermal wounding, these melanocytes could be induced to produce pigment. These observations led researchers to believe that this pool of amelanotic melanocytes might represent a reservoir of melanocyte stem cells (Steingrímsson et al. 2005).

Confirmation that this population was actually a pool of melanocyte stem cells was achieved through mouse studies. Addition of anti-KIT antibodies to mice was observed to induce hair graying via depletion of KIT-dependent melanocytes. However, later hair cycles produced normally pigmented hair, suggesting that the hair bulb melanocytes were replenished by a KIT-independent melanocyte source. In another experiment, when an anti-KIT antibody was given to deplete replicating melanoblasts from neonatal Dct-LacZ transgenic mice (historically used to monitor early melanoblast development), LacZ-positive cells were observed predominantly in the bulge area of hair follicles (Nishimura et al. 2002). This, combined with the observation that mice injected with anti-KIT antibody produced gray hair during the first hair cycle before again growing normally pigmented hair, was strongly suggestive of the presence of a resting melanocyte precursor population in the bulge region.

The proposed mechanism of melanocyte stem cell involvement in the hair cycle is that once the hair cycle moves from telogen to anagen, both the expression of *TRP2* and cell size increase in melanocyte stem cells, leading to cell division (see Fig. 3). One cell remains in the bulge region, while the other migrates to the hair matrix, divides further, and differentiates into a pigmentproducing melanocyte. It was later shown through transgenic mouse models that the bulge melanocyte stem cells could act a source of melanocytes in the epidermis (under certain conditions) by melanoblasts traveling from the hair bulge to the surrounding epidermis. Maintenance and regulation of the melanocyte stem cell pool within hair follicles depend on the transcription factors PAX3 and MITF.

Improved knowledge of follicular melanocyte stem cells paved the way for better understanding of hair graying. Most humans begin to show gray hair at around 35 years of age. It was long thought that hair graving was a result of long-term toxicity from melanin biosynthesis, causing eventual degradation of melanocytes. However, it was later shown that hair graying is instead a product of melanocyte stem cell reservoir depletion (Nishimura et al. 2005). Two proteins play a particularly active role in the maintenance of hair pigmentation. Specifically, BCL2 protects melanocytes from apoptosis. Mice with a null mutation for Bcl2 can only produce pigmented hair for a single hair cycle before the hair turns gray. Between postnatal days 6 and 8 (early-mid anagen cycle), a sudden loss of all bulge melanocytes occurs despite a normal number of differentiated melanocytes within the hair bulb. MITF also plays an important role in maintenance of the melanocyte stem cell niche. Premature graying is seen in mice with the Mitf^{vit} mutation. This mutation caused differentiate melanocytes prematurely to (or become "aberrantly pigmented") within the bulge region, causing them to permanently lose their stem cell properties and as a result preventing proper migration to the bulb. Thus, MITF is thought to be important for self-renewal.

Eye Pigmentation

Eye color is a function of both iris pigmentation as well as the scattering of light by the stromal medium. The iris is comprised of five layers: the anterior border layer, stroma, muscular layer, anterior pigment epithelium, and posterior pigment epithelium. Iris pigmentation is dependent upon the concentration of melanin within both the iris pigment epithelium (IPE) and the stroma and the cellular density of the stroma. In the brown iris, there is a large quantity of brownish-black melanin within the anterior border layer and stroma that effectively absorbs light. In contrast, there is very little melanin in the blue iris. Interestingly, there is also no blue pigment present. Rather, the blue color is a result of optics: as light traverses through the melanin-free layers, longer wavelengths are transmitted, while the shorter blue wavelengths are reflected via scattering by collagen fibrils. This is known as the Tyndall effect. Thus, the blue iris represents structural color. Patients with severe albinism lack pigment in the back of the iris, allowing light from inside the eye to escape through the iris to the front. The only color seen in eyes from these individuals is from hemoglobin in the capillaries, resulting in a reddish-pink eye.

There are three major classes of eye color: brown, blue, and green hazel. The number of melanocytes does not differ between eye colors. Darker eyes have a greater ratio of eumelanin to pheomelanin, whereas lighter eyes have more pheomelanin. Lighter iris colors are found almost exclusively in persons of European descent. The majority of babies of European descent have light-color eyes when they are born, which may later change to darker colors by the age of 1. This is due to an increase in melanin production driven by sympathetic neuronal stimulation. Eye color has also been noted to change in later stages of life, such as during puberty and after trauma. Also of note, half the adult population has iris nevi, which can appear on the surface of the anterior border layer when a group of melanocytes increases their melanin production.

Although eye color is a complex polygenic trait, it has been estimated that 74% of variation in human eye color can be attributed to a portion of the genome containing the OCA2 gene (Sturm and Larsson 2009). Regulation of OCA2 gene expression via epigenetic pathways is thought to determine blue-brown eye color in European populations. A single base change, rs12913832 T/C within intron 86 of the upstream HERC2, appears to play a role in this process. This SNP has been suggested to be a target site for the SWI/SNF family member helicase-like transcription factor (HLTF). In the proposed mechanism, as shown in Fig. 4, the HERC2-OCA2 locus initially exists in a closed heterochromatin packaging state. When the rs12913832*T allele is active, HLTF recognition can occur, causing chromatin

unwinding and exposure of the regulatory sequences recognized by MITF and lymphoid enhancer binding factor 1 (LEF1), permitting the *OCA2* promoter to be available for transcription factor regulation. Expression of the *OCA2* gene results in brown eye color. In contrast, the rs12913832*C allele prevents HLTF binding, keeping chromatin in a closed state that prevents transcription of the *OCA2* locus. This results in blue eye color due to the inability to form mature/ eumelanotic melanosomes.

Extracutaneous Melanin

In addition to the epidermis, hair follicles, and eyes, melanocytes can be found in less suspected areas. They may be found in small numbers throughout the dermis and subcutis, blood vessel walls, and even within the muscle, nerves, and sebaceous glands. Melanocytes have even been detected within lymph nodes in a benign form. It has been suggested that these melanocyte collections are instead due to an error in embryological migration, and they may be seen in association with large congenital melanocytic nevi and blue nevi. Melanocytes present within lymph nodes can sometimes be troubling, as they can be mistaken for metastases.

Melanocytes may additionally be found within the heart valves and septa. Their function there is unclear, but they may contribute to atrioventricular valve function, as well as regulation of calcium and ROS levels. Melanocytes are also located within the stria vascularis of the cochlea and play a critical role in hearing due to maintenance of extracellular potassium in the endolymph. Indeed, the Waardenburg type II (WS2) phenotype resulting from an MITF mutation presents with sensorineural deafness that can range from mild to severe. Melanocytes are also present in the brain within the meninges overlying the medulla oblongata and upper cervical spinal cord. Notably, the dark melanin produced by dopaminergic neurons in the substantia nigra is neuromelanin and is believed to be an autooxidative product of dopamine synthesis rather than melanocytic in origin.



Fig. 4 A model of how regulation of *OCA2* gene expression determines blue-brown eye color. (a) Helicase-like transcription factor (*HLTF*), a member of the SWI-SNF family, is able to regulate genes by altering chromatin structure. Here, HLTF recognizes the evolutionary conserved element containing the SNP rs12913832*T within the HERC2 intron 86 region of a DNA molecule (DNA is represented as the blue coil, and nucleosomes are represented as the red spheres). This causes DNA to transform into a more relaxed state, which permits the

Part 2: Molecular Control of Pigmentation

Multiple factors are involved in the control of pigmentation. More than 150 alleles spread over 90 loci are involved in the regulation of pigmentation, and they encode protein products such as enzymes, structural proteins, transcriptional regulators, transporters, receptors, and growth factors (Slominski et al. 2005). Keratinocytes and fibroblasts release POMC, growth factors, cytokines, and ROS. Hormones like corticosteroids and estrogens can also influence pigmentation. transcription factors MITF and LEF1 to bind to the locus control region. As a result, RNA polymerase II (Pol II) can transcribe the *OCA2* gene, which stimulates eumelanogenesis and a resulting brown eye color. (b) If the SNP rs12913832*C is instead present, HLTF is unable to interact with the heterochromatin, which prevents MITF and LEF1 binding, as well as *OCA2* transcription. A resulting lack of melanin production leads to blue eye color (Image from Sturm and Larsson 2009)

One of the most central interactions in the pigmentation is that between α -MSH and MC1R, which initiates cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP)/protein kinase A (PKA) signaling.

MC1R and the Pigment-Type Switching System

Melanocortin 1 Receptor

Much of the attention has been focused on establishing the link between pigmentation phenotype and genetic polymorphisms involving the *MC1R* locus. So far, *MC1R* is the only gene identified that can account for the large phenotypic variation in pigmentation. MC1R acts as a regulator of both constitutive and facultative pigmentation. The *MC1R* gene encodes a seventransmembrane G-protein-coupled receptor (GPCR), which upon activation leads to production of eumelanin within melanocytes. Mutations at this locus can alter the ratio of eumelanin/ pheomelanin production within melanocytes and lead to widely variable coloring in the human eyes, skin, and hair.

More than 100 gene polymorphisms have been reported for MC1R. MC1R variants contain changes in ligand binding, receptor function, or a complete loss of function. In particular, loss-offunction polymorphisms result in the red hair, freckling, and fair skin phenotype, in which individuals have a decreased ability to tan. MC1R gene sequence variants are present in over 80% of individuals with red hair or poor-tanning skin (Roider and Fisher 2016). In contrast, variants are found in fewer than 20% of individuals with brown or black hair and in less than 4% of individuals with good tanning ability. Loss-offunction MC1R variants are linked to an increased risk of developing both melanoma and nonmelanoma skin cancer.

The MC1R receptor is activated by α -MSH, a peptidic hormone derived from POMC in the pituitary and skin, and is inhibited by agouti signaling protein (ASIP). Thus, α -MSH is thought to promote eumelanin production, whereas ASIP induces pheomelanin synthesis. Once activated by α -MSH, MC1R signals through the G-protein α -subunit (G α s) to increase intracellular levels of the second messenger cAMP via adenylate cyclase, leading to phosphorylation of cAMP responsive element-binding protein (CREB) and transcription of MITF. This leads to generation of eumelanin via transcription of genes for melanogenesis (TYR, TRP1, TRP2), melanosome biogenesis (PMEL), and melanosome transport (RAB27A). Additionally, α -MSH stimulation of MC1R leads to the creation of even more MC1R proteins. When MC1R is inhibited, cAMP levels remain low, and pheomelanin production is preferred. Adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH) can

also induce pigmentation through interactions with MC1R.

The Pigment-Type Switching System

Melanocytes possess a pigment-type switching mechanism in which they can individually alternate between eumelanogenic and pheomelanogenic states. Upon binding to MC1R, α -MSH activates the eumelanogenic pathway, whereas ASIP provides an inhibitory signal and promotes pheomelanin synthesis (Walker and Gunn 2010). ASIP is a soluble protein secreted by dermal papilla cells of the hair bulb that competitively antagonizes α -MSH at MC1R and actively suppresses MC1R activity. This inhibits melanogenic enzymes and promotes pheomelanogenesis. Additionally, ASIP can exert effects even in the absence of α -MSH, presumably by downregulating a degree of ligand-independent MC1R signaling activity.

Mice exhibit one of the clearest examples of pigment switching. In the wild-type "agouti" mice, there is a transient switch between eumelanin and pheomelanin production in the hair follicle, before once again reverting to eumelanogenesis. This manifests as a subapical yellow band on a background of dark hair (see Fig. 5). Agouti banding is a common phenomenon seen in many mammalian species, although it is not observed in humans. Pigment-type switching is absent in certain coat-color mutants. Mice with a null mutation for ASP (the murine orthologue to ASIP) have a completely black coat color with no yellow banding, indicative of continuous MC1R activity (this is the origin of the "black" designation in the C57Black6 mouse strain). Similarly, mice bred with a continuously active somber allele $(MC1r^{E-So})$ also have completely black coats. In contrast, mice engineered to express ASP continuously via a heterozygous lethal yellow allele (A^{Y}) demonstrate a completely yellow coat. This is reflective of ASP inhibition of MC1R. An inactivating mutation in the receptor $(MC1r^{e})$ also produces a similar yellow phenotype. Furthermore, mice with loss-of-function mutations for both MC1R and ASP exhibit completely yellow coat fur, suggesting that ASP signaling is dependent upon MC1R functionality. This



Fig. 5 Pigment-type switching in mice. There are three basic colors of melanin pigmentation in mice: agouti, black/brown, and red. (a) Agouti (wild-type mice) is a result of a transient switch to pheomelanin production during a baseline eumelanin-producing state. This creates a yellow band on a black background. (b) Black/brown is a

strengthens the understanding of ASP as a ligand for MC1R, as MC1R is epistatic to ASP. An important caveat is that while increased ASP signaling results in greater pheomelanin production, defective MC1R signaling does not necessarily increase the amount of pheomelanin. Thus, ASP may be necessary to induce pheomelanogenesis. ASIP has two accessory proteins: attractin (ATRN), thought to be an obligatory accessory receptor for ASIP, and mahogunin (MGHN1), an E3 ubiquitin ligase. In vitro studies have suggested that ASIP may signal through MC1R to activate these proteins via a cAMPindependent pathway (Hida et al. 2009). Mutations in these proteins affect the functionality of ASIP. In humans, the larger variety of ASIP genetic variations makes understanding its role more difficult.

Interestingly, a third ligand involved in the pigment-type switching system has been identified: β -defensin 103. This ligand was discovered in canine coat-color gene mapping experiments performed by Candille and colleagues to better understand what alleles determined the dominant

result of continuous eumelanin production. This is a result of gain-of-function (GOF) Mc1r mutations or loss-of-function (LOF) mutations in agouti, Atrn, or Mgrn1. (c) Yellow fur is a result of continuous pheomelanin production. This is a result of LOF in Mc1r or GOF in agouti (Image from Walker and Gunn 2010)

black coat color in dogs (Candille et al. 2007). Additionally, mice that transgenically express the black canine allele have black coats with small areas of agouti-banded hairs. β -defensin 103 competes against α -MSH binding at MC1R but does not activate the cAMP pathway. Rather, it seems the resultant black coat phenotype is a result of either inhibition of ASP binding to MC1R or interference with an ASP co-receptor by β -defensin 103.

MITF

MITF is widely known as the master regulator of melanocytes, as it has a central role in directing melanocyte development, function, and survival. MITF is a basic helix-loop-helix leucine zipper (bHLHZip) transcription factor encoded by the *MITF* locus that is active in lineage-specific pathway regulation of melanocytes, osteoclasts, and mast cells. Mutation in *MITF* leads to defects in these cell types. MITF is a member of the MIT family and can heterodimerize with related bHLHZip transcription factors, including the transcription factors E3, EB, and EC (TFE3, TFEB,

TFEC). Together with these transcription factors, MITF binds to DNA as a dimer at the E-box motif (CANNTG).

As shown in Fig. 6, the MITF gene has at least nine different promoter-exon units for each of the MITF isoforms (Levy et al. 2006). These isoforms differ primarily in their first exon, which encodes the transcriptional activation domain, thus giving amino terminus specificity. All isoforms share the carboxy-terminus, encoded by eight downstream exons, which contains the bHLHZip structure that is used for dimerization and DNA recognition. The melanocyte-specific exon 1 (exon1M) is transcribed exclusively in melanocytes and gives rise to the MITF-M isoform. This exclusive expression is due to its unique melanocyte-restricted promoter enhancer. MITF-M transcription is upregulated by several transcription factors that can bind to its promoter region, including SOX10, CREB, PAX3, LEF1, and MITF itself (see Fig. 7). The specificity of the MITF-M isoform to melanocytes is enhanced in part due to the obligate cooperativity between cAMP and SOX10, which is only expressed in cells of neural crest origin. WNT and α -MSH activate pathways responsible for driving activity of the MITF-M promoter. For example, in the WNT pathway, WNT proteins bind to Frizzled receptors, initiating interaction between β -catenin and the LEF1 transcription factor, and ultimately induction of the *MITF*-M promoter. Thus, multiple signals converge to induce expression of the *MITF*-M promoter.

MITF also undergoes numerous posttranslational modifications. MITF is phosphorylated by several kinases, including MAPK ribosomal s6 kinase (RSK) and glycogen synthase kinase 3β (GSK3_β). Posttranslational modification often leads to MITF repression or degradation. For instance, KIT activation in melanocytes triggers the phosphorylation of two serines on MITF: Ser73 by extracellular signal-regulated kinase 2 (ERK2) and Ser408 by p90 RSK (p90RSK). Phosphorylation at Ser73 targets MITF for ubiquitin-mediated proteolysis. Another form by which MITF undergoes posttranscriptional modification is sumovlation. MITF can be sumoylated at two residues, one of which (E318K) is disrupted by a recurrent mutation in certain individuals with familial melanoma, thereby constitutively increasing MITF's activity.

Severe loss-of-function mutations in *MITF* cause serious autosomal dominant auditorypigmentary disorders, including the autosomal dominant condition WS2a and Tietz syndrome

	Exon1				Exons			
		b1b	2 3	4	5 6 7 8	1	9	
Mitf-A	1a			TAD	B-HLH-Zip		TAD	
Mitf-J	1j			TAD	B-HLH-Zip		TAD	
Mitf-C	1c			TAD	B-HLH-Zip		TAD	
Mitf-MC	1mc			TAD	B-HLH-Zip		TAD	
Mitf-E	1e			TAD	B-HLH-Zip		TAD	
Mitf-H	1h 📃			TAD	B-HLH-Zip		TAD	
Mitf-D	1d			TAD	B-HLH-Zip		TAD	
Mitf-B	1b1a			TAD	B-HLH-Zip		TAD	
Mitf-M		1m		TAD	B-HLH-Zip		TAD	



functional domains. The *Mitf-M* promoter is expressed only in melanocytes and gives rise to the isoform M (Image adapted from Levy et al. 2006) **Fig. 7** MITF regulation and its target genes. MITF receives input from several upstream pathways, including c-Kit (purple), Wnt/β-Catenin (yellow), and α-MSH (blue). Activation of c-KIT by SCF activates RAS and the downstream MAPK and PI3K pathways, which influence MITF activity. In the Wnt/β-Catenin pathway, Wnt activates Disheveled (DVL), which inhibits degradation of β -catenin. β-catenin and LEF stimulate MITF expression. Binding of α-MSH to MC1R leads to PKA activation, the phosphorylation of CREB, and the recruitment of CREB-binding protein (CBP) to aid in activation of the MITF promoter (Image from Hocker et al. 2008)



(TS). More than 35 gene mutations have been identified in WS2a, and they range from producing a truncated MITF protein to altering the helix-loop-helix or leucine-zipper motif. These mutations result in disruption of dimer formation. Heterozygous individuals with WS2a are found to have a reduction of melanocytes that results in varying degrees of sensorineural deafness and a patchy distribution of cutaneous hypopigmentation. Mouse models of Mitf null mutations are similarly found to lack melanocytes and have white fur, microphthalmia, and deafness. The other types of WS provide additional insight into MITF regulation. WS is divided into four types depending on the presence or absence of additional symptoms. Types I and III are caused by PAX3 mutations. These types are characterized by additional abnormalities in the facial musculoskeletal system. WS type IV is caused by an array of gene mutations, including those that encode the proteins SOX10, endothelin, and EDNRB.

TS is another manifestation of MITF mutation, in which a single amino acid within the basic domain is altered, resulting in a dominant negative protein as dimers with a wild-type MITF partner are unable to be transported to the cell nucleus to appropriately bind with DNA. The phenotype is one of complete penetrance and is characterized by deafness with light hair and skin color. In contrast, WS2 has a more variable appearance. TS may be considered a more severe form of WS2. Thus far, two MITF gene mutations in the basic motif region have been identified in people with TS. Few functional studies have been performed to understand the alterations in MITF signaling in these rare diseases. Depending on the location of the MITF mutation in

WS2-associated MITF, varying degrees of alterations in protein activity, DNA-binding ability, and cellular localization may be observed in vitro (Zhang et al. 2013). Mutations in the nuclear localization signal are believed to cause a more dramatic effect. Of note, the observed phenotypic effects in TS are thought to be due to haploinsufficiency rather than a dominant negative effect. Surprisingly, in one study, TS-associated MITF showed comparable in vitro activity to WT MITF, despite the severity of the TS phenotype.

MITF is involved in the expression of genes promoting melanocyte survival (CDK2, p16INK4a, TBX2, CDKN1A), motility (MET), differentiation and apoptosis (BCL2 and HIF1A), and melanosome production (TYR, TRP1, TRP2, SLC45A2, PMEL, RAB27A). MITF also plays a central role in melanogenesis. Melanogenesis is regulated mainly through the α -MSH/MC1R interaction leading to activation of the cAMP/ PKA signaling cascade to induce expression of MITF. Transcriptional targets of MITF include the melanogenic genes TYR, TRP1, and TRP2 and the matrix protein PMEL. MITF additionally promotes pigmentation by upregulating EDNRB. EDNRB activation by endothelins 1 and 3 activates MAPK, which phosphorylates MITF, stimulating MITF expression. Expression of DICER, a regulator of miRNA maturation, is also upregulated by MITF during melanocyte differentiation. DICER expression causes posttranscriptional processing of miRNA-17, causing downregulation of BCL2-interacting mediator of cell death (BIM) and thus promoting melanocyte survival.

MITF gene amplification or recurrent E318K mutations have been identified in melanoma. *MITF* amplification is more prevalent in metastatic disease. *BRAF* mutation and *p16* inactivation were found to co-occur with MITF amplification in melanoma cell lines. It was also found that ectopic MITF expression in the presence of a *Braf*^{V600} mutation transformed human melanocytes into melanoma, establishing MITF's role as a melanoma oncogene (Garraway et al. 2005). Thus, targeting MITF in combination therapies may confer a greater survival benefit. MITF

can thus be representative of a "lineage addiction" oncogene.

The Effect of pH on Melanogenesis

It has been noted that melanosomes of melanocytes derived from lighter human skin have lower tyrosinase activity and are more acidic compared to melanocytes from darker human skin, which have higher tyrosinase activity. Based on these observations, a link between pH and melanogenic activity has been suspected, but the mechanism is poorly understood. One of the molecules believed to be involved in pH regulation of melanogenesis is vacuolar (V)-ATPase (Kondo and Hearing 2011). cAMP upregulates the expression of V-ATPase subunits as well as acidification of melanosomes. Ion transporter proteins also regulate the pH of melanosomes and can affect pigmentation. For instance, SLC45A2 (MATP/ AIM1) is a transporter protein localized to melanosomes that mediates melanin synthesis. Its mutation leads to OCA4. The P protein, a sodium/ sulfate transporter that mediates melanosomal pH neutralization, similarly causes OCA2 when mutated (Ancans et al. 2001). Despite knowledge of these enzymes and membrane proteins, more research has to be done to understand the precise effect pH has on melanogenesis.

Part 3: UVR, Skin Phototype, and the Link to Melanoma

An Overview of UV, Tanning, and Sunburns

Properties of UVR

UVR has a wide array of effects on the skin, including tanning, photoaging, immune suppression, phototoxicity, and carcinogenesis (Armstrong and Kricker 2001). The human skin buffers this damage by thickening of the epidermis, DNA repair mechanisms, antioxidant enzymes, and apoptosis. UV light is an electromagnetic radiation with a wavelength shorter than that of visible light but longer than that of X-rays. Although UVR is invisible to humans, it can have a profound effect on our biology and health. Common physical manifestations of UVR exposure include suntan, freckling, and sunburn. Long-term effects include melanoma and non-melanoma skin cancer. UVR also provides unseen protective health benefits such as the conversion of vitamin D into a usable form.

There are three regions of the UV spectrum: UVA (400-320 nm), UVB (320-280 nm), and UVC (280–100 nm) All three have been linked to an increased risk of skin cancer. The ozone layer differentially filters the different types of UVR. Sunlight is composed of approximately 94% UVA and 6% UVB. UVC is completely filtered by the ozone layer. Although UVA makes up a greater proportion of solar radiation, UVB delivers more intense dose response. UVA has the longest wavelength and can penetrate into the dermis. It is responsible for generating an immediate tan, premature skin aging, and wrinkles. Indoor tanning equipment typically emits UVA with a smaller proportion of UVB. UVB rays have shorter wavelengths. UVB penetrates the epidermis and is responsible for a delayed tan, sunburns, most skin cancers, and cataracts. UVB is also responsible for the photolysis step involved in vitamin D biosynthesis within the skin. Factors affecting UV delivery to the Earth include time of day, season, latitude, altitude, cloud cover, and reflection off surfaces.

Facultative Pigmentation and Photoproducts

Tanning is the most common form of acquired skin pigmentation and is believed to be a form of environmental adaptation in humans. UVR increases skin pigmentation by increasing active epidermal melanocytes, melanogenic enzymes, and melanocyte dendricity. Soon after UVR exposure, keratinocytes release pro-inflammatory cytokines. UVR induces DNA damage in keratinocytes, which stabilizes the *p53* tumor suppressor gene and activates transcription of POMC (see Fig. 8). POMC is enzymatically cleaved to produce α -MSH, which is then released by keratinocytes and binds to MC1R on melanocytes, ultimately leading to transcription of MITF via CREB.

Generation of ROS followed by depletion of cellular antioxidants also occurs. ROS produced include hydrogen peroxide, hydroxyl radical, singlet oxygen, and peroxyl radicals. The ROS go on to damage lipids, proteins, and DNA. Antioxidant enzymes in the skin (superoxide dismutatase, glutathione peroxidase, and catalase) actively neutralize ROS.

The skin contains several photosensitive molecules called chromophores that, when receiving photons from UVR, are raised to a higher energy state. After absorbing a photon, the chromophores can pass on the excited energy state to other molecules, causing a chain reaction. DNA and RNA contain strongly absorbing chromophores for UVB, as aromatic heterocyclic nitrogen bases absorb wavelengths at 260-265 nm. Although UV targets many epidermal cellular components, including nucleic acids, proteins, lipids, and other macromolecules, its effect on DNA is probably the most profound (Chen et al. 2014b). The premutagenic photoproducts cyclobutane pyrimidine dimers (CPD) and 6-4 photoproducts (64PP) are commonly generated. These lesions alter the structure of DNA, inhibiting polymerases and arresting replication. CPDs consist of a fourmembered ring arising from the coupling of carbon-carbon double bonds of pyrimidines. This structure interferes with base pairing during DNA replication and increases the rate of mutations. 64PP occur at only one-third of the frequency of CPDs but they are more mutagenic. Dimers can be repaired by photoreactivation or nucleotide excision repair. If left unrepaired, they can lead to highly specific mutations known as UVR fingerprint mutations (CC→TT doublebase substitutions and $C \rightarrow T$ substitutions) at dypyrimidine sites. Xeroderma pigmentosum, a genetic disorder of nucleotide excision repair in which these types of mutations are left unrepaired, causing a fourfold risk of childhood melanoma.

Other Effects of UVR

Sunburns are understood as one of the greatest risk factors for cutaneous melanoma development. Although it is frequently cited that a history of severe sunburns during childhood is the greatest risk factor for cutaneous melanoma Fig. 8 UV-mediated tanning pathway. UVR causes DNA damage, which activates p53. The p53 protein promotes production of proopiomelanocortin (POMC), which can be processed into either adrenocorticotrophic hormone (ACTH), β -endorphin (β -end), or α -melanocyte-stimulating hormone (α-MSH). α-MSH binds to melanocortin 1 receptor (MC1R) on adjacent melanocytes and promotes melanogenesis and storage of melanin within melanosomes. Melanin is transported to keratinocytes and forms a cap over the nucleus to protect the cell's DNA from UVR (Image from Hsiao and Fisher 2014)



development, a recent meta-analysis taking into account dose-response effects has indicated that melanoma risk rises with increasing number of sunburns during all life periods, whether it be childhood, adolescence, or adulthood (Dennis et al. 2008).

UVB is known to more potently induce sunburns than UVA by about 1,000-fold. UVBinduced erythema can be detected within several hours after UVB exposure and can fade within a day. However, in fair-skinned individuals, the erythema may last significantly longer. At the cellular level, erythema is classically associated with the presence of apoptotic keratinocytes, known as sunburn cells. As stated above, UVB induces vitamin D production in the skin. Vitamin D plays an important role in calcium metabolism and likely multiple other signaling/regulatory pathways. Use of UV as the sole source of vitamin D synthesis is unlikely to offer stable maintenance of healthy vitamin D-related metabolism, given that UV is an unpredictable source of vitamin D synthesis. Its dose response is dependent upon numerous variables, including latitude, time of year, time of day, phototype of the person, amount of skin exposed, and duration of exposure. Of course, UV as a source of vitamin D also brings concurrent carcinogenic risk. For these reasons it is strongly recommended that individuals define their vitamin D blood levels using routine blood testing and obtain oral supplementation (which is readily and inexpensively available) to obtain stable, predictable circulating vitamin D.

UVR also causes immunosuppression both in the skin microenvironment and systemically. In particular, Langerhans cells are depleted from the skin following UV exposure. The evolutionary function of this response is unclear but has been suggested that it is a means of limiting immune reactions following DNA damage from UVR. Evidence shows that UV-induced immunosuppression may be a mechanistic contributor to UV-induced tumor development.

Redefining the Roles of UVR and Melanin in Melanomagenesis

Melanoma incidence rates are continually rising and have increased over 30-fold within the last century. Stratospheric ozone depletion will only worsen these numbers, as decreased ozone layer protection results in greater UV delivery to the Earth. Intense intermittent, rather than chronic, UVR exposure is known as the major risk factor for melanoma. Much is still being learned about the relationship between UV, melanin, DNA damage, and cancer risk. Although UVA and UVB have an established role in their contribution to non-melanoma skin cancer, their roles in melanomagenesis have been less clear. However, recent research has begun to unravel the precise contributions of both types of UV to the onset of melanoma formation.

UVR and Melanomagenesis

UVA and UVB cause distinct alterations to the genome and, as a result, on skin pigmentation. Traditionally, UVA has been known to cause oxidative damage, which generates ROS that can damage DNA and increase photoaging of the skin. UVB causes direct DNA damage in the form of CPDs and 64PP almost instantaneously. Although UVA was once thought to primarily induce skin aging, research over the past decade is now implicating it as a causal factor in skin cancer in addition to UVB. Thus, there are believed to be at least two separate UV wavelength-dependent pathways for the induction of melanomagenesis.

Clues that UVA and UVB induce melanoma via separate pathways arose through the observation that UVB irradiation led to similar rates of melanoma in both black and albino hepatocyte growth factor (HGF) transgenic mice (engineered to express melanocytes in the epidermis and dermis). This suggested that initiation of melanoma development by UVB is pigment independent. In contrast, black HGF transgenic mice developed melanoma following UVA irradiation, whereas matched albino strains did not (Noonan et al. 2012). This is supportive of two wavelengthdependent mechanisms for UV-induced melanoma: (1) a pigment-independent pathway that is initiated by UVB and (2) a pigment-dependent pathway caused by UVA.

These authors performed several studies to better characterize these two pathways. CPD and 64PP were detectable in both black and albino transgenic HGF mice following UVB irradiation, but not UVA irradiation. UVA irradiation led to only low levels of TT-CPD lesions and no 64PP in both strains. Thus, it was thought that UVA-induced CPD formation could not explain the pigment-dependent mechanism of UVA-induced melanoma. However, one of the photooxidative products of UVA, 8-Oxo-7,8dihydro-2'-deoxyguanosine (8-oxodG), was found only in pigmented UVA-irradiated HGF transgenic mice, but not in their UVA-irradiated albino counterparts. In contrast, UVB is not effective at producing 8-oxodG. Thus, it appears that 8-oxodGuo development requires both UVA and melanin.

Additional information about UVA, melanin, and melanomagenesis came from the discovery of "dark CPDs." UVA has been traditionally considered to be inefficient at making CPDs. However, it was found that melanin-containing murine melanocytes generated CPDs for at least 3 h after UVA exposure (Premi et al. 2015). This effect was not seen in melanocytes derived from albino mice, implicating melanin as an active player in DNA damage. Dark CPDs were shown to constitute half of all CPDs. The presence of melanin itself, rather than its synthesis following UVR, is thought to contribute to CPD formation as CPDs were particularly increased in keratinocytes at the 2-h time point. Pheomelanin is even more potent in the production of dark CPDs as both initial and dark CPDs are twice as frequent in $Mc1r^{e/e}$ mice compared to black mice. Thus, pheomelanin appears to be both an inferior shield and a more potent producer of dark CPDs. Ultimately, it was found that irradiating melanin-containing cells with UV induced both superoxide and nitric oxide formation and caused a spike in levels of their product and pro-oxidant strong peroxynitrite. Peroxynitrite leads to melanin degradation and the development of melanin-like granules in the nucleus. Peroxynitrite is one of the few molecules in the body that can excite electrons to a triplet state. Thus, up to several hours after the initial UV exposure, peroxynitrite also continues to excite melanin derivatives to a triplet state that has the high energy of a UV photon. These electronically excited melanin fragments can then transfer their energy to DNA, generating dark CPDs. Thus, melanin has a dual nature, in that it is both carcinogenic and protective.

Based on these results, it appears that people with fair skin are at particularly high risk of instantaneous DNA damage from UVB due to poor melanin shielding and are still vulnerable to the pigment-dependent pathway of UVA-induced melanoma.

Pigmentation and Melanomagenesis

Although the protective benefits of melanin, and eumelanin in particular, have long been lauded, its role as a protective agent has become more nuanced with the aforementioned discoveries. Despite this, there is a wealth of evidence that supports the fact that individuals with darker skin are more protected against skin cancer. Individuals with the lightest skin types are at approximately a 70-fold greater risk of developing skin cancer than individuals with the darkest skin types. It has been shown that the epidermis of the lightest skin types allows 55% of UVA and 24% of UVB to penetrate the skin, whereas the epidermis of the darkest skin types permits only 17.5% of UVA and 7.4% of UVB (Brenner and Hearing 2008). Differences in melanosome processing are also present in different skin types. Melanosomes in dark skin are resistant to degradation by lysosomal enzymes and are able to form supranuclear caps in keratinocytes. In contrast, melanosomes in light skin are degraded to "melanin dust" within the suprabasal layers, which is less effective in providing UV protection.

The increased melanoma risk within individuals with red hair and light skin has historically been attributed to inadequate UV protection, but research in recent years has revealed a UVR-independent pheomelanin-dependent mechanism of melanoma development. Mitra and colleagues developed a preclinical model of melanomagenesis in redheads by engineering pheomelanin-expressing Mc1r loss-of-function mice possessing a Braf^{V600E} mutation selectively expressed within melanocytes (Mitra et al. 2012). These red-haired mice were observed to develop spontaneous melanomas in the absence of UVR at a tenfold higher rate than mice without pheomelanin. Additionally, in the absence of UV exposure, the red-haired mice were found to have significantly elevated levels of lipid peroxidation and oxidative DNA damage within the skin compared to genetically matched albino mice. This strongly suggested that pheomelanin, and in particular the oxidative stress resulting from its presence, plays an independent role as a driver of melanoma formation (Morgan et al. 2013).

Wendt and colleagues sought to study this phenomenon in humans. Specifically, they generated a large case-control study to examine the effects of MC1R variants on melanoma incidence among 991 melanoma patients and 800 controls (Wendt et al. 2016). To isolate UV-independent effects, the researchers adjusted the analysis for age, sex, and variables related to sun exposure (e.g., history of sunburns in childhood and adolescence and visible signs of actinic sun damage) and discovered there was a 1.5-fold (95% CI, 1.01–2.21; P = 0.04) to 2.63-fold (95% CI, 1.82–3.81; P < 0.001) melanoma risk increase. Thus, humans with MC1R variants also appear to suffer from the same pheomelanin-driven and UV-independent risk of melanoma development.

These findings further confirm the significant genetic contribution to melanomagenesis and highlight the need for an improved understanding of the mechanism behind pheomelaninmediated melanoma formation. It is not clear how pheomelanin increases the amount of oxidative stress in the skin. It has been hypothesized that one of two mechanisms may occur: (1) pheomelanin generates ROS that cause oxidative DNA damage, or (2) pheomelanin synthesis consumes antioxidants that leave the cell susceptible to ROS-mediated damage. Pheomelanin has also been shown to affect the cellular redox system itself, as Panzella and colleagues demonstrated that pheomelanin significantly lowered levels of both reduced glutathione (GSH) and nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NADH) (Panzella et al. 2014). Although individuals with light skin and red hair are most strongly affected by the negative effects of pheomelanin, it is possible that a dose response occurs in which individuals with lower pheomelanin levels may have tempered but still significant negative effects from oxidative stress in the skin. It is unclear whether specific antioxidants might be able to combat this newly recognized UV-independent mechanism of carcinogenesis, but it is highly likely that this effect is significantly amplified by UV exposure.

The p53 Protein and Melanomagenesis

It is understood that UV exposure of the skin causes DNA damage and that the cumulative effect of repeated damage is a contributor to skin cancer development. However, the precise mechanism whereby UVR initiates melanomagenesis is poorly understood. In an effort to answer this, the role of DNA damage in the tanning pathway as well as carcinogenesis has been closely examined. Melanization after UVR is enhanced by DNA repair. Furthermore, topical application of small dipyrimidine DNA fragments, which imitate photodamaged pyrimidine dinucleotides excised during DNA repair, upregulates tyrosinase and increases pigmentation. Alternative DNAdamaging processes, such as X-ray irradiation and exposure to chemotherapeutic agents, can also elicit a tanning response likely through overlapping pathways. Studies have established evidence of the ability of UVR to generate tumor-initiating DNA mutations in melanocytes and exome sequencing studies of melanoma have clearly demonstrated a major contribution of UV signature mutations.

The tumor p53 protein (p53), which is encoded by the *TP53* gene, has been nicknamed the "guardian of the genome" because of its role in preventing genome mutation. The p53 protein has a central role in the skin's response to UVR. p53 is a transcription factor whose stability is rapidly increased following DNA damage. p53 is involved in several signaling pathways that become activated after stressors such as DNA damage, oxidative stress, and membrane compromise. Depending on the degree of damage, p53 may activate genes involved in DNA repair or may initiate apoptosis. The actions of p53 are mediated via control of cell cycle checkpoint activity and regulation of DNA repair machinery.

UVR has been linked to p53 expression. Immunohistochemistry of UV-irradiated human skin demonstrates an increase in p53 within suprabasal cells peaking at 4 h after exposure, as well as in basal cells peaking 48 h after exposure (Pontén et al. 1995). Topical sunscreen and more darkly pigmented skin eliminated UV-induced expression of p53. Following p53 upregulation, p53 simultaneously stimulates expression of POMC in keratinocytes, leading to transcription of tyrosinase and TRP1 genes within underlying melanocytes (Cui et al. 2007).

Two common polymorphisms in p53 are an arginine and proline at position 72 (Arg72 and Pro72). The Arg72 form has a greater tendency toward promoting apoptosis, whereas the Pro72 form confers elevated transcriptional activity (Miller and Tsao 2010). The effects of the Pro72 polymorphism are nuanced, as it is more commonly found in individuals living closer to the equator (likely due to the improved tanning ability conferred by this polymorphism) but has also been discovered to be associated with a greater risk for melanoma and basal cell carcinoma (Han et al. 2006). In particular, the Pro72 allele may be especially detrimental in individuals with loss of function in MC1R, as damaged cells would have a lower tendency to undergo apoptosis after DNA

damage. Indeed, Nan and colleagues found the highest risk of melanoma in women with light pigmentation along with MC1R variants (Nan et al. 2008).

Sunscreen

Sunscreen is a topical product containing UV filters that absorb or reflect a fraction of solar UVR and thus protects against sunburn. Sunscreens can be divided into inorganic UV filters (those that reflect sunlight) and organic UV filters (those that absorb UV light). Inorganic filters include titanium dioxide and zinc oxide, and organic UV filters include avobenzone, oxybenzone, octinoxate, octocrylene, and padimate O.

Sunscreens are categorized according to SPF (sun protection factor), which is measured by calculating the minimal dose of UVR necessary to cause confluent erythema at 24 h after exposure on the protected skin of a certain phototype, compared to the unprotected skin. SPF, as a measure of erythema, is primarily based on UVB protection rather than UVA, because erythema is induced by UVB irradiation. "Broad-spectrum" solar protection would extend into the UVA range, but the United States currently lacks a federally regulated system for quantitatively rating UVA protection. In Europe there are several different rating systems to measure effectiveness in blocking UVA rays, such as the immediate pigment darkening assay (IPD) and the persistent pigment darkening assay (PPD).

Fewer UVA-protecting sunscreen ingredients are available in the United States compared to other countries. However, in 2006, the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) approved an efficacious UVA-protecting compound, ecamsule. Despite this increased availability of UVAprotecting UV filters, it was discovered that half of all sunscreens marketed as having broadspectrum protection within the United States provided only low to medium protection against UVA. This may be due in part to the observation that the UVA filter avobenzone is degraded in the presence of the UVB filter octinoxate following UV exposure (Sayre et al. 2005).

Despite the widespread and continued recommended use of UV filters (including by these authors), there have been some uncertainties about the safety details of these compounds. It has been suggested that the aromatic organic compounds might penetrate through either the stratum corneum or hair follicles into the epidermis. Researchers have also voiced concerns about systemic absorption, especially after noting discernable levels of UV filters within both breast milk and urine samples following topical sunscreen application. Furthermore, both organic and inorganic UV filters have been observed to induce ROS following UVR within the epidermis.

Even though numerous epidemiologic studies have demonstrated both an increased incidence and risk of melanoma with increased ambient solar radiation and cutaneous sun sensitivity, the protective effect of sunscreen against melanoma has been surprisingly difficult to demonstrate. Mouse experiments have shown that sunscreen can delay the onset of melanomagenesis. However, findings from case-control and cohort studies on sunscreen use in humans have been largely uninformative and generally fail to achieve statistical significance. Unfortunately, many past studies were based upon antiquated sunscreen formulas, which make results difficult to extrapolate to current day usage. Studies were also often based on indirect measures of melanoma risk, such as nevi quantification. One commonly cited study performed by Gallagher and colleagues on Canadian children revealed a small reduction in new melanocytic nevi following regular sunscreen use (Gallagher et al. 2000). It is difficult to interpret how exactly these observations contribute to melanomagenesis, particularly when current thinking is that only a minority of melanomas arise from preexisting nevi.

A key study published by Green et al. examined the incidence of melanoma in 1,621 patients in Australia in a randomized controlled trial of daily sunscreen application and beta-carotene supplementation over a 5-year period with a 10-year follow-up (Green et al. 2011). Participants assigned to the sunscreen intervention were asked to apply on a daily basis a broadspectrum sunscreen containing the chemical filters 2-ethylhexyl-*p*-methoxycinnamate and 4-*tert*-butyl-4' methoxy-4-dibenzoylmethane, with an overall SPF of 16. Control participants were asked to continue their normal behavior of sun protection, which ranged from sporadic sunscreen use to no sunscreen use. Also of note, half of study participants were randomly assigned to supplementation with 30 mg of the antioxidant beta-carotene that has been hypothesized to counteract UV-induced oxidative DNA damage, whereas the other half was provided a placebo supplement. The results demonstrated a 50% reduction in invasive melanoma among those who used sunscreen compared to those who did not, and this trial provides the strongest evidence to date of reduction in the incidence of invasive melanoma after regular application of sunscreen in adults. Thus, the evidence suggests that sunscreen affords partial UV protection, and it is suggested that sunscreen be utilized in combination with sun avoidance strategies.

There are several potential explanations for the modest or even conflicting results from large studies analyzing melanoma prevention by sunscreen use. These include old formulations, inadequate application or reapplication of the formulations, and insufficient follow-up intervals. It is also possible that ROS produced by chemical sunscreens within the skin may antagonize the UV-protective benefits. Other confounding factors include selection bias of study participants (in which higherrisk individuals use sunscreen more often) and inadequate education of proper sunscreen use. However, there are promising alternatives that may soon be coming our way. Deng and colleagues recently devised a method of encapsulating UV filters within bioadhesive nanoparticles, which have the advantages of being adherent to the stratum corneum without penetrating deeper into the epidermis (Deng et al. 2015). Broadspectrum protection against UVA as well as UVB is hopefully shortly on the horizon in the United States and may provide significantly enhanced protection.

The role of topical antioxidants in the prevention of melanoma is also debatable. Within this study, there was no observed effect of the betacarotene intervention on either increasing or decreasing the risk of melanoma incidence. One of the concerns of antioxidant supplementation is that if applied to an area of the skin with islands of UV-induced mutations, the presence of antioxidants may in fact stabilize cells containing these mutations and allow their continued survival via anti-apoptotic mechanisms.

Therapeutic Pigmenting Agents

Several therapeutic pigmenting agents have been researched to harness the protective properties of eumelanization. A UV-independent agent that hyperstimulates pigment synthesis may be valuable, as pigmentary protection gained by tanning cannot otherwise be achieved without the detrimental side effects from UVR. In particular, researchers have attempted to perturb the UV signaling pathway at various points to modulate the activity of MC1R, adenylate cyclase, cAMP, and MITF.

Piperine, a compound extracted from black peppers, has been marketed as a natural supplement to aid in tanning. Experimental studies have suggested that piperine can induce melanocyte proliferation and dendrite formation in combination with UV exposure in vitro (Soumyanath et al. 2006), as well as repigmentation in a sparsely pigmented vitiligo mouse model (Faas et al. 2008). However, human studies are lacking. Additionally, the combination of UV exposure to maximize tanning is obviously not ideal as it apparently requires UV and its effects on UV carcinogenesis are unknown.

In an effort to sidestep the DNA damage pathway, a chemically modified superpotent α -MSH analogue, [Nle⁴-D-Phe⁷]- α -MSH, has been tested via subcutaneous injection in human subjects. Researchers demonstrated that supplementation with an α -MSH analogue led to a melanin increase of 41% in subjects with low-MED skin type and a melanin increase of 12% in those with high-MED skin type (Barnetson et al. 2006). Additionally, they observed that formation of epidermal sunburn cells and thymidine dimer formation was halved in subjects with low-MED skin type following UV exposure.

Forskolin, a cAMP activator, is a small molecule that has been able to activate the pigmentation pathway downstream of Mc1r, thus achieving pigmentation even in nonfunctional Fig. 9 Pigmentation "rescue" by topical forskolin in "redhaired/ fairskinned" mice (D'Orazio et al 2006). The adenylate cyclase agonist forskolin was topically applied to the skin of redhaired (Mc1r(e/e) mice containing the K14-SCF transgene that causes retention of epidermal melanocytes. (a) Forskolin treatment induced significant skin darkening, as compared to the control vehicle treatments. (b) Quantification of eumelanin pigment demonstrated significant induction of eumelanin synthesis by forskolin. In contrast, UV-B treatment did not induce eumelanin synthesis, consistent with the observation that redhaired individuals do not tan after UV



Mc1r mutant mice (see Fig. 9). Regular topical forskolin application in mouse models leads to dark pigmentation, protection against both UVR-mediated damage and carcinogenesis, and decreased levels of both CPDs and 64PP in keratinocytes (D'Orazio et al. 2006). Unfortunately, forskolin does not have good topical penetration in the human skin.

Therapeutic pigmenting agents may not be without risk. It has been reported that use of these agents can result in atypical nevi and melanoma. Specifically, case reports exist of melanoma developing in an extremely short time period after heavy Melanotan 2 (an α -MSH analogue) usage. However, a recent controlled clinical study did not reveal evidence of increased melanoma risk (Langendonk et al. 2015).

Conclusion

Pigmentation is a multistep process. It requires adequate melanocyte development, proper homing to epidermal and follicular locations, the formation of appropriate dendritic connections with recipient epithelial cells, melanin production by melanosomes, and precise transfer of this pigment to the surrounding epithelial network. These pathways are further controlled precisely at the molecular level by enzymes, structural proteins, transcriptional regulators, transporters, receptors, and growth factors. Alterations in any of these pathways or factors can cause variations or defects in pigmentation. In addition to its social significance, pigmentation plays an important role in the development of skin cancers including melanoma. Over the past years, there has been an explosion of knowledge about the interplay between melanin, UVR, and melanoma progression. Additionally, attempts have been made to increase pigmentation therapeutically as well as target mediators of pigmentation in melanoma. Although pigmentation is extremely complex, improved knowledge of the intricate pathways involved in the engineering of pigmentation will allow us to both better understand evolutionary conserved processes and improve health outcomes in a vast array of dermatological disorders and diseases.

Acknowledgment The authors acknowledge the numerous outstanding researchers who have contributed to our understanding of melanocyte biology and whose work has not been fully cited due to space constraints. The authors also acknowledge grant support from NIH (5P01 CA163222-04; 5R01 AR043369-19; 5R01CA178315-02), the Melanoma Research Alliance, and the Dr. Miriam and Sheldon G. Adelson Medical Research Foundation.

References

- Ancans J, Tobin DJ, Hoogduijn MJ, Smit NP, Wakamatsu K, Thody AJ (2001) Melanosomal pH controls rate of melanogenesis, eumelanin/ phaeomelanin ratio and melanosome maturation in melanocytes and melanoma cells. Exp Cell Res 268(1):26–35. https://doi.org/10.1006/excr.2001.5251
- Armstrong BK, Kricker A (2001) The epidemiology of UV induced skin cancer. J Photochem Photobiol B 63(1–3):8–18
- Astner S, Anderson RR (2004) Skin phototypes 2003. J Invest Dermatol 122(2):xxx-xxxi
- Barnetson RS, Ooi TK, Zhuang L, Halliday GM, Reid CM, Walker PC, ... Kleinig MJ (2006) [Nle4-D-Phe7]-alphamelanocyte-stimulating hormone significantly increased pigmentation and decreased UV damage in fair-skinned Caucasian volunteers. J Invest Dermatol 126(8): 1869–1878. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.jid. 5700317
- Brenner M, Hearing VJ (2008) The protective role of melanin against UV damage in human skin. Photochem Photobiol 84(3):539–549. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.17 51-1097.2007.00226.x
- Candille SI, Kaelin CB, Cattanach BM, Yu B, Thompson DA, Nix MA, ... Barsh GS (2007) A β-defensin mutation causes black coat color in domestic dogs. Science 318(5855):1418–1423. https://doi. org/10.1126/science.1147880

- Chen CT, Chuang C, Cao J, Ball V, Ruch D, Buehler MJ (2014a) Excitonic effects from geometric order and disorder explain broadband optical absorption in eumelanin. Nat Commun 5:3859. https://doi.org/10. 1038/ncomms4859
- Chen H, Weng QY, Fisher DE (2014b) UV signaling pathways within the skin. J Invest Dermatol 134(8): 2080–2085. https://doi.org/10.1038/jid.2014.161
- Cui R, Widlund HR, Feige E, Lin JY, Wilensky DL, Igras VE, ... Fisher DE (2007) Central role of p53 in the suntan response and pathologic hyperpigmentation. Cell 128(5):853–864. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.cell.2006.12.045
- D'Orazio JA, Nobuhisa T, Cui R, Arya M, Spry M, Wakamatsu K, ... Fisher DE (2006) Topical drug rescue strategy and skin protection based on the role of Mc1r in UV-induced tanning. Nature 443(7109): 340–344. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature05098
- Deng Y, Ediriwickrema A, Yang F, Lewis J, Girardi M, Saltzman WM (2015) A sunblock based on bioadhesive nanoparticles. Nat Mater 14(12): 1278–1285. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmat4422
- Dennis LK, Vanbeek MJ, Beane Freeman LE, Smith BJ, Dawson DV, Coughlin JA (2008) Sunburns and risk of cutaneous melanoma: does age matter? A comprehensive meta-analysis. Ann Epidemiol 18(8):614–627. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.annepidem.2008.04.006
- Faas L, Venkatasamy R, Hider RC, Young AR, Soumyanath A (2008) In vivo evaluation of piperine and synthetic analogues as potential treatments for vitiligo using a sparsely pigmented mouse model. Br J Dermatol 158(5):941–950. https://doi.org/10.1111/ j.1365-2133.2008.08464.x
- Gallagher RP, Rivers JK, Lee TK, Bajdik CD, McLean DI, Coldman AJ (2000) Broad-spectrum sunscreen use and the development of new nevi in white children: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA 283(22):2955–2960
- Garraway LA, Widlund HR, Rubin MA, Getz G, Berger AJ, Ramaswamy S, ... Sellers WR (2005) Integrative genomic analyses identify MITF as a lineage survival oncogene amplified in malignant melanoma. Nature 436 (7047):117–122. https://doi.org/10.1038/natu re03664
- Green AC, Williams GM, Logan V, Strutton GM (2011) Reduced melanoma after regular sunscreen use: randomized trial follow-up. J Clin Oncol 29(3):257–263. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2010.28.7078
- Grønskov K, Ek J, Brondum-Nielsen K (2007) Oculocutaneous albinism. Orphanet J Rare Dis 2(2):43
- Han J, Cox DG, Colditz GA, Hunter DJ (2006) The p53 codon 72 polymorphism, sunburns, and risk of skin cancer in US Caucasian women. Mol Carcinog 45(9):694–700. https://doi.org/10.1002/mc.20190
- Hida T, Wakamatsu K, Sviderskaya EV, Donkin AJ, Montoliu L, Lynn Lamoreux M, ... Bennett DC (2009) Agouti protein, mahogunin, and attractin in pheomelanogenesis and melanoblast-like alteration of melanocytes: a cAMP-independent pathway. Pigment

Cell Melanoma Res 22(5):623–634. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/j.1755-148X.2009.00582.x

- Hirobe T (2011) How are proliferation and differentiation of melanocytes regulated? Pigment Cell Melanoma Res 24(3):462–478. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1755-148X. 2011.00845.x
- Hocker TL, Singh MK, Tsao H (2008) Melanoma genetics and therapeutic approaches in the twenty-first century: moving from the benchside to the bedside. J Invest Dermatol 128(11):2575–2595
- Hsiao JJ, Fisher DE (2014) The roles of microphthalmiaassociated transcription factor and pigmentation in melanoma. Arch Biochem Biophys 563:28–34
- Kondo T, Hearing VJ (2011) Update on the regulation of mammalian melanocyte function and skin pigmentation. Expert Rev Dermatol 6(1):97–108. https://doi.org/ 10.1586/edm.10.70
- Lamoreux ML, Wakamatsu K, Ito S (2001) Interaction of major coat color gene functions in mice as studied by chemical analysis of eumelanin and pheomelanin. Pigment Cell Res 14:23–31
- Langendonk JG, Balwani M, Anderson KE, Bonkovsky HL, Anstey AV, Bissell DM, ... Desnick RJ (2015) Afamelanotide for erythropoietic protoporphyria. N Engl J Med 373(1):48–59. https://doi.org/10.10 56/ NEJMoa1411481
- Levy C, Khaled M, Fisher DE (2006) MITF: master regulator of melanocyte development and melanoma oncogene. Trends Mol Med 12(9):406–414. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.molmed.2006.07.008
- Lin JY, Fisher DE (2007) Melanocyte biology and skin pigmentation. Nature 445(7130):843–850. https://doi. org/10.1038/nature05660
- Maresca V, Flori E, Picardo M (2015) Skin phototype: a new perspective. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res 28(4): 378–389. https://doi.org/10.1111/pcmr.12365
- Miller AJ, Tsao H (2010) New insights into pigmentary pathways and skin cancer. Br J Dermatol 162(1):22–28. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2133.2009.09565.x
- Mitra D, Luo X, Morgan A, Wang J, Hoang MP, Lo J, ... Fisher DE (2012) An ultraviolet-radiation-independent pathway to melanoma carcinogenesis in the red hair/ fair skin background. Nature 491(7424):449–453. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature11624
- Morgan AM, Lo J, Fisher DE (2013) How does pheomelanin synthesis contribute to melanomagenesis?: two distinct mechanisms could explain the carcinogenicity of pheomelanin synthesis. BioEssays 35(8):672–676. https://doi.org/10.1002/ bies.201300020
- Mort RL, Jackson IJ, Patton EE (2015) The melanocyte lineage in development and disease. Development 142(7):1387. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.123729
- Nan H, Qureshi AA, Hunter DJ, Han J (2008) Interaction between p53 codon 72 polymorphism and melanocortin 1 receptor variants on suntan response and cutaneous melanoma risk. Br J Dermatol 159(2):314–321. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2133.2008.08624.x

- Nishimura EK, Jordan SA, Oshima H, Yoshida H, Osawa M, Moriyama M, ... Nishikawa S (2002) Dominant role of the niche in melanocyte stem-cell fate determination. Nature 416(6883):854–860. https://doi. org/10.1038/416854a
- Nishimura EK, Granter SR, Fisher DE (2005) Mechanisms of hair graying: incomplete melanocyte stem cell maintenance in the niche. Science 307(5710):720–724. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1099593
- Noonan FP, Zaidi MR, Wolnicka-Glubisz A, Anver MR, Bahn J, Wielgus A, ... De Fabo EC (2012) Melanoma induction by ultraviolet A but not ultraviolet B radiation requires melanin pigment. Nat Commun 3:884. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms1893
- Panzella L, Leone L, Greco G, Vitiello G, D'Errico G, Napolitano A, d'Ischia M (2014) Red human hair pheomelanin is a potent pro-oxidant mediating UV-independent contributory mechanisms of melanomagenesis. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res 27(2): 244–252. https://doi.org/10.1111/pcmr.12199
- Pontén F, Berne B, Ren ZP, Nistér M, Pontén J (1995) Ultraviolet light induces expression of p53 and p21 in human skin: effect of sunscreen and constitutive p21 expression in skin appendages. J Invest Dermatol 105(3):402–406
- Premi S, Wallisch S, Mano CM, Weiner AB, Bacchiocchi A, Wakamatsu K, ... Brash DE (2015) Photochemistry. Chemiexcitation of melanin derivatives induces DNA photoproducts long after UV exposure. Science 347(6224):842–847. https://doi.org/ 10.1126/science.1256022
- Roider EM, Fisher DE (2016) Red hair, light skin, and UV-independent risk for melanoma development in humans. JAMA Dermatol. https://doi.org/10.1001/ jamadermatol.2016.0524
- Sayre RM, Dowdy JC, Gerwig AJ, Shields WJ, Lloyd RV (2005) Unexpected photolysis of the sunscreen octinoxate in the presence of the sunscreen avobenzone. Photochem Photobiol 81(2):452–456. https://doi.org/10.1562/2004-02-12-RA-083
- Schneider MR, Schmidt-Ullrich R, Paus R (2009) The hair follicle as a dynamic miniorgan. Curr Biol 19(3): R132–R142. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2008.12. 005
- Seo K, Mohanty TR, Choi T, Hwang I (2007) Biology of epidermal and hair pigmentation in cattle: a minireview. Vet Dermatol 18(6):392–400
- Slominski A, Tobin DJ, Shibahara S, Wortsman J (2004) Melanin pigmentation in mammalian skin and its hormonal regulation. Physiol Rev 84(4):1155–1228. https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.00044.2003
- Slominski A, Wortsman J, Plonka PM, Schallreuter KU, Paus R, Tobin DJ (2005) Hair follicle pigmentation. J Invest Dermatol 124(1):13–21. https://doi.org/10. 1111/j.0022-202X.2004.23528.x
- Soumyanath A, Venkatasamy R, Joshi M, Faas L, Adejuyigbe B, Drake AF, ... Young AR (2006) UV irradiation affects melanocyte stimulatory activity and

protein binding of piperine. Photochem Photobiol 82(6):1541-1548

- Steingrímsson E, Copeland NG, Jenkins NA (2005) Melanocyte stem cell maintenance and hair graying. Cell 121(1):9–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2005.03.021
- Sturm RA, Larsson M (2009) Genetics of human iris colour and patterns. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res 22(5):544–562. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1755-148X. 2009.00606.x
- Tarafder AK, Bolasco G, Correia MS, Pereira FJ, Iannone L, Hume AN, ... Seabra MC (2014) Rab11b mediates melanin transfer between donor melanocytes and acceptor keratinocytes via coupled exo/endocytosis. J Invest Dermatol 134(4):1056–1066. https://doi.org/10.1038/jid.2013.432
- Thody AJ, Higgins EM, Wakamatsu K, Ito S, Burchill SA, Marks JM (1991) Pheomelanin as well as eumelanin is present in human epidermis. J Invest Dermatol 97 (2):340–344
- Tobin DJ, Paus R (2001) Graying: gerontobiology of the hair follicle pigmentary unit. Exp Gerontol 36(1):29–54

- Walker WP, Gunn TM (2010) Shades of meaning: the pigment-type switching system as a tool for discovery. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res 23(4):485–495. https:// doi.org/10.1111/j.1755-148X.2010.00721.x
- Weiner L, Han R, Scicchitano BM, Li J, Hasegawa K, Grossi M, ... Brissette JL (2007) Dedicated epithelial recipient cells determine pigmentation patterns. Cell 130 (5):932–942. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell. 2007.07.024
- Wendt J, Rauscher S, Burgstaller-Muehlbacher S, Fae I, Fischer G, Pehamberger H, Okamoto I (2016) Human determinants and the role of melanocortin-1 receptor variants in melanoma risk independent of UV radiation exposure. JAMA Dermatol. https://doi.org/10.1001/ jamadermatol.2016.0050
- Wu X, Hammer JA (2014) Melanosome transfer: it is best to give and receive. Curr Opin Cell Biol 29:1–7. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.ceb.2014.02.003
- Zhang H, Li J, Luo H, Chen H, Mei L, He C, ... Feng Y (2013) Studies on pathogenesis of Waardenburg syndrome type II and Tietz syndrome resulting from MITF gene mutations. J Otol 8:97–102



Ultraviolet Radiation and Melanoma

Thomas M. Rünger

Contents

Introduction	52
Epidemiologic and Clinical Evidence that Exposure to Sunlight Causes Melanoma	52
Epidemiologic and Clinical Evidence that Exposure to Artificial Sources of UVR Causes Melanoma	53
Which Wavelengths of UVR Cause Melanoma – UVB or UVA? Evidence from Epidemiologic Studies and Animal Models	53
Molecular Evidence that UVR Causes Melanoma	54
Which Wavelengths of UVR Cause Melanoma – UVB or UVA? Evidence from Molecular Studies	57
Role of the Effects of UVR on the Immune System in the Pathogenesis of Melanoma	58
Photoprotection Is Melanoma Prevention	58
Conclusion	59
References	59

Abstract

There is overwhelming epidemiologic, animal model, and molecular evidence that ultraviolet radiation (UVR) is a major pathogenic factor in the development of the most common subtypes of melanoma. Both UVB and UVA induce pyrimidine dimer DNA photoproducts, possibly through different mechanisms, induce mutations (mostly the $C \rightarrow T$ UV-signature mutation), and contribute to melanoma formation. There is no conclusive evidence that oxidative DNA base modifications play a significant role in melanomagenesis. Sun seeking and artificial tanning are most likely to blame for the steady increases of melanoma incidence over the past decades. Photoprotection can reduce melanoma risk. Education of the public about the dangers of UVR exposure from natural and artificial sources and about effective measures of photoprotection with the goal to modify behavior

T. M. Rünger (🖂)

Department of Dermatology, Boston University School of Medicine, Boston, MA, USA e-mail: truenger@bu.edu

[©] Springer Science+Business Media, LLC, part of Springer Nature 2019 D. E. Fisher, B. C. Bastian (eds.), *Melanoma*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-7147-9 25

and to reduce UVR exposure is the best strategy to reverse the increases in melanoma incidence.

Keywords

 $\begin{array}{l} Ultraviolet\ radiation\ (UVR)\cdot UVA\cdot UVB\cdot \\ C\rightarrow T\ mutation\ \cdot\ UV-signature\ mutation\ \cdot \\ DNA\ photoproduct \end{array}$

Introduction

Exposure to sunlight has long been recognized as an important risk factor for the development of melanoma in sun-exposed skin, and the doubling of melanoma incidence in the past 25 years (Linos et al. 2009) has been attributed to increased ultraviolet radiation (UVR) exposures through sun seeking and artificial tanning. This chapter first reviews the epidemiologic and clinical evidence that exposures to sunlight and to artificial sources of UVR cause melanoma and which wavelengths of UVR contribute to this effect. Today, there is also strong molecular evidence for the role of UVR in the pathogenesis of melanoma and these newer insights, which are reviewed in the subsequent paragraphs, also shed light on the wavelength question.

Epidemiologic and Clinical Evidence that Exposure to Sunlight Causes Melanoma

Several lines of clinical and epidemiological evidence implicate sunlight exposure in the pathogenesis of melanoma. These are that activities related to sun seeking, a history of sunburns, a high number of melanocytic nevi (which is a marker of past sun exposures), and pigmentary characteristics with fair skin, blond hair, and blue eyes with higher sunburn susceptibility and lower ability to tan (lower Fitzpatrick skin phototypes) all significantly increase melanoma risk (reviewed by Gandini et al. 2011).

Location of residence studies show that living in sunny areas increases melanoma risk (Weinstock et al. 1989; Osterlind et al. 1988). In addition, migrant studies show an increased risk in individuals who have spent childhood and adolescence in sunny geographical areas (Holman and Armstrong 1984; English and Armstrong 1988; Autier et al. 1997).

Moreover, the observation that photoprotection with use of sunscreens prevents melanoma (Green et al. 2011) also supports the link between solar UVR exposure and melanoma.

It is important to recognize, however, that melanoma is not a monolithic entity. Different melanoma subtypes are not only genetically distinct, but also differ with regard to pathogenic factors, including UVR (Whiteman et al. 2011). For example, acral and mucosal melanomas are not thought to be induced by UVR. Within the group of UVR-induced melanomas, the mechanisms of how UVR induces malignant transformation also appear be different. Melanomas arising in chronically sun-damaged skin (high-CSD melanomas), which are most commonly found on the face in the elderly, but can also occur in other heavily photodamaged areas of the skin, are associated with high cumulative sun exposure and often arise from in situ melanomas termed lentigo maligna. These high-CSD melanomas show an extremely high mutation burden (Bastian 2014; Hodis et al. 2012). Desmoplastic melanomas have a similarly high mutation burden (Shain et al. 2015) and a similar age and anatomic site distribution as high-CSD melanomas.

Melanomas arising in sun-exposed skin without signs of pronounced chronic photodamage (low-CSD melanomas) are most commonly found on the lower legs in women and on the back in men (Gordon et al. 2015). At least in Western cultures, these areas tend to be photoprotected for long periods of time, e.g., during winter, and are then suddenly exposed to high doses of UVB (Bodekær et al. 2016). Chronically UVR-exposed skin is characterized by an upregulation of anti-mutagenic mechanisms. The absence of such protective states in photoprotected skin, in combination with a relative inability of melanocytes to undergo apoptosis upon high-dose UVR exposures has been suggested as an explanation for the induction of melanoma by intermittent UVR exposures (Gilchrest et al. 1999). Low-CSD melanomas often arise from melanocytic nevi acquired during childhood, which are themselves also associated with sun exposure (Satagopan et al. 2016). Low-CSD melanomas differ from high-CSD melanomas also genetically. They have a lower mutation burden and are characterized by a different pattern of BRAF mutations (Bastian 2014; Menzies et al. 2012; Shain et al. 2015; Alexandrov et al. 2013). The BRAF V600E mutation is common in low-CSD melanomas, but not in high-CSD melanomas, which tend to either not carry BRAF mutations at all, or have other types of BRAF mutations, such as BRAF 600 K. While low-CSD melanomas still have a very high mutation burden, it is lower than in high-CSD melanomas.

Epidemiologic and Clinical Evidence that Exposure to Artificial Sources of UVR Causes Melanoma

Natural sunlight is not the only source of UVR. There are also exposures to artificial UVR from industrial sources in occupational settings and from devices used in tanning parlors. Many studies have shown a significantly increased risk of melanoma subsequent to sunbed/sunlamp use (Boniol et al. 2012; Gallagher et al. 2005), including a large prospective cohort study in 106,379 women in Sweden and Norway, showing a relative melanoma risk of 1.42-2.58 with use of tanning devices (Veierød et al. 2003). A melanoma epidemic in Iceland with increasing rates of melanoma between 1990 and 2006, mainly in young women, has also been associated with increased tanning bed use (Autier et al. 2011). Melanomas at usually covered sites, e.g., skin in the sacral and pubic areas, may also be attributable to UVR exposure from sunbed use (Higgins and Du Vivier 1992).

Various types of artificial UVR sources are also used for phototherapy of inflammatory skin disorders. An increased risk of melanoma has never been reported following phototherapy with broadband or narrow-band UVB. This may be due to the fact that the UVR doses used for phototherapy are much lower than those from a lifetime of sun exposures and that phototherapy dosing regimens usually start with low doses and allow for careful slow adaptation with measured dose increments. However, extensive longitudinal studies on the risk of UVB phototherapy have not been done. This is in contrast to photochemotherapy with UVA in combination with the photosensitizer 8-methoxy-psoralen (PUVA), where a large cohort of the first patients treated since the inception of PUVA in the 1970s has been followed carefully. These patients do not only have an increased risk of cutaneous squamous cell carcinomas with high numbers of treatments and high cumulative doses, but also for melanoma (Stern and PUVA Follow Up Study 2001). PUVA treatment involves formation of DNA-psoralen adducts with inter- and intrastrand crosslinks, which is quite different in its DNA damaging and mutagenic properties than UVR without psoralen. Nevertheless, the increased melanoma risk in patients who have received PUVA treatment is a reminder that phototherapy with UVR carries risks and should, if possible, be avoided in patients with an increased melanoma risk.

Which Wavelengths of UVR Cause Melanoma – UVB or UVA? Evidence from Epidemiologic Studies and Animal Models

The strong evidence that UVR causes melanoma raises the question as to which wavelengths of the UVR spectrum this effect can be attributed. When a few decades ago it was increasingly recognized that UVB (280-315 nm) had skin damaging effects, but UVA (315-400 nm) was still considered relatively safe, the tanning industry reduced the UVB output in their devices and claimed that a UVA-induced tan would be safe. It has then been postulated that the increased risk of melanoma with the use of tanning devices may be attributed to high amount of UVA emitted by these devices. However, tanning machines differ widely in their spectral output (Facta et al. 2013; Gerber et al. 2002). With the increasing recognition that UVA is not safe (e.g., UVA has been

classified as a complete carcinogen by the WHO; El Ghissassi et al. 2009), more and more UVB has been added back into tanning devices. With this information in mind, the increased melanoma risk with sunbed use cannot be clearly attributed to the high fraction of UVA, but may also be due to the UVB that is still emitted by tanning devices.

Another way to answer the wavelengths question of melanoma is the use of animal models. Ley (1997) observed the induction of melanoma precursor lesions in the opossum with UVA, more than with UVB. However, no infiltrative melanomas could be induced. Setlow et al. (1993) used swordfish and observed that UVA induces melanomas more effectively than UVB. However, this observation could not be reproduced and the opposite result was reported by Mitchell et al. (2010). De Fabo et al. (2004) used HGF/SF transgenic mice and observed melanoma induction only with UVB, but not with UVA. Later, the same group (Noonan et al. 2012) observed that UVA does induce melanoma, but only in pigmented mice, not in the previously studied nonpigmented mice. With that, it appears that, at least in this mouse model, the presence of melanin is required for the induction of melanoma with UVA, but not with UVB, and that both wavelengths, UVA and UVB, can induce melanoma, but possibly via a different mechanism. Today, we may be able to provide a molecular explanation for this difference (see below).

Molecular Evidence that UVR Causes Melanoma

Upon absorption by cellular chromophores and their subsequent excitation, UVR induces photochemical reactions, either in the excited chromophore itself or indirectly through a reaction of the chromophore with another cellular molecule (photosensitized reaction). Nucleic acids, DNA and RNA, have an absorption maximum at 260 nm, which is within the UVC range (100–280 nm). UVC does not penetrate the earth's atmosphere. Even if it did, it would not penetrate deep enough into the skin to reach the basal layer of the epidermis, the most important compartment of the skin for the development of nonmelanoma skin cancer and melanoma, and is therefore not thought to play a major role in photocarcinogenesis. However, UVB (280-320 nm) does reach the earth's surface and is still able to strongly excite nucleic acids. It also penetrates deeper into the epidermis than UVC and induces photochemical reactions in the basal keratinocytes and in melanocytes. A critical consequence of UVR-induced excitation of DNA is the formation of covalent chemical bindings between two adjacent pyrimidine bases, thymine and cytosine (Fig. 1, left column: classic pathway). There are two main types of such DNA photoproducts formed by UVR, cis-syn cyclobutane pyrimidine dimers (CPDs) and pyrimidine (6-4) pyrimidone photoproducts (6-4 PPs). Both types of dimers can form between any combination of thymine and cytosine: T:T, T:C, C:T, or C:C.

These pyrimidine dimer photoproducts impair DNA replication and can result in mispairing if not removed prior to cells entering the S-phase of the cell cycle for DNA replication. A mispairing results in the change of the DNA sequence, a mutation. Several types of such mutations are observed after UV exposure, but the most common ones are $C \rightarrow T$ base exchange mutations at sites of two adjacent pyrimidines (dipyrimidine sites). Without UV exposure, e.g., in noncutaneous tissues or tumors, such mutations are observed much less frequently (Alexandrov et al. 2013), and the C \rightarrow T and the C:C \rightarrow T:T tandem mutations at dipyrimidine sites have therefore been named UV-signature mutations (Brash 2015). They are caused by misincorporation of adenine(s) opposite a cytosine-containing pyrimidine dimer. Once these mutations are formed, they remain for the life span of the affected cells and are also propagated during cell division. They can be considered the memory of a cell's lifetime exposure to UVR. Some authors use the term UVB signature mutations. However, this term is misleading, as they are also formed by UVA (Brash 2015; Rünger 2008) and should be avoided.

Most mutations can be generated by different mutagens and mechanisms. While UV-signature mutations appear to be relatively specific for



Fig. 1 Mechanisms of UVR-induced mutation formation in melanocytes. In the classic pathway (left panel), adjacent pyrimidines react with each other and dimerize to form DNA photoproducts after direct excitation of DNA molecules by photons. The $C \rightarrow T$ and $CC \rightarrow TT$ UV-signature mutations may form at sites of DNA photoproducts by mispairing of cytosine(s) with adenine. Although 260 nm is the absorption maximum of DNA, UVB still strongly excites DNA and generates mutations through this pathway. UVA's ability to excite DNA is much weaker, but may still generate mutations via this mechanism. CPDs, cis-syn cyclobutane pyrimidine dimers; 6–4 PPs, pyrimidine (6–4) pyrimidone photoproducts.

The melanin-dependent chemiexcitation pathway (middle panel) was recently described by Brash (2015). It describes the formation of DNA photoproducts not by direct excitation of DNA, as in the classic pathway, but by energy

UVR, a single mutation, even a $C \rightarrow T$ mutation at a dipyrimidine site, can never be ascribed to only one possible cause. Nevertheless, a relative increase of these transitions compared to other base pair changes in melanomas and other cutaneous malignancies clearly point to UVR as their causative agent. transfer from excited melanin fragments to DNA, which involves nitric oxide (NO*), superoxide (SO*⁻), and peroxynitrite (ONOO⁻). This mechanism generates UV-signature mutations both after irradiation with UVA and with UVB.

The oxidative pathway (right panel) involves a photosensitized reaction with formation of singlet oxygen after excitation of a cellular chromophore other than DNA. Singlet oxygen then reacts with guanine either in DNA or in the nucleotide pool. A common oxidative base lesion is 8-oxo-7,8-dihydro-2'-deoxyguanosine (8-oxodG). By mispairing with adenine, $G \rightarrow T$ and $A \rightarrow C$ transversions can form. UVA has long been thought to contribute to UVR-induced mutation load through this mechanism. However, molecular evidence, in particular the low frequency of such transversions in melanomas, does not support a major role in the formation of melanoma

Pleasance et al. (2010) were the first to report the full genomic sequence of a melanoma as compared to the normal sequence of a lymphoblast cell line from the same patient. Out of 33,345 base substitution mutations observed in the melanoma, more than 70% were $C \rightarrow T$ UV-signature mutations. Although not 100% of these mutations
may have been caused by pyrimidine dimers following UV exposure, the predominance of this type of mutation that is otherwise rare in non-UV-exposed tumors is an impressive molecular account of a lifetime of sun exposure of a single melanocyte that has ultimately given rise to this melanoma. This data have since been confirmed in large series of hundreds of melanomas, showing that more than 75% of all mutations in melanoma are UV-signature mutations (The Cancer Genome Atlas Network 2015; Hodis et al. 2012; Krauthammer et al. 2012). These data also show that the mean mutation rate in melanomas from sun-exposed sites along with mismatch repair deficient cancers is the highest of all cancers investigated in this way. This high burden of mutations with mostly $C \rightarrow T$ transitions, both in high-high-CSD and low-CSD melanomas, again emphasizes the role of UVR's high mutagenic properties and its role in the pathogenesis of cutaneous melanoma. In contrast, melanomas in sun-protected skin, including, e.g., acral and mucosal melanomas, have a much lower mutation burden and do not show the high rate of UV-signature mutations.

UV-signature mutations are also found in many of the mutated genes that play a particular role in the development of melanoma. For example, 62% of CDKN2A, 52% of PTEN, 69% of TP53 (Hocker and Tsao 2007), and 33–85% of TERT promotor mutations are UV-signature mutations (Horn et al. 2013; Huang et al. 2013). UV-signature mutations in the TERT promoter have also been reported in few internal tumors that have never been exposed to UVR (Vinagre et al. 2013). These may have been caused by another, unidentified carcinogen or may be due to locus-specific genetic instability at these sites.

BRAF mutations, however, which are very common in melanocytic nevi (approximately 80%) and in melanomas (approximately 50%; Tsao et al. 2012) are not UV-signature mutations. The most common BRAF mutation, V600E, is a $T \rightarrow A$ base substitution transversion mutation. The observation that this mutation is not or only rarely observed in melanomas from UVR-protected areas indicates that it is indeed induced by UVR. Thomas et al. (2006) proposed that it could be induced by a DNA photoproduct in the vicinity of this locus. While CPDs and 6-4 PPs at dipyrimidine sites are the most common UV-induced DNA lesions, UVR also generates several other, yet rare types of DNA damage, and one of those may give rise to this otherwise uncommon type of mutation in BRAF. It is, however, not a mutation that is commonly caused by oxidative DNA damage. The elucidation of the mechanism as to how UVR generates this $T \rightarrow A$ transversion in BRAF V600E mutations or the $GT \rightarrow AA$ tandem mutations in BRAF V600 K mutations remains an enigma. These BRAF mutations have also been described in internal malignancies, suggesting non-UVR-related mechanisms of formation and that the ability of UVR to generate these mutations may be indirect, rather than through UVR-induced DNA damage directly. It is also important to recognize that BRAF is an oncogene that is activated by a gainof-function mutation. Because gain-of-function mutations can only occur for certain amino acid changes, the DNA base change likely indicates a constraint on the amino acid sequence rather than the identity of the mutagen. The same is true for NRAS mutations in melanoma, which are also not UV-signature mutations. Instead, they are most commonly $G \rightarrow T$ transversions, base exchange mutations typically induced by oxidative base modifications.

Only a small fraction of UV-induced DNA photoproducts results in mutation formation, because the majority of DNA lesions are removed by cellular DNA repair mechanisms before they can give rise to mutations. Pyrimidine dimer photoproducts are removed by a multienzyme pathway called nucleotide excision repair. This repair is faster in transcribed genes (transcription-coupled vs. global genome nucleotide excision repair), resulting in a lower frequency of mutations in transcribed genes. As expected, this has also been confirmed in the full genome sequencing studies of melanomas, where transcribed genes in melanoma have a lower mutation frequency than nontranscribed genes (Pleasance et al. 2010).

Cells from patients with the autosomal recessive condition xeroderma pigmentosum are characterized by a deficient nucleotide excision repair. Consequently, they not only have a highly increased risk of nonmelanoma skin cancer in UVR-exposed skin, but also of melanoma (high-CSD melanomas). As expected, many of the mutations in melanomas of xeroderma pigmentosum patient are also UV-signature mutations (Wang et al. 2009). Interestingly, polymorphisms in DNA repair genes of xeroderma pigmentosum have also been reported to increase the melanoma risk and decrease melanoma survival in otherwise normal individuals (Li et al. 2013).

DNA repair is not the only cellular defense against mutation formation at sites of DNA damage. In response to DNA damage, cells arrest in the G1 phase of the cell cycle and do not enter the S-phase. This prevents replication of damaged DNA and misincorporation of DNA bases at sites of DNA damage before repair has taken place and with that prevents mutation formation. This is of critical importance in rapidly proliferating cells, e.g., keratinocytes, but probably not as important for the prevention of mutation formation in the slowly proliferating melanocytes. Apoptosis in response to UV-induced DNA damage is also a protective mechanism against photocarcinogenesis, as it removes heavily damaged cells from the pool of cells that may undergo malignant transformation. However, while apoptotic keratinocytes (sunburn cells) are commonly observed in sunburned skin, melanocytes are relatively resistant to apoptosis following exposure to UVR (Bowen et al. 2003; Zhai et al. 1996). It has been proposed that this is due to high expression levels of antiapoptotic proteins in melanocytes, such as BCL2 (Gilchrest et al. 1999). With this, high-dose intermittent UVR exposures may be particularly mutagenic for melanocytes and may explain why low-CSD melanomas occur in intermittently UVR-exposed skin.

Which Wavelengths of UVR Cause Melanoma – UVB or UVA? Evidence from Molecular Studies

As described above, there is some epidemiologic, clinical, and animal model evidence that exposure to UVA may be a particular risk factor for melanoma. UVR represents a range of different wavelengths. In general, the photophysical and photobiologic properties of UVA are different from those of UVB. With increasing wavelengths from UVB to UVA, the ability to excite the DNA molecule directly and to so generate pyrimidine dimer photoproducts declines exponentially. This is only partially offset by the 50- to 100-fold higher abundance of UVA in natural sunlight. Conversely, the ability to generate oxidative stress, e.g., via formation of singlet oxygen, increases. This has led to the hypothesis that oxidative DNA lesions mediate mutation formation in UVR-induced melanoma, in particular when induced by UVA (Rünger 1999). The most common nucleic acid damaged by singlet oxygen is guanine, and the most common type of singlet oxygen induced oxidative DNA lesion is 8-oxo-7,8-dihydro-2'-deoxyguanosine (8-oxodG). By mispairing of this lesion with adenine during replication, 8-oxodG gives rise to $G \rightarrow T$ transversions. If guanosine in the nucleotide pool is oxidized, $A \rightarrow C$ transversions can arise by misincorporation of 8-oxodG opposite adenine during DNA replication (Fig. 1, right panel: oxidative pathway). Unlike pyrimidine dimers, which are repaired by the nucleotide excision repair pathway, the single base modifications of oxidized guanosine are repaired by the simpler process of base excision repair. When contemplating oxidative base damage as a possible mechanism how UVA may generate the mutations that lead to the formation of melanoma, it is important to recognize that at least in fibroblasts and keratinocytes, UVA has been shown to produce more pyrimidine dimers than 8-oxodG (Courdavault 2004). However, unlike with UVB, which generates all combinations of pyrimidine dimers – T:T, T:C, C:T, and C:C – UVA generates mostly T:T CPDs and no 6-4 PPs. Courdavault et al. (2004) hypothesized that UVA-induced dimers are generated via a photosensitized triplet energy transfer, rather than by direct photoexcitation, as with UVB. Unlike early reports of a separate UVA signature mutation observed in transformed rodent cells (Drobetsky et al. 1995), the majority of UVA-induced mutations has later been shown to be $C \rightarrow T$ transitions at dipyrimidine sites, without a particular signal for a separate UVA signature mutation or a high rate of mutations typical for oxidative base modifications, both in vitro and in vivo (Ikehata et al. 2013; Rünger and Kappes 2008).

An attractive candidate for generation of oxidative stress upon exposure to UVR in melanocytes is melanin. Melanin has been described to have some photosensitizing properties, in particular the more reddish-colored pheomelanin (Kollias et al. 1991; Micillo et al. 2016). Wang et al. (Wang et al. 2010; see also commentary by Rünger 2011) reported that upon irradiation with UVA, melanocytes generate more oxidative DNA damage, have less efficient repair of oxidative DNA damage, and produce more mutations. They proposed that oxidative DNA damage is a major driver in melanomagenesis. However, they did not sequence the UVA-induced mutations and with that did not provide ultimate proof that the UVA-induced mutations are indeed the $G \rightarrow T$ or $A \rightarrow C$ transversions that are typical for oxidative DNA damage. In addition, the abovementioned mutation data from melanomas show only a small percentage of such mutations typical for oxidative DNA damage (Pleasance et al. 2010; The Cancer Genome Atlas Network 2015; Hodis et al. 2012; Krauthammer et al. 2012). Taken together, there is no compelling evidence that oxidative DNA base lesions play a major role in UVR-induced mutation formation that drives melanoma.

Recently, Premi et al. (Premi et al. 2015, see also Brash 2016) reported formation of DNA photoproducts up to 3 h after UV exposure and showed that the formation of these so-called "dark CPDs" is mediated by photoexcitation of melanin, in particular of pheomelanin, through formation of peroxynitrite from UV-induced nitric oxide and superoxide (Fig. 1, middle panel: melanindependent chemiexcitation pathway). With this, it appears that melanin is indeed not only a photoprotector, but may also cause cancer. This observation also provides an attractive explanation why UVA induces melanoma only in pigmented mice, but not albino mice (Noonan et al. 2012).

The bystander effect describes the phenomenon that nonexposed cells in the vicinity of irradiated cells also undergo similar stress responses and changes. UVA in particular has been shown to exert such bystander effects in melanocytes, and long-lived UVR-induced radicals have been proposed to mediate it (Nishiura et al. 2012; Redmond et al. 2014). It is tempting to speculate that the peroxynitrite described by Premi et al. could possibly not only generate "dark CPDs" in irradiated cells, but also in unirradiated bystander cells.

Role of the Effects of UVR on the Immune System in the Pathogenesis of Melanoma

Exposure of the skin to UVR has profound consequences on the immune system, not only locally in the exposed skin, but also systemically. Proinflammatory responses, e.g., those seen in the acute sunburn reaction, are mediated by innate immunity, whereas immunosuppressive effects are mediated by adaptive immunity. One example of a systemic immunosuppressive effect of UVR is the induction of tolerance to antigens applied to UVR-exposed skin. This may include UVR-induced melanoma antigens, as melanoma is well recognized to be an immune-controlled tumor. Immunosuppression does increase the risk for melanoma, e.g., in kidney transplant patients, and it is therefore likely that the UVR-induced immunosuppression also contributes to melanomagenesis. As immune-escape is a hallmark of melanoma progression, these immune-effects probably not only contribute to initiation of melanomas, but also to their progression. On the other hand, UVR-induced inflammation from innate immunity has been reported to promote angiogenesis and, in turn, melanoma metastasis (Bald et al. 2014).

Photoprotection Is Melanoma Prevention

From the evidence discussed above, no doubt remains that exposure to UVR is a major risk factor for the development of melanoma and that good photoprotection reduces melanoma risk. Consequently, the use of sunscreens as one mode of photoprotection (in addition to sun and tanning parlor avoidance, shade seeking, and protective clothing) has been advocated to reduce melanoma risk. However, for many years, the efficacy of sunscreen use for melanoma prevention had been questioned, as epidemiologic studies yielded conflicting results. This is likely due to difficulties of retrospectively assessing UVR exposures and sunscreen use and the complexity of human behavior with an interplay between personal sun sensitivity/tendency to burn (skin phototype), sun exposure, and sunscreen use (Klug et al. 2010). With more recent animal data (Klug et al. 2010; Viros et al. 2014) and a large prospective clinical trial (Green et al. 2011) showing reduction in melanoma incidence with sunscreen use, however, sunscreens are now well established as an effective means of melanoma prevention. This requires, however, that sunscreens are not used to prolong sun exposure.

Given that both UVB und UVA contribute to UVR-induced DNA damage and mutation formation in melanocytes, melanoma prevention is likely most effective when photoprotection includes protection against both, e.g., in the form of modern broad-spectrum sunscreens. The large UVR-induced mutational burden is observed not only in spontaneous melanomas, but also in cases of familial malignant melanoma and in patients with genetically determined increased melanoma risk, such as xeroderma pigmentosum. This underscores the point that very good photoprotection is of even higher importance for those patients who already have a higher melanoma risk.

The abovementioned immunosuppressive effects of UVR and their role in facilitating melanoma progression also emphasize that photoprotection is not only important for the primary prevention of melanoma, but also for secondary prevention even after melanoma initiation. For this, there is also some molecular evidence: mutations of TP53 are rare in early stage melanoma, but more common in advanced melanoma (Hocker and Tsao 2007). These late mutations, also harbor $C \rightarrow T$ mutations (Hocker and Tsao 2007; Hodis et al. 2012), suggesting that the mutagenic properties of UVR also contribute to melanoma progression.

And finally, photoprotection is also important to prevent secondary melanomas. Melanoma patients already have a high UVR-induced mutational burden in their skin, and further UV exposures will only add to that burden and further increase the chance that the tens of thousands of random mutations will affect a sufficient number of genes critical for melanoma development and with that entail the malignant transformation of another melanocyte.

When thinking about public awareness campaigns, it is important to recognize that sun seeking and tanning device seeking behavior is, at least in some individuals, associated with a pleasurable central nervous effect (Aubert et al. 2016; Fell et al. 2014). Such features of addiction to UVR exposure are reminiscent of the addictive nature of nicotine which has made smoking cessation programs for lung cancer prevention difficult. The fact that antismoking campaigns have been able to overcome nicotine addiction and have resulted in a decline in smoking and consequently in lung cancer incidence is encouraging for efforts to reduce melanoma rates by addressing addictive tanning and sun seeking.

Conclusion

Environmental insults by UVR play a pivotal role in the pathogenesis of the most common types of cutaneous melanoma and interplay with genetically determined predisposition in some patients. Fortunately, these insults can be addressed. A large fraction of melanomas should be preventable by measures of sun protection and avoidance of tanning beds.

References

- Alexandrov LB, Nik-Zainal S, Wedge DC et al (2013) Signature of mutational processes in human cancer. Nature 500:415–421
- Aubert PM, Seibyl JP, Price JL, Harris TS, Filby FM, Jacobe H, Devous MD Sr, Adinoff B (2016) Dopamine efflux in response to ultraviolet radiation in addicted sunbed users. Psychiatry Res 251:7–14
- Autier P, Doré JF, Gefeller O, Cesarini JP, Lejeune F, Koelmel KF, Lienard D, Kleeberg UR (1997)

Melanoma risk and residence in sunny areas. EORTC Melanoma Co-operative Group. European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer. Br J Cancer 76:1521–1524

- Autier P, Dore JF, Eggermont A, Coebergh JW (2011) Epidemiological evidence that UVA radiation is involved in the genesis of cutaneous melanoma. Curr Opin Oncol 23:189–196
- Bald T, Quast T, Landsberg J, Rogava M, Glodde N, Lopez-Ramos D, Kohlmeyer J, Riesenberg S, van den Boorn-Konijnenberg D, Hömig-Hölzel C, Reuten R, Schadow B, Weighardt H, Wenzel D, Helfrich I, Schadendorf D, Bloch W, Bianchi ME, Lugassy C, Barnhill RL, Koch M, Fleischmann BK, Förster I, Kastenmüller W, Kolanus W, Hölzel M, Gaffal E, Tüting T (2014) Ultraviolet-radiation-induced inflammation promotes angiotropism and metastasis in melanoma. Nature 507:109–113
- Bastian BC (2014) The molecular pathology of melanoma: an integrated taxonomy of melanocytic neoplasia. Annu Rev Pathol 9:239–271
- Bodekær M, Philipsen PA, Petersen B, Heydenreich J, Wulf HC (2016) Defining "intermittent UVR exposure". Photochem Photobiol Sci 15:1176–1182
- Boniol M, Autier P, Boyle P, Gandini S (2012) Cutaneous melanoma attributable to sunbed use: systematic review and meta-analysis. BMJ 345:e4757
- Bowen AR, Hanks AN, Allen SM, Alexander A, Diedrich MJ, Grossmann D (2003) Apoptosis regulators and responses in human melanocytic and keratinocytic cells. J Invest Dermatol 120:48–55
- Brash DE (2015) UV-signature mutations. Photochem Photobiol 91:15–26
- Brash DE (2016) UV-induced melanin chemiexcitation. A new mode of melanoma pathogenesis. Toxicol Pathol 44:552–554
- Cancer Genome Atlas Network (2015) Genomic classification of cutaneous melanoma. Cell 161:1681–1696
- Courdavault S, Baudouin C, Charveron M, Favier A, Cadet J, Douki T (2004) Larger yield of cyclobutane dimers than 8-oxo-7,8-dihydroguanine in the DNA of UVAirradiated human skin cells. Mutat Res 556:135–142
- De Fabo EC, Noonan FP, Fears T, Merlino G (2004) Ultraviolet B but not ultraviolet a radiation initiates melanoma. Cancer Res 64:6372–6276
- Drobetsky EA, Turcotte J, Châteauneuf A (1995) A role for ultraviolet A in solar mutagenesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 92:2350–2354
- El Ghissassi F, Baan R, Straif K, Grosse Y, Secretan B, Bouvard V, Benbrahamin-Tallaa L, Guha N, Freeman C, Galichet L, Cogliani V (2009) A review of human carcinogens - part D: radiation. Lancet Oncol 10:751–752
- English DR, Armstrong BK (1988) Identifying people at high risk of cutaneous malignant melanoma: results from a case-control study in Western Australia. Br Med J 296:1285–1288
- Facta S, Fusette SS, Bonino A, Anglesio L, d'Amore G (2013) UV emissions from artificial tanning devices

and their compliance with the European technical standard. Health Phys 104:385–389

- Fell GL, Robinson KC, Mao J, Woolf CJ, Fisher DE (2014) Skin β-endorphin mediates addiction to UV light. Cell 157:1527–1534
- Gallagher RP, Spinelli JJ, Lee TK (2005) Tanning beds, sunlamps, and risk of cutaneous malignant melanoma. Cancer Epidemiol Biomark Prev 14:562–566
- Gandini S, Autier P, Boniol M (2011) Reviews on sun exposure and artificial light and melanoma. Prog Biophys Mol Biol 107:362–366
- Gerber B, Mathys P, Moser M, Bressoud D, Braun-Fahrländer C (2002) Ultraviolet emission spectra of sunbeds. Photochem Photobiol 76:664–668
- Gilchrest BA, Eller MS, Geller AC, Yaar M (1999) The pathogenesis of melanoma induced by ultraviolet radiation. N Engl J Med 340:1341–1348
- Gordon D, Gillgren P, Eloranta S, Olsson H, Hansson J, Smedby KE (2015) Time trends in incidence of cutaneous melanoma by detailed anatomical location and patterns of ultraviolet radiation exposure: a retrospective population-based study. Melanoma Res 25:348–356
- Green AC, Williams GM, Logan V, Strutton GM (2011) Reduced melanoma after regular sunscreen use: randomized trial follow-up. J Clin Oncol 29:257–263
- Higgins EM, Du Vivier AWP (1992) Possible induction of malignant melanoma by sunbed use. Clin Exp Dermatol 17:357–359
- Hocker T, Tsao H (2007) Ultraviolet radiation and melanoma: a systematic review and analysis of reported sequence variants. Hum Mutat 28:578–588
- Hodis E, Watson IR, Kryukov GV, Arold ST, Imielinski M, Theurillat JP, Nickerson E, Auclair D, Li L, Place C, Dicara D, Ramos AH, Lawrence MS, Cibulskis K, Sivachenko A, Voet D, Saksena G, Stransky N, Onofrio RC, Winckler W, Ardlie K, Wagle N, Wargo J, Chong K, Morton DL, Stemke-Hale K, Chen G, Noble M, Meyerson M, Ladbury JE, Davies MA, Gershenwald JE, Wagner SN, Hoon DS. Schadendorf D, Lander ES, Gabriel SB, Getz G, Garraway LA, Chin L (2012) A landscape of driver mutations in melanoma. Cell 150:251-263
- Holman CD, Armstrong BK (1984) Cutaneous malignant melanoma and indicators of total accumulated exposure to the sun: an analysis separating histogenic types. J Natl Cancer Inst 73:75–82
- Horn S, Figl A, Rachakonda PS, Fischer C, Sucker A, Gast A, Kadel S, Moll I, Nagore E, Hemminki K, Schadendorf D, Kumar R (2013) TERT promoter mutations in familial and sporadic melanoma. Science 339:959–961
- Huang FW, Hodis E, MJ X, Kryukov GV, Chin L, Garraway LA (2013) Highly recurrent TERT promoter mutations in human melanoma. Science 339:957–959
- Ikehata H, Nakamura S, Daigaku Y et al (2013) Action spectrum analysis of UVR genotoxicity. J Invest Dermatol 133:1850–1856

- Klug HLP, Tooze JA, Graff-Cherry C, Anver MR, Noonan FP, Fears TR, Tucker MA, De Fabo EC, Glenn Merlino G (2010) Sunscreen prevention of melanoma in man and mouse. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res 23:835–837
- Kollias N, Sayre RM, Zeise L, Chedekel MR (1991) Photoprotection my melanin. J Photochem Photobiol B 9:135–160
- Krauthammer M, Kong Y, Ha BH et al (2012) Exome sequencing identifies recurrent somatic RAC1 mutations in melanoma. Nat Genet 44:1006–1014
- Ley RD (1997) Ultraviolet radiation A-induced precursors of cutaneous melanoma in Monodelphis Domestica. Cancer Res 57:3682–3684
- Li C, Yin M, Wang LE, Amos CI, Zhu D, Lee JE, Gershenwald JE, Grimm EA, Wei Q (2013) Polymorphisms of nucleotide excision repair genes predict melanoma survival. J Invest Dermatol 133:1813–1821
- Linos E, Swetter SM, Bufler PA, Fine J, Barnhill RL, Berwick M (2009) Increasing burden of melanoma in the United States. J Invest Dermatol 129:1666–1674
- Menzies AM, Haydu LE, Visintin L, Carlino MS, Howle JR, Thompson FJ, Kefford RF, Scolyer RA, Long GV (2012) Distinguishing clinicopathologic features of patients with V600E and V600K BRAF-mutant metastatic melanoma. Clin Cancer Res 18:3242–3249
- Micillo R, Panzella L, Koike K, Monfrecola G, Napolitano A, d'Ischia M (2016) "Fifty shades" of black and red or how carboxyl groups fine tune eumelanin and pheomelanin properties. Int J Mol Sci 17:746
- Mitchell DL, Fernandez AA, Naim RS, Garcia R, Paniker L, Trono D, Thames HD, Gimenez-Conti I (2010) Ultraviolet a does not induce melanomas in a Xiphophorus hybrid fish model. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 107:9329–9334
- Nishiura H, Kumagai J, Kashino G, Okada T, Tano K, Watanabe M (2012) The bystander effect is a novel mechanism of UVA-induced melanogenesis. Photochem Photobiol 88:389–397
- Noonan FP, Zaidi MR, Wolnicka-Glubisz A, Anver MR, Bahn J, Wielgus A, Cadet J, Douki T, Mouret S, Tucker MA, Popratiloff A, Merlino G, De Fabo EC (2012) Melanoma induction by ultraviolet a but not ultraviolet B radiation requires melanin pigment. Nat Commun 12:884
- Osterlind A, Tucker MA, Stone BJ, Jensen OM (1988) The Danish case-control study of cutaneous malignant melanoma. II. Importance of UV-light exposure. Photochem Photobiol 88:389–397
- Pleasance ED, Cheetham RK, Stephens PJ, McBride DJ, Humphray SJ, Greenman CD, Verela I, Lin ML, Ordonez GR, Bignell GR, Ye K, Alipaz J, Bauer MJ, Beare D, Butler A, Carter RJ, Chen L, Cox AJ, Edkins S, Kokko-Gonzales PI, Gormley NA, Grocock RJ, Haudenschild CD, Hims MM, James T, Jia M, Kingsbury Z, Leroy C, Marshall J, Menzies A, Mudie LJ, Ning Z, Royce T, Schulz-Trieglaff OB, Spiridou A, Stebbings LA, Szajkowski L, Teague J, Williamson D, Chin L, Ross MT, Campbell PJ, Bentley DR, Futreal

PA, Stratton MR (2010) A comprehensive catalogue of somatic mutations from a human cancer genome. Nature 463:191–196

- Premi S, Wallisch S, Mano CM, Weiner AB, Bacchiocchi A, Wakamatsu K, Bechara EJ, Halaban R, Douki T, Brash DE (2015) Photochemistry. Chemiexcitation of melanin derivatives induced DNA photoproducts long after UV exposure. Science 347:842–847
- Redmond RW, Rajadurai A, Udayakumar D, Sviderskaya EV, Tsao H (2014) Melanocytes are selectively vulnerable to UVA-mediated bystander oxidative signaling. J Invest Dermatol 134:1083–1090
- Rünger TM (1999) Role of UVA in the pathogenesis of melanoma and non-melanoma skin cancer. A short review. Photodermatol Photoimmunol Photomed 15:212–216
- Rünger TM (2008) C → T transition mutations are not solely UVB-signature mutations, because they are also generated by UVA. J Invest Dermatol 128:2138–2140
- Rünger TM (2011) Is UV-induced mutation formation in melanocytes different from other skin cells? Pigment Cell Melanoma Res 24:10–12
- Rünger TM, Kappes UP (2008) Mechanisms of mutation formation with long-wave ultraviolet light (UVA). Photodermatol Photoimmunol Photomed 24:2–10
- Satagopan JM, Oliveria SA, Arora A, Marchetti MA, Orlow I, Susza SW, Weinstock MA, Scope A, Geller AC, Marghoob A, Halpern AC (2016) Sunburn, sun exposure, and sun sensitivity in the study of nevi in children. Ann Epidemiol 25:839–843
- Setlow RB, Grist E, Thompson K, Woodhead AD (1993) Wavelengths effective in induction of malignant melanoma. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 90:6666–6670
- Shain AH, Garrido M, Botton T, Televich E, Yeh I, Sanbom Z, Chung J, Wang NJ, Kakavand NJ, Mann GH, Thompson JF, Wiesner T, Roy R, Olshen AB, Gagnon A, Gray JW, Huh N, Hur JS, Busam KJ, Scolyer RA, Cho RJ, Murali R, Bastian BC (2015) Nat Genet 47:1194–1199
- Stern RS, PUVA Follow Up Study (2001) The risk of melanoma in association with long-term exposure to PUVA. J Am Acad Dermatol 44:755–761
- Thomas NE, Berwick M, Cordeiro-Stone M (2006) Could BRAF mutations in melanocytic lesions arise from DNA damage induced by ultraviolet radiation? J Invest Dermatol 126:1693–1696
- Tsao H, Chin L, Garraway LA, Fisher DE (2012) Melanoma: from mutation to medicine. Genes Dev 26:1131–1155
- Veierød MB, Weiderpass E, Thörn M, Hansson J, Lund E, Armstrong B, Adami HO (2003) A prospective study of pigmentation, sun exposure, and risk of cutaneous malignant melanoma in women. J Natl Cancer Inst 95:1530–1538
- Vinagre J, Almeida A, Pópulo H, Batista R, Lyra J, Pinto V, Coelho R, Celestino R, Prazeres H, Lima L, Melo M, da Rocha AG, Preto A, Castro P, Castro L, Pardal F, Lopes JM, Santos LL, Reis RM, Cameselle-Teijeiro J,

Sobrinho-Simões M, Lima J, Máximo V, Soares P (2013) Frequency of TERT promoter mutations in human cancers. Nat Commun 4:2185. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms3185

- Viros A, Sanchez-Laorden B, Pedersen M, Furney SJ, Rae J, Hogan K, Ejiama S, Girotti MR, Cook M, Dhomen N, Marais R (2014) Ultraviolet radiation accelerates BRAF-driven melanomagenesis by targeting TP53. Nature 511:478–482
- Wang Y, Digiovanna JJ, Stern JB, Hornyak TJ, Raffeld M, Khan SG, KS O, Hollander MC, Dennis PA, Kraemer KH (2009) Evidence of ultraviolet type mutations in xeroderma pigmentosum melanomas. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 106:6279–6284
- Wang HT, Choi BC, Tang MS (2010) Melanocytes are deficient in repair of oxidative DNA damage and

UV-induced photoproducts. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 107:12180-12185

- Weinstock MA, Colditz GA, Willett WC, Stampfer MJ, Bronstein BR, Mihm MC Jr, Speizer FE (1989) Nonfamilial cutaneous melanoma incidence in women associated with sun exposure before 20 years of age. Pediatrics 84:199–204
- Whiteman DC, Pavan WJ, Bastian BC (2011) The melanomas: a synthesis of epidemiological, clinical, histopathological, genetic, and biological aspects, supporting distinct subtypes, causal pathways, and cells of origin. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res 24:879–897
- Zhai S, Yaar M, Doyle SM, Gilchrest BA (1996) Nerve growth factor rescues pigment cells from ultravioletinduced apoptosis by upregulating BCL-2 levels. Exp Cell Res 224:335–343



Key Signaling Pathways in Normal and Neoplastic Melanocytes

Andrew E. Aplin and Ashani T. Weeraratna

Contents

Introduction	64
Mitogen-Activated Protein (MAP) Kinase Pathway	64
Phosphatidyl-Inositol 3'-Kinase (PI3K) Pathway	67
Gαq Signaling	69
The Rho/Rac Signaling Pathway	70
CDK4/6-RB1 Pathway	71
The Wnt Signaling Pathway	72
Hippo Signaling	75
The Notch Signaling Pathway	76
Conclusion	77
References	78

Abstract

Signal transduction pathways regulate the proliferation, differentiation, migration, and survival of melanocytes. These signaling pathways are dysregulated during the

e-mail: Andrew.Aplin@Jefferson.edu

A. T. Weeraratna

transformation of melanocytes, often due to somatic mutation of genes within the pathway. One major signaling pathway that highlights this paradigm is the mitogen-activated protein (MAP) kinase pathway. Growth factor signaling via the MAP kinase pathway is required for melanocyte proliferation and survival. MAP kinase signaling is activated in the majority of melanomas through somatic mutations in NRAS, BRAF, and MEK1/2. Regulation of proliferation and survival is also controlled by phosphatidyl-inositol 3'-kinase (PI3K) signaling. PI3K is a major regulator of melanocyte biology and is commonly activated through the mutation/loss of expression of negative not

© Springer Science+Business Media, LLC, part of Springer Nature 2019 D. E. Fisher, B. C. Bastian (eds.), *Melanoma*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-7147-9 26

A. E. Aplin (🖂)

Department of Cancer Biology and Sidney Kimmel Cancer Center, Thomas Jefferson University, Philadelphia, PA, USA

Melanoma Research Center, Immunology, Microenvironment and Metastasis, The Wistar Institute, Philadelphia, PA, USA e-mail: aweeraratna@wistar.org

pathway regulators such as PTEN. Alterations in cyclin-dependent kinase signaling are also frequent in melanoma and promote aberrant cell cycle progression. Other pathways such as $G\alpha q$, Wnt (canonical and noncanonical), Hippo, Notch, and signaling downstream of Rho family GTPases also play important roles in the aforementioned biological processes, and in some cases are altered in selective subsets of melanoma. The high mutation burden within genes in signaling pathways, the important role of these pathways in melanocytic neoplasms, and the knowledge that melanomas adapt their signaling mechanisms in response to targeted inhibitors make it essential to have a thorough understanding of the key signaling pathways in melanocytes and melanomas.

Keywords

 $\begin{array}{l} RAS \cdot BRAF \cdot ERK1/2 \cdot PI3K \cdot PTEN \cdot AKT \cdot \\ GNAQ \cdot GNA11 \cdot Rac \cdot Rho \cdot PREX \cdot CDK4/ \\ 6 \cdot Wnt \cdot \beta \text{-catenin} \cdot YAP \cdot TAZ \cdot Notch \end{array}$

Introduction

Regulation of melanocyte proliferation and differentiation is modulated by a diverse set of cues that cells receive from their extracellular milieu. Stimuli range from soluble peptide growth factors to interaction via cell-cell adhesion molecules and generate a range of signal transduction pathways that tightly control processes in normal melanocytes and are aberrantly regulated during melanoma initiation and progression. Pathways often de-regulated in melanoma range from protein kinase and lipid kinase transduction events to heterotrimeric and monomeric GTPase signaling. In this chapter, we review the key signaling pathways that regulate melanocyte proliferation, growth, and migration/invasion. Furthermore, we illustrate how these pathways become deregulated during the transformation of melanocytes to melanoma.

Mitogen-Activated Protein (MAP) Kinase Pathway

The mitogen-activated protein (MAP) kinase cascade is one of the ubiquitously important signaling cascades in different cell types. In normal melanocytes, as in other normal cells, MAP kinase cascade activation is triggered by soluble peptide growth factors binding to their cognate receptor tyrosine kinases (RTKs), which are expressed on the cell surface. Growth factor binding leads to dimerization and autophosphorylation of receptors. Subsequent transphosphorylation of additional residues within the intracellular C-termini of RTKs which serve as binding sites to recruit Src homology 2 (SH2)-domain and phosphotyrosine binding (PTB) domaincontaining adaptor proteins. These adaptor proteins then link through to signaling networks. One example of an adaptor protein is Grb2, which binds to phosphorylated tyrosine residues of RTKs and localizes SOS, a guanine nucleotide exchange factor, to the plasma membrane. In turn, SOS catalyzes GDP to GTP nucleotide exchange in not of RAS GTPases.

A key step between RTKs and the MAP kinase pathway is the activation of RAS. There are three main forms of RAS: N-RAS, H-RAS, and K-RAS, which act as molecular switches being active in their GTP-bound state. RAS binds multiple effectors but relevant to the MAP kinases ERK1 and 2 are the RAF (Rapidly Accelerated Fibrosarcoma) serine-threonine kinases ARAF, BRAF, and CRAF. RAS recruits RAFs to the plasma membrane where they are activated and initiate a phospho-relay cascade. RAFs phosphorylate and activate the dual specificity kinases MEKs at key serine residues, S218 and S222. RAFs act as dimers, with BRAF-CRAF heterodimers eliciting higher activity than homo-dimers (Rushworth et al. 2006). C-terminal 14-3-3 binding sites in RAF (serine 621 in CRAF; serine 729 in BRAF) also play an important role in RAF dimerization (Weber et al. 2001). Activated MEKs phosphorylate and activate ERK1/2. ERK1/2 phosphorylate a variety of cytoplasmic targets (e.g., focal adhesion kinase, p90RSK, Bim) as well as translocate to the nucleus to control transcriptional events (Balmanno and Cook 2009).

The ERK1/2 pathway is fine-tuned through multiple adaptor complexes, scaffolding molecules, and feedback pathways. As noted above, 14-3-3 proteins are highly conserved adapters that bind phosphorylated residues in RAFs creating an inhibitory intra-molecular bridge, which is relieved by activated RAS. Kinase suppressor of RAS (KSR) is a pseudokinase that translocates to the plasma membrane and provides a scaffold function by binding and co-localizing RAFs, MEKs, and ERK1/2 (McKay et al. 2011). Negative control of the pathway is mediated by negative feedback loops including direct phosphorylation of SOS and C-terminal sites on BRAFs by ERK1/2 (Brummer et al. 2003), upregulation of Sprouty proteins that inhibit RAF activity (Pratilas et al. 2009), and regulation of dual-specificity phosphatases (DUSP) 4 and 6 that de-phosphorylate the activation sites on ERK1/2 (Lito et al. 2012).

Regulation of signaling through the ERK1/2 pathway is critical for melanocyte proliferation. Basic FGF that is secreted from keratinocytes promotes proliferation and activates ERK1/2 signaling in primary human melanocytes. Additional growth factors such as stem cell factor and endothelin 1 also activate the pathway. ERK1/2 signaling is key to G1-S cell cycle progression in normal human melanocytes through control of cyclin D1 levels as well as downregulation of the cyclindependent kinase (CDK) inhibitor, p27Kip1 (Bhatt et al. 2005). ERK1/2 signaling also impacts survival mechanisms by controlling the levels of the pro-apoptotic proteins, Bim EL and Bmf. In addition to RTK stimulation, MAP kinase signaling is also triggered downstream of G-proteincoupled receptors (GPCRs). For example, melanocortin 1 receptor (MC1R), expressed in melanocytes, is required for melanocyte proliferation and is a major determinant of skin pigmentation. Binding of the ligand, alpha melanocyte stimulating hormone, to MC1R activates

adenylate cyclase-mediated production of cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) via the Gs alpha subunit, as well as ERK1/2 signaling (Busca et al. 2000). The role of cAMP in ERK1/2 activation may differ between model systems.

Cutaneous melanomas have a high burden of somatic mutations. The advent of next generation sequencing technologies has led to the identification of multiple recurrent mutations within components of the RAS-RAF-MEK-ERK1/2 pathway (Fig. 1). The first oncogene identified as being mutated in melanoma was NRAS. Most NRAS mutations occur at the Q61 locus and less frequently at the G12 or G13 loci. Other forms of RAS are mutated infrequently in melanoma; mutation rates in HRAS and KRAS are both ~1%. NRAS mutations at the Q61 locus impair the GTP hydrolysis activity resulting in a GTP-bound state for NRAS and constitutive activation of downstream effector pathways.

Approximately 50% of cutaneous melanomas harbor an activating mutation within the BRAF gene (Davies et al. 2002; TCGA 2015). The most frequent BRAF mutation is a thymine (T) to adenine (A) transversion that results in a valine to glutamic acid substitution at codon 600. This V600E alteration introduces a phosphomimetic change within the activation loop of BRAF and leads to constitutive, RAS-independent activation of BRAF and downstream MEK-ERK1/2 signaling. Furthermore, BRAF V600E mainly exists as a monomer and is refractory to negative feedback mechanisms mediated by Sprouty proteins (Brady et al. 2009). Additional non-V600 mutations have been identified; most are activating but a subset of mutations actually inactivate BRAF kinase activity. Nevertheless, these mutations still activate MEK, as the kinase-defective BRAF protomer can dimerize with CRAF and lead to an activated heterodimer (Wan et al. 2004). Other forms of RAF are mutated at very low frequencies; <2%for ARAF and 1.1-3.6% for CRAF according to the dataset in cBioPortal for Cancer Genomics. More recently, BRAF fusions have been identified, in which the intact kinase domain of BRAF is fused to a broad variety of different 5' partner



Fig. 1 Mutations in the RAF-MEK-ERK1/2 signaling pathway associated with cutaneous and uveal melanoma. The MAP kinase signaling is activated in the majority of cutaneous melanomas through somatic mutations in

NRAS, BRAF, and MEK1/2. This pathway is activated in uveal melanoma by mutations in GNAQ and GNA11 and downstream signaling via PKC and RasGRP3

genes (Hutchinson et al. 2013; Botton et al. 2013). The 5' partners often promote dimerization of fusion kinases, resulting in constitutive activation.

A third frequent alteration in the MAP kinase pathway affects the NF1 gene. NF1 encodes a GTPase activating protein (GAP) that upregulates the GTPase activity of RAS proteins. NF1 is mutated frequently in melanomas on chronically sun-damaged skin and desmoplastic melanoma (Krauthammer et al. 2015; Shain et al. 2015). Although all the mutations have not been functionally analyzed, many are damaging alterations in both alleles and therefore likely result in loss of NF1 function. NF1 mutations can co-occur with NRAS mutations but are anticorrelated with BRAF V600 mutations, which arise in a specific melanoma subtype. Less frequent mutations have also been detected within MEK1 and -2 (Nikolaev et al. 2012).

As noted above, the ERK1/2 pathway is regulated by scaffold proteins including kinase suppressor of RAS (KSR), IQGAP, and MEK partner 1 (MP1). However, as exemplified by studies in KSR, while a role for scaffold proteins in modulating the ERK1/2 pathway has been shown in developmental biology models and mouse embryo fibroblasts, there have been few studies in melanocytes and melanoma cells.

BRAF V600E signaling via the MEK-ERK pathway contributes to several malignant traits in melanoma. BRAF V600E signaling promotes cell cycle progression via upregulation of cyclin D1 and downregulation of p27Kip1 (Bhatt et al. 2007). Resistance to apoptotic cell death is mediated by pathway signaling leading to downregulation of two BH3-only proteins, Bim-EL (BCL2-like 11) and Bmf (BCL2-modifying factor) (Brocklin et al. 2009; Boisvert-Adamo and Aplin 2008; Cartlidge et al. 2008; Shao and Aplin 2012). Additionally, phosphorylation of dynamin-related protein 1, a protein involved in mitochondrial division, may also contribute to transformation mediated by MEK-ERK signaling. Migratory and invasive properties of melanoma cells are enhanced by BRAF V600E-MEK-ERK upregulation of the Rho family GTPase, Rnd3 (Klein et al. 2008), and the EMT transcription factor Twist1 (Weiss et al. 2012) and downregulation of the cGMP-selective phosphodiesterase, PDE5A (Arozarena et al. 2011a). MAP kinase signaling also cross-talks to metabolic pathways via ERK1/2 and RSK phosphorylating LKB1, which suppresses LKB1 function and promotes BRAF V600E-driven tumorigenesis (Zheng et al. 2009). By contrast, expression of BRAF V600E in normal melanocytes leads to senescence (Michaloglou et al. 2005; Gray-Schopfer et al. 2006; Dankort et al. 2009) and the formation of nevus-like structures in mice (Dankort et al. 2009). These data are consistent with the notion of oncogene-induced senescence and the presence of BRAF mutations in the majority of human nevi (moles) (Pollock et al. 2003).

The MAP kinase cascade is also activated via mutations in NRAS, which occur in a mutually exclusive manner from BRAF mutations and are more frequent in older patients (Jakob et al. 2012). Mutations in NRAS at Q61, G12, and G13 lead to a persistent GTP-bound state of NRAS and constitutive activation of downstream effector pathways. Furthermore, inactivation of NF1 occurs frequently and is associated with a high level of active RAS, although additional mechanisms of RAS activity regulation appear to be important in some NF1-null tumors (Krauthammer et al. 2015). In contrast to their BRAF-mutant counterpart, NRAS mutant melanomas signal predominantly via CRAF, which is associated with a disruption in cAMP metabolism (Dumaz et al. 2006). Other major effectors downstream of activated RAS are phosphatidyl-inositol 3'-kinase (PI3K) and Ral GEF. PI3K signaling will be discussed in section "Phosphatidyl-Inositol 3'-Kinase (PI3K) Pathway."

Suppression of NRAS expression in human melanoma cell lines harboring NRAS mutations can induce apoptosis (Eskandarpour et al. 2005); however, the effects are likely variable across a larger panel of lines. More compelling data for a driver role for mutant NRAS comes from mouse models of melanoma. Expression of NRas Q61K in the melanocytic lineage (under the control of tyrosinase-regulatory sequences) leads to skin hyperpigmentation and increased phosphorylation of ERK1/2 (Ackermann et al. 2005). Tyr: NRas Q61K mice crossed onto a p16Ink4a null background develop primary melanoma with high

penetrance and short latency, a subset of which metastasize to the liver and lung (Ackermann et al. 2005). Expression of a mutant form of CDK4 that is resistant to inactivation by p16INK4a in combination with NRAS Q61K in melanocytes leads to dysplastic nevus-like lesions and metastatic melanoma, although the time to onset and multiplicity is dependent on the mouse strain utilized (Ferguson et al. 2015). By contrast, tyrosinase-driven HRas G12V expression in p16INK4a null mice gives rise to amelanotic melanomas but few/no metastases (Chin et al. 1997).

Due to the varied mechanisms of activation multiple opportunities for therapeutic and targeting, considerable efforts have been focused on targeting the ERK1/2 pathway in melanoma. However, the dependency of melanoma cell lines on the ERK1/2 pathway varies with BRAF V600E/K mutant cell lines being highly sensitive to MEK inhibitors, inhibiting G1-S progression and proliferation in vitro and in vivo (Solit et al. 2006). BRAF dependency of BRAF V600E/K lines has also been demonstrated with selective inhibition by vemurafenib/PLX4032 (Joseph et al. 2010). These studies have formed the initial basis for therapeutic blockade of the BRAF-MEK-ERK1/2 signaling pathway in BRAF V600 melanomas. Other factors also influence the pathway and provide therapeutic strategies. For example, copper influx binding to MEK1 enhances MEK1 phosphorylation of ERK1/2, and disrupting this binding inhibits BRAF V600E signaling through MEK-ERK1/2 and tumorigenesis (Eskandarpour et al. 2005). This study forms the basis of copper chelation strategies to enhance the effects of BRAF-MEK-ERK1/ 2 pathway inhibitors in mutant BRAF melanoma patients.

Phosphatidyl-Inositol 3'-Kinase (PI3K) Pathway

A second pathway strongly implicated in melanoma initiation and metastasis is the phosphatidyl-inositol 3'-kinase (PI3K) signaling cascade. Class I PI3Ks consist of a regulatory p85 subunit and a catalytic p110 subunit. Typically, growth factor signaling leads to PI3K activation via the phosphorylation of cytoplasmic adaptor proteins containing Y-x-x-M motifs that serve as strong docking sites for the p85 subunit. However, direct binding to a receptor may also occur. For example, neuregulin binding to ERBB3 leads to receptor heterodimerization with a co-receptor (typically EGFR, ERBB2 or EBB4) and phosphorylation of Y-x-x-M motifs in the cytoplasmic domain of ERBB3. As with adaptor proteins, phosphorylation of Y-x-x-M motifs leads to PI3K binding and activation. The p110 catalytic subunit phosphorylates phospholipid phosphatidylinositol -4,5-bisphosphate (PIP2) to generate phosphatidylinositol-3,4,5-trisphosphate (PIP3) to trigger downstream signaling. PIP3 binds to pleckstrinhomology domains within several proteins to transmit signals. These targets include phosphoinositide-dependent protein kinase-1 (PDK1), AKT1-3, and serum/glucocorticoidregulated kinase (SGK) 1-3. The PI3K signaling pathway is dampened by the action of phosphatases. Phosphatase and tensin homologue (PTEN) dephosphorylates PIP3 at the 3' position and inositol polyphosphate 4-phosphatase type Π (INPP4B) dephosphorylates PI(3,4)P2 to PI(3)P. In normal melanocytes, PI3K is activated in vitro by growth factors such as stem cell factor and provides a pro-survival signal (Larribere et al. 2004). Furthermore, PTEN deletion in melanocytes in mice leads to increased numbers of melanocytes in the dermis and retention of coat color by resisting hair greying (Inoue-Narita et al. 2008). Inpp4b-/- mice are viable (Li Chew et al. 2015), but the effect of loss of Inpp4b on melanocytes in vivo is yet to be described. INPP4B loss has been reported in 21% of melanoma (Gewinner et al. 2009); however, genetic alterations are less frequent in more recent next-generation sequencing analyses of melanoma. Further studies are warranted to understand the influence of INPP4B in melanoma initiation and progression.

PI3K signaling plays a key role in growth, survival, and metabolism; thus, it is unsurprising that PI3K signaling has been linked to melanoma progression. Importantly, use of patient samples has linked PI3K signaling to melanoma brain metastasis (Anastas et al. 2014), providing a strategy to limit a severe complication of melanoma that is currently an unmet clinical need. Activating mutations are frequent in the catalytic PIK3CA subunit are prevalent in breast cancer, colorectal cancer, and uterine corpus endometrial carcinoma. By contrast, PIK3CA mutations are they are infrequent (\sim 3%) and in cutaneous melanoma and their contribution to the malignant phenotype is poorly characterized. A frequent alteration leading to activation of PI3K signaling in melanoma is the loss of PTEN (Fig. 1). Alterations in PTEN occur through frameshift mutations leading to premature truncations, intragenic microdeletions and epigenetic silencing (Xing et al. 2012). Loss of PTEN has been strongly linked to progression of melanoma, often occurring in concert with BRAF mutations and in wildtype BRAF/NRAS tumors. PTEN loss is rare in mutant NRAS melanomas. Mice with the loss of Pten in melanocytes do not develop spontaneous melanomas unless induced with a carcinogen (Inoue-Narita et al. 2008). Additionally, while expression of BRAF V600E leads to the formation of nevus-like structures in mice, concurrent loss of PTEN leads to the formation of invasive tumors with 100% penetrance and metastasis to the lymph and lungs (Dankort et al. 2009). In this model, melanoma growth was prevented by inhibitors of mTorc1 (Dankort et al. 2009). There is also growing evidence of PTEN modulating the response to targeted therapy and immune checkpoint inhibitors (Paraiso et al. 2011). Overall, these data strongly implicate PTEN loss in the malignant progression of melanomas.

In BRAF V600E/PTEN null tumors, combinations of BRAF inhibitors and PI3K inhibitors elicit more potent effects in vivo than either alone (Marsh Durban et al. 2013; Deuker et al. 2015); thus, it is important to understand the signaling downstream of PI3K. PDK1 plays an active role since its depletion or pharmacological inhibition impairs tumor growth in BRAFV600E CDKN2A -/- mice (Scortegagna et al. 2014). PDK1 phosphorylates AKT at threonine 308 within the activation loop but is not frequently altered in melanomas. E17K alterations in the pleckstrin homology domains in AKT isoforms 1 and 3 have been identified at low frequencies in melanoma tumors and cell lines (Davies et al. 2008). However, AKT3 is frequently (20-40%) deregulated in melanomas through copy number increases and loss of PTEN expression (Stahl et al. 2004). AKT signaling contributes to malignant properties of melanomas through control of mTOR signaling, phosphorylation of PRAS40 (proline-rich Akt substrate of 40 kDa) (Madhunapantula et al. 2007), and regulation of Notch1 (Bedogni et al. 2008). Importantly, in mouse models, expression of a constitutively active (myristoylated) form of Akt1 promotes melanoma formation and metastasis to the lung and brain in the setting of BRaf V600E and silencing of p16INK4A and p19ARF. PI3K and PDK1-dependent and AKT-independent signaling may also contribute to malignant traits. AKT inhibitors demonstrate only modest effects on growth in BRAF V600E/ PTEN null tumors (Marsh Durban et al. 2013), and SGK3 has been implicated as a major target downstream of PDK1 that contributes to the growth of mutant BRAF melanoma (Scortegagna et al. 2015). PTEN may also signal independent of its role in the PI3K-AKT pathway, for example, utilizing protein phosphatase activity, to contribute to malignant behavior. PTEN represses β-catenin nuclear localization and transcriptional activity via a caveolin-1 regulated mechanism (Conde-Perez et al. 2015). PTEN inhibits the activity of the Rac-selective GTP exchange factor PREX2 (Mense et al. 2015). PREX2 mutations have been found in ~14% of melanomas (see below), and expression of mutant PREX may promote the transformation of TERTimmortalized mutant NRAS human melanocytes (Berger et al. 2012). However, the exact role for PREX2 requires further examination (Horrigan et al. 2017).

$G\alpha q$ Signaling

In contrast to the high frequency of *BRAF* and *NRAS* mutations found in cutaneous melanoma, alterations in are absent in nevi, or melanocytomas of the central nervous system. Rather, activating mutations in GNAQ and

GNA11 genes (typically Q209 in exon 5 but also R183 in exon 4) are found in 80-90% of uveal melanomas. GNAQ mutations have also been identified at a high frequency in blue nevi (Van Raamsdonk et al. 2009, 2010) and melanocytomas (Koelsche et al. 2015). Alterations in GNAQ and GNA11 occur early in disease progression; however, additional mutations are required, often including inactivating BAP1 mutations on chromosome 3. BAP1 encodes a deubiquitylating enzyme and loss of function mutations in this gene are found in 32-50% of primary uveal melanomas and are associated with aggressive disease and higher likelihood of metastasis (Harbour et al. 2010).

GNAQ and GNA11 encode Gq α and G11 α , the alpha subunits of heterotrimeric G-proteins signaling downstream of G-protein coupled receptors (GPCR). Normally, $G\alpha$ is in a complex with Gβ and Gγ subunits, but following receptor stimulation the α subunit switches from a GDP-bound form to a GTP-bound form and dissociates from the β and γ subunits. Of note, Gq α has been shown to be downstream of the endothelin receptor, which is required for melanoblast migration during neural crest development (Shin et al. 1999). A major effector of Gq α and G11 α is phospholipase $C\beta$, which when activated hydrolyzes membrane PIP2 to release diacylglyerol (DAG) and inositol triphosphate (IP3). These second messengers ultimately lead to activation of members of the protein kinase C (PKC) family and the RAS GEF, RasGRP3 (Chen et al. 2014, 2017). The Q209 residue in $Gq\alpha$ and $G11\alpha$ lies within the RAS-like domain and its mutation disrupts GTP-hydrolysis, leading to constitutive activation of the aforementioned pathways and transformaimmortalized tion of melanocytes (Van Raamsdonk et al. 2009). Downstream of PKC and RasGRP3 signaling, the MEK-ERK1/2 pathway is activated in mutant GNAQ/11 uveal cell lines (Fig. 1). These findings have contributed to the basis for phase II and phase III clinical trials to target MEK in uveal melanoma patients. To date, these trials have met with limited success (Carvajal et al. 2014).

Gq α and G11 α may also signal independently of phospholipase C β . Several guanine nucleotide

exchange factors (GEFs) for Rho family GTPases are also effectors of $Gq\alpha$ and $G11\alpha$. Specifically, LARG, p115 RhoGEF, PDZ Rho GEF, lbc Rho-GEF, and p63 Rho-GEF have all been reported to interact with Gqa and/or G11a. A distinct Rho/Rac GEF, Trio, was identified through a genome-wide RNA interference screen to signal downstream of $Gq\alpha$ and is required for the growth of mutant GNAQ uveal melanoma cells. Trio promotes Rho and Rac GTPases activity, actin stress fiber formation, and YAP1 (Yes associated protein 1) nuclear translocation and YAP-dependent transcription. YAP is a transcriptional co-activator within the Hippo signaling pathway. Phosphorylation at serine 127 leads to the cytoplasmic sequestration of YAP and inhibition of its transcriptional activity. The Notch ligand, Jag-1, and the Notch target gene, Hes-1, are possible downstream targets of YAP signaling in uveal melanoma cells (Liu et al. 2015). Uveal melanoma display high levels of nuclear YAP and depletion of YAP impairs the growth of uveal melanoma lines in vitro and in vivo. Thus, selectively targeting YAP represents a therapeutic strategy for advanced-stage uveal melanoma patients. A recent advance toward testing such strategies is the generation of a transgenic mouse model of uveal melanoma. Mice with MITF-Cre regulated expression of GNAQ Q209L develop melanocytic neoplasms with a 100% penetrance after 3 months with evidence of invasive lesions and lung metastasis (Huang et al. 2015).

The Rho/Rac Signaling Pathway

The Ras superfamily is comprised of multiple members. Of these, the Rho/Rac subfamily is, in itself, comprised of 26 members, in varying isoforms of Rho, Rac, Cdc42, Rnd, and the atypical RhoBTB and RhoT/Miro GTPases. In this chapter, we will focus on Rho/Rac GTPases specifically. Rho/Rac GTPases control motility, and other processes critical to melanocyte function, and melanoma progression. Rho/Rac GTPases, when bound to guanosine di-phosphate (GDP), are inactive. When GDP are exchanged for guanosine tri-phosphate (GTP), with the help of guanosine exchange factors (GEFs), Rho/Rac proteins are activated. Specificity of Rho/Rac activities is determined by (1) lipid modifications, which determine their subcellular localization, (2) the GTPase effector proteins present in those locales, and (3) phosphorylation by molecules such as PKC and PKA.

Rho and Rac signaling have both collaborative and divergent functions in cytoskeletal remodeling. Rho proteins are involved in the formation of stress fibers, and Rac proteins dictate the formation of lamellipodia and dendrite extension. In response to UV irradiation, melanocytes form dendrites, which allow them to pass melanosomes to neighboring keratinocytes, to protect them. This process of dendrite formation is dictated by Rho/Rac signaling and is very similar to that observed in the formation of dendrites from neurons, perhaps reflecting the neural crest origins of melanocytes. After exposure to UV, the hormone alpha-MSH is increased, which results in stimulation of cAMP. cAMP signals to activate PKA, which in turn signals to deactivate Rho, and increase Rac signaling (Scott et al. 1997). Activation of Rac, therefore, is a major contributor to cell motility.

In melanoma cells, Rac can be activated in multiple ways. One mechanism is via the mutation of the NRAS oncogene. When NRAS is mutated, Rac is activated (Li et al. 2012). While this does not affect the motility of melanoblasts, it does promote their survival. Inhibiting Rac1 suppresses tumor growth and progression. In addition to upstream mutations, it has recently been discovered that Rac1 itself is recurrently mutated in melanoma. Unlike BRAF V600E, NRAS, or GNAQ/11, Rac1 P29S is not thought to be an initiating mutation, as it is not present in nevi. The mutation is likely environmentally induced as is formed through a C to T transition, at a dipyrimidine, as typical for UV-induced mutations. This mutation renders Rac1 constitutively active, allowing it to maintain binding with molecules such as PAK1, driving transformation and a metastatic program (Watson et al. 2014). Data showing that inhibiting Rac in Rac1 mutant melanocytes inhibits malignant transformation suggest that this might make Rac1 P29S a good target for therapy.

Finally, mutations in one additional family of Rac exchange factors have been identified in melanoma. The PIP3-dependent Rac GEFs PREX1 and -2 have recently been shown to play a role in melanoma (Welch 2015). These proteins are large >180 kDa proteins that encompass pleckstrin homology domains, a Dbl homology domain, DEP domains, and PDZ domains among others. The most important interaction in melanoma is likely the DH-PH domains, as this both acts as a Rac GEF and allows for the binding of PREX to PTEN. This inhibits PTEN activity, resulting in the activation of AKT and therefore cell survival. Knockout of PREX1 in mice causes the development of white bellies, indicative of a melanoblast migration defect, and crossing these mice to melanoma-prone mice results in suppression of tumor growth and metastasis (Lindsay et al. 2011, 2015).

PREX2 binds and inactivates PTEN. In turn, loss of PTEN can increase PREX2 activity (Mense et al. 2015). PTEN is commonly deleted in melanoma, and this has been shown to have multiple implications for both melanoma progression and therapy resistance (Dankort et al. 2009). Intriguingly, melanoma cells that develop resistance to BRAF inhibitors are largely PTEN deficient. In addition to this, it has been shown that the metabolism of these cells is altered as well (Baenke et al. 2016) and vemurafenib resistant cells tend to rely more on oxidative phosphorylation and less on glucose (Zhang et al. 2016). Since PREX2 knockout mice have been shown to be insulin resistant due to defects in the metabolism and uptake of glucose, it may be that PREX2 can also contribute to therapy resistance in melanoma. Overall, melanoma cells appear to find multiple ways to maintain and promote Rac1 activity, resulting in increases in both tumor progression and therapy resistance.

CDK4/6-RB1 Pathway

Abnormal cell cycle progression is one of the hallmark features of cancer. Notably the progression through G1 phase, through the restriction point, and into the DNA synthesis (S) phase is a tightly regulated process. The molecular machinery controlling the G1-S progression comprises a series of cyclins and cyclin-dependent kinases (CDKs). Within the early phase of G1, D-type cyclins (D1, D2 and D3) form a complex with two closely related CDKs, CDK4 and CDK6. Later in G1, cyclins E and A bind to CDK2 and CDK1 to promote G1-S and M phase progression. In general, cyclin levels fluctuate across the cell cycle, whereas CDK levels are more constant. A major function for cyclin-CDK complexes is to phosphorylate and inactivate the pocket protein, retinoblastoma (RB), and its related proteins, p107 and p130. Hyper-phosphorylation of RB releases E2F transcription factors that can activate transcription of genes involved in further cell cycle progression and division. Opposing the kinase activities of cyclin-CDK complexes are two families of cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitors (CDKI). The Cip/Kip family of CDKIs includes p21Cip1, p27Kip1, p57Kip2, which primarily inhibit cyclin E and cyclin A-bound CDK complexes by forming ternary complexes. By contrast, the INK4 family, which includes p16 INK4A, p15 INK4B, p18 INK4C, and p19 INK4D/ARF, more selectively inhibits D-type binding CDK4 and CDK6 complexes through an allosteric mechanism.

Multiple mechanisms drive aberrant G1-S cell cycle progression in melanoma and lead to aberrant proliferation. D-type cyclins act as mitogenic sensors within G1. The RAF-MEK-ERK1/2 pathway, which is constitutively activated by mutations in NRAS (20-30% frequency) and BRAF (~50%) of melanomas), transcriptionally upregulates cyclin D1 and cyclin D3, as well as downregulates p21Cip1 and p27Kip1 (Bhatt et al. 2005). Cyclin D1 is also regulated by ubiquitinproteasomal systems. In melanoma, cyclin D1 may be posttranscriptionally upregulated through mutation of the E3 ubiquitin ligase, FBXO4, and thus impairs ubiquitylation and degradation of cyclin D1 (Lee et al. 2013). However, the frequency of these mutations in the melanoma TGCA dataset seems very low at approximately 1%. Cyclin D1 is recurrently amplified, in particular in melanomas on acral and mucosal sites (Sauter et al. 2002). Inactivation of RB1 may

also occur through mutations in CDK4 and loss of CDKI expression and, to a lesser degree, loss of RB1 itself. Somatic and germline R24C/H mutations in CDK4 are detected in cutaneous melanoma (Wolfel et al. 1995), and CDK4 amplifications occur in a mutually exclusive pattern with CDKN2A deletions (Curtin et al. 2005). The CDK4 mutations occur within the p16INK4a domain and render CDK4 less susceptible to inhibition by INK family proteins. CDK4 R24C knock-in mice are susceptible to melanoma induced by chemical carcinogenesis (Sotillo et al. 2001). Loss of the Ink4a/Arf tumor suppressor locus is a more frequent mechanism leading to RB-deregulation in melanoma. In mouse models, deletion of p16Inka in combination with expression of mutant RAS promotes aggressive melanoma formation (Monahan et al. 2010), and loss of p19Arf in combination with tyrosinase-driven mutant HRAS promotes melanomagenesis, an effect that is exacerbated following UV irradiation (Kannan et al. 2003). Deficiency in both Ink4a and Arf promotes UV-induced melanomagenesis in a HGF transgenic mouse model (Ha et al. 2007). Thirdly, the RB1 gene is mutated albeit infrequently (3-5% in cBioportal databases) in melanoma. RB1 loss may occur either through focal intragenic homozygous deletion or through truncation mutations (Xing et al. 2012).

CDKs are targetable with small molecule inhibitors; however, early generation CDK inhibitors were relatively nonselective and elicited limited therapeutic effects in melanoma patients. Parke-Davies PD0332991/palbociclib/ developed IBRNACE, an orally available, highly selective inhibitor of CDK4/6. A very similar compound LEE011/ribociclib from Novartis and a CDK4/6/9 inhibitor, LY2835219/abemaciclib from Eli Lilly have also been developed. The FDA-approval of palbociclib in postmenopausal estrogen receptor (ER)-positive/HER2-negative breast cancer has re-ignited interest in targeting cell cycle progression in cancer. In melanoma, palbociclib inhibits the hyper-phosphorylation of RB and blocks the proliferation of RB-proficient melanoma cell lines. Also, the combination of palbociclib with inhibition of MEK leads to apoptosis in vitro and tumor shrinkage in vivo (Kwong et al. 2012). These preclinical

findings have translated into a clinical trial of ribociclib and the MEK inhibitor, MEK162/binimetinib, in late-stage, mutant NRAS melanoma patients. In summary, the CDK4/6 pathway is activated across most, if not all melanoma subtypes, and provides an attractive option for therapeutic intervention in combination with other targeted agents.

The Wnt Signaling Pathway

The Wnt signaling pathway involves 19 known Wnt ligands, which signal via any one of 10 frizzled (fzd) receptors to activate G-protein signaling downstream of ligand-binding. Wnt signaling can be divided into canonical and non-canonical signaling (Fig. 2), where canonical Wnt signaling involves the activation of the DIX-domain protein, Disheveled (Dsh), ultimately activating β -catenin (Webster et al. 2015a). β-Catenin plays important roles both at the cell surface, where it regulates adhesion, and in the nucleus where it activates the transcription of genes involved in cell proliferation. β -Catenin activity is regulated by the GSK3 β / APC/Axin destruction complex. In this complex, Axin acts as a docking protein, as it has a GSK3β docking motif as well as a β -catenin docking motif, bringing together the two proteins in close proximity. This is further enhanced by APC, a protein with multiple β -catenin docking sites. When β -catenin is recruited to this complex, which is what occurs in the absence of Wnt ligand, it is phosphorylated and targeted for ubiquitination and degradation. Once Wnt ligand binds its cognate receptor, Dsh is activated. Dsh inhibits the ability of GSK3 β to phosphorylate β -catenin to target it for destruction, increasing the levels and activity of β -catenin and enhancing cellular proliferation. Canonical Wnt ligands mostly include Wnt1, 3A, 7, 8, and 8b, and the canonical Fzd receptors that most commonly mediate this signaling include Fzd 1 and 7 (Webster et al. 2015a).

In noncanonical Wnt signaling, β -catenin is not a key component and in fact, as discussed below, may even be targeted for degradation in a GSK3- β -independent manner. There are two key noncanonical pathways, the Wnt/Ca²⁺ pathway, and the planar cell polarity (PCP) pathway (Fig. 2).



Fig. 2 The Wnt signaling pathway. The three main Wnt signaling pathways (Wnt/ β -catenin; Wnt/Ca²⁺ and planar cell polarity) and their probable roles in melanocyte development, and melanoma progression

The planar cell polarity pathway results in the activation of Rho kinases. First, Wnt binds to its receptor, activating Dsh, which signals to activate the disheveled associated activator of morphogenesis (Daam1). Daam1 activates Rho signaling via the activation of GEFs. In the PCP pathway, Dsh can also complex with Rac, activating Jun kinases (JNK). Both the activation of Rho and Rac can result in cytoskeletal remodeling, thereby promoting migration. In the Wnt/Ca²⁺ pathway, Wnt binding to its receptor triggers the direct activation of Gaq. This results in the activation of PLC γ , lipid turnover in the membrane, and the generation of the second messengers, diacylglycerol (DAG) and inositol triphosphate (IP3). DAG can signal to activate PKC, and IP3 translocates to the endoplasmic reticulum where it releases calcium from its intracellular stores. PKC has multiple downstream signaling effects, and calcium release results in the activation of CAMKII and calcineurin, which also signal to activate and inhibit multiple different pathways. Noncanonical Wnt signaling is most commonly mediated by Whats 4, 5, 5B and 11, and Fzd 2 and 5 (recently reviewed in (Webster et al. 2015a)).

In addition to the Fzd receptors, Wnt signals require co-receptors for transduction. These co-receptors help to determine through which pathway the signals are transduced, as the Wnt/Fzd combination can otherwise be rather promiscuous. Low-density lipoprotein receptors (LRPs), specifically LRP5 and 6, are single transmembrane receptors that complex with Fzd to mediate canonical Wnt signaling. Orphan receptor tyrosine kinases ROR1 and ROR2 are also single transmembrane receptors, but have intracellular tyrosine and serine-threonine kinase domains, as well as extracellular immunoglobulin-like, cysteine-rich domains. These receptors seem to play antagonizing roles to each other in melanoma, and most commonly mediate noncanonical Wnt signaling (O'Connell et al. 2013). In addition, there are other co-receptors that are not well described in humans, including Ryk/Derailed and FRL1/Crypto. Given the enormous amount of possible ligand/receptor/ co-receptor interactions, and the multiple downstream amplification steps in this cascade, Wnt signaling plays multiple, varied roles in the development and pathogenesis of cancer.

In melanoma, canonical and noncanonical Wnt signaling (specifically, the Wnt/Ca^{2+} pathway) play important and opposing roles. First, Wnt signaling directs the migration of melanocytes from the neural crest. Then, during the early stages of melanomagenesis, β-catenin is critical for the immortalization of melanocytes and the bypassing of melanocyte senescence (Delmas et al. 2007; Larue et al. 2009). Activation of the POU-domain transcription factor, Brn2, by β -catenin activates the melanocyte transcription factor MITF, leading to increased proliferation of melanocytes. As melanoma cells become more aggressive, they switch from a canonical Wnt signaling state, where they are very proliferative, to a noncanonical Wnt signaling state, where they now become invasive (O'Connell and Weeraratna 2009). This delineation of proliferation versus invasion in melanoma is known as phenotype switching. When melanoma cells switch to an invasive phenotype, they express higher levels of Wnt5A. Wnt5A has been shown to play multiple roles in melanoma metastasis from modulating the cytoskeleton, to promoting an EMT-like switch, to activating a series of metalloproteinases and tumor homing antigens such as **CD44** (Weeraratna et al. 2002; Dissanayake et al. 2008). Many of these effects require the presence and activity of ROR2, but not ROR1, which is not present in metastatic melanoma.

The role of β -catenin in melanoma metastasis is controversial. While some studies have shown that β -catenin is inhibitory to melanoma invasion (Arozarena et al. 2011b), others have shown that β-catenin promotes invasion (Damsky et al. 2011). Studies on human samples have shown a loss of β -catenin during the progression from nevi to metastatic melanoma, and high levels of β-catenin correlate with better prognosis for melanoma patients in multiple studies (Hoek et al. 2006; Chien et al. 2009; Bachmann et al. 2005). Recently, a new study also showed that an inhibitor of β -catenin signaling, sFRP2, is increased in the aged microenvironment (specifically

fibroblasts) and shuts off β -catenin signaling in melanoma cells, contributing to age-related increases in melanoma metastasis in both human samples, and in vivo in mice (Kaur et al. 2016). Additionally, in mice, overexpression of the canonical Wnt ligand, Wnt3A, inhibited tumorigenesis. However, as mentioned, other mouse models show that stabilizing β -catenin promotes metastasis (Damsky et al. 2011). The difference between these studies could be due to whether or not β -catenin is mutated (constitutively stabilized). Therefore, studies that look at genetically altered β -catenin tend to show associations with invasion, but studies that look at endogenous β -catenin may show the opposite.

The canonical WNT pathway is constitutively activated in a subset of melanocytic neoplasms called deep penetrating nevi (DPN) (Yeh et al. 2017). DPN are deeply invasive, highly pigmented lesions that are considered benign, but which can occasionally metastasize. DPNs are characterized genetically by a combination of a MAPK pathway activating mutation at the level of BRAF or MEK1 and an activating mutation of β -catenin. It has been shown that WNT signaling in benign nevi with only a BRAF V600E mutation decreases gradually with increasing distance of nevus cells from epithelial structures such as the epidermis and hair follicles and coincides in a decrease in cell size and pigmentation. The latter phenomenon is called "maturation" by pathologists and considered as an important criterion for benignancy. DPN do not show maturation and show constitutive activation of the WNT pathway, as the mutations activating β -catenin override the dependency on secreted WNTs, allowing the tumor cells to invade deeply.

As well as effects on metastasis, the dichotomy between β-catenin and Wnt5A also dictates therapy resistance in melanoma. Activation of β -catenin in cells with a loss of Axin1 has been shown to sensitize melanoma cells to vemurafenib-induced apoptosis, and overexpression of Wnt3A does the same (Biechele et al. 2012). Inhibiting β -catenin induced resistance to PLX4720, and this was confirmed in a later study, where Wnt5A was shown to increase resistance to PLX4720, in part via the hypoxia/

Siah2-induced degradation of β-catenin (O'Connell et al. 2013) and in part via the induction of a pseudo-senescent state (Webster et al. 2015b). Additionally, in aged mice, β -catenin loss correlated to increased resistance to BRAF inhibitor. MEK inhibitor (AZD6244) treatment of NRAS mutant tumors showed a similar dependence on β -catenin for effective apoptosis, suggesting that this might be a universal response to inhibition of the RAS/RAF/MEK/ERK pathway (Yeh et al. 2017). Intriguingly, however, continued, long-term treatment of melanoma patients with vemurafenib did not show the same association between nuclear β -catenin and response, suggesting that this pathway may get reactivated after long-term BRAF inhibitor treatment (Chien et al. 2014).

In addition to targeted therapy, immune therapy plays a large role in the current clinical landscape of melanoma. Wnt5A plays critical roles in hematopoietic stem cell self-renewal, suppressing β -catenin to maintain stem cell quiescence (Nemeth et al. 2007). In melanoma, we have shown that Wnt5A signals to decrease MITF and shuts off melanocytic antigens such as GP100 and MART1, thereby rendering melanoma cells less recognizable to the immune microenvironment (Dissanayake et al. 2008). β -catenin, especially mutant β -catenin, has been considered a melanoma antigen for some time and indeed was used to design some of the earlier tumorinfiltrating lymphocyte therapies (Robbins et al. 1996). A new study suggests that mutant β -catenin may actually do the opposite and decrease immune infiltration, but this has yet to be confirmed in other studies (Spranger et al. 2015). Overall, Wnt signaling plays critical roles in the development and pathogenesis of melanoma. The incredible complexity of this signaling pathway leads to its roles in multiple aspects of melanoma, from metastasis to therapy resistance.

Hippo Signaling

The Hippo signaling pathway (known as MST1/2 in humans) is important in mediating the interplay between contact inhibition and mitogenic signaling. Thus, it is the key pathway that regulates organ size during development and as such is highly conserved. MST1/2 are serine/threonine kinases that phosphorylate LATS1/2, which is activated and signals to phosphorylate and inhibit the activities of the Yes-associated protein (YAP) transcriptional and the coactivator with PDZ-binding motif (TAZ). Once YAP/TAZ signaling is inhibited they are sequestered in the cytoplasm via binding to 14-3-3 proteins. By contrast, unphosphorylated YAP is able to translocate to the nucleus and activate the transcription of a number of genes involved in mitosis and proliferation, such as cyclin A and cyclin E, as well as the TEA family of transcription factors. In addition to MST1/2 (Hippo), this signaling cascade can also be initiated by other MAP kinases, including MAP4K4/6/7 and MAP4K1/2/3/5 (Sanchez and Aplin 2014).

In cancer, the aberrant activation of YAP/TAZ leads to a loss of contact inhibition and subsequently, uncontrolled proliferation of tumor cells. This can be regulated in part by molecules involved in cell-cell adhesion, such as E-cadherin. As cells transition towards a more metastatic phenotype, they lose E-cadherin, allowing for increased activation of YAP/TAZ. YAP/TAZ are expressed in both melanocytes and melanoma cells, but are increased in metastatic disease. In one study, staining of YAP/TAZ in nevi and early stage melanoma revealed a mixed cytoplasmic/ nuclear pattern with increased TAZ levels in more invasive lesions. Knockdown of YAP/TAZ led to a loss of tumorigenic and metastatic properties, while overexpressing YAP in melanoma cells increased their ability to metastasize to distant sites (Nallet-Staub et al. 2014).

The observed increase in invasion in YAP-overexpressing cells was attributed to the activation of TEA domain transcription factors, which recognize TEA/ATTS elements as their DNA binding domains (Lamar et al. 2012). YAP activation of TEADs was shown to increase transcription of the connective tissue growth factor, which is also overexpressed in metastatic melanoma, and thought to contribute to melanoma invasion. Transcriptome analysis of melanoma indicated that TEAD was a key regulator of the

invasive phenotype in melanoma (Lamar et al. 2012). In keeping with this, TEAD knockdown has been shown to decrease invasion and increase sensitivity of melanoma cells to targeted therapy. This suggests then that inhibition of the Hippo/ YAP/TEAD pathway might be of interest for melanoma therapy. Indeed, the small molecule verteporfin, which inhibits the YAP-TEAD interaction, has been shown to decrease metastatic outgrowth of YAP overexpressing melanoma cells. Importantly, this drug may be effective not only in cutaneous melanoma but also in uveal melanoma, as YAP/TAZ signaling can be activated by mutant GNAQ/11, the predominant mutation in uveal melanoma. Verteporfin has been shown to inhibit the growth/invasion of uveal melanomas bearing GNAQ/11 mutations (Feng et al. 2014). This pathway holds great potential for the discovery of therapies that might affect multiple subtypes of melanoma.

The Notch Signaling Pathway

Like the Wnt pathway, the Notch pathway has been extensively studied in melanoma and can be divided into canonical and noncanonical pathways. Canonical Notch signaling is made up of the four transmembrane Notch receptors (Notch 1-4) and the membrane-bound ligands Jag 1 and 2 and delta-like (dll) 1-3. Signals transduced from these ligands, with the exception of dll3, are very similar, resulting in cleavage of notch by y-secretase, thereby releasing the Notch intracellular domain (NICD). NICD interacts with MAML and other transcription factors in the nucleus, as part of a DNA binding complex known as the CSL (CBF1/Suppressor of Hairless/LAG-1) complex. One intriguing feature of this pathway is that there are no amplification steps in the signaling cascade, i.e., no phosphorylation of a number of different proteins. This, together with the fact that the receptor is cleaved in order to be activated such that one NICD is generated per activated receptor, means that any genetic alterations that change gene dosage can have dramatic effects (Ranganathan et al. 2011).

Unlike canonical Notch signaling, noncanonical Notch signaling occurs independently of CSL. The mediators of noncanonical Notch signaling are largely unknown, but the output is the activation of canonical Wnt signaling $(\beta$ -catenin). This may have to do with the fact that Dsh, a key component of the Wnt signaling pathway, can bind to the NICD. NICD can also bind to components of the β -catenin destruction complex such as Axin and GSK3β, thereby affecting the stability of β -catenin. In turn, Wnt signaling can also regulate Notch signaling by upregulating ligands such as jagged1 and Dll4, as well as Notch itself (Borggrefe et al. 2016). Given the importance of Wnt signaling in melanoma, investigators explored the relevance of Notch in this disease. In melanocytes, deletion of Notch results in defects in melanoblast formation and the elimination of melanocyte stem cells. In addition to this, the localization of melanoblasts and melanocyte stem cells is also controlled by Notch signaling. Despite this, Notch1 is not expressed at high levels in melanocytes or benign melanocytic lesions, and forced overexpression of active Notch (Notch-NIC) can transform melanocytes both in the skin and in the retinoid pigmented epithelium (Bedogni 2014).

Notch signaling may also play roles in the metastatic progression of melanoma (Bedogni 2014). Notch 3 and Notch 4 have been implicated in angiogenesis and vasculogenic mimicry. Notch 1 was demonstrated to activate NFkB in pancreatic cancer. In melanoma, it has also been shown that NFkB can increase Notch expression via the PI3K/AKT pathway. Depletion of Notch in pancreatic cancer cells led not only to decreases in NFkB, but also in MMP-9, VEGF, survivin, and COX2. Since all of these molecules have also been implicated in metastatic dissemination of melanoma, it is reasonable to assume that a similar signaling cascade exists in melanoma. Indeed, treating melanoma cells with a γ -secretase inhibitor overcomes survivin expression and leads to apoptosis. In addition, forced activation of Notch in primary melanoma cells led to their progression to a metastatic state via the Wnt pathway, which as described earlier can also signal to increase Notch. Finally, Notch signaling can be activated in



Fig. 3 A network map showing interactions between proteins in cutaneous melanoma signaling pathways. Individual proteins and phosphoproteins are colored according to the spearman correlation results between either mRNA or protein levels and the downstream protein levels for TCGA's cutaneous melanoma samples harboring a gene with a mutation (mut), copy loss (CL), or elevated

expression level (elevated). The mutation profile, RNA Sequencing and protein data were generated by the TCGA Research Network: http://cancergenome.nih.gov/. Calculations were performed using Matlab[®] (v2015b). We acknowledge the help from Tim Purwin (Thomas Jefferson University) for the generation of this figure

situations known to promote metastatic progression such as hypoxia. HIF-1 α can regulate Notch1, increasing its expression. This allows for the AKT-dependent transformation of melanocytes to a malignant state, and in the absence of Notch1 this transformation cannot occur (Bedogni et al. 2008).

In addition to hypoxia, other microenvironmental factors can regulate Notch expression in melanoma. It has been shown that fibroblasts transfected with active Notch1 increase their levels of the Wnt-inhibitory secreted protein WISP1. When this happens, Wnt signaling in adjacent melanocytes is inhibited, and their transformation to a malignant state does not occur (Shao et al. 2011). Finally, Notch is also an important player in the immune system as it is critical for hematopoietic stem cell self-renewal and lineage decisions (Bigas et al. 2013). It is not yet known how Notch in infiltrating immune cells may affect the survival, growth, and metastatic progression of melanoma. Understanding the interplay between Notch in the microenvironment and Notch in the tumor cell will be critical before therapies targeting this pathway can be conceived.

Conclusion

The heterogeneity and plasticity of melanoma is reflected in the vast complexity of the signaling pathways described herein (Fig. 3) and indeed in many other pathways considered of minor relevance that were not covered in this review. Studies to understand these signaling pathways mechanistically have provided vital insights into the acquisition of the malignant traits of the melanoma cell. Additionally, they have highlighted strategies to target oncogene addiction, which have translated into the development of novel therapies. The role of these signaling pathways is currently being interrogated for alterations in immune cell infiltration/activation in the melanoma tumor microenvironment.

Acknowledgments The Aplin Laboratory is supported by the NIH under award numbers: CA196278, CA160495 and CA182635, and by the Melanoma Research Alliance. The Weeraratna Laboratory is supported by NIH grants: CA174746, CA114046, CA207935, CA174523 and grants from the Melanoma Research Foundation and the Melanoma Research Alliance/L'Oreal.

References

- Ackermann J et al (2005) Metastasizing melanoma formation caused by expression of activated N-RasQ61K on an INK4a-deficient background. Cancer Res 65 (10):4005–4011
- Anastas JN et al (2014) WNT5A enhances resistance of melanoma cells to targeted BRAF inhibitors. J Clin Invest 124(7):2877–2890
- Arozarena I et al (2011a) Oncogenic BRAF induces melanoma cell invasion by downregulating the cGMPspecific phosphodiesterase PDE5A. Cancer Cell 19 (1):45–57
- Arozarena I et al (2011b) In melanoma, beta-catenin is a suppressor of invasion. Oncogene 30(45):4531–4543
- Bachmann IM et al (2005) Importance of P-cadherin, betacatenin, and Wnt5a/frizzled for progression of melanocytic tumors and prognosis in cutaneous melanoma. Clin Cancer Res 11(24 Pt 1):8606–8614
- Baenke F et al (2016) Resistance to BRAF inhibitors induces glutamine dependency in melanoma cells. Mol Oncol 10(1):73–84
- Balmanno K, Cook SJ (2009) Tumour cell survival signalling by the ERK1/2 pathway. Cell Death Differ 16(3):368–377
- Bedogni B (2014) Notch signaling in melanoma: interacting pathways and stromal influences that enhance Notch targeting. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res 27(2):162–168
- Bedogni B et al (2008) Notch1 is an effector of Akt and hypoxia in melanoma development. J Clin Invest 118 (11):3660–3670
- Berger MF et al (2012) Melanoma genome sequencing reveals frequent PREX2 mutations. Nature 485 (7399):502–506
- Bhatt KV et al (2005) Adhesion control of cyclin D1 and p27Kip1 levels is deregulated in melanoma cells through BRAF-MEK-ERK signaling. Oncogene 12(24):3459–3471
- Bhatt KV et al (2007) Mutant B-RAF signaling and cyclin D1 regulate Cks1/S-phase kinase-associated protein 2-mediated degradation of p27(Kip1) in human melanoma cells. Oncogene 26(7):1056–1066
- Biechele TL et al (2012) Wnt/beta-catenin signaling and AXIN1 regulate apoptosis triggered by inhibition of the mutant kinase BRAFV600E in human melanoma. Sci Signal 5(206):ra3

- Bigas A, Guiu J, Gama-Norton L (2013) Notch and Wnt signaling in the emergence of hematopoietic stem cells. Blood Cells Mol Dis 51(4):264–270
- Boisvert-Adamo K, Aplin AE (2008) Mutant B-RAF mediates resistance to anoikis via Bad and Bim. Oncogene 27(23):3301–3312
- Borggrefe T et al (2016) The Notch intracellular domain integrates signals from Wnt, Hedgehog, TGFbeta/BMP and hypoxia pathways. Biochim Biophys Acta 1863 (2):303–313
- Botton T et al (2013) Recurrent BRAF kinase fusions in melanocytic tumors offer an opportunity for targeted therapy. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res 26(6):845–851
- Brady SC et al (2009) Sprouty2 association with B-Raf is regulated by phosphorylation and kinase conformation. Cancer Res 69(17):6773–6781
- Brummer T et al (2003) Identification of novel ERK-mediated feedback phosphorylation sites at the C-terminus of B-Raf. Oncogene 22(55):8823–8834
- Busca R et al (2000) Ras mediates the cAMP-dependent activation of extracellular signal-regulated kinases (ERKs) in melanocytes. EMBO J 19(12):2900–2910
- Cartlidge RA et al (2008) Oncogenic BRAF(V600E) inhibits BIM expression to promote melanoma cell survival. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res 21(5):534–544
- Carvajal RD et al (2014) Effect of selumetinib vs chemotherapy on progression-free survival in uveal melanoma: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA 311 (23):2397–2405
- Chen X et al (2014) Combined PKC and MEK inhibition in uveal melanoma with GNAQ and GNA11 mutations. Oncogene 33(39):4724–4734
- Chen X et al (2017) RasGRP3 Mediates MAPK Pathway Activation in GNAQ Mutant Uveal Melanoma. Cancer Cell **31**(5):685–696 e6
- Chien AJ et al (2009) Activated Wnt/beta-catenin signaling in melanoma is associated with decreased proliferation in patient tumors and a murine melanoma model. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 106(4):1193–1198
- Chien AJ et al (2014) Targeted BRAF inhibition impacts survival in melanoma patients with high levels of Wnt/ beta-catenin signaling. PLoS One 9(4):e94748
- Chin L et al (1997) Cooperative effects of INK4a and ras in melanoma susceptibility in vivo. Genes Dev 11(21):2822–2834
- Conde-Perez A et al (2015) A caveolin-dependent and PI3K/AKT-independent role of PTEN in beta-catenin transcriptional activity. Nat Commun 6:8093
- Curtin JA et al (2005) Distinct sets of genetic alterations in melanoma. N Engl J Med 353(20):2135–2147
- Damsky WE et al (2011) β-catenin signaling controls metastasis in Braf-activated Pten-deficient melanomas. Cancer Cell 20(6):741–754
- Dankort D et al (2009) Braf(V600E) cooperates with Pten loss to induce metastatic melanoma. Nat Genet 41(5):544–552
- Davies H et al (2002) Mutations of the BRAF gene in human cancer. Nature 417(6892):949–954

- Davies MA et al (2008) A novel AKT3 mutation in melanoma tumours and cell lines. Br J Cancer 99(8):1265–1268
- Delmas V et al (2007) Beta-catenin induces immortalization of melanocytes by suppressing p16INK4a expression and cooperates with N-Ras in melanoma development. Genes Dev 21(22):2923–2935
- Deuker MM et al (2015) PI3'-kinase inhibition forestalls the onset of MEK1/2 inhibitor resistance in BRAFmutated melanoma. Cancer Discov 5(2):143–153
- Dissanayake SK et al (2008) Wnt5A regulates expression of tumor-associated antigens in melanoma via changes in signal transducers and activators of transcription 3 phosphorylation. Cancer Res 68(24):10205–10214
- Dumaz N et al (2006) In melanoma, RAS mutations are accompanied by switching signaling from BRAF to CRAF and disrupted cyclic AMP signaling. Cancer Res 66(19):9483–9491
- Eskandarpour M et al (2005) Suppression of oncogenic NRAS by RNA interference induces apoptosis of human melanoma cells. Int J Cancer 115(1):65–73
- Feng X et al (2014) Hippo-independent activation of YAP by the GNAQ uveal melanoma oncogene through a trio-regulated rho GTPase signaling circuitry. Cancer Cell 25(6):831–845
- Ferguson B et al (2015) Melanoma susceptibility as a complex trait: genetic variation controls all stages of tumor progression. Oncogene 34(22):2879–2886
- Gewinner C et al (2009) Evidence that inositol polyphosphate 4-phosphatase type II is a tumor suppressor that inhibits PI3K signaling. Cancer Cell 16(2):115–125
- Gray-Schopfer VC et al (2006) Cellular senescence in naevi and immortalisation in melanoma: a role for p16? Br J Cancer 95(4):496–505
- Ha L et al (2007) ARF functions as a melanoma tumor suppressor by inducing p53-independent senescence. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104(26):10968–10973
- Harbour JW et al (2010) Frequent mutation of BAP1 in metastasizing uveal melanomas. Science 330 (6009):1410–1413
- Hoek KS et al (2006) Metastatic potential of melanomas defined by specific gene expression profiles with no BRAF signature. Pigment Cell Res 19(4):290–302
- Horrigan SK et al (2017) Replication study: melanoma genome sequencing reveals frequent PREX2 mutations. Elife 6:e21634
- Huang JL, Urtatiz O, Van Raamsdonk CD (2015) Oncogenic G protein GNAQ induces uveal melanoma and intravasation in mice. Cancer Res 75(16):3384–3397
- Hutchinson KE et al (2013) BRAF fusions define a distinct molecular subset of melanomas with potential sensitivity to MEK inhibition. Clin Cancer Res 19(24):6696–6702
- Inoue-Narita T et al (2008) Pten deficiency in melanocytes results in resistance to hair graying and susceptibility to carcinogen-induced melanomagenesis. Cancer Res 68(14):5760–5768

- Jakob JA et al (2012) NRAS mutation status is an independent prognostic factor in metastatic melanoma. Cancer 118(16):4014–4023
- Joseph EW et al (2010) The RAF inhibitor PLX4032 inhibits ERK signaling and tumor cell proliferation in a V600E BRAF-selective manner. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107(33):14903–14908
- Kannan K et al (2003) Components of the Rb pathway are critical targets of UV mutagenesis in a murine melanoma model. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100(3):1221–1225
- Kaur A et al (2016) sFRP2 in the aged microenvironment drives melanoma metastasis and therapy resistance. Nature 532:250
- Klein RM et al (2008) B-RAF regulation of Rnd3 participates in actin cytoskeletal and focal adhesion organization. Mol Biol Cell 19(2):498–508
- Koelsche C et al (2015) Melanotic tumors of the nervous system are characterized by distinct mutational, chromosomal and epigenomic profiles. Brain Pathol 25(2):202–208
- Krauthammer M et al (2015) Exome sequencing identifies recurrent mutations in NF1 and RASopathy genes in sun-exposed melanomas. Nat Genet 47(9):996–1002
- Kwong LN et al (2012) Oncogenic NRAS signaling differentially regulates survival and proliferation in melanoma. Nat Med 18:1503
- Lamar JM et al (2012) The Hippo pathway target, YAP, promotes metastasis through its TEAD-interaction domain. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 109(37): E2441–E2450
- Larribere L et al (2004) PI3K mediates protection against TRAIL-induced apoptosis in primary human melanocytes. Cell Death Differ 11(10):1084–1091
- Larue L et al (2009) Bypassing melanocyte senescence by beta-catenin: a novel way to promote melanoma. Pathol Biol (Paris) 57:543
- Lee EK et al (2013) The FBXO4 tumor suppressor functions as a barrier to BRAFV600E-dependent metastatic melanoma. Mol Cell Biol 33(22):4422–4433
- Li Chew C et al (2015) In vivo role of INPP4B in tumor and metastasis suppression through regulation of PI3K-AKT signaling at endosomes. Cancer Discov 5(7):740–751
- Li A et al (2012) Activated mutant NRas(Q61K) drives aberrant melanocyte signaling, survival, and invasiveness via a Rac1-dependent mechanism. J Invest Dermatol 132(11):2610–2621
- Lindsay CR et al (2011) P-Rex1 is required for efficient melanoblast migration and melanoma metastasis. Nat Commun 2:555
- Lindsay CR et al (2015) A Rac1-independent role for P-Rex1 in melanoblasts. J Invest Dermatol 135 (1):314–318
- Lito P et al (2012) Relief of profound feedback inhibition of mitogenic signaling by RAF inhibitors attenuates their activity in BRAFV600E melanomas. Cancer Cell 22(5):668–682

- Liu H et al (2015) Mutant GNAQ promotes cell viability and migration of uveal melanoma cells through the activation of Notch signaling. Oncol Rep 34 (1):295–301
- Madhunapantula SV, Sharma A, Robertson GP (2007) PRAS40 deregulates apoptosis in malignant melanoma. Cancer Res 67(8):3626–3636
- Marsh Durban V et al (2013) Differential AKT dependency displayed by mouse models of BRAFV600E-initiated melanoma. J Clin Invest 123(12):5104–5118
- McKay MM, Freeman AK, Morrison DK (2011) Complexity in KSR function revealed by Raf inhibitor and KSR structure studies. Small GTPases 2(5):276–281
- Mense SM et al (2015) PTEN inhibits PREX2-catalyzed activation of RAC1 to restrain tumor cell invasion. Sci Signal 8(370):ra32
- Michaloglou C et al (2005) BRAFE600-associated senescence-like cell cycle arrest of human naevi. Nature 436 (7051):720–724
- Monahan KB et al (2010) Somatic p16(INK4a) loss accelerates melanomagenesis. Oncogene 29(43):5809–5817
- Nallet-Staub F et al (2014) Pro-invasive activity of the Hippo pathway effectors YAP and TAZ in cutaneous melanoma. J Invest Dermatol 134(1):123–132
- Nemeth MJ et al (2007) Wnt5a inhibits canonical Wnt signaling in hematopoietic stem cells and enhances repopulation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104 (39):15436–15441
- Nikolaev SI et al (2012) Exome sequencing identifies recurrent somatic MAP2K1 and MAP2K2 mutations in melanoma. Nat Genet 44(2):133–139
- O'Connell MP, Weeraratna AT (2009) Hear the Wnt Ror: how melanoma cells adjust to changes in Wnt. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res 22:724
- O'Connell MP et al (2013) Hypoxia induces phenotypic plasticity and therapy resistance in melanoma via the tyrosine kinase receptors ROR1 and ROR2. Cancer Discov 3(12):1378–1393
- Paraiso KHT et al (2011) PTEN loss confers BRAF inhibitor resistance to melanoma cells through the suppression of BIM expression. Cancer Res 71(7):2750–2760
- Pollock PM et al (2003) High frequency of BRAF mutations in nevi. Nat Genet 33(1):19–20
- Pratilas CA et al (2009) V600EBRAF is associated with disabled feedback inhibition of RAF-MEK signaling and elevated transcriptional output of the pathway. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 106(11):4519–4524
- Ranganathan P, Weaver KL, Capobianco AJ (2011) Notch signalling in solid tumours: a little bit of everything but not all the time. Nat Rev Cancer 11(5):338–351
- Robbins PF et al (1996) A mutated beta-catenin gene encodes a melanoma-specific antigen recognized by tumor infiltrating lymphocytes. J Exp Med 183 (3):1185–1192
- Rushworth LK et al (2006) Regulation and role of Raf-1/B-Raf heterodimerization. Mol Cell Biol 26 (6):2262–2272

- Sanchez IM, Aplin AE (2014) Hippo: hungry, hungry for melanoma invasion. J Invest Dermatol 134(1):14–16
- Sauter ER et al (2002) Cyclin D1 is a candidate oncogene in cutaneous melanoma. Cancer Res 62 (11):3200–3206
- Scortegagna M et al (2014) Genetic inactivation or pharmacological inhibition of Pdk1 delays development and inhibits metastasis of Braf::Pten melanoma. Oncogene 33:4330–4339
- Scortegagna M et al (2015) PDK1 and SGK3 contribute to the growth of BRAF-mutant melanomas and are potential therapeutic targets. Cancer Res 75 (7):1399–1412
- Scott G, Cassidy L, Busacco A (1997) Fibronectin suppresses apoptosis in normal human melanocytes through an integrin-dependent mechanism. J Invest Dermatol 108(2):147–153
- Shain AH et al (2015) Exome sequencing of desmoplastic melanoma identifies recurrent NFKBIE promoter mutations and diverse activating mutations in the MAPK pathway. Nat Genet 47(10):1194–1199
- Shao Y, Aplin AE (2012) ERK2 phosphorylation of serine 77 regulates Bmf pro-apoptotic activity. Cell Death Dis 3:e253
- Shao H et al (2011) Activation of Notch1 signaling in stromal fibroblasts inhibits melanoma growth by upregulating WISP-1. Oncogene 30(42):4316–4326
- Shin MK et al (1999) The temporal requirement for endothelin receptor-B signalling during neural crest development. Nature 402(6761):496–501
- Solit DB et al (2006) BRAF mutation predicts sensitivity to MEK inhibition. Nature 439(7074):358–362
- Sotillo R et al (2001) Invasive melanoma in Cdk4-targeted mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98(23):13312–13317
- Spranger S, Bao R, Gajewski TF (2015) Melanomaintrinsic beta-catenin signalling prevents anti-tumour immunity. Nature 523(7559):231–235
- Stahl JM et al (2004) Deregulated Akt3 activity promotes development of malignant melanoma. Cancer Res 64 (19):7002–7010
- TCGA (2015) Genomic classification of cutaneous melanoma. Cell 161(7):1681–1696
- Van Brocklin MW et al (2009) Mitogen-activated protein kinase inhibition induces translocation of Bmf to promote apoptosis in melanoma. Cancer Res 69 (5):1985–1994
- Van Raamsdonk CD et al (2009) Frequent somatic mutations of GNAQ in uveal melanoma and blue naevi. Nature 457(7229):599–602
- Van Raamsdonk CD et al (2010) Mutations in GNA11 in uveal melanoma. N Engl J Med 363(23):2191–2199
- Wan PT et al (2004) Mechanism of activation of the RAF-ERK signaling pathway by oncogenic mutations of B-RAF. Cell 116(6):855–867
- Watson IR et al (2014) The RAC1 P29S hotspot mutation in melanoma confers resistance to pharmacological inhibition of RAF. Cancer Res 74(17):4845–4852

- Weber CK et al (2001) Active ras induces heterodimerization of cRaf and BRaf. Cancer Res 61 (9):3595–3598
- Webster MR, Kugel CH 3rd, Weeraratna AT (2015a) The Wrts of change: how Wrts regulate phenotype switching in melanoma. Biochim Biophys Acta 1856 (2):244–251
- Webster MR et al (2015b) Wnt5A promotes an adaptive, senescent-like stress response, while continuing to drive invasion in melanoma cells. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res 28(2):184–195
- Weeraratna AT et al (2002) Wnt5a signaling directly affects cell motility and invasion of metastatic melanoma. Cancer Cell 1(3):279–288
- Weiss MB et al (2012) TWIST1 is an ERK1/2 effector that promotes invasion and regulates MMP-1 expression in human melanoma cells. Cancer Res 72 (24):6382–6392

- Welch HC (2015) Regulation and function of P-Rex family Rac-GEFs. Small GTPases 6(2):49–70
- Wolfel T et al (1995) A p16INK4a-insensitive CDK4 mutant targeted by cytolytic T lymphocytes in a human melanoma. Science 269(5228):1281–1284
- Xing F et al (2012) Concurrent loss of the PTEN and RB1 tumor suppressors attenuates RAF dependence in melanomas harboring (V600E)BRAF. Oncogene 31(4):446–457
- Yeh I et al (2017) Combined activation of MAP kinase pathway and β-catenin signaling cause deep penetrating nevi. Nat Com 8(1):644. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41467-017-00758-3
- Zhang G et al (2016) Targeting mitochondrial biogenesis to overcome drug resistance to MAPK inhibitors. J Clin Invest 126(5):1834–1856
- Zheng B et al (2009) Oncogenic B-RAF negatively regulates the tumor suppressor LKB1 to promote melanoma cell proliferation. Mol Cell 33(2):237–247



Epigenetic Regulation in Melanoma

Michelle Dang and Leonard Zon

Contents

Introduction	84
DNA Methylation	85
Epigenetic Silencing of Tumor Suppressor Genes	85
Genome-Wide Methylation Analysis in Melanoma	87
DNA Demethylation	88
DNA Methyltransferase (DNMT) Inhibitors	89
Histone Modifications	89
Histone Deacetylase (HDAC) Inhibitors	91
Histone Variants	93
Chromatin-Interacting Protein Complexes	93
Noncoding RNA	94
Conclusion	95
References	96

Abstract

Cancer is the accumulation of genetic and epigenetic events that lead to the disruption of normal cellular development and homeostasis. Skin cancer originates from transformed melanocytes and is one of the few cancers with a significantly increasing incidence. Melanoma,

M. Dang \cdot L. Zon (\boxtimes)

Harvard Stem Cell Institute, Harvard University, Cambridge, MA, USA e-mail: mdang@fas.harvard.edu; leonard.zon@enders.tch. harvard.edu the most aggressive form of skin cancer, accounts for the majority of skin cancer-related deaths, and the 5-year survival rate for latestage melanoma is under 40%. While having some initial success in the clinic, targeted therapies and immunomodulators have a varied rate of response in patients and typically result in the development of drug resistance. The genomic landscape, including the identification of both driver and passenger mutations, in melanoma is well characterized. The epigenetic events that drive melanoma development and metastasis is an area of active research. The recent appreciation of epigenetic contributions to tumorigenesis focuses on DNA methylation, histone modifications, and noncoding

© Springer Science+Business Media, LLC, part of Springer Nature 2019 D. E. Fisher, B. C. Bastian (eds.), *Melanoma*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-7147-9_42

Stem Cell Program and Division of Hematology/ Oncology, Boston Children's Hospital and Dana Farber Cancer Institute, Howard Hughes Medical Institute, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, USA

RNAs. Here, we highlight key epigenetic mechanisms and how these epigenetic states can be exploited in (pre)clinical applications leading to novel therapeutic avenues.

Keywords

Melanoma · Epigenetics · DNA methylation · Histone modification · Noncoding RNAs

Introduction

Cancer is a complex disease of involving genetic, epigenetic, immune, and environmental factors. Melanoma, originating from transformed melanocytes, is the most aggressive form of skin cancer with an increase in incidence and an overall 40% 5-year survival rate in late-stage metastatic patients (Siegel et al. 2018). Localized melanomas detected early can be treated surgically, while unresectable melanomas are significantly more difficult to treat due to varying efficacies immunotherapy and targeted therapy. Immune checkpoint blockade is currently the first-line therapy for metastatic melanoma. Immunotherapies utilizing anti-CTLA-4 and anti-PD-1 antibodies have dramatically altered the clinical landscape of melanoma. Immunotherapy has become a frontline treatment for metastatic melanoma, but only 20-30% of patients have long-term benefit from the treatment (Hodi et al. 2010; Wolchok et al. 2017; Gide et al. 2017). Targeted therapies against oncogenic BRAF^{V600E} and MEK can be used and resulted in unprecedented response rates in patients with metastatic melanoma, but these targeted therapies are ineffective long-term treatments due to the inevitable emergence of drug resistance (Robert et al. 2015; Konieczkowski et al. 2018). These challenges in melanoma therapy highlight the critical need to develop better combinations of therapies. A critical issue for the field is that resistance occurs for both drug classes, and methods to restore sensitivity have not been developed.

Genetic alterations to key signaling pathways can drive tumorigenesis by affecting cell cycle, proliferation, survival, and apoptosis. Extensive genomic sequencing studies such as The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA) and the Cancer Genome Project revealed melanoma as one of the most heavily mutated cancers per megabase and identified somatic and recurrent mutations (Network et al. 2015). The canonical RAS-RAF-MEK-ERK signaling cascade, also known as the mitogenactivated protein kinase (MAPK) pathway, promotes cellular proliferation and growth via a series of phosphorylation events and is the most frequently mutated pathways in cutaneous melanoma. BRAF, a serine/threonine kinase, is a critical regulator of the MAPK pathway, and approximately 50% of diagnosed cutaneous melanomas are due to an activating mutation on the BRAF oncogene (BRAF^{V600E}) (Davies et al. 2002). The second most common genetic driver of melanoma is the NRAS oncogene, where an activating glutamine to arginine (Q61R) mutation occurs in upward to 25% of cutaneous melanoma (Ball et al. 1994). These oncogenic mutations are also observed in benign nevi, suggesting that additional alterations including the loss of tumor suppressor genes are required for tumorigenesis. Sequencing studies identified recurrent mutations in tumor suppressor genes such as CDKN2A, PTEN, and TP53, and the loss of these are critical in melanomagenesis (Hodis et al. 2012; Network et al. 2015). Over the past decade, extensive sequencing studies of the cancer genome have provided significant insight into genetic alterations driving melanoma as well as the identification of passenger mutations.

While genetics has driven the understanding of human development and diseases, it cannot completely explain the complexities of these biological processes. Recent characterization of epigenetic mechanisms has solidified its role in the regulation of normal developmental programs and has been increasingly linked to tumorigenesis. Epigenetics, a concept first introduced in 1939, is defined as heritable and reversible changes that do not alter the DNA sequence. In fact, epigenetic events can dynamically regulate gene expression through alterations to chromatin via DNA methylation, covalent modifications to histones such as acetylation or methylation, and regulation of mRNA translation via noncoding RNAs. This higher-order level of regulation can promote

tumorigenesis, including initiation, maintenance, metastasis, and drug resistance. Understanding the role epigenetics plays and characterizing the melanoma epigenome will help in the development of novel biomarkers and therapeutic targets. This chapter aims to highlight the foundations of epigenetics in melanoma and how these epigenetic states can be exploited in (pre)clinical applications leading to novel therapeutic avenues.

DNA Methylation

DNA methylation, a powerful epigenetic process to regulate gene expression, is defined as the addition of a methyl group to the 5-carbon position of cytosine to generate 5-methylcytosine (5-mC) and is mediated by the DNA methyltransferase (DNMT) enzyme. DNMT1 functions to maintain methylation states by copying DNA methylation during cell division, while DNMT3A/B functions as de novo methyltransferases. This covalent modification typically occurs on regions enriched with repeats of cytosine guanine dinucleotides (CpG islands), and these CpG islands occur in the promoter region of 40% of mammalian genes (Fatemi et al. 2005). Global DNA methylation patterns in human cancers were first characterized in 1983 (Feinberg and Vogelstein 1983). A study in 1989 identified focal hypermethylation in the promoter of the retinoblastoma (RB) gene, which is normally involved in suppressing cellular growth, in patients and provided the first link between DNA methylation and cancer (Greger et al. 1989). It is widely accepted that DNA hypermethylation at the promoter silences gene expression via transcriptional repression (Fig. 1).

Epigenetic Silencing of Tumor Suppressor Genes

Epigenetic silencing is a major driver of tumorigenesis, and promoter hypermethylation of key tumor suppressor genes has been demonstrated in melanoma through targeted and genome-wide studies. The major pathways that are impacted by aberrant methylation include MAPK, phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K), cell cycle, DNA repair, apoptosis, and metastasis. While there is increasing appreciation for the role epigenetics, specifically DNA methylation, plays in tumorigenesis, a shortcoming of the field is the mechanistic and functional understanding of these modifications. Major questions that remain include how DNA methylation is regulated in cancer cells and which transcriptionally repressed genes are required for melanoma initiation and maintenance.

Early efforts in identifying the methylation status at specific loci utilized a sodium bisulfite-PCR assay dependent that converted non-methylated cytosine bases to uracil, and the regions of interest would be PCR amplified and sequenced. One of the first tumor suppressors in melanoma identified to be hypermethylated is cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor 2A (CDKN2A), which encodes both the $p16^{INK4A}$ (p16) and p14^{ARF} (p14) proteins. p16 is a negative regulator of the cell cycle through CDK4 and CDK6 inhibition, and p16 promoter methylation was reported in 25% of analyzed cutaneous melanoma samples (Gonzalgo et al. 1997). p14 is responsible for inhibiting MDM2-mediated p53 ubiquitination and proteasomal degradation, and the p14 promoter is hypermethylated in 57% analyzed cutaneous melanoma samples (Freedberg et al. 2008). Promoter hypermethylation of CDKN2A was observed in cutaneous melanoma of the vertical growth phase (Straume et al. 2002), but not reported in nevi (Conway et al. 2011). Taken together, it suggests that tumor suppressor CDKN2A is expressed in nevi and silenced during melanoma development.

Phosphatase and tensin homologue (PTEN) is another major tumor suppressor gene that has been heavily linked to the development of melanoma. PTEN is a phosphatase that negativity regulates the PI3K signaling pathway and is significantly lost in melanoma. Methylationspecific PCR on human primary and metastatic melanomas identified approximately 60% of promoter methylation of PTEN. Upon treatment with a demethylation agent, PTEN expression levels normalized, and the aberrant PI3K activity ceased (Mirmohammadsadegh et al. 2006). Interestingly,



Fig. 1 Epigenetic modifications to regulate transcription.
(a) DNA promoter hypermethylation of key melanoma tumor suppressor genes results in transcriptional silencing.
(b) Histone variant H2A.Z.2 drives melanoma as it stabilizes chromatin acetylation and recruits BRD2 and E2F1 to

activate cell cycle genes. (c) The H3K4me2 active mark is present on key proliferation, apoptosis, and cell adhesion genes in benign nevi but is lost upon tumorigenesis. (d) The H3K27me3 repressive mark on key melanoma regulatory genes is gained during melanoma development

the loss of PTEN from promoter methylation is significantly correlated to poor survival (Lahtz et al. 2010).

Ras-associated domain family protein 1A (RASSF1A) is involved in cell cycle regulation and apoptosis and found to be frequently silenced via promoter hypermethylation in several cancers (Hesson et al. 2007). Methylation-specific PCR analyzed 11 human melanoma cell lines and 44 metastatic melanomas and confirmed RASSF1A as a tumor suppressor gene in melanoma. The RASSF1A promoter was hypermethylated in 55% melanoma tumors and correlated with loss of RASSF1A expression. Interestingly, serial biopsies were conducted in a single patient with stage 3 metastatic melanoma. The early biopsies revealed no RASSF1A promoter methylation, but a later biopsy showed hypermethylation at the RASSF1A promoter (Spugnardi et al. 2003). While this was observed in only one patient, it suggests that RASSF1 promoter hypermethylation may not be required for

melanoma initiation but more involved in melanoma maintenance and/or metastasis.

Methylation-specific PCR was used on 15 human melanoma cell lines and 130 cutaneous mixed-stage melanomas to assess the tumor suppressive role of candidate factors that had been previously studied in carcinomas (Esteller et al. 2001). The screen identified three hypermethylated tumor suppressor genes in melanoma: retinoic acid receptor- $\beta 2$ (RAR- $\beta 2$), RASSF1A, O⁶⁻methylguanine and DNA methyltransferase (MGMT). RAR-\beta2 was hypermethylated in 70% of the melanoma samples and was consistent across both primary and metastatic samples, suggesting RAR-β2 may be important in melanoma development and maintenance. Additional studies on normal melanocytes and benign nevi can provide more insight in RAR-\beta2's role in melanoma initiation. The second most hypermethylated gene identified in this study was RASSF1, which was previously reported in an independent study. RASSF1 was

hypermethylated in 57% of melanomas and was more closely associated with metastatic melanomas compared to earlier staged samples, which suggests that RASSF1 is progressively lost via DNA methylation during the metastasis stage in melanoma. Finally, MGMT was silenced in 34% of melanomas and is involved in DNA repair and maintaining genomic stability (Hoon et al. 2004). This study is the first to assess the methylation status of known tumor suppressor genes in the context of melanoma. These findings open up avenues to mechanistically study the methylated tumor suppressor genes, how they are functionally involved in melanoma development and metastasis, and whether they can be specifically targeted with hypomethylating agents.

Genome-Wide Methylation Analysis in Melanoma

The characterization and differential analysis of the methylation landscape of normal human melanocytes, benign nevi, noninvasive melanomas, and metastatic melanomas can further the molecular understanding of tumor initiation, progression, and metastasis. Furthermore, extensive studies of these methylation patterns can be correlated with stages of the disease and consequently be used as biomarkers for disease progression. The first genome-wide methylation study was conducted in 2003 using methylated DNA immunoprecipitation (MeDIP) and identified 68 hypermethylated and 8 hypomethylated genes using early passage human melanoma cell lines (Koga et al. 2009). While methylation patterns identified in the cell lines were independently validated using methylation-specific PCR, it is unclear whether these aberrantly methylated genes are a consequence of in vitro passaging or if they are consistent with primary samples.

Another genome-wide approach is called methylated-CpG island recovery assay (MIRA)-seq. It is a high-throughput method to identify the DNA methylation landscape by using protein complexes (MBD2B and MBD3L1) with high affinity for methylated CpG islands and next-generation sequencing (NGS) (Rauch and Pfeifer 2010). A MIRA-seq study conducted on metastatic melanoma samples from 27 donor patients sought to characterize the DNA methylation landscape of metastatic melanoma and identified 179 melanoma-specific methylation events that were present in all 27 donor samples and absent in the normal tissues assayed. Over 3000 methylated regions were identified in over 40% of the melanoma samples assayed, and a closer look into these methylated genes revealed an enrichment for melanoma differentiation factors such as SOX10, KIT, and PAX3 (Jin et al. 2016). This discovery-oriented study demonstrates the potential in identifying melanoma-specific biomarkers as well as identifying epigenetically modulated genes involved in tumorigenesis. Limitations of this study include the quantity of donor samples queried and the use of normal melanocytes as the baseline control. Since the normal melanocyte originated from three donors, it is likely that methylation patterns in the normal melanocytes are significantly varied and patient specific. Future studies may utilize donor-matched samples comparing benign nevi to normal melanocytes, primary melanoma to nevi, and metastatic to primary melanoma results in more stage-specific methylation patterns.

The dynamics of DNA methylation have been implicated in driving cancer metastasis, yet the specific mechanism is poorly understood. Using bead capture-based technology called Illumina's HumanMethylation450 Infinium (450 Κ BeadChip), the DNA methylation status of over 450,000 CpG islands were characterized for primary tumors, brain metastasis, and lymph node metastasis derived from melanoma patients. Interestingly, promoter hypermethylation of HOX family members, specifically HOXD9, was observed to be significantly higher in metastatic samples compared to noninvasive samples. Patients with observed hypermethylation HOXD9 correlated with poor survival and could potentially serve as a prognostic factor (Marzese et al. 2014). While the misregulation of HOX transcription factors has been demonstrated in human melanoma compared to benign nevi, the mechanism is poorly understood.

It is known that the melanocyte-specific transcription factor microphthalmia-associated

transcription factor (MITF) plays a critical role in melanocyte development and differentiation (Steingrimsson et al. 2004). Amplification of oncogenic MITF is found in 10% of melanomas and correlated with poor survival (Garraway et al. 2005). It is clear that MITF plays a crucial role in melanocyte biology, as well as melanomagenesis, but the mechanisms of how MITF levels are regulated are incompletely understood and likely involve epigenetic perturbations. The methylation landscapes of melanoma tumors compared to cultured melanocytes revealed global hypomethylation in gene bodies and hypermethylation enriched in the promoter of developmental target genes. MITF and its target genes were shown to be hypermethylated in the melanoma samples. Demethylation of MITF using 5'-aza-2-'-deoxycytidine (5-Aza) was sufficient to restore MITF protein levels (Lauss et al. 2015). This study suggests that MITF expression is regulated methylation bv DNA during melanoma development.

Undeniably, the characterization of methylation profiles in matched normal melanocytes, benign nevi, malignant primary tumors, and metastatic tumors in patients has been monumental in understanding the epigenetic contribution to melanomagenesis. The genome-wide studies have been critical in discovering differentially methylated genes, but a major current limitation is understanding which of the aberrantly methylated genes are functionally relevant in driving melanoma initiation, maintenance, and metastasis. Understanding when the changes in the methylation pattern occurred can help define if the modulation is driving an oncogenic phenotype or merely a consequence of dysregulation. Due to the immense heterogeneity of cancers, more patient-matched samples from the various oncogenic stages must be studied before developing a reliable panel of biomarkers for disease progression and response to therapy.

DNA Demethylation

Since epigenetic modifications are dynamic and reversible, DNA demethylation contributes as an

important regulatory mechanism in both normal cellular development and cancer (Szyt et al. 2004). DNA demethylation could promote tumorigenesis by reactivating an oncogene that is normally silenced. For example, melanomaassociated antigen 1 (MAGEA1) is a cancer/testis antigen that is typically expressed in the testis but is shown to be upregulated in melanoma tumors. Metastatic melanomas from 56 patients were subjected to methylation-specific PCR to determine the methylation status of MAGE family members and demonstrated gene reactivation of MAGEA1 via DNA promoter hypomethylation. The reactivation of the MAGEA1 in melanoma promotes cellular proliferation (Sigalotti et al. 2004).

DNA demethylation of 5-mC is catalyzed by а family of hydroxylases called ten translocation (TET) proteins eleven into 5-hydroxymethylcytosine (5-hmC) (Tahiliani et al. 2009). TET activity is dependent on alphaketoglutarate (α -KG), and α -KG production is controlled by isocitrate dehydrogenases (IDH1 and IDH2) (Xu et al. 2011). Mutations in these IDH1 and IDH2 enzymes have been shown to disrupt TET activity and lead to hypermethylated DNA in acute myeloid leukemia (Figueroa et al. 2010; Ward et al. 2010). In melanoma, TET proteins are mutated in over 20% of cases (Song et al. 2014). From TCGA studies, IDH1 is found to be recurrently mutated in ~6% melanoma, and IDH1-mutated samples exhibited high CpG hypermethylation (Network et al. 2015). To address the demethylation patterns in melanoma, levels of 5-hmC were detected and quantified using immunofluorescent (IF) and immunohistochemical (IHC) staining in over 50 cases of benign nevi, primary melanomas, and metastatic melanomas. The study revealed a global loss of 5-hmC, and this trended with melanoma progression, as the primary and metastatic samples had a significant loss of 5-hmC staining compared to the benign nevi samples. The loss of 5-hmC staining correlated with downregulated TET protein and IDH2 expression levels. Interestingly, human melanoma cell lines overexpressing either TET2 or IDH2 were sufficient to restore 5-hmC levels, and the xenograft mice exhibited reduced proliferation (Lian et al. 2012). This study suggests that

the loss of TET2 or IDH2 is linked with melanoma progression and identified global loss of 5-hmC as a potential diagnostic marker for melanoma.

DNA Methyltransferase (DNMT) Inhibitors

A major class of epigenetic drugs are hypomethylating agents, such as DNMT inhibitors. Essentially, DNMT inhibitors can activate genes that were silenced by DNA methylation, and the re-expression of these genes can potentially reverse the tumorigenic effect. The most popular DNMT inhibitors are 5-azacitidine and decitabine and were approved for the treatment of myelodysplastic syndrome (Raj and Mufti 2006; Saba 2007). While these demethylating agents have shown efficacy in blood malignancies, their role in the context of solid tumors is challenging. Recent clinical trials investigating epigenetic drugs are summarized in Table 1.

A phase I trial in melanoma patients sought to determine the toxicity and antitumor effect of a hypomethylating agent combined with a FDA-approved intervention for metastatic melanoma. Escalating dosing of decitabine and two cycles of high-dose interleukin-2 (IL-2) was administrated to patients and demonstrated a 31% objective response in melanoma patients with minimal toxicity (Gollob et al. 2006). This is the first study to support the tolerance of combination DNMT and IL-2 treatments in melanoma patients.

The clinical landscape for the treatment of metastatic melanoma has been evolving quickly with the FDA approval for dual BRAF/MEK combination therapy, as well as anti-CTLA4 and anti-PD1 immunomodulators. Accordingly, more recent DNMT inhibitor clinical trials aim to assess the safety and efficacy in combination with these BRAF/MEK inhibitors and immuno-therapies. For example, a phase Ib trial sought to determine the toxicity and antitumor effect of a DNMT inhibitor (decitabine) in combination with a BRAF^{V600E} inhibitor (vemurafenib). Patients with mutant BRAF melanoma were

administered two cycles of escalating doses of decitabine in combination with the normal dosing of vemurafenib. Cohorts that received the lowest dose of decitabine exhibited minimal toxicity and the largest partial response (Zakharia et al. 2017). This study demonstrates the safety of combining low-dose DNMT inhibitors to existing targeted therapies. Additional studies with larger patient cohorts must be conducted to address whether this addition of low-dose decitabine has the potential to prevent or delay drug resistance to vemurafenib.

While DNMTs have shown efficacy in blood malignancies, challenges in dosing and specificity have proven to be a major challenge in solid tumors including melanoma. Low-dose and long-term administration of DNMT seems to have potential, but long-term effects of hypomethylation are undocumented. Additional studies in patients must be conducted to identify the therapeutic window, as there is a delicate balance between toxicity and efficacy. In addition to dosing, an even larger limitation to decitabine and other DNMT inhibitors is the broad-spectrum effect. The lack of specificity of these DNMT inhibitors results in global hypomethylation. These drugs will nonselectively inhibit DNA methylation and consequently have the potential to unintentionally activate both oncogenes and tumor suppressor genes.

Histone Modifications

In addition to DNA methylation, a major epigenetic mechanism to regulate transcription is posttranslational modifications on the chromatin. DNA is wound around highly alkaline histone protein octomers (H2A, H2B, H3, H4) to form nucleosomes which are then compacted to form chromatin. It has been known for decades that posttranslational modification on the chromatin can regulate DNA transcription. The type of modification and the location of the mark yield specific consequences, ranging from impacting DNA accessibility to the transcriptional machinery to recruiting transcriptionally repressive or activating protein complexes.

	1	1	T	1
Agents	Indication	Phase	Status	Clinical trial ID
DNMT inhibitor (decitabine)	Stage III/IV melanoma	Ι	Completed	NCT00002980
Decitabine, temozolomide	Stage III/IV melanoma	I/II	Completed	NCT00715793
Decitabine, vemurafenib	BRAF-positive metastatic melanoma	Ι	Completed	NCT01876641
DNMT inhibitor (azacitidine), pembrolizumab	Stage III/IV melanoma	II	Recruiting	NCT02816021
Azacitidine, recombinant interferon alfa-2b	Stage III/IV melanoma	Ι	Completed	NCT00217542
Pan-HDAC inhibitor (vorinostat)	BRAF-positive metastatic melanoma, progressed on BRAF and MEK inhibitors	I/II	Recruiting	NCT02836548
Pan-HDAC inhibitor (panobinostat)	Melanoma	Ι	Completed	NCT01065467
Panobinostat, ipilimumab	Stage III/IV melanoma	Ι	Active	NCT02032810
Selective HDAC6 inhibitor (ACY-241), ipilimumab, nivolumab	Stage III/IV melanoma	Ι	Completed	NCT02935790
HDAC1/2/3/11 inhibitor (mocetinostat), ipilimumab, nivolumab	Stage III/IV melanoma	Ib	Recruiting	NCT03565406
HDAC inhibitor (MS-275)	Progressed on immunotherapy or chemotherapy	II	Completed	NCT00185302
HDAC1/3 inhibitor (entinostat), pembrolizumab	Progressed on PD-1 or PD-L1	I/II	Recruiting	NCT02437136
Vorinostat	Uveal melanoma	Ι	Recruiting	NCT03022565
Entinostat, pembrolizumab	Uveal melanoma	II	Recruiting	NCT02697630

Table 1 Overview of clinical trials of epigenetic drugs in melanoma

The best studied histone modifications are acetylation and methylation, but other modifications include phosphorylation, ubiquitylation, SUMOylation, and deimination. The acetylation on lysine residues is facilitated by histone acetyltransferases (HAT) and histone deacetylases (HDAC) and tends to occur on residues on the H3 and H4 histones. This acetylation is associated with open chromatin and tends to promote positive gene expression by allowing transcription factor binding. For example, acetylation of lysine 9 on histone 3 (H3K9ac) and acetylation of lysine 27 on histone 3 (H3K27ac) mark active enhancers and are associated with open chromatin and terms and acetylation of lysine gene transcription.

The other major histone modification is H3 and H4 methylation on lysine residues and is demonstrated to either activate or repress transcription depending on the specific residue and the number of methyl groups present. The methylation is mediated by histone methyltransferases (HMT) and histone demethylase. Specific histone methylation marks are associated with transcriptional states. For example, tri-methylation of lysine 4 on histone 3 (H3K4me3) occurs at the gene promoter and is associated with active transcription. Monomethylation of lysine 4 on histone 3 (H3K4me1) occurs at enhancer sites and is also indicative of active transcription. Histone modifications can also indicate transcriptionally repressive states, such as tri-methylation of lysine 27 on histone 3 (H3K27me3) and tri-methylation of lysine 9 on histone 3 (H3K9me3).

The dysregulation of histone methyltransferases have been linked to cancers, but their exact role in tumorigenesis is unclear (Albert and Helin 2010). The histone methyltransferase SETDB1 was identified while assessing the oncogenic potential of genes in a recurrently amplified region in melanoma. SETDB1 acts on H3K9me, and its overexpression was sufficient to accelerate melanoma onset in a BRAF^{V600E} zebrafish model. Microarray analysis of melanomas overexpressing SETDB1 tumors exhibited transcriptional dysregulation of HOX genes, and tissue microarrays on normal melanocytes, benign nevi, and melanomas revealed a strong correlation between SETDB1 expression and melanoma progression (Ceol et al. 2011) This study identified an oncogenic histone methyltransferase important in the progression of melanoma.

Another histone methyltransferase is enhancer of zeste homologue 2 (EZH2), and it is responsible for the repressive H3K27me3 mark. EZH2 expression was characterized via immunostaining on benign nevi, melanoma in situs, and metastatic melanomas. EZH2 expression was significantly higher in metastatic melanomas compared to the nevi, suggesting a link between EZH2 and melanoma progression. Knockdown of EZH2 in cell lines resulted in a global decrease of H3K27me3 repressive mark and an increase in the active H3K14ac mark on p21/CDKN1A. EZH2 drives tumorigenesis by repressing senescence through histone acetylation on the p21/CDKN1A locus (Fan et al. 2011). The potential role of EZH2 inhibitors in melanoma is being investigated.

Characterization of known epigenetic marks in non-transformed human melanocytes and tumorigenic melanomas revealed specific chromatin states linked with tumorigenesis. Comparing the distinct tissues revealed that the nevi harbor histone acetylation and H3K4 methylation on cancer regulatory genes. Most interestingly, these marks are lost upon melanoma transformation. The administration of histone deacetylase inhibitors prevented proliferation of melanoma cells, which suggests the histone deacetylation is functionally important in driving tumorigenesis in melanoma (Fiziev et al. 2017).

Increasing evidence has implicated the role of histone modifiers in melanoma progression and response to therapy. A CRISPR-Cas screen was conducted to screen for chromatin regulators important in driving resistance to MAPK inhibitors and identified histone deacetylase SIRT6. Partial loss of SIRT6 allowed for melanoma cell lines to proliferate in the presence of MAPK inhibitors. Loss of the histone deacetylase resulted in increased chromatin accessibility via H3K65 acetylation at the IGFBP2 locus. The acetylation mark resulted in downstream IGF-1R activation and AKT signaling. The SIRT6-mediated resistance phenotype was abrogated with an IGF-1R inhibitor in combination with BRAF^{V600E} inhibition. Interestingly, high expression of IGFBP2 correlated with drug resistance in matched melanoma samples from patients receiving combination dabrafenib and trametinib therapy (Strub et al. 2018). This screen not only identified a histone deacetylase implicated in melanoma resistance but also showed the potential of IGF-1R inhibitor as a therapeutic strategy.

Bromodomain (BRD)-containing proteins are a major class of histone readers that facilitate the chromatin remodeling by binding acetylated histones. BRD4 is a histone reader of the bromodomain and extra terminal domain (BET) family and is significantly upregulated in primary and metastatic melanoma compared to nevi, suggesting BRD4 could act as an oncogenic contributor to melanoma progression. Treatment of metastatic melanoma cell lines with a small molecule inhibitor of BET proteins inhibited proliferation. Also, administration of the BET inhibitors led to a fivefold decrease of tumor growth and reduced numbers of lung metastasis in a xenograft mouse model. Withdrawal of the BET inhibitors in both the cell line and xenograft model resulted in a restoration of pro-proliferation phenotypes. Specific knockdown of BRD4 recapitulated the chemical studies and demonstrated that BRD4 plays a role in melanoma progression. Interestingly, the oncogenic effects of BRD4 upregulation and the efficacy of BET inhibitors were consistent in cutaneous melanomas driven by BRAF^{V600E}, NRAS, or neither (Segura et al. 2013). The identification of upregulated BRD4 as a prooncogenic factor in melanoma development and progression could represent a novel therapeutic strategy that is independent of BRAF or NRAS mutational status.

Histone Deacetylase (HDAC) Inhibitors

The involvement of histone modifications in cancer progression has made small molecule

inhibitors targeting HDACs therapeutically promising. HDACs represent the largest group of epigenetic drugs and are thought to exert antitumor effects by promoting cell cycle arrest and apoptosis. Ongoing clinical trials are evaluating the effect of HDAC inhibitors as single agents in treatment solid tumors, as well as the safety and efficacy of HDAC inhibitors in combination with FDA-approved targeted inhibitors and immunotherapies.

Suberoylanilide hydroxamic acid (SAHA) also known as vorinostat was approved for the treatment of T-cell lymphoma in 2006, and this fueled the investigation into the use of HDAC inhibitors for solid tumors (Mann et al. 2007). Patients with solid tumors were administered escalating doses of vorinostat for 6 months in a phase I clinical trial. Of the six melanoma patients in this cohort, two exhibited stable disease for over 8 months upon vorinostat treatment, suggesting that HDAC inhibition could be therapeutically beneficial (Munster et al. 2009). Subsequently, a phase II clinical trial of vorinostat in 32 patients with metastatic melanoma aimed to assess the clinical benefit of HDAC inhibition. Vorinostat was administered for 28 consecutive days per cycle and mostly resulted in stable disease or a partial response with an average 5 months of progression-free survival. Overall, the treatment exhibited moderate toxicity in over half the patients and an unimpressive efficacy in the cohort (Haas et al. 2014). The poor efficacy in the phase II clinical trial highlights the current challenges of demonstrating clinical efficacy of epigenetic drugs. More extensive characterization in preclinical models may provide insight into what melanoma patient subtypes would be most beneficial to the therapy in question. Using in vitro and in vivo preclinical models, melanomas can be categorized by anatomical subtype (cutaneous, acral, mucosal, ocular), mutational status (BRAF^{V600E}, NRAS, "wild type"), and disease stage (nonmetastatic, lymph node metastasis). Furthermore, the correlation of each of these categories with response to HDAC inhibitors can better inform patient eligibility for future clinical trials.

Investigation of HDAC inhibitors in combination with targeted therapies and immunotherapies may be more promising. Resistance to BRAF and MEK inhibition is a major clinical challenge in the treatment of melanoma. The major resistance mechanisms include reactivation of the MAPK signaling pathway and activation of the PI3K/ AKT survival pathway. To determine if HDAC inhibition could impact drug resistance, patientderived melanoma cell lines were co-treated with an HDAC inhibitor (panobinostat) and BRAF^{V600E} inhibitor (encorafenib). Panobinostat is a pan-HDAC inhibitor that targets class I, II, and IV HDACs. In human melanoma cell lines and xenograft models that stopped responding to BRAF inhibition, panobinostat was sufficient to restore encorafenib sensitivity. The combination was found to increase caspase-dependent apoptosis by altering PI3K signaling. Western blot analysis revealed that the response correlated to an upregulation of pro-apoptotic BIM or NOXA with reduced expression of anti-apoptotic proteins Bcl-XL (Gallagher et al. 2018). This preclinical study provides a rationale for HDAC inhibition in treatment-resistant melanomas.

In a phase I clinical trial to assess the safety and dosing of panobinostat, patients with latestage melanoma were dosed with 30 mg 3 days a week. Due to severe toxicity, including thrombocytopenia, the treatment scheme was redesigned for 30 mg panobinostat for 3 days a week every other week. Patients were treated for a median of 1.9 months, and all developed progressive disease. demonstrating that panobinostat is an ineffective single agent for the treatment of late-stage melanoma (Ibrahim et al. 2016). Future clinical trials could assess the combination of HDAC inhibitors in combination with BRAF/MEK inhibitors. The severe toxicity in patients dosed with 30 mg panobinostat suggests that the pan-HDAC inhibitor has too many off-target effects for clinical use. The use of selective HDAC inhibitors may minimize toxicity. For example, entinostat is a less toxic selective HDAC I and IV inhibitor and is currently in a phase Ib/II clinical trial (NCT02437136) for melanoma patients who are progressing on anti-PD1 immunotherapy. Future
studies could focus on the development of better epigenetic drugs and more stringent preclinical models, as the lack of specificity and efficacy in these HDAC inhibitors poses as a major clinical challenge.

Histone Variants

Traditional histones H2A, H2B, and H3 can be replaced with histone variants, and this switch potentially changes the posttranslational modifications to provide a higher degree of regulation. This physical change of the chromatin landscape is thought to play a key role in transcriptional regulation, and there are two major histone variants that have been implicated in melanoma: macroH2A (mH2A) and H2A.Z.2. The first histone variant identified as a tumor suppressor in melanoma is mH2A. Global expression analysis in human melanoma cell lines and melanoma mouse models identified a striking decrease in mH2A expression, resulting in enhanced invasion in cell lines and increased metastasis in mice. The loss of mH2A is due to DNA hypermethylation at the mH2A promoter. Moreover, expression of mH2A was significantly decreased in human melanoma tissues and was lost in over 80% of metastatic melanoma patients. Interestingly, this decrease in mH2A corresponded to an increase in CDK8 expression. The characterization of mH2A in melanoma revealed its tumor suppressive role and demonstrated that methylation silencing of this histone variant mediated CDK8-driven proliferation and invasion (Kapoor et al. 2010). The identification of CDK8 as a mH2A target could support a potential therapeutic avenue. Additionally, the histone variant H2A.Z.2 is highly expressed in metastatic melanoma, and patients with high expression of this histone variant demonstrated lower survival rates. Knockdown studies resulted in cell cycle arrest and a decrease in proliferation. Also, microarray analysis of melanoma cell lines identified that H2A.Z.2-regulated genes were transcriptional targets of E2F1 and E2F4, both of which have been implicated in melanoma (Vardabasso et al. 2015).

Chromatin-Interacting Protein Complexes

Protein complexes, such as the SWI/SNF and the polycomb repressive complexes, have the ability to dynamically modulate transcriptional activity by interacting with the chromatin architecture. Aberrant expression and dysregulation of these proteins can alter normal transcription and promote tumorigenesis.

The most studied chromatin remodeler is the ATP-dependent Brg/Brahma-associated factor (BAF) complex, also referred to as the SWI/SNF complex. SWI/SNF complex regulates transcription by directly binding to the DNA and nucleosomes to modulate positioning and accessibility. SWI/SNF complex consists of 15 subunits and can exist in two forms depending on their core subunits. While most of the subunits are shared, the BAF complex exclusively contains BRM, ARID1A, and ARID1B. Meanwhile polybromo-BAF (pBAF) exclusively contains PBRM1, ARID2, and BRD7. It is hypothesized that the various combinations of subunits that constitute the SWI/SNF complex allow for a higher degree of specificity and regulation. The subunits of the SWI/SNF complex are mutated in approximately 20% of human cancers, including but not limited to breast, lung, colon, and skin cancer. The various mutations on each of the SWI/SNF subunits appear to be cancer-specific and tend to illicit tumor suppressive effects (Kadoch et al. 2013). The complex is mutated in over 30% of melanomas, and ARID2 mutations are found in 12% of melanomas (Hodis et al. 2012). BRG1/ SMARCA4 mutated in 5–10% of melanomas. The BRG1 subunit of the complex is tumor suppressors that are repressed in melanoma. BRG1 binds p16, suggesting RB1- and E2F-dependent mechanisms for cell cycle regulation. SMARCB1 is downregulated in melanoma and evades apoptosis. SMARCB1-positive protein expression correlated with better overall and disease-free survival time (Kadoch et al. 2013).

The polycomb repressive complex (PRC) recognizes histone modifications and serves as transcriptional repressors in both normal development and tumorigenesis. Both PRC1 and PCR2 transcriptionally repress by binding and tri-methylating the H3K27 histone. The major subunit of the PRC1 is BMI-1, which is a regulator of p16/INK4a and p14/ARF. Immunohistochemistry on benign and malignant melanocytes revealed that BMI-1 is highly expressed in benign nevi, and it is lost during melanoma development, and it correlated with poor survival (Bachmann et al. 2008). The catalytically active subunit of the PRC2 is EZH2, a methyltransferase responsible for the transcriptionally repressive H3K27me mark. In contrast to BMI-1, high expression of EZH2 is correlated with metastatic diseases, and high expression correlates with poor survivals. H3K27 histone demethylases, such as Jumonji domain-containing 3 (JMJD3), have the ability to reverse EZH2-mediated repression (Barradas et al. 2009).

Noncoding RNA

Approximately 90% of the human genome is transcribed into noncoding RNAs (ncRNAs), and they represent a diverse group of posttranscriptional regulators. There are two major classes of ncRNAs based on their nucleotide length: micro-RNAs (miRNAs) and long noncoding RNAs (lncRNAs). miRNAs are 22-nucleotides long and function as regulators of gene expression by controlling mRNA stability and degradation. These pre-miRNA hairpins are processed by Dicer into mature miRNAs and subsequently loaded onto the RNA-induced silencing complex (RISC). The loaded miRNA targets complementary sequences on the 3'UTR to of transcripts, resulting in degradation (Bartel 2004).

Dysregulation of these miRNAs has been observed in cancer progression and resistance to therapy. Importantly, while there are over 2,500 annotated miRNAs in the human genome, the specific expression and activity of each miRNAs are tissue and disease-stage specific (Croce 2009). Understanding the miRNA landscape across normal tissue and various stages of cancer can serve as powerful biomarkers for disease staging and prognosis. The advancements of sequencing technologies have spearheaded the generation of global miRNA analysis through microarray and RNA-seq studies and have identified hundreds of miRNAs linked to cancer. Interestingly, miRNAs can harbor either oncogenic or tumor suppressive roles and may drive oncogenesis through a myriad of mechanisms including sustained proliferation, evasion of cell death, and invasion or metastasis.

In melanoma cell lines, overexpression of miR-221/222 has been shown to silence the expression of tumor suppressor gene p27 to positively regulate cell cycle and suppress apoptosis (Felicetti et al. 2008). Subsequent serum analysis in 72 cutaneous melanoma patients identified serum levels of miR-221 were significantly higher compared to serum extracted from 54 healthy subjects. The high serum levels of miR-221 correlated with advanced clinical stage, metastasis, and poor overall 5-year survival rate (Li et al. 2014). The identification of miR-221 overexpression in melanoma samples and the correlation of miR-221 serum levels to prognosis serve as an early example of how miRNAs can serve as biomarkers for melanoma prognosis.

MITF, the master regulator of the melanocyte lineage, plays an undisputed role in normal melanocyte development and melanomagenesis. While it is accepted that expression levels of MITF are variable across melanoma cell lines, stages of primary melanoma, and even in drugresistant melanoma, the mechanisms that regulate MITF are incompletely understood. miRNAs represent a class of regulators that could mechanistically control expression levels of MITF. One group utilized computational methods to identify all miRNAs located within a genomic region that was previously associated with melanocyte biology. Their efforts identified a miR-137 in the target region, and subsequent gene expression studies found miR-137 to be significantly upregulated in melanoma compared to benign nevi. Further analysis revealed that miR-137 downregulates the oncogenic transcription factor MITF (Bemis et al. 2008). A similar systematic method to identify functionally relevant miRNAs focuses on genomic regions that are lost or gained in melanoma. This method revealed that miR-182 is frequently upregulated in melanoma cell lines,

and high miR-182 levels trend with the transition from noninvasive to metastatic melanomas. miR-182 is found to act as a negative regulator of transcription factors MITF and FOX03, leading to promote survival and metastasis in melanoma (Segura et al. 2009).

A miRNA microarray performed on benign nevi, primary melanomas, and metastatic melanomas sought to identify differentially expressed miRNA involved in melanoma initiation and metastasis. This study identified a significant downregulation of miR-205 in melanoma samples compared to the nevi, suggesting that miR-205 could act as a potential tumor suppressor. Subsequent in vitro studies demonstrated that miR-205 directly suppressed E2F1 and results in the negative regulation of the AKT survival pathway. miR-205 also directly targets E2F5, which is linked to regulating tumor suppressors p130 and p107 (Dar et al. 2011).

In addition to miRNAs, lncRNA plays a critical role in regulating gene expression, and their misexpression or dysregulation has been recently implicated in cancer progression and metastasis (Huarte 2015). lncRNA exploits several varied mechanisms, with the ability to interact with DNA, RNA, and proteins, in order to transcriptionally regulate gene expression. For example, lncRNA has been shown to recruit histonemodifying complexes to activate or silence target genes, interact with regulatory proteins to inhibit transcription, and even interact with miRNAs.

With the growing evidence supporting the role of lncRNAs in tumor development, studies sought to identify lncRNAs involved in the transition from benign nevi to malignant melanoma. Comparing the lncRNA microarrays for normal melanocyte to transformed melanoma cell lines identified a SPRY4 transcript (SPRY4-IT4) as one of the first upregulated lncRNA in melanoma. In vitro knockdown studies of SPRY4-IT4 showed decreased cell growth and enhanced apoptosis, suggesting an oncogenic phenotype of SPRY4-IT4. Interestingly, expression levels of SPRY4-IT4 were assessed in 30 melanoma patient samples and revealed that higher expression of the lncRNA correlated with metastatic samples (Khaitan et al. 2011).

HOX transcript antisense RNA (HOTAIR), an IncRNA from the HOXC locus, was first identified as an oncogenic lncRNA in breast cancer, and its significant upregulation was tightly linked with metastasis and poor prognosis (Gupta et al. 2010). HOTAIR interacts with the polycomb repressive complex 2 (PRC2) and silences critical metastatic suppressor genes via H3K27 trimethylation. The specific mechanisms are still unclear, but it is postulated in breast cancer cell line studies that HOTAIR inhibits HOXD and miR-7 expression. Consequently, downregulation of miR-7 results in increased expression of a histone methyltransferase SETDB1 and activation of transcription factor STAT3 (Zhang et al. 2014). Similarly to other cancers, HOTAIR was found to be consistently upregulated in lymph node metastasis compared to matched primary melanoma tumors (Tang et al. 2013).

Taken together, recent understanding of both miRNAs and lncRNAs has shown that the misexpression or dysregulation of these ncRNAs can promote oncogenic or tumor suppressive effects contributing to melanomagenesis. Several early examples of ncRNAs have been documented to serve as potential, noninvasive biomarkers for metastasis. In general, the field of ncRNA in melanoma is still in the discovery phase working to identify of strong ncRNAs that play a functional role in cancer initiation, maintenance, metastasis, or drug response. Finally, extensive metadata analysis of gene expression datasets, such as RNA-seq, from patient-derived primary and metastatic biopsies will be critical in developing a robust and reliable biomarker for metastasis or prognostic factor for survival.

Conclusion

Melanoma is a complex disease originating from both genetics and epigenetic alterations. The genetic landscape of cutaneous melanoma is well characterized from sequencing studies, but the melanoma epigenome is complex and dynamic. Fueled by a deeper molecular understanding of epigenetic events and the advancements in genome-wide technologies, researchers are continuing to discover epigenetic events important in normal melanocyte biology, oncogenic transformation of a benign nevi, metastasis of primary melanomas to distant sites, and even response of melanomas to various drug treatments. The epigenome is dynamic, and understanding which differentially regulated gene or histone mark is required for melanoma development or metastasis is critical. Functional characterization of these implicated genes in preclinical melanoma models will be instrumental in determining if the alteration is meaningful.

A major challenge in identifying epigenetic drugs with clinical efficacy is the lack of specificity. The therapeutic window is narrow since DNMT inhibitors result in global hypomethylation, and HDAC inhibitors exhibit non-specific acetylation. The risk of off-target effects and general toxicity is high. While these non-specific inhibitors have shown efficacy in cell lines and in vivo xenograft models, the results do not typically translate in melanoma patients. Extensive characterization in preclinical models may provide insight into what melanoma patient subtypes would be most beneficial to the therapy in question. Using in vitro and in vivo preclinical models, melanomas can be categorized by anatomical subtype (cutaneous, acral, mucosal, ocular), mutational status (BRAF^{V600E}, NRAS, "wild type"), and disease stage (nonmetastatic, lymph node metastasis). Furthermore, the correlation of each of these distinctions with response to epigenetic drugs can better inform patient eligibility for future clinical trials.

References

- Albert M, Helin K (2010) Histone methyltransferases in cancer. Semin Cell Dev Biol 21:209–220. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.semcdb.2009.10.007
- Bachmann I, Puntervoll H, Otte A, Akslen L (2008) Loss of BMI-1 expression is associated with clinical progress of malignant melanoma. Modern Pathol 21:583–590. https://doi.org/10.1038/modpatho 1.2008.17
- Ball N, Yohn J, Morelli J (1994) RAS mutations in human melanoma: a marker of malignant progression. J Invest Dermatol 102(3):285–290

- Barradas M, Anderton E, Acosta J et al (2009) Histone demethylase JMJD3 contributes to epigenetic control of INK4a/ARF by oncogenic RAS. Genes Dev 23:1177–1182. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.511109
- Bartel D (2004) MicroRNAs: genomics, biogenesis, mechanism, and function. Cell 116:281–297
- Bemis L, Chen R, Amato C et al (2008) MicroRNA-137 targets microphthalmia-associated transcription factor in melanoma cell lines. Cancer Res 68:1362–1368. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-07-2912
- Ceol C, Houvras Y, Jane-Valbuena J et al (2011) The histone methyltransferase SETDB1 is recurrently amplified in melanoma and accelerates its onset. Nature 471:513. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature09806
- Conway K, Edmiston S, Khondker Z et al (2011) DNA-methylation profiling distinguishes malignant melanomas from benign nevi. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res 24:352–360. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1755-148X. 2011.00828.x
- Croce C (2009) Causes and consequences of microRNA dysregulation in cancer. Nat Rev Genet 10:704–714. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg2634
- Dar A, Majid S, Semir D et al (2011) miRNA-205 suppresses melanoma cell proliferation and induces senescence via regulation of E2F1 protein. J Biol Chem 286:16606–16614. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M111. 227611
- Davies H, Bignell G, Cox C et al (2002) Mutations of the BRAF gene in human cancer. Nature 417:949. https:// doi.org/10.1038/nature00766
- Esteller M, Corn P, Baylin S, Herman J (2001) A gene hypermethylation profile of human cancer. Cancer Res 61:3225–3229
- Fan T, Jiang S, Chung N et al (2011) EZH2-dependent suppression of a cellular senescence phenotype in melanoma cells by inhibition of p21/CDKN1A expression. Mol Cancer Res 9:418–429. https://doi.org/10.1158/ 1541-7786.MCR-10-0511
- Fatemi M, Pao M, Jeong S et al (2005) Footprinting of mammalian promoters: use of a CpG DNA methyltransferase revealing nucleosome positions at a single molecule level. Nucleic Acids Res 33: e176–e176. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gni180
- Feinberg A, Vogelstein B (1983) Hypomethylation distinguishes genes of some human cancers from their normal counterpart. Nature 301:89–92
- Felicetti F, Errico M, Bottero L et al (2008) The promyelocytic leukemia zinc finger-microRNA-221/-222 pathway controls melanoma progression through multiple oncogenic mechanisms. Cancer Res 68: 2745–2754. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-07-2538
- Figueroa M, Abdel-Wahab O, Lu C et al (2010) Leukemic IDH1 and IDH2 mutations result in a hypermethylation phenotype, disrupt TET2 function, and impair hematopoietic differentiation. Cancer Cell 18:553–567. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccr.2010.11.015
- Fiziev P, Akdemir K, Miller J et al (2017) Systematic epigenomic analysis reveals chromatin states

associated with melanoma progression. Cell Rep 19: 875–889. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2017.03.078

- Freedberg D, Rigas S, Russak J et al (2008) Frequent p16-independent inactivation of p14 ARF in human melanoma. Jnci J Natl Cancer Inst 100:784–795. https://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/djn157
- Gallagher S, Gunatilake D, Beaumont K et al (2018) HDAC inhibitors restore BRAF-inhibitor sensitivity by altering PI3K and survival signalling in a subset of melanoma. Int J Cancer 142:1926–1937. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.31199
- Garraway L, Widlund H, Rubin M et al (2005) Integrative genomic analyses identify MITF as a lineage survival oncogene amplified in malignant melanoma. Nature 436:117. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature03664
- Gide T, Wilmott J, Scolyer R, Long G (2017) Primary and acquired resistance to immune checkpoint inhibitors in metastatic melanoma. Clin Cancer Res 24:1260–1270. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-17-2267
- Gollob J, Sciambi C, Peterson B et al (2006) Phase I trial of sequential low-dose 5-Aza-2'-deoxycytidine plus high-dose intravenous bolus interleukin-2 in patients with melanoma or renal cell carcinoma. Clin Cancer Res 12:4619–4627. https://doi.org/10.1158/ 1078-0432.CCR-06-0883
- Gonzalgo M, Bender C, You E et al (1997) Low frequency of p16/CDKN2A methylation in sporadic melanoma: comparative approaches for methylation analysis of primary tumors. Cancer Res 57:5336–5347
- Greger V, Passarge E, Hopping W, Messmer E, Horsthemke B (1989) Epigenetic changes may contribute to the formation and spontaneous regression of retinoblastoma. Hum Genet 83:155–158
- Gupta R, Shah N, Wang K et al (2010) Long non-coding RNA HOTAIR reprograms chromatin state to promote cancer metastasis. Nature 464:1071. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/nature08975
- Haas N, Quirt I, Hotte S et al (2014) Phase II trial of vorinostat in advanced melanoma. Invest New Drug 32:526–534. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10637-014-0066-9
- Hesson L, Cooper W, Latif F (2007) The role of RASSF1A methylation in cancer. Dis Markers 23:73–87
- Hodi F, O'Day S, McDermott D et al (2010) Improved survival with ipilimumab in patients with metastatic melanoma. New Engl J Med 363:711–723. https://doi. org/10.1056/NEJMoa1003466
- Hodis E, Watson IR, Kryukov GV et al (2012) A landscape of driver mutations in melanoma. Cell 150:251–263. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2012.06.024
- Hoon D, Spugnardi M, Kuo C et al (2004) Profiling epigenetic inactivation of tumor suppressor genes in tumors and plasma from cutaneous melanoma patients. Oncogene 23:4014. https://doi.org/10.1038/ sj.onc.1207505
- Huarte M (2015) The emerging role of lncRNAs in cancer. Nat Med 21:1253. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.3981
- Ibrahim N, Buchbinder E, Granter S et al (2016) A phase I trial of panobinostat (LBH589) in patients with

metastatic melanoma. Cancer Med-US 5:3041–3050. https://doi.org/10.1002/cam4.862

- Jin S, Xiong W, Wu X, Yang L, Pfeifer G (2016) The DNA methylation landscape of human melanoma. Genomics 106:322–330. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.ygeno.2015.09.004
- Kadoch C, Hargreaves D, Hodges C et al (2013) Proteomic and bioinformatic analysis of mammalian SWI/SNF complexes identifies extensive roles in human malignancy. Nat Genet 45:592–601. https://doi.org/10.1038/ ng.2628
- Kapoor A, Goldberg M, Cumberland L et al (2010) The histone variant macroH2A suppresses melanoma progression through regulation of CDK8. Nature 468:1105. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature09590
- Khaitan D, Dinger M, Mazar J et al (2011) The melanomaupregulated long noncoding RNA SPRY4-IT1 modulates apoptosis and invasion. Cancer Res 71: 3852–3862. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-4460
- Koga Y, Pelizzola M, Cheng E et al (2009) Genome-wide screen of promoter methylation identifies novel markers in melanoma. Genome Res 19:1462–1470. https://doi.org/10.1101/gr.091447.109
- Konieczkowski D, Johannessen C, Garraway L (2018) A convergence-based framework for cancer drug resistance. Cancer Cell 33:801–815
- Lahtz C, Stranzenbach R, Fiedler E et al (2010) Methylation of PTEN as a prognostic factor in malignant melanoma of the skin. J Invest Dermatol 130:620–622. https://doi.org/10.1038/jid.2009.226
- Lauss M, Haq R, Cirenajwis H et al (2015) Genome-wide DNA methylation analysis in melanoma reveals the importance of CpG methylation in MITF regulation. J Invest Dermatol 135:1820–1828. https://doi.org/10.1 038/jid.2015.61
- Li P, He Q, Luo C, Qian (2014) Circulating miR-221 expression level and prognosis of cutaneous malignant melanoma. Med Sci Monit 20:2472–2477. https://doi. org/10.12659/MSM.891327
- Lian CG, Xu Y, Ceol C et al (2012) Loss of 5-hydroxymethylcytosine is an epigenetic hallmark of melanoma. Cell 150:1135–1146. https://doi.org/10.101 6/j.cell.2012.07.033
- Mann B, Johnson J, Cohen M et al (2007) FDA approval summary: vorinostat for treatment of advanced primary cutaneous T-cell lymphoma. Oncologist 12: 1247–1252. https://doi.org/10.1634/theoncologist.12-10-1247
- Marzese D, Scolyer R, Huynh J et al (2014) Epigenomewide DNA methylation landscape of melanoma progression to brain metastasis reveals aberrations on homeobox D cluster associated with prognosis. Hum Mol Genet 23:226–238. https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ ddt420
- Mirmohammadsadegh A, Marini A, Nambiar S et al (2006) Epigenetic silencing of the PTEN gene in melanoma. Cancer Res 66:6546–6552. https://doi.org/10.1158/ 0008-5472.CAN-06-0384

- Munster P, Marchion D, Thomas S et al (2009) Phase I trial of vorinostat and doxorubicin in solid tumours: histone deacetylase 2 expression as a predictive marker. Brit J Cancer 101:1044. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj. bjc.6605293
- Network T, Akbani R, Akdemir K et al (2015) Genomic classification of cutaneous melanoma. Cell 161: 1681–1696. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2015.05.044
- Raj K, Mufti G (2006) Azacytidine (Vidaza[®]) in the treatment of myelodysplastic syndromes. Ther Clin Risk Manag 2:377–388. https://doi.org/10.2147/ tcrm.2006.2.4.377
- Rauch T, Pfeifer G (2010) DNA methylation profiling using the methylated-CpG island recovery assay (MIRA). Methods 52:213–217. https://doi.org/10.101 6/j.ymeth.2010.03.004
- Robert C, Karaszewska B, Schachter J et al (2015) Improved overall survival in melanoma with combined dabrafenib and trametinib. New Engl J Med 372:30–39. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1412690
- Saba H (2007) Decitabine in the treatment of myelodysplastic syndromes. Ther Clin Risk Manag 3(5):807–817
- Segura M, Hanniford D, Menendez S et al (2009) Aberrant miR-182 expression promotes melanoma metastasis by repressing FOXO3 and microphthalmia-associated transcription factor. Proc Natl Acad Sci 106: 1814–1819. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0808263106
- Segura M, Fontanals-Cirera B, Gaziel-Sovran A et al (2013) BRD4 sustains melanoma proliferation and represents a new target for epigenetic therapy. Cancer Res 73:6264–6276. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-547 2.CAN-13-0122-T
- Siegel RL, Miller K, Jemal A (2018) Cancer statistics, 2018. CA Cancer J Clin 68(1):7–30. https://doi.org/ 10.3322/caac.21442
- Sigalotti L, Fratta E, Coral S et al (2004) Intratumor heterogeneity of cancer/testis antigens expression in human cutaneous melanoma is methylation-regulated and functionally reverted by 5-Aza-2'-deoxycytidine. Cancer Res 64:9167–9171
- Song F, Amos C, Lee J et al (2014) Identification of a melanoma susceptibility locus and somatic mutation in TET2. Carcinogenesis 35:2097–2101. https://doi. org/10.1093/carcin/bgu140
- Spugnardi M, Tommasi, Dammann R, Pfeifer G, Hoon D (2003) Epigenetic inactivation of RAS association domain family protein 1 (RASSF1A) in malignant cutaneous melanoma. Cancer Res 63:1639–1643
- Steingrimsson E, Copeland N, Jenkins N (2004) Melanocytes and the microthalmia transcription factor network. Annu Rev Genet 38:365–411

- Straume O, Smeds J, Kumar R, Hemminki K, Akslen L (2002) Significant impact of promoter hypermethylation and the 540 C>T polymorphism of CDKN2A in cutaneous melanoma of the vertical growth phase. Am J Pathol 161:229–237
- Strub T, Ghiraldini F, Carcamo S et al (2018) SIRT6 haploinsufficiency induces BRAFV600E melanoma cell resistance to MAPK inhibitors via IGF signalling. Nat Commun 9:3440. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-018-05966-z
- Szyt M, Pakneshan P, Rabbani S (2004) DNA demethylation and cancer: therapeutic implications. Cancer Lett 211:133–143
- Tahiliani M, Koh K, Shen Y et al (2009) Conversion of 5-methylcytosine to 5-hydroxymethylcytosine in mammalian DNA by MLL partner TET1. Science 324:930–935. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1170116
- Tang L, Zhang W, Su B, Yu B (2013) Long noncoding RNA HOTAIR is associated with motility, invasion, and metastatic potential of metastatic melanoma. Biomed Res Int 2013:1–7. https://doi.org/10.1155/ 2013/251098
- Vardabasso C, Gaspar-Maia A, Hasson D et al (2015) Histone variant H2A.Z.2 mediates proliferation and drug sensitivity of malignant melanoma. Mol Cell 59:75–88. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2015. 05.009
- Ward P, Patel J, Wise D et al (2010) The common feature of leukemia-associated IDH1 and IDH2 mutations is a neomorphic enzyme activity converting α-ketoglutarate to 2-hydroxyglutarate. Cancer Cell 17:225–234. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccr.2010.01.020
- Wolchok J, Chiarion-Sileni V, Gonzalez R et al (2017) Overall survival with combined nivolumab and ipilimumab in advanced melanoma. New Engl J Med 377:1345–1356. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa 1709684
- Xu W, Yang H, Liu Y et al (2011) Oncometabolite 2-hydroxyglutarate is a competitive inhibitor of α-ketoglutarate-dependent dioxygenases. Cancer Cell 19:17–30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccr.2010.12.014
- Zakharia Y, Monga V, Swami U et al (2017) Targeting epigenetics for treatment of BRAF mutated metastatic melanoma with decidibine in combination with vemurafenib: a phase 1b study. Oncotarget 8(51):89182–89193. https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarg et.21269
- Zhang H, Cai K, Wang J et al (2014) MiR-7, inhibited indirectly by LincRNA HOTAIR, directly inhibits SETDB1 and reverses the EMT of breast cancer stem cells by downregulating the STAT3 pathway. Stem Cells 32:2858–2868. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem.1795



Melanoma Metabolism

6

Franziska Baenke, Nathalie Dhomen, Eyal Gottlieb, and Richard Marais

Contents

Introduction	100
Melanocyte Metabolism	104
Signaling and Senescence	106
Metabolic Rewiring in Melanoma	108
Sugar Metabolism	108
Amino Acid Metabolism	110
Lipid Metabolism	112
Mitochondrial Metabolism and ROS	114
Melanoma Microenvironment	116
Conclusion	118
References	118

Abstract

The rewiring of metabolic pathways is one of the hallmarks of cancer and essential for tumorigenesis. It stems from the need of cancer cells to adapt their biosynthetic and bioenergetic demands in order to allow unrestricted

F. Baenke \cdot N. Dhomen \cdot R. Marais (\boxtimes)

Molecular Oncology Laboratory, Cancer Research UK Manchester Institute, The University of Manchester, Manchester, UK

e-mail: Franziska.Baenke@cruk.manchester.ac.uk; Nathalie.Dhomen@cruk.manchester.ac.uk; Richard. Marais@cruk.manchester.ac.uk proliferation and growth. Melanoma and other cancer cells exhibit a remarkable flexibility within a complex network of metabolic pathways, allowing them to use their often limited resources and direct them to the processes best placed to maximize their growth and survival. For example, during melanomagenesis, cells will often switch their energy production from mitochondrial metabolism to glycolysis, because the products of glycolysis can easily be shifted to essential pathways for macromolecule biosynthesis. Many of these metabolic alterations are initiated in response to signaling cues from genetic alterations that initiated melanomagenesis in the first place, which suggests that the events required to transform cells to malignancy must allow cells to meet their biosynthetic and bioenergetic needs. During progression,

E. Gottlieb

Cancer Metabolism, Rappaport Faculty of Medicine, Technion Israel Institute of Technology, Haifa, Israel e-mail: e.gottlieb@beatson.gla.ac.uk; e.gottlieb@tx. technion.ac.il

[©] Springer Science+Business Media, LLC, part of Springer Nature 2019 D. E. Fisher, B. C. Bastian (eds.), *Melanoma*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-7147-9_28

melanomas appear to display metabolic heterogeneity as vital nutrient sources become scarce and the tumor seeks to overcome these restrictions. As further insights into the metabolic rewiring that occurs during melanoma development and progression are gained, opportunities to target these vulnerabilities for therapeutic benefit may be exploited.

This book chapter provides a brief overview of important metabolic pathways and how these become reprogrammed by known oncogenes that are frequently altered in human melanomas. How these metabolic vulnerabilities are being targeted for clinical use will also be highlighted.

Keywords

Melanocytes · Melanoma · Metabolism · Signaling · Nutrients · Hypoxia · Autophagy · Microenvironment

Introduction

Metabolism is defined as the sum of all chemical reactions in living cells that produce energy for vital processes and new biomaterial for growth. The process of cell proliferation exemplifies the spectrum of these metabolic reactions, as it involves cell growth and division and the finetuning of energy sourcing. Proliferating cells need to acquire and coordinate biomass through the biosynthesis of macromolecules such as proteins, lipids, nucleotides, and carbohydrates, a process that is called anabolism and which requires energy from the breakdown of adenosine-5'-triphosphate (ATP). Critically, the processes of anabolism also require reducing equivalents such as nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NADH) and nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH), which not only act as cofactors in anabolic reactions but are also essential for mopping up their toxic by-products. Conversely, the degradation of macromolecules to generate ATP is called catabolism. The enzymes that catalyze metabolic reactions are proteins or catalytically active RNA; and require additional molecules such as cofactors, coenzymes, and ions to function. Products of these chemical reactions are called metabolites and can influence cell signaling and gene expression by providing intermediates that are used for pre-transcriptional (epigenetics) and posttranslational modifications (i.e., acetylation, methylation). The direction and rate of a chemical reaction are determined by various factors such as substrate availability, the concentration of emerging products, and substrate specificity and affinity of the enzyme that catalyzes the reaction. Together, these factors dictate the turnover (metabolic flux) of metabolites within these pathways, and any given cell accommodates a variety of metabolic reactions in the cytosol and nucleus, as well as within specialized organelles such as the mitochondria or the endoplasmic reticulum (ER). These interlinked processes coordinate the phenotype of a given cell, whether they are quiescent or proliferative, and are linked to the supply of available nutrients.

The most abundant carbohydrate utilized by cells is glucose, which serves as the primary carbon source for the generation of pyruvate in the glycolysis pathway (Fig. 1a). Glycolysis occurs through a series of enzymatic reactions in the cytosol that catabolize one molecule of glucose to produce two molecules of pyruvate, two molecules of ATP, and two molecules of NADH. Under low oxygen conditions (hypoxia), lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) reduces glucose-derived pyruvate to lactate, regenerating two molecules of NAD^+ . Lactate is then secreted from the cells. However, when oxygen is present (normoxia), glucose-derived pyruvate enters the mitochondria and is oxidized to H₂O and CO₂ by the tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle and oxidative phosphorylation (OxPhos) via the electron transport chain (ETC) to produce another 34 molecules of ATP from each original glucose molecule (Fig. 1a, b).

Critically, in addition to contributing to energy production, intermediates from both glycolysis and the TCA cycle are directed into macromolecule synthesis during cell growth and proliferation. For example, glycolytic intermediates can be used for nucleotide biosynthesis through the pentose phosphate pathway (PPP), for amino acid and fatty acid biosynthesis, and for glycosylation of lipids and proteins through the hexosamine





pathway (Fig. 1a). Similarly, oxaloacetate (OAA) and α -ketoglutarate (α KG), key TCA cycle intermediates, can be used for *de novo* synthesis of the amino acids aspartate and glutamate, respectively, and subsequently for synthesis of other amino acids and nucleotides (Fig. 1b). Citrate from the TCA cycle can also be exported to the cytosol for conversion to cytosolic acetyl-CoA, the sole carbon source for lipid synthesis in the cytosol and ER (Fig. 1b, c). As these processes consume vital metabolic intermediates, they must be replenished, or otherwise glycolysis and the

Fig. 1 Schematic overview of core metabolic processes in melanoma. (a) Carbohydrate metabolism. Metabolic reprogramming caused by BRAF expression. Glycolysis links multiple molecular pathways (grey boxes) associated with the edited metabolic phenotype. (b) Mitochondrial metabolism and amino acid metabolism. Glucosederived carbons contribute to the TCA cycle intermediates and to produce energy in the form of ATP by the ETC. The by-products of oxidative metabolism are ROS. Glutamine is another carbon source important for the replenishment of the TCA cycle. Glutamine can either be metabolized by oxidative (in mitochondria) or reductive (in cytosol) carboxylation to produce citrate that is subsequently used for lipid production. Important enzymes of carboxylation are IDH1/2, however they can become mutated and generate 2HG. 2HG, fumarate and succinate can act as oncometabolites (shown here in red) that can drive tumorigenesis. (c) Lipid metabolism. Pathways involved in the acids synthesis of fattv (FAs). cholesterol. phosphoglycerides, eicosanoids and ceramides. The enzymes involved in catalyzing individual reactions are highlighted in green. Glucose- or glutamine-derived citrate is metabolized to acetyl-CoA by ACLY. For the biosynthesis of FAs, acetyl-CoA is converted into malonyl-CoA and repeated condensation of acetyl-CoA and malonyl-CoA by FASN results in palmitic acid. Elongation and desaturation of palmitic acid generates different FAs with distinct saturation levels. Saturated and unsaturated FAs are combined with glycerol-3-phosphate (produced by glycolysis) to generate arachidonic acid, a long-chain polyunsaturated FA that is the source for the synthesis of eicosanoids. Ceramide and sphingolipids can also be generated by fusing acyl chains and polar head groups derived from serine, phosphocholine or phosphoethanolamine with FAs. Cholesterol and steroid biosynthesis is initiated by the conversion of acetyl-CoA to acetoacetyl-CoA, which is converted by subsequent reactions of HMGCS and HMGCR to mevalonate. Acetoacetyl-CoA can also be converted to acetoacetate by HMGCL, which is downstream of oncogenic BRAF. (d) Other important metabolic pathways. The one-carbon cycle that occurs in both the cytosol and mitochondria metabolizes serine to glycine, which is

TCA cycle will grind to a halt, so the cell resolves this shortfall by consuming other vital nutrients, i.e., amino acids such as glutamine, the most abundant amino acid in the blood. Glutamine is taken up by specific transporters and gets converted by the enzyme glutaminase (GLS) to glutamate, which is then directed into the TCA cycle as α KG after oxidative deamination (Fig. 1b). Glutamate can also donate its amino group to keto acids such as α KG (transamination) to generate amino acids such as aspartate, important for the urea cycle, or serine and glycine via

coupled to folate metabolism. This contributes to NADPH generation in addition to glutathione production, which are both important to counteract ROS. Another important pathway in melanoma is the MITF/PGC1 transcriptional cascade that drives the oxidative phenotype by inducing mitochondrial biogenesis and increasing mitochondrial function such as oxygen consumption. These processes are only able to function if vital nutrients and oxygen are present. Enzymes are shown in green and amino acids are shown in magenta. Genetic drivers and transcription factors that influence these pathways are shown in purple. Compounds targeting metabolic pathways are shown here in yellow. Enzyme abbreviations: ACC acetyl-CoA carboxylase, ACLY ATP citrate lyase, ACSS acyl-CoA synthetase short-chain family member, COX1/2 prostaglandin-endoperoxide synthase (PTGS), ELOVL fatty acid elongase, FASN fatty acid synthase, FH fumarate hydratase, GAPDH glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase, GCL glutamate-cysteine ligase, GDH glutamate dehydrogenase, GLS glutaminase, GLUTs glucose transporters, GOT2 aspartate aminotransferase 2, HK hexokinase, HMGCL 3-hydroxymethyl-3-methylglutaryl-CoA lyase, HMGCR 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-CoA reductase, HMGCS 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-CoA synthase, LDH lactate dehydrogenase, IDH1 isocitrate dehydrogenase 1, IDH2 isocitrate dehydrogenase 2, MAGL monoacylglycerol lipase, MCT monocarboxylate transporter, ME1 malic enzyme 1, ME2 malic enzyme 2, MTHFD1/2 methylenetetrahydrofolate dehydrogenase 1/2, PC pyruvate carboxylase, PDH pyruvate dehydrogenase, PDK pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase, PDP2 pyruvate dehydrogenase phosphatase catalytic subunit 2, PFK phosphofructokinase, PHGDH phosphoglycerate dehydrogenase, PKM2 pyruvate kinase M2, PSAT1 phosphoserine aminotransferase, PSPH phosphoserine phosphatase, SCD stearoyl-CoA desaturase, SDH succinate dehydrogenase, SHMT1/2 serine hydroxymethyltransferase 1/2. Metabolite abbreviations: 2HG. 2-hydroxy-glutarate; α-KG, α -ketoglutarate, DAGdiacylglycerol, FA fatty acid, LPA lysophosphatidic acid, MAG monoacylglyceride, TAG triacylglyceride, THF tetrahydrofolate

the serine biosynthesis pathway (Fig. 1a, b). When the TCA cycle is blocked by environmental (hypoxia) or genetic causes, glutamine/glutamatederived carbons can sustain citrate through the reductive carboxylation of α KG to isocitrate (Fig. 1b).

While these metabolic processes support energy production and sustain cell growth, a toxic by-product of oxygen metabolism is the generation of partially reduced oxygen derivatives in the form of free radicals or so-called reactive oxygen species (ROS) (Fig. 1b, d). Left unchecked, these will damage the cell, and thus ROS homeostasis requires a balance between ROS-producing and ROS-scavenging systems. In most cells, the major ROS producers are the mitochondria, peroxisomes, and ER, while ROS scavengers include antioxidant enzymes such as catalases, glutathione peroxidases, and peroxiredoxins, as well as the reducing equivalents NADH and NADPH. In particular, NADPH occupies a central role in metabolic pathways, both as an intermediate in biosynthetic processes and a suppressor of ROS, and its importance is reflected by the fact that no less than four metabolic processes contribute to the NADPH pool of a cell: the PPP, via the enzymes glucose-6-phosdehydrogenase (G6PD)phate and dehydrogenase 6-phosphogluconate (6PGD) (Fig. 1a); the TCA cycle via the isocitrate dehydrogenases IDH1 and IDH2, TCA cycle enzymes which convert isocitrate to αKG (Fig. 1b); the process of pyruvate and malate interconversion, via malic enzymes ME1 and ME3 (Fig. 1b); and the one-carbon pathway, via specific enzymes MTHFD1 and MTHFD2 (Fig. 1d).

Ultimately the activity of all these metabolic processes depends on the state of the cell. Quiescent cells regulate nutrient uptake only to maintain housekeeping functions, whereas proliferating cells need to grow and divide, raising their anabolic need to generate biomass. This can be achieved by increasing nutrient uptake for catabolism to supply carbon, nitrogen, ATP, and the reducing equivalents NADH, FADH₂, and NADPH. Many metabolic processes are controlled by intrinsic (cell signaling) and extrinsic (growth factors, nutrients, oxygen) mechanisms that change when cells become malignant, both because of aberrant signaling induced by oncogene activation or loss of tumor suppressors and because of the increased metabolic demand placed on cells that are proliferating independently of external stimuli. This chapter describes the principles of metabolism including glycolysis, amino acid metabolism (glutaminolysis), mitochondrial metabolism, fatty acid synthesis and oxidation, and nucleotide biosynthesis in melanocytes and melanoma. In particular, how oncogenes such as BRAF^{V600E} alter metabolic processes to sustain melanoma growth, progression, and survival and how metabolism mediates resistance to drugs that target this pathway will be highlighted.

Melanocyte Metabolism

Under normal physiological conditions, melanocytes have low proliferative and self-renewal activity and exhibit a quiescent-like phenotype (Fig. 2). They are nevertheless metabolically active and consume nutrients to generate energy and reducing equivalents for use in ion and ROS homeostasis and to maintain housekeeping functions. It is presumed that sufficient nutrients and oxygen are available for these normal functions and that the signaling pathways tightly regulate nutrient uptake and macromolecule synthesis. However, the physiological oxygen concentration in the skin varies between 0.5% and 10% O₂, suggesting that melanocytes may face a range of nutrient and oxygen availability (Bedogni and Powell 2009). Notably, melanocytes are able to grow in hypoxia, and although they present similar metabolite profiles under normoxia and hypfewer glutamine-derived carbons are oxia, incorporated into TCA cycle intermediates under hypoxic conditions, suggesting glutamine use decreases significantly under hypoxia (Scott et al. 2011). Moreover, under normoxic conditions, melanocytes rely heavily on mitochondrial respiration, oxidizing glucose for maximal energy production, whereas under hypoxia they display increased lactate production due to fermentation of glucose-derived pyruvate (Scott et al. 2011).





cells (c). The metabolic phenotype initiated by genetic events leads to melanomainduced secretion of metabolites or ions, which exert a multitude of effects on cells such as immune cells, fibroblasts and endothelial cells as well as extracellular matrix components. Reciprocally the microenvironment reacts to these stimuli and influences the cancer cells themselves (**d**) Thus, melanocytes appear to be able to sustain their metabolic demands and essential cellular functions irrespective of oxygen concentration.

Overall, melanocytes in vitro generally rely on mitochondrial metabolism and so are sensitive to mitochondrial poisons and inhibitors of respiration. One of the key regulators of oxidative metabmelanocytes is microphthalmiaolism in associated transcription factor (MITF), which controls mitochondrial biogenesis and function through its modulation of the transcriptional peroxisome proliferator-activated gamma co-activator 1 alpha (PGC1 α) (Fig. 1d, see section "Mitochondrial Metabolism and **ROS**"). Additionally, MITF is an important regulator of pigmentation, as it governs the expression of several proteins involved in а series of oxidoreductions that allow melanocytes to convert the nonessential amino acid L-tyrosine to the pigment melanin. Modulation of pigment production, in turn, can have significant consequences for melanocyte metabolism. For example, the amount of melanin generated by melanocytes is correlated to the expression of an important metabolic modulator, the transcription factor hypoxia-inducible factor 1α (HIF1 α), and upregulation of glycolytic genes such as GLUT1, LDHA, and ALDOA, which are downstream targets of HIF1 α . Melanin, in turn, protects cells from ultraviolet radiation (UVR)-induced DNA damage and oxidative stress (Slominski et al. 2014), not only in the melanocytes but also the surrounding keratinocytes. Thus melanocyte metabolic activity, largely dependent on mitochondrial metabolism, allows them to fulfill one of their main functions and synthesize melanin in response to UVR.

Signaling and Senescence

Over the last decade, enormous insight has been gained into the genomic landscape of melanoma and this has led to a deeper understanding of melanoma biology. One of the earliest events is commonly the acquisition of a mutation that activates the RAS/RAF/MEK/ERK pathway promoting melanocyte proliferation (Fig. 2a). However, after an initial phase of expansion, growth arrest is often observed due to oncogene-induced senescence (OIS), leading to the development of a nevus and allowing the transformed cells to lie dormant for up to several decades (Kuilman et al. 2010, Fig. 2b). OIS, driven by cell cycle checkpoint regulators such as p16^{INK4A} (encoded by CDKN2A) or tumor suppressors such as tumor protein 53 (TP53) and phosphatase and tensin homolog (PTEN), explains why the majority of benign and dysplastic nevi carry BRAF^{V600E} mutations but do not progress to melanoma (Pollock et al. 2003). To overcome OIS, melanocytes need to activate other oncogenes and signaling pathways or lose the tumor suppressors that drive this process (Fig. 2c). It has become increasingly clear that these alterations not only induce proliferative or survival signaling cues but must necessarily affect a range of metabolic functions and processes to support the unimpeded proliferation of melanoma cells. For example, genetic alterations in the PI3K/AKT/mTOR pathway are frequently observed in BRAF- and RAS-driven melanomas, and the tumor suppressor PTEN, which negatively regulates this pathway, is mutated or lost in approximately 15% of cutaneous melanomas. Loss of PTEN has been shown to allow transformed melanocytes to bypass BRAF^{V600E}-induced senescence (Vredeveld et al. 2012), as it results in unsuppressed AKT activation and subsequent signaling through mTOR and downstream effectors to support cell growth, proliferation, and survival. Notably, a genetically engineered mouse model (GEMM) overexpressing PTEN displayed diminished PI3K/ AKT signaling, which resulted in decreased animal size and weight due to higher levels of mitochondrial respiration and increased fatty acid oxidation. This is because, alongside its wellstudied signaling role, AKT supports glycolysis by inducing expression of glucose transporters and glycolytic enzymes and also stimulates fatty acid metabolism via the metabolic enzyme ATP citrate lyase (ACLY), and thus mice in which this pathway is blocked exhibited a suppressive metabolic phenotype (Garcia-Cao et al. 2012).

In addition, by using GEMMS, Damsky and colleagues showed that activation of both

mTORC1 signaling (through loss of the tumor suppressor LKB1) and mTORC2/AKT signaling (through loss of the tumor suppressor CDKN2A) was required to overcome oncogenic BRAFinduced OIS, allowing transformed melanocytes to progress to melanoma (Damsky et al. 2015). Loss of either CDKN2A or LKB1 alone was insufficient to drive melanomagenesis, demonstrating the importance of both the mTORC1 and mTORC2 components of the mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) signaling pathway in melanomagenesis. These experiments exemplify the role of mTOR as a master regulator of cell growth and proliferation, not only by transducing growth and survival signals but also by controlling protein and lipid biosynthesis (Laplante and Sabatini 2012). Moreover, LKB1 functions as an energy sensor and becomes activated when nutrients and energy levels are low. It then phosphorylates AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK), which is a key regulator of the catabolic/anabolic machinery that balances the cellular processes involved in energy metabolism and macromolecule biosynthesis. In response to diminished ATP, nutrient and/or oxygen availability, AMPK can inhibit the mTOR signaling pathway to limit energy consumption for protein and lipid synthesis. Moreover, AMPK can induce a cellular state called autophagy that allows tightly controlled degradation and recycling of cellular components, such as proteins or even organelles like mitochondria to maximize energy and macromolecule use (White 2012).

In addition to its well-characterized role as a tumor suppressor, TP53, another important mediator of melanocyte senescence, fulfills regulatory functions at different nodes of the metabolic network. *TP53* encodes a transcription factor that can become activated in response to cellular stresses such as DNA damage and hypoxia. Under normal conditions, TP53 is expressed at low levels; however, under stress conditions such as nutrient deprivation, TP53 becomes stabilized and regulates genes that affect the balance between glycolytic and mitochondrial metabolism. TP53 drives the expression of TP53-induced glycolysis and apoptosis regulator (TIGAR), which results in the inhibition of phosphofructokinase 1 (PFK1), a key regulator of glycolysis (Bensaad et al. 2006). This slows the rate of glycolysis and simultaneously redirects glucose-derived carbons into the PPP. In this manner, cells can generate NADPH and synthesize nucleotides for DNA repair.

TP53 has also been shown to regulate mitochondrial function by stimulating the expression of the SCO2 cytochrome C oxidase assembly protein, a copper transporter, which is important in the assembly of complex IV/cytochrome C oxidase of the mitochondrial ETC, the site of OxPhos. Additionally, TP53 regulates glutamine metabolism by upregulating expression of glutaminase isoform 2 (GLS2) (Suzuki et al. 2010) and dampens the expression of malic enzyme (ME), which coordinates the conversion of malate to pyruvate, by binding the promoters of ME1 and ME2. Abrogation of TP53 by RNAi increases ME protein expression and activity, which positively contributes to the NADPH pool. Conversely, when ME expression is inhibited, a TP53mediated growth arrest is induced via activation of AMPK, suggesting that ME regulates TP53. This TP53-ME feedback loop is exemplary of how coordinated cell signaling and cell metabolism decide the metabolic fate of transformed cells (Jiang et al. 2013). Thus, alterations in tumor suppressor genes are a common mechanism to circumvent oncogene-induced senescence in melanocytes, leading to melanomagenesis.

OIS is not mediated solely by the action of tumor suppressors. The metabolic rewiring that accompanies oncogenic transformation plays an important role, for example, by altering the cells' use of such carbon sources as pyruvate. BRAF^{V600E} expression in human diploid fibroblasts results in upregulation of pyruvate dehydrogenase phosphatase 2 (PDP2), which positively regulates pyruvate dehydrogenase (PDH) and inhibition of pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase 1 (PDK1), a negative regulator of PDH (Fig. 1b). The net effect of this is reduced pyruvate secretion and increased mitochondrial metabolism, with no overall change in glucose uptake, leading to growth arrest. Notably, subsequent overexpression of PDK1 allows cells to escape senescence and form tumors. Despite exhibiting

similar changes in mitochondrial metabolites and metabolism to those observed in $BRAF^{V600E}$ -expressing fibroblasts, fibroblasts expressing $KRAS^{G12V}$ do not display a similar regulation of PDK1 and PDP2 expression, suggesting there are differences in the metabolic rewiring exerted by oncogenic *RAS* and *RAF* (Kaplon et al. 2013).

Despite the high homology observed between RAS isoforms, the exact mechanisms by which they mediate OIS are isoform-specific. Oncogenic HRAS, which is commonly amplified or mutated in Spitz nevi, does not mediate growth arrest via alterations in genes more commonly associated with senescence, such as CDKN2A or TP53, but via ER stress and the unfolded protein response (UPR). Constitutively active HRAS stimulates protein synthesis in transformed melanocytes, resulting in increased protein translocation to the ER and increased ER stress. This leads to activation of the UPR, to counterbalance protein misfolding, and consequently halts a significant number of cellular processes, leading to senescence (Denoyelle et al. 2006). Neither NRAS^{Q61R}- nor BRAF^{V600E}-expressing cells display the same phenotype of increased ER activity, suggesting that the different oncogenes in the MAPK signaling pathway trigger distinct responses leading to a senescent phenotype. Another way in which RAS G12* expression in fibroblasts has been shown to promote senescence is by causing an increase in ROS levels, particularly mitochondrial-derived ROS. This phenotype was disrupted when fibroblasts were exposed to hypoxic conditions which dampen the production of ROS and cells were able to proliferate (Lee et al. 1999).

Taken together these studies demonstrate how transformed melanocytes/benign nevi precisely orchestrate their metabolic processes to prevent the uncontrolled hyperproliferation that can result from oncogenic transformation. However, when further genetic, metabolic, and environmental alterations allow transformed melanocytes to overcome senescence and become malignant, the resulting melanomas exhibit an extensive rewiring of their metabolic systems to support their increased demand for metabolic intermediates.

Metabolic Rewiring in Melanoma

In order to proliferate, grow and react to stress signaling, melanoma cells need to undergo significant metabolic reprogramming of their energetic and biosynthetic processes. Due to the accelerated and uncontrolled cell growth of most solid tumors, nutrients and oxygen that are normally abundant become scarce as the increasing demand from the tumor cells exceeds that which is supplied by the vasculature, creating a potentially unfavorable microenvironment for cancer cells (Figs. 2d and 3). To sustain proliferation and survival, the tumor cells need to optimize nutrient consumption and maintain flexibility within the metabolic machinery. Most metabolic pathways are centered around glucose and glutamine, as these carbon sources are abundant; however, cancer cells use other amino acids, lipids, and alternative carbon sources to withstand and adapt to these challenging conditions. In addition, many tumor areas may have to respond to fluctuations in oxygen levels. These extracellular influences also dictate tumor heterogeneity, as they influence not only the cancer cells themselves but stromal cells within their microenvironment. Another layer of complexity arises from systemic effects of metabolism-altering conditions such as diabetes and obesity, which can also affect melanoma metabolism and progression. This section describes alterations in the core metabolic processes of melanoma cells and provides a brief overview of how cancer-associated metabolism affects cell signaling and the microenvironment.

Sugar Metabolism

In the 1920s, Otto Warburg discovered that tumor slices from the liver consumed more glucose than healthy liver tissues and also secreted more lactate, even in an oxygen-rich environment (Warburg 1924). This phenomenon is now known as aerobic glycolysis and is exploited for diagnostic purposes in ¹⁸F fluoro-2-deoxyglucose PET (¹⁸FDG-PET) imaging. The preferential switch to aerobic glycolysis by cancer cells appears puzzling, because its energy output is very inefficient



Fig. 3 Nutrient sources in oxygen-rich versus oxygendepleted conditions. The availability of nutrients depends on the proximity to the blood supply. Glucose and glutamine are the most commonly utilized nutrients in a wellvascularized environment. However, in a nutrient- and oxygen-scarce environment, melanoma cells will utilize

when compared to mitochondrial metabolism. However in recent years, it has become clear that the glycolytic pathway not only supports energy production, albeit inefficiently, but also provides the glycolytic intermediates that are needed for synthesis of fatty acids, amino acids, nucleotides, and reducing equivalents to support the rapid cell growth and division of cancer cells.

Metabolic profiling reveals significant metabolic heterogeneity, and not all melanoma cells are highly glycolytic (Scott et al. 2011). However, most melanoma cells do show increased dependency on glycolysis, and inhibitors of glycolysis impair their cell growth and survival while having little effect on melanocytes (Scott et al. 2011). The oncogenes that activate the MAPK pathway increase nutrient uptake through processes such as upregulation of glucose transporters to maximize glucose use (Flier et al. 1987; Parmenter et al. 2014). Constitutive RAS signaling also alternative carbon sources such as acetate, fatty acids and amino acids, including branched chain amino acids (BCAA). These are processed by such pathways as fatty acid oxidation (FAO), autophagy and macropinocytosis in order to replenish important metabolic processes (i.e. TCA cycle) and generate the macromolecules they require

increases expression and activation of the bifunctional glycolytic enzyme PFKFB3, which controls both synthesis and degradation of fructose-2,6-bisphosphate (F-2,6-BP) and is also an allosteric activator of the key glycolytic regulator PFK1 to increase glycolysis (Telang et al. 2006). Furthermore, deregulated MAPK signaling increases transcription of the glycolytic enzymes HK2 and PKM2, and in cancer cells, PKM2 slows glycolytic flux, allowing key intermediates to be siphoned off to macromolecule biosynthesis (Israelsen and Vander Heiden 2015).

Critically, inhibition of cell signaling impedes oncogene-mediated glucose reprogramming. For example, MEK inhibitors suppress levels of intracellular and secreted lactate in melanoma cells (Falck Miniotis et al. 2013), and prolonged genetic or pharmacological inhibition of BRAF^{V600E} causes downregulation of glycolytic transporters such as GLUT1 and enzymes such as HK2, resulting in reduced availability of glycolytic intermediates (Baenke et al. 2016; Parmenter et al. 2014) (Fig. 1a). Conversely, NRAS-driven resistance to BRAF inhibitors (BRAFi) restores the glycolytic phenotype, and it has been shown that BRAFi-resistant cells become less dependent on glucose metabolism and exhibit increased oxidative phosphorylation (Baenke et al. 2016). Accordingly, combined treatment of BRAF mutant melanoma cells with a BRAFi and dichloroacetate (DCA), a PDK1 inhibitor that stimulates oxidative metabolism (Fig. 1b), suppresses cell proliferation and increases apoptosis through downregulation of a transcription factor axis involving HIF1a, MYC, and MLXIP (MONDOA) (Parmenter et al. 2014).

Glucose metabolism is closely linked to nucleotide and amino acid biosynthesis by pyruvate kinase, a family of enzymes that perform the last step of glycolysis and regulate glycolytic flux, with the PKM2 isoform in particular favoring anabolic reactions (Fig. 1a). Notably, melanoma cell lines exhibit increased secretion of adenosine and inosine compared to other cancer cell types, suggesting that purine synthesis is altered in melanoma (Jain et al. 2012). Nucleotide biosynthesis can be classified into purine and pyrimidine metabolism, and the enzymes associated with purine biosynthesis, particularly those that generate guanosine monophosphate (GMP), are overexpressed in many cancers including melanoma. Inhibition of GMP synthase (GMPS), which catalyzes the conversion of inosine monophosphate (IMP) to GMP, attenuates cell invasion and reduces tumor progression. In contrast, increased levels of GMP release a negative feedback loop via GMP reductase (GMPR), thereby converting GMP back to IMP, which in turn can be used for the generation of AMP. Overexpression of GMPR in melanoma cell lines suppresses invasion in vitro and in vivo (Wawrzyniak et al. 2013).

The dependency of melanoma cells on glycolysis suggests this may be an avenue for therapeutic intervention. For example, the glucose analog 2-deoxyglucose (2-DG) inhibits glucose metabolism, depleting cellular ATP and causing cell death, and inhibitors of glycolytic enzymes such as 3-bromopyruvate are being tested in clinical trials (Fig. 1a). Another approach is to target lactate metabolism by inhibiting lactate transporters or lactate dehydrogenase (Fig. 1a), both of which reduce cancer cell viability (Vander Heiden et al. 2011).

Amino Acid Metabolism

Amino acids are the precursors of proteins and other biomolecules such as fatty acids, glucose, and nucleotides, but they also influence gene expression, as in the example of methionine, which provides the methyl groups needed for the histone and DNA modifications that are at the core of epigenetic gene regulation. Twenty amino acids contribute to protein synthesis, and nine of these (histidine, isoleucine, leucine, lysine, methionine, phenylalanine, threonine, tryptophan, and valine) are essential amino acids, as they cannot be synthesized and so must be obtained from the diet. Notably, several amino acids are important in metabolic rewiring of cancer cells.

The most studied nonessential amino acid (NEAA) in cancer is glutamine, due to its high abundance in the blood. It is an important source for cellular carbon and nitrogen and is required for processes involved in amino acid, nucleotide, amine, and carbamoyl phosphate biosynthesis. Metabolic flux analyses show that melanoma cells exhibit increased aerobic glycolysis and glutaminolysis (Scott et al. 2011), likely creating a balance between the reduced flux of glucosederived pyruvate into the TCA cycle and glutamine-derived anapleurosis (Fig. 1b) (Filipp et al. 2012a). In melanoma, glutamine metabolism plays a key role in overcoming the stresses induced by therapeutic intervention and in the development of resistance to these approaches. Flux analyses with isotope-labeled glucose and glutamine showed that cancer cells with defective mitochondria exhibit very limited incorporation of glucose-derived carbons into citrate, in turn suggesting minimal contribution of glucosederived carbons into the TCA cycle or oxidative metabolism. Glutamine labeling showed that glutamine refuels the TCA cycle metabolites (Fig. 1b). This mechanism is a general response in cancer cells that experience mitochondrial dysfunction due to hypoxia, inhibitors of the ETC, or mutations in mitochondria-associated genes, and these observations emphasize the importance of the mitochondria in tumorigenesis. Moreover, under hypoxic conditions, glutamine becomes essential for maintaining de novo lipogenesis in cancer cells as glutamine can be metabolized to cytosolic citrate via reductive carboxylation of α KG in the cytosol or the reversed TCA cycle in the mitochondria, requiring IDH1 and IDH2, respectively (Mullen et al. 2012; Filipp et al. 2012b) (Fig. 1b). Low-frequency mutations (6%) in these enzymes have been shown to generate 2-hydroxyglutarate (2-HG), a derivate of αKG that can act as an oncometabolite (Nowicki and Gottlieb 2015).

Cancer cells exposed to BRAFi immediately decrease glucose uptake and glycolysis, leading to metabolic stress. Short-term glucose deprivation causes mild metabolic stress that negatively regulates mTORC1 signaling and simultaneously activates the ER stress response pathway, in part due to increased uptake of most amino acids to compensate for the loss of glycolytic intermediates and the glycosylation process. However, cancer cells cannot cope with prolonged glucose deprivation and die through a pathway driven by ERK2 and the transcription factor ATF4 (Shin et al. 2015). The uptake of amino acids, in particular glutamine, prevents glucose-deprived cells from undergoing cell death, and so if glutaminolysis is also inhibited, the cells die. This is in line with the observation that melanoma cell lines, independent of BRAF status, display higher expression of glutamine transporters compared to melanocytes or benign nevi. The inhibition of glutamine transporters (such as ACST2) suppresses melanoma cell proliferation and spheroid growth in vitro, and this may open new therapeutic options for combination with BRAF and MEK inhibitors (Fig. 1b) (Wang et al. 2014). Moreover, prolonged inhibition of BRAF signaling in melanoma cells causes a subset of cells to depend on glutamine metabolism, and depletion of glutamine or inhibition of the enzyme GLS can induce cell death in melanoma cell lines with acquired resistance to BRAFi (Baenke et al. 2016).

Another key player in metabolic rewiring in melanoma is the NEAA serine. Serine biosynthesis is initiated by the conversion of the glycolytic intermediate 3-phosphoglycerate to phosphohydroxypyruvate by the enzyme phosphoglycerate dehydrogenase (PHGDH) (Fig. 1a), and in a subset of melanomas, PHGDH is upregulated and serine synthesis increased (Locasale et al. 2011). Serine is a carbon source for the one-carbon pathway (Fig. 1d), which plays a crucial role in cancer cell survival. In this pathway, serine is metabolized to glycine by hydroxymethyltransferase (cytosolic serine SHMT1/mitochondrial SHMT2), which concomitantly interconverts 5,10-methylenetetrahydrofolate tetrahydrofolate and (THF). 5,10-Methylenetetrahydrofolate is then further metabolized to 10-formyl-THF by MTHFD1 (cytosolic) or MTHFD2 (mitochondrial), which is a crucial contributor to nucleotide biosynthesis. The one carbon pathway is also linked to the generation of cysteine via various trans-sulfuration steps. Cysteine together with glycine and glutamate is required for the synthesis of glutathione, an important antioxidant (Fig. 1d). Studies have shown that withdrawal of extracellular serine or glycine or attenuation of serine and glycine production, for example, by attenuation of PHGDH, diminishes tumor cell growth in vitro and in vivo (Maddocks et al. 2013; Locasale et al. 2011).

Several other amino acids are important for tumorigenesis. Asparagine, which is derived from glutamine, protects cancer cells from stress and cell death due to glutamine depletion by suppressing the ER stress response (Zhang et al. 2014). Glucoselabeling studies show that besides serine and glycine, alanine and proline are increased in melanoma cells compared to melanocytes (Scott et al. 2011), and it has been suggested that increased secretion of alanine is a mechanism to dispose of excessive nitrogen, although this has yet to be confirmed in melanoma. Similarly, genetic suppression of pyrroline-5-carboxylate synthase (P5CS), an enzyme involved in proline synthesis, suppresses melanoma cell growth in vitro and in vivo, but this can be partially rescued by exogenous proline. Moreover, when nutrients are scarce, proteins can be catabolized back into amino acids through the processes of autophagy or proteasomal degradation,

allowing cancer cells to redirect their building blocks into the key molecules that will keep them alive (Fig. 3). To carefully regulate these catabolic and anabolic processes, accurate nutrient sensing is required. As all amino acids are structurally and functionally unique and cannot compensate for each other, the cell needs to sense which amino acids are depleted (Efeyan et al. 2015), and one of the key amino acid sensors is general control nonderepressible 2 (GCN2), the activation of which inhibits global protein synthesis and sensitizes cancer cells to cell death (Kardos et al. 2015).

Another as yet unidentified amino acid sensor appears to directly influence the activity of mTOR, the main regulator of protein synthesis (Efeyan et al. 2015). Classically mTOR is activated by growth factors, but it also senses intracellular amino acids and is inhibited by their withdrawal. Not all amino acids regulate mTOR to the same extent, but one of the strongest mTOR activators is leucine, and curiously, melanoma cells with an activated MAPK pathway are highly sensitive to this amino acid. When the essential amino acid leucine is depleted from the media, melanoma cells are unable to induce autophagy and thereby undergo mitochondrial-dependent apoptosis in vitro. The combination of an autophagy inhibitor with a leucine-free diet recapitulated this *in vitro* finding by reducing melanoma growth in vivo (Sheen et al. 2011).

Thus, a wealth of studies have demonstrated that cancer cells can modulate both the utilization and production of amino acids and other metabolic intermediates to meet their nutrient demands and liabilities and respond to environmental stresses. This remarkable flexibility appears to be both a response to and a result of the variety of genetic alterations that occur in cancer cells. However further study within the field of melanoma is required to distinguish which amino acids are important for tumor initiation, progression, and metastasis and which are essential in a given genetic background.

Lipid Metabolism

Among the most prominent metabolic reprogramming of many cancer cells is an increased

rate of lipid synthesis. While nonmalignant cells obtain the majority of their fatty acids from the extracellular environment, the high lipid demand needed for rapid growth and proliferation (e.g., to fuel membrane production) means de novo lipogenesis is a common feature of many cancers, including melanoma. Lipogenesis, the process by which nutrient-derived carbons get converted to fatty acids and sterols, occurs in the cytosol but relies mainly on the availability of acetyl-CoA. This is primarily derived from citrate (Baenke et al. 2013), 95% of which is supplied by oxidative metabolism of glucose and glutamine in the mitochondria under normal conditions (Kamphorst et al. 2013). For citrate to be accessible for lipid synthesis, it needs to be transported via a pyruvate/citrate shuttle into the cytosol. Here, citrate is metabolized to acetyl-CoA by ATP citrate lyase (ACLY), which is the starting point of lipid synthesis. Acetyl-CoA is converted to malonyl-CoA via acetyl-CoA carboxylase (ACAC), and both acetyl-CoA and malonyl-CoA serve as substrates for fatty acid synthase (FASN), which in turn generates palmitic acid, the basis for a diverse spectrum of saturated and unsaturated fatty acids including eicosanoids, sphingolipids, and triacylglycerides (Baenke et al. 2013) (Fig. 1c). Chemical inhibition or RNA interference (RNAi) of multiple enzymes within the lipid biosynthesis pathway including FASN has been shown to interfere with cancer cell growth. For example, the occurrence and number of lung metastases in a murine model of melanoma are significantly reduced after treatment with a FASN inhibitor (Seguin et al. 2012) (Fig. 1c). Similarly, statins, cholesterol-reducing drugs, exhibit antitumor effects against cancer stem cells and various cancer cell lines. In particular, atorvastatin, which inhibits 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-coenzyme А (HMG-CoA) reductase (HMGCR), a key enzyme of the mevalonate pathway required to convert acetyl-CoA to the cholesterol precursor mevalonate, causes a decrease in cholesterol levels and concurrent growth inhibition in some melanoma lines (Fig. 1c) (Warita et al. 2014).

Lipids store energy and act as structural components of cell membranes, but they also play important roles in cell signaling. Eicosanoids, particularly the prostaglandins, are signaling molecules made by oxidation of 20-carbon fatty acids and exert control over a variety of cell and bodily functions. Prostaglandin H₂ is derived from arachidonic acid by cyclooxygenases (COX1 and COX2). Prostaglandin H_2 is then further metabolized to prostaglandin E2 (PGE2) via the rate-limiting enzyme mPGES-1 (Baenke et al. 2013). PGE_2 is reported to activate the RAS/RAF pathway and induce cell proliferation in an autocrine manner, and melanoma cells have been shown to change the behavior of their microenvironment by secreting PGE₂. PGE₂ suppresses the release of type I interferons in myeloid cells, which is known to activate a T-cell-mediated response. Moreover, not only does PGE₂ inhibit T-cell activation, it also modulates the release of other cytokines and growth factors such as IL6, CXCL1, and GCSF in the myeloid cells (Fig. 2d). Intriguingly, these factors have also been implicated in modulating tumor immune escape (Zelenay et al. 2015).

During nutrient starvation, cancer cells limit their anabolic processes, including lipogenesis, but still need to meet their metabolic demands. Cells expressing $BRAF^{V600E}$, but not wild-type BRAF or oncogenic RAS, can break down lipids to ketone bodies, and $BRAF^{V600E}$ induces expression of the ketogenic enzyme 3-hydroxy-3methylglutaryl-CoA ligase (HMGCL) leading to the accumulation of acetoacetate (Fig. 1c), which in turn stimulates the interaction of $BRAF^{V600E}$ with MEK1 to drive RAF/MEK/ERK signaling (Kang et al. 2015).

Direct uptake of intracellular acetate, normally thought to be a feature in bacterial metabolism, has been shown to provide an additional source of cytosolic acetyl-CoA under nutrient starvation (Lakhter et al. 2016) or hypoxic conditions (Schug et al. 2015) (Figs. 1c and 3). Flux analysis of labeled acetate showed that this contributes to both the cytosolic and mitochondrial acetyl-CoA pool, suggesting that acetate is an important nutrient for lipid and cholesterol synthesis and ATP production under scarce nutrient and oxygen conditions (Fig. 3). The enzyme acyl-CoA synthetase short-chain family member 2 (ACSS2) mediates the conversion of the acquired acetate to acetyl-CoA, and is regulated by environmentally responsive transcription factors HIF1 α and SREBP1. Their induction results in an increased contribution of acetate into lipogenesis and upregulation of ACSS2 in tumor hypoxic areas. Moreover melanoma brain metastases exhibit increased dependency on acetate (Mashimo et al. 2014). Clearly, ACSS2 and its other family members (ACSS1 and ACSS3) bear further investigation in melanoma.

While de novo lipogenesis is frequently observed in cancer cells, this does not preclude the utilization of diet-derived lipids under certain conditions. Highly aggressive cancers including melanoma display a distinct lipid signature that is associated with the increased expression of monoacylglycerol lipase (MAGL). MAGL breaks down free fatty acids and monoacylglycerols from triacylglycerides (Fig. 1c), and abrogation of this enzyme negatively affects cell migration and cancer cell survival, as well as growth of tumor xenografts in mice, but the reduction in tumor size due to abrogation of MAGL is rescued by a high-fat diet (Nomura et al. 2010). Hypoxia or RAS mutations can also prime cancer cells to consume fatty acids such as lysophospholipids from the microenvironment (Kamphorst et al. 2013), allowing RAS-driven cancer cells to degrade lysophospholipids via fatty acid oxidation (FAO or β -oxidation) to meet their energetic demands. Moreover, fatty acid degradation allows cancer cells to meet their energy demands and also to replenish the TCA cycle as fatty acid-derived carbons are important for the amino acid aspartate, which is involved in purine and pyrimidine biosynthesis (Figs. 1b and 3).

Given that cancer cells depend on *de novo* lipogenesis, inhibiting this process may open up novel therapeutic avenues. Disturbing the lipid synthesis pathway in cancer cells would be expected to have far-reaching consequences for membrane composition, cell migration, angiogenesis, response to therapeutic agents, and interactions with the microenvironment. Drugs that target the enzymes of the fatty acid synthesis pathway are currently under clinical testing, with the cholesterol-reducing statins and the NSAID aspirin having been shown to be effective in preclinical models (Vander Heiden 2011; Rohrig and Schulze 2016).

Mitochondrial Metabolism and ROS

The mitochondria are the powerhouse of the cell and are where the bulk of energy production, in the form of ATP, takes place. It is therefore not surprising that upon discovering that cancer cells tended to prefer the far less efficient process of glycolysis to mitochondrial OxPhos to produce ATP, Otto Warburg erroneously concluded that mitochondrial function must be impaired in cancer cells. However, it has become increasingly apparent that mitochondria in cancer cells not only are intact and functional but play a significant role in cancer cell adaptation and survival. For example, a subset of melanomas exhibit increased dependency on mitochondrial function in response to BRAF inhibition (Haq et al. 2013; Baenke et al. 2016), which is indicative of the adaptive metabolic rewiring required to respond to neoplastic transformation by oncogenes such as BRAF^{V600E}, nutrient and oxygen stress, and therapeutic interventions such as BRAF inhibition. Similarly, levels of the mitochondrial enzyme ME2, which converts malate to pyruvate via oxidative decarboxylation, are increased during melanomagenesis, and abrogating this increased expression reduces the NADH and pyruvate levels required to maintain OxPhos and the TCA cycle, respectively, thereby negatively impacting cell survival (Chang et al. 2015b).

Thus, despite melanomas being characteristically highly glycolytic and less oxidative, oxidative metabolism remains important to melanoma cell function and is controlled by one of the key orchestrators of mitochondrial biogenesis and function, the transcription factor PGC1 α , encoded by PPARGC1A. PPARGC1A is overexpressed in a subset of melanomas as well as specifically upregulated in BRAFi-treated BRAF-driven melanomas via a cascade in which MITF is released from oncogenic BRAF-induced repression and stimulates expression of $PGC1\alpha$. Increased expression of PGC1a results in elevated mitochondrial function (specifically increased mitochondrial mass and oxygen consumption) (Baenke et al. 2016) and mediates resistance to ROS and associated oxidative stress (Haq et al. 2013; LeBleu et al. 2014; Shoag et al. 2012; Vazquez et al. 2013). If this high PGC1 α expression is subsequently abrogated, the cells display a non-oxidative metabolism phenotype accompanied by reduced cell proliferation and survival. The process comes full circle when loss of PGC1 α results in increased ROS production, leading to HIF1 α stabilization and increased glycolytic activity (Lim et al. 2014).

Metabolic editing also plays a role in melanoma cell switching from noninvasive to invasive phenotypes. Melanoma cells exposed to the metastasis-promoting protein S100A4 downregulate *MITF* and *TYR* as they become more invasive, resulting in a concomitant decrease in PGC1 α expression and a switch from oxidative metabolism to glycolysis (Bettum et al. 2015). Conversely, when the metastasis suppressor *KISS1* is expressed in melanoma cells, glycolysis is downregulated, and mitochondrial activity is induced (Liu et al. 2014), suggesting the balance between glycolysis and oxidative metabolism influences metastasis formation.

ROS production and oxidative stress are inevitable by-products of mitochondrial oxidative metabolism, and thus, the means and extent to which cancer cells respond to or by counteract this oxidative stress have an enormous influence on their survival, growth, and migration (Gorrini et al. 2013). Levels of oxidative stress can markedly influence the behavior of cancer cells: low to moderate levels of ROS can support cell proliferation and survival by acting as signaling molecules, whereas high levels of ROS can induce DNA damage and cell death. As a consequence, cancer cells must maintain and rewire complex systems of overlapping antioxidants such as glutathione and NADPH, produced via various metabolic reactions or obtained from the diet, such as vitamins A, C, and E.

Glutathione is the most abundant antioxidant in a cell and is synthesized via glutamate cysteine ligase (GCL) (Fig. 1d). During tumor initiation, glutathione is required to counteract ROS generated by anabolic processes, and inhibition of glutathione in GEM models of different cancers delayed tumorigenesis. However, once a tumor is established, the necessity for glutathione becomes less urgent as the thioredoxin pathway can compensate for low glutathione levels. At this stage, only combined inhibition of the glutathione and thioredoxin pathways results in cancer cell death (Harris et al. 2015). Glutathione levels, in turn, are regulated by NFE2-related factor 2 (NRF2), the master regulator of the antioxidant response (Fig. 1d). Under non-stressed conditions, NRF2 is inactive due to its binding to the inhibitor Kelch-like ECH-associated protein1 (KEAP1) which signals the proteasomal degradation of NRF2. Under stress, NRF2 activates a transcriptional program that involves more than 100 genes including antioxidant genes such as catalase and genes that stimulate glutathione production. The role that NRF2 plays in cancer progression is currently unclear, but NRF2 expression promotes increased susceptibility to tumorigenesis in lung and pancreatic cancers (DeNicola et al. 2011), and NRF2 activators commonly found in the diet, such as resveratrol and sulforaphane, are cytoprotective, and sulforaphane can delay tumorigenesis in many cancer types (Sporn and Liby 2012).

Nevertheless, NRF2 appears broadly to promote cell survival under stress conditions, supporting a role as a potential oncogene. Gainof-function mutations in NRF2 have been found in chemotherapy-refractive skin and lung cancer cells, and the activation of a ROS scavenger program is important in human KRAS-driven pancreatic tumors, which show marked upregulation of the NRF2 target gene NQ1 (DeNicola et al. 2011). Aside from its role in ROS detoxification, NRF2 is also involved in anabolic processes. Metabolomic profiling revealed that NRF2 increases the PPP activity to generate nucleotides as well glutamine metabolism, important for as gluthathione synthesis in a PI3K/AKT-dependent manner. Moreover, NRF2 also regulates the key enzymes of the serine biosynthesis pathway PHGDH, PSAT1, and SHMT2 via ATF4 to support glutathione and nucleotide production in a lung cancer model (DeNicola et al. 2015).

Dietary antioxidants are commonly thought to be cancer protective and are widely used as supplements for cancer patients or as part of a healthy diet. However, clinical trials have shown that the impact of antioxidants on cancer development and progression is far from clear. Studies in mouse models of BRAF- and KRAS-driven lung cancers have shown that supplementation of antioxidants during tumor progression accelerates tumor progression and burden (Sayin et al. 2014). Similarly, recent studies assessing the impact of antioxidants such as vitamin C, vitamin E, and n-acetylcysteine (NAC) on melanoma progression have found them to be more harmful than protective. Vitamin C has been shown to be toxic for melanoma cell lines, while trolox, a soluble analog of vitamin E, and NAC, a precursor of cysteine and GSH, positively influence the migratory and invasive properties in a murine melanoma model without affecting proliferation. Addition of NAC to the mouse diet increased the number of lymph node and lung metastases in an inducible BRAF^{V600E}/ $PTEN^{-/-}$ mouse melanoma model. The antioxidants create a reduced intracellular environment by increasing the ratio of reduced glutathione (GSH) to oxidized glutathione (GSSG), which in turn induced activation of the pro-migratory RHO GTPase RHOA. This was more pronounced in the metastatic lesions than the primary tumor and could be reversed with a GSH inhibitor, resulting in diminished RHOA-dependent migration and invasion (Le Gal et al. 2015).

Moreover, a study found that the cancer cells' ability to metastasize to distant sites is dependent on the way in which these cells cope with oxidative stress in mice. Metabolomic comparisons of patient-derived cancer cells from metastatic and nonmetastatic tumors implanted into mice revealed that circulating cells and cells within the metastatic lesions displayed higher ROS levels and consequently these cells created a reduced intracellular environment via increased levels of NADPH and glutathione. These adaptations were reversible, as ablation of genes in the one carbon pathway or inhibition with methotrexreduced the numbers of metastases ate (Piskounova et al. 2015). This suggests that cancer cells with increased antioxidant reserves are more likely to succeed during the metastatic process.

Thus, the mitochondria are not only the powerhouse of the cell but also important signaling organelles. As some cancers depend on mitochondrial metabolism, it is of great interest to identify compounds that can specifically target the mitochondrial machinery of cancer cells. Metformin, an approved drug used as therapeutic intervention for diabetes, has been shown to reduce tumor incidence. This is mediated by inhibition of complex I of the respiratory chain (Fig. 1b) and reduction of the glucose levels in the blood via activation of AMPK. In vitro and in vivo studies have shown how metformin can diminish melanoma survival, but it has been noted that metformin can only act when a specific transporter called OCT is expressed in cancer cells. Phenformin, another member of the biguanide family, is also effective at killing BRAFi-resistant melanoma cells (Yuan et al. 2013), but as this agent can induce lactic acidosis, it is considered a less safe option. Notably however, DCA, which induces a shift from the glycolytic to the mitochondrial phenotype by inhibiting PDK1 (Fig. 1b), a downstream target of HIF1 α , has been used to treat lactic acidosis in patients with defects of mitochondrial metabolism. The increased oxidative phenotype in treated cells may support increased oxidative stress in cancer cells and thereby result in cell death as the ROS threshold of the cells is reached. Clinical trials evaluating the prooxidant drug elesclomol (Fig. 1b) are currently running to evaluate its impact in anticancer therapies.

Melanoma Microenvironment

While many studies have focused on intrinsic oncogene-driven metabolic alterations in cancer cells, tumor cells both impact and are influenced by their microenvironment. An inevitable result of unrestrained cancer cell proliferation is the disruption of cellular homeostasis and frequently limited access to the blood supply as tumors expand. Consequently, a subset of tumor cells will experience a reduction in their partial oxygen pressure. Many cancers, including melanoma, therefore need to initiate a molecular response to be able to cope with this oxygen stress (Fig. 3). This involves the upregulation of hypoxia-inducible factors (HIFs), which are transcription factors consist of heterodimeric that complexes containing an oxygen-sensitive α subunit and an

oxygen-insensitive constitutively expressed β subunit (LaGory and Giaccia 2016). Hypoxic tumor regions exhibit high levels of HIF1 α and HIF2 α expression, which in melanoma are associated with disease progression and poor therapeutic outcome.

HIF1 α and HIF2 α have been shown to drive aerobic glycolysis (Keith et al. 2012) and limit the entry of pyruvate into the mitochondria via PDK. Inhibition of HIF1 α signaling, either chemically or genetically, abrogates the glycolytic phenotype and promotes mitochondrial respiration. A decrease in activity of the HIF1a target PDK3 results in PDH stimulation and consequently increased OxPhos and associated ROS production. As such, PDK3 inhibition augments the impact of the oxidative stress inducer elesclomol in melanoma cells (Kluza et al. 2012) (Fig. 1b). HIF activation in cancer cells also stimulates the expression and secretion of VEGF and IL8, which promote neovascularization, providing cancer cells with new blood supply and essential nutrients. Like oxygen, nutrient availability becomes compromised in fast-growing tumors. Although HIF-induced VEGF and IL8 secretion might promote angiogenesis, tumor-induced vasculature has been shown to produce leaky and unstable blood vessels (LaGory and Giaccia 2016) (Fig. 2d). Thus, tumor cells necessarily maintain a high degree of metabolic flexibility (Fig. 3) in order to use the available nutrients efficiently and appear to display a level of symbiosis across different tumor areas to allow maintenance of the whole population, and disruptions of these dependencies will suppress tumor growth (Allen et al. 2016; Pisarsky et al. 2016). For instance, tumor cells in poorly vascularized areas of the tumor preferentially use glucose as a carbon and energy source, while cells within well-vascularized tumor areas will utilize alternatives available to them, such as glutamine (Boroughs and DeBerardinis 2015) (Fig. 3).

An imbalance caused by a paucity of nutrients may also evoke the process of autophagy in cancer cells, a naturally occurring destructive mechanism that disassembles, through a regulated process, unnecessary or dysfunctional cellular components. Ordinarily occurring under stress conditions, autophagy has been shown to be both and anti-tumorigenic pro-(White 2012). depending on context, and is commonly observed in and thought to be essential to melanoma. In a $BRAF^{V600E}/PTEN^{-/-}$ GEM model of melanoma, inhibition of ATG7, an essential autophagy gene, results in reduced tumor growth, with tumors exhibiting an accumulation of damaged mitochondria. Metabolic profiling of BRAF-driven melanoma cell lines after suppression of autophagy revealed a decrease in metabolite levels of the TCA cycle (Xie et al. 2015). These studies suggest that, during BRAF-driven tumorigenesis, autophagy is necessary to overcome shortages in metabolites essential for cell growth and proliferation and that autophagy activity is imperative for tumor formation.

A well-known autophagy inhibitor, chloroquine (Fig. 3), has also been shown to reduce melanoma growth and metastasis, although its efficacy appears to stem from both autophagydependent and autophagy-independent effects. In addition to reducing autophagic flux and consequently reducing tumor cell proliferation, chloroquine is able to improve the overall fitness and function of tumor vessels, which is not observed in tumor models in which the autophagy gene ATG5 is silenced (Maes et al. 2014). While the observed vessel normalization resulted in decreased tumor necrosis, it counteracted metastatic seeding through improvement of endothelial cell barriers and resulted in the improved delivery and efficacy of chemotherapy. Chloroquine's autophagy-independent effect on tumor vessels is mediated by NOTCH1 signaling in endothelial cells (Maes et al. 2014), and its potential as a therapeutic agent in melanoma is currently being investigated in clinical trials. Targeting autophagy in drug-resistant melanoma is also being explored, following the observation that patients with acquired resistance to BRAFi display increased levels of autophagosomes and this correlates to reduced progression-free survival (Ma et al. 2014).

Outside of the cancer cells themselves, different cell types such as fibroblasts, keratinocytes, and immune cells, extracellular matrix components such as collagen and fibronectins, and small molecules such as ions, nutrients, and oxygen impact tumorigenesis. For example, activation and expansion of latent immune cells into effector cells require a hyperproliferation program, which results in T cells competing with tumor cells for glucose (Fig. 2d). It has been suggested that tumor cells that display increased glucose uptake in a harsh environment may not be recognized by the immune system, as the T cells do not have enough nutrients available to proliferate. Conversely, tumor regression might be due to activated T cells that starve cancer cells of glucose followed by proper recognition of cancer cells as abnormal (Chang et al. 2015a).

Moreover, reciprocal signaling of the tumor itself to the microenvironment influences its structure and functionality. Metabolic rewiring of melanomas results in increased acid production (e.g., lactate), and because cancer cells need to maintain a consistent pH so that their metabolic processes run efficiently, these acids are secreted into the tumor microenvironment. This is mediated by upregulation of proton-coupled transporters such as monocarboxylate transporters (MCTs), and advanced melanomas exhibit increased expression of MCT1 and MCT4, which in turn is associated with poor prognosis (Pinheiro et al. 2016). The increased efflux of acids to the microenvironment contributes to acidosis and the remodeling of the extracellular matrix. The acidic environment induces the expression of degrading enzymes such as matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) and cathepsins, which have been shown to support angiogenesis, cell invasion, and metastasis (Bohme and Bosserhoff 2016). Tumor-secreted molecules also affect the stiffness of the surrounding extracellular matrix and impede drug efficacy. Culturing melanoma cell lines on stiff matrices also make them more resistant to BRAF inhibition. Nonmalignant cells in the tumor microenvironment are influenced by these secretomes, and they can then impact melanoma cell responses to therapies, as shown by the observation that patient-derived melanoma-associated fibroblasts can induce melanoma cell resistance to BRAFi (Hirata et al. 2015).

Melanoma cells can also orchestrate immunoediting, allowing BRAF-driven melanomas to escape immune cell-mediated destruction. The eicosanoid PGE2, secreted by the tumor, affects cytokine production in myeloid cells. Rather than releasing type I interferons to activate T cells, myeloid cells edit their cytokine pool and release factors that enable the tumor to evade recognition by T cells (Zelenay et al. 2015). These observations underline the crucial interplay between tumor cell and micro-environment during melanoma progression and metastasis, and there is great interest in exploiting these relationships for therapeutic benefit.

Due to the strong impact of hypoxia and HIF on metabolic processes, cancer cells can become dependent on HIF signaling for survival, and therefore numerous drugs and compounds targeting the HIF axis are currently being tested. Agents blocking VEGFA, a key regulator in neo-angiogenesis, including bevacizumab (a monoclonal antibody targeting VEGFA, Fig. 3) and sorafenib (an inhibitor of VEGFA receptor tyrosine kinase), have shown limited promise as a monotherapy in only a subset of cancers; however, they may prove powerful tools in combination with chemotherapeutics or targeted therapies. The role of autophagy in melanoma needs to be further elucidated, but clinical trials evaluating the combination of the autophagy inhibitor chloroquine (Fig. 3) with known anticancer therapeutics for melanoma and other cancers are underway. Preliminary results suggest that they improve median survival and that chloroquine may prove useful as an adjuvant therapy.

Conclusion

It is clear that metabolic rewiring is essential for melanoma initiation and progression and its consequences are far-reaching. Melanocyte transformation requires a change from quiescence to a highly proliferative and invasive state, often in a poorly oxygenated and nutrient-depleted setting. Thus, melanoma cells need to adapt to a hostile environment, optimally utilize scarce resources, and even support neighboring cells if they are to survive and thrive in such conditions. It follows that the events leading to transformation, particularly those that activate the RAS/RAF/ MEK/ERK signaling pathway, must initiate and/or support the metabolic rewiring that accompanies melanomagenesis. The ability of cancer cells to break down alternative carbon sources, to reprogram the metabolic pathways available to them to generate the macromolecules and energy they require, and also to maintain their redox potential in the presence of ROS may mirror underlying molecular changes accompanying melanoma initiation and progression. Therefore a better understanding of the oncogene- and nononcogene-induced metabolic dependencies of melanocytic lesions is urgently required. To date studies interrogating the metabolic consequences of the molecular changes underlying melanomagenesis have focused primarily on oncogenic BRAF activation and signaling. However, there are likely many more genetic events that drive metabolic reprogramming, independently of whether the RAS/RAF/MEK/ERK pathway has been activated, and these may differ across the melanoma subtypes. The high level of molecular heterogeneity observed in melanoma may well reflect a significant metabolic heterogeneity, and studies are currently focused on revealing and targeting metabolic vulnerabilities across the spectrum of melanoma types. Moreover, following recent advances in the use of immune checkpoint inhibitors for the clinical management of melanoma, it will be important to learn how these agents influence the metabolic liabilities of cancer cells and whether it is possible to identify common metabolic phenotypes in melanoma patients.

References

- Allen E, Mieville P, Warren CM, Saghafinia S, Li L, Peng MW, Hanahan D (2016) Metabolic symbiosis enables adaptive resistance to anti-angiogenic therapy that is dependent on mTOR signaling. Cell Rep 15(6):1144–1160. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2016.04.029
- Baenke F, Peck B, Miess H, Schulze A (2013) Hooked on fat: the role of lipid synthesis in cancer metabolism and tumour development. Dis Model Mech 6(6):1353–1363. https://doi.org/10.1242/dmm.011338
- Baenke F, Chaneton B, Smith M, Van Den Broek N, Hogan K, Tang H, Viros A, Martin M, Galbraith L,

Girotti MR, Dhomen N, Gottlieb E, Marais R (2016) Resistance to BRAF inhibitors induces glutamine dependency in melanoma cells. Mol Oncol 10(1):73–84. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molonc.2015.08.003

- Bedogni B, Powell MB (2009) Hypoxia, melanocytes and melanoma – survival and tumor development in the permissive microenvironment of the skin. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res 22(2):166–174. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/j.1755-148X.2009.00553.x
- Bensaad K, Tsuruta A, Selak MA, Vidal MN, Nakano K, Bartrons R, Gottlieb E, Vousden KH (2006) TIGAR, a p53-inducible regulator of glycolysis and apoptosis. Cell 126(1):107–120. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2006.05. 036
- Bettum IJ, Gorad SS, Barkovskaya A, Pettersen S, Moestue SA, Vasiliauskaite K, Tenstad E, Oyjord T, Risa O, Nygaard V, Maelandsmo GM, Prasmickaite L (2015) Metabolic reprogramming supports the invasive phenotype in malignant melanoma. Cancer Lett 366(1):71–83. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.canlet.2015.06.006
- Bohme I, Bosserhoff AK (2016) Acidic tumor microenvironment in human melanoma. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res. https://doi.org/10.1111/pcmr.12495
- Boroughs LK, DeBerardinis RJ (2015) Metabolic pathways promoting cancer cell survival and growth. Nat Cell Biol 17(4):351–359. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb3124
- Chang CH, Qiu J, O'Sullivan D, Buck MD, Noguchi T, Curtis JD, Chen Q, Gindin M, Gubin MM, van der Windt GJ, Tonc E, Schreiber RD, Pearce EJ, Pearce EL (2015a) Metabolic competition in the tumor microenvironment is a driver of cancer progression. Cell 162(6):1229–1241. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2015.08.016
- Chang YL, Gao HW, Chiang CP, Wang WM, Huang SM, Ku CF, Liu GY, Hung HC (2015b) Human mitochondrial NAD(P)(+)-dependent malic enzyme participates in cutaneous melanoma progression and invasion. J Invest Dermatol 135(3):807–815. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/jid.2014.385
- Damsky W, Micevic G, Meeth K, Muthusamy V, Curley DP, Santhanakrishnan M, Erdelyi I, Platt JT, Huang L, Theodosakis N, Zaidi MR, Tighe S, Davies MA, Dankort D, McMahon M, Merlino G, Bardeesy N, Bosenberg M (2015) mTORC1 activation blocks BrafV600E-induced growth arrest but is insufficient for melanoma formation. Cancer Cell 27(1):41–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccell.2014.11.014
- DeNicola GM, Karreth FA, Humpton TJ, Gopinathan A, Wei C, Frese K, Mangal D, Yu KH, Yeo CJ, Calhoun ES, Scrimieri F, Winter JM, Hruban RH, Iacobuzio-Donahue C, Kern SE, Blair IA, Tuveson DA (2011) Oncogene-induced Nrf2 transcription promotes ROS detoxification and tumorigenesis. Nature 475 (7354):106–109. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature10189
- DeNicola GM, Chen PH, Mullarky E, Sudderth JA, Hu Z, Wu D, Tang H, Xie Y, Asara JM, Huffman KE, Wistuba II, Minna JD, DeBerardinis RJ, Cantley LC (2015) NRF2 regulates serine biosynthesis in non-small cell lung cancer. Nat Genet 47(12):1475–1481. https://doi. org/10.1038/ng.3421

- Denoyelle C, Abou-Rjaily G, Bezrookove V, Verhaegen M, Johnson TM, Fullen DR, Pointer JN, Gruber SB, Su LD, Nikiforov MA, Kaufman RJ, Bastian BC, Soengas MS (2006) Anti-oncogenic role of the endoplasmic reticulum differentially activated by mutations in the MAPK pathway. Nat Cell Biol 8(10):1053–1063. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb1471
- Efeyan A, Comb WC, Sabatini DM (2015) Nutrientsensing mechanisms and pathways. Nature 517 (7534):302–310. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature14190
- Falck Miniotis M, Arunan V, Eykyn TR, Marais R, Workman P, Leach MO, Beloueche-Babari M (2013) MEK1/2 inhibition decreases lactate in BRAF-driven human cancer cells. Cancer Res 73(13):4039–4049. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-1969
- Filipp FV, Ratnikov B, De Ingeniis J, Smith JW, Osterman AL, Scott DA (2012a) Glutamine-fueled mitochondrial metabolism is decoupled from glycolysis in melanoma. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res 25(6):732–739. https:// doi.org/10.1111/pcmr.12000
- Filipp FV, Scott DA, Ronai ZA, Osterman AL, Smith JW (2012b) Reverse TCA cycle flux through isocitrate dehydrogenases 1 and 2 is required for lipogenesis in hypoxic melanoma cells. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res 25(3):375–383. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1755-148X.2012.00989.x
- Flier JS, Mueckler MM, Usher P, Lodish HF (1987) Elevated levels of glucose transport and transporter messenger RNA are induced by ras or src oncogenes. Science 235(4795):1492–1495
- Garcia-Cao I, Song MS, Hobbs RM, Laurent G, Giorgi C, de Boer VC, Anastasiou D, Ito K, Sasaki AT, Rameh L, Carracedo A, Vander Heiden MG, Cantley LC, Pinton P, Haigis MC, Pandolfi PP (2012) Systemic elevation of PTEN induces a tumor-suppressive metabolic state. Cell 149(1):49–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.cell.2012.02.030
- Gorrini C, Harris IS, Mak TW (2013) Modulation of oxidative stress as an anticancer strategy. Nat Rev Drug Discov 12(12):931–947. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrd4002
- Haq R, Shoag J, Andreu-Perez P, Yokoyama S, Edelman H, Rowe GC, Frederick DT, Hurley AD, Nellore A, Kung AL, Wargo JA, Song JS, Fisher DE, Arany Z, Widlund HR (2013) Oncogenic BRAF regulates oxidative metabolism via PGC1alpha and MITF. Cancer Cell 23 (3):302–315. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccr.2013.02.003
- Harris IS, Treloar AE, Inoue S, Sasaki M, Gorrini C, Lee KC, Yung KY, Brenner D, Knobbe-Thomsen CB, Cox MA, Elia A, Berger T, Cescon DW, Adeoye A, Brustle A, Molyneux SD, Mason JM, Li WY, Yamamoto K, Wakeham A, Berman HK, Khokha R, Done SJ, Kavanagh TJ, Lam CW, Mak TW (2015) Glutathione and thioredoxin antioxidant pathways synergize to drive cancer initiation and progression. Cancer Cell 27 (2):211–222. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccell.2014.11.019
- Hirata E, Girotti MR, Viros A, Hooper S, Spencer-Dene B, Matsuda M, Larkin J, Marais R, Sahai E (2015) Intravital imaging reveals how BRAF inhibition generates drug-tolerant microenvironments with high integrin

beta1/FAK signaling. Cancer Cell 27(4):574–588. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccell.2015.03.008

- Israelsen WJ, Vander Heiden MG (2015) Pyruvate kinase: function, regulation and role in cancer. Semin Cell Dev Biol 43:43–51. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.semcdb.2015. 08.004
- Jain M, Nilsson R, Sharma S, Madhusudhan N, Kitami T, Souza AL, Kafri R, Kirschner MW, Clish CB, Mootha VK (2012) Metabolite profiling identifies a key role for glycine in rapid cancer cell proliferation. Science 336(6084):1040–1044. https://doi.org/10.1126/science. 1218595
- Jiang P, Du W, Mancuso A, Wellen KE, Yang X (2013) Reciprocal regulation of p53 and malic enzymes modulates metabolism and senescence. Nature 493 (7434):689–693. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature11776
- Kamphorst JJ, Cross JR, Fan J, de Stanchina E, Mathew R, White EP, Thompson CB, Rabinowitz JD (2013) Hypoxic and Ras-transformed cells support growth by scavenging unsaturated fatty acids from lysophospholipids. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 110(22):8882–8887. https:// doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1307237110
- Kang HB, Fan J, Lin R, Elf S, Ji Q, Zhao L, Jin L, Seo JH, Shan C, Arbiser JL, Cohen C, Brat D, Miziorko HM, Kim E, Abdel-Wahab O, Merghoub T, Frohling S, Scholl C, Tamayo P, Barbie DA, Zhou L, Pollack BP, Fisher K, Kudchadkar RR, Lawson DH, Sica G, Rossi M, Lonial S, Khoury HJ, Khuri FR, Lee BH, Boggon TJ, He C, Kang S, Chen J (2015) Metabolic rewiring by oncogenic BRAF V600E links ketogenesis pathway to BRAF-MEK1 signaling. Mol Cell 59(3):345–358. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2015.05.037
- Kaplon J, Zheng L, Meissl K, Chaneton B, Selivanov VA, Mackay G, van der Burg SH, Verdegaal EM, Cascante M, Shlomi T, Gottlieb E, Peeper DS (2013) A key role for mitochondrial gatekeeper pyruvate dehydrogenase in oncogene-induced senescence. Nature 498(7452):109–112. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/nature12154
- Kardos GR, Wastyk HC, Robertson GP (2015) Disruption of proline synthesis in melanoma inhibits protein production mediated by the GCN2 pathway. Mol Cancer Res 13(10):1408–1420. https://doi.org/10.1158/1541-7786.MCR-15-0048
- Keith B, Johnson RS, Simon MC (2012) HIF1alpha and HIF2alpha: sibling rivalry in hypoxic tumour growth and progression. Nat Rev Cancer 12(1):9–22. https:// doi.org/10.1038/nrc3183
- Kluza J, Corazao-Rozas P, Touil Y, Jendoubi M, Maire C, Guerreschi P, Jonneaux A, Ballot C, Balayssac S, Valable S, Corroyer-Dulmont A, Bernaudin M, Malet-Martino M, de Lassalle EM, Maboudou P, Formstecher P, Polakowska R, Mortier L, Marchetti P (2012) Inactivation of the HIF-1alpha/PDK3 signaling axis drives melanoma toward mitochondrial oxidative metabolism and potentiates the therapeutic activity of pro-oxidants. Cancer Res 72(19):5035–5047. https:// doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-0979

- Kuilman T, Michaloglou C, Mooi WJ, Peeper DS (2010) The essence of senescence. Genes Dev 24(22):2463–79
- LaGory EL, Giaccia AJ (2016) The ever-expanding role of HIF in tumour and stromal biology. Nat Cell Biol 18(4):356–365. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb3330
- Lakhter AJ, Hamilton J, Konger RL, Brustovetsky N, Broxmeyer HE, Naidu SR (2016) Glucose-independent acetate metabolism promotes melanoma cell survival and tumor growth. J Biol Chem. https://doi.org/ 10.1074/jbc.M115.712166
- Laplante M, Sabatini DM (2012) mTOR signaling in growth control and disease. Cell 149(2):274–293. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2012.03.017
- Le Gal K, Ibrahim MX, Wiel C, Sayin VI, Akula MK, Karl sson C, Dalin MG, Akyurek LM, Lindahl P, Nilsson J, Bergo MO (2015) Antioxidants can increase melanoma metastasis in mice. Sci Transl Med 7(308):308re308. https://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed.aad3740
- LeBleu VS, O'Connell JT, Gonzalez Herrera KN, Wikman H, Pantel K, Haigis MC, de Carvalho FM, Damascena A, Domingos Chinen LT, Rocha RM, Asara JM, Kalluri R (2014) PGC-1alpha mediates mitochondrial biogenesis and oxidative phosphorylation in cancer cells to promote metastasis. Nat Cell Biol 16 (10):992–1003., , 1001–1015. https://doi.org/10.1038/ ncb3039
- Lee AC, Fenster BE, Ito H, Takeda K, Bae NS, Hirai T, Yu ZX, Ferrans VJ, Howard BH, Finkel T (1999) Ras proteins induce senescence by altering the intracellular levels of reactive oxygen species. J Biol Chem 274(12):7936–7940
- Lim JH, Luo C, Vazquez F, Puigserver P (2014) Targeting mitochondrial oxidative metabolism in melanoma causes metabolic compensation through glucose and glutamine utilization. Cancer Res 74(13):3535–3545. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-13-2893-T
- Liu W, Beck BH, Vaidya KS, Nash KT, Feeley KP, Ballinger SW, Pounds KM, Denning WL, Diers AR, Landar A, Dhar A, Iwakuma T, Welch DR (2014) Metastasis suppressor KISS1 seems to reverse the Warburg effect by enhancing mitochondrial biogenesis. Cancer Res 74(3):954–963. https://doi.org/10.1158/ 0008-5472.CAN-13-1183
- Locasale JW, Grassian AR, Melman T, Lyssiotis CA, Mattaini KR, Bass AJ, Heffron G, Metallo CM, Muranen T, Sharfi H, Sasaki AT, Anastasiou D, Mullarky E, Vokes NI, Sasaki M, Beroukhim R, Stephanopoulos G, Ligon AH, Meyerson M, Richardson AL, Chin L, Wagner G, Asara JM, Brugge JS, Cantley LC, Vander Heiden MG (2011) Phosphoglycerate dehydrogenase diverts glycolytic flux and contributes to oncogenesis. Nat Genet 43(9):869–874. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng.890
- Ma XH, Piao SF, Dey S, McAfee Q, Karakousis G, Villanueva J, Hart LS, Levi S, Hu J, Zhang G, Lazova R, Klump V, Pawelek JM, Xu X, Xu W, Schuchter LM, Davies MA, Herlyn M, Winkler J, Koumenis C, Amaravadi RK (2014) Targeting ER stress-induced autophagy overcomes BRAF inhibitor

resistance in melanoma. J Clin Invest 124(3):1406–1417. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI70454

- Maddocks OD, Berkers CR, Mason SM, Zheng L, Blyth K, Gottlieb E, Vousden KH (2013) Serine starvation induces stress and p53-dependent metabolic remodelling in cancer cells. Nature 493(7433):542–546. https://doi. org/10.1038/nature11743
- Maes H, Kuchnio A, Peric A, Moens S, Nys K, De Bock K, Quaegebeur A, Schoors S, Georgiadou M, Wouters J, Vinckier S, Vankelecom H, Garmyn M, Vion AC, Radtke F, Boulanger C, Gerhardt H, Dejana E, Dewerchin M, Ghesquiere B, Annaert W, Agostinis P, Carmeliet P (2014) Tumor vessel normalization by chloroquine independent of autophagy. Cancer Cell 26(2):190–206. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ccr.2014.06.025
- Mashimo T, Pichumani K, Vemireddy V, Hatanpaa KJ, Singh DK, Sirasanagandla S, Nannepaga S, Piccirillo SG, Kovacs Z, Foong C, Huang Z, Barnett S, Mickey BE, DeBerardinis RJ, Tu BP, Maher EA, Bachoo RM (2014) Acetate is a bioenergetic substrate for human glioblastoma and brain metastases. Cell 159(7):1603–1614. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2014. 11.025
- Mullen AR, Wheaton WW, Jin ES, Chen PH, Sullivan LB, Cheng T, Yang Y, Linehan WM, Chandel NS, DeBerardinis RJ (2012) Reductive carboxylation supports growth in tumour cells with defective mitochondria. Nature 481(7381):385–388. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/nature10642
- Nomura DK, Long JZ, Niessen S, Hoover HS, Ng SW, Cravatt BF (2010) Monoacylglycerol lipase regulates a fatty acid network that promotes cancer pathogenesis. Cell 140(1):49–61. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2009. 11.027
- Nowicki S, Gottlieb E (2015) Oncometabolites: tailoring our genes. FEBS J 282(15):2796–2805. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/febs.13295
- Parmenter TJ, Kleinschmidt M, Kinross KM, Bond ST, Li J, Kaadige MR, Rao A, Sheppard KE, Hugo W, Pupo GM, Pearson RB, McGee SL, Long GV, Scolyer RA, Rizos H, Lo RS, Cullinane C, Ayer DE, Ribas A, Johnstone RW, Hicks RJ, McArthur GA (2014) Response of BRAF-mutant melanoma to BRAF inhibition is mediated by a network of transcriptional regulators of glycolysis. Cancer Discov. https://doi.org/ 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-13-0440
- Pinheiro C, Miranda-Goncalves V, Longatto-Filho A, Vicente AL, Berardinelli GN, Scapulatempo-Neto C, Costa RF, Viana CR, Reis RM, Baltazar F, Vazquez VL (2016) The metabolic microenvironment of melanomas: prognostic value of MCT1 and MCT4. Cell Cycle 15(11):1462–1470. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 15384101.2016.1175258
- Pisarsky L, Bill R, Fagiani E, Dimeloe S, Goosen RW, Hagmann J, Hess C, Christofori G (2016) Targeting metabolic symbiosis to overcome resistance to antiangiogenic therapy. Cell Rep 15(6):1161–1174. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2016.04.028

- Piskounova E, Agathocleous M, Murphy MM, Hu Z, Huddlestun SE, Zhao Z (2015) Oxidative stress inhibits distant metastasis by human melanoma cells. Nature 527(7577):186–91
- Pollock PM, Harper UL, Hansen KS, Yudt LM, Stark M, Robbins CM, Moses TY, Hostetter G, Wagner U, Kakareka J, Salem G, Pohida T, Heenan P, Duray P, Kallioniemi O, Hayward NK, Trent JM, Meltzer PS (2003) High frequency of BRAF mutations in nevi. Nat Genet 33(1):19–20. https://doi.org/10.1038/ ng1054
- Rohrig F, Schulze A (2016) The multifaceted roles of fatty acid synthesis in cancer. Nat Rev Cancer. https://doi. org/10.1038/nrc.2016.89
- Sayin VI, Ibrahim MX, Larsson E, Nilsson JA, Lindahl P, Bergo MO (2014) Antioxidants accelerate lung cancer progression in mice. Sci Transl Med 6(221):221ra215. https://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed.3007653
- Schug ZT, Peck B, Jones DT, Zhang Q, Grosskurth S, Alam IS, Goodwin LM, Smethurst E, Mason S, Blyth K, McGarry L, James D, Shanks E, Kalna G, Saunders RE, Jiang M, Howell M, Lassailly F, Thin MZ, Spencer-Dene B, Stamp G, van den Broek NJ, Mackay G, Bulusu V, Kamphorst JJ, Tardito S, Strachan D, Harris AL, Aboagye EO, Critchlow SE, Wakelam MJ, Schulze A, Gottlieb E (2015) Acetyl-CoA synthetase 2 promotes acetate utilization and maintains cancer cell growth under metabolic stress. Cancer Cell 27(1):57–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ccell.2014.12.002
- Scott DA, Richardson AD, Filipp FV, Knutzen CA, Chiang GG, Ronai ZA, Osterman AL, Smith JW (2011) Comparative metabolic flux profiling of melanoma cell lines: beyond the Warburg effect. J Biol Chem 286(49):42626–42634. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc. M111.282046
- Seguin F, Carvalho MA, Bastos DC, Agostini M, Zecchin KG, Alvarez-Flores MP, Chudzinski-Tavassi AM, Coletta RD, Graner E (2012) The fatty acid synthase inhibitor orlistat reduces experimental metastases and angiogenesis in B16-F10 melanomas. Br J Cancer 107(6):977–987. https://doi.org/10.1038/bjc.2012.355
- Sheen JH, Zoncu R, Kim D, Sabatini DM (2011) Defective regulation of autophagy upon leucine deprivation reveals a targetable liability of human melanoma cells in vitro and in vivo. Cancer Cell 19(5):613–628. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.ccr.2011.03.012
- Shin S, Buel GR, Wolgamott L, Plas DR, Asara JM, Blenis J, Yoon SO (2015) ERK2 mediates metabolic stress response to regulate cell fate. Mol Cell 59(3):382–398. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2015.06.020
- Shoag J, Haq R, Zhang M, Liu L, Rowe GC, Jiang A, Koulisis N, Farrel C, Amos CI, Wei Q, Lee JE, Zhang J, Kupper TS, Qureshi AA, Cui R, Han J, Fisher DE, Arany Z (2012) PGC-1 coactivators regulate MITF and the tanning response. Mol Cell. S1097-2765(12)00908-2 [pii]. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2012.10.027
- Slominski A, Kim TK, Brozyna AA, Janjetovic Z, Brooks DL, Schwab LP, Skobowiat C, Jozwicki W,

Seagroves TN (2014) The role of melanogenesis in regulation of melanoma behavior: melanogenesis leads to stimulation of HIF-1alpha expression and HIF-dependent attendant pathways. Arch Biochem Biophys 563:79–93. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. abb.2014.06.030

- Sporn MB, Liby KT (2012) NRF2 and cancer: the good, the bad and the importance of context. Nat Rev Cancer 12(8):564–571. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc3278
- Suzuki S, Tanaka T, Poyurovsky MV, Nagano H, Mayama T, Ohkubo S, Lokshin M, Hosokawa H, Nakayama T, Suzuki Y, Sugano S, Sato E, Nagao T, Yokote K, Tatsuno I, Prives C (2010) Phosphateactivated glutaminase (GLS2), a p53-inducible regulator of glutamine metabolism and reactive oxygen species. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107(16):7461–7466. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1002459107
- Telang S, Yalcin A, Clem AL, Bucala R, Lane AN, Eaton JW, Chesney J (2006) Ras transformation requires metabolic control by 6-phosphofructo-2-kinase. Oncogene 25 (55):7225–7234. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.onc.1209709
- Vander Heiden MG (2011) Targeting cancer metabolism: a therapeutic window opens. Nat Rev Drug Discov 10(9):671–684. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrd3504
- Vander Heiden MG, Lunt SY, Dayton TL, Fiske BP, Israelsen WJ, Mattaini KR, Vokes NI, Stephanopoulos G, Cantley LC, Metallo CM, Locasale JW (2011) Metabolic pathway alterations that support cell proliferation. Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol 76:325–334. https://doi.org/10.1101/ sqb.2012.76.010900. sqb.2012.76.010900 [pii]
- Vazquez F, Lim JH, Chim H, Bhalla K, Girnun G, Pierce K, Clish CB, Granter SR, Widlund HR, Spiegelman BM, Puigserver P (2013) PGC1alpha expression defines a subset of human melanoma tumors with increased mitochondrial capacity and resistance to oxidative stress. Cancer Cell 23(3):287–301. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.ccr.2012.11.020
- Vredeveld LC, Possik PA, Smit MA, Meissl K, Michaloglou C, Horlings HM, Ajouaou A, Kortman PC, Dankort D, McMahon M, Mooi WJ, Peeper DS (2012) Abrogation of BRAFV600E-induced senescence by PI3K pathway activation contributes to melanomagenesis. Genes Dev 26(10):1055–1069. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.187252.112
- Wang Q, Beaumont KA, Otte NJ, Font J, Bailey CG, van Geldermalsen M, Sharp DM, Tiffen JC, Ryan RM,

Jormakka M, Haass NK, Rasko JE, Holst J (2014) Targeting glutamine transport to suppress melanoma cell growth. Int J Cancer. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.28749

- Warburg O (1924) On the metabolism of cancer cells. Naturwissenschaften 12:1131–1137
- Warita K, Warita T, Beckwitt CH, Schurdak ME, Vazquez A, Wells A, Oltvai ZN (2014) Statin-induced mevalonate pathway inhibition attenuates the growth of mesenchymal-like cancer cells that lack functional E-cadherin mediated cell cohesion. Sci Rep 4:7593. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep07593
- Wawrzyniak JA, Bianchi-Smiraglia A, Bshara W, Mannava S, Ackroyd J, Bagati A, Omilian AR, Im M, Fedtsova N, Miecznikowski JC, Moparthy KC, Zucker SN, Zhu Q, Kozlova NI, Berman AE, Hoek KS, Gudkov AV, Shewach DS, Morrison CD, Nikiforov MA (2013) A purine nucleotide biosynthesis enzyme guanosine monophosphate reductase is a suppressor of melanoma invasion. Cell Rep 5(2):493–507. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2013.09.015
- White E (2012) Deconvoluting the context-dependent role for autophagy in cancer. Nat Rev Cancer 12(6):401–410. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc3262
- Xie X, Koh JY, Price S, White E, Mehnert JM (2015) Atg7 overcomes senescence and promotes growth of BrafV600E-driven melanoma. Cancer Discov 5(4):410–423. https://doi.org/10.1158/2159-8290.CD-14-1473
- Yuan P, Ito K, Perez-Lorenzo R, Del Guzzo C, Lee JH, Shen CH, Bosenberg MW, McMahon M, Cantley LC, Zheng B (2013) Phenformin enhances the therapeutic benefit of BRAF(V600E) inhibition in melanoma. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 110(45):18226–18231. https:// doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1317577110
- Zelenay S, van der Veen AG, Bottcher JP, Snelgrove KJ, Rogers N, Acton SE, Chakravarty P, Girotti MR, Marais R, Quezada SA, Sahai E, Reis ESC (2015) Cyclooxygenase-dependent tumor growth through evasion of immunity. Cell 162(6):1257–1270. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.cell.2015.08.015
- Zhang J, Fan J, Venneti S, Cross JR, Takagi T, Bhinder B (2014) Asparagine plays a critical role in regulating cellular adaptation to glutamine depletion. Mol Cell 56(2):205–18



Molecular Genetics of Melanocytic Neoplasia

Eran Hodis and Levi A. Garraway

Contents

Introduction	124
Mutational Processes	124
Point Mutations	124
Structural Alterations	127
Somatic Mutations	130
Neoplasms Arising from Epithelial Melanocytes	130
Neoplasms Arising from Nonepithelial Melanocytes	137
Commonalities	138
Activation of MAPK or Gαq Signaling	139
Disruption of the p16/Cyclin/CDK/Rb Pathway	141
Telomerase Activity	141
Conclusion	142
References	142

E. Hodis (⊠)

Department of Medical Oncology, Dana-Farber Cancer Institute, Boston, MA, USA

The Broad Institute of MIT and Harvard, Cambridge, MA, USA e-mail: ehodis@broadinstitute.org

L. A. Garraway Department of Medical Oncology, Dana-Farber Cancer Institute, Boston, MA, USA

The Broad Institute of MIT and Harvard, Cambridge, MA, USA

Howard Hughes Medical Institute, Chevy Chase, MD, USA

Department of Medicine, Brigham and Women's Hospital, Boston, MA, USA

Eli Lilly and Company, Indianapolis, IN, USA e-mail: levi_garraway@dfci.harvard.edu

Abstract

The pathogenesis of melanoma depends on the occurrence of specific genetic changes that drive the neoplastic process. Much research has therefore focused on elucidating these changes with twin goals of comprehending the genetic basis of how a melanocyte becomes a melanoma and identifying vulnerabilities ripe for clinical intervention. One of the defining features of the melanoma genome is an extraordinarily high prevalence of C > T point mutations; in this regard, ultraviolet light represents the predominant force shaping the melanocyte genome. Several subtypes of melanoma and melanocytic neoplasms exist, each of which may harbor specific genetic changes.

© Springer Science+Business Media, LLC, part of Springer Nature 2019 D. E. Fisher, B. C. Bastian (eds.), *Melanoma*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-7147-9_29 Recent genetic and genomic studies have revealed an overarching framework for the mechanisms that transform melanocytes into benign melanocytic neoplasms and eventually melanomas. Thus, critical aspects of melanoma pathogenesis may be inferred from patterns of genetic alteration recurrent across subtypes of melanoma and melanocytic neoplasms.

Keywords

Melanoma · Melanocytic neoplasia · Genetics of melanoma · Somatic mutations of melanoma · Chromosomal copy number alterations in melanoma · Melanoma genomics · Melanoma genetics · Genetics of nevi

Introduction

Melanoma, like all cancers, is a genetic disease. Cancer-causing mutations subvert the usual checks and balances governing the participation of a single melanocyte in the multicellular human body. The result is unrelenting cellular proliferation.

No single mutation (considered in the broadest sense to mean any change to the genome) suffices to transform a melanocyte into a melanoma. Thus, most of the mutations acquired by melanocytes in their cellular lifetimes bear no neoplastic potential. However, certain mutations can coax a melanocyte to grow into a benign neoplasm, also known as a nevus, or mole. A nevus, visible or microscopic, may sometimes be the first step on the evolutionary path to melanoma. While most nevi do not progress to melanoma, the subsequent acquisition of other specific mutations can cause their progression to an intermediate stage of neoplasia. From here, only a few additional mutations may be needed to pass the threshold into a malignant melanocytic neoplasm, the definition of a melanoma. Thereafter, additional mutations may amplify disease progression or severity.

Mutational Processes

As a cellular evolutionary process, carcinogenesis depends on two main forces: variation and selection. Mutation generates the genetic variation upon which selection may then act. Mutations that confer a relative fitness advantage tend to increase in frequency across the cellular population – such mutations have been defined as driver mutations (Stratton et al. 2009).

The predominant type of mutation affecting the melanocyte genome is a C > T (predominantly TpC > TpT) substitution indirectly caused by exposure to the ultraviolet (UV) spectrum of light. However, various mutagenic processes additionally mold the melanocyte genome, resulting in all manner of substitutions, small insertions and deletions, and structural alterations.

Melanocytic neoplasms can be categorized in part by the primary mutagenic processes that have influenced their evolution. Some types of neoplasm primarily demonstrate mutations attributable to UV light mutagenesis, while other types are mostly characterized by focal chromosomal amplifications and deletions or gene fusions.

Point Mutations

Ultraviolet Light Photoproducts

Epidermal melanocytes reside on the basement membrane of the epidermis, at the epidermaldermal junction. Although the primary function of these melanocytes is to produce melanin to protect the genomes of neighboring keratinocytes from the UV component of sunlight, the melanocytes themselves are vulnerable to the mutagenic properties of UV light. Nonepidermal melanocytes tend to receive less UV light exposure, specifically those cells located in the dermis, within the eye, or in association with internal organs.

UV light stimulates the creation of promutagenic DNA lesions (Fig. 1a, b). The energy from a UV photon can covalently join two neighboring pyrimidine bases, resulting in either a cyclobutane pyrimidine dimer or a (6-4) photoproduct. UVB



Fig. 1 Somatic point mutations in melanoma. (a) Schematic of common pathways leading to somatic point mutations in the melanocyte genome. (b) Prevalence of different point mutations in a melanoma genome, the first melanoma genome sequenced. Notice the relative abundance of both C > T/G > A (associated with UV radiation) and C > A/G > T (associated with oxidative damage) mutations, with the former being much more common. (c) Number of mutations per one million base pairs

light (280–320 nm) directly generates such lesions, while UVA light (320–400 nm) does so indirectly, in a manner dependent on melanin and reactive oxygen species (Noonan et al. 2012; Premi et al. 2015).

Most cellular polymerases are unable to use pyrimidine dimers as a template, and standard replication or transcription comes to a halt at such lesions. Humans lack the enzyme photolyase, and thus cannot directly reverse pyrimidine dimers. Instead, nucleotide excision repair (NER) proteins are recruited to the lesion to remove and

(mega base pairs, Mbp) in 30 different cancer types, sorted from left to right by increasing mean number of mutations per Mbp (indicated by red horizontal lines) (Figures reprinted with permission from (**a**) Taylor, Science 2015. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aaa6578, (**b**) Pleasance et al., Nature 2010. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature08658, and (**c**) Alexandrov et al., Nature 2013. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/nature12477)

replace the damaged DNA. NER enzymes make two nicks in the DNA strand containing the lesion, one nick upstream and one downstream of the lesion. A single stranded stretch of 24–32 nucleotides containing the lesion is so removed. Using the alternate DNA strand as template, a polymerase fills in the missing 24–32 nucleotides and a ligase seals the remaining nick. The result is perfect repair of the pyrimidine dimer with no change to the DNA sequence. Elucidation of the molecular mechanism of this crucial repair pathway earned Aziz Sancar one third of the 2015 Nobel Prize in Chemistry (Sancar et al. 2004). Genetic defects in NER are the cause of xeroderma pigmentosum, a disease associated with sensitivity to sunlight and increased risk of skin cancers, including melanoma.

Though NER can correctly repair pyrimidine dimers induced by UV light, such dimers can and do indirectly cause mutagenesis (Fig. 1a).

If a pyrimidine dimer (affecting TpT, CpC, TpC, or CpT) escapes detection and repair and the cell proceeds into S phase, a DNA polymerase capable of translesion synthesis must be recruited opposite the lesion. Specialized translesion polymerases tend to synthesize the correct, matching bases opposite the photoproduct dimer, but they err orders of magnitude more frequently than standard replication polymerases. This elevates the odds of mutagenesis opposite a pyrimidine dimer. When the dimer is eventually repaired by NER through excision and DNA synthesis, the mistake introduced by the translesion polymerase is propagated to the opposing strand.

However, the primary mechanism by which pyrimidine dimers lead to mutagenesis appears to depend on cytosine deamination (Taylor 2005). Cytosine bases in a pyrimidine dimer experience an increased rate of deamination as compared to native cytosine bases. Deamination of cytosine yields uracil, and deamination of 5-methylcytosine yields thymine. If now again the deaminated pyrimidine dimer escapes repair and the cell proceeds to DNA replication, a translesion polymerase will pair an A opposite the deaminated C (U or T) in the dimer, resulting in a mutation. When NER eventually repairs the pyrimidine dimer, the introduced mutation on the opposite strand will propagate to the strand that originally sustained the UV light damage, forming the canonical C > T (most commonly TpC > TpT) UV light-induced mutation (Fig. 1b). Canonical UV light-induced CpC > TpT mutations can similarly result if the pyrimidine dimer comprises two cytosines and both undergo deamination.

Excessive UV light exposure, especially early in life, is associated with a higher risk of melanoma (Rhodes et al. 1987). In addition, C > Tsubstitutions are responsible for a number of melanoma driver mutations, providing strong support for a role of UV light mutagenesis in melanocytic neoplasia. Accordingly, the most recurrent pair of mutations in melanoma are C > T mutations in the promoter of the *TERT* gene, encoding telomerase reverse transcriptase (Horn et al. 2013; Huang et al. 2013). Numerous additional C > T driver mutations in both oncogenes (causing recurrent missense mutations) and tumor suppressors (causing nonsense or damaging missense or splice site mutations) can likely be ascribed to UV light mutagenesis (Hodis et al. 2012).

Other Forms of Mutagenesis

While photoproducts of UV light dominate the mutagenic landscape of sun-exposed melanocytic neoplasms, other mutagenic forces contribute as well (Alexandrov et al. 2013).

Reactive oxygen species (ROS) can be formed by UVA light or during oxidative cellular metabolism (Garibyan and Fisher 2010). Biosynthesis of the red/yellow melanin pigment pheomelanin may also generate ROS (Mitra et al. 2012). ROS cause oxidative DNA damage, especially at uanine bases. Oxidation of guanine produces 7,8-dihydro-8-oxoguanine (8-oxoG). When unrepaired, 8-oxoG pairs with an adenine base during replication, ultimately leading to a G > Tmutation upon eventual base excision repair of the oxidized base (Fig. 1a, b).

Point Mutation Probability Across the Genome

Melanomas are notorious for having a high prevalence of point mutations. In a comparison of 30 cancer types, melanoma had the highest median number of point mutations per megabase pair (one million base pairs; Mbp) of genome sequence (Fig. 1c) (Alexandrov et al. 2013). Large-scale sequencing studies of cutaneous melanoma have reported an average point mutation prevalence of roughly 15 mutations per Mbp (TCGA Network 2015; Hodis et al. 2012), and this number varies with the measure of sun exposure experienced by each tumor. The burden of point mutations becomes evident in benign melanocytic neoplasia and steadily increases with evolution to malignancy (Shain et al. 2015a). Roughly 70–80% of an average

sun-exposed melanoma's point mutations are C > T substitutions, the canonical mutation induced by UV light (Fig. 1a, b) (Hodis et al. 2012; Krauthammer et al. 2012).

Early sequencing studies revealed that point mutations are not evenly distributed across the melanoma genome (Pleasance et al. 2010). While this phenomenon is appreciated in all cancer genomes, it is accentuated in melanoma genomes by the malignancy's exceptional point mutation burden.

Genic regions tend to harbor a lower number of mutations per base pair as compared to intergenic regions. And a negative correlation between gene expression level and mutation prevalence was among the first observations made in the melanoma genome, together with a predisposition for C > T and G > T mutations in the untranscribed strand (Pleasance et al. 2010). A reduced prevalence of mutations in the transcribed strand has been attributed to the protective effect of transcription-coupled repair.

Chromatin features have emerged as the strongest predictors of mutation prevalence across the genome to date, capable of explaining 75% of the observed variation (Polak et al. 2015). Epigenetic modifications associated with an open chromatin conformation correlate with lower mutation prevalence and the opposite is true for modifications linked to closed chromatin conformations (Fig. 2a). Similarly, genomic regions accessible to DNaseI digestion (generally interpreted as regions of open chromatin) tend to show a relative decrease in mutation abundance (Fig. 2b).

Epigenetic modifications and regions of closed/open chromatin associate with different genomic loci in different tissue and cell types. Intriguingly, melanoma mutation prevalence correlates most closely with the epigenetic modifications found in human melanocytes, of all 106 tested cell types, including a melanoma cell line (Polak et al. 2015). Beyond suggesting a possible mechanistic link between chromatin state and probability of mutagenesis, these observations may imply that the majority of mutations in a melanoma happen before neoplastic evolution leads to any significant epigenetic restructuring.

Variation in mutation prevalence across the genome has implications for driver mutation discovery. Inference of candidate driver mutations depends on identification of genes or loci that have more mutations than would otherwise be expected by chance. Thus, correct estimation of the mutation abundance expected by chance (that is, under neutral selection) is required, and this estimate should vary across the genome in order to reflect reality. Specialized statistical methods have been developed for driver mutation discovery in melanoma (Hodis et al. 2012).

Point Mutation Burden Associated with Clinical Benefit from Immunotherapy

Melanoma's increased prevalence of point mutations, due largely to DNA damage induced by UV radiation, may be clinically exploitable. Biologics that counteract the immune checkpoint blockade, specifically CTLA4, PD-1, and PD-L1 antibodies, have demonstrated clinical benefit, with a large percentage of patients responding to therapy. Research into determinates of response and benefit in patients receiving immunotherapies has revealed an association between mutation burden and clinical benefit (Van Allen et al. 2015; Hugo et al. 2016; Snyder et al. 2014), as well as between neoantigen load and clinical benefit (Van Allen et al. 2015). Thus it seems that though a high point mutation burden often underlies melanoma evolution, it may auger well in the context of drug-induced immune system reactivation.

Structural Alterations

While the canonical mutation profile associated with melanoma is the C > T UV light induced signature, melanoma genomes also feature significant structural alterations such as DNA copy number changes and rearrangements. Copy number changes are rare in benign melanocytic neoplasms (Bastian et al. 2003) and emerge during progression to malignancy (Shain et al. 2015a). Structural alterations can generate key driver mutations, illustrated most obviously in



Fig. 2 Somatic point mutation prevalence varies across the melanoma genome. (a) Association between several epigenetic histone modifications in the melanocyte genome (as measured by chromatin immunoprecipitation) and average somatic mutation prevalence in the melanoma genome. Pearson's correlation coefficient, r, is displayed for each comparison. (b) Melanoma somatic mutation density is associated with (reversed) chromatin accessibility.

melanocytic neoplasms arising on non-sunexposed areas of the body and Spitz tumors.

Copy Number Alterations

The majority of cancer types display characteristic patterns of aneuploidy, and melanoma is no exception. Each subtype of melanoma demonstrates its own recurring pattern of gain and loss of entire chromosomes, chromosome arms, and focal regions (Fig. 3a).

The result of extra or lost copies of DNA segments in melanoma is generally interpreted through a gene-centric lens: which genes are recurrently deleted (likely tumor suppressors) or amplified (likely oncogenes)? Such an interpretation may be permissible when one small tract of DNA, centered on one gene, is gained or lost in multiple tumors. However, often times the altered region is large and encompasses many genes, or even a chromosome arm or an entire chromosome. Attributing these larger alterations to a single gene becomes more difficult, and it may be the case that the simultaneous loss or gain of several genes is what provides a selective advantage.

The exact causes of genomic instability in melanoma and cancer in general are not clear, but

For chromosome 2, C > T mutation density in melanoma overlaid on a plot of melanocyte DNA accessibility (DNaseI; high values correspond to both closed chromatin and high mutation density). Pearson's correlation coefficient, *r*, is displayed in red in the upper left corner (Figures reprinted with permission from Polak et al., Nature 2015. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature14221)

likely involve errors of replication and recombination (Hastings et al. 2009). Mitotic missegregation can cause gains and losses of entire chromosomes. Replication fork stalling, perhaps due to DNA damage (including UV-induced pyrimidine dimers), can lead to template switching and amplification or deletion of nearby genomic loci. Unequal crossing over, perhaps mediated by low complexity regions, can similarly result in amplifications and deletions. Telomere loss is known to cause a crisis characterized by rampant chromosomal instability. For example, in the absence of telomeres, exposed chromosome ends can fuse by nonhomologous end joining to form a dicentric chromosome that then undergoes breakage-fusion-bridge cycles, leading to multiple fold-back inversions of one locus.

Copy-Neutral Rearrangements

Copy-neutral rearrangements are also commonplace in melanoma genomes. A copy-neutral rearrangement represents the linear joining of two chromosomal regions that were not previously contiguous, without duplication or deletion of the majority of the involved sequences. When such rearrangement affects two genes, the end
alterations in melanoma. (a) Somatic copy number alterations across many melanomas. Each sampled melanoma tumor is a row in the heatmap and each column represents a chromosomal location. Primary melanomas are grouped as the top rows and metastases as the bottom rows. Frequently gained or lost chromosomal loci are apparent as mostly red or mostly blue columns. (b) Circos plots of somatic rearrangements in four melanoma genomes. Purple lines represent interchromosomal rearrangements and green lines represent intrachromosomal rearrangements. Chromothripsis is evidenced by numerous rearrangements affecting only a small set of chromosomes (Figures reprinted with permission from (a) TCGA Network, Cell 2015. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j. cell.2015.05.044 and (b) Berger et al., Nature 2012. https://doi.org/10.1038/

Fig. 3 Somatic structural





15

σ



15

product can be a chimeric gene fusion. In Spitz tumors, it is common to find driver gene fusions encoding constitutively active protein products, caused by genomic rearrangements. Evidence of localized, simultaneous, massive-scale rearrangement, termed chromothripsis, has been also observed in some melanoma genomes (Fig. 3b) (Berger et al. 2012), although this phenomenon's contribution to neoplastic progression remains to be determined.

Structural Alteration Probability Across the Genome

In comparison to what is known about point mutations, much less is understood about how the probability of structural alteration varies across the genome. A more accurate model of the odds of a structural alteration forming by chance at a given locus in the genome would improve statistical discovery of driver structural alterations and better distinguish between fragile sites and true driver events.

Somatic Mutations

Melanocytic neoplasms, benign and malignant, can be classified according to site of origin, driver mutation profile, age of common occurrence, degree of UV-light exposure, and histopathology, among other features. A taxonomic framework of melanocytic neoplasms has been formalized recently by Bastian (Fig. 4) (Bastian 2014).

Melanocytic neoplasms are first divided into two groups based on whether the cell-of-origin is epithelial or nonepithelial in anatomic location. Within the epithelial melanocytic neoplasms, a division is then made between nonglabrous (hair-bearing), glabrous (non-hairbearing), and mucosal site-of-origin. The nonglabrous group is further divided based on degree of sun exposure. Within the nonepithelial melanocytic neoplasms a division is made based on tissue-of-origin: skin, eye, or internal organ.

Neoplasms Arising from Epithelial Melanocytes

Nonglabrous

Nonglabrous melanocytic neoplasms originate from melanocytes residing in hair-bearing skin. Melanoma of this subtype is the most common of all melanomas and disproportionately affects Caucasians.

Lower-UV

The "Lower-UV" category encompasses melanocytic neoplasms on nonglabrous skin that have suffered comparatively less UV-light mediated damage than their counterparts in the "Higher-UV" category. This distinction is a relative one; exposure to UV radiation is a feature of both categories (Fig. 5).





2014. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-pathol-012513-104,658. Figure adapted to reflect WHO nomenclature (high-CSD/low-CSD rather than CSD/no-CSD))



Fig. 5 Landscape of cutaneous melanoma driver mutations. Co-occurrence plot of candidate driver mutations and copy number alterations in cutaneous melanoma. Melanoma tumor samples are represented as columns, with mutation burden of each tumor as the top plot, mutation or copy number state of candidate melanoma genes in the

central plot on a gray background, then tissue-of-origin depicted as a single row, and finally the bottom plot shows the relative frequency of various mutation types (e.g., C > T, C > A) in each melanoma sample (Figure reprinted with permission from Hodis et al., Cell 2012. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2012.06.024)

Cutaneous with Low Cumulative Sun Damage (Low-CSD)

Low cumulative-sun-damage (low-CSD) cutaneous melanomas are the most common subtype of melanoma. Neoplasms of this subtype are so named to distinguish them from melanocytic neoplasms that too arise in nonglabrous epidermis but show signs of extensive sun damage (high-CSD). Low-CSD tumors tend to arise on body regions that suffer only intermittent sun exposure, like the trunk, back, arms, and legs. These tumors lack local signs of cumulative sun-induced damage (e.g., solar elastosis). Other associations with low-CSD melanocytic neoplasms include a younger age of incidence (<55 years old) and an increased number of acquired nevi (Lachiewicz et al. 2008; Whiteman et al. 2003). Melanomas of this low-CSD subtype often (30–90% of the time)

display a preexisting nevus component (Bevona et al. 2003; Shitara et al. 2014).

The initiating mutation of a low-CSD melanocytic neoplasm overwhelmingly seems to be a thymidine to adenine substitution yielding *BRAF* V600E (Davies et al. 2002). *BRAF* is a kinase in the mitogen-activated protein (MAP) kinase signaling pathway whose activity stimulates cellular proliferation. V600E mutation of *BRAF* yields a constitutively active kinase that can function as a monomer, whereas wildtype BRAF requires homo- or heterodimerization with other RAF proteins for activity. On its own, V600E mutation of *BRAF* is sufficient to produce an acquired nevus (Pollock et al. 2003; Shain et al. 2015a).

Over 80% of acquired nevi, predominantly arising in the first two decades of life, harbor

BRAF V600E as their sole driver mutation (Pollock et al. 2003). Other early acquired melanocytic neoplasms instead harbor oncogenic mutations in *NRAS* usually affecting Q61 (Shain et al. 2015a). More rarely, mutations in other genes activate the MAPK signaling pathway in lieu of *BRAF* and *NRAS* mutations: including *NF1* loss and oncogenic mutation of *HRAS* or *KRAS* (Hodis et al. 2012). Secondary activating mutations in *MAP2K1* might serve to augment the effects of other MAPK pathway activating mutations.

Progression from nevus to an intermediate evolutionary state appears to depend on expression of *TERT* (Shain et al. 2015a). *TERT* encodes the catalytic protein subunit of telomerase, a ribonucleoprotein polymerase responsible for telomere maintenance. Roughly 70% of melanomas have either one of two C > T mutations in the *TERT* promoter that are thought to induce *TERT* expression by forming an Ets family transcription factor binding site (Horn et al. 2013; Huang et al. 2013). *TERT* amplifications occur as well, but they are less frequent in this subtype of melanoma.

Transition from this intermediate state to unequivocal melanoma most commonly occurs in conjunction with biallelic loss of CDKN2A, through a combination of mutations and deletions (Shain et al. 2015a). CDKN2A codes for two protein products, p16 (INK4A) and p14 (ARF). The p16 protein inhibits CDK4 and CDK6 which normally phosphorylate the RB protein to mediate progression from G1 to S phase in the cell cycle. The p14 protein prevents MDM2 from degrading p53, a key regulator of apoptosis and a sensor of DNA damage. Thus through loss of both p16 and p14, CDKN2A loss leads to dysregulation of pathways controlling the G1/S transition (RB pathway) and apoptosis (p53 pathway). Rare loss-offunction mutations of RB1 or activating mutations of CDK4 (R24C) are likely capable of substituting for loss of p16. It has so far been more difficult to determine whether loss-of-function mutations in TP53 (10-20% of melanomas) substitute for loss of p14.

Mutations in chromatin remodelers such as *ARID2*, *ARID1A*, and *ARID1B* have been noted in the transition to invasive melanoma as well

(Shain et al. 2015a), though their functional role is less clear. Of these, only mutations in *ARID2* (~10% prevalence, commonly loss-of-function) have so far shown definitive statistical evidence of positive selection (TCGA Network 2015; Hodis et al. 2012).

Mutations in *PPP6C*, affecting 5–10% of melanomas and associating with *BRAF* and *NRAS* mutations (Fig. 5) (Hodis et al. 2012; Krauthammer et al. 2012), may too occur at this intermediate stage. The functional consequences of both recurrent (mainly R264C) and loss-of-function mutations in *PPP6C* remain to be determined but may play a role in cell cycle progression.

Tertiary mutations become more common once the melanocytic neoplasm has become an unequivocal melanoma. *PTEN* mutations and deletions of its locus on chromosome 10 are particularly frequent in low-CSD melanomas (Tsao et al. 1998). *PTEN* loss is seen in roughly 40% of low-CSD melanomas with *BRAF* V600E mutation, driving the Akt signaling pathway. It is thought that *PTEN* loss does not tend to occur in melanomas with *NRAS* mutations because oncogenic *NRAS* can already drive Akt signaling (Tsao et al. 2000). Mutations of *TP53* affect 10–20% of melanomas (Fig. 5), and current evidence suggests they occur as tertiary mutations (Hodis et al. 2012; Shain et al. 2015a).

Many additional driver mutations contribute to the evolution of this subtype of melanoma, likely as tertiary mutations with single digit percentage prevalence. These mutations include amplification of MITF; activating mutations of RAC1, *IDH1*, and *EZH2*; recurrent 5'UTR mutations in RPS27; and inactivating mutations in DDX3X, among others (Hodis et al. 2012; TCGA Network 2015; Dutton-Regester et al. 2014; Garraway et al. 2005; Krauthammer et al. 2012). Mutations with a sub-one-percent prevalence can also act as drivers, although such rare events are difficult to statistically nominate as drivers with current sequencing study sample sizes (TCGA Network 2015; Hodis et al. 2012; Krauthammer et al. 2012, 2015).

UV light is the predominant mutational mechanism in low-CSD melanocytic neoplasms. A C > T signature of UV light mutagenesis peppers the genomes of these neoplasms, with roughly 5–6 mutations per Mb (Mar et al. 2013). The point mutation burden increases during progression from nevus to melanoma. At the melanoma stage, copy number alterations become apparent as well, with common amplifications affecting chromosomes 1q, 6p, 7, 8q, 17q, and 20q, and deletions of 6q, 8p, 9p, and 10 (Krauthammer et al. 2012).

Spitz Tumors

Spitz nevi, atypical Spitz tumors, and spitzoid melanomas comprise a spectrum of melanocytic neoplasms that predominantly arise in children and young adults. These neoplasms tend to show spindled or epithelioid cells and are usually intradermal. In the Spitz spectrum, atypical Spitz tumors represent borderline neoplasms somewhere between a nevus and a melanoma.

Spitzoid neoplasms can be split into three groups based on mutually exclusive oncogenic driver mutations: (1) 60% harbor kinase fusions (reported to affect *ROS1*, *NTRK1*, *ALK*, *BRAF*, *RET*, and *MET*) (Wiesner et al. 2014; Yeh et al. 2015), (2) 25% have *BRAF* V600E mutations on a background of *BAP1* loss (Wiesner et al. 2012), and (3) 15% possess amplification and/or oncogenic mutation of *HRAS* (Bastian et al. 2000a; Wiesner et al. 2014).

The kinase fusions appear in 55% of Spitz nevi, 56% of atypical Spitz tumors, and 39% of spitzoid melanomas, suggesting such a fusion may act as an initiating oncogenic event (Wiesner et al. 2014). Biallelic *CDKN2A* loss may act as a progression event from Spitz nevus to atypical Spitz tumors, and *TERT* promoter mutations (only observed in patients >10 years old) have been associated with aggressive spitzoid melanomas (Lee et al. 2015).

Loss of *BAP1* in cells of an acquired (non-Spitz) nevus harboring *BRAF* V600E (or more rarely *NRAS* Q61R) can beget transition to an epithelioid morphology and progression to an atypical Spitz tumor (Wiesner et al. 2011). Mutations or isolated amplifications (11p) of *HRAS* have only been seen in Spitz nevi, not in spitzoid melanoma to date (van Engen-van Grunsven et al. 2010).

Higher-UV

Cutaneous with High Cumulative Sun-Induced Damage (High-CSD)

Melanomas arising on nonglabrous skin that shows signs of high cumulative sun-induced damage (high-CSD) constitute a melanoma subtype distinct from nonglabrous melanomas that do not show signs of cumulative sun damage (low-CSD, discussed in earlier section). Signs of cumulative sun damage include solar elastosis and local occurrence of nonmelanoma skin cancers or their precursors. High-CSD melanomas tend to arise on the face, neck, and ears – anatomic sites of continuous sun exposure. Several lines of evidence support a distinction between high-CSD and low-CSD melanomas of nonglabrous skin origin.

Of most direct relevance to the topic of this chapter, specific driver mutations occur at differing frequencies in high-CSD melanomas as compared to low-CSD melanomas. BRAF V600E mutations, common in low-CSD melanomas, appear more rarely in high-CSD melanomas (Maldonado et al. 2003). Instead, MAPK pathway-activating mutations in low-CSD melanoma take the form of loss-of-function mutations in NF1 (30% of cases), oncogenic mutations of KIT (10%), CCND1 amplifications (20%), and BRAF V600K mutations (Curtin et al. 2005, 2006; Glatz-Krieger et al. 2006; Krauthammer et al. 2012; Menzies et al. 2012). In contrast with BRAF mutation frequency, the frequency of NRAS mutations (20%) is comparable between low-CSD and high-CSD melanomas. ARID2 and TP53 mutation frequencies are elevated in the high-CSD subtype (Krauthammer et al. 2012), perhaps due in part to the bounty of C > T substitutions that derive from chronic sun exposure. To date, large-scale sequencing studies have analyzed low-CSD and high-CSD melanomas as one group; however, their distinct mutational profiles suggest that separate analyses may be more informative.

Not surprisingly, the mutational landscape of high-CSD melanomas shows a marked increase in C > T substitutions compared to that of low-CSD melanomas, where C > T mutations are already quite common. An average high-CSD melanoma

displays a point mutation rate of approximately 20 mutations per Mb of DNA (Mar et al. 2013). Such an elevated mutation burden is on the high end of all melanoma subtypes and is exceeded only by the desmoplastic subtype, discussed in the following section. As immunotherapy advances in clinical use, the high mutational load of high-CSD melanoma may hopefully render it particularly foreign to a reinvigorated immune system.

In further contrast with low-CSD melanomas, high-CSD melanomas are not associated with nevi (Whiteman et al. 2003). This observation goes hand-in-hand with the *BRAF* V600E mutation, the primary genetic driver of acquired nevi, occurring less commonly in high-CSD melanomas. Instead, high-CSD melanomas are associated with a lentiginous growth pattern where melanocytes are distributed as a single cell along the basement membrane of the epidermis. Such a cellular distribution may be driven by the non-*BRAF*-V600E MAPK pathway mutations common in high-CSD melanoma.

Age of incidence additionally underscores a distinction between low-CSD and high-CSD melanomas. While the proportion of melanomas arising on the trunk of the body (intermittently exposed to the sun) peaks around 55 years of age, the proportion of melanomas arising on the chronically sun exposed face and ears peaks around 75 years (Lachiewicz et al. 2008). Incidence of melanomas on the face and ears continues to rise past 70 years of age, while incidence of melanomas on the trunk has already plateaued by then. It remains a paradox why melanocytes sustaining higher levels of mutagenic UV radiation should develop more slowly into melanomas than their low-CSD counterparts.

Desmoplastic

Like high-CSD melanomas, desmoplastic melanomas arise later in life on areas of high sun exposure, such as the face and the neck. The cells of this melanoma subtype are located primarily in the dermis. However, a high mutation prevalence (62 mutations/Mb on average) with a C > T UV radiation signature intimates an epidermally located cell-of-origin (Shain et al. 2015b).

BRAF V600E and *NRAS* Q61 mutations are not seen in desmoplastic melanomas, nor are *KIT* mutations. The most common mutations in desmoplastic melanoma are *TERT* promoter mutations in 85% of tumors, *NF1* mutations in 52–93%, and *TP53* mutations in 48–60% (Fig. 6a) (Shain et al. 2015b; Wiesner et al. 2015). There are also recurrent mutations, often homozygous, in the promoter of *NFKBIE* in 14.5% of cases. Such mutations likely lead to increased expression of the IKBE protein, an inhibitor of the NF-KB signaling cascade.

Many other genes are mutated in desmoplastic melanoma, but the exceptionally high mutation prevalence makes identifying driver mutations a challenge, especially as few tumors have been sequenced to date. Genes with a relatively high fraction of loss-of-function mutations, likely to serve as drivers, include *CDKN2A*, *ARID2*, *CBL FBXW7*, and *RB1*, among others mutated in 10–30% of cases (Fig. 6a). Several mutations seen recurrently in other melanoma subtypes have also been observed at low levels in desmoplastic melanoma (around 3%), specifically *MAP2K1* P124 mutations, *PPP6C* R264C, and *RAC1* P29S (Shain et al. 2015b).

Copy number alterations occur less often in desmoplastic melanoma than in other melanoma subtypes. Deletion of *CDKN2A* has been noted in 18% of examined tumors and *NF1* in 6.5% (Shain et al. 2015b).

Glabrous

Glabrous, or non-hair-bearing, skin can be found covering the palms of the hands, soles of the feet, and in the nail beds. Melanomas that arise in glabrous skin are termed acral melanomas. Acral melanomas are not associated with acral nevi and tend to grow around eccrine glands during early stages of in situ acral melanoma.

By virtue of both their location and a thick stratum corneum or nail plate, acral melanocytes and their neoplastic outgrowths are not exposed



Fig. 6 Driver mutation landscape of desmoplastic and uveal melanoma. (a) Co-occurrence plot of putative driver mutations and copy number alterations in desmoplastic melanoma. Genes are represented as rows and individual desmoplastic melanoma samples as columns. (b) Co-occurrence plot of mutations in GNAQ, GNA11, BAP1, EPB41L3, EIF1AX, and SF3B1 in uveal

melanoma, grouped by disomy/monosomy 3 status. Individual uveal melanoma tumors are represented as columns and genes as rows (Figures reprinted with permission from (a) Shain et al., Nat Genet 2015. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng.3382 and (b) Martin et al., Nat Genet 2013. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng.2674)

to high levels of UV radiation. As a result, the genomes of acral melanomas do not tend to show a signature of UV light–induced mutagenesis and on average carry only a modest burden of point mutations of around 2–3 per Mbp (Berger et al. 2012; Furney et al. 2014; Hodis et al. 2012; Krauthammer et al. 2012). Instead numerous amplifications and deletions, arising early in neoplastic progression and distinct in pattern from those of cutaneous melanomas, are more characteristic of the mutational landscape of this subtype of melanoma (Bastian et al. 2000b; Curtin et al. 2005).

The most frequent amplifications increase the number of copies of *CCND1*, *TERT*, *CDK4*, and *KIT* (Curtin et al. 2005, 2006). Amplifications of *CCND1* and *CDK4* occur in a mutually exclusive pattern. Frequent deletions also overlap the *CDKN2A* gene locus, specifically in tumors without *CDK4* amplifications.

Mutations commonly affect *KIT* (13.5% of tumors), *BRAF* (16.2%), and *NRAS* (11.4%). Any given acral melanoma tends to be mutant in only one of these three genes, if any (Curtin et al. 2005, 2006; de Vazquez et al. 2016). *TERT* promoter mutations (8.4%) have also been reported in acral melanoma.

Mucosal

Mucosal (Nonocular Mucosal)

Outside of the skin, melanocytes also inhabit the epithelial mucosa that lines the respiratory, intestinal, and urogenital tracts. Neoplasia of these mucosal melanocytes is most common in the anogenital mucosa and in the sinonasal cavity and paranasal sinuses.

Mucosal melanomas tend to have a high frequency of focal amplifications and deletions (Curtin et al. 2005) and a low frequency of point mutations, in comparison with cutaneous melanomas (Furney et al. 2013; Hodis et al. 2012; Krauthammer et al. 2012). Mucosal melanocytes are generally inaccessible to the rays of the sun; correspondingly, a signature of UV light–induced C > T mutations is not a feature of mucosal melanoma.

Focal amplifications and mutations (often activating) affect *KIT* in 30–40% of mucosal

melanomas (Beadling et al. 2008; Curtin et al. 2006). *BRAF* or *NRAS* mutations are only seen in 3-11% and 5% of tumors, respectively (Curtin et al. 2005, 2006).

Focal amplifications of *CDK4* and deletions of *CDKN2A* are common and occur in a mutually exclusive fashion (Curtin et al. 2005). Focal deletions and mutations also frequently affect the tumor suppressor gene *PTEN* (Curtin et al. 2005; Furney et al. 2013).

Conjunctival (Ocular Mucosal)

The conjunctiva of the eye is a mucosal epithelium and contains resident melanocytes. Conjunctival melanoma can develop de novo, from conjunctival nevi, or from primary acquired melanosis. Generally, melanocytes in the bulbar conjunctiva receive sun exposure, and malignant neoplasms of these cells have a high point mutation burden (~30/Mb) with a C > T mutational signature of UV light (Rivolta et al. 2015).

BRAF mutations have been identified in 50% of conjunctival nevi and 29–40% of conjunctival melanomas with mutations being more frequent on lesions involving the bulbar conjunctiva, but 0% of primary acquired melanosis (Goldenberg-Cohen et al. 2005; Griewank et al. 2013), suggesting multiple possible neoplastic trajectories. *NRAS* mutations are reported to occur in 18% of conjunctival melanomas, in the absence of *BRAF* mutations, and copy number gains including the *KIT* locus affect 17% of these tumors.

TERT promoter mutations exist in 8% of primary acquired melanosis and 41% of conjunctival melanomas, but 0% of conjunctival nevi (Koopmans et al. 2014).

The copy number alterations observed in conjunctival melanomas parallel those seen in cutaneous rather than uveal melanomas. Loss of the *PTEN* 10q23 locus is common in the context of *BRAF* mutation (Griewank et al. 2013).

Conjunctival melanocytic neoplasms, in particular those arising from the bulbar, sun-exposed conjunctiva, seem to be more similar in terms of driver mutation patterns to cutaneous melanocytic neoplasms (specifically the low-CSD subtype) than to mucosal melanocytic neoplasms. Melanomas arising from the tarsal conjunctiva that arise from primary acquired melanosis may be more closely related to mucosal melanomas, but additional studies are needed to catalog their genetic alterations.

Congenital

Congenital nevi are melanocytic nevi that arise in utero. Clinically, this definition is not held strict, and nevi acquired shortly after birth are also sometimes called congenital nevi. Congenital nevi are commonly bigger in diameter than acquired nevi, can cover large swathes of the body, and may be associated with multiple satellite congenital nevi.

Over 80% of congenital nevi harbor Q61 activating mutations in *NRAS* (Bauer et al. 2007) as the sole detectable mutation. Because these mutations happen in utero, UV light necessarily cannot play a role.

Less commonly, *BRAF* gene fusions have been reported in congenital nevi with wildtype *NRAS* (Dessars et al. 2007). Whether V600E mutations in *BRAF* exist in congenital nevi is a more contentious question (Charbel et al. 2013), and reports of such may be confounded by the difficulty in ascertaining whether the nevi in question indeed arose in utero.

Although congenital nevi do not appear to arise in association with an epithelium, their driver mutation spectrum strongly suggests they be grouped with other epithelium-associated melanocytic neoplasms. The high prevalence of *NRAS* mutations and corresponding lack of *GNAQ* or *GNA11* mutations (see next section for discussion of these mutations) suggest a melanocyte cell-of-origin fated for epithelial residence.

Within congenital nevi, benign proliferative nodules can develop, which tend not to progress to malignancy, and even regress. Whole chromosome aneuploidy is common in these nodules, most frequently loss of chromosome 7 in 30% of tumors examined (Bastian et al. 2002).

Melanomas may develop within congenital nevi, an especially common event in large or giant congenital nevi. The driving mutations of this neoplastic progression await discovery.

Neoplasms Arising from Nonepithelial Melanocytes

Skin

Blue nevi are benign neoplasms of nonepithelial melanocytes. The melanocytes of these neoplasms primarily populate the dermis.

Acquired blue nevi overwhelmingly display mutation of Q209 in either *GNAQ* or *GNA11*, in roughly 65–80% and 7% of cases, respectively (Raamsdonk et al. 2008, 2010). R183 mutations are significantly less common.

Congenital blue nevi include nevi of Ota, nevi of Ito, and Mongolian spots. Mongolian spots affect the lower back. Nevi of Ota involve the trigeminal nerve, periorbital skin, and the conjunctiva of the eye. Nevi of Ota are a risk factor for uveal melanoma; around 20% have a *GNAQ* or *GNA11* mutation. The same mutations are also seen in nevi of Ito, which involve the cervical nerve and shoulder (Tse et al. 2016).

Like acquired nevi, blue nevi rarely become malignant, but there is some evidence that loss-of-function mutations of *BAP1* may be a driver of blue nevus-like melanoma (Dai et al. 2016; Yeh et al. 2014).

Eye

Melanocytes also inhabit the uveal tract of the eye: the choroid, ciliary body, and iris. Melanocytic neoplasia in the uveal tract produces uveal nevi and melanomas. Uveal melanoma accounts for 5% of all melanomas and is the most common primary cancer of the eye.

Uveal melanoma risk has not been definitively associated with UV light exposure by epidemiological studies. Additionally, sequencing studies did not reveal a preponderance of C > T mutations, the canonical mutation induced by UV light (Johansson et al. 2016). Instead, uveal melanoma is characterized by low point mutation prevalence (average of 10.6 nonsilent coding mutations (Johansson et al. 2016)) and recurrent chromosomal copy number alterations.

A missense mutation in either GNA11 or GNAQ, encoding homologous G-protein α subunits, appears to be the common initiating event in uveal melanocytic neoplasia. Over 80% of uveal melanomas have a mutation of Q209 (more common) or R183 in either GNA11 or GNAQ (Raamsdonk et al. 2008, 2010). Both mutations interfere with GTPase activity (Q209 completely abolishes it, R183 only partially) of the Gaq proteins, leading to constitutive activity. GNA11 and GNAQ appear to signal through the protein kinase C pathway, the MAP kinase pathway, and the Hippo pathway, promoting melanocyte proliferation (Feng et al. 2014; Yu et al. 2014). In cases without GNA11 or GNAQ mutations, D630Y mutations in the downstream effector PLCB4 have been noted (4% of cases) (Johansson et al. 2016) as well as L129Q mutations in the upstream receptor CYSLTR2 (3%) (Moore et al. 2016). Both mutations are likely oncogenic.

Chromosomal copy number alterations are frequent in uveal melanoma, most often manifesting as monosomy 3, trisomy 8, deletions in chromosome 1, and alterations in chromosome 6 (Chattopadhyay et al. 2016; Horsman and White 1993).

Whereas the presence of a GNA11 or GNAQ mutation is a ubiquitous, early feature of uveal melanomas, monosomy 3 is a later event that splits the malignancy into two groups of roughly equal prevalence. Monosomy 3 is strongly associated with metastasis, primarily to the liver. The target of monosomy 3 appears to be BAP1 (BRCA1-associated protein 1), since over 80% of the 50–60% of uveal melanomas with monosomy 3 also have deleterious mutations in BAP1 (Harbour et al. 2010). BAP1 encodes a nuclear deubiquitinase, possibly involved in chromatin remodeling.

Uveal melanomas disomic in chromosome 3 rarely metastasize and tend to be wildtype in *BAP1*. In place of *BAP1* mutations, mutually exclusive mutations in either *SF3B1* (splicing factor 3b subunit 1) or *EIF1AX* (eukaryotic translation initiation factor 1A, X-linked) are common (Fig. 6b) (Harbour et al. 2013; Martin et al. 2013). *SF3B1* missense mutations in codon 625 occur in roughly 20% of disomy 3 uveal melanomas, while *EIF1AX* N-terminal missense mutations for approximately 65% of disomy 3 uveal melanomas.

Internal Organs

Melanocytoma of the Central Nervous System

Autochthonous melanocytes reside in the leptomeninges of the central nervous system (CNS). Neoplasia of these nonepithelial melanocytes gives rise to blue nevi called melanocytomas of the CNS. Malignancy at this site of origin is termed a primary melanoma of the CNS, and an intermediate grade of melanocytoma is also recognized.

Melanocytomas of the CNS almost universally possess an activating mutation in Q209 of either GNAQ or GNA11 (Küsters-Vandevelde et al. 2010; Murali et al. 2012). Gains of chromosome 6p and losses of 3 or 3q have also been observed in 33% and 17%, respectively, of tumors examined (Koelsche et al. 2015).

Commonalities

The catalog of the driver mutations of each subtype of melanocytic neoplasia reveals the unique inner workings of each subtype (Table 1). But the catalog may also be studied in toto to detect patterns across subtypes, illuminating the basic genetic requirements for the development of melanoma.

There appear to be at least three main requirements for a melanocyte to transform into a melanoma. The first is activation of either the MAPK or the G α q signaling pathway. The second requirement is disruption of the p16/cyclin/ CDK/Rb pathway. The third is activation of telomerase.

The first two requirements have been recognized for some time. The existence of the third was made unimpeachable by the recent discovery of recurrent mutations in the promoter of *TERT* in roughly 70% of nonglabrous melanomas (Horn et al. 2013; Huang et al. 2013).

Should additional requirements exist, the continuing expansion of the catalog of driver mutations in melanocytic neoplasia will undoubtedly aid in their deciphering.

Table 1	Common	driver	mutations	of m	elanocytic
neoplasia	a. Frequent	mutation	is associated	d with	each sub-
type of m	elanoma are	e listed. N	lutations are	e class	ified either

as primary, initiating events, or events associated with neoplastic progression

Melanoma	Site of		
subtype	origin	Primary (MAPK/Gαq)	Progression
Low-CSD	Skin epithelium	BRAF (V600E), NRAS, NF1	TERT, CDKN2A, PTEN, TP53, ARID2, PPP6C, RAC1, IDH1, RPS27, MITF, MAP2K1, DDX3X
Spitzoid	Skin epithelium	Kinase fusions (<i>ROS1</i> , <i>NTRK1</i> , <i>ALK</i> , <i>BRAF</i> , <i>RET</i> , <i>MET</i>), <i>BRAF</i> (V600E), <i>HRAS</i>	TERT, CDKN2A
High-CSD	Skin epithelium	NF1, NRAS, BRAF (V600K), KIT, CCND1	TERT, TP53, ARID2
Desmoplastic	Skin epithelium	NFI	TERT, TP53, NFKBIE, CDKN2A, ARID2, CBL, FBXW7, RB1, MAP2K1, PPP6C, RAC1
Acral	Skin epithelium	BRAF, KIT, NRAS	TERT, CCND1, CDK4, CDKN2A
Mucosal	Mucosal epithelium	KIT, BRAF, NRAS	CDK4, CDKN2A, PTEN
Conjunctival	Mucosal epithelium	BRAF, NRAS, KIT	TERT, PTEN
Congenital	Develops in utero	NRAS	
Blue	Dermal	GNAQ, GNA11	BAP1
Uveal	Uveal tract of eye	GNAQ, GNA11, PLCB4, CYSLTR2	BAP1, EIF1AX, SF3B1
Leptomeningeal	Central nervous system	GNAQ, GNA11, or NRAS (when congenital nevus associated)	

Activation of MAPK or $G\alpha q$ Signaling

In epithelial melanomas and melanocytic neoplasms, activating mutations in the MAPK signaling pathway are nearly ubiquitous. Lending further credence to the importance of MAPK pathway activation is the observation that there tends to be only one mutated gene in the pathway per tumor. In each subtype, the MAPK pathway mutations are early events that usually suffice to form a nevus.

The classic subtype for making these observations is melanoma on nonglabrous skin, where sequencing studies have noted that mutations in *KIT, BRAF, NRAS, NF1, MAP2K1, HRAS*, and *KRAS* account for roughly 90% of tumors (Fig. 7) (TCGA Network 2015; Hodis et al. 2012). However, these observations generalize across subtypes: every single subtype of epithelial melanocytic neoplasm harbors driver mutations in the MAPK pathway in a mutually exclusive pattern. Spitzoid melanocytic neoplasms harbor BRAF fusions, amplifications or mutations in HRAS, or receptor tyrosine kinase fusions of relevance to the MAPK pathway. Desmoplastic melanomas do not have BRAF or NRAS mutations but instead commonly mutate or lose NF1. Glabrous and acral melanomas are often driven by mutations and amplifications of KIT, but also have driver mutations in BRAF and NRAS some of the time. Conjunctival melanomas display mutually exclusive mutations in BRAF, NRAS, and KIT. And finally, congenital nevi are driven by oncogenic NRAS mutations, while acquired nevi are mostly driven by BRAF mutations. Future sequencing studies are likely to reveal the existence of yet unappreciated MAPK pathway mutations that contribute to melanocytic neoplasia.



Fig. 7 Pathway-based summary of genetic drivers in cutaneous melanoma. Frequencies of candidate driver events in cutaneous melanoma overlaid on a schematic of the affected biological pathways. Aggregate frequency of alteration of a given pathway is given by the large, bold black percentage in each pathway-box. Frequency of alteration of each gene is displayed as four distinct numbers,

The clinical successes of small molecule inhibitors of BRAF and MEK in *BRAF* V600E melanomas underscore the importance of the MAPK signaling pathway in epithelial melanomas (TCGA Network 2015; Chapman et al. 2011; Flaherty et al. 2012). Not only is the pathway important in melanoma formation but also in tumor maintenance. Resistance to RAF and MEK inhibitors can come in the form of mutation-based reactivation of the MAPK pathway, further betraying the dependence of melanomas on MAPK pathway activity (Van Allen et al. 2014; Wagle et al. 2014).

In nonepithelial melanomas, activating mutations in the G α q pathway take the place of mutations in the MAPK pathway. This distinction may reflect a difference in developmental origin between melanocytes residing in epithelia versus

each representing the frequency of the gene being altered in a specific melanoma subtype. The four subtypes are *BRAF*mutant, *NRAS*-mutant, *NF1*-mutant, and triple-wildtype (wildtype in *BRAF*, *NRAS*, and *NF1*) melanoma (Figure reprinted with permission from TCGA Network, Cell 2015. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2015.05.044)

those located in nonepithelial tissues, or it may represent a difference in tissue environment. The former seems more likely given the diversity of tissue environments inhabited by both nonepithelial and epithelial melanocytes.

G α q pathway mutations are nearly ubiquitous in nonepithelial melanomas and melanocytic neoplasms, and only one such mutation tends to exist in each tumor. Again, these mutations are early, initiating events, apparently sufficient for nevus formation. Blue nevi, melanocytomas, uveal nevi, and uveal melanomas are driven by mutation of either *GNAQ* or *GNA11* in more than 80% of cases. In uveal melanomas without *GNAQ* or *GNA11* mutations, mutations in *PLCB4* or *CYSLTR2* often occur instead. Here too it seems reasonable that future studies will reveal novel $G\alpha q$ pathway mutations in tumors without recognized mutations in the pathway.

If initial success in targeting the MAPK pathway in cutaneous melanoma serves as any example, attempts to target the $G\alpha q$ pathway in uveal melanoma deserve prioritization.

Disruption of the p16/Cyclin/CDK/Rb Pathway

One of the earliest hints as to the importance of the Rb pathway in melanoma came with the discovery that *CDKN2A* mutations contribute frequently to both hereditary and sporadic melanomas (Hussussian et al. 1994; Kamb et al. 1994). While questions soon arose as to whether the p16 or the p14 protein product of the *CDKN2A* locus was the main culprit, subsequent sequencing studies credentialed the p16/cyclin/CDK/Rb pathway as more often mutated in melanoma, in comparison with the (still important) p14/MDM2/p53 pathway.

Mutations in the p16/cyclin/CDK/Rb pathway affect roughly 70% of nonglabrous skin melanomas (Fig. 7) (TCGA Network 2015). Only one of the various components of this pathway appears to be altered in any given tumor. Most commonly, p16 is lost through deletions or loss-of-function mutations in *CDKN2A*. In cases where wildtype p16 is present, *RB1* may be lost, *CDK4* may harbor an activating R24C mutation, or *CCND1* may be amplified.

Glabrous skin melanomas show frequent amplifications of *CCND1* or *CDK4* in a mutually exclusive pattern. With the same sort of pattern, mucosal melanomas harbor focal amplifications of *CDK4* or deletions of *CDKN2A*. Biallelic *CDKN2A* loss is seen in atypical Spitz tumors. And, roughly 70% of desmoplastic melanomas harbor mutations in the Rb pathway, including frequent mutations of either *CDKN2A* or *RB1* and amplifications of *CDK4* and *CCND1*.

The high frequency (around 70% in certain subtypes of melanoma) at which one and only one gene member of the p16/cyclin/CDK/RB pathway undergoes mutation in melanoma suggests that derangement of this pathway is compulsory, or nearly so, for melanoma formation.

In melanomas arising in nonepithelial tissues (blue, uveal, internal organ), mutations in the p16/cyclin/CDK/Rb pathway are generally not observed. If a parallel requirement exists in nonepithelial melanoma, loss of *BAP1* appears an attractive candidate for further investigation given its common loss in blue and uveal melanocytic neoplasms that have progressed beyond the nevus state.

The requirement for p16/cyclin/CDK/Rb pathway dysregulation, at least in epithelial melanomas, offers another target for future therapies. Reversing loss of the p16 tumor suppressor is not currently possible, but inhibition of downstream kinases CDK4/6 appears a reasonable strategy. As CDK4/6 inhibitors begin to show promise in clinical trials in other cancers, it will be worth considering simultaneous targeting of both the MAPK pathway and the p16/cyclin/ CDK/Rb pathway in melanoma. Co-targeting two required and nearly orthogonal pathways should reduce the odds of acquired resistance to therapy.

Telomerase Activity

Over 90% of melanomas have detectable telomerase activity (Glaessl et al. 1999). Telomerase is a ribonucleoprotein enzyme responsible for replicating the protective repeat sequences found at the end of chromosomes, known as telomeres. Without telomerase, telomeres shorten with each round of cell division, eventually exposing chromosomal ends, which then fuse by nonhomologous end joining leading to di- and multicentric chromosomes and genomic instability. Telomere attrition thus provides a limit on the total number of cell cycles a cell may undergo in the absence of telomerase activity ("the Hayflick limit"). Somatic cells apart from stem cells do not express TERT, the catalytic protein subunit of telomerase, so as a result telomerase remains inactive in these cells. Cancers, on the other hand, must find a way to activate telomerase in order to maintain their telomeres in pursuit of replicative immortality.

Telomerase activation often comes by way of turning on expression of *TERT*; the remaining subunit of telomerase, encoded by *TERC*, is usually already expressed in somatic cells.

The majority of melanomas appear to initiate expression of *TERT* through mutating the *TERT* promoter. Recurrent mutations affecting either one of two base pairs in the *TERT* promoter are found in approximately 70% of nonglabrous melanomas, 85% of desmoplastic melanomas, and 41% of conjunctival melanomas, as noted earlier in this chapter. Both promoter mutations are expected to activate expression from the *TERT* locus through creation of an Ets family transcription factor binding site proximal to the start site of transcription. *TERT* amplifications are also found in melanoma, and glabrous melanomas display focal *TERT* amplifications, as well as occasional *TERT* promoter mutations.

Melanomas of the extra-epithelial lineage generally do not harbor *TERT* promoter mutations or *TERT* amplifications, yet have active telomerase (Heine et al. 2000). The common mechanisms by which telomerase is activated in these melanomas remain to be elucidated.

As nearly all melanomas seem to require telomerase activity, at least at some point in pathogenesis, efforts to investigate telomerase as a therapeutic target in melanoma should be revived. Telomerase inhibition offers the benefit of targeting a melanoma requirement that is independent from either the requirement for MAPK (or Gaq) signaling or the requirement for dysregulation of the p16/cyclin/CDK/Rb pathway, and so may present a third orthogonal vulnerability for concurrent targeting.

Conclusion

Based on knowledge of genetic alterations common across subtypes of melanoma, at least three requirements for melanoma pathogenesis may be deduced. The first is activation of either the MAPK or the Gaq signaling pathway, the second is disruption of the p16/cyclin/CDK/Rb pathway, and the third is telomerase activity. The latter two requirements do not yet seem to translate directly to melanomas arising in nonepithelial tissues and may benefit from future redefinition as more is learned about such melanomas. In addition, each subtype of melanoma and melanocytic neoplasia demonstrates its own recurrent cast of mutated genes, some of which may be shared with just one or two other subtypes. UV radiation often fuels the dominant mutagenic process; however, genomic instability too molds the melanoma genome. The genetics of melanocytic neoplasia defines the evolutionary paths to melanoma genesis and progression and provides the ultimate lens through which the disease must be viewed if it is to be understood.

Acknowledgments E.H. is grateful for support from NIH grant T32GM007753 (PI: Loren D. Walensky), NIH/NIGMS grant 26260725 (PI: James M. Hogle), the Herchel Smith Fellowship, the Paul and Daisy Soros Fellowship for New Americans, and the Landry Cancer Research Fellowship. L.A.G. is grateful for support from the Howard Hughes Medical Institute. E.H. would like to thank Dr. Ian R. Watson for helpful discussions and suggestions. The current state of knowledge as discussed in this chapter reflects years of work by many individuals and research labs, some of which regrettably could not be cited here due to space limitations. The authors sincerely apologize to those colleagues whose work was not cited.

Disclosure of Potential Conflicts of Interest

E.H. is a consultant for GV. L.A.G. reports receiving a commercial research grant from Novartis, has ownership interest (including patents) in Foundation Medicine, and is a consultant/advisory board member for Warp Drive, Novartis, Boehringer Ingelheim, and Foundation Medicine. L.A.G. is an employee of Eli Lilly and Company.

References

- Akbani R, Akdemir K, Aksoy A et al (2015) Genomic classification of cutaneous melanoma. Cell 161:1681–1696. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2015. 05.044
- Alexandrov LB, Nik-Zainal S, Wedge DC et al (2013) Signatures of mutational processes in human cancer. Nature 500:415–421. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nature12477
- Bastian BC (2014) The molecular pathology of melanoma: an integrated taxonomy of melanocytic neoplasia. Annu Rev Pathol 9:239–271. https://doi.org/10.1146/ annurev-pathol-012513-104658

- Bastian B, LeBoit P, Pinkel D (2000a) Mutations and copy number increase of HRAS in Spitz nevi with distinctive histopathological features. Am J Pathol 157:967–972. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0002-9440(10)64609-3
- Bastian BC, Kashani-Sabet M, Hamm H et al (2000b) Gene amplifications characterize acral melanoma and permit the detection of occult tumor cells in the surrounding skin. Cancer Res 60:1968–1973
- Bastian BC, Xiong J, Frieden IJ et al (2002) Genetic changes in neoplasms arising in congenital melanocytic nevi: differences between nodular proliferations and melanomas. Am J Pathol 161:1163–1169. https://doi. org/10.1016/S0002-9440(10)64393-3
- Bastian BC, Olshen AB, LeBoit PE, Pinkel D (2003) Classifying melanocytic tumors based on DNA copy number changes. Am J Pathol 163:1765–1770. https:// doi.org/10.1016/S0002-9440(10)63536-5
- Bauer J, Curtin JA, Pinkel D, Bastian BC (2007) Congenital melanocytic nevi frequently harbor NRAS mutations but no BRAF mutations. J Invest Dermatol 127:179–182. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.jid.5700490
- Beadling C, Jacobson-Dunlop E, Hodi FS et al (2008) KIT gene mutations and copy number in melanoma subtypes. Clin Cancer Res 14:6821–6828. https://doi.org/ 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-08-0575
- Berger MF, Hodis E, Heffernan TP et al (2012) Melanoma genome sequencing reveals frequent PREX2 mutations. Nature 485:502–506. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nature11071
- Bevona C, Goggins W, Quinn T et al (2003) Cutaneous melanomas associated with nevi. Arch Dermatol 139:1620–1624; discussion 1624. https://doi.org/ 10.1001/archderm.139.12.1620
- Chapman P, Hauschild A, Robert C et al (2011) Improved survival with vemurafenib in melanoma with BRAF V600E mutation. N Engl J Med 364:2507–2516. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1103782
- Charbel C, Fontaine R, Malouf G et al (2013) NRAS mutation is the sole recurrent somatic mutation in large congenital melanocytic nevi. J Invest Dermatol 134:1067–1074. https://doi.org/10.1038/jid.2013.429
- Chattopadhyay C, Kim DW, Gombos DS et al (2016) Uveal melanoma: from diagnosis to treatment and the science in between. Cancer. https://doi.org/10.1002/ cncr.29727
- Curtin J, Fridlyand J, Kageshita T et al (2005) Distinct sets of genetic alterations in melanoma. N Engl J Med 353:2135–2147. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa050092
- Curtin J, Busam K, Pinkel D, Bastian B (2006) Somatic Activation of KIT in Distinct Subtypes of Melanoma. J Clin Oncol 24:4340–4346. https://doi.org/10.1200/ JCO.2006.06.2984
- Dai J, Tetzlaff MT, Schuchter LM et al (2016) Histopathologic and mutational analysis of a case of blue nevuslike melanoma. J Cutan Pathol. https://doi.org/10.1111/ cup.12731
- Davies H, Bignell G, Cox C et al (2002) Mutations of the BRAF gene in human cancer. Nature 417:949–954. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature00766
- De Vazquez V, Vicente A, Carloni A et al (2016) Molecular profiling, including TERT promoter mutations, of acral

lentiginous melanomas. Melanoma Res 26:93. https://doi.org/10.1097/CMR.0000000000222

- Dessars B, De Raeve LE, El Housni H et al (2007) Chromosomal translocations as a mechanism of BRAF activation in two cases of large congenital melanocytic nevi. J Invest Dermatol 127:1468–1470. https://doi. org/10.1038/sj.jid.5700725
- Dutton-Regester K, Gartner JJ, Emmanuel R et al (2014) A highly recurrent RPS27 5'UTR mutation in melanoma. Oncotarget 5:2912–2917. https://doi.org/ 10.18632/oncotarget.2048
- Feng X, Degese MS, Iglesias-Bartolome R et al (2014) Hippo-independent activation of YAP by the GNAQ uveal melanoma oncogene through a trio-regulated rho GTPase signaling circuitry. Cancer Cell 25:831–845. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccr.2014.04.016
- Flaherty K, Infante J, Daud A et al (2012) Combined BRAF and MEK inhibition in melanoma with BRAF V600 mutations. N Engl J Med 367:1694–1703. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1210093
- Furney SJ, Turajlic S, Stamp G et al (2013) Genome sequencing of mucosal melanomas reveals that they are driven by distinct mechanisms from cutaneous melanoma. J Pathol 230:261–269. https://doi.org/10.1002/ path.4204
- Furney SJ, Turajlic S, Stamp G et al (2014) The mutational burden of acral melanoma revealed by whole-genome sequencing and comparative analysis. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res 27:835–838. https://doi.org/10.1111/ pcmr.12279
- Garibyan L, Fisher DE (2010) How sunlight causes melanoma. Curr Oncol Rep 12:319–326. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s11912-010-0119-y
- Garraway L, Widlund H, Rubin M et al (2005) Integrative genomic analyses identify MITF as a lineage survival oncogene amplified in malignant melanoma. Nature 436:117–122. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature03664
- Glaessl A, Bosserhoff AK, Buettner R et al (1999) Increase in telomerase activity during progression of melanocytic cells from melanocytic naevi to malignant melanomas. Arch Dermatol Res 291:81–87
- Glatz-Krieger K, Pache M, Tapia C et al (2006) Anatomic site-specific patterns of gene copy number gains in skin, mucosal, and uveal melanomas detected by fluorescence in situ hybridization. Virchows Arch 449:328–333. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00428-006-0167-8
- Goldenberg-Cohen N, Cohen Y, Rosenbaum E et al (2005) T1799A BRAF mutations in conjunctival melanocytic lesions. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 46:3027–3030. https://doi.org/10.1167/iovs.04-1449
- Griewank KG, Westekemper H, Murali R et al (2013) Conjunctival melanomas harbor BRAF and NRAS mutations and copy number changes similar to cutaneous and mucosal melanomas. Clin Cancer Res 19:3143–3152. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432. CCR-13-0163
- Harbour JW, Onken MD, Roberson ED et al (2010) Frequent mutation of BAP1 in metastasizing uveal melanomas. Science 330:1410–1413. https://doi.org/ 10.1126/science.1194472

- Harbour JW, Roberson ED, Anbunathan H et al (2013) Recurrent mutations at codon 625 of the splicing factor SF3B1 in uveal melanoma. Nat Genet 45:133–135. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng.2523
- Hastings PJ, Lupski J, Rosenberg S, Ira G (2009) Mechanisms of change in gene copy number. Nat Rev Genet 10:551–564. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg2593
- Heine B, Coupland SE, Kneiff S et al (2000) Telomerase expression in uveal melanoma. Br J Ophthalmol 84:217–223
- Hodis E, Watson I, Kryukov G et al (2012) A landscape of driver mutations in melanoma. Cell 150:251–263. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2012.06.024
- Horn S, Figl A, Rachakonda PS et al (2013) TERT promoter mutations in familial and sporadic melanoma. Science 339:959–961. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1230062
- Horsman DE, White VA (1993) Cytogenetic analysis of uveal melanoma. Consistent occurrence of monosomy 3 and trisomy 8q. Cancer 71:811–819
- Huang F, Hodis E, Xu M et al (2013) Highly recurrent TERT promoter mutations in human melanoma. Science 339:957–959. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1229259
- Hugo W, Zaretsky JM, Sun L et al (2016) Genomic and transcriptomic features of response to anti-PD-1 therapy in metastatic melanoma. Cell 165:35–44. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2016.02.065
- Hussussian, Struewing, Goldstein (1994) Germline p16 mutations in familial melanoma. https://www.nature. com/articles/ng0994-15 https://doi.org/10.1038/ ng0994-15
- Johansson P, Aoude LG, Wadt K et al (2016) Deep sequencing of uveal melanoma identifies a recurrent mutation in PLCB4. Oncotarget 7:4624–4631. https:// doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.6614
- Kamb A, Gruis NA, Weaver-Feldhaus J et al (1994) A cell cycle regulator potentially involved in genesis of many tumor types. Science 264:436–440
- Koelsche C, Hovestadt V, Jones D et al (2015) Melanotic tumors of the nervous system are characterized by distinct mutational, chromosomal and epigenomic profiles. Brain Pathol 25:202–208. https://doi.org/10.1111/ bpa.12228
- Koopmans A, Ober K, Dubbink H et al (2014) Prevalence and implications of TERT promoter mutation in uveal and conjunctival melanoma and in benign and premalignant conjunctival melanocytic lesions role of TERT promoter mutation in ocular melanoma. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 55:6024–6030. https://doi.org/ 10.1167/iovs.14-14901
- Krauthammer M, Kong Y, Ha B et al (2012) Exome sequencing identifies recurrent somatic RAC1 mutations in melanoma. Nat Genet 44:1006–1014. https:// doi.org/10.1038/ng.2359
- Krauthammer M, Kong Y, Bacchiocchi A et al (2015) Exome sequencing identifies recurrent mutations in NF1 and RASopathy genes in sun-exposed melanomas. Nat Genet 47:996–1002. https://doi.org/10.1038/ ng.3361

- Küsters-Vandevelde H, Klaasen A, Küsters B et al (2010) Activating mutations of the GNAQ gene: a frequent event in primary melanocytic neoplasms of the central nervous system. Acta Neuropathol 119:317–323. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00401-009-0611-3
- Lachiewicz AM, Berwick M, Wiggins CL, Thomas NE (2008) Epidemiologic support for melanoma heterogeneity using the surveillance, epidemiology, and end results program. J Invest Dermatol 128:243–245. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.jid.5701028
- Lee S, Barnhill R, Dummer R et al (2015) TERT promoter mutations are predictive of aggressive clinical behavior in patients with spitzoid melanocytic neoplasms. Sci Rep 5:11200. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep11200
- Maldonado JL, Fridlyand J, Patel H et al (2003) Determinants of BRAF mutations in primary melanomas. J Natl Cancer Inst 95:1878–1890
- Mar VJ, Wong SQ, Li J et al (2013) BRAF/NRAS wildtype melanomas have a high mutation load correlating with histologic and molecular signatures of UV damage. Clin Cancer Res 19:4589–4598. https://doi.org/ 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-13-0398
- Martin M, Maßhöfer L, Temming P et al (2013) Exome sequencing identifies recurrent somatic mutations in EIF1AX and SF3B1 in uveal melanoma with disomy 3. Nat Genet 45:933–936. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng.2674
- Menzies AM, Haydu LE, Visintin L et al (2012) Distinguishing clinicopathologic features of patients with V600E and V600K BRAF-mutant metastatic melanoma. Clin Cancer Res 18:3242–3249. https://doi.org/ 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-12-0052
- Mitra D, Luo X, Morgan A et al (2012) An ultravioletradiation-independent pathway to melanoma carcinogenesis in the red hair/fair skin background. Nature 491:449–453. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature11624
- Moore AR, Ceraudo E, Sher JJ et al (2016) Recurrent activating mutations of G-protein-coupled receptor CYSLTR2 in uveal melanoma. Nat Genet 48:675–680. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng.3549
- Murali R, Wiesner T, Rosenblum M, Bastian B (2012) GNAQ and GNA11 mutations in melanocytomas of the central nervous system. Acta Neuropathol 123:457–459. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00401-012-0948-x
- Noonan F, Zaidi R, Wolnicka-Glubisz A et al (2012) Melanoma induction by ultraviolet A but not ultraviolet B radiation requires melanin pigment. Nat Commun 3:884. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms1893
- Pleasance ED, Cheetham RK, Stephens PJ et al (2010) A comprehensive catalogue of somatic mutations from a human cancer genome. Nature 463:191–196. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature08658
- Polak P, Karlić R, Koren A et al (2015) Cell-of-origin chromatin organization shapes the mutational landscape of cancer. Nature 518:360–364. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/nature14221
- Pollock PM, Harper UL, Hansen KS et al (2003) High frequency of BRAF mutations in nevi. Nat Genet 33:19–20. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng1054

- Premi S, Wallisch S, Mano C et al (2015) Photochemistry. Chemiexcitation of melanin derivatives induces DNA photoproducts long after UV exposure. Science 347:842–847. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1256022
- Raamsdonk C, Bezrookove V, Green G et al (2008) Frequent somatic mutations of GNAQ in uveal melanoma and blue naevi. Nature 457:599–602. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/nature07586
- Raamsdonk C, Griewank K, Crosby M et al (2010) Mutations in GNA11 in uveal melanoma. N Engl J Med 363:2191–2199. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa 1000584
- Rhodes AR, Weinstock MA, Fitzpatrick TB et al (1987) Risk factors for cutaneous melanoma. A practical method of recognizing predisposed individuals. JAMA 258:3146–3154
- Rivolta C, Royer-Bertrand B, Rimoldi D et al (2015) UV light signature in conjunctival melanoma; not only skin should be protected from solar radiation. J Hum Genet 61:361–362. https://doi.org/10.1038/jhg.2015.152
- Sancar A, Lindsey-Boltz L, Ünsal-Kaçmaz K, Linn S (2004) Molecular mechanisms of mammalian DNA repair and the DNA damage checkpoints. Annu Rev Biochem 73:39–85. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev. biochem.73.011303.073723
- Shain AH, Yeh I, Kovalyshyn I et al (2015a) The genetic evolution of melanoma from precursor lesions. N Engl J Med 373:1926–1936. https://doi.org/10.1056/ NEJMoa1502583
- Shain H, Garrido M, Botton T et al (2015b) Exome sequencing of desmoplastic melanoma identifies recurrent NFKBIE promoter mutations and diverse activating mutations in the MAPK pathway. Nat Genet 47:1194–1199. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng.3382
- Shitara D, Nascimento MM, Puig S et al (2014) Nevusassociated melanomas: clinicopathologic features. Am J Clin Pathol 142:485–491. https://doi.org/10.1309/ AJCP4L5CJGKTJVDD
- Snyder A, Makarov V, Merghoub T et al (2014) Genetic basis for clinical response to CTLA-4 blockade in melanoma. N Engl J Med 371:2189–2199. https://doi. org/10.1056/NEJMoa1406498
- Stratton M, Campbell P, Futreal A (2009) The cancer genome. Nature 458:719–724. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/nature07943
- Taylor J-S (2005) Mechanisms and mutagenic consequences of photoproduct bypass by replicative and DNA damage bypass polymerases. In: From DNA photolesions to mutations, skin cancer and cell death. Royal Society of Chemistry, Cambridge, UK, pp 57–92
- Tsao H, Zhang X, Benoit E, Haluska FG (1998) Identification of PTEN/MMAC1 alterations in uncultured melanomas and melanoma cell lines. Oncogene 16:3397–3402. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.onc.1201881
- Tsao H, Zhang X, Fowlkes K, Haluska FG (2000) Relative reciprocity of NRAS and PTEN/MMAC1 alterations in cutaneous melanoma cell lines. Cancer Res 60:1800–1804

- Tse JY, Walls BE, Pomerantz H, Yoon CH, Buchbinder EI, Werchniak AE, Dong F, Lian CG, Granter SR (2016) Melanoma arising in a nevus of Ito: novel genetic mutations and a review of the literature on cutaneous malignant transformation of dermal melanocytosis. J Cutan Pathol 43(1):57–63. https://doi.org/10.1111/ cup.12568. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/ 26260725
- Van Allen EM, Wagle N, Sucker A et al (2014) The genetic landscape of clinical resistance to RAF inhibition in metastatic melanoma. Cancer Discov 4:94–109. https:// doi.org/10.1158/2159-8290.CD-13-0617
- Van Allen EM, Miao D, Schilling B et al (2015) Genomic correlates of response to CTLA-4 blockade in metastatic melanoma. Science 350:207–211. https://doi.org/ 10.1126/science.aad0095
- Van Engen-van Grunsven AC, van Dijk MC, Ruiter DJ et al (2010) HRAS-mutated Spitz tumors: a subtype of Spitz tumors with distinct features. Am J Surg Pathol 34:1436–1441. https://doi.org/10.1097/PAS.0b013e 3181f0a749
- Wagle N, Van Allen EM, Treacy DJ et al (2014) MAP kinase pathway alterations in BRAF-mutant melanoma patients with acquired resistance to combined RAF/MEK inhibition. Cancer Discov 4:61–68. https:// doi.org/10.1158/2159-8290.CD-13-0631
- Whiteman DC, Watt P, Purdie DM et al (2003) Melanocytic nevi, solar keratoses, and divergent pathways to cutaneous melanoma. J Natl Cancer Inst 95:806–812
- Wiesner T, Obenauf AC, Murali R et al (2011) Germline mutations in BAP1 predispose to melanocytic tumors. Nat Genet 43:1018–1021. https://doi.org/10.1038/ ng.910
- Wiesner T, Murali R, Fried I et al (2012) A distinct subset of atypical Spitz tumors is characterized by BRAF mutation and loss of BAP1 expression. Am J Surg Pathol 36:818–830. https://doi.org/10.1097/ PAS.0b013e3182498be5
- Wiesner T, He J, Yelensky R et al (2014) Kinase fusions are frequent in Spitz tumours and spitzoid melanomas. Nat Commun 5:3116. https://doi.org/10.1038/ ncomms4116
- Wiesner T, Kiuru M, Scott SN et al (2015) NF1 mutations are common in desmoplastic melanoma. Am J Surg Pathol 39:1357–1362. https://doi.org/10.1097/PAS. 0000000000000451
- Yeh I, Mully T, Wiesner T et al (2014) Ambiguous melanocytic tumors with loss of 3p21. Am J Surg Pathol 1. https://doi.org/10.1097/PAS.000000000000209
- Yeh I, Botton T, Talevich E et al (2015) Activating MET kinase rearrangements in melanoma and Spitz tumours. Nat Commun 6:7174. https://doi.org/10.1038/ ncomms8174
- Yu F-XX, Luo J, Mo J-SS et al (2014) Mutant Gq/11 promote uveal melanoma tumorigenesis by activating YAP. Cancer Cell 25:822–830. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.ccr.2014.04.017

Check for updates

Biology of Melanoma Metastasis

Qiaoli Ma, Lothar C. Dieterich, and Michael Detmar

Contents

Introduction	148
Dormancy in Metastatic Melanoma	149
Quiescence of Disseminated Tumor Cells	149
Lack of Blood Vessel Supply and the Angiogenic Switch	150
Immunosurveillance	151
Local Invasion	151
The Molecular Basis of Invasive Growth	151
Satellite Lesions	153
Lymphatic and Angiogenic Spread	153
Structure and Function of the Vascular System	153
Lymphatic Remodeling and Metastasis in Melanoma	154
Hematogenous Metastasis	157
Molecular Mediators of Angiogenesis and Lymphangiogenesis in Melanoma	158
Angiotropism, a Special Form of Vascular Metastasis	160
Additional Roles of Lymphatic and Blood Vessels in Tumor Progression	160
Conclusion	161
References	161

Abstract

Metastasis is the major cause of death in patients suffering from malignant melanoma, one of the most aggressive types of cancer. Local recurrence is rare in melanoma, but regional and distant metastasis, particularly in the brain, bone, lung and liver, may arise even many years after primary tumor resection, probably due to reactivation of dormant melanoma cells. Dormancy of dispersed melanoma cells is regulated by tumor cell intrinsic as well as extrinsic factors, including angiogenesis, immunosurveillance, and other stromadependent processes. Melanoma metastasis correlates with local invasion and the vertical growth phase at the primary site. During this phase, cancer cells invade deep into the dermis and interact with various stromal cells to gain access to blood and lymphatic vessels. Subsequently, melanoma cells migrate along the local lymphatic vasculature, sometimes

Q. Ma \cdot L. C. Dieterich \cdot M. Detmar (\boxtimes) Institute of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Swiss Federal Institute of Technology, ETH Zurich, Zurich, Switzerland e-mail: michael.detmar@pharma.ethz.ch

resulting in locoregional lesions such as intransit metastases, before reaching the draining lymph node and spreading systemically. Both lymphatic and blood vessels play a critical role in the dispersion of melanomas. Besides providing a simple transport route for cancer cells, endothelial cells are emerging as important and active players in melanoma metastasis. Conditioned by factors derived from the tumor microenvironment, the vasculature undergoes morphological and functional changes, which facilitate the metastatic process in multiple ways. Consequently, therapeutic manipulation of lymphatic and blood vessels may represent a new way to combat melanoma metastasis.

Keywords

Lymphangiogenesis · Angiogenesis · VEGF · Lymphatic vessels · Dormancy · Local invasion

Introduction

Malignant melanoma is one of the most aggressive cancer types. Whereas the primary tumor is usually completely removed by surgery, metastases are the predominant cause of mortality among melanoma patients. The 5-year overall survival for patients without regional or distant metastasis (Stage I) in a European cohort has been reported to be as high as 95-100%, whereas for patients with distant organ metastases (Stage IV), it was only 28-44% (Svedman et al. 2016). Only around 4% of the patients newly diagnosed with melanoma present with clinically apparent distant metastasis at the initial diagnosis. However, approximately one third of patients experience recurrence after resection of the primary tumor, usually not manifesting as local recurrence at the site of the original tumor, but as distant metastases. This distant metastatic recurrence in melanoma patients can occur within a relative short period of time, but in about 40% patients, it can take up to 5 years or more (Damsky et al. 2014).

Melanoma metastases can be classified based on their location into locoregional, regional, and distant metastases. Locoregional metastases include satellite lesions (in direct proximity to the primary tumor) and in-transit metastases, which develop from metastatic cells that have entered the lymphatic vascular system and grow to form a metastatic nodule at a distance of >2 cm from the primary tumor but proximal to the draining lymph node. The term "regional metastases" denotes lesions forming in the draining lymph node(s). Distant organ metastasis is common in malignant melanoma, and predominantly develops in the brain, bone, lung, and liver in the case of cutaneous melanomas, whereas uveal melanomas metastasize preferentially to the liver (Damsky et al. 2014). In addition to basic parameters such as primary tumor depth and ulceration, the metastatic pattern has an important influence on the prognosis and has consequently been included in the current staging system for cutaneous melanoma, established in 2003 by the Melanoma Staging Committee of the American Joint Committee on Cancer, which has subsequently been adopted by several health-care organizations around the world (Balch et al. 2004). Stage I and Stage II are comprised of patients without regional or distant metastases. Stage III patients have metastases either in the regional lymph nodes and/or regional skin or in-transit metastases, whereas Stage IV is defined by the presence of distant metastasis.

On a cellular level, the metastatic process can be divided into distinct steps, each of which represents a hurdle that cancer cells need to overcome in order to form a metastatic lesion. These stages include (a) local invasion into the dermis, (b) entry into the vasculature, (c) survival in the circulation, (d) extravasation at a distant organ site, and (e) survival and growth to form a metastasis. Consequently, the vascular system plays an important role in metastasis by providing a route for dissemination. In line with this model, it has traditionally been assumed that melanoma cells undergo a stepwise transformation process, acquiring the mutations that enable them to form distant metastasis only at late phases of tumor progression. This view is supported by the good clinical correlation between the depth of the primary tumor (representing the capability for local invasion) and the occurrence of distant metastasis. However, there is evidence that spread of tumor cells can occur very early during primary tumor formation as well. For example, metastatic spread of uveal melanoma cells has been detected up to 5 years before diagnosis of a primary tumor. In fact, 4–12% of patients with metastatic melanoma never presented with any detectable primary tumor. Thus, metastatic spread of malignant or even pre-malignant melanocytes may occur very early during tumor progression, at least in some cases. In line with this, nonmalignant melanocytes are found within the dermis and even in lymph nodes from non-melanoma-bearing patients, demonstrating an inherent capacity of melanocytes to migrate and disseminate, even before malignant transformation (Damsky et al. 2014).

The sometimes very long lag phase between primary tumor resection and recurrence, called the "dormancy period," indicates that disseminated melanoma cells can survive for extended periods of time in a dormant stage without growing into clinically manifest metastases. How dormancy of cancer cells and their "awakening" is regulated is still not fully understood, but several models have been proposed based both on clinical experience and experimental data.

This chapter summarizes our current knowledge about the regulation of dormancy, local invasion, and distant spread of metastatic melanoma cells through the blood and lymphatic vascular systems.

Dormancy in Metastatic Melanoma

Metastatic dormancy is defined clinically as the disease-free period between removal of the primary tumor and subsequent local or distant recurrence. In melanoma, local recurrence is rather rare, due to the advanced surgery procedures and safety margins. However, depending on the stage of the tumor at the time of resection, distant metastasis is much more common. Similar to, for example, prostate and breast cancer, melanomas often have a very long period of dormancy which may last up to many years after resection of the primary tumor, during which the patient remains clinically tumor-free. Localized melanoma can recur after disease-free intervals of 10 years or more, and a small subset of melanomas have been reported to have ultra-long dormancy with recurrence more than 20 years later (Damsky et al. 2011).

Clinical experience and experimental work has resulted in the proposal of several mechanisms that maintain melanoma cells in a dormant state and which trigger their release from dormancy and outgrowth to form a clinically detectable metastasis, respectively.

Quiescence of Disseminated Tumor Cells

Disseminated, single melanoma cells which are negative for the proliferation marker Ki67 and which show no signs of apoptosis are frequently detected in autopsy material. This phenomenon of solitary dormant tumor cells suggests that disseminated tumor cells (DTCs) can enter a state of reversible cell cycle arrest, or quiescence, during which they can remain viable over long periods of time without undergoing proliferation. Quiescence may result from a "mismatch" between the tumor cell and its host tissue but may also be actively maintained, either by tumor cell intrinsic factors or by signals derived from the microenvironment (Senft and Ronai 2016; Damsky et al. 2014). Signaling pathways associated with tumor dormancy appear to regulate growth, metabolism, and survival of cells in response to microenvironmental changes, such as p21 and p27 which control cell cycle, mTOR signaling, and the PI3K/AKT signaling pathway (Ossowski and Aguirre-Ghiso 2010; Senft and Ronai 2016).

As recurrence at distant sites can occur several years even after removal of low-grade tumors that showed no signs of invasion, it is conceivable that tumor cells or even pre-malignant melanocytes disseminate very early during disease development. These cells therefore may lack some of the mutations which mediate malignant transformation in the primary tumor, which results in their growth arrest. Only upon further genetic or epigenetic alterations, these cells would gain the ability to re-enter the cell cycle and form an overt metastasis. This model of "parallel progression" is supported by genetic analyses that indicated considerable heterogeneity between primary and matched metastatic tumors (Damsky et al. 2014).

There is significant heterogeneity among the cells within the primary tumor mass. In some cancer types, a relatively small population of cancer cells have been identified that possess stemlike properties such as self-renewal, reminiscent of normal tissue stem cells. These cells have been denoted as "cancer stem cells" (CSCs) or tumor-initiating cells. CSCs are thought to proliferate at a very low rate or remain in a quiescent state for long periods of time, making them resistant to conventional therapies such as chemotherapy and radiation therapy, which specifically target proliferating cells. The selfrenewal capacity of CSCs allows them to maintain and drive tumorigenesis, while the differencapability contributes to tiation cellular heterogeneity of the tumor. In the case of melanoma, the existence of a CSC pool has remained hypothetical. However, partial dedifferentiation of melanoma cells with a concomitant gain of certain stem-cell-like properties has been observed. For example, inflammatory stimuli were found to result in "phenotypic switching" of melanoma cells between a differentiated and dedifferentiated, stemlike state (Landsberg et al. 2012). Dedifferentiated melanoma cells disseminated to distant sites may account for some of the observed dormant DTCs and could become reactivated upon certain stimulating signals. Dormant cancer cells at distant sites are often found in close proximity to blood vessels, which have been suggested to provide a stemness mediating niche, similar to the niche in which normal body stem cells reside (Ossowski and Aguirre-Ghiso 2010). Somewhat paradoxically, hypoxia has also been implicated in the regulation of cellular dormancy and dedifferentiation of melanoma cells (Senft and Ronai 2016). Melanoma cells in hypoxic tumor regions are often amelanotic, and in vitro studies indicate that hypoxia can downregulate microphthalmiaassociated transcription factor (MITF), a key transcription factor for melanocyte differentiation. However, it remains currently unclear to what extent dedifferentiation of melanoma cells in fact contributes to the status of dormancy.

Lack of Blood Vessel Supply and the Angiogenic Switch

Rapid expansion of a tumor mass requires increased supply of oxygen and nutrients. However, angiogenesis is strictly regulated by pro-angiogenic factors such as vascular endothelial factors (VEGFs) and by endogenously expressed angiogenesis inhibitors, such as thrombospondin 1 (TSP-1) (Detmar 2000). Consequently, angiogenesis does not occur under physiologic conditions at distant sites, and small clusters of disseminated tumor cells may fail to recruit sufficient vascular supply due to the lack of expression of angiogenic factors and/or high expression of angiogenic inhibitors in the surrounding tissue. Under such conditions, tumor cell proliferation is counterbalanced by cell death caused by oxygen and nutrient deprivation, so that the metastasis remains very small and nonprogressive. Metastatic outgrowth will only occur upon a break in the balance of pro- and anti-angiogenic factors, termed as "angiogenic switch." This may occur, for example, when a subset of tumor cells adapt to produce elevated levels of angiogenic factors as a consequence of mutations or in response to environmental stress, in particular to inflammation that may be promoted by bone marrow-derived myeloid cells. Tumor-associated fibroblasts and other immune cells recruited to a metastasis are also thought to provide angiogenic factors that may induce the switch to a pro-angiogenic phenotype.

It is difficult to generate direct evidence whether this mechanism is actually relevant for tumor cell dormancy in melanoma patients, since dormant cells cannot be detected until they grow out to form a metastasis. However, it has been reported that human melanoma micrometastases, which proliferate at a low rate, are poorly vascularized, whereas macro-metastases, which proliferate at a high rate, are significantly better vascularized. Also, some experimental evidence suggests that anti-angiogenic therapies induce tumor growth inhibition and inhibit recurrence in animal melanoma models and in human melanoma patients (Ossowski and Aguirre-Ghiso 2010). However, whether the absence of angiogenesis is responsible for the prolonged quiescence of disseminated melanoma is still unknown. In fact, the observation that dormant tumor cells often reside in close proximity to pre-existing blood vessels speaks against a lack of blood supply as a determinant for the maintenance of dormancy, at least at the cellular level. Nevertheless, the angiogenic switch may still be involved in the transition from micro- to macrometastases.

Immunosurveillance

Organ transplantation between donors carrying dormant melanoma cells and immunocompromised recipients frequently results in rapid growth of metastases. This observation has led to the hypothesis that constant immunosurveillance at distant sites contributes to dormancy in melanoma. Melanoma is considered to be a rather immunogenic tumor type, due to its relatively higher frequency of mutations with effects on the protein sequence, as compared to most other human cancers, and to the expression of highly melanocyte-specific antigens such as Melan-A/ MART-1 that can be recognized by cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTL) in association with MHC class I. Consequently, CTL-mediated killing and/or cytostatic activity of immune cytokines such as IFN-y can restrict the growth of metastatic lesions (Ossowski and Aguirre-Ghiso 2010). Dormant cells likely evade immunosurveillance, for example, due to partial dedifferentiation and thus downregulation of melanocyte antigens or by the expression of immune-inhibitory signals. Furthermore, constant deletion of immunogenic tumor cells arising from dormant lesions results in the selection of poorly immunogenic and/or immunosuppressive cancer cell clones over time, a process termed "cancer immunoediting" (Vesely and Schreiber 2013). Such clones can then initiate proliferation and generate distant metastasis.

Taken together, the proposed tumor dormancy mechanisms can be divided into two major categories: dormancy of single disseminated tumor cells (quiescence) and dormancy of clusters of disseminated cancer cells at the micrometastatic state (angiogenic suppression and immunosurveillance). As of now, it is not entirely clear which of those mechanisms is the most important one in the case of melanoma, but it is conceivable that these mechanisms function in parallel to maintain the sometimes very long dormancy phases observed in melanoma patients.

Local Invasion

According to the classic "Clark Model" of melanoma growth (Elder 2016), primary melanoma develops from benign nevi or de novo, and progresses through distinct, histologically defined stages, before giving rise to fully malignant, metastatic disease. Tumors evolve from the radial growth phase (RGP), in which tumor growth is confined to epidermal layers, to a vertical growth phase (VGP), in which the tumor cells gain the ability to invade the dermis. This step in the tumor progression enables tumor cells to get in direct contact with blood and lymphatic vessels present in the dermis and to invade them, resulting in systemic dissemination. Molecular changes related to invasiveness, such as upregulation of growth factors, cytokines, angiogenic and fibrogenic factors, chemotactic and motility factors, as well as immune response-related molecules and adhesion molecules, have been identified in the VGP. Thus, angiogenesis and lymphangiogenesis are often induced during the VGP (Fig. 1).

The Molecular Basis of Invasive Growth

The transition from RGP to VGP is associated with changes in the gene expression pattern that help melanocytes to invade and proliferate in the dermal microenvironment. For example, decreased E-cadherin levels have been reported to reduce the interaction with keratinocytes that control the behavior of normal melanocytes; increased levels of N-cadherin on the other hand enable melanoma cells to interact with fibroblasts, facilitating survival outside of the epidermis. This is reminiscent of the epithelial-to-mesenchymal



Fig. 1 Development of metastatic melanoma. Primary melanomas develop from benign nevi or de novo (indicated by black arrows) and progress through the radial growth phase (*RGP*) to the vertical growth phase (*VGP*) and finally toward metastatic disease. The transition from RGP to VGP is associated with the acquisition of invasive

transition (EMT) process described in carcinomas, and indeed, transforming growth factorbeta (TGF-β)-induced upregulation of snail family transcription factors has been reported to induce a mesenchymal pattern of gene expression that promotes melanoma cell mobility and invasion. Also, expression changes in regulators of the cell cycle and apoptosis are considered crucial for tumor cell survival in the dermis. For example, combined gain-of-function mutations of the Ras gene and loss of TP53 can drive invasion by increasing survival of invasive cells. Similarly, B-raf signaling, which is often hyper-activated in melanoma due to mutations in the BRAF gene, is capable of promoting the expression of fibronectin and its receptor component integrin beta 3. Furthermore, growth factors and cytokines released by melanoma cells, including hepatocyte growth factor (HGF), TGF- β , and basic fibroblast growth factor

behavior and metastatic potential by regulating gene expression related to survival, cell adhesion, cell mobility, and (lymph)angiogenesis. Interactions between melanoma cells and stromal cells, including fibroblasts and immune cells, also facilitate the malignant progression. *BV* blood vessel, *LV* lymphatic vessel

(bFGF), may stimulate invasive growth in an autocrine manner (Gaggioli and Sahai 2007; Leong et al. 2012). Metalloproteinases (MMPs) from melanoma cells, such as MMP-2 and MMP-13, degrade the extracellular matrix and promote invasion (Damsky et al. 2011; Leong et al. 2012).

Crosstalk between stromal cells in the dermis and melanoma cells facilitates invasion. Growth factors and cytokines produced by melanoma cells have been found to alter the behavior of adjacent fibroblasts, immune cells, and endothelial cells, stimulating production of other growth factors such as platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF) and HGF. VEGFs, in particular VEGF-A and VEGF-C, produced by melanoma cells and some stromal cells, induce (lymph)angiogenesis and vasculature dilation, preparing the routes for metastatic spread. As the invasiveness increases, melanoma cells overexpress the cell adhesion molecule MCAM (melanoma cell adhesion molecule), which can promote the interaction with endothelial cells and facilitate intravasation (Gaggioli and Sahai 2007; Leong et al. 2012).

Satellite Lesions

In 1981, the term "microscopic satellites" was first used to define nests of melanoma cells separated from the main body of the tumor mass by a layer of collagen or subcutaneous fat. Nowadays, the term is used to denote lesions >0.05 mm in diameter that are separated from the main tumor mass by at least 0.3 mm (Balch 2009). Satellite lesions might represent an early step in the development of intralymphatic metastases and can be regarded as a manifestation of the invasive potential of the melanoma cells. Clinical studies revealed that the presence of satellite lesions is intimately related to other markers of melanoma aggressiveness. For example, presence of microsatellites appears to predict regional lymph node metastases but did not correlate with distant metastasis or overall survival (Shaikh et al. 2005), suggesting that local invasiveness and distant metastasis might not necessarily depend on the same processes.

Lymphatic and Angiogenic Spread

As in most tumor types, angiogenesis and lymphangiogenesis are critical steps in the progression of melanoma. Angiogenesis is induced by the growing tumor as a result of a relative lack of oxygen and nutrient supply in the malignant tissue. The expanding vasculature thus improves the growth conditions for the tumor cells. At the same time, expanding blood and lymphatic vessels also facilitate the distant metastasis of malignant primary melanoma cells. In the following section, the morphological and functional changes of lymphatic vessels and blood vessels leading to the dissemination of metastatic cells, as well as their clinical and pathologic implications, will be discussed.

Structure and Function of the Vascular System

In vertebrates, there are two vascular systems: the blood vascular system and the lymphatic system. These two systems differ from each other structurally and functionally. The blood vascular system is circulatory, driven by the heart, which acts as a central pump. Blood vessels function to transport oxygen and nutrients to the peripheral tissues and carry waste products away for excretion. Arteries carry oxygen-rich blood from the heart into the periphery, where they branch into smaller vessels, arterioles, and capillaries, where the exchange of molecules with the surrounding tissues occurs. Capillaries, now carrying oxygenpoor blood, then converge to venules and veins, returning the blood to the heart and the lungs. All blood vessels are lined by a monolayer of endothelial cells that are surrounded by a basement membrane and different types of perivascular supportive cells. Despite some differences in the microanatomy of blood vessels depending on the organ, the junctions between adjacent endothelial cells are usually very tight and only allow diffusion of small molecules and some proteins, but not of, for example, entire cells.

The lymphatic vascular system is a one-way, blind-ended network that initiates in peripheral tissues and that joins the blood circulation via the junction of the thoracic duct and the subclavian vein. Its principal function is the drainage of interstitial fluid and solutes, which are constantly leaking from the blood vasculature into peripheral tissues, and their transport back to the venous circulation, thereby maintaining fluid homeostasis. Lymphatic vessels also function to transport immune cells and soluble antigens from the periphery to the lymph nodes, where immune responses are triggered. Lymphatic capillaries are composed of a single layer of lymphatic endothelial cells (LECs), whereas larger collecting vessels are covered by a layer of supporting pericytes and smooth muscle cells. Capillary LECs form specialized "button-like" junctions and possess a discontinuous basement membrane, which facilitates entrance of interstitial fluid and cells into the vessel lumen. The capillaries drain to

pre-collecting vessels and thereafter to collecting lymphatic vessels. Larger pre-collecting vessels display tight, "zipper-like" junctions between adjacent LECs, similar to blood vessels. Collecting vessels have a continuous perivascular sheath of smooth muscle cells and are divided into distinct vascular units, called lymphangions, by bileaflet lymphatic valves. Contractions of smooth muscle cells surrounding the lymphangions serve to push the fluid forward, whereas the valves prevent backflow. On their way back to the thoracic duct, lymphatic collectors pass through lymph nodes. On the afferent side of the lymph nodes, the vessels open into a large sinus that lies directly under the lymph node capsule. A ramified network of smaller lymphatic sinuses ensures a close contact between the lymph fluid and immune cells present in the lymph nodes. Finally, the fluid that passed the node is collected in a large vessel that leaves the node on the efferent side (Stacker et al. 2014; Dieterich and Detmar 2016).

The skin is particularly rich in blood and lymphatic vessels. The cutaneous blood microvasculature is organized into a subpapillary and a cutaneous horizontal plexus. Similarly, the lymphatic vasculature in the skin can be divided into two plexuses. Below the epidermis resides a dense capillary network of thin vessels without valves. These are connected to a deep lymphatic plexus, consisting of larger lymphatic vessels containing numerous valves, which is located below the cutaneous arterial plexus in the lower dermis and the superficial zone of the subcutaneous tissue (Skobe and Detmar 2000).

Lymphatic Remodeling and Metastasis in Melanoma

Under pathological conditions, blood vessels and lymphatic vessels undergo dramatic morphological and functional changes. During inflammation, blood vessels become leaky, enlarged, and activated with high expression of several adhesion molecules, leading to extravasation of inflammatory cells and fluid into the inflamed tissue. Lymphangiogenesis and lymphatic enlargement are also induced in inflammation, increasing the transport of fluid, extravasated leukocytes, and antigen-presenting cells and supporting the initiation of antigen-specific immune responses in the draining lymph nodes (Zgraggen et al. 2013).

In contrast to their beneficial role in inflammatory conditions, lymphatic vessels play a harmful role in many tumor types, including melanoma. Metastasis to tumor-draining lymph nodes is commonly seen in melanoma and correlates with distant metastasis and poor disease-free and overall survival (Streit and Detmar 2003). The density of lymphatic vessels within and surrounding the primary tumor correlates with sentinel lymph node metastasis and a poor outcome (Dadras et al. 2003). These clinical observations, together with the occurrence of in-transit metastases and the early detection of metastasis in melanoma draining lymph nodes, strongly indicate an important role of lymphatic metastasis in the progression of melanoma (Stacker et al. 2014; Dieterich and Detmar 2016). However, whether sentinel lymph node metastasis is the first step on the road toward distant metastasis, or whether it merely reflects the high aggressiveness of a tumor, is still incompletely understood. Genetic analyses performed in prostate cancer patients demonstrated that metastasis can spread from organ to organ, including lymph nodes, in complex patterns (Gundem et al. 2015). However, it is currently unclear to what extent this might happen in melanoma patients as well.

During tumor progression, the lymphatic system undergoes remodeling both at the site of the primary tumor and in the periphery, along the primary drainage route from the tumor. This remodeling includes the sprouting and growth of new lymphatic capillaries (lymphangiogenesis), vessel dilation, rerouting, and remodeling of the draining lymph nodes. All of these changes are considered to facilitate the dissemination of tumor cells through the lymphatic system (Fig. 2).

Lymphatic Remodeling at the Primary Tumor Site

In a significant percentage of primary melanomas, the density of lymphatic vessels is increased, both within the tumor mass and in the tumor



Fig. 2 The metastasis routes of melanoma. At the site of the primary tumor, the blood and lymphatic vascular networks are expanded due to tumor-induced angiogenesis and lymphangiogenesis. Lymph node lymphangiogenesis is induced by lymphangiogenic factors drained from the primary site and may occur prior to arrival of tumor cells. In-transit metastases develop along the lymphatic vessels from the primary site to the sentinel nodes. Increased lymphatic flow and enlargement of collecting vessels

periphery (Dadras et al. 2003, 2005). This is due to lymphangiogenesis induced by lymphangiogenic factors released by tumor cells and stromal cells, in particular macrophages. The proliferation and migration of LECs result in sprouting and formation of new lymphatic capillaries, as well as enlargement of preexisting lymphatic vessels in the tumor proximity. Tumor lymphangiogenesis and lymphatic dilation increase the lymphatic surface area and thus the potential contact interface with tumor cells, facilitating their entry and spread through the lymphatic system (Stacker et al. 2014; Dieterich and Detmar 2016).

Increased lymphatic vessel density in primary melanomas correlates with poor disease-free

contribute to sentinel lymph node metastasis. Growth of metastases in the sentinel lymph nodes may lead to the blockade of the principal drainage route and subsequent rerouting of flow and metastasis toward alternate lymph nodes. Lymphatic vessels join the blood circulation at the subclavian vein, from where tumor cells can reach distant organs. Alternatively, tumor cells may gain access to the blood circulation already within the primary tumor or in tumor-colonized lymph nodes

survival and poor overall survival of melanoma patients (Dadras et al. 2003). The extent of lymphangiogenesis in primary cutaneous melanoma can also serve as a novel prognostic indicator to predict the presence of sentinel lymph node metastases at the time of surgery, exceeding the significance of tumor thickness (Dadras et al. 2005). Whereas in most carcinomas the major expansion of lymphatic vessels occurs at the tumor-stroma interface, enhancing lymphatic tumor seeding, in malignant cutaneous melanomas, intratumoral lymphatic vessel density also significantly correlates with sentinel lymph node metastases. The presence of intratumoral lymphatic vessels is significantly correlated with poorer disease-free survival, suggesting that

these vessels do play a functional role in melanoma progression (Dadras et al. 2003).

In addition to lymphatic vessels within or surrounding the primary tumor, lymphatic collectors, which drain away from the tumor and toward the sentinel lymph node, can undergo substantial remodeling during tumor progression. Soluble factors drained from the primary tumor induce the proliferation of LECs and the dilation of collecting lymphatic vessels, resulting in an increased flow rate in the lymphatic vessels contributing to the dissemination of tumor cells and the formation of lymph node metastasis (Karaman and Detmar 2014).

Lymphangiogenesis in Tumor-Draining Lymph Nodes

Extensive remodeling of the lymphatic vasculature in the sentinel lymph node occurs early during tumor progression, even before the arrival of metastatic cells, probably in response to soluble factors drained from the primary tumor (Hirakawa et al. 2005, 2007). This has led to the hypothesis of the "pre-metastatic" niche, which facilitates the later colonization of the node by disseminated tumor cells. After the establishment of a metastatic focus, lymphangiogenic factors secreted by metastatic cells or other lymph node resident cells such as macrophages or B cells provide a constant source of stimulation for LECs in the lymph node. Similar observations of pre-metastatic tissue changes have been made at distant organ sites as well, in the case of melanoma, for example, in the lung. Here, recruitment of VEGFR1-positive bone marrow-derived hematopoietic progenitor cells was found to precede the arrival of tumor cells and to promote the growth of lung metastasis (Kaplan et al. 2005).

In addition to soluble factors, melanomaderived exosomes might play an important role in establishing the pre-metastatic niche. Exosomes are small extracellular vesicles (around 100 nm in diameter) that are produced by virtually all cells and present in all body fluids. Exosome release from tumor cells is often elevated, and there is increasing evidence that these exosomes serve as long-distance information carriers from tumor cells to host-derived cells in the periphery, transmitting molecular and genetic messages and modulating cell motility, angiogenesis, and immune responses (Whiteside 2016). Exosomes released from melanoma cells at the site of primary tumors are drained to sentinel lymph nodes, where they prepare the pre-metastatic niche for the colonization of the lymph node by arriving metastatic cells (Hood et al. 2011). Systemic effects of melanoma-derived exosomes have also been described, for example, the priming of cells in the bone marrow to migrate to the lung, where they take part in the niche formation as described above (Peinado et al. 2012).

Re-routing of Lymphatic Flow

Lymph node metastasis, when grown to a significant size, can lead to the obstruction of the nodal sinuses and thus of the path of lymphatic flow. In a preclinical study of melanoma metastasis, this has been found to result in a re-routing of the lymph flow, via newly formed lateral lymphatic vessels, which then drain to different lymph nodes (Proulx et al. 2013). Of note, such re-routing events may have severe clinical implications, as the metastasis-bearing lymph node may not be correctly identified by the surgeon during the sentinel lymph node dissection, which might result in a falsely negative diagnosis (Karaman and Detmar 2014). After surgical removal of tumor-draining lymph nodes, similar re-routing events have been observed as well (Blum et al. 2013).

Mechanisms of Tumor Cell Entry into Lymphatic Vessels

Lymphatic invasion (LI) is a term used to indicate the presence of tumor cells within lymphatic vessels in histological samples. Whereas lymphatic vessels are often difficult to distinguish in routinely stained histological sections, immunostaining for the lymphatic marker podoplanin (D2-40 antibody) makes detection of LI on histological sections much more sensitive than routine histology alone. In cutaneous malignant melanoma, LI occurs more frequently than blood vessel invasion and is strongly associated with sentinel lymph node metastasis, independently from tumor thickness (Doeden et al. 2009).

Several mechanisms have been identified to explain how tumor cells gain access to the lymphatic system. Due to the increased leakage of tumor-associated blood vessels, the tumor mass generally has a high interstitial tissue pressure, leading to an increased interstitial flow toward lymphatic vessels. Tumor cells may simply follow the flow and be "swept" into lymphatic vessel passively. At the same time, lymphatic vessel endothelium expresses chemokines such as CXCL12 and CCL21, which act as guidance molecules for cancer cells expressing the corresponding receptors, CXCR4 or CCR7. Once reaching a lymphatic capillary, tumor cells may transmigrate across the endothelium via the relatively loose "button" junctions. This process is analogous to the way recirculating leukocytes "sense" lymphatic vessels and enter them. In addition, tumor cells might physically damage and penetrate the lymphatic vessels. This process has been reported to be facilitated by secretion of the enzyme 15-lipoxygenase-1, inducing the formation of holes in LECs (Kerjaschki et al. 2011).

In-Transit Metastasis

In-transit metastasis is defined as any dermal or subcutaneous metastasis localized more than 2 cm from the primary lesion but proximal to the draining regional lymph nodes. The phenomenon of in-transit metastasis is almost unique to melanoma. In-transit metastases are regarded to arise from metastatic cells that entered the lymphatic system but became trapped in lymphatic vessels before reaching the draining lymph node. The mechanisms responsible for the development of these lesions are not completely understood, but likely LEC-derived chemokines provide a microenvironment that supports the stemness of melanoma cells. Patients who develop in-transit disease have an increased risk to develop additional locoregional and distant disease. A clinical study with 11,614 patients revealed that the in-transit metastasis rate for sentinel lymph node positive patients was fivefold higher than for sentinel lymph node negative patients (Read et al. 2015). However, whether the occurrence of in-transit metastasis has a prognostic value for patient survival has remained unclear.

Tumor cells may directly enter tumor-associated blood vessels or reach the blood circulation after a transit through the lymphatic system. In either case, hematogenous metastasis is a prerequisite for the colonization of distant organs.

Angiogenesis is defined as the growth of new blood vessels from a pre-existing vasculature and is thought to be required for continuous tumor growth. As oxygen from the blood stream can only diffuse for a few hundred micrometers into the skin, tumor cells at a distance larger than this become hypoxic, which leads to phenotypic changes, induction of angiogenic growth factors, or cell death. Tumor-associated blood vessels differ structurally and functionally from normal blood vessels. They have a less regular structure with a partial or complete loss of the normal vessel hierarchy, deficient endothelial cell lining, and a relative lack of vessel-supporting pericytes. Additionally, the basal lamina is thinner than in normal vessels and discontinuous, which makes these vessels highly permeable. In consequence, tumor-associated blood vessels are less functional in terms of oxygen and nutrient transport, which further increases tumor hypoxia and the release of angiogenic factors. At the same time, tumorassociated blood vessels are more permissive for the invasion by tumor cells.

The clinical and prognostic significance of tumor angiogenesis for melanoma progression and metastasis has remained controversial. Some clinical studies indicated that increased vascular density was correlated with melanoma progression, and tumor vascularity was the most important determinant of overall survival, surpassing tumor thickness. By contrast, several other investigators failed to detect any correlation between melanoma vascularization and prognosis. Thus, the potential prognostic value of tumor vascularization in human cutaneous melanomas remains unsolved (Streit and Detmar 2003).

Tumor cell vasculogenic mimicry, also known as vascular mimicry, represents an alternative mechanism by which tumors can obtain blood supply and direct access to the circulation. Vascular mimicry refers to the phenomenon of tumor cells themselves forming tubelike structures, which lack an endothelial layer but nevertheless contain blood and are connected to the blood vascular system. Thus, tumor cells reside in direct contact to the blood stream, which conceivably facilitates their dissemination. First introduced as a novel paradigm for tumor perfusion in melanoma in 1999 (Maniotis et al. 1999), evidence for vascular mimicry has by now been reported in several malignant tumors, including breast cancer, prostate cancer, bladder cancer, colorectal cancer, and lung cancer, and has been linked to poor prognosis of cancer patients (Cao et al. 2013). The precise mechanisms and molecular pathways regulating vascular mimicry are incompletely understood, but factors related to cancer stemness and plasticity, such as the Notch pathway, have been suggested to play a role. VEGF-A has been reported to be involved in vascular mimicry in melanoma, by activating VEGFR-1 expressed on melanoma cells, which promoted tumor cell invasion, migration, and plasticity. Consequently, these signaling pathways might represent potential therapeutic targets and diagnostic indicators of vascular mimicry (Hendrix et al. 2016).

Molecular Mediators of Angiogenesis and Lymphangiogenesis in Melanoma

Members of the vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) family are the most important factors in tumor-induced (lymph)angiogenesis and vessel remodeling. Several VEGFs have been discovered, which preferentially act on blood or lymphatic endothelial cells, respectively (Fig. 3).

The major angiogenesis factor VEGF-A signals via its receptor tyrosine kinases VEGFR-1 and VEGFR-2, as well as their co-receptors, neuropilin (NRP)-1 and NRP-2. VEGFR-1 is expressed in blood vessels, whereas VEGFR-2 is expressed on both blood and lymphatic vessels. Consequently, VEGF-A can induce both angiogenesis and lymphangiogenesis. Although VEGFR-1 binds to VEGF-A with a higher affinity than VEGFR-2, activation of VEGFR-1 has only minor effects on endothelial cells, and the relevance of VEGFR-1 downstream signaling for angiogenesis remains largely unexplored (Simons et al. 2016). The main activity of VEGF-A is transmitted by VEGFR-2, directly regulating endothelial cell proliferation, migration, and permeability, which are key steps for tumor (lymph)angiogenesis (Alitalo and Detmar 2012). Expression of VEGF-A is induced by hypoxia, due to stabilization of the transcription factor HIF (hypoxia-inducible factor), a mechanism which is probably responsible for the high VEGF-A expression in most tumors (Krock et al. 2011). VEGF-A expression is also regulated by inflammatory cytokines such as TNF- α (Zgraggen et al. 2013). VEGF-A-induced recruitment of bone marrow-derived inflammatory cells and endothelial progenitors has been suggested to contribute to the growth of tumor-associated blood (and lymphatic) vessels in an indirect way.

Another member of the VEGF family, placenta growth factor (PIGF), binds specifically to VEGFR-1 and is expressed in a large number of human melanoma cell lines, suggesting that PIGF plays a role in melanoma growth, angiogenesis, or progression (Streit and Detmar 2003).

Lymphangiogenesis in cutaneous melanoma is mainly induced by VEGF-C and VEGF-D. Both VEGF-C and VEGF-D exert their lymphangiogenic activity through their cognate receptor VEGFR-3 and the co-receptor NRP-2, which are predominantly expressed on lymphatic endothelial cells. VEGF-C- and VEGF-D-induced VEGFR-3 signaling can lead to proliferation and enlargement of peritumoral and intratumoral lymphatic vessels in melanoma. Fully mature VEGF-C and VEGF-D additionally gain affinity for VEGFR-2, expressed on both blood and lymphatic vessel endothelial cells. In addition, VEGFR-3 expression was reported on some tumor-associated blood vessels, indicating that under certain conditions VEGF-C and VEGF-D may also affect angiogenesis and blood vessel permeability (Dieterich and Detmar 2016).

In clinical studies, increased VEGF-C expression levels significantly correlated with lymphatic vessel density in primary melanomas (Dadras et al. 2005) and with lymph node metastasis (Dadras et al. 2005; Schietroma et al. 2003).



Blood vascular endothelial cells

Lymphatic endothelial cells

Fig. 3 Mediators of angiogenesis and lymphangiogenesis in melanoma. VEGF-A is the main mediator of angiogenesis. VEGF-A binds to VEGFR-1 and VEGFR-2, as well as its co-receptors NRP-1 and NRP-2, and can induce both angiogenesis and lymphangiogenesis. VEGF-C and VEGF-D, which mainly bind to VEGFR-3, are the main

lymphangiogenic mediators. Ang2 and bFGF have also been identified as (lymph)angiogenic factors in melanoma. *VEGF* vascular endothelial growth factor, *PIGF* placenta growth factor, *bFGF* basic fibroblast growth factor, *Ang2* angiopoietin 2, *NRP* neuropilin

VEGF-C expression in melanoma cells was prognostic of a shorter overall and disease-free survival. However, VEGF-C expression in melanoma cells was not associated with Breslow thickness, Clark level, or ulceration of the primary cutaneous melanoma. Primary melanomas in the vertical growth phase were reported to express more VEGF-C than those in the radial growth phase (Rinderknecht and Detmar 2008). Besides melanoma cells, tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs) also represent major sources of VEGF-C in melanoma. The percentage of VEGF-C positive TAMs was higher in primary tumors of patients with sentinel lymph node metastasis compared to patients without. On the other hand, VEGF-C expression in TAMs was not associated with pathological characteristics of the primary tumor such as Breslow thickness, Clark level, or ulceration nor with disease-free or overall survival

(Dadras et al. 2005). In contrast to VEGF-C, no correlation was found between the expression levels of VEGF-D and the incidence of lymph node metastasis, although VEGF-D has been detected in melanomas and has been associated with melanoma angiogenesis (Rinderknecht and Detmar 2008).

Another important family of angiogenic factors in melanoma are the fibroblast growth factors (FGFs). In particular, basic FGF (bFGF) expression has been found in melanoma cells but not in normal melanocytes. Expression of bFGF has paracrine effects, through the stimulation of local angiogenesis, and also autocrine effects, directly increasing tumor cell proliferation through activation of FGF receptors expressed on the melanoma cells themselves (Streit and Detmar 2003).

Finally, angiopoietin 2 (Ang2), which is released by endothelial cells themselves, is believed to contribute to angiogenesis and lymphangiogenesis by destabilizing endothelial junctions and "priming" of endothelial beds for the induction of (lymph) angiogenesis. Ang2 mediates its effects by binding to the receptor Tie2, expressed by all endothelial cells. Circulating levels of Ang2 correlated with tumor progression in malignant melanoma patients, indicating that this pathway is active in melanoma (Helfrich et al. 2009).

Angiotropism, a Special Form of Vascular Metastasis

Angiotropism denotes the histological finding of tumor cells closely associated with abluminal vascular surfaces, without intravasation into the vessel lumen. Angiotropic cells are generally detected close to the advancing front of a tumor mass and may involve both capillaries and larger vessels. The presence of angiotropic melanoma cells has been interpreted as a marker of "extravascular migratory metastasis" (EVMM), a mechanism of infiltrative tumor cell migration along the abluminal face of vessels, representing an alternative mechanism of melanoma spread. Angiotropism has been reported as an independent prognostic marker, significantly associated with locoregional metastases, such as in-transit metastasis and microsatellites, and with distant metastases, as well as with ulceration and Breslow thickness (Landsberg et al. 2016). Angiotropic melanoma cells have been found to sometimes "replace" pericytes, a phenomenon termed "pericytic mimicry." Pericytic mimicry by angiotropic melanoma cells and interaction between melanoma cells and the abluminal vascular surface may induce the expression of genes linked to cancer migration, embryonic/stem cell properties, and inflammation (Lugassy et al. 2014).

Additional Roles of Lymphatic and Blood Vessels in Tumor Progression

The Perivascular Stem Cell Niche

Stemlike properties of dedifferentiated cancer cells are at least partially maintained by signals

from their microenvironment, which may be composed of various types of stromal cells. For example, tumor-associated blood vessels are thought to provide multiple signals, including cell-cell contact-dependent signaling, for the maintenance of stemlike properties, which is referred to as the "perivascular stem cell niche." Similarly, lymphatic vessels might provide a "lymphovascular niche" to maintain metastatic melanoma cells in a dedifferentiated state, which might contribute to the occurrence of in-transit metastases and to the persistence of metastatic cells in the lymph node subcapsular sinus. Thus, melanoma cells trapped in the lymphatic vessels could be kept quiescent in the lymphovascular niche for extended time periods. A recent study indicated that expression of CCR7, a receptor for the lymphatic chemokine CCL21, in a breast cancer model contributed to the maintenance of a pool of stemlike cells and promoted tumor progression (Boyle et al. 2016). Furthermore, at sites of distant metastasis, including lung and lymph nodes, CXCR4 expressing CD133⁺ melanoma cells with stemlike properties were found to be attracted by CXCL12 from tumor-activated LECs and were localized in the vicinity of lymphatic vessels (Kim et al. 2010). However, it is currently unclear whether factors derived from lymphatic endothelium actively regulate the differentiation status of adjacent melanoma cells.

Immune Regulation

Endothelial cells of both blood and lymphatic vessels have been directly implicated in the regulation of immune responses, which may affect tumor growth, particularly of immunogenic tumor types such as melanoma. Endothelial cells act as non-professional antigen-presenting cells and can modulate the activation state of immune effector cells by expression of stimulatory or inhibitory surface molecules and cytokines.

Under the influence of tumor-derived factors such as VEGFs, blood vascular endothelial cells can directly inhibit T-cell activation by upregulating inhibitory molecules such as PD-L1 and IL-10. On the other hand, tumor endothelial cells can also express FasL, which leads to apoptosis of Fas-expressing T cells. Furthermore, through the downregulation of intracellular adhesion molecule 1 (ICAM1) and vasculature cell adhesion molecule 1 (VCAM1), which are required for extravasation, tumor-associated blood vessels may efficiently prevent effector T cells from infiltrating into tumor tissues (Lanitis et al. 2015).

The lymphatic system has traditionally been thought to passively transport lymph and immune cells and thus to affect the immune system rather indirectly. Surprisingly, recent studies revealed that LECs are actively involved in the regulation of T-cell immunity and the tumor microenvironment. Lymph node LECs are involved in the maintenance of peripheral tolerance by presenting self-antigens and concomitantly expressing T-cell inhibitory signals such as PD-L1. As tumorderived antigens are transported with the lymph to the draining lymph nodes, where they are taken up and presented by LEC, these cells may actively contribute to the disruption of tumor-specific CD8⁺ T-cell responses as well. Indeed, in a melanoma mouse model, LECs in draining lymph nodes were found to present a tumor-derived peptide and to inhibit responses of antigen-specific $CD8^+$ T cells toward the tumor (Rouhani et al. 2014). On the other hand, in a mouse model that lacked dermal lymphatic vessels, implanted melanomas grew robustly but exhibited drastically reduced cytokine expression and leukocyte infiltration compared with those implanted in control animals (Lund et al. 2016). This indicates that the lymphatic system plays an important role in shaping immune responses in melanoma.

Conclusion

Malignant melanoma is a tumor type with an inherently high capacity to metastasize. Metastases can develop locoregionally, in tumor-draining lymph nodes, and in distant organs, up to many years after surgical resection of the primary tumor, implying that melanoma cells disseminate during tumor progression and remain dormant in the body periphery over extended periods of time. In order to disseminate, melanoma cells first need to invade locally into the dermis, and subsequently enter the blood or the lymphatic vascular system, which allow them to spread throughout the body. Consequently, lymphatic and blood vessels play important roles in the metastatic process of melanoma, and the expression of lymphangiogenic factors and the density of lymphatic vessels at the primary tumor site strongly correlate with the occurrence of lymph node metastasis and a poor prognosis. Thus, therapeutic manipulation of lymphatic and blood vessels might represent a promising approach to inhibit metastasis in melanoma.

References

- Alitalo A, Detmar M (2012) Interaction of tumor cells and lymphatic vessels in cancer progression. Oncogene 31(42):4499–4508. https://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2011. 602
- Balch CM (2009) Microscopic satellites around a primary melanoma: another piece of the puzzle in melanoma staging. Ann Surg Oncol 16(5):1092–1094. https://doi. org/10.1245/s10434-009-0353-4
- Balch CM, Soong SJ, Atkins MB, Buzaid AC, Cascinelli N, Coit DG, Fleming ID, Gershenwald JE, Houghton A Jr, Kirkwood JM, McMasters KM, Mihm MF, Morton DL, Reintgen DS, Ross MI, Sober A, Thompson JA, Thompson JF (2004) An evidencebased staging system for cutaneous melanoma. CA Cancer J Clin 54(3):131–149. https://doi.org/10.3322/ canjclin.54.3.131
- Blum KS, Proulx ST, Luciani P, Leroux JC, Detmar M (2013) Dynamics of lymphatic regeneration and flow patterns after lymph node dissection. Breast Cancer Res Treat 139(1):81–86. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10549-01 3-2537-7
- Boyle ST, Ingman WV, Poltavets V, Faulkner JW, Whitfield RJ, McColl SR, Kochetkova M (2016) The chemokine receptor CCR7 promotes mammary tumorigenesis through amplification of stem-like cells. Oncogene 35(1):105–115. https://doi.org/10. 1038/onc.2015.66
- Cao ZF, Bao MM, Miele L, Sarkar FH, Wang ZW, Zhou QS (2013) Tumour vasculogenic mimicry is associated with poor prognosis of human cancer patients: a systemic review and meta-analysis. Eur J Cancer 49(18):3914–3923. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ejca.2013.07.148
- Dadras SS, Paul T, Bertoncini J, Brown LF, Muzikansky A, Jackson DG, Ellwanger U, Garbe C, Mihm MC, Detmar M (2003) Tumor lymphangiogenesis – a novel prognostic indicator for cutaneous melanoma metastasis and survival. Am J Pathol 162(6): 1951–1960. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0002-9440(10) 64328-3
- Dadras SS, Lange-Asschenfeldt B, Velasco P, Nguyen L, Vora A, Muzikansky A, Jahnke K, Hauschild A,

Hirakawa S, Mihm MC, Detmar M (2005) Tumor lymphangiogenesis predicts melanoma metastasis to sentinel lymph nodes. Mod Pathol 18(9):1232–1242. https://doi.org/10.1038/Modpathol.3800410

- Damsky WE, Rosenbaum LE, Bosenberg M (2011) Decoding melanoma metastasis. Cancers (Basel) 3(1): 126–163. https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers3010126
- Damsky WE, Theodosakis N, Bosenberg M (2014) Melanoma metastasis: new concepts and evolving paradigms. Oncogene 33(19):2413–2422. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/onc.2013.194
- Detmar M (2000) The role of VEGF and thrombospondins in skin angiogenesis. J Dermatol Sci 24(Suppl 1): S78–S84
- Dieterich LC, Detmar M (2016) Tumor lymphangiogenesis and new drug development. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 99(Pt B):148–160. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addr. 2015.12.011
- Doeden K, Ma ZH, Narasimhan B, Swetter SM, Detmar M, Dadras SS (2009) Lymphatic invasion in cutaneous melanoma is associated with sentinel lymph node metastasis. J Cutan Pathol 36(7):772–780. https://doi. org/10.1111/J.1600-0560.2008.01166.X
- Elder DE (2016) Melanoma progression. Pathology 48(2):147–154. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pathol.2015. 12.002
- Gaggioli C, Sahai E (2007) Melanoma invasion current knowledge and future directions. Pigment Cell Res 20(3):161–172. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0749. 2007.00378.x
- Gundem G, Van Loo P, Kremeyer B, Alexandrov LB, Tubio JM, Papaemmanuil E, Brewer DS, Kallio HM, Hognas G, Annala M, Kivinummi K, Goody V, Latimer C, O'Meara S, Dawson KJ, Isaacs W, Emmert-Buck MR, Nykter M, Foster C, Kote-Jarai Z, Easton D, Whitaker HC, Group IPU, Neal DE, Cooper CS, Eeles RA, Visakorpi T, Campbell PJ, McDermott U, Wedge DC, Bova GS (2015) The evolutionary history of lethal metastatic prostate cancer. Nature 520(7547):353–357. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nature14347
- Helfrich I, Edler L, Sucker A, Thomas M, Christian S, Schadendorf D, Augustin HG (2009) Angiopoietin-2 levels are associated with disease progression in metastatic malignant melanoma. Clin Cancer Res 15(4): 1384–1392. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-08-1615
- Hendrix MJC, Seftor EA, Seftor REB, Chao JT, Chien DS, Chu YW (2016) Tumor cell vascular mimicry: novel targeting opportunity in melanoma. Pharmacol Ther 159:83–92. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pharmthera.2016. 01.006
- Hirakawa S, Kodama S, Kunstfeld R, Kajiya K, Brown LF, Detmar M (2005) VEGF-A induces tumor and sentinel lymph node lymphangiogenesis and promotes lymphatic metastasis. J Exp Med 201(7):1089–1099. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20041896
- Hirakawa S, Brown LF, Kodama S, Paavonen K, Alitalo K, Detmar M (2007) VEGF-C-induced lymphangiogenesis

in sentinel lymph nodes promotes tumor metastasis to distant sites. Blood 109(3):1010–1017. https://doi.org/ 10.1182/Blood-2006-05-021758

- Hood JL, San RS, Wickline SA (2011) Exosomes released by melanoma cells prepare sentinel lymph nodes for tumor metastasis. Cancer Res 71(11):3792–3801. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-4455
- Kaplan RN, Riba RD, Zacharoulis S, Bramley AH, Vincent L, Costa C, MacDonald DD, Jin DK, Shido K, Kerns SA, Zhu Z, Hicklin D, Wu Y, Port JL, Altorki N, Port ER, Ruggero D, Shmelkov SV, Jensen KK, Rafii S, Lyden D (2005) VEGFR1-positive haematopoietic bone marrow progenitors initiate the pre-metastatic niche. Nature 438(7069):820–827. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature04186
- Karaman S, Detmar M (2014) Mechanisms of lymphatic metastasis. J Clin Invest 124(3):922–928. https://doi. org/10.1172/J071606
- Kerjaschki D, Bago-Horvath Z, Rudas M, Sexl V, Schneckenleithner C, Wolbank S, Bartel G, Krieger S, Kalt R, Hantusch B, Keller T, Nagy-Bojarszky K, Huttary N, Raab I, Lackner K, Krautgasser K, Schachner H, Kaserer K, Rezar S, Madlener S, Vonach C, Davidovits A, Nosaka H, Hammerle M, Viola K, Dolznig H, Schreiber M, Nader A, Mikulits W, Gnant M, Hirakawa S, Detmar M, Alitalo K, Nijman S, Offner F, Maier TJ, Steinhilber D, Krupitza G (2011) Lipoxygenase mediates invasion of intrametastatic lymphatic vessels and propagates lymph node metastasis of human mammary carcinoma xenografts in mouse. J Clin Invest 121(5): 2000–2012. https://doi.org/10.1172/Jci44751
- Kim M, Koh YJ, Kim KE, Koh BI, Nam DH, Alitalo K, Kim I, Koh GY (2010) CXCR4 signaling regulates metastasis of chemoresistant melanoma cells by a lymphatic metastatic niche. Cancer Res 70(24): 10411–10421. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472. CAN-10-2591
- Krock BL, Skuli N, Simon MC (2011) Hypoxia-induced angiogenesis: good and evil. Genes Cancer 2(12): 1117–1133. https://doi.org/10.1177/1947601911423 654
- Landsberg J, Kohlmeyer J, Renn M, Bald T, Rogava M, Cron M, Fatho M, Lennerz V, Wolfel T, Holzel M, Tuting T (2012) Melanomas resist T-cell therapy through inflammation-induced reversible dedifferentiation. Nature 490(7420):412–416. https://doi.org/10. 1038/nature11538
- Landsberg J, Tuting T, Barnhill RL, Lugassy C (2016) The role of neutrophilic inflammation, angiotropism, and pericytic mimicry in melanoma progression and metastasis. J Invest Dermatol 136(2):372–377. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jid.2015.11.013
- Lanitis E, Irving M, Coukos G (2015) Targeting the tumor vasculature to enhance T cell activity. Curr Opin Immunol 33:55–63. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. coi.2015.01.011
- Leong SP, Mihm MC Jr, Murphy GF, Hoon DS, Kashani-Sabet M, Agarwala SS, Zager JS, Hauschild A, Sondak

VK, Guild V, Kirkwood JM (2012) Progression of cutaneous melanoma: implications for treatment. Clin Exp Metastasis 29(7):775–796. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10585-012-9521-1

- Lugassy C, Zadran S, Bentolila LA, Wadehra M, Prakash R, Carmichael ST, Kleinman HK, Peault B, Larue L, Barnhill RL (2014) Angiotropism, pericytic mimicry and extravascular migratory metastasis in melanoma: an alternative to intravascular cancer dissemination. Cancer Microenviron 7(3):139–152. https://doi. org/10.1007/s12307-014-0156-4
- Lund AW, Wagner M, Fankhauser M, Steinskog ES, Broggi MA, Spranger S, Gajewski TF, Alitalo K, Eikesdal HP, Wiig H, Swartz MA (2016) Lymphatic vessels regulate immune microenvironments in human and murine melanoma. J Clin Invest. https://doi.org/ 10.1172/JCI79434
- Maniotis AJ, Folberg R, Hess A, Seftor EA, Gardner LM, Pe'er J, Trent JM, Meltzer PS, Hendrix MJ (1999) Vascular channel formation by human melanoma cells in vivo and in vitro: vasculogenic mimicry. Am J Pathol 155(3):739–752. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0002-9440 (10)65173-5
- Ossowski L, Aguirre-Ghiso JA (2010) Dormancy of metastatic melanoma. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res 23(1):41–56. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1755-148X. 2009.00647.x
- Peinado H, Aleckovic M, Lavotshkin S, Matei I, Costa-Silva B, Moreno-Bueno G, Hergueta-Redondo M, Williams C, Garcia-Santos G, Ghajar CM, Nitadori-Hoshino A, Hoffman C, Badal K, Garcia BA, Callahan MK, Yuan JD, Martins VR, Skog J, Kaplan RN, Brady MS, Wolchok JD, Chapman PB, Kang YB, Bromberg J, Lyden D (2012) Melanoma exosomes educate bone marrow progenitor cells toward a pro-metastatic phenotype through MET. Nat Med 18(6):883–891. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.2753
- Proulx ST, Luciani P, Christiansen A, Karaman S, Blum KS, Rinderknecht M, Leroux JC, Detmar M (2013) Use of a PEG-conjugated bright near-infrared dye for functional imaging of rerouting of tumor lymphatic drainage after sentinel lymph node metastasis. Biomaterials 34(21):5128–5137. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.biomaterials.2013.03.034
- Read RL, Haydu L, Saw RPM, Quinn MJ, Shannon K, Spillane AJ, Stretch JR, Scolyer RA, Thompson JF (2015) In-transit melanoma metastases: incidence, prognosis, and the role of lymphadenectomy. Ann Surg Oncol 22(2):475–481. https://doi.org/10.1245/ s10434-014-4100-0
- Rinderknecht M, Detmar M (2008) Tumor lymphangiogenesis and melanoma metastasis. J Cell Physiol 216(2):347–354. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcp.21494

- Rouhani SJ, Eccles JD, Tewalt EF, Engelhard VH (2014) Regulation of T-cell tolerance by lymphatic endothelial cells. J Clin Cell Immunol 5. https://doi.org/10.4172/ 2155-9899.1000242
- Schietroma C, Cianfarani F, Lacal PM, Odorisio T, Orecchia A, Kanitakis J, D'Atri S, Failla CM, Zambruno G (2003) Vascular endothelial growth factor-C expression correlates with lymph node localization of human melanoma metastases. Cancer 98(4):789–797. https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.11583
- Senft D, Ronai ZA (2016) Immunogenic, cellular, and angiogenic drivers of tumor dormancy-a melanoma view. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res 29(1):27–42. https://doi.org/10.1111/pcmr.12432
- Shaikh L, Sagebiel RW, Ferreira MQMM, Nosrati M, Miller JR, Kashani-Sabet M (2005) The role of microsatellites as a prognostic factor in primary malignant melanoma. Arch Dermatol 141(6):739–742. https:// doi.org/10.1001/Archderm.141.6.739
- Simons M, Gordon E, Claesson-Welsh L (2016) Mechanisms and regulation of endothelial VEGF receptor signalling. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 17(10):611–625. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm.2016.87
- Skobe M, Detmar M (2000) Structure, function, and molecular control of the skin lymphatic system. J Investig Dermatol Symp Proc 5(1):14–19. https:// doi.org/10.1046/J.1087-0024.2000.00001.X
- Stacker SA, Williams SP, Karnezis T, Shayan R, Fox SB, Achen MG (2014) Lymphangiogenesis and lymphatic vessel remodelling in cancer. Nat Rev Cancer 14(3): 159–172. https://doi.org/10.1038/Nrc3677
- Streit M, Detmar M (2003) Angiogenesis, lymphangiogenesis, and melanoma metastasis. Oncogene 22 (20):3172–3179. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj. onc.1206457
- Svedman FC, Pillas D, Taylor A, Kaur M, Linder R, Hansson J (2016) Stage-specific survival and recurrence in patients with cutaneous malignant melanoma in Europe – a systematic review of the literature. Clin Epidemiol 8:109–122. https://doi.org/10.2147/CLEP. S99021
- Vesely MD, Schreiber RD (2013) Cancer immunoediting: antigens, mechanisms, and implications to cancer immunotherapy. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1284:1–5. https:// doi.org/10.1111/nyas.12105
- Whiteside TL (2016) Tumor-derived exosomes and their role in cancer progression. Adv Clin Chem 74(74):103–141. https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.acc.2015. 12.005
- Zgraggen S, Ochsenbein AM, Detmar M (2013) An important role of blood and lymphatic vessels in inflammation and allergy. J Allergy (Cairo) 2013:672381. https:// doi.org/10.1155/2013/672381



9

Principles of Targeted Therapy

Gideon Bollag and Keith T. Flaherty

Contents

Introduction	166
Signaling Pathways	166
BRAF	166
RAS	167
BRAF Alleles	168
RAF Inhibitors	169
MEK and ERK Inhibitors	172
The RAF Inhibitor Paradox	173
Resistance to RAF/MEK/ERK Inhibitors	174
Interplay between Immuno-Oncology and Targeted Therapy	175
KIT Inhibitors	175
Other Targetable Drivers of Melanoma	176
Conclusion	176
References	177

Abstract

With the increasing volume of genetic melanoma profiling, key oncogenic driver mutations have attracted substantial attention as therapeutic targets. Chief among these are BRAF and KIT. Since BRAF mutations occur in about half of all melanomas, BRAF pathway inhibition has attracted the bulk of therapeutic

G. Bollag (⊠) Plexxikon Inc., Berkeley, CA, USA e-mail: gbollag@plexxikon.com

K. T. Flaherty

attention. The discovery of BRAF mutations in cutaneous melanomas led to considerable research into the role of BRAF/MEK/ERK signaling and its role in melanomagenesis. In parallel, drug discovery efforts targeting BRAF, MEK, and ERK led to promising therapeutic candidates. Single-agent BRAF inhibitors showed strong efficacy in metastatic melanoma patients, effectively transforming the treatment for BRAF-mutant cutaneous melanoma patients. MEK inhibitors also showed efficacy as single agents, but the combination of BRAF and MEK inhibitors was clearly superior to either single-agent treatment. ERK inhibitors are currently undergoing clinical development. KIT mutations are

Henri and Belinda Termeer Center for Targeted Therapies, MGH Cancer Center, Cambridge, MA, USA e-mail: kflaherty@mgh.harvard.edu

[©] Springer Science+Business Media, LLC, part of Springer Nature 2019 D. E. Fisher, B. C. Bastian (eds.), *Melanoma*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-7147-9 35

primarily found in acral and mucosal melanomas, and several KIT inhibitors have been tested in KIT-mutant melanoma clinical trials; so far none have been approved by regulatory agencies. The challenge for KIT inhibitors may lie in the rarity and diversity of KIT genetic mutations. This chapter explores the biology of BRAF- and KIT-mutant melanoma cells and describes discovery of therapeutic candidates and reviews their role in clinical care.

Keywords

BRAF \cdot KIT \cdot MEK \cdot ERK \cdot Resistance \cdot RAF inhibitor paradox

Introduction

In order to understand the role of oncogenes as driver mutations in melanoma, it is important to review the genesis of melanoma. This is discussed in other chapters (e.g., Sommer, Ma et al.). One of the seminal observations is that melanoma cells are more closely related to neural stem precursor cells than to melanocytes (Boiko et al. 2010). This is consistent with the general notion that cancer represents a dedifferentiated state of the tissue of origin (Hanahan and Weinberg 2011). Importantly, unlike chemotherapies and immunotherapies, targeted therapies generally drive differentiation of the tumor cells (Boni et al. 2010). In some cases, this differentiation results in re-expression of antigens that are recognized and neutralized by the immune system, and in some cases, this results in cell-intrinsic dysfunction that causes necrosis or apoptosis. However, unless the consequence of targeted therapy is death of the tumor cell, the redifferentiated tumor cell mass is only temporarily benign: almost inevitably, reignition of the tumorigenic and metastatic properties prevail over time (and often very quickly) (Solit and Rosen 2014).

Melanoma as a class bears one of the highest somatic mutation frequencies among all tumor types (see ► Chap. 7, "Molecular Genetics of Melanocytic Neoplasia" by Hodis and Garraway). Among the somatic mutations, BRAF is by far the most commonly mutated gene, found in 63% of cutaneous melanomas. Many additional gene mutations have been discovered, but few have been druggable. While occasional melanomas bear mutations in genes for which there are targetable proteins such as KIT, PIK3CA, NTRK1, and ALK, these are generally quite rare. This chapter will focus primarily on BRAF and KIT, since they have garnered the most therapeutic efforts.

Signaling Pathways

BRAF

Since the discovery of the BRAF oncogene in 2002 (Davies et al. 2002), considerable laboratory research has focused on understanding its role in melanomagenesis. BRAF is one of three genes that encode the RAF family of protein kinases (also including the ARAF and CRAF genes) (Holderfield et al. 2014). These protein kinases have one predominant substrate: the kinase MEK. MEK in turn also has one predominant substrate: the kinase ERK. ERK, in turn, phosphorylates many target genes, including nuclear transcription factors. Indeed, nuclear translocation of the ERK kinase is an important occurrence during activation of the RAF pathway.

BRAF mutations are likely initiating events, as they are frequently found in nevi, which are benign collections of locally proliferating melanocytes, often characterized as moles (Pollock et al. 2003). Whether malignant melanomas progress from these nevi or initiate independently is still under investigation, but the discovery that BRAF mutations are found even at the earliest stages indicates an acute dependence on this event. As indicated by their characterization as oncogenes, BRAF mutations are gain-of-function lesions even though some of the mutational effects actually impede kinase activity (Wan et al. 2004); these will be described in more detail in a subsequent section. In addition to the RAF genes, there are also two closely related genes called KSR (Neilsen et al. 2017). During normal signaling, KSR proteins play an important role in assembling RAF/MEK complexes and in
mediating transphosphorylation of BRAF and MEK. However, to date the role of KSR proteins in melanoma has been largely ignored. It is possible that KSR plays a much larger role in normal signaling, in which case inhibition of KSR function would be unwanted in a drug.

While there are three RAF genes in the human genome, there are only two MEK genes (MEK1, MEK2) and two ERK genes (ERK1, ERK2) (Caunt et al. 2015). The relative roles of the two MEKs and the two ERKs are still in early stages of elaboration by research teams. Regarding therapeutic targeting, current efforts favor pan-MEK and pan-ERK approaches.

In the two decades preceding the discovery of the BRAF oncogene, copious literature cemented the role of RAF kinases as important effectors of the RAS proteins (Holderfield et al. 2014). RAS is the most frequent oncogene in human cancers, so understanding the RAS pathway has been a major focus of scientific investigation (Simanshu et al. 2017). RAF kinase was the first described effector of RAS, and subsequent work has identified quite a few additional effectors including phosphatidylinositol 3'kinase (PI3K). PI3K is an enzyme that converts phosphatidyl inositol 4,5-bisphosphate to phosphatidyl inositol 2,4,5-triphosphate, an important second messenger that induces multiple cellular events such as calcium release from intracellular stores. Other effectors of RAS include, for example, RAL GDS, an enzyme that catalyzes replacement of GDP by GTP on the RAL small GTPase. The GTP-bound state of RAL is an activated effector for other enzymes such as phospholipase D. While important in other cancers, and likely in bypassing targeted agents for melanoma, these other pathways have considerably less signaling importance in melanoma compared to the BRAF/ MEK/ERK pathway.

RAS

The next most frequently found mutations in cutaneous melanomas are gain-of-function RAS (primarily NRAS) oncogenes, or loss-of-function mutations in the NF1 gene (▶ Chap. 7,

"Molecular Genetics of Melanocytic Neoplasia" by Hodis and Garraway). RAS and BRAF mutations are almost always mutually exclusive, except in a subset of BRAF mutations (see class 3 BRAF mutations below) in which RAS activation plays an obligate role. RAS is a small protein that binds to GTP and GDP (Simanshu et al. 2017). Just like RAL, RAS forms a molecular switch: when bound to GTP, it binds to effectors and drives the cognate pathway. When bound to GDP, RAS is unable to bind to effectors and likely plays a purely passive role. Regulation of the amount of GTP bound to RAS is thus the critical determinant of pathway output. An intricate posttranslational processing sequence is critical to RAS biology (Cox et al. 2015). Efforts to silence RAS with small molecule drugs have been attempted at countless pharmaceutical companies for well over 30 years, yet no drugs are currently available. RAS becomes prenylated primarily by farnesyl groups; unfortunately for drug discoverers, NRAS and KRAS can readily substitute geranylgeranyl groups in order to bypass the effects of farnesyl transferase inhibitors. Subsequent to prenylation at a cysteine residue four residues from the carboxy-terminus, RAS proteins become proteolyzed by an endoprotease and then carboxymethylated at the newly exposed cysteine carboxylate by an enzyme called isoprenyl cysteine methyltransferase. The net effect of all these events is localization of RAS proteins to the plasma membrane where RAS signal transduction is most critical.

In cutaneous melanomas, BRAF and NRAS mutations are found in about 80% of the tumors (see \triangleright Chap. 7, "Molecular Genetics of Melanocytic Neoplasia" by Hodis and Garraway). As mentioned above, RAF is only one of the effectors of RAS. However, the biology of melanoma suggests that RAF/MEK/ERK signaling is likely the most important effector pathway for NRAS mutations. Still, the efficacy of MEK inhibitors is limited to a relatively small subset of NRAS-mutant melanomas, suggesting that other RAS effector pathways do play an important, yet poorly understood, role.

NF1 is a gene that encodes the very large protein neurofibromin (Philpott et al. 2017).

While neurofibromin is over 3000 residues in length, the primary determinant of NF1 biology is found in a 300-residue segment near the middle of the NF1 gene: this is the GAP domain. GAPs are GTPase-activating proteins that were first described for RAS back in 1987: they bind to RAS proteins and stimulate the GTPase activity. By stimulating the GTPase activity, these enzymes turn RAS off (Fig. 1). Therefore, lossof-function NF1 mutations result in activation of the RAS pathway. The degree of RAS pathway activation is highly critical: too much activity can lead to catastrophic cell death, so tumors calibrate the level of RAS activation by the types of RAS mutations. It is generally believed that the loss of NF1 yields modest activation of the RAS pathway. In fact, the loss of additional negative regulators of RAS (such as RASA2) appears frequently along with NF1 inactivating mutation in melanoma (Arafeh et al. 2015). Just as mentioned above, it is believed that the primary (but not exclusive) role of NF1 mutation in melanomas is activation of the RAF/MEK/ERK pathway (Nissan et al. 2014). Therefore, RAF, MEK, or ERK inhibitors deserve to be tested as therapeutics for melanomas with NRAS oncogenic mutations or loss-of-function NF1 mutations. As described in ► Chap. 32, "Targeted Therapy in Advanced Melanoma" by Johnson and Sosman, these agents have activity as single agents, but likely insufficient to have truly meaningful impact on the disease.

During typical RAS signaling in undiseased tissues, extracellular growth factors engage their cognate receptors which subsequently recruit and activate guanine nucleotide "exchange factors" for RAS (Vigil et al. 2010)."Exchange factors" have a variety of names in historical literature, including GEFs (Fig. 1) GDS (guanine nucleotide dissociating factors), GRFs (guanine nucleotide releasing factors), and GNRPs (guanine nucleotide releasing proteins). Regardless of the name, the net result of exchange factors is to cause dissociation of GDP from RAS. Due to the large excess of GTP to GDP in a typical cell, this dissociation results in rebinding of GTP and hence an active RAS-GTP form. RAS-GTP at the plasma membrane recruits RAF dimers

which in turn phosphorylate and activate MEK, which in turn phosphorylate and activate ERK (Rajakulendran et al. 2009). This is the typical means for propagating a RAS/RAF-dependent signal in normal cells. Note that RAF dimerization is a key event in this process and RAF monomers are typically inactive.

BRAF Alleles

By far the most common BRAF oncogenic allele is BRAF-V600E: substitution of glutamate for valine at codon 600 of the BRAF gene (Heinzerling et al. 2013). Other codon 600 substitutions are also found, with lysine (V600K), aspartate (V600D), and arginine (V600R) being the most common (see ► Chap. 7, "Molecular Genetics of Melanocytic Neoplasia" by Hodis and Garraway). As a group these codon 600 lesions have been called class 1 mutations. Current understanding of the biochemistry of these alleles is that they function independently of RAS and likely function as monomers. Approximately 80% of all BRAF mutations in any cancer are class 1 mutations, and in cutaneous melanoma, they comprise about 90% of BRAF mutations. V600E versus V600K mutations are strongly associated with younger age. And, V600E mutations are more commonly associated with overall low mutation burden. Conversely, V600K mutations are more commonly associated with co-occurring genetic alterations in tumor suppressor genes such as PTEN, CDKN2A, and p53. These findings have ramifications for differential therapeutic vulnerability by BRAF mutation type and even within the V600 population.

Nonetheless, it is important to understand the other classes of BRAF mutations since they shed considerable light on BRAF biology and will likely be important in resistance to targeted therapies.

Class 2 mutations are exemplified by mutations in codons 464, 469, 597, and 601 (Yao et al. 2015). These mutations cause constitutive dimerization of RAF, resulting in enhanced kinase activity. MEK and ERK inhibitors are likely to be active against class 2 mutations but may be



Fig. 1 Cartoon of melanoma signaling pathways, highlighting RAF/MEK/ERK and KIT signaling. Normal KIT signaling happens when stem cell factor (SCF) engages the dimeric KIT receptor. In melanoma, KIT activation can occur through KIT mutations (indicated by an asterisk). KIT (and many other) receptors signal through RAS, effecting exchange of GDP (inactive) for GTP (active) via guanine nucleotide exchange factors (RAS GEFs). This activation can be countered by GTPaseactivating proteins (GAPs), including NF1; the loss of NF1 in melanomas results in elevated RAS-GTP levels and signaling through the RAF/MEK/ERK pathway (and other pathways not shown here, such as the PI3K

limited by therapeutic window. BRAF inhibitors could be active if they could block dimeric RAF isoforms. With increased sequencing of melanoma samples, fusions of dimerization domains to RAF kinase domains (usually but not always BRAF) are becoming more widely recognized as melanoma oncogenes; these are also class 2 mutations.

Class 3 mutations are exemplified by mutations in codons 466, 581, and 594 (Yao et al. 2017). These mutations typically cause reduced kinase activity, a phenomenon that was initially confusing (Wan et al. 2004). Subsequent analysis revealed that these mutations co-occur with RAS mutations or other events that cause upstream activation of the pathway. Therefore, these class 3 mutations stabilize a dimeric RAF enzyme in the

pathway). RAS-GTP (perhaps as dimers) cause dimeric RAF to translocate to the plasma membrane resulting in activation of RAF kinase activity. In melanomas, RAF activation can frequently occur through mutation in BRAF – typically the V600E mutation that signals independently of RAF. RAF phosphorylates and activates MEK, which in turn phosphorylates and activates ERK. Activated ERK translocates to the nucleus where phosphorylation of multiple substrates including transcription factors leads to widespread changes in gene expression that result in melanoma cell growth. Avenues to intervene through targeted therapies that are discussed in this chapter are indicated in blue

presence of RAS-GTP. Inhibition of class 3 mutations with RAF inhibitors will be challenging due to the co-occurrence of RAS pathway activation.

RAF Inhibitors

After the discovery that RAF kinase is a direct effector of RAS-GTP, multiple drug discovery efforts led to CRAF kinase inhibitors. Several examples include sorafenib (BAY 43-9006, Nexavar), ZM 336372, L-779,450, and GW 5074 (Bollag et al. 2003). Of these compounds, only sorafenib made it to clinical development (Wilhelm et al. 2006). Sorafenib underwent clinical trials with the strategy to interfere with the RAS pathway and non-intuitively showed clinical

efficacy in renal cell carcinoma, hepatocellular carcinoma, and thyroid cancer. Subsequent mechanistic studies suggest that clinical activity in these diseases is primarily due to inhibition of VEGF receptors (VEGFRs). A close analog of sorafenib, known as regorafenib (Stivarga), subsequently showed activity in colorectal cancer, hepatocellular carcinoma, and gastrointestinal stromal tumors, presumably due to activity against VEGFR and KIT kinase (the receptor for stem cell factor, Fig. 1) (Pelosof et al. 2018). However, despite initial optimism, sorafenib was tested in large phase III clinical trials for BRAFmutated melanoma and failed to show efficacy in second or third lines (Bollag et al. 2012).

Postmortem analysis suggests that sorafenib, while binding to BRAF, binds to the inactive form and therefore is a poor inhibitor of the oncogenic, hyperactive kinase activity presented by the BRAF-V600E allele that predominates in melanoma tumors. Structural characterization of kinase inhibitors has identified at least two different binding modes: type I and type II. Type I inhibitors bind to the activated form of kinases (also known as DFG-in), while type II inhibitors bind to inactive (DFG-out) forms that block activation but not so much constitutively active kinases (Fig. 2). Sorafenib is a type II inhibitor, and its co-crystal structure with BRAF was a landmark development that catalyzed the discovery of subsequent, type I inhibitors (Wan et al. 2004).

A subsequent elaboration of sorafenib identified a compound with improved specificity for the RAF proteins, known as RAF265. RAF265, also a type II inhibitor, displayed some efficacy against BRAF-mutant patients in phase I clinical trials but was insufficiently improved to proceed in clinical trials after the success of type I inhibitors was documented (Izar et al. 2017).

Despite the costly failure of sorafenib in melanoma clinical trials, drug discovery efforts targeting BRAF kinase activity ramped up after the discovery of the oncogene in 2002. Specifically, the drug discovery efforts focused on type I kinase inhibitors. Multiple compounds were discovered by diverse pharmaceutical chemistry efforts, and three compounds have achieved striking clinical efficacy in melanoma: vemurafenib, dabrafenib, and encorafenib. Description of the drug discovery projects is detailed below.

Vemurafenib was the first type I kinase inhibitor to enter clinical trials (Bollag et al. 2012). The compound was discovered at Plexxikon through structure-guided drug identification and optimization. Characterization of a sister compound, PLX4720, was detailed in 2008. Initial screening identified a 5-substituted azaindole as a reproducible binder to multiple kinase active sites, including PIM and FGFR kinases. Subsequent lead optimization focused on dual substitution at both 3- and 5-positions of the azaindole scaffold. Perhaps the most important empirical discovery entailed elaboration of a phenyl-sulfonamide at the 3-position of the azaindole. Fluorine substitution of the phenyl group was key in order to impart acidity to the sulfonamide nitrogen: this makes key interactions with a newly revealed specificity sub-pocket. After identification of PLX4720, the 5-chloro azaindole substituent was replaced by a 5-p-chloro-phenyl moiety vielding vemurafenib (PLX4032, RG7420, Zelboraf). Clinical development of vemurafenib is summarized in ► Chap. 32, "Targeted Therapy in Advanced Melanoma" by Johnson and Sosman.

In order to improve on PLX4032, additional chemistry efforts identified an analog known as PLX3603 (RG7526). While PLX3603 possessed certain improvements on vemurafenib, the pharma-cokinetic profile was insufficient to pursue the compound beyond a phase I clinical trial. None-theless, the clinical efficacy of PLX3603 was similar to other BRAF inhibitors, and several patients achieved several years duration of clinical response.

A related drug discovery project led to the identification of dabrafenib (GSK2118436, Tafinlar). Dabrafenib has a different scaffold to bind to the hinge region of BRAF but again utilizes the fluoro-phenyl sulfonamide to engage the specificity sub-pocket (King et al. 2013). This compound is also a potent type I kinase inhibitor, and its clinical results are also summarized in ▶ Chap. 32, "Targeted Therapy in Advanced Melanoma" by Johnson and Sosman.



Fig. 2 Cartoon of biochemical mechanisms that can be altered through targeted therapies. The top row illustrates a typical activation mechanism for protein kinases. Unactivated kinase domains possess an activation loop bearing amino acids Asp-Phe-Gly (DFG) in an "out" conformation that sterically blocks ATP binding. Activation – for example, through ligand binding to a receptor kinase or phosphorylation by an upstream kinase – causes the DFG loop to switch to the "in" conformation that enables ATP binding. Type II inhibitors bind to the DFG-out conformation and block kinase activation. Type I inhibitors bind to the DFG-in conformation, thereby blocking kinase activity

An additional type I inhibitor has been added to the clinical repertoire and is now known as encorafenib (LGX818). This compound is remarkable in having a very slow off-rate from the BRAF enzyme and has subsequently been used to elucidate differential binding affinities for each protomer of asymmetric BRAF dimers (Yao et al. 2015). Since standard of care for metastatic melanoma has advanced to BRAF/MEK inhibitor combinations, the focus of encorafenib development has been in combination with the MEK inhibitor binimetinib. Results of this development path are encouraging (see \triangleright Chap. 32, "Targeted Therapy in Advanced Melanoma" by Johnson and Sosman) (Flaherty 2017).

Efficacy of BRAF inhibitors in BRAF-V600mutant metastatic melanoma patients was evident early in the clinical development of the compounds (Bollag et al. 2012; Luke et al. 2017).

directly. The middle row shows an idiosyncrasy of the RAF kinases, namely, paradoxical activation by RAF inhibitors. This occurs since RAS induces formation of an asymmetric RAF dimer; binding of the inhibitor to one protomer of the dimer prevents ATP binding to that protomer but causes an allosteric shift that enhances ATP binding to the neighboring protomer resulting in an active RAF enzyme. The bottom row illustrates that BRAF-V600E, found in half of cutaneous melanomas, signals as an active monomer which is effectively blocked by type I RAF inhibitors

Vemurafenib showed a high tumor regression (response) rate and progression-free survival in phase I trials, which was confirmed in phase II trials. A phase III trial comparing vemurafenib to the chemotherapeutic agent dacarbazine also showed improved overall survival. One notable side effect was increased incidence of cutaneous squamous cell carcinoma (cSCC) and the related malignancy keratoacanthoma (Su et al. 2012). Even though this treatment-emergent cancer was relatively easily controlled by routine dermatological methods, the prevalence was troubling. Careful review of the literature revealed that similar findings had been seen in sorafenib-treated patients, although incidence was at a lower rate. This led to intense scientific scrutiny, and the resulting experimental analyses led to the identification of a surprising etiology: RAF inhibition could lead to paradoxical activation of the RAF/MEK/ERK pathway. This phenomenon was termed the RAF inhibitor paradox, and the putative mechanism is discussed below. An important consequence of this mechanism is that RAF/MEK/ERK signaling is likely stimulated or unaffected in normal tissues, as opposed to inhibition achieved in BRAF-V600-mutant cancer cells, with a resultant wider therapeutic window.

A number of "pan-RAF" inhibitors have entered the clinic as well (Yao et al. 2015). These compounds appear to have broader activity on the RAF isoforms, in part through blocking dimeric RAF proteins (Kortum and Morrison 2015). Clinical compounds in this class include LXH254, TAK-632, MLN2480, LY3009120, CCT196969, BGB-283, and CEP-32496 (RXDX-105). These compounds are all relatively early in clinical development, and further data on efficacy and safety are eagerly awaited. If these agents inhibit RAF/MEK/ERK signaling in normal tissues, this may produce a therapeutic window that is more like MEK and ERK inhibitors than paradoxical activating BRAF inhibitors.

MEK and ERK Inhibitors

MEK inhibitors have been the subject of drug discovery efforts as long as RAF inhibitors and for the same reason: since the RAF/MEK/ERK is directly downstream of the RAS oncogene (Sebolt-Leopold and Herrera 2004). The MEK inhibitor U0126 was identified in the late 1990s from a primary drug screen at DuPont. This compound has poor pharmaceutical properties but was initially used as a tool compound to block MEK activity in cellular assays. In parallel efforts, the Parke-Davis drug PD98059 was identified as a more selective MEK inhibitor but also possessed poor pharmaceutical properties. Nonetheless, many publications have used PD98059 as a potent and selective MEK inhibitor to probe the RAF/MEK/ERK pathway in cells. PD98059 binds in an allosteric site of MEK, providing exceptional selectivity.

Subsequent optimization of an unrelated lead at Parke-Davis identified the compound

PD184352 (CI1040) as a potent and selective MEK inhibitor with much improved pharmaceutical properties. The crystal structure of an analog of CI1040 as a ternary complex with ATP and MEK1 or MEK2 provided the structural basis for further drug elaboration (Ohren et al. 2004). However, clinical results with this compound revealed suboptimal bioavailability, and this compound was also discontinued. An improved version of this same pharmacophore yielded the compound PD325901, a compound with much improved human bioavailability. Safety issues have delayed development of this compound, yet it remains a clinical compound at this time.

The ternary binding mode has spawned multiple lead optimization efforts at several pharmaceutical companies, and at this writing, cobimetinib is an approved drug, while the compounds selumetinib and binimetinib are in late stages of clinical development.

A completely different scaffold that also binds allosterically to MEK was discovered through a phenotypic screen for inhibition of cell cycle in cancer cells. This effort identified the compound trametinib (JTP-74057, GSK1120212). This compound has favorable bioavailability in humans and was rapidly developed as a single agent and in combination with dabrafenib in melanoma patients (see ▶ Chap. 32, "Targeted Therapy in Advanced Melanoma" by Johnson and Sosman).

Additional MEK inhibitors currently in clinical development include pimasertib, LNP3794, RO4987655 (CH4987655), RO5126766, and GDC-0623 (Cheng and Tian 2017). Time will tell if these newer compounds supersede any of the currently approved agents.

Subsequently, the MEK inhibitor cobimetinib (XL518, GDC-0973) showed promising results when combined with vemurafenib in BRAFmutant melanoma patients. A phase III trial showed clear superiority of the cobimetinib/ vemurafenib combination versus single-agent vemurafenib. Recent results for the combination of encorafenib and binimetinib are also very promising, so these agents may also become available for melanoma patients with BRAF mutations. With the clinical success of combined BRAF/MEK inhibition, this combination is currently the targeted therapy of choice for BRAF-mutant melanoma.

Therapeutic targeting of ERK has lagged behind BRAF and MEK, perhaps because of concerns about the many substrates and roles of ERK1 and ERK2 (Samatar and Poulikakos 2014). Nonetheless, several ERK inhibitors have now advanced to clinical study. The most advanced compound is ulixertinib (BVD-532, VTX11e), which recently reported phase 1/2 trial results (Sullivan et al. 2018). At least two other compounds, MK-8353 (SCH900353) and GDC0994 (RG7842), are currently in phase 1 clinical development. MK-8353 is mechanistically differentiated from ulixertinib (an ATP-competitive inhibitor) since in addition to blocking ATP-binding MK-8353, it binds deeper in the active site and blocks MEK-dependent phosphorylation. A broader set of BRAF- and NRAS-mutant melanoma cell lines were sensitive to this agent than to MEK inhibition, for mechanistic reasons that remain poorly understood. Given the success of dual BRAF/ MEK inhibition, but also the limited durability, it is hoped that ERK inhibitors may have activity in tumors that have become resistant to BRAF/MEK inhibition; data so far point to clear, but limited, activity. For BRAF V600-mutant melanomas, the optimal application of ERK inhibitors may ultimately be in combination with BRAF inhibitors, in place of MEK inhibitors.

The RAF Inhibitor Paradox

A key discovery that was made early in RAF inhibitor clinical development was the finding of cSCC/keratoacanthomas in a significant number of patients (Su et al. 2012). These lesions often arise within a few weeks, so de novo development is highly unlikely. Much more likely is a pronounced acceleration of tumor development in response to RAF inhibition. A further clue to the mechanism was found from genetic analyses of the lesions: a disproportionate number of lesions had been initiated by RAS mutation. Further investigations in many labs strongly linked these lesions to the RAF inhibitor paradox.

Empirically, the RAF inhibitor paradox can be readily demonstrated in vitro: tumor cells with RAS mutations or alternative upstream activation of the RAS pathway suffer MAP kinase pathway activation in response to RAF inhibitors. Treatment of these cells with RAF inhibitors of diverse chemotypes has relatively modest effects on growth properties, but when growth is affected, increased proliferation is observed. Consistently, treatment of these RAS-driven cells with RAF inhibitors results in pronounced increase in downstream signaling. Hence, the paradox: an inhibitor of the RAF enzyme results in stimulation of the downstream pathway. This was particularly puzzling at the time since such dramatic tumor regressions were observed in patients with BRAF-mutant melanomas.

The mechanism of the RAF inhibitor paradox was known to be intrinsic to RAF binding (rather than due to off-target effects) since such a wide variety of chemotypes (including both type I and type II binding modes) demonstrated paradoxical activation (Cox and Der 2012). It was shown that dimerization was important, since all of the offending compounds caused increased RAF dimerization. While specific details are still under investigation, the hypothesis is that binding of a RAF inhibitor to one protomer of a RAF dimer allosterically induces enhanced ATP binding to the neighboring protomer. This is consistent with the role of RAS in stimulating RAF dimer formation at the membrane. The efficacy in BRAF-V600-mutant melanomas is thus due to the fact that type I dimer inhibitors bind effectively to BRAF monomers to stymie signaling. BRAF-mutant melanoma is "addicted" to MAP kinase pathway signaling, so blocking at the BRAF monomer level is an effective antitumor modality. In class 2 and class 3 BRAF-mutant tumors, the first-generation RAF inhibitors are generally ineffective; these BRAF mutations are rare in melanomas. One compound has been described in the literature that has substantially reduced liability for the RAF inhibitor paradox (Zhang et al. 2015). PLX8394 binds to the active site of BRAF, but instead of allosterically stimulating the neighboring protomer, this compound



Fig. 3 Cartoon illustrating a typical tumor response to targeted BRAF pathway inhibition. Initially, BRAFmutant tumors have strong pathway activation, indicated by brown phospho-ERK (p-ERK) staining. Within minutes, BRAF inhibitors effectively silence the pathway resulting in low p-ERK levels (white). Within hours, feedback adaptation occurs to cause a reset of pathway output (since p-ERK normally self-limits pathway output and this pathway control is abrogated by the inhibitor). This steady state (light brown) persists, likely for months, while epigenetic reprogramming enhances persistence of the tumor (not through direct effects on p-ERK). During this time, tumor regression occurs, likely through a combination of necrosis, apoptosis, and immune cell activity. Most

actually destabilizes the dimer. This compound is currently in early clinical development.

Resistance to RAF/MEK/ERK Inhibitors

Response to MAP kinase pathway inhibition is usually followed by some form of adaptation or true resistance. Three chronologically distinct phases can be defined: (1) within a day, "rewiring" of cellular signaling leads to a new homeostasis; (2) within a month, epigenetic, immuno-, and microenvironmental adaptation leads to tolerance; and (3) after months (to years), genetic mutations result in outgrowth of resistant clones (Fig. 3).

frequently, though, residual tumor persists, supported by epigenetic and stromal retaliation dictated by the tumor cell. Within the persisting tumor mass, selection for mutations that overcome the targeted therapy results in resistant clones. Most commonly, resistant mutations cause reignition of the RAF/MEK ERK pathway (black staining). However, relapsed tumors are often polyclonal, and alternative pathways can be triggered; in this cartoon example, the PI3K pathway is stimulated (e.g., through loss of PTEN), and phospho-AKT (p-AKT) levels increase (red). Over the following weeks to months, these resistant clones proliferate and predominate, reestablishing a progressively growing tumor mass

When BRAF-mutant cancer cells are treated with BRAF inhibitors, ERK-dependent feedback inhibition is abrogated (Pratilas and Solit 2010). This occurs through a variety of pathways, including DUSP and Sprouty proteins whose upregulation in response to ERK activation normally leads to pathway attenuation either by dephosphorylating ERK directly or through blocking receptor signaling. A new "steady state" is achieved, as the tumor cells adapt to the tonic presence of the inhibitor.

Over time, epigenetic and microenvironmental factors induce tolerance to pathway inhibition. Thus, a subset of "tolerant" cells persist and can seed recurrence of the tumor (Sharma et al. 2010; Konieczkowski et al. 2014). Furthermore, stromal

cells can support melanoma growth, and one of the most common factors that mediates this event is HGF, hepatocyte growth factor (Straussman et al. 2012; Wilson et al. 2012). The adaptation events sometimes lead to a state in which the tumor is "addicted" to the presence of the targeted inhibitor. Indeed, intermittent removal of the inhibitor can lead to improved efficacy (Das Thakur et al. 2013).

Substantial efforts have tried to address the question about acquired resistance to BRAF pathway inhibitors (Solit and Rosen 2011). Single-agent BRAF inhibitors typically have a relatively short progression-free survival (PFS) of ~6 months (> Chap. 32, "Targeted Therapy in Advanced Melanoma" by Sosman and Johnson). Clearly, resistance to BRAF inhibition is a frequent and rapid event. Dual inhibition of BRAF and MEK increases durability resulting in a PFS of \sim 12 months. Still, resistance is a major problem, and dual BRAF/MEK inhibition has only modest activity once BRAF inhibitor resistance transpires. Note, however, that the occurrence of cSCC/ keratoacanthomas decreases significantly in BRAF/MEK dual inhibitor trials compared to single-agent BRAF inhibitors. This adds credence to the proposed mechanism of the cSCC/ keratoacanthomas: the RAF inhibitor paradox can predictably be antagonized by MEK inhibition.

After much research, the mechanisms known to cause resistance to BRAF/MEK inhibition are numerous (Johnson et al. 2015). Unfortunately, this dampens hope that a single add-on therapy could be used in all patients. Among the mechanisms of resistance are the following: RAS mutation (primarily NRAS), BRAF amplification, BRAF splicing, growth factor receptor activation, stromal growth factors, activation of the phosphatidylinositol 3'-kinase pathway, and other less frequent events. Analysis of tumor samples from resistant patients has yielded much of this information, although about 40% of the samples did not reveal an identifiable mechanism. In samples with identifiable mechanisms, it appears that most (perhaps 75%) of the resistant tumors rely on the reactivation of the RAF/MEK/ ERK pathway. To make follow-up therapy even more challenging, analysis of multiple metastases

from the same patient yields multiple resistance mechanisms (Shi et al. 2014).

Interplay between Immuno-Oncology and Targeted Therapy

Immuno-oncology research has burgeoned, seeking to take advantage of the patient's innate immune potential to antagonize the tumor directly (Luke et al. 2017). This approach makes strategic sense, since tumors develop intricate mechanisms to hide from innate immune cells. Immune evasion and immune suppression make up one of the hallmarks of cancer, "avoiding immune destruction." Furthermore, "tumor-promoting inflammation" is another hallmark that is mediated by the tumor microenvironment.

In the case of BRAF-mutant melanoma cells, two important phenotypes include dedifferentiation such that antigenic epitopes are not displayed on the cell surface and expression of immune inhibitors such as PD-L1. BRAF mutation thus serves to protect melanoma cells from the innate immune response. BRAF pathway inhibition, therefore, not only blocks proliferation and causes cell death but also impedes immunosuppressive mechanisms that are key to melanoma cell survival. While BRAF inhibition can lead to increased expression of the immunosuppressive ligand PD-L1, this is not a universal feature (Cooper et al. 2015). In any case, targeted therapies overlap with immuno-oncology therapies to block melanomas. Therefore, combination of targeted therapies with immune checkpoint inhibitors is a promising development in the treatment landscape (Luke et al. 2017).

KIT Inhibitors

Most of this chapter has been devoted to targeting the BRAF pathway, since that approach has led to successful therapies. A small subset of tumors express another targetable oncogene, namely, the mutated or amplified KIT receptor (Postow and Carvajal 2012). KIT is the receptor for stem cell factor, which is important for the development of key myeloid cells, and in particular for mast cell function. KIT also functions in melanocytes, for example, in the pathway of melanin biosynthesis. Mutations in KIT are primarily found in acral, mucosal, and chronic sun damage (CSD) surface forms of melanoma (► Chap. 7, "Molecular Genetics of Melanocytic Neoplasia" by Hodis and Garraway).

Since KIT mutations are found at much higher frequency in gastrointestinal stromal tumors (GIST), the targeted therapy approach has been explored in great detail in those tumors (Maki et al. 2015). Current GIST treatment consists of multiple lines of KIT inhibitor treatment. Imatinib, an inhibitor of several kinases including KIT and ABL, is the first line of therapy for GIST patients and is typically effective for about 2 years. Subsequent KIT inhibitors include sunitinib and regorafenib, which have diminishing durability due to the accumulation of KIT mutations during the development of resistance.

Imatinib has also been tested in a number of trials for KIT-mutant melanoma (> Chap. 32, "Targeted Therapy in Advanced Melanoma" by Sosman and Johnson). Clear tumor responses are seen in a subset of patients (15-25%), with most activity in KIT-mutant tumors and minimal activity in KIT-amplified tumors. Nilotinib, which inhibits KIT and ABL, and sunitinib, which inhibits KIT and multiple other kinases, have also been trialed in KIT-mutant melanoma patients, and response rates to date have been lower than those for imatinib. As with GIST tumors, KIT mutation heterogeneity presents a substantial challenge in the treatment of KIT-mutant melanomas with KIT inhibitors. The diversity of KIT mutations, the heterogeneity of mutations within patients, and the scarcity of patients with KIT mutations have made the development in KIT-mutant melanoma particularly difficult, and no inhibitors have yet been approved.

Other Targetable Drivers of Melanoma

While BRAF and KIT have attracted the most clinical attention, additional oncogenic drivers with associated targeted therapies have been described. For example, in ► Chap. 7, "Molecular Genetics of Melanocytic Neoplasia" by Hodis and Garraway, mutations in genes such as MEK, EZH2, and IDH1 reveal likely genetic drivers that may be addressed by the current therapeutic armamentarium. In ▶ Chap. 18, "Spitz Tumors" by Yeh and Bastian, a variety of targetable kinase gene fusions are noted in spitzoid melanoma, including ROS1, NTRK1, NTRK3, ALK, RET, and MET. Since approved or experimental drugs exist for each of these fusion-activated kinases, it is likely that future clinical care of these genetically identifiable oncogenes with targeted agents will become standard practice. In the meantime, anecdotal reports are emerging, such as response in a ROS1 fusion-driven melanoma to the kinase inhibitor entrectinib (Drilon et al. 2017).

RAS pathway activation occurs frequently in melanomas, most frequently through NRAS or KRAS mutations, loss of NF1, or activation of GNAQ and GNA11. While RAS inhibitors have been a holy grail of targeted therapy discovery efforts for 30 years, no drugs are currently available. MEK inhibitors have been tested in NRASmutant melanoma with modest activity (Dummer et al. 2017). However, further analysis of these patients revealed no survival advantage (> Chap. 32, "Targeted Therapy in Advanced Melanoma" by Johnson and Sosman). MEK inhibitors have also been tested in uveal melanoma patients which mostly have GNAQ/GNA11 mutations. Again, initial results were promising (Carvajal et al. 2014), but late-stage studies failed to show a significant progression-free survival effect or any overall survival advantage (Komatsubara et al. 2016). Reinvigorated efforts to target RAS in different ways will hopefully provide additional targeted therapeutic options for melanoma patients (Simanshu et al. 2017).

Conclusion

While immunotherapies have taken center stage in recent years, targeted therapies will remain important options in the melanoma patient's journey. As future scientific discoveries reveal the vulnerabilities of available therapeutic options, subsequent drug discoveries will address these vulnerabilities. The genetics and biochemistry of resistance will inform target identification along with the proper constituents and scheduling of therapeutic combinations. The resulting treatment paradigms will enable long-term melanoma abatement, perhaps even cures.

References

- Arafeh R, Qutob N, Emmanuel R, Keren-Paz A, Madore J, Elkahloun A, Wilmott JS, Gartner JJ, Di Pizio A, Winograd-Katz S, Sindiri S, Rotkopf R, Dutton-Regester K, Johansson P, Pritchard AL, Waddell N, Hill VK, Lin JC, Hevroni Y, Rosenberg SA, Khan J, Ben-Dor S, Niv MY, Ulitsky I, Mann GJ, Scolyer RA, Hayward NK, Samuels Y (2015) Recurrent inactivating RASA2 mutations in melanoma. Nat Genet 47(12):1408–1410
- Boiko AD, Razorenova OV, van de Rijn M, Swetter SM, Johnson DL, Ly DP, Butler PD, Yang GP, Joshua B, Kaplan MJ, Longaker MT, Weissman IL (2010) Human melanoma-initiating cells express neural crest nerve growth factor receptor CD271. Nature 466(7302):133–137
- Bollag G, Freeman S, Lyons JF, Post LE (2003) Raf pathway inhibitors in oncology. Curr Opin Investig Drugs 4(12):1436–1441
- Bollag G, Tsai J, Zhang J, Zhang C, Ibrahim P, Nolop K, Hirth P (2012) Vemurafenib: the first drug approved for BRAF-mutant cancer. Nat Rev Drug Discov 11(11): 873–886
- Boni A, Cogdill AP, Dang P, Udayakumar D, Njauw CN, Sloss CM, Ferrone CR, Flaherty KT, Lawrence DP, Fisher DE, Tsao H, Wargo JA (2010) Selective BRAFV600E inhibition enhances T-cell recognition of melanoma without affecting lymphocyte function. Cancer Res 70(13):5213–5219
- Carvajal RD, Sosman JA, Quevedo JF, Milhem MM, Joshua AM, Kudchadkar RR, Linette GP, Gajewski TF, Lutzky J, Lawson DH, Lao CD, Flynn PJ, Albertini MR, Sato T, Lewis K, Doyle A, Ancell K, Panageas KS, Bluth M, Hedvat C, Erinjeri J, Ambrosini G, Marr B, Abramson DH, Dickson MA, Wolchok JD, Chapman PB, Schwartz GK (2014) Effect of selumetinib vs chemotherapy on progression-free survival in uveal melanoma: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA 311(23):2397–2405
- Caunt CJ, Sale MJ, Smith PD, Cook SJ (2015) MEK1 and MEK2 inhibitors and cancer therapy: the long and winding road. Nat Rev Cancer 15(10):577–592
- Cheng Y, Tian H (2017) Current development status of MEK inhibitors. Molecules 22(10): E1551
- Cooper ZA, Reuben A, Austin-Breneman J, Wargo JA (2015) Does it MEK a difference? Understanding immune effects of targeted therapy. Clin Cancer Res 21(14):3102–3104
- Cox AD, Der CJ (2012) The RAF inhibitor paradox revisited. Cancer Cell 21(2):147–149

- Cox AD, Der CJ, Philips MR (2015) Targeting RAS membrane association: back to the future for anti-RAS drug discovery? Clin Cancer Res 21(8):1819–1827
- Das Thakur M, Salangsang F, Landman AS, Sellers WR, Pryer NK, Levesque MP, Dummer R, McMahon M, Stuart DD (2013) Modelling vemurafenib resistance in melanoma reveals a strategy to forestall drug resistance. Nature 494(7436):251–255
- Davies H, Bignell GR, Cox C, Stephens P, Edkins S, Clegg S, Teague J, Woffendin H, Garnett MJ, Bottomley W, Davis N, Dicks E, Ewing R, Floyd Y, Gray K, Hall S, Hawes R, Hughes J, Kosmidou V, Menzies A, Mould C, Parker A, Stevens C, Watt S, Hooper S, Wilson R, Jayatilake H, Gusterson BA, Cooper C, Shipley J, Hargrave D, Pritchard-Jones K, Maitland N, Chenevix-Trench G, Riggins GJ, Bigner DD, Palmieri G, Cossu A, Flanagan A, Nicholson A, Ho JW, Leung SY, Yuen ST, Weber BL, Seigler HF, Darrow TL, Paterson H, Marais R, Marshall CJ, Wooster R, Stratton MR, Futreal PA (2002) Mutations of the BRAF gene in human cancer. Nature 417(6892):949–954
- Drilon A, Siena S, Ou SI, Patel M, Ahn MJ, Lee J, Bauer TM, Farago AF, Wheler JJ, Liu SV, Doebele R, Giannetta L, Cerea G, Marrapese G, Schirru M, Amatu A, Bencardino K, Palmeri L, Sartore-Bianchi A, Vanzulli A, Cresta S, Damian S, Duca M, Ardini E, Li G, Christiansen J, Kowalski K, Johnson AD, Patel R, Luo D, Chow-Maneval E, Hornby Z, Multani PS, Shaw AT, De Braud FG (2017) Safety and antitumor activity of the multitargeted pan-TRK, ROS1, and ALK inhibitor Entrectinib: combined results from two phase I trials (ALKA-372-001 and STARTRK-1). Cancer Discov 7(4):400–409
- Dummer R, Schadendorf D, Ascierto PA, Arance A, Dutriaux C, Di Giacomo AM, Rutkowski P, Del Vecchio M, Gutzmer R, Mandala M, Thomas L, Demidov L, Garbe C, Hogg D, Liszkay G, Queirolo P, Wasserman E, Ford J, Weill M, Sirulnik LA, Jehl V, Bozon V, Long GV, Flaherty K (2017) Binimetinib versus dacarbazine in patients with advanced NRAS-mutant melanoma (NEMO): a multicentre, open-label, randomised, phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol 18(4):435–445
- Flaherty K (2017) In the pipeline: encorafenib and binimetinib in BRAF-mutated melanoma. Clin Adv Hematol Oncol 15(10):745–747
- Hanahan D, Weinberg RA (2011) Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. Cell 144(5):646–674
- Heinzerling L, Kuhnapfel S, Meckbach D, Baiter M, Kaempgen E, Keikavoussi P, Schuler G, Agaimy A, Bauer J, Hartmann A, Kiesewetter F, Schneider-Stock R (2013) Rare BRAF mutations in melanoma patients: implications for molecular testing in clinical practice. Br J Cancer 108(10):2164–2171
- Holderfield M, Deuker MM, McCormick F, McMahon M (2014) Targeting RAF kinases for cancer therapy: BRAF-mutated melanoma and beyond. Nat Rev Cancer 14(7):455–467
- Izar B, Sharfman W, Hodi FS, Lawrence D, Flaherty KT, Amaravadi R, Kim KB, Puzanov I, Sosman J,

Dummer R, Goldinger SM, Lam L, Kakar S, Tang Z, Krieter O, McDermott DF, Atkins MB (2017) A firstin-human phase I, multicenter, open-label, dose-escalation study of the oral RAF/VEGFR-2 inhibitor (RAF265) in locally advanced or metastatic melanoma independent from BRAF mutation status. Cancer Med 6(8):1904–1914

- Johnson DB, Menzies AM, Zimmer L, Eroglu Z, Ye F, Zhao S, Rizos H, Sucker A, Scolyer RA, Gutzmer R, Gogas H, Kefford RF, Thompson JF, Becker JC, Berking C, Egberts F, Loquai C, Goldinger SM, Pupo GM, Hugo W, Kong X, Garraway LA, Sosman JA, Ribas A, Lo RS, Long GV, Schadendorf D (2015) Acquired BRAF inhibitor resistance: a multicenter meta-analysis of the spectrum and frequencies, clinical behaviour, and phenotypic associations of resistance mechanisms. Eur J Cancer 51(18): 2792–2799
- King AJ, Arnone MR, Bleam MR, Moss KG, Yang J, Fedorowicz KE, Smitheman KN, Erhardt JA, Hughes-Earle A, Kane-Carson LS, Sinnamon RH, Qi H, Rheault TR, Uehling DE, Laquerre SG (2013) Dabrafenib; preclinical characterization, increased efficacy when combined with trametinib, while BRAF/ MEK tool combination reduced skin lesions. PLoS One 8(7):e67583
- Komatsubara KM, Manson DK, Carvajal RD (2016) Selumetinib for the treatment of metastatic uveal melanoma: past and future perspectives. Future Oncol 12(11):1331–1344
- Konieczkowski DJ, Johannessen CM, Abudayyeh O, Kim JW, Cooper ZA, Piris A, Frederick DT, Barzily-Rokni M, Straussman R, Haq R, Fisher DE, Mesirov JP, Hahn WC, Flaherty KT, Wargo JA, Tamayo P, Garraway LA (2014) A melanoma cell state distinction influences sensitivity to MAPK pathway inhibitors. Cancer Discov 4(7):816–827
- Kortum RL, Morrison DK (2015) Path forward for RAF therapies: inhibition of monomers and dimers. Cancer Cell 28(3):279–281
- Luke JJ, Flaherty KT, Ribas A, Long GV (2017) Targeted agents and immunotherapies: optimizing outcomes in melanoma. Nat Rev Clin Oncol 14(8):463–482
- Maki RG, Blay JY, Demetri GD, Fletcher JA, Joensuu H, Martin-Broto J, Nishida T, Reichardt P, Schoffski P, Trent JC (2015) Key issues in the clinical management of gastrointestinal stromal tumors: an expert discussion. Oncologist 20(7):823–830
- Neilsen BK, Frodyma DE, Lewis RE, Fisher KW (2017) KSR as a therapeutic target for Ras-dependent cancers. Expert Opin Ther Targets 21(5):499–509
- Nissan MH, Pratilas CA, Jones AM, Ramirez R, Won H, Liu C, Tiwari S, Kong L, Hanrahan AJ, Yao Z, Merghoub T, Ribas A, Chapman PB, Yaeger R, Taylor BS, Schultz N, Berger MF, Rosen N, Solit DB (2014) Loss of NF1 in cutaneous melanoma is associated with RAS activation and MEK dependence. Cancer Res 74(8):2340–2350

- Ohren JF, Chen H, Pavlovsky A, Whitehead C, Zhang E, Kuffa P, Yan C, McConnell P, Spessard C, Banotai C, Mueller WT, Delaney A, Omer C, Sebolt-Leopold J, Dudley DT, Leung IK, Flamme C, Warmus J, Kaufman M, Barrett S, Tecle H, Hasemann CA (2004) Structures of human MAP kinase kinase 1 (MEK1) and MEK2 describe novel noncompetitive kinase inhibition. Nat Struct Mol Biol 11(12): 1192–1197
- Pelosof L, Lemery S, Casak S, Jiang X, Rodriguez L, Pierre V, Bi Y, Liu J, Zirkelbach JF, Patel A, Goldberg KB, McKee AE, Keegan P, Pazdur R (2018) Benefit-risk summary of regorafenib for the treatment of patients with advanced hepatocellular carcinoma that has progressed on sorafenib. Oncologist 23(4):496
- Philpott C, Tovell H, Frayling IM, Cooper DN, Upadhyaya M (2017) The NF1 somatic mutational landscape in sporadic human cancers. Hum Genomics 11(1):13
- Pollock PM, Harper UL, Hansen KS, Yudt LM, Stark M, Robbins CM, Moses TY, Hostetter G, Wagner U, Kakareka J, Salem G, Pohida T, Heenan P, Duray P, Kallioniemi O, Hayward NK, Trent JM, Meltzer PS (2003) High frequency of BRAF mutations in nevi. Nat Genet 33(1):19–20
- Postow MA, Carvajal RD (2012) Therapeutic implications of KIT in melanoma. Cancer J 18(2):137–141
- Pratilas CA, Solit DB (2010) Targeting the mitogenactivated protein kinase pathway: physiological feedback and drug response. Clin Cancer Res 16(13): 3329–3334
- Rajakulendran T, Sahmi M, Lefrancois M, Sicheri F, Therrien M (2009) A dimerization-dependent mechanism drives RAF catalytic activation. Nature 461(7263):542–545
- Samatar AA, Poulikakos PI (2014) Targeting RAS-ERK signalling in cancer: promises and challenges. Nat Rev Drug Discov 13(12):928–942
- Sebolt-Leopold JS, Herrera R (2004) Targeting the mitogen-activated protein kinase cascade to treat cancer. Nat Rev Cancer 4(12):937–947
- Sharma SV, Lee DY, Li B, Quinlan MP, Takahashi F, Maheswaran S, McDermott U, Azizian N, Zou L, Fischbach MA, Wong KK, Brandstetter K, Wittner B, Ramaswamy S, Classon M, Settleman J (2010) A chromatin-mediated reversible drug-tolerant state in cancer cell subpopulations. Cell 141(1):69–80
- Shi H, Hugo W, Kong X, Hong A, Koya RC, Moriceau G, Chodon T, Guo R, Johnson DB, Dahlman KB, Kelley MC, Kefford RF, Chmielowski B, Glaspy JA, Sosman JA, van Baren N, Long GV, Ribas A, Lo RS (2014) Acquired resistance and clonal evolution in melanoma during BRAF inhibitor therapy. Cancer Discov 4(1):80–93
- Simanshu DK, Nissley DV, McCormick F (2017) RAS proteins and their regulators in human disease. Cell 170(1):17–33

- Solit DB, Rosen N (2011) Resistance to BRAF inhibition in melanomas. N Engl J Med 364(8):772–774
- Solit DB, Rosen N (2014) Towards a unified model of RAF inhibitor resistance. Cancer Discov 4(1):27–30
- Straussman R, Morikawa T, Shee K, Barzily-Rokni M, Qian ZR, Du J, Davis A, Mongare MM, Gould J, Frederick DT, Cooper ZA, Chapman PB, Solit DB, Ribas A, Lo RS, Flaherty KT, Ogino S, Wargo JA, Golub TR (2012) Tumour micro-environment elicits innate resistance to RAF inhibitors through HGF secretion. Nature 487(7408):500–504
- Su F, Viros A, Milagre C, Trunzer K, Bollag G, Spleiss O, Reis-Filho JS, Kong X, Koya RC, Flaherty KT, Chapman PB, Kim MJ, Hayward R, Martin M, Yang H, Wang Q, Hilton H, Hang JS, Noe J, Lambros M, Geyer F, Dhomen N, Niculescu-Duvaz I, Zambon A, Niculescu-Duvaz D, Preece N, Robert L, Otte NJ, Mok S, Kee D, Ma Y, Zhang C, Habets G, Burton EA, Wong B, Nguyen H, Kockx M, Andries L, Lestini B, Nolop KB, Lee RJ, Joe AK, Troy JL, Gonzalez R, Hutson TE, Puzanov I, Chmielowski B, Springer CJ, McArthur GA, Sosman JA, Lo RS, Ribas A, Marais R (2012) RAS mutations in cutaneous squamous-cell carcinomas in patients treated with BRAF inhibitors. N Engl J Med 366(3):207–215
- Sullivan RJ, Infante JR, Janku F, Wong DJL, Sosman JA, Keedy V, Patel MR, Shapiro GI, Mier JW, Tolcher AW, Wang-Gillam A, Sznol M, Flaherty K, Buchbinder E, Carvajal RD, Varghese AM, Lacouture ME, Ribas A, Patel SP, DeCrescenzo GA, Emery CM, Groover AL, Saha S, Varterasian M, Welsch DJ, Hyman DM, Li BT (2018) First-in-class ERK1/2 inhibitor Ulixertinib (BVD-523) in patients with MAPK mutant advanced solid tumors: results of a phase I dose-escalation and expansion study. Cancer Discov 8(2):184–195
- Vigil D, Cherfils J, Rossman KL, Der CJ (2010) Ras superfamily GEFs and GAPs: validated and tractable targets for cancer therapy? Nat Rev Cancer 10(12): 842–857

- Wan PT, Garnett MJ, Roe SM, Lee S, Niculescu-Duvaz D, Good VM, Jones CM, Marshall CJ, Springer CJ, Barford D, Marais R (2004) Mechanism of activation of the RAF-ERK signaling pathway by oncogenic mutations of B-RAF. Cell 116(6):855–867
- Wilhelm S, Carter C, Lynch M, Lowinger T, Dumas J, Smith RA, Schwartz B, Simantov R, Kelley S (2006) Discovery and development of sorafenib: a multikinase inhibitor for treating cancer. Nat Rev Drug Discov 5(10):835–844
- Wilson TR, Fridlyand J, Yan Y, Penuel E, Burton L, Chan E, Peng J, Lin E, Wang Y, Sosman J, Ribas A, Li J, Moffat J, Sutherlin DP, Koeppen H, Merchant M, Neve R, Settleman J (2012) Widespread potential for growth-factor-driven resistance to anticancer kinase inhibitors. Nature 487(7408):505–509
- Yao Z, Torres NM, Tao A, Gao Y, Luo L, Li Q, de Stanchina E, Abdel-Wahab O, Solit DB, Poulikakos PI, Rosen N (2015) BRAF mutants evade ERK-dependent feedback by different mechanisms that determine their sensitivity to pharmacologic inhibition. Cancer Cell 28(3):370–383
- Yao Z, Yaeger R, Rodrik-Outmezguine VS, Tao A, Torres NM, Chang MT, Drosten M, Zhao H, Cecchi F, Hembrough T, Michels J, Baumert H, Miles L, Campbell NM, de Stanchina E, Solit DB, Barbacid M, Taylor BS, Rosen N (2017) Tumours with class 3 BRAF mutants are sensitive to the inhibition of activated RAS. Nature 548 (7666):234–238
- Zhang C, Spevak W, Zhang Y, Burton EA, Ma Y, Habets G, Zhang J, Lin J, Ewing T, Matusow B, Tsang G, Marimuthu A, Cho H, Wu G, Wang W, Fong D, Nguyen H, Shi S, Womack P, Nespi M, Shellooe R, Carias H, Powell B, Light E, Sanftner L, Walters J, Tsai J, West BL, Visor G, Rezaei H, Lin PS, Nolop K, Ibrahim PN, Hirth P, Bollag G (2015) RAF inhibitors that evade paradoxical MAPK pathway activation. Nature 526(7574):583–586



Melanomics: Comprehensive Molecular Analysis of Normal and Neoplastic Melanocytes

Xuan Tien Steven Nguyen and Ian R. Watson

Contents

Introduction and Etiology	182
Next-Generation Sequencing	182
Cutaneous Melanoma	183 183
Data Platforms Perspective on Future Studies in Cutaneous Melanoma	190 208
Uveal Melanoma	209 209 211
Perspective on Future Studies in Uveal Melanoma	214
Conclusions	216
References	216

Abstract

Cutaneous melanoma is the deadliest form of skin cancer. An immense understanding of this disease has emerged through the molecular characterization of melanocytes and melanomas, which has resulted in the development of therapies that have impacted patient outcomes. This chapter will review studies that have characterized the melanoma genome,

X. T. S. Nguyen · I. R. Watson (🖂)

Rosalind and Morris Goodman Cancer Research Center, Department of Biochemistry, McGill University, Montreal, QC, Canada e-mail: ian.watson2@mcgill.ca transcriptome, as well as the epigenome of non-acral, cutaneous, and uveal melanoma. Specifically, first-generation sequencing findings that discovered many of the frequently mutated oncogenes and tumor suppressors in melanoma will be described. Subsequently, next-generation sequencing studies that revealed novel UV-induced driver mutations and frequent noncoding mutations will be covered. Finally, integrative analyses of melanoma across multiple data platforms that have led to the discovery of new biomarkers and increased our understanding of the molecular basis of this disease will be reviewed.

[©] Springer Science+Business Media, LLC, part of Springer Nature 2019 D. E. Fisher, B. C. Bastian (eds.), *Melanoma*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-7147-9_30

Keywords

Melanoma · Comprehensive integrative analysis · Molecular platforms · Genomics · Copy number alterations · Transcriptomics · Epigenomics

Introduction and Etiology

Found most abundantly in the basal layer of the epidermis, melanocytes are derived from the neural crest lineage and are distributed to various anatomical sites. These cells function to produce melanin, which provides pigmentation for the skin, eyes, and hair. Melanocytes can produce different subsets of neoplasms that differ in clinical features, histopathological appearance, and biological behavior (reviewed in Bastian 2014). Melanocytic neoplasms are most frequently found in the skin; however, they can arise from melanocytes in the eye, the central nervous system, and numerous internal organs. Nevi and melanoma are the terms used to describe the benign and malignant melanocytic neoplasms, respectively.

This chapter focuses on studies that have performed analyses of melanocytic neoplasms with the following data platforms: first-generation sequencing, whole exome sequencing (WES), whole genome sequencing (WGS), copy number variation (CNV) analysis, mRNA/miRNA profiling, genome-wide epigenetic characterization, and integrative analysis across multiple data platforms. First, genome-wide and integrative analyses of cutaneous melanoma from skin with either marked (high-CSD) or intermediate or little (low-CSD) signs of chronic sun-induced damage will be reviewed. (These melanoma subtypes were originally termed chronic sun damaged (CSD) and non-CSD, respectively. The 2018 WHO Classification of Skin Tumors uses the terms high- and low-CSD instead, and this nomenclature is used in this chapter for consistency.) The second part of this chapter will cover integrative analyses from melanomas originating from the uveal tract of the eye (uveal melanoma). The publications reviewed herein will be limited to treatment-naïve melanomas. As large-scale integrative analyses for the rarer forms of melanomas have not yet been performed, this chapter will focus primarily on non-acral cutaneous melanoma and uveal melanoma. Where appropriate, major genomic findings for the less well-studied forms of melanomas will be briefly described. The latter types include melanomas from glabrous (non-hair-bearing) skin (acral melanoma) and melanomas originating from mucosal membranes (mucosal melanoma), as well as desmoplastic and Spitz melanomas.

Next-Generation Sequencing

Studies of familial melanoma using array-based comparative hybridization and first-generation sequencing technologies that include PCR amplification and Sanger-based capillary sequencing methodologies have been instrumental in identifying genes involved in melanoma progression. However, from 2010 to 2016, two next-generation sequencing (NGS) approaches have led to major genomic discoveries in melanoma. First, whole exome sequencing (WES), where exons are captured using biotinylated RNA "baits" and undergo massive parallel sequencing, has allowed investigators to identify indels and SNVs in the coding portion of melanoma genomes. Second, whole genome sequencing (WGS) has enabled the identification of single nucleotide variants (SNVs) in both coding and noncoding portions of the genome, as well as structural variants. These approaches facilitated the discovery of driver mutations that were not detected by firstgeneration sequencing methods.

Throughout this chapter, the following terms will be used. A *mutation* is a change of the normal structure of a gene caused by alterations of single base units in DNA (SNVs), deletions, insertions or amplifications, as well as rearrangement of genes or chromosomes that can lead to expressed gene fusions. *Driver mutations* are somatic mutations in a gene that provide a selective advantage for cells, with statistical evidence for positive selection. A *hotspot mutation* is a recurrent mutation that leads to the same nucleotide (for noncoding) or amino acid substitution (for coding mutations), which generally signifies positive selection. In contrast, *passenger mutations* do not provide a selective advantage to cancer cells, reflected by the lack of statistical evidence for positive selection (reviewed in Watson et al. 2013). Herein, genomic studies and comprehensive molecular analyses of normal and neoplastic melanocytes that have provided insight into the etiology of this disease will be reviewed.

Cutaneous Melanoma

Detected in its earliest stages (stage I, II, and resectable stage III), melanoma is generally curable with early detection and surgery. Unfortunately, patient prognosis significantly decreases for patients with late stage metastatic disease (unresectable stage III and stage IV), where lesions spread to distant sites (Balch et al. 2009). The American Cancer Society estimates that approximately 87,110 new melanomas will be diagnosed in 2017 in the United States, of which nearly 10,000 are expected to die from this disease (Siegel et al. 2017). Unlike the majority of cancers, melanoma rates have been increasing significantly in both men and women (Linos et al. 2009). Ultraviolet (UV) radiation is a major environmental risk factor for cutaneous melanoma. Melanomas from the sun-exposed skin are commonly categorized into two groups: originating from severely sun-damaged (high-CSD) or skin with little or intermediate sun-induced damage (low-CSD) (Bastian 2014). High-CSD melanomas are generally found in older patients (>55 years old) on the head, neck, and dorsal surfaces of extremities. They show a high degree of solar elastosis histologically, as the defining criterion. Melanomas found on the trunk and proximal extremities of younger patients typically show low or intermediate degrees of solar elastosis and therefore are considered low-CSD melanomas (Whiteman et al. 2003). Firstgeneration sequencing analyses identified driver mutations in frequently mutated melanoma oncogenes and tumor suppressors, but interestingly, few possessed characteristic UV signature mutations.

Genomics of Cutaneous Melanoma

First-Generation Sequencing: Cutaneous melanoma is characterized by mutually exclusive hotspot mutations in the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) regulators, BRAF (p.V600) and NRAS (p.G12, G13, and Q61L), found in approximately 50% and 20% of patients, respectively. These hot spot mutations in *BRAF* and NRAS were discovered using PCR amplification and Sanger sequencing (Albino et al. 1989; Davies et al. 2002; Sekiya et al. 1984; van 't Veer et al. 1989). The vast majority of hotspot mutations in BRAF and NRAS are not caused by characteristic UV-induced SNVs in the form of C > T transitions found at dipyrimidines (described in more detail below). These findings led to the development of BRAF inhibitors (e.g., vemurafenib and dabrafenib) and MEK kinase inhibitors (e.g., trametinib) for the treatment of melanoma, which has elicited dramatic antitumor responses in the clinic, although drug resistance remains problematic (reviewed in Girotti et al. 2014).

Prior to the era of next-generation sequencing (NGS), studies employing various approaches discovered mutations in genes that encode for regulators of canonical cancer pathways in addition to the MAPK pathway. These include the INK4A-CDK4/6-RB, ARF-MDM2-P53, and PI (3)K-AKT signaling pathways (reviewed in Tsao et al. 2012). Many of these melanoma genes were discovered from studying melanoma-prone families, such as the initial discovery of mutations in CDKN2A that co-segregated with melanoma susceptibility (Hussussian et al. 1994; Kamb et al. 1994). CDKN2A encodes for both p16INK4A and p14ARF that regulate the INK4A-CDK4/6-RB cell cycle and the ARF-MDM2-TP53 apoptotic pathways, respectively. Other germline mutations that predispose individuals to melanoma include variants in CDK4. CDK4 phosphorylates and inhibits the RB1 tumor suppressor to promote cell cycle progression. The most common mutation in CDK4 encodes for the p.R24C amino acid change that renders CDK4 insensitive to p16INK4A inhibition (Wolfel et al. 1995; Zuo et al. 1996). Furthermore, retinoblastoma patients that possess germline RB1 mutations have a higher incidence of melanoma (Draper et al. 1986). Although portions of CDKN2A that encode for p16INK4A are more frequently mutated in melanoma, alterations affecting p14ARF have been reported in some types of familial melanoma (Randerson-Moor et al. 2001). ARF positively regulates TP53 function by inhibiting its negative regulator, the E3 ubiquitin ligase MDM2, which promotes TP53 degradation (reviewed in Tsao et al. 2012). TP53 is a tumor suppressor frequently mutated in many cancers that promotes apoptosis in response to DNA damage. MDM2 amplifications were also found in approximately 3% of melanomas (Muthusamy et al. 2006). Another important pathway involved in the regulation of melanoma cell growth and survival is the PI(3)K-AKT pathway, where AKT3 amplifications, PTEN mutations and deletions were discovered as frequent events (Guldberg et al. 1997; Teng et al. 1997). Notably, PTEN mutations/deletions were found to occur more frequently in BRAF mutant melanomas (Stahl et al. 2004).

Copy Number Variations (CNV): Copy number approaches that include the use of highdensity single-nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) and comparative genomic hybridization (CGH) arrays played important roles in identifying oncogenes and tumor suppressors in melanoma. Some of the earliest CGH studies discovered losses of chromosomes 6q, 8p, and 10 as well as gains in chromosomes 1q, 6p, 7, and 8 in primary melanomas (Balázs et al. 2001; Bastian et al. 1998, 2000a, 2003). SNP array analysis from NCI60 human tumor cell lines revealed amplifications of the lineage-specific master regulator of melanocytes, microphthalmia-associated transcription factor (MITF), as one of the first lineage-specific oncogenes (Garraway et al. 2005). Integration of array CGH analysis combined with clinical information and focused sequencing of known driver mutations in BRAF and NRAS revealed insight into differences among clinical and histologic subtypes of melanoma (Curtin et al. 2005). These analyses demonstrated distinct patterns of genetic alterations in four groups of primary melanomas: acral (minimal or no sun exposure),

mucosal (protected from sun), and skin melanomas with CSD and non-CSD (Fig. 1). Melanomas on the skin with intermitted sun exposure (low-CSD) had higher frequencies of BRAF (p. V600) mutations and chromosome 10 loss, which encompasses the PTEN tumor suppressor (Curtin et al. 2005). In contrast, high-CSD melanomas had infrequent BRAF (p.V600) mutations, but possessed more frequent CCND1 amplifications. Acral melanomas, defined as melanomas originating from the glabrous (non-hair-bearing) skin of the palms and soles or the nail apparatus, as well as mucosal melanomas that are protected from direct UV light, had a much higher frequency of focal amplifications and deletions. For example, amplifications of CDK4 and CCND1 were found more frequently in both acral and mucosal melanomas. By contrast, copy number increases of chromosome 7 were more common in low-CSD melanomas and preferentially affected the chromosome encompassing the mutant BRAF allele. Hotspot mutations in BRAF and NRAS mutations were mutually exclusive (Davies et al. 2002; Maldonado et al. 2003; Pollock et al. 2003) (Fig. 1). Large-scale SNP array studies coupled with statistical tools that include GISTIC and CONTRA improved the genomic resolution of minimal common regions (MCR) encompassing amplified or deleted genes (Hodis et al. 2012; Krauthammer et al. 2012; Lin et al. 2008; Cancer Genome Atlas Network 2015) (Figs. 2 and 3). Such studies revealed 14 major significant regions of amplifications and 13 regions of deletion in over 100 melanoma short-term cultures and cell lines (Lin et al. 2008). Lin et al. reported that the most statistically significant MCRs of amplification included the genomic regions of 7q32.3, 7q34 that spans BRAF, 20q13.2, 7p21.2, and 3p13 that encompasses MITF. The most significant MCRs of deletions were 9p21.3 that spans CDKN2A, 10q23.31 that includes PTEN, 4q34.3, and 6q26 covering PACRG and PARK2 (Lin et al. 2008). Similar results were observed by The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA) (described in more detail below) (Figs. 2 and 3).

Whole Exome and Whole Genome Sequencing: Epidemiological and animal model studies have linked UV exposure to melanoma risk.



Fig. 1 Genetic alterations in melanoma patients affected by varying degrees of sun exposure (From Curtin et al. 2005). Shown in the four panels are genetic alterations of melanomas with chronic sun damage, intermittent sun/UV exposure without sun damage, minimal sun/UV exposure, and protected from sun/UV exposure. The genetic alterations listed include chromosomal gains/losses and *BRAF/ NRAS* mutation status that differ in frequency in

melanomas with varying degrees of sun/UV exposure. For example, melanomas that occurred with minimal or no sun/UV exposure were reported to possess *CDK4/ CCND1* amplifications and *CDKN2A* loss (Reprinted from *Cancer Cell*, Vol 8/edition number 6, Omar Kabbarah and Lynda Chin, Revealing the Genomic Heterogeneity of Melanoma, Pages 439–441, Copyright (2005), with permission from Elsevier)

Driver mutations caused by UV signature mutations were not well known prior to NGS studies of melanoma (Hodis et al. 2012; Krauthammer et al. 2012). However, NGS technology provided the capability to catalogue SNVs and indels from the melanoma genome. The first whole genome sequencing (WGS) analysis of melanoma was performed on one melanoma cell line and a lymphoblastoid cell line derived from the same patient, revealing the presence of UV signature mutations (Pleasance et al. 2010). Subsequent larger scale studies revealed that cutaneous melanoma has one of the highest mutation burdens of cancers sequenced to date, with the latest estimate being ~17 mutations/Mb (Berger et al. 2012; Hodis et al. 2012; Krauthammer et al. 2012; Cancer Genome Atlas Network 2015). As a comparison, childhood cancers and leukemias possess

mutation burdens of \sim 1 mutation/Mb (Lawrence et al. 2013).

The high mutation burden in cutaneous melanoma is attributed to UV radiation, as evidenced by the elevated number of UV signature mutations in melanoma genomes. UV radiation is composed of three components that differ in wavelength: UVA (320-400 nm), UVB (290-320 nm), and UVC (200-290 nm) (reviewed in Garibyan and Fisher 2010). The two wavelengths that humans are exposed to are UVA and UVB, as 95% and 10% of these wavelengths reach the Earth's surface, respectively (UVC gets absorbed by the atmosphere and ozone layer). The higher the wavelength of UV radiation, the deeper it can penetrate the skin. As a result, the most cutaneous damage has been attributed to UVB, which induces DNA damage in the form of cyclobutane



Fig. 2 Significantly amplified regions in cutaneous melanoma from the TCGA dataset. GISTIC2 analysis from the Melanoma TCGA data of 336 samples indicating significance of minimal common regions (MCRs) (right side) from chromosomal regions (left side) by Q-values. The threshold for significance was set at a Q-value of 0.25 (green line). Numbers of genes found in MCRs are

pyrimidine dimers (CPDs) and pyrimidine 6–4 pyrimidone photoproducts (Garibyan and Fisher 2010). The best understood mutational mechanism that leads to UV signature mutations is that cytosine or 5-methyl-cytosine deaminates in the CPDs to uracils or thymidines that are subsequently replicated in an error-free process, thus generating C > T transitions at dipyrimidine sites (Taylor 2015). Meta-analyses from experimental sequencing data with defined UV exposure established that having C > T transitions at dipyrimidines in more than 60% of the total

indicated in brackets. Genes listed are found in the Cancer Gene Census List from the Wellcome Trust Institute (black) and/or have been previously linked to melanoma (bold and/or underlined), or are genes with unclear roles in cancer (red) (Unpublished work from the TCGA and the Watson lab)

mutational burden or CC > TT mutations in more than 5% defines the presence of a UV signature (Brash 2015). Experimental systems have demonstrated that UVA-mediated oxidative DNA damage induces G > T and T > G transversions (Drobetsky et al. 1995; Palmer et al. 1997). More recent studies have identified mechanisms in which UVA can also induce CPDs through a reactive oxidative species (ROS)-dependent mechanism involving a reaction of the phototoxic pheomelanin as well as the photoprotective eumelanin leading to the generation of C > T UV



Fig. 3 Significantly deleted regions in cutaneous melanoma from the TCGA dataset. GISTIC2 analysis from the Melanoma TCGA data of 336 samples indicating significance of minimal common regions (MCRs) (right side) from chromosomal regions (left side) by Q-values. The threshold for significance was set at a Q-value of 0.25 (green line). Numbers of genes found in MCRs are

signature mutations (Mitra et al. 2012). Pheomelanin is thought to be phototoxic through its innate ability to generate ROS, which has been shown to induce melanoma in mice in the absence of UV exposure (Mitra et al. 2012).

Early WES studies of cutaneous melanoma produced mutation data in a limited number of samples (Wei et al. 2011). Such studies identified recurrent mutations in additional members of the MAPK pathway, such as *MAP 2 K1* (p.P124S) (Emery et al. 2009; Nikolaev et al. 2012). However, due to the high and heterogeneous mutation burden in melanoma, identifying driver mutations remains a challenge even to date. This is especially true in the case of tumor suppressors and infrequently mutated oncogenes. This problem was first raised in analyses of melanoma exomes in 2012. To identify novel significantly

indicated in brackets. Genes listed are found in the Cancer Gene Census List from the Wellcome Trust Institute (black) and/or have been previously linked to melanoma (bold and/or underlined), or are genes with unclear roles in cancer (red) (Unpublished work from the TCGA and the Watson lab)

mutated genes (SMGs) in melanoma, research groups needed to sequence large sample cohorts (>100 samples), and develop novel algorithms to identify SMGs (Hodis et al. 2012; Krauthammer et al. 2012). To address this challenge, Hodis et al. developed InVEx, which is a statistical tool that uses sequencing data from intronic and untranslated regions to infer a gene-specific mutation burden that allows for the identification of SMGs. By employing this tool, well-established melanoma tumor suppressors and oncogenes were found to be significantly mutated, including BRAF, NRAS, MAP 2 K1, PTEN, and CDKN2A, as well as novel SMGs (Hodis et al. 2012) (Fig. 4). These novel SMGs possessed hotspot and loss of function (LoF) mutations caused by UV signature mutations. Hotspot mutations were identified in the Rho GTPase RAC1 (p.P29S), in the catalytic



Fig. 4 The landscape of driver mutations in melanoma. Significantly mutated genes identified by the statistical tool InVEx that possessed significant mutational burden or loss of function (LoF) burden are indicated according to prevalence. Mutations found frequently in the COSMIC database that have been reported to be driver mutations in other cancers are shown. Selected significant focal amplifications and deletions determined by GISTIC 2 and linked to melanoma are also displayed. The color-coded matrix indicates type of subunit of the heterotrimeric PP6 protein phosphatase complex PPP6C (p.R301C), and in the serine threonine kinase STK19 (p.D89N). LoF mutations were also found in ARID2, a component of the SWI/SNF chromatin-remodeling complex (Hodis et al. 2012; Krauthammer et al. 2012) (Fig. 4). These SMGs were concurrently discovered by Krauthammer et al. in an exome sequencing study of 147 cutaneous melanoma samples that used an alternate method that took into account gene expression in order to identify SMGs (Krauthammer et al. 2012). These findings provided a missing mechanistic link between melanoma and driver UVB-induced signature mutations with the identification of driver mutations caused by C > T transitions in new melanoma oncogenes and in tumor suppressors.

Mutations Within the Noncoding Regions: Some of the most significant discoveries in melanoma genomics from NGS technologies have come from the discoveries of noncoding mutations in melanoma. For instance, telomerase activity is upregulated in almost all cancers (Kim et al. 1994). However, the mechanisms that mediate these processes were not entirely clear. TERT encodes the catalytic subunit of the telomerase enzyme, which together with the telomerase RNA component (TERC) lengthen telomeres (reviewed in Armanios and Blackburn 2012). In melanoma, overexpression of TERT is one of three factors commonly used to immortalize melanocytes, and DNA copy number studies have shown significant TERT amplifications in \sim 5–15% of melanomas (Garraway et al. 2005; Hodis et al. 2012; Krauthammer et al. 2012; Cancer Genome Atlas Network 2015). In 2013, two concurrent studies discovered two mutually exclusive recurrent TERT promoter mutations in a large fraction of cutaneous melanoma samples from the investigation of familial melanoma

patients and analysis of WGS data (Horn et al. 2013; Huang et al. 2013). In the familial study, a disease-segregating germline mutation in the promoter of TERT was found by linkage analysis and high-throughput sequencing of a melanomaprone family (Horn et al. 2013). This same TERT promoter mutation was not identified in subsequent sequencing of sporadic melanomas. Instead, Horn et al. found that 33% of primary melanomas, 74% of metastatic melanoma cell lines, and 85% of metastatic tissue possessed TERT promoter mutations predominantly at two positions, chr 5: 1,295,228 C > T (C228T) and chr 5: 1,295,250 (C250T), in a mutually exclusive manner (Table 1). These hotspot mutations create new binding sites for E-twenty-six (ETS) transcription factor (Horn et al. 2013; Huang et al. 2013), which specifically recruits the multimeric GA-binding protein (GABP) transcription factor to the mutant promoter (Bell et al. 2015).

A number of additional hotspot noncoding mutations were discovered through WES and WGS analyses from 2014 to 2016. A somatic C > T hotspot mutation in the 5' UTR of a component of the 40S eukaryotic small ribosomal subunit, RPS27, was discovered in ~10% of cutaneous melanomas (Dutton-Regester et al. 2014) (Table 1). This mutation is thought to increase RPS27 expression by expanding the 5' terminal oligopyrimidine tract (5' TOP), which is a sequence that controls translation and is regulated by the PI(3)K/AKT and mTOR pathways (Dutton-Regester et al. 2014). RPS27 aberrant expression has been found in a number of cancers, including melanomas (Santa Cruz et al. 1997). Other noncoding mutations, such as the bidirectional promoter mutations in DPH3 and OXNAD1, have been shown to positively regulate their expression (Denisova et al. 2015; Fredriksson et al. 2014) (Table 1). To date, the

Fig. 4 (continued) mutation (hotspot, missense, and nonsense) or focal amplifications and deletions (rows) found in patient samples (columns). The top panel indicates mutation burden in mutations per Mb, and the bottom panel displays the mutation spectrum. Hodis et al. primarily focused on non-acral cutaneous melanoma; however, a few acral, uveal, mucosal, and melanomas of unknown origin were analyzed (Reprinted from *Cell*, Vol 150/edition number 2, Eran Hodis, Ian R. Watson, Gregory V. Kryukov, Stefan T. Arold, Marcin Imielinski, Jean-Philippe Theurillat, Elizabeth Nickerson, Daniel Auclair, Liren Li, Chelsea Place, Daniel DiCara, Alex H. Ramos, Michael S. Lawrence, Kristian Cibulskis, Andrey Sivachenko et al., A Landscape of Driver Mutations in Melanoma Pages No., 251–263 Copyright (2012), with permission from Elsevier)

Hotspot noncoding mutations that have been shown to result in a decreased expression of the targeted gene include SDHD and NDUFB9 (Poulos et al. 2015; Weinhold et al. 2014). SDHD is a tumor suppressor and a component of the succinate dehydrogenase (SDH) enzyme that plays roles in both the citric acid cycle and oxidative phosphorylation energy conversion pathways (reviewed in Bardella et al. 2011) (Table 1). The reported SDHD promoter mutation leads to its decreased expression, which is consistent with its tumor suppressor function. NDUFB9 is a subunit of the NADH dehydrogenase (ubiquinone) 1, another important component of the oxidative phosphorylation pathway, and its promoter mutation is thought to decrease its expression (Poulos et al. 2015). Finally, a 5' UTR mutation in MRPS31 that encodes for a ribosomal protein required for protein synthesis in the mitochondria was reported in ~6% of melanoma samples (Cancer Genome Atlas Network 2015) (Table 1).

Hotspot promoter mutations have also been found in desmoplastic melanoma, a rare form of cutaneous melanoma with sarcomatous histology, which mostly occurs in chronically sun-exposed skin of elderly patients. Shain et al. performed WES of 20 desmoplastic melanoma samples and discovered recurrent promoter mutations in NFKBIE in ~15% of cases (Shain et al. 2015a) (Table 1). This mutation alters the binding motif for several transcription factors, such as GABPA and ELF1. NFKBIE encodes for IkBE, which functions to inhibit NF-K β signaling pathway by sequestering the NF-K β transcription factors in the cytoplasm. Consistent with a proposed gain of function role for promoter NFKBIE mutations, NFKBIEmutant cell lines were shown to lack NF-KB nuclear localization (Shain et al. 2015a). For the majority of these hotspot noncoding mutations, their biological role in melanoma remains unclear and requires further functional and mechanistic studies.

Recurrent Synonymous Mutations in Melanoma: Synonymous or silent SNVs are generally considered passenger mutations, as the altered codon sequence of a gene does not result in an amino acid change for the encoding protein. Nevertheless, some groups have identified recurrent silent mutations that they propose to be genetic drivers through mutational mechanisms that include: changes in splicing/exon regulation; alterations in transcript stability through mRNA secondary structure folding and RNA-binding protein affinity; modulation of translational rates; and abolishment of miRNA binding sites (reviewed in Gotea et al. 2015). Gartner et al. performed WES and WGS studies of 29 melanomas identifying 16 recurrent synonymous mutations (Gartner et al. 2013). The authors provided evidence that a recurrent mutation in BCL2L12 (p.F17F) resulted in an increase in its transcript and expression levels, leading to enhanced inhibition of TP53-mediated UV-induced apoptosis (Gartner et al. 2013). In silico prediction identified ha-miR671-5p miRNA as a regulator of wild-type BCL2L12, but not its mutant form (Gartner et al. 2013). Melanomas possess an abundance of silent passenger mutations due to the role UV plays in this disease. As a result, a combination of sophisticated statistical tools, in silico miRNA/mRNA prediction programs, and functional studies will be required to determine how many silent mutations are in fact driver events.

Comprehensive Integrative Analyses of Cutaneous Melanoma Across Multiple Data Platforms

Genomic Classification of Cutaneous Melanomas: As depicted above, single high-throughput data-platform analysis of large-scale sample sets (e.g., WES) played an important role in revealing new insights into the etiology of melanoma. However, multiplatform integrative analyses had only been performed on relatively small sample cohorts up until 2015. TCGA is a collaboration between the National Cancer Institute (NCI) and National Human Genome Research Institute (NHGRI) whose goal is to characterize approximately 40 cancer types across multiple data platforms. In 2015, the TCGA published the largest integrative multiplatform analysis through systematic characterization at the DNA, RNA, and protein levels in a relatively large sample cohort of melanomas (>300 samples). The TCGA project

Table 1 Recurrent noncoding mutations in cutaneous melanoma. Genes with recurrent noncoding mutations (genomic coordinates indicated) found in exome and genome sequencing studies that occur in greater than 5% of cutaneous melanomas are shown. Where reported, effects of noncoding mutations on mRNA expression

levels are listed. Of note, recurrent *NFKBIE* noncoding mutations were found in desmoplastic melanoma subtype. (SNV = single nucleotide variant) (This table was first published by Shivshankari Rajkumar and Ian R Watson in *British Journal of Cancer.* 2016 Jun 23. https://doi.org/10.1038/bjc.2016.195

	Gama	Bonortad ganamia agardinatas	Frequency	mDNA
Gene name	symbol	for predominant SNV	(cutatieous	avpression
Gene hame	Symbol		metanoma)	expression
Telomerase reverse transcriptase	TERT	chr5: 1,295,228 C>T	~70%	Increase
		chr5: 1,295,250 C>T		
Ribosomal protein S27	RPS27	chr1: 153,963,239 C>T	~10%	Increase
Succinate dehydrogenase complex,	SDHD	chr11: 111,957,523 C>T	~5–10%	Decrease
subunit D, integral membrane		chr11: 111,957,541 C>T		
protein				
Mitochondrial ribosomal protein	MRPS31	chr13: 41,345,346 C>T	~5%	Unknown
<i>S31</i>				
NADH dehydrogenase	NDUFB9	chr8: 125,551,344 C>T	~5%	Decrease
(ubiquinone) 1 beta subcomplex, 9				
Diphthamide biosynthesis 3	DPH3	chr3: 16,306,504 C>T	~10%	Increase
		chr3: 16,306,505 C>T/A		
Oxidoreductase NAD-binding	OXNAD1	chr3: 16,306,504 C>T	~10%	Increase
domain containing 1		chr3: 16,306,505 C>T/A		
Nuclear factor of kappa light	NFKBIE	chr6: 44,233,400 C>T	~15%	Unknown
polypeptide gene enhancer in		(clustered C>T from chr6:		(proposed
B-cells inhibitor, epsilon		44,233,379 - 44,233,439)		GoF)

included samples (n = 333) that consisted of 67 (20%) primary cutaneous melanomas (all originating from nonglabrous skin) and 266 (80%) metastases. Primary melanomas are generally small at initial diagnosis compared with most other solid tumors (thicknesses average $\leq 1 \text{ mm}$ and ≤ 4 mm for >60% and >90%, respectively) (Baade et al. 2012; Criscione and Weinstock 2010). In routine clinical practice, most or all of the primary tumor tissues is generally used for diagnostic evaluation and are not available for multiplatform molecular analyses. Therefore, melanoma samples analyzed by the TCGA were mainly metastases, with the majority obtained from regional lymph nodes, skin, or soft tissue (i.e., first site of metastasis). WES analysis identified 228,987 mutations that included both SNV and indels. Seventy-six percent of primary samples and 84% of metastatic samples had a UV mutational signature (Cancer Genome Atlas Network 2015). To identify SMGs in the context of this high mutational burden, the TCGA analysis working group employed InVEx, as well as

MutSigCV. MutSig is one of the earliest and most commonly used statistical tools to determine SMGs that had been modified to take into consideration covariates (CV) of mutational burden variation, such as patient-specific mutation frequency and spectra, mRNA expression, as well as genespecific DNA replication times (Lawrence et al. 2014; Cancer Genome Atlas Network 2015). MutSigCV found 42 SMGs that were expressed (Q < 0.1), and InVEx identified 13 SMGs (Bonferroni p < 0.05, or 20 SMGs at Q < 0.1) (Cancer Genome Atlas Network 2015). InVEx ascertained most of the well-established melanoma oncogenes and tumor suppressors as being significantly mutated (BRAF, NRAS, PTEN, and CDKN2A), recently identified SMGs (RAC1, PPP6C, MAP 2 K1, ARID2) and genes previously linked to melanoma, but found for the first time to be significantly mutated (NF1, RB1, and IDH1). In addition, DDX3X, which functions as a putative RNA helicase, was discovered as a novel SMG. MutSigCV also identified three SMGs with 5'UTR or promoter mutations including RPS27, *NDUFB9*, and *MRPS31* (Cancer Genome Atlas Network 2015) (Table 1).

A major knowledge-gap in the melanoma genomic field pertains to the genetic driver events in BRAF/NRAS wild-type cutaneous melanomas. The TCGA analysis working group observed that 40-50% of BRAF/NRAS wild-type melanomas possessed loss of function mutations in NF1, which was concurrently reported by Krauthammer et al. (2015; Cancer Genome Atlas Network 2015). While BRAF and NRAS hotspot mutations are known to be mutually exclusive, significant NF1 LoF mutations were shown to be anticorrelated with hotspot BRAF (p.V600E/K/R and p.K601E) mutations. Based on these mutational relationships, the TCGA and Krauthammer et al. proposed that cutaneous melanoma from nonglabrous skin can be categorized into four genomic subgroups: mutant BRAF ($\sim 50\%$), mutant RAS (~25%), mutant NF1 (lacking BRAF/RAS driver mutations) (~10%), and triple wild-type (WT) melanomas (Krauthammer et al. 2012; Cancer Genome Atlas Network 2015) (Fig. 5).

A number of molecular characteristics were associated with each genomic subgroup. BRAF hotspot mutant patients were generally younger (mean average age of ~50 years old at diagnosis) consistent with previous studies (low-CSD subtype), while patients from the NF1 subgroup were significantly older (mean average age ~67 years old at diagnosis) (Cancer Genome Atlas Network 2015). NF1 subgroup patients also had the highest mutational burden possessing a mean of ~40 mutations/Mb compared to 9-17 mutations/Mb for the other three subgroups, suggesting they were from areas of chronic sun exposure (high-CSD subtype). Krauthammer et al. also observed significant cooccurrence of somatically mutated RASopathy genes that were enriched in the NF1 subgroup, which included RASA1, RASA2, SOS1, PTPN11, SPRY, SPRED1, and RAF1, suggesting that NF1 mutant melanomas require additional cooperating factors for robust MAPK activation (Krauthammer et al. 2015). RASopathies are a group of developmental syndromes caused by germline mutations in genes regulating RAS family and MAPK regulators, with the most common being Noonan syndrome and Neurofibromatosis type 1. Functional studies demonstrated that loss of *RASA2* increased RAS activation and melanoma cell line growth (Arafeh et al. 2015). Notably, Shain et al. elucidated that over 50% of desmoplastic melanomas had LoF and/or deletions in *NF1* and, together with the TCGA and Krauthammer et al. studies, demonstrated that *NF1* mutations occur in cutaneous melanomas with CSD (Shain et al. 2015a).

Although the genomic subgroups of cutaneous melanoma were defined by driver mutations in the MAPK pathway, reverse phase protein array (RPPA) analysis revealed some of the differential signaling between BRAF, RAS, NF1, and Triple WT subgroups. RPPA is a high-throughput antibody-based technique that evaluates phosphoprotein as well as total protein levels for over 200 antibodies per sample across large cohorts. The TCGA analysis working group noted that while phospho-S217/S221 MAP 2 K1/MAP 2 K2 (MEK1/2) levels were elevated in both BRAF and RAS mutant subgroups, only RAS hotspot mutations possessed significant higher levels of phospho-T202/Y204 MAPK1/MAPK3 (ERK1/2) (Cancer Genome Atlas Network 2015). Total CRAF levels were highest in the NF1 subgroup, demonstrating how different signaling components vary between the MAPK subtypes. Furthermore, BRAF mutant melanomas possessed higher levels of IGFBP2, which is a regulator in the insulin signaling pathway. The Triple WT melanomas had higher levels of antiapoptotic protein, BCL-2 and KIT (Cancer Genome Atlas Network 2015).

Triple WT melanomas were defined by an absence of hotspot *BRAF*, *RAS* as well as loss of function *NF1* mutations, and were heterogeneous in putative driving events. Only \sim 30% of *Triple WT* samples had a UV signature, compared to over 90% in the other genomic subgroups (Cancer Genome Atlas Network 2015). To identify low-frequency driver mutations that may not have reached mutational significance based on a lack of power, Hodis et al. and the TCGA analysis working group cross-referenced the Catalogue of Somatic Mutations in Cancer (COSMIC) database that compiles mutation data from all NGS studies to identify recurrent/driver mutations found in other cancers that may be present in



melanoma (Hodis et al. 2012; Cancer Genome Atlas Network 2015). This analysis revealed low frequency driver mutations in *EZH2* (n = 1), *KIT* (n = 6), *CTNNB1* (n = 3), as well as *GNAQ* (n = 1) and *GNA11* (n = 2) found in 46 *Triple WT* melanomas (Cancer Genome Atlas Network 2015) (Fig. 5). Notably, *TERT* promoter mutations were rare in *Triple WT* melanomas (6.7%) compared to over 70% in the other MAPK driving subtypes.

To identify driving event in Triple WT melanomas, the TCGA analysis working group performed GISTIC 2 copy number analysis of the four genomic subgroups, revealing that Triple WT melanomas possess significant amplifications in KIT, TERT, CDK4, MDM2, and CCND1 genes as well as 1q44, 6q12, 8q11.23, 22q13.1, and Xq28 chromosome regions that were significantly enriched in comparison to BRAF, RAS, and NF1 mutant melanomas, consistent with other studies (Curtin et al. 2005, 2006; Cancer Genome Atlas Network 2015) (Fig. 5). The KIT amplicon of 4q12, which also contains additional receptor tyrosine kinases (RTK), PDGFRA and KDR (also known as VEGFR2), were significantly coamplified solely in Triple WT melanomas compared to the other genomic subgroups (Fig. 5). It is possible that these genetic findings indicate that some melanoma subtypes, such as acral melanoma or mucosal melanoma (KIT mutant, CCND1 amplification, low mutation burden) and blue nevus-like melanoma (with GNAQ or GNA11 mutations discussed later), may have been included in the TCGA analysis.

Other subtype-specific alterations included significant *BRAF* and *MITF* amplifications found solely in *BRAF* mutant melanomas that were consistent with earlier findings, as well as

novel significant *CD274* (PD-L1) and *JAK2* amplifications (Garraway et al. 2005; Cancer Genome Atlas Network 2015) (Fig. 5). PD-L1 amplifications are notable in light of the clinical success of anti-PD-1 immune checkpoint therapies in melanoma.

Pathway Integrative Analysis: Early melanoma studies clearly demonstrated that the RAS-MAPK-AKT, INK4A-CDK4/6-RB, and ARF-MDM2-P53 pathways are important in melanoma, which was confirmed by the TCGA study to be deregulated in 91%, 69%, and 19%, respectively, via genetic aberrations in the form of SNVs, copy number alterations, and hypermethylation changes (Fig. 6). The more recent NGS studies have underscored the importance of the telomerase pathway in melanoma with the identification of highly recurrent TERT promoter mutations (Horn et al. 2013; Huang et al. 2013). One aspect highlighted by the TCGA study relates to the trends by which these pathways are differentially deregulated in the various genomic subgroups. For example, TP53 mutations were more commonly found in the three MAPK subgroups (BRAF, RAS, NF1), whereas the TP53 pathway is deregulated more often in Triple WT melanomas via significant amplifications of MDM2 (Figs. 5 and 6). CDKN2A SNVs, homozygous deletions, and hypermethylation occur more frequently in the three MAPK subtypes compared to Triple WT melanomas (range of 58-72% compared to 37%); however, CDK4 and CCND1 are significantly enriched in the Triple WT subgroup (Figs. 5 and 6). The PI3-AKT pathway is affected more frequently in BRAF mutant melanomas by significant PTEN deletions and mutations, while AKT3 amplification and overexpression are enriched in the RAS, NF1, and Triple WT subgroups (Fig. 6).

Fig. 5 Copy number analysis of cutaneous melanoma mutation subgroups from the TCGA dataset. (a) GISTIC 2 analysis of significant amplifications and deletions across the four genomic subgroups reported by the TCGA. Certain minimal common regions were only found to be significant in a subset of genomic subgroups, such as *BRAF*, *JAK2*, and *PDL1* amplifications found in *BRAF* mutant melanomas. (b and c) Amplifications of *KIT*,

PDGFRA, KDR, MDM2, CDK4, CCND1, and TERT were found to be significantly enriched in *Triple WT* melanomas. The *Triple WT* subytype also possessed *KIT*, *GNAQ*, and *GNA11* mutations (Reprinted from *Cell*, Vol 161/edition number, The Cancer Genome Atlas Network, Genomic Classification of Cutaneous Melanoma, Pages No. 1681–1696, Copyright (2015), with permission from Elsevier)



Fig. 6 Pathways altered in melanomas across genomic subgroups from the TCGA dataset. (a) Percentage of genetic alterations of canonical cancer pathways for MAPK/PI(3)K (% case altered = 91%), CDKN2A/RB1 pathway (69%), and MDM2/TP53 pathways (19%) are indicated. Furthermore, where data was available, the telomerase pathway was reported to be altered in 65% of cutaneous melanomas by promoter mutations and in 7% by amplifications. TCGA demonstrated that although these canonical pathways are frequently altered in melanoma,

Furthermore, *TERT* promoter mutations are rare in *Triple WT* melanomas and instead possess significantly more TERT amplifications (Figs. 5 and 6). Conversely, *TERT* promoter mutations are found in the range of 72–83% in the *BRAF*, *RAS*, and *NF1* subgroups. Thus, although large fractions of melanomas possess alterations in key canonical cancer pathways, there are trends of

there are trends regarding how these pathways are deregulated at the gene level within subtypes. (**b**) As an example, the PI(3)K/mTOR pathway is affected in *BRAF* mutant melanomas through significantly more alterations in *PTEN*, whereas *RAS*, *NF1*, and *Triple WT* melanomas have more frequent alterations in AKT3 (Reprinted from *Cell*, Vol 161/edition number, The Cancer Genome Atlas Network, Genomic Classification of Cutaneous Melanoma, Pages No. 1681–1696, Copyright (2015), with permission from Elsevier)

which component of these pathways are affected at the genetic level in the four subtypes. Finally, the more recent NGS studies have clearly demonstrated additional pathways that are frequently altered, but their role in melanoma is much less clear. These include genetic alterations in epigenetic regulators (*ARID2*, *IDH1*, and *EZH2*), the *RAC1* pathway, and significantly mutated genes with poorly understood functions (*STK19*, *PPP6C*, and *DDX3X*).

Structural Aberrations in Melanoma: In the TCGA study, integrative analysis between copynumber, RNA-seq, and WGS data (low-pass and deep sequencing) identified 224 candidate fusion drivers in 333 samples. A number of low frequency in-frame fusion events involving melanoma-associated genes fused to various gene partners were discovered, such as BRAF (n = 2), RAF1 (n = 3), AKT3 (n = 4), MITF (n = 3), and *HMGA2* (n = 3) (Cancer Genome Atlas Network 2015). However, only one recurrent fusion was identified (GRM8-CNTNAP2). Triple WT melanomas were enriched for candidate fusion drivers and had significantly more complex structural rearrangements (Cancer Genome Atlas Network 2015).

Hutchinson et al. previously reported BRAF fusions in approximately 4-8% of pan-negative melanomas without discernable driver mutations, and that cell lines that possess BRAF fusions are sensitive to MEK inhibitor treatment (Hutchinson et al. 2013). In 2014, Wiesner et al. discovered that 60% of Spitz tumors possess a kinase fusion as a driver event, involving either ROS1 (17%; n = 24), NTRK1 (16%; n = 23), *ALK* (10%; *n* = 14), *BRAF* (5%; *n* = 7), or *RET* (3%; n = 4) (Wiesner et al. 2014) (Fig. 7). The following year, fusions in *c-MET* were discovered in a number of cancers, including melanomas with spitzoid morphology (Yeh et al. 2015). Spitz tumors are a subtype of melanocytic neoplasms of the skin that are composed of spindled as well as epithelioid melanocytes with enlarged nuclei (Bastian 2014). They range from benign (Spitz nevi) to intermediate (atypical Spitz tumor) to malignant (malignant Spitz tumor). The gene fusion products of RTKs (ROS1, NTRK1, ALK, RET, and c-MET) activate growth signaling pathways and are likely constitutively active (Wiesner et al. 2014; Yeh et al. 2015). In light of these studies, Hutchinson et al. reviewed the pathology of melanomas possessing BRAF fusions, and reported that these melanomas possessed spitzoid morphology (Hutchinson et al. 2014). The term spitzoid melanoma has also been used for melanoma with some features of Spitz tumors, but genetically these mostly share

genetic alterations of low-CSD melanomas (Lazova et al. 2017). By contrast, the term malignant Spitz tumor is intended to designate the malignant end of the Spitz spectrum, which is genetically characterized by the above mentioned kinase fusions or activating mutations of HRAS (Bastian et al. 2000b).

Temporal Acquisition of Mutations and Tumor Heterogeneity: Numerous NGS studies described previously helped define the landscape of driver mutations in melanoma. Nonetheless, a key question remained regarding the temporal acquisition of genetic driving events. To address this, Shain et al. performed focused sequencing of over 290 cancer-related genes in 150 areas of 37 primary melanomas and their adjacent precursor lesions (Shain et al. 2015b). A team of eight dermatopathologists scored the various sequenced areas of melanoma by stage of progression that included benign, intermediate, and melanoma in situ. Integrating this information, the authors observed that precursor lesions were initiated by mutations in the MAPK pathway, and provided strong evidence that benign lesions possess BRAF (p.V600E) mutations exclusively, consistent with previous studies (Pollock et al. 2003; Shain et al. 2015b). Conversely, intermediate lesions, often with histopathological characteristics of dysplastic nevi, were enriched with NRAS and additional driver mutations. TERT promoter mutations were found in 77% of intermediate lesions and in situ melanomas. The observation of a high fraction of TERT promoter mutations in intermediate lesions indicated that they occurred earlier in disease progression than the authors expected. Based on the estimated number of cells in intermediate lesions and the amount of cell divisions of founder cells, the authors suspect activation of TERT becomes a selective advantage before malignant transformation occurs (reviewed in Shain and Bastian 2016). This suggests that some premalignant lesions are more proliferative than the senescence model of permanent cell cycle arrest of nevi predicts. In addition, Shain et al. found that biallelic inactivation of CDKN2A coincided with the transition to invasive melanomas, whereas TP53 and PTEN mutations were found solely in advanced invasive melanomas with considerable tumor thickness (Shain et al. 2015b). Both point-mutation burden



Fig. 7 Landscape of driver fusions and other genetic aberrations in spitzoid melanoma. (a) Wiesner et al. discovered spitzoid melanomas possessed frequent fusions

involving kinases that included *ROS1*, *ALK*, *NTRK1*, *RET*, and *BRAF*. In addition, frequent hotspot *HRAS* mutations were discovered in this melanoma subtype. Notably,

and copy number changes were found to increase from benign to intermediate lesions and melanoma in situ. A UV signature was detected at all evolutionary stages.

Several WES studies of multiple matched primary and metastatic samples from the same patient have revealed important insights into the mechanisms of metastatic spread in melanoma. The traditional view of metastatic progression implies metastatic dissemination from the regional lymph nodes and from there to distant sites. Sanborn et al. reported that primary tumors exhibit more complex metastatic patterns with parallel dissemination of melanoma cells to regional and distant sites (Sanborn et al. 2015). Moreover, identical subclones can be found at different sites indicating that metastases and possibly primary tumors can be reseeded. Single cell RNA sequencing analysis provided additional resolution of tumor heterogeneity at the transcription level (Tirosh et al. 2016). Tirosh et al. observed that bulk melanoma tumors can possess individual melanoma cells that have different transcription states that confer either sensitivity or resistance to targeted therapies.

Transcription Factors: A number of transcription factors that include MITF, SOX10, PAX3, and FOXD3 regulate the differentiation and development of melanocytes from the neural crest (Sommer 2011). Furthermore, Yang et al. demonstrated that human and mouse fibroblasts can be converted into functional melanocytes through overexpression of SOX10, PAX3, and MITF (Yang et al. 2014). Many of the transcription factors that control melanocyte differentiation also play roles in melanoma progression. As

discussed previously, MITF was discovered by SNP array-based assays to be an oncogene amplified in melanoma and was correlated with poor patient survival (Garraway et al. 2005). Normal MITF transcriptional targets encompass several genes that are involved in cell cycle regulation (e.g., CDK2, CDKN2A, TBX2, and CDKN1A), differentiation/pigmentation (e.g., TYR, TYRP1, DCT, MLANA, AIM1, and PMEL), RTKs (e.g., MET), and transcriptional regulation (e.g., HIF1A) (reviewed in Cheli et al. 2010; Levy et al. 2006). While increased MITF expression activates differentiation genes, several studies have shown MITF-low melanomas exhibit a more invasive and stem-like behavior (Cheli et al. 2011; Rambow et al. 2015). Thus, levels of MITF play an important role in determining tumor subpopulation identity. The MITF-M promoter region is positively regulated by transcription factors such as PAX3, CREB, SOX10, LEF1, ONECUT-2, and even MITF itself, and negatively by transcription factors that include ATF2, BRN2, and FOXD3 (Levy et al. 2006; Shah et al. 2010). Transcriptionally active ATF2 is thought to act early in melanoma progression by fine-tuning MITF expression (Shah et al. 2010). Shah et al. demonstrated that MITF is downregulated by the ATF2 transcription factor, and that a high ATF2 to MITF ratio is associated with metastasis and poor prognosis (Shah et al. 2010). Furthermore, functional studies from zebrafish demonstrated that melanocytes that bypass oncogene-induced senescence reactivate a neural crest expression progenitor state that is recapitulated by overexpression of SOX10 (Kaufman et al. 2016). A number of

Fig. 7 (continued) HRAS mutations and driver fusions were found to be mutually exclusive. In the mutamatrix, patient numbers (columns) and type of genetic alterations (rows) are indicated by color. (Brown = gene fusions, red = point mutations and indels, green = amplifications, purple = truncating mutations). (b) Illustration of fusions and predicted breakpoints discovered in spitzoid melanomas. (Grey bars = exons of genes, vertical blue line = breakpoint of the gene, green-shaded regions = kinase domain, blue-shaded region = coil-coil

domain of the fusion gene) (Reprinted by permission from Macmillan Publishers Ltd.: Nature Communications, Wiesner T, He J, Yelensky R, Esteve-Puig R, Botton T, Yeh I, Lipson D, Otto G, Brennan K, Murali R, Garrido M, Miller VA, Ross JS, Berger MF, Sparatta A, Palmedo G, Cerroni L, Busam KJ, Kutzner H, Cronin MT, Stephens PJ, Bastian BC. Kinase Fusions Are Frequent in Spitz Tumors and Spitzoid Melanomas. Nat Commun. 2014;5:3116. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms4116. Copyright (2014))

earlier studies have reported SOX10 overexpression in giant congenital nevi and desmoplastic melanoma (Mohamed et al. 2013; Shakhova et al. 2012). Thus, transcription factors that control melanocyte fate play a central role in modulating melanoma phenotypic plasticity.

Melanomas do express certain epithelial-mesenchymal-transition transcription factors (EMT-TFs) (Hoek et al. 2004; Shields et al. 2007). While melanocytes do not come from the epithelial lineage and EMT is not normally emphasized as an important process in melanomagenesis, varying degrees of expression changes of EMT markers have been implicated in melanoma progression. For example, comparative analysis of melanocytes and melanomas has revealed differential regulation and function of EMT-TFs. Melanomas have been reported to possess increased TWIST1 and ZEB1 expression, whereas normal melanocytes express SNAIL2 and ZEB2 transcription factors (Caramel et al. 2013). SNAIL2 and ZEB2 behave like tumor suppressors and activate MITF-dependent melanocyte differentiation. Functional studies demonstrated upon BRAF/ NRAS activation that ZEB1 and TWIST1 levels increase resulting in enhanced cell invasion and E-cadherin loss (Caramel et al. 2013).

Other transcription factors implicated in melanoma development and progression include AP1, AP2alpha, CREB, ETS-1, HMGB1, LEF-1, TCF-4, STAT1/3, SKI, ETV1, MYC, and NF-kB (reviewed in Poser and Bosserhoff 2004). NF-kB is involved in pro-inflammatory responses and induces transcription of several antiapoptotic genes: BCL2L1, TRAF1/2 (tumor necrosis factor receptor-associated factor 1/2), and BIRC2/3 (inhibitors-of-apoptosis 1/2) (reviewed in Madonna et al. 2012). The NF- κ B family of transcription factors consists of p50, p52, RelA/p65, c-rel, or RelB, although NF-kB1/p105 and NF-kB2/p100 are the inactive precursors of p50 and p52, respectively. These transcription factors dimerize once activated and colocalize to the nucleus. They are normally sequestered in the cytoplasm by the inhibitors of NF- κ B (I κ Bs) family (e.g., I κ B α , I κ B β , and I κ B ϵ). Dissociation between the transcription factors and the IkB proteins depends on the inhibitors of IkB (IKKs) complex (IKK α ,

IKK β , IKK γ /NEMO), which phosphorylate the IkBs, marking them for proteasomal degradation (Madonna et al. 2012). In dysplastic nevi and melanoma cells, overexpression of p50 and p65 transcription factors has been observed in the nucleus compared to normal nevi and melanocytes (McNulty et al. 2004). Furthermore, expression of I κ B α was shown to be significantly lower in metastatic melanomas than in intradermal nevi (McNulty et al. 2004). Recent exome sequencing analysis by Shain et al. detected recurrent hotspot promoter mutations predicted to alter transcription of NFKBIE, the gene encoding IkBE, in ~15% of desmoplastic melanoma (Shain et al. 2015a). Other transcription factors implicated in melanoma progression include MYC (Chr.8q24) and ETV1 (Chr.7p), which are frequently amplified and overexpressed in melanoma (Jané-Valbuena et al. 2010; Moore et al. 2008).

In addition to transcription factors, mRNAbinding proteins such as 4E-BP1 that stabilize mRNAs have been reported to be upregulated in melanoma. Both the PI(3)K and the MAPK pathways are known to play roles in regulating phosphorylation and deactivation of 4E-BP1 resulting in the dissociation from translation initiation factors (e.g., eIF4E) (O'Reilly et al. 2009). O'Reilly et al. demonstrated that 4E-BP1 hyperphosphorylation occurs in melanoma cell lines with concurrent BRAF and PTEN mutations (O'Reilly et al. 2009). Other translation initiation factors, such as eIF-4A1 and eIF2 α , are overexpressed in melanoma cell lines (Eberle et al. 1997; Rosenwald et al. 2003). 4E-BP1 hyperphosphorylation has been linked to poor survival, which raises the possibility of targeting mRNA translation and inhibiting 4E-BP1 as a melanoma therapeutic strategy.

mRNA Expression Profiling in Melanoma: To the authors' knowledge, the first study to employ microarray technology in order to classify melanoma based on gene expression was performed by Bittner et al. in 2000. In this study, mRNA expression profiles were assessed for 31 melanoma biopsies or cell lines and seven controls using a microarray platform containing probes representing 6971 unique genes (Bittner et al. 2000). The authors discovered a gene expression subtype of highly aggressive melanomas characterized by dysregulation of the WNT signaling pathway, affecting both cell motility and invasion (Bittner et al. 2000; Weeraratna et al. 2002). Subsequent studies using microarrays for ~14,500 transcripts identified novel pathways from genes differentially expressed between melanocytes and melanoma cell lines, which included: (1) activation of the NOTCH pathway; (2) increased TWIST expression and deregulated expression of transcription factors of EMT; (3) activation of cancer testes antigens; (4) downregulation of immune modulatory genes, including the IFN pathway; (5) decreased expression of membrane trafficking genes; and (6) downregulation of growth suppressors, including NECDIN (NDN) (Hoek et al. 2004). Integrating focused sequencing mutation data, Shields et al. performed complete human genome microarray analysis to identify downstream expression changes mediated by BRAF and NRAS activation of the ERK kinase, as well as gene expression signatures in *BRAF/NRAS* wild-type melanomas. Their analysis revealed over 80 genes associated with ERK activation, which included TWIST1, *HIF1* α , and *IL-8* (Shields et al. 2007). *BRAF*/ NRAS wild-type melanomas demonstrated lower ERK activation at similar levels seen in human melanocytes. This subtype was also characterized by p53 inactivation, decreased FGF2 expression, and increased MITF expression as well as epithelial markers (e.g., increased keratin 8/18, E-cadherin, P-cadherin, and CD24 levels; and decreased MCAM, N-cadherin, and TWIST1 levels). A number of early microarray studies also observed distinct gene expression signatures between nevi, primary melanomas, and melanoma metastases, as well as differences comparing laser-captured microdissected radial phase spreading melanomas (encompassing minimally invasive tumors) and vertical growth phase tumors (where melanomas gain the ability to metastasize) (Haqq et al. 2005; Jaeger et al. 2007; Riker et al. 2008; Talantov et al. 2005).

These early microarray studies described above shed light on pathways deregulated in melanoma that were evident through clustering analysis or by comparing human melanocytes to melanoma during various phases of progression. Subsequent genome-wide mRNA studies would incorporate clinical data to identify gene expression signatures associated with clinical outcome to both understand mechanisms of melanoma progression and to develop prognostic assays for the clinic. In one of the first studies of this nature, Winnepenninckx et al. performed gene expression profiling on 83 primary melanomas that were systematically collected since the early 1980s with available long-term follow-up information (Winnepenninckx et al. 2006). Their analysis identified ~250 genes associated with distant metastasis-free survival, which included genes involved in the activation of DNA replication origins (Winnepenninckx et al. 2006). Of the ~250 genes, 23 were validated at the protein level through immunohistochemistry in an independent melanoma cohort, and five were significantly associated with survival in the validation process (MCM3, MCM4, MCM6, KPNA2, and GMNN) (Winnepenninckx et al. 2006). KPNA2 regulates nuclear import of proteins, and GMNN plays a role in controlling genomic stability by ensuring DNA is replicated only once per cell cycle. GMNN orchestrates the recruitment of minichromosome maintenance proteins (MCM) to the replication origins that are necessary for DNA replication (Luo and Kessel 2004). Overexpression of MCM proteins was previously found in other cancer types, but was found in melanoma for the first time to be associated with survival (Winnepenninckx et al. 2006). In a related study, Wardwell-Ozgo et al. identified a HOXA1 transcriptional signature, which encodes for homeobox transcription factor A1, as a pro-invasion oncogene that promotes melanoma progression (Wardwell-Ozgo et al. 2014). Utilizing data from the Winnepennickx et al. study, Wardwell-Ozgo et al. demonstrated that patients who exhibited poor 4-year distant metastasis-free survival also had a high HOXA1 signature (Wardwell-Ozgo et al. 2014).

A number of other gene expression signatures have been identified with prognostic significance. For example, Brunner et al. performed expression profiling on primary cutaneous melanoma between short-term (overall survival ≤ 4 years; n = 20) and long-term (overall survival >5 years; n = 21) survivors and determined 92 differentially expressed genes (Brunner et al. 2008). A followup study assessing these differentially expressed genes pinpointed a 9-gene signature significantly associated with overall survival in a 91-patient cohort (Brunner et al. 2013). This gene signature included KRT9, KBTBD10, DCD, ECRG2, PIP, SCGB1D2, SCGB2A2, COL6A6, HES6. Furthermore, gene expression analysis of primary melanomas that had not yet metastasized (n = 116)compared to melanomas that had already spread since initial diagnosis (n = 72) reported expression of CD24 and EVL to be strong metastatic predictors (Gschaider et al. 2012). Using a cancergene-focused approach, Conway et al. identified high levels of a secreted phosphoprotein, SPP1, that was associated with reduced recurrence-free survival following profiling of over 500 cancer genes on >350 formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded (FFPE) cutaneous primary melanomas (Conway et al. 2009). These studies elucidate a variety of genes and pathways linked with metastatic risk and patient survival outcome in primary melanomas. However, few genes were found to overlap with the numerous gene signature identified in these studies, which is likely due to the degree of contaminating normal tissue, diverse methodologies used, and cohorts analyzed (reviewed in Weiss et al. 2015). Whether one could develop an expression-based assay to inform on clinical outcome with high specificity and sensitivity into a commercial assay remained unclear, although recent progress has been made.

The American Joint Committee on Cancer (AJCC) TNM (primary tumor; regional lymph node; distant metastases) has defined cutaneous melanoma into stages 0–IV (Balch et al. 2009). While stage I and stage II melanomas exhibit low risk of metastatic recurrence, up to 20% patients will develop metastatic disease and die within 4 years of initial diagnosis (Gerami et al. 2015b). Prognosis between clinical stages II and III is also highly variable, with 5-year survival rates of 53–82% and 22–68%, respectively (Gerami et al. 2015b). One group has proposed and commercialized a gene signature that predicts the risk of distant metastasis at 5 years for patients with stage I–III

melanoma. Through the analysis of previously published mRNA biomarker studies in addition to the incorporation of prognostic genes identified in earlier studies, Gerami et al. tested a gene signature of approximately 30 genes predictive of metastatic risk (Gerami et al. 2015b). In the first study, this group tested their gene expression signature in a training cohort of 164 melanomas and a validation cohort of 104 samples (Gerami et al. 2015b). The authors used radial base machine (RBM) modeling to stratify patients into two classes of melanomas predicted to have either a class 1 (low risk) or class 2 (high risk) of developing metastatic disease. The authors reported that metastatic risk was predicted with high accuracy in both the training set (receiving operating characteristic (ROC) of 0.93) and validation cohort (ROC = 0.91). In a follow-up study, they restricted their analysis to patients that had undergone a sentinel lymph node biopsy (SLNB), which is a minimum invasive procedure used for regional melanoma staging (Gerami et al. 2015a). This expression signature was reported to be a better predictor of disease-free, distant metastasis-free, and overall survival in univariate and multivariate analyses than SLNB (Gerami et al. 2015a). Genes included in this assay are: BAP1, MGP, SPP1, CXCL14, CLCA2, S100A8, BTG1, SAP130, ARG1, KRT6B, GJA1, ID2, EIF1B, S100A9, CRABP2, KRT14, ROBO1, RBM23, TACSTD2, DSC1, SPRR1B, TRIM29, AQP3, TYRP1, PPL, LTA4H, and CST6 (Gerami et al. 2015b). The majority of these genes had decreased expression in early-phase melanomas in the Class 2 category, except for SPP1, KRT6B, and EIF1B, which are frequently upregulated (Gerami et al. 2015b). This expression signature has been commercialized by Castle Biosciences (Friendswood, Texas) into a diagnostic test called DecisionDx-Melanoma as an approach to predict distant metastatic risk of class 1 (reported low risk of a 3% chance of metastasis within 5 years) and class 2 (reported high risk of a 69% chance of developing metastasis within 5 years) for patients with stage I to III cutaneous melanoma. However, this test is not currently recommended by any standard treatment guidelines, and requires further assessment in prospective analyses (Weiss et al. 2015).

Integrative Analysis of mRNA Expression Signatures: The vast majority of early mRNA biomarker studies focused solely on one data platform in relatively large patient cohorts. The relationships between mRNA expression signatures and other genetic driving events and epigenetic changes were poorly understood. The first cutaneous melanoma TCGA marker study provided some insight into the relationships of various melanoma molecular and genomic subgroups. The genomic melanoma subgroups of BRAF, NRAS, NF1, and Triple WT proposed by the TCGA and Krauthammer et al. were not associated with patient outcome (Krauthammer et al. 2012; Cancer Genome Atlas Network 2015). In contrast, hierarchical clustering of the top 1500 differentially expressed genes from 329 melanoma samples revealed three transcriptomic subgroups with similarities to previously described mRNA expression groups that were associated with survival. The three mRNA expression subgroups were characterized by the skin/neuronal/organspecific embryonic development genes ("keratin" subclass) (n = 102; 31%), low melanocytic lineage specific transcription factor (MITF) expression ("MITF-low" subclass) (n = 59; 18%), and immune function ("immune" subclass) (n = 168; 51%) (Cancer Genome Atlas Network 2015) (Fig. 8).

The keratin subclass was similar to an expression signature found by Shields et al. of a molecularly distinct subset of melanomas with high expression of keratins, pigmentation regulators, and genes involved in epithelium as well as neural- or organ-specific embryologic development (Cancer Genome Atlas Network 2015; Shields et al. 2007). Regional metastatic melanomas that had high keratin expression levels had worse outcomes when compared to the other two transcriptomic subclasses (Cancer Genome Atlas Network 2015) (Fig. 8). The "MITF-low" subgroup was characterized by low expression of genes associated with pigmentation and epithelial expression, most of which were MITF target genes (Cancer Genome Atlas Network 2015). These genes were involved in cell adhesion, cell migration, and modeling of the extracellular matrix. Many of the significantly enriched genes

were preferentially expressed in the nervous system and/or were associated with neuronal or other organ-specific embryologic development (Cancer Genome Atlas Network 2015) (Fig. 8). This subclass was similar to mRNA expression subgroup described in previous publications that possessed low MITF expression and exhibited invasive and stem-like behavior driven by neuronal transcription factors (Cheli et al. 2011). Tumors classified in "MITF-low" had a significant higher percentage of BRAF hotspot mutations compared to the other transcriptomic subclasses (Cancer Genome Atlas Network 2015). Furthermore, the MITFlow expression group was associated with tumors that possessed genome-wide hypomethylation (Fig. 9).

The "immune" subclass overexpressed genes associated with immune cells (T cell, B cell, NK cells, Mast cells), co-inhibitory/co-stimulatory immune checkpoint proteins, cytokines, and immune-related receptors. High expression levels of these immune-related genes and the presence of tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs) in the tumor microenvironment was associated with improved post-accession survival in patients, consistent with previous studies (Azimi et al. 2012; Clemente et al. 1996; Cancer Genome Atlas Network 2015) (Fig. 8). Histological and Reverse Phase Protein Array (RPPA) analysis demonstrated high protein levels of LCK (lymphocytespecific protein tyrosine kinase) expression and high lymphocytic infiltration statistically correlated with mRNA levels of the immune subclass genes and conferred improved patient outcome compared to the keratin and MITF-low subgroups (Fig. 8). This immune mRNA subgroup was found equally distributed across all four melanoma genomic subgroups (BRAF/NRAS/NF1/Triple WT) (Cancer Genome Atlas Network 2015). PD-1 and PD-L1 expression levels were significantly elevated in the "immune" cluster compared to the other two groups. PD-1 is a co-inhibitory T-cell receptor that inhibits T-cell activation. PD-L1 is the ligand for PD-1 expressed on many cell types, including tumor cells (Sharma and Allison 2015). Both are targets of monoclonal antibodies that activate the immune system, and together with another antibody targeting the T-cell



Fig. 8 mRNA subgroups of cutaneous melanomas reported by the TCGA. (a) Unsupervised clustering of 329 samples from the top 1500 differentially expressed genes from RNA sequencing data performed by the TCGA. This analysis identified three clusters separating patients into categories defined by mRNA signatures characterized by high immune-related genes (immune), high keratin-expressing genes (keratin), and low MITF mRNA levels and MITF-target genes (MITF-low). (b) Patient that

had the immune signature had improved post-accession survival (survival interval from when the melanoma was removed to death or last follow-up). Patients with the keratin expression signature had the worst post-accession survival. (c) Histopathology analysis of infiltrating lymphocytes determined by a lymphocyte score (taking into consideration both distribution and density) observed high lymphocytic infiltration in regional metastases (d) and was associated with improved survival. (e) Clustering of
checkpoint inhibitor, CTLA-4, have shown impressive clinical results. These immune checkpoint inhibitor antibodies, anti-PD-1 and anti-CTLA-4, have produced durable responses and increased overall survival in a subset of melanoma patients (reviewed in Ott et al. 2013). Approximately 25–40% of patients respond to immune checkpoint inhibitors, and the TCGA study raised the possibility that patients with melanomas possessing an immune signature make up the patient population responding to immune therapies.

It should be noted that studies published prior to the TCGA marker publication have linked immune expression signatures with survival outcome in melanoma patients. For example, Harlin et al. performed microarray analysis of melanomas associated with CD8+ T-cell recruitment and elucidated a subset of six chemokines preferentially expressed in tumors that more effectively recruited CD8+ effector T cells (Harlin et al. 2009). Messina et al. identified a 12-chemokine gene expression signature (CCL2, CCL3, CCL4, CCL5, CCL8, CCL18, CCL19, CCL21, CXCL9, CXCL10, CXCL11, and CXCL13) that can predict intratumoral immune reaction in stage IV metastatic melanoma (Messina et al. 2012). This gene expression signature has been reported to predict the presence of unique, lymph nodal structures that contain CD20+ B cells, CD3+ T cells, and CD83+ cells. Upregulation of this 12-chemokine signature correlates with the presence of the lymph node-like structures as well as overall survival of melanoma patients (Messina et al. 2012). In addition, Sivendran et al. identified a 53-immune-gene panel that was predictive of disease-specific survival and recurrence-free survival by using the NanoString focused mRNA

quantification technology (Sivendran et al. 2014). Currently, a number of studies are focused on identifying biomarkers of immune therapy response by performing integrative analysis of melanomas from pre-, on-, and post-treatment specimens for patients treated with immune checkpoint inhibitors (reviewed in Rajkumar and Watson 2016).

Integrative Epigenetic Analysis of Cutaneous Melanoma: When performing clustering analysis of the top 1% of the most variable CPG methylated loci the TCGA analysis working group identified four subgroups that were defined by CpGisland methylator phenotype (CIMP), hypermethylation, hypomethylation, and normal-like methylation patterns. The CIMP subgroup of melanomas had a higher frequency of NRAS hotspot mutations, a lower frequency of BRAF hotspot mutations, a strong association with IDH1 and ARID2 mutations, and a high overlap with the keratin expression subgroup (Cancer Genome Atlas Network 2015) (Fig. 9). ARID2 is part of the SWI/SNF chromatin-remodeling complex, which facilitates ligand binding onto DNA for transcriptional activation through nucleosome positioning alterations. ARID2 is mutated in approximately 15% of melanomas with the majority being nonsense LoF mutations (Hodis et al. 2012; Cancer Genome Atlas Network 2015). The ARID2 mutations observed in melanoma are similar to those discovered in hepatitis-C-virus-associated hepatocellular carcinomas, which encode for truncated ARID2 variants that lack the C2H2 Zn-finger motifs needed for DNA binding (Li et al. 2011). The IDH1 mutations identified in melanomas encoded primarily the p.R132C or p.R132H amino acid substitutions in approximately 5% of melanomas (Cancer Genome Atlas

Fig. 8 (continued) reverse phase protein array (RPPA) data revealed a subgroup of patients characterized by high LCK protein expression. LCK is a member of SRC family of protein tyrosine kinases that plays a key role in selection and maturation of developing T-cells. TCGA analysis working group observed a high overlap in patients with the mRNA immune signature, high lymphocytic

infiltration by histopathology review, and high LCK protein expression. (f) Patients with regional metastases with high LCK protein expression were found to have improved survival (Reprinted from *Cell*, Vol 161/edition number, The Cancer Genome Atlas Network, Genomic Classification of Cutaneous Melanoma, Pages No. 1681–1696, Copyright (2015), with permission from Elsevier)



Fig. 9 Relationships and overlap of various melanoma subgroups from multiple data platforms from the cutaneous melanoma TCGA analysis. Shown above is a StratomeX plot illustrating the relationships indicated by connecting bars showing overlap between the various subgroups identified in each specific data platform analysis. The genomic subgroups shown by mutation (MUT) include *BRAF*, *RAS*, *NF1*, and *Triple WT*, by mRNA sequencing (RNA) MITF, keratin and immune, and methylation (meth) normal, hypo-, and hypermethylation as well as the CIMP signature. Highlighted in the brown

bars is the relationship of the MITF-low RNA expression subgroup that overlaps more frequently with *BRAF* mutant melanomas and rarely expresses a normal-like methylation pattern. In contrast, the majority of melanoma samples with a normal-like methylation pattern also possess an immune expression signature (Reprinted from *Cell*, Vol 161/edition number, The Cancer Genome Atlas Network, Genomic Classification of Cutaneous Melanoma, Pages No. 1681–1696, Copyright (2015), with permission from Elsevier)

Network 2015; Shibata et al. 2011). Genomewide gene expression profiling studies demonstrated that *IDH1* upregulates growth-related transcription factors (*JUN*, *MYCN*, and *ATF3*) and reduces *RASSF1*, *DHRS1*, and *ADH5* expression in melanoma cells (Shibata et al. 2011). *IDH1* hotspot mutations were originally discovered in gliomas (Parsons et al. 2008). While normally involved in glucose metabolism, mutant *IDH1* acquires the ability to reduce α -ketoglutarate (α KG) to 2-hydroxyglutarate (2HG), where excess levels contribute to disease progression (Dang et al. 2009). Melanomas that possessed normal-like methylation profiles most often possess an immune mRNA expression signature and low copy number alterations consistent with lymphocytic infiltration (Fig. 9).

Genes targeted by aberrant hypermethylation in melanoma include the *CDKN2A* tumor suppressor promoter region, and melanocyte differentiation factors *KIT*, *PAX3*, and *SOX10* (Dahl et al. 2015; Jin et al. 2015; Lauss et al. 2015; Cancer Genome Atlas Network 2015). *CDKN2A* has been reported to be hypermethylated in ~20%

similar pathways normally associated with CpG

to lower levels of p16INK4A levels, increased tumor cell proliferation, and significantly reduced patient survival (Straume et al. 2002). Using MIRA sequencing to characterize metastatic melanoma-specific hypermethylation, Jin et al. discovered 179 tumor-specific methylation peaks present in all samples analyzed and 150 upstream of transcription start sites for genes regulating melanocyte differentiation KIT, PAX3, and SOX10, marked by high levels of methylation on H3K27 (H3K27me3) (Jin et al. 2015). Another 22 genes have been reported to be differentially methylated during melanoma progression. By comparing DNA methylation signatures between nevi and melanomas using high-throughput DNA-methylation array-based profiling followed by unsupervised hierarchal clustering, Conway et al. identified 26 CpG sites in 22 genes with significantly different methylation levels (Conway et al. 2011). Hypermethylated genes included KCNK4, GSTM2, TRIP6 (two CpG sites), FRZB, COL1A2, and NPR2. Genes found to be hypomethylated were CARD15/NOD2, KLK10, MPO, EVI2A, EMR3 (two sites), HLA-DPA1, PTHR1, IL2, TNFSF8, LAT, PSCA, IFNG, PTHLH, RUNX3 (three CpG sites), ITK, and CD2 (Conway et al. 2011). Other comparative studies have reported hypermethylation of tumor suppressor genes in progression from primary to metastatic melanomas that include MGMT, RASSF1A, and DAPK (Hoon et al. 2004). Further analysis of melanoma patient plasma revealed circulating hypermethylated MGMT, RAR-B2, and RASSF1A DNA in ~30% of patients indicating that hypermethylation increases over the course of melanoma progression (Hoon et al. 2004). In contrast, loss of 5-hydroxymethylcytosine (5hmC) has been reported in the transition of nevi to melanoma, which is thought to be regulated by TET family and IDH2 (isocitrate dehydrogenase 2) (Lian et al. 2012).

of vertical growth phase melanomas leading

A number of groups have studied changes in acetylation and other epigenetic marks revealing mechanisms of melanoma progression. For example, histone hypoacetylation mediated by histone deacetylases (HDAC) is thought to play an important role in melanoma progression affecting

island hypermethylation. Utilizing the HDAC inhibitor, trichostatin A (TSA), Florenes et al. revealed that melanomas exhibit loss of tumor suppressor genes, such as CDKN1A and p21, through reversible deacetylation of lysine residues in local histones (Flørenes et al. 2004). Other genes downregulated by histone hypoacetylation encode for the proapoptotic factors that include APAF-1, BAX, BAK, BID, BIM, caspase-3, caspase-8, TNFRSF10A, and TNFRSF10B, raising the possible clinical utility of HDAC inhibitors for treatment of cutaneous melanoma (Facchetti et al. 2004; Zhang et al. 2003, 2004). Other studies have utilized immunohistochemistry techniques to identify specific chromatin mark changes during melanoma progression. Immunohistochemistry profiling of 89 melanoma lesions demonstrated lower levels of H3K4me2 and H3K27me3 in metastatic samples compared to primary melanoma cases (Kampilafkos et al. 2015). Furthermore, protein levels of a known chromatin remodeling gene, EZH2, which is a polycomb-group (PcG) protein that transcriptionally represses gene expression via histone methylation, was shown to be elevated in melanoma cells compared to nevi (Fan et al. 2011; Kampilafkos et al. 2015). Functional studies and mouse models have recently demonstrated that mutant EZH2 promotes melanoma progression by inactivating tumor suppressors and immune response genes (Fan et al. 2011; Souroullas et al. 2016; Tiffen et al. 2015; Zingg et al. 2015). Targeting EZH2 through conditional ablation in mice or through pharmacological inhibition leads to reactivation of tumor suppressors, such as ATF3 and CDKN1A, that halt tumor growth demonstrating the clinical utility of targeting EZH2 signaling in melanoma.

In addition to genetic analysis of human melanomas, animal model studies have discovered epigenetic factors that cooperate with oncogenes to induce melanoma. Zebrafish melanoma models engineered with the BRAF p.V600E mutation revealed that the histone methyltransferase SET Domain, Bifurcated 1 (SETDB1) is upregulated and accelerates melanoma progression (Ceol et al. 2011). SETDB1 promotes trimethylation of histone H3K9 and gene repression. Human SETDB1 protein levels are only elevated in melanomas, but not in benign nevi or normal melanocytes, suggesting that *SETDB1* acts as an oncogene and plays a role in chromatin dysregulation to promote tumorigenesis (Ceol et al. 2011).

Noncoding RNA in Melanoma Development: Recent studies have shed light on the dysregulation of microRNA (miRNA) and long noncoding RNA (lncRNA). For example, high-throughput miRNA screening of blood samples from melanoma patients as well as normal healthy individuals showed that there are over 50 differentially regulated miRNAs, with ~20 being downregulated and \sim 30 being upregulated, in comparison to controls (Leidinger et al. 2010). Microarray-based miRNA profiling of melanocytes and melanoma cell lines derived from primary and metastatic melanomas revealed that certain miRNA expression patterns are associated with melanoma initiation, progression, and metastasis (Mueller et al. 2009). When comparing primary melanoma cell lines to normal human epidermal melanocytes, 77 miRNAs were upregulated (49 of which were highly upregulated during early progression) and 14 were downregulated (Mueller et al. 2009). Validation studies with metastatic samples revealed 11 miRNAs were confirmed to be upregulated and two downregulated. Notably, the miR-17-92 cluster, which had been previously reported to promote tumor progression by cooperating with MYC and blocking apoptosis, was found to be upregulated in primary tumor cell lines compared to melanocytes. The miR-106-363 cluster that promotes cell attachment, mobility, and proliferation was increased in both primary and metastatic melanoma cells (Mueller et al. 2009). Mirzaei et al. identified aberrant activation of additional miRNAs in melanoma, which included let-7a/b, miR-148, miR-155, miR-182, miR-200c, miR-211, miR-214, miR-221, and miR-222 (Mirzaei et al. 2016). These miRNAs have been recognized as regulators of a number of melanoma-associated genes, such as NRAS, MITF, KIT, and ATF2 (Mirzaei et al. 2016).

Various other processes are regulated by miRNAs in melanoma, such as the regulation of epigenetics (e.g., *miR-18b*, *miR-29c*); apoptosis

(e.g., miR-18b, miR-155, miR-26a); immune response (e.g., *miR-210*, *miR-34a/c*, *miR-30b/d*); uncontrolled replication (e.g., miR-205, miR-203); metastasis (e.g., miR-214, let-7a); and cell signaling (e.g., miR-137, miR-221) (reviewed in Aftab et al. 2014; Bennett et al. 2013; Sarkar et al. 2015). Several studies demonstrated clear tumor suppressor functions of miRNAs that are either suppressed or deleted in melanoma, which include the miR-100 family and miR-31 that negatively regulate oncogenes EZH2, SRC, MET, NIK, and RAB27A (Asangani et al. 2012; Varambally et al. 2008). CpG island methylation upstream of regulatory regions has been shown to modulate miR-375 and miR-34b expression in stage II to IV melanomas, demonstrating stage-specific methylation patterns of miRNA in melanoma (Aftab et al. 2014). Recently, a mouse model study elucidated a more complex mechanism by which miRNAs regulate melanomagenesis. Damsky et al. discovered that BRAF p.V600E-induced upregulation of miR-99/100 caused senescence by downregulating mTOR and IGF1R signaling as a mechanism of oncogene-induced senescence in melanoma (Damsky et al. 2015).

Given the roles of miRNA in various aspects of melanoma biology, a number of groups have searched for miRNA biomarkers with diagnostic potential. In particular, three studies have identified miRNAs prognostic signatures. Segura et al. revealed an 18 miRNA signature from analysis of metastatic tissue that demonstrated significant overexpression in patients with longer survival, which was subsequently narrowed to a six miRNA signature (miR-150, miR-342-3p, miR-455-3p, miR-145, miR-155, and miR-497) that could predict post-recurrence survival with approximately 80% accuracy (Segura et al. 2010). Tembe et al. observed that miR-150-5p, miR-142-3p, and miR-142-5p were associated with poor prognosis in 45 metastatic melanoma samples from Stage III patients (Tembe et al. 2015). Finally, Jayawardana et al. identified a 12-miRNA signature from a re-analysis of publicly available datasets, and a 15-miRNA signature that predicted longer survival from TCGA data (Jayawardana et al. 2016). Jayawardana

et al. also performed a cross-validation analysis and elucidated that five miRNAs (*miR-142-5p*, *miR-150-5p*, *miR-342-3p*, *miR-155-5p*, and *miR-146b-5p*) were reproducibly associated with patient outcomes suggesting they should be prioritized in future biomarker studies, functional work, and drug discovery (Jayawardana et al. 2016).

Long noncoding RNAs (lncRNAs) have a number of functions including regulation of transcription via the interaction of regulatory proteins, mRNA splicing by influencing ribosomal RNA modification, and epigenetic regulation through the recruitment of histone modifying complexes in either a trans or cis manner (reviewed in Sarkar et al. 2015). Since the first functional lncRNA, XIST, was reported in 1992 (Brown et al. 1992), progressively more studies are beginning to unravel the roles of lncRNA in melanoma. For example, in patients with melanoma-neural system tumor syndrome found in families that develop both cutaneous melanoma and neural system tumors, Pasmant et al. identified ANRIL within the germ-line deletion that included the entire gene cluster p15/CDKN2B-p16/CDKN2Ap14/ARF (Pasmant et al. 2007). Subsequent genome-wide association studies revealed ANRIL as an unexpected major target for various cancer types that coregulates CDKN2A/B expression through a cis-acting mechanism (Pasmant et al. 2011).

Noncoding RNA microarray studies revealed 77 lncRNAs that are differentially expressed between melanocytes and melanoma cell lines, of which four were aberrantly expressed in patient samples (Khaitan et al. 2011). Follow-up functional studies demonstrated that one of the overexpressed lncRNAs, SPRY4-IT, found in an intron of the gene SPRY4, plays an oncogenic role leading to increased cell growth and migration upon its overexpression (Khaitan et al. 2011; Mazar et al. 2014). The lncRNA, HOTAIR, was also found to be overexpressed in lymph node metastases tumors when compared to primary melanomas (Tang et al. 2013). Decreasing HOTAIR expression led to reduced motility and invasion in human melanoma cell lines, suggesting its role in promoting metastasis (Tang et al. 2013).

Aberrant expression of lncRNAs also correlated with increased RNA-binding ability of polypyrimidine tract-binding (PTB) protein associated splicing factor (PSF) in both mouse and human tumors (Wu et al. 2013). Through RNA-SELEX affinity chromatography, Wu et al. elucidated *Llme23* as the lncRNA that binds specifically to PSF in melanoma cell lines (Wu et al. 2013). Furthermore, this interaction is exclusively detected in human melanoma cell lines, and knockdown of *Llme23* suppressed its oncogenic function and prevented the expression of the proto-oncogene, *Rab23* (Wu et al. 2013).

lncRNAs have also shown to play important roles in oncogenic BRAF signaling. Flockhart et al. identified 39 differentially expressed lncRNAs in BRAF p.V600E melanoma cells, and found BANCR as the most recurrently overexpressed lncRNA that was regulated by BRAF in malignant melanoma (Flockhart et al. 2012). As the annotation of lncRNAs increases, future studies will undoubtedly reveal additional roles for lncRNAs in melanoma. For example, a recent study discovered the lncRNA, SAMMSON, which is found in the 3p13-3p14 region and coamplified with MITF, regulates targeted therapy response and mitochondrial function in melanoma (Leucci et al. 2016). Interestingly, silencing SAMMSON in cell lines and patients derived xenografts sensitized melanomas to targeted therapy. These various studies have uncovered the new roles of lncRNAs in melanoma, as well as their potential as biomarkers and drug targets.

Perspective on Future Studies in Cutaneous Melanoma

Recent power calculations have estimated that up to 5300 samples are needed to be sequenced in order to identify driving mutations in genes at a frequency of 2% (Lawrence et al. 2014). The largest sequencing studies to date have analyzed in the range of 300–500 samples (Arafeh et al. 2015; Hodis et al. 2012; Cancer Genome Atlas Network 2015). Thus, not all SNV-mediated driving events in melanoma have been identified. Future studies will certainly elucidate new

driving mutations in tumor suppressors and low frequency oncogenic mutations. With the advancement of statistical tools to identify significantly mutated noncoding regions of the genome, forthcoming work will likely reveal additional noncoding driving mutations.

As illustrated by a number of recent studies, the discovery of amplified and deleted regions that contain noncoding RNAs that play roles in melanoma initiation, disease progression, and metastasis should be elucidated in the coming years. In addition to identifying new genetic alterations, the functional role and the signaling pathways modulated by many of the newly identified significantly mutated genes possessing coding and noncoding mutations remain an important area of investigation. In order to identify potential new therapeutic strategies to treat melanomas, generation of new pre-clinical human and mouse melanoma model systems and detailed mechanistic investigation will be required for the characterization of these new melanoma-associated genes. Finally, as this chapter has focused on treatment-naïve melanomas, future "omic" studies should continue to incorporate how genetic driving events influence and evolve in response to the latest melanoma treatment modalities. To date, a number of studies have already shed important insight into mechanisms of resistance to targeted therapies and biomarkers linked to immune therapy response (reviewed in Carlino et al. 2015; Rajkumar and Watson 2016). As the treatment paradigms begin to evolve in melanoma with new therapeutic strategies, it will be important to continue to link detailed clinical history and treatment response to the molecular characterization of melanomas.

Uveal Melanoma

Uveal melanoma is a distinct subtype of melanoma that originates from melanocytes in the choroidal plexus of the eye, the ciliary body, or the iris. It is the most common primary cancer of the eye and accounts for \sim 5% of melanoma cases in North America, with 1200–1500 new cases each year (reviewed in Harbour 2012). Uveal melanoma metastasizes to several sites; however, the overwhelming majority spread to the liver. The median survival rate for patients with metastatic uveal melanoma is approximately 9 months (Kath et al. 1993). Uveal melanoma has one of the lowest mutation burden of any cancer sequenced to date and has distinct driver mutations, and there is no evidence of a UV signature. Characterization of the genetics and expression profiling of uveal melanoma have aided significantly in understanding the etiology of this disease, as well as in the identification of different subgroups with prognostic significance.

Early Genetic Studies of Uveal Melanoma

First-Generation Sequencing: As illustrated above, the landscape of driver mutations differs significantly in the various melanoma subtypes. Notably, early clues about the identity of possible driver oncogenes in melanoma originated from forward genetic screening of mice. For example, Van Raamsdonk et al. noted that hypermorphic mutations in Gnall or Gnaq caused hyperpigmentation in mice attributed to an increase in intradermal but not epidermal melanocytes (Van Raamsdonk et al. 2004). The melanocytic hyperplasia in these mice was reminiscent of blue nevi in humans, which prompted sequencing of GNAQ and GNA11 in blue nevi. In the first analysis, only GNAQ mutations were identified in blue nevi (Van Raamsdonk et al. 2009). Blue nevi are dermal spindled and dendritic melanocyte proliferations without significant epithelial involvement that can progress to blue nevus-like melanoma (Bastian 2014). Nevus of Ota is a specific variant of blue nevus which affects the facial skin corresponding to the innervation site of the first branch of the trigeminus nerve. It is frequently accompanied by an increased number of melanocytes in the uvea and conjunctival hyperpigmentation. In Caucasians, nevus of Ota is a risk factor for uveal melanoma, which prompted sequencing of uveal melanoma to determine the mutation status for GNAQ and later for GNA11. Strikingly, these two G-protein subunits of the $G\alpha q$ family were mutated in a substantially large fraction of blue nevi and uveal melanoma. Analogous to BRAF and NRAS SNVs, hotspot GNA11 and GNAQ mutations resulting in an amino acid change in either p.Q209 or p.R183 point mutations are found in over 80% of uveal melanoma in a mutually exclusive manner (Van Raamsdonk et al. 2010). p.Q209 mutations in GNAQ were found in 55% of blue nevi, 45% of primary uveal tumors, and 22% of uveal melanoma metastasis, while mutations affecting p.Q209 in GNA11 were found in 7% of blue nevi, 32% of primary uveal tumors, and 50% of uveal melanoma metastasis (Van Raamsdonk et al. 2009, 2010). GNAQ and GNA11 encode for the α -subunit of the heterotrimeric G proteins, which are composed of α , β , and γ subunits. The α -subunit functions as a switch for the G-protein and possesses specific arginine and glutamine residues that are of critical importance for its intrinsic GTPase activity when interacting with GTP. In GNA11, the critical glutamine at position 209 was found to be mutated to either a leucine in 97% or a proline in \sim 3% of uveal melanomas, which is homologous to amino acid p.Q61 in RAS (Van Raamsdonk et al. 2010). While less frequent, mutations in p.R183 in GNAQ and GNA11 were found in 4.8% of primary uveal melanomas, the majority of which encoded for p.R183C in the case of GNA11. Uveal melanomas do not possess many of the commonly mutated genes in cutaneous melanoma including BRAF and NRAS, and alternatively activate the MAPK pathway through GNAQ and GNA11 mutations (Van Raamsdonk et al. 2009).

Copy Number Variations (CNVs): Cytogenetic studies of samples from patients with uveal melanoma have identified many genetic alterations and chromosomal aberrations in this subtype. Recurring nonrandom chromosomal aberrations in uveal melanoma were initially identified through standard karyotypic analyses, which include loss of chromosomes 1p, 3, 6q, 8p, and 9p as well as gains of 1q, 6p, and 8q, which were later confirmed with additional approaches (Harbour 2012). Although many of these genetic alterations have been associated with uveal melanoma outcomes, loss of a copy of chromosome 3 (monosomy 3) that occurs in

~50% of cases is by far the most significant prognostic chromosomal marker (Prescher et al. 1990). Prescher et al. studied over 50 patients with monosomy 3 and found that this chromosomal aberration is a significant predictor of both poor relapse-free and overall survival outcomes in uveal melanoma (Prescher et al. 1996).

Loss of chromosome 1p is observed in $\sim 25\%$ of uveal melanomas, and generally cooccurs with monosomy 3 (Hausler et al. 2005; Hoglund et al. 2004). Candidate tumor suppressor and oncogenes proposed to be targeted by chromosomal losses include HES2, HES5, and TP73 (Kilic et al. 2008). Gains of 6p and loss of 6q were found respectively in ~30% and ~40% of uveal melanomas, and 6q loss were present in ~50% of tumors that also harbored 6p gain (Hoglund et al. 2004). This suggested that this event occurs by isochromosome formation, which is produced by the transverse splitting of the centromeres resulting in the simultaneous duplication and deletion of genetic material in which the arms of the chromosomes are the mirror images of each other (Aalto et al. 2001). Moreover, 6p gain frequently occurs in the absence of monosomy 3 (Ehlers et al. 2008; Parrella et al. 1999). Loss of chromosome 8p and gain of 8q occur in 25% and 40% of uveal melanoma cases, respectively (Hoglund et al. 2004). Reports indicate that 8q gain is significantly associated with uveal melanoma metastasis, and candidate oncogenes in the minimal common region of 8q amplification are MYC, DDEF1, and NBS1 (Ehlers and Harbour 2005; Ehlers et al. 2005; Parrella et al. 2001). LZTS1 is a candidate tumor suppressor on 8p, which was found to be both silenced by hypermethylation and deleted on chromosome 8p12-22, where functional data supports a role for this gene in preventing metastasis (Onken et al. 2008). Finally, loss of chromosome 9p is found in ~25% of uveal melanomas. This region contains the CDKN2A locus whose promoter region is also commonly silenced in many uveal melanoma cell lines (Hoglund et al. 2004; Merbs and Sidransky 1999; van der Velden et al. 2001).

Next-Generation Sequencing and Comprehensive Integrative Analyses of Uveal Melanoma Across Multiple Data Platforms

mRNA/miRNA Expression Profiling: Monosomy 3 is observed in ~50% of melanoma patients and is significantly associated with metastatic spread. Approximately 70% of patients with monosomy 3 will die within 4 years after initial diagnosis, while patients with disomy 3 do not develop metastatic disease (Tschentscher et al. 2003). Various groups have performed gene expression profiling of primary uveal melanomas to gain insight into its biology. Early studies identified differentially expressed genes between normal melanocytes and uveal cell lines as well as monosomy 3 versus disomy 3 tumors (Tschentscher et al. 2003; Zuidervaart et al. 2003). Further studies performed unsupervised clustering analysis to identify expression signatures that classified uveal melanomas into two prognostically significant groups independent of cytogenetic status that outperformed other prognostic indicators, including clinical, pathological, and cytogenetic variables, including monosomy 3 (Onken et al. 2004, 2012) (Fig. 10). This expression classification places uveal melanoma into two discrete molecular groups: class 1 (low-risk) and class 2 (high-risk) groups. These early analyses used high-density oligonucleotide arrays that identified 3075 significant genes employing stringent statistical cut-offs. Principal component analysis revealed two distinct clusters where follow-up filter processing identified 62 discriminating genes (Onken et al. 2004). This original signature included genes that were downregulated on chromosome 3 and up-regulated on 8q. Pathway analysis revealed that the top 26 discriminate genes of the 62 gene signature had roles in cell communication, development, cell growth, motility, and cell death (Onken et al. 2004). Class 2 tumors exhibited epithelial features characterized by polygonal cell morphology, acinar clustering, and increased cell adhesion, with concomitant upregulation of E-cadherin that colocalized with β -catenin at the plasma

membrane (Onken et al. 2006). Onken et al. sought to identify the most highly discriminate genes and invariant control genes to develop a clinical PCR-based assay that could be used for small samples obtained by fine needle aspiration biopsy (FNAB) and archival FFPE tissues (Onken et al. 2010). Their work led to the development of a PCR-based 15-gene assay composed of 12 discriminating genes (CDH1, ECM1, E1F1B, FXR1, HTR2B, ID2, LMCD1, LTA4H, MTUS1, RAB31, ROBO1, and SATB1) and three endogenous control genes (MRPS21, RBM23, and SAP130) that are expressed equally in both classes (Harbour and Chen 2013). A prospective multicenter study confirmed the assay's prognostic accuracy showing it to be superior to monosomy 3 testing. This assay, DecisionDx-UM, is now commercially available from Castle Biosciences Inc. In many ocular oncology centers, this assay has become the standard of care for prognostic testing (reviewed in Decatur et al. 2016).

Although not developed and characterized to the same degree as mRNA expression profiles, a few groups have identified miRNA that are prognostic. For example, miRNA clustering analysis revealed subgroups with prognostic significance where let-7b and miR-199a were the most significant discriminators (Worley et al. 2008). Furthermore, functional studies have shown that miR-34a can downregulate c-Met, leading to decreased uveal melanoma cell line proliferation (Yan et al. 2009). miR-137 also has tumor suppressor activity by downregulating MITF and CDK6 (Chen et al. 2011). Conversely, miR-454 has been shown to be upregulated in uveal melanoma tissue and has oncogenic functions by reducing PTEN expression (Sun et al. 2015).

Next-Generation Sequencing, Epigenetics, and Integrative Analysis: Numerous studies have attempted to identify the tumor suppressor (s) located on chromosome 3 that are crucial for uveal melanoma progression. However, it was not until WES was utilized in the analysis of uveal melanoma that Harbour et al. identified BRCA1-Associated Protein-1 (BAP1), located on chromosome 3 (3p21.1), as the key tumor suppressor (Harbour et al. 2010). BAP1 encodes for a



Fig. 10 Demonstration of the prognostic value of metastatic risk of the gene expression profiling (GEP) classification by Onken et al. (2012). Kaplan-Meier plots for the indicated prognostic factors (age, ciliary body, tumor thickness, tumor diameter, chromosome 3 status) and GEP classes are shown with P-values determined by log-rank method displayed in the bottom left portion of the graphs. This study demonstrated that GEP assay was the most accurate prognostic marker among all factors tested (Reprinted from *Ophthalmology*, Vol 119/edition

number 8, Michael D. Onken, Lori A. Worley, Devron H. Char, James J. Augsburger, Zelia M. Correa, Eric Nudleman, Thomas M. Aaberg, Michael M. Altaweel, David S. Bardenstein, Paul T. Finger, Brenda L. Gallie, George J. Harocopos, Peter G. Hovland, Hugh D. McGowan et al., Collaborative Ocular Oncology Group Report Number 1: Prospective Validation of a Multi-Gene Prognostic Assay in Uveal Melanoma, Pages No. 1596–1603., Copyright (2012), with permission from Elsevier)

nuclear deubiquitinating enzyme of the ubiquitin carboxy-terminal hydrolase class that was originally identified as a BRCA1 binding protein (Jensen et al. 1998). WES analysis revealed BAP1 was the only gene possessing SNVs on chromosome 3, and was mutated in ~85% of class 2 metastasizing uveal tumors (Harbour et al. 2010). The vast majority of *BAP1* mutations were inactivating events, with 15/26 mutations identified resulting in premature protein termination and 5/26 affecting the ubiquitin hydrolase domain. All 17 BAP1-mutant class 2 tumors where cytogenetic data was available had one copy of chromosome 3 missing. Functional data demonstrated that knockdown of BAP1 developed a more epithelial morphology and a shift towards a class 2 gene expression signature. Thus, this study identified inactivation of BAP1 as the key event in the acquisition of metastatic competence of uveal melanomas. Although somatic mutations in BAP1 are infrequent in cutaneous melanoma, rare germline BAP1 variants were discovered in families with an autosomal dominant syndrome characterized by multiple melanocytic tumors, including cutaneous and uveal melanomas. Affected family members had distinctive melanocytic neoplasms that show cytologic features of Spitz tumors, but lack other features characteristic of Spitz nevi, such as epidermal hyperplasia. These lesions are now termed BAP1-inactivated spitzoid nevi, and arise from BRAF- (or less commonly NRAS-) mutant nevi through biallelic inactivation of BAP1 (Wiesner et al. 2011).

To date, a number of studies have characterized the tumor suppressor function of *BAP1*. In 2010, Scheuermann et al. demonstrated that the Drosophila homolog of *BAP1*, *calypso*, physically interacted with Polycomb group protein *ASX* to form the Polycomb repressive deubiquitinase complex (PR-DUB), which removes monoubiquitin moieties from H2A histones, thus preventing transcription of important Hox genes (Scheuermann et al. 2010). *BAP1* was also shown to interact and form a stable complex with *ASXL1*, the human homolog of *ASX*, to deubiquitinate H2Aub1 in nucleosomes. This study demonstrated an important role for BAP1 in transcriptional and epigenetic regulation during Drosophila development (Scheuermann et al. 2010). BAP1 was also found to interact with HCF1, which is a chromatin-associated protein that regulates gene expression by maintaining complex formation between chromatinmodifying enzymes and transcription factors (Machida et al. 2009). These studies provided evidence for the role of BAP1's deubiquitinating activity in epigenetic regulation. Furthermore, gene set enrichment analysis (GSEA) comparing class 1 and class 2 tumors determined that genes upregulated by HDAC inhibitors (e.g., SAHA and depsipeptide) were deemed the most significant. Thus, Landreville et al. tested whether histone deacetylase (HDAC) inhibitors can serve as a therapeutic strategy to treat uveal melanomas with BAP1 inactivating mutations (Landreville et al. 2012). They observed that loss of BAP1 sensitized uveal melanoma cell lines to HDAC inhibitors, which decreased cell proliferation and tumor growth in vivo. Currently, HDAC inhibitors, Vorinostat (NCT01587352), are in clinical trials for treatment of patients with metastatic uveal melanoma.

To elucidate the landscape of driver mutations in uveal melanoma, a number of groups performed larger sequencing studies that identified previously unreported driver events. Martin et al. performed WES on uveal melanomas to determine the genetic differences between patients that had monosomy 3 compared to those that had disomy 3, which seldom metastasize (Martin et al. 2013). Recurrent somatic mutations in either EIF1AX (15/31; 48%) or SF3B1 (9/31; 29%) were identified, both specifically occurring in uveal melanomas with disomy 3. EIF1AX and SF3B1 mutations were found in patient samples with partial monosomy 3, where only portions of chromosome 3 were lost. However, they were rarely mutated in uveal melanomas with monosomy 3 (Martin et al. 2013). EIF1AX encodes for the eukaryotic translation initiation factor 1A X-linked, and all of its mutations were missense mutations that affected the N-terminus of the protein. SF3BP1 mutations were anticorrelated with *EIF1AX* mutations in disomy 3 uveal melanomas and WES detected heterozygous p.R625C or p.R625H hotspot mutations in low-grade uveal melanomas with good prognosis (Harbour et al.

2013; Martin et al. 2013). Mutations in SF3BP1, which encodes for the subunit 1 of the splicing factor 3b complex, were mutually exclusive with BAP1 mutations (Harbour et al. 2013; Martin et al. 2013). SF3BP1 is a component of the major U2-like and minor U12-like spliceosome. To determine the effects of mutant SF3B1 on uveal melanoma transcripts, Furney et al. utilized the Affymetrix Human Transcriptome arrays (HTA2) that contains both exon and exon-exon junction probes in the analysis of mRNA from SF3B1 mutant and wild-type uveal melanomas (Furney et al. 2013a). Recurrent SF3B1 mutations were associated with differential alternative splicing of several protein coding genes. The genes that had the strongest SF3B1-mediated aberrant splicing and were validated by secondary PCR methods were GUSBP11, UQCC, ANKHD1, GAS8, F8, ADAM12, and ABCC5 as well as the IncRNA CRNDE (Furney et al. 2013a). However, the role these alternative splicing transcripts play in uveal melanoma biology is still poorly understood.

Johansson et al. carried out deep sequencing of 28 uveal melanoma samples (either tumors or primary cell lines), and discovered recurrent mutations in PLCB4 (c.G1888 T, p.D630Y), which encodes for phospholipase C β 4, a canonical downstream effector of the $G\alpha q$ signaling pathway (Johansson et al. 2016) (Fig. 11). PLCB4 gain-of-function mutations were mutually exclusive with GNAQ and GNA11, suggesting that this novel mutation activates the same pathway to promote uveal melanoma development. Moore et al. also identified recurrent mutations CYSLTR2, which encodes for cysteinyl leukotriene receptor 2, another gene of the $G\alpha q$ signaling pathway (Moore et al. 2016) (Fig. 11). Furthermore, the p.L129Q constitutively activating mutation in CYSLTR2 was found in four out of nine uveal melanoma samples that lacked mutations in GNAQ, GNA11, and PLCB4. Mutant forms of CYSLTR2 promotes phorbol ester-independent growth in vitro and tumorigenesis in vivo (Moore et al. 2016). These account for the missing oncogenes in uveal melanomas without mutations in GNAQ or GNA11.

Due to the high frequency of *TERT* promoter mutations in cutaneous melanomas, groups have performed focused analysis of the TERT locus. Gene expression, copy number, and focused sequencing analyses of 50 primary uveal melanomas revealed that hotspot *TERT* promoter mutations are extremely rare in uveal melanoma (1/50) (Dono et al. 2014). However, the C228T *TERT* promoter mutation did lead to higher TERT expression in the samples where it was discovered.

Perspective on Future Studies in Uveal Melanoma

In contrast to many of the melanoma subtypes, the landscape of driver mutations in uveal melanoma has been more clearly defined compared to other melanoma subtypes. This accomplishment has been aided in part by the lack of UV-induced passenger mutations and low mutation burden that necessitated sequencing fewer samples to clearly define driver mutations. Furthermore, the genetic driving events found in primary melanomas that metastasize (monosomy 3 and BAP1 mutations), or are alternatively found in patients with better prognosis (S3FB1 and EIF1AX mutations), have been clearly defined. Clinically amenable prognostic expression assays that are able to distinguish good and poor outcomes in patients are also currently available. While the driver events in this melanoma subtype are now well-defined, the mechanism of action and signaling changes caused by uveal melanoma oncogenes and tumor suppressors are still not well-understood. Unquestionably, this knowledge gap will be addressed in future studies.

In contrast to cutaneous melanoma, where immune and targeted therapies are producing long-term survival benefits in a subset of patients, few effective therapies are available for uveal melanoma patients with metastatic disease. Recent studies identified PKC and YAP signaling as key downstream meditators of mutant GNAQ/GNA11 signaling (Chen et al. 2014; Feng et al. 2014;



Fig. 11 Landscape of driving mutations in uveal melanoma (From Moore et al. 2016). (a) Mutamatrix of significantly mutated genes in uveal melanoma identified in exome datasets from The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA), Cancer Research UK (CRUK), QIMR Berghofer Medical Research Institute (QIMR), and University of Duisburg-Essen (UNI-UDE). (b) Statistical analysis with P-values indicate mutual exclusivity between *GNA11*, *GNAQ*, *PLCB4*, and *CYSLTR2* mutated in 96% of uveal melanoma samples (left panel) and *SF3B1*, *BAP1*, *EIF1AX* mutated in 62% of samples. (c) Illustration of signaling pathway affected by mutations in uveal melanoma is shown. In summary, the G protein receptor (GPCR), *CYSLTR2*,

promotes the exchange of GDP for GTP binding of GNAQ/11 resulting in increased interaction with PLCB4 that promotes the cleavage of phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate (PIP₂) to produce diacylglycerol (DAG) and inositol triphosphate (IP₃), leading to calcium release and activation of PKC (Reprinted by permission from Macmillan Publishers Ltd., Nature Genetics, Amanda R Moore, Emilie Ceraudo, Jessica J Sher, Youxin Guan, Alexander N Shoushtari, Matthew T Chang, Jenny Q Zhang, Edward G Walczak, Manija A Kazmi, Barry S Taylor, Thomas Huber, Ping Chi, Thomas P Sakmar & Yu Chen. Nat Genet. 2016 Jun;48(6):675–80. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng.3549. Copyright (2016))

Yu et al. 2014). Combination PKC and MEK inhibitors are currently in clinical trials to treat metastatic uveal melanoma patients, although preliminary results from the PKC monotherapy trials have not been impressive, emphasizing the need for further studies (Chen et al. 2014).

Although HDAC clinical trials are underway to treat metastatic uveal melanoma, the mechanisms of action of BAP1 loss are still not entirely clear. Addressing these knowledge gaps will be better addressed with improved human and mouse models of uveal melanoma. For instance, there are few human uveal melanoma cell lines with monosomy 3 available to the research community. In addition, currently, there is no genetically engineered mouse model (GEM) for metastatic uveal melanoma. For example, the Bap1 knockout mouse does not develop uveal melanoma (Dey et al. 2012). The transgenic GNAQ p.Q209L mice develop uveal melanoma, but do not develop liver metastases (Huang et al. 2015). Improved GEM models with appropriate gene targeting of mutations found in uveal melanoma will likely lead to better mouse models recapitulating the phenotypes observed in the human disease. With the identification of the current landscape of driver mutations in uveal melanoma along with the development of better model systems for functional studies, the melanoma community is poised to accelerate the understanding of uveal melanoma biology. Hopefully, such work will lead to improved therapeutic options for patients.

Conclusions

A number of studies have identified causative germline variants in familial melanoma that were not covered in this chapter. However, an understanding of how the "ground state" normal genetic variation in patients influences the landscape of somatic mutations and melanoma biology remains unclear, and is an important avenue of investigation. Future studies will also need to functionalize the melanoma genome through mechanistic studies and the development of appropriate model systems. Such work will hopefully lead to new therapeutic strategies. Given the recent clinical success of immune checkpoint inhibitors, understanding the molecular changes associated with response and resistance mechanisms to immune therapies should also lead to more effective management of melanoma patients.

Molecular characterization of non-acral cutaneous and uveal melanoma has led to the development of new therapies and the discovery of biomarkers that predict patient outcome. However, rarer forms of melanoma require similar study to both gain an understanding of the molecular causes of the disease and to discover new drug targets and biomarkers. In particular, the landscape of driving mutations in acral and mucosal melanoma are not well-understood (Furney et al. 2012, 2013b). To date, molecular characterization of these subtypes across multiple data platforms is still lacking and represents an important area of study. Other rare forms of melanoma with relatively limited genomic characterization have revealed important insights into the disease, such as work done in desmoplastic and spitzoid melanomas, as illustrated above (Shain et al. 2015a; Wiesner et al. 2016). Undoubtedly, larger scale multidimensional characterization of melanoma will emerge in the near future that will reveal new insights into the etiology and biology of the disease.

References

- Aalto Y, Eriksson L, Seregard S, Larsson O, Knuutila S (2001) Concomitant loss of chromosome 3 and whole arm losses and gains of chromosome 1, 6, or 8 in metastasizing primary uveal melanoma. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 42:313–317
- Aftab MN, Dinger ME, Perera RJ (2014) The role of microRNAs and long non-coding RNAs in the pathology, diagnosis, and management of melanoma. Arch Biochem Biophys 563:60–70
- Albino AP, Nanus DM, Mentle IR, Cordon-Cardo C, McNutt NS, Bressler J, Andreeff M (1989) Analysis of ras oncogenes in malignant melanoma and precursor lesions: correlation of point mutations with differentiation phenotype. Oncogene 4:1363–1374
- Arafeh R, Qutob N, Emmanuel R, Keren-Paz A, Madore J, Elkahloun A, Wilmott JS, Gartner JJ, Di Pizio A, Winograd-Katz S et al (2015) Recurrent inactivating RASA2 mutations in melanoma. Nat Genet 47:1408–1410
- Armanios M, Blackburn EH (2012) The telomere syndromes. Nat Rev Genet 13:693–704

- Asangani IA, Harms PW, Dodson L, Pandhi M, Kunju LP, Maher CA, Fullen DR, Johnson TM, Giordano TJ, Palanisamy N (2012) Genetic and epigenetic loss of microRNA-31 leads to feed-forward expression of EZH2 in melanoma. Oncotarget 3:1011
- Azimi F, Scolyer RA, Rumcheva P, Moncrieff M, Murali R, McCarthy SW, Saw RP, Thompson JF (2012) Tumor-infiltrating lymphocyte grade is an independent predictor of sentinel lymph node status and survival in patients with cutaneous melanoma. J Clin Oncol 30:2678–2683
- Baade P, Meng X, Youlden D, Aitken J, Youl P (2012) Time trends and latitudinal differences in melanoma thickness distribution in Australia, 1990–2006. Int J Cancer 130:170–178
- Balázs M, Ádám Z, Treszl A, Bégány Á, Hunyadi J, Ádány R (2001) Chromosomal imbalances in primary and metastatic melanomas revealed by comparative genomic hybridization. Cytometry 46:222–232
- Balch CM, Gershenwald JE, Soong S-J, Thompson JF, Atkins MB, Byrd DR, Buzaid AC, Cochran AJ, Coit DG, Ding S et al (2009) Final version of 2009 AJCC melanoma staging and classification. J Clin Oncol 27:6199–6206
- Bardella C, Pollard PJ, Tomlinson I (2011) SDH mutations in cancer. Biochim Biophys Acta 1807:1432–1443
- Bastian BC (2014) The molecular pathology of melanoma: an integrated taxonomy of melanocytic neoplasia. Annu Rev Pathol 9:239–271
- Bastian BC, LeBoit PE, Hamm H, Brocker EB, Pinkel D (1998) Chromosomal gains and losses in primary cutaneous melanomas detected by comparative genomic hybridization. Cancer Res 58:2170–2175
- Bastian BC, Kashani-Sabet M, Hamm H, Godfrey T, Moore DH 2nd, Brocker EB, LeBoit PE, Pinkel D (2000a) Gene amplifications characterize acral melanoma and permit the detection of occult tumor cells in the surrounding skin. Cancer Res 60:1968–1973
- Bastian BC, LeBoit PE, Pinkel D (2000b) Mutations and copy number increase of HRAS in Spitz nevi with distinctive histopathological features. Am J Pathol 157:967–972
- Bastian BC, Olshen AB, LeBoit PE, Pinkel D (2003) Classifying melanocytic tumors based on DNA copy number changes. Am J Pathol 163:1765–1770
- Bell RJA, Rube HT, Kreig A, Mancini A, Fouse SD, Nagarajan RP, Choi S, Hong C, He D, Pekmezci M et al (2015) The transcription factor GABP selectively binds and activates the mutant TERT promoter in cancer. Science 348:1036–1039
- Bennett PE, Bemis L, Norris DA, Shellman YG (2013) miR in melanoma development: miRNAs and acquired hallmarks of cancer in melanoma. Physiol Genomics 45:1049–1059
- Berger MF, Hodis E, Heffernan TP, Deribe YL, Lawrence MS, Protopopov A, Ivanova E, Watson IR, Nickerson E, Ghosh P et al (2012) Melanoma genome sequencing reveals frequent PREX2 mutations. Nature 485:502–506

- Bittner M, Meltzer P, Chen Y, Jiang Y, Seftor E, Hendrix M, Radmacher M, Simon R, Yakhini Z, Ben-Dor A et al (2000) Molecular classification of cutaneous malignant melanoma by gene expression profiling. Nature 406:536–540
- Brash DE (2015) UV signature mutations. Photochem Photobiol 91:15–26
- Brown CJ, Hendrich BD, Rupert JL, Lafrenière RG, Xing Y, Lawrence J, Willard HF (1992) The human XIST gene: analysis of a 17 kb inactive X-specific RNA that contains conserved repeats and is highly localized within the nucleus. Cell 71:527–542
- Brunner G, Reitz M, Schwipper V, Tilkorn H, Lippold A, Biess B, Suter L, Atzpodien J (2008) Increased expression of the tumor suppressor PLZF is a continuous predictor of long-term survival in malignant melanoma patients. Cancer Biother Radiopharm 23:451–459
- Brunner G, Reitz M, Heinecke A, Lippold A, Berking C, Suter L, Atzpodien J (2013) A nine-gene signature predicting clinical outcome in cutaneous melanoma. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol 139:249–258
- Caramel J, Papadogeorgakis E, Hill L, Browne GJ, Richard G, Wierinckx A, Saldanha G, Osborne J, Hutchinson P, Tse G et al (2013) A switch in the expression of embryonic EMT-inducers drives the development of malignant melanoma. Cancer Cell 24:466–480
- Carlino MS, Long GV, Kefford RF, Rizos H (2015) Targeting oncogenic BRAF and aberrant MAPK activation in the treatment of cutaneous melanoma. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol 96:385–398
- Ceol CJ, Houvras Y, Jane-Valbuena J, Bilodeau S, Orlando DA, Battisti V, Fritsch L, Lin WM, Hollmann TJ, Ferre F et al (2011) The histone methyltransferase SETDB1 is recurrently amplified in melanoma and accelerates its onset. Nature 471:513–517
- Cheli Y, Ohanna M, Ballotti R, Bertolotto C (2010) Fifteen-year quest for microphthalmia-associated transcription factor target genes. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res 23:27–40
- Cheli Y, Guiliano S, Botton T, Rocchi S, Hofman V, Hofman P, Bahadoran P, Bertolotto C, Ballotti R (2011) Mitf is the key molecular switch between mouse or human melanoma initiating cells and their differentiated progeny. Oncogene 30:2307–2318
- Chen X, Wang J, Shen H, Lu J, Li C, Hu D-N, Dong XD, Yan D, Tu L (2011) Epigenetics, microRNAs, and carcinogenesis: functional role of microRNA-137 in uveal melanoma. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 52:1193–1199
- Chen X, Wu Q, Tan L, Porter D, Jager MJ, Emery C, Bastian BC (2014) Combined PKC and MEK inhibition in uveal melanoma with GNAQ and GNA11 mutations. Oncogene 33:4724–4734
- Clemente CG, Mihm MC Jr, Bufalino R, Zurrida S, Collini P, Cascinelli N (1996) Prognostic value of tumor infiltrating lymphocytes in the vertical growth

phase of primary cutaneous melanoma. Cancer 77:1303–1310

- Conway C, Mitra A, Jewell R, Randerson-Moor J, Lobo S, Nsengimana J, Edward S, Sanders DS, Cook M, Powell B et al (2009) Gene expression profiling of paraffin-embedded primary melanoma using the DASL assay identifies increased osteopontin expression as predictive of reduced relapse-free survival. Am Assoc Cancer Res 15:6939–6946
- Conway K, Edmiston SN, Khondker ZS, Groben PA, Zhou X, Chu H, Kuan PF, Hao H, Carson C, Berwick M et al (2011) DNA-methylation profiling distinguishes malignant melanomas from benign nevi. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res 24:352–360
- Criscione VD, Weinstock MA (2010) Melanoma thickness trends in the United States, 1988–2006. J Invest Dermatol 130:793–797
- Curtin JA, Fridlyand J, Kageshita T, Patel HN, Busam KJ, Kutzner H, Cho K-H, Aiba S, Bröcker E-B, LeBoit PE et al (2005) Distinct sets of genetic alterations in melanoma. N Engl J Med 353:2135–2147
- Curtin JA, Busam K, Pinkel D, Bastian BC (2006) Somatic activation of KIT in distinct subtypes of melanoma. J Clin Oncol 24:4340–4346
- Dahl C, Abildgaard C, Riber-Hansen R, Steiniche T, Lade-Keller J, Guldberg P (2015) KIT is a frequent target for epigenetic silencing in cutaneous melanoma. J Invest Dermatol 135:516–524
- Damsky W, Micevic G, Meeth K, Muthusamy V, Curley DP, Santhanakrishnan M, Erdelyi I, Platt JT, Huang L, Theodosakis N et al (2015) mTORC1 activation blocks BrafV600E-induced growth arrest but is insufficient for melanoma formation. Cancer Cell 27:41–56
- Dang L, White DW, Gross S, Bennett BD, Bittinger MA, Driggers EM, Fantin VR, Jang HG, Jin S, Keenan MC et al (2009) Cancer-associated IDH1 mutations produce 2-hydroxyglutarate. Nature 462:739–744
- Davies H, Bignell GR, Cox C, Stephens P, Edkins S, Clegg S, Teague J, Woffendin H, Garnett MJ, Bottomley W et al (2002) Mutations of the BRAF gene in human cancer. Nature 417:949–954
- Decatur CL, Ong E, Garg N et al (2016) Driver mutations in uveal melanoma: associations with gene expression profile and patient outcomes. JAMA Ophthalmol 134:728
- Denisova E, Heidenreich B, Nagore E, Rachakonda PS, Hosen I, Akrap I, Traves V, Garcia-Casado Z, Lopez-Guerrero JA, Requena C et al (2015) Frequent DPH3 promoter mutations in skin cancers. Oncotarget 6:35922–35930
- Dey A, Seshasayee D, Noubade R, French DM, Liu J, Chaurushiya MS, Kirkpatrick DS, Pham VC, Lill JR, Bakalarski CE et al (2012) Loss of the tumor suppressor BAP1 causes myeloid transformation. Science 337:1541–1546
- Dono M, Angelini G, Cecconi M, Amaro A, Esposito A, Mirisola V, Maric I, Lanza F, Nasciuti F, Viaggi S (2014) Mutation frequencies of GNAQ, GNA11,

BAP1, SF3B1, EIF1AX and TERT in uveal melanoma: detection of an activating mutation in the TERT gene promoter in a single case of uveal melanoma. Br J Cancer 110:1058–1065

- Draper GJ, Sanders BM, Kingston JE (1986) Second primary neoplasms in patients with retinoblastoma. Br J Cancer 53:661–671
- Drobetsky EA, Turcotte J, Châteauneuf A (1995) A role for ultraviolet A in solar mutagenesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci 92:2350–2354
- Dutton-Regester K, Gartner JJ, Emmanuel R, Qutob N, Davies MA, Gershenwald JE, Robinson W, Robinson S, Rosenberg SA, Scolyer RA et al (2014) A highly recurrent RPS27 5'UTR mutation in melanoma. Oncotarget 5:2912–2917
- Eberle J, Krasagakis K, Orfanos CE (1997) Translation initiation factor eIF-4A1 mRNA is consistently overexpressed in human melanoma cells in vitro. Int J Cancer 71:396–401
- Ehlers JP, Harbour JW (2005) NBS1 expression as a prognostic marker in uveal melanoma. Clin Cancer Res 11:1849–1853
- Ehlers JP, Worley L, Onken MD, Harbour JW (2005) DDEF1 is located in an amplified region of chromosome 8q and is overexpressed in uveal melanoma. Clin Cancer Res 11:3609–3613
- Ehlers JP, Worley L, Onken MD, Harbour JW (2008) Integrative genomic analysis of aneuploidy in uveal melanoma. Clin Cancer Res 14:115–122
- Emery CM, Vijayendran KG, Zipser MC, Sawyer AM, Niu L, Kim JJ, Hatton C, Chopra R, Oberholzer PA, Karpova MB et al (2009) MEK1 mutations confer resistance to MEK and B-RAF inhibition. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 106:20411–20416
- Facchetti F, Previdi S, Ballarini M, Minucci S, Perego P, Porta CAML (2004) Modulation of pro- and antiapoptotic factors in human melanoma cells exposed to histone deacetylase inhibitors. Apoptosis 9:573–582
- Fan T, Jiang S, Chung N, Alikhan A, Ni C, Lee CC, Hornyak TJ (2011) EZH2-dependent suppression of a cellular senescence phenotype in melanoma cells by inhibition of p21/CDKN1A expression. Mol Cancer Res 9:418–429
- Feng X, Degese MS, Iglesias-Bartolome R, Vaque JP, Molinolo AA, Rodrigues M, Zaidi MR, Ksander BR, Merlino G, Sodhi A et al (2014) Hippo-independent activation of YAP by the GNAQ uveal melanoma oncogene through a trio-regulated rho GTPase signaling circuitry. Cancer Cell 25:831–845
- Flockhart RJ, Webster DE, Qu K, Mascarenhas N, Kovalski J, Kretz M, Khavari PA (2012) BRAFV600E remodels the melanocyte transcriptome and induces BANCR to regulate melanoma cell migration. Genome Res 22:1006–1014
- Flørenes VA, Skrede M, Jørgensen K, Nesland JM (2004) Deacetylase inhibition in malignant melanomas: impact on cell cycle regulation and survival. Melanoma Res 14:173–181

- Fredriksson NJ, Ny L, Nilsson JA, Larsson E (2014) Systematic analysis of noncoding somatic mutations and gene expression alterations across 14 tumor types. Nat Genet 46:1258–1263
- Furney SJ, Turajlic S, Fenwick K, Lambros MB, MacKay A, Ricken G, Mitsopoulos C, Kozarewa I, Hakas J, Zvelebil M (2012) Genomic characterisation of acral melanoma cell lines. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res 25:488–492
- Furney SJ, Pedersen M, Gentien D, Dumont AG, Rapinat A, Desjardins L, Turajlic S, Piperno-Neumann S, de la Grange P, Roman-Roman S (2013a) SF3B1 mutations are associated with alternative splicing in uveal melanoma. Cancer Discov 3:1122–1129
- Furney SJ, Turajlic S, Stamp G, Nohadani M, Carlisle A, Thomas JM, Hayes A, Strauss D, Gore M, van den Oord J (2013b) Genome sequencing of mucosal melanomas reveals that they are driven by distinct mechanisms from cutaneous melanoma. J Pathol 230:261–269
- Garibyan L, Fisher DE (2010) How sunlight causes melanoma. Curr Oncol Rep 12:319–326
- Garraway LA, Widlund HR, Rubin MA, Getz G, Berger AJ, Ramaswamy S, Beroukhim R, Milner DA, Granter SR, Du J (2005) Integrative genomic analyses identify MITF as a lineage survival oncogene amplified in malignant melanoma. Nature 436:117–122
- Gartner JJ, Parker SC, Prickett TD, Dutton-Regester K, Stitzel ML, Lin JC, Davis S, Simhadri VL, Jha S, Katagiri N (2013) Whole-genome sequencing identifies a recurrent functional synonymous mutation in melanoma. Proc Natl Acad Sci 110:13481–13486
- Gerami P, Cook RW, Russell MC, Wilkinson J, Amaria RN, Gonzalez R, Lyle S, Jackson GL, Greisinger AJ, Johnson CE et al (2015a) Gene expression profiling for molecular staging of cutaneous melanoma in patients undergoing sentinel lymph node biopsy. J Am Acad Dermatol 72:780–785.e783
- Gerami P, Cook RW, Wilkinson J, Russell MC, Dhillon N, Amaria RN, Gonzalez R, Lyle S, Johnson CE, Oelschlager KM et al (2015b) Development of a prognostic genetic signature to predict the metastatic risk associated with cutaneous melanoma. Clin Cancer Res 21:175–183
- Girotti MR, Saturno G, Lorigan P, Marais R (2014) No longer an untreatable disease: how targeted and immunotherapies have changed the management of melanoma patients. Mol Oncol 8:1140–1158
- Gotea V, Gartner JJ, Qutob N, Elnitski L, Samuels Y (2015) The functional relevance of somatic synonymous mutations in melanoma and other cancers. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res 28:673–684
- Gschaider M, Neumann F, Peters B, Lenz F, Cibena M, Goiser M, Wolf I, Wenzel J, Mauch C, Schreiner W et al (2012) An attempt at a molecular prediction of metastasis in patients with primary cutaneous melanoma. PLoS One 7:e49865
- Guldberg P, thor Straten P, Birck A, Ahrenkiel V, Kirkin AF, Zeuthen J (1997) Disruption of the MMAC1/PTEN gene

by deletion or mutation is a frequent event in malignant melanoma. Cancer Res 57:3660–3663

- Haqq C, Nosrati M, Sudilovsky D, Crothers J, Khodabakhsh D, Pulliam BL, Federman S, Miller JR, Allen RE, Singer MI et al (2005) The gene expression signatures of melanoma progression. Proc Natl Acad Sci 102:6092–6097
- Harbour JW (2012) The genetics of uveal melanoma: an emerging framework for targeted therapy. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res 25:171–181
- Harbour JW, Chen R (2013) The DecisionDx-UM gene expression profile test provides risk stratification and individualized patient care in uveal melanoma. PLoS Curr 5
- Harbour JW, Onken MD, Roberson ED, Duan S, Cao L, Worley LA, Council ML, Matatall KA, Helms C, Bowcock AM (2010) Frequent mutation of BAP1 in metastasizing uveal melanomas. Science 330: 1410–1413
- Harbour JW, Roberson ED, Anbunathan H, Onken MD, Worley LA, Bowcock AM (2013) Recurrent mutations at codon 625 of the splicing factor SF3B1 in uveal melanoma. Nat Genet 45:133–135
- Harlin H, Meng Y, Peterson AC, Zha Y, Tretiakova M, Slingluff C, McKee M, Gajewski TF (2009) Chemokine expression in melanoma metastases associated with CD8(+) T-cell recruitment. Cancer Res 69:3077. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-1108-2281
- Hausler T, Stang A, Anastassiou G, Jockel KH, Mrzyk S, Horsthemke B, Lohmann DR, Zeschnigk M (2005) Loss of heterozygosity of 1p in uveal melanomas with monosomy 3. Int J Cancer 116:909–913
- Hodis E, Watson IR, Kryukov GV, Arold ST, Imielinski M, Theurillat J-P, Nickerson E, Auclair D, Li L, Place C et al (2012) A landscape of driver mutations in melanoma. Cell 150:251–263
- Hoek K, Rimm DL, Williams KR, Zhao H, Ariyan S, Lin A, Kluger HM, Berger AJ, Cheng E, Trombetta ES (2004) Expression profiling reveals novel pathways in the transformation of melanocytes to melanomas. Cancer Res 64:5270–5282
- Hoglund M, Gisselsson D, Hansen GB, White VA, Sall T, Mitelman F, Horsman D (2004) Dissecting karyotypic patterns in malignant melanomas: temporal clustering of losses and gains in melanoma karyotypic evolution. Int J Cancer 108:57–65
- Hoon DSB, Spugnardi M, Kuo C, Huang SK, Morton DL, Taback B (2004) Profiling epigenetic inactivation of tumor suppressor genes in tumors and plasma from cutaneous melanoma patients. Oncogene 23:4014–4022
- Horn S, Figl A, Rachakonda PS, Fischer C, Sucker A, Gast A, Kadel S, Moll I, Nagore E, Hemminki K et al (2013) TERT promoter mutations in familial and sporadic melanoma. Science 339:959–961
- Huang FW, Hodis E, Xu MJ, Kryukov GV, Chin L, Garraway LA (2013) Highly recurrent TERT promoter mutations in human melanoma. Science 339:957–959

- Huang JL-Y, Urtatiz O, Van Raamsdonk CD (2015) Oncogenic G protein GNAQ induces uveal melanoma and intravasation in mice. Cancer Res 75:3384–3397
- Hussussian CJ, Struewing JP, Goldstein AM, Higgins PAT, Ally DS, Sheahan MD, Clark WH, Tucker MA, Dracopoli NC (1994) Germline p16 mutations in familial melanoma. Nat Genet 8:15–21
- Hutchinson KE, Lipson D, Stephens PJ, Otto G, Lehmann BD, Lyle PL, Vnencak-Jones CL, Ross JS, Pietenpol JA, Sosman JA (2013) BRAF fusions define a distinct molecular subset of melanomas with potential sensitivity to MEK inhibition. Clin Cancer Res 19:6696–6702
- Hutchinson KE, Ross JS, Stephens PJ, Miller VA, Sosman JA, Pao W (2014) Melanoma BRAF fusions– response. Clin Cancer Res 20:6632
- Jaeger J, Koczan D, Thiesen H-J, Ibrahim SM, Gross G, Spang R, Kunz M (2007) Gene expression signatures for tumor progression, tumor subtype, and tumor thickness in laser-microdissected melanoma tissues. Am Assoc Cancer Res 13:806–815
- Jané-Valbuena J, Widlund HR, Perner S, Johnson LA, Dibner AC, Lin WM, Baker AC, Nazarian RM, Vijayendran KG, Sellers WR et al (2010) An oncogenic role for ETV1 in melanoma. Cancer Res 70:2075–2084
- Jayawardana K, Schramm S-J, Tembe V, Mueller S, Thompson JF, Scolyer RA, Mann GJ, Yang J (2016) Identification, review, and systematic cross-validation of microRNA prognostic signatures in metastatic melanoma. J Investig Dermatol 136:245–254
- Jensen DE, Proctor M, Marquis ST, Gardner HP, Ha SI, Chodosh LA, Ishov AM, Tommerup N, Vissing H, Sekido Y et al (1998) BAP1: a novel ubiquitin hydrolase which binds to the BRCA1 RING finger and enhances BRCA1-mediated cell growth suppression. Oncogene 16:1097–1112
- Jin S-G, Xiong W, Wu X, Yang L, Pfeifer GP (2015) The DNA methylation landscape of human melanoma. Genomics 106:322–330
- Johansson P, Aoude LG, Wadt K, Glasson WJ, Warrier SK, Hewitt AW, Kiilgaard JF, Heegaard S, Isaacs T, Franchina M et al (2016) Deep sequencing of uveal melanoma identifies a recurrent mutation in PLCB4. Oncotarget 7:4624–4631
- Kamb A, Shattuck-Eidens D, Eeles R, Liu Q, Gruis NA, Ding W, Hussey C, Tran T, Miki Y, Weaver-Feldhaus J et al (1994) Analysis of the p16 gene (CDKN2) as a candidate for the chromosome 9p melanoma susceptibility locus. Nat Genet 8:23–26
- Kampilafkos P, Melachrinou M, Kefalopoulou Z, Lakoumentas J, Sotiropoulou-Bonikou G (2015) Epigenetic modifications in cutaneous malignant melanoma: EZH2, H3K4me2, and H3K27me3 immunohistochemical expression is enhanced at the invasion front of the tumor. Am J Dermatopathol 37:138–144
- Kath R, Hayungs J, Bornfeld N, Sauerwein W, Höffken K, Seeber S (1993) Prognosis and treatment of disseminated uveal melanoma. Cancer 72:2219–2223

- Kaufman CK, Mosimann C, Fan ZP, Yang S, Thomas AJ, Ablain J, Tan JL, Fogley RD, van Rooijen E, Hagedorn EJ et al (2016) A zebrafish melanoma model reveals emergence of neural crest identity during melanoma initiation. Science 351 (6272) aad2197
- Khaitan D, Dinger ME, Mazar J, Crawford J, Smith MA, Mattick JS, Perera RJ (2011) The melanomaupregulated long noncoding RNA SPRY4-IT1 modulates apoptosis and invasion. Cancer Res 71:3852–3862
- Kilic E, Bruggenwirth HT, Meier M, Naus NC, Beverloo HB, Meijerink JP, Luyten GP, de Klein A (2008) Increased expression of p73Deltaex2 transcript in uveal melanoma with loss of chromosome 1p. Melanoma Res 18:208–213
- Kim NW, Piatyszek MA, Prowse KR, Harley CB (1994) Specific association of human telomerase activity with immortal cells and cancer. Science 266:2011
- Krauthammer M, Kong Y, Ha BH, Evans P, Bacchiocchi A, McCusker JP, Cheng E, Davis MJ, Goh G, Choi M et al (2012) Exome sequencing identifies recurrent somatic RAC1 mutations in melanoma. Nat Genet 44:1006–1014
- Krauthammer M, Kong Y, Bacchiocchi A, Evans P, Pornputtapong N, Wu C, McCusker JP, Ma S, Cheng E, Straub R et al (2015) Exome sequencing identifies recurrent mutations in NF1 and RASopathy genes in sun-exposed melanomas. Nat Genet 47:996–1002
- Landreville S, Agapova OA, Matatall KA, Kneass ZT, Onken MD, Lee RS, Bowcock AM, Harbour JW (2012) Histone deacetylase inhibitors induce growth arrest and differentiation in uveal melanoma. Clin Cancer Res 18:408–416
- Lauss M, Ringnér M, Karlsson A, Harbst K, Busch C, Geisler J, Lønning PE, Staaf J, Jönsson G (2015) DNA methylation subgroups in melanoma are associated with proliferative and immunological processes. BMC Med Genet 8:73
- Lawrence MS, Stojanov P, Polak P, Kryukov GV, Cibulskis K, Sivachenko A, Carter SL, Stewart C, Mermel CH, Roberts SA et al (2013) Mutational heterogeneity in cancer and the search for new cancerassociated genes. Nature 499:214–218
- Lawrence MS, Stojanov P, Mermel CH, Robinson JT, Garraway LA, Golub TR, Meyerson M, Gabriel SB, Lander ES, Getz G (2014) Discovery and saturation analysis of cancer genes across 21 tumour types. Nature 505:495–501
- Lazova R, Pornputtapong N, Halaban R, Bosenberg M, Bai Y, Chai H, Krauthammer M (2017) Spitz nevi and Spitzoid melanomas: exome sequencing and comparison with conventional melanocytic nevi and melanomas. Mod Pathol 30:640–649
- Leidinger P, Keller A, Borries A, Reichrath J, Rass K, Jager SU, Lenhof H-P, Meese E (2010) Highthroughput miRNA profiling of human melanoma blood samples. BMC Cancer 10:1–11
- Leucci E, Vendramin R, Spinazzi M, Laurette P, Fiers M, Wouters J, Radaelli E, Eyckerman S, Leonelli C,

Vanderheyden K et al (2016) Melanoma addiction to the long non-coding RNA SAMMSON. Nature 531:518–522

- Levy C, Khaled M, Fisher DE (2006) MITF: master regulator of melanocyte development and melanoma oncogene. Trends Mol Med 12:406–414
- Li M, Zhao H, Zhang X, Wood LD, Anders RA, Choti MA, Pawlik TM, Daniel HD, Kannangai R, Offerhaus GJA et al (2011) Inactivating mutations of the chromatin remodeling gene ARID2 in hepatocellular carcinoma. Nat Genet 43:828–829
- Lian CG, Xu Y, Ceol C, Wu F, Larson A, Dresser K, Xu W, Tan L, Hu Y, Zhan Q et al (2012) Loss of 5-Hydroxymethylcytosine is an epigenetic hallmark of melanoma. Cell 150:1135–1146
- Lin WM, Baker AC, Beroukhim R, Winckler W, Feng W, Marmion JM, Laine E, Greulich H, Tseng H, Gates C et al (2008) Modeling genomic diversity and tumor dependency in malignant melanoma. Cancer Res 68:664–673
- Linos E, Swetter SM, Cockburn MG, Colditz GA, Clarke CA (2009) Increasing burden of melanoma in the United States. J Investig Dermatol 129:1666–1674
- Luo L, Kessel M (2004) Geminin coordinates cell cycle and developmental control. Cell Cycle 3:709–712
- Machida YJ, Machida Y, Vashisht AA, Wohlschlegel JA, Dutta A (2009) The deubiquitinating enzyme BAP1 regulates cell growth via interaction with HCF-1. J Biol Chem 284:34179–34188
- Madonna G, Ullman CD, Gentilcore G, Palmieri G, Ascierto PA (2012) NF-kB as potential target in the treatment of melanoma. J Transl Med 10:53
- Maldonado JL, Fridlyand J, Patel H, Jain AN, Busam K, Kageshita T, Ono T, Albertson DG, Pinkel D, Bastian BC (2003) Determinants of BRAF mutations in primary melanomas. J Natl Cancer Inst 95:1878–1890
- Martin M, Maßhöfer L, Temming P, Rahmann S, Metz C, Bornfeld N, van de Nes J, Klein-Hitpass L, Hinnebusch AG, Horsthemke B (2013) Exome sequencing identifies recurrent somatic mutations in EIF1AX and SF3B1 in uveal melanoma with disomy 3. Nat Genet 45:933–936
- Mazar J, Zhao W, Khalil AM, Lee B, Shelley J, Govindarajan SS, Yamamoto F, Ratnam M, Aftab MN, Collins S et al (2014) The functional characterization of long noncoding RNA SPRY4-IT1 in human melanoma cells. Oncotarget 5:8959–8969
- McNulty SE, del Rosario R, Cen D, Meyskens FL Jr, Yang S (2004) Comparative expression of NFkappaB proteins in melanocytes of normal skin vs. benign intradermal naevus and human metastatic melanoma biopsies. Pigment Cell Res 17:173–180
- Merbs SL, Sidransky D (1999) Analysis of p16 (CDKN2/ MTS-1/INK4A) alterations in primary sporadic uveal melanoma. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 40:779–783
- Messina JL, Fenstermacher DA, Eschrich S, Qu X, Berglund AE, Lloyd MC, Schell MJ, Sondak VK, Weber JS, Mulé JJ (2012) 12-chemokine gene signature identifies lymph node-like structures in melanoma:

potential for patient selection for immunotherapy? Sci Rep 2:765

- Mirzaei H, Gholamin S, Shahidsales S, Sahebkar A, Jaafari MR, Mirzaei HR, Hassanian SM, Avan A (2016) MicroRNAs as potential diagnostic and prognostic biomarkers in melanoma. Eur J Cancer 53:25–32
- Mitra D, Luo X, Morgan A, Wang J, Hoang MP, Lo J, Guerrero CR, Lennerz JK, Mihm MC, Wargo JA et al (2012) An ultraviolet-radiation-independent pathway to melanoma carcinogenesis in the red hair/fair skin background. Nature 491:449–453
- Mohamed A, Gonzalez RS, Lawson D, Wang J, Cohen C (2013) SOX10 expression in malignant melanoma, carcinoma, and normal tissues. Appl Immunohistochem Mol Morphol 21:506–510
- Moore SR, Persons DL, Sosman JA, Bobadilla D, Bedell V, Smith DD, Wolman SR, Tuthill RJ, Moon J, Sondak VK et al (2008) Detection of copy number alterations in metastatic melanoma by a DNA fluorescence in situ hybridization probe panel and array comparative genomic hybridization: a southwest oncology group study (S9431). Clin Cancer Res 14:2927–2935
- Moore AR, Ceraudo E, Sher JJ, Guan Y, Shoushtari AN, Chang MT, Zhang JQ, Walczak EG, Kazmi MA, Taylor BS (2016) Recurrent activating mutations of G-protein-coupled receptor CYSLTR2 in uveal melanoma. Nat Genet 48:675
- Mueller DW, Rehli M, Bosserhoff AK (2009) miRNA expression profiling in melanocytes and melanoma cell lines reveals miRNAs associated with formation and progression of malignant melanoma. J Investig Dermatol 129:1740–1751
- Muthusamy V, Hobbs C, Nogueira C, Cordon-Cardo C, McKee PH, Chin L, Bosenberg MW (2006) Amplification of CDK4 and MDM2 in malignant melanoma. Genes Chromosom Cancer 45:447–454
- Nikolaev SI, Rimoldi D, Iseli C, Valsesia A, Robyr D, Gehrig C, Harshman K, Guipponi M, Bukach O, Zoete V et al (2012) Exome sequencing identifies recurrent somatic MAP 2K1 and MAP 2K2 mutations in melanoma. Nat Genet 44:133–139
- O'Reilly KE, Warycha M, Davies MA, Rodrik V, Zhou XK, Yee H, Polsky D, Pavlick AC, Rosen N, Bhardwaj N (2009) Phosphorylated 4E-BP1 is associated with poor survival in melanoma. Clin Cancer Res 15:2872–2878
- Onken MD, Worley LA, Ehlers JP, Harbour JW (2004) Gene expression profiling in uveal melanoma reveals two molecular classes and predicts metastatic death. Cancer Res 64:7205–7209
- Onken MD, Ehlers JP, Worley LA, Makita J, Yokota Y, Harbour JW (2006) Functional gene expression analysis uncovers phenotypic switch in aggressive uveal melanomas. Cancer Res 66:4602–4609
- Onken MD, Worley LA, Harbour JW (2008) A metastasis modifier locus on human chromosome 8p in uveal melanoma identified by integrative genomic analysis. Clin Cancer Res 14:3737–3745

- Onken MD, Worley LA, Tuscan MD, Harbour JW (2010) An accurate, clinically feasible multi-gene expression assay for predicting metastasis in uveal melanoma. J Mol Diagn 12:461–468
- Onken MD, Worley LA, Char DH, Augsburger JJ, Correa ZM, Nudleman E, Aaberg TM Jr, Altaweel MM, Bardenstein DS, Finger PT et al (2012) Collaborative ocular oncology group report number 1: prospective validation of a multi-gene prognostic assay in uveal melanoma. Ophthalmology 119:1596–1603
- Ott PA, Hodi FS, Robert C (2013) CTLA-4 and PD-1/PD-L1 blockade: new immunotherapeutic modalities with durable clinical benefit in melanoma patients. Clin Cancer Res 19:5300–5309
- Palmer CM, Serafini DML, Schellhorn HE (1997) Near ultraviolet radiation (UVA and UVB) causes a formamidopyrimidine glycosylase-dependent increase in G to T transversions. Photochem Photobiol 65:543–549
- Parrella P, Sidransky D, Merbs SL (1999) Allelotype of posterior uveal melanoma: implications for a bifurcated tumor progression pathway. Cancer Res 59:3032–3037
- Parrella P, Caballero OL, Sidransky D, Merbs SL (2001) Detection of c-myc amplification in uveal melanoma by fluorescent in situ hybridization. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 42:1679–1684
- Parsons DW, Jones S, Zhang X, Lin JC, Leary RJ, Angenendt P, Mankoo P, Carter H, Siu IM, Gallia GL et al (2008) An integrated genomic analysis of human glioblastoma multiforme. Science 321:1807–1812
- Pasmant E, Laurendeau I, Héron D, Vidaud M, Vidaud D, Bièche I (2007) Characterization of a germ-line deletion, including the entire INK4/ARF locus, in a melanoma-neural system tumor family: identification of ANRIL, an antisense noncoding RNA whose expression coclusters with ARF. Cancer Res 67:3963–3969
- Pasmant E, Sabbagh A, Vidaud M, Bieche I (2011) ANRIL, a long, noncoding RNA, is an unexpected major hotspot in GWAS. FASEB J 25:444–448
- Pleasance ED, Cheetham RK, Stephens PJ, McBride DJ, Humphray SJ, Greenman CD, Varela I, Lin ML, Ordonez GR, Bignell GR et al (2010) A comprehensive catalogue of somatic mutations from a human cancer genome. Nature 463:191–196
- Pollock PM, Harper UL, Hansen KS, Yudt LM, Stark M, Robbins CM, Moses TY, Hostetter G, Wagner U, Kakareka J et al (2003) High frequency of BRAF mutations in nevi. Nat Genet 33:19–20
- Poser I, Bosserhoff AK (2004) Transcription factors involved in development and progression of malignant melanoma. Histol Histopathol 19:173–188
- Poulos RC, Thoms JA, Shah A, Beck D, Pimanda JE, Wong JW (2015) Systematic screening of promoter regions pinpoints functional cis-regulatory mutations in a cutaneous melanoma genome. Mol Cancer Res 13:1218–1226
- Prescher G, Bornfeld N, Becher R (1990) Nonrandom chromosomal abnormalities in primary uveal melanoma. J Natl Cancer Inst 82:1765–1769

- Prescher G, Bornfeld N, Hirche H, Horsthemke B, Jockel KH, Becher R (1996) Prognostic implications of monosomy 3 in uveal melanoma. Lancet 347:1222–1225
- Rajkumar S, Watson IR (2016) Molecular characterisation of cutaneous melanoma: creating a framework for targeted and immune therapies. Br J Cancer 115:145
- Rambow F, Job B, Petit V, Gesbert F, Delmas V, Seberg H, Meurice G, Van Otterloo E, Dessen P, Robert C (2015) New functional signatures for understanding melanoma biology from tumor cell lineage-specific analysis. Cell Rep 13:840–853
- Randerson-Moor JA, Harland M, Williams S, Cuthbert-Heavens D, Sheridan E, Aveyard J, Sibley K, Whitaker L, Knowles M, Bishop JN et al (2001) A germline deletion of p14(ARF) but not CDKN2A in a melanoma-neural system tumour syndrome family. Hum Mol Genet 10:55–62
- Riker AI, Enkemann SA, Fodstad O, Liu S, Ren S, Morris C, Xi Y, Howell P, Metge B, Samant RS et al (2008) The gene expression profiles of primary and metastatic melanoma yields a transition point of tumor progression and metastasis. BMC Med Genet 1:1–16
- Rosenwald IB, Wang S, Savas L, Woda B, Pullman J (2003) Expression of translation initiation factor eIF- 2α is increased in benign and malignant melanocytic and colonic epithelial neoplasms. Cancer 98:1080–1088
- Sanborn JZ, Chung J, Purdom E, Wang NJ, Kakavand H, Wilmott JS, Butler T, Thompson JF, Mann GJ, Haydu LE et al (2015) Phylogenetic analyses of melanoma reveal complex patterns of metastatic dissemination. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 112:10995–11000
- Santa Cruz DJ, Hamilton PD, Klos DJ, Fernandez-Pol JA (1997) Differential expression of metallopanstimulin/ S27 ribosomal protein in melanocytic lesions of the skin. J Cutan Pathol 24:533–542
- Sarkar D, Leung EY, Baguley BC, Finlay GJ, Askarian-Amiri ME (2015) Epigenetic regulation in human melanoma: past and future. Epigenetics 10:103–121
- Scheuermann JC, de Ayala Alonso AG, Oktaba K, Ly-Hartig N, McGinty RK, Fraterman S, Wilm M, Muir TW, Müller J (2010) Histone H2A deubiquitinase activity of the Polycomb repressive complex PR-DUB. Nature 465:243–247
- Segura MF, Belitskaya-Lévy I, Rose AE, Zakrzewski J, Gaziel A, Hanniford D, Darvishian F, Berman RS, Shapiro RL, Pavlick AC et al (2010) Melanoma micro-RNA signature predicts post-recurrence survival. Am Assoc Cancer Res 16:1577–1586
- Sekiya T, Fushimi M, Hori H, Hirohashi S, Nishimura S, Sugimura T (1984) Molecular cloning and the total nucleotide sequence of the human c-Ha-ras-1 gene activated in a melanoma from a Japanese patient. Proc Natl Acad Sci 81:4771–4775
- Shah M, Bhoumik A, Goel V, Dewing A, Breitwieser W, Kluger H, Krajewski S, Krajewska M, DeHart J, Lau E

(2010) A role for ATF2 in regulating MITF and melanoma development. PLoS Genet 6:e1001258

- Shain AH, Bastian BC (2016) From melanocytes to melanomas. Nat Rev Cancer 16:345
- Shain AH, Garrido M, Botton T, Talevich E, Yeh I, Sanborn JZ, Chung J, Wang NJ, Kakavand H, Mann GJ (2015a) Exome sequencing of desmoplastic melanoma identifies recurrent NFKBIE promoter mutations and diverse activating mutations in the MAPK pathway. Nat Genet 47:1194–1199
- Shain AH, Yeh I, Kovalyshyn I, Sriharan A, Talevich E, Gagnon A, Dummer R, North J, Pincus L, Ruben B et al (2015b) The genetic evolution of melanoma from precursor lesions. N Engl J Med 373:1926–1936
- Shakhova O, Zingg D, Schaefer SM, Hari L, Civenni G, Blunschi J, Claudinot S, Okoniewski M, Beermann F, Mihic-Probst D et al (2012) Sox10 promotes the formation and maintenance of giant congenital naevi and melanoma. Nat Cell Biol 14:882–890
- Sharma P, Allison JP (2015) The future of immune checkpoint therapy. Science 348:56–61
- Shibata T, Kokubu A, Miyamoto M, Sasajima Y, Yamazaki N (2011) Mutant IDH1 confers an in vivo growth in a melanoma cell line with BRAF mutation. Am J Pathol 178:1395–1402
- Shields JM, Thomas NE, Cregger M, Berger AJ, Leslie M, Torrice C, Hao H, Penland S, Arbiser J, Scott G (2007) Lack of extracellular signal-regulated kinase mitogenactivated protein kinase signaling shows a new type of melanoma. Cancer Res 67:1502–1512
- Siegel RL, Miller KD, Jemal A (2017) Cancer statistics, 2017. CA Cancer J Clin 67:7–30
- Sivendran S, Chang R, Pham L, Phelps RG, Harcharik ST, Hall LD, Bernardo SG, Moskalenko MM, Sivendran M, Fu Y et al (2014) Dissection of immune gene networks in primary melanoma tumors critical for antitumor surveillance of patients with stage II–III resectable disease. J Investig Dermatol 134:2202–2211
- Sommer L (2011) Generation of melanocytes from neural crest cells. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res 24:411–421
- Souroullas GP, Jeck WR, Parker JS, Simon JM, Liu JY, Paulk J, Xiong J, Clark KS, Fedoriw Y, Qi J et al (2016) An oncogenic Ezh2 mutation induces tumors through global redistribution of histone 3 lysine 27 trimethylation. Nat Med 22:632–640
- Stahl JM, Sharma A, Cheung M, Zimmerman M, Cheng JQ, Bosenberg MW, Kester M, Sandirasegarane L, Robertson GP (2004) Deregulated Akt3 activity promotes development of malignant melanoma. Cancer Res 64:7002–7010
- Straume O, Smeds J, Kumar R, Hemminki K, Akslen LA (2002) Significant impact of promoter hypermethylation and the 540 C>T polymorphism of CDKN2A in cutaneous melanoma of the vertical growth phase. Am J Pathol 161:229–237
- Sun L, Wang Q, Gao X, Shi D, Mi S, Han Q (2015) MicroRNA-454 functions as an oncogene by regulating PTEN in uveal melanoma. FEBS Lett 589:2791–2796

- Talantov D, Mazumder A, Yu JX, Briggs T, Jiang Y, Backus J, Atkins D, Wang Y (2005) Novel genes associated with malignant melanoma but not benign melanocytic lesions. Clin Cancer Res 11:7234–7242
- Tang L, Zhang W, Su B, Yu B (2013) Long noncoding RNA HOTAIR is associated with motility, invasion, and metastatic potential of metastatic melanoma. Biomed Res Int 2013:251098
- Taylor JS (2015) Biomolecules. The dark side of sunlight and melanoma. Science 347:824
- Tembe V, Schramm S-J, Stark MS, Patrick E, Jayaswal V, Tang YH, Barbour A, Hayward NK, Thompson JF, Scolyer RA et al (2015) MicroRNA and mRNA expression profiling in metastatic melanoma reveal associations with BRAF mutation and patient prognosis. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res 28:254–266
- Teng DH, Hu R, Lin H, Davis T, Iliev D, Frye C, Swedlund B, Hansen KL, Vinson VL, Gumpper KL et al (1997) MMAC1/PTEN mutations in primary tumor specimens and tumor cell lines. Cancer Res 57:5221–5225
- The Cancer Genome Atlas Network (2015) Genomic classification of cutaneous melanoma. Cell 161:1681–1696
- Tiffen JC, Gunatilake D, Gallagher SJ, Gowrishankar K, Heinemann A, Cullinane C, Dutton-Regester K, Pupo GM, Strbenac D, Yang JY et al (2015) Targeting activating mutations of EZH2 leads to potent cell growth inhibition in human melanoma by derepression of tumor suppressor genes. Oncotarget 6:27023–27036
- Tirosh I, Izar B, Prakadan SM, Wadsworth MH, Treacy D, Trombetta JJ, Rotem A, Rodman C, Lian C, Murphy G et al (2016) Dissecting the multicellular ecosystem of metastatic melanoma by single-cell RNA-seq. Science 352:189–196
- Tsao H, Chin L, Garraway LA, Fisher DE (2012) Melanoma: from mutations to medicine. Genes Dev 26:1131–1155
- Tschentscher F, Husing J, Holter T, Kruse E, Dresen IG, Jockel KH, Anastassiou G, Schilling H, Bornfeld N, Horsthemke B et al (2003) Tumor classification based on gene expression profiling shows that uveal melanomas with and without monosomy 3 represent two distinct entities. Cancer Res 63:2578–2584
- van der Velden PA, Metzelaar-Blok JA, Bergman W, Monique H, Hurks H, Frants RR, Gruis NA, Jager MJ (2001) Promoter hypermethylation: a common cause of reduced p16(INK4a) expression in uveal melanoma. Cancer Res 61:5303–5306
- Van Raamsdonk CD, Fitch KR, Fuchs H, de Angelis MH, Barsh GS (2004) Effects of G-protein mutations on skin color. Nat Genet 36:961–968
- Van Raamsdonk CD, Bezrookove V, Green G, Bauer J, Gaugler L, O'Brien JM, Simpson EM, Barsh GS, Bastian BC (2009) Frequent somatic mutations of GNAQ in uveal melanoma and blue naevi. Nature 457:599–602
- Van Raamsdonk CD, Griewank KG, Crosby MB, Garrido MC, Vemula S, Wiesner T, Obenauf AC, Wackernagel W, Green G, Bouvier N (2010) Mutations

in GNA11 in uveal melanoma. N Engl J Med 363:2191–2199

- van 't Veer LJ, Burgering BM, Versteeg R, Boot AJ, Ruiter DJ, Osanto S, Schrier PI, Bos JL (1989) N-ras mutations in human cutaneous melanoma from sun-exposed body sites. Mol Cell Biol 9:3114–3116
- Varambally S, Cao Q, Mani R-S, Shankar S, Wang X, Ateeq B, Laxman B, Cao X, Jing X, Ramnarayanan K (2008) Genomic loss of microRNA-101 leads to overexpression of histone methyltransferase EZH2 in cancer. Science 322:1695–1699
- Wardwell-Ozgo J, Dogruluk T, Gifford A, Zhang Y, Heffernan TP, van Doorn R, Creighton CJ, Chin L, Scott KL (2014) HOXA1 drives melanoma tumor growth and metastasis and elicits an invasion gene expression signature that prognosticates clinical outcome. Oncogene 33:1017–1026
- Watson IR, Takahashi K, Futreal PA, Chin L (2013) Emerging patterns of somatic mutations in cancer. Nat Rev Genet 14:703–718
- Weeraratna AT, Jiang Y, Hostetter G, Rosenblatt K, Duray P, Bittner M, Trent JM (2002) Wnt5a signaling directly affects cell motility and invasion of metastatic melanoma. Cancer Cell 1:279–288
- Wei X, Walia V, Lin JC, Teer JK, Prickett TD, Gartner J, Davis S, Stemke-Hale K, Davies MA, Gershenwald JE et al (2011) Exome sequencing identifies GRIN2A as frequently mutated in melanoma. Nat Genet 43:442–446
- Weinhold N, Jacobsen A, Schultz N, Sander C, Lee W (2014) Genome-wide analysis of noncoding regulatory mutations in cancer. Nat Genet 46:1160–1165
- Weiss SA, Hanniford D, Hernando E, Osman I (2015) Revisiting determinants of prognosis in cutaneous melanoma. Cancer 121:4108–4123
- Whiteman DC, Watt P, Purdie DM, Hughes MC, Hayward NK, Green AC (2003) Melanocytic nevi, solar keratoses, and divergent pathways to cutaneous melanoma. J Natl Cancer Inst 95:806–812
- Wiesner T, Obenauf AC, Murali R, Fried I, Griewank KG, Ulz P, Windpassinger C, Wackernagel W, Loy S, Wolf I et al (2011) Germline mutations in BAP1 predispose to melanocytic tumors. Nat Genet 43:1018–1021
- Wiesner T, He J, Yelensky R, Esteve-Puig R, Botton T, Yeh I, Lipson D, Otto G, Brennan K, Murali R et al (2014) Kinase fusions are frequent in Spitz tumours and spitzoid melanomas. Nat Commun 5:3116
- Wiesner T, Kutzner H, Cerroni L, Mihm MC, Busam KJ, Murali R (2016) Genomic aberrations in spitzoid melanocytic tumours and their implications for diagnosis, prognosis and therapy. Pathology 48:113
- Winnepenninckx V, Lazar V, Michiels S, Dessen P, Stas M, Alonso SR, Avril M-F, Romero PLO, Robert T, Balacescu O (2006) Gene expression profiling of primary cutaneous melanoma and clinical outcome. J Natl Cancer Inst 98:472–482
- Wolfel T, Hauer M, Schneider J, Serrano M, Wolfel C, Klehmann-Hieb E, De Plaen E, Hankeln T, Meyer

zum Buschenfelde KH, Beach D (1995) A p16INK4a-insensitive CDK4 mutant targeted by cytolytic T lymphocytes in a human melanoma. Science 269:1281–1284

- Worley LA, Long MD, Onken MD, Harbour JW (2008) Micro-RNAs associated with metastasis in uveal melanoma identified by multiplexed microarray profiling. Melanoma Res 18:184–190
- Wu C-F, Tan G-H, Ma C-C, Li L (2013) The non-coding RNA Llme23 drives the malignant property of human melanoma cells. J Genet Genomics 40:179–188
- Yan D, Zhou X, Chen X, Hu D-N, Dong XD, Wang J, Lu F, Tu L, Qu J (2009) MicroRNA-34a inhibits uveal melanoma cell proliferation and migration through downregulation of c-Met. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 50:1559–1565
- Yang R, Zheng Y, Li L, Liu S, Burrows M, Wei Z, Nace A, Herlyn M, Cui R, Guo W et al (2014) Direct conversion of mouse and human fibroblasts to functional melanocytes by defined factors. Nat Commun 5:5807
- Yeh I, Botton T, Talevich E, Shain AH, Sparatta AJ, de la Fouchardiere A, Mully TW, North JP, Garrido MC, Gagnon A et al (2015) Activating MET kinase rearrangements in melanoma and Spitz tumours. Nat Commun 6:7174
- Yu F-X, Luo J, Mo J-S, Liu G, Kim YC, Meng Z, Zhao L, Peyman G, Ouyang H, Jiang W et al (2014) Mutant Gq/11 promote uveal melanoma tumorigenesis by activating YAP. Cancer Cell 25:822–830
- Zhang XD, Gillespie SK, Borrow JM, Hersey P (2003) The histone deacetylase inhibitor suberic bishydroxamate: a potential sensitizer of melanoma to TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL) induced apoptosis. Biochem Pharmacol 66:1537–1545
- Zhang XD, Gillespie SK, Borrow JM, Hersey P (2004) The histone deacetylase inhibitor suberic bishydroxamate regulates the expression of multiple apoptotic mediators and induces mitochondria-dependent apoptosis of melanoma cells. Mol Cancer Ther 3:425–435
- Zingg D, Debbache J, Schaefer SM, Tuncer E, Frommel SC, Cheng P, Arenas-Ramirez N, Haeusel J, Zhang Y, Bonalli M et al (2015) The epigenetic modifier EZH2 controls melanoma growth and metastasis through silencing of distinct tumour suppressors. Nat Commun 6:6051
- Zuidervaart W, van der Velden PA, Hurks MH, van Nieuwpoort FA, Out-Luiting CJ, Singh AD, Frants RR, Jager MJ, Gruis NA (2003) Gene expression profiling identifies tumour markers potentially playing a role in uveal melanoma development. Br J Cancer 89:1914–1919
- Zuo L, Weger J, Yang Q, Goldstein AM, Tucker MA, Walker GJ, Hayward N, Dracopoli NC (1996) Germline mutations in the p16INK4a binding domain of CDK4 in familial melanoma. Nat Genet 12:97–99



11

Inherited Contributions to Melanoma Risk

Kevin M. Brown, Stuart MacGregor, and Matthew H. Law

Contents

Introduction: Heritability and Phenotypes	226
Genetics of Familial Melanoma	227
CDKN2A	227
CDK4	228
Linkage Studies: Other Potential Susceptibility Loci	228
BAP1	228
Familial Mutations Associated with Telomere Biology	228
<i>TERT</i>	229
Shelterin Complex Mutations: POT1, ACD, TERF2IP	229
Undetected Familial Melanoma Genes	230
Intermediate Risk, Candidate Gene Studies, and the Dawn of GWAS	231
Pigmentation	232
Nevus Number	234
Telomeres, Senescence, and DNA Repair	236
Other Risk Loci	237
"Missing" Heritability and Rare Melanoma Risk Variants	238
MITF E318K	239
PARK2	239

K. M. Brown (🖂)

Laboratory of Translational Genomics, Division of Cancer Epidemiology and Genetics, National Cancer Institute, National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, MD, USA e-mail: Kevin.brown3@nih.gov

S. MacGregor · M. H. Law Statistical Genetics, QIMR Berghofer Medical Research Institute, Brisbane, Australia e-mail: Stuart.MacGregor@qimrberghofer.edu.au; Matthew.Law@qimrberghofer.edu.au

© This is a U.S. government work and not under copyright protection in the U.S.; foreign copyright protection may apply 2019 D. E. Fisher, B. C. Bastian (eds.), *Melanoma*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-7147-9 31

Conclusions	239
References	240

Abstract

While exposure to ultraviolet radiation (UVR) is a significant factor contributing to the risk of developing cutaneous malignant melanoma (CMM), genetics plays a significant role in both the context of high-risk melanoma families as well as the general population. While two high-risk melanoma susceptibility genes, CDKN2A and CDK4, have been known for decades, technological advances in recent years have enabled the recent identification of numerous genes and/or genetic loci mediating risk. A review of this progress, including rare high-penetrance gene mutations involved in familial melanoma as well as more common population variants of intermediate to low effect, is summarized in this chapter.

Keywords

Melanoma genetics \cdot Melanoma susceptibility genes \cdot Exome sequencing \cdot Genome sequencing \cdot CDKN2A \cdot CDK4 \cdot MC1R \cdot Heritability \cdot TERT \cdot BAP1 \cdot POT1 \cdot ACD \cdot TERF2IP \cdot PARK2 \cdot Shelterin Complex Mutations \cdot GWAS \cdot Pigmentation genetics \cdot Nevus genetics \cdot DNA repair \cdot Telomeres \cdot MITF

Introduction: Heritability and Phenotypes

Melanoma risk is determined by a combination of genetic and environmental factors. Historically, melanomas have been separated into "familial" and "sporadic" forms. The important role of genetic factors in susceptibility is clear in "familial" melanoma, where there is a large aggregation of melanoma cases in a particular family due to the segregation of a high-risk mutation. The proportion of melanoma cases that classify as "sporadic" varies across world populations. For example in Australia, where melanoma is more common, the occurrence of two close relatives with melanoma is not uncommon and would be less likely to be denoted "familial" than say in a similar family in Europe. In practice, the vast majority (>90%) of melanomas worldwide are of the "sporadic" form.

The term "sporadic" or (nonfamilial) implies that melanoma cases occur randomly, without respect to shared genetic factors. In fact, there is a substantial germline contribution to cutaneous melanoma risk in general. This contribution has been estimated in three ways: firstly from family studies; secondly from traditional twin studies; and thirdly from more recent approaches which use large-scale genome-wide genetic data from genotyping microarrays (see the end of this chapter for details). Family studies show that melanoma occurs in the first-degree relatives of probands at approximately 2-3 times the rate it occurs in general population samples; this is consistent with a genetic contribution to melanoma risk, although it is difficult in such studies to disentangle the contributions of shared environment and genetic factors. Recognizing this limitation, traditionally in genetic epidemiology twin studies have been used as a better way of establishing the relative importance of genes and environment. Monozygotic (MZ) twins share all their DNA while dizygotic (fraternal) twins share only half (on average). By making an assumption that the different zygosity types have similar environments, it is possible to estimate the relative contributions of genes and environment by estimating concordance rates in MZ and DZ twins. If a condition has a heritable genetic component then the MZ concordance will be proportionally higher than the DZ concordance. Under a statistical model which partitions the observed trait variability into a component due to genes and a component due to environment, one can define heritability as the proportion of variance due to genetic variation among individuals. Over the last 20 years, Scandinavian twin studies have enabled

large-scale twin studies of melanoma risk. These studies have established that germline genetic factors explain a substantial proportion of variation in (sporadic) melanoma risk. The most recent Scandinavian twin study (Mucci et al. 2016) examined over 200,000 twins and estimated a heritability of 58% (95% confidence interval 43–73%) for melanoma (a small subset of these would have been familial cases since the study included all melanomas). This work confirms that although environmental factors (particularly UVR) play a major role in melanoma risk, within countries, genes are very important in explaining variation in melanoma risk.

Like the majority of complex traits including cancer, the penetrance of individual variants ranges considerably; highly penetrant *CDKN2A* and equivalent mutations are primarily found in familial melanoma (discussed below), while the genetic risk for "sporadic" melanoma mainly derives from the combination of multiple genetic variants that vary in penetrance and population frequency. The authors will discuss these different classes of variation in this chapter.

Genetics of Familial Melanoma

CDKN2A

CDKN2A was the first highly penetrant gene found to mediate melanoma risk in melanomaprone families. It was discovered as a result of a positional cloning effort that relied on a combination of the detection of loss of heterozygosity (LOH) (Dracopoli et al. 1987), cytogenetically detectable rearrangements at 9p21-p22 in melanoma cell lines and uncultured tumors (Cowan et al. 1988; Cowan and Francke 1991), a case study of an individual with multiple melanomas, atypical moles and rearrangement between the p arms of chromosomes 5 and 9 leading to the deletion of 9p21 (Petty et al. 1993a, b), and multiple studies showing significant evidence of genetic linkage to chromosome bands 9p21–22 in high-risk melanoma families (Cannon-Albright et al. 1992; Gruis et al. 1993; Nancarrow et al. 1993). These efforts culminated in the eventual

identification of germline melanoma-predisposing mutations in the *CDKN2A* gene (Hussussian et al. 1994; Kamb et al. 1994).

The CDKN2A gene is unusual in the human genome in that it encodes two distinct proteins, p16 (INK4A) and p14 (ARF; alternative reading frame), each derived in part from common second and third exon sequence read in alternate reading frames. p16 and p14 are transcribed from two different promoters and utilize unique first exons, respectively. The first exon of each is spliced to the same splice acceptor sites of exon 2, but each is translated in different reading frames and thus encode fully distinct proteins. Both the p16 and p14 proteins are tumor suppressor proteins. p16 functions as a negative regulator of the cell cycle, acting to inhibit the activity of cyclin-dependent kinases CDK4 and CDK6. These kinases phosphorylate the retinoblastoma protein resulting in the release of E2F transcription factors that transactivate genes required for entry into S phase (Serrano et al. 1993; Serrano et al. 1995). By contrast, p14 antagonizes the ability of MDM2 to induce degradation of the p53 tumor suppressor (Zuo et al. 1996; Pomerantz et al. 1998).

CDKN2A mutations are observed in approximately 40% of melanoma families worldwide (Goldstein et al. 2006). Most familial CDKN2A mutations are loss of function mutations that are spread out over the length of the gene in the form of missense, deletion, insertion, duplication, nonsense, and splicing mutations, with a number of population-specific founder mutations reported. In addition, rare pathogenic mutations in nonprotein coding sequence at this locus have been identified, including variants in the 5'-UTR and deep within an intron (Liu et al. 1999; Harland et al. 2001). More than 95% of CDKN2A mutations alter the p16 protein, while more than half also alter p14. Roughly 5% of CDKN2A mutations (2% of melanoma families overall), however, harbor mutations in the form of large deletions or splicing mutations, which are predicted to only affect the p14 protein, suggesting that p14 may act as an independent melanoma susceptibility gene within the CDKN2A locus in some instances. In addition to predisposing to melanoma, there is

considerable evidence that families with *CDKN2A* mutations have a higher incidence of pancreatic cancer, and probably nervous system tumors (NSTs) in families harboring mutations that alter p14 but not p16 (Goldstein et al. 2006).

CDK4

Based on the identification of CDKN2A as a melanoma risk gene, candidate gene screens of the p16-interacting gene cyclin-dependent kinase 4 (CDK4) in high risk melanoma families resulted in the identification of two melanomapredisposing mutations to a single CDK4 codon, R24C (Zuo et al. 1996) and R24H (Soufir et al. 1998). The affected arginine plays a key role in the binding of CDK4 to p16, and alteration of this amino acid results in loss of the ability for p16 to bind and inhibit CDK4 activity. Perhaps not surprisingly CDK4 families, similar to families harboring CDKN2A mutations, have early onset melanomas, often in multiplicity, and have clinically atypical nevi (Puntervoll et al. 2013). CDK4 mutations are found in 2-3% of melanoma families (Goldstein et al. 2006).

Linkage Studies: Other Potential Susceptibility Loci

Beyond the discovery of these two genes and the characterization of their role in melanoma predisposition, progress toward identifying additional susceptibility genes had been limited until quite recently. Several linkage analyses had been published, including those identifying loci for melanoma risk on chromosome bands 1p36 (Bale et al. 1989; Goldstein et al. 1993) and 1p22 (Gillanders et al. 2003), as well as a locus for both uveal and cutaneous susceptibility on chromosome band 9q21 (Jonsson et al. 2005; Cannon-Albright et al. 2013). To date, no specific melanoma-predisposing mutations at these loci have been identified. This may be due to significant heterogeneity and/or polygenic inheritance (i.e., familial clustering is due to aggregated risk from multiple, low penetrance risk genes; see and CDK4 mutations (Gillanders et al. 2003).

BAP1

The BRCA1-associated protein 1 (BAP1) gene was initially implicated in melanoma via wholeexome sequencing of uveal melanomas, which found the gene to be somatically mutated in more than 80% of uveal melanomas that became metastatic. Wiesner and colleagues evaluated two families with multiple unpigmented to reddish brown melanocytic tumors with Spitzoid features that segregated in an autosomal dominant pattern, with some family members also developing uveal or cutaneous melanomas (Wiesner et al. 2011). Comparative genomic hybridization of multiple tumors from members of one of these families showed a common region of chromosomal loss on chromosome 3p21, and analysis of germline DNA from this family showed evidence of linkage to the same region. Targeted capture of this region followed by parallel sequencing identified inactivating mutations in BAP1 segregating in both families, with loss of the wild-type allele in the melanocytic tumors with Spitzoid features, uveal and cutaneous melanomas. Soon thereafter, multiple studies reported BAP1 mutations in additional families with cutaneous or uveal melanoma and other cancers (reviewed in Aoude et al. 2015). It is now established that BAP1 mutations cause a multi-cancer predisposition syndrome, with carriers at an increased risk of a number of different cancers including uveal and cutaneous melanoma, mesothelioma, and clear cell renal cell cancer. Uveal and cutaneous melanomas are found in only approximately 30% and 13% of BAP1 mutation carriers reported to date (Rai et al. 2016), and account for only a small proportion of melanoma families.

Familial Mutations Associated with Telomere Biology

The end replication problem of DNA leads to the progressive loss of a small portion of the telomeric sequences of all chromosomes each time cells divide. Telomeres consist of repetitive DNA sequences that cap and protect the end of chromosomes. Once cells have exhausted their replicative lifespans, a DNA damage signal ensues and results in senescence or apoptosis. Studies of both melanoma families, as well as sporadic melanoma cases (discussed later in this chapter), have begun to implicate alterations in multiple genes involved in the maintenance of telomeres in mediating susceptibility to melanoma.

TERT

The first evidence that mutations in genes associated with telomere maintenance may play an important role in familial melanoma was the discovery of a mutation to the promoter of the gene encoding telomerase reverse-transcriptase (TERT) by Horn and colleagues (Horn et al. 2013). Targeted high-throughput sequencing of a large melanoma family showing linkage to chromosome 5p identified a cosegregating sequence variant at -57 base pairs from the ATG translation start site of TERT. The mutation creates a new binding motif for ETS transcription factors and ternary complex factors (TCFs), and resulted in increased transcriptional activity in reporter assays. A subsequent screen of 675 multicase melanoma families suggested that melanomapredisposing mutations in the promoter of *TERT* are exceedingly rare, identifying only one additional family harboring the same -57 germline mutation (Harland et al. 2016). Subsequent sequencing of melanoma cell lines and primary melanomas and metastases by Horn and colleagues, as well as a second group (Huang et al. 2013), further identified recurrent somatic *TERT* promoter mutations at positions -124 and -146, with a higher frequency in metastases. Both of these somatic mutations also create novel ETS/TCF motifs utilized specifically by the GA-binding protein transcription factor (GABP) (Bell et al. 2015; Makowski et al. 2016). Recent studies have identified similar TERT promoter mutations in preneoplastic melanocytic lesions

(Shain NEJM 2015), an unexpected finding that suggests that these lesions, which include dysplastic nevi, have a history of more cell divisions than their number of cells would predict, pointing to a role in telomere length in constraining the proliferation of preneoplastic lesions. These data suggest that familial *TERT* promoter mutations are likely associated with increased *TERT* expression and align with findings from population studies (Iles et al. 2014) that more broadly implicate telomere maintenance genes in melanoma risk. Most likely the increased *TERT* expression contributes to melanoma risk by extending the replicative lifespan of preneoplastic lesions.

Shelterin Complex Mutations: POT1, ACD, TERF2IP

Consistent with the hypothesis that telomere maintenance may play a key role in melanoma predisposition, several recent whole-genome and -exome sequencing studies of high-risk melanoma families have implicated additional telomere maintenance proteins, specifically members of the shelterin complex. The shelterin complex is composed of six components and protects telomere ends, preventing their degradation and processing of telomere ends by DNA damage response pathways, as well as regulating telomere interaction with the telomerase complex (Palm and de Lange 2008). Telomeric TTAGGG repeat sequences are recognized by three members of the shelterin complex. TERF1 and TERF2 bind to double-stranded telomere repeats, whereas protection of telomeres 1 (POT1) recognizes singlestranded telomeric repeats at 3' overhangs or in alternative loop structures. The shelterin complex subunit and telomerase recruitment factor ACD has been found to increase the affinity of POT1 for telomeric ssDNA (Wang et al. 2007), and in a complex with POT1, mediates interactions between the shelterin complex and TERT; inhibition of the POT1/ACD subunit facilitates the elongation of telomeres by telomerase (Xin et al. 2007). POT1, together with ACD, facilitates the formation of t-loop structures, which protect the 3'

overhangs by promoting the annealing within duplex telomeric repeat sequences.

Two parallel studies initially identified melanoma-predisposing mutations within the POT1 gene. Robles-Espinoza and colleagues performed whole-exome or whole-genome sequencing of 184 melanoma cases drawn from high-risk pedigrees collected in the UK, Netherlands, and Australia that lacked CDKN2A, CDK4, or BAP1 mutations (Robles-Espinoza et al. 2014). Four pedigrees were found to harbor potentially deleterious POT1 mutations. Three of these mutations were to highly conserved residues of the two POT1 oligonucleotide/oligosaccharide-binding (OB) fold domains (Y89C, Q94E, and R273L), while a fourth was in the splice acceptor between exons 17 and 18, compromising splicing (g.124465412C > T). Importantly, the variants in three of these families cosegregated with melanoma (the fourth family was unassessable). Concurrently, Shi and colleagues sequenced exomes of 101 cases from 56 unrelated Italian families and identified a novel missense variant (S270N) in the second POT1 OB domain, which cosegregated with the melanoma phenotype in five families (Shi et al. 2014) along with two other missense variants. Consistent with a role in susceptibility, both of these studies noted significant enrichment for rare or novel POT1 variants in familial (Robles-Espinoza et al. 2014) or populationbased (Shi et al. 2014) melanoma cases relative to controls. Recognition of single-stranded telomeric repeats by POT1 are mediated by the OB domains; modeling of POT1 protein structure suggests that several of the amino acid residues found to be altered in these families are in close proximity to DNA binding sites, suggesting that the observed POT1 mutations are likely to weaken or abolish POT1-ssDNA binding. Consistent with this notion, in vitro translated POT1 harboring the Y89C, Q94E, and R273L failed to bind to TTAGGG sequences in electromobility shift assays, and both studies found the telomeres of carriers of these POT1 mutations to be longer than those of non-carriers.

Based on these findings, a subsequent study screened all six genes encoding shelterin complex members (*POT1*, *ACD*, *TERF1*, *TERF2*,

TERF2IP, and TINF2) in a considerably larger number of melanoma families (Aoude et al. 2014). From 510 melanoma families with unknown genetic etiology screened using a combination of whole-genome, whole-exome, and targeted gene sequencing, five novel ACD mutations were found in six families, including a cosegregating nonsense mutation (Q320X). Of note, the novel variants found in melanoma families were found to be nonrandomly clustered in the POT1 binding domain relative to those found in population controls, suggesting that this domain and the interaction between ACD and POT1 may play a key role in telomere maintenance and melanoma susceptibility. Similarly, novel TERF2IP mutations were found in four families, including a segregating nonsense mutation; like ACD, novel and rare variants in TERF2IP were found to be significantly enriched in melanoma families relative to population-based controls, supporting a potential role for variation in the *TERF2IP* gene in mediating melanoma risk. Family members harboring TERT, POT1, ACD, or TERF2IP mutations were found to have developed a number of other cancer types, suggesting that melanoma-predisposing mutations in these genes may confer susceptibility to a broader range of cancers (Bainbridge et al. 2015).

Undetected Familial Melanoma Genes

While considerable progress has been made in the identification of high-penetrance melanoma risk genes, nearly half of high-risk families nonetheless cannot be explained by mutations in known genes. The failure to identify high-penetrance mutations in these additional families could be explained by a number of possibilities. Firstly, a proportion of these additional families may harbor deleterious variants altering the function of predisposition genes that are not readily detected via exome sequencing. Specifically, the identification of rare promoter mutations in TERT (Horn et al. 2013), as well as the identification larger melanoma-predisposing structural aberrations in CDKN2A (Petty et al. 1993a, b), both highlight the possibility that noncoding gene-regulatory

mutations and/or deleterious structural variants, including gene deletions, may play a wider role in melanoma predisposition than currently appreciated. Additionally, some families could harbor rare deleterious gene mutations that remain unrecognized as predisposing due to limited sample size, and/or imperfect familial cosegregation due to the phenocopies in sequenced families. Still, a proportion of melanoma families may not harbor mutations in high-penetrance genes at all, but instead may be explained by shared environment, random chance, or the presence of multiple intermediate- to low-penetrance melanoma risk alleles segregating within individual families.

Intermediate Risk, Candidate Gene Studies, and the Dawn of GWAS

Early candidate gene studies found *MC1R* missense variants that induce red hair and pale skin convey an intermediate melanoma risk (OR 1.4–2.4) whereas variants in *SLC45A2* that are associated with darker skin reduce susceptibility. However as is often the case with candidate studies the results were inconsistent across other genes, likely due to limited power and low single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) coverage. Identification of additional intermediate or low-risk genetic variant for melanoma would require very large sample sizes and genome-wide coverage.

Genome-wide association studies (GWAS) simultaneously test genetic variation genomewide for association with the trait of interest. Briefly, high-density arrays are used to genotype hundreds of thousand, or millions, of SNPs with high accuracy. These SNPs are generally chosen to leverage patterns of correlation (linkage disequilibrium, LD) across the genome in order to provide maximal coverage of common genetic variation. SNPs which are directly genotyped on the high-density arrays are in LD with nearby genetic variants that are not on the arrays (LD decays as a function of number of generations/recombinations, physical distance, and relative allele frequency). This means that given a detailed map of the LD between all genomewide genetic variation in an appropriate

Reference				panel								
т	_	G	-	С	-	т	-	Α	-	G	_	G
Т	-	G	-	G	-	A	-	A	-	С	-	С
				_								
Ge	enc	otj	γpe	ed	SI	NPS	3					
Т	_	?	-	С	-	?	-	?	-	?	-	G
Imputed results												
т	_	G	_	С	_	т	_	Α	_	G	_	G
		_		-		_				_		_
Genotyped SNPs												
	~~~	201		~~	01	<u> </u>		~		~		~
т	-	?	-	G	-	?	-	?	-	?	-	C
Imputed results												
m		$\sim$		C		7		7		0		0

**Fig. 1** Imputation example. In this simplistic example, there are only two possible sets of SNPs in LD (two haplotypes). In reality, there are multiple haplotypes formed from recombination of various sets of SNPs, and the imputation may assign probabilities of certain genotypes rather than absolutes

population, as provided by the HapMap and the 1000 Genomes Project, the directly genotyped SNPs can be used to infer (impute) nearby genetic variation with high accuracy. Figure 1 shows a simplified example where the genotyped SNPs are in perfect LD with those not genotyped.

Thus high-density SNP genotyping arrays can be leveraged to impute the majority of human genetic variation down to ~1% minor allele frequency, and a large proportion of rarer SNPs. In addition to giving greater coverage when testing for a disease association, imputation assists metaanalysis of datasets by increasing the number of SNPs that overlap between studies. The main advantage of GWASs is that they are unbiased, making no assumptions about which parts of the genome influence the trait of interest. However, the high number of loci tested comes at the cost of an increased false discovery rate, requiring appropriate statistical corrections. Various methods have been used to determine the effective number of independent tests, generally converging on a million tests for all MAF > 5% SNPs, leading

to the accepted practice of setting genome-wide significance at  $p < 5 \times 10^{-8}$ . The number of tests may further increase as less and less common SNPs are included in GWAS, potentially requiring (slightly) more stringent significance thresholds.

Which classes of variation (rare vs. common, high vs. low penetrance) can be detected by GWAS is a function of power, which is primarily driven by sample size. Generally, initial GWAS detects a mix of lower frequency, moderate penetrance variants, or high frequency, lower penetrance variants (the so-called "low-hanging fruit"). As sample sizes increase, usually by meta-analyses of multiple GWAS, further risk variants are detected with lower allele frequencies and/or effect size. For ease of discussion, the known melanoma GWAS loci have been grouped by putative risk pathway (pigmentation, nevus count, DNA repair/telomeres) where possible (Table 1).

While extremely powerful, GWAS provides only evidence for association between a genetic region and the trait of interest; further work is often required to fully characterize how genetic variation in that region influences trait biology. The majority of GWAS-identified SNPs do not include coding variants (with prominent exceptions for melanoma discussed below), or even span genes. In many situations, the mostassociated SNP resides in an intergenic region or gene desert. Instead, many of the genetic variants identified by GWAS influence gene expression levels. These expression quantitative trait loci (eQTLs) can modify the activity of gene enhancers and promoters, and thereby regulate the expression of genes up to distances of a megabase or more.

#### Pigmentation

*MC1R* red hair alleles are a number of independent non-synonymous variants in the *MC1R* gene that impact the receptor's ability to activate the cAMP pathway and mediate a protective response to UVR DNA damage. When melanocytes or keratinocytes detect UVR-induced DNA damage they upregulate the expression of melanocytestimulating hormone (MSH), which via binding to MC1R induces the production of melanin, which is subsequently transported to neighboring keratinocytes (Fig. 2). In addition, MC1R signaling induces DNA repair and antioxidants (Mitra et al. 2012). The first GWAS of melanoma, published in 2008 and 2009 (Brown et al. 2008; Bishop et al. 2009), confirmed the importance of red hair alleles in MC1R for melanoma risk, and additionally identified common variants in other pigmentation genes. The SNP near MC1R most strongly associated with melanoma in the recent meta-analysis, rs75570604, is in LD  $r^2 = 0.8$  with the red hair missense variant rs1805007 (R151C), which is itself melanoma associated (Metaanalysis  $p = 5 \times 10^{-83}$ ) (Law et al. 2015). A second red hair allele, rs1805008 R160W, is also melanoma associated (6  $\times$  10⁻²⁵), as is rs11648879 ( $p = 2.0 \times 10^{-9}$ ), which is in LD r² 0.6 with a third red hair allele, rs2228479 V92M (Law et al. 2015).

MC1R activity is negatively regulated by the MC1R antagonist agouti signaling protein (Fig. 2), which is encoded by the ASIP gene. SNPs near ASIP have also been found to be associated with melanoma by GWAS (Brown et al. 2008). These same variants are also associated with human pigmentation and are strongly associated with ASIP expression in the skin (Grundberg et al. 2012). The major allele rs1885120 is an eQTL associated with reduced ASIP expression, high pigmentation, and decreased melanoma susceptibility, presumably as a consequence of increased MC1R signaling. While ASIP is a very plausible candidate in the chromosome 20 melanoma locus it is worth noting that additional genes in the region, including GSS which is involved in melanogenesis, may also contribute to skin coloration and thus modulate melanoma susceptibility (Liu et al. 2015).

Activation of MC1R promotes melanin synthesis, and *Tyrosinase (TYR)* is a rate-limiting enzyme in the conversion of tyrosine into **Table 1** Summary of melanoma-associated loci (Law et al. 2015). For each locus, the peak SNPs is tabulated; detailed results for all SNPs with a *p*-value  $< 1 \times 10^{-7}$  can be found in the supplementary material (Law et al. 2015)

CHR	Suggested or nearest gene	Peak SNP	Melanoma <i>p</i> -value ¹	Nevus <i>p-value</i> ²	Pigmentation <i>p</i> -value ³
1	ARNT, SETDB1	rs12410869	5.2 × 10 ⁻¹³	n.s	n.s
1	PARP1	rs1858550	1.7 × 10 ¹³	n.s	n.s
2	CYP1B1	rs6750047	2.9 × 10 ⁻⁷ *	n.s	n.s
2	CASP8	rs7582362	8.9 × 10 ⁻⁹	0.1	n.s
5	TERT	rs380286	1.7 × 10 ⁻¹⁷	0.05	n.s
5	SLC45A2	rs250417	2.3 × 10 ⁻¹²	n.s	0.07
6	CDKAL1	rs6914598	2.6 × 10 ⁻⁸	n.s	n.s
7	AGR3	rs1636744	1.8 × 10 ⁻⁹	0.09	n.s
9	MTAP, CDKN2A	rs7852450	4.7 × 10 ⁻³²	0.09	n.s
9	TMEM38B	rs10739221	9.6 × 10 ⁻⁹	n.s	n.s
10	OBFC1	rs2995264	8.5 × 10 ^{-7⁺}	n.s	n.s
11	CCND1	rs498136	1.0 × 10 ⁻¹⁰	n.s	n.s
11	TYR	rs1393350	2.5 × 10 ⁻²⁵	n.s	2.6 × 10 ⁻⁸
11	АТМ	rs73008229	1.4 × 10 ⁻¹²	n.s	n.s
15	OCA2	rs4778138	3.1 × 10 ⁻⁹	n.s	2.2 × 10 ⁻⁶
16	FTO	rs12596638	1.8 × 10 ⁻⁹	0.05	n.s
16	MC1R	rs75570604	6.2 × 10 ⁻⁹²	n.s	4.7 × 10 ⁻³⁹
20	ASIP	rs6059655	5.4 × 10 ⁻²⁹	n.s	2.9 × 10 ⁻⁶
21	MX2	rs408825	3.2 × 10 ⁻¹⁵	n.s	n.s
22	PLA2G6	rs2092180	2.1 × 10 ⁻¹¹	0.002	0.04s

^aMeta-analysis *p* fixed or random if  $I^2 > 0.31$  (see Law et al. 2015 for details)

^b*p*-Value for association with nevus count in the Leeds cohort of the melanoma-meta-analysis (Law et al. 2015). n.s.: not significant (p > 0.1)

^cp-Value for association with pigmentation in the Leeds cohort of the melanoma-meta-analysis (Law et al. 2015). Dark shading indicates likely role in pigmentation; light shading indicates a likely role in nevus count based on existing literature or the results within the Leeds cohort. Bold text indicates likely role in sense DNA repair, or telomere function

^dGenome-wide significance in replication sets (Law et al. 2015)

**Fig. 2** Melanogenesis. MSH signaling via MC1R (which can be repressed by ASIP) leads to *MITF* expression, and upregulations of genes required to make functional melanosome, including *OCA2* and *TYR*. In the melanosomes, the TYR protein takes part in the conversion of tyrosine to either eumelanin or pheomelanin



eumelanin (Fig. 2). SNPs near TYR are also strongly associated with melanoma risk (Bishop et al. 2009), tanning (Nan et al. 2009), and to a lesser extent eye and skin pigmentation. While the peak melanoma SNPs have not been reported as TYR eQTLs, they include the nonsynonymous TYR rs1126809 R402Q variant. The 402Gln allele has also been associated with sunburns, tanning, and pigmentation, and results in reduced enzymatic activity at physiological temperatures due to protein misfolding. An impaired ability to produce eumelanin, rather than a complete absence, may explain why 402Gln is more associated with sunburn and tanning than overall pigmentation. While other nonsynonymous mutations in TYR also are associated with pigmentation/tanning traits (e.g., rs1042602), they are not as strongly associated with melanoma susceptibility  $(p > 1 \times 10^{-7})$ , Law et al. 2015).

Melanin and melanin-producing enzymes are packaged as melanosomes in melanocytes prior to their distribution to keratinocytes, a process which requires the function of SLC45A2 and OCA2 proteins. GWAS has identified an SNP near *SLC45A2* that conveys strong susceptibility to melanoma (Table 1; Barrett et al. 2011), and this SNP rs250417 is in LD ( $r^2 = 0.51$ ) with the nonsynonymous L374F SNP rs16891982. The L374F variant is associated with reduced pigmentation and may impair the incorporation of tyrosinase into melanosomes (Fig. 2). 374L is ancestral and common in most human populations, whereas 374F has been under selection in European populations and has neared fixation.

Lastly, as with *SLC45A2*, SNPs near *OCA2* have also been associated with melanoma by GWAS (Table 1 Amos et al. 2011). A SNP at this locus, rs12913832, functionally modulates *OCA2* expression (Fig. 2) and is a major determinant of blue/brown eye color and influences skin pigmentation (Liu et al. 2015). The peak melanoma associated SNP at the 15q13.1 locus, rs4778138, is in LD ( $r^2 = 0.12$ ) with rs12913832 in Europeans, so it is possible both SNPs contribute to the melanoma association (Law et al. 2015). rs4778138 has also independently been associated with variation in human eye color, and likely also modulates *OCA2*.

#### **Nevus Number**

In addition to rare familial variants at *CDKN2A* associated with high nevus counts and greatly increased risk of melanoma, common SNPs in the 9p21.3 have been associated with both melanoma and nevus count through GWAS (Bishop



**Fig. 3** Melanoma-associated SNPs, including the initially reported SNP rs16953002, in an enhancer that interacts with the promoter of the *FTO* gene in melanocytes.

et al. 2009; Falchi et al. 2009). Given the critical role of the p16 protein in cell cycle checkpoint control, common and rare variants at this locus may contribute to both melanoma and nevus count through altered cell division propensity, leading to clonal expansion of melanocytes. However, CDKN2A may not be the only important gene at this locus. Melanoma-associated SNPs at 9p21.3, including rs935055 and rs10811629 (European LD  $r^2 = 0.45$ ) are eQTLs for the adjacent methylthioadenosine phosphorylase (MTAP) gene in a range of tissues including skeletal muscle, skin, and adipose tissue (Grundberg et al. 2012; Consortium 2015), with the protective allele (Barrett et al. 2015) associated with decreased MTAP expression across tissues. MTAP expression is required for the salvage of methiothine. This gene is somatically silenced in melanoma and the resultant accumulation of 5'-methylthioadenosine may lead to the induction of pro-cancer pathways (Limm et al. 2014). This may suggest a paradox – the protective allele is associated with reduced MTAP expression yet absence of MTAP function promotes melanoma but it is worth noting that PARP1 alleles associated with reduced risk for melanoma have also been associated with worse survival (Davies et al. 2014). While there is less evidence addressing the potential role for MTAP in nevus development, it is likely that genetic variants affecting CDKN2A could promote the clonal expansion of melanocytes in a nevus, thus affecting nevus size and number.

SNPs spanning the *AGR3* gene at 7p21.1 are associated with *AGR3* expression in lung and

Plot generated using the WashU Epigenome Browser (http://epigenomegateway.wustl.edu/browser/)

thyroid tissues (GTEx gene expression dataset Consortium 2015), and AGR3 has been implicated in ovarian, breast, and other cancers. The peak AGR3 SNP in the melanoma meta-analysis, rs1636744, showed a trend toward association with nevus count (Law et al. 2015), which may point to a role in this risk phenotype. As the function of this gene is poorly understood, it is not yet clear how AGR3 might influence nevus development or melanoma.

Variants in or near the FTO gene on chromosome 16 are associated with nevus count (Law et al. 2015) and melanoma (Iles et al. 2013). Functional analysis of the FTO protein suggests it is an RNA demethylase involved in modulating mRNA translation relative to amino acids availability. Prior studies have revealed a strong association with body mass index (BMI), however the linked SNPs appear to influence the function of distal IRX3 and IRX5 genes rather than FTO (Smemo et al. 2014). By contrast, the melanoma-associated SNPs are independent of the BMI-associated SNPs (Iles et al. 2013), and it is not immediately obvious how FTO may influence melanoma biology or the development of nevi. The melanoma risk allele rs12596638-A (Table 1) is strongly associated with FTO expression in whole blood (Westra et al. 2013). This SNP is in LD ( $r^2 = 1.0$ ) with the initial reported SNP, rs16953002 (Iles et al. 2013), which is situated in an intronic enhancer in FTO that interacts with the promotor of *FTO* (Fig. 3).

A SNP on chromosome 22, rs2092180, is also associated with melanoma risk and nevus count and to a lesser extent pigmentation (Law et al. 2015),

and overlapping SNPs in this region have also been identified in nevus count GWAS (Falchi et al. 2009). The LD  $r^2$  between top melanoma SNP rs2092180 and the top nevus count SNP rs2284063 is 0.64 in Europeans. These linked loci at this chromosome 22 harbour numerous genes, and eQTLs associated with the melanoma risk variant have been established for TMEM184B, MAFF, CSNK1E, and PLA2G6 genes in a range of tissues and databases (Westra et al. 2013; Consortium 2015) and BAIAP2L2 in solely sun-exposed skin (Consortium 2015). The protein product of BAIAP2L2 plays a role in stabilizing plasma membrane structures, while TMEM184B can promote migration and metastasis of oral squamous cell carcinoma cells via cytoskeletal modification (Fukumoto et al. 2015). MAFF heterodimerizes with a range of transcription factors and regulates gene expression in response to a range of cellular stressors including oxidative damage, and MAFF expression is downregulated in tumors; CSNK1E is a component of the circadian rhythm system, which impacts melanogenesis as well as response to sunburn (Gaddameedhi et al. 2015); PLA2G6 encodes a phospholipase A2, an enzyme that cleaves fatty acids from membrane phospholipids, and as a result is involved in a variety of cellular processes. Consequently, any of these genes may be plausibly involved in melanocytic neoplasia directly or indirectly but evidence implicating specific genes at this locus is currently lacking.

#### Telomeres, Senescence, and DNA Repair

In addition to the rare familial variants discussed above, common variants in genes involved in telomere function, DNA repair, and senescence are associated with melanoma. A polygenic risk score based on the top seven SNPs previously found to be associated with longer leukocyte telomere length has been found to be associated with higher risk of melanoma (Iles et al. 2014). rs2995264, a SNP on chromosome 10 located in an intron of the telomere maintenance gene *OBFC1*, is strongly associated with both mean telomere length (Codd et al. 2013) and melanoma risk (Law et al. 2015), suggesting that an increased risk for melanoma from longer telomeres is not simply due to confounding (e.g., UVR damaging telomeres in parallel to inducing somatic oncogenic mutations in melanocytes). It is plausible that delayed senescence due to an extended replicative lifespan increases the pool of partially transformed melanocytes (e.g., as present in nevi) and thereby the probability for the accumulation of additional pathogenic mutations and progress toward melanoma.

However, the influence of telomere genes on melanoma may not solely be through effects on telomere length. For example, GWAS and finemapping efforts suggest there are a number of independent common SNPs associated with cancer at the telomerase reverse transcriptase gene (TERT), with many cancer types associated with a different but overlapping subset of these SNPs (Wang et al. 2014; Barrett et al. 2015). These include rs2736100, which has been found to be associated with both cancer and telomere length (Codd et al. 2013), with rs2736100-G associated with risk of myeloproliferative neoplasms, glioma, acute myeloid leukemia, lung, thyroid, and bladder cancers while being protective for colorectal, pancreatic, and testicular cancer (Turnbull et al. 2010; Campa et al. 2015; Li et al. 2017). rs2736100-G, however, is only modestly associated with risk of melanoma (p = 0.02) (Iles et al. 2014). Melanoma associations at TERT are strongest at rs401681 and rs380286 (LD  $r^2 = 1$ with each other; Table 1) (Law et al. 2015), which are not in LD with rs2736100 (European LD  $r^2 = 0.003$ ). In contrast to rs2736100, rs401681-G is protective for melanoma, pancreatic, and testicular cancer but associated with an increased risk for basal cell carcinoma, as well as lung, bladder, prostate, and cervix cancers (Rafnar et al. 2009; Stacey et al. 2009; Turnbull et al. 2010; Campa et al. 2015). These data suggest that there may be multiple pathways to melanoma from telomere genes, with some loci influencing telomere length while others presumably mediate other telomere-related processes. Notably, melanoma-associated SNPs at the TERT locus have also been associated with nevus count in some studies (Law et al. 2015)

but not others (Bodelon et al. 2012), perhaps suggesting a role in senescence.

In additional to telemere genes, other risk genes highlight the importance of senescence and /or DNA repair in melanoma. The association signal at 1q42 is localized to the Poly(ADPribose) Polymerase 1 (PARP1) gene (Macgregor et al. 2011), a critical mediator of DNA repair and genomic stability. Among its many roles in transcriptional regulation and apoptosis, PARP1 binds to damaged DNA, activating its poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase (PARP) function, which signals and enables the binding of additional cofactors to initiate DNA repair. The peak melanoma associated SNPs (e.g., rs1858550) are eQTLs for PARP1 expression in melanoma cell lines and tumors. These SNPs tag a 6 bp insertion/ deletion variant, rs144361550, that alters a PARP1 enhancer, suggesting the functional gene at 1q42 in melanoma is *PARP1* (Choi et al. 2017). Indeed, increased expression of PARP1 promotes proliferation of primary melanocytes, rescues melanocytes from BRAF^{V600E}-induced senescence, promotes malignant transformation of immortalized melanocytes independently of PARP1 catalytic activity, and promotes expression of the melanocyte-lineage survival oncogene MITF (Choi et al. 2017). The missense variant D1853N in ATM (rs1801516) was associated with melanoma in a GWAS (Barrett et al. 2011) and confirmed in a meta-analysis (Law et al. 2015). ATM is an attractive candidate given its importance in DNA damage response, cell cycle progression, and telomere maintenance (for review see Di Domenico et al. 2014). Rare, ATM variants with medium penetrance are associated with familial breast cancer and potentially other cancers (Renwick et al. 2006; Fletcher et al. 2010; Helgason et al. 2015). These variants appear to be different from those associated with melanoma.

#### **Other Risk Loci**

For the remaining loci containing common melanoma risk genes (Table 1), a unifying pathway is more difficult to discern, though eQTL datasets may allow for some inference. The peak SNP of the broad association signal at 1q21, rs12410869, is an eQTL for a number of the nearby genes including ARNT, HORMAD1, GOLPH3L, CTSS, and CTSK (Law et al. 2012) in a range of tissues in GTEx (Table 1; Consortium 2015). The strong, long-range LD in this region limits the ability to fine-map the association with melanoma (Macgregor et al. 2011; Barrett et al. 2015). Prominently, this local region also encompasses SETDB1, which has been shown to accelerate melanoma formation in a zebrafish model (Ceol et al. 2011). While GTEx reports rs12410869 is an eQTL for SETDB1, its association with melanoma is not significant, after genome-wide correction.

rs7582362 at 2q33.1 is an eQTL for both *CASP8* and *ALS2CR12* (Consortium 2015); of these two, *CASP8* is a stronger *a priori* candidate given its role in cell survival and/or apoptosis (for review see Shalini et al. 2015). rs7582362 is in LD ( $r^2$  0.97) with rs1830298, the lead SNP for a breast cancer GWAS hit at this locus. These and other linked SNPs at this locus are eQTLs for *CASP8* and may represent a broader cancer risk locus.

rs498136, the strongest melanoma association at 11q13.3, is upstream of the CCND1 promoter and is an eQTL for CCND1 in monocytes (eQTL  $p = 1 \times 10^{-13}$ ) (Westra et al. 2013); however, the melanoma risk rs498136 allele is associated with reduced expression, which is counterintuitive, considering the role cyclin D1, the gene product of CCND1. Cyclin D1 is the coenzyme of CDK4, which itself is a high penetrance melanoma risk gene. Another familial risk gene, CDKN2A (p14^{ARF}), blocks cell cycle progression in response to UVR DNA damage via p53-mediated inhibition of CCND1. While the observation of an eQTL in monocytes may not be relevant for melanoma, this suggests a potential indirect involvement with DNA repair as discussed above. CCND1 is frequently amplified in melanomas located at acral sites and sites of chronic sun damage (Sauter et al. 2002; Curtin et al. 2005), and this amplification is associated with ulceration, thicker tumors, and worse survival (Vizkeleti et al. 2012).

The melanoma association signal on chromosome 21 spans the 5' end of FAM3B and the promotor of MX2 (Barrett et al. 2011), and includes SNPs that are strong eQTLs for MX2 in testis and fibroblasts (Consortium 2015). In whole blood, the melanoma-associated rs431563 is an eQTL for MX1; while not passing the threshold for gene-wide significance the same SNP is an eQTL for *FAM3B* and *MX2* ( $p < 5 \times 10^{-4}$  Westra et al. 2013). Likewise, while not gene-wide significant (p = 0.0012), rs431563 is an eQTL for MX2 in adipocyte tissue (Grundberg et al. 2012). MX1 and MX2 appear to act as inhibitors of viral infection by limiting the ability of viruses to enter the nucleus. MX1 has also been associated with alopecia areata in a small case control study, which may suggest a role for this gene in modulating the immune response in the skin.

For the remaining loci, a clear pathway to melanoma remains elusive. As discussed in Law et al. (2015) rs6750047 on chromosome 2 is an eQTL for *CYP1B1*; however that gene is better known for its role in hormonal cancers. Likewise, while the melanoma-associated SNPs at 6p22.3 are within an intron of *CDKAL1*, searches of bioinformatics or functional databases could not identify the gene(s) functionally affected by these SNPs (Law et al. 2015). Melanoma-associated SNPs at 9q31.2 are near *RAD23B*, a gene involved in nucleotide excision repair; however, there is as yet no direct functional evidence linking these SNPs to any nearby genes, including *RAD23B*.

#### "Missing" Heritability and Rare Melanoma Risk Variants

Heritability estimates derived from GWAS for melanoma (Lu et al. 2014) have been calculated in Australian (30%, 95% CI 10–50%) and American samples (19%, 95% CI 1–37%), providing a guide to the extent to which large GWAS may explain the total genetic contribution to melanoma at the current time. There is much debate over what may fill the gap between estimates of melanoma heritability previously derived from twin studies (~50%) and these "GWAS heritability" estimates. Two possible contributions to this gap

are the effects of gene-gene interactions (where the genetic effects of two independent loci are larger than the effects of either regarded separately) and of gene-environment interactions. There are, however, two more likely contributors to this gap: melanoma risk due to common variants with effect sizes too small to accurately measure without much larger sample sizes, and the presence of rarer melanoma risk variants not assessable via GWAS (e.g., variants exhibiting insufficient LD with SNPs on GWAS arrays).

In terms of common variants with small effect sizes, it is worth noting that the genome-wide significant loci described in this chapter explain only about a third of the 30% "GWAS" heritability for melanoma, indicating there are likely many more common variants conferring small effects on melanoma risk that do not yet reach genomewide significance. Powering a genome-scale study to identify such variants for a role in melanoma risk while correcting for multiple testing presents significant technical, monetary, and sample-size challenges, but is nonetheless possible. For some complex traits where much larger sample sizes are already available (height and body mass index, for example), large sample size combined with dense imputation have yielded array heritability estimates which are only 20% lower than the "twin" heritability (Yang et al. 2015), suggesting that better-powered melanoma GWAS may at least partially explain this "missing" heritability.

Further, while the latter set of rare variants not assessable via GWAS includes rare highpenetrance melanoma risk variants found in high-risk melanoma families, it also includes rare variants of medium to low effect for which family studies and current population studies are not well-powered to comprehensively find. Identifying such rare trait-associated variants requires alternative approaches that maximize power by limiting multiple testing. It is hypothesized that many melanoma families without mutations in known high-penetrance risk genes may instead be enriched for medium-penetrance risk variants. Thus, a viable study design is one that utilizes both family-based sequencing to identify imperfectly segregating but rare variants, followed by genotyping a limited number of them in casecontrol studies. Alternatively, focusing on strong *a priori* gene candidates can also further maximize the probability of success. Notably, the use of both of these approaches resulted in the identification of the first medium-penetrance melanoma risk variant in the melanoma-lineage-specific oncogene microphthalmia-associated transcription factor (*MITF*; E318K) (Bertolotto et al. 2011; Yokoyama et al. 2011).

#### MITF E318K

Whole genome-sequencing of probands from high-risk melanoma families resulted in the identification of a rare, missense mutation (E318K, rs149617956, MAF = 0.002 in 1000 Genomes EUR population) that cosegregated imperfectly with melanoma. The variant, however, was found in an additional 31 families, and linkage analysis showed evidence that this variant may represent a medium-penetrance melanoma risk allele, and genotyping in case-control studies from Australia and the UK confirmed the significant association with melanoma risk (OR 2.19, 95% CI 1.41-3.45). E318K was also associated with an increased number of melanocytic nevi and nonblue eye color. However, the association with melanoma risk remained essentially the same when accounting for these phenotypes (OR 1.82, 95% CI 0.85-3.92), suggesting that this variant influences risk at least in part independently of the nevus and pigmentation phenotypes. In sequencing a set of 62 patients with both melanoma and renal cancer, Bertolotto and colleagues found this same MITF variant to be highly enriched in this set (5/62 patients; MAF = 4%, OR 14.46, 95% CI 3.74–48.04). Subsequent analysis of this variant in case-control studies demonstrated significant associations with both melanoma (OR 4.78, 95% CI 2.05–11.75) and renal cancer alone (OR 5.19, 95% CI 1.37-16.87) (Bertolotto et al. 2011). This variant alters a consensus site on the MITF protein that is subject to SUMOylation, resulting in altered chromatin occupancy and transcriptional activity of MITF (Bertolotto et al. 2011; Yokoyama et al. 2011).

#### PARK2

Based on the observation that melanoma incidence is higher in patients with Parkinson's disease (PD), and vice versa, and that several studies have suggested PARK2 may be a tumor suppressor gene, Hu and colleagues tested whether germline variants inactivating PARK2 also conferred increased risk of developing melanoma (Hu et al. 2016). Sequencing and assessment of PARK2 gene dosage in more than 500 French cases and controls, respectively, revealed that melanoma cases more frequently have PARK2 copy number variants or splicing and missense mutations than controls (PARK2 CNVs only, OR = 5.11, 95% CI 1.18–14.97; all PARK2 alterations, OR = 3.95, 95% CI 1.34–15.75). While replication of these findings is needed, this observation is intriguing, as PARK2 acts as a ubiquitin ligase for cyclin D and cyclin E (Gong et al. 2014), providing a plausible link to a signaling pathway activated in melanoma. Notably, the expression of wild-type PARK2 in melanoma cell lines was found to reduce colony formation, suggesting that PARK2 may act as a tumor suppressor in melanoma (Hu et al. 2016).

#### Conclusions

While the number of known high-penetrance melanoma risk genes has expanded considerably in recent years, these genes still only account for <50% of high-density melanoma families. CDKN2A remains by far the most mutated risk gene in case-dense families, while no other gene has been found to account for more than 2% of families. Other high-penetrance mutations that affect specific genes likely exist and will have to be discovered by detailed studies of individual families. It is also to be expected that additional nongenic alterations affecting the promoters and other regulatory sequences, untranslated regions, and introns will be found. This hypothesis remains largely unexplored; gene promoters, UTR sequences, and intronic sequence have been covered to a variable degree by current exome-
capture platforms, and larger structural changes are poorly detected by exome sequencing platforms. Some proportion of melanoma families could also be explained by a preponderance of medium- to low-penetrance risk alleles (having a high polygenic load), but some may be explained by shared environmental exposures alone.

A similar challenge remains in terms of identifying variants playing a role in sporadic melanoma cases, where less than half of the contribution of genetics to risk is explained by known, genome-wide significant risk loci. As hinted at by the finding that multiple variants associated with telomere length, most of which are not melanoma risk loci at a genome-wide significant level, are predictive of melanoma risk (Iles et al. 2014), it is likely there are many additional common melanoma risk loci remaining to be discovered by larger meta-analyses of melanoma GWAS. Across a range of complex diseases, each doubling of the GWAS sample size has doubled the number of loci identified; it is hence likely that future melanoma GWAS will identify many more loci contributing to risk. However, the search for rare population variants such as MITF E318K remains challenging. Additional whole-genome and -exome sequencing at both the family and population levels, improved genome-wide coverage by better imputation panels, as well as pathway-based studies are poised to make a further impact in characterizing such variants.

Lastly, while there has been much progress in the past several years identifying novel melanoma risk genes and loci, there is considerable work to be done to extend these findings into a better biological understanding of the processes influencing melanoma development. While, for example, common themes appear to have emerged from GWAS studies, functional characterization of which genes mediate risk at many of these loci, how risk-associated genetic variants modulate the function of these risk genes, and how these genes influence phenotypes associated with melanoma development remain challenging. This challenge represents a bottleneck in fully utilizing the wealth of genetic data on melanoma susceptibility generated to date, and in the future. Still, while there is much work to be done in terms of identifying genes mediating melanoma risk, the recent advances outlined in this chapter have highlighted important clues as to pathways whose dysregulation play important roles in melanoma risk and development. Rare, high penetrance mutations that contribute to familial melanoma reveal the role of critical cell-cycle pathway genes. Telomere maintenance genes are impacted by both rare, high penetrance mutations and more common, lower effect size variants. Common and low-frequency variation in genes required for human pigmentation reinforce the role of sun exposure in melanoma development, and genes that alter nevus development and modulate senescence increase the potential for melanocytes to become cancerous.

## References

- Amos CI, Wang LE, Lee JE, Gershenwald JE, Chen WV, Fang S, Kosoy R, Zhang M, Qureshi AA, Vattathil S, Schacherer CW, Gardner JM, Wang Y, Bishop DT, Barrett JH, Geno MELI, MacGregor S, Hayward NK, Martin NG, Duffy DL, Investigators QM, Mann GJ, Cust A, Hopper J, Investigators A, Brown KM, Grimm EA, Xu Y, Han Y, Jing K, McHugh C, Laurie CC, Doheny KF, Pugh EW, Seldin MF, Han J, Wei Q (2011) Genome-wide association study identifies novel loci predisposing to cutaneous melanoma. Hum Mol Genet 20(24):5012–5023
- Aoude LG, Pritchard AL, Robles-Espinoza CD, Wadt K, Harland M, Choi J, Gartside M, Quesada V, Johansson P, Palmer JM, Ramsay AJ, Zhang X, Jones K, Symmons J, Holland EA, Schmid H, Bonazzi V, Woods S, Dutton-Regester K, Stark MS, Snowden H, van Doorn R, Montgomery GW, Martin NG, Keane TM, Lopez-Otin C, Gerdes AM, Olsson H, Ingvar C, Borg A, Gruis NA, Trent JM, Jonsson G, Bishop DT, Mann GJ, Newton-Bishop JA, Brown KM, Adams DJ, Hayward NK (2014) Nonsense mutations in the shelterin complex genes ACD and TERF2IP in familial melanoma. J Natl Cancer Inst 107(2). pii: dju408
- Aoude LG, Wadt KA, Pritchard AL, Hayward NK (2015)
   Genetics of familial melanoma: 20 years after CDKN2A. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res 28(2): 148–160
- Bainbridge MN, Armstrong GN, Gramatges MM, Bertuch AA, Jhangiani SN, Doddapaneni H, Lewis L, Tombrello J, Tsavachidis S, Liu Y, Jalali A, Plon SE,

Lau CC, Parsons DW, Claus EB, Barnholtz-Sloan J, Il'yasova D, Schildkraut J, Ali-Osman F, Sadetzki S, Johansen C, Houlston RS, Jenkins RB, Lachance D, Olson SH, Bernstein JL, Merrell RT, Wrensch MR, Walsh KM, Davis FG, Lai R, Shete S, Aldape K, Amos CI, Thompson PA, Muzny DM, Gibbs RA, Melin BS, Bondy ML, Gliogene C (2015) Germline mutations in shelterin complex genes are associated with familial glioma. J Natl Cancer Inst 107(1):384

- Bale SJ, Dracopoli NC, Tucker MA, Clark WH Jr, Fraser MC, Stanger BZ, Green P, Donis-Keller H, Housman DE, Greene MH (1989) Mapping the gene for hereditary cutaneous malignant melanomadysplastic nevus to chromosome 1p. N Engl J Med 320(21):1367–1372
- Barrett JH, Iles MM, Harland M, Taylor JC, Aitken JF, Andresen PA, Akslen LA, Armstrong BK, Avril MF, Azizi E, Bakker B, Bergman W, Bianchi-Scarra G, Bressac-de Paillerets B, Calista D, Cannon-Albright LA, Corda E, Cust AE, Debniak T, Duffy D, Dunning AM, Easton DF, Friedman E, Galan P, Ghiorzo P, Giles GG, Hansson J, Hocevar M, Hoiom V, Hopper JL, Ingvar C, Janssen B, Jenkins MA, Jonsson G, Kefford RF, Landi G, Landi MT, Lang J, Lubinski J, Mackie R, Malvehy J, Martin NG, Molven A, Montgomery GW, van Nieuwpoort FA, Novakovic S, Olsson H, Pastorino L, Puig S, Puig-Butille JA, Randerson-Moor J, Snowden H, Tuominen R, Van Belle P, van der Stoep N, Whiteman DC, Zelenika D, Han J, Fang S, Lee JE, Wei Q, Lathrop GM, Gillanders EM, Brown KM, Goldstein AM, Kanetsky PA, Mann GJ, Macgregor S, Elder DE, Amos CI, Hayward NK, Gruis NA, Demenais F, Bishop JA, Bishop DT, Geno MELC (2011) Genome-wide association study identifies three new melanoma susceptibility loci. Nat Genet 43(11):1108-1113
- Barrett JH, Taylor JC, Bright C, Harland M, Dunning AM, Akslen LA, Andresen PA, Avril MF, Azizi E, Bianchi Scarra G, Brossard M, Brown KM, Debniak T, Elder DE, Friedman E, Ghiorzo P, Gillanders EM, Gruis NA, Hansson J, Helsing P, Hocevar M, Hoiom V, Ingvar C, Landi MT, Lang J, Lathrop GM, Lubinski J, Mackie RM, Molven A, Novakovic S, Olsson H, Puig S, Puig-Butille JA, van der Stoep N, van Doorn R, van Workum W, Goldstein AM, Kanetsky PA, Pharoah PD, Demenais F, Hayward NK, Newton Bishop JA, Bishop DT, Iles MM, Geno MELC (2015) Fine mapping of genetic susceptibility loci for melanoma reveals a mixture of single variant and multiple variant regions. Int J Cancer 136(6):1351–1360
- Bell RJ, Rube HT, Kreig A, Mancini A, Fouse SD, Nagarajan RP, Choi S, Hong C, He D, Pekmezci M, Wiencke JK, Wrensch MR, Chang SM, Walsh KM, Myong S, Song JS, Costello JF (2015) Cancer. The transcription factor GABP selectively binds and activates the mutant TERT promoter in cancer. Science 348(6238):1036–1039

- Bertolotto C, Lesueur F, Giuliano S, Strub T, de Lichy M, Bille K, Dessen P, d'Hayer B, Mohamdi H, Remenieras A, Maubec E, de la Fouchardiere A, Molinie V, Vabres P, Dalle S, Poulalhon N, Martin-Denavit T, Thomas L, Andry-Benzaquen P, Dupin N, Boitier F, Rossi A, Perrot JL, Labeille B, Robert C, Escudier B, Caron O, Brugieres L, Saule S, Gardie B, Gad S, Richard S, Couturier J, Teh BT, Ghiorzo P, Pastorino L, Puig S, Badenas C, Olsson H, Ingvar C, Rouleau E, Lidereau R, Bahadoran P, Vielh P, Corda E, Blanche H, Zelenika D, Galan P, French Familial Melanoma Study Group, Aubin F, Bachollet B, Becuwe C, Berthet P, Bignon YJ, Bonadona V, Bonafe JL, Bonnet-Dupeyron MN, Cambazard F, Chevrant-Breton J, Coupier I, Dalac S, Demange L, d'Incan M, Dugast C, Faivre L, Vincent-Fetita L, Gauthier-Villars M, Gilbert B, Grange F, Grob JJ, Humbert P, Janin N, Joly P, Kerob D, Lasset C, Leroux D, Levang J, Limacher JM, Livideanu C, Longy M, Lortholary A, Stoppa-Lyonnet D, Mansard S, Mansuy L, Marrou K, Mateus C, Maugard C, Meyer N, Nogues C, Souteyrand P, Venat-Bouvet L, Zattara H, Chaudru V, Lenoir GM, Lathrop M, Davidson I, Avril MF, Demenais F, Ballotti R, Bressac-de Paillerets B (2011) A SUMOylation-defective MITF germline mutation predisposes to melanoma and renal carcinoma. Nature 480(7375):94-98
- Bishop DT, Demenais F, Iles MM, Harland M, Taylor JC, Corda E, Randerson-Moor J, Aitken JF, Avril MF, Azizi E, Bakker B, Bianchi-Scarra G, Bressac-de Paillerets B, Calista D, Cannon-Albright LA, Chin AWT, Debniak T, Galore-Haskel G, Ghiorzo P, Gut I, Hansson J, Hocevar M, Hoiom V, Hopper JL, Ingvar C, Kanetsky PA, Kefford RF, Landi MT, Lang J, Lubinski J, Mackie R, Malvehy J, Mann GJ, Martin NG, Montgomery GW, van Nieuwpoort FA, Novakovic S, Olsson H, Puig S, Weiss M, W, Zelenika D, Brown KM, van Workum Goldstein AM, Gillanders EM, Boland A, Galan P, Elder DE, Gruis NA, Hayward NK, Lathrop GM, Barrett JH, Bishop JA (2009) Genome-wide association study identifies three loci associated with melanoma risk. Nat Genet 41(8):920-925
- Bodelon C, Pfeiffer RM, Bollati V, Debbache J, Calista D, Ghiorzo P, Fargnoli MC, Bianchi-Scarra G, Peris K, Hoxha M, Hutchinson A, Burdette L, Burke L, Fang S, Tucker MA, Goldstein AM, Lee JE, Wei Q, Savage SA, Yang XR, Amos C, Landi MT (2012) On the interplay of telomeres, nevi and the risk of melanoma. PLoS One 7(12):e52466
- Brown KM, Macgregor S, Montgomery GW, Craig DW, Zhao ZZ, Iyadurai K, Henders AK, Homer N, Campbell MJ, Stark M, Thomas S, Schmid H, Holland EA, Gillanders EM, Duffy DL, Maskiell JA, Jetann J, Ferguson M, Stephan DA, Cust AE, Whiteman D, Green A, Olsson H, Puig S, Ghiorzo P, Hansson J, Demenais F, Goldstein AM, Gruis NA, Elder DE, Bishop JN, Kefford RF, Giles GG,

Armstrong BK, Aitken JF, Hopper JL, Martin NG, Trent JM, Mann GJ, Hayward NK (2008) Common sequence variants on 20q11.22 confer melanoma susceptibility. Nat Genet 40(7):838–840

- Campa D, Rizzato C, Stolzenberg-Solomon R, Pacetti P, Vodicka P, Cleary SP, Capurso G, Bueno-de-Mesquita HB, Werner J, Gazouli M, Butterbach K, Ivanauskas A, Giese N, Petersen GM, Fogar P, Wang Z, Bassi C, Ryska M, Theodoropoulos GE, Kooperberg C, Li D, Greenhalf W, Pasquali C, Hackert T, Fuchs CS, Mohelnikova-Duchonova B, Sperti C, Funel N, Dieffenbach AK, Wareham NJ, Buring J, Holcatova I, Costello E, Zambon CF, Kupcinskas J, Risch HA, Kraft P, Bracci PM, Pezzilli R, Olson SH, Sesso HD, Hartge P, Strobel O, Malecka-Panas E, Visvanathan K, Arslan AA, Pedrazzoli S, Soucek P, Gioffreda D, Key TJ, Talar-Wojnarowska R, Scarpa A, Mambrini A, Jacobs EJ, Jamroziak K, Klein A, Tavano F, Bambi F, Landi S, Austin MA, Vodickova L, Brenner H, Chanock SJ, Delle Fave G, Piepoli A, Cantore M, Zheng W, Wolpin BM, Amundadottir LT, Canzian F (2015) TERT gene harbors multiple variants associated with pancreatic cancer susceptibility. Int J Cancer 137(9): 2175-2183
- Cannon-Albright LA, Goldgar DE, Meyer LJ, Lewis CM, Anderson DE, Fountain JW, Hegi ME, Wiseman RW, Petty EM, Bale AE et al (1992) Assignment of a locus for familial melanoma, MLM, to chromosome 9p13p22. Science 258(5085):1148–1152
- Cannon-Albright LA, Teerlink CC, Farnham JM, Thomas AW, Zone JJ, Leachman SA (2013) Linkage analysis of extended high-risk pedigrees replicates a cutaneous malignant melanoma predisposition locus on chromosome 9q21. J Invest Dermatol 133(1):128–134
- Ceol CJ, Houvras Y, Jane-Valbuena J, Bilodeau S, Orlando DA, Battisti V, Fritsch L, Lin WM, Hollmann TJ, Ferre F, Bourque C, Burke CJ, Turner L, Uong A, Johnson LA, Beroukhim R, Mermel CH, Loda M, Ait-Si-Ali S, Garraway LA, Young RA, Zon LI (2011) The histone methyltransferase SETDB1 is recurrently amplified in melanoma and accelerates its onset. Nature 471(7339):513–517
- Choi J, Xu M, Makowski MM, Zhang T, Law MH, Kovacs MA, Granzhan A, Kim WJ, Parikh H, Gartside M, Trent JM, Teulade-Fichou MP, Iles MM, Newton-Bishop JA, Bishop DT, MacGregor S, Hayward NK, Vermeulen M, Brown KM (2017) A common intronic variant of PARP1 confers melanoma risk and mediates melanocyte growth via regulation of MITF. Nat Genet 49(9):1326–1335
- Codd V, Nelson CP, Albrecht E, Mangino M, Deelen J, Buxton JL, Hottenga JJ, Fischer K, Esko T, Surakka I, Broer L, Nyholt DR, Mateo Leach I, Salo P, Hagg S, Matthews MK, Palmen J, Norata GD, O'Reilly PF, Saleheen D, Amin N, Balmforth AJ, Beekman M, de Boer RA, Bohringer S, Braund PS, Burton PR, de Craen AJ, Denniff M, Dong Y, Douroudis K,

Dubinina E, Eriksson JG, Garlaschelli K, Guo D, AL, Hartikainen Henders AK, Houwing-Duistermaat JJ, Kananen L, Karssen LC, Kettunen J, Klopp N, Lagou V, van Leeuwen EM, Madden PA, Magi R, Magnusson PK, Mannisto S, McCarthy MI, Medland SE, Mihailov E, Montgomery GW, Oostra BA, Palotie A, Peters A, Pollard H, Pouta A, Prokopenko I, Ripatti S, Salomaa V, Suchiman HE, Valdes AM, Verweij N, Vinuela A, Wang X, Wichmann HE, Widen E, Willemsen G, Wright MJ, Xia K, Xiao X, van Veldhuisen DJ, Catapano AL, Tobin MD, Hall AS, Blakemore AI, van Gilst WH, Zhu H, Consortium C, Erdmann J, Reilly MP, Kathiresan S, Schunkert H, Talmud PJ, Pedersen NL, Perola M, Ouwehand W, Kaprio J, Martin NG, van Duijn CM, Hovatta I, Gieger C, Metspalu A, Boomsma DI, Jarvelin MR, Slagboom PE, Thompson JR, Spector TD, van der Harst P, Samani NJ (2013) Identification of seven loci affecting mean telomere length and their association with disease. Nat Genet 45(4):422-427. 427e421-422

- Consortium GT (2015) Human genomics. The Genotype-Tissue Expression (GTEx) pilot analysis: multitissue gene regulation in humans. Science 348(6235): 648–660
- Cowan JM, Francke U (1991) Cytogenetic analysis in melanoma and nevi. Cancer Treat Res 54:3–16
- Cowan JM, Halaban R, Francke U (1988) Cytogenetic analysis of melanocytes from premalignant nevi and melanomas. J Natl Cancer Inst 80(14):1159–1164
- Curtin JA, Fridlyand J, Kageshita T, Patel HN, Busam KJ, Kutzner H, Cho KH, Aiba S, Brocker EB, LeBoit PE, Pinkel D, Bastian BC (2005) Distinct sets of genetic alterations in melanoma. N Engl J Med 353(20): 2135–2147
- Davies JR, Jewell R, Affleck P, Anic GM, Randerson-Moor J, Ozola A, Egan KM, Elliott F, Garcia-Casado Z, Hansson J, Harland M, Hoiom V, Jian G, Jonsson G, Kumar R, Nagore E, Wendt J, Olsson H, Park JY, Patel P, Pjanova D, Puig S, Schadendorf D, Sivaramakrishna Rachakonda P, Snowden H, Stratigos AJ, Bafaloukos D, Ogbah Z, Sucker A, Van den Oord JJ, Van Doorn R, Walker C, Okamoto I, Wolter P, Barrett JH, Timothy Bishop D, Newton-Bishop J (2014) Inherited variation in the PARP1 gene and survival from melanoma. Int J Cancer 135:1625
- Di Domenico EG, Romano E, Del Porto P, Ascenzioni F (2014) Multifunctional role of ATM/Tell kinase in genome stability: from the DNA damage response to telomere maintenance. Biomed Res Int 2014:787404
- Dracopoli NC, Alhadeff B, Houghton AN, Old LJ (1987) Loss of heterozygosity at autosomal and X-linked loci during tumor progression in a patient with melanoma. Cancer Res 47(15):3995–4000
- Falchi M, Bataille V, Hayward NK, Duffy DL, Bishop JA, Pastinen T, Cervino A, Zhao ZZ, Deloukas P, Soranzo N, Elder DE, Barrett JH, Martin NG, Bishop DT, Montgomery GW, Spector TD (2009)

Genome-wide association study identifies variants at 9p21 and 22q13 associated with development of cutaneous nevi. Nat Genet 41(8):915–919

- Fletcher O, Johnson N, dos Santos Silva I, Orr N, Ashworth А, Nevanlinna H, Heikkinen T. Aittomaki Κ, Blomqvist C, Burwinkel Β, Bartram CR, Meindl A, Schmutzler RK, Cox A, Brock I, Elliott G, Reed MW, Southey MC, Smith L, Spurdle AB, Hopper JL, Couch FJ, Olson JE, Wang X, Fredericksen Z, Schurmann P, Waltes R, Bremer M, Dork T, Devilee P, van Asperen CJ, Tollenaar RA, Seynaeve C, Hall P, Czene K, Humphreys K, Liu J, Ahmed S, Dunning AM, Maranian M, Pharoah PD, Chenevix-Trench G, kConFab I, A. Group, Beesley J, Bogdanova NV, Antonenkova NN, Zalutsky IV, Anton-Culver H, Ziogas A, Brauch H, Ko YD, Hamann U, Consortium G, Fasching PA, Strick R, Ekici AB, Beckmann MW, Giles GG, Severi G, Baglietto L, English DR, Milne RL, Benitez J, Arias JI, Pita G, Nordestgaard BG, Bojesen SE, Flyger H, Kang D, Yoo KY, Noh DY, Mannermaa A, Kataja V, Kosma VM, Garcia-Closas M, Chanock S, Lissowska J, Brinton LA, Chang-Claude J, Wang-Gohrke S, Broeks A, Schmidt MK, van Leeuwen FE, Van't Veer LJ, Margolin S, Lindblom A, Humphreys MK, Morrison J, Platte R, Easton DF, Peto J, C. Breast Cancer Association (2010) Missense variants in ATM in 26,101 breast cancer cases and 29,842 controls. Cancer Epidemiol Biomark Prev 19(9):2143-2151
- Fukumoto I, Hanazawa T, Kinoshita T, Kikkawa N, Koshizuka K, Goto Y, Nishikawa R, Chiyomaru T, Enokida H, Nakagawa M, Okamoto Y, Seki N (2015) MicroRNA expression signature of oral squamous cell carcinoma: functional role of microRNA-26a/b in the modulation of novel cancer pathways. Br J Cancer 112(5):891–900
- Gaddameedhi S, Selby CP, Kemp MG, Ye R, Sancar A (2015) The circadian clock controls sunburn apoptosis and erythema in mouse skin. J Invest Dermatol 135(4): 1119–1127
- Gillanders E, Juo SH, Holland EA, Jones M, Nancarrow D, Freas-Lutz D, Sood R, Park N, Faruque M, Markey C, Kefford RF, Palmer J, Bergman W, Bishop DT, Tucker MA, Bressac-de Paillerets B, Hansson J, Stark M, Gruis N, Bishop JN, Goldstein AM, Bailey-Wilson JE, Mann GJ, Hayward N, Trent J, Lund Melanoma Study Group, Melanoma Genetics Consortium (2003) Localization of a novel melanoma susceptibility locus to 1p22. Am J Hum Genet 73(2):301–313
- Goldstein AM, Dracopoli NC, Ho EC, Fraser MC, Kearns KS, Bale SJ, McBride OW, Clark WH Jr, Tucker MA (1993) Further evidence for a locus for cutaneous malignant melanoma-dysplastic nevus (CMM/DN) on chromosome 1p, and evidence for genetic heterogeneity. Am J Hum Genet 52(3):537–550
- Goldstein AM, Chan M, Harland M, Gillanders EM, Hayward NK, Avril MF, Azizi E, Bianchi-Scarra G,

Bishop DT, Bressac-de Paillerets B, Bruno W, Calista D, Cannon Albright LA, Demenais F, Elder DE, Ghiorzo P, Gruis NA, Hansson J, Hogg D, Holland EA, Kanetsky PA, Kefford RF, Landi MT, Lang J, Leachman SA, Mackie RM, Magnusson V, Mann GJ, Niendorf K, Newton Bishop J, Palmer JM, Puig S, Puig-Butille JA, de Snoo FA, Stark M, Tsao H, Tucker MA, Whitaker L, Yakobson E, Melanoma Genetics C (2006) High-risk melanoma susceptibility genes and pancreatic cancer, neural system tumors, and uveal melanoma across GenoMEL. Cancer Res 66(20):9818–9828

- Gong Y, Zack TI, Morris LG, Lin K, Hukkelhoven E, Raheja R, Tan IL, Turcan S, Veeriah S, Meng S, Viale A, Schumacher SE, Palmedo P, Beroukhim R, Chan TA (2014) Pan-cancer genetic analysis identifies PARK2 as a master regulator of G1/S cyclins. Nat Genet 46(6):588–594
- Gruis NA, Sandkuijl LA, Weber JL, van der Zee A, Borgstein AM, Bergman W, Frants RR (1993) Linkage analysis in Dutch familial atypical multiple molemelanoma (FAMMM) syndrome families. Effect of naevus count. Melanoma Res 3(4):271–277
- Grundberg E, Small KS, Hedman AK, Nica AC, Buil A, Keildson S, Bell JT, Yang TP, Meduri E, Barrett A, Nisbett J, Sekowska M, Wilk A, Shin SY, Glass D, Travers M, Min JL, Ring S, Ho K, Thorleifsson G, Kong A, Thorsteindottir U, Ainali C, Dimas AS, Hassanali N, Ingle C, Knowles D, Krestyaninova M, Lowe CE, Di Meglio P, Montgomery SB, Parts L, Potter S, Surdulescu G, Tsaprouni L, Tsoka S, Bataille V, Durbin R, Nestle FO, O'Rahilly S, N, Soranzo Lindgren CM, Zondervan KT. Ahmadi KR, Schadt EE, Stefansson K, Smith GD, McCarthy MI, Deloukas P, Dermitzakis ET, Spector TD, C. Multiple Tissue Human Expression Resource (2012) Mapping cis- and trans-regulatory effects across multiple tissues in twins. Nat Genet 44(10):1084-1089
- Harland M, Mistry S, Bishop DT, Bishop JA (2001) A deep intronic mutation in CDKN2A is associated with disease in a subset of melanoma pedigrees. Hum Mol Genet 10(23):2679–2686
- Harland M, Petljak M, Robles-Espinoza CD, Ding Z, Gruis NA, van Doorn R, Pooley KA, Dunning AM, Aoude LG, Wadt KA, Gerdes AM, Brown KM, Hayward NK, Newton-Bishop JA, Adams DJ, Bishop DT (2016) Germline TERT promoter mutations are rare in familial melanoma. Fam Cancer 15(1): 139–144
- Helgason H, Rafnar T, Olafsdottir HS, Jonasson JG, Sigurdsson A, Stacey SN, Jonasdottir A, Tryggvadottir L, Alexiusdottir K, Haraldsson A, le Roux L, Gudmundsson J, Johannsdottir H, Oddsson A, Gylfason A, Magnusson OT, Masson G, Jonsson T, Skuladottir H, Gudbjartsson DF, Thorsteinsdottir U, Sulem P, Stefansson K (2015) Loss-of-function variants in ATM confer risk of gastric cancer. Nat Genet 47(8):906–910

- Horn S, Figl A, Rachakonda PS, Fischer C, Sucker A, Gast A, Kadel S, Moll I, Nagore E, Hemminki K, Schadendorf D, Kumar R (2013) TERT promoter mutations in familial and sporadic melanoma. Science 339(6122):959–961
- Hu HH, Kannengiesser C, Lesage S, Andre J, Mourah S, Michel L, Descamps V, Basset-Seguin N, Bagot M, Bensussan A, Lebbe C, Deschamps L, Saiag P, Leccia MT, Bressac-de-Paillerets B, Tsalamlal A, Kumar R, Klebe S, Grandchamp B, Andrieu-Abadie N, Thomas L, Brice A, Dumaz N, Soufir N (2016) PARKIN inactivation links Parkinson's disease to melanoma. J Natl Cancer Inst 108(3). pii: djv340
- Huang FW, Hodis E, Xu MJ, Kryukov GV, Chin L, Garraway LA (2013) Highly recurrent TERT promoter mutations in human melanoma. Science 339(6122): 957–959
- Hussussian CJ, Struewing JP, Goldstein AM, Higgins PA, Ally DS, Sheahan MD, Clark WH Jr, Tucker MA, Dracopoli NC (1994) Germline p16 mutations in familial melanoma. Nat Genet 8(1):15–21
- Iles MM, Law MH, Stacey SN, Han J, Fang S, Pfeiffer R, Harland M, Macgregor S, Taylor JC, Aben KK, Akslen LA, Avril MF, Azizi E, Bakker B, Benediktsdottir KR, Bergman W, Scarra GB, Brown KM, Calista D, Chaudru V, Fargnoli MC, Cust AE, Demenais F, de Waal AC, Debniak T, Elder DE, Friedman E, Galan P, Ghiorzo P, Gillanders EM, Goldstein AM, Gruis NA, Hansson J, Helsing P, Hocevar M, Hoiom V, Hopper JL, Ingvar C, Janssen M, Jenkins MA, Kanetsky PA, Kiemeney LA, Lang J, Lathrop GM, Leachman S, Lee JE, Lubinski J, Mackie RM, Mann GJ, Martin NG, Mayordomo JI, Molven A, Mulder S, Nagore E, Novakovic S, Okamoto I, Olafsson JH, Olsson H, Pehamberger H, Peris K, Grasa MP, Planelles D, Puig S, Puig-Butille JA, Randerson-Moor J, Requena С. Rivoltini L, Rodolfo Μ, Santinami M, Sigurgeirsson B, Snowden H, Song F, Sulem P, Thorisdottir K, Tuominen R, Van Belle P, van der Stoep N, van Rossum MM, Wei Q, Wendt J, Zelenika D, Zhang M, Landi MT, Thorleifsson G, Bishop DT, Amos CI, Hayward NK, Stefansson K, Bishop JA, Barrett JH, Geno MELC, QMEGA and QTWIN Investigators (2013) A variant in FTO shows association with melanoma risk not due to BMI. Nat Genet 45(4):428-432. 432e421
- Iles MM, Bishop DT, Taylor JC, Hayward NK, Brossard M, Cust AE, Dunning AM, Lee JE, Moses EK, Akslen LA, Investigators Α, Andresen PA, Avril MF, Azizi E, Scarra GB, Brown KM, Debniak T, Elder DE, Friedman E, Ghiorzo P, Gillanders EM, Goldstein AM, Gruis NA, Hansson J, Harland M, Helsing P, Hocevar M, Hoiom V, IBD investigators, Ingvar C, Kanetsky PA, Landi MT, Lang J, Lathrop GM, Lubinski J, Mackie RM, Martin NG, Molven Α, Montgomery GW, Novakovic S, Olsson H, Puig S, Puig-Butille JA, QMEGA and QTWIN Investigators,

Radford-Smith GL, Randerson-Moor J, SDH Study Group, van der Stoep N, van Doorn R, Whiteman DC, MacGregor S, Pooley KA, Ward SV, Mann GJ, Amos CI, Pharoah PD, Demenais F, Law MH, Newton Bishop JA, Barrett JH, Geno MELC (2014) The effect on melanoma risk of genes previously associated with telomere length. J Natl Cancer Inst 106(10). pii: dju267

- Jonsson G, Bendahl PO, Sandberg T, Kurbasic A, Staaf J, Sunde L, Cruger DG, Ingvar C, Olsson H, Borg A (2005) Mapping of a novel ocular and cutaneous malignant melanoma susceptibility locus to chromosome 9q21.32. J Natl Cancer Inst 97(18):1377–1382
- Kamb A, Shattuck-Eidens D, Eeles R, Liu Q, Gruis NA, Ding W, Hussey C, Tran T, Miki Y, Weaver-Feldhaus J et al (1994) Analysis of the p16 gene (CDKN2) as a candidate for the chromosome 9p melanoma susceptibility locus. Nat Genet 8(1):23–26
- Law MH, Macgregor S, Hayward NK (2012) Melanoma genetics: recent findings take us beyond well-traveled pathways. J Invest Dermatol 132(7):1763–1774
- Law MH, Bishop DT, Lee JE, Brossard M, Martin NG, Moses EK, Song F, Barrett JH, Kumar R, Easton DF, Pharoah PD, Swerdlow AJ, Kypreou KP, Taylor JC, Harland M, Randerson-Moor J, Akslen LA, Andresen PA, Avril MF, Azizi E, Scarra GB, Brown KM, Debniak T, Duffy DL, Elder DE, Fang S, Friedman E, Galan P, Ghiorzo P, Gillanders EM, Goldstein AM, Gruis NA, Hansson J, Helsing P, Hocevar M, Hoiom V, Ingvar C, Kanetsky PA, Chen WV, Geno MELC, Essen-Heidelberg I, SDH Study Group, Q-MEGA, QTWIN Investigators, AMFS Investigators, ATHENS Melanoma Study Group, Landi MT, Lang J, Lathrop GM, Lubinski J, Mackie RM, Mann GJ, Molven A, Montgomery GW, Novakovic S, Olsson H, Puig S, Puig-Butille JA, Qureshi AA, Radford-Smith GL, van der Stoep N, Doorn R, Whiteman DC, Craig JE, van Schadendorf D, Simms LA, Burdon KP, Nyholt DR, Pooley KA, Orr N, Stratigos AJ, Cust AE, Ward SV, Hayward NK, Han J, Schulze HJ, Dunning AM, Bishop JA, Demenais F, Amos CI, MacGregor S, Iles MM (2015) Genome-wide meta-analysis identifies five new susceptibility loci for cutaneous malignant melanoma. Nat Genet 47(9):987-995
- Li H, Xu Y, Mei H, Peng L, Li X, Tang J (2017) The TERT rs2736100 polymorphism increases cancer risk: a meta-analysis. Oncotarget 8(24):38693–38705
- Limm K, Wallner S, Milenkovic VM, Wetzel CH, Bosserhoff AK (2014) The metabolite 5'-methylthioadenosine signals through the adenosine receptor A2B in melanoma. Eur J Cancer 50(15): 2714–2724
- Liu L, Dilworth D, Gao L, Monzon J, Summers A, Lassam N, Hogg D (1999) Mutation of the CDKN2A 5' UTR creates an aberrant initiation codon and predisposes to melanoma. Nat Genet 21(1):128–132
- Liu F, Visser M, Duffy DL, Hysi PG, Jacobs LC, Lao O, Zhong K, Walsh S, Chaitanya L, Wollstein A, Zhu G,

Montgomery GW, Henders AK, Mangino M, Glass D, Bataille V, Sturm RA, Rivadeneira F, Hofman A, van IWF, Uitterlinden AG, Palstra RJ, Spector TD, Martin NG, Nijsten TE, Kayser M (2015) Genetics of skin color variation in Europeans: genome-wide association studies with functional follow-up. Hum Genet 134(8):823–835

- Lu Y, Ek WE, Whiteman D, Vaughan TL, Spurdle AB, Easton DF, Pharoah PD, Thompson DJ, Dunning AM, Hayward NK, Chenevix-Trench G, QMEGA and QTWIN Investigators, A. N.-S. dagger, U. K.-S. dagger, B. C. dagger, Macgregor S (2014) Most common 'sporadic' cancers have a significant germline genetic component. Hum Mol Genet 23(22): 6112–6118
- Macgregor S, Montgomery GW, Liu JZ, Zhao ZZ, Henders AK, Stark M, Schmid H, Holland EA, Duffy DL, Zhang M, Painter JN, Nyholt DR, Maskiell JA, Jetann J, Ferguson M, Cust AE, Jenkins MA, Whiteman DC, Olsson H, Puig S, Bianchi-Scarra G, Hansson J, Demenais F, Landi MT, Debniak T, Mackie R, Azizi E, Bressac-de Paillerets B, Goldstein AM, Kanetsky PA, Gruis NA, Elder DE, Newton-Bishop JA, Bishop DT, Iles MM, Helsing P, Amos CI, Wei Q, Wang LE, Lee JE, Qureshi AA, Kefford RF, Giles GG, Armstrong BK, Aitken JF, Han J, Hopper JL, Trent JM, Brown KM, Martin NG, Mann GJ, Hayward NK (2011) Genomewide association study identifies a new melanoma susceptibility locus at 1q21.3. Nat Genet 43(11):1114-1118
- Makowski MM, Willems E, Fang J, Choi J, Zhang T, Jansen PW, Brown KM, Vermeulen M (2016) An interaction proteomics survey of transcription factor binding at recurrent TERT promoter mutations. Proteomics 16(3):417–426
- Mitra D, Luo X, Morgan A, Wang J, Hoang MP, Lo J, Guerrero CR, Lennerz JK, Mihm MC, Wargo JA, Robinson KC, Devi SP, Vanover JC, D'Orazio JA, McMahon M, Bosenberg MW, Haigis KM, Haber DA, Wang Y, Fisher DE (2012) An ultravioletradiation-independent pathway to melanoma carcinogenesis in the red hair/fair skin background. Nature 491(7424):449–453
- Mucci LA, Hjelmborg JB, Harris JR, Czene K, Havelick DJ, Scheike T, Graff RE, Holst K, Moller S, Unger RH, McIntosh C, Nuttall E, Brandt I, Penney KL, Hartman M, Kraft P, Parmigiani G, Christensen K, Koskenvuo M, Holm NV, Heikkila K, Pukkala E, Skytthe A, Adami HO, Kaprio J, C. Nordic Twin Study of Cancer (2016) Familial risk and heritability of cancer among twins in Nordic countries. JAMA 315(1):68–76
- Nan H, Kraft P, Qureshi AA, Guo Q, Chen C, Hankinson SE, Hu FB, Thomas G, Hoover RN, Chanock S, Hunter DJ, Han J (2009) Genome-wide association study of tanning phenotype in a population of European ancestry. J Invest Dermatol 129(9): 2250–2257

- Nancarrow DJ, Mann GJ, Holland EA, Walker GJ, Beaton SC, Walters MK, Luxford C, Palmer JM, Donald JA, Weber JL et al (1993) Confirmation of chromosome 9p linkage in familial melanoma. Am J Hum Genet 53(4):936–942
- Palm W, de Lange T (2008) How shelterin protects mammalian telomeres. Annu Rev Genet 42:301–334
- Petty EM, Bolognia JL, Bale AE, Yang-Feng T (1993a) Cutaneous malignant melanoma and atypical moles associated with a constitutional rearrangement of chromosomes 5 and 9. Am J Med Genet 45(1):77–80
- Petty EM, Gibson LH, Fountain JW, Bolognia JL, Yang-Feng TL, Housman DE, Bale AE (1993b) Molecular definition of a chromosome 9p21 germ-line deletion in a woman with multiple melanomas and a plexiform neurofibroma: implications for 9p tumor-suppressor gene(s). Am J Hum Genet 53(1):96–104
- Pomerantz J, Schreiber-Agus N, Liegeois NJ, Silverman A, Alland L, Chin L, Potes J, Chen K, Orlow I, Lee HW, Cordon-Cardo C, DePinho RA (1998) The Ink4a tumor suppressor gene product, p19Arf, interacts with MDM2 and neutralizes MDM2's inhibition of p53. Cell 92(6): 713–723
- Puntervoll HE, Yang XR, Vetti HH, Bachmann IM, Avril MF, Benfodda M, Catricala C, Dalle S, Duval-Modeste AB, Ghiorzo P, Grammatico P, Harland M, Hayward NK, Hu HH, Jouary T, Martin-Denavit T, Ozola A, Palmer JM, Pastorino L, Pjanova D, Soufir N, Steine SJ, Stratigos AJ, Thomas L, Tinat J, Tsao H, Veinalde R, Tucker MA, Bressac-de Paillerets B, Newton-Bishop JA, Goldstein AM, Akslen LA, Molven A (2013) Melanoma prone families with CDK4 germline mutation: phenotypic profile and associations with MC1R variants. J Med Genet 50(4):264–270
- Rafnar T, Sulem P, Stacey SN, Geller F, Gudmundsson J, Sigurdsson A, Jakobsdottir M, Helgadottir H, Thorlacius S, Aben KK, Blondal T, Thorgeirsson TE, Thorleifsson G, Kristjansson K, Thorisdottir K, Ragnarsson R, Sigurgeirsson B, Skuladottir H, Gudbjartsson T, Isaksson HJ, Einarsson GV, Benediktsdottir KR, Agnarsson BA, Olafsson K, Salvarsdottir A, Bjarnason H, Asgeirsdottir M, Kristinsson KT, Matthiasdottir S, Sveinsdottir SG, V, Botella-Estrada Polidoro Hoiom S, R. Hemminki K, Rudnai P, Bishop DT, Campagna M, Kellen E, Zeegers MP, de Verdier P, Ferrer A, Isla D, Vidal MJ, Andres R, Saez B, Juberias P, Banzo J, Navarrete S, Tres A, Kan D, Lindblom A, Gurzau E, Koppova K, de Vegt F, Schalken JA, van der Heijden HF, Smit HJ, Termeer RA, Oosterwijk E, van Hooij O, Nagore E, Porru S, Steineck G, Hansson J, Buntinx F, Catalona WJ, Matullo G, Vineis P, Kiltie AE, Mayordomo JI, Kumar R, Kiemeney LA, Frigge ML, Jonsson T, Saemundsson H, Barkardottir RB, Jonsson E, Jonsson S, Olafsson JH, Gulcher JR, Masson G, Gudbjartsson DF, Kong A, Thorsteinsdottir U, Stefansson K (2009) Sequence variants at the TERT-

CLPTM1L locus associate with many cancer types. Nat Genet 41(2):221–227

- Rai K, Pilarski R, Cebulla CM, Abdel-Rahman MH (2016) Comprehensive review of BAP1 tumor predisposition syndrome with report of two new cases. Clin Genet 89(3):285–294
- Renwick A, Thompson D, Seal S, Kelly P, Chagtai T, Ahmed M, North B, Jayatilake H, Barfoot R, Spanova K, McGuffog L, Evans DG, Eccles D, C. Breast Cancer Susceptibility, Easton DF, Stratton MR, Rahman N (2006) ATM mutations that cause ataxia-telangiectasia are breast cancer susceptibility alleles. Nat Genet 38(8):873–875
- Robles-Espinoza CD, Harland M, Ramsay AJ, Aoude LG, Quesada V, Ding Z, Pooley KA, Pritchard AL, Tiffen JC, Petljak M, Palmer JM, Symmons J, Johansson P, Stark MS, Gartside MG, Snowden H, Montgomery GW, Martin NG, Liu JZ, Choi J, Makowski M, Brown KM, Dunning AM, Keane TM, Lopez-Otin C, Gruis NA, Hayward NK, Bishop DT, Newton-Bishop JA, Adams DJ (2014) POT1 loss-offunction variants predispose to familial melanoma. Nat Genet 46(5):478–481
- Sauter ER, Yeo UC, von Stemm A, Zhu W, Litwin S, Tichansky DS, Pistritto G, Nesbit M, Pinkel D, Herlyn M, Bastian BC (2002) Cyclin D1 is a candidate oncogene in cutaneous melanoma. Cancer Res 62(11): 3200–3206
- Serrano M, Hannon GJ, Beach D (1993) A new regulatory motif in cell-cycle control causing specific inhibition of cyclin D/CDK4. Nature 366 (6456):704–707
- Serrano M, Gomez-Lahoz E, DePinho RA, Beach D, Bar-Sagi D (1995) Inhibition of ras-induced proliferation and cellular transformation by p16INK4. Science 267(5195):249–252
- Shalini S, Dorstyn L, Dawar S, Kumar S (2015) Old, new and emerging functions of caspases. Cell Death Differ 22(4):526–539
- Shain AH, Yeh I, Kovalyshyn I, Sriharan A, Talevich E, Gagnon A, Dummer R, North J, Pincus L, Ruben B, Rickaby W, D'Arrigo C, Robson A, Bastian BC (2015) The Genetic Evolution of Melanoma from Precursor Lesions. N Engl J Med 373(20):1926–1936
- Shi J, Yang XR, Ballew B, Rotunno M, Calista D, Fargnoli MC, Ghiorzo P, Bressac-de Paillerets B, Nagore E, Avril MF, Caporaso NE, McMaster ML, Cullen M, Wang Z, Zhang X, NCI DCEG Cancer Sequencing Working Group, NCI DCEG Cancer Genomics Research Laboratory, French Familial Melanoma Study Group, Bruno W, Pastorino L, Queirolo P, Banuls-Roca J, Garcia-Casado Z, Vaysse A, Mohamdi H, Riazalhosseini Y, Foglio M, Jouenne F, Hua X, Hyland PL, Yin J, Vallabhaneni H, Chai W, Minghetti P, Pellegrini C, Ravichandran S, Eggermont A, Lathrop M, Peris K, Scarra GB, Landi G, Savage SA, Sampson JN, He J, Yeager M, Goldin LR, Demenais F, Chanock SJ, Tucker MA, Goldstein AM, Liu Y, Landi MT (2014) Rare missense

variants in POT1 predispose to familial cutaneous malignant melanoma. Nat Genet 46(5):482-486

- Smemo S, Tena JJ, Kim KH, Gamazon ER, Sakabe NJ, Gomez-Marin C, Aneas I, Credidio FL, Sobreira DR, Wasserman NF, Lee JH, Puviindran V, Tam D, Shen M, Son JE, Vakili NA, Sung HK, Naranjo S, Acemel RD, Manzanares M, Nagy A, Cox NJ, Hui CC, Gomez-Skarmeta JL, Nobrega MA (2014) Obesity-associated variants within FTO form long-range functional connections with IRX3. Nature 507(7492):371–375
- Soufir N, Avril MF, Chompret A, Demenais F, Bombled J, Spatz A, Stoppa-Lyonnet D, Benard J, Bressac-de Paillerets B (1998) Prevalence of p16 and CDK4 germline mutations in 48 melanoma-prone families in France. The French familial melanoma study group. Hum Mol Genet 7(2):209–216
- Stacey SN, Sulem P, Masson G, Gudjonsson SA, Thorleifsson G, Jakobsdottir M, Sigurdsson A, Gudbjartsson DF, Sigurgeirsson B, Benediktsdottir KR, Thorisdottir K, Ragnarsson R, Scherer D, Hemminki K, Rudnai P, Gurzau E, Koppova K, Botella-Estrada R, Soriano V, Juberias P, Saez B, Gilaberte Y, Fuentelsaz V, Corredera C, Grasa M, Hoiom V, Lindblom А, Bonenkamp JJ, van Rossum MM, Aben KK, de Vries E, Santinami M. Di Mauro MG. Maurichi A. Wendt J. Hochleitner P, Pehamberger H, Gudmundsson J, Magnusdottir DN, Gretarsdottir S, Holm H. Steinthorsdottir V, Frigge ML, Blondal Τ, Saemundsdottir J, Bjarnason H, Kristjansson K, Bjornsdottir G, Okamoto I, Rivoltini L, Rodolfo M, Kiemeney LA, Hansson J, Nagore E, Mayordomo JI, Kumar R, Karagas MR, Nelson HH, Gulcher JR, Rafnar T, Thorsteinsdottir U, Olafsson JH, Kong A, Stefansson K (2009) New common variants affecting susceptibility to basal cell carcinoma. Nat Genet 41(8): 909-914
- Turnbull C, Rapley EA, Seal S, Pernet D, Renwick A, Hughes D, Ricketts M, Linger R, Nsengimana J, Deloukas P, Huddart RA, Bishop DT, Easton DF, Stratton MR, Rahman N, U. K. T. C. Collaboration (2010) Variants near DMRT1, TERT and ATF7IP are associated with testicular germ cell cancer. Nat Genet 42(7):604–607
- Vizkeleti L, Ecsedi S, Rakosy Z, Orosz A, Lazar V, Emri G, Koroknai V, Kiss T, Adany R, Balazs M (2012) The role of CCND1 alterations during the progression of cutaneous malignant melanoma. Tumour Biol 33(6): 2189–2199
- Wang F, Podell ER, Zaug AJ, Yang Y, Baciu P, Cech TR, Lei M (2007) The POT1-TPP1 telomere complex is a telomerase processivity factor. Nature 445(7127): 506–510
- Wang Z, Zhu B, Zhang M, Parikh H, Jia J, Chung CC, Sampson JN, Hoskins JW, Hutchinson A, Burdette L, Ibrahim A, Hautman C, Raj PS, Abnet CC, Adjei AA, Ahlbom A, Albanes D, Allen NE, Ambrosone CB, Aldrich M, Amiano P, Amos C, Andersson U, Andriole G Jr, Andrulis IL, Arici C, Arslan AA,

Austin MA, Baris D, Barkauskas DA, Bassig BA, Beane Freeman LE, Berg CD, Berndt SI, Bertazzi PA, Biritwum RB, Black A, Blot W, Boeing H, Boffetta P, Bolton K, Boutron-Ruault MC, Bracci PM, Brennan P, Brinton LA, Brotzman M, Bueno-de-Mesquita HB, Buring JE, Butler MA, Cai Q, Cancel-Tassin G, Canzian F, Cao G, Caporaso NE, Carrato A, Carreon T, Carta A, Chang GC, Chang IS, Chang-Claude J, Che X, Chen CJ, Chen CY, Chen CH, Chen C, Chen KY, Chen YM, Chokkalingam AP, Chu LW, Clavel-Chapelon F, Colditz GA, Colt JS, Conti D, Cook MB, Cortessis VK, Crawford ED, Cussenot O, Davis FG, De Vivo I, Deng X, Ding T, Dinney CP, Di Stefano AL, Diver WR, Duell EJ, Elena JW, Fan JH, Feigelson HS, Feychting M, Figueroa JD, Flanagan AM, Fraumeni JF Jr, Freedman ND, Fridley BL, Fuchs CS, Gago-Dominguez M, Gallinger S, Gao YT, Gapstur SM, Garcia-Closas Μ, Garcia-Closas R, Gastier-Foster JM, Gaziano JM, Gerhard DS, Giffen CA, Giles GG, Gillanders EM, Giovannucci EL, Goggins M, Gokgoz N, Goldstein AM, Gonzalez C, Gorlick R, Greene MH, Gross M, Grossman HB, Grubb R 3rd, Gu J, Guan P, Haiman CA, Hallmans G, Hankinson SE, Harris CC, Hartge P, Hattinger C, Hayes RB, He Q, Helman L, Henderson BE, Henriksson R, Hoffman-Bolton J, Hohensee C, Holly EA, Hong YC, Hoover RN, Hosgood HD 3rd, Hsiao CF, Hsing AW, Hsiung CA, Hu N, Hu W, Hu Z, Huang MS, Hunter DJ, Inskip PD, Ito H, Jacobs EJ, Jacobs KB, Jenab M, Ji BT, Johansen C, Johansson M, Johnson A, Kaaks R, Kamat AM, Kamineni A, Karagas M, Khanna C, Khaw KT, Kim C, Kim IS, Kim JH, Kim YH, Kim YC, Kim YT, Kang CH, Jung YJ, Kitahara CM, Klein AP, Klein R, Kogevinas M, Koh WP, Kohno T, Kolonel LN, Kooperberg C, Kratz CP, Krogh V, Kunitoh H, Kurtz RC, Kurucu N, Lan Q, Lathrop M, Lau CC, Lecanda F, Lee KM, Lee MP, Le Marchand L, Lerner SP, Li D, Liao LM, Lim WY, Lin D, Lin J, Lindstrom S, Linet MS, Lissowska J, Liu J, Ljungberg B, Lloreta J, Lu D, Ma J, Malats N, Mannisto S, Marina N, Mastrangelo G, Matsuo K, McGlynn KA, McKean-Cowdin R, McNeill LH, McWilliams RR, Melin BS, Meltzer PS, Mensah JE, Miao X, Michaud DS, Mondul AM, Moore LE, Muir K, Niwa S, Olson SH, Orr N, Panico S, Park JY, Patel AV, Patino-Garcia A, Pavanello S, Peeters PH, Peplonska B, Peters U, Petersen GM, Picci P, Pike MC, Porru S, Prescott J, Pu X, Purdue MP, Qiao YL, Rajaraman P, Riboli E, Risch HA, Rodabough RJ, Rothman N, Ruder AM, Ryu JS, Sanson M, Schned A, Schumacher FR, Schwartz AG, Schwartz KL, Schwenn M, Scotlandi K, Seow A, Serra C, Serra M, Sesso HD, Severi G, Shen H, Shen M, Shete S, Shiraishi K, Shu XO, Siddiq A, Sierrasesumaga L, Sierri S, Loon Sihoe AD, Silverman DT, Simon M, Southey MC, Spector L, Spitz M, Stampfer M, Stattin P, Stern MC,

Stevens VL, Stolzenberg-Solomon RZ, Stram DO, Strom SS, Su WC, Sund M, Sung SW, Swerdlow A, Tan W, Tanaka H, Tang W, Tang ZZ, Tardon A, Tay E, Taylor PR, Tettey Y, Thomas DM, Tirabosco R, Tjonneland A, Tobias GS, Toro JR, Travis RC, Trichopoulos D, Troisi R, Truelove A, Tsai YH, Tucker MA, Tumino R, Van Den Berg D, Van Den Eeden SK, Vermeulen R, Vineis P, Visvanathan K, Vogel U, Wang C, Wang C, Wang J, Wang SS, Weiderpass E, Weinstein SJ, Wentzensen N, Wheeler W, White E, Wiencke JK, Wolk A, Wolpin BM, Wong MP, Wrensch M, Wu C, Wu T, Wu X, Wu YL, Wunder JS, Xiang YB, Xu J, Yang HP, Yang PC, Yatabe Y, Ye Y, Yeboah ED, Yin Z, Ying C, Yu CJ, Yu K, Yuan JM, Zanetti KA, Zeleniuch-Jacquotte A, Zheng W, Zhou B, Mirabello L, Savage SA, Kraft P, Chanock SJ, Yeager M, Landi MT, Shi J, Chatterjee N, Amundadottir LT (2014) Imputation and subset-based association analysis across different cancer types identifies multiple independent risk loci in the TERT-CLPTM1L region on chromosome 5p15.33. Hum Mol Genet 23(24):6616-6633

- Westra HJ, Peters MJ, Esko T, Yaghootkar H, Schurmann C, Kettunen J, Christiansen MW, Fairfax BP, Schramm K, Powell JE, Zhernakova A, Zhernakova DV, Veldink JH, Van den Berg LH, Karjalainen J, Withoff S, Uitterlinden AG, Hofman A, Rivadeneira F, t Hoen PA, Reinmaa E, Fischer K, Nelis M, Milani L, Melzer D, Ferrucci L, Singleton AB, Hernandez DG, Nalls MA, Homuth G, Nauck M, Radke D, Volker U, Perola M, Salomaa V, Brody J, Suchy-Dicey A, Gharib SA, Enquobahrie DA, Lumley T, Montgomery GW, Makino S, Prokisch H, Herder C, Roden M, Grallert H, Meitinger T, Strauch K, Li Y, Jansen RC, Visscher PM, Knight JC, Psaty BM, Ripatti S, Teumer A, Frayling TM, Metspalu A, van Meurs JB, Franke L (2013) Systematic identification of trans eQTLs as putative drivers of known disease associations. Nat Genet 45(10): 1238-1243
- Wiesner T, Obenauf AC, Murali R, Fried I, Griewank KG, Ulz P, Windpassinger C, Wackernagel W, Loy S, Wolf I, Viale A, Lash AE, Pirun M, Socci ND, Rutten A, Palmedo G, Abramson D, Offit K, Ott A, Becker JC, Cerroni L, Kutzner H, Bastian BC, Speicher MR (2011) Germline mutations in BAP1 predispose to melanocytic tumors. Nat Genet 43(10): 1018–1021
- Xin H, Liu D, Wan M, Safari A, Kim H, Sun W, O'Connor MS, Songyang Z (2007) TPP1 is a homologue of ciliate TEBP-beta and interacts with POT1 to recruit telomerase. Nature 445(7127):559–562
- Yang J, Bakshi A, Zhu Z, Hemani G, Vinkhuyzen AA, Lee SH, Robinson MR, Perry JR, Nolte IM, van Vliet-Ostaptchouk JV, Snieder H, LifeLines Cohort S, Esko T, Milani L, Magi R, Metspalu A, Hamsten A, Magnusson PK, Pedersen NL, Ingelsson E, Soranzo N, Keller MC, Wray NR, Goddard ME, Visscher PM (2015) Genetic variance estimation with imputed

variants finds negligible missing heritability for human height and body mass index. Nat Genet 47(10): 1114–1120

Yokoyama S, Woods SL, Boyle GM, Aoude LG, MacGregor S, Zismann V, Gartside M, Cust AE, Haq R, Harland M, Taylor JC, Duffy DL, Holohan K, Dutton-Regester K, Palmer JM, Bonazzi V, Stark MS, Symmons J, Law MH, Schmidt C, Lanagan C, O'Connor L, Holland EA, Schmid H, Maskiell JA, Jetann J, Ferguson M, Jenkins MA, Kefford RF, Giles GG, Armstrong BK, Aitken JF, Hopper JL, Whiteman DC, Pharoah PD, Easton DF, Dunning AM, Newton-Bishop JA, Montgomery GW, Martin NG, Mann GJ, Bishop DT, Tsao H, Trent JM, Fisher DE, Hayward NK, Brown KM (2011) A novel recurrent mutation in MITF predisposes to familial and sporadic melanoma. Nature 480(7375):99–103

Zuo L, Weger J, Yang Q, Goldstein AM, Tucker MA, Walker GJ, Hayward N, Dracopoli NC (1996) Germline mutations in the p16INK4a binding domain of CDK4 in familial melanoma. Nat Genet 12(1):97–99



# Epidemiology of Melanocytic Neoplasia

12

Margaret Anne Tucker

# Contents

Introduction	250
Population Patterns of Cutaneous Melanoma Incidence and Mortality	250 250
US Population-Based Data	251
Variation in US Melanoma Incidence and Mortality Over Time by Race and Ethnicity	252
Variation in US Melanoma Age-Specific Incidence by Gender and Calendar Period	254 256
Projections of Future US Melanoma Incidence and Mortality	257
Risk Factors for Cutaneous Melanoma	257
Solar and Artificial UV Radiation Host Susceptibility Factors	258 260 263
Medical Conditions Associated with an Increased Risk of Melanoma	263
Mucosal Melanoma	264
Ocular Melanoma	265
Conclusion	267
References	267

## Abstract

Cutaneous melanoma has increased rapidly worldwide over the past 60 years, moving from a rare cancer to one of the most common

M. A. Tucker (🖂)

Human Genetics Program, Division of Cancer Epidemiology and Genetics, National Cancer Institute, Bethesda, MD, USA e-mail: tuckerp@mail.nih.gov in the USA. This epidemic has led to epidemiologic and clinical studies to elucidate risk factors for cutaneous melanoma. The risk of melanoma varies by race and ethnicity. Lower socioeconomic status is associated with more advanced melanoma at the time of diagnosis. Identified risk factors for cutaneous melanoma include ultraviolet light exposure (sun and artificial) and host susceptibility factors such as family history of melanoma, dysplastic nevi,

© This is a U.S. government work and not under copyright protection in the U.S.; foreign copyright protection may apply 2019 D. E. Fisher, B. C. Bastian (eds.), *Melanoma*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-7147-9 33 250

increased number of nevi, light pigmentation (skin, hair, and eyes), and immunosuppression. Comprehensive sun/ultraviolet radiation (UV) protection measures, such as those implemented in Australia since the 1990s, are now showing an impact with decreasing incidence of cutaneous melanoma. Mucosal melanoma is distinct from cutaneous melanoma and does not appear to be UV-related. No known risk factors have been identified except for race and gender. Ocular melanoma is also a distinct entity with less evidence of UV exposure as a risk factor than for cutaneous. Host factors include light pigmentation and choroidal/iris nevi. Reciprocal increases in ocular and cutaneous melanoma suggest some common risk factors.

#### Keywords

Incidence · Mortality · Survival · Risk factors · Nevi · Cutaneous melanoma · Mucosal melanoma · Ocular melanoma

# Introduction

Before the early 1970s, cutaneous melanoma was considered a rare cancer; most health-care providers in the USA had never seen one. In Connecticut 1950-1954, the incidence of melanoma was 1.9 per 100,000 men and 2.6 per 100,000 women (Geller et al. 2013). The majority of diagnosed primary melanomas were bulky, advanced tumors, and a substantial proportion of melanomas were diagnosed as metastatic disease. In 2015, melanomas were the fifth most frequent cancer diagnosed in men and seventh in women in the USA, many of which are thin lesions. Disentangling the components of this dramatic change in patterns of disease over a relatively short period of time has been a complicated, global, multidisciplinary effort, as evidenced throughout this book. Melanoma rates vary widely across populations and geographic areas (in part because of differing ultraviolet exposures); no one population or geographic area has the whole answer to this puzzle. Pathologists have been crucial in defining subtypes of melanoma,

precursor lesions, and prognostic features. Epidemiologists have defined population patterns of risk and risk factors for melanoma. Clinicians have refined both clinical criteria for melanoma and diagnostic accuracy in detecting early melanoma and have developed targeted therapy for advanced disease. Geneticists have identified high- and low-risk germline susceptibility genes within families and populations and somatic drivers of melanocytic neoplasia. Laboratory scientists have elucidated the molecular mechanisms of melanoma development. Psychologists have explored the societal and behavioral components of melanoma risk. A synthetic classification of melanocytic neoplasia integrating many of these observations has been proposed (Bastian 2014). It has yet to be validated in population studies and is not used currently in tumor registries in which most of the population data are collected. Retrospective classification using this system is not feasible for data collected in the past decades but the system should be informative for future studies including whole genome sequencing of melanocytic neoplasia, where additional somatic driver mutations will likely be identified.

This chapter will primarily focus on cutaneous (skin) melanoma in light-skinned populations where the greatest risk occurs and most research has been conducted but will also explore population differences and other primary sites of melanoma: ocular and mucosal. There are few population-based data on the epidemiology of benign nevi, but they are important risk markers for and precursors of melanoma.

# Population Patterns of Cutaneous Melanoma Incidence and Mortality

## International Variation

Across the globe, incidence (the rate of newly diagnosed melanomas within a defined population) and mortality (the rate of death due to melanoma within a defined population) vary widely, both by extent of skin pigmentation in the population and by differential exposure to ultraviolet radiation.

	Incidence		Mortality	
Area	Number	ASR (W)	Number	ASR(W)
World: male	120,649	3.3	31,390	0.9
Female	111,481	2.8	24,098	0.6
Europe: male	47,290	8.6	12,058	1.2
Female	53,152	8.9	10,153	1.3
USA: male	40,078	16.8	6735	2.7
Female	29,031	12.6	3489	1.2
Asia: male	11,639	0.5	6377	0.3
Female	10,191	0.4	5366	0.2
Australia/New Zealand: male	8499	40.3	1406	6.0
Female	6239	30.5	613	2.4
South America: male	5766	2.9	1993	1.0
Female	5250	2.2	1526	0.6
WHO Africa region (AFRO): male	2621	1.2	1424	0.7
Female	3461	1.4	1894	0.8

 Table 1
 Estimated age-standardized (to world population) 2012 incidence and mortality rates of melanoma by geographic area (Globocan)

Table 1 shows the number of melanomas diagnosed by geographic area and gender in five continents and the USA in 2012. The incidence and mortality rates shown are age standardized to the world population which allows comparisons between populations with different age structures. The highest rates of melanoma incidence and mortality are in Australia and New Zealand, and the lowest rates of incidence and mortality are in Africa. Table 1 also demonstrates that both incidence and mortality rates are higher in men than women, except in Europe and Africa, where the rates are slightly higher in women than men (Globocan) (Table 2).

The numbers of skin melanomas diagnosed, and population-specific incidences in varying geographic locations, have changed over time with differing patterns. These differing patterns among populations have complicated the interpretation of data with regard to melanoma etiology. Melanoma incidence has been steadily increasing in populations worldwide over the last several decades, particularly in light-skinned groups. The International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC) estimates that 250,178 melanomas occurred worldwide in 2015 (Globocan). Of these, 130,800 occurred in men and 119,378 in women. Approximately 30% of global melanomas occurred in the USA overall, with gender (33% of global melanoma in men and 26% in women) and age (28% of global melanoma under age 65 and 32% age 65 and older) differences. Evaluating the patterns of melanoma within the USA, however, is instructive because of the diversity and large size of the population, the number of melanomas diagnosed every year, and the geographic size and latitudes of the country, with comparable data being collected in one reporting system. Complications of using US data are that the medical care system is not unified and the population is quite mobile, making tracking of individuals over time more difficult.

#### US Population-Based Data

In the USA, cancer rates are tracked by the Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results (SEER) Program, initiated in 1973 in the National Cancer Institute (Howlader et al. 2015). SEER started as a population-based registry in nine geographic areas. Since then, SEER has expanded to include a representative 28% of the US population. SEER tracks both new cancers that occur in the population within the SEER registry areas and deaths from cancer in total in the USA. Similar to most nationwide tumor registries, although criteria for diagnoses are used and common coding of the

Thickness in mm	1989–1993	1994–1998	1999–2003	2004–2008
0.01-1.00	9609 (52.4%)	15,624 (56.8%)	35,881 (60.8%)	49,628 (64.2%)
1.01-2.00	2448 (13.3%)	3918 (14.2%)	7696 (13.0%)	10,345 (13.4%)
2.01-4.00	1430 (7.8%)	2138 (7.8%)	4406 (7.5%)	6042 (7.8%)
>4.00	693 (3.8%)	1197 (4.3%)	2534 (4.3%)	4266 (5.5%)
Unknown	4175 (22.7%)	4631 (16.8%)	8472 (14.4%)	7054 (9.1%)

**Table 2** Distribution of primary invasive melanomas by 5-year calendar periods in SEER, 1989–2008 (amended from Shaikh et al. 2013)

diagnoses occurs, there is no independent systematic histologic review of diagnoses, and no genetic information (either germline or somatic) is available. SEER sites focus primarily on invasive cancers; data presented here are for invasive melanoma only. The majority of cancer diagnoses collected by SEER are obtained from hospital records, but melanoma diagnoses have required additional steps, since a growing number of melanomas are removed as outpatient surgical procedures, rather than occurring in a hospital setting. SEER enhances retrieval of pathology reports from private dermatopathology laboratories within SEER catchment areas, but there is a lag of several years in obtaining these data (Clegg et al. 2002). This delay can result in an apparent downturn in melanoma incidence in the most recent years of reporting, which is adjusted as new data are obtained. In some SEER reports, delay-adjusted analyses are also provided.

Thickness of melanomas is available in the SEER registry only after 1988, and histologic attributes recommended for standard melanoma pathology reports are inconsistently recorded in the original local pathology reports. In a review of 182,184 cases of invasive melanoma records in SEER from 1989 to 2008, thickness was missing in 13% (Shaikh et al. 2013).

The proportion of unknown thickness decreased significantly with time ( $P_{trend} < 0.001$ ) from 23% in 1989–1993 to 9% in 2004–2008. The analyses focused on the attributes of the melanomas with unknown thickness. Unknown thickness cases were twice as likely to be young (0–14), 40% more likely to be Asian/Pacific Islanders, and 20% more likely to be Hispanics, with poor prognosis attributes and threefold increased risk of death due to melanoma. Survival also appeared to be most similar to melanomas

2.01–4.00 mm thick. Shaikh and colleagues used multiple imputation to estimate tumor thickness, which was associated with approximately 30% increased melanoma survival and was also associated with Clark level (85% increased), but the magnitude of these associations was lower than among the melanomas with measured thickness. The authors raised the appropriate concern that not including the melanomas with unknown thickness in population analyses could bias results since they tend to represent poorer prognosis cases.

Melanoma rates can be separated also by the anatomic site where the primary melanoma arose. Site data are probably least reliable for mucosal sites, which even when known can be challenging to code. Data on deaths are also collected by SEER from death certificates. Incidence rates presented in this chapter are the number of new invasive melanomas per 100,000 people in specified groups (for instance, defined by age, gender, geographic location, location of melanoma, etc.) over specified calendar periods. For rare cancers, such as mucosal or ocular melanomas, incidence may be expressed as new cases per million individuals. Mortality rates are similar to incidence rates, but deaths from melanoma are counted instead of new melanomas. Join-point analyses show areas of inflection in curves when rates are significantly changing and are indicated by the lines in Fig. 1.

## Variation in US Melanoma Incidence and Mortality Over Time by Race and Ethnicity

Figure 1 shows the incidence of and mortality from cutaneous melanoma in the USA from 1975 to 2012 for Whites and Blacks and from



Fig. 1 Join-point analyses of cutaneous melanoma incidence and mortality by race/ethnicity in the US Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results Program

1992 to 2012 for Asian/Pacific Islanders, American Indians/Alaska Natives, and Hispanics, the racial and ethnic groups captured in SEER data. Hispanic is not mutually exclusive from Whites, Blacks, Asian/Pacific Islanders, and American Indians/Alaska Natives. Melanoma incidence has steadily increased among the White population (with the least pigmentation) over the calendar period. Mortality in Whites has also risen slightly, but the increase is much less than that in incidence. In contrast, the incidence and mortality rates among African-Americans, Native Americans/Alaskans, and Asian/Pacific Islanders have been relatively stable and quite similar. Of note, mortality is proportionately higher in these groups than in Whites. The types and anatomic sites for melanoma differ substantially among lighter-(mostly Whites) and darker-pigmented (Blacks, Asian/Pacific Islanders, and American Indians/ Alaska Natives) individuals. The most common site among the lightly pigmented individuals is the trunk, followed by the limbs, and then the head and neck. The sites and subtypes vary by age and

1975–2012. Data points are not included for clarity of presentation but may be found at http://seer.cancer.gov/ csr/1975_2012/sections.html Fig. 16.2

gender. Among more deeply pigmented individuals, the most common site of melanomas is on the sole of the foot or palm of the hand or subungual (underneath the nail, usually the great toe or thumb). These acral lentiginous melanomas usually occur at older ages and are frequently more advanced lesions with a poorer prognosis. The incidence rates of acral lentiginous melanomas are similar in all races and ethnicities, but they account for differing percentiles of total melanomas in different groups. They also tend to have a different pattern of somatic mutations than the melanomas arising in sun-exposed skin of less pigmented individuals (see ► Chap. 7, "Molecular Genetics of Melanocytic Neoplasia"). Given the lack of UV exposure in the acral sites, and the stability of the rates of these melanomas across differing skin pigmentation, latitudes, and ambient UV flux, it is unlikely that these melanomas develop in response to UV exposure. More deeply pigmented individuals may also develop any of the other melanoma subtypes, in sun-exposed or protected sites, but at lower rates than Whites. The



**Fig. 2** Age-specific incidence per 100,000 Whites, by gender, of cutaneous melanoma in the US Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results Program, 2000–2002 and 2010–2012

relative site and stage distributions of melanomas differ, however. Melanomas are more frequent in the lower limbs in more highly pigmented men than in White men (likely due to the higher percentage of acral lentiginous melanomas). More deeply pigmented women have higher stage disease at diagnosis than white Women (Park et al. 2012). In the USA, non-Hispanic whites tend to be in higher socioeconomic status and to have thinner superficial spreading melanomas, but Hispanics are more likely to have lower socioeconomic status and have melanomas thicker than 2 mm, often acral lentiginous or nodular (Pollitt et al. 2011). One problem contributing to the advanced stage of disease detection among more pigmented individuals is that they may not realize they are at risk and can develop melanoma, in part because of past public messaging about melanoma. Another problem for early detection of melanomas in the USA in the past has been the lack of medical care coverage for many individuals (Amini et al. 2016).

# Variation in US Melanoma Age-Specific Incidence by Gender and Calendar Period

Figure 2 shows the age-specific incidence of melanoma in US white males and females in two time periods, 2001-2002 and 2011-2012 (Howlader et al. 2015). In early childhood (before age 10), there is little separation of the incidence between genders in the USA, Germany, Great Britain, or Australia (Howlader et al. 2015; Brecht et al. 2015, Wallingford et al. 2015). These rare, early melanomas may arise in large congenital nevi (often identified by multiple overlapping sites). Melanomas in early childhood may also arise from Spitz nevi, but it is difficult in population-based cancer registries to identify systematically melanomas arising from Spitz nevi without conducting an expert pathology review. Limited data suggest that less than 20% of pediatric melanomas are

Spitzoid melanomas (Brecht et al. 2015). Data from a Spitzoid tumor registry suggest that the mean age at diagnosis of Spitzoid melanomas is 55 and of Spitz nevus is 22 (Lott et al. 2014). Spitz nevi have characteristic somatic genetic alterations (see  $\triangleright$  Chap. 18, "Spitz Tumors"). In contrast, based on limited numbers of tumors analyzed, Spitzoid melanomas defined by histology show similar somatic genetic changes as unselected melanomas (Lazova et al. 2017).

From age 10 on, the rates of melanoma increase more rapidly in young females than males in the USA, Germany, Denmark, Great Britain, and Australia (Campbell et al. 2015; Brecht et al. 2015; Helvind et al. 2015; Wallingford et al. 2015). In these countries, the distribution of subtypes and anatomic sites of melanoma after age 10 is similar to adult melanomas. In Germany and in England, the trunk is the most frequent site of melanoma in males and legs in females in teenage years (Brecht et al. 2015; Wallingford et al. 2015). After age 10 in the USA, the incidence rates in females into young adulthood have risen steadily over time. Although in the past, similar to adult women, legs were the most frequent anatomic site among teenage girls, currently among teenagers and young adult women (under age 40), truncal melanomas are increasing more rapidly than any other site or age group (Bradford et al. 2010). This change, with the trunk increasing more rapidly than other sites, may be related to patterns of UV exposure and tanning practices in these specific birth cohorts. A similar pattern of female excess in melanoma through young adulthood, with the most common site changing from the lower extremity to trunk, is also seen in Denmark (Helvind et al. 2015). Among Australian teenagers, the trunk was the most common site for both sexes (Wallingford et al. 2015). Australia has had an active public health awareness program and extensive public education about UV exposure and sun-protective practices since the early 1980s. Since the early 1990s, incidence rates of melanoma have decreased substantially in both younger children and adolescents in Australia but have continued to increase in England. These trends suggest the important

role of comprehensive UV protection programs, especially at early ages, in preventing melanoma (Wallingford et al. 2015).

Limited data from SEER suggest similar patterns in the USA in those under 20 years old from 2000 to 2010. For boys 15-19, the annual decrease was approximately 8% per year from 2000 to 2010. For girls 15-19, from 2000 to 2003, there was a roughly 17% increase per year; from 2004 to 2010, this trend changed to an 11% decrease per year. The authors suggest that the change in incidence compared to earlier years might reflect the impact of sun protection education since the 1990s or perhaps decreased outdoor activities (Campbell et al. 2015). If the delay-adjusted incidence in the most recent years does not substantively increase (with additional melanomas from private histopathology labs reported to SEER), this would be an encouraging trend.

As seen in Fig. 2, the female predominance in the US Whites lasts until the late 40's in age, after which the incidence in men exceeds the incidence in women. Previously, the rate of increase slowed substantially in women in this age range, accentuating the gender difference as the rates in men rapidly increased. In 2011, the rate of increase in women was similar over the older age range (cumulative doubling of the incidence from age 50-54 to 85+), but the rates in men increased substantially (cumulative 5.5-fold increase from 50–54 to 85+) (Guy et al. 2015). In Denmark, the female incidence rates remain higher than male rates until age 60 and older (Helvind et al. 2015). The male excess at older ages has been of particular concern because the lesions tend to be thicker melanomas, often of the nodular subtype, associated with increased mortality. The rate of ulceration, a poor prognostic feature, is also highest in older men with thicker lesions (over 2.01 mm) and is approximately double that of older women with the same thickness lesions (Richardson et al. 2014). The melanoma mortality in the USA for 50-54 year old women is 2.0, increasing to 14.6 per 100,000 for those over age 85. For men, the melanoma mortality for 50-54 year olds is 3.6, increasing to 40.7 per 100,000 for those over 85 (Guy et al. 2015).

## Variation in Melanoma Survival

Survival also differs between the sexes, with women having better survival than men after adjustment for all clinical and demographic risk factors. In both Australia and the USA, men are older at the time of diagnosis, have thicker or ulcerated lesions, and are less likely to have melanomas on the arms or legs. Even after thin melanomas, however, survival is better in women than in men. The gender differences by age groups are broadly consistent with ages of hormonal differences in women, suggesting that this hypothesis could be explored further (Khosrotehrani et al. 2015).

Melanoma is one of the most common cancers occurring during pregnancy, a time of altered immune status. Byrom et al. (2015) and colleagues conducted a systematic review and metaanalysis of published data from cohort studies of women of childbearing age with confirmed diagnoses of melanoma. Eleven studies compared risk of melanoma death among women diagnosed during pregnancy (and up to 1 year postpartum) to those diagnosed when not pregnant. In five of six studies including only primary melanomas without known metastases, there were no significant differences in melanoma mortality. In the five including all stages of melanoma, three also showed no differences in melanoma mortality, accounting for stage at diagnosis. Quantitative mortality estimates were reported in four studies; the pooled hazard ratio was 1.56 (1.23-1.99). Although this hazard ratio is of concern, it is based on relatively limited data.

Survival also varies by calendar period, driven in large part by the decreasing thickness of melanoma over time. Melanoma thickness has been incorporated into the SEER data since 1988. Thickness, however, is missing for a varying proportion of reported melanomas particularly in the early years. A concern that has arisen is that the increase in incidence rates and the improving survival are due to overdiagnosis of very thin lesions. Incorporating imputed data for thickness, incidence overall and within each thickness category (T stage) increased significantly over a 20-year period. Five-year survival also increased for each thickness group, and the median thickness of each group decreased. Since melanoma is by far most common in Whites, these results largely reflect Whites. Other racial and ethnic groups did not show the same benefits (Shaikh et al. 2016). These data, including increases in thicker as well as thinner lesions, suggest that the increasing incidence of melanoma is not due solely to overdiagnosis of very thin lesions.

The concern about overdiagnosis of nevi or in situ melanomas as thin invasive melanomas is based in large part on the dramatic increase of melanoma diagnoses disproportionate to increases in mortality (in the prior absence of effective treatment for metastatic disease) (see Fig. 1). For example, in 1950–1954 in Connecticut, the overall melanoma incidence in men was 1.9 (per 100,000) and in women 2.6 (per 100,000); by 2007, these rates had increased to 33.5 for men and 25.3 for women. Over the same calendar period, the mortality has increased from 1.6 to 4.9 (per 100,000) for men and from 1.3 to 2.6 (per 100,000) for women (Geller et al. 2013). Similar patterns of increases in other geographic areas have led some to postulate overdiagnosis of thin invasive melanomas. In the USA, this could be a valid concern, since misdiagnosis of melanoma (usually missing the diagnosis rather than overcalling thin melanomas) is one of the most frequent reasons for malpractice suits. In a recent survey, one-third of dermatopathologists reported that they had had past malpractice experiences. Most respondents felt that malpractice concerns increased the likelihood of doing additional sections and specialized stains and seeking a second opinion to ensure best care for the patients, independent of whether they had previous experience with a malpractice suit (Carney et al. 2016). Clinically, the differences in excision margins and outcome of a severely dysplastic nevus versus in situ melanoma or an in situ melanoma versus very thin melanoma are relatively small. Previously, however, in the USA, those differences in diagnosis could have major implications for obtaining insurance, before the Affordable Care Act. The differences in risk of progression to metastatic disease between these lesions are also small, and an individual who has

developed a severely dysplastic nevus needs similar surveillance to that of an individual who has had an early invasive melanoma so that the differences in clinical management are minimal (Pomerantz et al. 2015).

Thin invasive melanomas, however, may not be a trivial diagnosis. Even though the risk of progression and metastases is quite low with thin invasive melanomas, in the population with the highest incidence rate of melanoma, Queensland and Australia, more individuals die of melanoma after a diagnosis of thin ( $\leq 1$  mm) melanomas than thicker (4+ mm) (Whiteman et al. 2015). This is largely due to the majority of melanomas being diagnosed early. The Australian population should be the group in which the phenomenon of more deaths from thin melanomas than from thicker would be recognized sooner than in other populations because of the comprehensive implementation of education about UV protection and early detection of melanoma since the early 1980s. Since then, the percentage of individuals diagnosed by metastases only with no known primary and those with unknown thickness decreased in both incidence and mortality. The percentage of thin melanomas to which death was attributed, however, increased from 14% in 1990-1994 to 23% in 2005-2009. It is also important to note that the latency between diagnosis of thin melanoma and death has increased from median of 5 years (25% died by 3 years; 75% by 6 years) in 1990–1994 to 7 years (25% died by 4 years; 75% by 13 years) in 2005–2009 (Whiteman et al. 2015). The later data may reflect more complete capture of delayed recurrences. In their accompanying commentary, Geller and colleagues appropriately point out that prognostic attributes for recurrence in thick melanomas also pertain to thin melanomas. They questioned whether these attributes were present in those who died and whether their lesions were, in fact, closer to 1 mm than much thinner (Geller et al. 2015). In addition, it will be important to assess if specific somatic alterations also predict risk of recurrence, but this is logistically difficult with the small size of the tumors and the challenges of working with formalin fixed tissues with melanin.

# Projections of Future US Melanoma Incidence and Mortality

Using US melanoma data from 1982 through 2011, Guy (2015) projected US melanoma incidence and mortality through 2030 and estimated costs of treatment and potential cost savings, if a nationwide UV protection program were implemented, similar to SunSmart in Australia. As shown in Fig. 1, the incidence of melanoma is highest in non-Hispanic Whites and in Fig. 2, higher in men than women and increases with age. Mortality also increases with age for both genders. Incidence rates are projected to increase for White males and females though 2019, but mortality rates are projected to be stable. Using population data and gender-specific melanoma treatment costs, Guy projected treatment costs for melanoma with and without a reduction in melanoma from implementing a UV protection program, with a 5-year lag period between implementation of the program and reduction of melanoma incidence. Without new UV interventions, 112,000 new melanoma cases are projected for 2030. A comprehensive skin cancer prevention program could decrease melanoma incidence by 20%, for a total reduction of 230,000 new melanomas between 2020 and 2030. Medical costs of treating newly diagnosed melanomas are estimated to increase >250% from 2011 to 2030 (\$457 million to \$1.6 billion). The reduction in new cases from the UV protection program would save approximately \$250 million a year from 2020 to 2030 for a total of \$2.7 billion (Guy et al. 2015). Guy was using estimates of treatment cost from 2011, before the new expensive targeted therapies for metastatic melanoma were generally used; these are, therefore, very conservative cost savings estimates if widespread sun/UV protective practices were to be implemented.

## **Risk Factors for Cutaneous Melanoma**

As with other common adult onset cancers, melanoma develops as a result of complex interactions of environmental exposures and host susceptibility factors, many of which have strong genetic components. The major genetic determinants of melanoma susceptibility will only be very briefly mentioned in this chapter but are comprehensively covered in ▶ Chaps. 7, "Molecular Genetics of Melanocytic Neoplasia" and ▶ 11, "Inherited Contributions to Melanoma Risk" and others.

## Solar and Artificial UV Radiation

The recognized epidemic of cutaneous melanoma has led to multiple etiologic studies worldwide, starting in Australia, which has the highest rates of melanoma. Almost all have demonstrated that the major environmental risk factor for melanoma is ultraviolet radiation exposure, whether natural from the sun or artificial from tanning beds or sunlamps. The first studies to convincingly implicate ambient UV levels as a risk factor for melanoma were the studies beginning in the 1950s of the migrants to Australia (Whiteman et al. 2011). At the population level, residential latitude and measures of ambient UV from the sun, along with various measures of time spent outdoors have been used to estimate exposure. The majority of the individual epidemiologic data has been reconstruction of retrospective dose collected from questionnaire data. Lifetime residential data has been used to estimate exposure to measured ambient UV. Recently initiated studies, however, have started to employ wearable UV monitors to sample daily activities over specified times (Petersen et al. 2015). In high sun areas, the major exposures are often ambient UV and time outdoors, modified by extent and type of sunscreen use and sun-protective measures, time of day of exposure, clothing worn including types of hats, recreational activities, and occupational activities. Recall of these routine types of activities is often imprecise and subject to "averaging" over a lifetime. Even in high sun areas, however, tanning bed use is an important risk factor for melanoma among users (Cust et al. 2011). For those in low ambient UV areas, such as Northern Europe, the major UV exposures often occur with vacations in sunny areas (which are often more distinctly remembered) or tanning bed use (Nielsen et al. 2012). Early on in studies of the etiology

of melanoma, these variations in types of exposure in different populations were the source of energized discussions about whether intermittent or chronic exposure was the dominant cause of melanoma.

Table 3 shows the results of meta-analyses of both sun exposure and use of tanning devices. Over time, it has become clear that both chronic exposure and intermittent exposure are important for melanoma risk with differences in measurements and in populations (Gandini et al. 2005) and lead to different sites and types of melanoma (Whiteman et al. 2011). Occupational exposure has been complicated to use as a measure, partially due to inherent bias in the selection of working outdoors; individuals who burn easily are less likely to choose high sun exposure employment without protection in a high ambient UV area. Despite the plethora of approaches to assessing UV exposure, the associations are relatively consistent. Lentigo maligna melanoma seems to be the subtype most strongly associated with chronic exposure, typically occurring on the face, neck, hands, and lower arms and legs and frequently related to occupational exposures in the past or extensive recreational time outdoors without sun protection. These lesions often occur in older individuals with badly sun-damaged skin (cumulative sun-induced damage) who often have a previous history of non-melanoma skin cancers (Bastian 2014). The most frequent subtype of melanoma, superficial spreading melanoma, tends to occur on intermittently exposed areas of the body, such as the trunk, upper arms, and legs, often arising from a precursor nevus.

Other measures of UV exposure (and UV sensitivity) that have been used to assess melanoma risk include number of sunburns and age at sunburns (Gandini et al. 2005). Sunburn is a complicated exposure measure, however, because it reflects not only intensity and possible duration of UV exposure but also the individual susceptibility to sunburn, largely a result of genetic factors including pigmentation and in rare cases (such as individuals with Xeroderma pigmentosum), DNA repair mechanisms (see ► Chap. 11, "Inherited Contributions to Melanoma Risk"). As shown in Table 3, sunburns are associated with a higher

	Years of	# Studies		
Exposure	studies	included	RR (95% CI)	Citation
Sun exposure	1969–2002	57		Gandini et al. (2005)
Total sun	1969–2002	15	1.43 (1.02–1.77)	
Intermittent	1982-2002	33	1.61 (1.31–1.99)	
Chronic sun	1981–2002	41	0.95 (0.87–1.04) (latitude dependent)	
Sunburns	1982-2002	33	2.03 (1.73–2.37)	
Indoor tanning	<2013	31		Colantonia et al. (2014)
Ever/never	1981–2012	31	1.16 (1.05–1.28)	
Before 2000	1981-2008	21	1.12 (1.00–1.26)	
After 2000	2005-2012	10	1.22 (1.03–1.45)	
>10 sessions	1994–2012	10	1.34 (1.05–1.71)	
By continent				
North America	1986–2012	8	1.23 (1.03–1.47)	
Europe	1981–2012	21	1.10 (0.98–1.24)	
Oceania	1986–2011	2	1.33 (0.99–1.78)	
First use <25 years	1998–2012	6	1.35 (0.99–1.84)	
First use $\geq 25$ years	1998–2012	6	1.11 (0.86–1.42)	

 Table 3
 Meta-analysis of relative risks (RR) of melanoma by different types of UV exposure

risk of melanoma than the various other measures of UV exposure, likely due to sunburns occurring in more susceptible individuals. Freckling has also been assessed as a risk factor for melanoma, and this, too, is a complex measure of both UV exposure and host susceptibility (particularly variations in MC1R and other pigmentation genes) (see ► Chap. 11, "Inherited Contributions to Melanoma Risk"). Seasonal variation in the diagnosis of melanoma has also been noted in multiple populations, with higher rates of melanoma diagnosis (particularly superficial spreading melanomas) in summer than in winter (Walter et al. 2015), even in tropical climates, perhaps related to evolution of pigmented lesions to invasive melanoma.

The most recent UV exposure that has been extensively evaluated is the use of sunlamps/tanning beds for tanning and maintaining a tan. This, too, has been a complex exposure to disentangle from other exposures, because individuals who tan usually seek both outdoor and indoor UV exposure. In 2009, IARC conducted an expert review of the data regarding the carcinogenicity of tanning beds and considered them carcinogens (El Ghissassi et al. 2009). Meta-analyses of tanning bed exposure have been conducted, but they do not usually account for the environmental UV exposure and tanning (Colantonio et al. 2014) (Table 3). In contrast, Cust et al. (2011) found in young women who used sunbeds multiple times had approximately doubled melanoma risks after adjustment for host factors and sun exposure. In the Swedish cohort of women aged 25-39 at enrollment, both sunny vacation and sunbed use were risk factors for melanoma (Nielsen et al. 2012). In Sweden, UVB in sunbeds was restricted by law in 1982 so that the tanning bed exposure was predominantly UVA. Among those under the age 40, the risk of using a tanning bed more than ten times a year was more than doubled. In an earlier study of adults in Minnesota where the ambient UV is relatively low, tanning beds were the participants' dominant source of UV exposure, approximately doubling their risk of melanoma Lazovich et al. (2010). Risk of melanoma increased with more years of use, total hours of use, and longer sessions at a time. UVB-enhanced devices tripled risk of melanoma, and primarily UVA devices quadrupled risk.

Since 2009, multiple countries have restricted access to tanning beds. Similar to their much earlier adoption of UV protection, Australia was early in control of commercial tanning establishments. In 2015, Australia banned commercial tanning. Several of the provinces of Canada have banned access to commercial tanning establishments to individuals under 18. In December 2015, the US Food and Drug Administration proposed rule changes for access to sunlamp/sunbed products. Only individuals aged 18 and older would be able to use commercial sunlamp/sunbed products. Before their first tanning session and every 6 months afterward, users would have to sign a risk acknowledgement certification before being allowed access to a tanning device. Additional safety improvements in the tanning devices would also be required (FDA 2015).

A relatively new insight into tanning behavior has occurred in the past several years. There is a growing body of evidence that tanning, either outdoor or indoor, is likely an addictive substance abuse-related disorder, as measured by either DSM IV TR (Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, 4th edition) criteria or by CAGE (cut down, annoyed, guilty, eye-opener) criteria (Warthan et al. 2005). After UV exposure, skin keratinocytes synthesize the prohormone peptide proopiomelanocortin that is metabolized to melanocyte stimulating hormone, which induces tanning (Fell et al. 2014). Fell and colleagues developed an elegant mouse model to demonstrate that in mice, following UV skin keratinocytes also exposure, release  $\beta$ -endorphin, another peptide derived from proopiomelanocortin. After chronic UV exposure, opioid blockade induces withdrawal signs. The withdrawal effects were sufficient to condition the mice to avoid withdrawal. These findings have substantial implications for approaches to try to modify tanning behavior in humans.

#### **Host Susceptibility Factors**

The major host risk factors conferring high melanoma susceptibility are largely genetic, covered in ► Chap. 11, "Inherited Contributions to Melanoma Risk". Family history of melanoma is an important risk factor but is not frequent. When melanoma was still a rare cancer, two or more relatives with melanoma were sufficient to identify high-risk families. As melanoma has become more common, current criteria usually require three or more relatives, except in geographic locations where melanoma is still not a frequent cancer. Several high-risk susceptibility genes have been identified in melanoma-prone kindreds over the last two decades. More recently, multiple genes identified through genome-wide association studies (using germline DNA) and candidate gene studies account for an unknown percentage of familial melanoma. Prominent among the genome-wide association findings are pigmentation genes, variants in which may be associated with freckling on sun exposure. These variants explain at least part of the associations with fair skin, light hair and eyes, and freckling, phenotypes that are well-described risk factors for cutaneous melanoma, conferring risks generally in the two- to fourfold increased level in multiple populations. In addition, cell cycle control genes have also been identified by the genome-wide studies. The germline genetic alterations associated with nevi, the major risk markers for, and precursors of melanoma have been more challenging to identify, but some progress has occurred. Part of the difficulty in discovering the genetics of nevi is the heterogeneity in classification and identification of nevi over time in the melanoma studies where germline biospecimens have been systematically collected.

Dysplastic nevi are distinctive lesions first described in the context of familial melanoma, but it was soon apparent that they occurred outside of the familial melanoma setting. The clinical criteria for dysplastic nevi include at least 1 diameter  $\geq$ 5 mm, a flat component, and at least two of the following attributes: variable pigmentation; irregular, asymmetric outline; and indistinct borders. All families participating in the NCI familial melanoma study have dysplastic nevi. Within these families, dysplastic nevi are dynamic lesions. They tend to become clinically evident in adolescence and to disappear/involute with increasing age. With increased UV exposure,



**Fig. 3** Dysplastic nevi in individuals with high-risk mutations in *CDKN2A*, *CDK4*, and *RB1* and previous melanoma. All lesions meet the clinical criteria for dysplastic

new nevi appear and existing nevi morphologically change. With age, prolonged UV protection, or systemic treatment of advanced melanoma, dysplastic (and other) nevi involute over time (Tucker et al. 2002). Figure 3 shows clinically diagnosed dysplastic nevi from individuals who have had melanoma who also carry highpenetrance melanoma susceptibility genes: *CDKN2A*, *CDK4*, and *RB1*. All of these nevi meet the above criteria.

After the identification of nevi as important risk factors for melanoma, the epidemiology of nevi has been more rigorously investigated. There are few, if any, representative general population assessments of nevi, in large part because they are not reportable or registerable conditions. Nevi have been enumerated in epidemiologic studies by multiple mechanisms from self-reports either by counting moles on an arm or by comparing the pattern of moles on the back to a schematic chart or rarely by full-body nevus counts and classification by trained professionals. Advantages of self-reported nevus counts are that they are more readily accomplished and much less expensive to obtain and for these reasons may possibly be more representative of the general population. Advantages of counts by trained professionals are much less misclassification of lesions and better discrimination between types of nevi. Virtually all studies that have tried to enumerate nevi have found that increased number of nevi is an important risk marker for melanoma. Meta-analyses of nevi as risk factors for melanoma are subject to

nevi, with at least 1 diameter  $\geq$ 5 mm, a flat area, irregular, asymmetric outline, indistinct borders, and variable pigmentation

misclassification by differing ascertainment of nevus counts and types. Few studies have separated the risks associated with common acquired nevi, small and large, and dysplastic nevi. Table 4 shows the mutually adjusted risks of melanoma associated with different types of nevi characterized by expert examiners classifying the nevi and conducting the counts (Tucker et al. 1997).

As shown in Table 4, clinically identified dysplastic nevi confer much higher risks of melanoma than increased number of small or large common acquired nevi. Approximately half of the melanoma cases had documented dysplastic nevi, and approximately one-tenth of controls had clinically confirmed dysplastic nevi. These controls had agreed to a full-body skin exam, photography, and possible nevus biopsy, which they might have been more willing to do if they had pigmented lesions of concern to them. This estimate of dysplastic nevi in controls, therefore, may be somewhat inflated in comparison to a random sample of the White population. Virtually all of the individuals over age 50 with clinical dysplastic nevi were cases (Table 5).

Among the individuals without dysplastic nevi, risks increased with increasing numbers of small and large nevi to about a fivefold maximum increase in risk among those with large numbers ( $\geq$ 50) of intermediate nevi (2–4 mm) and more than five large nevi (5 + mm). No increased risk of melanoma was associated with the presence of congenital nevi in this study.

Number of nevi by type	Number of cases	Number of controls	Adjusted RR (95% CI) ^a
Nevi >2 mm and <5 mm			
0-24	258	658	1.0
25–49	163	190	1.8 (1.3–2.5)
50–99	169	107	3.0 (2.1–4.4)
≥100	123	43	3.4 (2.0–5.7)
Nondysplastic nevi $\geq$ 5 mm			
0	239	507	1.0
1	135	224	0.9 (0.7–1.3)
2-4	188	195	1.3 (1.0–1.8)
5–9	86	51	1.7 (1.0–2.7)
$\geq 10$	65	21	2.3 (1.2–4.3)
Congenital nevi			
0	605	881	1.0
1	74	85	1.1 (0.7–1.6)
≥2	34	32	1.3 (0.7–2.5)
Dysplastic nevi			
0	301	778	1.0
Indeterminate	72	127	1.0 (0.7–1.6)
1	64	50	2.3 (1.4–3.6)
2-4	121	33	7.3 (4.6–12)
5–9	45	15	4.9 (2.5–9.8)
≥10	55	6	12 (4.4–31)

Table 4 Adjusted relative risks of melanoma by nevus type and number (Tucker et al. 1997)

^aMutually adjusted and adjusted for age, sex, center, referral pattern, morphologic dysplastic nevi<5 mm, sunburns, freckles, solar damage, scars, nevus excisions, and family history of melanoma

Number of large nevi	Number of small nevi	Number of cases	Number of controls	RR (95% CI)
0	<25	68	285	1.0
	25–49	22	40	2.5 (1.4-4.5)
	≥50	11	25	2.1 (1.0-4.6)
1	<25	31	120	1.1 (0.7–1.8)
	25–49	7	28	1.1 (0.5–2.8)
	≥50	7	15	2.1 (0.8–5.6)
2-4	<25	28	77	1.4 (0.8–2.3)
	25–49	14	31	1.9 (0.9–3.7)
	≥50	19	20	3.9 (2.0-8.0)
≥5	<25	9	9	3.8 (1.4–10.0)
	25–49	9	11	3.2 (1.3-8.4)
	≥50	18	17	4.6 (2.2–9.6)

**Table 5** Relative risk of melanoma according to nevus categories among study subjects without evidence of dysplastic nevi or clinically atypical nevi of any size, adjusted for age and freckling (Tucker et al. 1997)

The advent of dermoscopy to characterize and follow nevi over time has changed clinical practice of skin surveillance and indications for biopsy of lesions (see ▶ Chap. 13, "Prevention of Cutaneous Melanoma"). The natural history of and risk factors for increased numbers of nevi have also been studied, with the ultimate goal to decrease total number of nevi and risk of melanoma. Childhood midday sun exposure without UV protection is positively associated with number of nevi (English et al. 2005). Overall nevus number rises with age, although the process is dynamic. Prospective studies with active follow-up and photographic surveillance have documented development of new nevi, involution of existing nevi, and evolution of nevi, even in low ambient UV areas (Scope et al. 2011). Nevus number changes (both increases and decreases) were more frequent in those with higher numbers of nevi. Children who had had multiple sunburns at the beginning of the study were also more likely to develop pattern changes in their nevi.

Most investigations of risk factors for melanoma have been conducted in White populations, in which the majority of melanomas occur (Fig. 1). Few investigations have evaluated risk factors for melanoma among Asian/Pacific Islanders, Hispanics, and mixed-race individuals. In comparison to Whites, the incidence rates of melanoma are much lower, and melanoma histology, anatomic distribution, thickness, and stage vary in both sexes in high sun areas (Park et al. 2012).

For the risk factor evaluations, acral lentiginous melanomas were not included because they are not likely to be UV related (n = 2 in whites; n = 10 in nonwhite/multiracial individuals). In the nonwhite/multiracial group, age at entry into the cohort, male gender, higher education, natural hair color, eye color, sunburn phenotype score, and history of non-melanoma skin cancer were all significantly associated with melanoma risk. Information on nevi was not available (Park et al. 2012).

#### **Risk Prediction Models for Melanoma**

The identification of multiple risk factors for melanoma has led to the formulation of several risk prediction models which in large part have been developed to identify those individuals who might benefit from intervention, closer surveillance, and/or screening. Vuong et al. (2014) conducted a systematic review of 19 studies reporting 28 risk prediction models. The most common elements included were nevi, skin type, freckle density, age, hair color, and sunburn history. They found large differences among the studies in model development and performance; few studies assessed internal or external validity of the models developed or their use in clinical or population studies. They concluded that the risk prediction tool developed by Fears and colleagues for use by primary care providers in the US population appeared to be the most clinically useful and could potentially assist in identifying high-risk groups for melanoma prevention strategies. Given the large variation in melanoma incidence across populations, it is likely that successful risk models will need to incorporate population- and geographyspecific data.

# Medical Conditions Associated with an Increased Risk of Melanoma

Subsequent melanoma has been associated with multiple medical conditions, particularly those affecting the immune system. Prominent among these are organ transplantation, lymphoproliferative cancers, treatment with immunosuppressive therapy for autoimmune disorders, and HIV infection. A recent study of melanoma following organ transplantation evaluated melanoma risk and survival in the USA (Robbins et al. 2015). Melanoma incidence among non-Hispanic Whites was doubled after organ transplantation, and regional metastatic disease was quadrupled. Although primary melanoma rates were stable over time after transplantation, regional metastatic disease varied by time since transplantation and by type of immunosuppression. Melanoma mortality was fivefold increased for thin melanomas excised posttransplantation and doubled for thicker melanomas. A common thread in the increased risk of melanoma in immune-deficient conditions is the poor outcome after more advanced disease, likely due to immunosuppression of varying degrees. The high risks and increased mortality among those developing melanoma after organ transplantation argue for vigorous surveillance and screening in this group.

Significantly increased risk of cutaneous melanoma is also observed in individuals with previous cutaneous melanoma; the risk of a second primary melanoma overall in both sexes is 8.80, ranging from 15.41 in the first year to 6.00 at 20+ years (Curtis et al. 2006). Risk of cutaneous melanoma is also significantly increased after ocular melanoma in both sexes (overall risk 3.99), suggesting that they may share some common risk factors (e.g., pigmentation, possibly UV exposures, and susceptibility genes). Risk for developing a primary melanoma is also significantly increased after multiple other cancers in SEER, including the small intestine (almost doubled) usually after small intestinal sarcoma, breast (20% increased), prostate (14% increased), kidney (30% increased), soft tissues (80% increased), brain (about 50% increased), Hodgkin lymphoma (60% increased), non-Hodgkin lymphoma (60% increased), chronic lymphocytic leukemia (more than doubled) with higher risks among those diagnosed at age <50 (more than tripled), and childhood cancer (more than quadrupled overall, with 40% occurring after previous melanoma and two after other soft tissue sarcomas [12-fold increased]). After cutaneous melanoma, significantly increased risks of salivary gland (70% increased), small intestine (60% increased), female breast (about 10% increased), prostate (17% increased), kidney (about 30% increased), soft tissue (more than doubled), thyroid (douand non-Hodgkin lymphoma (25% bled). increased) are observed. The cancers with reciprocal risks of similar magnitude suggest some common etiologic factors. Similar patterns are seen in other populations.

#### **Mucosal Melanoma**

Mucosal melanomas may arise from any mucosal surface that contains melanocytes. McLaughlin et al. (2005) evaluated epidemiologic characteristics of mucosal melanomas in data collected from 1996 to 2000 by the North American Association of Central Cancer Registries covering 62% of the US population. Mucosal melanomas comprise approximately 1.4% of melanomas in the USA, with incidence rates in women (2.8 per million) 86.7% higher than those in men (1.5 per million); the male to female rate ratio is 0.54 (95% CI 0.50–0.61). Incidence increases with age (Fig. 4).

The most frequent site in men is the head and neck, including the nasal cavity, accessory sinuses, and oral cavity, all of which have incidence less than 0.5 per million. In women, the most frequent site is the genital tract with 1.6 per million incidence, predominantly the vulva and vagina. Head and neck mucosal melanomas are the second most common site in women, and the genital tract is the second most common site in men, predominantly the penis. Anorectal melanoma comprises 16.5% of mucosal melanoma with minimally higher incidence in women than men but both below 0.5 per million. Incidence of mucosal melanomas varies by race; the incidence in White men is approximately doubled compared to Black men. The incidence in White women is also almost double that of Black women (McLaughlin et al. 2005).

In both races, mucosal melanomas are diagnosed at more advanced stages than cutaneous melanomas. For the genital sites, only about two-thirds are diagnosed with localized disease, about one quarter with regional, and about one-tenth with metastatic disease. The other sites are even more advanced, with only 41.3% diagnosed with localized disease, 33% with regional, and 25.7% with metastatic disease (McLaughlin et al. 2005).

Between 1992 and 2011 in SEER, the incidence rates of anorectal melanoma increased 80-fold between ages 25 and 84 (Callahan et al. 2016). The incidence was minimally higher in women than in men; 64% of the cases were women. Incidence also varied by race and ethnicity. Hispanic Whites had slightly higher incidence rates than non-Hispanic Whites; the highest rates were among elderly Hispanic women. Incidence for Blacks and American Indian/Alaska natives was about half that of Whites; for Asian/Pacific Islanders, the incidence was about the same as Whites.

Specific risk factors (other than gender, race/ ethnicity, and age) or precursor lesions for mucosal melanomas have not been identified to date. Conducting case control or cohort studies to identify exposures or other risk factors is challenging, with so few melanomas, most of which are



**Fig. 4** Age-specific incidence of mucosal and ocular melanoma per million by gender in the USA, standardized to 2000 population, all races (McLaughlin et al. 2005)

relatively advanced stage, occurring in older individuals.

# **Ocular Melanoma**

Ocular melanoma represents approximately 4% of melanomas in the USA (McLaughlin et al. 2005). The incidence increases with age (see Fig. 4) and overall is about six per million. The more common ocular melanomas arise in the uveal tract (82.5%), including the choroid (71.2%) and iris/ ciliary body (11.3%). Other sites include the conjunctiva (6.6%) and retina/overlapping or unspecified sites (10.9%). The incidence of ocular melanoma is about 30% higher in men than women (Fig. 4). All subsets of the uveal tract demonstrate similar male predominance. The incidence of ocular melanoma also differs by race. Among White males, the incidence overall is approximately eightfold higher than among Black males. Among White females the incidence is tenfold higher than among Black females

(McLaughlin et al. 2005). In the US, the majority of uveal melanomas occur among Whites (96.9%), with many fewer Asian/Pacific Islanders (0.7%), Blacks (0.5%), American Indian/Alaskan Natives (0.2%), and unknown race (1.7%) (Andreoli et al. 2015). In SEER data, race did not significantly affect overall or disease-specific survival.

Ultraviolet light exposure is the major suspected environmental exposure related to the development of ocular melanoma, but the epidemiologic data are not as compelling as for cutaneous melanoma. The lack of UV signature mutations in uveal melanoma renders UV radiation unlikely for this melanoma subtypes (see ▶ Chap. 16, "Primary Cutaneous Melanocytic Neoplasms"). It is also difficult to invoke UV exposure in the posterior eye after early childhood because of UV filtering by the lens. That is the rationale for using birth or early childhood residence as a surrogate for early UV exposure. Another hypothesis for intermittent intense UV exposure has been occupational exposure for welders after epidemiologic studies showed an increase of ocular melanoma in them. In a metaanalysis of 12 studies with data on UV exposure (total of 14 risk factors; 9 considered intermittent and 5 chronic) and uveal melanoma, Shah et al. (2005) were able to evaluate 4 measures of UV exposure that were available in at least 4 of the studies: welding, outdoor leisure activities, occupational sunlight exposure, and latitude of birth. The first two were considered intermittent and the second two chronic. In this analysis, the only statistically significant UV exposure was welding which conferred a twofold increased risk. Outdoor leisure activity, occupational sunlight exposure, and birth latitude did not reach statistical significance.

The pattern of anatomic distribution of uveal tract melanomas, however, is somewhat suggestive of UV exposure with choroidal melanomas frequently arising in the posterior central choroid and iris melanomas most frequently arising in the inferior and lateral quadrants of the iris that receive most UV exposure. McLaughlin et al. (2005) also evaluated north-south and coastalnot coastal differences in residence at the time of diagnosis as a surrogate for UV exposure. For choroidal melanomas, the south/north comparison did not show an increased risk. For iris/ciliary body melanomas, however, the rate ratio of south to north was 40% increased and reached statistical significance. For iris/ciliary body, the rate ratio of coastal to non-coastal was also 30% significantly increased, suggesting a possible role for UV exposure.

Similar to cutaneous melanoma, host factors are important risk markers for ocular melanoma. There are families with ocular melanoma and other cancers (including cutaneous melanomas) that have *BAP1* germline mutations (see  $\triangleright$  Chap. 11, "Inherited Contributions to Melanoma Risk"). Other host factors also predispose to developing uveal melanoma, including light eye color (75% increased risk), fair skin color (80% increased risk), and ability to tan (64% increased risk) (Weis et al. 2006). In this meta-analysis, light hair color did not reach statistical significance.

Choroidal nevi are not very common and rarely transform to melanoma (estimated risk 1/8845)

(Qiu and Shields 2015). Among individuals from the general population over age 40 in the USA, 4.7% had a choroidal nevus on retinal imaging. The prevalence increased with age, with a 60% increase by age 80+. The prevalence varied slightly by gender with a 14% predominance in men. After adjustment for age and race, Whites were tenfold more likely to have a choroidal nevus than Blacks; Hispanics were fivefold more likely than Blacks; others were fourfold more likely than Blacks; and non-Hispanic Whites were twofold more likely than Hispanics.

For many years, oculodermal melanocytosis (also known as nevus of Ota), a congenital anomaly, has been recognized as a risk factor for, and potential precursor lesion of, ocular melanoma (Shields et al. 2013). It is estimated that 1 in 400 White individuals with oculodermal melanocytosis will develop uveal melanoma, a much higher rate than in the general population. It is estimated that at most, approximately 3% of individuals with uveal tract melanoma have The sites oculodermal melanocytosis. of melanocytosis include the sclera (92%), iris (17%), choroid (12%), eyelid (8%), and temporal fossa (1%). Limited data suggest that those with oculodermal melanocytosis and ocular melanoma were approximately twice as likely to develop metastatic disease. The risks varied by thickness of the tumor and somewhat by site of the melanocytosis with the iris conferring 2.8-fold increased risk; choroid slightly less, 2.6-fold; and sclera 1.9-fold.

Similar to cutaneous melanoma, ocular melanoma occurs at an increased frequency following specific cancers. After ovarian cancer, the risk of ocular melanoma is significantly increased (more than threefold increased), especially in women diagnosed with ovarian cancer under age 70. The risk of ocular melanoma after cutaneous melanoma reaches statistical significance in women (threefold increased) but not men, which might reflect both the age of diagnosis and survival differences between women and men with cutaneous melanoma. After ocular melanoma, renal parenchymal cancers are increased (2.5-fold increased), mostly in males, soft tissue (fourfold increased) predominantly in women, and

cutaneous melanoma (fourfold increase) in both sexes (Curtis et al. 2006).

## Conclusion

The melanoma epidemic has led to characterization of the patterns of melanoma in different populations and investigation of risk factors for melanoma. In the past decades, the populationspecific differences have been investigated and integrated for an improved understanding of the etiology and risk factors for melanoma, both cutaneous and ocular. Mucosal melanomas present the greatest challenge, since most are diagnosed as relatively advanced lesions in older individuals, making epidemiologic and clinical studies difficult.

For cutaneous melanoma, Australia has set the standard for sun protection programs. Their efforts are now bearing fruit with the decrease in melanoma incidence in the cohort of adolescents and young adults who have been brought up in the era of systematic sun protection. The possible decreases in the incidence seen in Fig. 1 and in adolescents in the USA, if sustained with future data, are also promising, but there is still much to be done. With the recognition of the dangers of tanning beds and increasing regulation regarding access to tanning beds by adolescents, hopefully the excess exposure (and addiction) will be diminished in the next decades.

The clinical and epidemiologic risk factors identified for cutaneous melanoma are important for targeting individuals at increased risk of melanoma for surveillance and prevention measures. Individuals with a strong family history of melanoma and those with multiple dysplastic nevi are particularly increased risk. Widespread at sun-protective measures, similar to those in Australia, could lead to fewer melanomas and markedly decreased medical costs associated with the treatment in the USA. In time, the incidence could decrease so that melanoma returns to a rare cancer instead of one of the most common. Sun protection could also potentially have an effect on the incidence of ocular melanoma, particularly iris/ciliary body melanomas, which may be more UV- or sun-related than choroidal.

Mucosal melanomas will continue to be a difficult clinical problem, since visualization and early detection are not likely to be feasible in the near future.

#### References

- Amini A, Rusthoven CG, Waxweiler TV, Jones BJ, Fisher CM, Raben D (2016) Association of health insurance with outcomes in adults ages 18–64 years with melanoma in the United States. J Am Acad Dermatol 74:309–316. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaad.2015.09.054
- Andreoli MT, Mieler WF, Leiderman YI (2015) Epidemiologic trends in uveal melanoma. Br J Ophthalmol 99:1550–1553. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjophthalmol-2015-306810
- Bastian BC (2014) The molecular pathology of melanoma: an integrated taxonomy of melanocytic neoplasia. Annu Rev Pathol Mech Dis 9:239–271. https://doi. org/10.1146/annurev-pathol-012513-104658
- Bradford PT, Anderson WF, Purdue MP, Goldstein AM, Tucker MA (2010) Rising melanoma incidence rates of the trunk among younger women in the United States. Cancer Epidemiol Biomark Prev 19:2401–2406. https://doi.org/10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-10-503
- Brecht IB, Garbe C, Gefeller O, Pfahlberg A, Bauer J, Eigentler TK, Offenmueller S, Schneider DT, Leiter U (2015) 443 paediatric cases of malignant melanoma registered with the German central malignant melanoma registry between 1983 and 2011. Eur J Cancer 51:861–868. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejca.2015.02.014
- Byrom L, Olsen C, Knight L, Khosrotehrani K, Green AC (2015) Increased mortality for pregnancy-associated melanoma: systematic review and meta-analysis. JEADV 29:1457–1466. https://doi.org/10.1111/jdv.12972
- Callahan A, Anderson WF, Patel S, Barnholtz-Sloan JS, Bordeaux JS, Tucker MA, Gerstenblith MR (2016) Epidemiology of anorectal melanoma in the United States: 1992–2011. Dermatol Surg 42:94–99. https:// doi.org/10.1097/DSS.00000000000579
- Campbell LB, Kreicher KL, Gittleman HR, Strodtbeck K, Barnholtz-Sloan J, Bordeaux JS (2015) Melanoma incidence in children and adolescents: decreasing trends in the United States. J Pediatr 116:1505–1513. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.peds.2015.02.050
- Carney PA, Frederick PD, Reisch LM, Knezevich S, Piepkorn MW, Barnhill RL, Elder DE, Geller BM, Titus L, Weinstock MA, Nelson HD, Elmore JG (2016) How concerns and experiences with medical malpractice affect dermatopathologists' perceptions of their diagnostic practices when interpreting cutaneous melanocytic lesions. J Am Acad Dermatol 74:317–324. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaad.2015.09.037
- Clegg LX, Feuer EJ, Midthune DN, Fay MP, Hankey BF (2002) Impact of reporting delay and reporting error on cancer incidence rates and trends. J Natl Cancer Inst 94:1537–1545. https://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/94.20.1537

- Colantonia S, Bracken MB, Beecker J (2014) The association of indoor tanning and melanoma in adults: systematic review and meta-analysis. J Am Acad Dermatol 70:847–857. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jaad.2013.11.050
- Curtis RE, Freedman DM, Ron E, Ries LAG, Hacker DG, Edwards BK, Tucker MA, Fraumeni JF Jr (2006) New malignancies among cancer survivors: SEER cancer registries, 1973–2000. NIH Publ. No. 05-5302. National Cancer Institute, Bethesda
- Cust AE, Armstrong BK, Goumas C, Jenkens MA, Schmid H, Hopper JL, Kefford RF, Giles GG, Aitken JF, Mann GJ (2011) Sunbed use during adolescence and early adulthood is associated with increased risk of early-onset melanoma. Int J Cancer 128:2425–2435. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.25576
- El Ghissassi F, Baan R, Straif K, Grosse Y, Secretan B, Bouvard V, Benbrahim-Tallaa L, Guha N, Freeman C, Galichet L, Cogliano V, on behalf of the WHO International Agency for Research on Cancer Monograph Working Group (2009) A review of human carcinogens – part D: radiation. Lancet Oncol 10:751–752. https:// doi.org/10.1016/S1470-2045(09)70213-X
- English DR, Milne E, Simpson JA (2005) Sun protection and the development of melanocytic nevi in children. Cancer Epidemiol Biomark Prev 14:2873–2876. https://doi.org/10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-05-0520
- FDA, http://www.fda.gov/NewsEvents/Newsroom/Press Announcements/ucm477434.htm. Accessed 18 Dec 2015
- Fell GL, Robinson KC, Mao J, Woolf CJ, Fisher DE (2014) Skin β-endorphin mediates addiction to UV light. Cell 157:1527–1534. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. cell.2014.04.032
- Gandini S, Sera F, Cattaruzza MF, Pasquini P, Picconi O, Boyle P, Melchi CF (2005) Meta-analysis of risk factors for cutaneous melanoma: II. Sun exposure. Eur J Cancer 41:45–60. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ejca.2004.10.016
- Geller AC, Clapp RW, Sober AJ, Gonsalves L, Mueller L, Christiansen CL, Shaikh W, Miller DR (2013) Melanoma epidemic: an analysis of six decades of data from the Connecticut tumor registry. J Clin Oncol 33:4172–4178. https://doi.org/10.1200/ JCO.2012.47.3728
- Geller AC, Swetter SM, Weinstock MA (2015) Focus on early detection to reduce melanoma deaths. J Invest Dermatol 135:947–949. https://doi.org/10.1038/ jid.2014.534
- Globocan, http://Globocan.iarc.fr/
- Guy GP, Thomas CC, Thompson T, Watson M, Massetti GM, Richardson LC (2015) Vital signs: melanoma incidence and mortality trends and projections- United States, 1982–2030. MMWR 64:591–596. http://www. cdc.gov/mmwr/preview/mmwrhtml/mm6421a6.htm
- Helvind NM, Holmich LR, Smith S, Glud M, Andersen KK, Dalton SO, Drzewiecki KT (2015) Incidence of in situ and invasive melanoma in Denmark from 1985 through 2012: a national database study of 24059

melanoma cases. JAMA Dermatol 151:1087–1095. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamadermatol.2015.1481

- Howlader N, Noone AM, Krapcho M, Garshell J, Miller D, Altekruse SF, Kosary CL, Yu M, Ruhl J, Tatalovich Z, Mariotto A, Lewis DR, Chen HS, Feuer EJ, Cronin KA (eds) (2015) SEER cancer statistics review, 1975–2012. National Cancer Institute, Bethesda. http://seer.cancer.gov/csr/1975_2012/. Based on November 2014 SEER data submission, posted to the SEER web site, Apr 2015. Accessed 26 Dec 2015
- Khosrotehrani K, Dasgupta P, Byrom L, Youlden DR, Baade PD, Green AC (2015) Melanoma survival is superior in females across all tumor stages but is influenced by age. Arch Dermatol Res 307:731–740. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00403-015-1585-8
- Lazova R, Pornputtapong N, Halaban R, Bosenberg M, Bai Y, Chai H, Krauthammer M (2017) Mod Pathol 30:640–649. https://doi.org/10.1038/modpathol.2016.237
- Lazovich D, Vogel RI, Berwick M, Weinstock MA, Anderson KE, Warshaw EM (2010) Indoor tanning and risk of melanoma: a case-control study in a highly exposed population. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 19:1557–1568. https://doi.org/10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-09-1249
- Lott JP, Wititsuwannakul J, Lee JJ, Ariyan S, Narayan D, Kluger HH, Lazova R (2014) Clinical characteristics associated with Spitz nevi and Spitzoid malignant melanomas: the Yale University Spitzoid neoplasm repository experience, 1991–2008. J Am Acad Dermatol 71:1077–1082. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jaad.2014.08.026
- McLaughlin CC, Wu XC, Jemal A, Martin HJ, Roche LM, Chen VW (2005) Incidence of non-cutaneous melanoma in the U.S. Cancer 103:1000–1007. https://doi. org/10.1002/cncr.20866
- Nielsen K, Masback A, Olsson H, Ingvar C (2012) A prospective population-based study of 40,000 women regarding host factors, UV exposure and sunbed use in relation to risk and anatomic site of melanoma. Int J Cancer 131:706–715. https://doi.org/10.1002/ ijc.26408
- Park SL, Le Marchand L, Wilkens LR, Kolonel LN, Henderson BE, Zhang ZF, Setiawen VW (2012) Risk factors for malignant melanoma in white and non-white/ non-African American populations, the multiethnic cohort. Cancer Prev Res 5:423–434. https://doi.org/ 10.1158/1940-6207.CAPR-11-0460
- Petersen B, Triguero-Mas M, Maier B, Thieden E, Philipsen PA, Heydenreich J, Dadvand P, Maier H, Grage MML, Harrison GI, Schmalwieser AW, Nieuwenhuijsen MJ, Young AR, Wulf HC (2015) Sun behavior and personal UVR exposure among Europeans on short term holidays. J Photochem Photobiol B: Biol 151:264–269. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jphotobiol.2015.08.022
- Pollitt RA, Clarke CA, Swetter SM, Peng DH, Zadnick J, Cockburn M (2011) The expanding melanoma burden in California Hispanics. Cancer 117:152–161. https:// doi.org/10.1002/cncr.25355

- Pomerantz H, Huang D, Weinstock MA (2015) Risk of subsequent melanoma after melanoma in situ and invasive melanoma: a population-based study from 1973 to 2011. J Am Acad Dermatol 72:794–800. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jaad.2015.02.006
- Qiu M, Shields CL (2015) Choroidal nevus in the United States adult population: racial disparities and associated factors in the national health and nutrition examination survey. Ophthalmology 122:2071–2083. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ophtha.2015.06.008
- Richardson BS, Anderson WF, Barnholtz-Sloan JS, Tucker MA, Gerstenblith MR (2014) The age-specific effect modification of male sex for ulcerated cutaneous melanoma. JAMA Dermatol 150:522–525. https://doi.org/ 10.1001/jamadermatol.2013.7127
- Robbins HA, Clarke CA, Arron ST, Tatalovich Z, Kahn AR, Hernandez BY, Paddock L, Yanik EL, Lynch CF, Kasiske BL, Snyder J, Engels EA (2015) Melanoma risk and survival among organ transplant recipients. J Invest Dermatol 135:2657–2665. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/jid.2015.312
- Scope A, Dusza SW, Marghoob AA, Satagopan JM, Tavoloni JBC, Psaty EL, Weinstock MA, Oliveria SA, Bishop M, Geller AC, Halpern AC (2011) Clinical and dermoscopic stability and volatility of melanocytic nevi in a population-based cohort of children in Framingham school system. J Invest Dermatol 131:1615–1621. https://doi.org/10.1038/jid.2011.107
- Shah CP, Weis E, Lajous M, Shields JA, Shields CL (2005) Intermittent and chronic ultraviolet light exposure and uveal melanoma. Ophthalmology 112:1599–1607. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ophtha.2005.04.020
- Shaikh WR, Weinstock MA, Halpern AC, Oliveria SA, Geller AC, Dusza SW (2013) The characterization and potential impact of melanoma cases with unknown thickness in the United States' surveillance, epidemiology, and end results program, 1989–2008. Cancer Epidemiol 37:64–70. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.canep.2012.08.010
- Shaikh WR, Dusza SW, Weinstock MA, Oliveria SA, Geller AC, Halpern AC (2016) Melanoma thickness and survival trends in the United States, 1989–2009. JNCI 108:djv294. https://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/dvj294. Epub 12 Nov 2015
- Shields CL, Kaliki S, Livesey M, Walker B, Garoon R, Bucci M, Feinstein E, Pesch A, Gonzalez C, Lally SE, Mashayekhi A, Shields JA (2013) Association of ocular and oculodermal melanocytosis with the rate of uveal melanoma metastasis: analysis of 7872

consecutive eyes. JAMA Ophthal 131:993–1003. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamaophthalmol.2013.129

- Tucker MA, Halpern A, Holly EA, Hartge P, Elder DE, Sagebiel RW, Guerry D IV, Clark WH Jr (1997) Clinically recognized dysplastic nevi: a central risk factor for cutaneous melanoma. JAMA 277:1439–1444. PMID:9145715
- Tucker MA, Fraser MC, Goldstein AM, Struewing JP, King MA, Crawford JT, Chiazze EA, Zametkin DP, Fontaine LS, Clark WH Jr (2002) A natural history of melanomas and dysplastic nevi: an atlas of lesions in melanoma-prone families. Cancer 94:3192–3209. https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.10605
- Vuong K, McGeechan K, Armstrong BK, Cust AE (2014) Risk prediction models for incident primary cutaneous melanoma: a systematic review. JAMA Dermatol 150:434-444. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamadermatol. 2013.8890
- Wallingford SC, Iannocone MR, Youlden DR, Baade PD, Ives A, Verne J, Aitken JF, Green AC (2015) Comparison of melanoma incidence and trends among youth under 25 years in Australia and England, 1990–2010. Int J Cancer 137:2227–2233. https://doi.org/10.1002/ ijc.29598
- Walter FM, Abel GA, Lyratzopoulos G, Melia J, Greenberg D, Brewster DH, Butler H, Corrie PG, Campbell C (2015) Seasonal variation in diagnosis of invasive cutaneous melanoma in eastern England and Scotland. Cancer Epidemiol 39:554–561. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.canep.2015.06.006
- Warthan MM, Uchida T, Wagner RF Jr (2005) UV light tanning as a type of substance-related disorder. Arch Dermatol 141:963–966. PMID:16103324
- Weis E, Shah CP, Lajous M, Shields JA, Shields CL (2006) The association between host susceptibility factors and uveal melanoma: a meta-analysis. Arch Ophthalmol 124:54–60. PMID 16401785
- Whiteman DC, Pavan WJ, Bastian BC (2011) The melanomas: a synthesis of epidemiological, clinical, histopathological, genetic, and biological aspects, supporting distinct subtypes, causal pathways, and cell of origin. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res 24:879–897. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1755-148X.2011.00880.x
- Whiteman DC, Baade PD, Olsen CM (2015) More people die from thin melanomas (≤ 1mm) than from thick melanomas (>4mm) in Queensland, Australia. J Invest Dermatol 135:1190–1193. https://doi.org/10.1038/ jid.2014.452



# Prevention of Cutaneous Melanoma

Craig Sinclair, Louise F. Wilson, Catherine Olsen, and Anna Nicholson

# Contents

272
273
273
274 274 275 277 278
278
280
282
282

C. Sinclair (⊠) · A. Nicholson Center for Behavioural Research in Cancer, Cancer Council Victoria, Melbourne, VIC, Australia e-mail: Craig.Sinclair@cancervic.org.au; Anna. Nicholson@cancervic.org.au

Cancer Control Group, QIMR Berghofer Medical Research Institute, Herston, QLD, Australia e-mail: louise.wilson@qimrberghofer.edu.au

School of Public Health, The University of Queensland, Brisbane, Australia e-mail: catherine.olsen@qimrberghofer.edu.au

#### Abstract

The disease burden associated with melanoma continues to be a significant public health problem. The main modifiable risk factor for cutaneous melanoma is exposure to ultraviolet radiation, whether from the sun or artificial sources such as tanning sunbeds. Here we discuss the evidence for primary prevention and early detection of melanoma, commencing with an historical account of early skin cancer prevention programs and tools such as the Solar UV Index.

At a population level, there is sufficient evidence to support multicomponent, community-wide skin cancer prevention interventions (such as mass media campaigns,

L. F. Wilson

C. Olsen

Cancer Control Group, QIMR Berghofer Medical Research Institute, Herston, QLD, Australia

[©] Springer Science+Business Media, LLC, part of Springer Nature 2019 D. E. Fisher, B. C. Bastian (eds.), *Melanoma*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-7147-9_34

environmental and legislative interventions) and those that target certain settings. Legislative controls that restrict access to artificial tanning sunbeds can be effective in reducing the number of visitations by young people, thus reducing their risk of melanoma. Considering behavioral strategies, there is a lack of high-quality evidence for the effectiveness of recommendations to seek shade, cover exposed skin with clothing, wear a hat and sunglasses, and to regularly apply sunscreen with a SPF of 15 or higher when outdoors in the sun; however, this is largely due to limitations of the available epidemiological data. There is also lack of evidence that mass screening programs reduce mortality and medical costs due to melanoma, which are important principles of any population-based screening program. Globally, most skin cancer detection guidelines encourage regular self-examination, together with education regarding sun protection and whole body skin examination by a clinician in the presence of any change or concern.

In summary, there is reasonable evidence to suggest that reducing melanoma incidence through evidence-based prevention and early detection interventions is not only likely to be effective in reducing the risk of melanoma at a population level but will also be cost-effective. In Australia, where skin cancer prevention programs were established in the 1980s, melanoma incidence is now declining among younger adults, which most likely reflects changing patterns of sun exposure and the success of primary prevention efforts in recent decades. At a time when the cost of treating melanoma is likely to increase significantly in coming years, now is the time to make the necessary investments to reduce the growing and significant human and financial burden of melanoma into the future.

#### Keywords

Melanoma · Skin cancer prevention · Sunscreen · Sunbeds · Early detection · Melanoma screening · Ultraviolet radiation · Health promotion

## Introduction

The disease burden associated with cutaneous malignant melanoma (*melanoma*) continues to be a significant public health problem. Globally, there were an estimated 232,130 incident cases of melanoma and 55,488 deaths in 2012 (Ferlay et al. 2013). As with other skin cancers, the disease burden (adjusted for population size) is disproportionately carried by fair-skinned populations, especially those living in locations experiencing high levels of sunlight (Lucas et al. 2008).

The main modifiable risk factor for melanoma is exposure to ultraviolet radiation, whether from the sun or artificial sources such as tanning sunbeds. Intermittent sun exposure and sunburn history are risk factors for melanoma, as is exposure to high levels of UV in childhood (Gandini et al. 2005; Whiteman et al. 2001). It is estimated that 65% of melanomas that occur worldwide are due to exposure to ultraviolet radiation; however, this figure could be as high as 95% in countries like Australia where UV levels are extreme for long periods and people spend a significant proportion of their time outdoors and a considerable portion of the population is Caucasian (Armstrong and Kricker 1993). This makes the primary prevention and early detection of melanoma an issue of high public health importance.

In much of Europe and North America, incidence rates of melanoma have increased in recent decades (with significant geographic variations), possibly due to increased sun-seeking behavior among fair-skinned Caucasians, including leisure travel to sunny destinations (Erdmann et al. 2013; Agredano et al. 2006). In other countries such as Australia, rates are starting to decline, particularly in younger age groups, most likely as a result of long-term prevention efforts (Whiteman et al. 2016; Iannacone et al. 2015; Thursfield and Farrugia 2015).

Providing the effort is sustained over the long term, improving sun-protective behaviors at a population level, reducing access to artificial tanning sunbeds, and implementing setting-based sun protection policies and practices, have the potential to reduce the substantial human and financial burden of melanoma.

#### History

The relationship between UV exposure and skin cancer was known for much of the twentieth century; however, it wasn't until the 1970s, when there was rising concern about a possible diffusion of the stratospheric ozone layer, that global efforts to deliver primary prevention programs increased (de Gruijl 1999).

One of the first efforts to demonstrate the benefits of skin cancer primary prevention was an early detection of melanoma project that started in Queensland (a state of northern Australia) in the 1960s. The project demonstrated that education for health professionals, combined with campaigns for the broader public, resulted in earlier patient presentation and better 5-year survival compared with states and territories that had not implemented this approach (Smith 1979). The early health education campaigns in Queensland were significant in informing and shaping what became the better known Australian 'Slip! Slop! Slap!' (Slip on a shirt, Slop on some sunscreen, and Slap on a hat) campaign that was started by the Cancer Council Victoria (then Anti-Cancer Council of Victoria) in the 1980s. Some years later (in 1988), the Victorian SunSmart program was funded by a hypothecated tax on tobacco products. This was Australia's, and indeed the world's, first population-wide multicomponent social marketing campaign that had a significant paid media presence to reduce the burden of skin cancer.

In the United Kingdom, Norway, and Sweden, skin cancer prevention campaigns started much later in the 1990s with generally limited resources (Whiteman et al. 2016). In the United States, multiple agencies have promoted sun protection for several decades but again with only very modest investments.

While community-wide efforts at a population level are being delivered to prevent skin cancer in many other countries (e.g., United Kingdom, New Zealand, Canada, USA, Spain, France, Sweden, Germany), the breadth, length, and magnitude of the intervention relative to the population has not yet been replicated in any other country outside of Australia. Given the level and breadth of investment and effort in skin cancer prevention that has been sustained in Australia for over 30 years, efforts in this country provide some of the strongest evidence yet of the impact of prevention campaigns to reduce the rates of melanoma at a population level.

#### The Global Solar UV Index

The Solar UV Index (UV Index) was first developed by Canadian scientists in 1992 and was then adapted to become the Global Solar UV Index in 1995 in conjunction with the International Commission on Non-Ionising Radiation Protection, United Nations Environment Program, World Meteorological Organization, and the World Health Organization (Fioletov et al. 2004). The UV Index is a measure of biologically effective UV radiation intensity at the Earth's surface and provides an indication of potential for skin damage. The UV Index was launched globally in 1995 and was updated in 2002 (World Health Organization 2002).

Importantly, the UV Index provides a universal measure that is useful to guide public health efforts to alert the general population of current (or forecast) UV levels so that they can take appropriate sun safety precautions. UV Index values are either measured in situ or are predicted and adjusted for cloud cover. The UV Index levels vary according to solar elevation (which is related to the time of day, time of year, and latitude of the country where measurement is taken), cloud cover, stratospheric ozone, and the presence of aerosols (particles and pollution in the air) (Repacholi 2000). The UV Index usually reaches its peak annual levels around the middle of the day in summer (Table 1).

Communicated primarily through media channels and smartphone applications, the UV Index provides guidance as to when sun protection is required and what behavioral measures should be taken, according to the UV level. While not considered at the time of its development, the UV Index has also proved to be a useful tool to provide guidance to the general population as to

Location	Latitude	Average UV summer peak	Average UV winter low
Sydney, Australia	34°S	9	2
Tokyo, Japan	36°S	10	2
New York, USA	41°N	9	1
Los Angeles, USA	34°N	10	2
Berlin, Germany	52°N	7	1
Cape Town, South Africa	34°S	10	2
Rio de Janeiro, Brazil	23°S	12	5
Singapore	1°N	13	10
Paris, France	49°N	7	1
Vancouver, Canada	49°N	7	1

 Table 1 UV levels of selected cities^a

^aSource: World Health Organization. http://www.who.int/uv/intersunprogramme/activities/uv_index/en/index3.html



Fig. 1 The UV Index, with sun protection recommendations and simple "sound bite" messages

when sun protection is not recommended in order to enable some unprotected sun exposure in winter months. Encouraging people to not use sun protection (when UV Index <3) assists with the human body being able to maintain sufficient vitamin D levels, important for sustaining healthy levels of calcium in the bloodstream.

While the UV Index has not shown a significant effect in motivating behavior change, it has provided valuable guidance to those working in public health responsible for delivering skin cancer prevention efforts (Italia and Rehfuess 2012) (Fig. 1).

Worldwide, the UV Index remains the most commonly used tool to communicate messages about risk of harmful UV exposure. While the value of the UV Index may be limited on its own, when combined with broader efforts and delivered to individuals in a way that takes into account their location and ambient UV levels, the potential benefit of the UV Index for the purposes of providing sun protection advice is likely to be significant at a population level.

## Evidence of Effectiveness

# Evidence of Effectiveness of Population Health Interventions

The time lag of up to three to four decades between population-wide changes in UV exposure and changes in melanoma incidence creates challenges for evaluating the effectiveness of melanoma prevention programs. Because of this, cross-sectional snapshots of the target population at particular points in time are often used to assess the more immediate effects of a prevention intervention. Such interim indicators include sunburn rates and sun-protective behaviors and/or attitudes.

In a recent systematic review of research on skin cancer prevention programs, the Community Preventative Service Task Force in USA found sufficient evidence to support (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services 2014):

- Multicomponent, community-wide interventions, which use a combination of integrated strategies to influence UV protective behaviors. These strategies may include mass media campaigns, environmental interventions (such as shade structures) and policy changes, implemented across multiple settings within the community.
- Interventions that target certain settings, specifically, child care centers, primary and middle schools, outdoor recreational and tourism settings, and outdoor occupational settings.

Studies in USA by the National Cancer Institute show that since the year 2000 there has been inconsequential changes in the US population in the use of shade, sunscreen, or shirts with long sleeves along with no significant changes in sunburn rates (Lazovich et al. 2012). Similarly in the United Kingdom, studies by Cancer Research UK have shown little improvement in sun-protective behavior between 2003 and 2011 despite modest investments in public awareness.

#### Case Study: Australian SunSmart Program

As an example of a multicomponent intervention, the Australian SunSmart program has had the capacity to deliver paid and unpaid media (social, TV, radio, outdoor, print) campaigns while at the same time engage in key settings such as schools, recreation settings, and workplaces to influence local policies and practices. The success of the SunSmart program has been measured by longterm improvements in attitudes and behaviors, as evident through population-based tracking surveys. Its proven track record has led to other Australian State governments investing in similar multicomponent social marketing campaigns under the SunSmart brand. Within the Australian context, multicomponent SunSmart campaign efforts have led to increased preference for no tan, reductions in sunburn, increased sunscreen use, and overall reduced mean percentage of skin exposed to the sun over successive summer weekends in the adult population (Dobbinson et al. 2015; Volkov et al. 2013).

By 2012, 77% of Australian primary schools had a written sun protection policy, nearly all of which required students to wear hats during summer months. The presence of a school policy signified better sun protection practices than a school with no sun protection policy (Dono et al. 2014).

The key factors that have contributed to changing the behavioral norms in relation to sun protection within an Australian context has been a long-term funding commitment to a populationwide, multicomponent intervention combined with the integration of research and evaluation into program planning and implementation (Sinclair and Foley 2009). However, the experience has also demonstrated the need to repeat and reinforce messages, as sun-protection behaviors appear to fluctuate according to funding levels and corresponding presence of media campaigns (Sinclair and Foley 2009; Dobbinson et al. 2008).

# Effectiveness of Prevention Recommendations

Comprehensive sun protection programs include recommendations to seek shade, cover exposed skin with clothing, wear a hat and sunglasses, and to regularly apply sunscreen with a SPF of 15 or higher when outdoors in the sun. These primary prevention strategies target not only melanoma but also the keratinocyte cancers (basal cell carcinoma (BCC) and squamous cell carcinoma (SCC)). While the following section reviews the evidence of effectiveness of these recommendations in reducing the incidence of melanoma, any investment in primary prevention is likely to result in benefits in the form of reduced incidence of BCC and SCC as well.

#### (a) Sunscreen

Sunscreens protect the skin from the damaging effects of UV radiation by reducing the transmission of high-energy photons to the skin cells, thus reducing damage to key skin components including cellular DNA, collagen, elastin, and lipids (Tanner 2006). The efficacy of sunscreens is measured by the sun protection factor (SPF), which is the ratio of the time taken to cause barely perceptible reddening (one minimal erythema dose [MED]) on skin that has been protected by sunscreen compared to the time taken to elicit the same response in unprotected skin (Nash 2006).

Sunscreens are designed, therefore, when applied appropriately, to prevent sunburn, and sunburn is a strong risk factor of melanoma at all latitudes (Chang et al. 2009). Two quantitative reviews on the effect of sunscreen on melanoma risk both reported a nonsignificant association (Dennis et al. 2003; Huncharek and Kupelnick 2002); both meta-analyses were based on case-control studies only (the review by Dennis et al. included 18 casecontrol studies and the earlier review by Huncharek and Kupelnick included 11 casecontrol studies). In a 2011 systematic review to update the recommendations from the 2003 US Preventive Services Task Force, the Centre for Disease Control (CDC) assessed the evidence as to the effectiveness of sunscreen in preventing all skin cancer outcomes (Lin et al. 2011). This review was limited to observational studies and Randomized Control Trials (RCTs) that met strict inclusion criteria and predefined quality ratings. The authors concluded that sunscreen use may prevent squamous cell carcinoma but not melanoma, and that the evidence was inconclusive for BCC.

Of all observational studies reporting on the association between sunscreen use and melanoma to date, only 13 were populationbased: two cohort studies (the Nurses' Health Study and the Norwegian Woman and Cancer Study) (Cho et al. 2005; Ghiasvand et al. 2016) and 11 case-control studies (Lazovich et al. 2011; Youl et al. 2002; Westerdahl et al.

1995, 2000; Whiteman et al. 1997; Autier et al. 1995; Holly et al. 1995; Herzfeld et al. 1993; Beitner et al. 1990; Osterlind et al. 1988; Holman et al. 1986) (Table 1). One cohort study reported no effect (Cho et al. 2005) and the other a significantly protective effect (Ghiasvand et al. 2016). Of the 11 casecontrol studies, 2 reported a significant protective effect (Lazovich et al. 2011; Holly et al. 1995), 4 reported a significant increased risk (Westerdahl et al. 2000; Autier et al. 1995; Herzfeld et al. 1993; Beitner et al. 1990), and the remaining 5 studies reported nonsignificant negative or positive associations. The definition of sunscreen use varied across studies.

The inconsistencies in the epidemiologic literature on the association between sunscreen use and melanoma reflect the challenges of examining the relationship with observational study designs. Such studies are unable to disentangle the effect because the main determinants of sunscreen use overlap with causal factors for melanoma (i.e., sun sensitive phenotype and sun exposure). This is known as "confounding by indication" and is almost impossible to control through analytic techniques. Case-control studies can also be affected by recall bias (i.e., whereby cases are prompted to recall past exposures solely because of their diagnosis) and misclassification bias, if cases are more likely to accurately recall their past use of sunscreen than controls. Thus, only well-conducted RCTs with high-quality measurements and rigorous control of confounders can adequately assess the association. Only one RCT examining the effect of daily sunscreen use on skin cancer has been conducted. That trial, which took place in Queensland, Australia, found that adults aged 40–69 years randomized to apply daily sunscreen had a 50% lower incidence of melanoma (Green et al. 2011) than those randomized to discretionary sunscreen use; the protective effect was of borderline statistical significance. Melanoma was not a prespecified outcome of the trial and it was limited by a small sample size
and low number of events. Moreover, the protective effect was seen on both sunscreenprotected and nonprotected body sites. Nonetheless, the trial is unlikely to ever be repeated and thus is likely to remain the highest level of evidence for a protective effect of sunscreen in the development of melanoma.

Because of the limitations of the available epidemiological data, there is a need to examine indirect evidence of a role for sunscreen in protecting against the damaging effects of UV which might initiate melanoma development, including effects on genetic and immune-suppression pathways. Such evidence is emerging from experimental studies on intact human skin. For example, one study has shown that sunscreen protects against UV-induced DNA damage in melanocytes (Hacker et al. 2013). Melanomas have a higher mutation load than other cancers (Hill et al. 2013; Alexandrov et al. 2013) and UV-signature mutations account for most of this elevated mutational burden (Hodis et al. 2012). The findings of Hacker and colleagues (Hacker et al. 2013) support the use of sunscreen to prevent the genetic changes important in melanomagenesis.

#### (b) Hats/clothing/shade

Clothing (including hats) and shade offer varying degrees of protection from exposure to UV radiation, and while there are data to show that people who use these forms of protection are less likely to report sunburns, e.g., Branstrom et al. (2010), direct evidence of a protective effect for melanoma is scant. One population-based case-control study reported lower risks of melanoma among both "inconsistent" and "optimum" users of these sun protection methods (in aggregate) when compared with never users (Lazovich et al. 2011).

Research on clothing and melanoma prevention is limited. A large US cohort (Weinstock et al. 1991) and a populationbased Australian case-control study (Holman et al. 1986) both reported an increased risk of trunk melanoma in women who wore bikinis compared to those who wore one piece, high backline swimsuits. The later study also reported a higher risk of site-specific melanoma among outdoor workers if the site was "sometimes exposed" rather than "usually covered" while working outdoors.

While shade is a potentially valuable means of protection from the damaging effects of UV radiation, direct evidence for a protective effect for melanoma is lacking.

#### **Economics of Prevention**

Cost-effectiveness studies aim to provide information to decision-makers on whether an intervention of interest provides value for money by systematically comparing the costs and effects of the intervention with alternative strategies. Gordon and Rowell (2015) systematically reviewed the cost-effectiveness of skin cancer prevention. Of seven identified cost-effectiveness studies, three were concerned with melanoma as the outcome of interest (three others focused on all skin cancer and one on the keratinocyte cancers only). Two incremental studies reported costeffectiveness ratios of US \$400 per life-year saved for an early detection/education campaign (versus a "do nothing" approach) (Cristofolini et al. 1993) and US\$3357 per life-year saved for an educational campaign (versus a "do nothing" approach) (Garattini et al. 1996) using data from 1977–1985 to 1993, respectively. The third study used a lifetime model (and 2010 prices) and reported AU\$40,890 per QALY (~ US\$41,851 in 2010) for daily sunscreen use (versus routine use) (Hirst et al. 2012). In the countries where these studies were conducted (Italy and Australia), the interventions were highly costeffective according to acceptable cost per QALY/life-years saved. Four other studies identified by the review evaluated the cost-effectiveness of various initiatives (solarium regulation, sunscreen use, a school-based program, and a multicomponent intervention) to prevent either "all skin cancer" or the keratinocyte skin cancers and

all reported cost savings and a return on investment to governments.

A recent study investigated the benefits and costs of three skin cancer campaigns implemented in New South Wales, Australia, between 2006 and 2013 (Doran et al. 2016). For melanoma, the study found that during this period, an estimated 885 cases and 109 deaths were averted, with direct and indirect cost savings totalling AU\$37.69 million (equivalent to US\$34.5 million over the same timeframe, i.e., 2006–2013). The benefit-cost ratio for all skin cancers (melanoma plus non-melanoma skin cancer) was estimated at 3.85, suggesting that for every AU\$1 invested in prevention campaigns, AU\$3.85 was returned.

The cost-effectiveness of interventions to prevent melanoma is likely to increase substantially with the advent of new beneficial but costly therapies for advanced melanoma. Melanoma treatment costs will rise (on average) and are likely to further exceed the costs of preventive measures, highlighting the continued cost effectiveness of skin cancer prevention.

## Evidence of Effectiveness of Interventions on Melanoma Rates

Incidence of cutaneous melanoma increased steadily in the second half of the twentieth century worldwide, but there are encouraging signs that the incidence among young people has plateaued or even declined in some high-incidence populations. In an analysis of incidence trends from 39 population-based cancer registries over the period 1953-2008, incidence rates of melanoma have continued to rise in most European countries, whereas in Australia, New Zealand, North America, Israel, and Norway, rates appear to be stabilizing in adults under 50 (Erdmann et al. 2013). A detailed analysis of melanoma incidence trends and projections of rates to 2031 in six populations based on long-term registry data (Whiteman et al. 2016) showed that age-specific incidence in Australia and New Zealand for those <60 years peaked around 2002-2006 and then declined, while they are not projected to stabilize until 2021 in US, and until 2026 in the UK, Sweden, and Norway. In Queensland, Australia, incidence rates among adolescents and young adults (15-24 years) have declined since the mid-to-late 1990s (Iannacone et al. 2015). A comparison of incidence trends in young people aged under 25 years in Australia and the UK reported declines in Australia from 1996 to 1997 (Wallingford et al. 2015), while rates have steadily increased in the United Kingdom for both males and females in this age group. The declines seen in Australian children and young adults most likely reflect changing patterns of sun exposure and the success of primary prevention efforts in recent decades. While it is possible that other secular trends might be influencing recent trends in melanoma incidence among younger age groups, including overall migration-dilution effects and more "screen time," these factors are unlikely to explain all of the downturns observed (Baade et al. 2015) (Fig. 2).

## Sunbeds

### (a) Evidence of association

Exposure to artificial ultraviolet radiation from indoor tanning is a cause of melanoma. A meta-analysis conducted by the International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC) working group on artificial ultraviolet light and skin cancer (IARC 2007), using data from 19 studies, reported a modest increase in the risk of melanoma for "ever" compared with "never" exposure to indoor tanning equipment. It also found a higher pooled estimate if first exposure occurred before age 35 years. These findings prompted the World Health Organization to classify tanning beds as a group I carcinogen (El Ghissassi et al. 2009). A subsequent review confirmed these findings (Boniol et al. 2012), and a significant dose-response relationship was further observed, with a 1.8% (95% CI 0-3.8%) increase in risk of melanoma for each additional session of sunbed use per year. Higher risks have been observed among sunbed users who have never experienced a burn from indoor tanning or outdoor sun exposure



Fig. 2 Trends in sunscreen use and sunburn in Melbourne, Victoria, from 1987–1988 to 2006–2007 (Makin et al. 2013)

(Vogel et al. 2014), that is, in people with a low propensity for sunburn.

Using prevalence estimates of sunbed use from 18 European countries, Boniol and colleagues estimated that 5.4% of melanoma cases (3438 cases each year) in Western Europe could potentially be prevented by avoiding exposure to indoor tanning (Boniol et al. 2012). Data from an Australian casecontrol study on early-onset melanoma estimated that 76% of melanomas diagnosed between the age of 18-29 years were attributable to sunbed use and 13% of those diagnosed in 30–39-year-olds (Cust et al. 2011), reinforcing the importance of prevention in young people. An ecological study conducted in Iceland reported a marked increase in the incidence of melanoma in women younger than 50 years following the widespread introduction of sunbeds in the early 1990s (Hery et al. 2010). Although inferences about causality cannot be made from ecological studies, the sequence of events in Iceland was highly suggestive and was invaluable in alerting public health authorities to the problematic trend.

#### (b) Current sunbed regulations globally

It has been demonstrated that legislative controls that restrict access to artificial

tanning sunbeds can be effective in reducing the number of visitations by young people (Guy et al. 2014; Makin and Dobbinson 2009; Hester et al. 2005). In 1977, France became the first country to introduce age restrictions on indoor tanning for youth 18 years or younger (Pawlak et al. 2012). Since then, there has been a rapid increase in the implementation of controls to restrict under age access in other jurisdictions; with 12 USA states, several Canadian provinces, Israel, and 12 European countries also restricting under 18 access (Sinclair and Makin 2013; Guy et al. 2014).

Besides restrictions on under age use, common legislative restrictions include limits on the intensity of UV lamps (e.g., European Union), warning labels (e.g., USA, Canada), no claim of health benefit (e.g., France), supervision by trained personnel (e.g., Ireland, Northern Ireland, Wales), and the compulsory wearing of protective goggles (e.g., Canada, Israel). While the increase in legislative restrictions has been positive, compliance checking against the laws is often inadequate (Hester et al. 2005; Mayer et al. 2008).

The most significant shift in legislative controls has been the complete ban of

commercial artificial tanning sunbeds in Brazil in 2009 and in all Australian states in 2016. In the Australian context of implementing an outright ban, compliance by commercial operations with the ban was very high. Strong public support for an outright ban combined with comprehensive and strong enforcement practices by regulatory agencies were the main contributing factors to this compliance. Importantly, there was also very little evidence to suggest that there was a significant shift in consumer demand to the domestic sunbed market following the outright ban (Sinclair et al. 2016). An incremental increase in controls to reduce health risks in commercial sunbed operations, combined with educational efforts to warn of the risks of sunbed use, were key factors to the successful implementation of the outright ban in Australia (Sinclair et al. 2016).

#### Early Detection

Whether identified by the patient, clinician, or as part of a mass screening program, the aim of early detection initiatives are to diagnose melanomas in their earliest stages, at which point lesions are thinner and survival rates are higher.

About half of all melanomas are self-detected (Collins et al. 2014). Self-examination of the skin involves checking all areas of the body (including those that are not exposed to the sun) for changes in the shape, size, or color of existing lesions, or for the emergence of new lesions.

Globally, most skin cancer detection guidelines encourage regular self-examination, together with education regarding sun protection and whole body skin examination by a clinician in the presence of any change or concern (Watts et al. 2015). Further, for "extreme risk" patients, such as those with a personal or familial history of melanoma, multiple (more than five) atypical naevi and genetic mutation of CDKN2A, most international guidelines advise annual surveillance by a dermatologist (Watts et al. 2015).

There are a number of clinical tools that may improve diagnostic accuracy by clinicians. From their systematic review of clinical guidelines, Watts and colleagues found a high level of evidence to support the use of dermoscopy, which may be complemented by sequential digital dermoscopy imaging (SDDI) to record any changes over time, and a moderate level of evidence for the use of total body photography in high risk patient groups (Watts et al. 2015). The review acknowledges that specialized training, including for primary care physicians, is essential to the effectiveness of these tools to improve diagnostic accuracy.

However, not all population groups are equally likely to notice changes in lesions or to seek early medical advice; this is one rationale for selective or mass population screening. Mass screening for melanoma involves examination of whole population groups. In principle, mass screening should reduce the number of deaths due to melanoma, as well as the medical costs due to treatment (Wilson and Jungner 1968); however, there is a lack of evidence to support these principles. As such, population-wide organized screening is not delivered in any country with the exception of Germany, including those countries with the highest rates of melanoma.

#### (a) The German Screening Program

In 1999, Germany introduced a systematic approach to skin cancer screening. This commenced with a pilot program called Skin Cancer Research to Provide Evidence for Effectiveness of Screening in Northern Germany (SCREEN), which provided total body skin examinations for residents of Schleswig-Holstein who were 20 years or older and held statutory health insurance policies. A mass media campaign was used to inform residents about the program. During the 1-year screening period (2003-2004), trained practicebased physicians screened 360,288 residents, or 27% of eligible women and 10% of eligible men in Schleswig-Holstein (Waldmann et al. 2012). In total, 585 of those screened were diagnosed with melanoma, of which close to 90% were classified as thin melanoma (<1 mm) (Breitbart et al. 2012). The screening period was associated with a spike in melanoma incidence, as well as for nonmelanoma incidence, which was not observed in neighboring regions (Eisemann et al. 2014; Waldmann et al. 2012). By 2008, melanoma mortality rates had declined by 47% among men and 49% among women in Schleswig-Holstein (Katalinic et al. 2012).

The program participation rate, its successful integration within the existing health care system, and the apparent positive trends all contributed to conclusions that populationbased skin cancer screening was possible and feasible in Germany. This led to a nation-wide population-based screening program, which commenced in Germany in 2008. Under the national program, total body skin examinations were provided by health insurance providers for those aged 35 years and older. An ecological study was conducted to evaluate the impact of the program on the German population, which analyzed trends in the age-standardized incidence and mortality for melanoma in Germany from 1980 to 2012 (Boniol et al. 2015). Although the launch of the program coincided with a 29% increase in melanoma incidence, from 14.5 cases per 100,000 person-years in 2006 to 18.0 cases per 100,000 person-years in 2010, melanoma mortality increased by 2.6% in men and 0.02% in the 5-year period that followed. These trends did not differ from the age-standardized trends observed for surrounding countries that did not have screening programs. Furthermore, melanoma mortality in Schleswig-Holstein doubled from 2009 to 2010, thus returning to rates close to that observed before the pilot project (Boniol et al. 2015).

The failure to achieve the projected decline in melanoma mortality in Germany could not be explained by poor rates of participation in the national screening program, which exceeded those in Schleswig-Holstein. It is possible that a longer period of follow-up was necessary in order to measure any population benefit, although this was not the experience in Schleswig-Holstein. It has been suggested that biases introduced to the reporting of deaths due to melanoma might have contributed to an apparent reduction in melanoma mortality in Schleswig-Holstein, as many doctors who performed screening as part of the trial were also responsible for reporting deaths due to melanoma (Boniol et al. 2015). This highlights the challenge of evaluating the impact of public health policies such as melanoma screening where trial data are not available.

## (b) Effectiveness of Targeted Screening Programs

Mass screening is indiscriminate. The result is that cost savings associated with detecting early stage cancer may be forfeited to the expense of screening those who are at very low risk of melanoma (Collins et al. 2014). Further, screening low-risk patients can increase the rates of biopsy of benign lesions, and detection and treatment of basal and squamous cell carcinomas, which are less likely to be life-threatening.

Terminology used to define "high risk" differs throughout clinical practice guidelines but considers naevi, phenotypic features, UV exposure, and other factors such as family history and genetics (Watts et al. 2015). Guidelines to identify high-risk individuals are informed by risk prediction models, which quantify an individual's risk of developing melanoma. In a systematic review of the melanoma risk prediction literature, Vuong et al. (2014) found that naevi, skin type, density of freckles, age, hair color, and sunburn history were common to many of the 19 models that were considered' however. there was some variation in how effectively models discriminated between individuals with and without melanoma. Research by Olsen et al. (2015) has demonstrated that risk prediction models need to be calibrated specifically for the target population, using cut-off scores that are suitable for what is considered to be high risk in that setting. Thus, although it is beneficial to use standardized, repeatable measures to identify high-risk individuals, there is no global tool for melanoma risk prediction. The derivation of risk

prediction models using a collaborative approach pooling multiple independent studies may have advantages in comparison with those developed from single studies. For example, pooled studies offer greater precision and increased generalizability, with the ability to incorporate variables that describe differences in risk across populations globally including ethnicity and latitude of residence.

There is some evidence that screening programs that target high-risk individuals may improve melanoma survival rates, particularly if these programs reach those who are less likely to present to a clinician (Gordon and Rowell 2015; Collins et al. 2014). Targeted surveillance programs may need to be accompanied by public campaigns in order to reach high-risk groups, particularly older men, who are less likely to participate in selective or population-based screening (Collins et al. 2014). In France, the Self-Assessment of Melanoma Risk Score (SAMScore) was reported to reduce the size of the population to be screened by a factor of 11 (compared with mass screening) and to identify a subgroup in which melanoma incidence was 25 times higher than in the general population (Quereux et al. 2012; Rat et al. 2015). Population benefits and cost-effectiveness of the French screening program is yet to be established.

A systematic review by Gordon and Rowell (2015) identified four studies on the economic value of melanoma screening in the decade to 2007, three of which were conducted in America and one in Australia. Although the studies are now somewhat dated, the review found evidence from two studies that screening high-risk individuals such as older men and those with a family history of melanoma could be cost-effective. However, cost savings were offset by the removal of squamous and basal cell carcinomas and other skin lesions that were also detected by the screening program (Gordon and Rowell 2015).

## Conclusion

After 40 years of investment to reduce the impact of melanoma at a population level, there is reasonable evidence to suggest that reducing melanoma incidence through high-impact, evidencebased prevention, and early detection interventions is not only likely to be effective in reducing the risk of melanoma at a population level but will also be cost-effective.

In many respects, the evidence is clear in terms of what needs to be done and there are a multitude of governmental reports including from USA (U.-S. Department of Health and Human Services 2014; Saraiya et al. 2004), UK (National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence 2011), and Australia (Department of Health 2012) that supports this view by providing guidance towards evidence-based best-practice in skin cancer prevention.

At a time when the cost of treating melanoma, particularly advanced melanoma, is likely to increase significantly in coming years, and with the knowledge currently available to prevent melanoma, now is the time to make the necessary investments to reduce the growing and significant human and financial burden of melanoma into the future.

#### References

- Agredano YZ, Chan JL, Kimball RC, Kimball AB (2006) Accessibility to air travel correlates strongly with increasing melanoma incidence. Melanoma Res 16(1):77–81. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.cmr.0000195696.50390.23
- Alexandrov LB, Nik-Zainal S, Wedge DC, Aparicio SA, Behjati S, Biankin AV, Bignell GR, Bolli N, Borg A, Børresen-Dale AL, Boyault S, Burkhardt B, Butler AP, Caldas C, Davies HR, Desmedt C, Eils R, Eyfjörd JE, Foekens JA, Greaves M, Hosoda F, Hutter B, Ilicic T, Imbeaud S, Imielinski M, Jäger N, Jones DT, Jones D, Knappskog S, Kool M, Lakhani SR, López-Otín C, Martin S, Munshi NC, Nakamura H, Northcott PA, Pajic M, Papaemmanuil E, Paradiso A, Pearson JV, Κ, Puente XS, Raine Ramakrishna M. Richardson AL, Richter J, Rosenstiel P, Schlesner M, Schumacher TN, Span PN, Teague JW, Totoki Y, Tutt AN, Valdés-Mas R, van Buuren MM, van't Veer L, Vincent-Salomon A, Waddell N, Yates LR, Australian Pancreatic Cancer Genome Initiative,

ICGC Breast Cancer Consortium, ICGC MMML-Seq Consortium, ICGC PedBrain, Zucman-Rossi J, Futreal PA, McDermott U, Lichter P, Meyerson M, Grimmond SM, Siebert R, Campo E, Shibata T, Pfister SM, Campbell PJ, Stratton MR (2013) Signatures of mutational processes in human cancer. Nature 500(7463):415–421

- Armstrong BK, Kricker A (1993) How much melanoma is caused by sun exposure? Melanoma Res 3(6):395–401
- Autier P, Dore JF, Schifflers E, Cesarini JP, Bollaerts A, Koelmel KF, Gefeller O, Liabeuf A, Lejeune F, Lienard D et al (1995) Melanoma and use of sunscreens: an Eortc case-control study in Germany, Belgium and France. The EORTC Melanoma Cooperative Group. Int J Cancer 61(6):749–755
- Baade PD, Youlden DR, Youl P, Kimlin M, Sinclair C, Aitken J (2015) Assessment of the effect of migration on melanoma incidence trends in Australia between 1982 and 2010 among people under 30. Acta Derm Venereol 95(1):118–120. https://doi.org/10.2340/ 00015555-1983
- Beitner H, Norell SE, Ringborg U, Wennersten G, Mattson B (1990) Malignant melanoma: aetiological importance of individual pigmentation and sun exposure. Br J Dermatol 122(1):43–51. www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/pubmed/2297503
- Boniol M, Autier P, Boyle P, Gandini S (2012) Cutaneous melanoma attributable to sunbed use: systematic review and meta-analysis. Br Med J 345:e4757. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.e4757
- Boniol M, Autier P, Gandini S (2015) Melanoma mortality following skin cancer screening in Germany. Br Med J Open 5(9):e008158. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2015-008158
- Branstrom R, Kasparian NA, Chang YM, Affleck P, Tibben A, Aspinwall LG, Azizi E, Baron-Epel O, Battistuzzi L, Bergman W, Bruno W, Chan M, Cuellar F, Debniak T, Pjanova D, Ertmanski S, Figl A, Gonzalez M, Hayward NK, Hocevar M, Kanetsky PA, Leachman SA, Heisele O, Palmer J, Peric B, Puig S, Schadendorf D, Gruis NA, Newton-Bishop J, Brandberg Y (2010) Predictors of sun protection behaviors and severe sunburn in an international online study. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 19(9):2199–2210. https://doi.org/10.1158/1055-9965. EPI-10-0196
- Breitbart EW, Waldmann A, Nolte S, Capellaro M, Greinert R, Volkmer B, Katalinic A (2012) Systematic skin cancer screening in Northern Germany. J Am Acad Dermatol 66(2):201–211. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jaad.2010.11.016
- Chang YM, Barrett JH, Bishop DT, Armstrong BK, Bataille V, Bergman W, Berwick M, Bracci PM, Elwood JM, Ernstoff MS, Gallagher RP, Green AC, Gruis NA, Holly EA, Ingvar C, Kanetsky PA, Karagas MR, Lee TK, Le Marchand L, Mackie RM, Olsson H, Osterlind A, Rebbeck TR, Sasieni P, Siskind V, Swerdlow AJ, Titus-Ernstoff L, Zens MS, Newton-Bishop JA (2009) Sun exposure

and melanoma risk at different latitudes: a pooled analysis of 5700 cases and 7216 controls. Int J Epidemiol 38(3):814–830. https://doi.org/10.1093/ ije/dyp166

- Cho E, Rosner BA, Feskanich D, Colditz GA (2005) Risk factors and individual probabilities of melanoma for whites. J Clin Oncol 23(12):2669–2675. https://doi. org/10.1200/JCO.2005.11.108
- Collins MK, Secrest AM, Ferris LK (2014) Screening for melanoma. Melanoma Res 24(5):428–436. https://doi. org/10.1097/CMR.00000000000104
- Cristofolini M, Bianchi R, Boi S, Decarli A, Hanau C, Micciolo R, Zumiani G (1993) Analysis of the costeffectiveness ratio of the health campaign for the early diagnosis of cutaneous melanoma in Trentino, Italy. Cancer 71(2):370–374
- Cust AE, Armstrong BK, Goumas C, Jenkins MA, Schmid H, Hopper JL, Kefford RF, Giles GG, Aitken JF, Mann GJ (2011) Sunbed use during adolescence and early adulthood is associated with increased risk of early-onset melanoma. Int J Cancer 128(10):2425–2435. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.25576
- de Gruijl FR (1999) Skin cancer and solar UV radiation. Eur J Cancer 35(14):2003–2009. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/S0959-8049(99)00283-X
- Dennis LK, Beane Freeman LE, VanBeek MJ (2003) Sunscreen use and the risk for melanoma: a quantitative review. Ann Intern Med 139(12):966–978
- Department of Health (2012) Skin cancer prevention framework 2013–2017. Victorian Government, Melbourne
- Dobbinson SJ, Wakefield MA, Jamsen KM, Herd NL, Spittal MJ, Lipscomb JE, Hill DJ (2008) Weekend sun protection and sunburn in Australia trends (1987–2002) and association with SunSmart television advertising. Am J Prev Med 34(2):94–101. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.amepre.2007.09.024
- Dobbinson SJ, Volkov A, Wakefield MA (2015) Continued impact of SunSmart advertising on youth and adults' behaviors. Am J Prev Med 49(1):20–28. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.amepre.2015.01.011
- Dono J, Ettridge KA, Sharplin GR, Wilson CJ (2014) The relationship between sun protection policies and practices in schools with primary-age students: the role of school demographics, policy comprehensiveness and SunSmart membership. Health Educ Res 29(1):1–12. https://doi.org/10.1093/her/cyt105
- Doran CM, Ling R, Byrnes J, Crane M, Shakeshaft AP, Searles A, Perez D (2016) Benefit cost analysis of three skin cancer public education mass-media campaigns implemented in New South Wales, Australia. PLoS One 11(1):e0147665. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0147665
- Eisemann N, Waldmann A, Geller AC, Weinstock MA, Volkmer B, Greinert R, Breitbart EW, Katalinic A (2014) Non-melanoma skin cancer incidence and impact of skin cancer screening on incidence. J Invest Dermatol 134(1):43–50. https://doi.org/10.1038/ jid.2013.304

- El Ghissassi F, Baan R, Straif K, Grosse Y, Secretan B, Bouvard V, Benbrahim-Tallaa L, Guha N, Freeman C, Galichet L, Cogliano V (2009) A review of human carcinogens – part D: radiation. Lancet Oncol 10(8):751–752
- Erdmann F, Lortet-Tieulent J, Schuz J, Zeeb H, Greinert R, Breitbart EW, Bray F (2013) International trends in the incidence of malignant melanoma 1953–2008 – are recent generations at higher or lower risk? Int J Cancer 132(2):385–400. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.27616
- Ferlay J, Soerjomatram I, Ervik M, Dikshit R, Eser S, Mathers C, Rebelo M, Parkin D, Forman D, Bray F (2013) GLOBOCAN 2012 v1.0, cancer incidence and mortality worldwide: IARC CancerBase No. 11. IARC, WHO. Available from: http://globocan.iarc.fr. Accessed 29 Sept 2016
- Fioletov VE, Kimlin MG, Krotkov N, McArthur LJB, Kerr JB, Wardle DI, Herman JR, Meltzer R, Mathews TW, Kaurola J (2004) UV index climatology over the United States and Canada from ground-based and satellite estimates. J Geophys Res-Atmos 109(D22). https://doi.org/10.1029/2004jd004820
- Gandini S, Sera F, Cattaruzza MS, Pasquini P, Picconi O, Boyle P, Melchi CF (2005) Meta-analysis of risk factors for cutaneous melanoma: II. Sun exposure. Eur J Cancer 41(1):45–60. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ejca.2004.10.016
- Garattini L, Cainelli T, Tribbia G, Scopelliti D (1996) Economic evaluation of an educational campaign for early diagnosis of cutaneous melanoma. PharmacoEconomics 9(2):146–155
- Ghiasvand R, Weiderpass E, Green AC, Lund E, Veierod MB (2016) Sunscreen use and subsequent melanoma risk: a population-based cohort study. J Clin Oncol. https://doi.org/10.1200/jco.2016.67.5934
- Gordon LG, Rowell D (2015) Health system costs of skin cancer and cost-effectiveness of skin cancer prevention and screening: a systematic review. Eur J Cancer Prev 24(2):141–149. https://doi.org/ 10.1097/CEJ.000000000000056
- Green AC, Williams GM, Logan V, Strutton GM (2011) Reduced melanoma after regular sunscreen use: randomized trial follow-up. J Clin Oncol 29(3):257–263. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2010.28.7078
- Guy GP Jr, Berkowitz Z, Jones SE, Olsen EO, Miyamoto JN, Michael SL, Saraiya M (2014) State indoor tanning laws and adolescent indoor tanning. Am J Public Health 104(4):e69–e74. https://doi.org/10.2105/ AJPH.2013.301850
- Hacker E, Boyce Z, Kimlin MG, Wockner L, Pollak T, Vaartjes SA, Hayward NK, Whiteman DC (2013) The effect of MC1R variants and sunscreen on the response of human melanocytes in vivo to ultraviolet radiation and implications for melanoma. Pigment Cell Res 26(6):835–844. https://doi.org/10.1111/pcmr.12157
- Hery C, Tryggvadottir L, Sigurdsson T, Olafsdottir E, Sigurgeirsson B, Jonasson JG, Olafsson JH, Boniol M, Byrnes GB, Dore JF, Autier P (2010) A melanoma epidemic in Iceland: possible influence of

sunbed use. Am J Epidemiol 172(7):762–767. https:// doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwq238

- Herzfeld PM, Fitzgerald EF, Hwang SA, Stark A (1993) A case-control study of malignant melanoma of the trunk among white males in upstate New York. Cancer Detect Prev 17(6):601–608
- Hester EJ, Heilig LF, D'Ambrosia R, Drake AL, Schilling LM, Dellavalle RP (2005) Compliance with youth access regulations for indoor UV tanning. Arch Dermatol 141(8):959–962. https://doi.org/10.1001/ archderm.141.8.959
- Hill VK, Gartner JJ, Samuels Y, Goldstein AM (2013) The genetics of melanoma: recent advances. Annu Rev Genomics Hum Genet 14:257–279. https://doi.org/ 10.1146/annurev-genom-091212-153429
- Hirst NG, Gordon LG, Scuffham PA, Green AC (2012) Lifetime cost-effectiveness of skin cancer prevention through promotion of daily sunscreen use. Value Health 15(2):261–268. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jval.2011.10.009
- Hodis E, Watson IR, Kryukov GV, Arold ST, Imielinski M, Theurillat JP, Nickerson E, Auclair D, Li L, Place C, Dicara D, Ramos AH, Lawrence MS, Cibulskis K, Sivachenko A, Voet D, Saksena G, Stransky N, Onofrio RC, Winckler W, Ardlie K, Wagle N, Wargo J, Chong K, Morton DL, Stemke-Hale K, Chen G, Noble M, Meyerson M, Ladbury JE, Davies MA, Gershenwald JE, Wagner SN, Hoon DS, Schadendorf D, Lander ES, Gabriel SB, Getz G, Garraway LA, Chin L (2012) A landscape of driver mutations in melanoma. Cell 150(2):251–263. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2012.06.024
- Holly EA, Aston DA, Cress RD, Ahn DK, Kristiansen JJ (1995) Cutaneous melanoma in women. I. Exposure to sunlight, ability to tan, and other risk factors related to ultraviolet light. Am J Epidemiol 141(10):923–933
- Holman CD, Armstrong BK, Heenan PJ (1986) Relationship of cutaneous malignant melanoma to individual sunlight-exposure habits. J Natl Cancer Inst 76(3):403–414
- Huncharek M, Kupelnick B (2002) Use of topical sunscreens and the risk of malignant melanoma: a metaanalysis of 9067 patients from 11 case-control studies. Am J Public Health 92(7):1173–1177
- Iannacone MR, Youlden DR, Baade PD, Aitken JF, Green AC (2015) Melanoma incidence trends and survival in adolescents and young adults in Queensland, Australia. Int J Cancer 136(3):603–609. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/ijc.28956
- International Agency for Research on Cancer (2007) The association of use of sunbeds with cutaneous malignant melanoma and other skin cancers: a systematic review. Int J Cancer 120(5):1116–1122. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/ijc.22453
- Italia N, Rehfuess EA (2012) Is the Global Solar UV Index an effective instrument for promoting sun protection? A systematic review. Health Educ Res 27(2):200–213. https://doi.org/10.1093/her/cyr050

- Katalinic A, Waldmann A, Weinstock MA, Geller AC, Eisemann N, Greinert R, Volkmer B, Breitbart E (2012) Does skin cancer screening save lives? Cancer 118(21):5395–5402
- Lazovich D, Vogel RI, Berwick M, Weinstock MA, Warshaw EM, Anderson KE (2011) Melanoma risk in relation to use of sunscreen or other sun protection methods. Cancer Epidemiol Biomark Prev 20(12):2583–2593. https://doi.org/10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-11-0705
- Lazovich D, Choi K, Vogel RI (2012) Time to get serious about skin cancer prevention. Cancer Epidemiol Biomark Prev 21(11):1893–1901
- Lin JS, Eder M, Weinmann S, Zuber SP, Beil TL, Plaut D, Lutz K (2011) Behavioral counseling to prevent skin cancer: systematic evidence revfiew to update the 2003 U.S. Preventive Services Task Force Recommendation. Evidence synthesis no. 82. AHRQ publication no. 11-05152-EF-1. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality, Rockville
- Lucas RM, McMichael AJ, Armstrong BK, Smith WT (2008) Estimating the global disease burden due to ultraviolet radiation exposure. Int J Epidemiol 37(3):654–667. https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/dyn017
- Makin JK, Dobbinson SJ (2009) Changes in solarium numbers in Australia following negative media and legislation. Aust N Z J Public Health 33(5):491–494. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1753-6405.2009.00436.x
- Makin JK, Warne CD, Dobbinson SJ, Wakefield MA, Hill DJ (2013) Population and age-group trends in weekend sun protection and sunburn over two decades of the SunSmart programme in Melbourne, Australia. Br J Dermatol 168(1):154–161. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/bjd.12082
- Mayer JA, Hoerster KD, Pichon LC, Rubio DA, Woodruff SI, Forster JL (2008) Enforcement of state indoor tanning laws in the United States. Prev Chronic Dis 5(4):A125
- Nash JF (2006) Human safety and efficacy of ultraviolet filters and sunscreen products. Dermatol Clin 24(1):35–51. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.det.2005.09.006
- National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (2011) Skin cancer: prevention using public information, sun protection resources and changes to the environment, vol NICE public health guidance 32. NICE, London
- Olsen CM, Neale RE, Green AC, Webb PM, Whiteman DC (2015) Independent validation of six melanoma risk prediction models. J Invest Dermatol 135 (5):1377–1384. https://doi.org/10.1038/jid.2014.533
- Osterlind A, Tucker MA, Stone BJ, Jensen OM (1988) The Danish case-control study of cutaneous malignant melanoma. II. Importance of UV-light exposure. Int J Cancer 42(3):319–324
- Pawlak MT, Bui M, Amir M, Burkhardt DL, Chen AK, Dellavalle RP (2012) Legislation restricting access to indoor tanning throughout the world. Arch Dermatol 148(9):1006–1012. https://doi.org/ 10.1001/archdermatol.2012.2080

- Quereux G, N'Guyen JM, Cary M, Jumbou O, Lequeux Y, Dreno B (2012) Validation of the self-assessment of melanoma risk score for a melanoma-targeted screening. Eur J Cancer Prev 21(6):588–595. https://doi.org/ 10.1097/CEJ.0b013e328353ed68
- Rat C, Quereux G, Grimault C, Gaultier A, Khammari A, Dreno B, Nguyen JM (2015) Melanoma incidence and patient compliance in a targeted melanoma screening intervention. One-year follow-up in a large French cohort of high-risk patients. Eur J Gen Pract 21(2):124–130. https://doi.org/10.3109/ 13814788.2014.949669
- Repacholi MH (2000) Global solar UV index. Radiat Prot Dosim 91(1–3):307–311
- Saraiya M, Glanz K, Briss PA, Nichols P, White C, Das D, Smith SJ, Tannor B, Hutchinson AB, Wilson KM, Gandhi N, Lee NC, Rimer B, Coates RC, Kerner JF, Hiatt RA, Buffler P, Rochester P (2004) Interventions to prevent skin cancer by reducing exposure to ultraviolet radiation: a systematic review. Am J Prev Med 27(5):422–466. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. amepre.2004.08.009
- Sinclair C, Foley P (2009) Skin cancer prevention in Australia. Br J Dermatol 161(s3):116–123. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1365-2133.2009.09459.x
- Sinclair C, Makin JK (2013) Implications of lessons learned from tobacco control for tanning bed reform. Prev Chronic Dis 10:E28. https://doi.org/10.5888/ pcd10.120186
- Sinclair C, Cleaves N, Dunstone K, Makin J, Zouzounis S (2016) Impact of an outright ban on the availability of commercial tanning services in Victoria, Australia. Br J Dermatol 175(2):387–390. https://doi.org/10.1111/ bjd.14549
- Smith T (1979) The Queensland melanoma project an exercise in health education. Br Med J 1(6158):253–254
- Tanner PR (2006) Sunscreen product formulation. Dermatol Clin 24(1):53–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. det.2005.09.002
- Thursfield V, Farrugia H (2015) Cancer in Victoria: statistics & trends 2014. Cancer Council Victoria, Melbourne
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (2014) The Surgeon General's call to action to prevent skin cancer. U.S. Dept of Health and Human Services, Office of the Surgeon General, Washington, DC
- Vogel RI, Ahmed RL, Nelson HH, Berwick M, Weinstock MA, Lazovich D (2014) Exposure to indoor tanning without burning and melanoma risk by sunburn history. J Natl Cancer Inst 106(7). https://doi.org/ 10.1093/jnci/dju219
- Volkov A, Dobbinson S, Wakefield M, Slevin T (2013) Seven-year trends in sun protection and sunburn among Australian adolescents and adults. Aust N Z J Public Health 37(1):63–69. https://doi.org/10.1111/1753-6405.12012
- Vuong K, McGeechan K, Armstrong BK, Cust AE (2014) Risk prediction models for incident primary

cutaneous melanoma: a systematic review. JAMA Dermatol 150(4):434–444. https://doi.org/10.1001/ jamadermatol.2013.8890

- Waldmann A, Nolte S, Weinstock MA, Breitbart EW, Eisemann N, Geller AC, Greinert R, Volkmer B, Katalinic A (2012) Skin cancer screening participation and impact on melanoma incidence in Germany – an observational study on incidence trends in regions with and without population-based screening. Br J Cancer 106(5):970–974
- Wallingford SC, Iannacone MR, Youlden DR, Baade PD, Ives A, Verne J, Aitken JF, Green AC (2015) Comparison of melanoma incidence and trends among youth under 25 years in Australia and England, 1990–2010. Int J Cancer 137(9):2227–2233. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/ijc.29598
- Watts CG, Dieng M, Morton RL, Mann GJ, Menzies SW, Cust AE (2015) Clinical practice guidelines for identification, screening and follow-up of individuals at high risk of primary cutaneous melanoma: a systematic review. Br J Dermatol 172(1):33–47. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/bjd.13403
- Weinstock MA, Colditz GA, Willett WC, Stampfer MJ, Bronstein BR, Mihm MC Jr, Speizer FE (1991) Melanoma and the sun: the effect of swimsuits and a "healthy" tan on the risk of nonfamilial malignant melanoma in women. Am J Epidemiol 134(5):462–470
- Westerdahl J, Olsson H, Masback A, Ingvar C, Jonsson N (1995) Is the use of sunscreens a risk factor for malignant melanoma? Melanoma Res 5(1):59–65

- Westerdahl J, Ingvar C, Masback A, Olsson H (2000) Sunscreen use and malignant melanoma. Int J Cancer 87(1):145–150. https://doi.org/10.1002/1097-0215 (20000701)87:1<145::AID-IJC22>3.0.CO;2-3. [pii]
- Whiteman DC, Valery P, McWhirter W, Green AC (1997) Risk factors for childhood melanoma in Queensland, Australia. Int J Cancer 70(1):26–31
- Whiteman DC, Whiteman CA, Green AC (2001) Childhood sun exposure as a risk factor for melanoma: a systematic review of epidemiologic studies. Cancer Causes Control 12(1):69–82
- Whiteman DC, Green AC, Olsen CM (2016) The growing burden of invasive melanoma: projections of incidence rates and numbers of new cases in six susceptible populations to 2031. J Invest Dermatol 136:1161–1171. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jid.2016.01.035
- Wilson J, Jungner G (1968) Principles and practice of screening for disease. Public health papers 34
- World Health Organization (2002) Global Solar UV Index: a practical guide: a joint recommendation of the World Health Organization, World Meteorological Organization, United Nations Environment Programme, and the International Commission on non-ionizing radiation protection. WHO, Geneva
- Youl P, Aitken J, Hayward N, Hogg D, Liu L, Lassam N, Martin N, Green A (2002) Melanoma in adolescents: a case-control study of risk factors in Queensland, Australia. Int J Cancer 98(1):92–98



# **Microbiome and Melanoma**

# 14

Reetakshi Arora, Amanda Hermann, and Jennifer A. Wargo

## Contents

Introduction	288
The Microbiome in Health and Disease Gut Microbiome Skin Microbiome	289 289 289
Profiling the Microbiome	292
Role of the Microbiome in Melanoma and Other Cancers Influence of Tumor and Gut Microbiome on Carcinogenesis and Response to Cancer Therapy Influence of the Gut and Tumor Microbiome on Response to Melanoma Therapy	292 292 295
Targeting the Microbiome to Treat Disease	297
Conclusions and Future Directions	298
References	299

## Abstract

Significant advances have been made in the past decade across the melanoma care continuum, with approved systemic therapy for patients with advanced disease as well as in the adjuvant setting. We are gaining an appreciation of the factors that drive response and resistance to these therapies, and there is novel evidence that the microbiome (which refers to the microbes that inhabit our bodies along with their collective genomes) may shape overall immunity and may even impact therapeutic responses (e.g., immune checkpoint blockade). This has profound implications and calls to question if the microbiome could be used as a biomarker or therapeutic target in patients going onto treatment with immune checkpoint blockade (and potentially onto other forms of therapy). Insights are also being gained into the potential influence of the microbiota on melanoma development at the level of the skin and of the gut, though there is a tremendous knowledge yet to be gained. Each of these aspects

R. Arora · A. Hermann

Department of Surgical Oncology, The University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center, Houston, TX, USA

J. A. Wargo (🖂)

Department of Surgical Oncology, The University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center, Houston, TX, USA

Department of Genomic Medicine, The University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center, Houston, TX, USA e-mail: JWargo@mdanderson.org

will be discussed herein, as will strategies to target and factors that influence the microbiome.

Keywords

Melanoma · Microbiome · Checkpoint blockade · Immunity

#### Introduction

The human microbiome is a complex aggregate of microorganisms (including bacteria, archaea, viruses, and fungi) as well as their associated genomes. Though once known for their pathogenic properties, these microbes are now implicated in helping to regulate the delicate balance of health and disease (Sekirov et al. 2010). Many of the initial insights into this role of the microbiome focused on gut microbes and metabolism (Turnbaugh and Gordon 2009); however microbes throughout the body are now implicated regulating a host of physicologic properties including local and systemic immunity (Lloyd-Price et al. 2016). The increased recognition of the role of the microbiome came about in part due to advances in sequencing techniques - which allowed the identification and characterization of these microbes without the need to culture them. Since initial approaches were described (Staley and Konopka 1985), there are now numerous means through which microbiota may be characterized - and may yield insight into their function as well as their phylogeny (Wade 2002; Duncan et al. 2007; Eckburg et al. 2005; Shendure and Ji 2008; Pace 1997; Venter et al. 2004). Such approaches have now been used to characterize the human microbiome in participants worldwide - through efforts such as the Human Microbiome Project (HMP) and American Gut (Human Microbiome Project Consortium 2012a, b; McDonald et al. 2018).

In addition to their role in normal physiology and maintenance of overall health, these microbes may impact disease states, particularly when imbalances of these microbes may exist in a particular body site (termed "dysbiosis") (Frosali et al. 2015). A classic example of this is in the context of *Clostridium difficile* infection in the gut, which is associated with a massive dysbiosis (Khanna et al. 2016). However more subtle disruptions in the microbiota in the gut and at other sites have been associated with diseases and conditions throughout the body – ranging from autism and heart disease to cancer (Strati et al. 2017; Tang et al. 2017; Sheflin et al. 2014; Zitvogel et al. 2015; Zou et al. 2018). Disruptions of the skin microbiome have been associated with conditions such as eczema and psoriasis (Trivedi 2012; Grice 2014), among other conditions.

The link between microbiota and cancer has now been described at multiple levels – with the earliest reports focusing on the contribution of microbes to carcinogenesis (such as in the case of hepatitis viruses and hepatocellular cancer and Helicobacter pylori in gastric cancer). However there is now a growing appreciation of the complexity of the potential contribution of these microbes to carcinogenesis and also to response to therapy (Tsilimigras et al. 2017), both at the site of disease and at distant sites. This is poignantly illustrated in the recent observations that microbes may be found within human tumors and that they may either facilitate (Miller et al. 2018) or inhibit (Geller et al. 2017) therapeutic responses. Perhaps even more profound is the recent data supporting the impact of gut microbiota on responses to immunotherapy (specifically immune checkpoint blockade) in patients with melanoma and other cancers (Matson et al. 2018; Gopalakrishnan et al. 2018a; Routy et al. 2018a; Yi et al. 2018; Kroemer and Zitvogel 2018; Bhatt et al. 2017; Chaput et al. 2017).

Together, these findings have profound implications for patients with melanoma and other cancers – as the microbiome could potentially serve as a biomarker and could even be therapeutically targeted (using fecal microbiota transplant among other strategies). Each of these will be discussed herein, with the goal of providing the basis for an understanding of the role and potential of the microbiome in patients with melanoma.

## The Microbiome in Health and Disease

## **Gut Microbiome**

As noted previously, the microbiome contributes to numerous critical functions within the host. Perhaps one of the most impactful contributions is the influence of the gut microbiota on systemic immunity – which could potentially alter immune function and immunosurveillance for cancer and can also influence responses to immunotherapy for melanoma as shown in recent studies (Matson et al. 2018; Gopalakrishnan et al. 2018a; Routy et al. 2018a; Chaput et al. 2017; Frankel et al. 2017). Certainly, there is extensive interaction between microbes in the lumen of the gut and immune cells in the lamina propria along its vast length and surface area, and there are also more distantly interactions at the level of the mesenteric lymph node. These host-microbial interactions are paramount to overall health, and there is a delicate balance through which host immune cells recognize and eliminate pathogenic microbes while remaining tolerant to critical commensal microbes as well as food antigens. However despite these immune cells being tolerant to commensals, there is now clear evidence that the overall immunity is in part shaped by interactions with these gut microbes (Honda and Littman 2016), including from mouse models where germ-free mice demonstrate markedly altered immune function (Johansson et al. 2015; Spiljar et al. 2017) but also from studies in human cohorts.

Microbes interact with immune constituents (including T cells, B cells, dendritic cells, neutrophils, and others) scattered along the lamina propria of the gut as well as in the organized structures of the gut-associated lymphoid tissue (GALT) (Fig. 1a). The means through which they interact are numerous and include local interactions such as engagement of pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) (such as lipopolysaccharide (LPS) and flagellin) with Toll-like receptors present on innate immune cells and interstitial epithelial cells (IECs). These PAMPs can also induce maturation of dendritic cells in the area, which can then traffic to mesenteric lymph nodes where they may stimulate CD4+ and CD8+ T lymphocytes (Lathrop et al. 2011). These lymphocytes and other immune cells can then act locally to secrete cytokines such as interleukin-10 and interleukin 17 or may traffic directly into the bloodstream where they can mediate distant effects. CD4+ regulatory T cells (Tregs) play an important role in promoting immunologic tolerance to commensal microbes (Furusawa et al. 2013), limiting inflammation. Microbes may also influence immunity via production of metabolites such as short-chain fatty acids (SCFAs) (Reichardt et al. 2014).

Though we do not yet have a deep understanding of the ideal constituents of a "healthy" microbiome, there is evidence that disruptions of the gut microbiome (dysbiosis) may lead to pathologic conditions including autoimmune and inflammatory diseases such as inflammatory bowel disease (IBD), type I diabetes, rheumatoid arthritis (RA), and multiple sclerosis (Tsilimigras et al. 2017; Kim et al. 2017; Mima et al. 2017; Garcia-Castillo et al. 2016) and have also been associated with cancer (Sears and Garrett 2014; Yang and Jobin 2017).

#### Skin Microbiome

In addition to the gut microbiota, microbiota at other sites (such as the skin) may also influence immunity and overall health (Byrd et al. 2018), with disruption potentially leading to disease states (Grice and Segre 2011). The skin harbors a lower microbial biomass compared to gut, owing to different physical and chemical properties (Chen et al. 2018). The microbial ecology of human skin is complex, and microbiota analysis from healthy donors has identified Staphylococcus, Micrococcus, Corynebacterium, Brevibacterium, Propionibacterium, and Acinetobacter species as normal residents in skin (Gao et al. 2007). The most common fungal species present on normal human skin are Malassezia (Sanford and Gallo 2013). Both environmental and host factors can have direct





can activate dendritic cells (DCs) which migrate to the draining lymph node to activate naïve T cells to effector cells. These effector cells then enter into systemic circulation. These microbes and microbial by-products alter DCs

effect on skin microbiome such as physiology, external environment, immune system, lifestyle, body location, age, gender, and underlying medical conditions (Grice and Segre 2011).

The stratum corneum layer of the skin epidermis and epidermal tight junctions are two of the main elements in the barrier function of the skin (De Benedetto et al. 2012). Components of the skin microbiome may influence immunity and other host functions via a number of different mechanisms (Belkaid and Segre 2014) (Fig. 1b). This includes their ability to metabolize host proteins and lipids into bioactive molecules such as free fatty acids (Belkaid and Segre 2014) that in turn can stimulate keratinocyte-derived immune mediators (complement, and IL-1) and other immune cells within the dermis. Work from Work from Dr. Yasmine group showed how skin microbiota plays a key role in promoting protective immunity to dermal infections. Their group demonstrated that skin commensals can induce T cell responses restricted to MHC class I molecules and these commensal-specific T cells express immunoregulatory and tissue repair signature genes promoting accelerated skin wound closure. Therefore, suggesting the capacity of skin microbiota to induce immune responses that couples antimicrobial function with tissue repair (Linehan et al. 2018).

Disruptions of the skin microbiota are associated with a number of disease conditions – including psoriasis, atopic dermatitis, and acne vulgaris (Trivedi 2012; Grice 2014). Psoriasis is a chronic multifactorial autoimmune disorder affecting the skin, characterized by raised, scaly, welldemarcated, erythematous oval plaques (Nestle et al. 2009), and can be provoked or exacerbated by specific pathogens including bacteria (S. aureus and Streptococcus pyogenes), viruses (human papillomavirus and endogenous retroviruses), and fungi (Malassezia and Candida albicans) (Fry and Baker 2007). Fahlén et al. found Streptococcus as the most common genus in both normal and psoriasis skin, whereas Staphylococcus and Propionibacterium were significantly lower in psoriasis compared with control limb skin (Fahlen et al. 2012), while Alekseyenko et al. showed significant increase in abundances of Corynebacterium, Propionibacterium, Staphylococcus, and Streptococcus in psoriatic plaques (Alekseyenko et al. 2013). In contrast Gao et al. revealed Propionibacterium species being less abundant in psoriasis than in normal controls (Gao et al. 2008). In another study, a reduction in Firmicutes and an increase in Proteobacteria were reported in psoriatic patients (Drago et al. 2016), while Liew et al. reported that Firmicutes were significantly overrepresented and Actinobacteria and Propionibacterium were significantly underrepresented in psoriatic lesions. Although this confirms that psoriasis exhibits a distinct microbiota from healthy unaffected skin, however, conflicting reports warrant a thorough characterization of the abundance of microbes in psoriatic patients. Of note, M proteins, found on Group A, C, and G β-hemolytic streptococci, are associated with worsening of chronic plaque psoriasis by mimicking keratin determinants with subsequent psoriatic T-cell activation (McFadden et al. 1991; Valdimarsson et al. 2009). This theory is validated by the fact that the interaction between type IV collagen and  $\alpha \alpha$  integrin found exclusively on epidermal psoriatic T cells results in the expansion of this subset of cells and the manifestation of psoriasis (Conrad et al. 2007). T-cell activation in

**Fig. 1** (continued) which can skew the T-cell phenotype – T helper-1 ( $T_H$ 1), T helper-17 ( $T_H$ 17), or T regulatory cells (Tregs). (b) Skin microbiota and immune cells. Commensal organism over the skin surface and associated structures can metabolize the host proteins and lipids into bioactive products that can inhibit the invasion of pathogens. Immune cell types are found within the skin, including Langerhans cells, dendritic epidermal  $\gamma\delta$  T cells

⁽DETCs), and memory  $\alpha\beta$  T cells in the epidermis, and subsets of dendritic cells, macrophages, neutrophils, mast cells,  $\gamma\delta$  T cells, innate lymphoid cells (ILCs), CD4+ and CD8+ T effector cells, and T regulatory cells (Treg) are found in dermis. Skin commensals can also induce T-cell responses, and these commensal-specific T cells express effector genes with immunoregulatory signatures

psoriasis is also shown to be predisposed by antigens such as streptococcal pyogenic toxin A and B as well as peptidoglycan (Boyman et al. 2007; Davison et al. 2001; Baker et al. 2006). The role of the skin microbiome in the development and progression of melanoma and other cancers is incompletely understood at this point, though active investigations are currently underway.

#### Profiling the Microbiome

As previously mentioned, advances in techniques to characterize the microbiome have resulted in a marked increase in our understanding of these microbes in the setting of health and disease. Several different techniques exist to profile the microbiome, and these each have unique advantages and disadvantages (Lagier et al. 2018; Cogdill et al. 2018) (Table 1).

This includes 16 s sequencing which involves next-generation sequencing techniques to characterize the 16 s subunit of the ribosome (which is unique to prokaryotes). Regions of the 16 s subunit vary between bacterial species - thus allowing use of this technique to determine relative abundances of differential bacterial species within a given sample (Zhang et al. 2018). Additionally, one can use this approach to assess alpha diversity - which is a measure of the differences in abundance of certain bacterial taxa between samples and/or groups. Beta diversity may also be derived using this technique, which refers to the similarity/dissimilarity between groups of samples (Caporaso et al. 2010). An advantage of this technique is the relatively low cost and speed of analysis using this approach; however limitations exist as species-level determination may not be feasible nor are other components of the microbiota assessed using this approach (such as viruses, fungi, and protozoa).

Another technique that can be used to profile the microbiome is whole metagenomic sequencing – or WMS. This approach involves sequencing of the entire genomic content; thus it allows characterization of microbes beyond bacteria and allows better resolution with the ability to characterize down to the species level (and even to specific strains). Thus this approach has many advantages over 16 s sequencing; however it is currently more costly and also requires more advanced bioinformatics approaches for data analysis.

Additional approaches include culturomics and PCR-based approaches targeting specific bacterial taxa. Culturomics is appealing, in that it allows isolation and characterization of specific microbes associated with the specific phenotype of interest. Though somewhat labor intensive, this approach is gaining momentum to overcome some of the limitations of pure sequencing approaches (Seng et al. 2009). PCR-based approaches may also be used to interrogate for single or limited taxa of interest, and the cost and turnaround time of such analyses provide advantages. On top of this, metabolomic profiling and transcriptomic profiling performed in parallel may be quite useful as it may yield additional information regarding functional status of the microbiome (Lagier et al. 2012).

## Role of the Microbiome in Melanoma and Other Cancers

## Influence of Tumor and Gut Microbiome on Carcinogenesis and Response to Cancer Therapy

The notion that microbes could contribute to carcinogenesis and response to cancer therapy originated many years ago (Littman et al. 2004; Welton et al. 1979; Nagy et al. 1998), though the full impact of this is only now being appreciated with additional insights clearly to be gained. This is perhaps best studied in the case of luminal gastrointestinal malignancies such as gastric cancer and colorectal cancer, where bacteria have a demonstrated link to carcinogenesis (with *Helicobacter pylori* in the case of gastric cancer, and *Fusobacterium nucleatum* in the case of colorectal cancer) (Peek and Blaser 2002; Mima et al. 2015).

Beyond these examples, there is now extensive evidence linking microbes (including bacteria, viruses, protozoa, and others) to cancer – with therapeutic strategies ranging from eradication of these pathogens to facilitate cancer treatment

Microbiome			
profiling method	Profiling description	Advantages	Disadvantages
16S rRNA sequencing	Processing relevant samples to DNA PCR amplification of hypervariable region(s) of 16S gene Sequencing and comparison with reference databases	Quantify ecology metrics: alpha- and beta-diversity Characterize differential abundance of bacteria taxa or operational taxonomic units (OTUs) Fairly rapidly performed Low cost of analysis	Reduced accuracy of taxonomic identification due to copy number variations and PCR primer and amplification bias Cannot inform the functional biological capacity of a given microbial community Only accounts for bacteria; cannot quantify viruses, fungi, and protozoa in the sample
Whole metagenomic sequencing (WMS)	Non-targeted sequencing process Involves sequencing of the entire genome of all microbes in a given sample Annotates assembled or unassembled reads against a protein database	Allows sequencing of viruses, fungi, protozoa, and archaea Assesses functional potential of microbial communities Deeper resolution to characterize down to the species level Yields relative abundances of orthologous gene families or pathways	Significantly higher cost in terms of time and money Less tolerant of low biomass or contaminated samples Requires more complex computational analytic approaches
Metatranscriptomic	High throughput sequencing of RNA isolated from complex microbial populations -mRNA/cDNA sequencing for high- resolution gene expression profiling	Help identify the subset of genes within a microbial community expressed in sample High throughput and sensitivity Characterization of known and unknown transcripts	Detection of microbial genes is technique-sensitive due to limited stability of RNA and low proportions of mRNA in stool samples Involve multiple purification steps Computationally intense as they require normalization of transcripts to DNA copy numbers
Metabolomics	Non-sequencing-based, culture-independent approaches to molecular profiling of the human microbiome	Can perform on low amount of sample Time efficient Identify secreted and intracellular microbial products Quantification of small-molecule metabolites generated by microorganisms Yield functional information of the microbiome Study the impact of microorganism in health and disease	Lack accuracy in differentiating between host-derived and microbial- derived molecules Many unknown metabolites in databases Strict identification of compound labor intensive
Metaproteomics	Proteins/peptides are analyzed Protein monitoring and profiling	Quantification of protein or peptide levels that can provide a high-resolution snapshot of bacteria-host interaction and metabolites generated by microorganisms Identify differential microbial proteins production under various physiological/environmental conditions	Heterogeneous stability Difficult to analyze all the metabolites present in the sample Many unknown proteins in databases

Microbiome profiling method	Profiling description	Advantages	Disadvantages
Culturomics	High throughput culture method to complement taxonomic identification by metagenomics by advances in mass spectroscopy techniques (MALDI-TOF)	Identification of bacteria that have been considered to be difficult to culture Allows characterization of specific microbes Rapidly and accurately identify large number of colonies Characterizing the viability of detected microorganisms	Labor intensive and time consuming
Targeted/specific PCR	Target-specific microbial taxa	Detection of very small quantities of bacteria that often remain undetected by 16S profiling More accurate bacterial species and strain identification than traditional qPCR Allows detection of archaeal, fungal, and viral communities Accurate species identification	Require harmonization of the extraction and PCR conditions between the studies Cannot inform the biological function of a given microbial community

Table 1 (continued)

(Rosenberg et al. 2008; Uribe-Herranz et al. 2018) to prevention of these infections through. Microbes in tumors have also been shown to impact therapeutic responses to systemic therapy such as immune checkpoint blockade, with virally driven tumors exhibiting enhanced responses to therapy likely owing to recognition of "foreign" antigens (Smola 2017; Rieckmann et al. 2013; Tashiro and Brenner 2017).

In addition to microbes at the level of the tumor impacting carcinogenesis and response to cancer therapy, microbes at the level of the gut can do this as well through their impact on immunity and potentially on immunosurveillance of cancer (Routy et al. 2018b; Zitvogel et al. 2017). There is evidence to support the concept that generalized dysbiosis of gut microbiota may contribute to carcinogenesis (Tsilimigras et al. 2017; Garrett 2015), as repeated use of antibiotics has been associated with the development of both gastrointestinal (GI) tract and non-GI tract tumors in large case-control studies (Boursi et al. 2015). Various mechanisms have been proposed by which dysbiosis might affect tumorigenesis and tumor growth, however a comprehensive understanding of the complex mechanisms through which these commensal microbes impact immunity and carinogenesis is critical and work analyzing this is currently underway.

One mechanism through which gut dysbiosis may have an impact is through the induction of an inflammatory state that can promote carcinogenesis via pro-inflammatory toxins (such as produced by Bacteroides fragilis (Purcell et al. 2017; Wu et al. 2009)), increased reactive oxygen species (Mangerich et al. 2012), and alterations in signaling pathways (Fusobacterium nucleatum) (Kostic et al. 2013). Alternatively, bacterial products/metabolites (Dalmasso et al. 2014; He et al. 2018) may also contribute to carcinogenesis. For example, components of F. nucleatum including the FadA adhesion (FadAc) can activate  $\beta$ -catenin/Wnt signaling pathways resulting in oncogenic transcriptional changes (Sears and Garrett 2014; Rubinstein et al. 2013). F. nucleatum has been demonstrated to play a role in the development and progression of colon adenomas and colon cancer (Castellarin et al. 2012; McCoy et al. 2013; Warren et al. 2013) and has also been identified in nodal and distant metastasis (Yu et al. 2016; Bullman et al. 2017). Another well-explored example of gut microbiota-associated malignancy is hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) where microbial modification of primary bile acids produced by the liver to secondary bile acids such as deoxycholic acid (DCA) can cause DNA damage,

hepatotoxicity, and carcinogenesis (Yoshimoto et al. 2013). The gut microbiota is also associated with the response to infectious hepatitis, obesity, and the development of nonalcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH) as well as other forms of cirrhosis, all of which are key risk factors for the development of HCC (Mima et al. 2017).

Although many other studies demonstrate a direct association of dysbiosis and other malignancies, additional preclinical, clinical, and epidemiological studies will certainly strengthen the relationship between dysbiosis and cancer. Furthermore, the harmonization of characterization techniques/pipelines is necessary to bring the parity between the studies to be able to conclude healthy vs tumorigenic microbes. With the current studies, it is undeniably conceivable that strategies to modulate the microbiota may be used to improve cancer immunosurveillance (Zitvogel et al. 2018) and it would be productive to explore gut microbiota and/or their metabolic products as potential biomarkers of cancer development.

## Influence of the Gut and Tumor Microbiome on Response to Melanoma Therapy

Though the role of microbes in influencing cancer development has been studied for many years, their role in melanoma was not elucidated until recently. However seminal work by Dr. Gajewski and others has now put melanoma in the spotlight – with a clear and significant demonstrable contribution of the microbiome in response to melanoma therapy.

The earliest of this work was published in 2015, where preclinical studies demonstrated that mice with different gut microbiota demonstrated differential responses to melanoma therapy – specifically to immune checkpoint blockade (Sivan et al. 2015). Specifically, Gajewski's group showed that identical strains of mice (C57BL6) purchased from two different vendors (Taconic Farms vs. Jackson Laboratories) had distinct gut microbiomes, and this was associated with differential response to treatment with immune checkpoint blockade (targeting the programmed

death receptor 1 – PD-1) to treat established melanoma tumors (B16). Strikingly, they also found that by modulating the gut microbiota they could enhance responses to therapy in these mice (either through co-housing, as mice are naturally coprophagic, or by transfer of specific bacterial strains). Furthermore, the group provided insight into the mechanism through which these gut microbiota were enhancing antitumor immunity - demonstrating that mice with a "favorable" gut microbiome had more functional antigen-presenting cells (APCs) such as dendritic cells capable of priming antigen-specific T-cell responses (Sivan et al. 2015). Similar work was published in the same issue of Science by Zitvogel and colleagues, demonstrating a reliance on gut microbiota to treatment with immune checkpoint blockade in preclinical models (specifically to CTLA-4 blockade) across several cancer types (using sarcoma, melanoma, and colon cancer tumor models) (Vetizou et al. 2015).

These studies sparked excitement in the field though some skepticism given that findings were only demonstrated in preclinical models. This excitement turned to action when several groups then turned to human cohorts to test the relevance of these findings, and this work has now shown an association between gut microbiota in response (as well as toxicity) to immune checkpoint blockade in melanoma in numerous published studies (Matson et al. 2018; Gopalakrishnan et al. 2018a; Chaput et al. 2017) (Table 2). Several of these studies were published together in Science in 2018 strengthening the link between gut microbiota and response to immune checkpoint blockade in melanoma as well as in other cancer types (Gopalakrishnan et al. 2018a; Routy et al. 2018a; Chaput et al. 2017; Frankel et al. 2017). In these studies, distinct bacterial "signatures" were noted in the gut microbiota of responders versus nonresponders to anti-PD-1 therapy in patients with melanoma (Matson et al. 2018; Gopalakrishnan et al. 2018a; Frankel et al. 2017) and in non-small cell lung cancer and renal cell carcinoma (Routy et al. 2018a) – with higher diversity and enrichment of specific bacterial taxa Ruminococcus, (such Bifidobacterium, as Faecalibacterium, and Akkermansia) in

	Influence of gut microbiome in ICB therapy	Outcome	Bacteria	References
1	Enhanced efficacy of PD-1 blockade therapy	Higher abundance in responders Elevating levels of effector T cells in peripheral blood and TILs Increasing densities of CD8+ T cells in tumor microenvironment	Ruminococcaceae	Gopalakrishnan et al. (2018a)
2	Enhanced efficacy of PD-1 blockade therapy	Higher abundance in responders	Veillonella parvula	Matson et al. (2018)
3	Enhanced efficacy of PD-1 blockade therapy	Higher abundance in responders Decreasing peripherally derived Tregs	Bifidobacterium adolescents	Matson et al. (2018)
4	Enhanced efficacy of PD-1 blockade therapy	Higher abundance in responders	Bifidobacterium longum	Matson et al. (2018)
5	Reduced efficacy of PD-1 blockade therapy	Higher abundance in non-responders	Ruminococcus obeum	Matson et al. (2018)
6	Enhanced CTLA-4 blockade efficacy therapy	Higher abundance in responders Inducing activation of Treg Promoting development of tolerogenic macrophages and dendritic cells Prolonging progression-free survival/ overall survival	Butyrate- producing bacterium	Chaput et al. (2017)
7	Enhanced efficacy of PD-1 blockade therapy	Decreasing peripherally derived Tregs	Collinsella aerofaciens	Matson et al. (2018)
8	Enhanced efficacy of PD-1 blockade therapy	Decreasing peripherally derived Tregs	Enterococcus faecium	Matson et al. (2018)
9	Enhanced CTLA-4 blockade efficacy therapy	Prolonging overall survival Elevating colitis risk	Faecalibacterium prausnitzii	Chaput et al. (2017)
10	Enhanced efficacy of PD-1 blockade therapy	Higher abundance in nonresponders	Klebsiella pneumonia	Matson et al. (2018)
11	Enhanced efficacy of PD-1 blockade therapy	Decreasing peripherally derived Tregs	Parabacteroides merdae	Matson et al. (2018)
12	Enhanced efficacy of CTLA-4 blockade therapy	Prolonging progression-free survival/ overall survival Elevating colitis risk	Gemmiger formicilis	Chaput et al. (2017)
13	Reduced efficacy of PD-1 blockade therapy	Higher abundance in nonresponders	Roseburia intestinalis	Matson et al. (2018)

**Table 2** Human studies demonstrating modulatory function of gut microbiome on response to immune checkpoint blockade therapy for melanoma

responders to therapy. Although only modest overlap has been noted in specific bacterial taxa associated with response across these cohorts, phylogenetic commonalities do exist and functional status (what these microbes are doing to immunity) may be much more important than the names of these bacterial taxa.

Several of these manuscripts demonstrated that these phenotypes could be recapitulated by fecal microbiota transplant (FMT) from responding and nonresponding patients into germ-free mice, with subsequent tumor implantation and treatment with immune checkpoint blockade (Matson et al. 2018; Gopalakrishnan et al. 2018a; Routy et al. 2018a). Modulation of the gut microbiota was shown to enhance therapeutic response in several of these preclinical models. Additionally, there was evidence in *human* cohorts that negative modulation of the gut microbiome could impact therapeutic response, as treatment of patients with antibiotics around the time of first administration of checkpoint blockade was associated with impaired survival on anti-PD-1-based therapy (Routy et al. 2017), which has now been validated in subsequent cohorts (Derosa et al. 2018). Based on findings from these studies, efforts are currently underway to positively modulate the gut microbiota in patients with melanoma going onto immune checkpoint blockade (NCT03643289, NCT03595683, NCT03341143, NCT03772899).

Importantly, the tumor microbiome may be relevant in patients with melanoma – as microbes have been identified in tumors across several different histologies including lung cancer, breast cancer, colon cancer, gastric cancer, pancreatic cancer, cholangiocarcinoma, ovarian cancer, and prostate cancer. Though the specific mechanism through which these microbes gain access to tumors is incompletely understood, systemic seeding from infection or bacterial translocation from the GI tract may occur and has even been shown to occur in healthy individuals with normal gut mucosal integrity. These microbes have been shown to influence response to chemotherapy (Geller et al. 2017) and immunotherapy (Miller et al. 2018) in other cancer types, and investigations regarding the role of intra-tumoral microbes in melanoma are currently underway.

## Targeting the Microbiome to Treat Disease

Though the concept of targeting the microbiome to treat cancer is somewhat novel, this approach has been used in noncancer indications such as Clostridium difficile colitis and other conditions for years with proven efficacy in some cases (van Nood et al. 2013; Juul et al. 2018) – particularly with regard to targeting the gut microbiota. The gut microbiome may be targeted using several different approaches (Fig. 2), including through the use of fecal microbiota transplant (FMT), the administration of bacterial consortia (Hibberd et al. 2017), dietary intervention (Ramirez-Farias et al. 2009; Turnbaugh et al. 2007), and targeted approaches against specific taxa using antibiotics or phage (Wong and Santiago 2017; Pranjol and Hajitou 2015; Abedon et al. 2017; Budynek et al. 2010).

The first published report of the use of fecal microbiota transplant (FMT) was in 1958

when Eisenman reported successful treatment of C. *difficile* colitis using this approach in several patients (Eiseman et al. 1958). However the concept has been around for centuries, with efforts to manipulate the composition of the gut microbiota used over 1700 years ago in China for the treatment of diarrhea. Since the approach was first published and reported, it is now being widely evaluated in the treatment of numerous conditions ranging from inflammatory bowel disease and multiple sclerosis (Paramsothy et al. 2017) and now in the treatment of cancer (NCT03353402, NCT03341143, NCT03678493, NCT02928523). FMT can be administered via a number of different routes, including colonoscopy and also via oral administration (Gough et al. 2011), and great consideration needs to be taken into appropriate donor selection to minimize the risk of transmissible infectious diseases and undesirable traits such as obesity (Rao and Young 2015). Thus far, healthy donor FMT has focused primarily on these issues, though the choice of donors is likely to be more complicated when considering treatment for conditions such as cancer - as the "optimal" gut microbiota composition to facilitate antitumor immune responses is incompletely understood (Cogdill et al. 2018; Gopalakrishnan et al. 2018b). However evidence from published studies suggests that responders to immune checkpoint blockade do have distinct signatures in the gut microbiome (Gopalakrishnan et al. 2018a); thus it may be prudent to screen potential donors for this signature in addition to the routine screening tests. To date, most of the planned and ongoing trials to modulate the gut microbiota in patients with melanoma on immune checkpoint blockade incorporate FMT from complete responders to therapy (NCT03353402, NCT03341143). Certainly, use of FMT in such trials is a logical and likely necessary first step in a rational approach to target the gut microbiome in patients with cancer.

Based on published studies, there is also an ongoing effort to target the gut microbiota using a mixture of several (or even single) bacterial strains that have been associated with therapeutic response to immune checkpoint blockade (NCT03595683, NCT03637803). This approach



has some potential advantages over FMT including ease of manufacturing and scalability; however, as noted we do not have a clear understanding of which bacterial taxa and strains may be beneficial when comparing across published cohorts. Additionally the number of composition of an "optimal" consortia of bacteria to enhance therapeutic responses is unknown; thus this approach is likely to be iterative and informed by early trials and studies in larger cohorts of patients. Moreover, there has been interest in testing probiotic preparations in combination with treatment with checkpoint blockade; however substantial limitations exist with this approach as published studies show that there is tremendous variability in the ability of commercial probiotic supplements to engraft in the gastrointestinal tract and these preparations are less well-regulated than other formulations, with recent evidence that such formulations may actually impair engraftment of healthy commensal bacteria (Zmora et al. 2018; Suez et al. 2018).

Approaches to specifically target detrimental microbes are also being used, either with targeted antibiotic approaches or with use of viruses that target specific bacteria (bacteriophages). The phages have the potential to infect bacteria in the gut (Lusiak-Szelachowska et al. 2017) and have been shown to contribute to the efficacy of approaches such as fecal microbiota transplant for noncancer indications (Zuo et al. 2018). However these components of the microbiota are

less well-studied, and additional investigation is needed to better understand their role in melanoma and other cancers.

Another means to modulate the gut microbiota is via dietary intervention, though this has not been thoroughly investigated in the setting of treatment of cancer, and incorporation of such analyses is critically needed. However some insights may be gained from studies performed in noncancer populations where such studies have been done. Such studies have focused on diets that have been recommended and have been associated with a lower risk of developing or dying from cancer (such as the Mediterranean Diet and Healthy Eating Index); however the influence of these diets on gut microbiota has not been wellstudied. Nonetheless such diets are associated with enhanced immune function and reduced levels of systemic inflammation (Oude Griep et al. 2013), and more formal studies of dietary intervention are currently underway.

## **Conclusions and Future Directions**

Significant advances have been made in the treatment of melanoma, and there is increasing evidence that environmental and host factors may impact melanomagenesis and response to melanoma therapy. This includes the tumor and gut microbiota; however the full impact of these variables is incompletely understood. As we move forward as a field, it will be important to take these factors into consideration and to use insights gained to derive strategies to improve responses to melanoma therapy and ultimately to prevent melanoma altogether.

#### **Author Contributions**

Conception: Hermann and Wargo

Writing: Arora and Wargo

Creation of figures: Arora and Wargo

Critical review and revision of the manuscript: All authors

Conflict of Interest Disclosures J. Wargo is an inventor on a US patent application (PCT/US17/ 53.717) submitted by the University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center that covers methods to enhance immune checkpoint blockade responses by modulating the microbiome. J. Wargo is a paid speaker for Imedex, Dava Oncology, Omniprex, Illumina, Gilead, MedImmune, and Bristol-Myers Squibb. She is a consultant/advisory board member for Roche-Genentech, Novartis, AstraZeneca, GlaxoSmithKline, Bristol-Myers Squibb, Merck, and MicrobiomeDx. J. Wargo also receives clinical trial support from GlaxoSmithKline, Roche-Genentech, Bristol-Myers Squibb, and Novartis. J. Wargo is a clinical and scientific advisor at MicrobiomeDx and a consultant at Biothera Pharma and Merck Sharp and Dohme.

The other authors declared no conflicts of interest.

Funding/Support J. Wargo has honoraria from speakers' bureau of Dava Oncology, Bristol-Myers Squibb, and Illumina and is an advisory board member for GlaxoSmithKline, Novartis, and Roche-Genentech. J. Wargo is supported by the NIH (1 R01 CA219896-01A1), US-Israel Binational Science Foundation (201332), Kennedy Memorial Foundation (0727030), the Melanoma Research Alliance (4022024), American Association for Cancer Research Stand Up To Cancer (SU2C-AACR-IRG-19-17), Department of Defense (W81XWH-16-1-0121), MD Anderson Cancer Center Multidisciplinary Research Program Grant, Andrew Sabin Family Fellows Program, and MD Anderson Cancer Center's Melanoma Moon Shots Program. J. Wargo is a member of the Parker Institute for Cancer Immunotherapy at MD Anderson Cancer Center.

#### References

- Abedon ST et al (2017) Editorial: phage therapy: past, present and future. Front Microbiol 8:981
- Alekseyenko AV et al (2013) Community differentiation of the cutaneous microbiota in psoriasis. Microbiome 1(1):31
- Baker BS, Powles A, Fry L (2006) Peptidoglycan: a major aetiological factor for psoriasis? Trends Immunol 27(12):545–551
- Belkaid Y, Segre JA (2014) Dialogue between skin microbiota and immunity. Science 346(6212):954–959
- Bhatt AP, Redinbo MR, Bultman SJ (2017) The role of the microbiome in cancer development and therapy. CA Cancer J Clin 67(4):326–344
- Boursi B et al (2015) Recurrent antibiotic exposure may promote cancer formation – another step in understanding the role of the human microbiota? Eur J Cancer 51(17):2655–2664
- Boyman O et al (2007) The pathogenic role of tissueresident immune cells in psoriasis. Trends Immunol 28(2):51–57
- Budynek P et al (2010) Bacteriophages and cancer. Arch Microbiol 192(5):315–320
- Bullman S et al (2017) Analysis of Fusobacterium persistence and antibiotic response in colorectal cancer. Science 358(6369):1443–1448
- Byrd AL, Belkaid Y, Segre JA (2018) The human skin microbiome. Nat Rev Microbiol 16(3):143–155
- Caporaso JG et al (2010) QIIME allows analysis of highthroughput community sequencing data. Nat Methods 7(5):335–336
- Castellarin M et al (2012) *Fusobacterium nucleatum* infection is prevalent in human colorectal carcinoma. Genome Res 22(2):299–306
- Chaput N et al (2017) Baseline gut microbiota predicts clinical response and colitis in metastatic melanoma patients treated with ipilimumab. Ann Oncol 28(6):1368–1379
- Chen YE, Fischbach MA, Belkaid Y (2018) Skin microbiotahost interactions. Nature 553(7689):427–436
- Cogdill AP et al (2018) The impact of intratumoral and gastrointestinal microbiota on systemic cancer therapy. Trends Immunol 39(11):900–920
- Conrad C et al (2007) Alpha1beta1 integrin is crucial for accumulation of epidermal T cells and the development of psoriasis. Nat Med 13(7):836–842
- Dalmasso G et al (2014) The bacterial genotoxin colibactin promotes colon tumor growth by modifying the tumor microenvironment. Gut Microbes 5(5):675–680
- Davison SC et al (2001) Contrasting patterns of streptococcal superantigen-induced T-cell proliferation in guttate vs. chronic plaque psoriasis. Br J Dermatol 145(2):245–251

- De Benedetto A, Kubo A, Beck LA (2012) Skin barrier disruption: a requirement for allergen sensitization? J Invest Dermatol 132(3 Pt 2):949–963
- Derosa L et al (2018) Negative association of antibiotics on clinical activity of immune checkpoint inhibitors in patients with advanced renal cell and non-smallcell lung cancer. Ann Oncol 29(6):1437–1444
- Drago L et al (2016) Skin microbiota of first cousins affected by psoriasis and atopic dermatitis. Clin Mol Allergy 14:2
- Duncan SH, Louis P, Flint HJ (2007) Cultivable bacterial diversity from the human colon. Lett Appl Microbiol 44(4):343–350
- Eckburg PB et al (2005) Diversity of the human intestinal microbial flora. Science 308(5728):1635–1638
- Eiseman B et al (1958) Fecal enema as an adjunct in the treatment of pseudomembranous enterocolitis. Surgery 44(5):854–859
- Fahlen A et al (2012) Comparison of bacterial microbiota in skin biopsies from normal and psoriatic skin. Arch Dermatol Res 304(1):15–22
- Frankel AE et al (2017) Metagenomic shotgun sequencing and unbiased metabolomic profiling identify specific human gut microbiota and metabolites associated with immune checkpoint therapy efficacy in melanoma patients. Neoplasia 19(10):848–855
- Frosali S et al (2015) How the intricate interaction among toll-like receptors, microbiota, and intestinal immunity can influence gastrointestinal pathology. J Immunol Res 2015:489821
- Fry L, Baker BS (2007) Triggering psoriasis: the role of infections and medications. Clin Dermatol 25(6):606–615
- Furusawa Y et al (2013) Commensal microbe-derived butyrate induces the differentiation of colonic regulatory T cells. Nature 504(7480):446–450
- Gao Z et al (2007) Molecular analysis of human forearm superficial skin bacterial biota. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104(8):2927–2932
- Gao Z et al (2008) Substantial alterations of the cutaneous bacterial biota in psoriatic lesions. PLoS One 3(7): e2719
- Garcia-Castillo V et al (2016) Microbiota dysbiosis: a new piece in the understanding of the carcinogenesis puzzle. J Med Microbiol 65(12):1347–1362
- Garrett WS (2015) Cancer and the microbiota. Science 348(6230):80–86
- Geller LT et al (2017) Potential role of intratumor bacteria in mediating tumor resistance to the chemotherapeutic drug gemcitabine. Science 357(6356):1156–1160
- Gopalakrishnan V et al (2018a) Gut microbiome modulates response to anti-PD-1 immunotherapy in melanoma patients. Science 359(6371):97–103
- Gopalakrishnan V et al (2018b) The influence of the gut microbiome on cancer, immunity, and cancer immunotherapy. Cancer Cell 33(4):570–580
- Gough E, Shaikh H, Manges AR (2011) Systematic review of intestinal microbiota transplantation (fecal

bacteriotherapy) for recurrent *Clostridium difficile* infection. Clin Infect Dis 53(10):994–1002

- Grice EA (2014) The skin microbiome: potential for novel diagnostic and therapeutic approaches to cutaneous disease. Semin Cutan Med Surg 33(2):98–103
- Grice EA, Segre JA (2011) The skin microbiome. Nat Rev Microbiol 9(4):244–253
- He Z et al (2018) *Campylobacter jejuni* promotes colorectal tumorigenesis through the action of cytolethal distending toxin. Gut 68:289–300
- Hibberd AA et al (2017) Intestinal microbiota is altered in patients with colon cancer and modified by probiotic intervention. BMJ Open Gastroenterol 4(1): e000145
- Honda K, Littman DR (2016) The microbiota in adaptive immune homeostasis and disease. Nature 535(7610):75–84
- Human Microbiome Project Consortium (2012a) A framework for human microbiome research. Nature 486(7402):215–221
- Human Microbiome Project Consortium (2012b) Structure, function and diversity of the healthy human microbiome. Nature 486(7402):207–214
- Johansson ME et al (2015) Normalization of host intestinal mucus layers requires long-term microbial colonization. Cell Host Microbe 18(5):582–592
- Juul FE et al (2018) Fecal microbiota transplantation for primary *Clostridium difficile* infection. N Engl J Med 378(26):2535–2536
- Khanna S et al (2016) Gut microbiome predictors of treatment response and recurrence in primary *Clostridium difficile* infection. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 44(7):715–727
- Kim D, Zeng MY, Nunez G (2017) The interplay between host immune cells and gut microbiota in chronic inflammatory diseases. Exp Mol Med 49(5): e339
- Kostic AD et al (2013) *Fusobacterium nucleatum* potentiates intestinal tumorigenesis and modulates the tumor-immune microenvironment. Cell Host Microbe 14(2):207–215
- Kroemer G, Zitvogel L (2018) Cancer immunotherapy in 2017: the breakthrough of the microbiota. Nat Rev Immunol 18(2):87–88
- Lagier JC et al (2012) Microbial culturomics: paradigm shift in the human gut microbiome study. Clin Microbiol Infect 18(12):1185–1193
- Lagier JC et al (2018) Culturing the human microbiota and culturomics. Nat Rev Microbiol 16:540–550
- Lathrop SK et al (2011) Peripheral education of the immune system by colonic commensal microbiota. Nature 478(7368):250–254
- Linehan JL et al (2018) Non-classical immunity controls microbiota impact on skin immunity and tissue repair. Cell 172(4):784–796.e18
- Littman AJ et al (2004) Chlamydia pneumoniae infection and risk of lung cancer. Cancer Epidemiol Biomark Prev 13(10):1624–1630

- Lloyd-Price J, Abu-Ali G, Huttenhower C (2016) The healthy human microbiome. Genome Med 8(1):51
- Lusiak-Szelachowska M et al (2017) Bacteriophages in the gastrointestinal tract and their implications. Gut Pathog 9:44
- Mangerich A et al (2012) Infection-induced colitis in mice causes dynamic and tissue-specific changes in stress response and DNA damage leading to colon cancer. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 109(27): E1820–E1829
- Matson V et al (2018) The commensal microbiome is associated with anti-PD-1 efficacy in metastatic melanoma patients. Science 359(6371):104–108
- McCoy AN et al (2013) Fusobacterium is associated with colorectal adenomas. PLoS One 8(1):e53653
- McDonald D et al (2018) American Gut: an open platform for citizen science microbiome research. mSystems 3(3):e00031–18. PMID: 29795809
- McFadden J, Valdimarsson H, Fry L (1991) Crossreactivity between streptococcal M surface antigen and human skin. Br J Dermatol 125(5):443–447
- Miller NJ et al (2018) Merkel cell polyomavirus-specific immune responses in patients with Merkel cell carcinoma receiving anti-PD-1 therapy. J Immunother Cancer 6(1):131
- Mima K et al (2015) *Fusobacterium nucleatum* and T cells in colorectal carcinoma. JAMA Oncol 1(5):653–661
- Mima K et al (2017) The microbiome and hepatobiliarypancreatic cancers. Cancer Lett 402:9–15
- Nagy KN et al (1998) The microflora associated with human oral carcinomas. Oral Oncol 34(4):304–308
- Nestle FO, Kaplan DH, Barker J (2009) Psoriasis. N Engl J Med 361(5):496–509
- Oude Griep LM, Wang H, Chan Q (2013) Empiricallyderived dietary patterns, diet quality scores, and markers of inflammation and endothelial dysfunction. Curr Nutr Rep 2(2):97–104
- Pace NR (1997) A molecular view of microbial diversity and the biosphere. Science 276(5313):734–740
- Paramsothy S et al (2017) Multidonor intensive faecal microbiota transplantation for active ulcerative colitis: a randomised placebo-controlled trial. Lancet 389(10075):1218–1228
- Peek RM Jr, Blaser MJ (2002) Helicobacter pylori and gastrointestinal tract adenocarcinomas. Nat Rev Cancer 2(1):28–37
- Pranjol MZ, Hajitou A (2015) Bacteriophage-derived vectors for targeted cancer gene therapy. Viruses 7(1):268–284
- Purcell RV et al (2017) Colonization with enterotoxigenic Bacteroides fragilis is associated with early-stage colorectal neoplasia. PLoS One 12(2):e0171602
- Ramirez-Farias C et al (2009) Effect of inulin on the human gut microbiota: stimulation of *Bifidobacterium* adolescentis and *Faecalibacterium prausnitzii*. Br J Nutr 101(4):541–550

- Rao K, Young VB (2015) Fecal microbiota transplantation for the management of *Clostridium difficile* infection. Infect Dis Clin N Am 29(1):109–122
- Reichardt N et al (2014) Phylogenetic distribution of three pathways for propionate production within the human gut microbiota. ISME J 8(6):1323-1335
- Rieckmann T et al (2013) HNSCC cell lines positive for HPV and p16 possess higher cellular radiosensitivity due to an impaired DSB repair capacity. Radiother Oncol 107(2):242–246
- Rosenberg SA et al (2008) Adoptive cell transfer: a clinical path to effective cancer immunotherapy. Nat Rev Cancer 8(4):299–308
- Routy B et al (2017) The influence of gut-decontamination prophylactic antibiotics on acute graft-versus-host disease and survival following allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. Oncoimmunology 6(1): e1258506
- Routy B et al (2018a) Gut microbiome influences efficacy of PD-1-based immunotherapy against epithelial tumors. Science 359(6371):91–97
- Routy B et al (2018b) The gut microbiota influences anticancer immunosurveillance and general health. Nat Rev Clin Oncol 15(6):382–396
- Rubinstein MR et al (2013) *Fusobacterium nucleatum* promotes colorectal carcinogenesis by modulating E-cadherin/beta-catenin signaling via its FadA adhesin. Cell Host Microbe 14(2):195–206
- Sanford JA, Gallo RL (2013) Functions of the skin microbiota in health and disease. Semin Immunol 25(5):370–377
- Sears CL, Garrett WS (2014) Microbes, microbiota, and colon cancer. Cell Host Microbe 15(3):317–328
- Sekirov I et al (2010) Gut microbiota in health and disease. Physiol Rev 90(3):859–904
- Seng P et al (2009) Ongoing revolution in bacteriology: routine identification of bacteria by matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization time-of-flight mass spectrometry. Clin Infect Dis 49(4):543–551
- Sheflin AM, Whitney AK, Weir TL (2014) Cancerpromoting effects of microbial dysbiosis. Curr Oncol Rep 16(10):406
- Shendure J, Ji H (2008) Next-generation DNA sequencing. Nat Biotechnol 26(10):1135–1145
- Sivan A et al (2015) Commensal Bifidobacterium promotes antitumor immunity and facilitates anti-PD-L1 efficacy. Science 350(6264):1084–1089
- Smola S (2017) Immunopathogenesis of HPV-associated cancers and prospects for immunotherapy. Viruses 9(9). pii:E254. PMID: 28895886
- Spiljar M, Merkler D, Trajkovski M (2017) The immune system bridges the gut microbiota with systemic energy homeostasis: focus on TLRs, mucosal barrier, and SCFAs. Front Immunol 8:1353
- Staley JT, Konopka A (1985) Measurement of in situ activities of nonphotosynthetic microorganisms in aquatic and terrestrial habitats. Annu Rev Microbiol 39:321–346

- Strati F et al (2017) New evidences on the altered gut microbiota in autism spectrum disorders. Microbiome 5(1):24
- Suez J et al (2018) Post-antibiotic gut mucosal microbiome reconstitution is impaired by probiotics and improved by autologous FMT. Cell 174(6):1406–1423.e16
- Tang WH, Kitai T, Hazen SL (2017) Gut microbiota in cardiovascular health and disease. Circ Res 120(7):1183–1196
- Tashiro H, Brenner MK (2017) Immunotherapy against cancer-related viruses. Cell Res 27(1):59–73
- Trivedi B (2012) Microbiome: the surface brigade. Nature 492(7429):S60–S61
- Tsilimigras MC, Fodor A, Jobin C (2017) Carcinogenesis and therapeutics: the microbiota perspective. Nat Microbiol 2:17008
- Turnbaugh PJ, Gordon JI (2009) The core gut microbiome, energy balance and obesity. J Physiol 587(Pt 17):4153–4158
- Turnbaugh PJ et al (2007) The human microbiome project. Nature 449(7164):804–810
- Uribe-Herranz M et al (2018) Gut microbiota modulates adoptive cell therapy via CD8alpha dendritic cells and IL-12. JCI Insight 3(4). pii: 94952. PMID: 29467322
- Valdimarsson H et al (2009) Psoriasis as an autoimmune disease caused by molecular mimicry. Trends Immunol 30(10):494–501
- van Nood E, Dijkgraaf MG, Keller JJ (2013) Duodenal infusion of feces for recurrent *Clostridium difficile*. N Engl J Med 368(22):2145
- Venter JC et al (2004) Environmental genome shotgun sequencing of the Sargasso Sea. Science 304(5667):66–74
- Vetizou M et al (2015) Anticancer immunotherapy by CTLA-4 blockade relies on the gut microbiota. Science 350(6264):1079–1084
- Wade W (2002) Unculturable bacteria the uncharacterized organisms that cause oral infections. J R Soc Med 95(2):81–83
- Warren RL et al (2013) Co-occurrence of anaerobic bacteria in colorectal carcinomas. Microbiome 1(1):16

- Welton JC, Marr JS, Friedman SM (1979) Association between hepatobiliary cancer and typhoid carrier state. Lancet 1(8120):791–794
- Wong WF, Santiago M (2017) Microbial approaches for targeting antibiotic-resistant bacteria. Microb Biotechnol 10(5):1047–1053
- Wu S et al (2009) A human colonic commensal promotes colon tumorigenesis via activation of T helper type 17 T cell responses. Nat Med 15(9):1016–1022
- Yang Y, Jobin C (2017) Novel insights into microbiome in colitis and colorectal cancer. Curr Opin Gastroenterol 33(6):422–427
- Yi M et al (2018) Gut microbiome modulates efficacy of immune checkpoint inhibitors. J Hematol Oncol 11(1):47
- Yoshimoto S et al (2013) Obesity-induced gut microbial metabolite promotes liver cancer through senescence secretome. Nature 499(7456):97–101
- Yu J et al (2016) Invasive *Fusobacterium nucleatum* may play a role in the carcinogenesis of proximal colon cancer through the serrated neoplasia pathway. Int J Cancer 139(6):1318–1326
- Zhang J et al (2018) Evaluation of different 16S rRNA gene V regions for exploring bacterial diversity in a eutrophic freshwater lake. Sci Total Environ 618:1254–1267
- Zitvogel L et al (2015) Cancer and the gut microbiota: an unexpected link. Sci Transl Med 7(271):271ps1
- Zitvogel L et al (2017) Anticancer effects of the microbiome and its products. Nat Rev Microbiol 15(8):465–478
- Zitvogel L et al (2018) The microbiome in cancer immunotherapy: diagnostic tools and therapeutic strategies. Science 359(6382):1366–1370
- Zmora N et al (2018) Personalized gut mucosal colonization resistance to empiric probiotics is associated with unique host and microbiome features. Cell 174(6):1388–1405.e21
- Zou S, Fang L, Lee MH (2018) Dysbiosis of gut microbiota in promoting the development of colorectal cancer. Gastroenterol Rep (Oxf) 6(1):1–12
- Zuo T et al (2018) Gut fungal dysbiosis correlates with reduced efficacy of fecal microbiota transplantation in *Clostridium difficile* infection. Nat Commun 9(1):3663



# **Animal Models of Melanoma**

# 15

## Zackie Aktary, Martin McMahon, and Lionel Larue

## Contents

Introduction	304
Mouse Melanoma Models	305 305 306
Other Mammalian Melanoma Models	321 321 322 323
Nonmammalian Melanoma Models	323
Conclusion	325
References	325

## Abstract

Melanoma is a highly aggressive cancer with a significant incidence in western countries

Z. Aktary · L. Larue (🖂)

Normal and Pathological Development of Melanocytes, Institut Curie, PSL Research University, INSERM U1021, Orsay, France

Universite Paris-Sud, Universite Paris-Saclay, CNRS UMR 3347, Orsay, France

Equipe Labellisée Ligue Contre le Cancer, Orsay, France

Institut Curie, Paris, France e-mail: zackie.aktary@curie.fr; lionel.larue@curie.fr and a high mortality rate. Recently developed pathway-targeted or immunotherapies are, at least in part, the fruit of gains of knowledge in chemistry, immunology, genetics, cell signaling, and cell biology. The translation of knowledge from the bench to the bedside was possible because of advanced technologies and techniques but also in vitro and in vivo models that are more refined and relevant for the study of human melanoma. This chapter reviews the different in vivo models that are used to study melanoma, including xenografts of melanoma cell lines, patient-derived xenografts, and genetically engineered animal models.

## Keywords

 $Mouse \cdot Zebrafish \cdot NRAS \cdot BRAF \cdot Proliferation \cdot Senescence$ 

© Springer Science+Business Media, LLC, part of Springer Nature 2019 D. E. Fisher, B. C. Bastian (eds.), *Melanoma*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-7147-9 32

M. McMahon

Department of Dermatology & Huntsman Cancer Institute, University of Utah, Salt Lake City, UT, USA e-mail: martin.mcmahon@hci.utah.edu; martin. mcmahon@ucsf.edu

## Introduction

Melanoma is an aggressive cancer and is the leading cause of skin cancer deaths worldwide. Melanoma originates from melanocytes, which are neural crest-derived cells responsible for producing the pigment melanin. Melanocytes are present mainly in the skin, inner ear, meninges, hair follicles, and uveal tract. Epidermal melanocytes make extensive contacts with neighboring keratinocytes, to which they transfer their melanin. During a multi-step process known as melanomagenesis, skin melanocytes are transformed into melanoma. The first steps often involve benign proliferation of melanocytes to form a nevus, or a benign skin lesion, within which the melanocytes are clustered and lose their characteristic contacts with keratinocytes. Eventually, the melanocytes in the nevus cease proliferation and become senescent. As melanomagenesis continues, the melanocytes in the nevus are able to bypass senescence and enter the radial growth phase (RGP), where they typically proliferate superficially toward the epidermal basement membrane. These primary steps constitute melanoma "initiation." Next, during the vertical growth phase (VGP), melanoma cells continue to proliferate actively, and acquire migratory and invasive properties, which enables them to cross the basement membrane and invade the dermis. Eventually the cells progress to acquire metastatic characteristics, as they enter the bloodstream and/or lymphatic vessels and eventually colonize different tissues and organs (Larue and Beermann 2007). These latter steps can be thought of as the "progression" of the disease.

Melanomagenesis is associated with modifications of numerous cellular (proliferation, immortalization, epithelial-mesenchymal transition, and migration) and molecular (signaling pathways, cell cycle, and cell adhesion) processes. At the molecular level, the abovementioned cellular processes are modified primarily in a cellautonomous manner. For example, the activation of different tyrosine kinase receptors (e.g., KIT, MET, and RET) by the ligands (SCF, HGF, and GDNF, respectively) leads to the induction of a number of signaling pathways (e.g., ERK1/2 MAP kinase, PI3-lipid/PTEN-AKT, and WNT/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling), all of which have been implicated in melanomagenesis both in vivo and in vitro (Easty et al. 2011; Paluncic et al. 2016). The modification of these signaling pathways may act to alter the cell cycle and to promote growth, migration, and invasion of the melanoma cells.

In melanoma, a number of abnormalities of gene activity have been detected, which include genetic and epigenetic lesions and high and low levels of gene expression. In cutaneous melanoma (melanoma that occurs on the skin, which is the most common type of melanoma), abnormalities often involve the activation of oncogenes, the inactivation of tumor suppressor genes, the inhibition of apoptosis, the modification of DNA repair enzyme activities, and the alterations in cell morphology and migration capacity (Larue and Beermann 2007).

Historically, successful therapies to treat melanoma have proven elusive. However in 2011, vemurafenib, an inhibitor of mutationally activated BRAF (V600), was FDA approved for the treatment of advanced melanoma in the USA (Kuzu et al. 2015). While patients initially showed robust responses to this inhibitor, resistance to the drug was almost always observed and patient relapse was frequent. Immunotherapy is another treatment strategy with some clinical success in improving overall melanoma patient survival; however both low patient response rates and relapse have been reported (Kuzu et al. 2015; Zaretsky et al. 2016). Therefore, it is essential to continue to gain a better understanding of the molecular mechanisms regulating melanomagenesis (at both the initiation and progression stages) and to be able to test potential therapeutic agents in the most relevant way possible. The most effective way to accomplish this is to use animal models of melanomagenesis, which are a vital tool in understanding and combating the disease. Since cancer cells exist within a complex tumor microenvironment composed of neighboring cells, blood vessels, host immune cells, and an extracellular matrix, the different animal models must also recapitulate these features and must also allow for the natural proliferation, bypass of senescence, invasion, and metastasis typically observed during melanomagenesis in humans.

This chapter discusses the various animal models (e.g., mouse, canine, equine, porcine, and zebrafish) that have been used in melanoma research and describes how these different models have contributed to the understanding of melanomagenesis.

#### **Mouse Melanoma Models**

To date, the mouse is the most commonly used organism for studying melanomagenesis in vivo. The majority of the mouse models of melanoma are focused on investigating cutaneous melanoma. Mice are advantageous for melanoma researchers as they are relatively easy to genetically manipulate and are, primarily, readily available for use. In addition, the mouse and human genomes are similar, with many noncoding sequences conserved between the two. In addition, due to the large body of knowledge that exists regarding mouse genetics, extensive analyses can be done using this model. Furthermore, mice and humans have comparable organs and physiology. However, mouse models of melanoma have some acknowledged limitations. First, the localization of melanocytes in human versus mouse skin is different with human melanocytes primarily located in the epidermis, whereas mouse melanocytes are primarily located in hair follicles. Second, mice are not prone to spontaneously develop melanoma in response to ultraviolet light, the most likely carcinogen that promotes melanomagenesis in humans (Zaidi et al. 2011; Noonan et al. 2012).

The mouse has been used to study melanomagenesis through the use of engrafted human melanoma cell lines and melanoma biopsies from patients (patient-derived xenografts, hereafter referred to as PDX) and genetically engineered mice. Xenograft models involve the culture and engraftment of either human melanoma cell lines or patient-derived melanomas into immunocompromised mice. In contrast, genetically engineered mouse models make use of sophisticated genetic manipulations that allow for altered expression of known or suspected melanoma "oncogenes" (e.g., *Nras*, *Braf*, *Rac1*) or "tumor suppressors" (*Cdkn2a*, *Nf1*, *Pten*) with temporal and spatial control of melanocyte-specific genetic alterations.

#### Mouse Xenograft Models

#### Cell Line Xenografts

Researchers have established a large number of human melanoma cell lines with genetic alterations that are broadly representative of genes implicated both in the initiation and progression of melanoma. These cell lines are useful for basic manipulations and identification of potential genes important in melanoma progression and maintenance. Melanoma cell line xenografts involve the subcutaneous implantation of these melanoma cell lines into immunocompromised/ deficient mice that will not reject the cells (e.g., nude athymic (nu/nu) mice or severe combined immunodeficient (SCID/SCID) mice). In doing so, the implanted cells are able to adhere, to grow, to induce angiogenesis, and to interact directly with the blood and lymphatic vessels, allowing for the in vivo assessment of tumor growth as well as response to various therapeutic interventions (Kuzu et al. 2015). This type of model is simple to use, as numerous melanoma cell lines are readily available for manipulation and implantation. However, many such melanoma cell lines have been cultured for several years under nonphysiological conditions (e.g., growth in 2D, on plastic, presence of calf serum, etc.), and cells that were established and propagated may not accurately reflect the initial tumor from which the cell lines were derived. As a result, these xenograft models have lower frequency of correctly predicting clinical outcomes and drugs that are successful using these models often fail during clinical trials (Kuzu et al. 2015).

### Patient-Derived Xenografts (PDX)

In this model, tumors from human melanoma patients are surgically removed, cut into small specimens, and subcutaneously implanted into nude mice. PDX have several advantages over cell line xenografts. For example, tumors that form in these mouse models retain similarities to the original tumors (compared to cell line xenografts) and thus may more accurately reflect the diversity of human melanoma. In several studies, it was observed that PDX have similar histological, transcriptomic, and polymorphic/copy number features to the tumors from which they were derived (Tentler et al. 2012). These PDX are also more useful in accurately predicting therapeutic drug efficiency. This model also allows for the potential of creating a large number of xenografted mice from a single patient tumor, as the tumors can be serially biopsied and injected into different mice. Due to the heterogeneity of the tumors, a variety of different clones, each with different characteristics (including a different potential for therapeutic drug resistance), can be generated and subsequently analyzed (Einarsdottir et al. 2014; Kemper et al. 2015, 2016; Krepler et al. 2016). More recently, genetic screens using PDX have been done (Bossi et al. 2016). In this case, surgically resected melanoma tumors were subcutaneously injected into immunodeficient mice, and the resulting tumors were cultured. Next, the cultured cells were transduced with an shRNA epigenetic library and then re-transplanted into immunodeficient mice. The specific ability of each shRNA-transduced PDX to form tumors would allow for the identification of those genes involved in melanoma tumor formation. PDX also have potential uses in drug screens, since they would provide a more accurate representation of specific responses to specific drug treatments in comparison to cell line xenografts. Treatment of PDX from individual patients with specific drugs may prove useful in identifying specific therapeutic drugs that are useful for individual patients (Kuzu et al. 2015).

Despite these promising features, these models also have limitations. The time for tumors to develop in immunocompromised mice typically ranges from 3 to 9 months, and often, tumors do not develop following implantation. Furthermore, implantation into immunocompromised mice does not accurately reflect the natural, physiological tumor microenvironment. In addition, the PDX are difficult to manipulate genetically in comparison to melanoma cell lines, since traditional gene manipulation protocols are inefficient at inducing a change in gene expression in these tumor xenografts (Kuzu et al. 2015). A major limitation of using PDX models to explore melanoma therapy is that they are largely incompatible with testing various manipulations of the immune system since they are propagated in immunocompromised mice until more cost-effective humanized mice can be produced.

#### **Genetically Engineered Mouse Models**

## Genome-Editing Tools to Generate Melanoma Mouse Models

Despite the fact that spontaneous melanoma formation in mice is rare, melanomagenesis can be readily initiated in mice that have been suitably genetically manipulated leading to the expression of mutant gene products that promote human melanoma or that alter (by either increasing or decreasing) the expression of genes that are implicated in melanomagenesis. In this regard, the mouse genome is exceptionally tractable for sophisticated and extensive genetic manipulation. First, the genome can be modified by random integration of ectopic transgenes into the genome. This is normally achieved by introducing a transgene into fertilized oocytes, after which the DNA will randomly integrate into the genome, and more often than not, the insertion site will not encode for an endogenous gene. Secondly, homologous recombination can be used to alter the genome by replacing or modifying a particular endogenous gene of interest, which is generally achieved using mouse embryonic stem cells (ES). Next, the modified ES cells are injected into mouse blastocysts, eventually generating mice with either the removal (knockout), replacement (knock-in), or particular modification (conditional allele) of a target gene of interest (GOI). As molecular biology techniques have become more refined and sophisticated, the spatiotemporal control of the expression of specific GOIs has become possible and commonly utilized. Finally, CRISPR/CAS9 is likely to provide a fast and efficient approach to generate novel mouse models for the melanoma field (Singh et al. 2015).

Genetically engineered mouse models of melanoma have been generated employing a basic principle: a specific GOI is placed under the control of a particular promoter, which allows for a specific pattern of expression of that GOI. The expression of the GOI alone may be enough to cause melanomagenesis, or it may need to be expressed simultaneously in the same mouse with other melanoma-associated genes in order to promote melanomagenesis. Alternatively, chemical (e.g., DMBA) or environmental agents/factors (e.g., UVB light) may be applied to mice to promote melanomagenesis (Zaidi et al. 2011; Viros et al. 2014).

To study the function of a particular GOI in the melanocyte lineage, genetically engineered mice have been generated that express the specific gene under the control of a gene promoter expressed solely in the melanocyte lineage. For the most part, genetically engineered mouse (GEM) models with melanocyte-specific transgene expression have been developed using a transgene that is under the control of the tyrosinase (Tyr) gene promoter. Tyrosinase is an enzyme involved in melanin synthesis, a process specific to melanocytes. Thus, genes under the control of this promoter will be expressed in the melanocyte lineage. In addition to the promoter, transgenes that contain GOIs under the control of both the tyrosinase enhancer and promoter also exist, adding further specificity to the regulation of gene expression. Other promoters that have been employed to confer melanocytespecific expression of different GOIs are from the dopachrome tautomerase (Dct), melanoma antigen recognized by T cells (Mart1), or microphthalmia transcription factor (Mitf) genes (Mac-Kenzie et al. 1997; Alizadeh et al. 2008; Aydin and Beermann 2011).

While the majority of genetically engineered melanoma mouse models employ one of the aforementioned promoters, some studies have made use of the metallothionein gene (Mt) promoter to drive gene expression. In these mice, since the metallothionein gene is expressed in all tissues, the GOI is also expressed in all tissues

(Iwamoto et al. 1991). In this case, melanoma formation usually results from treatment of the mice with a chemical tumor promoter, which seemingly affects the genetically modified melanocytes either alone or in addition to other cell types, which may themselves, become cancerous. For melanoma researchers, two main chemical agents have been used to induce tumor formation in mice. The first of these agents is 7,12-dimethylbenz[a]anthracene (DMBA), which suppresses the immune system and causes organ-specific carcinogenesis after being metabolized in the body and binding to DNA at adenine and guanine nucleotides (Miyata et al. 2001). The second of these carcinogenic agents is 12-O-tetradecanoylphorbol-13-acetate (TPA), which binds to and activates protein kinase C (PKC), leading to various outcomes, including tumor formation in mouse skin (Abel et al. 2009).

The reversible induction of specific GOIs from exogenous promoters has also been made possible through the use of the tetracycline/doxycycline inducible system, i.e., the Tet-On and Tet-Off systems (Zaidi et al. 2011; Bockamp et al. 2008). In the Tet-Off system, the tetracycline transactivator protein (tTA), whose expression is under the control of a melanocyte-specific promoter (e.g., Tyr::tTA), is capable of binding to tetO sequences, which are part of a tetracycline response element (TRE) controlling the expression of a target gene of interest (Zaidi et al. 2011). The binding of the tTA to the TRE results in expression of the target gene of interest. When tetracycline is present, it binds to the tTA and does not allow it to bind to the TRE; therefore target gene expression is silenced. In the Tet-On system, the tTA is modified and is actually a reverse tTA (rtTA), which can only bind to the TRE in the presence of tetracycline. This system has been valuable in allowing researchers to look at the inducible and reversible effects of a certain GOI in a particular lineage, including the melanocyte lineage (Chin et al. 1999).

While these technologies have been useful in identifying the role of various genes in melanomagenesis, one important consideration to be made is that an artificially introduced promoter, and not the endogenous promoter, controls expression of these genes. The consequences are that the temporal and level of expression of the GOI are modified, which may lead to physiological artifacts. To address this concern, genetically engineered mouse models that allow expression of melanoma-relevant genes under the control of their own endogenous promoter have been generated and are now widely used. In this case, the endogenous GOI is modified using homologous recombination in ES cells, which results in a genetically altered ES cell that is then injected into early embryos to generate allophenic (chimeric) mice. Several founder mice containing the altered gene have to be generated and characterized. Gene alteration can be constitutive or conditional. The conditional gene alteration can be performed using the Flp/Frt or Cre/LoxP system (Larue and Beermann 2007). These two systems are naturally present either in yeast or bacteriophage and are based on a recombinase (Flp or Cre) and sequences that are both specifically recognized and recombined (Frt or LoxP). Cre is an enzyme derived from the P1 bacteriophage that is able to homologously recombine internally DNA between two specific DNA sequences (known as LoxP sites) of 34 nucleotides: 5'-ATAACTTCGTATA ATGTATGC TATACGAAGTTAT-3', with 2 inverted repeats of 13 nucleotides and a spacer of 8 nucleotides (Nagy 2000). The development of this enzyme as a tool for genetic manipulation for genetically engineered mice has been of immense importance and enabled researchers to perform experiments that were not previously possible. In general, Cre is used in the following way to induce the melanocyte-specific expression of a target GOI:

- The endogenous gene of interest has been modified using homologous recombination in ES cells, and transgenic mice containing the modified allele have been generated. It should be noted that the modified allele (or "floxed" allele), which is present in all cell types, does not affect these mice, since it's mutant/altered form is not present unless Cre-mediated recombination occurs.
- 2. The Cre enzyme is under the control of a melanocyte-specific promoter such as Mitf

or Mart1 (Alizadeh et al. 2008; Aydin and Beermann 2011). However, in most cases the Tyr promoter is used. These Tyr::Cre mice are characterized and, of course, the Tyr::Cre transgene has no effect on melanomagenesis by itself (Delmas et al. 2003).

3. The crosses of Tyr::Cre and floxed mice generate pups that contain the mutant/altered allele of the GOI (also called the defloxed allele) in the melanocyte lineage specifically with intact/floxed germ cells. Importantly, since the *Tyr* gene is expressed at approximately E9.5 during embryonic development, conditional genetic alterations (defloxing) of the gene of interest occur at approximately this time.

This technology has made it relatively simple to study the effects of alterations in a particular GOI in the melanocyte lineage from its endogenous promoter (Aoki et al. 2015; Mort et al. 2014; Wavre-Shapton et al. 2013; Li et al. 2011; Selfridge et al. 2010; Dhomen et al. 2010; Schouwey et al. 2007; Levy et al. 2010; Pshenichnaya et al. 2012). However, as mentioned, since Tyr is expressed during embryonic development, the mutant GOI is also expressed at this time, which may not completely reflect melanomagenesis in humans, as mutation primarily occurs after birth. This issue was addressed by the generation of two independent transgenic mouse lines in which a hormone-dependent form of Cre recombinase (CreER^{T2}) is expressed under the control of the tyrosinase promoter/enhancer sequences that will be called Tyr::CreER^{T2(L)} and Tyr::CreER^{T2(B)} (Yajima et al. 2006; Bosenberg et al. 2006). CreER^{T2} is a fusion protein comprising Cre recombinase fused to a modified form of the hormone-binding domain of the human estrogen receptor that is activated by 4-hydroxytamoxifen (4-OHT) but not by endogenous estrogens (Feil et al. 1997). Hence, in the absence of 4-OHT, CreER^{T2} is inactive, but in the presence of 4-OHT, the CreER^{T2} protein is activated to perform its enzymatic activity in the nucleus. Consequently, the use of both Tyr:: CreER^{T2} mouse models has allowed for the spatial and temporal control of the expression of the altered GOIs in mouse melanocytes.

More recently, as the development of new technologies has advanced, a new technique known as "Replication-competent avian sarcoma-leukosis virus long terminal repeat with splice acceptor/tumor virus A" has emerged. This system, also known as RCAS/TVA, makes use of an RCAS vector to induce efficient and stable delivery of specific genes of interest in a targeted manner (Loftus et al. 2001; von Werder et al. 2012). When the suite of RCAS vectors is used in conjunction with mice carrying a melanocytespecific Dct::TVA transgene (tva800 or tva950), this allows for genetic manipulation of gene expression in mouse melanocytes. In other words, targeted cells of interest are genetically modified to express the proteins tva800 or tva950 (Dct::TVA transgene), which are not expressed in mammalian cells. Once these proteins are expressed in the cells of interest, they can be infected with the RCAS vector and will express the gene of interest in the cells of interest.

Finally, recent advances in genome editing have been made possible by the application and refinement of the clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeat (CRISPR)/Cas9 system, which has significantly advanced how researchers can edit their desired genome of interest. This system has the potential to generate cell lines with identical genetic backgrounds that only differ in the loss of the CRISPR-targeted GOI. As such, the effects of losing expression of the GOI can be accurately assessed between the parental cell line and the CRISPR cell lines. In this system, the bacterial CAS9 protein, which cleaves DNA to introduce double-stranded breaks, is expressed in conjunction with a specific guide RNA (sgRNA), which is designed to target a specific GOI. This specific RNA sequence is complementary to a genomic region in the GOI that is found adjacent to a protospacer adjacent motif (PAM), which has a particular sequence and is commonly found within the genome. When the sgRNA aligns with the genomic DNA, CAS9 cleaves both strands of the DNA three nucleotides upstream of the PAM resulting in a double-stranded DNA break. When this break is repaired by host DNA repair mechanisms, the end result is often the disruption (knockout) of the targeted gene of interest. In addition, double-stranded break formation may be followed by the insertion of a specific sequence of interest, provided that an exogenous artificial repair template (e.g., a DNA fragment on which the GOI-targeting sequences flank the sequence to be inserted) is provided (Agrotis and Ketteler 2015). Importantly, since PAM sequences are found throughout the genome, CRISPR/CAS9 technology can be useful in manipulating a large number of genes and DNA sequences to assess their effects on cellular processes including melanomagenesis. To date, genetically engineered mouse lines using the CRISPR/CAS9 system for studying melanomagenesis have not been generated, but their potential is enormous. However, several studies have used this system in human melanoma cell lines (Krachulec et al. 2016; Shalem et al. 2014; Benamar et al. 2016; Kim et al. 2016). One of these studies used this system in a human melanoma cell line to identify genes involved in resistance to vemurafenib, one of the few treatments available for melanoma patients, and identified a number of genes that could potentially be involved in this resistance (Shalem et al. 2014). Future studies will be needed to verify the roles of these proteins in resistance associated with vemurafenib.

#### **Genetically Engineered Mouse Line Tools**

In the above section, the different mechanisms that have been used to generate melanocytespecific expression of particular genes/mutants of interest were described. These mechanisms can also be used to generate transgenic mice that can be useful to help visualize and follow the particular expression or pattern of expression of genes/alleles that have been genetically manipulated (defloxed) following Cre-mediated recombination. This section discusses four such genetically engineered mouse lines that have been yery useful in identifying which cells have been genetically altered following recombination events.

#### Dct::LacZ Mice

The *LacZ* gene encodes  $\beta$ -galactosidase, an enzyme involved in lactose metabolism in

bacteria. Specifically, this enzyme cleaves the disaccharide sugar lactose into the monosaccharides glucose and galactose. In the case of melanoma research, Dct::LacZ mice were generated, can be molecularly tested for homozygosity, and are still very useful because they can be used in experiments X-gal staining to identify Dct-positive cells including melanoblasts, melanocyte stem cells, melanocytes, and melanomas (MacKenzie et al. 1997; Takemoto et al. 2006; Nishimura et al. 2002). When X-gal, which is an organic molecule that contains galactose linked to an indole group, is added to the tissue section or embryo of interest, LacZ-expressing (i.e., Dct-expressing) cells will cleave the X-gal, liberating the lactose moiety and a 5-bromo-4-chloro-3-hydroxyindole moiety. The latter then forms a homodimer and is oxidized to produce a blue color. Other β-galactosidase substrates can be used for other purposes as well. This tool can be very useful in serving as a control for the identification of melanocyte-lineage cells.

#### Z/EG Mice

Another genetically engineered mouse line that is a useful imaging tool is the Z/EG mouse line, which contains the  $\beta$ -galactosidase gene flanked between two LoxP sites. Downstream of the second LoxP site is the gene encoding the green fluorescent protein, EGFP (Novak et al. 2000). Z/EG mice can be genotyped for homozygosity (Colombo et al. 2010) and express  $\beta$ -galactosidase starting from embryonic development. However, when these mice are crossed with Cre mice. Cremediated recombination results in the removal of the  $\beta$ -galactosidase gene and allows the expression of EGFP. As such, cells in which Cre has been active appear green under the microscope. The fluorescence can also be viewed in real time on live cells, providing researchers with the unique ability to visualize the kinetics of Cremediated recombination as it occurs within the cells. Moreover, as required, EGFP-expressing cells can be isolated using flow cytometry.

#### mT/mG Mice

The mT/mG mouse line is another tool for visualization of the spatial and temporal activity of Cre recombinase as well as for lineage tracing

and cell morphology studies. In these mice, the gene encoding an N-terminal membrane-tagged tdTomato protein is flanked by LoxP sites, whereas the gene encoding a similarly tagged EGFP is downstream of the second LoxP site. This cassette is encoded within the Rosa26 locus; therefore it is expressed in all cells (Muzumdar et al. 2007). Prior to Cre-mediated recombination, all cells in the mouse express tdTomato and are red fluorescent. Following Cre-mediated recombination, the tdTomato expression is silenced and the cells express EGFP and are green fluorescent. As such, this mouse line is an excellent tool to provide contrast between cells that have or have been subject to Cre-mediated recombination.

#### **Confetti Mice**

The Confetti or Brainbow mouse line consists of a series of genes encoding fluorescent proteins (XFPs) back-to-back and separated by LoxP sites (Muzumdar et al. 2007). The genes encoding the XFPs are downstream of a "road block" cassette, which does not allow the expression of the XFPs prior to Cre-mediated recombination. However, it may contain a mutant XFP (e.g., YFP) that does not fluoresce but that can be detected by immunostaining, which would give an indication of the number of cells containing the transgene. Cre-mediated recombination results in the random removal of XFP genes, resulting in a single characteristic fluorescence for each individual cell. Monitoring of these individual cells is useful for addressing cell of origin, for lineage tracing, and for assessing the clonality of tumor formation.

The abovementioned tools make it possible to study the effects of melanocyte-specific mutations in GOIs. In the following section, the different genetically engineered mouse models of melanoma will be summarized. A complete listing of these mouse models is provided in Table 1.

## Specific Genomic Alterations in Genetically Engineered Mice

Various signaling pathways including the RAS-activated ERK1/2 MAP kinase (MAPK), PI3-kinase, and WNT/ $\beta$ -catenin are involved in melanoma initiation and progression, as are proteins involved in the cell division cycle, such

 Table 1
 Summary of genetically engineered melanoma mouse models

Mouse model	Carcinogen	Melanoma	Met	Reference
Cell autonomous: monogenic				
Tyr::CreER ^{T2(B)/} ; Braf ^{CA/+}	None	No	No	Dankort et al. (2009)
Tyr::CreER ^{T2(L)/$\circ$} ; Braf ^{LoxP-V600E/+}	None	Yes	No	Dhomen et al. (2009)
Tyr::CreER ^{T2(B)/$\circ$} ; Braf ^{LoxP-V618E/+}	None	Yes	No	Perna et al. (2015)
Tyr::Braf ^{V600E/} °	None	No	No	Goel et al. (2009)
Tyr::HRAS ^{G12V}	None	No	No	Powell et al. (1995)
Tyr::HRAS ^{G12V}	None	No	No	Chin et al. (1997)
Tyr::CreER ^{T2(L)/} °; β-actin::Kras ^{LoxP-G12V/LoxP-G12V}	None	Yes	No	Milagre et al. (2010)
Tyr::NRAS ^{Q61K/}	None	Yes	Yes	Ackermann et al. (2005)
Tyr::CreER ^{T2(B)/o} ; Nras ^{LoxP-G12D/LoxP-G12D}	None	No	No	Pedersen et al. (2013)
Tyr::Cre/°; Nras ^{LoxP-G12D/LoxP-G12D}	None	Yes	No	Pedersen et al. (2013)
Tyr::CreER ^{T2(B)/o} ; Nras ^{LoxP-Q61R/LoxP-Q61R}	None	No	No	Burd et al. (2014)
Mt::Hgf	None	Yes	Yes	Takayama et al. (1997)
Mt::Ret	None	Yes	Yes	Iwamoto et al. (1991)
Tur: CraEpT2(B)/o. Nf1LoxP/LoxP	None	No	No	Maartens et al. $(2013)$
Tyr::-CroEDT2(B)/o. DtonLoxP/LoxP	None	No	No	Depkort et al. $(2013)$
TransCro/°. Dtop ^{LoxP/+}	None	No	No	Dalikoft et al. $(2009)$
IyICle/, Flell	INOILE	INO	INO	Condo Doroz
				et al. (2015)
Ink4a ^{-/-}	None	No	No	Serrano et al. (1996)
p16 ^{ink4a-/-} ; p19 ^{Art+/-}	None	Yes	No	Sharpless et al. (2001)
Cdk4 ^{R24C/R24C}	None	No	No	Sotillo et al. (2001)
Tyr::bcat* [/] °	None	No	No	Delmas et al. (2007)
Tyr::Cre/°; $\beta$ -cat $\Delta$ ex2-6 ^{LoxP/LoxP}	None	No	No	Luciani et al. (2011)
Tyr::Cre/°; $\beta$ -cat $\Delta$ ex3 ^{LoxP/+}	None	No	No	Yajima et al. (2013)
Tyr::Cre/°; Rosa26::Mdm4 ^{LoxP/+}	None	No	No	Gembarska et al. (2012)
Tyr::SV40Tag	None	Yes	Yes	Bradl et al. (1991)
				Klein-Szanto et al. (1991)
Dct::Grm1	None	Yes	No	Pollock (2003)
Tyr::HRAS ^{G12V}	DMBA	Yes	Yes	Gause et al. 1997
p16 ^{Ink4a-/-}	DMBA	Yes	Yes	Krimpenfort et al. (2001)
Cdk4 ^{R24C/R24C}	DMBA/ TPA	Yes	No	Sotillo et al. (2001)
Mt::Hgf	UV	Yes	No	Noonan et al. (2001)
Mt::Hgf	UVB	Yes	Yes	De Fabo et al. (2004)
Cell autonomous: multigenic				
Tyr::CreER ^{T2(L)/} °; Braf ^{LoxP-V600E/+} ; p16 ^{Ink4a-/-}	None	Yes	Yes	Dhomen et al. (2009)
Tyr::Braf ^{V600E/$\circ$} ; Cdkn2a ^{+/-}	None	Yes	Yes	Goel et al. (2009)
Tyr::Braf ^{V600E/o} ; p53 ^{-/-}	None	Yes	Yes	Goel et al. (2009)
Tyr::CreER ^{T2(B)/$\circ$} ; Braf ^{CA/+} ; Pten ^{LoxP/LoxP}	None	Yes	Yes	Dankort et al. (2009)
Tyr::CreER ^{T2(B)/$\circ$} ; Braf ^{CA/+} ; Pten ^{LoxP/LoxP} ; $\beta$ -cat $\Delta$ ex2-6 ^{LoxP/LoxP}	None	No	No	Damsky et al. (2011)
Tyr::CreER ^{T2(B)/$\circ$} ; Braf ^{CA/+} ; Pten ^{LoxP/LoxP} ; $\beta$ -cat $\Delta$ ex3 ^{LoxP/LoxP}	None	Yes	Yes	Damsky et al. (2011)

(continued)

Mouse model	Carcinogen	Melanoma	Met	Reference
Tyr::CreER ^{T2(B)/} ; Braf ^{CA/+} ; Nf1 ^{LoxP/LoxP}	None	Yes	No	Maertens et al. (2013)
Tyr::NRAS ^{Q61K/} °; Cdkn2a ^{-/-}	None	Yes	Yes	Ackermann et al. (2005)
Tyr::CreER ^{T2(B)/} ; Nras ^{LoxP-Q61R/LoxP-Q61R} ; p16 ^{LoxP/LoxP}	None	Yes	No	Burd et al. (2014)
Tyr::NRAS ^{Q61K/} °; Tyr::Cre/°; Pten ^{LoxP/+}	None	Yes	Yes	Conde-Perez et al. (2015)
Tyr::NRAS ^{Q61K/} °; Tyr::bcat* [/] °	None	Yes	Yes	Delmas et al. (2007)
Tyr::NRAS ^{Q61K/} °; Tyr::Cre/°; Rosa26::Mdm4 ^{LoxP/} °	None	Yes	No	Gembarska et al. (2012)
Tyr::CreER ^{T2(B)/$\circ$} ; Kras ^{LoxP-G12D/+} ; p16 ^{LoxP/LoxP}	None	Yes	No	Monahan et al. (2010)
Dct::TVA; Cdkn2a ^{-/-} ; RCAS (NRAS ^{Q61R} + Cre)	None	Yes	No	VanBrocklin (2010)
Dct::TVA; Cdkn2a ^{-/-} ; RCAS (NRAS ^{G12V} + Cre)	None	No	No	VanBrocklin (2010)
Tyr::CreER ^{T2(B)/$\circ$} ; p16 ^{LoxP/LoxP} ; p53 ^{LoxP/LoxP}	None	No	No	Monahan et al. (2010)
Tyr::HRAS ^{G12V} /°; Cdkn2a ^{-/-}	None	Yes	No	Chin et al. (1997)
Tyr::HRAS ^{G12V/} °; Cdkn2a ^{+/-}	None	Yes	No	Chin et al. (1997)
tetO::HRAS ^{G12V} ; Tyr::rtTA	None	Yes	No	Chin et al. (1999)
Tyr::iRasP1A; Cdkn2a ^{LoxP/LoxP}	None	Yes	No	Huijbers (2006)
Tyr::HRAS ^{G12V} ; Cdk4 ^{R24C/R24C}	None	Yes	Yes	Hacker et al. (2006)
Mt::Ret; EdnrB ^{+/-}	None	Yes	Yes	Kumasaka et al. (2010)
Mt::Ret; Il6 ^{-/-}	None	Yes	No	Von Felbert (2005)
Cdkn2a ^{-/-} ; Pten ^{-/-}	None	Yes	No	You (2002)
Dct::rtTA; tetHA-Gnaq ^{Q209L} ; Cdkn2a ^{-/-}	None	Yes	No	Feng (2014)
Tyr::HRAS ^{G12V} ; Cdk4 ^{R24C/R24C}	UV	Yes	Yes	Hacker et al. (2006)
Tyr::Mip2; Cdkn2a ^{+/–}	DMBA	Yes	No	Yang (2001)
Non-cell autonomous				·
K14-CreER ^{T2/$\circ$} ; RXR $\alpha$ ^{LoxP/LoxP}	DMBA/ TPA	Yes	No	Indra et al. (2007)
K14-CreER ^{T2/o} ; Taf4 ^{LoxP/LoxP}	DMBA/ TPA	Yes	No	Fadloun (2007)

#### Table 1 (continued)

For simplification, the two Tyr::CreERt2 transgenic mouse lines are designated as B and L for the "Bosenberg" and "Larue" lines, respectively. *Met* metastasis

as INK4A-CDK4-RB and ARF-MDM2/4-TP53 signaling. However, it appears that key components of the ERK1/2 MAPK pathway play a crucial role in the early proliferation of initiated melanocytes followed by senescence. By contrast, components of other pathways are more closely associated with the bypass of senescence of initiated melanocytes to melanoma. One current linear model suggests that expression of mutationally activated NRAS or BRAF promotes melanocyte proliferation, resulting in benign melanocytic nevus formation, which ultimately cease proliferation and display features of senescence. Further steps to melanoma therefore require additional genetic/ epigenetic events in pathways that promote bypass of senescence leading to melanomagenesis. However, melanoma progression (invasion and metastasis formation) is complex, since it involves multiple cellular mechanisms such as loss of melanocyte-keratinocyte adhesion, loss of melanocyte-basal adhesion, degradation of the basement membrane, migration, invasion, intravasation in blood/lymph vessels, resistance to anoïkis, extravasation, implantation, and angiogenesis. Of course, during the process, melanoma cells must be resistant to apoptosis and the immune system and must also be able to adapt to their environment through their high
molecular and cellular plasticity (phenotypic switch).

The following sections describe different classes of GEM models, which can be thought of as either cell-autonomous or cell non-autonomous (see Table 1). A cell-autonomous melanoma model is defined by the presence of germinal/ somatic mutations in the same melanocytes and can be subdivided into three types: (ia) monogenic mouse models associated with proliferation which may or may not form melanoma, (ib) monogenic mouse models associated with immortalization and bypass of senescence, and (ic) multigenic mouse models associated with melanoma formation. A cell non-autonomous melanoma model is defined by at least one modification arising from (iia) the microenvironment (surrounding cells [keratinocytes, fibroblasts, adipocytes] or modification of the amount of nutrients or oxygen) or (iib) the environment (physical irradiation [such as UV] or chemical exposure [such as DMBA and/or TPA]). Here, we will refer to genes/RNA in italics, to human in capital letters, and to mice in lower cases with the first letter capitalized, proteins in non-italicized upper case for human or in lower cases with the first letter capitalized for mouse.

#### **Cell-Autonomous Models**

Monogenic Mouse Models Associated with Proliferation Which May or May Not Form Melanoma

#### Activated BRAF

The RAF protein family consists of three serinethreonine protein kinases, namely, ARAF, BRAF, and CRAF, that function downstream of GTPbound RAS, which regulate signaling through the MEK1/2 to ERK1/2 MAP kinase signaling pathway. Mutations in the *ARAF* and *CRAF* genes are rare in human melanoma; hence no melanoma models have been generated for either of these two genes. By contrast, mutational activation of *BRAF* (primarily the BRAF^{T1799A} transversion, resulting in the BRAF^{V600E} oncoprotein) is detected in approximately ~70% of human sun-induced benign nevi and in ~50% of human melanomas (Davies et al. 2002; Pollock et al. 2003a). As such, mutated, oncogenic BRAF induces melanocyte proliferation first and senescence after several cell cycles (Michaloglou et al. 2005).

To study the role of the  $\mathsf{BRAF}^{\mathsf{V600E}}$  oncoprotein kinase in melanomagenesis, four different *Braf* mouse models have been generated (Fig. 1). Due to differences between mouse and human BRAF, the human  $BRAF^{T1799A}$  mutation is equivalent to Braf^{T1910A} in the mouse. Correspondingly, human BRAF^{V600E} is equivalent to BRAF^{V637E} in the mouse. For convenience, we shall use the human numbering throughout. Two of these models employ a conditionally mutated Braf gene (encoding  $BRAF^{V600E}$ protein) expressed following Cre-mediated recombination of the endogenous Braf gene. Even though Tyr:: CreER^{T2}-mediated recombination results in the expression of the BRAF^{V600E} oncoprotein in the melanocyte lineage, these two melanoma models display some differences. On one hand, these differences are due to different insertion sites of the transgene (Tyr::CreER^{T2}) and to a different sequence of the tyrosinase promoter (Yajima et al. 2006; Bosenberg et al. 2006). On the other hand, the Braf knock-in is slightly different as well (Mercer et al. 2005; Dankort et al. 2007). The consequence is that these two crosses, "Marais-Larue" and "McMahon-Bosenberg," led to hyperpigmentation of the skin, tails, ears, and paws and nevi formation. However, "Marais-Larue" mice formed melanoma without additional manipulations, whereas the "McMahon-Bosenberg" model did not (Dhomen et al. 2009; Dankort et al. 2009). Besides the intrinsic molecular differences of the transgenes of these two models, the presence/absence of melanoma may be due to the genetic background of the mice and/or a variety of other factors including the intrinsic quality of the animal colonies. The third Braf allele was slightly different, as the LoxP sequences were located in intron 3, flanking a polyA signal, with a mutated exon 15. These mice also produced melanoma after Cre-mediated recombination displaying hyperpigmentation of the skin, tails, ears, and paws and nevi formation (Perna et al. 2015). In the fourth mouse model



**Fig. 1** Schematic summary of the four different **Braf**^{V600E} alleles. Endogenous exons are shown numbered in dark blue boxes. The star indicates that Exon 15 contains the mutation encoding for the V600E mutant protein. The pink triangles denote LoxP sites and the orange triangles denote FRT sites. Note that the mini-gene from Mercer et al. is of mouse origin and from Dankort et al. is of

(*Tyr::BRAF*^{V600E}), the BRAF^{V600E} oncoprotein is constitutively expressed under the control of the tyrosinase promoter (Goel et al. 2009). These mice displayed hyperpigmentation of the skin, tails, ears, and paws, but did not form melanoma. The efficiency to produce these transgenic mice was low, and the level of BRAF^{V600E} expression was also low. The fact that *Tyr::Cre*-mediated, embryonic expression of BRAF^{V600E} is lethal may explain the properties of the *Tyr::BRAF^{V600E}* transgenic mice (Goel et al. 2009; Dhomen et al. 2010).

#### Activated RAS

RAS proteins are GTPases that regulate intracellular signaling pathways and thereby serve to propaextracellular mitogenic gate signals into appropriate biochemical and biological responses. The most cancer-relevant members of this family are NRAS, HRAS, and KRAS (neuroblastoma, Harvey rat sarcoma, and Kirsten rat sarcoma viral oncogene homologues, respectively). In humans, 20-25% of melanomas express mutationally activated NRAS. While HRAS and KRAS are also mutated in melanoma, the frequency of mutation is significantly lower (1% and 2%, respectively (Fernandez-Medarde and Santos 2011)).

human origin. Note that exon 15–18 are identical at the protein level in human and mouse except at the C-terminal end. Human BRAF has an alanine at the position 762, whereas the mouse equivalent is a glycine. The BRAF V600E cDNA from Goel et al. is of human origin and obtained A375M melanoma cell line

#### Activated HRAS

Transgenic mice expressing constitutively active HRAS^{G12V} under the control of the tyrosinase promoter (i.e., Tyr::HRAS^{G12V}, also referred to as TPras) displayed melanocytic hyperplasia (characteristic of nevi formation) with intense skin pigmentation, but did not form melanoma (Powell et al. 1995). In another mouse model that contained the HRAS^{G12V} oncogene downstream of both the tyrosinase proximal promoter and upstream enhancer element, HRAS^{G12V} did not promote melanoma (Chin et al. 1997). One should note that in both cases human HRAS was used.

# Activated KRAS

A genetically engineered mouse melanoma model for activated KRAS has also been developed (Milagre et al. 2010), in which a constitutively active KRAS^{G12V} oncoprotein is expressed under the control of the  $\beta$ -actin promoter (i.e.,  $\beta$ -actin:: *Kras^{LoxP-G12V/LoxP-G12V*). Melanocyte-specific expression of KRAS^{G12V}, elicited with Tyr:: CreER^{T2}, led to hyperpigmentation of the back, tail, and ear skin due to the emergence of various melanocytic lesions. The most common of these lesions was similar to human blue nevi.} Furthermore, mice with melanocyte-specific KRAS^{G12V} expression also developed melanoma tumors in all cases, although they appeared not to metastasize throughout the body.

# Activated NRAS

Since *NRAS* mutations are observed at a high frequency in melanoma (20–25%), genetically engineered mice expressing different constitutively active NRAS mutants (NRAS^{Q61K}, NRAS^{G12D}, and NRAS^{Q61R}) have been generated. In human melanomas, 84% and 7% of these mutations localize to codon 61 and 12, respectively. The presence of NRAS mutations in humans induces melanocytic proliferation followed by senescence as shown for giant nevus (Charbel et al. 2014).

The first genetically engineered transgenic *NRAS* mouse line, Tyr::NRAS^{Q61K/ $\circ$}, was made using melanocyte-specific expression of human constitutively active NRAS^{Q61K} under the control of both the distal regulatory element (DRE) and the promoter of the mouse tyrosinase gene (Ackermann et al. 2005). These mice displayed hyperpigmentation of the skin, ears, paws, and tails. More significantly, in these mice, melanocytes proliferated at ectopic sites of the skin and in some cases developed cutaneous melanoma with metastases in the lung, liver, and brain.

In the next genetically engineered mouse model, oncogenic Nras^{G12D} was also expressed downstream of the endogenous Nras promoter (Pedersen et al. 2013) and was expressed in the melanocyte lineage following the activity of the CreER^{T2} recombinase (*Tyr::CreER^{T2/o}; Nras^{LoxP-}* G12D/LoxP-G12D). In these mice, melanocytespecific Nras^{G12D} expression resulted in skin hyperpigmentation and nevi formation, but no tumors developed. When the Nras^{G12D} oncogene was expressed in the melanocyte lineage during development (Tyr::Cre/°; Nras^{LoxP-G12D/LoxP-G12D}). the mice had darker skin, tails, paws, and snouts (compared to controls) and also developed benign lesions similar to human blue nevi, but they did not form cutaneous melanoma. Interestingly, these mice developed neurological symptoms typical of motor dysfunction, which was concurrent with significant darkening of the arachnoid mater and pia mater, the two thinnest membranes surrounding the brain and spinal cord. The melanocytes in these meninges eventually progressed to primary central nervous system (CNS) melanomas, which were both aggressive and invasive.

#### Activated RTKs

Many different signaling pathways are implicated in melanocyte development and in melanomagenesis, including receptor tyrosine kinases (RTKs) such as KIT, MET, and RET (Easty et al. 2011; Paluncic et al. 2016). KIT plays an essential role in melanocyte development, proliferation, survival, migration, and differentiation and is overexpressed and/or mutated (V559A) in melanoma (Walker et al. 2011; Stankov et al. 2014). However, no mouse melanoma models with activating mutations in the Kit have been generated. Genetically engineered mouse models studying the Met and Ret RTKs have been generated as described below.

#### **HGF-MET** Signaling

The hepatocyte growth factor (HGF) promotes melanocyte proliferation through its cognate receptor tyrosine kinase MET. HGF-MET-mediated activation of the ERK1/2 MAPK and PI3K pathways most likely promotes melanocyte proliferation leading to melanomagenesis (Hirobe et al. 2004; Li et al. 2001). In a genetically engineered mouse model in which mouse Hgf is expressed under the control of the metallothionein promoter (*Mt::Hgf*), melanomas developed, as did mammary gland tumors and rhabdomyosarcomas (Takayama et al. 1997). Furthermore, it appeared that melanoma formation was driven by an autocrine loop in which the tumors displayed elevated levels of both the Hgf ligand and its receptor Met (Otsuka et al. 1998). Interestingly, while melanocytes in wild-type mice are normally located in the hair follicles, the melanocytes in these transgenic mice were found in the epidermis, in the dermal-epidermal junction, and in the dermis. Thus, since human melanocytes are primarily found in the epidermis, this transgenic mouse model could more accurately reflect the composition of human skin.

# **GDNF-RET** Signaling

The RTK RET is involved in a wide range of biological processes, including neural crest cell migration, and establishment and maintenance of neurons in the central and peripheral nervous systems (Mulligan 2014). The ligands for RET are the glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor (GDNF) family of proteins. While mutations in RET have been observed in melanoma, their significance remains uncertain (Mulligan 2014). To better understand the role of RET in tumorigenesis, genetically engineered mice were made that express Ret downstream of the mouse metallothionein 1 promoter-enhancer, which resulted in the ubiquitous expression of oncogenic Ret (Iwamoto et al. 1991; Kato et al. 1998). In these transgenic mice, melanoma tumors spontaneously formed primarily in the dermis of the face around the nose (Iwamoto et al. 1991). These tumors were slow growing and did not metastasize on a mixed strain background (C57BL/6  $\times$  BALB/c). However, on a pure C57BL/6 background, these tumors progressed to malignancy and metastasized to multiple sites, including the lymph nodes, lungs, and brain (Kato et al. 1998).

#### G-Protein-Coupled-Receptor

G-protein-coupled-receptor has been shown to be involved in melanomagenesis. Metabotropic glutamate receptor 1 (GRM1) is upregulated in some human melanoma and was sufficient to induce melanoma initiation in mice (*Dct::Grm1*) after inducing proliferation and inhibiting apoptosis (Pollock et al. 2003b).

#### SV40 Large T-Antigen

The SV40 large T-antigen is an oncoprotein that is derived from the polyoma SV40 virus, which is capable of transforming a wide variety of cell types (for review see An et al. 2012). As the oncogenic activity of the large T-antigen is mediated primarily by its ability to repress the tumor suppressors P53 and RB (An et al. 2012), transgenic mouse models with its expression may display similar phenotypes to those models without expression of both P53 and RB. GEM models with melanocyte-specific expression of this oncoprotein were some of the first mouse models produced. Transgenic mice with expression of the large T-antigen under the control of the *Tyr* promoter (*Tyr::SV40Tag*) spontaneously developed eye and skin melanoma (Bradl et al. 1991; Klein-Szanto et al. 1991; Silvers and Mintz 1998). Moreover, these *Tyr::SV40Tag* melanocytes were prone to form melanoma after UVB irradiation (Larue et al. 1992).

# Monogenic Mouse Models Associated with Immortalization and Bypass of Senescence

### Loss of NF1

Neurofibromin 1 (NF1) encodes a GTPaseactivating protein (GAP) that has tumor suppressor activity through its activation of the GTPase activity of RAS proteins. Recently NF1 mutations have emerged as a frequent event in melanomagenesis being mutated in approximately 10-15% of human melanomas, which now constitutes one of the four major subtypes (NRAS, BRAF, NF1, and triple wild-type) used to classify melanomas, based on their mutational profiles (Cancer Genome Atlas Network and Electronic address IMO, Cancer Genome Atlas Network 2015). As a relatively new mediator of melanomagenesis, studies on mice with melanocytespecific silencing of Nf1 are limited. In a GEM model, the loss of Nfl in the melanocyte lineage  $(Tyr::CreER^{T2/\circ};$  $Nfl^{LoxP/LoxP}$ ) resulted in increased ear, tail, and paw pigmentation; however, it did not induce melanoma when induced after birth (Maertens et al. 2013). This finding was surprising, since loss of NF1 should lead to elevated RAS.GTP, which might reasonably be expected to have promoted melanocyte proliferation. This result suggests that NF1 silencing alone is unable to promote sufficient accumulation of RAS.GTP to promote melanocyte proliferation (Maertens et al. 2013; Posch et al. 2016).

#### Loss of PTEN

PTEN is a lipid phosphatase that negatively regulates the PI3K signaling pathway in cells and plays an important role in the suppression of melanomagenesis. Indeed, PTEN is mutated or silenced in ~20% of human melanomas (Wu et al. 2003; Whiteman et al. 2002; Zhou et al. 2000; Conde-Perez et al. 2015). However, GEM models indicate that melanocyte-specific silencing of Pten (*Tyr::CreER*^{$T2/\circ$}; *Pten*^{LoxP/LoxP} or *Tyr::CreP*; *Pten*^{LoxP/+}) has little or no phenotypic effect on melanocytes and is not sufficient to promote melanomagenesis (Dankort et al. 2009; Conde-Perez et al. 2015; Puig et al. 2009).</sup>

#### Loss of CDKN2A, Encompassing INK4A and ARF

The CDKN2A gene, which is mutated in at least half of all human melanomas, comprises two genes (INK4A and ARF) that encode two melanoma suppressor proteins, P16^{INK4A} and P14^{ARF} (p19^{Arf} for the mouse) (Bennett 2016). P16^{INK4A} is a stoichiometric inhibitor of D-type cyclindependent kinases (CDK) 4 and 6. Expression of P16^{INK4A} inhibits the CDK4/6-mediated phosphorylation of RB and its close homologues p107 and p130, leading to arrest of the cell division cycle prior in G1. By contrast, P14^{ARF} (p19^{Arf} in mice) inhibits MDM2/MDM4 thereby leading to stabilization and activation of TP53 (Bennett 2016). The initial studies looking at the role of the Cdkn2a gene (also referred to as Ink4a) in tumorigenesis showed that while Ink4a^{-/-} transgenic mice developed various malignancies, including fibrosarcomas and lymphomas, they did not form melanomas (Serrano et al. 1996). DMBA and/or UV treatment decreased tumor latency, demonstrating that the loss of the Cdkn2a gene resulted in increased sensitivity to carcinogenic agents. However, transgenic mice lacking p16^{Ink4a} but containing one copy of p19^{Arf} developed melanoma, although they developed soft tissue sarcoma and lymphoma more frequently (Sharpless et al. 2001). Mice lacking p16^{Ink4a} (p16^{Ink4a-/-}) were also more prone to form tumors (including melanoma) following DMBA treatment than those with one functional copy of  $p16^{Ink4a}$  ( $p16^{Ink4a+/-}$ ).

#### Gain of CDK4

CDK4 is implicated in melanomagenesis since a mutationally altered form of the gene, encoding CDK4^{R24C}, was identified as a FAMM family gene (Wolfel et al. 1995). CDK4 regulates early events in the cell division cycle through the phosphorylation of the RB family tumor suppressors. Furthermore, activating mutations in CDK4

(i.e.,  $CDK4^{R24C/H}$ ) have been observed in melanoma (Zuo et al. 1996; Puntervoll et al. 2013). However, studies using genetically modified mice expressing the mutant  $CDK4^{R24C}$  in the place of the normal protein showed that the mice displayed a wide range of tumors, but not melanomas unless the mice were treated with DMBA/TPA (Sotillo et al. 2001).

# Altered β-Catenin Levels

β-Catenin (CTNNB1) is an armadillo repeatcontaining protein that is both a mediator of cellcell adhesion through cadherins and a transcriptional co-regulator that regulates gene expression (Aktary et al. 2016). Following WNT-mediated inhibition of the APC destruction complex (among other pathways), the abundance of β-catenin is increased allowing it to translocate into the nucleus where it interacts with transcription factors (including LEF/TCF) to regulate mRNA production. While mutations in the CTNNB1 gene itself are rare in melanoma,  $\beta$ -catenin cytoplasmic or nuclear localization has been observed in approximately 30% of human melanoma patients, suggesting that its transcriptional activity may be increased (Rimm et al. 1999). To date, three different genetically engineered mouse models have been developed that can be used to look at the role of  $\beta$ -catenin in melanomagenesis. In the first model (*Ctnnb1*^{$\Delta ex2-6LoxP$}), Cre-mediated recombination results in a truncated and inactive  $\beta$ -catenin (Brault et al. 2001). Two other mouse models allow for expression of a stabilized and activated form of  $\beta$ -catenin. *Tyr*:: $\beta$ cat* mice express a stabilized form of β-catenin (S33A/S37A/T41A/ S45A) under the control of the mouse tyrosinase promoter. Importantly, serines/threonine, which are encoded in exon 3 of the CTNNB1 gene, are essential for regulating the stability (degradation) of  $\beta$ -catenin (Delmas et al. 2007). In  $Ctnnb1^{\Delta ex3LoxP}$  mice, exon 3 has been flanked by loxP sites such that Cre-mediated recombination results in expression of a truncated but stabilized and constitutively active form of  $\beta$ -catenin (Harada et al. 1999).

Different studies have shown that melanocytespecific overexpression or loss of  $\beta$ -catenin by itself is insufficient to elicit melanoma in genetically manipulated mice (Delmas et al. 2007; Luciani et al. 2011; Yajima et al. 2013). However, these studies have shown that any alterations in  $\beta$ -catenin levels appear to have deleterious effects on melanocyte proliferation and pigmentation in mice. *Tyr*:: $\beta$ cat* mice display a gray coat color and a white belly spot similar to mice with hypomorphic allele of Mitf^{Wh/+} (Delmas et al. 2007; Gallagher et al. 2013). By contrast, mice with melanocyte-specific silencing of  $\beta$ -catenin (*Tyr*:: *Crel*^o; *Ctnnb1*^{$\Delta$ ex2-6LoxP/ $\Delta$ ex2-6LoxP</sub>) displayed a white coat color with a dramatic reduction of the number of melanocytes due a reduction of melanoblast proliferation (Luciani et al. 2011).}

#### Gain of MDM4

The transcription factor TP53 is activated in response to various forms of cellular stress (including DNA damage) and plays an important role in maintaining genome integrity by regulating the expression of genes involved in DNA repair, cell cycle arrest, and apoptosis (Eischen 2016). The stability of TP53 and its transcriptional activity are regulated by a number of its interacting partners, including MDM4 (MDMX), a negative regulator of TP53 function (Eischen 2016). Consistent with TP53 being commonly mutated in many types of cancer, ~15% of human melanomas display alterations in TP53. Moreover, recent mouse studies have indicated that TP53 serves as a potent suppressor of melanoma progression in mice with melanocytespecific expression of oncogenic NRAS or BRAF. Moreover, to study the role of the MDM4 in melanomagenesis, a GEM model was generated in which the Mdm4 was conditionally expressed from the Rosa26 locus (Gembarska et al. 2012). However, no tumors were observed in mice with melanocyte-specific overexpression of Mdm4 (*Tyr::Cre*/ $^{\circ}$ ; *Mdm*4^{LoxP/ $_{\circ}$ ).}

# Multigenetic Mouse Melanoma Associated with Melanoma Formation

While the genetically engineered mouse models described above have been useful in identifying the role of individual genes in melanoma initiation, the majority of GEM models have demonstrated that a single mutated gene is insufficient for the formation of advanced melanomas with the ability to metastasize. However, when a number of these genetically modified alleles are combined, the rate of melanoma initiation and progression (invasion with metastatic dissemination) is very frequently increased.

# Multigenic GEM Models of BRAF-Mutated Melanoma

Melanocyte-specific expression of oncogenic BRAF^{V600E} leads to formation of benign nevuslike lesions (Dhomen et al. 2009; Dankort et al. 2009). However, BRAF^{V600E} expression in combination with p16^{Ink4a} silencing (*Tyr::CreER^{T2/o}; Braf^{LoxP-V600E/+}; p16^{Ink4a-/-}*) decreased the latency of melanoma initiation and increased the penetrance, number, and metastatic dissemination of melanomas in the mice (Dhomen et al. 2009). Consistent with these results, silencing of Ink4a/ Arf or Tp53 promoted melanoma progression in two other Braf^{V600E}-driven melanoma models (*Tyr::Braf^{V600E/o}; Cdkn2a^{-/-} & Tyr::Braf^{V600E/o}; Trp53^{-/-}*) (Goel et al. 2009).

Mutational silencing of Pten also strongly potentiates progression of Braf-mutated melanoma. In this case, mice with melanocyte-specific expression of Braf^{V600E} combined with Pten silencing (Tyr::CreER^{T2/o}; Braf^{CA/+}; Pten^{LoxP/} LoxP) displayed rapid onset, fully penetrant primary melanomagenesis with evidence of micrometastases in numerous organs including the lungs and lymph nodes (Dankort et al. 2009). Consistent with its ability to regulate PI3'-lipid signaling in melanocytes, Braf^{V600E} also cooperated with mutationally activated Pik3CA, encoding the catalytic subunit of PI3'-kinase-a (Vredeveld et al. 2012; Marsh Durban et al. 2013; Deuker et al. 2015).

An important role for  $\beta$ -catenin has been discerned in the Braf^{V600E}/Pten^{null} GEM model of melanoma. Silencing of  $\beta$ -catenin (*Tyr:: CreER^{T2/o}; Braf^{CA/+}; Pten^{LoxP/LoxP}; Ctnnb1^{\Deltaex2-6LoxP}*) delayed melanoma formation and inhibited the appearance of lymph node metastases. This result may be explained by previous results showing that melanocyte-specific loss of  $\beta$ -catenin in mice (*Tyr::Cre/; Ctnnb1^{\Deltaex2-6LoxP/\Delta*) resulted in a white coat color that is due to an inhibition of proliferation of melanocytes and}

in consequence a decreased number of melanocytes in the skin of these mice (Luciani et al. 2011). Furthermore, activation of  $\beta$ -catenin in the Braf^{V600E}/Pten^{null} melanocytes (*Tyr::CreER^{T2/o}; Braf^{CA/+}; Pten^{LoxP/LoxP}; Ctnnb1^{Δex3LoxP/Δex3LoxP}*) resulted in a significant increase in melanoma growth and metastasis (Damsky et al. 2011).

Melanocyte-specific silencing of Nf1 combined with Braf^{V600E} expression (*Tyr::CreER^{T2/o}; Braf^{CA/+}; Nf1^{LoxP/LoxP}*) resulted in increased melanoma compared with Braf^{V600E} alone (*Tyr:: CreER^{T2/o}; Braf^{CA/+}*) alone (Maertens et al. 2013). Taken together, these results suggest that oncoproteins such as Braf^{V600E} that promote initial melanocyte proliferation can cooperate with genetic alterations pathways that promote melanoma initiation and which may be involved in the bypass of the senescence-like arrest that restrains the continuous proliferation of Braf^{V600E}-driven benign nevus cells.

Finally, the sleeping beauty transposonmediated mutagenesis has also been used in a Braf^{V600E} context (Mann et al. 2015). This study made use of the sleeping beauty transposase, an enzyme that is capable of excising a transposon from DNA (either plasmid or genomic) and then inserting it into another DNA site with a specific sequence (Dupuy et al. 2009). Transposon insertion would then result in the loss or altered expression of a number of different genes, which could potentially affect tumor formation. Analysis of the different tumors formed in each mouse would potentially identify a different gene implicated in tumor formation. In this study, Cre-mediated activation of the sleeping beauty transposase resulted in the melanocyte-specific disruption in the expression of different genes and allowed for the identification of 1,232 candidate melanoma genes. Specifically, it was shown that CEP350, a protein thought to be involved in the organization, binding and anchoring of microtubules at the centrosome, acts as a tumor suppressor (Mann et al. 2015).

# Multigenic Mouse Models on a Mutant NRAS Background

Mice with melanocyte-specific expression of NRAS^{Q61K} develop melanomas with evidence of metastases, although the time to tumor formation was approximately 1 year (Ackermann et al.

2005). However, expression of NRAS^{Q61K} in combination with Ink4a-Arf silencing (Tyr::  $NRAS^{Q61K/\circ}$ ;  $Cdkn2a^{-/-}$ ) resulted in reduced latency and increased melanoma formation and metastases. Similarly, melanocyte-specific silencing of p16^{Ink4a} combined with Nras^{Q61R} expression (Tyr::  $CreER^{T2/\circ}$ ;  $Nras^{LoxP-Q61R/LoxP-Q61R}$ ;  $Ink4a^{LoxP/LoxP}$ ) also resulted in melanoma, but these tumors did not metastasize (Burd et al. 2014). In the most rigorous analysis of the effects of oncogenic NRAS on melanomagenesis to date, mice with melanocyte-specific expression of either Nras^{G12V} (Nras^{LSL-G12V}) or Nras^{Q61R} (Nras^{LSL-Q61R}) were compared with an Ink4a^{Null} background. Remarkably, whereas Nras^{Q61R}/ Ink4a^{Null} melanocytes progressed to melanoma. Nras^{G12V}/Ink4a^{Null} melanocytes did not. This is perhaps the clearest example of mutation-specific effects of RAS genes on tumorigenesis to date and may also explain the preponderance of NRAS^{Q61X} versus NRAS^{G12X} alterations in human melanoma (Burd et al. 2014).

In addition to Ink4a and/or Arf silencing, mutational inactivation of Pten expression also contributed to melanomagenesis on an NRAS mutant background (Conde-Perez et al. 2015). Mice with both melanocyte-specific expression of NRAS^{Q61K} combined with reduced Pten expression (Tyr::NRAS^{Q61K}; Tyr::Cre/ $^{\circ}$ ; Pten^{LoxP/+}) showed that diminished Pten expression accelerated melanomagenesis in conjunction with oncogenic NRAS. Furthermore, when melanocytes with one functional copy of Pten (i.e., Tyr:: Cre/°; Pten^{LoxP/+}) were isolated, they displayed low efficiency (~25%) of establishment of immortalized cell lines. However, Pten-deficient melanocytes were completely established in culture as immortalized cell lines very efficiently, thereby suggesting that Pten silencing was a contributing factor in the bypass of senescence required for the immortalization of melanocytes in cell culture.

β-catenin has also been shown to promote melanomagenesis in the context of oncogenic NRAS. While *Tyr::βcat** mice alone did not form tumors, mice with combined expression of NRAS^{Q61K} and activated β-catenin (*Tyr:: NRAS^{Q61K/o}; Tyr::βcat**/°) developed melanomas with shorter latency and higher penetrance than mice with NRAS^{Q61K} expression alone. Mechanistically,  $\beta$ -catenin repressed *Ink4a* transcription in these tumors, which resulted in the bypass of senescence. The presence of the oncogenic form of  $\beta$ -catenin also promoted the formation of lung metastases. These results revealed the association of induction of proliferation (NRAS^{Q61K}) with the bypass of senescence in these mice (Delmas et al. 2007).

Finally, melanocyte-specific overexpression of Mdm4 in mice with melanocyte-specific expression of oncogenic NRAS^{Q61K} (Tyr::NRAS^{Q61K/o}; Tyr::Cre/°; Mdm4 ^{LoxP/o}) resulted in increased melanoma tumor formation in comparison to mice without the overexpressed Mdm4 (Tyr:: NRAS^{Q61K/o}; Tyr::Cre/°). This study also showed that MDM4 protein levels were increased in human melanomas compared to normal melanocytes and benign nevi, which would suggest that while the *TP53* gene may be mutated in melanoma at low frequency, the TP53 pathway may still be inactivated by other means during melanomagenesis.

Constitutive expression of an oncogenic form of Nras in mouse melanocytes represents only partially the situation in humans. Several mouse models were generated including the iNras melanoma model based on the Tet-On system in which Nras activated form is produced in melanocytes after doxycycline induction on a Cdkn2a-null background. iNras mice produce melanoma in 17 weeks with a 50% penetrance (Kwong et al. 2012).

#### Other Multigenic Mouse Models

While most multigenic mouse models of melanoma are built on a platform of mutationally activated Nras or Braf, a number of studies have been performed using other oncoprotein drivers of melanocyte proliferation. For example, p16^{Ink4a} melanocyte-specific silencing of cooperated with expression of Kras^{G12D} (Tyr::  $CreER^{T2/\circ}$ ;  $Kras^{LoxP-G12D/+}$ ;  $Ink4a^{LoxP/LoxP}$ ) to promote melanomagenesis, although no metastases were observed in this model (Monahan et al. 2010). In this study, the importance of the oncogenic Kras in promoting melanomagenesis was demonstrated by the fact that mice with

melanocyte-specific silencing of p16^{Ink4a} and TP53 ( $Tyr::CreER^{T2/\circ}$ ;  $p16^{LoxP/LoxP}$ ;  $p53^{LoxP/}$ LoxP) did not form melanoma. When both alleles of the Cdkn2a gene were deleted in Tyr::  $HRAS^{G12V}$  mice (Tyr:: $HRAS^{G12V}$ /°; Cdkn2a^{-/-}), melanomagenesis, but not metastasis, was significantly increased compared to mice with an intact *Cdkn2a* locus (Tyr::HRAS^{G12V/ $\circ$}; Cdkn2a^{+/-} Chin et al. 1997). The importance of oncogenic HRAS in the context of Cdkn2a null mice was further demonstrated using a doxycyclineinducible HRAS^{G12V} mouse model (i.e., Tyr/Tet-RAS; Chin et al. 1999). In these mice, induced expression of HRAS^{G12V} combined with Cdkn2a deletion resulted in melanomagenesis. Furthermore, doxycycline withdrawal from  $HRAS^{\rm G12V}\!/$ Ink4a-Arf^{null} melanoma-bearing mice resulted in dramatic regression of pre-existing melanomas. Furthermore, re-administration of doxycycline resulted in prompt melanoma recurrence at the original primary sites.

In another study, mice with melanocytespecific HRAS^{G12V} expression combined with ubiquitous expression of Cdk4^{R24C} (*Tyr:: HRAS^{G12V}; Cdk4^{R24C/R24C}*) developed melanoma more frequently than Cdk4^{R24C/R24C} mice alone (Hacker et al. 2006). At this point, the cooperation was not studied at the cellular level.

Finally, the Ret melanoma model has been used to show that the endothelin receptor B (EdnrB), which plays an important role in the development of neural crest cells (including melanocytes), can also contribute to melanomagenesis (Kumasaka et al. 2010). Specifically, when melanomas emerged in the Mt::Ret mice, it was observed that the expression of EdnrB was decreased in malignant compared to benign tumors. To examine the role of EdnrB in tumor progression in the Mt::Ret model more carefully, mice were engineered to express RET but with reduced EdnrB expression (*Mt::Ret; EdnrB*^{+/-}). These mice directly developed metastatic melanoma without displaying an evolution from a nevus-like phenotype. Moreover, these mice displayed evidence of lung metastases. While this model might be useful for studying de novo melanomagenesis, the lack of increased RET signaling in human melanoma may reduce the clinical relevance of this model.

### **Cell Non-autonomous Models**

# Cell Non-autonomous Models Associated with the Microenvironment

While studying melanocyte-specific gene mutations and their effect on melanomagenesis is of paramount importance, it must be remembered that, in vivo, melanocytes in the epidermis make contacts with neighboring keratinocytes. In this regard, it may be possible that alterations (e.g., mutations and/or alterations in expression of various genes) within keratinocytes may, in certain contexts, promote melanomagenesis. The first indication of this was from work in mice with keratinocyte-specific silencing of the retinoic acid receptor Rxra as well as the Taf4 subunit of TFIID, a general transcription factor. In these mice, DMBA and TPA treatment led not only to papilloma formation but also to the formation of nevi and invasive dermal melanoma tumors (Indra et al. 2007). This cell non-autonomous melanoma formation, which occurred in response to genetic changes in the neighboring keratinocytes, reinforces the fact that environmental cues from keratinocytes (e.g.,  $\alpha$ -MSH) can trigger melanocyte hyperproliferation and/or oncogenic transformation.

# Cell Non-autonomous Models Associated with the Environment

Different treatments have been used with different genetically engineered mouse models to induce melanomagenesis: including treatment with DMBA with or without TPA and UV irradiation.

Administration of DMBA to mice with melanocyte-specific oncogenic HRAS^{G12V} resulted in malignant melanoma development (Powell et al. 1995; Gause et al. 1997), which then metastasized to the lungs and the lymph nodes (Gause et al. 1997). Mice lacking p16^{Ink4a} expression are not melanoma-prone; however treatment of these mice with DMBA induced melanoma with evidence of metastases (Krimpenfort et al. 2001). Furthermore, combination treatment

of mice with ubiquitous expression of Cdk4^{R24C} with DMBA and TPA induced nevus formation, which eventually progressed to melanoma (Sotillo et al. 2001).

The *Mt::Hgf* model has been particularly useful for determining the role of UV irradiation in melanoma. In one study, a single dose of UV radiation of neonates was both necessary and sufficient to induce melanoma (Noonan et al. 2001; Wolnicka-Glubisz and Noonan 2006). This model was also used to demonstrate that it is UVB irradiation, and not UVA, that promotes melanoma initiation in this model (De Fabo et al. 2004). UV irradiation of Tyr::HRAS^{G12V}; Cdk4^{R24C/R24C} mice increased tumor development (compared to non-irradiated mice) and resulted in lymph node metastases (Hacker et al. 2006).

The Braf mouse melanoma model was used to evaluate that the single dose of UVR that mimicked mild sunburn in humans induced clonal expansion of the melanocytes, and repeated doses of UVR increased melanoma burden. A large proportion of UVR tumors exhibited Trp53 mutations, and mutant Trp53 accelerated melanoma initiation on a Braf^{V600E} background (Viros et al. 2014).

# **Other Mammalian Melanoma Models**

# **Canine Melanoma Models**

Dogs are now viewed as potentially useful models of human melanoma and can be used in treatment studies. Unlike in mice, malignant melanoma occurs spontaneously in domestic dogs and is relatively common, compared to other animals. In this regard, canine models of melanoma are useful for studying the human disease, since they are heterogeneous and since both tumor formation and metastasis occur spontaneously in immunocompetent animals. In dogs, the most frequent type of melanoma is of mucosal origin, which typically originates in the oral cavity. This type of canine melanoma is highly aggressive and metastasizes rapidly to numerous sites including the lungs and the lymph nodes (for review see van der Weyden et al. 2016). Other types of melanomas, including cutaneous (occurring in the hairy skin), acral (occurring in the footpad and nails), and uveal (occurring in the eye), also occur in dogs but are less frequent. Importantly, it must be noted that canine cutaneous melanomas are usually benign, which is in contrast to human cutaneous melanomas, which are invariably malignant.

Following the completion of the canine genome project, it was noted that human and dog nucleic acid and protein sequences are more similar to one another than are mouse and human sequences, further supporting the utility of the dog melanoma model in studying the human disease (Lindblad-Toh et al. 2005). However, some differences exist between the human and dog diseases. As mentioned above, the primary disease subtype in humans is cutaneous melanoma, whereas in dogs, it is mucosal melanoma. As such, exposure to UV is not a risk factor in mucosal melanoma in dogs, whereas it is a factor in cutaneous melanoma in humans. This observation appears intuitive since dogs are protected against UV by their fur. As with human melanomas, mutational activation of genes encoding BRAF, NRAS, PTEN, and KIT have all been observed in canine melanomas, albeit to differing extents than the human disease (van der Weyden et al. 2016). Nonetheless, as with human melanoma, multiple signaling pathways (e.g., MAPK, PI3K, WNT) are involved in and responsible for canine mucosal and cutaneous melanomas.

One study looking at over 2,000 dogs with melanoma showed that certain dog breeds, including Labradors, Rottweilers, and Dobermans, developed melanoma more frequently than other breeds. Furthermore, melanomas were more frequent among dogs with black coats, compared to those with white coats (Gillard et al. 2014). This finding is somewhat in disagreement with the occurrence of melanoma in humans, where lightskinned individuals are more likely to develop melanoma than those who are dark-skinned, although this is a comparison made between mucosal and cutaneous melanomas. This may suggest that the genetic predisposition for these two types of melanoma is different.

Typical treatments for mucosal melanoma in dogs include surgical resection and ionizing radiation of the primary tumor. In addition, other therapies such as chemotherapy (e.g., carboplatin or cisplatin) and immunotherapy (e.g., allogeneic cancer vaccines expressing interleukin-2) have also been employed (van der Weyden et al. 2016). Similar to humans, melanoma metastases in dogs are difficult to treat. While immunotherapy has been tested as a potential therapeutic avenue, these trials have shown limited success (van der Weyden et al. 2016). Clinical trials in canines provide the ability for researchers and veterinarians to assess the effects of a particular therapy in a shorter time frame (due to the shorter lifespan of dogs) compared to humans, while assessing the effects on a complex and heterogeneous animal population, which spontaneously forms melanoma and metastases.

# **Equine Melanoma Models**

As in dogs, spontaneous melanomas also occur in horses. There are five types of melanocytic lesions that have been characterized in horses, which can be considered as cutaneous melanomas:

- Melanocytoma, melanocytic nevi sometimes resembling human nevi that occur primarily on the legs, body, and neck of horses of any coat color.
- (ii) Dermal melanoma, which typically occur in gray horses, are characterized as discrete tumors/nodules with a low propensity to metastasize that typically develop in the anal, perianal, and genital regions as well as in the perineum, lips, and eyelids and under the tail root.
- (iii) Dermal melanomatoses are usually characterized as multifocal dermal lesions, which are typically found in the genital or perianal regions. These tumors arise in white and gray horses, and they can eventually become malignant.
- (iv) Anaplastic malignant melanoma occurs in all horses, but the risk is higher for non-gray horses.

 (v) Besides cutaneous and mucosal melanomas, ocular melanomas may occur in horses with a very low frequency (Valentine 1995).

Unlike humans, exposure to UV irradiation is not considered to be a risk factor for melanoma in horses. The disease is however associated with the age-related development of a gray hair coat color, which is caused by a germline intronic duplication in the *STX17* gene, which encodes syntaxin 17. This mutation leads to the constitutive activation of the ERK1/2 MAPK pathway in the melanocytes of the gray horses. As such, this observation further emphasizes the importance of the ERK1/2 MAPK pathway in melanoma, regardless of the species. The bypass of senescence would be favored with age with an unknown mechanism that could be associated with sFRP2 and  $\beta$ -catenin (Delmas et al. 2007; Kaur et al. 2016).

Horses with mutation in the agouti signaling protein gene (ASIP) have increased propensity to develop melanoma, thereby pointing to a role for the melanocortin-1 receptor pathway in the development of equine melanoma (Rosengren Pielberg et al. 2008). Horse melanoma cell lines were established from primary and metastatic tumors, and all of them lacked TP53 expression. However equine melanoma cell lines established from metastases lacked both P16^{INK4A} and PTEN expression (Seltenhammer et al. 2014). Horse melanomas present molecular characteristics similar to humans; therefore a better understanding of their genetics and epigenetics may be useful to discover novel genes and pathways involved in horse melanomagenesis with potential implications for the treatment of the human disease.

# **Swine Melanoma Models**

In pigs, cutaneous melanoma occurs spontaneously around birth but frequently regresses (Baco et al. 2014). Such regression occurs in humans with melanoma and was thought to reflect the patient's immune system gaining the upper hand over the melanoma and therefore spurred research in melanoma immunotherapy. Comparative genomic analyses have demonstrated that the pig and human genomes are very similar. In addition, the skin of humans and pigs is similar with their melanocytes mainly located in the basal layer of the epidermis. The postnatal onset, the lack of contribution of an obvious mutagen, and the practicalities of research in porcine models aside, such similarities could be exploited to discover novel molecular players and therapies (Rambow et al. 2008).

Three breeds of pigs develop melanoma spontaneously and have been used to study melanoma: Sinclair, Munich Troll, and MeLiM (melanoblastoma-bearing Libechov Minipig). The phylogenetics of these three breeds remains unknown, but it does not mean that these breeds are unrelated. More than any other animal model, porcine melanomas have been essential for gaining a better understanding of the natural history of the spontaneous melanoma regression with a complete tumor regression rate of 90%. Regression of the primary melanoma is characterized by the flattening, drying, and loss of pigmentation of the tumors (Vincent-Naulleau et al. 2004). Largescale analyses of these various cases may be informative to decipher the mechanism(s) responsible for these phenomena.

# Nonmammalian Melanoma Models

While all of the abovementioned melanoma animal models involve mammals, nonmammalian models also exist and have played important roles in the understanding of the disease. More specifically, various species of fish have been used to study melanomagenesis and have been successful in identifying important factors that regulate disease initiation and progression.

Work using the swordtail fish *Xiphophorus* has shown that these fish can develop melanoma. More specifically, when different *Xiphophorus* species (*Xiphophorus maculatus*, which is a pigmented platyfish, and *Xiphophorus hellerii*, which is a nonpigmented swordtail fish) were mated, the resulting hybrid offspring developed melanoma. These melanomas were shown to result from the aberrant expression of Xmrk, which is the *Xiphophorus* ortholog of EGF receptor (Wittbrodt et al. 1989). This tyrosine kinase receptor was able to promote melanophore proliferation, protect against apoptosis, and induce migration (Wellbrock et al. 2002). Reintroduction of the Xmrk gene into medaka (*Oryzias latipes*), another fish species, resulted in the formation of melanoma, confirming the role of Xmrk in the initiation of melanomagenesis in fish (Winnemoeller et al. 2005).

Genetically engineered zebrafish have provided an excellent tool for researchers to perform in vivo imaging experiments as well as large-scale chemical screens and genetic analyses to identify important molecular players and potential therapeutic targets for treatment of melanoma. Overall, the zebrafish and human genomes show approximately 70% similarity, and orthologs of an estimated 80% of human disease-associated genes have been identified in zebrafish (Howe et al. 2013).

Despite the emphasis on GEM models of melanoma, the first model of BRAF^{V600E}-driven melanoma was developed in zebrafish (Patton et al. 2005). In this study, zebrafish expressing oncogenic BRAF^{V600E} under the control of the MITF promoter formed nevi. In addition, BRAF^{V600E} expression was combined with TP53 silencing (*Mitf::BRAF^{V600E}; Trp53^{-/-}*); melanoma formation was increased compared to BRAF^{V600E} expressing fish alone. The involvement of somatic gain-of-function mutations in *BRAF* has since been confirmed in mice and observed in dogs, thus demonstrating the utility and relevance of the zebrafish model for the better understanding of human melanoma.

Genetically engineered zebrafish have been useful in identifying other genes that are potentially involved in promoting melanomagenesis. More specifically, in one study, a list of several genes that were overexpressed in a set of human melanoma cell lines and tumor cultures was compiled, and each gene was co-expressed in the *Mitf::BRAF^{V600E}; Trp53^{-/-}* fish. In doing so, a number of genes that accelerate melanoma progression were identified (Ceol et al. 2011), many of which are also implicated or upregulated in human melanoma.

In addition to mutant  $BRAF^{V600E}$ , zebrafish models expressing mutant oncogenic  $NRAS^{Q61K}$ 

have also been generated, which by itself resulted in hyperpigmentation of the fish (Dovey et al. 2009). When NRAS^{Q61K} was expressed in TP53^{null} zebrafish, melanomagenesis was again increased. These melanomas were invasive and could be transplanted into other zebrafish that were previously irradiated. Importantly, these tumors overexpressed a number of genes that are typically upregulated in human melanoma (Subramanian et al. 2005).

Genetically modified zebrafish have also been useful in demonstrating the role of the transcription factor MITF in melanomagenesis. MITF is a master regulator transcription factor in the melanocyte lineage and is responsible for the regulated expression of many genes essential for appropriate melanocyte development, migration, and function, including those genes that are involved in the production of melanin. In one study using a transgenic zebrafish model containing a temperature-sensitive MITF allele (mitfa^{vc7}), it was shown that while  $Mitf::BRAF^{V600E}$ ;  $mitfa^{vc7}$ zebrafish did not form melanoma at the non-permissive temperature (due to a loss of MITF activity resulting from a splicing defect and lack of melanocytes), the same fish formed melanomas at the permissive temperature. These tumors appeared to be less differentiated than tumors from *Mitf::BRAF^{V600E}; Trp53^{-/-}* fish, as they had lower levels of the melanocyte markers DCT and TYR but higher levels of the oncogenic signaling protein c-MET. This result showed that mutated MITF. together with oncogenic BRAF^{V600E}, were sufficient for melanomagenesis in zebrafish. More impressively, when the fish at the permissive temperature were shifted to the non-permissive temperature, there was a regression of the melanoma tumors. Finally, the melanoma tumors recurred when the fish were shifted back to the permissive temperature (Lister et al. 2014). Thus, this study clearly demonstrated the necessity of MITF in maintaining melanoma tumors, at least in the context of  $BRAF^{V600E}$ mutations.

Zebrafish can also be used for transplantation experiments, where human melanoma cells can be transplanted into either the early embryos, the larvae, or the adult animals. Melanoma cell lines transplanted into the early embryos prior to gastrulation have been useful in identifying important signaling pathways, since the transplanted cells may alter the development of the embryos. Transplantation into the larvae can result in melanoma lesions within several days. Since the larvae are transparent, these types of experiments would allow for the visualization, under the microscope, of tumor-induced vascularization and metastatic spread. Coupling these types of experiments with zebrafish that contain fluorescently tagged vasculature would allow for the live visualization of angiogenesis and/or lymphoangiogenesis. Melanoma cells themselves that are fluorescently labeled can also be visualized in the embryos and larvae. This type of live visualization may be useful in discovering how different tumor cells behave and interact with one another in vivo during angiogenesis or invasion. Transplantation of melanoma cells in adult zebrafish is also useful; however, the issue of immune suppression must be addressed (potentially by gamma irradiation prior to transplantation). These transplantation experiments are useful for examining the tumorigenic and metastatic potential of various cells of interest (van der Weyden et al. 2016).

# Conclusion

While experiments done in cell culture and in vitro provide valuable information regarding the processes that regulate melanomagenesis, they are limited in their applicability to human melanoma due to their artificial nature. Therefore, animal models are essential in helping to gain a more relevant biological understanding of the molecular alterations that affect the different biological processes that lead to melanomagenesis. All of the animal models listed in this chapter have their advantages and disadvantages regarding the ease and availability of use and their relevance to human melanoma. Collectively, these models have helped in identifying and confirming a number of genes and proteins that are implicated in the initiation and progression of melanoma (e.g. BRAF, NRAS, P16^{INK4A},  $\beta$ -catenin, PTEN, and TP53). It is this collectivity that is essential for the work on understanding and treating this disease. Each model makes important contributions and the findings from each help to advance the field as a whole.

As molecular biological techniques continue to improve and more options become available for use in animal models, our understanding of the molecular and physiological events that contribute to melanomagenesis will only increase. This will also allow for a more comprehensive strategy for the design and melanoma-specific targeting of various therapeutic compounds/agents, with the eventual goal of more effective treatments for melanoma patients.

### References

- Abel EL, Angel JM, Kiguchi K, DiGiovanni J (2009) Multi-stage chemical carcinogenesis in mouse skin: fundamentals and applications. Nat Protoc 4(9): 1350–1362. https://doi.org/10.1038/nprot.2009.120
- Ackermann J, Frutschi M, Kaloulis K, McKee T, Trumpp A, Beermann F (2005) Metastasizing melanoma formation caused by expression of activated N-RasQ61K on an INK4a-deficient background. Cancer Res 65(10):4005–4011
- Agrotis A, Ketteler R (2015) A new age in functional genomics using CRISPR/Cas9 in arrayed library screening. Front Genet 6:300. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fgene.2015.00300
- Aktary Z, Bertrand JU, Larue L (2016) The WNT-less wonder: WNT-independent beta-catenin signaling. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res. https://doi.org/10.1111/ pcmr.12501
- Alizadeh A, Fitch KR, Niswender CM, McKnight GS, Barsh GS (2008) Melanocyte-lineage expression of Cre recombinase using Mitf regulatory elements. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res 21(1):63–69. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/j.1755-148X.2007.00425.x
- An P, Saenz Robles MT, Pipas JM (2012) Large T antigens of polyomaviruses: amazing molecular machines. Annu Rev Microbiol 66:213–236. https://doi.org/ 10.1146/annurev-micro-092611-150154
- Aoki H, Tomita H, Hara A, Kunisada T (2015) Conditional deletion of kit in melanocytes: white spotting phenotype is cell autonomous. J Invest Dermatol 135(7): 1829–1838. https://doi.org/10.1038/jid.2015.83
- Aydin IT, Beermann F (2011) A mart-1::Cre transgenic line induces recombination in melanocytes and retinal pigment epithelium. Genesis 49(5):403–409. https://doi. org/10.1002/dvg.20725
- Baco M, Chu CY, Bouet S, Rogel-Gaillard C, Bourneuf E, Le Provost F, Chu CY, Vincent-Naulleau S (2014)

Analysis of melanoma-related microRNAs expression during the spontaneous regression of cutaneous melanomas in MeLiM pigs. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res 27(4):668–670. https://doi.org/10.1111/pcmr.12243

- Benamar M, Guessous F, Du K, Corbett P, Obeid J, Gioeli D, Slingluff CL Jr, Abbas T (2016) Inactivation of the CRL4-CDT2-SET8/p21 ubiquitylation and degradation axis underlies the therapeutic efficacy of pevonedistat in melanoma. EBioMedicine. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ebiom.2016.06.023
- Bennett DC (2016) Genetics of melanoma progression: the rise and fall of cell senescence. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res 29(2):122–140. https://doi.org/10.1111/ pcmr.12422
- Bockamp E, Sprengel R, Eshkind L, Lehmann T, Braun JM, Emmrich F, Hengstler JG (2008) Conditional transgenic mouse models: from the basics to genome-wide sets of knockouts and current studies of tissue regeneration. Regen Med 3(2):217–235. https:// doi.org/10.2217/17460751.3.2.217
- Bosenberg M, Muthusamy V, Curley DP, Wang Z, Hobbs C, Nelson B, Nogueira C, Horner JW 2nd, Depinho R, Chin L (2006) Characterization of melanocyte-specific inducible Cre recombinase transgenic mice. Genesis 44(5):262–267. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/dvg.20205
- Bossi D, Cicalese A, Dellino GI, Luzi L, Riva L, D'Alesio C, Diaferia GR, Carugo A, Cavallaro E, Piccioni R, Barberis M, Mazzarol G, Testori A, Punzi S, Pallavicini I, Tosti G, Giaco L, Melloni G, Heffernan TP, Natoli G, Draetta GF, Minucci S, Pelicci P, Lanfrancone L (2016) In vivo genetic screens of patient-derived tumors revealed unexpected frailty of the transformed phenotype. Cancer Discov 6(6):650–663. https://doi.org/10.1158/2159-8290.CD-15-1200
- Bradl M, Larue L, Mintz B (1991) Clonal coat color variation due to a transforming gene expressed in melanocytes of transgenic mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 88(15):6447–6451
- Brault V, Moore R, Kutsch S, Ishibashi M, Rowitch DH, McMahon AP, Sommer L, Boussadia O, Kemler R (2001) Inactivation of the beta-catenin gene by Wntl-Cre-mediated deletion results in dramatic brain malformation and failure of craniofacial development. Development 128(8):1253–1264
- Burd CE, Liu W, Huynh MV, Waqas MA, Gillahan JE, Clark KS, Fu K, Martin BL, Jeck WR, Souroullas GP, Darr DB, Zedek DC, Miley MJ, Baguley BC, Campbell SL, Sharpless NE (2014) Mutation-specific RAS oncogenicity explains NRAS codon 61 selection in melanoma. Cancer Discov 4(12):1418–1429. https:// doi.org/10.1158/2159-8290.CD-14-0729
- Cancer Genome Atlas Network, Electronic address IMO, Cancer Genome Atlas Network (2015) Genomic classification of cutaneous melanoma. Cell 161(7): 1681–1696. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2015.05.044
- Ceol CJ, Houvras Y, Jane-Valbuena J, Bilodeau S, Orlando DA, Battisti V, Fritsch L, Lin WM,

Hollmann TJ, Ferre F, Bourque C, Burke CJ, Turner L, Uong A, Johnson LA, Beroukhim R, Mermel CH, Loda M, Ait-Si-Ali S, Garraway LA, Young RA, Zon LI (2011) The histone methyltransferase SETDB1 is recurrently amplified in melanoma and accelerates its onset. Nature 471(7339): 513–517. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature09806

- Charbel C, Fontaine RH, Malouf GG, Picard A, Kadlub N, El-Murr N, How-Kit A, Su X, Coulomb-L'Hermine A, Tost J, Mourah S, Aractingi S, Guegan S (2014) NRAS mutation is the sole recurrent somatic mutation in large congenital melanocytic nevi. J Invest Dermatol 134(4):1067–1074. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/jid.2013.429
- Chin L, Pomerantz J, Polsky D, Jacobson M, Cohen C, Cordon-Cardo C, Horner JW 2nd, DePinho RA (1997) Cooperative effects of INK4a and ras in melanoma susceptibility in vivo. Genes Dev 11(21):2822–2834
- Chin L, Tam A, Pomerantz J, Wong M, Holash J, Bardeesy N, Shen Q, O'Hagan R, Pantginis J, Zhou H, Horner JW 2nd, Cordon-Cardo C, Yancopoulos GD, DePinho RA (1999) Essential role for oncogenic Ras in tumour maintenance. Nature 400(6743):468–472. https://doi.org/10.1038/22788
- Colombo S, Kumasaka M, Lobe C, Larue L (2010) Genomic localization of the Z/EG transgene in the mouse genome. Genesis 48(2):96–100. https://doi.org/10.100 2/dvg.20585
- Conde-Perez A, Gros G, Longvert C, Pedersen M, Petit V, Aktary Z, Viros A, Gesbert F, Delmas V, Rambow F, Bastian BC, Campbell AD, Colombo S, Puig I, Bellacosa A, Sansom O, Marais R, Van Kempen LC, Larue L (2015) A caveolin-dependent and PI3K/AKTindependent role of PTEN in beta-catenin transcriptional activity. Nat Commun 6:8093. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/ncomms9093
- Damsky WE, Curley DP, Santhanakrishnan M, Rosenbaum LE, Platt JT, Gould Rothberg BE, Taketo MM, Dankort D, Rimm DL, McMahon M, Bosenberg M (2011) Beta-catenin signaling controls metastasis in Braf-activated Pten-deficient melanomas. Cancer Cell 20(6):741–754. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ccr.2011.10.030
- Dankort D, Filenova E, Collado M, Serrano M, Jones K, McMahon M (2007) A new mouse model to explore the initiation, progression, and therapy of BRAFV600E-induced lung tumors. Genes Dev 21(4): 379–384. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.1516407
- Dankort D, Curley DP, Cartlidge RA, Nelson B, Karnezis AN, Damsky WE Jr, You MJ, DePinho RA, McMahon M, Bosenberg M (2009) Braf(V600E) cooperates with Pten loss to induce metastatic melanoma. Nat Genet 41(5):544–552. ng.356 [pii]. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/ng.356
- Davies H, Bignell GR, Cox C, Stephens P, Edkins S, Clegg S, Teague J, Woffendin H, Garnett MJ, Bottomley W, Davis N, Dicks E, Ewing R, Floyd Y, Gray K, Hall S, Hawes R, Hughes J, Kosmidou V, Menzies A, Mould C, Parker A, Stevens C, Watt S,

Hooper S, Wilson R, Jayatilake H, Gusterson BA, Cooper C, Shipley J, Hargrave D, Pritchard-Jones K, Maitland N, Chenevix-Trench G, Riggins GJ, Bigner DD, Palmieri G, Cossu A, Flanagan A, Nicholson A, Ho JW, Leung SY, Yuen ST, Weber BL, Seigler HF, Darrow TL, Paterson H, Marais R, Marshall CJ, Wooster R, Stratton MR, Futreal PA (2002) Mutations of the BRAF gene in human cancer. Nature 417(6892):949–954

- De Fabo EC, Noonan FP, Fears T, Merlino G (2004) Ultraviolet B but not ultraviolet A radiation initiates melanoma. Cancer Res 64(18):6372–6376. https://doi. org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-04-1454
- Delmas V, Martinozzi S, Bourgeois Y, Holzenberger M, Larue L (2003) Cre-mediated recombination in the skin melanocyte lineage. Genesis 36(2):73–80
- Delmas V, Beermann F, Martinozzi S, Carreira S, Ackermann J, Kumasaka M, Denat L, Goodall J, Luciani F, Viros A, Demirkan N, Bastian BC, Goding CR, Larue L (2007) Beta-catenin induces immortalization of melanocytes by suppressing p16INK4a expression and cooperates with N-Ras in melanoma development. Genes Dev 21(22): 2923–2935. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.450107
- Deuker MM, Marsh Durban V, Phillips WA, McMahon M (2015) PI3'-kinase inhibition forestalls the onset of MEK1/2 inhibitor resistance in BRAF-mutated melanoma. Cancer Discov 5(2):143–153. https://doi.org/ 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-14-0856
- Dhomen N, Reis-Filho JS, da Rocha DS, Hayward R, Savage K, Delmas V, Larue L, Pritchard C, Marais R (2009) Oncogenic Braf induces melanocyte senescence and melanoma in mice. Cancer Cell 15(4):294–303. S1535-6108(09)00074-9 [pii]. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.ccr.2009.02.022
- Dhomen N, Da Rocha Dias S, Hayward R, Ogilvie L, Hedley D, Delmas V, McCarthy A, Henderson D, Springer CJ, Pritchard C, Larue L, Marais R (2010) Inducible expression of (V600E) Braf using tyrosinasedriven Cre recombinase results in embryonic lethality. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res 23(1):112–120. PCR662 [pii]. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1755-148X. 2009.00662.x
- Dovey M, White RM, Zon LI (2009) Oncogenic NRAS cooperates with p53 loss to generate melanoma in zebrafish. Zebrafish 6(4):397–404. https://doi.org/ 10.1089/zeb.2009.0606
- Dupuy AJ, Rogers LM, Kim J, Nannapaneni K, Starr TK, Liu P, Largaespada DA, Scheetz TE, Jenkins NA, Copeland NG (2009) A modified sleeping beauty transposon system that can be used to model a wide variety of human cancers in mice. Cancer Res 69(20):8150–8156. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-1135
- Easty DJ, Gray SG, O'Byrne KJ, O'Donnell D, Bennett DC (2011) Receptor tyrosine kinases and their activation in melanoma. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res 24(3):446–461. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1755-148 X.2011.00836.x

- Einarsdottir BO, Bagge RO, Bhadury J, Jespersen H, Mattsson J, Nilsson LM, Truve K, Lopez MD, Naredi P, Nilsson O, Stierner U, Ny L, Nilsson JA (2014) Melanoma patient-derived xenografts accurately model the disease and develop fast enough to guide treatment decisions. Oncotarget 5(20): 9609–9618. https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.2445
- Eischen CM (2016) Genome stability requires p53. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med 6(6):a026096. https://doi. org/10.1101/cshperspect.a026096
- Fadloun A, Kobi D, Pointud J-C et al (2007) The TFIID subunit TAF4 regulates keratinocyte proliferation and has cell-autonomous and non-cell-autonomous tumour suppressor activity in mouse epidermis. Development 134:2947–2958. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.005041
- Feil R, Wagner J, Metzger D, Chambon P (1997) Regulation of Cre recombinase activity by mutated estrogen receptor ligand-binding domains. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 237(3):752–757. https://doi.org/10.100 6/bbrc.1997.7124
- Feng X, Degese MS, Iglesias-Bartolome R et al (2014) Hippo-independent activation of YAP by the GNAQ uveal melanoma oncogene through a trio-regulated rho GTPase signaling circuitry. Cancer Cell 25:831–845. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccr.2014.04.016
- Fernandez-Medarde A, Santos E (2011) Ras in cancer and developmental diseases. Genes Cancer 2(3):344–358. https://doi.org/10.1177/1947601911411084
- Gallagher SJ, Rambow F, Kumasaka M, Champeval D, Bellacosa A, Delmas V, Larue L (2013) Beta-catenin inhibits melanocyte migration but induces melanoma metastasis. Oncogene 32(17):2230–2238. https://doi. org/10.1038/onc.2012.229
- Gause PR, Lluria-Prevatt M, Keith WN, Balmain A, Linardopolous S, Warneke J, Powell MB (1997) Chromosomal and genetic alterations of 7,12-dimethylbenz [a]anthracene-induced melanoma from TP-ras transgenic mice. Mol Carcinog 20(1):78–87
- Gembarska A, Luciani F, Fedele C, Russell EA, Dewaele M, Villar S, Zwolinska A, Haupt S, de Lange J, Yip D, Goydos J, Haigh JJ, Haupt Y, Larue L, Jochemsen A, Shi H, Moriceau G, Lo RS, Ghanem G, Shackleton M, Bernal F, Marine JC (2012) MDM4 is a key therapeutic target in cutaneous melanoma. Nat Med 18(8):1239–1247. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/nm.2863
- Gillard M, Cadieu E, De Brito C, Abadie J, Vergier B, Devauchelle P, Degorce F, Dreano S, Primot A, Dorso L, Lagadic M, Galibert F, Hedan B, Galibert MD, Andre C (2014) Naturally occurring melanomas in dogs as models for non-UV pathways of human melanomas. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res 27(1): 90–102. https://doi.org/10.1111/pcmr.12170
- Goel VK, Ibrahim N, Jiang G, Singhal M, Fee S, Flotte T, Westmoreland S, Haluska FS, Hinds PW, Haluska FG (2009) Melanocytic nevus-like hyperplasia and melanoma in transgenic BRAFV600E mice. Oncogene 28(23):2289–2298. https://doi.org/10.1038/onc. 2009.95

- Hacker E, Muller HK, Irwin N, Gabrielli B, Lincoln D, Pavey S, Powell MB, Malumbres M, Barbacid M, Hayward N, Walker G (2006) Spontaneous and UV radiation-induced multiple metastatic melanomas in Cdk4R24C/R24C/TPras mice. Cancer Res 66(6): 2946–2952. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-05-3196
- Harada N, Tamai Y, Ishikawa T, Sauer B, Takaku K, Oshima M, Taketo MM (1999) Intestinal polyposis in mice with a dominant stable mutation of the betacatenin gene. EMBO J 18(21):5931–5942
- Hirobe T, Osawa M, Nishikawa S (2004) Hepatocyte growth factor controls the proliferation of cultured epidermal melanoblasts and melanocytes from newborn mice. Pigment Cell Res 17(1):51–61
- Howe K, Clark MD, Torroja CF, Torrance J, Berthelot C, Muffato M, Collins JE, Humphray S, McLaren K, Matthews L, McLaren S, Sealy I, Caccamo M, Churcher C, Scott C, Barrett JC, Koch R, Rauch GJ, White S, Chow W, Kilian B, Quintais LT, Guerra-Assuncao JA, Zhou Y, Gu Y, Yen J, Vogel JH, Eyre T, Redmond S, Banerjee R, Chi J, Fu B, Langley E, Maguire SF, Laird GK, Lloyd D, Kenyon E, Donaldson S, Sehra H, Almeida-King J, Loveland J, Trevanion S, Jones M, Quail M, Willey D, Hunt A, Burton J. Sims S. McLav K. Plumb B. Davis J. Clee C. Oliver K, Clark R, Riddle C, Elliot D, Threadgold G, Harden G, Ware D, Begum S, Mortimore B, Kerry G, Heath P, Phillimore B, Tracey A, Corby N, Dunn M, Johnson C, Wood J, Clark S, Pelan S, Griffiths G, Smith M, Glithero R, Howden P, Barker N, Lloyd C, Stevens C, Harley J, Holt K, Panagiotidis G, Lovell J, Beasley H, Henderson C, Gordon D, Auger K, Wright D, Collins J, Raisen C, Dyer L, Leung K, Robertson L, Ambridge K, Leongamornlert D, Gilderthorp McGuire S, R, Griffiths С, Manthravadi D, Nichol S, Barker G, Whitehead S, Kay M, Brown J, Murnane C, Gray E, Humphries M, Sycamore N, Barker D, Saunders D, Wallis J, Babbage A, Hammond S, Mashreghi-Mohammadi M, Barr L, Martin S, Wray P, Ellington A, Matthews N, Ellwood M, Woodmansey R, Clark G, Cooper J, Tromans A, Grafham D, Skuce C, Pandian R, Andrews R, Harrison E, Kimberley A, Garnett J, Fosker N, Hall R, Garner P, Kelly D, Bird C, Palmer S, Gehring I, Berger A, Dooley CM, Ersan-Urun Z, Eser C, Geiger H, Geisler M, Karotki L, Kirn A, Konantz J, Konantz M, Oberlander M, Rudolph-Geiger S, Teucke M, Lanz C, Raddatz G, Osoegawa K, Zhu B, Rapp A, Widaa S, Langford C, Yang F, Schuster SC, Carter NP, Harrow J, Ning Z, Herrero J, Searle SM, Enright A, Geisler R, Plasterk RH, Lee C, Westerfield M, de Jong PJ, Zon LI, Postlethwait JH, Nusslein-Volhard C, Hubbard TJ, Roest Crollius H, Rogers J, Stemple DL (2013) The zebrafish reference genome sequence and its relationship to the human genome. Nature 496(7446):498-503. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nature12111

- Huijbers IJ, Krimpenfort P, Chomez P et al (2006) An inducible mouse model of melanoma expressing a defined tumor antigen. Cancer Res 66:3278–3286. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-05-3216
- Indra AK, Castaneda E, Antal MC, Jiang M, Messaddeq N, Meng X, Loehr CV, Gariglio P, Kato S, Wahli W, Desvergne B, Metzger D, Chambon P (2007) Malignant transformation of DMBA/TPA-induced papillomas and nevi in the skin of mice selectively lacking retinoid-X-receptor alpha in epidermal keratinocytes. J Invest Dermatol 127(5):1250–1260. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/sj.jid.5700672
- Iwamoto T, Takahashi M, Ito M, Hamatani K, Ohbayashi M, Wajjwalku W, Isobe K, Nakashima I (1991) Aberrant melanogenesis and melanocytic tumour development in transgenic mice that carry a metallothionein/ret fusion gene. EMBO J 10(11): 3167–3175
- Kato M, Takahashi M, Akhand A, Liu W, Dai Y, Shimizu S, Iwamoto T, Suzuki H, Nakashima I (1998) Transgenic mouse model for skin malignant melanoma. Oncogene 17(14):1885–1888. https://doi.org/10.1038/ sj.onc.1202077
- Kaur A, Webster MR, Marchbank K, Behera R, Ndoye A, Kugel CH, Dang VM, Appleton J, O'Connell MP, Cheng P, Valiga AA, Morissette R, McDonnell NB, Ferrucci L, Kossenkov AV, Meeth K, Tang HY, Yin X, Wood WH, Lehrmann E, Becker KG, Flaherty KT, Frederick DT, Wargo JA, Cooper ZA, Tetzlaff MT, Hudgens C, Aird KM, Zhang R, Xu X, Liu Q, Bartlett E, Karakousis G, Eroglu Z, Lo RS, Chan M, Menzies AM, Long GV, Johnson DB, Sosman J, Schilling B, Schadendorf D, Speicher DW, Bosenberg M, Ribas A, Weeraratna AT (2016) sFRP2 in the aged microenvironment drives melanoma metastasis and therapy resistance. Nature. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/nature17392
- Kemper K, Krijgsman O, Cornelissen-Steijger P, Shahrabi A, Weeber F, Song JY, Kuilman T, Vis DJ, Wessels LF, Voest EE, Schumacher TN, Blank CU, Adams DJ, Haanen JB, Peeper DS (2015) Intra- and inter-tumor heterogeneity in a vemurafenib-resistant melanoma patient and derived xenografts. EMBO Mol Med 7(9):1104–1118. https://doi.org/10.15252/ emmm.201404914
- Kemper K, Krijgsman O, Kong X, Cornelissen-Steijger P, Shahrabi A, Weeber F, van der Velden DL, Bleijerveld OB, Kuilman T, Kluin RJ, Sun C, Voest EE, Ju YS, Schumacher TN, Altelaar AF, McDermott U, Adams DJ, Blank CU, Haanen JB, Peeper DS (2016) BRAF(V600E) kinase domain duplication identified in therapy-refractory melanoma patient-derived xenografts. Cell Rep 16(1):263–277. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2016.05.064
- Kim NY, Han BI, Lee M (2016) Cytoprotective role of autophagy against BH3 mimetic gossypol in ATG5 knockout cells generated by CRISPR-Cas9 endonuclease. Cancer Lett 370(1):19–26. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.canlet.2015.10.008

- Klein-Szanto A, Bradl M, Porter S, Mintz B (1991) Melanosis and associated tumors in transgenic mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 88(1):169–173
- Krachulec JM, Sedlmeier G, Thiele W, Sleeman JP (2016) Footprintless disruption of prosurvival genes in aneuploid cancer cells using CRISPR/Cas9 technology. Biochem Cell Biol 94(3):289–296. https://doi.org/ 10.1139/bcb-2015-0150
- Krepler C, Xiao M, Sproesser K, Brafford PA, Shannan B, Beqiri M, Liu Q, Xu W, Garman B, Nathanson KL, Xu X, Karakousis GC, Mills GB, Lu Y, Ahmed TA, Poulikakos PI, Caponigro G, Boehm M, Peters M, Schuchter LM, Weeraratna AT, Herlyn M (2016) Personalized preclinical trials in BRAF inhibitor-resistant patient-derived xenograft models identify second-line combination therapies. Clin Cancer Res 22(7): 1592–1602. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-15-1762
- Krimpenfort P, Quon KC, Mooi WJ, Loonstra A, Berns A (2001) Loss of p16Ink4a confers susceptibility to metastatic melanoma in mice. Nature 413(6851):83–86
- Kumasaka MY, Yajima I, Hossain K, Iida M, Tsuzuki T, Ohno T, Takahashi M, Yanagisawa M, Kato M (2010) A novel mouse model for de novo melanoma. Cancer Res 70(1):24–29. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472. CAN-09-2838
- Kuzu OF, Nguyen FD, Noory MA, Sharma A (2015) Current state of animal (mouse) modeling in melanoma research. Cancer Growth Metastasis 8(Suppl 1):81–94. https://doi.org/10.4137/CGM.S21214
- Kwong LN, Costello JC, Liu H, Jiang S, Helms TL, Langsdorf AE, Jakubosky D, Genovese G, Muller FL, Jeong JH, Bender RP, Chu GC, Flaherty KT, Wargo JA, Collins JJ, Chin L (2012) Oncogenic NRAS signaling differentially regulates survival and proliferation in melanoma. Nat Med 18(10):1503–1510. https://doi. org/10.1038/nm.2941
- Larue L, Beermann F (2007) Cutaneous melanoma in genetically modified animals. Pigment Cell Res 20:485–497
- Larue L, Dougherty N, Mintz B (1992) Genetic predisposition of transgenic mouse melanocytes to melanoma results in malignant melanoma after exposure to a low ultraviolet B intensity nontumorigenic for normal melanocytes. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 89 (20):9534–9538
- Levy C, Khaled M, Robinson KC, Veguilla RA, Chen PH, Yokoyama S, Makino E, Lu J, Larue L, Beermann F, Chin L, Bosenberg M, Song JS, Fisher DE (2010) Lineage-specific transcriptional regulation of DICER by MITF in melanocytes. Cell 141(6):994–1005. S0092-8674(10)00502-7 [pii]. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.cell.2010.05.004
- Li G, Schaider H, Satyamoorthy K, Hanakawa Y, Hashimoto K, Herlyn M (2001) Downregulation of E-cadherin and Desmoglein 1 by autocrine hepatocyte growth factor during melanoma development. Oncogene 20(56):8125–8135. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj. onc.1205034

- Li A, Ma Y, Yu X, Mort RL, Lindsay CR, Stevenson D, Strathdee D, Insall RH, Chernoff J, Snapper SB, Jackson IJ, Larue L, Sansom OJ, Machesky LM (2011) Rac1 drives melanoblast organization during mouse development by orchestrating pseudopoddriven motility and cell-cycle progression. Dev Cell 21(4):722–734. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.devcel. 2011.07.008
- Lindblad-Toh K, Wade CM, Mikkelsen TS, Karlsson EK, Jaffe DB, Kamal M, Clamp M, Chang JL, Kulbokas EJ 3rd, Zody MC, Mauceli E, Xie X, Breen M, Wayne RK, Ostrander EA, Ponting CP, Galibert F, Smith DR, DeJong PJ, Kirkness E, Alvarez P, Biagi T, Brockman W, Butler J, Chin CW, Cook A, Cuff J, Daly MJ, DeCaprio D, Gnerre S, Grabherr M, Kellis M, Kleber M, Bardeleben C, Goodstadt L, Heger A, Hitte C, Kim L, Koepfli KP, Parker HG, Pollinger JP, Searle SM, Sutter NB, Thomas R, Webber C, Baldwin J, Abebe A, Abouelleil A, Aftuck L, Ait-Zahra M, Aldredge T, Allen N, An P, Anderson S, Antoine C, Arachchi H, Aslam A, Ayotte L, Bachantsang P, Barry A, Bayul T, Benamara M, Berlin A, Bessette D, Blitshteyn B, Bloom T, Blye J, Boguslavskiy L, Bonnet C, Boukhgalter B, Brown A, Cahill P, Calixte N, Camarata J, Cheshatsang Y, Chu J, Citroen M, Collymore A, Cooke P, Dawoe T, Daza R, Decktor K, DeGray S, Dhargay N, Dooley K, Dooley K, Dorje P, Dorjee K, Dorris L, Duffey N, Dupes A, Egbiremolen O, Elong R, Falk J, Farina A, Faro S, Ferguson D, Ferreira P, Fisher S, FitzGerald M, Foley K, Foley C, Franke A, Friedrich D, Gage D, Garber M, Gearin G, Giannoukos G, Goode T, Goyette A, Graham J, Grandbois E, Gyaltsen K, Hafez N, Hagopian D, Hagos B, Hall J, Healy C, Hegarty R, Honan T, Horn A, Houde N, Hughes L, Hunnicutt L, Husby M, Jester B, Jones C, Kamat A, Kanga B, Kells C, Khazanovich D, Kieu AC, Kisner P, Kumar M, Lance K, Landers T, Lara M, Lee W, Leger JP, Lennon N, Leuper L, LeVine S, Liu J, Liu X, Lokyitsang Y, Lokyitsang T, Lui A, Macdonald J, Major J, Marabella R, Maru K, Matthews C, McDonough S, Mehta T, Meldrim J, Melnikov A, Meneus L, Mihalev A, Mihova T, Miller K, Mittelman R, Mlenga V, Mulrain L, Munson G, Navidi A, Naylor J, Nguyen T, Nguyen N, Nguyen C, Nguyen T, Nicol R, Norbu N, Norbu C, Novod N, Nyima T, Olandt P, O'Neill B, O'Neill K, Osman S, Oyono L, Patti C, Perrin D, Phunkhang P, Pierre F, Priest M, Rachupka A, Raghuraman S, Rameau R, Ray V, Raymond C, Rege F, Rise C, Rogers J, Rogov P, Sahalie J, Settipalli S, Sharpe T, Shea T, Sheehan M, Sherpa N, Shi J, Shih D, Sloan J, Smith C, Sparrow T, Stalker J, Stange-Thomann N, Stavropoulos S, Stone C, Stone S, Sykes S, Tchuinga P, Tenzing P, Tesfaye S, Thoulutsang D, Thoulutsang Y, Topham K, Topping I, Tsamla T, Vassiliev H, Venkataraman V, Vo A, Wangchuk T, Wangdi T, Weiand M, Wilkinson J,

Wilson A, Yadav S, Yang S, Yang X, Young G, Yu Q, Zainoun J, Zembek L, Zimmer A, Lander ES (2005) Genome sequence, comparative analysis and haplotype structure of the domestic dog. Nature 438(7069): 803–819. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature04338

- Lister JA, Capper A, Zeng Z, Mathers ME, Richardson J, Paranthaman K, Jackson IJ, Patton EE (2014) A conditional zebrafish MITF mutation reveals MITF levels are critical for melanoma promotion vs. regression in vivo. J Invest Dermatol 134(1):133–140. https:// doi.org/10.1038/jid.2013.293
- Loftus SK, Larson DM, Watkins-Chow D, Church DM, Pavan WJ (2001) Generation of RCAS vectors useful for functional genomic analyses. DNA Res 8(5): 221–226
- Luciani F, Champeval D, Herbette A, Denat L, Aylaj B, Martinozzi S, Ballotti R, Kemler R, Goding CR, De Vuyst F, Larue L, Delmas V (2011) Biological and mathematical modeling of melanocyte development. Development 138(18):3943–3954. https://doi.org/10.1 242/dev.067447
- MacKenzie MA, Jordan SA, Budd PS, Jackson IJ (1997) Activation of the receptor tyrosine kinase kit is required for the proliferation of melanoblasts in the mouse embryo. Dev Biol 192(1):99–107
- Maertens O, Johnson B, Hollstein P, Frederick DT, Cooper ZA, Messiaen L, Bronson RT, McMahon M, Granter S, Flaherty K, Wargo JA, Marais R, Cichowski K (2013) Elucidating distinct roles for NF1 in melanomagenesis. Cancer Discov 3(3): 338–349. https://doi.org/10.1158/2159-8290.CD-12-0313
- Mann MB, Black MA, Jones DJ, Ward JM, Yew CC, Newberg JY, Dupuy AJ, Rust AG, Bosenberg MW, McMahon M, Print CG, Copeland NG, Jenkins NA (2015) Transposon mutagenesis identifies genetic drivers of Braf(V600E) melanoma. Nat Genet 47(5):486–495. https://doi.org/10.1038/ ng.3275
- Marsh Durban V, Deuker MM, Bosenberg MW, Phillips W, McMahon M (2013) Differential AKT dependency displayed by mouse models of BRAFV600E-initiated melanoma. J Clin Invest 123(12):5104–5118. https:// doi.org/10.1172/JCI69619
- Mercer K, Giblett S, Green S, Lloyd D, DaRocha Dias S, Plumb M, Marais R, Pritchard C (2005) Expression of endogenous oncogenic V600EB-raf induces proliferation and developmental defects in mice and transformation of primary fibroblasts. Cancer Res 65(24): 11493–11500. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CA N-05-2211
- Michaloglou C, Vredeveld LC, Soengas MS, Denoyelle C, Kuilman T, van der Horst CM, Majoor DM, Shay JW, Mooi WJ, Peeper DS (2005) BRAFE600-associated senescence-like cell cycle arrest of human naevi. Nature 436(7051):720–724
- Milagre C, Dhomen N, Geyer FC, Hayward R, Lambros M, Reis-Filho JS, Marais R (2010) A mouse model of melanoma driven by oncogenic KRAS.

Cancer Res 70(13):5549–5557. https://doi.org/ 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-4254

- Miyata M, Furukawa M, Takahashi K, Gonzalez FJ, Yamazoe Y (2001) Mechanism of 7,12-dimethylbenz [a]anthracene-induced immunotoxicity: role of metabolic activation at the target organ. Jpn J Pharmacol 86(3):302–309
- Monahan KB, Rozenberg GI, Krishnamurthy J, Johnson SM, Liu W, Bradford MK, Horner J, Depinho RA, Sharpless NE (2010) Somatic p16 (INK4a) loss accelerates melanomagenesis. Oncogene 29(43):5809–5817. https://doi.org/10.1038/onc. 2010.314
- Mort RL, Keighren M, Hay L, Jackson IJ (2014) Ex vivo culture of mouse embryonic skin and live-imaging of melanoblast migration. J Vis Exp (87). https://doi.org/ 10.3791/51352
- Mulligan LM (2014) RET revisited: expanding the oncogenic portfolio. Nat Rev Cancer 14(3):173–186. https:// doi.org/10.1038/nrc3680
- Muzumdar MD, Tasic B, Miyamichi K, Li L, Luo L (2007) A global double-fluorescent Cre reporter mouse. Genesis 45(9):593–605. https://doi.org/10.1002/dvg.20335
- Nagy A (2000) Cre recombinase: the universal reagent for genome tailoring. Genesis 26(2):99–109
- Nishimura EK, Jordan SA, Oshima H, Yoshida H, Osawa M, Moriyama M, Jackson IJ, Barrandon Y, Miyachi Y, Nishikawa S (2002) Dominant role of the niche in melanocyte stem-cell fate determination. Nature 416(6883):854–860
- Noonan FP, Recio JA, Takayama H, Duray P, Anver MR, Rush WL, De Fabo EC, Merlino G (2001) Neonatal sunburn and melanoma in mice. Nature 413(6853): 271–272. https://doi.org/10.1038/35095108
- Noonan FP, Zaidi MR, Wolnicka-Glubisz A, Anver MR, Bahn J, Wielgus A, Cadet J, Douki T, Mouret S, Tucker MA, Popratiloff A, Merlino G, De Fabo EC (2012) Melanoma induction by ultraviolet A but not ultraviolet B radiation requires melanin pigment. Nat Commun 3:884. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms1893
- Novak A, Guo C, Yang W, Nagy A, Lobe CG (2000) Z/EG, a double reporter mouse line that expresses enhanced green fluorescent protein upon Cre-mediated excision. Genesis 28(3–4):147–155
- Otsuka T, Takayama H, Sharp R, Celli G, LaRochelle WJ, Bottaro DP, Ellmore N, Vieira W, Owens JW, Anver M, Merlino G (1998) c-Met autocrine activation induces development of malignant melanoma and acquisition of the metastatic phenotype. Cancer Res 58(22): 5157–5167
- Paluncic J, Kovacevic Z, Jansson PJ, Kalinowski D, Merlot AM, Huang ML, Lok HC, Sahni S, Lane DJ, Richardson DR (2016) Roads to melanoma: key pathways and emerging players in melanoma progression and oncogenic signaling. Biochim Biophys Acta 1863(4):770–784. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamcr. 2016.01.025
- Patton EE, Widlund HR, Kutok JL, Kopani KR, Amatruda JF, Murphey RD, Berghmans S, Mayhall EA,

Traver D, Fletcher CD, Aster JC, Granter SR, Look AT, Lee C, Fisher DE, Zon LI (2005) BRAF mutations are sufficient to promote nevi formation and cooperate with p53 in the genesis of melanoma. Curr Biol 15(3):249–254. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. cub.2005.01.031

- Pedersen M, Kusters-Vandevelde HV, Viros A, Groenen PJ, Sanchez-Laorden B, Gilhuis JH, van Engen-van Grunsven IA, Renier W, Schieving J, Niculescu-Duvaz I, Springer CJ, Kusters B, Wesseling P, Blokx WA, Marais R (2013) Primary melanoma of the CNS in children is driven by congenital expression of oncogenic NRAS in melanocytes. Cancer Discov 3(4):458–469. https://doi.org/10.1158/ 2159-8290.CD-12-0464
- Perna D, Karreth FA, Rust AG, Perez-Mancera PA, Rashid M, Iorio F, Alifrangis C, Arends MJ, Bosenberg MW, Bollag G, Tuveson DA, Adams DJ (2015) BRAF inhibitor resistance mediated by the AKT pathway in an oncogenic BRAF mouse melanoma model. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 112(6):E536–E545. https://doi.org/ 10.1073/pnas.1418163112
- Pollock PM, Cohen-Solal K, Sood R et al (2003) Melanoma mouse model implicates metabotropic glutamate signaling in melanocytic neoplasia. Nat Genet 34:108–112. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng1148
- Pollock PM, Harper UL, Hansen KS, Yudt LM, Stark M, Robbins CM, Moses TY, Hostetter G, Wagner U, Kakareka J, Salem G, Pohida T, Heenan P, Duray P, Kallioniemi O, Hayward NK, Trent JM, Meltzer PS (2003a) High frequency of BRAF mutations in nevi. Nat Genet 33(1):19–20
- Pollock PM, Cohen-Solal K, Sood R, Namkoong J, Martino JJ, Koganti A, Zhu H, Robbins C, Makalowska I, Shin SS, Marin Y, Roberts KG, Yudt LM, Chen A, Cheng J, Incao A, Pinkett HW, Graham CL, Dunn K, Crespo-Carbone SM, Mackason KR, Ryan KB, Sinsimer D, Goydos J, Reuhl KR, Eckhaus M, Meltzer PS, Pavan WJ, Trent JM, Chen S (2003b) Melanoma mouse model implicates metabotropic glutamate signaling in melanocytic neoplasia. Nat Genet 34(1):108–112. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng1148
- Posch C, Sanlorenzo M, Vujic I, Oses-Prieto JA, Cholewa BD, Kim ST, Ma J, Lai K, Zekhtser M, Esteve-Puig R, Green G, Chand S, Burlingame AL, Panzer-Grumayer R, Rappersberger K, Ortiz-Urda S (2016) Phosphoproteomic analyses of NRAS(G12) and NRAS(Q61) mutant melanocytes reveal increased CK2alpha kinase levels in NRAS(Q61) mutant cells. J Invest Dermatol. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jid.2016.05.098
- Powell MB, Hyman P, Bell OD, Balmain A, Brown K, Alberts D, Bowden GT (1995) Hyperpigmentation and melanocytic hyperplasia in transgenic mice expressing the human T24 Ha-ras gene regulated by a mouse tyrosinase promoter. Mol Carcinog 12(2):82–90
- Pshenichnaya I, Schouwey K, Armaro M, Larue L, Knoepfler PS, Eisenman RN, Trumpp A, Delmas V,

Beermann F (2012) Constitutive gray hair in mice induced by melanocyte-specific deletion of c-Myc. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res 25(3):312–325. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1755-148X.2012.00998.x

- Puig I, Champeval D, De Santa Barbara P, Jaubert F, Lyonnet S, Larue L (2009) Deletion of Pten in the mouse enteric nervous system induces ganglioneuromatosis and mimics intestinal pseudoobstruction. J Clin Invest 119(12):3586–3596. 39929 [pii]. https:// doi.org/10.1172/JC139929
- Puntervoll HE, Yang XR, Vetti HH, Bachmann IM, Avril MF, Benfodda M, Catricala C, Dalle S, Duval-Modeste AB, Ghiorzo P, Grammatico P, Harland M, Hayward NK, Hu HH, Jouary T, Martin-Denavit T, Ozola A, Palmer JM, Pastorino L, Pjanova D, Soufir N, Steine SJ, Stratigos AJ, Thomas L, Tinat J, Tsao H, Veinalde R, Tucker MA, Bressac-de Paillerets B, Newton-Bishop JA, Goldstein AM, Akslen LA, Molven A (2013) Melanoma prone families with CDK4 germline mutation: phenotypic profile and associations with MC1R variants. J Med Genet 50(4):264–270. https://doi.org/10.1136/jmedgen et-2012-101455
- Rambow F, Malek O, Geffrotin C, Leplat JJ, Bouet S, Piton G, Hugot K, Bevilacqua C, Horak V, Vincent-Naulleau S (2008) Identification of differentially expressed genes in spontaneously regressing melanoma using the MeLiM swine model. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res 21(2):147–161. https://doi.org/10.11 11/j.1755-148X.2008.00442.x
- Rimm DL, Caca K, Hu G, Harrison FB, Fearon ER (1999) Frequent nuclear/cytoplasmic localization of betacatenin without exon 3 mutations in malignant melanoma. Am J Pathol 154(2):325–329
- Rosengren Pielberg G, Golovko A, Sundstrom E, Curik I, Lennartsson J, Seltenhammer MH, Druml T, Binns M, Fitzsimmons C, Lindgren G, Sandberg K, Baumung R, Vetterlein M, Stromberg S, Grabherr M, Wade C, Lindblad-Toh K, Ponten F, Heldin CH, Solkner J, Andersson L (2008) A cis-acting regulatory mutation causes premature hair graying and susceptibility to melanoma in the horse. Nat Genet 40(8):1004–1009. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng.185
- Schouwey K, Delmas V, Larue L, Zimber-Strobl U, Strobl LJ, Radtke F, Beermann F (2007) Notch1 and Notch2 receptors influence progressive hair graying in a dose-dependent manner. Dev Dyn Off Publ Am Assoc Anat 236(1):282–289. https://doi.org/10.1002/ dvdy.21000
- Selfridge J, Song L, Brownstein DG, Melton DW (2010) Mice with DNA repair gene Ercc1 deficiency in a neural crest lineage are a model for lateonset Hirschsprung disease. DNA Repair (Amst) 9(6):653–660. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dnarep.2010. 02.018
- Seltenhammer MH, Sundstrom E, Meisslitzer-Ruppitsch C, Cejka P, Kosiuk J, Neumuller J, Almeder M, Majdic O, Steinberger P, Losert UM, Stockl J, Andersson L, Solkner J, Vetterlein M, Golovko A (2014)

Establishment and characterization of a primary and a metastatic melanoma cell line from Grey horses. In Vitro Cell Dev Biol Anim 50(1):56–65. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11626-013-9678-1

- Serrano M, Lee H, Chin L, Cordon-Cardo C, Beach D, DePinho RA (1996) Role of the INK4a locus in tumor suppression and cell mortality. Cell 85(1):27–37
- Shalem O, Sanjana NE, Hartenian E, Shi X, Scott DA, Mikkelsen TS, Heckl D, Ebert BL, Root DE, Doench JG, Zhang F (2014) Genome-scale CRISPR-Cas9 knockout screening in human cells. Science 343(6166):84–87. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.124 7005
- Sharpless NE, Bardeesy N, Lee KH, Carrasco D, Castrillon DH, Aguirre AJ, Wu EA, Horner JW, DePinho RA (2001) Loss of p16Ink4a with retention of p19Arf predisposes mice to tumorigenesis. Nature 413(6851): 86–91
- Silvers WK, Mintz B (1998) Differences in latency and inducibility of mouse skin melanomas depending on the age and anatomic site of the skin. Cancer Res 58(4):630–632
- Singh P, Schimenti JC, Bolcun-Filas E (2015) A mouse geneticist's practical guide to CRISPR applications. Genetics 199(1):1–15. https://doi.org/10.1534/genetic s.114.169771
- Sotillo R, Garcia JF, Ortega S, Martin J, Dubus P, Barbacid M, Malumbres M (2001) Invasive melanoma in Cdk4-targeted mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 98(23):13312–13317. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.24 1338598
- Stankov K, Popovic S, Mikov M (2014) C-KIT signaling in cancer treatment. Curr Pharm Des 20(17):2849–2880
- Subramanian A, Tamayo P, Mootha VK, Mukherjee S, Ebert BL, Gillette MA, Paulovich A, Pomeroy SL, Golub TR, Lander ES, Mesirov JP (2005) Gene set enrichment analysis: a knowledge-based approach for interpreting genome-wide expression profiles. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 102(43):15545–15550. https:// doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0506580102
- Takayama H, LaRochelle WJ, Sharp R, Otsuka T, Kriebel P, Anver M, Aaronson SA, Merlino G (1997) Diverse tumorigenesis associated with aberrant development in mice overexpressing hepatocyte growth factor/scatter factor. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 94(2):701–706
- Takemoto Y, Keighren M, Jackson IJ, Yamamoto H (2006) Genomic localization of a *Dct-LacZ* transgene locus: a simple assay for transgene status. Pigment Cell Res 19:644–645
- Tentler JJ, Tan AC, Weekes CD, Jimeno A, Leong S, Pitts TM, Arcaroli JJ, Messersmith WA, Eckhardt SG (2012) Patient-derived tumour xenografts as models for oncology drug development. Nat Rev Clin Oncol 9(6): 338–350. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrclinonc.2012.61
- VanBrocklin MW, Robinson JP, Lastwika KJ et al (2010) Targeted delivery of NRASQ61R and Cre-recombinase to post-natal melanocytes induces melanoma in Ink4a/ Arflox/lox mice. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res

23:531–541. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1755-148X.2010. 00717.x

- Valentine BA (1995) Equine melanocytic tumors: a retrospective study of 53 horses (1988 to 1991). J Vet Intern Med 9(5):291–297
- van der Weyden L, Patton EE, Wood GA, Foote AK, Brenn T, Arends MJ, Adams DJ (2016) Cross-species models of human melanoma. J Pathol 238(2):152–165. https://doi.org/10.1002/path.4632
- Vincent-Naulleau S, Le Chalony C, Leplat JJ, Bouet S, Bailly C, Spatz A, Vielh P, Avril MF, Tricaud Y, Gruand J, Horak V, Frelat G, Geffrotin C (2004) Clinical and histopathological characterization of cutaneous melanomas in the melanoblastoma-bearing Libechov minipig model. Pigment Cell Res 17(1):24–35
- Viros A, Sanchez-Laorden B, Pedersen M, Furney SJ, Rae J, Hogan K, Ejiama S, Girotti MR, Cook M, Dhomen N, Marais R (2014) Ultraviolet radiation accelerates BRAF-driven melanomagenesis by targeting TP53. Nature 511(7510):478–482. https:// doi.org/10.1038/nature13298
- von Felbert V, Cordoba F, Weissenberger J et al (2005) Interleukin-6 gene ablation in a transgenic mouse model of malignant skin melanoma. Am J Pathol 166:831–841. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0002-9440(10) 62304-8
- von Werder A, Seidler B, Schmid RM, Schneider G, Saur D (2012) Production of avian retroviruses and tissue-specific somatic retroviral gene transfer in vivo using the RCAS/TVA system. Nat Protoc 7(6): 1167–1183. https://doi.org/10.1038/nprot.2012.060
- Vredeveld LC, Possik PA, Smit MA, Meissl K, Michaloglou C, Horlings HM, Ajouaou A, Kortman PC, Dankort D, McMahon M, Mooi WJ, Peeper DS (2012) Abrogation of BRAFV600Einduced senescence by PI3K pathway activation contributes to melanomagenesis. Genes Dev 26(10): 1055–1069. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.187252.112
- Walker GJ, Soyer HP, Terzian T, Box NF (2011) Modelling melanoma in mice. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res 24(6): 1158–1176. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1755-148X.2011. 00923.x
- Wavre-Shapton ST, Tolmachova T, Lopes da Silva M, Futter CE, Seabra MC (2013) Conditional ablation of the choroideremia gene causes age-related changes in mouse retinal pigment epithelium. PLoS One 8(2): e57769. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0057769
- Wellbrock C, Gomez A, Schartl M (2002) Melanoma development and pigment cell transformation in xiphophorus. Microsc Res Tech 58(6):456–463. https://doi.org/10.1002/jemt.10163
- Whiteman DC, Zhou XP, Cummings MC, Pavey S, Hayward NK, Eng C (2002) Nuclear PTEN expression and clinicopathologic features in a population-based series of primary cutaneous melanoma. Int J Cancer J Int Cancer 99(1):63–67
- Winnemoeller D, Wellbrock C, Schartl M (2005) Activating mutations in the extracellular domain of the melanoma inducing receptor Xmrk are tumorigenic in vivo.

Int J Cancer 117(5):723–729. https://doi.org/10.1002/ ijc.21232

- Wittbrodt J, Adam D, Malitschek B, Maueler W, Raulf F, Telling A, Robertson SM, Schartl M (1989) Novel putative receptor tyrosine kinase encoded by the melanoma-inducing Tu locus in Xiphophorus. Nature 341(6241):415–421. https://doi.org/10.1038/341415a0
- Wolfel T, Hauer M, Schneider J, Serrano M, Wolfel C, Klehmann-Hieb E, De Plaen E, Hankeln T, Meyer zum Buschenfelde KH, Beach D (1995) A p16INK4a-insensitive CDK4 mutant targeted by cytolytic T lymphocytes in a human melanoma. Science 269(5228):1281–1284
- Wolnicka-Glubisz A, Noonan FP (2006) Neonatal susceptibility to UV induced cutaneous malignant melanoma in a mouse model. Photochem Photobiol Sci 5(2): 254–260. https://doi.org/10.1039/b506974b
- Wu H, Goel V, Haluska FG (2003) PTEN signaling pathways in melanoma. Oncogene 22(20):3113–3122
- Yajima I, Belloir E, Bourgeois Y, Kumasaka M, Delmas V, Larue L (2006) Spatiotemporal gene control by the Cre-ERT2 system in melanocytes. Genesis 44(1): 34–43
- Yajima I, Colombo S, Puig I, Champeval D, Kumasaka M, Belloir E, Bonaventure J, Mark M, Yamamoto H, Taketo MM, Choquet P, Etchevers HC, Beermann F, Delmas V, Monassier L, Larue L (2013) A subpopulation of smooth muscle cells, derived from melanocytecompetent precursors, prevents patent ductus arteriosus. PLoS One 8(1):e53183. https://doi.org/ 10.1371/journal.pone.0053183
- Yang J, Luan J, Yu Y et al (2001) Induction of melanoma in murine macrophage inflammatory protein 2 transgenic mice heterozygous for inhibitor of

kinase/alternate reading frame. Cancer Res 61:8150-8157

- You MJ, Castrillon DH, Bastian BC et al (2002) Genetic analysis of Pten and Ink4a/Arf interactions in the suppression of tumorigenesis in mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 99:1455–1460. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.022632099
- Zaidi MR, Davis S, Noonan FP, Graff-Cherry C, Hawley TS, Walker RL, Feigenbaum L, Fuchs E, Lyakh L, Young HA, Hornyak TJ, Arnheiter H, Trinchieri G, Meltzer PS, De Fabo EC, Merlino G (2011) Interferon-gamma links ultraviolet radiation to melanomagenesis in mice. Nature 469(7331): 548–553. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature09666
- Zaretsky JM, Garcia-Diaz A, Shin DS, Escuin-Ordinas H, Hugo W, Hu-Lieskovan S, Torrejon DY, Abril-Rodriguez G, Sandoval S, Barthly L, Saco J, Homet Moreno B, Mezzadra R, Chmielowski B, Ruchalski K, Shintaku IP, Sanchez PJ, Puig-Saus C, Cherry G, Seja E, Kong X, Pang J, Berent-Maoz B, Comin-Anduix B, Graeber TG, Tumeh PC, Schumacher TN, Lo RS, Ribas A (2016) Mutations associated with acquired resistance to PD-1 blockade in melanoma. N Engl J Med. https://doi.org/10.1056/ NEJMoa1604958
- Zhou XP, Gimm O, Hampel H, Niemann T, Walker MJ, Eng C (2000) Epigenetic PTEN silencing in malignant melanomas without PTEN mutation. Am J Pathol 157(4):1123–1128. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0002-944 0(10)64627-5
- Zuo L, Weger J, Yang Q, Goldstein AM, Tucker MA, Walker GJ, Hayward N, Dracopoli NC (1996) Germline mutations in the p16INK4a binding domain of CDK4 in familial melanoma. Nat Genet 12(1): 97–99. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng0196-97

Part II

**Types of Melanocytic Neoplasms** 



16

# Primary Cutaneous Melanocytic Neoplasms

Pedram Gerami

# Contents

Introduction	338
Common Acquired and Dysplastic Nevi	339 339 339 344 344 344 345
Congenital Nevi Definition Clinical and Histologic Presentation Initiating Oncogenic Event Cell of Origin Senescence and Other Factors Impacting Morphology Melanoma Risk	345 345 345 347 348 349 349
Blue Nevi Definition Clinical and Histologic Presentation Initiating Oncogenic Event Cell of Origin Risk for Melanoma	349 349 350 351 351 351
Melanoma Background Clinical and Histologic Features	352 352
Superficial Spreading Melanoma	353
Nodular Melanoma	353
Lentigo Maligna Melanoma	354
Acral Lentiginous Melanoma Initiating and Characteristic Oncogenic Events	355 355

P. Gerami (⊠) Feinberg School of Medicine, Northwestern University, Chicago, IL, USA e-mail: pgerami1@nm.org

© Springer Science+Business Media, LLC, part of Springer Nature 2019 D. E. Fisher, B. C. Bastian (eds.), *Melanoma*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-7147-9_1

Cell of Origin	357
TCGA Classification	357
An Integrated Taxonomy of Melanocytic Neoplasia	358
Staging of Melanoma	359
Conclusion	359
References	360

# Abstract

This chapter on primary cutaneous melanocytic neoplasms of the skin will discuss three major categories of benign melanocytic neoplasms: common acquired, congenital, and blue nevi. The predominant initiating genomic event in common acquired nevi is a mutation in BRAF, while a significantly smaller percentage have a mutation in NRAS. Mutations in NRAS occur far more frequently in congenital nevi; the ratio of NRAS to BRAF mutations in congenital nevi varies depending on the size of the congenital nevus. Giant congenital nevi are almost exclusively NRAS mutated. Blue nevi commonly have mutations in GNAQ and GNA11 and likely have a distinct melanocytic precursor cell compared to many, but not all, common acquired nevi. This chapter will highlight how specific mutations and melanocytic precursor cell types impact morphology of benign melanocytic nevi and how these factors can be integrated into a more reproducible classification system. The author also discusses two major subtypes of melanoma: those occurring on non-chronically sundamaged skin, which have frequent BRAF mutations, and melanomas occurring in chronically sun-damaged skin, which have less frequent BRAF and NRAS mutations but have occasional mutations in c-Kit or NF1. Likewise, the author discusses how the mutation and cell of origin in these melanomas relate to morphology and ultimately can be used for a more robust classification system.

#### Keywords

## Introduction

While melanocytic neoplasms can arise in a variety of organs, including in the epithelium of the gastrointestinal system and other mucosal sites, the eye, and the central nervous system, the skin is the site of origin to the majority of benign and malignant melanocytic neoplasms. It has long been recognized that melanocytes originating from neural crest cells migrating along specific routes colonize the epidermis of the skin. More recently some data suggests that a second population of melanocytes are normal inhabitants of the dermis (Fernandes et al. 2004). These cells are derived from Schwann cell precursors migrating along peripheral nerves into the dermis and reside in the dermis in the adventitia of nerve fibers and other adnexa.

Factors distinguishing distinct subtypes of melanocytic neoplasms of the skin and ultimately affecting the clinical and histologic presentation include derivation from epithelial-associated nonepithelial-associated melanocytes versus melanocytes and specific genetic alterations. Most data correlating genetic features to morphology suggest that primary activating mutations are most strongly correlated to morphologic and clinical features. Some exceptions to this rule exist, primarily in various patterns of combined nevi where a second clonal population defined by a subsequent genetic alteration is seen. Initiating mutations in melanocytic neoplasms are typically activating point mutations in the mitogenactivated protein (MAP) kinase pathway or translocations in receptor tyrosine kinases (RTKs), which typically occur in a mutually exclusive pattern. This chapter will primarily discuss common acquired, congenital, and blue nevi and the

Nevi · Common acquired · Congenital · Blue nevi · Melanoma · Genomics

most common forms of melanoma, including melanocytic cell type of origin and initiating driver mutations and how these relates to morphologic and clinical features.

# **Common Acquired and Dysplastic Nevi**

# Definition

By definition, a nevus is a benign clonal proliferation of melanocytes arranged in nests. A nest is defined by three or more aggregated melanocytes. In contrast to melanoma, nevi are organized, limited proliferations of melanocytes typically arranged in a predominance of nests over single cells and have some level of symmetry and reasonably well-defined borders (Fig. 1).

#### **Clinical and Histologic Features**

The development of nevi is a function of environmental and genetic factors. The only known modifiable environmental variable is ultraviolet (UV) radiation exposure. Multiple genetic factors are involved: (1) skin type along with MCR1 receptor type and other pigmentary related genes, which all influence an individual's response to UV and ability to protect themselves from UV radiation through melanin production; (2) germline mutations in tumor suppressor genes, which may influence whether senescence of newly proliferating melanocytic neoplasms is immediate or delayed; and (3) immune-related genes, which can also influence immunemediated clearance of newly initiated melanocytic neoplasia. Two different twin studies demonstrate



**Fig. 1** This is an example of a common acquired nevus from the face of a 30-year-old woman. (a) Clinically, it is a 4 mm brown well-circumscribed exophytic papule. (b) Dermoscopically, one sees a rather uniform globular

pattern. (**c** and **d**) Histologically, there is a predominantly nested pattern of melanocytes involving both the epidermis and dermis. The dermal component shows good maturation and the cells lack significant atypia.

a significant heritability component to total nevus counts. In both studies, monozygotic twins had significantly greater similarity in total nevus counts in comparison to dizygotic twins (Wachsmuth et al. 2001; Lee et al. 2016). Both studies also concluded that genetics play a greater role in nevus counts than sun exposure history. However, there is also convincing epidemiologic data documenting a relationship between history of ultraviolet radiation exposure and nevus counts (Dulon et al. 2002; Wiecker et al. 2003; Aalborg et al. 2009). These studies demonstrate a relationship between total nevus counts and sun exposure history and the distribution of nevi and sun exposure history. Hence, the development of acquired nevi is a combined function of multiple genetic factors and ultraviolet exposure (Table 1).

Acquired nevi may be completely flat (macular) or raised (papular). Most common acquired nevi are less than 6 mm in size and are relatively symmetric and uniform in color. By dermoscopic assessment, most have either a reticular pattern or globular pattern. The reticular pattern is the result of melanocytes and their melanin pigmentation aggregating along rete ridges, while a globular pattern is the result of distinct pigmented nests of melanocytes. Histologically, nevi can have nests strictly associated with the epidermis (junctional), in both the epidermis and dermis (compound), or strictly in the dermis (dermal). In children, most nevi are compound or dermal, while junctional nevi are uncommon. In adults, all three types of nevi can be seen. Most acquired nevi occur during the first two decades of life, but new nevi may occur at any age. In a study of 182 adult patients followed in an outpatient dermatology setting, 50 (27%) developed at least 1 new nevus (Oliveria et al. 2013). Most of the newly occurring nevi were reticular or reticular-globular, which are patterns suggestive of junctional or compound nevi, respectively.

Two typical histomorphologic patterns of common acquired nevi have been designated as Miescher's or Unna's nevus. Unna's nevi are compound or dermal exophytic nevi with a mammillated surface with nests of melanocytes in the papillary dermis. Miescher's nevi are smooth, dome-shaped papules, which are typically entirely dermal. Miescher's and Unna's nevi typically lack significant nuclear atypia or mitotic activity, although mitoses may rarely be seen, often in females of gestational age. Microscopically the lesions are predominantly organized in nests, and the dermal component is characterized by good maturation with decreasing nest and cell size with descent into the dermis. Cells in the deep dermis typically have inconspicuous nucleoli and pigmentation. If there is significant melanin pigmentation, it is typically superficial and lost with descent.

The term dysplastic nevus is controversial. It was originally utilized to clinically describe the large and irregular nevi seen in cohorts of patients with familial melanoma. The term has evolved considerably over time. While the subset of nevi the term originally referred to was probably a lot more limited the way it is currently used in practice most Caucasian individuals would have at least one dysplastic nevus. The WHO has created histomorphologic criteria for the designation. This requires both major criteria and two of four minor criteria to be met.

Major criteria

- 1. Basilar proliferation of atypical melanocytes that extends at least 3 rete ridges beyond the dermal component.
- 2. Organization of this proliferation in a lentiginous or epithelioid cell pattern.

Minor criteria

- 1. Lamellar fibrosis or concentric eosinophilic fibrosis.
- 2. Neovascularization.
- 3. Host response.
- 4. Fusion of rete ridges.

As indicated in the major criteria listed above, in contrast to Unna's or Miescher's nevi, these lesions have a broader intraepidermal component that extends at least 3 rete ridges beyond the dermal component (Fig. 2). The presence of this broad intraepidermal component is significant as multiple studies have shown that having larger acquired nevi is linked to an elevated risk for melanoma. Dysplastic nevi often also have greater nuclear atypia and architectural disorder than Unna's or Miescher's nevi. This may include areas with considerable single cell lentiginous

				Common
Entity	Cell of origin	Clinical presentation	Histologic features	genomic event
• Common acquired nevi	• Mostly epidermal- derived melanocyte Some acquired nevi with a congenital histologic pattern may be from dermal-derived melanocyte	<ul> <li>Variable presentation that may include both macular and papular lesions typically less than 6 mm in size that are relatively symmetric and uniform in color.</li> <li>Miescher's nevi are commonly smooth dome-shaped lesions, Unna's nevi have a exophytic mammillated surface</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>May be junctional, compound, or dermal</li> <li>Miescher's and Unna nevi do not have shouldering, have nests with melanocytes without significant atypia and normal maturation seen extending from epidermis to deeper dermis. Acquired nevi in later life may take the form of lentiginous junctional or lentiginous compound nevus. These are typically small &lt;6 mm with predominance of melanocytes typically aggregated around the rete ridges and small nests of melanocytes are seen in the dermis</li> </ul>	• BRAF (85%) • NRAS (5%)
• Dysplastic nevi	• Likely epidermal- derived melanocyte	• Usually have a macular component. May be >6 mm in size and may also have some slight color variation and border irregularity	• Junctional component extends at least 3 rete ridges beyond dermal component (shouldering). Have a nested or lentiginous proliferation of melanocytes in epidermis. Bridging, periretal fibroblasia, host response, and perivascularization are all common	
• Congenital nevi	Dermal-derived melanocyte	<ul> <li>Nevi present at birth of within the first few months of life with variable color ranging from tan to black and often with irregular borders</li> <li>Small - &lt;1.5 cm</li> <li>Medium - 1.5-20 cm</li> <li>Large - 20-40 cm</li> <li>Giant - &gt;40 cm</li> </ul>	• In contrast to common acquired nevi, congenital nevi tend to extend deeper into the dermis and subcutaneous tissue. Melanocytes tend to track along the neurovascular or adnexal structures and dissect the collagen bundles	NRAS (80% large) BRAF (60% small- medium)
<ul> <li>Blue nevus</li> <li>Conventional</li> <li>Cellular blue</li> <li>Plaque-type</li> <li>Nevus of ito</li> <li>Nevus of ota</li> </ul>	Dermal-derived melanocyte	<ul> <li>Conventional – Dorsal surfaces of the extremities</li> <li>Cellular type – Along the cranio-sacral axis</li> <li>Plaque type – Segmental distribution</li> <li>Nevus of ota – Involves the 1st and 2nd division of trigeminal nerve and can involve the cheek.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Blue nevus – Dendritic shaped melanocytes with melanophages often in a sclerotic stroma</li> <li>Cellular blue – In addition to dendritic melanocytes have nests and fascicles of oval to spindle shaped melanocytes often with intervening dendritic melanocytes and melanophages as seen in conventional blue nevi. The cellular fascicles often form</li> </ul>	• GNAQ (65%) • GNA11 (10%)

 Table 1
 Characteristics of distinct subsets of melanocytic neoplasms

(continued)

	.u)			
				Common initiating
Entity	Cell of origin	<ul> <li>Clinical presentation</li> <li>temple, conjunctiva, and retina</li> <li>Nevus of Ito – Find the nerve associated with this, occurs on the shoulder, supraclavicular, or scapular region along areas of supraclavicular and lateral brachial cutaneous nerves</li> </ul>	A buttress against the subcutaneous tissue	genomic event
• Malignant blue nevi	• Dermal-derived melanocyte	• Typically occur in the same distribution as cellular blue nevi along the cranio- sacral axis	<ul> <li>Nests of oval shaped melanocytes that become highly expansile</li> <li>Morphologic clues to malignancy include frank epithelioid transformation, zones of necrosis, high grade nuclear atypia, and elevated mitotic activity</li> </ul>	-
<ul> <li>Melanoma of non-CSD skin/</li> <li>Intermittently sun-damaged skin</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>SSM – Epidermal based melanocytes</li> <li>Nodular – Either epidermal or dermal-derived melanocytes</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>SSM most likely to follow the ABCD rule</li> <li>Nodular may present as amelanotic or pigmented nodule</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Lack of aggregates of amorphous solar elastotic bundles; more likely to have a nevus component</li> <li>SSM have radial growth phase that extends at least 3 rete beyond dermal component</li> <li>Nodular component directly enter vertical phase with no preceding radial growth but often do not meet full criteria for MIS in epidermis but may have small intraepidermal aggregates of atypical cells with lentiginous or pagetoid growth pattern</li> </ul>	• BRAF (50%) • NRAS (30%)
• Melanoma of CSD skin	<ul> <li>Lentigo maligna and SSM – epidermal-derived melanocyte</li> <li>Nodular – either dermal or epidermal</li> <li>Desmoplastic or dermal spindle cell – likely epidermal- derived dermal, although not known with certainty</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Predominantly occur in the head and neck region or other areas with excessive UV exposure; typically diagnosed between 60–80 years</li> <li>Lentigo maligna type appears as a variably pigmented patch on a background of poikilodermatous skin</li> </ul>	• LMM often grows as single atypical melanocytes in a broad lentiginous growth pattern along the DEJ with extensive adnexal involvement. Nesting is often a later stage phenomenon	<ul> <li>KIT (20%, LMM pattern)</li> <li>NF1 (25% desmoplastic melanoma; CSD)</li> <li>BRAF (15%)</li> </ul>

#### Table 1 (continued)



**Fig. 2** (a) A clinically dysplastic nevus that measures to greater than 6 mm in size and has an irregular border grossly. (b) Dermoscopic assessment shows reticulated background with variably sized darker granules distributed throughout the whole lesion. There is slight loss of network towards the center of the lesion. (c) Low power

growth along the dermal-epidermal junction, focal upward scatter or intraepidermal melanocytes (pagetoid spread), some asymmetry, less sharply defined lateral circumscription, and focal cell aggregates with considerable nuclear atypia. However, the association of other morphologic features of dysplastic nevi to an individual's risk for melanoma is more controversial (Elder 2016).

There can be morphologic overlap between the more atypical examples of dysplastic nevi and the radial growth phase of melanoma. The primary controversy over dysplastic nevi is in regards to whether they have a higher risk than other nevi to transform to melanoma or are intermediaries between common acquired nevi and melanoma.

magnification shows a dysplastic nevus with nests of melanocytes at the DEJ and within the dermis. There is shouldering, bridging, and periretal fibroplasia. (d) Higher power magnification showing typical architecture of a dysplastic nevus with bridging and periretal fibroplasia

Strong evidence shows that individuals and families who possess clinically atypical nevi in higher numbers and of greater size are at significantly higher risk for melanoma overall (Goldgar et al. 1991; Tucker et al. 1997). Although in a study reviewing histologic dysplasia and diameter of melanocytic neoplasms, diameter of the lesion was the only variable which was statistically correlated with an individual's risk for melanoma (Shors et al. 2006). Genetic studies have found multiple pathogenic mutations in morphologically intermediate (i.e., dysplastic) nevi yet only a BRAF V600E mutation in unequivocally benign nevus cells (Shain et al. 2015). Hence, while theoretically one might expect dysplastic nevi to have a higher risk for transformation, most epidemiologic data suggest they are for the most part relatively stable lesions with a very low risk for transformation to melanoma (Marks et al. 1990; Tucker et al. 2002; Tsao et al. 2003).

### **Initiating Oncogenic Events**

The initiating driver mutation in common acquired nevi is approximately 85% BRAF and 5% NRAS (Pollock et al. 2003). While BRAF and NRAS mutant nevi may be seen in both sun exposed and sun protected areas, the epidemiologic correlation of nevus counts and distribution with sun exposure suggest there is a relationship between BRAF mutations and UV exposure (Thomas et al. 2007). However, the V600E mutation, which is by far the most common mutation seen in BRAF mutated common acquired nevi, is not a UV signature mutation (Landi et al. 2006; Nguyen et al. 2010).

# Cell of Origin

Historically, it was proposed that all common acquired nevi have a life cycle beginning in the epidermis, melanocytes drop into the dermis to become compound, and later become dermal after fading of the junctional component (Unna 1893). This life cycle certainly occurs in some nevi and has been documented in studies and observed by most dermatologists following nevus patients with total body photography over time. However, the observation that dermal and compound nevi far outnumber junctional nevi in children while junctional nevi occur much more frequently in adults suggests that many nevi occurring in younger childhood may have a separate pattern of development. It may be that the melanocytic cell type of origin has an impact on this pattern of development. Specifically, if the cell of origin is an epithelial-derived melanocyte, this may result in a junctional or compound nevus, which may go through the above described life cycle. Common acquired nevi that have histomorphologic features of congenital nevi, such as tracing adnexa and deep extension between collagen, may originate from dermal-based melanocytes. This theory would be consistent with the finding that junctional nevi probably have the highest correlation to sun-exposed sites, whereas nevi that occur in sun-protected sites are often compound or dermal. However, this is not known with certainty.

# Senescence and Other Factors Impacting Phenotype

Further mutagenic events may also impact the phenotypic features of common acquired nevi. In a study demonstrating the genetic evolution of benign nevi to melanoma, it was shown that morphologically intermediate lesions had more mutagenic events than obviously benign precursor lesions (Shain et al. 2015). This has also been demonstrated in the past with clonal nevi in which a secondary subclone with greater atypia emerges from an otherwise ordinary nevus (Ball and Golitz 1994). In contrast to initiating oncogenic events that are typically activating mutations, subsequent genomic events are frequently loss of function alterations in tumor suppressor genes.

Other factors that can impact the morphologic features of a nevus include many innate host factors such as the host's genetic, epigenetic (methylation changes), and immune control of senescence — basically how quickly the cellintrinsic or extrinsic mechanisms can arrest the proliferation of the melanocytic cells. This may be particularly impactful on the size of the nevus. The mechanisms of senescence include: oncogene induced senescence, in which oncogenic activation of the MAP kinase pathway triggers growth arrest through the tumor suppressors p16 or p21; immunosurveillance-mediated senescence, in which the immune system removes neoplastic melanocytes; or replicative senescence, in which telomere shortening induces growth arrest. Telomerase lengthens the telomeres. It has recently become apparent that clonal TERT promoter mutations occur at quite an early stage in the genetic evolution of nevi to melanoma

(Shain et al. 2015). A selective growth advantage of nevus cells for TERT promoter mutations suggests that, even at the nevus level, the cells are turning over and replenishing themselves. Hence, arrest of nevus cells in a benign stage is continually dependent on the above-discussed mechanisms of growth arrest.

### **Risk for Melanoma**

All melanocytic nevi can potentially be transformed to melanoma, and it has been demonstrated that the predominant manner in which this occurs is acquisition of additional genomic alterations as a result of UV mutagenesis. It is unclear if morphological clues can predict which lesions are at greatest risk for transformation. Many studies evaluating melanoma arising in nevi suggest that there is no greater risk of transformation of a dysplastic nevus than other common acquired nevi (Tsao et al. 2003). In fact, the most common subtype of nevus found in association with a melanoma is the conventional common acquired nevus (Marks et al. 1990). Although there may be some bias in that it may be more difficult to clearly delineate a dysplastic nevus from melanoma, compared to delineating other common acquired nevi from melanoma. In addition to primary activating oncogenic mutations at the molecular level, dysplastic nevi often also have loss of function mutations with loss of heterozygosity involving CDKN2A or TP53 (Hussein and Wood 2002). The ACS reports approximately 80,000 new melanomas per year and 30%, or 24,000, are estimated to arise from a precursor nevus (Siegel et al. 2016). When one considers the astronomical number of nevi that qualify for the current definition of "dysplastic," one can see that the per annum rate of transformation of any given dysplastic nevus to melanoma is quite small, which supports the idea that these lesions are stable neoplasms.

From an epidemiologic perspective, considering that among acquired benign melanocytic nevi 85% are BRAF mutated and 5% are NRAS mutated, while in malignant melanocytic neoplasms, 50% are BRAF mutated and nearly 30% are NRAS mutated, there is reason to suspect that NRAS mutated neoplasms have a higher risk of progression. From a molecular perspective, this would also be logical, since NRAS can simultaneously activate both the MAP kinase pathway and the PI3 kinase pathway, while BRAF is further downstream and only activates the MAP kinase pathway (Table 2).

# Congenital Nevi

# Definition

Congenital melanocytic nevi (CMN) are present at birth and occur in utero or within the first year of life and present in approximately 1% of infants. CMNs have been classified based on size as small (<1.5 cm in diameter in the adult), medium (1.5–20 cm), large (>20 cm), and sometimes giant (>40 cm) (Alikhan et al. 2012). In contrast to the common occurrence of small CMNs, larger CMNs have an estimated incidence of 1 in 20,000 individuals (Castilla et al. 1981). The term "tardive CMN" refers to nevi not present at birth but that become apparent within the first 2 years of life.

#### **Clinical and Histologic Presentation**

and medium-sized congenital Most small melanocytic nevi are fairly uniform in color with well circumscribed borders. They are often raised and sometimes can have a papillomatous appearance. Mature terminal hairs may be present. These lesions can occur on any area of the body. Special consideration needs to be given to giant congenital nevi particularly those in a craniosacral distribution. The melanocytic proliferation in these cases can extend into the meninges and may even involve the brain and spinal cord. This is referred to as leptomeningeal melanocytosis or neurocutaneous melanosis. Potential complications from this include hydrocephalus or primary leptomeningeal melanoma. The risk of neurocutaneous melanosis is particularly high for giant congenital nevi along the craniosacral axis with

			Common secondary event	
	Type of		involved in malignant	Type of
Gene	alteration	Entities	transformation	alteration
BRAF P	Point	Common acquired nevi	CDKN2A	Deletion,
	mutation	Dysplastic nevi		mutation
		Congenital nevi Melanoma of non-CSD skin	TERT	Mutation,
				amplification
			PTEN	Deletion,
				Deletion
			ARIDIA, IB and 2	Deletion,
			SMADCA4	Deletion
			SMARCA4	mutation
NRAS	Point mutation	Common acquired nevi Dysplastic nevi Congenital nevi Melanoma of non-CSD skin	CDKN24	Deletion
				mutation
			TERT	Mutation.
				amplification
			PTEN	Deletion,
				mutation
			ARID1A, 1B and 2	Deletion,
				mutation
			SMARCA4	Deletion,
				mutation
GNAQ/	Point mutation	Blue nevi (cellular, plaque-type, nevus of ota, nevus of ito, Mongolian spots) Uveal melanoma	6p25	Gains
GNA11			SF3B1 (2q33)	Mutation
			BAP1	Deletion
			C-MYC	Amplification
KIT	Point mutation	Melanoma of CSD skin Acral melanoma ^a	N/A	
		Vulvar melanoma ^a (Yelamos et al.		
		2016)		
NF1	Point	Melanoma of CSD skin (desmoplastic	N/A	
	mutation	and other CSD)		

 Table 2 Distinct genomic pathways to melanoma

^aNot discussed in this chapter

N/A Not applicable

many satellite lesions (DeDavid et al. 1996; Marghoob et al. 2004; Kinsler et al. 2008).

By dermoscopy, small and medium-sized congenital nevi often show a regular reticular network, a globular pattern with a cobblestone appearance or just diffuse homogeneous pigmentation. Giant congenital nevi may have greater heterogeneity with distinct areas showing either a reticular, globular, or homogeneous pattern. Other common dermoscopic findings in congenital nevi include perifollicular hypo or hyperpigmentation and milia-like cysts. The characteristic histologic changes in congenital nevi include tracing of adnexal structures in the dermis with nests and aggregates of melanocytes in the hair follicle, eccrine glands, and neurovascular bundle. Single melanocytes can also be seen tracking deeply into the dermis and splaying between the collagen fibers (Fig. 3). Some nevi occurring later in life, including in adulthood, can have these histologic features but by history are not congenital in nature. These have been termed "nevi with a congenital pattern." It is likely that these are common acquired nevi that originate from a nonepithelial derived melanocyte, which results in the characteristic growth pattern of tracing adnexa.

Congenital nevi can develop benign nodular proliferations of melanocytes which can mimic melanoma known as proliferative nodules (Fig. 4). Proliferative nodules can develop in any



**Fig. 3** (a) This is an example of a medium-sized (1.5-20 cm) congenital nevus on the dorsal foot of a newborn. (b) Low power histology shows small nests and single melanocytes along the DEJ with a predominance of

nests in the dermis. (c) The dermal nests are seen dissecting through thick bundles of collagen extending through the reticular dermis.

sized congenital nevus and at any age, but are most characteristic of giant congenital nevi in early childhood or infancy (Phadke et al. 2011). Distinct morphologic patterns for proliferative nodules have been identified including nodular proliferations of epithelioid melanocytes, small round blue cell-like proliferations, neurocristic proliferations, spindle cell sarcomatous proliferations, the entire spectrum of blue nevus-like proliferations, and nevoid melanoma-like proliferations. Cytologic atypia and considerable mitotic activity greater than 15/mm² can be seen, particularly in small round blue cell or spindle cell sarcomatous patterns. Distinction from melanoma can be challenging. Features favoring melanoma include sharp demarcation from the congenital nevus component, high grade nuclear atypia throughout, high levels of mitotic activity greater than  $5/\text{mm}^2$  in a proliferation of epithelioid cells with high grade atypia, and zones of necrosis. Cytogenetically, proliferative nodules often have whole chromosomal copy number changes, while melanomas typically have clonal segmental chromosomal aberrations (Bastian et al. 2002; Yelamos et al. 2015a). The incidence of proliferative nodules in giant congenital nevi is estimated to be between 3 and 19%. In the author's experience, they are far more common than melanoma arising in a giant congenital nevus.

### Initiating Oncogenic Event

Similar to common acquired nevi, the most common initiating oncogenic events in congenital nevi are BRAF or NRAS mutations. The frequency of these mutations varies depending on



**Fig. 4** (a) Giant congenital nevus in a truncal distribution with numerous papular and nodular proliferations of various sizes seen on the left lower back. This pattern of giant congenital nevus involving the cranio-sacral axis has a high risk for neural involvement. (b) The low power histology shows predominantly dermal involvement of the

the size of the congenital nevus. In one study of 62 congenital nevi defined by presence at birth, the vast majority of large congenital nevi resulted from mutations in NRAS. In medium-sized congenital nevi, the ratio of NRAS:BRAF mutations was 5:3 and in small congenital nevi the ratio of NRAS:BRAF was 1:4 (Bauer et al. 2007; Ichii-Nakato et al. 2006). As seen by these ratios, the greater the size of the nevus, the higher the probability of an NRAS compared to BRAF mutation.

# **Cell of Origin**

Morphologically, congenital nevi are typically compound or intradermal. In larger nevi, the cells can extend quite deeply into the soft tissues,

congenital nevus with melanocytes nesting around adnexal structures and dissecting collagen bundles. At the base, a proliferative nodule can be seen. (c) Higher power magnification reveals a benign proliferative nodule with a cellular blue nevus-like patter occurring in a giant congenital nevus

including the meninges and CNS. This is referred to as neurocutaneous melanosis. The probability of neurocutaneous melanosis is greatest in giant congenital nevi and particularly those involving the trunk with many satellite lesions. Clearly, UV stimulation does not play a role in these lesions, which occur in utero. The melanocyte of origin is probably most often of dermal origin, as these lesions morphologically are characterized by deep dermal extension between collagen fibers and tracing of adnexal structures. However, these morphologic features are not specific to congenital nevi and can be seen in nevi, which demographically and historically are clearly common acquired nevi. Again, the authors theorize that it is the dermal origin of this subset of common acquired nevi that causes this morphologic pattern.

# Senescence and Other Factors Impacting Morphology

Congenital nevi may develop benign secondary clonal proliferations, which, if limited, are often referred to as clonal nevi and, if extensive and highly proliferative, may be referred to as benign proliferative nodules. These clonal proliferations are the result of additional mutagenic events, such as loss of function mutations in critical tumor suppressor genes. Morphologically, proliferative nodules can raise significant concern for melanoma because of significant cytologic atypia, mitotic activity, and clonal copy number aberrations. However, these copy number aberrations are typically whole chromosomal aberrations rather than segmental gains or losses, as seen in melanoma. Morphologically these secondary proliferations can vary, with possibilities that include Spitzoid, a variety of blue nevus subtypes (epithelioid, cellular conventional blue, or DPN-like), to spindle cell, epithelioid, or small round blue cell like appearances. This is likely dependent on the subsequent mutagenic events taking place.

The large size of some congenital nevi is unique and, of course, not seen in acquired nevi. Additionally, as previously discussed, only NRAS mutant melanocytic proliferations tend to reach the size of giant congenital nevi (Bauer et al. 2007). Oncogeneinduced senescence in NRAS may be a more delayed process in comparison to BRAF. Additionally, because of the young age of the patient there may be more replications allowed before replicative senescence takes effect and perhaps, the relatively immunosuppressed state of pregnancy and the in utero child allows for less immune surveillancemediated senescence. While the precise reason leading to the ability of these nevi to reach such a large size is unknown, all of these factors could theoretically contribute to this process.

# Melanoma Risk

The lifetime risk of melanoma in a congenital nevus is proportional to the size of the lesion, with giant congenital nevi having the greatest risk. In giant congenital nevi, the lifetime risk is approximately 5 to 10% with most cases occurring before age 18 (Ruiz-Maldonado et al. 1992; Bett 2005). Although controversial, there are several theoretical reasons to believe that congenital nevi have a higher risk to transform to melanoma than other nevi (Illig et al. 1985; Swerdlow et al. 1995; Rhodes et al. 1996). This includes more frequent NRAS mutations in comparison to BRAF mutations (Bauer et al. 2007; Kinsler et al. 2013). As discussed earlier, NRAS is upstream of BRAF, and activating mutations in NRAS can simultaneously activate both the MAP kinase and Phosphoinositol kinase pathways. Congenital nevi are usually present for longer periods of time than acquired nevi, and keeping in mind that even benign nevi are not static, in that melanocytic cells are undergoing ongoing death and replenishment over a lifetime, there is a higher probability for a secondary mutagenic event and more time to have potential UV exposure. Despite these theoretical reasons, the data suggest that if there is a greater risk for small congenital nevi, this is so small that it is difficult to quantify (Scalzo et al. 1997).

# Blue Nevi

### Definition

Blue nevi are one subtype of dermal melanocytosis. The term dermal melanocytosis refers to a proliferation of dermal melanocytes with predominantly dendritic cell morphology, often with many surrounding melanin-laden macrophages and devoid of a junctional component. The predominant presence of deeper melanin gives rise to the blue color. A discrete macule or papule with this morphologic pattern is referred to as a blue nevus. There are many subtypes of blue nevi, including epithelioid blue nevi, epithelioid blue nevus of chronically sun-damaged skin, cellular blue nevi, and plaque type blue nevus. Other patterns of dermal melanocytosis, which present more as a dermatomal patch or plaque of pigment, are referred to as "nevus of Ota" when involving the conjunctiva and periocular skin and "nevus of Ito" when involving the shoulder and upper back.

Newborns sometimes have faint blue patches of pigment on either the wrist, ankle, or buttocks region, colloquially referred to as "Mongolian spots."

# **Clinical and Histologic Presentation**

Blue nevi may be congenital or acquired and occur most commonly on the dorsal wrist, dorsum of the feet, or in a head and neck distribution. They can occur in other organs other than the skin. In the CNS, they are referred to as melanocytomas. Most acquired blue nevi are clinically less than 1 cm in total diameter and have a uniform blue to blue-black color. Dermoscopic exam also reveals a uniform blue pigment. Histologic exam shows dendritic melanocytes and melanophages often in a somewhat sclerotic stroma (Fig. 5). Segmental distributions, if highly cellular, may be referred to as plaque type blue nevi, whereas less cellular segmental distributions around the orbit are referred to as "Nevus of Ota" and around the shoulder as "Nevus of Ito."

Epithelioid blue nevi have, in addition to the dendritic melanocytes, a majority of melanocytes which also maintain deep prominent melanin pigmentation but with an epithelioid morphology. These lesions may occur sporadically or with increased incidence in patients with Carney's syndrome, which consists of lentigines, myxomas, and epithelioid blue nevi. Epithelioid blue nevi do not have distinguishable clinical features. Cellular blue nevi often have the dendritic



**Fig. 5** (a) This image shows a dermal proliferation of dendritic and spindle shaped melanocytes in a fibrotic stroma with many intervening melanophages consistent with a conventional blue nevus. (b–d) The next images show a cellular blue nevus. The lower magnification shows

the typical expansile cellular base which forms a buttress against the subcutaneous tissue. The highest power magnification shows fascicles of plump to oval spindle shaped melanocytes closely opposed to one another with only thin intervening strands of collagen.
melanocytic component but also have fascicles of oval to spindle-shaped cells, which often do not contain much melanin pigment, arranged in a plexiform pattern in the skin often forming a buttress against the subcutaneous tissue. Clinically, these lesions are typically raised, larger nodular lesions with a predilection for the cranio-sacral axis. Epithelioid and cellular blue nevi can often show benign involvement of lymph nodes.

## **Initiating Oncogenic Event**

Activating mutations in the G-alpha Q family, GNAQ (65%) or GNA11 (9%), are seen in the majority of blue nevi (Van Raamsdonk et al. 2009). These genes encode for members of the q class of G protein alpha subunits and are involved in mediating signals between the G protein coupled receptors and downstream effectors which ultimately impact the MAP kinase pathway as in many of the other primary activating mutations in melanocytic neoplasms. The possible importance of the G-alpha Q family of proteins in blue nevi and other dermal melanocytosis was indicated by identifying hypomorphic germline mutations in these genes in a set of heavily pigmented mice (Van Raamsdonk et al. 2004). Histopathologic exam of these mice showed the same dendritic cell morphology of melanocytic proliferation as recognized in blue nevi and other dermal melanocytosis. It was not only shown that the majority of blue nevi have GNAQ or GNA11 mutations but that 46% of uveal melanomas do, as well (Van Raamsdonk et al. 2010). This is not surprising considering the overlapping morphology between the two entities. As is the case with most primary activating mutations, GNAQ and GNA11 mutations occur mutually exclusive of one another. Mutations in these genes either result in complete or partial loss of the protein's GTPase activity, leaving them constitutively activated. Epithelioid blue nevi result from a loss of heterozygosity in PRKAR1A in the context of an acquired nevus with a BRAF V600E mutation. This explains the increased incidence in Carney's complex, in which patients have a germline mutation in one copy of the PRKAR1A gene.

#### Cell of Origin

The distinctive common genetic alterations, histomorphology and lack of any epithelial involvement of blue nevi, dermal melanocytosis, and uveal melanoma have led to the proposal that they arise from a distinct type of melanocyte that does not reside within epithelia (Van Raamsdonk et al. 2010; Bastian 2014). These melanocytes are likely derived from the neural crest-derived bivalent precursor cell that can give rise to melanocytes and Schwann cells. These cells rely on endothelin signaling for differentiation and proliferation, which signals through the  $G\alpha q$  pathway, in which GNAQ and GNA11 operate. It is likely that these cells are the origin of blue nevi and their migration along the peripheral nerves explains their frequent presentation in sites such as the dorsal wrists and feet. Histologic exam often shows the dendritic melanocytes of blue nevus cells clustered around adventitia, such as hair follicles, which is also consistent with this theory of their origination. There are some tumors with composite features of blue nevi and various neural neoplasms, which have been designated as neurocristic hamartomas. The authors have personally noted some young children with composite tumors showing mixed differentiation, which include mixed morphologic and immunohistochemical staining patterns of blue nevi and neurofibromas. This further supports a similar derivation of blue nevus and Schwann cells.

#### **Risk for Melanoma**

Malignant transformation of dermal melanocytosis such as blue nevi, nevus of Ota, nevus of Ito, and Mongolian spots is uncommon, but may be no less frequent than in the much more common acquired nevi. It is difficult to estimate the incidence, as some of the largest case series of what has been referred to as malignant blue nevus or melanoma ex blue nevus typically include less than 20 cases (Connelly and Smith Jr. 1991; Costa et al. 2016) (Fig. 6). It is reasonable to conclude that malignant degeneration of these lesions undoubtedly happens but is a relatively rare



**Fig. 6** (a) Low power view of a malignant blue nevus. Asymmetric expansile nodules of melanocytes with many melanophages abutting the subcutis. (b) While there are areas of residual conventional blue nevus in the background, this higher power magnification shows an area of epithelioid transformation. (c and d) At the highest

magnification, one can see sheets of epithelioid melanocytes with notable nuclear atypia, prominent central nucleoli, and mitotic activity. Loss of BAP1 nuclear expression in these tumors has been shown to be an adverse prognostic parameter as in uveal melanoma.

event. Caucasian patients with nevus of Ota have an increased risk of uveal melanoma. When cutaneous melanoma occurs in these abovementioned lesions, they have similar genomic patterns and morphologic features to uveal melanoma, further underlining their close biologic relationship. It has long been recognized that the pattern of genomic alterations in uveal melanomas could be used to predict prognosis. Initially, this was done by cytogenetics. Cases with deletions involving 3p21 (BAP1) or gains/amplifications of 8q24 (c-Myc) had a significantly worse prognosis than cases without either of these alterations (Aalto et al. 2001; Harbour et al. 2010). More recently, it has been shown that while mutations in BAP1 are associated with aggressive disease, mutations in ElF1AX and SF3B1 may be good prognostic markers (Harbour and Chao 2014). Furthermore, not entirely surprisingly, in a recent study of cutaneous malignant blue nevi and cellular blue nevi, BAP1 mutations were similarly associated with aggressive disease, further establishing the similarities of melanomas arising from blue nevi and uveal melanoma (Costa et al. 2016).

## Melanoma

## Background Clinical and Histologic Features

The traditional classification of melanoma by Clark and colleagues distinguishes 4 major classes of cutaneous melanomas, which includes superficial spreading type, nodular type, acral type, and lentigo maligna type. This classification system is primarily based on a combination of clinical and histomorphologic features.

#### Superficial Spreading Melanoma

Superficial spreading melanomas (SSM) are the most common subtype of melanoma accounting for approximately 60% of all melanomas (Singh et al. 2016). They may occur in all areas of the body but are most frequent on the trunk and extremities. This is the subtype of melanoma most likely to evolve from a precursor nevus and is the subtype of melanoma most linked to elevated nevus counts (Maldonado et al. 2003; Tsao et al. 2003). The ABCD rule is most useful and relevant to this subtype of melanoma. It suggests looking for asymmetric lesions, irregular borders, multiple colors, and size greater than 6 mm (Rigel et al. 2005). Common abnormal dermoscopic features include radial streaming, unilateral pseudopods, black blotches, and atypical network which are all features correlating to an atypical radial growth phase or in situ component. These lesions most often occur in areas of intermittently sun-damaged skin but can also occur in areas of chronic sun damage.

Histologically, these lesions are defined by having a radial growth phase with or without any vertical growth phase, but if there is a vertical growth phase, it is accompanied by an adjacent radial growth phase component that extends at least 3 rete ridges (by convention) beyond any vertical growth phase component. Prominent lentiginous growth of melanocytes along the dermal-epidermal junction with single melanocytes often predominating over nests is common. Lesions are often highly asymmetric and have poor lateral circumscription, often having irregular dispersion of single melanocytes at one lateral edge (Fig. 7). Pagetoid spread of melanocytes is common and may be widespread. Expansile junctional nesting with clustered mitoses and widespread nuclear atypia of melanocytes is commonly seen. A nevus remnant is present in up to one-third of cases.

## Nodular Melanoma

Nodular melanomas may also occur both in areas of chronic and non-chronic/intermittently sun-damaged skin. A precursor nevus may be present but is less frequent than in the SSM subtype of melanoma (Pan et al. 2017; Yelamos et al. 2015b). Nodular melanomas are less likely to be identifiable by ABCD criteria. Lesions may be either symmetric, uniformly colored or asymmetric, multicolored nodular or papular lesions. Many cases are amelanotic and lack significant pigmentation and are often mistaken for basal or squamous cell carcinomas. There may be some dermoscopic clues, which include blue-white veil, multiple colors, the presence of shiny white streaks (Verzi et al. 2018), and a dot or polymorphous vascular pattern. While prognostically there is no difference between similarly staged SSM and NM, on average NM is diagnosed at a more advanced stage than SSM and is responsible for a disproportionate number of melanomarelated deaths (Mar et al. 2013). Studies suggest both the rapid growth of NM which goes directly into a vertical growth phase without a preceding radial growth phase and the difficulty in clinical recognition of these cases contributes to the advanced stage at diagnosis (Betti et al. 2008; Liu et al. 2008).

Histologically, nodular melanomas may have a junctional component, but they often do not have fully developed changes of melanoma in situ. By definition, if present, the junctional component does not extend more than 2 rete ridges beyond the dermal component. In NM the intraepidermal component may only have scattered signs of a more disconcerting process, such as focal areas of atypical junctional melanocytic hyperplasia, foci of pagetoid cells, or expansile nesting. In the dermis, there is often expansile nesting or sheet-like growth of melanocytes with nuclear atypia and mitotic activity. In histologic assessment of nodular melanomas arising from a nevus, melanocytes in the dermis often go through a transition, in which the cytology changes from that of a small, banal appearing cell with open chromatin and an unremarkable nucleolus to a large atypical cell with atypical nuclear features and a large prominent nucleolus with dusty,



**Fig. 7** (a) 65-year-old male with a new, irregular, multicolored macule measuring 5 mm on the back. (b) Dermoscopic assessment shows asymmetric streaks extending along the 1 o'clock to 5 o'clock edge. There are scar-like white areas consistent with regression, scattered asymmetric granules seen between 10 and 3 o'clock, and a focus of a residual distorted network around 6 o'clock. (c) Low power histology reveals an irregularly nested proliferation of highly atypical and

pigmented cytoplasm. Even when an in situ melanoma component is present, it is unlikely that invasive melanoma always originates from the epidermis.

## Lentigo Maligna Melanoma

Lentigo Maligna Melanoma (LMM) is a subtype of melanoma occurring exclusively in areas of chronically sun-damaged skin. Epidemiologically, melanomas of this type are most linked to lower intensity but prolonged and excessive UV exposure that results in the normal collagen

pleomorphic melanocytes along the DEJ consistent with melanoma in situ and prominent underlying regression in the superficial dermis. (d) The higher magnification shows the irregularly nested atypical melanocytes with clefted spaces at the DEJ and broad underlying regression. This melanoma occurring on intermittently sun-damaged skin with a prominent nested pattern and highly pigmented melanocytes has a high likelihood of BRAF mutation.

bundles of the dermis developing into broad bands of grey solar elastotic material. They are predominantly seen in a head and neck distribution or on distal extremities and less commonly on the trunk. These melanomas often have a prolonged radial growth phase before entering a vertical growth phase. Lesions often appear as a variably pigmented patch on a background of poikilodermatous skin. Helpful dermoscopic features include asymmetric perifollicular pigmentation or perifollicular pigmented dots, rhomboidal structures or angulated lines, areas of homogeneous pigmentation, or essentially an asymmetric pigment blotch. In general, any newly occurring melanocytic neoplasm occurring in a background of poikilodermatous/sundamaged skin measuring 1 cm or greater in diameter should be considered highly suspicious for lentigo maligna.

The histologic growth pattern of LMM consists of single, variably atypical melanocytes, growing along the dermal-epidermal junction with less pagetoid spread than typically seen in superficial spreading melanomas. The epidermal rete ridges may or may not be effaced as a result of the extensive basal layer proliferation of atypical melanocytes. The lentiginous growth of single melanocytes may have florid extension into the adnexal epithelium (Fig. 8). A nevus remnant is not seen, but it is not uncommon to find small dermal nevic aggregates. These are not precursors but rather incidental benign nevi, as is commonly found in these anatomic sites. These melanomas are notorious for having a field effect as the direct result of mutagenic effects of ultraviolet exposure. This can result in melanocytic cells away from the primary focus carrying the same genetic alterations as those in the primary focus. Likewise, there can be skip lesions. Often, one may attempt a small incisional biopsy and find nondiagnostic changes. Clearance of these lesions can be difficult since areas of surrounding field effect can result in recurrences.

The dermal component may be a conventional epithelioid invasive melanoma or a desmoplastic spindle cell neurotropic melanoma. Desmoplastic spindle cell melanomas have hyperchromatic, atypical spindle shaped melanocytes often in a myxoid stroma with surrounding lymphoid aggregates, extending deep into the skin, often to or below the level of the subcutis. These hyperchromatic spindle cells may form fascicles deeply diving down into the dermis. There is often a sclerotic stroma, which pushes aside the solar elastosis, so that there is a rim of thick solar elastotic material around the periphery of the lesion. Neurotropism is common. Prognostic studies have shown that those cases with >90%desmoplastic pattern have low incidence of lymph node involvement, compared to cases that are more biphasic and have both a desmoplastic and

solid epithelial component making up more than 10% of the lesion (Gyorki et al. 2003; Pawlik et al. 2006; George et al. 2009).

## **Acral Lentiginous Melanoma**

Acral lentiginous melanoma (ALM) is a subtype of melanoma occurring on the volar surfaces of hands and feet and the nail apparatus. However, not all melanomas on acral surfaces are of the acral lentiginous subtype of melanoma. This subtype, like lentigo maligna, has a prominent radial growth phase component with single atypical cells along the dermal-epidermal junction. Importantly, because this subtype of melanoma has either limited or no UV signature mutations, UV exposure is not thought to be the predominant factor in most cases. More on acral melanomas is discussed in a separate chapter.

## Initiating and Characteristic Oncogenic Events

Genomic changes resulting in malignant transformation of melanocytes is covered in detail in the ► Chap. 7, "Molecular Genetics of Melanocytic Neoplasia." In this section, we will focus on discussing the initiating genomic event most typical of each subclass of melanoma. There is not a perfect correlation of genomics with subtype or clinical and morphologic features, but there are some general trends. For example, factors such as younger age (<55 years of age) (Viros et al. 2008), involvement of skin without a high cumulative level of sun exposure (Broekaert et al. 2010), the presence of a precursor nevus, nest formation, notable melanin pigmentation, and a radial growth phase with notable pagetoid scatter have all been linked to higher likelihood of a BRAF mutation. These given clinical and morphologic features are most typical of the superficial spreading type of melanoma, and hence it follows that superficial spreading melanomas are the most likely type of melanoma among the 4 subtypes to have a BRAF mutation as the initiating genomic event. Approximately 52% of



**Fig. 8** (a) Poikilodermatous skin with a brown pigmented patch anterior to the sideburn in a 72-year-old male. (b) Dermoscopic assessment shows a pseudoreticulated pattern and the presence of asymmetric clusters of pigment granules in a perifollicular distribution, a feature often seen in lentigo maligna. (c) Low power histology of a lentigo maligna type of melanoma, which shows broad lentiginous growth of single melanocytes with small nests predominantly in the basal layer of the epidermis and within the

follicular epithelium. (d) The higher magnification highlights the confluent single cell proliferation of atypical melanocytes in the follicular epithelium. This pattern of broad single cell growth of atypical melanocytes above chronically sun-damaged skin can be seen in KIT mutated melanomas. The melanocyte precursor in this case is an epithelial-derived melanocyte and likely has a high mutational burden.

SSM have BRAF and 20% have NRAS mutations (Viros et al. 2008).

The genomics of nodular melanomas may vary considerably, depending on whether they are nodular melanomas occurring in an area of the skin with high, low, or no cumulative sun exposure. Again younger age, location in areas of intermittently sun-damaged skin, and the presence of a precursor nevus increase the likelihood of a BRAF mutation. Conversely, the probability of an NRAS mutated NM increases with older age (Ellerhorst et al. 2011). The frequency of BRAF mutations in nodular melanomas in general is 41% and of NRAS is 27% (Lee et al. 2011). Another characteristic genomic alteration in amelanotic nodular melanomas is copy number gains in 8q24 at the C-Myc locus (Pouryazdanparast et al. 2012a; b). There is evidence that elevation in Myc can down regulate MITF, which is the master regulatory gene of pigmentary production. This results in decreased levels of tyrosinase, decreased melanin production, and an amelanotic appearance.

The initiating oncogenic event in LMM may involve NF1, c-Kit, NRAS, or BRAF. NF1 mutations are particularly common in those LMM cases with a desmoplastic and spindle cell component (Gutzmer et al. 2000). Mutations in c-Kit can be seen in approximately 20% of melanomas of LMM and are most typical of those melanomas which begin with a broad lentiginous growth pattern along the dermal-epidermal junction (Curtin et al. 2006). Approximately 22% of LMM have BRAF mutations and 14% of LMM have NRAS mutations.

Approximately 20% of ALM have BRAF mutations, 30% have NRAS mutations (Haugh et al. 2018), 20% have c-KIT mutations (Curtin et al. 2006), and 17% have NF1 mutations (Moon et al. 2018). Structural aberrations with copy number gains in Cyclin D1 and CDK4 as well as deletions in CDKN2A are also particularly common in this subtype of melanoma (Bastian et al. 2000).

BRAF and NRAS mutations alone are insufficient for malignant transformation of melanocytes, and these mutations can be seen in nevi as well. It is the accumulation of additional genomic events over time, typically the result of UV exposure that results in the transformation of these lesions to melanoma (Shain et al. 2015). Some critical additional genomic events leading towards transformation with an initiating activating mutation in BRAF or NRAS include subsequent TERT promoter mutation or amplification, homozygous deletion or mutation in CDKN2A, or PTEN deletions or mutations (Tsao et al. 2004; Dankort et al. 2009; Huang et al. 2013). In ALM, which mostly occur independent of UV damage, structural aberrations in chromosomes leading to copy number gains in oncogenes or deletions of tumor suppressor genes have a greater role.

## **Cell of Origin**

Superficial spreading, acral lentiginous, and lentigo maligna melanoma all likely originate from an epidermal-derived melanocyte as evidenced by the characteristic radial growth phase component seen in these tumors. The nodular types of melanoma may occur via an epidermal-derived melanocytic cell, which may explain the majority of nodular melanomas. However, some nodular melanomas have no junctional component and may evolve through a dermal derived melanocytic cell. In the author's experience, many nodular melanomas evolve from a conventional compound or dermal nevus. Hence, if the original nevus is compound and derived from an epidermal melanocyte, the subsequent melanoma would also be. Contrastingly, a melanoma arising from a dermal nevus with congenital features likely is originating from a melanocytic cell of dermal origin. Desmoplastic spindle cell melanomas which only have an overlying lentiginous melanoma in the epidermis in 50% of cases may originate from UV damage to a dermal melanocyte. Transformation of a dermal melanocyte having common origins with Schwann cells may explain the neural differentiation and neurotropism often seen in desmoplastic and spindle cell melanomas in chronically sun-damaged skin.

## **TCGA Classification**

As described above, there is considerable genetic variability within the melanoma subtypes defined by Clark. With the emergence of genetic studies and recognition of important therapeutic implications of specific genetic aberrations in melanoma, other classification schemes have evolved. The TCGA of cutaneous melanomas excludes acral and mucosal melanoma and proposes a genetically based classification system which categorizes melanoma into four major groups: (1) BRAF mutated, (2) NRAS mutated, (3) NF1 mutated, and (4) triple wild type (i.e., wild type for BRAF, NRAS, and NF1). The last category is very heterogeneous and includes cases with c-KIT or GNAQ as well as other mutations and melanomas resulting from fusions or other structural aberrations. In the TCGA study, BRAF mutations were associated with younger age as in previous studies, as well as MITF amplifications. RAS mutations characteristically show elevated MAPK activation and AKT3 overexpression, while NF1 mutated melanomas were seen in older patients with higher mutational burden (Cancer Genome Atlas 2015).

## An Integrated Taxonomy of Melanocytic Neoplasia

A taxonomy that integrates the clinical and histopathological features, genetic alterations, role of UV radiation, and epidemiological variation has been suggested by Bastian. This system classifies melanocytic neoplasms into two major categories: melanomas originating from melanocytes associated or not associated with epithelia such as epidermis or mucosa. Within each category, the classification distinguishes several classes of neoplasms that evolve from different types of precursor lesions to different melanoma subtypes through the progressive accumulation of genetic alterations (Bastian 2014).

The family originating from epitheliaassociated melanocytes includes the following groups: (1) melanomas on sun-exposed skin without cumulative sun-induced damage (low-CSD melanomas) (Table 3). These melanomas lack marked solar elastosis in their surrounding skin, have frequent BRAF V600E mutations, and often arise from precursor nevi and affect the trunk and proximal extremities of patients under 55 years of age. (2) Melanomas on sun-exposed skin with high cumulative sun-induced damage (high-CSD melanomas). These melanomas show marked solar elastosis in their surrounding skin, have frequent NF1, NRAS, BRAF non-V600E, and KIT mutations, do not arise from precursor nevi, and affect the head and neck areas of patients over 55 years of age (3) acral melanoma, (4) mucosal melanoma, (5) desmoplastic melanoma, (6) Spitz melanoma, defined by specific genetic alterations such as HRAS mutation or kinase fusions. This

	Melanoma of non-CSD skin	Melanoma of CSD skin
Age at diagnosis (peak range)	40–50 years	60-80 years
Common sites of occurrence	Trunk and extremities or areas with intermittent bursts of UV exposure	Head and neck region or areas with prolonged and excessive UV exposure
Clinical presentation	ABCD rule – Most related to superficial spreading type of melanoma; lesions typically present with asymmetry, irregular borders, variegated color, and a diameter > 6 mm; often arise from a precursor nevus Nodular melanomas appear as either amelanotic or darkly pigmented, pedunculated, or polypoid nodules	Lentigo maligna melanoma often appears as a multicolored or darkly pigmented macular patch with variable pigmentation on a background of poikilodermatous skin Melanomas of SSM or nodular types appear similarly to those of non-CSD
Dermoscopic features	Typically include asymmetric blue-gray veil, unilateral pseudopods, radial streaming, irregular blue/black blotches and/or granules, shiny white streaks, or an atypical network; may also include dot or polymorphous vascular patterns	Typically include asymmetric perifollicular pigmentation, perifollicular pigmented dots, rhomboidal structures or angulated line, areas of homogeneous pigmentation
Histological characteristics	SSM – Broad radial growth phase extending at least three rete ridges beyond the dermal component; often single cells with lentiginous or pagetoid growth pattern predominating over nests Nodular – Lack a radial growth phase; have expansile nests or sheets of atypical mitotically active melanocytes in the dermis	Dermis has thick bundles of gray solar elastotic material LMM – Typically has a prominent basal layer proliferation of variably atypical melanocytes and an effacement of the rete ridge often with extensive involvement of the adnexa SSM and nodular possess similar characteristics to non-CSD melanoma
Common initiating genetic events	BRAF (50%) NRAS (30%)	NF1 (45% Desmoplastic melanoma) KIT (20%) NRAS (20%) BRAF (10–30%)

Table 3 Comparison of CSD and non-CSD melanoma

differs from Spitzoid melanoma, which is defined only by morphology, and has been shown to consist mostly of other melanomas (low-CSD) (cite PMID: 28186096).

The second category of melanocytic neoplasms arising from melanocytes not associated with epithelia consists of uveal melanoma, blue nevi and blue nevus-like melanomas, and melanocytomas of internal organs and related melanomas. These neoplasms are characterized by somatic mutations of the G $\alpha$ q pathway, mostly at the level of GNAQ or GNA11. Also in this category fall bona fide congenital nevi and melanomas developing within leptomeninges. This classification system provides a more detailed subtyping of melanoma into groups that have greater homogeneity in underlying genetics and clinical behavior.

## **Staging of Melanoma**

The American Joint Committee on Cancer has recently released the 8th edition of a Tumor, Nodes, Metastasis (TNM) staging system which includes specific changes to the T staging of melanoma. The primary factor in T staging is Breslow depth, which is a measurement from the granular layer of the epidermis to the deepest melanoma cell in the skin. Additional factors impacting the T stage include the presence of ulceration of the epidermis, which must be ulceration induced by excessive proliferation of melanoma cells near the surface of the skin and obviously does not include traumatically induced ulcers. Although in practice, it is not always simple to make this distinction. Mitotic count has been removed from the staging of T1 tumors. There is strong evidence in the literature linking mitotic activity to prognosis in general (Azzola et al. 2003; Francken et al. 2004; Thompson et al. 2011). However, the inclusion of mitoses as in the 7th edition as a discrete variable of absent or present was suboptimal. Numerous studies have also shown that the hot spot method of counting mitoses has considerable interobserver variability (Larsen et al. 1980; Heenan et al. 1984; Cook et al. 1996). Eventually, when more optimal cut off parameters for mitoses

can be identified, it is likely that mitotic count will be re-introduced into the AJCC staging system.

In the 8th edition, T1a tumors are those that <0.8 mm in Breslow depth without ulceration. Tumors that are 0.8-1.00 mm with or without ulceration are T1b. Tumors ranging from >1.0 mm to 2.00 are T2, from >2.0 to 4.00 are T3, and those tumors greater than 4.00 mm are T4. The presence of ulceration moves the staging from T2a, T3a, or T4a to T2b, T3b, or T4b, respectively. According to the AJCC database of 23,001 patients stratified for T stage with no evidence of regional or distant metastasis at the time of diagnosis, the 10-year melanoma-specific survival was 98% for T1a, 96% for T1b, 92% for T2a, 88% for T2b, 88% for T3a, 81% for T3b, 83% for T4a, and 75% for T4b (Gershenwald et al. 2017.

The TNM classification of melanoma has contributed significantly to the ability to provide patients prognostic information about their disease, guide management, and standardize clinical trials. However, there remains a significant proportion of early stage patients who develop aggressive disease and patients with more advanced T stages including some with microscopic lymph node involvement who do well (Shaikh et al. 2016; Whiteman et al. 2015; Landow et al. 2017). Hence, there are limitations to traditional morphologic descriptors. Recently, a molecular-based staging system assessing mRNA expression of 31 distinct genes has emerged in clinical practice in the United States (Gerami et al. 2015a, b; Zager et al. 2018). This molecular test classifies melanoma into four categories: class 1a, 1b, 2a, and 2b and in retrospective studies has shown highly statistically significant correlation with outcome in multivariate analysis, independent of traditional prognostic markers.

## Conclusion

In conclusion, this chapter describes the clinical and histologic features of melanoma and their relationship to the more recently described genomic alterations. Genetic changes are becoming increasingly important to assist in the diagnostic classification of ambiguous melanocytic neoplasms. An example of this could be identifying a GNAQ mutation in a spindle and dendritic shaped melanocytic neoplasm with some atypia, which would favor blue nevus over the differential diagnosis of a desmoplastic melanoma. In malignant melanocytic neoplasms, the classification system is useful in predicting the pretest probability of finding genetic alterations predictive of response to targeted therapy. These are just two examples of how a classification system integrating genomics and melanocyte biology, as outlined in this chapter, could be utilized to better diagnose and predict the behavior of melanocytic neoplasms of the skin.

## References

- Aalborg J, Morelli JG, Mokrohisky ST, Asdigian NL, Byers TE, Dellavalle RP, Box NF, Crane LA (2009) Tanning and increased nevus development in verylight-skinned children without red hair. Arch Dermatol 145(9):989–996
- Aalto Y, Eriksson L, Seregard S, Larsson O, Knuutila S (2001) Concomitant loss of chromosome 3 and whole arm losses and gains of chromosome 1, 6, or 8 in metastasizing primary uveal melanoma. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 42(2):313–317
- Alikhan A, Ibrahimi OA, Eisen DB (2012) Congenital melanocytic nevi: where are we now? Part I. Clinical presentation, epidemiology, pathogenesis, histology, malignant transformation, and neurocutaneous melanosis. J Am Acad Dermatol 67(4):495–511
- Azzola MF, Shaw HM, Thompson JF, Soong SJ, Scolyer RA, Watson GF, Colman MH, Zhang Y (2003) Tumor mitotic rate is a more powerful prognostic indicator than ulceration in patients with primary cutaneous melanoma: an analysis of 3661 patients from a single center. Cancer 97(6):1488–1498. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/cncr.11196
- Ball NJ, Golitz LE (1994) Melanocytic nevi with focal atypical epithelioid cell components: a review of seventy-three cases. J Am Acad Dermatol 30 (5 Pt 1):724–729
- Bastian BC (2014) The molecular pathology of melanoma: an integrated taxonomy of melanocytic neoplasia. Annu Rev Pathol 9:239–271. https://doi.org/10.1146/ annurev-pathol-012513-104658
- Bastian BC, Kashani-Sabet M, Hamm H, Godfrey T, Moore DH 2nd, Brocker EB, LeBoit PE, Pinkel D (2000) Gene amplifications characterize acral melanoma and permit the detection of occult tumor cells in the surrounding skin. Cancer Res 60(7):1968–1973

- Bastian BC, Xiong J, Frieden IJ, Williams ML, Chou P, Busam K, Pinkel D, LeBoit PE (2002) Genetic changes in neoplasms arising in congenital melanocytic nevi: differences between nodular proliferations and melanomas. Am J Pathol 161(4):1163–1169. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/S0002-9440(10)64393-3
- Bauer J, Curtin JA, Pinkel D, Bastian BC (2007) Congenital melanocytic nevi frequently harbor NRAS mutations but no BRAF mutations. J Invest Dermatol 127(1):179–182
- Bett BJ (2005) Large or multiple congenital melanocytic nevi: occurrence of cutaneous melanoma in 1008 persons. J Am Acad Dermatol 52(5):793–797
- Betti R, Martino P, Vergani R, Gualandri L, Crosti C (2008) Nodular melanomas: analysis of the casistic and relationship with thick melanomas and diagnostic delay. J Dermatol 35(10):643–650. https://doi.org/10.1111/ j.1346-8138.2008.00536.x
- Broekaert SM, Roy R, Okamoto I, van den Oord J, Bauer J, Garbe C, Barnhill RL, Busam KJ, Cochran AJ, Cook MG, Elder DE, McCarthy SW, Mihm MC, Schadendorf D, Scolyer RA, Spatz A, Bastian BC (2010) Genetic and morphologic features for melanoma classification. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res 23(6):763–770. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1755-148X.2010.00778.x
- Cancer Genome Atlas N (2015) Genomic classification of cutaneous melanoma. Cell 161(7):1681–1696
- Castilla EE, da Graca Dutra M, Orioli-Parreiras IM (1981)
  Epidemiology of congenital pigmented naevi:
  I. Incidence rates and relative frequencies. Br J
  Dermatol 104(3):307–315
- Connelly J, Smith JL Jr (1991) Malignant blue nevus. Cancer 67(10):2653–2657
- Cook MG, Clarke TJ, Humphreys S, Fletcher A, McLaren KM, Smith NP, Stevens A, Theaker JM, Melia J (1996) The evaluation of diagnostic and prognostic criteria and the terminology of thin cutaneous malignant melanoma by the CRC melanoma pathology panel. Histopathology 28(6):497–512
- Costa S, Byrne M, Pissaloux D, Haddad V, Paindavoine S, Thomas L, Aubin F, Lesimple T, Grange F, Bonniaud B, Mortier L, Mateus C, Dreno B, Balme B, Vergier B, de la Fouchardiere A (2016) Melanomas associated with blue nevi or mimicking cellular blue nevi: clinical, pathologic, and molecular study of 11 cases displaying a high frequency of GNA11 mutations, BAP1 expression loss, and a predilection for the scalp. Am J Surg Pathol 40(3):368–377
- Curtin JA, Busam K, Pinkel D, Bastian BC (2006) Somatic activation of KIT in distinct subtypes of melanoma. J Clin Oncol 24(26):4340–4346
- Dankort D, Curley DP, Cartlidge RA, Nelson B, Karnezis AN, Damsky WE Jr, You MJ, DePinho RA, McMahon M, Bosenberg M (2009) Braf(V600E) cooperates with Pten loss to induce metastatic melanoma. Nat Genet 41(5):544–552
- DeDavid M, Orlow SJ, Provost N, Marghoob AA, Rao BK, Wasti Q, Huang CL, Kopf AW, Bart RS

(1996) Neurocutaneous melanosis: clinical features of large congenital melanocytic nevi in patients with manifest central nervous system melanosis. J Am Acad Dermatol 35(4):529–538

- Dulon M, Weichenthal M, Blettner M, Breitbart M, Hetzer M, Greinert R, Baumgardt-Elms C, Breitbart EW (2002) Sun exposure and number of nevi in 5- to 6-year-old European children. J Clin Epidemiol 55(11):1075–1081
- Ellerhorst JA, Greene VR, Ekmekcioglu S, Warneke CL, Johnson MM, Cooke CP, Wang LE, Prieto VG, Gershenwald JE, Wei Q, Grimm EA (2011) Clinical correlates of NRAS and BRAF mutations in primary human melanoma. Clin Cancer Res 17(2):229–235
- Fernandes KJ, McKenzie IA, Mill P, Smith KM, Akhavan M, Barnabe-Heider F, Biernaskie J, Junek A, Kobayashi NR, Toma JG, Kaplan DR, Labosky PA, Rafuse V, Hui CC, Miller FD (2004) A dermal niche for multipotent adult skin-derived precursor cells. Nat Cell Biol 6(11):1082–1093
- Elder DE (2016) Melanoma progression. Pathology 48(2):147–154
- Francken AB, Shaw HM, Thompson JF, Soong SJ, Accortt NA, Azzola MF, Scolyer RA, Milton GW, McCarthy WH, Colman MH, McGovern VJ (2004) The prognostic importance of tumor mitotic rate confirmed in 1317 patients with primary cutaneous melanoma and long follow-up. Ann Surg Oncol 11(4):426–433. https://doi.org/10.1245/ ASO.2004.07.014
- George E, McClain SE, Slingluff CL, Polissar NL, Patterson JW (2009) Subclassification of desmoplastic melanoma: pure and mixed variants have significantly different capacities for lymph node metastasis. J Cutan Pathol 36(4):425–432
- Gerami P, Cook RW, Russell MC, Wilkinson J, Amaria RN, Gonzalez R, Lyle S, Jackson GL, Greisinger AJ, Johnson CE, Oelschlager KM, Stone JF, Maetzold DJ, Ferris LK, Wayne JD, Cooper C, Obregon R, Delman KA, Lawson D (2015a) Gene expression profiling for molecular staging of cutaneous melanoma in patients undergoing sentinel lymph node biopsy. J Am Acad Dermatol 72(5):780–785. e783. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaad.2015.01.009
- Gerami P, Cook RW, Wilkinson J, Russell MC, Dhillon N, Amaria RN, Gonzalez R, Lyle S, Johnson CE, Oelschlager KM, Jackson GL, Greisinger AJ, Maetzold D, Delman KA, Lawson DH, Stone JF (2015b) Development of a prognostic genetic signature to predict the metastatic risk associated with cutaneous melanoma. Clin Cancer Res 21(1):175–183. https:// doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-13-3316
- Gershenwald JE, Scolyer RA, Hess KR, Sondak VK, Long GV, Ross MI, Lazar AJ, Faries MB, Kirkwood JM, McArthur GA, Haydu LE, Eggermont AMM, Flaherty KT, Balch CM, Thompson JF, for members of the American Joint Committee on Cancer Melanoma Expert Panel and the International Melanoma Database and Discovery Platform (2017) Melanoma staging:

evidence-based changes in the American joint committee on Cancer eighth edition cancer staging manual. CA Cancer J Clin 67(6):472–492. https://doi.org/10.3322/ caac.21409

- Goldgar DE, Cannon-Albright LA, Meyer LJ, Piepkorn MW, Zone JJ, Skolnick MH (1991) Inheritance of nevus number and size in melanoma and dysplastic nevus syndrome kindreds. J Natl Cancer Inst 83(23):1726–1733
- Gutzmer R, Herbst RA, Mommert S, Kiehl P, Matiaske F, Rutten A, Kapp A, Weiss J (2000) Allelic loss at the neurofibromatosis type 1 (NF1) gene locus is frequent in desmoplastic neurotropic melanoma. Hum Genet 107(4):357–361
- Gyorki DE, Busam K, Panageas K, Brady MS, Coit DG (2003) Sentinel lymph node biopsy for patients with cutaneous desmoplastic melanoma. Ann Surg Oncol 10(4):403–407
- Harbour JW, Chao DL (2014) A molecular revolution in uveal melanoma: implications for patient care and targeted therapy. Ophthalmology 121(6): 1281–1288
- Harbour JW, Onken MD, Roberson ED, Duan S, Cao L, Worley LA, Council ML, Matatall KA, Helms C, Bowcock AM (2010) Frequent mutation of BAP1 in metastasizing uveal melanomas. Science 330(6009): 1410–1413
- Haugh AM, Zhang B, Quan VL, Garfield EM, Bubley JA, Kudalkar E, Verzi AE, Walton K, VandenBoom T, Merkel EA, Lee CY, Tan T, Isales MC, Kong BY, Wenzel AT, Bunick CG, Choi J, Sosman J, Gerami P (2018) Distinct patterns of Acral melanoma based on site and relative sun exposure. J Invest Dermatol 138 (2):384–393. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jid.2017.08.022
- Heenan PJ, Matz LR, Blackwell JB, Kelsall GR, Singh A, ten Seldam RE, Holman CD (1984) Inter-observer variation between pathologists in the classification of cutaneous malignant melanoma in western Australia. Histopathology 8(5):717–729
- Huang FW, Hodis E, Xu MJ, Kryukov GV, Chin L, Garraway LA (2013) Highly recurrent TERT promoter mutations in human melanoma. Science 339(6122): 957–959
- Hussein MR, Wood GS (2002) Molecular aspects of melanocytic dysplastic nevi. J Mol Diagn 4(2):71–80. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1525-1578(10)60684-8
- Ichii-Nakato N, Takata M, Takayanagi S, Takashima S, Lin J, Murata H, Fujimoto A, Hatta N, Saida T (2006) High frequency of BRAFV600E mutation in acquired nevi and small congenital nevi, but low frequency of mutation in medium-sized congenital nevi. J Invest Dermatol 126(9):2111–2118
- Illig L, Weidner F, Hundeiker M, Gartmann H, Biess B, Leyh F, Paul E (1985) Congenital nevi less than or equal to 10 cm as precursors to melanoma. 52 cases, a review, and a new conception. Arch Dermatol 121(10): 1274–1281
- Kinsler VA, Chong WK, Aylett SE, Atherton DJ (2008) Complications of congenital melanocytic naevi in

children: analysis of 16 years' experience and clinical practice. Br J Dermatol 159(4):907–914

- Kinsler VA, Thomas AC, Ishida M, Bulstrode NW, Loughlin S, Hing S, Chalker J, McKenzie K, Abu-Amero S, Slater O, Chanudet E, Palmer R, Morrogh D, Stanier P, Healy E, Sebire NJ, Moore GE (2013) Multiple congenital melanocytic nevi and neurocutaneous melanosis are caused by postzygotic mutations in codon 61 of NRAS. J Invest Dermatol 133(9):2229–2236
- Landi MT, Bauer J, Pfeiffer RM, Elder DE, Hulley B, Minghetti P, Calista D, Kanetsky PA, Pinkel D, Bastian BC (2006) MC1R germline variants confer risk for BRAF-mutant melanoma. Science 313(5786):521–522
- Landow SM, Gjelsvik A, Weinstock MA (2017) Mortality burden and prognosis of thin melanomas overall and by subcategory of thickness, SEER registry data, 1992-2013. J Am Acad Dermatol 76(2):258–263. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.jaad.2016.10.018
- Larsen TE, Little JH, Orell SR, Prade M (1980) International pathologists congruence survey on quantitation of malignant melanoma. Pathology 12(2):245–253
- Lee S, Duffy DL, McClenahan P, Lee KJ, McEniery E, Burke B, Jagirdar K, Martin NG, Sturm RA, Soyer HP, Schaider H (2016) Heritability of naevus patterns in an adult twin cohort from the Brisbane twin registry: a cross-sectional study. Br J Dermatol 174(2):356–363
- Lee JH, Choi JW, Kim YS (2011) Frequencies of BRAF and NRAS mutations are different in histological types and sites of origin of cutaneous melanoma: a metaanalysis. Br J Dermatol 164(4):776–784. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1365-2133.2010.10185.x
- Liu W, McArthur GA, Trivett M, Murray WK, Wolfe R, Kelly JW (2008) Correlation of subjective self-reported melanoma growth rate with objective tumor proliferation markers. Arch Dermatol 144(4):555–556. https:// doi.org/10.1001/archderm.144.4.555
- Maldonado JL, Fridlyand J, Patel H, Jain AN, Busam K, Kageshita T, Ono T, Albertson DG, Pinkel D, Bastian BC (2003) Determinants of BRAF mutations in primary melanomas. J Natl Cancer Inst 95(24):1878–1890
- Mar V, Roberts H, Wolfe R, English DR, Kelly JW (2013) Nodular melanoma: a distinct clinical entity and the largest contributor to melanoma deaths in Victoria, Australia. J Am Acad Dermatol 68(4):568–575. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaad.2012.09.047
- Marghoob AA, Dusza S, Oliveria S, Halpern AC (2004) Number of satellite nevi as a correlate for neurocutaneous melanocytosis in patients with large congenital melanocytic nevi. Arch Dermatol 140(2):171–175
- Marks R, Dorevitch AP, Mason G (1990) Do all melanomas come from "moles"? A study of the histological association between melanocytic naevi and melanoma. Australas J Dermatol 31(2):77–80
- Moon KR, Choi YD, Kim JM, Jin S, Shin MH, Shim HJ, Lee JB, Yun SJ (2018) Genetic Alterations in Primary Acral Melanoma and Acral Melanocytic Nevus in

Korea: Common Mutated Genes Show Distinct Cytomorphological Features. J Invest Dermatol 138 (4):933–945. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jid.2017.11.017

- Nguyen LP, Emley A, Wajapeyee N, Green MR, Mahalingam M (2010) BRAF V600E mutation and the tumour suppressor IGFBP7 in atypical genital naevi. Br J Dermatol 162(3):677–680
- Oliveria SA, Yagerman SE, Jaimes N, Goodwin AI, Dusza SW, Halpern AC, Marghoob AA (2013) Clinical and dermoscopic characteristics of new naevi in adults: results from a cohort study. Br J Dermatol 169(4):848–853
- Pan Y, Adler NR, Wolfe R, McLean CA, Kelly JW (2017) Nodular melanoma is less likely than superficial spreading melanoma to be histologically associated with a naevus. Med J Aust 207(8):333–338
- Pawlik TM, Ross MI, Prieto VG, Ballo MT, Johnson MM, Mansfield PF, Lee JE, Cormier JN, Gershenwald JE (2006) Assessment of the role of sentinel lymph node biopsy for primary cutaneous desmoplastic melanoma. Cancer 106(4):900–906
- Phadke PA, Rakheja D, Le LP, Selim MA, Kapur P, Davis A, Mihm MC Jr, Hoang MP (2011) Proliferative nodules arising within congenital melanocytic nevi: a histologic, immunohistochemical, and molecular analyses of 43 cases. Am J Surg Pathol 35(5): 656–669
- Pollock PM, Harper UL, Hansen KS, Yudt LM, Stark M, Robbins CM, Moses TY, Hostetter G, Wagner U, Kakareka J, Salem G, Pohida T, Heenan P, Duray P, Kallioniemi O, Hayward NK, Trent JM, Meltzer PS (2003) High frequency of BRAF mutations in nevi. Nat Genet 33(1):19–20
- Pouryazdanparast P, Brenner A, Haghighat Z, Guitart J, Rademaker A, Gerami P (2012a) The role of 8q24 copy number gains and c-MYC expression in amelanotic cutaneous melanoma. Mod Pathol 25(9):1221–1226
- Pouryazdanparast P, Cowen DP, Beilfuss BA, Haghighat Z, Guitart J, Rademaker A, Gerami P (2012b) Distinctive clinical and histologic features in cutaneous melanoma with copy number gains in 8q24. Am J Surg Pathol 36(2):253–264
- Rhodes AR, Albert LS, Weinstock MA (1996) Congenital nevomelanocytic nevi: proportionate area expansion during infancy and early childhood. J Am Acad Dermatol 34(1):51–62
- Rigel DS, Friedman RJ, Kopf AW, Polsky D (2005) ABCDE–an evolving concept in the early detection of melanoma. Arch Dermatol 141(8):1032–1034
- Ruiz-Maldonado R, Tamayo L, Laterza AM, Duran C (1992) Giant pigmented nevi: clinical, histopathologic, and therapeutic considerations. J Pediatr 120(6): 906–911
- Scalzo DA, Hida CA, Toth G, Sober AJ, Mihm MC Jr (1997) Childhood melanoma: a clinicopathological study of 22 cases. Melanoma Res 7(1):63–68
- Shaikh WR, Dusza SW, Weinstock MA, Oliveria SA, Geller AC, Halpern AC (2016) Melanoma thickness and survival trends in the United States, 1989 to 2009.

J Natl Cancer Inst 108(1). https://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/ djv294

- Shain AH, Yeh I, Kovalyshyn I, Sriharan A, Talevich E, Gagnon A, Dummer R, North J, Pincus L, Ruben B, Rickaby W, D'Arrigo C, Robson A, Bastian BC (2015) The genetic evolution of melanoma from precursor lesions. N Engl J Med 373(20):1926–1936
- Shors AR, Kim S, White E, Argenyi Z, Barnhill RL, Duray P, Erickson L, Guitart J, Horenstein MG, Lowe L, Messina J, Rabkin MS, Schmidt B, Shea CR, Trotter MJ, Piepkorn MW (2006) Dysplastic naevi with moderate to severe histological dysplasia: a risk factor for melanoma. Br J Dermatol 155(5):988–993. https://doi.org/10.1111/ j.1365-2133.2006.07466.x
- Siegel RL, Miller KD, Jemal A (2016) Cancer statistics, 2016. CA Cancer J Clin 66(1):7–30
- Singh P, Kim HJ, Schwartz RA (2016) Superficial spreading melanoma: an analysis of 97 702 cases using the SEER database. Melanoma Res 26(4):395–400. https:// doi.org/10.1097/CMR.00000000000245
- Swerdlow AJ, English JS, Qiao Z (1995) The risk of melanoma in patients with congenital nevi: a cohort study. J Am Acad Dermatol 32(4):595–599
- Thomas NE, Edmiston SN, Alexander A, Millikan RC, Groben PA, Hao H, Tolbert D, Berwick M, Busam K, Begg CB, Mattingly D, Ollila DW, Tse CK, Hummer A, Lee-Taylor J, Conway K (2007) Number of nevi and early-life ambient UV exposure are associated with BRAF-mutant melanoma. Cancer Epidemiol Biomark Prev 16(5):991–997
- Thompson JF, Soong SJ, Balch CM, Gershenwald JE, Ding S, Coit DG, Flaherty KT, Gimotty PA, Johnson T, Johnson MM, Leong SP, Ross MI, Byrd DR, Cascinelli N, Cochran AJ, Eggermont AM, McMasters KM, Mihm MC Jr, Morton DL, Sondak VK (2011) Prognostic significance of mitotic rate in localized primary cutaneous melanoma: an analysis of patients in the multi-institutional American joint committee on Cancer melanoma staging database. J Clin Oncol 29(16):2199–2205. https://doi.org/10.1200/ JCO.2010.31.5812
- Tsao H, Bevona C, Goggins W, Quinn T (2003) The transformation rate of moles (melanocytic nevi) into cutaneous melanoma: a population-based estimate. Arch Dermatol 139(3):282–288
- Tsao H, Goel V, Wu H, Yang G, Haluska FG (2004) Genetic interaction between NRAS and BRAF mutations and PTEN/MMAC1 inactivation in melanoma. J Invest Dermatol 122(2):337–341. https://doi.org/ 10.1046/j.0022-202X.2004.22243.x
- Tucker MA, Fraser MC, Goldstein AM, Struewing JP, King MA, Crawford JT, Chiazze EA, Zametkin DP, Fontaine LS, Clark WH Jr (2002) A natural history of melanomas and dysplastic nevi: an atlas of lesions in melanoma-prone families. Cancer 94(12): 3192–3209
- Tucker MA, Halpern A, Holly EA, Hartge P, Elder DE, Sagebiel RW, Guerry D t, Clark WH Jr (1997)

Clinically recognized dysplastic nevi. A central risk factor for cutaneous melanoma. JAMA 277 (18):1439–1444

- Unna PG (1893) Nevi and nevocarcinome. Berl Klin Wochenschr 30:14–16
- Van Raamsdonk CD, Bezrookove V, Green G, Bauer J, Gaugler L, O'Brien JM, Simpson EM, Barsh GS, Bastian BC (2009) Frequent somatic mutations of GNAQ in uveal melanoma and blue naevi. Nature 457(7229):599–602
- Van Raamsdonk CD, Fitch KR, Fuchs H, de Angelis MH, Barsh GS (2004) Effects of G-protein mutations on skin color. Nat Genet 36(9):961–968
- Van Raamsdonk CD, Griewank KG, Crosby MB, Garrido MC, Vemula S, Wiesner T, Obenauf AC, Wackernagel W, Green G, Bouvier N, Sozen MM, Baimukanova G, Roy R, Heguy A, Dolgalev I, Khanin R, Busam K, Speicher MR, O'Brien J, Bastian BC (2010) Mutations in GNA11 in uveal melanoma. N Engl J Med 363(23):2191–2199
- Verzi AE, Quan VL, Walton KE, Martini MC, Marghoob AA, Garfield EM, Kong BY, Isales MC, VandenBoom T, Zhang B, West DP, Gerami P (2018) The diagnostic value and histologic correlate of distinct patterns of shiny white streaks for the diagnosis of melanoma: A retrospective, case-control study. J Am Acad Dermatol 78(5):913–919. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaad.2017. 11.021. PMID: 29138058
- Viros A, Fridlyand J, Bauer J, Lasithiotakis K, Garbe C, Pinkel D, Bastian BC (2008) Improving melanoma classification by integrating genetic and morphologic features. PLoS Med 5(6):e120. https://doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pmed.0050120
- Wachsmuth RC, Gaut RM, Barrett JH, Saunders CL, Randerson-Moor JA, Eldridge A, Martin NG, Bishop TD, Newton Bishop JA (2001) Heritability and gene-environment interactions for melanocytic nevus density examined in a U.K. adolescent twin study. J Invest Dermatol 117(2):348–352
- Whiteman DC, Baade PD, Olsen CM (2015) More people die from thin melanomas (1 mm) than from thick melanomas (>4 mm) in Queensland, Australia. J Invest Dermatol 135(4):1190–1193. https://doi.org/10.1038/ jid.2014.452
- Wiecker TS, Luther H, Buettner P, Bauer J, Garbe C (2003) Moderate sun exposure and nevus counts in parents are associated with development of melanocytic nevi in childhood: a risk factor study in 1,812 kindergarten children. Cancer 97(3):628–638
- Yelamos O, Arva NC, Obregon R, Yazdan P, Wagner A, Guitart J, Gerami P (2015a) A comparative study of proliferative nodules and lethal melanomas in congenital nevi from children. Am J Surg Pathol 39(3): 405–415
- Yelamos O, Busam KJ, Lee C, Meldi Sholl L, Amin SM, Merkel EA, Obregon R, Guitart J, Gerami P (2015b) Morphologic clues and utility of fluorescence in situ hybridization for the diagnosis of nevoid melanoma. J Cutan Pathol 42(11):796–806

Yelamos O, Merkel EA, Sholl LM, Zhang B, Amin SM, Lee CY, Guitart GE, Yang J, Wenzel AT, Bunick CG, Yazdan P, Choi J, Gerami P (2016) Non-overlapping clinical and mutational patterns in melanomas from the female genital tract and atypical genital nevi. J Invest Dermatol 136(9):1858–1865

Zager JS, Gastman BR, Leachman S, Gonzalez RC, Fleming MD, Ferris LK, Ho J, Miller AR, Cook RW, Covington KR, Meldi-Plasseraud K, Middlebrook B, Kaminester LH, Greisinger A, Estrada SI, Pariser DM, Cranmer LD, Messina JL, Vetto JT, Wayne JD, Delman KA, Lawson DH, Gerami P (2018) Performance of a prognostic 31-gene expression profile in an independent cohort of 523 cutaneous melanoma patients. BMC Cancer 18(1):130. https://doi.org/ 10.1186/s12885-018-4016-3



## **Congenital Melanocytic Naevi**

17

Veronica A. Kinsler, Miguel Reyes-Mugica, and Ashfaq Marghoob

## Contents

Introduction	366
Classification	366
For Publication, Research, and Sharing of Accurate Data	367
For Practical Management in the Clinic	368
Clinical Subtypes	370
Epidemiology	371
Incidence of CMN	371
Ethnicity, Gender, Environmental Factors	371
Melanoma in CMN	371
Pathogenesis	372
Mosaicism	372
Mutations in CMN	372
Potential Germline Predisposition	373
Clinical Features	373
Cutaneous	373
Neurological Manifestations	375
Facial Involvement	377
Endocrinological/Metabolic Manifestations	377
Other Clinical Associations	378
Dermoscopy Features	378

V. A. Kinsler (⊠) Paediatric Dermatology Department, Great Ormond Street Hospital for Children, London, UK e-mail: v.kinsler@ucl.ac.uk

M. Reyes-Mugica Division of Pediatric Pathology, Children's Hospital of Pittsburgh of UPMC, Pittsburgh, PA, USA e-mail: miguel.reyes@chp.edu

A. Marghoob Hauppauge Dermatology Section, Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center, New York, NY, USA e-mail: marghooa@mskcc.org

© Springer Science+Business Media, LLC, part of Springer Nature 2019 D. E. Fisher, B. C. Bastian (eds.), *Melanoma*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-7147-9_3

Histopathological Features	379
Additional Cell Populations and Tumors Arising in CMNs	382
Genetic Testing	383
In the Absence of Malignancy	383
In Suspected Malignancy	384
Genetic Counseling	386
Management	387
General Skin Care	387
Management of Patients with Solitary CMN	388
Management of Patients with Multiple CMN	389
Of a New Lump or Visible Change Within a CMN	390
Of a New Neurological Presentation	390
Of Primary Cutaneous Melanoma	390
Of Primary CNS Melanoma	390
Of the Esthetic Aspects of CMN	391
Conclusions	391
Online Resources	392
References	392

#### Abstract

The term congenital melanocytic naevi (CMN) covers a broad spectrum of clinical presentations, ranging from the common occurrence of small single CMN, to the rare occurrence of extensive and very numerous accompanied by extra-cutaneous CMN abnormalities. The study of these diseases is relevant to the wider understanding of naevogenesis and melanoma development and provides potentially powerful insights due to the lack of influence of ultraviolet radiation on the prenatal genetic events. Recent improved understanding of the pathogenesis of CMN, and of the relatively rare progression to melanoma, is contributing to the management of individuals affected by these conditions. In this chapter, current knowledge in this field and the authors' approach to management of this multifaceted disease will be reviewed.

#### Keywords

Congenital melanocytic naevus · CMN · NRAS · BRAF · Genetics · Pathogenesis · Management · Proliferative nodule · Melanoma · CNS

## Introduction

Congenital melanocytic nevi (CMN) are benign melanocytic neoplasms whose origin is determined in utero. The traditional definition of a congenital naevus is that of a birthmark present at birth. However, based on their pathogenetic mechanisms (vide infra), as well as clinical observations, congenital naevi may be present at birth or appear in the course of the first year or so of life. Their development results from disorders in the proliferation and migration of melanocytic precursor cells. While most CMN behave in a banal fashion throughout the life of the individual, some are associated with symptoms such as pruritus and develop associated malignancies such as melanoma, and some are associated with cosmetic impairments. In addition, some individuals with CMN are at risk for harboring noncutaneous anomalies involving the central nervous system (CNS).

## Classification

The classification of CMN has two main aims. The first is the standardization of phenotyping data collection, allowing clear communication between clinicians and researchers, and comparison of research publication data. The second is classification for practical management in a clinical setting and the production of current clinical management guidelines.

## For Publication, Research, and Sharing of Accurate Data

#### **Cutaneous Classification**

Classification of the cutaneous phenotype for these purposes has gone through many iterations over the last 30 years or so. The most recent version is detailed in Table 1, where each column is completed for each patient, resulting in a classification code. Full details of the classification are available in the original reference (Krengel et al. 2013). In addition, large CMN appear to follow specific patterns of anatomical distribution (Kinsler and Larue 2018; Martins da Silva et al. 2017). Evaluating only the phenotype of published cases of LCMN reveals that LCMN tend to be found on the upper back/neck (bolero distribution), mid back (back distribution), lower torso (bathing trunk distribution), breast/abdomen (breast/belly distribution), isolated to an extremity (body extremity distribution), or combination of bolero and bathing trunk distribution (body distribution) (Martins da Silva et al. 2017). Kinsler et al. subsequently provided a different set of patterns with a rational for the observed distribution of CMN and other congenital pigmentary disorders grounded in embryogenesis (Kinsler and Larue 2018). It is worth noting that the term "giant" can be perceived as derogatory by some patients/parents/physicians, and therefore the more general term of "large" or "extensive" may be more acceptable, in particular during patient interaction. For example of phenotypic variation of typical CMN see Fig. 1.

#### CMN Syndrome

Cutaneous classification however is only one part of a full phenotypic classification of patients with CMN. For anything other than single small CMN,

	Number of	Site of				
Projected adult size of	other CMN	largest	Color			
largest CMN	("satellites")	CMN	heterogeneity	Rugosity	Nodules	Hypertrichosis
Small (<1.5 cm)	0 (S0)	Head	None (C0)	None (R0)	None (N0)	None (H0)
Medium	1-20 (S1)	Trunk	Moderate	Moderate	Moderate	Moderate
(M1) (1.5-10 cm)			(C1)	(R1)	(N1)	(H1)
Medium M2)	>20-50 (S2)	Extremities	Marked (C2)	Marked	Marked	Marked (H2)
(>10-20 cm)				(R2)	(N2)	
Large	>50 (S3)					
(L1) (>20-30 cm)						
Large						
(L2) (>30-40 cm)						
Giant						
(G1) (>40-60 cm)						
Giant (G2) (>60 cm)						
Multiple medium						
CMN (three or more						
medium CMN without						
an obvious						
predominant-sized						
CMN)						

 
 Table 1
 Most recently proposed cutaneous classification of CMN. Each column to be scored separately, using letter/ number codes where given

Adapted from Krengel et al. (2013)



**Fig. 1** Examples of cutaneous clinical phenotypic spectrum of CMN. (a) Large CMN arm and hand. (b) Multiple CMN with largest naevus >60 cm projected adult size. (c) Naevus spilus type CMN

it is important to include clinical neurological findings and radiological (MRI) neurological findings where appropriate, as well as the presence of characteristic facial features, clinical endocrinological or metabolic features, growth parameters in children, skeletal abnormalities, and the occurrence of malignancy. These individual features are described in more detail below. Where extra-cutaneous features are present the term CMN syndrome is used (Kinsler et al. 2012a), in line with the classification of other types of congenital naevi (Kinsler and Sebire 2016).

#### **Genotypic Classification**

In addition to this deep phenotyping approach, it is now possible to include the status of somatic *NRAS* codon 61 or *BRAF* codon 600 genotypes in a full classification of an individual with CMN. It still needs to be determined whether deep phenotyping and determining the mutational profile of CMN will improve upon risk stratification for developing complications including melanoma, CNS disease, and death.

#### For Practical Management in the Clinic

The classification required for clinical management of patients with CMN is based on evidence of which phenotypic variables are associated with adverse outcomes. The key medical adverse outcome metrics for individuals born with CMN are:

1. Neurologic symptoms or impaired neurodevelopment (e.g., delay in development, or seizures)



**Fig. 2** Classification for practical management purposes in the clinic. Multiple CMN is defined as more than one at birth, of any size or site. Continued research is underway to help improve upon the risk satisfaction of patients with two or more CMN. While there may be a heightened risk for congenital neurological abnormalities in patients with 2 or more CMN followed in specialized clinics, it still needs to be determined what proportion of individuals with 2 or

- Development of melanoma within CMN, in uninvolved skin or in the CNS
- 3. Death

Early studies linking cutaneous phenotyping variables to these adverse outcome measures were retrospective, and not all phenotyping variables were included in a regression analysis of outcomes measures. As a result, an early suggestion was that the site of the largest CMN, in particular those overlying the brain or spine, was associated with a higher risk of neurological abnormalities. It has since become apparent that the site is in fact confounded by size, as CMN overlying the back are often larger and associated with multiple naevi. It is in fact the size (Kinsler et al. 2008) or number of naevi (Marghoob et al. 2004) which are linked to increased risk of neurological abnormalities. Site of the largest naevus is unconnected to any outcome measure at the current moment.

With further analysis of the size and number of CMN in prospective studies, it has been found that the strongest cutaneous phenotypic predictor of outcome measures is even more simple. Individuals

more CMN in the population at large that will never develop any complications. It is highly likely that the presence of only 2 small CMN (<1.5 cm in greatest diameter) carries with it a negligible risk of congenital neurological abnormalities as compared to those with larger CMN or those with more than 2 CMN, and improvements in classification and understanding will help substratify the current guidelines further

with a single CMN are at extremely low risk for having radiological neurological abnormalities, or serious neurodevelopmental abnormalities. This means that for practical purposes in clinic there are two groups of patients – those with a single CMN (of any size or site) and those with multiple CMN (two or more CMN at birth, of any size or site). On the basis of currently available data, those with a single CMN do not require routine screening MRI examination. In contrast, individuals with multiple CMN are at risk of congenital neurological abnormalities and thus MRI scanning should be considered in these individuals (see "Management" section for further detail).

Further stratification of management based on clinical phenotype has then been shown to be best done with the results of the MRI of the CNS. In logistic regression analysis, MRI results were a better predictor of both neurological and malignant outcomes than size, number, and site of CMN. Other cutaneous phenotypic variables (e.g., color heterogeneity, rugosity) have not been shown thus far to be associated with any outcome measures. Hence, classification for the clinic management can be simplified as shown in Fig. 2.

Besides determining risk for developing CNS complications, it is also important to determine the risk for developing cutaneous melanoma in association with the CMN. Most studies assessing melanoma risk to date have classified nevi by size with small CMN being those <1.5 cm in diameter, medium being those with a diameter between 1.5 and 19.9 cm, and large being those greater than 20 cm in diameter. The overarching results disclose that melanoma can arise in association with any CMN but that the timing of melanoma development, location of melanoma within the CMN, and relative risk varies as a function of CMN size. It should be underscored that while the absolute risk for developing a cutaneous melanoma within any size of CMN at any age is likely less than 1-5%, the relative risk appears to be trivial for small CMN but higher for LCMN. While this is well established in childhood (Kinsler 2017), published prospective cohorts of adults are lacking. In addition, melanomas that develop in association with small CMN seem to do so after adolescence and often begin at the dermo-epidermal junction and towards the leading peripheral edge of the CMN. Thus, these melanomas can theoretically be discovered in their early stage via surveillance examinations and with the use of dermoscopy. In contrast, melanomas arising in large CMN usually do so before adolescence (Kinsler et al. 2017a) and often seem to develop deep to the dermo-epidermal junction, although prospective data on this are lacking. These melanomas are difficult to impossible to detect in their early stages via simple visual inspection and dermoscopy. Unfortunately, most of these melanomas are detected on palpation as a new or enlarging subcutaneous masses that carry with them a poor prognosis for the patient. It needs to be determined whether the narrower CMN size cut offs and other phenotypic features such as location and extent of rugosity, nodularity, color heterogeneity, and hypertrichosis (Table 1) can help improve the cutamelanoma neous risk stratification for individuals with CMN.

#### V. A. Kinsler et al.

#### **Clinical Subtypes**

Naevus spilus, or speckled nevus, is a clinically distinctive variant presenting as a light brown macule with superimposed darker macular or papular areas. The café au lait macule-like background may be so light in color that it may be invisible at birth. The superimposed darker areas are often heterogeneous in color, appearance, size, and are composed of junctional or compound aggregates of nevus cells, similar as in common acquired or lentiginous melanocytic nevi. Even if the café -au-lait background is invisible at birth, the diagnosis is usually suggested by this clustering of macular or papular naevi. DNA sequence analysis of naevus spilus type CMN has identified a distinct genotype (see under "Pathogenesis" section below).

Tardive CMN are those which are not visible or only barely visible at birth and then appear within the first year or so of life, and progress over time to become classical CMN; although they usually do not attain an unduly large size. Tardive CMN are usually solitary lesions, and little information exists on their incidence. Aside from smaller so-called "satellite" nevi in children with large or multiple CMN, it is not uncommon for children develop a solitary melanocytic naevus in the first year of life, and these tend to be larger than the melanocytic naevi acquired later in life, and these nevi usually display congenital features such as nevoocytes splayed between collagen bundles of the dermis and clustered around dermal adnexal structures and neurovascular bundles. Certainly for anything other than small CMN the phenomenon of tardive nevi is relatively uncommon, being reported in just a few isolated cases. In all other respects, tardive CMN appear to be no different from CMN fully visible at birth, although genotyping has not yet been undertaken on these nevi. However, a recent study has shown that multiplicity of congenital or "prenatal" nevi, diagnosed using developmentally based criteria, increases with age, supporting the notion that these nevi start to develop early in life and take time to become clinically evident (Cramer et al. 2016).

## Epidemiology

## **Incidence of CMN**

Small single CMN are a common occurrence, with an incidence of 1–2% in neonates in all populations studied (Alper and Holmes 1983; Chaithirayanon and Chunharas 2013; Jacobs and Walton 1976). The incidence of multiple CMN as defined above is not known. The incidence of CMN greater than 20 cm in diameter has been estimated at 1 in 20,000 (Castilla et al. 1981). This may be an underestimate as severely affected fetuses could potentially be miscarried early in pregnancy, a fact suggested by the increased reports of threatened miscarriage in pregnancies carrying children with CMN(Kinsler et al. 2009).

## Ethnicity, Gender, Environmental Factors

CMN are seen in all populations, however whether the incidence varies between ethnic groups has not been established. One large prospective study found a small increase in infants of African descent compared to those of South American descent(Castilla et al. 1981). This same study found an equal incidence between the sexes; however, most studies report a slightly higher incidence in females (Bittencourt et al. 2000; Kinsler et al. 2008; Ruiz-Maldonado et al. 1992).

There are no known links between CMN and environmental factors. Mothers pregnant with children with CMN were found however to be more likely to suffer a threatened miscarriage, severe nausea/vomiting, and high blood pressure than a group of controls, in a retrospective questionnaire study (Kinsler et al. 2009). How these factors are associated is not yet clear.

## Melanoma in CMN

Melanoma in individuals with CMN can arise either within a CMN, or as a primary within the CNS, or very rarely in other organ systems. Accurate ascertainment of the incidence of melanoma has traditionally been hampered by a publishing bias towards cases of malignancy, with a clear inverse correlation between cohort size and incidence of melanoma (Krengel et al. 2006). In addition, it is difficult to decipher the risk of developing primary melanoma within the nevus versus within the CNS. From prospective studies and large literature reviews, it is now generally accepted that the risk of all types of melanoma in childhood is of the order of 0.1–2% (Bett 2005; Hale et al. 2005; Kinsler et al. 2009; Zaal et al. 2005) for CMN of any type. However, very large lesions or those with neurologic manifestations are likely at higher risk. The lifetime incidence of cutaneous melanoma in small single CMN is estimated at 0.1% (Krengel et al. 2006), and even in multiple and large CMN cutaneous melanoma is rare in childhood, perhaps of the order of 0-1%(Hale et al. 2005; Kinsler et al. 2009). However, in a prospective cohort study the incidence for melanoma was 10-15% for CMN of greater than 60 cm projected adult size (Kinsler et al. 2008) and this increased risk was primarily related to CNS melanoma. Early screening MRI of the CNS for complex congenital neurological disease in this study was a better predictor of melanoma than the cutaneous phenotype, presumably because it allows us to look at the full congenital phenotype, both skin and brain (Waelchli et al. 2015a). Radiological evidence of CNS involvement might also predict the risk for melanomas arising from involved skin, perhaps by acting as a surrogate measure of general disease severity, but the numbers for this remain small. Despite these published estimates, it remains difficult to obtain predictive models of melanoma risk in CMN due to the small numbers of cases. Further studies are required to determine whether other phenotypic characteristics of the CMN itself (Table 1) can help improve melanoma risk stratification.

From the most recent comprehensive literature review, the median age for melanoma development in CMN is 3 years (Neuhold et al. 2015); however, this is taken with the usual caveats regarding publishing bias, not only towards fatal cases but potentially also towards pediatric cases.

## Pathogenesis

The pathogenesis of CMN was not until recently thought to be "genetic" in origin, as it is neither inherited nor passed down; a sporadic disorder. With advances in both the understanding and investigation of genetics however, it has become evident that many birthmarks, including CMN, are the visible result of mosaicism.

## Mosaicism

The current consensus definition of a mosaic abnormality of the skin is the co-existence of at least 2 genotypes in an organism, at the time of birth, at least one of which is pathogenic, and which produces a disease phenotype (Kinsler et al. 2019). Practically speaking this means that the phenotype of CMN is caused by a mutation in the developing embryo, which affects the single cell hit by the mutation and any of its offspring, with the rest of the embryo being unaffected. The clinical phenotype of the disease will depend on a variety of factors surrounding the event, such as the timing of the mutation (earlier mutations are more likely to affect pluripotent cells), the cell lineage, the normal function of the gene during development, the expression of that gene in the tissues affected, and the exact mutation (Kinsler et al. 2019). Hence, a likely explanation for generating a single CMN as opposed to multiple CMN is that the former would occur much later in development when the melanocyte precursor cells were already committed to their fate in one particular area of skin. On the other hand, a mutation leading to multiple CMN (and its possible associations in the CNS) may be caused by an earlier mutation, when the affected cell could potentially differentiate into both neurological and cutaneous cell types.

#### **Mutations in CMN**

It is not possible to prove mosaicism or indeed causality on the basis of finding a mutation in a single CMN from one individual. Hence, for mutations found in single CMN, or in one CMN from an individual with multiple CMN, one can only draw certain tentative conclusions on the basis of data from different individuals with the same findings. These will be revisited later in the chapter.

When however exactly the same mutation is found in more than one cutaneous (or extracutaneous) lesion from a single individual, one can reasonably assume that this was originally a single post-zygotic mutation to one cell and that the appearance of multiple naevi was due to the dissemination of the progeny of that mutated cell. Thus, far mutations in two genes have been found to be the cause of multiple CMN in more than one patient, and of CMN syndrome. The most common gene is NRAS. Mutations in NRAS had earlier been described in individual samples of CMN (Bauer et al. 2007; Dessars et al. 2009; Papp et al. 1999; Papp et al. 2005; Phadke et al. 2011; Wu et al. 2011), along with mutations in BRAF (Dessars et al. 2007; Ichii-Nakato et al. 2006; Kumar et al. 2004; Papp et al. 1999; Papp et al. 2005; Pollock et al. 2003; Salgado et al. 2015a), MC1R (Kinsler et al. 2012b; Papp et al. 1999), TP53 (Papp et al. 1999), and GNAQ (Phadke et al. 2011); however, there were no data as to causality at this stage. Thinking of this condition as postzygotic mosaicism led to the finding of clonal oncogenic mutations in NRAS in more than one affected tissue from individuals with multiple CMN and CMN syndrome, and as these mutations were the same across different individuals with the same phenotype, this can be assumed to be a causal mutation (Kinsler et al. 2013). In this first description, two different missense mutations leading to amino acid changes at codon 61 were found (p.Q61K commonest, p.Q61R less so), but within any one individual the same mutation was detected in different tissues, whether cutaneous naevi or CNS abnormalities (Kinsler et al. 2013). Codon 61 NRAS mutations however were not found in all cases (Kinsler et al. 2013; Salgado et al. 2015a), suggesting there are other as yet undiscovered genes which can cause the same or a very similar phenotype; however, another study identified NRAS mutations in all samples examined (Charbel et al. 2014). This hotspot in codon 61 is also the mutation described in 15–20% of non-CMN-related melanoma (Forbes et al. 2015) and is known to cause complete inactivation of the *NRAS* GTPase, locking it in the active, GTP-bound conformation.

Naevus spilus type CMN interestingly have a distinct genotype, being caused by different *NRAS* missense mutations from the standard CMN phenotype. The commonest of these (Kinsler et al. 2014) leads to the p.Q61H amino acid change; however, p.G13R and p.Q61L (Krengel et al. 2016) have also been described in single patients.

BRAF p.(V600E) mutations have recently been described as causal in a single patient with multiple CMN, demonstrating that this is a rare cause of the congenital phenotype (Etchevers et al. 2018). This patient had a multinodular phenotype, as has previously been noted to be associated with BRAF mutations from single samples(Salgado et al. 2015a). In a recent large genotypephenotype study, BRAF was found in 7% of cases, and a multinodular phenotype was again described in most of the patients (Polubothu et al. 2019). Importantly, this study did not find any differences in clinical outcomes with genotype NRAS, BRAF, or double wild-type, and routine genotyping is not therefore recommended for CMN at the moment. Genotyping however is useful in cases of suspected melanoma (NRAS and BRAF hotspots) to help direct targeted therapy (Kinsler et al. 2017a, b).

A single case each of a *RAF1* and *ALK* fusion have been described as present in more than one naevus from an individual with multiple CMN, suggesting causality. Further cases will be needed to determine the contribution of these genetic changes to the pathogenesis of CMN (Martins da Silva et al. 2019).

#### **Potential Germline Predisposition**

Notwithstanding that the ultimate causal mutation in CMN is somatic, a family history of CMN in first or second-degree relatives is found consistently in 25–30% of cases in a UK cohort. Although this could be due to recall bias, it is significantly more than one would expect statistically, given the incidence of small single CMN of 1%, even when accounting for an average number of first and second degree relatives. There may well be germline genetic factors that affect the penetrance of postzygotic NRAS mutations and the development or growth of NRASmutated cells. One such factor has been identified in UK CMN families compared to control groups, namely, compound heterozygosity and homozgyosity for germline variants in MC1R (Kinsler et al. 2012b). This again mimics the genetics of non-CMN-related melanoma and suggests that CMN may be a good genetic model for NRAS-mutated melanoma in general. There are likely to be other predisposing genetic influences, perhaps particularly between different ethnic groups.

## **Clinical Features**

#### Cutaneous

#### Color, Texture, Hair

CMN are pigmented by production of melanin, and their color is usually therefore predominantly brown or black. At birth however they may appear red or purple, which can occasionally lead to diagnostic confusion with vascular birthmarks. CMN color often alters after birth and in particular can lighten quite substantially over a period of years. This is related to the natural genetic skin colour of the patient - lighter skin tone is associated with lighter final CMN colour (Polubothu and Kinsler 2019). Lightening is occasionally dramatic (Kinsler and Bulstrode 2009; Strauss and Newton Bishop 2008). While small CMN are usually uniform in color, larger CMN are very frequently heterogeneous in color, with many smaller patches of differently colored pigmented areas superimposed on the background pigmentation of the CMN. There have been no associations made thus far between the natural color of a CMN and its behavior, and depth or variability of color should not therefore be thought to be intrinsically concerning unless accompanied by other changes.

CMN are almost always palpable, and even when not palpable will have increased skin surface markings, distinguishing them from other macular birthmarks. CMN are more fragile than normal skin and can tear with minor trauma, particularly early in life. Dryness can be a feature in large CMN, particularly in those who are atopic, and eczema can develop within CMN. In rare cases individuals report hypersensitivity in an individual CMN. There are also anecdotal reports of decrease in sweating in large/giant CMN which could be attributed to the fact that the hamartomatous nature of the nevus cell proliferation disrupts the normal development and distribution of adnexal structures (e.g., sweat glands and sebaceous glands) in the involved skin, which frequently appear malformed or less in number in histologic analysis (see Histopathologic features below).

CMN are commonly hairy, although for nonscalp CMN this may not be apparent at birth. Scalp CMN often present with thick, sometimes coarse, and usually darkly pigmented hair at birth, and these often continue to grow hair at a faster rate than the surrounding scalp, necessitating increased cutting. However, sometimes CMN even on the scalp can be hairless or may grow hair that is lighter or similar in color than the surrounding scalp hair. Over time CMN may develop white hairs, and/or develop patchy hair loss, but total loss of hair over a CMN on the scalp is unusual. Of note, large/giant CMN with *BRAF* V600E mutation show a phenotype featuring dermal/subcutaneous nodules and less hair, with a statistically significant difference when compared with *NRAS* mutated naevi (Salgado et al. 2015a).

## Proliferative Nodules and Other Benign Proliferations

The authors recognize many different types of proliferations clinically; however, there are at least three commonly seen types.

First, the classical focal proliferative nodules, present at birth, although they can develop at any age in childhood. They are typically superficial, well circumscribed, hairless, shiny, raised and domed, round to oval, uniformly colored (often but not always pink or a lighter color than the surrounding CMN), sometimes slightly lobulated, between 1 cm and 2 cm in most cases, and soft to firm (Fig. 3a). They often grow rapidly once they appear and then stabilize in size and appearance. They can bleed even if not clinically suspicious, so are often excised.

Second, the flat-topped proliferations, superficial, well circumscribed, flaccid, uniformly colored (often pinkish), round or oval, usually 0.5–5 cm in diameter, sometimes with a slightly raised edge/depressed center, and soft to touch. The larger ones are often present at birth and generally remain unchanged over time (Fig. 3b).

Third, the neuroid type proliferations, which are deeper, less well circumscribed, uniformly colored, often the same color as the surrounding CMN (or alternatively pinkish), round or spindleshaped, and soft to firm. They are most requent in



Fig. 3 Proliferative nodules of different types within CMN

the flanks in bathing trunk nevi (Fig. 3c), but can occur in other areas. They are not usually present at birth, and once they appear they can grow slowly, sometimes particularly around puberty. They range from 3 to 20 cm in diameter and can be pendulous when larger. Resection of these improves body contour, particularly when they are better circumscribed, although they often regrow within weeks or months. Histology reveals neurofibroma-like differentiation (so-called "neurotization") within the CMN.

It should be mentioned that even among experts there are discrepancies in definition of proliferative nodules due to an enormous variety. In general, benign proliferations of all types are unusual in small CMN, but a common occurrence in large CMN, particularly in certain individuals, with no more exact figures on incidence or epidemiology in current data.

#### **Cutaneous Melanoma**

Melanomas arising in association with small CMN tend to develop focally at or near the dermo-epidermal junction and towards the peripheral edge of the CMN. This makes it feasible to detect these melanomas at an early stage based on observed clinical changes or based on diagnostic features seen with dermoscopy. In addition, melanomas arising in smaller CMN tend to do so during adulthood and therefore if prophylactic surgery is being contemplated, it can wait until the patient is mature enough to be fully engaged in the decision-making process. In contrast, melanomas arising in large CMN often develop early in life and arise deeper in the skin or soft tissue, which makes it challenging to detect these malignancies at an early stage. In addition, there can be difficulty in differentiation from benign proliferations. While the normal rules of ABCDE do not apply to the morphology of CMN per se, these can be helpful in the context of change. Furthermore, the behavior of the new lump is a useful discriminator, as melanoma will not stabilize in growth, whereas a proliferative nodule will. Finally, it should be mentioned that the risk of melanoma in smaller "satellite" CMN is thought to be extremely low.

#### **Neurological Manifestations**

#### Terminology

The terminology for the association of neurological disease with CMN is changing, from "neurocutaneous melanosis" to CMN syndrome. The reason for this change is two-fold, firstly to encompass the nonmelanotic neurological abnormalities seen, and secondly to bring the classification of CMN in line with other types of congenital naevi (e.g., epidermal naevi associated with extracutaneous abnormalities are termed epidermal naevus syndrome [Kinsler and Sebire 2016]).

Clinical neurological history and examination is an important part of any assessment of a child with CMN, as neurological abnormalities are the commonest associated adverse outcome (Kinsler et al. 2009). Clinical neurological symptoms used to be considered to be a poor prognostic feature; however, this is likely to have been due to an amalgamation of data from benign congenital neurological abnormalities and malignant disease within the CNS.

#### **Clinical Symptoms**

The commonest clinical symptoms are of mild developmental delay, particularly speech delay; however, developmental delay can be moderate to severe in all modalities. Attention deficit hyperactivity disorder and autistic spectrum disorder have also been described. Seizures are rare and usually present as temporal lobe epilepsy, which can progress to generalized seizures. These symptoms usually present by school-age, and therefore neurological history and examination are particularly important in this early age group. Clearly some diagnoses can only be made at certain ages or developmental stages. Clinical neurological symptoms attributable to CMN can sometimes be seen with a normal MRI of the CNS, but in these instances the symptoms described are usually mild.

#### **Congenital Neurological Disease**

Congenital neurological disease in CMN is underpinned by the same somatic mutation that causes the cutaneous disease in an individual (Kinsler et al. 2013). Congenital neurological disease visible on MRI scan has not so far been described in the literature in an individual with only a single CMN. All abnormalities listed below therefore are seen in the context of multiple CMN.

#### Intraparenchymal Melanosis/Melanocytosis

The commonest manifestation of congenital neurological disease is benign "intraparenchymal melanosis," which is an abnormal melanincontaining focus within the brain parenchyma, with a characteristic hyperintensity on T1 weighting on MRI (Barkovich et al. 1994). Rare histological specimens of these foci demonstrate melanin and melanosomes within mature neurons and glial cells and subtle cortical dysplasia (Kinsler et al. 2012c). These foci are most commonly seen in the mesial temporal lobes in the area of the amygdala (Barkovich et al. 1994; Frieden et al. 1994; Kinsler et al. 2008) and can be unilateral or bilateral. Foci can be present on histology but below the resolution of MRI (Kinsler et al. 2012c), which possibly explains the occasional occurrence of clinical neurological symptoms in the absence of MRI abnormalities. Intraparenchymal melanosis when not accompanied by any other abnormalities on MRI is associated with an increased incidence of developmental delay and of seizures, but is not associated with a poor prognosis in terms of melanoma or life expectancy, at least in childhood (Waelchli et al. 2015a).

# Other Congenital Neurological Abnormalities on MRI

A wide variety of other congenital neurological abnormalities have been described on MRI, many of which are unique to the individual, and each case should be considered separately. These diagnoses include malformations such as Dandy-Walker malformation (hypoplastic of absent cerebellar vermis, dilatated IV ventricle and enlarged posterior fossa) and Arnold-Chiari malformation (Chiari malformation type II, showing downward displacement of the vermis, cerebellar tonsils, and spinal chord, usually associated with hydrocephalus) and very rarely benign tumors such as ependymoma and astrocytoma (Kadonaga et al. 1992; Kinsler et al. 2008). Given the rarity of these diagnoses assessment by experts in pediatric neurology and neurosurgery are required, repeat MR imaging is usually required to establish the behavior of the lesions, and biopsy may be needed. This group includes complex combined abnormalities and neurological frequently involves leptomeningeal disease. Leptomeningeal disease can be either focal or diffuse, stable, or progressive. Diffuse disease causes symptoms and signs of hydrocephalus, which may present in the absence of visible disease on imaging, or may appear as communicating hydrocephalus. With leptomeningeal disease, there is a spectrum ranging from stable benign congenital CNS disease (usually focal), through slowly progressive diffuse leptomeningeal disease, to rapidly progressive melanoma of the CNS (usually widespread diffuse). It is therefore unsurprising that patients in this group, as classified by screening MRI in the first 6 months of life, have an increased incidence of not only symptomatic neurological disease (developmental delay, seizures, etc.), but also of requirement for neurosurgery, and possibly an increased risk of death from melanoma in childhood (Waelchli et al. 2015a).

#### Malignant Disease of the CNS

Primary melanoma can occur within the brain parenchyma or within the leptomeninges in individuals with CMN. Exact analysis of data on melanoma is hampered by the rarity of the condition, as the overall incidence in the skin or CNS is around 1–2% over a lifetime (see above). CNS melanoma however is over-represented in children with extensive neurological disease on MRI, and extremely rare in those without(Waelchli et al. 2015a). Cutaneous melanoma in CNM is considered to be more common than primary CNS melanoma, but this is likely to be confounded by the old practice of publishing fatal neurological cases as "symptomatic neurocutaneous melanosis."

Any individual with CMN who presents with new neurological symptoms or signs at any age should have a full neurological history and examination, and there should be a very low threshold for performing an MRI of the whole CNS with gadolinium contrast. This is independent of whatever findings there were on baseline screening MRI in the first 6 months of life, if this was performed. Symptoms of CNS melanoma at presentation are often of raised intracranial pressure, and/or seizures. Radiologists should be alerted to look for (1) communicating hydrocephalus, (2) leptomeningeal enhancement, (3) new space occupying lesion. Sometimes a parenchymal space occupying lesion can also be accompanied by leptomeningeal disease, and the two may either be in communication or entirely separate (Ramaswamy et al. 2012; Reyes-Mugica et al. 1993; Waelchli et al. 2015a). In cases of suspected melanoma, a biopsy should be performed for both histopathology and genetics. Genotyping of NRAS and BRAF hotspot mutations, and array CGH or FISH for copy number may be helpful (Kinsler, unpublished data). Genomic rearrangements that give rise to relevant gene fusions such as involving the BRAF kinase require special consideration.

## **Facial Involvement**

As with many congenital syndromes, children with CMN can have characteristic facial features. These features have been defined using standardized published measures of facial morphology (Kinsler et al. 2012a), and facial features which are age-related were excluded. Facial features in CMN have only so far been studied in a White UK cohort, using a large Dutch cohort of normal children as the control population, and three or more characteristic facial features were found in approximately 70% of cases. There was no relationship found between the facial features and the cutaneous or neurological phenotype. The most common facial features are listed in Table 2.

The mechanism underlying this phenomenon could be the influence of the mutation in *NRAS* on the development of the bones and cartilage of the face, structures known to originate from the neural crest in humans, although no biopsies of bone or cartilage have been performed so it is not possible to be certain. Germline mutations in *NRAS* and in closely related pathway genes (the RASopathy genes) are involved in facial development. Furthermore, there are several other mosaic

**Table 2** Recurrent characteristic facial features seen in children with CMN. Three or more features are considered to constitute a relevant clustering (Kinsler et al. 2012a)

Facial features
Wide or prominent forehead
Hypertelorism
Eyebrow variants
Periorbital fullness
Small/short nose
Narrow nasal ridge
Broad nasal tip
Broad or round face
Full cheeks
Prominent premaxilla
Prominent/long philtrum
Everted lower lip

conditions which are described with characteristic facial features, such as Pallister Killian syndrome, Cornelia de Lange syndrome, and the *PIK3CA*-related overgrowth syndromes.

## Endocrinological/Metabolic Manifestations

Disorders of these systems are relatively frequent within germline RASopathies, implying that the RAS signaling pathway is important in postnatal endocrinological and metabolic control. These are a newly described association of CMN in one large childhood cohort and therefore a new feature of CMN syndrome (Waelchli et al. 2015b). As expected in mosaic disorders the phenotype of endocrinological and metabolic abnormalities was found to vary from individual to individual. When the cohort was examined as a group, however, it was clear that although prenatal growth was normal, there was a clear tendency to gain weight in postnatal life, identified as attributable to adiposity rather than muscle or bone mass. This weight gain occurred at approximately twice the rate of the normal UK childhood population over the same period and was associated with a measurable tendency to insulin resistance (Waelchli et al. 2015b). Neither the underlying cause of weight gain nor the cause and effect relationship with insulin resistance have been established. It is

however clinically relevant to be vigilant of growth parameters in children with CMN and to institute appropriate dietary and exercise advice as for all overweight individuals.

Other clinical features which have been described are premature thelarche in girls, undescended testes in boys, and localized underdevelopment of both fat and muscle underlying some large CMN. Anterior pituitary hormonal measurements show variable subtle abnormalities of G-protein coupled receptor-binding hormones, most commonly suppression of LH (Waelchli et al. 2015b). These may be related to the clinical features seen, but do not seem to have a long-term effect on progression to pituitary, or to fertility.

Vitamin D resistant rickets is more commonly associated with nonmelanocytic congenital naevus syndromes; however, it has been described rarely in the literature. Of note the *NRAS* codon 61 mutation has not been looked for in the bone of the affected individuals, and in both cases the children also had evidence of epidermal naevi (Lim et al. 2014). Whether this is a true association with CMN syndrome per se is therefore not yet clear. Where there is clinical suspicion of calcium/phosphate metabolism, this should be investigated by serum and urinary measurements.

## **Other Clinical Associations**

## **Other Tumors**

Rhabdomyosarcoma (RMS) is the most recurrently described nonmelanocytic tumor to arise within a CMN (Cohen et al. 1996; Hendrickson and Ross 1981; Hoang et al. 2002; Ilyas et al. 2004). Genetic studies on these tumors are so far lacking in the literature. It is interesting to speculate whether *NRAS* hotspot mutations could be a driving mutation for RMS development in this context, as RAS mutations including those in *NRAS* have been found in RMS outside the context of CMN (Stratton et al. 1989).

There can rarely be primary tumors within the CNS of nonmelanocytic origin in patients with CMN, for example, astrocytoma, meningioma, and ependymoma (Kinsler et al. 2008; Waelchli

et al. 2015a) and sarcoma Not Otherwise Specified (Reyes-Mugica, unpublished observations).

#### Dermoscopy Features

Dermoscopy allows clinicians to visualize structures within the epidermis and papillary dermis that are not discernable by the naked eye. These structures create patterns that together can aid in differentiating CMN from melanoma. Knowledge of the dermoscopic structures and patterns common to CMN can assist physicians in following these lesions and recognizing aberrancy that may be suggestive of melanoma. Thus, if a dermoscopic pattern does not conform to one of the patterns commonly encountered in CMN or if focal atypical dermoscopic structural changes develop, then a biopsy or an excision may be warranted. It is important to acknowledge that although most small and medium CMN are fairly homogeneous both clinically and dermoscopically, large CMN are often heterogeneous, displaying multiple islands of color and irregular topography. This together with the fact that most melanomas arising in large CMN are located below the papillary dermis results in barriers to their early detection via visual inspection and dermoscopy. However, since melanomas in small CMN tend to arise at the dermo-epidermal junction, dermoscopy is the ideal looking-glass to help in their early detection.

Dermoscopic evaluation of a CMN begins by analyzing the dermoscopic features present in the lesion (Table 3).

After identifying the local dermoscopic features commonly seen in CMN, it becomes apparent that these naevi often form specific dermoscopic patterns. These patterns are comprised of structures that are generally distributed in an organized and symmetrical manner. The five primary global patterns are (Fig. 4): reticular, globular, reticulo-globular (symmetrical), diffuse brown pigmentation, and multicomponent. A biopsy should be considered for any CMN that reveals structures and patterns other than the ones mentioned above.

It has been observed that anatomical location dictates, to a great extent, the

Features	Characteristics	Histopathological correlation
Pigment network	Fine or thick lines that intersect creating a honeycomb-like network pattern. The distribution of the network can be present throughout the lesion in a homogeneous distribution or can be present focally or in a patchy distribution. In addition, in some small CMN the network can be present at the periphery with globules located in the center. At times one can only see linear network fragments or branched streaks that resemble hyphal elements (i.e., resemblance to the tubular branching of fungal hyphae)	Pigmented lines correspond to rete ridges, and the holes of the network corresponds to the suprapapillary plate overlying the dermal papillae
Globules	Small to large sharply circumscribed, round to oval brown aggregates. The distribution can be central or diffuse. While most globules are round they can also be somewhat polygonal in shape creating a cobblestone like arrangement. At times the globules appear to be surrounded by a halo producing a target-like appearance. The target-like appearance is created when the globule is centered in the "hole" of the network, corresponding to nests of melanocytes in the dermal papillae	Nests of melanin containing nevomelanocytes within the dermis
Diffuse brown pigmentation	Lesion has a homogeneous brown color. On close inspection, focal network fragments and sparse small globules may be seen	Diffuse distribution of melanin in the epidermis and dermis
Hypertrichosis	Increased number of terminal hairs, often with perifollicular hyper or hypo-pigmentation	
Blood vessels	The morphology of vessels seen in CMN includes comma, dotted, linear, serpentine, coiled, and hairpin vessels	
Milia like cyst	White to yellow, rounded, often hazy structures	Intraepidermal keratin cysts/pseudocysts

Table 3 Dermoscopic structures seen in CMN

dermoscopic pattern observed in congenital naevi. CMN on the extremities usually have a reticular pattern and CMN on the torso, head, and neck usually have a globular pattern. The theory to account for the variation in dermoscopic pattern as relates to anatomical location hinges on presumed migratory pathways that melanoblasts may take during embryogenesis. Melanoblasts destined for the skin of the extremities are presumed to preferentially migrate along the dorsolateral route, which happens to be more "superficial," thus accounting for the predominant reticular pattern seen in CMN located on the extremity. In contrast, melanoblasts destined for the skin of the torso, head, and neck are presumed to preferentially migrate along the ventral route, which happens to correspond to the pathway

of nerve trunks. The ventral pathway is "deeper" and this helps explain why globular CMN in these locations often have a globular component.

## Histopathological Features

The histological appearance of CMN reveals their malformative, hamartomatous nature, and in parallel with their clinical appearance, it may vary with age. Typical appearances at birth are characterized by richly cellular lesions composed of melanocytic elements that may adopt a range of phenotypes. The bulk of naevus cells occupies deep dermal layers of the skin (reticular dermis) and frequently the subcutaneous tissue, with predominantly spindly elements that commonly



Fig. 4 The five primary dermoscopic patterns seen in CMN

adopt a "neuroid" look consistent with their presumed neural crest origin and/or peripheral nerve sheath common ancestry. These deeply situated cells are mid-size, with poorly defined cytoplasm, and uncommonly pigmented. Neuroid bodies, also known as Wegner-Meissner or Masson bodies (lames folicée), are characteristic of these lesions, explaining the designation of "neurotized naevi" (Figs. 5, 6, 7, and 8). The mid-portion of these typically thick lesions is occupied by compact sheets of rounder elements, alternating with occasional intervening lobules of fat. Entrapped and distorted adnexal structures, which are extensively infiltrated by the naevus cells, are very common. More superficial layers of the naevus show larger cells with a more epithelioid appearance, more abundant cytoplasm, and occasional intracytoplasmic melanin pigment. Not

uncommonly, in these superficial layers, there are scattered clusters of heavily pigmented melanophages. Many congenital naevi show a compound histologic pattern, although a large proportion of them revel a Grenz zone within the papillary dermis. The overlying epidermis features variable degrees of atrophy of the rete ridges, although papillomatosis and verrucoid features are not uncommon (Fig. 9). In newborns, large congenital naevi may reveal striking pagetoid patterns, atypia, and even ulceration, features that should not prompt the diagnosis of melanoma in the absence of documented metastasis. However, most lesions show no significant atypia or pleomorphism. Naevus cells adopt a single file distribution within the dermis and are frequently observed splaying collagen fibers and penetrating underneath the endothelium of local vasculature.



**Fig. 5** Low power view  $(6\times)$  of a giant congenital melanocytic nevus. The nevus cell proliferation is extremely thick involving from the base at the level of the fascia and subcutaneous tissue, replacing completely

the reticular and papillary dermis. Skin adnexa are overwhelmed by the nevus cell proliferation, leaving only a few hair follicles. The epidermal surface is vertucous



**Fig. 6** Higher magnification  $(40 \times)$  from the nevus shown in MRM 1. Note the entrapped sweat glands surrounded by nevus cells. The hair follicle on the lower right shows

infiltration by nevus cells, a classic feature of congenital nevi



Fig. 7 Giant congenital melanocytic nevus with Wagner-Meissner or Masson bodies, evidence of so-called "neurotization," revealing the neural crest origins of the lesion  $(100 \times)$ 

## Additional Cell Populations and Tumors Arising in CMNs

The most important lesion due to its frequency arising in L/GCMNs is the so-called "proliferative nodule" (Fig. 10). Histopathologically these are well-delimited nodular growths surrounded by conventional naevus (Figs. 10 and 9, respectively). As mentioned above, histological features typically associated with malignant behavior in adult melanocytic lesions such as ulceration, pagetoid proliferation, and increased mitotic activity may occur in benign melanocytic lesions in infancy, in particular in proliferative nodules. When these features are present, the nodule should be classified as "atypical," and subjected to additional genetic studies, including comparative genomic hybridization and FISH.

Recapitulating their presumed neural crest origin, nevus cells reveal aberrant lines of differentiation (heterologous elements) and some lesions have excess adipose tissue and other mesenchymal elements, including cartilage, aberrant vasculature, etc. This may explain why, with some frequency, these lesions harbor malignant mesenchymal tumors such as rhabdomyosarcoma, liposarcoma, peripheral nerve sheath tumors, and others.

An inconspicuous, although seemingly important population is represented by statistically significant increase in the number of mast cells



**Fig. 8** Higher magnification  $(200 \times)$  from the nevus shown in MRM 3. The neurotization evidenced by the schwannian appearance of the *lame foliacée* is better appreciated

within the naevus skin and also in other skin areas in patients harboring L/GCMNs (Salgado et al. 2014). This mast cell hyperplasia may explain some of the symptoms occasionally associated with L/GCMNs such as incontrollable pruritus (Feng et al. 2005; Frigon and Desparmet 2006) and possibly excess fibrosis/scarring in naevus areas.

Small congenital nevi share some of the above-mentioned features but with the obvious difference in scale. These lesions are frequently wedged-shaped, with lichenoid pattern featuring nevus cells in a band-like distribution. The nevus cells surround and frequently penetrate skin adnexae and neurovascular bundles. Nevus cells adopt a single-cell or cord pattern, splaying collagen fibers (Figs. 11 and 12).

## **Genetic Testing**

## In the Absence of Malignancy

Genetic testing in the absence of malignancy does not currently alter management and does not need to be performed routinely. If genotyping is requested or desirable for extra information, this requires a punch biopsy from affected skin as the postzygotic mutation is not detectable from a blood sample. Alternatively, if the patient is having a naevus or part of a naevus removed for



**Fig. 9** Higher magnification of the lesion shown in MRM 5. Note the spindle appearance of the proliferating nevus cells, the clear demarcation, and the increased vascularity

cosmetic reasons, this sample could be used for genotyping if wished. Increasingly, well-informed patients are interested in knowing whether their CMN is NRAS mutation positive or negative. DNA should be extracted directly from the biopsy rather than from fibroblast culture, as the mutation is unlikely to be present in fibroblasts. NRAS codon 61 mutations should be looked for using sufficiently sensitive techniques to detect a mutant allele load of 10% in the first instance. If negative, further techniques such as next generation sequencing can be used to increase sensitivity. BRAF hotspot genotyping should also be undertaken if NRAS is wildtype, as this has recently been shown to be a rare cause of multiple CMN. BRAF fusions and other rearrangements have previously been described in single samples of in the lower left area. Between the epidermis and the nodule, there is an area of heavily pigmented melanophages  $(100 \times)$ 

congenital nevi, which open the possibility of targeted therapy if found to be causative in a particular patient (Botton et al. 2013; Dessars et al. 2007).

## In Suspected Malignancy

Genetic testing in the clinical situation of suspected malignancy is not only helpful but mandatory if at all possible. If the malignancy has arisen within a naevus in the skin, then testing of the nevus in parallel with the malignancy can be helpful to look genetic alterations associated with progression. Clinically relevant testing can be divided into two areas, namely, driver mutation analysis and copy number analysis.



**Fig. 10** Low-power view of a proliferative nodule arising in a giant congenital melanocytis nevus. The epidermis overlies a cellular nevus lesion in which one clearly demarcated nodule (arrow) is seen. The cellularity in the nodule

#### **Driver Mutation Analysis**

*NRAS* and *BRAF* hotspot mutation analysis is available in many diagnostic laboratories and can help guide clinical management in this difficult situation. Importantly however this should be performed on DNA directly extracted from a skin biopsy or excision, rather than from cultured fibroblasts, as these may not contain the mutation. Similarly, it is important to use adequately sensitive techniques for mutation detection, as standard Sanger sequencing is often too insensitive to be reliable.

If heterozygosity for *NRAS* codon 61 mutations are found in the nevus and in the suspected melanoma no conclusion can be drawn about whether the lesion is malignant, however this result will still guide management of malignant lesions. BRAF-inhibitors are contraindicated in *NRAS*- is higher than in the conventional nevus that surrounds it. Deeper to the nodule there is another vaguely nodular area composed of proliferating spindle nevus elements  $(60 \times)$ 

mutated melanoma; however, MEK inhibition may be a viable option. Homozygosity for *NRAS* codon 61 mutations has been described in cutaneous melanoma arising in a CMN which was heterozygous before malignant transformation (Kinsler et al. 2013) (Fig. 8). This finding may therefore be of assistance in assessing malignant status, but a larger series is needed before this can be confirmed. Another recently described mechanism underlying malignant transformation is *NRAS* mutation with amplification (Salgado et al. 2015b), which can be detected using quantitative real time PCR, or on high resolution copy number arrays (see below).

*BRAF* codon 600 mutations have not thus far been described in melanoma in individuals with CMN, but at this stage in our knowledge of mutations in CMN these are, in the authors' opinion,



**Fig. 11** Small congenital melanocytic nevus showing a lichenoid, band-like distribution of nevus cells in the papillary and reticular dermis, with a vaguely wedge shape and involvement of the skin adnexa  $(100 \times)$ 

still worth testing for due to the success of BRAF inhibition.

Progression from a benign nodule with benign histology and a heterozygous *NRAS* c.181C>A, p.Q61K mutation (upper panel), which evolved to melanoma 5 years later, in which the NRAS mutation is now homozygous (lower panel). Reproduced with permission from *Journal of Investigative Dermatology* (Kinsler et al. 2013).

## Whole Genome Copy Number Analysis

Whole genome copy number analysis was the first genetic test to differentiate between CMN and cutaneous melanoma (Bastian et al. 2002). This was initially performed using array comparative genomic hybridization (array CGH), but can also be done using SNP arrays, or fluorescent in situ hybridization (FISH). Benign CMN exhibit none or few copy number changes, as would a normal tissue. Proliferative nodules can demonstrate numeric copy number change of whole chromosomes. Melanoma on the other hand demonstrates multiple gains and/or losses of whole or parts of chromosomes. This has been confirmed recently not only in the skin but in the CNS melanomas of patients with CMN (Kinsler, unpublished data).

#### Genetic Counseling

Parents of children severely affected by CMN may request or require genetic counseling, despite the fact that the phenotype is ultimately caused by a postzygotic mutation. Recurrence rates for


**Fig. 12** Small congenial nevus shown involving adnexa in reticular dermis. A nest of nevus cells (arrow) is seen within the epithelial cells of the external follicular sheath,

future pregnancies should in theory be no different from the incidence in the normal population; however, as previously mentioned there is a loose family history in some families, and in very rare instances a clearer tendency to develop CMN in successive generations. These cases are presumably due to an as yet unidentified germline predisposition to somatic mutation, or possibly to a germline mutation which in itself produces a cutaneous phenotype indistinguishable from the usual. Such families would benefit from interaction with a clinical geneticist.

In addition, for individuals who are severely affected by CMN themselves the current advice would be that they are not at increased risk of having a child with CMN, as descriptions in the literature of instances of a parent and child being

the equivalent of junctional activity in a hair follicle  $(200\times)$ 

affected are extremely rare. Anecodatally the miscarriage rate in individuals with CMN does not seem to be raised. This is either due to the fact that gonadal mosaicism is not present in these individuals, or that there is a very low additional miscarriage rate due to passing on the *NRAS* or other causative mutation in the full heterozygous state.

#### Management

#### **General Skin Care**

CMN skin is relatively fragile, for reasons which are not clear. After birth there are not infrequently erosions present in large CMN, particularly on the back. These should be treated conservatively with low-adherence dressings until healed. At older ages fragility can be a problem in areas prone to injury, such as the forehead or knees in young children. However, naevi do not usually bleed more profusely than normal skin, and with pressure applied in the usual way healing is usually good with minimal scarring.

CMN are prone to dryness, again for reasons which are not clear. However, some have speculated that this may be due to lack of or dysfunction of adnexal structures including sweat glands and sebaceous glands. General advice should be given about avoidance of soaps, and the use of moisturisers where required. Some individuals with CMN have chronic pruritus, which may or may not be associated with eczema in the CMN. In most cases pruritus can be managed as for dryness; however, in some cases topical steroids are required for symptom control, even in the absence of frank eczema. Pruritus generally improves with age. In rare instances severe and refractory pruritus is associated with induration and erythema within the CMN, and sometimes with a multinodular phenotype. In these cases, surgical excision can be the only option for symptom relief.

In rare instances CMN can be or can become over time very folded on the surface, in a cerebriform type of pattern. This is most often (but not exclusively) seen in scalp CMN. The "gyri" of the cerebriform morphology tend to lose hair growth and pigmentation, becoming pink in color, whereas the "sulci" harbor the remaining hairs. In some cases these cerebriform naevi also become multinodular. These naevi are extremely difficult to keep clean and can smell due to yeast and bacterial over growth. Where surgical excision is a viable option this should be considered.

#### Management of Patients with Solitary CMN

A thorough examination should be performed on every child born with a CMN, to establish how many naevi are present, taking into consideration that small naevi can be very pale at birth. If there is only a single CMN, irrespective of size or site, and if the neurological examination is normal, then no further investigation is required.

Whenever possible baseline photographs should be acquired since these can prove useful during subsequent surveillance examinations. If photographs are not obtained, then a thorough description of the nevus should be recorded including its texture, size, nodularity, rugosity, and color.

Prophylactic excision of solitary CMN with the aim of preventing the development of melanoma within the CMN remains an area of controversy. While a host of reasons, including anxiety of developing melanoma and cosmetic concerns, may prompt an individual to seek excision of their CMN, there is fairly consistent agreement among experts that prophylactic excision of small to medium size CMN during infancy is not absolutely necessary since the risk for developing cutaneous melanoma during preadolescence is extremely low. During later adulthood there is a small risk for developing melanoma in association with small to medium CMN. These melanomas tend to develop at the periphery of the CMN and arise from the dermoepidermal junction, thus making them amenable to early detection via periodic surveillance examinations. We recommend that adults with small to medium CMN examine their moles on a monthly basis and if they notice any focal changes to alert their physicians. Some patients may also find comfort in having a dermatologist periodically examine their skin. CMN developing concerning changes should be biopsied and if the presence of melanoma confirmed, the CMN together with the malignancy should be excised and the melanoma treated as would any other primary cutaneous melanoma of similar thickness.

While there is fairly good agreement among experts against routine prophylactic excision of small CMN, the topic of prophylactic excision of large CMN remains an area of ongoing debate, which at times can become quite contentious. From published data, it is irrefutable that melanoma can develop within large CMN and unlike small CMN these melanomas often present during the preadolescent years of life. However, the benefits and harms from a watch and wait approach versus whole scale prophylactic excision of such nevi during infancy remain to be elucidated. Proponents against recommending prophylactic surgery for large CMN rely on the following rational:

- The risk for developing a cutaneous melanoma in association with multiple CMN, no matter how large the principal CMN, if there is a normal MRI scan after birth, is approximately 2% in the largest prospective study of a severe phenotypic cohort, and is therefore likely to be less in the whole CMN population(Kinsler 2017). Compared to risks of melanoma in the normal population.
- Lack of studies that definitively prove that prophylactic excision reduces the risk of developing melanoma.
- 3. The morbidity associated with surgery and scars can be significant and at times debilitating.
- 4. Possible adverse effects of general anesthesia on the developing brain (Rappaport et al. 2015) in individuals under the age of 3 years.
- 5. Complete excision of large or multiple CMN is often not feasible and melanoma can develop from residual nevus cells.
- Surgical manipulation of the large CMN may heighten the risk for developing melanoma.

Proponents advocating prophylactic excision of large CMN rely on the following rational:

- The heightened risk of developing both benign and malignant tumors within large CMN together with an effort to improve cosmesis warrants consideration for prophylactic excision at a young age.
- 2. Most melanomas arising within large CMN develop below the dermo-epidermal junction and thus are not amenable to early detection via visual surveillance examinations. Since these melanomas often present at an advanced and often incurable stage, prophylactic excision affords the only viable opportunity to prevent death related to these melanomas.

3. The absence of evidence is not evidence of absence of the potential therapeutic benefits of excision of large CMN. Since melanomas are arising from the malignant degeneration of melanocytes within the large CMN, it stands to reason that if these cells are removed prior to development of any transformative mutations that this will prevent or at least lower the risk for developing a fatal melanoma.

Unfortunately, there are no studies that will definitively help resolve the aforementioned debate within the foreseeable future. However, with the evolution of imaging technologies, molecular techniques, improved risk stratification based on nevus phenotype, and evaluation of outcome studies designed to investigate the potential benefits and harms associated with extensive surgical procedures, it is highly likely that the debate will become less contentious over time.

#### Management of Patients with Multiple CMN

Multiple CMN is defined as two or more at birth. A single screening MRI of the whole CNS with gadolinium contrast injection to look for the neurological anomalies is recommended from the largest prospective cohort study of children with multiple CMN. This can usually be done without general anesthesia, when done within the first year of life, and protocols for sedation have recently been published (Plumptre et al. 2019). Ideally screening MRI scans should be performed within the first 6 months of life to reduce the influence of myelinization on the appearance of melanosis. On the basis of the findings, individuals are divided into three management groups (Fig. 9). Those with a normal MRI do not need it repeated and can have a low-frequency follow up schedule (80% of those with multiple CMN). Those with the common finding of intraparenchymal melanosis only (approximately 10% of cases) do not need a repeat MRI but should have yearly neurodevelopmental assessment by a local pediatrician until school age, to pick up any issues that may

need intervention early on. The small minority (approximately 10% of cases) who have more complex radiological changes should be managed in a multidisciplinary team setting and have regular follow up for both skin and CNS examinations.

Suggested management of CMN based on classification known to differentiate clinical outcome. Reproduced with permission from the *British Journal of Dermatology* (Waelchli et al. 2015a).

#### Of a New Lump or Visible Change Within a CMN

As these are frequent, particularly in certain individuals, it is neither practical nor desirable to biopsy or surgically remove every change in a CMN. The authors would therefore recommend the following as a guideline, although individual cases should be managed at the physician's discretion. New lumps or changes should be photographed with color and size references, dermoscopy performed and recorded, and thorough examination should be performed for local lymphadenopathy. If there is a high index of suspicion for malignancy, it should be biopsied. If the index of suspicion is low, the patient should be seen again within 4 weeks, and appearances comto the baseline photographs pared and dermoscopy. In addition, the lesion should be palpated to determine whether any palpable changes have developed including degree of firmness, nodularity, and size. If there has been no change at that stage, the patient should be seen again within a similar time frame. If however there has been clear change macroscopically or concerning changes dermoscopically, the lesion should be biopsied and sent for an expert histological opinion.

#### Of a New Neurological Presentation

The presentation of new neurological symptoms or signs in a child with CMN should prompt an MRI of the whole CNS with contrast enhancement, independent of what the initial screening MRI showed (if performed). This is to look for a primary CNS melanoma or other tumors or anomalies. If the MRI is normal, the patient can be referred to Neurology for further diagnosis.

#### Of Primary Cutaneous Melanoma

Very little hard data exist on management of melanoma in CMN. What follows is the distillation of the authors' collective experience of this disease, and a knowledge of existing literature.

Once a diagnosis of cutaneous melanoma is established on the basis of histology and/or genetic testing, management should ideally be discussed in a multidisciplinary team, especially if the melanoma is advanced or has developed within a large or multiple CMN. Early malignancies in adulthood in small CMN can often be resolved by complete excision; however, this has not been demonstrated for melanomas developing in large or multiple CMN in childhood in particular. In general, melanomas in large CMN are highly aggressive for reasons which are not yet understood. A very high index of suspicion should be maintained at all times in this situation. There is no evidence of clinical utility of sentinel node biopsy and this should therefore follow local protocols.

PET scanning should be considered for all cases of melanomas associated with large or multiple CMN at diagnosis, even with no clinical indication of spread. CMN do not appear on PET, and therefore, this investigation is thought to be clinically useful. In contrast, radiological scanning of patients with melanoma in association with smaller CMN in adulthood is usually not warranted.

#### **Of Primary CNS Melanoma**

Once a diagnosis of CNS melanoma is established, management should be within a multidisciplinary team, and biopsies should ideally have genetic analysis (see above). This disease has so far been universally fatal, usually within 6 months from diagnosis. If leptomeningeal disease is prominent then a ventriculo-peritoneal shunt is in our experience required to manage symptoms of raised intracranial pressure, and despite the fact that very rarely melanoma has been shown to metastasize via a shunt. Oral corticosteroid therapy can be very helpful symptomatically. Radiotherapy to the leptomeninges can also be very helpful symptomatically, although this is a palliative measure.

A long-line can be indispensable in children to minimize trauma from repeated phlebotomy and intravenous drug administration when required. Ipilimumab has been tried with limited success in one case; however, MEK inhibition has been tried for *NRAS*-mutation positive melanoma in CMN, and symptomatic relief at least has been documented (unpublished data).

#### Of the Esthetic Aspects of CMN

Clearly, removing or de-bulking a large CMN will lower the melanocytic burden. While it may be intuitive that this in turn should lower the risk for developing cutaneous melanoma, there is no conclusive evidence that removal of CMN reduces melanoma risk. This may be because nevi which are small enough to be entirely resected have a very low malignancy risk. Similarly, those which are large and multiple with a more concerning malignancy risk are not only not amenable to be completely resected, but can develop CNS melanoma rather than cutaneous.

The aesthetic aspects of CMN however should not be underestimated, both for the patient and at least initially for their parents, and each patient will be different. This problem should be addressed early on and continue to be discussed at all appointments. Simple measures include shaving, for which a beard-trimmer is recommended to avoid pruritus on regrowth, and hair removal creams should be avoided due to fragility of the CMN.

CMN that are relatively easily resected with resulting improvements in cosmetic appearance

can clearly be removed if desired, and the pros and cons of timing discussed on an individual basis. The problems tend to arise however with large or multiple CMN where complete excision is often not a viable option. In this situation, the pros and cons of any aesthetic improvement have to be balanced against the toll of the operations, and waiting until the child is old enough to participate in the decision should be considered. Superficial removal techniques such as curettage, dermabrasion, and laser all suffer from the same problem, which is that pigmentation recurs, and final colour is not altered (Polubothu and Kinsler 2019).

#### Conclusions

The understanding of CMN as a mosaic disorder has helped to clarify why there is such a variable spectrum of phenotypes and associations. Other than small single CMN this is a rare disease, and interaction between physicians in different institutions is often beneficial in managing difficult cases.

The key differentiators in routine clinical management of the patient are firstly whether there is a single CMN at birth or more than one (multiple) and secondly the results of a single screening MRI of the CNS under the age of 1 year (ideally in the first 6 months). Using these statistically supported classifiers of phenotype, most individuals can be reassured that they have a low long-term risk of adverse outcomes, and the minority of patients identified at higher risk can be followed up and investigated appropriately.

Outside of routine clinical management certain presentations should alert the physician to potentially dangerous issues. These are the development of new neurological symptoms or signs, and the appearance of new lumps in the CMN. Expert opinions in dermoscopy, histopathology, and radiology should be utilized to improve management of individual cases. The increasing availability of genetic testing and improved understanding of the differentiators between benign and malignant lesions will help with diagnosis and choice of treatments.

#### **Online Resources**

- UK based patient support group www. caringmattersnow.co.uk
- UK based research laboratory for CMN http:// www.ucl.ac.uk/ich/research/genetics-genomic -medicine/genetics-epigenitics-health-disease/ research-groups/veronica-kinsler
- US based patient support group www.naevus.org
- US based research laboratory for Large/Giant Congenital Melanocytic Naevi and Associated Disorders https://www.givetochildrens.org/GCMN-NCM

OMIM #249400, #137550, *164790

#### References

- Alper JC, Holmes LB (1983) The incidence and significance of birthmarks in a cohort of 4,641 newborns. Pediatr Dermatol 1:58–68
- Barkovich AJ, Frieden IJ, Williams ML (1994) MR of neurocutaneous melanosis. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol 15:859–867
- Bastian BC, Xiong J, Frieden IJ, Williams ML, Chou P, Busam K, Pinkel D, Leboit PE (2002) Genetic changes in neoplasms arising in congenital melanocytic nevi: differences between nodular proliferations and melanomas. Am J Pathol 161:1163–1169
- Bauer J, Curtin JA, Pinkel D, Bastian BC (2007) Congenital melanocytic nevi frequently harbor NRAS mutations but no BRAF mutations. J Invest Dermatol 127:179–182
- Bett BJ (2005) Large or multiple congenital melanocytic nevi: occurrence of cutaneous melanoma in 1008 persons. J Am Acad Dermatol 52:793–797
- Bittencourt FV, Marghoob AA, Kopf AW, Koenig KL, Bart RS (2000) Large congenital melanocytic nevi and the risk for development of malignant melanoma and neurocutaneous melanocytosis. Pediatrics 106:736–741
- Botton T, Yeh I, Nelson T, Vemula SS, Sparatta A, Garrido MC, Allegra M, Rocchi S, Bahadoran P, Mccalmont TH et al (2013) Recurrent BRAF kinase fusions in melanocytic tumors offer an opportunity for targeted therapy. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res 26:845–851
- Castilla EE, Da Graca Dutra M, Orioli-Parreiras IM (1981)
  Epidemiology of congenital pigmented naevi:
  I. Incidence rates and relative frequencies. Br J
  Dermatol 104:307–315
- Chaithirayanon S, Chunharas A (2013) A survey of birthmarks and cutaneous skin lesions in newborns. J Med Assoc Thail 96. Suppl 1:S49–S53
- Charbel C, Fontaine RH, Malouf GG, Picard A, Kadlub N, El-Murr N, How-Kit A, Su X, Coulomb-

L'hermine A, Tost J et al (2014) NRAS mutation is the sole recurrent somatic mutation in large congenital melanocytic nevi. J Invest Dermatol 134:1067–1074

- Cohen MC, Kaschula RO, Sinclair-Smith C, Emms M, Drut R (1996) Pluripotential melanoblastoma, a unifying concept on malignancies arising in congenital melanocytic nevi: report of two cases. Pediatr Pathol Lab Med 16:801–812
- Cramer SF, Salgado CM, Reyes-Múgica M (2016) The high multiplicity of prenatal (congenital type) nevi in adolescents and adults. Pediatr Dev Pathol 19:409–416
- Dessars B, De Raeve LE, El Housni H, Debouck CJ, Sidon PJ, Morandini R, Roseeuw D, Ghanem GE, Vassart G, Heimann P (2007) Chromosomal translocations as a mechanism of BRAF activation in two cases of large congenital melanocytic nevi. J Invest Dermatol 127:1468–1470
- Dessars B, De Raeve LE, Morandini R, Lefort A, El Housni H, Ghanem GE, Van Den Eynde BJ, Ma W, Roseeuw D, Vassart G et al (2009) Genotypic and gene expression studies in congenital melanocytic nevi: insight into initial steps of melanotumorigenesis. J Invest Dermatol 129:139–147
- Etchevers HC, Rose C, Kahle B, Vorbringer H, Fina F, Heux P, Berger I, Schwarz B, Zaffran S, Macagno N, Krengel S (2018) Giant congenital melanocytic nevus with vascular malformation and epidermal cysts associated with a somatic activating mutation in BRAF. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res 31(3):437–441. https:// doi.org/10.1111/pcmr.12685. Epub 2018 Jan 29
- Feng J, Sethi A, Reyes-Mugica M, Antaya R (2005) Lifethreatening blood loss from scratching provoked by pruritus in the bulky perineal nevocytoma variant of giant congenital melanocytic nevus in a child. J Am Acad Dermatol 53:S139–S142
- Forbes SA, Beare D, Gunasekaran P, Leung K, Bindal N, Boutselakis H, Ding M, Bamford S, Cole C, Ward S et al (2015) COSMIC: exploring the world's knowledge of somatic mutations in human cancer. Nucleic Acids Res 43:D805–D811
- Frieden IJ, Williams ML, Barkovich AJ (1994) Giant congenital melanocytic nevi: brain magnetic resonance findings in neurologically asymptomatic children. J Am Acad Dermatol 31:423–429
- Frigon C, Desparmet J (2006) Ondansetron treatment in a child presenting with chronic intractable pruritus. Pain Res Manag 11:245–247
- Hale EK, Stein J, Ben-Porat L, Panageas KS, Eichenbaum MS, Marghoob AA, Osman I, Kopf AW, Polsky D (2005) Association of melanoma and neurocutaneous melanocytosis with large congenital melanocytic naevi – results from the NYU-LCMN registry. Br J Dermatol 152:512–517
- Hendrickson MR, Ross JC (1981) Neoplasms arising in congenital giant nevi: morphologic study of seven cases and a review of the literature. Am J Surg Pathol 5:109–135

- Hoang MP, Sinkre P, Albores-Saavedra J (2002) Rhabdomyosarcoma arising in a congenital melanocytic nevus. Am J Dermatopathol 24:26–29
- Ichii-Nakato N, Takata M, Takayanagi S, Takashima S, Lin J, Murata H, Fujimoto A, Hatta N, Saida T (2006) High frequency of BRAFV600E mutation in acquired nevi and small congenital nevi, but low frequency of mutation in medium-sized congenital nevi. J Invest Dermatol 126:2111–2118
- Ilyas EN, Goldsmith K, Lintner R, Manders SM (2004) Rhabdomyosarcoma arising in a giant congenital melanocytic nevus. Cutis 73:39–43
- Jacobs AH, Walton RG (1976) The incidence of birthmarks in the neonate. Pediatrics 58:218–222
- Kadonaga JN, Barkovich AJ, Edwards MS, Frieden IJ (1992) Neurocutaneous melanosis in association with the Dandy-Walker complex. Pediatr Dermatol 9:37–43
- Kinsler V, Bulstrode N (2009) The role of surgery in the management of congenital melanocytic naevi in children: a perspective from Great Ormond Street Hospital. J Plast Reconstr Aesthet Surg 62:595–601
- Kinsler VA, Larue L (2018) The patterns of birthmarks suggest a novel population of melanocyte precursors arising around the time of gastrulation. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res 31(1):95–109
- Kinsler VA, Sebire NJ (2016) Congenital naevi and other developmental abnormalities affecting the skin. In: Griffiths C, Barker J, Bleiker T, Chalmers R, Creamer D (eds) Rook's textbook of dermatology. Wiley, Oxford, UK
- Kinsler VA, Chong WK, Aylett SE, Atherton DJ (2008) Complications of congenital melanocytic naevi in children: analysis of 16 years' experience and clinical practice. Br J Dermatol 159:907–914
- Kinsler VA, Birley J, Atherton DJ (2009) Great Ormond Street Hospital for Children Registry for congenital melanocytic naevi: prospective study 1988–2007. Part 1 – epidemiology, phenotype and outcomes. Br J Dermatol 160:143–150
- Kinsler V, Shaw AC, Merks JH, Hennekam RC (2012a) The face in congenital melanocytic nevus syndrome. Am J Med Genet A 158A:1014–1019
- Kinsler VA, Abu-Amero S, Budd P, Jackson IJ, Ring SM, Northstone K, Atherton DJ, Bulstrode NW, Stanier P, Hennekam RC et al (2012b) Germline melanocortin-1receptor genotype is associated with severity of cutaneous phenotype in congenital melanocytic nevi: a role for MC1R in human fetal development. J Invest Dermatol 132:2026–2032
- Kinsler VA, Paine SM, Anderson GW, Wijesekara DS, Sebire NJ, Chong WK, Harkness W, Aylett SE, Jacques TS (2012c) Neuropathology of neurocutaneous melanosis: histological foci of melanotic neurones and glia may be undetectable on MRI. Acta Neuropathol 123:453
- Kinsler VA, Thomas AC, Ishida M, Bulstrode NW, Loughlin S, Hing S, Chalker J, Mckenzie K, Abu-Amero S, Slater O et al (2013) Multiple congenital melanocytic nevi and neurocutaneous melanosis are

caused by postzygotic mutations in codon 61 of NRAS. J Invest Dermatol 133:2229–2236

- Kinsler VA, Krengel S, Riviere JB, Waelchli R, Chapusot C, Al-Olabi L, Faivre L, Haenssle HA, Weibel L, Jeudy G et al (2014) Next-generation sequencing of nevus spilus-type congenital melanocytic nevus: exquisite genotype-phenotype correlation in mosaic RASopathies. J Invest Dermatol 134:2658–2660
- Kinsler VA, O'hare P, Bulstrode N, Calonje JE, Chong WK, Hargrave D, Jacques T, Lomas D, Sebire NJ, Slater O (2017a) Melanoma in congenital melanocytic naevi. Br J Dermatol 176:1131–1143
- Kinsler VA, O'hare P, Jacques T, Hargrave D, Slater O (2017b) MEK inhibition appears to improve symptom control in primary NRAS-driven CNS melanoma in children. Br J Cancer 116:990–993
- Kinsler VA, Boccara O, Fraitag S, Torrelo A, Vabres P, Diociauti A (2019) Mosaic abnormalities of the skin – review and guidelines from the European Reference Network for rare skin diseases (ERN-Skin). Br J Dermatol. https://doi.org/10.1111/bjd.17924
- Krengel S, Hauschild A, Schafer T (2006) Melanoma risk in congenital melanocytic naevi: a systematic review. Br J Dermatol 155:1–8
- Krengel S, Scope A, Dusza SW, Vonthein R, Marghoob AA (2013) New recommendations for the categorization of cutaneous features of congenital melanocytic nevi. J Am Acad Dermatol 68(3):441–451. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jaad.2012.05.043. Epub 2012 Sep 13
- Krengel S, Widmer DS, Kerl K, Levesque MP, Schiestl C, Weibel L (2016) Naevus spilus-type congenital melanocytic naevus associated with a novel NRAS codon 61 mutation. Br J Dermatol 174(3):642–644. https://doi.org/10.1111/bjd.14105. Epub 2015 Nov 21
- Kumar R, Angelini S, Snellman E, Hemminki K (2004) BRAF mutations are common somatic events in melanocytic nevi. J Invest Dermatol 122:342–348
- Lim YH, Ovejero D, Sugarman JS, Deklotz CM, Maruri A, Eichenfield LF, Kelley PK, Juppner H, Gottschalk M, Tifft CJ et al (2014) Multilineage somatic activating mutations in HRAS and NRAS cause mosaic cutaneous and skeletal lesions, elevated FGF23 and hypophosphatemia. Hum Mol Genet 23:397–407
- Marghoob AA, Dusza S, Oliveria S, Halpern AC (2004) Number of satellite nevi as a correlate for neurocutaneous melanocytosis in patients with large congenital melanocytic nevi. Arch Dermatol 140:171–175
- Martins Da Silva VP, Marghoob A, Pigem R, Carrera C, Aguilera P, Puig-Butille JA, Puig S, Malvehy J (2017) Patterns of distribution of giant congenital melanocytic nevi (GCMN): the 6B rule. J Am Acad Dermatol 76:689–694
- Martins Da Silva V, Martinez-Barrios E, Tell-Marti G, Dabad M, Carrera C, Aguilera P, Brualla D, Esteve-Codina A, Vicente A, Puig S et al (2019) Genetic abnormalities in large to giant congenital nevi: beyond NRAS mutations. J Invest Dermatol 139:900–908

- Neuhold JC, Friesenhahn J, Gerdes N, Krengel S (2015) Case reports of fatal or metastasizing melanoma in children and adolescents: a systematic analysis of the literature. Pediatr Dermatol 32:13–22
- Papp T, Pemsel H, Zimmermann R, Bastrop R, Weiss DG, Schiffmann D (1999) Mutational analysis of the N-ras, p53, p16INK4a, CDK4, and MC1R genes in human congenital melanocytic naevi. J Med Genet 36:610–614
- Papp T, Schipper H, Kumar K, Schiffmann D, Zimmermann R (2005) Mutational analysis of the BRAF gene in human congenital and dysplastic melanocytic naevi. Melanoma Res 15:401–407
- Phadke PA, Rakheja D, Le LP, Selim MA, Kapur P, Davis A, Mihm MC Jr, Hoang MP (2011) Proliferative nodules arising within congenital melanocytic nevi: a histologic, immunohistochemical, and molecular analyses of 43 cases. Am J Surg Pathol 35:656–669
- Plumptre I, Stuart G, Cerullo A, Kinsler VA (2019) Sedation for screening MRI in patients with congenital melanocytic naevi under the age of one is a successful, safe and economical first-line approach. Br J Dermatol 180:668–669
- Pollock PM, Harper UL, Hansen KS, Yudt LM, Stark M, Robbins CM, Moses TY, Hostetter G, Wagner U, Kakareka J et al (2003) High frequency of BRAF mutations in nevi. Nat Genet 33:19–20
- Polubothu S, Kinsler VA (2019) Longitudinal study of congenital melanocytic naevi reveals that final colour is determined by normal skin colour, and is unaltered by superficial removal techniques. Br J Dermatol. https://doi.org/10.1111/bjd.18149. [Epub ahead of print]
- Polubothu S, Mcguire N, Al-Olabi L, Baird W, Bulstrode N, Chalker J, Josifova D, Lomas D, Ong J, Rampling D, Sebire Nj, Stadnik P, Thomas A, Wedgeworth E, Kinsler VA (2019) Does the gene matter? Genotype-phenotype and genotype-outcome associations in congenital melanocytic naevi. Br J Dermatol https://doi.org/10.1111/bjd.18106. [Epub ahead of print]
- Ramaswamy V, Delaney H, Haque S, Marghoob A, Khakoo Y (2012) Spectrum of central nervous system abnormalities in neurocutaneous melanocytosis. Dev Med Child Neurol 54:563–568
- Rappaport BA, Suresh S, Hertz S, Evers AS, Orser BA (2015) Anesthetic neurotoxicity – clinical implications of animal models. N Engl J Med 372:796–797

- Reyes-Mugica M, Chou P, Byrd S, Ray V, Castelli M, Gattuso P, Gonzalez-Crussi F (1993) Nevomelanocytic proliferations in the central nervous system of children. Cancer 72:2277–2285
- Ruiz-Maldonado R, Tamayo L, Laterza AM, Duran C (1992) Giant pigmented nevi: clinical, histopathologic, and therapeutic considerations. J Pediatr 120:906–911
- Salgado CM, Silver RB, Bauer BS, Basu D, Schmitt L, Khakoo Y, Reyes-Mugica M (2014) Skin of patients with large/giant congenital melanocytic nevi shows increased mast cells. Pediatr Dev Pathol 17:198–203
- Salgado CM, Basu D, Nikiforova M, Bauer BS, Johnson D, Rundell V, Grunwaldt LJ, Reyes-Mugica M (2015a) BRAF mutations are also associated with neurocutaneous melanocytosis and large/giant congenital melanocytic nevi. Pediatr Dev Pathol 18:1–9
- Salgado CM, Basu D, Nikiforova M, Hamilton RL, Gehris R, Jakacki R, Panigrahy A, Yatsenko S, Reyes-Mugica M (2015b) Amplification of mutated NRAS leading to congenital melanoma in neurocutaneous melanocytosis. Melanoma Res 25:453–460
- Stratton MR, Fisher C, Gusterson BA, Cooper CS (1989) Detection of point mutations in N-ras and K-ras genes of human embryonal rhabdomyosarcomas using oligonucleotide probes and the polymerase chain reaction. Cancer Res 49:6324–6327
- Strauss RM, Newton Bishop JA (2008) Spontaneous involution of congenital melanocytic nevi of the scalp. J Am Acad Dermatol 58:508–511
- Waelchli R, Aylett SE, Atherton D, Thompson D, Chong WK, Kinsler VA (2015a) Classification of neurological abnormalities in children with congenital melanocytic naevus syndrome identifies MRI as the best predictor of clinical outcome. Br J Dermatol 173:739
- Waelchli R, Williams J, Cole T, Dattani M, Hindmarsh P, Kennedy H, Martinez A, Khan S, Semple RK, White A et al (2015b) Growth and hormone profiling in children with congenital melanocytic naevi. Br J Dermatol 173:1471–1478
- Wu D, Wang M, Wang X, Yin N, Song T, Li H, Yu J, Wang DM, Zhao Z (2011) Lack of BRAF(V600E) mutations in giant congenital melanocytic nevi in a Chinese population. Am J Dermatopathol 33:341–344
- Zaal LH, Mooi WJ, Klip H, Van Der Horst CM (2005) Risk of malignant transformation of congenital melanocytic nevi: a retrospective nationwide study from The Netherlands. Plast Reconstr Surg 116:1902–1909



### **Spitz Tumors**

# 18

#### lwei Yeh and Boris C. Bastian

#### Contents

Introduction	396
Spitz Nevus	396
Clinical Features	396
Histopathologic Features and Subtypes	397
Clinical Management	398
Atypical Spitz Tumors	399
Clinical Management	399
Malignant Spitz Tumor	400
Clinical Features	401
Histopathologic Features	401
Clinical Management	401
Genetics	401
Initiating Genetic Alterations in Spitz Nevi	401
HRAS	402
Kinase Fusions	402
Secondary Genetic Alterations	403
Targeted Therapy	406
Conclusion	406
References	407

I. Yeh (🖂)

B. C. Bastian

#### Abstract

Spitz tumors constitute melanocytic tumors with distinctive epithelioid and spindled melanocytes that typically are benign, but can occasionally metastasize to regional lymph nodes, or in rare situations lead to widespread metastatic dissemination and death. They are characterized by specific genetic alterations such as activating mutations in HRAS or fusion genes that involve kinases such as ALK, ROS1, NTRK1, NTRK3, MET, RET, and BRAF, but

Departments of Dermatology and Pathology, University of California, San Francisco, San Francisco, CA, USA e-mail: iwei.yeh@ucsf.edu

Departments of Dermatology and Pathology, Helen Diller Family Comprehensive Cancer Center, University of California, San Francisco, San Francisco, CA, USA e-mail: boris.bastian@ucsf.edu

[©] Springer Science+Business Media, LLC, part of Springer Nature 2019 D. E. Fisher, B. C. Bastian (eds.), *Melanoma*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-7147-9_6

lack BRAF V600E and NRAS mutations found in acquired nevi and GNAQ and GNA11 mutations found in blue nevi.

#### Keywords

Spitz nevus · Atypical Spitz tumor · Spitzoid melanoma · Fusion kinase · HRAS · BAP1

#### Introduction

The term Spitz nevus references Sophie Spitz's description of "juvenile melanoma" in 1948. She described neoplasms in children that were diagnosed as melanoma, but demonstrated distinctive histopathologic characteristics and mostly benign biologic behavior (Spitz 1948). In her original description, Spitz identified the characteristic features as melanocytes that are large and polygonal (epithelioid) or spindled with increased amounts of cytoplasm as compared to the smaller melanocytes in "common" or conventional nevi, thickening of the overlying epidermis, clefting around individual junctional melanocytes or nest of melanocytes, scatter of single melanocytes into the upper levels of the epidermis, and superficial dermal edema.

It later became clear that neoplasms with these morphologic characteristics fall onto a spectrum from benign to malignant, with an intermediate category that is difficult to classify in terms of prognosis (Barnhill et al. 1999; Cerroni et al. 2010a). Here the authors use the term Spitz tumor to denote the entire spectrum of melanocytic neoplasms with spitzoid morphology: Spitz nevi for lesions at the benign end of the spectrum, malignant Spitz tumor for those with unequivocal malignant features, and atypical Spitz tumor to designate lesions that show overlapping features of benign and malignant.

As outlined below, Spitz tumors represent a heterogeneous group of conditions with a range of different genetic alterations that initiate transformation, with subsequent alterations promoting transformation to a fully evolved malignancy with lethal potential. The authors anticipate that as the specific natures of the alterations unfold Spitz tumors will ultimately be subdivided into distinct classes, with most classes having a benign (nevus) and/or intermediate stage and a malignant (melanoma) stage.

The current methods in classifying and grading Spitz tumors, even with the use of ancillary genetic tests such as fluorescence in situ hybridization and comparative genomic hybridization, are suboptimal in their ability to accurately predict the biologic potential of individual lesions. As a consequence, in particular lesions designated as atypical Spitz tumor likely represent a mixture of biologically benign, intermediate, and malignant tumors.

#### Spitz Nevus

#### **Clinical Features**

Spitz nevi occur most frequently in the first decade of life, and their incidence decreases with age, though they are reported in patients of all ages (Weedon and Little 1977; Paniago-Pereira et al. 1978; Herreid and Shapiro 1996). They typically appear as pink to red-brown dome-shaped papules that are smooth with sharply delimited edges, with a predilection for the lower extremities (Fig. 1). Typically less than 1 cm in size, Spitz nevi commonly have a short period of rapid growth over months before becoming stable in size (Requena et al. 2009).

Some Spitz nevi have a vascular appearance or a verrucous surface. The clinical differential diagnosis often includes dermatofibroma, hemangioma, viral wart, pseudolymphoma, xanthogranuloma, and keloid (Requena et al. 2009; Tlougan et al. 2013).

Spitz nevi are typically solitary but rarely multiple Spitz nevi may occur. Multiple Spitz nevi may be disseminated or grouped. Grouped or agminated Spitz nevi may occur in a segmental or dermatomal distribution within a background of hyperpigmented or hypopigmented skin. About a third of cases occur within an area of hyperpigmentation, such as a café-au-lait macule or nevus spilus.

Involution of Spitz nevi over time has been reported based on a survey of pediatric



**Fig. 1** Clinical appearance of Spitz nevi. Top: A pink brown papule on the chin (Courtesy of Dermatolgy Department University of Würzburg). Bottom: A darkly pigmented papule on the arm (Courtesy of Dr. Ilona Frieden)

dermatologists as well as a longitudinal clinical study following the dermoscopic features of suspected Spitz nevi in children (Argenziano et al. 2011; Tlougan et al. 2013).

#### Histopathologic Features and Subtypes

While the common defining feature of the Spitz nevus is its composition of large spindled and/or epithelioid melanocytes, there are additional histopathologic features that are characteristic. Thickening of the epidermis is typically seen in Spitz nevi if there are melanocytes at the dermo-epidermal junction, often with elongated rete ridges and expansion of the superficial layers of the epidermis (hypergranulosis and hyperkeratosis). Junctional melanocytes display clefts between melanocytes and between the melanocytes and surrounding keratinocytes due to a shrinkage artifact during tissue processing that



**Fig. 2** Epidermal component of compound Spitz nevus illustrating epithelioid and spindled melanocytes, epidermal hyperplasia, clefting around melanocytes, and pale acellular eosinophilic material within the epidermis (Kamino bodies) (Courtesy of Dr. Philip LeBoit)

likely reflects decreased cell-cell adhesion. Kamino bodies are round to scalloped dull pink (by routine hematoxylin and eosin staining) homogenous aggregates that occur within the epidermis of Spitz tumors (Fig. 2). They are observed in over 60% of junctional and compound of Spitz nevi, but less frequently in intradermal nevi (Kamino et al. 1979). Kamino bodies are PAS-positive and diastase-resistant and ultrastructurally contain basement membrane material (Schmoeckel et al. 1990).

Within the dermis, the melanocytes of Spitz nevi demonstrate "maturation," typified by decreasing cell size, pigmentation, and size of dermal nests with increasing depth into the dermis. The architecture of the lesion is important, and a Spitz nevus should display sharp lateral demarcation and symmetry of the junctional component as well as even maturation across the lesion.

Spitz nevi often demonstrate mitotic activity within the dermis. Even deep mitoses near the bottom of the lesion may be present in Spitz nevi, in contrast to common acquired nevi in which dermal mitoses are rare and, when present, are typically confined to the superficial aspect of the tumor. The relatively frequent occurrence of mitoses in Spitz nevi suggests that many biopsies of Spitz nevi occur during the initial period of rapid growth.



**Fig. 3** Histopathology of pigmented spindle cell nevus. Top. Low power view demonstrates a symmetric, wellcircumscribed junctional proliferation of melanocytes within epidermal hyperplasia. Bottom. High power view shows nests of pigmented and spindled melanocytes in the epidermis with Kamino bodies (single arrow) and scatter of single melanocytes into the upper epidermis (double arrow)

There are several histopathologic patterns of Spitz nevus, including junctional, compound, intradermal, and desmoplastic variants (Massi and LeBoit 2014). A distinctive variant is the pigmented spindle cell nevus (Reed nevus), which is typically junctional and contains heavily pigmented melanocytes that are predominantly spindled rather than epithelioid and smaller than those classically seen in Spitz nevus (Fig. 3).

#### Clinical Management

In children, the prevalence of Spitz nevus is much greater than the prevalence of melanoma with a dramatic inversion of this ratio in adults (Herreid and Shapiro 1996). As Spitz nevi commonly arise





**Fig. 4** Dermoscopy of a pigmented spindle cell nevus demonstrates a starburst pattern with radiating pseudopods at the periphery (Courtesy of Dermatolgy Department University of Würzburg)

on the face of children, conservative measures have been adopted, with some experts performing partial biopsies for diagnostic confirmation and other practitioners advocating clinical monitoring in diagnostically unequivocal cases (Tlougan et al. 2013).

Dermoscopy or epiluminescent microscopy allows for the assessment of colors and microstructures in the epidermis and superficial dermis and has been proposed as a method to aid in evaluation and monitoring of pigmented lesions. With dermoscopy, clinicians can identify specific structures and patterns of structures that are commonly observed in Spitz nevi and evaluate their distribution. The starburst pattern with radiating pseudopods at the periphery is characteristic of a variant of Spitz nevus also known as pigmented spindle cell nevus or Reed nevus (Steiner et al. 1992) (Fig. 4). Pigment globules and an inverse network is a common pattern in Spitz nevi, and nonpigmented Spitz nevi often have a symmetric pattern of dotted vessels (Pellacani et al. 2009). However, in some Spitz nevi, dermoscopic features specific to melanocytic tumors are not present (Fig. 5). Whereas dermoscopic monitoring of Spitz nevi



**Fig. 5** Spitz nevus with features of dermatofibroma on dermoscopy (Courtesy of Dr. Giuseppe Argenziano)

is a generally accepted practice for children, a recent study demonstrated a greater than 10% risk of melanoma in symmetric lesions with dermoscopic features of Spitz nevus in patients over 12 years old (Lallas et al. 2015). In adults, excisional biopsy of suspected Spitz nevi is recommended, and many practitioners perform re-excision of incompletely excised Spitz nevi (Luo et al. 2011).

#### **Atypical Spitz Tumors**

Atypical Spitz tumor is a designation for tumors with Spitz nevus-like features that show changes that are incompatible with an unequivocally benign lesion such as increased proliferation rate, high cellularity, asymmetry and morphologically distinct tumor cell populations. Clinically and dermoscopically atypical Spitz tumors can resemble Spitz nevi (Fig. 6). Theoretically the category of atypical Spitz tumor would be for lesions that are biologically closer to melanoma than Spitz nevi, but have not yet reached the fully transformed state that would qualify them as melanomas. Practically, until better diagnostic methods have been developed, this intermediate category is a provisional "home" for unusual Spitz nevi, true biologically intermediate tumors, and unusual spitzoid melanomas (Barnhill et al. 1999; Cerroni et al. 2010b; Massi and LeBoit 2014).



**Fig. 6** Clinical and dermoscopic appearance of an atypical Spitz tumor. Top: A pink dome-shaped papule ~1 cm in greatest diameter. Bottom: By dermoscopy, there is an inverse pigment network as well as pigment globules (Courtesy of Dr. Giuseppe Argenziano)

#### **Clinical Management**

Reflecting the limitation of morphological classification of Spitz tumors, lesions classified as Spitz nevi and atypical Spitz tumors even by expert dermatopathologists have led to deaths in rare cases. A grading system based on histopathologic and clinical features was proposed for risk stratification of atypical Spitz tumors in children and adolescents (Spatz 1999) that considers age, clinical size, ulceration, depth of extension in the skin, and mitotic activity. However, this method also fell short of correctly identifying all lethal tumors in the initial cohort and awaits independent validation.

Some clinicians pursued sentinel lymph node biopsy as a diagnostic procedure for atypical Spitz tumors, under the assumption that any tumor deposit in the sentinel lymph node would provide evidence that the primary tumor was biologically malignant (Su et al. 2003; Gamblin et al. 2006). A positive sentinel lymph node biopsy in this clinical setting was often followed by completion lymphadenectomy. Recent studies have demonstrated that lymph node metastases are found by sentinel lymph node biopsy in 39% of patients (Lohmann et al. 2002; Busam et al. 2009; Lallas et al. 2014). However, in contrast to cutaneous melanoma in which a positive sentinel lymph node purports a bad prognosis, the overwhelming majority of atypical Spitz tumors with positive sentinel lymph nodes do not progress to metastatic disease. Only one of 119 patients with atypical Spitz tumors who had a positive sentinel lymph node died of disease, after a mean follow-up of 59 months (Lallas et al. 2014). In contrast, less than 20% of patients with conventional melanoma have a positive sentinel lymph node, and those that do have a significantly increased risk for distant metastasis and death (Balch et al. 2009; Morton et al. 2014). Based on the indolent behavior of metastatic deposits in regional lymph nodes, completion lymphadenectomy for patients with atypical Spitz tumors and positive sentinel lymph nodes does not appear indicated.

The fact that regional metastases in atypical Spitz tumors are not a predictor of widespread metastasis and death appears counterintuitive. However, metastatic dissemination of benign melanocytic neoplasms is common. The presence of incidental benign melanocytic nevus cells (typically with the cellular morphology of common acquired, congenital, or blue nevi) in lymph nodes has been well-documented (Biddle et al. 2003). These aggregates typically reside within the lymph node capsule or trabeculae, suggesting they travel to the lymph node via lymphatic channels. This common finding implies that for melanocytic neoplasms, malignant transformation is not a requirement for migration of neoplastic cells to the lymph node. The frequency of sentinel lymph node positivity for Spitz nevus is not established, so that it is unclear whether their rate of sentinel lymph node involvement is lower or similar to that of atypical Spitz tumors.

Based on these considerations, sentinel lymph node biopsy is no longer recommended as a diagnostic or prognostic maneuver for patients with atypical Spitz tumors (Luo et al. 2011). The current management guidelines for atypical Spitz tumor call for complete excision. There is still uncertainty as to the diagnostic and prognostic significance of palpable regional lymphadenopathy and its clinical management.

#### Malignant Spitz Tumor

We use the term malignant Spitz tumor for melanomas with spitzoid morphology and the typical oncogenic alterations found in Spitz nevi and atypical Spitz tumor. Malignancy is defined either through the presence of frankly malignant histopathologic features or through their behavior with distant metastasis or death. This is a narrower definition than that of spitzoid melanoma, which is a less well-defined diagnostic entity based purely on cytomorphology. A recent study has shown that the majority of spitzoid melanomas defined solely on morphologic grounds have genetic alterations - BRAF V600E or NRAS mutations and a high mutation burden - similar to cutaneous melanomas arising on skin without chronic sun-induced damage (low-CSD melanomas) (Lazova et al. 2017) and thus are unrelated to Spitz tumors. The definition of malignant Spitz tumor is thus reserved for lesions that constitute the fully transformed stage of lesions that started as Spitz nevi or atypical Spitz tumor. Unfortunately, the term spitzoid melanoma has been used inconsistently and also inappropriately for atypical Spitz tumors that based on a positive sentinel lymph node biopsy have been upstaged as melanoma. These cases would no longer be considered as malignant Spitz tumors given the current understanding of the significance of positive sentinel lymph node status in atypical Spitz tumors. Due to the diagnostic difficulties in separating Spitz tumors into unequivocally benign or malignant forms, the diagnosis of malignancy is often made in retrospect, once distant metastases have been identified. Studies to date of spitzoid melanoma do not categorize tumors on the basis of their initiating oncogene, and the prevalence of BRAF and NRAS activating point mutations varies widely, ranging from 3–64% to 3–19%, respectively (Palmedo et al. 2004; van Dijk et al. 2005; Fullen et al. 2006; Lee et al. 2006; Da Forno et al. 2009).

In the authors' clinical practice, the term "spitzoid melanoma, childhood type" is used for spitzoid tumors with striking nuclear pleomorphism and deep mitoses, but the term malignant Spitz tumor better captures their unique features and avoids confounding with conventional melanomas. In the authors' experience, these types of tumors have a better outcome than conventional melanomas of similar stage but this remains to be further studied.

#### **Clinical Features**

Malignant Spitz tumors typically lack the defining clinical features of cutaneous melanoma such as uneven pigmentation with asymmetry, irregular borders. They usually present as rapidly growing nodules and are not reliably distinguishable from Spitz nevi or atypical Spitz tumors on a clinical basis.

#### Histopathologic Features

Malignant Spitz tumors are comprised of large epithelioid and/or spindled melanocytes similar as Spitz nevi and atypical Spitz tumors, but often show additional features of malignancy such as cells arranged in large cohesive sheets, an increased proliferation rate, marked pleomorphism, and ulceration. Frequently malignant Spitz tumors do not display distinguishing characteristics of Spitz nevi such as Kamino bodies and epidermal hyperplasia.

#### **Clinical Management**

Spitzoid melanoma is currently not a subtype of melanoma listed in the WHO classification of Skin Tumors (2005) and is not included as a listed subtype in the AJCC staging protocol for primary cutaneous melanoma. The term malignant Spitz tumor will be included in the updated version of the WHO classification. Due to the limitations of histopathology to define malignant Spitz tumors morphologically in the absence of outcome, information distinguishing it from atypical Spitz tumor data about its clinical behavior and rationally based guidelines for clinical management is highly limited. Studies comparing conventional and spitzoid melanoma in children identified a trend toward better outcomes in spitzoid melanoma (Pol-Rodriquez et al. 2007; Paradela et al. 2013); however, this could be due to limited diagnostic ability to distinguish atypical Spitz tumors from spitzoid melanomas.

#### Genetics

#### Initiating Genetic Alterations in Spitz Nevi

Concordant with their distinctive histopathological features Spitz nevi have a nonoverlapping spectrum of oncogenic alterations with other nevi. They very rarely harbor BRAF or NRAS mutations (Yazdi et al. 2003; Palmedo et al. 2004; Gill et al. 2004a, b; van Dijk et al. 2005; Da Forno et al. 2009), which are the most common oncogenic alterations in cutaneous melanoma, in which they are considered initiating events that are sufficient for the formation of benign nevi but require additional subsequent mutations for transformation to melanoma. Instead, Spitz tumors harbor mutations in HRAS or rearrangements that activate receptor tyrosine (ALK, ROS1, MET, NTRK1, NTRK3, RET) or serine/threonine (BRAF) kinases through fusion of their respective kinase domain to the N-terminal portion of another gene product. In keeping with the findings of the genetic progression in other types of melanocytic neoplasms Spitz tumors that carry only a single alteration, typically one of the activated oncogenes listed above, would be considered benign. By contrast the presence of additional genetic alterations would indicate progression to either an intermediate state between benign and malignant or a fully transformed and therefore malignant tumor. Data to date indicates that the secondary and tertiary alterations in Spitz tumors are quite similar to those in other types of melanocytic neoplasms and include loss of the tumor suppressor genes CDKN2A and mutation of the TERT promoter. In most instances, the spitzoid phenotype is a result of the initiating oncogenic alteration. However, there are exceptions in which spitzoid phenotype is a result of additional genetic alterations. Bi-allelic loss of BAP1 in a common acquired nevus initiated by BRAF V600E or sometimes NRAS mutation results in a change in cytomorphology that leads to enlargement of the small melanocytes of the nevus that is reminiscent of a Spitz tumor. As these lesions represent a special progression trajectory of common acquired nevi, the authors use the term BAP1inactivated spitzoid nevi proposed by Vilian and colleagues and do not consider them as bona fide Spitz tumors (Vilain et al. 2015). The authors propose a similar distinction for malignant tumors and use the term malignant Spitz tumor for malignant tumors that originated from a bona fide Spitz nevus or atypical Spitz tumor, as determined by histology and characteristic genetic alterations and the term spitzoid melanoma for melanomas with some histopathological features of Spitz tumors but with different genetic alterations such as BRAF or NRAS point mutations (Lazova et al. 2017).

#### HRAS

Approximately 20% of Spitz nevi harbor oncogenic mutations of HRAS, often accompanied by copy-number increases of the entire short arm of the chromosome 11 harboring the mutant HRAS allele (Bastian et al. 2000). The mutations disrupt the intrinsic GTPase activity of HRAS, resulting in constitutively active HRAS signaling through the MAP kinase and PI3 (phosphoinositide3) kinase pathways. Exon 3 mutations at position Q61 of HRAS appear to be more common than mutations in exon 2 at positions G12 or G13, possibly indicating a different effect of these ras mutations as has been found for other ras family members in other cancers. NRAS mutations in melanoma and nevi also occur more frequently at position Q61 (Burd et al. 2014).

While not all HRAS mutated Spitz nevi demonstrate copy number gain of HRAS, a recent case

I. Yeh and B. C. Bastian



**Fig. 7** Spitz nevus with HRAS mutation. Top: Low power view shows a predominantly intradermal melanocytic tumor that is more broad than deep, with a flat lower border. Bottom: High power view shows epithelioid and fusiform melanocytes intercalated between sclerotic collagen bundles

report of agminated Spitz nevi arising within nevus spilus found an HRAS G13R mutation in the light brown macular portion of the nevus spilus and copy number increase of HRAS G13R in the multiple papular Spitz nevi within, suggesting that increased gene dosage of mutant HRAS may be required for Spitz nevus initiation (Sarin et al. 2013). HRAS mutant Spitz nevi are distinct from other Spitz nevi as they are predominantly intradermal lesions that are wider than they are deep in which the dermal component is comprised of nests and cords of melanocytes that are interspersed between thickened collagen bundles (Fig. 7) (Bastian et al. 2000; van Engen-van Grunsven et al. 2010).

#### **Kinase Fusions**

Fusions of the serine/threonine kinase BRAF and the receptor tyrosine kinases (RTKs) ALK, MET, NTRK1, NTRK3, RET, and ROS1 are other initiating oncogenic alterations in Spitz nevi (Botton et al. 2013; Wiesner et al. 2014; Yeh et al. 2015a, 2016). Fusion kinases result from genomic rearrangements that fuse the intact kinase domain in frame to a 5' fusion partner. The resulting fusion kinase lacks the N-terminal autoinhibitory domain of the native kinase and is therefore constitutively active. The spectrum of 5' fusion partners in Spitz tumors is quite broad and includes genes partaking in similar rearrangements in other cancers such as lung, colon, hematologic, and thyroid malignancies and several novel fusion partners. Most of the 5' fusion partners contribute coiled-coil domains to the fusion kinase, likely promoting dimerization and kinase activity. While fusions involving the BRAF kinase domain are thought to only activate the MAP kinase pathway, fusions of RTKs activate pathways in addition to the MAP kinase pathway such as the PI3 kinase, STAT (signal transducer and activator of transcription), and phospholipase C pathways (Wiesner et al. 2014).

Some of the RTKs rearranged in Spitz nevi normally are expressed only during neural crest development, and are silenced in adult tissues. As the expression of the fusion genes encoding the fusion kinases are regulated by the promoter of the 5' fusion partner, the rearrangements lead simultaneously to dysregulated expression and kinase activation, which provides a compelling explanation as to why rearrangements rather than point mutations are the predominant mode of activation of these genes in melanocytic neoplasms. Expression of the kinase domain of ALK, MET, NTRK1, and ROS1 above the usual expression level in melanocytes can be used as a marker for the presence of a kinase fusion in Spitz tumors. Kinase domain expression is a particularly useful indicator of aberrant RTK expression when the RTK is not expressed in mature melanocytes, as is the case for ALK and ROS1.

Neoplastic diseases that are initiated by structural rearrangements resulting in gene fusions are generally more common in children (Jones et al. 2008; Takeuchi et al. 2012; Del Castillo et al. 2015) and have been linked to the high proliferation rate of cells during organismal development. The increased incidence of Spitz nevi in childhood may thus also be related to an increased rate of structural rearrangement due to expansion of the melanocyte population during childhood. Spitz nevi with ALK fusions typically are compound lesions with a wedge-shaped silhouette, in which large vertically oriented nests of fusiform melanocytes "rain down" from the superficial skin towards the apex of the wedge in the deep dermis. Single melanocytes or small clusters of them are often interspersed at a distance at the periphery of Spitz nevi with ALK fusions, suggesting that ALK signaling may promote melanocyte migration (Busam et al. 2014; Yeh et al. 2015b). This fascicular growth pattern was more frequently observed in Spitz nevi with ALK as compared to NTRK1 fusions (Kiuru et al. 2016), indicating that different fusion kinases may result in different histopathologic features.

ALK fusions appear to be sufficient to induce the morphologic features described above without the need for additional genetic alterations to occur. The high cellularity, rapid growth, and presence of mitoses would qualify many of them as atypical Spitz tumors on morphological grounds (Fig. 8), although their genetics may not constitute an intermediate state.

#### Secondary Genetic Alterations

#### **CDKN2A and TERT**

Thus far, oncogenic progression events identified in Spitz tumors include homozygous deletion of CDKN2A and TERT promoter hotspot mutations. p16, one of the two proteins encoded by CDKN2A, is a critical component of the G1/S cell cycle checkpoint and loss of p16 contributes to unchecked proliferation of melanocytes (Sviderskaya et al. 2003). Homozygous deletion of 9p21 which includes the CKDN2A locus is present in approximately 20% of atypical Spitz tumors and may be more common in tumors that develop distant metastases (Gerami et al. 2013; Lee et al. 2015). Hotspot mutations of the TERT promoter were identified in a small fraction of Spitz tumors and claimed to be predictive of lethal disease (Lee et al. 2015). However, only one of the four cases with TERT promoter mutations had genetic alterations typical of Spitz tumors (a BRAF fusion) so that it is not clear whether these cases were spitzoid melanomas, i.e.,



**Fig. 8** Atypical Spitz tumor with ALK fusion. AST from the elbow of a 5-year-old girl. Top: Low power view shows a predominantly intradermal tumor extending into the subcutis with a wedge-shaped profile. Middle: Medium power view shows large elongated nests of melanocytes in radial orientation, pointing towards the apex of the wedge. Multiple mitotic figures are present (arrows). Bottom: The melanocytes express the kinase domain of ALK by immunohistochemistry (Courtesy of Dr. Arnaud de la Fouchardière)

melanomas with some morphological features of Spitz tumors, or bona fide malignant Spitz tumors. With these limitations, the findings indicate that disruption of the G1/S cell cycle checkpoint by loss of p16 and avoidance of critical telomere shortening though TERT promoter mutation and increased TERT expression are genetic progression events in Spitz tumors similar to most other forms of melanoma.

#### BAP1

A subset of tumors often categorized as atypical Spitz tumors acquire their spitzoid features not through the initiating oncogene itself but through a genetic alteration that occurs after the initiating oncogene led to the initial formation of a neoplasia. These tumors harbor BRAF or NRAS mutations as initiating events, and often are hybrid lesions in which a common acquired nevus can be recognized as a precursor lesion from which a component with spitzoid morphology arose. The spitzoid component of these lesions is characterized by biallelic loss of BAP1 (Fig. 9). While these neoplasms have epithelioid melanocytes similar to bona fide Spitz tumors, distinguishing features include epidermal thinning – as opposed to the epidermal hyperplasia present in Spitz nevi - often with an attenuated rete ridge pattern, and the frequent presence of a residual portion of common acquired nevus which represents a precursor lesion. The epithelioid melanocytes frequently display variable cell size, marked nuclear pleomorphism, amphophilic cytoplasm, well-defined cellular membranes, and eccentrically placed nuclei. Vilain and colleagues propose the term BAP1-inactivated spitzoid nevi for these tumors, a term which captures the notion that they share features with Spitz tumors, but represent a distinct clinical and diagnostic entity.

BAP1-inactivated spitzoid nevi are usually solitary lesions, but have important clinical implications when they occur in multiplicity. When present in the germline, BAP1 loss of function mutations are associated with an autosomal dominant syndrome characterized by multiple unpigmented papular melanocytic tumors that occasionally arise within a pigmented nevus. Individuals with germline mutations in BAP1 have a cancer predisposition syndrome, with increased incidence of uveal melanoma, mesothelioma, clear-cell renal cell carcinoma, and other cancers that is sometimes accompanied by multiple BAP1-inactivated spitzoid nevi (Testa et al. 2011; Abdel-Rahman et al. 2011; Farley et al. 2013).

BAP1-inactivated spitzoid nevi seem to develop more slowly and have fewer mitoses that are limited to the superficial aspect of the



**Fig. 9** BAP1-inactivated spitzoid nevus. Top panel: Low power demonstrates a predominantly intradermal proliferation of melanocytes with smaller melanocytes present at the periphery of the central dermal nodule. Middle panel: High power view of marked region from top panel shows that the central dermal nodule is composed of epithelioid melanocytes with enlarged nuclei and abundant cytoplasm. There are nests of small round melanocytes at the periphery. Bottom panel: BAP1 immunohistochemistry demonstrates nuclear staining in the small round melanocytes but loss in the epithelioid melanocytes. Admixed inflammatory cells retain nuclear BAP1

tumor as compared to Spitz nevi (Wiesner et al. 2012; Busam et al. 2013). Their biologic behavior is not well studied, with fewer than 10 sporadic cases in the literature and limited follow-up

information. However, it is noteworthy that the one lethal atypical Spitz tumor classified as low-risk by the grading system of Spatz and colleagues had histopathologic characteristics of a BAP1-inactivated spitzoid tumor. The colloquial term BAPoma has been used for these lesions and they are considered as benign by most clinicians. However, they are genetically more advanced than conventional nevi as the sporadic versions have acquired at least the two additional genetic alterations necessary to disrupt both BAP1 alleles, and thus may have an increased risk for progression to melanoma. That risk may still be very small, but it seems appropriate to consider them as biologically intermediate neoplasms.

#### **DNA Copy Number Changes**

Cutaneous melanoma often demonstrates multiple copy number alterations and specific regions of the genome are recurrently gained or lost in melanoma indicating that these losses and gains are biologically significant (Curtin et al. 2005).

A limited number of studies have examined the copy number profile of Spitz tumors, in particular of "spitzoid melanoma." In contrast to common acquired nevi, which typically do not harbor copy number aberrations, Spitz nevi often harbor copy number alterations that increase the gene dosage of the initiating oncogene. Gains of chromosome 11p are frequent in Spitz nevi with HRAS mutation and affect the chromosomal arm that harbors the mutant HRAS allele (Bastian et al. 1999, 2000). Rearrangements such as deletions and tandem duplications that produce fusion genes often also result in copy number changes. Examples include deletion of a small 0.7 Mb region of chromosome 1q between LMNA and NTRK1 producing the LMNA-NTRK1 fusion; a deletion of 44 Mb fragment of chromosome 2p between DCTN1 and ALK producing the DCTN1-ALK fusion; and tandem duplication of the region on chromosome 15q between MYO5A and NTRK3 producing the MYO5A-NTRK3 fusion.

In other cases, the fusion-generating rearrangement appears to occur due to a complex genomic rearrangement suggestive of chromothripsis with multiple discrete regions of a single chromosome affected by copy number changes of similar magnitude.

The authors have observed many cases of Spitz tumors in which copy number alterations increased the gene dosage of the fusion kinase gene. The patterns of copy number changes are quite diverse, as individual kinase genes can fuse with a range of 5' partners. In one Spitz tumor an ALK fusion arose through the formation of a circular acentromeric DNA fragment (double minute), which was subsequently amplified to increase the gene dosage of the ALK fusion gene (Yeh et al. 2015b). The dosage of a given fusion kinase that is selected during tumor evolution is in part dependent on the expression level of the 5' partner gene, and a more weakly expressed fusion kinase may require additional copy number changes to ramp up effective expression levels. It is currently unclear whether additional genetic alterations that target the initiating oncogene have any prognostic relevance. A Spitz tumor driven by a rearrangement of a kinase in which the fusion kinase gene was subsequently amplified may still have the same biological features as a Spitz tumor in which the fusion kinase gene was not amplified. However, it is also conceivable that such subsequent copy number changes increase the chance of events that would lead to additional genetic alterations that would advance the progression of the neoplasm. Further work remains to determine the diagnostic and prognostic significance of copy number alterations in Spitz tumors, and copy number alterations will most likely need to be evaluated in the context of structural variations and point mutations.

#### **Targeted Therapy**

Treatment of BRAF^{V600E} mutant melanomas with BRAF inhibitors has clinical efficacy and there is promise of synergistic activity with immunotherapy regimens. As malignant Spitz tumors by definition do not harbor BRAF or NRAS mutations but instead a different subset of initiating oncogenes, the authors will briefly review potential targeted therapies of Spitz initiating oncogenes. HRAS is the only ras isoform whose localization to the plasma membrane can be blocked by farnesyltransferase inhibitors (Chen et al. 2014). Currently farnesyltransferase inhibitors are in development for other indications, including AML and remain to be investigated for HRAS mutant melanoma.

Small molecule inhibition of BRAF fusions may be efficacious in melanoma. Notably, the BRAF fusions contain the wild-type kinase domain of BRAF and in vitro studies indicate that melanoma cell lines with BRAF fusions are relatively insensitive to vemurafenib, a class I inhibitor active against the activated form of BRAF, but sensitive to sorafenib, a class II inhibitor active against the resting conformation of BRAF (Botton et al. 2013; Botton T, unpublished 2017). There are a few case reports of patients with BRAF fusions responding to class II BRAF inhibitors or MEK inhibitors (Menzies et al. 2015).

Inhibitors of ALK and ROS1 are FDA approved for use in ALK and ROS1 rearranged nonsquamous cell lung cancer and in some cases patients with metastatic disease had complete responses to therapy with these drugs. Inhibitors of RET, NTRK1, and NTRK3 have also been reported to result in dramatic responses in patients with solid tumors harboring RET, NTRK1, or NTRK3 fusions. These agents have yet to be tested in melanomas with the respective fusions.

#### Conclusion

Recent studies have identified a diverse spectrum of initiating oncogenes in Spitz tumors. The majority of these initiating oncogenes are fusion kinases, which arise from structural rearrangements. Perhaps this mutational mechanism contributes in part to the propensity of Spitz tumors to occur in children. Early studies indicate that tumors driven by rearrangement of different kinases have different histopathologic appearances, likely accounting for the diagnostic difficulty of this class of tumors. The authors propose that the spectrum of Spitz tumors from benign to malignant be referred to as Spitz nevi, atypical Spitz tumors, and malignant Spitz tumor and refer only to tumors initiated by Spitz oncogenes (HRAS, BRAF fusions, RTK fusions). Notably, some tumors previously classified as Spitz tumors do not fall in this category, namely BAP1inactivated spitzoid nevi.

With a better understanding of the initiating genetic events in Spitz nevi, further refinement of diagnostic criteria for benign and malignant tumors is needed, based on both histopathologic and genetic features. Future studies with clinical follow-up information and genetic analysis are needed.

#### References

- Abdel-Rahman MH, Pilarski R, Cebulla CM, Massengill JB, Christopher BN, Boru G, Hovland P, Davidorf FH (2011) Germline BAP1 mutation predisposes to uveal melanoma, lung adenocarcinoma, meningioma, and other cancers. J Med Genet. https:// doi.org/10.1136/jmedgenet-2011-100156
- Argenziano G, Agozzino M, Bonifazi E, Broganelli P, Brunetti B, Ferrara G, Fulgione E, Garrone A, Zalaudek I (2011) Natural evolution of Spitz nevi. Dermatology 222:256–260. https://doi.org/10.1159/ 000326109
- Balch CM, Gershenwald JE, Soong S, Thompson JF, Atkins MB, Byrd DR, Buzaid AC, Cochran AJ, Coit DG, Ding S, Eggermont AM, Flaherty KT, Gimotty PA, Kirkwood JM, McMasters KM, Mihm MC, Morton DL, Ross MI, Sober AJ, Sondak VK (2009) Final version of 2009 AJCC melanoma staging and classification. J Clin Oncol. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2009.23.4799
- Barnhill RL, Argenyi ZB, From L, Glass LF, Maize JC, Mihm MC, Rabkin MS, Ronan SG, White WL, Piepkorn M (1999) Atypical Spitz nevi/tumors: lack of consensus for diagnosis, discrimination from melanoma, and prediction of outcome. Hum Pathol 30:513–520
- Bastian BC, Wesselmann U, Pinkel D, Leboit PE (1999) Molecular cytogenetic analysis of Spitz nevi shows clear differences to melanoma. J Invest Dermatol 113:1065–1069. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1523-1747. 1999.00787.x
- Bastian BC, LeBoit PE, Pinkel D (2000) Mutations and copy number increase of HRAS in Spitz nevi with distinctive histopathological features. Am J Pathol 157:967–972. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0002-9440(10) 64609-3
- Biddle DA, Evans HL, Kemp BL, El-Naggar AK, Harvell JD, White WL, Iskandar SS, Prieto VG (2003) Intraparenchymal nevus cell aggregates in lymph nodes: a possible diagnostic pitfall with malignant melanoma and carcinoma. Am J Surg Pathol 27:673–681

- Botton T, Yeh I, Nelson T, Vemula SS, Sparatta A, Garrido MC, Allegra M, Rocchi S, Bahadoran P, McCalmont TH, LeBoit PE, Burton EA, Bollag G, Ballotti R, Bastian BC (2013) Recurrent BRAF kinase fusions in melanocytic tumors offer an opportunity for targeted therapy. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res 26:845–851. https://doi.org/10.1111/pcmr.12148
- Burd CE, Liu W, Huynh MV, Waqas MA, Gillahan JE, Clark KS, Fu K, Martin BL, Jeck WR, Souroullas GP, Darr DB, Zedek DC, Miley MJ, Baguley BC, Campbell SL, Sharpless NE (2014) Mutation-specific RAS oncogenicity explains NRAS codon 61 selection in melanoma. Cancer Discov 4:1418–1429. https://doi. org/10.1158/2159-8290.CD-14-0729
- Busam KJ, Murali R, Pulitzer M, McCarthy SW, Thompson JF, Shaw HM, Brady MS, Coit DG, Dusza S, Wilmott J, Kayton M, Laquaglia M, Scolyer RA (2009) Atypical spitzoid melanocytic tumors with positive sentinel lymph nodes in children and teenagers, and comparison with histologically unambiguous and lethal melanomas. Am J Surg Pathol 33:1386–1395. https://doi.org/10.1097/PAS. 0b013e3181ac1927
- Busam KJ, Sung J, Wiesner T, von Deimling A, Jungbluth A (2013) Combined BRAF(V600E)positive melanocytic lesions with large epithelioid cells lacking BAP1 expression and conventional nevomelanocytes. Am J Surg Pathol 37:193–199. https://doi.org/10.1097/PAS.0b013e318263648c
- Busam KJ, Kutzner H, Cerroni L, Wiesner T (2014) Clinical and pathologic findings of Spitz nevi and atypical Spitz tumors with ALK fusions. J Surg Pathol 38:925–933. https://doi.org/10.1097/PAS. 000000000000187
- Cerroni L, Barnhill R, Elder D, Gottlieb G, Heenan P, Kutzner H, LeBoit PE, Mihm M Jr, Rosai J, Kerl H (2010a) Melanocytic tumors of uncertain malignant potential: results of a tutorial held at the XXIX Symposium of the International Society of Dermatopathology in Graz, October 2008. Am J Surg Pathol 34:314–326. https://doi.org/10.1097/PAS.0b013e3181cf7fa0
- Cerroni L, Barnhill R, Elder D, Gottlieb G, Heenan P, Kutzner H, LeBoit PE, Mihm M, Rosai J, Kerl H (2010b) Melanocytic tumors of uncertain malignant potential. Am J Surg Pathol 34:314–326. https://doi. org/10.1097/PAS.0b013e3181cf7fa0
- Chen X, Makarewicz JM, Knauf JA, Johnson LK, Fagin JA (2014) Transformation by HrasG12V is consistently associated with mutant allele copy gains and is reversed by farnesyl transferase inhibition. Oncogene 33:5442–5449. https://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2013.489
- Curtin JA, Fridlyand J, Kageshita T, Patel HN, Busam KJ, Kutzner H, Cho K-H, Aiba S, Bröcker E-B, LeBoit PE, Pinkel D, Bastian BC (2005) Distinct sets of genetic alterations in melanoma. N Engl J Med 353:2135–2147. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa0 50092
- Da Forno PD, Pringle JH, Fletcher A, Bamford M, Su L, Potter L, Saldanha G (2009) BRAF, NRAS and HRAS

mutations in spitzoid tumours and their possible pathogenetic significance. Br J Dermatol 161:364–372. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2133.2009.09181.x

- Del Castillo M, Chibon F, Arnould L, Croce S, Ribeiro A, Perot G, Hostein I, Geha S, Bozon C, Garnier A, Lae M, Vincent-Salomon A, MacGrogan G (2015) Secretory breast carcinoma: a histopathologic and genomic spectrum characterized by a joint specific ETV6-NTRK3 gene fusion. Am J Surg Pathol 39:1458–1467. https:// doi.org/10.1097/PAS.00000000000487
- Engen-van Grunsven, A C H van, Marcory C R F van Dijk, Dirk J Ruiter, Annelies Klaasen, Wolter J Mooi, and Willeke A M Blokx (2010) "HRAS-Mutated Spitz Tumors: A Subtype of Spitz Tumors with Distinct Features". The American Journal of Surgical Pathology 34 (10):1436–41. https://doi.org/10.1097/PAS.0b013e3181f 0a749
- Farley MN, Schmidt LS, Mester JL, Peña-Llopis S, Pavia-Jimenez A, Christie A, Vocke CD, Ricketts CJ, Peterson J, Middelton L, Kinch L, Grishin N, Merino MJ, Metwalli AR, Xing C, Xie X-J, Dahia PLM, Eng C, Linehan WM, Brugarolas J (2013) A novel germline mutation in BAP1 predisposes to familial clear-cell renal cell carcinoma. Mol Cancer Res 11:1061–1071. https://doi.org/10.1158/ 1541-7786.MCR-13-0111
- Fullen, Douglas R, Jenny N Poynter, Lori Lowe, Lyndon D Su, James T Elder, Rajan P Nair, Timothy M Johnson, and Stephen B Gruber (2006) BRAF and NRAS Mutations in Spitzoid Melanocytic Lesions. Modern Pathology: An Official Journal of the United States and Canadian Academy of Pathology 19(10):1324–32. https://doi.org/10.1038/modpathol.3800653
- Gamblin TC, Edington H, Kirkwood JM, Rao UNM (2006) Sentinel lymph node biopsy for atypical melanocytic lesions with spitzoid features. Ann Surg Oncol 13:1664–1670. https://doi.org/10.1245/s10434-006-9142-5
- Gerami P, Scolyer RA, Xu X, Elder DE, Abraham RM, Fullen D, Prieto VG, Leboit PE, Barnhill RL, Cooper C, Yazdan P, Guitart J, Liu P, Pestova E, Busam K (2013) Risk assessment for atypical spitzoid melanocytic neoplasms using FISH to identify chromosomal copy number aberrations. Am J Surg Pathol 37:676–684. https://doi.org/10.1097/PAS.0b013e318 2753de6
- Gill M, Cohen J, Renwick N, Mones JM, Silvers DN, Celebi JT (2004a) Genetic similarities between Spitz nevus and spitzoid melanoma in children. Cancer 101:2636–2640. https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.20680
- Gill M, Renwick N, Silvers DN, Çelebi JT (2004b) Lack of BRAF mutations in Spitz nevi. J Invest Dermatol 122:1325–1326. https://doi.org/10.1111/ j.0022-202X.2004.22530.x
- Herreid PA, Shapiro PE (1996) AGe distribution of spitz nevus vs malignant melanoma. Arch Dermatol 132:352–353. https://doi.org/10.1001/archderm.1996. 03890270130025

- Jones DTW, Kocialkowski S, Liu L, Pearson DM, Bäcklund LM, Ichimura K, Collins VP (2008) Tandem duplication producing a novel oncogenic BRAF fusion gene defines the majority of pilocytic astrocytomas. Cancer Res 68:8673–8677. https://doi.org/10.1158/ 0008-5472.CAN-08-2097
- Kamino H, Flotte TJ, Misheloff E, Greco MA, Ackerman AB (1979) Eosinophilic globules in Spitz's nevi. New findings and a diagnostic sign. Am J Dermatopathol 1:319–324
- Kiuru M, Jungbluth A, Kutzner H, Wiesner T, Busam KJ (2016) Spitz tumors comparison of histological features in relationship to immunohistochemical staining for ALK and NTRK1. Int J Surg Pathol 24:200–206. https://doi.org/10.1177/1066896916630375
- Lallas A, Kyrgidis A, Ferrara G, Kittler H, Apalla Z, Castagnetti F, Longo C, Moscarella E, Piana S, Zalaudek I, Argenziano G (2014) Atypical Spitz tumours and sentinel lymph node biopsy: a systematic review. Lancet Oncol 15:e178–e183. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/S1470-2045(13)70608-9
- Lallas A, Moscarella E, Longo C, Kyrgidis A, de Mestier Y, Vale G, Guida S, Pellacani G, Argenziano G (2015) Likelihood of finding melanoma when removing a spitzoid-looking lesion in patients aged 12 years or older. J Am Acad Dermatol 72:47–53. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.jaad.2014.09.037
- Lazova R, Pornputtapong N, Halaban R, Bosenberg M, Bai Y, Chai H, Krauthammer M (2017) Spitz nevi and spitzoid melanomas: exome sequencing and comparison with conventional melanocytic nevi and melanomas. Mod Pathol. https://doi.org/10.1038/modpathol. 2016.237
- Lee, David A, Jason A Cohen, William S Twaddell, Gustavo Palacios, Melissa Gill, Eyal Levit, Alan J Halperin, et al. (2006) "Are All Melanomas the Same? Spitzoid Melanoma Is a Distinct Subtype of Melanoma". Cancer 106(4):907–13. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/cncr.21686
- Lee S, Barnhill RL, Dummer R, Dalton J, Wu J, Pappo A, Bahrami A (2015) TERT promoter mutations are predictive of aggressive clinical behavior in patients with spitzoid melanocytic neoplasms. Sci Rep 5:11200. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep11200
- Lohmann CM, Coit DG, Brady MS, Berwick M, Busam KJ (2002) Sentinel lymph node biopsy in patients with diagnostically controversial spitzoid melanocytic tumors. Am J Surg Pathol 26:47–55
- Luo S, Sepehr A, Tsao H (2011) Spitz nevi and other spitzoid lesions: part II. Natural history and management. J Am Acad Dermatol 65:1087–1092. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jaad.2011.06.045
- Massi G, LeBoit PE (2014) Histological diagnosis of nevi and melanoma. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin/Heidelberg
- Menzies AM, Yeh I, Botton T, Bastian BC, Scolyer RA, Long GV (2015) Clinical activity of the MEK inhibitor trametinib in metastatic melanoma containing BRAF

kinase fusion. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res 28:607–610. https://doi.org/10.1111/pcmr.12388

- Morton DL, Thompson JF, Cochran AJ, Mozzillo N, Nieweg OE, Roses DF, Hoekstra HJ, Karakousis CP, Puleo CA, Coventry BJ, Kashani-Sabet M, Smithers BM, Paul E, Kraybill WG, McKinnon JG, Wang H-J, Elashoff R, Faries MB (2014) Final trial report of sentinel-node biopsy versus nodal observation in melanoma. N Engl J Med 370:599–609. https://doi. org/10.1056/NEJMoa1310460
- Palmedo G, Hantschke M, Rütten A, Mentzel T, Hügel H, Flaig MJ, Yazdi AS, Sander CA, Kutzner H (2004) The T1796A mutation of the BRAF gene is absent in Spitz nevi. J Cutan Pathol 31:266–270
- Paniago-Pereira C, Maize JC, Ackerman AB (1978) Nevus of large spindle and/or epithelioid cells (Spitz's nevus). Arch Dermatol 114:1811–1823
- Paradela S, Fonseca E, Pita-Fernández S, Prieto VG (2013) Spitzoid and non-spitzoid melanoma in children. A prognostic comparative study. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 27:1214–1221. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-3083.2012.04686.x
- Pellacani G, Scope A, Ferrari B, Pupelli G, Bassoli S, Longo C, Cesinaro AM, Argenziano G, Hofmann-Wellenhof R, Malvehy J, Marghoob AA, Puig S, Seidenari S, Soyer HP, Zalaudek I (2009) New insights into nevogenesis: in vivo characterization and followup of melanocytic nevi by reflectance confocal microscopy. J Am Acad Dermatol 61:1001–1013. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jaad.2009.04.018
- Pol-Rodriquez M, Lee S, Silvers DN, Celebi JT (2007) Influence of age on survival in childhood spitzoid melanomas. Cancer 109:1579–1583. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/cncr.22584
- Requena C, Requena L, Kutzner H, Yus ES (2009) Spitz nevus: a clinicopathological study of 349 cases. Am J Dermatopathol 31:107–116. https://doi.org/10.1097/ DAD.0b013e3181934218
- Sarin KY, Sun BK, Bangs CD et al (2013) Activating HRAS mutation in agminated Spitz nevi arising in a nevus spilus. JAMA Dermatol 149:1077–1081. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamadermatol.2013.4745
- Schmoeckel C, Stolz W, Burgeson R, Krieg T (1990) Identification of basement membrane components in eosinophilic globules in a case of Spitz's nevus. Am J Dermatopathol 12:272–274
- Spatz A (1999) Spitz tumors in children: a grading system for risk stratification. Arch Dermatol 135:282–285. https://doi.org/10.1001/archderm.135.3.282
- Spitz S (1948) Melanomas of childhood. Am J Pathol 24:591–609
- Steiner A, Pehamberger H, Binder M, Wolff K (1992) Pigmented Spitz nevi: improvement of the diagnostic accuracy by epiluminescence microscopy. J Am Acad Dermatol 27:697–701
- Su LD, Fullen DR, Sondak VK, Johnson TM, Lowe L (2003) Sentinel lymph node biopsy for patients with problematic spitzoid melanocytic lesions: a report

on 18 patients. Cancer 97:499-507. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/cncr.11074

- Sviderskaya EV, Gray-Schopfer VC, Hill SP, Smit NP, Evans-Whipp TJ, Bond J, Hill L, Bataille V, Peters G, Kipling D, Wynford-Thomas D, Bennett DC (2003) p16/cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor 2A deficiency in human melanocyte senescence, apoptosis, and immortalization: possible implications for melanoma progression. J Natl Cancer Inst 95:723–732
- Takeuchi K, Soda M, Togashi Y, Suzuki R, Sakata S, Hatano S, Asaka R, Hamanaka W, Ninomiya H, Uehara H, Lim Choi Y, Satoh Y, Okumura S, Nakagawa K, Mano H, Ishikawa Y (2012) RET, ROS1 and ALK fusions in lung cancer. Nat Med 18:378–381. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.2658
- Testa JR, Cheung M, Pei J, Below JE, Tan Y, Sementino E, Cox NJ, Dogan AU, Pass HI, Trusa S, Hesdorffer M, Nasu M, Powers A, Rivera Z, Comertpay S, Tanji M, Gaudino G, Yang H, Carbone M (2011) Germline BAP1 mutations predispose to malignant mesothelioma. Nat Genet 43:1022–1025. https://doi.org/10. 1038/ng.912
- Tlougan BE, Orlow SJ, Schaffer JV (2013) Spitz nevi: beliefs, behaviors, and experiences of pediatric dermatologists. JAMA Dermatol 149:283–291. https://doi. org/10.1001/jamadermatol.2013.1124
- van Dijk MCRF, Bernsen MR, Ruiter DJ (2005) Analysis of mutations in B-RAF, N-RAS, and H-RAS genes in the differential diagnosis of Spitz nevus and spitzoid melanoma. Am J Surg Pathol 29:1145–1151
- Vilain RE, McCarthy SW, Thompson JF, Scolyer RA (2015) BAP1-inactivated spitzoid naevi. Am J Surg Pathol 39:722. https://doi.org/10.1097/PAS.0000000 000000407
- Weedon D, Little JH (1977) Spindle and epithelioid cell nevi in children and adults. A review of 211 cases of the Spitz nevus. Cancer 40:217–225. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/1097-0142(197707)40:1<217::AID-CNCR2 820400134>3.0.CO;2-2
- Wiesner T, Murali R, Fried I, Cerroni L, Busam K, Kutzner H, Bastian BC (2012) A distinct subset of atypical Spitz tumors is characterized by BRAF mutation and loss of BAP1 expression. Am J Surg Pathol 36:818–830. https://doi.org/10.1097/PAS. 0b013e3182498be5
- Wiesner T, He J, Yelensky R, Esteve-Puig R, Botton T, Yeh I, Lipson D, Otto G, Brennan K, Murali R, Garrido M, Miller VA, Ross JS, Berger MF, Sparatta A, Palmedo G, Cerroni L, Busam KJ, Kutzner H, Cronin MT, Stephens PJ, Bastian BC (2014) Kinase fusions are frequent in Spitz tumours and spitzoid melanomas. Nat Commun 5:3116. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms4116
- Yazdi AS, Palmedo G, Flaig MJ, Puchta U, Reckwerth A, Rütten A, Mentzel T, Hügel H, Hantschke M, Schmid-Wendtner M-H, Kutzner H, Sander CA (2003) Mutations of the BRAF gene in benign and malignant

melanocytic lesions. J Invest Dermatol 121:1160–1162. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1523-1747.2003.12559.x

- Yeh I, Botton T, Talevich E, Shain AH, Sparatta AJ, de la Fouchardiere A, Mully TW, North JP, Garrido MC, Gagnon A, Vemula SS, McCalmont TH, LeBoit PE, Bastian BC (2015a) Activating MET kinase rearrangements in melanoma and Spitz tumours. Nat Commun 6:7174. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms8174
- Yeh I, de la Fouchardiere A, Pissaloux D, Mully TW, Garrido MC, Vemula SS, Busam KJ, LeBoit PE,

McCalmont TH, Bastian BC (2015b) Clinical, histopathologic, and genomic features of Spitz tumors with ALK fusions. Am J Surg Pathol 39:581–591. https://doi.org/10.1097/PAS.00000000000387

Yeh I, Tee MK, Botton T, Shain AH, Sparatta AJ, Gagnon A, Vemula SS, Garrido MC, Nakamaru K, Isoyama T, McCalmont TH, LeBoit PE, Bastian BC. NTRK3 kinase fusions in Spitz tumours. J Pathol. 2016;240 (3):282–290. https://doi.org/10.1002/path.4775



### Acral Melanoma

19

Melanoma Affecting Volar Skin and Nail Apparatus

Toshiaki Saida

#### Contents

Definition and Epidemiology of Acral Melanoma	412
Pathogenesis and Genetic Alterations of Acral Melanoma         Pathogenesis of Acral Melanoma         Genetic Alterations of Acral Melanoma	413 413 414
Clinical, Dermoscopic, and Histopathologic Diagnoses of Acral Melanoma Acral Melanoma on the Palms and Soles Acral Melanoma of the Nail Apparatus	417 417 430
Management and Prognosis of Acral Melanoma Diagnostic Workup and Staging of Acral Melanoma Surgery of Acral Melanoma Conventional Chemotherapy and Radiation Therapy of Metastatic Acral Melanoma	433 433 433 433
Immunotherapy and Molecular Targeting Therapy for Advanced Acral         Melanoma         Prognostic Data of Acral Melanoma	434 435
Conclusion	435
References	435

#### Abstract

Acral melanoma is defined as melanoma affecting the palms, soles, and nail apparatus. This is not a synonym of acral lentiginous melanoma in Clark's classification, which is defined histopathologically. Acral melanoma is characterized by peculiar chromosomal and genetic alterations distinct from other subtypes of melanoma. These characteristics certainly reflect its unique pathogenesis, in which sun exposure is not a major causative factor. In this chapter, genetic characteristics of acral melanoma were first summarized and its molecular pathogenesis was discussed. Amplification of *CCND1* and *TERT* may be early events in the development of acral melanoma. Mutations of *BRAF/NRAS* may be also involved in the early developmental phase of acral melanoma along with *KIT* mutations/amplification, which can be utilized as targets by small molecular inhibitors for the treatment of advanced

T. Saida (🖂)

Department of Dermatology, Shinshu University School of Medicine, Matsumoto, Japan e-mail: tosaida@xb4.so-net.ne.jp

[©] Springer Science+Business Media, LLC, part of Springer Nature 2019 D. E. Fisher, B. C. Bastian (eds.), *Melanoma*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-7147-9 5

acral melanoma. Next, essential points in the clinical,dermoscopic, and histopathologic diagnoses of acral melanoma were described. Particularly, dermoscopy is very helpful in diagnosing primary lesions of acral melanoma by the parallel ridge pattern, which contrasts with the parallel furrow pattern found in the vast majority of acral nevi. These different pigmentation patterns suggest de novo genesis of acral melanoma, namely, melanoma and

nevus arise independently in this anatomical site. Finally, management of acral melanoma is discussed, including some suggestions in the surgical treatment and recently introduced molecular targeting therapies.

#### Keywords

Acral melanoma · Acral lentiginous melanoma · Molecular pathogenesis · Clinical diagnosis · Dermoscopic diagnosis · Histopathologic diagnosis · Management and prognosis

#### Definition and Epidemiology of Acral Melanoma

Clark's histopathologic classification of melanoma was first described in 1969, in which the following three subtypes were proposed: the superficial spreading melanoma (SSM), lentigo maligna melanoma (LMM), and nodular melanoma (NM). Thereafter, Reed (1976) introduced the concept of acral lentiginous melanoma (ALM). Already in 1974, however, Seiji, a Japanese dermatologist renowned for his melanosome studies, reported that plantar and subungual melanomas often showed a distinctive adjacent intraepidermal proliferation of atypical melanocytes (Seiji and Takahashi 1974). ALM was soon later incorporated into Clark's classification.

ALM is defined by characteristic histopathologic features, namely, proliferation of atypical melanocytes in a lentiginous pattern along the basal layer of the peripheral epidermis, which usually shows moderate acanthosis and rete ridge elongation (Fig. 1). ALM is seen on acral volar skin (glabrous/non-hair-bearing skin) but can be seen on other anatomical sites such as on the dorsum of the foot. Furthermore, other subtypes, such as SSM and NM, can occur on the acral skin. In 2005, Bastian's group proposed a new classification system of melanomas based on their data of chromosomal and genetic investigation (Curtin et al. 2005). They identified the following four types: (1) melanoma on non-chronic sun-damaged skin (non-CSD melanoma), (2) melanoma on chronic sun-damaged skin (CSD melanoma), (3) acral melanoma (Fig. 1), and (4) mucosal melanoma. The non-CSD melanoma mostly corresponds to SSM, the CSD melanoma to LMM, and acral melanoma to ALM. But in a strict sense, acral melanoma is not identical to ALM. Acral melanoma was defined as melanoma affecting the palms, soles, or nail apparatus, irrespective of histopathologic features. Of note, according to the supplemental data in the paper by Bastian's group, 5 of 36 acral melanomas were SSM in Clark's subtypes. The study by Bastian's group has revealed that acral melanoma is genetically characterized by rare mutations of BRAF and NRAS and by chromosomal gains on 6p, 7, 8q, 17q, and 20q and loss on 6q, 9p, 10, and 21q. Acral melanoma is particularly unique in that gene amplifications are frequently detected throughout the genome, including CCND1 (11q13), TERT (5p15), RICTOR (5p13), KIT (4q12), and CDK4 (12q14) (Curtin et al. 2005). In this chapter, the author adopts the terms and concept defined by Bastian's group but uses the terms of Clark's classification when they were used in the past literatures. In the genetic classification put forth in The Cancer Genome Atlas Network, acral melanoma mainly falls into the category of "triple wild-type" melanomas (2015).

Incidence and subtypes of malignant melanoma are substantially different among races. While non-CSD melanoma is the most prevalent type in White populations, acral melanoma is a predominant subtype in other world populations. The proportion of acral melanoma/ALM in all cutaneous melanomas is highly variable among races, accounting for approximately 5% in White people, over 80% in Black people, and around



Fig. 1 Typical clinical and histopathologic features of acral melanoma. Clinically, this lesion on the heel exhibits an ulcerated nodule, accompanying ill-defined brown macules with variable shades, interposed by seemingly nonpigmented areas (a). Macular portions

50% in Asian people. Given that acral volar skin (palms and soles) occupies only about 5% of the total body surface area, the abovementioned site predilection of melanoma in dark-skinned peoples is surprising and indicates that the transformation risk of melanocytes in acral volar skin is elevated compared to melanocytes of non-glabrous skin. Moreover, the absolute incidence of acral melanoma was reported to be similar among all races (Stevens et al. 1990), and the very low relative proportion of acral melanoma in White populations is mainly due to increased incidence of the non-CSD melanoma in Whites. The major causative factor of the non-CSD melanoma is suspected to be sun exposure, particularly intermittent intense sun exposure. The fair skin of White people contains little melanin with a decreased eumelanin to pheomelanin ratio, resulting in reduced UV shielding. Thereby, melanocytes situated in the epidermal basal layer of fair skin are vulnerable to sun damage, and thus DNA of melanocytes is easily damaged by ultraviolet radiation. These may be the major reasons for the higher incidence of non-CSD melanomas in White people. In contrast, sun exposure is not a major causative factor of acral melanoma. This is reflected in a significantly lower somatic mutation burden in acral melanomas compared to non-CSD melanoma

histopathologically show proliferation of atypical melanocytes as solitary units and in nests of variable size within the epidermis (**b**). Upward migration of atypical melanocytes is detected in the hyperplastic epidermis with some elongation of the rete ridges

or CDS-melanoma (Turajlic et al. 2012; Hayward et al. 2017). Acral melanoma has distinctive chromosomal and genetic aberrations, the details of which are discussed in the following section.

#### Pathogenesis and Genetic Alterations of Acral Melanoma

#### Pathogenesis of Acral Melanoma

The age distribution of patients with acral melanoma peaks in the seventh decade, irrespective of races. The most prevalent site is the sole. In Japanese, plantar melanomas account for approximately 30% of all cutaneous melanomas. Plantar melanoma is about ten times more prevalent than palmar melanoma. In a study of a total of 177 acral melanomas in Koreans, the most prevalent subsites of acral melanoma were physically stressed sites, such as the center of the heels and inner forefoot (Jung et al. 2013). Among melanomas of the nail apparatus, the finger nails are more frequently affected than toe nails, with the thumbnail being the most frequently affected site. These data suggest that chronic mechanical pressure and/or repeated minor trauma could be a causative factor of acral melanoma (Saida 2007). In addition, the low melanin content in the epidermis of these anatomical sites could contribute to transformation of melanocytes because of decreased antioxidant effects.

#### **Genetic Alterations of Acral Melanoma**

While initial studies have analyzed the genetic evolution of non-acral cutaneous melanomas from pre-neoplastic lesions (Shain et al. 2015), the genetic evolution of acral melanoma remains to be explored. Here, the author summarizes characteristic genetic and molecular alterations of acral melanoma described in the literatures to date.

Summing up the genetic findings described below, the author proposes a molecular/genetic model of development and progression of acral melanoma as illustrated in Fig. 2, though it is very preliminary.

#### CDKN2A

It is well known that *CDKN2A* located at 9p21 is an important gene responsible for melanomagenesis. Germline mutation of this gene was reported in families prone to develop non-CSD melanoma. *CDKN2A* deletion seems

related to the invasive stage of melanoma. In the recent study by Bastian's group, *CDKN2A* aberrations were detected in invasive melanoma in most cases (Shain et al. 2015). In SMYM-PRGP, an acral melanoma cell line we established from the radial growth phase of plantar melanoma, neither mutation nor copy number loss of *CDKN2A* was detected (Murata et al. 2007), which suggests, also in acral melanoma, *CDKN2A* deletion may be a later occurring event.

#### CCND1

Acral melanoma is characterized by focal amplifications of various chromosomal loci. Particularly, amplification of 11q13, where cyclin D1 gene/*CCND1* is located, is frequently detected (Curtin et al. 2005). *CCND1* positively regulates the activity of *CDKs*, leading to phosphorylation of Rb and promoting entry into mitosis. Amplification of *CCND1* is detected in about 45% of acral melanoma (Sauter et al. 2002). More recent study showed that *CCND1* amplifications were found in 10 of 14 (71%) invasive and 4 out of 5 (80%) in situ lesions of acral melanoma (North et al. 2008). An immunohistochemical study revealed *CCND1* was expressed in 68% of acral melanoma.



**Fig. 2** Genetic developmental model of acral melanoma: preliminary hypothesis. Most acral melanomas arises de novo, not in association with a preceding melanocytic nevus. The first event may be transformation of epidermal melanocytes though the initial driver gene(s), probably related to genomic instability, is not yet identified. Thereafter, the melanocytes acquire amplification (amp) of *CCND1* and *TERT* and spread along the basal layer of the epidermis as the "field cells." *KIT* mutations (mut) or amplification and *BRAF/NRAS* mutations may be also involved in the early developmental phase. With some unknown gene(s) aberration, the field cells become

morphologically atypical melanocytes, and a histopathologically diagnosable lesion of acral melanoma in situ appears. In this phase, the melanocytes are dependent on some factor(s) from keratinocytes, preventing them to invade the dermis. Loss of *CDKNA2* and/or aberration of other unknown gene(s) may contribute to transition from the in situ phase to the radial growth phase, making the cells independent of epidermal keratinocytes. In the following vertical growth phase, cell clones with a proliferative advantage and metastatic potential appear within the lesion. Other various genetic aberrations are responsible for the later progression phase

Although, in cancers of other organs, gene amplifications are generally found in later progression stages, CCND1 amplifications in acral melanoma are detected in earlier developmental stages including acral melanoma in situ (Bastian et al. 2000). Furthermore, copy number increase of CCND1 was detected in non-atypical melanocytes located in the peripheral epidermis beyond the histopathologically recognizable margin of acral melanoma (North et al. 2008). Bastian (2003) called these genetically aberrant cells with normal morphology "field cells" and proposed that they represent an early progression phase preceding the histopathologically apparent stages of melanoma in situ. Such field cells in acral melanoma occasionally extend far beyond the histopathological margin, and the extent does not correlate with tumor depth or diameter of the lesion (North et al. 2008). The concept of field cells is important in the diagnosis and treatment of acral melanoma. Amplification of CCND1 was detected in an early acral melanoma cell line, SMYM-PRGP (Murata et al. 2007). These data strongly suggest the CCND1 amplification is one of the earliest events in the development of acral melanoma and identify CCND1 as a possibly driver gene relevant to the early evolving phase of acral melanoma.

#### TERT and AURKA

Activation of telomerase by the upregulation of human telomerase reverse transcriptase gene (TERT), located at chromosome 5p15.33, can immortalize somatic cells through extension of telomeres. TERT may play an important role in oncogenesis of acral melanoma. It was reported that TERT amplifications were detected in 7 of 14 (50%) invasive and 4 out of 5 (80%) in situ lesions of acral melanoma (North et al. 2008). Another study showed that gains of *TERT* were detected in 31.2% of 17 primary ALM lesions (Puig-Butillé et al. 2013). TERT promoter mutation was reported to be uncommon in ALM (6%, 2/32), while the mutation was detected in 33%(3/9) in non-acral melanomas (Liau et al. 2014). In a larger cohort of non-acral melanomas, TERT promoter mutations were detected in a total of 77% of areas of in situ or intermediate lesions

(Shain et al. 2015). These data suggest that the *TERT* promoter mutations are caused mostly by UV exposure. An early acral melanoma cell line, SMYM-PRGP, shows distinctive amplification of *TERT* and *CCND1* (Murata et al. 2007), while it is wild in *BRAF* and *NRAS*. These data suggests importance of *TERT* amplification in the early developmental phase of acral melanoma.

TERT aberrations may have clinical significance. It was found that fluorescence in situ hybridization (FISH) analysis using CCND1, TERT, and AURKA (a gene encoding Aurora A kinase which is a member of a family of mitotic serine/threonine kinases) probes could improve sensitivity of histopathologic diagnosis for acral melanomas (sensitivity 97%; specificity 100%) (Diaz et al. 2014a). In this study, amplification of AURKA was detected in 2 of 34 (6%) primary lesions of ALM. Note that AURKA amplification was reported to contribute increased chromosomal instability in cancer cells. Another study revealed that amplification of TERT was associated with poor outcome of patients with ALM (Diaz et al. 2014b).

#### KIT

KIT encodes a receptor tyrosine kinase, whose ligand is stem cell factor (SCF). KIT-SCF signaling is essential for melanocyte to differentiate, proliferate, migrate, and survive in the fetal and postnatal tissue. In 2006, Curtin, Busam, Pinkel, and Bastian reported an important role of KIT in subsets of melanomas. They found mutations of KIT in 3 of 24 (12%) of acral melanomas, 8 of 38 (21%) of mucosal melanomas, and 4 of 18 (22%) of CSD melanomas. By contrast, none of the non-CSD melanomas had KIT aberrations. Later immunohistochemical studies detected expression of KIT in 40-80% of acral/mucosal melanomas. The rate of KIT mutations in acral melanoma seems to be less frequent in White persons: 15% of acral/mucosal melanomas in patients seen at MD Anderson Cancer Center (Torres-Cabala et al. 2009) and 6.8% of acral/ mucosal melanomas (4.2% of acral melanoma) in a Canadian population (Abu-Abed et al. 2012). The mutation rates of *KIT* seem higher in Asians: 25% of nail apparatus melanomas and

15.6% of melanomas on palms and soles in Japanese (Sakaizawa et al. 2015), 33% of amelanotic acral melanomas in Koreans (Choi et al. 2013), and 23% of acral melanomas in Chinese (Dai et al. 2013). These data suggest that *KIT* is an important oncogene in the development of acral/mucosal melanoma and could be used as a therapeutic target of this type of melanoma.

In vitro studies have shown that growth of melanoma cells harboring *KIT* mutations is suppressed with small molecular inhibitors targeting *KIT*, such as imatinib and sunitinib (Ashida et al. 2009). More importantly, oral administration of imatinib exerted dramatic clinical effects on acral/mucosal melanomas with *KIT* mutations (to be discussed later in detail).

#### **BRAF and NRAS**

BRAF is the most commonly aberrated gene in non-CSD melanomas. Mutations of BRAF are detected in around 70% of this type of melanoma (Curtin et al. 2005), and 90% of the mutations are V600E. On the other hand, NRAS mutations have been found in about 15% of non-CSD melanoma. BRAF and NRAS mutations in melanomas are mutually exclusive in most cases. In contrast, in acral melanoma, mutation rates of BRAF and NRAS are reported to be much lower, around 10% and 5%, respectively. In a Spanish population, with the multiple-ligation-dependent probe amplification method on frozen samples, no BRAF mutations were detected in 17 primary lesions of ALM, but NRAS mutations were detected in 17% of them (Puig-Butillé et al. 2013). According to a study of 88 Swedish patients with ALM, BRAF mutations were detected in 17% and NRAS mutations were in 15% (Zebary et al. 2013). In a Japanese series, BRAF mutation was detected in 8.9% (4/45) of melanomas on palms and soles and in 12.5% (3/24) of nail apparatus melanomas (Sakaizawa et al. 2015). In the series, NRAS mutations were detected in 20% of melanomas on palms and soles. In another study in Japan, BRAF mutations were detected in 18.8% of ALM (9.5% in stage I/II, 36.4% in stage III/IV) (Yamazaki et al. 2015). In the latter Japanese series, BRAF mutations were detected in 64.7%

of SSM, 50% in LMM, and 20% in NM. In a Korean subject, *BRAF* V600E mutation was detected in 19.4% (7/36) of patients with ALM.

Collectively, the mutation rate of *BRAF* in acral melanoma is lower than in non-CSD melanoma, but the rates are substantially variable among studies, the highest rate being 36.4% in Japanese patients with stage III/IV ALM. The mutation rate of *NRAS* in acral melanoma is around 15–20%. These data suggest MAPK inhibitors can be effective in selected patients with acral melanoma.

#### NUAK2

Chromosome 1q32 has been known to be frequently altered in melanoma cells. It was also reported that genomic gains of this locus were associated with tumor thickness of melanoma. NUAK2, located at this locus, was recently implicated as a relevant gene of melanoma (Namiki et al. 2011). NUAC2 is a member of the AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK) family of serine/threonine protein kinase. It was shown that knockdown of NUAK2 induced senescence of melanoma cells and suppressed tumor growth in mice. Expression degrees of NUAC2 were significantly related to survivals of patients with acral melanoma. Risk of relapse was greater in acral melanoma with high levels of NUAK2 expression than in that with low expression level. These findings indicate NUAC2 plays an important role in acral melanoma, particularly in later progressed stages.

#### The Mutational Landscape of Acral Melanoma

Using next-generation sequencing, whole genomic data were obtained in a case of acral melanoma (Turajlic et al. 2012). Compared to the high-frequency genomic changes in melanoma on sun-exposed sites, the rates of somatic mutation in the acral melanoma were lower, mostly comparable to the rates reported in cancer genomes not associated with mutagenic exposure. Another study was performed in six cell lines of acral melanoma using the techniques of whole-exome sequencing and array comparative genomic hybridization (Furney et al. 2012). The cell lines display a mutation rate comparable to that revealed in the above case. Mutations were identified in oncogenes and tumor suppressors previously linked to melanoma including *BRAF*, *NRAS*, *KIT*, *PTEN*, and *TP53*. Mutations were detected in some cancer genes not previously linked to melanoma and in genes linked to DNA repair such as *BRCA1* and *BRCA2*.

According to the recent extensive study conducted by Australian research group, acral and mucosal melanomas showed a markedly different whole-genome landscape from melanomas on sun-exposed sites (Hayward et al. 2017). Acral melanomas were characterized by frequent structural variants (deletions, duplications, foldback inversions) and complex rearrangements. Many acral melanomas had high-level amplifications on the long arm of chromosome 11, often targeting CCND1. Significantly mutated genes in acral melanoma were BRAF, KIT, MAP2K2, NF1, and NRAS, though mutations attributable to ultraviolet radiation were rare. The completely different whole-genome landscape of acral melanoma from melanomas on sun-exposed skin indicates that genomic aberrations in acral melanoma are not caused by UV radiation but by carcinogenic factors shared with cancers of internal organs without exposure to highly mutagenic agents.

#### Clinical, Dermoscopic, and Histopathologic Diagnoses of Acral Melanoma

Acral melanoma is typically detected at a later stage, explaining its overall poor prognosis. Early detection therefore is important to improve the prognosis. Almost all patients with acral melanoma in situ can be cured by excision, usually without functional or cosmetic impairment. Here, we describe clinical characteristics of melanomas on the palms and soles and those affecting nail apparatus separately because they are substantially different in anatomic and histologic structures.

#### Acral Melanoma on the Palms and Soles

#### Clinical Diagnosis of Melanoma on the Palms and Soles

Clinical diagnosis of advanced melanoma on the palms and soles is not difficult in most cases. As same to advanced melanoma on other anatomical sites, they are seen as a brownish black nodule or plaque, often partly eroded or ulcerated, and surrounded by a pigmented macule with variable shades of brown (Fig. 3). The lesions are typically large in size, often exceeding 2 cm in maximum diameter, and irregular and asymmetric in shape. Note that on the palms and soles, other common pigmented lesions such as seborrheic keratoses and basal cell carcinomas, which are important differential diagnoses of melanoma on other anatomical sites, are rare. However, melanocytic nevi are commonly seen on the palms and soles not only in dark-skinned people but also in Whites. About 10% of Japanese have melanocytic nevi on acral volar skin (Saida et al. 2011a). Acral nevi are typically small, mostly 7 mm or less in diameter, symmetric in color distribution and shape and thereby easily differentiated from invasive acral melanoma in most cases. However, clinical differentiation between early acral melanoma and acral nevus is sometimes very difficult because both can present as brownish macules. Acral melanoma in situ on the palms and soles exhibits the following characteristics: (a) a pigmented macule with asymmetric and irregular shape, often accompanied by notching at the periphery, (b) brown color with variable shades from tan to black, and (c) a diameter that exceeds 7 mm (Fig. 4). The last size criterion was proposed based on a study by the author's group, which had revealed that the vast majority of acquired acral nevi were 7 mm or less in diameter. Of course, these criteria are not absolute. Occasionally, melanocytic nevi are somewhat irregular in shape and color. Regarding the size, congenital acral nevus is often larger than 7 mm and even acquired acral nevus can become more than 7 mm.

Acral melanomas can occasionally be unpigmented (amelanotic/hypomelanotic) (Fig. 5); the rates of amelanotic/hypomelanotic



**Fig. 4 Clinical features of early acral melanoma.** This acral melanoma in situ on the sole, 9 mm in maximum diameter, presents as a brownish macule with variable shades from tan to black. The shape is asymmetric and irregular, and the border is ill-defined particularly in the right lower portion

acral melanomas seem different among races, varying from 30% in a French population and around 10% in Japanese. Differential diagnoses of amelanotic/hypomelanotic acral melanoma on the palms and soles include squamous cell carcinoma (SCC), eccrine poroma, pyogenic granuloma, and various kinds of ulcerated lesions. In rare cases, acral melanomas are hyperkeratotic or verrucous, but most of them are suspected to be melanoma because of brownish black color detected at least focally. However, clinical diagnosis of hyperkeratotic and completely amelanotic acral melanomas can be very difficult to distinguish from other hyperkeratotic lesions such as SCC, verruca vulgaris, and tylosis/clavus.

## Dermoscopic Diagnosis of Melanoma on the Palms and Soles

#### Dermoscopic Features of Melanocytic Lesions on the Palms and Soles

Dermoscopic features of advanced primary acral melanomas on the palms and soles are same as those of melanomas affecting other anatomical sites. These non-site-specific melanoma criteria include irregular blotches with variegated shades of brown, abrupt edge, blue-white veil, and regression structures with whitish or grayish color (Fig. 6). Irregular streaks and irregular dots/ globules are also important clues to the diagnosis of advanced acral melanoma. More importantly, the parallel ridge pattern (PRP), that is, striped pigmentation along the ridges of the skin markings, is detected in macular portions within the advanced melanomas (Fig. 7) (described in detail in the next paragraph). In contrast, an atypical pigment network is rare, except for lesions located on the transitional zone between the

### Fig. 3 Clinical features of advanced acral

**melanoma.** This advanced acral melanoma on the sole is seen as a large, slightly elevated brownish black lesion with asymmetrical, irregular borders. There is an ulcerated nodule in the center. In addition, a light brown macule is detected in the left lower portion (arrow) glabrous and non-glabrous skin. In amelanotic or hypomelanotic acral melanomas, vascular patterns are helpful in determining diagnosis dermoscopically. They are polymorphous vessels, particularly combination of irregular linear or dotted vessels, and milky red areas that can be readily



**Fig. 5 Clinical features of amelanotic acral melanoma.** The lesion on the sole is seen as a reddish plaque partly ulcerated with some bleeding. Note that, according to the patient's memory, the lesion was first recognized as a brownish macule and later lost the pigmentation

discerned due to the decreased or absent pigmentation.

Dermoscopy is very helpful in the differentiation between early forms of acral melanoma and acral nevi, which can be difficult clinically. Surface skin markings or dermatoglyphs on the palms and soles run in a parallel linear or curvilinear fashion. Acral melanoma in situ in this area shows a unique dermoscopic pattern called the parallel ridge pattern (PRP) (Fig. 8) (Saida et al. 2004; Phan et al. 2010). In this pattern, stripes of pigmentation are detected along the dermatoglyphic ridges and are absent along the sulci. In our study of a total of 712 acral melanocytic lesions including 67 invasive and 36 in situ acral melanomas, diagnostic sensitivity and specificity of the PRP for acral melanoma were 86% and 99%, respectively. Diagnostic performance of the PRP is similarly very high for acral melanoma in situ. Irregular diffuse pigmentation is another important dermoscopic finding of acral melanoma on the palms and soles (Fig. 9); however, this feature is more frequently detected in advanced acral melanomas (Saida et al. 2011a).

By contrast, the major dermoscopic patterns seen in acral nevi are the parallel furrow, latticelike, and fibrillar patterns (Fig. 10) (Saida et al. 2011a). The parallel furrow pattern (PFP) shows brownish linear pigmentation along the sulci of the surface skin markings (Fig. 10a). There are several variants in the parallel furrow pattern

Fig. 6 Dermoscopic features of an advanced primary lesion of acral melanoma. Irregular blotches with variegated shades of brown, abrupt edge, blue-white veil, irregular streaks, and irregular dots/globules can be seen, similar to melanomas on other anatomic sites (this is a dermoscopic image of the lesion illustrated in Fig. 3)



Fig. 7 Dermoscopy showing the parallel ridge pattern in the macular portions of an advanced acral melanoma. The parallel ridge pattern is detected in the left portion (circle), corresponding to the clinically light brown macular area of the lesion (indicated with the arrow in Fig. 3) (Reproduced with permission from Saida et al. 2011a)





**Fig. 8** Clinical and dermoscopic features of early acral melanoma. Clinically, this acral melanoma in situ on the sole presents as a light-brown macule,  $21 \times 16$  mm in size

such as dotted line and double-line variants (Fig. 10a and b). The lattice-like and the fibrillar patterns are modifications of the PFP (Saida and Koga 2007). The lattice-like pattern is composed of parallel pigmented lines along the sulci as well as lines crossing the parallel lines (Fig. 10d). The fibrillar pattern shows densely packed, fine pigmented lines, usually arranged in the direction crossing the skin markings (Fig. 10e). Among these, the PFP is the major dermoscopic pattern most frequently seen in acral nevi, accounting for 40–60% of all acral nevi. The prevalence of the lattice-like pattern is 10–15% and that of the fibrillar pattern is

(a). Dermoscopically, the parallel ridge pattern with variable shades of brown is detected throughout the lesion (b) (Reproduced with permission from Saida et al. 2007)

10–20%. The prevalence of these patterns in acral nevi are similar across races. Finally, there are several minor dermoscopic patterns in acral nevi, such as homogeneous/structureless (Fig. 10f), globular, and reticular patterns (Saida et al. 2011a).

### Dermoscopic Guidelines for Detection of Melanoma on the Palms and Soles

Two kinds of dermoscopic guidelines have been proposed for effective detection of melanoma on the palms and soles: the three-step algorithm and the BRAAFF checklist. These may be helpful for clinicians in their daily practice.



Fig. 9 Clinical and dermoscopic features of acral melanoma partly invading superficial dermis. Clinically, this ill-defined broad macular lesion on the sole is asymmetric in shape (a). The color is brownish black with variable shades. Dermoscopically, irregular diffuse pigmentation with variable shades of brown is recognized. In addition, a hint of the parallel ridge pattern is detected within the lesion



Fig. 10 Dermoscopic patterns of acral nevus on the palms and soles. Major dermoscopic patterns seen in acral nevus are the parallel furrow pattern (a-c) and its modifications, the lattice-like (d) and fibrillar patterns (e). There are additional variants in the parallel furrow pattern such as

#### The Three-Step Algorithm

In 2007, our group proposed the original threestep algorithm for effective detection of melanomas on the palms and soles (Saida and Koga 2007) and revised it in 2011 (Koga and Saida 2011). The algorithm proceeds as follows dotted-line variant (**b**) and double-line variant (**c**). In addition, several minor patterns such as homogeneous pattern (**f**) are detected in acral nevus (Fig. 10b and c was reproduced with permission from Saida and Koga 2013)

(Fig. 11) (Saida et al. 2011a; Saida and Koga 2013):

Step 1: The lesion on the palms and soles is examined for the presence of the PRP. If the PRP is found in any part of the lesion, it should



**Fig. 11** The three-step dermoscopic algorithm for the effective detection of acral melanoma on the palms and soles (see the text in detail) (Reproduced with permission from Saida et al. 2011a)



Fig. 12 Combination of two dermoscopic patterns in acral nevus. In this acral nevus on the heel, an orderly combination of the parallel furrow pattern and the fibrillar pattern is observed

be biopsied regardless of the size. If the lesion does not show the PRP, proceed to Step 2.

Step 2: The lesion is examined for the presence of the typical benign dermoscopic patterns (i.e., typical PFP, typical lattice-like pattern, regular fibrillar pattern). If the lesion shows one or orderly combination of two or three typical benign patterns (Fig. 12), further dermoscopic follow-up is not needed because they are certainly benign acral nevus without risk of developing to melanoma. If the lesion shows equivocal dermoscopic features, proceed to Step 3.

Step 3: The maximum diameter of lesions that do not show typical benign dermoscopic patterns is measured. Lesions >7 mm should be excised or biopsied for histopathologic evaluation. Lesions  $\leq 7$  mm in maximum diameter should be monitored clinically and dermoscopically at 3- to 6-month intervals.

There are several notes in the application of this algorithm (Saida and Koga 2013):

 Congenital acral nevi have to be excluded. Congenital acral nevi are often but not always larger than 7 mm in diameter. Dermoscopic features of the congenital acral nevi are the typical PFP, the crista dotted pattern, and the peas-in-a-pod pattern (Fig. 13). The crista dotted pattern consists of brown dots/globules regularly distributed on the ridges of the skin markings. The peas-in-a-pod pattern is a combination of the parallel furrow and the crista dotted patterns. Nonetheless, it is not rare to see acral nevi whose type (acquired or congenital) cannot be determined; however the three-


**Fig. 13** Dermoscopic features of congenital acral nevus. In this congenital lesion on the volar aspect of the fourth toe (a: clinical features), in addition to the parallel

step algorithm can be used for such indeterminate lesions.

- 2. It is crucial to correctly identify the dermatoglyphic furrows and ridges, which can be facilitated by performing the furrow ink test (Uhara et al. 2009). The peripheral areas of the lesion are marked with a whiteboard marker pen, preferably blue or green in color, and then the skin surface is gently wiped with a dry paper towel in the direction crossing the skin markings. The furrows retain the blue or green ink and become clearly visible on dermoscopic examination as thin inked lines and distinguish PRP and PFP (Fig. 14). The ink can be easily removed with a wet paper towel.
- 3. Note that the PRP or its similar features could be detected in several benign conditions (Saida and Koga 2013). They include volar macules of Peutz-Jeghers or Laugier-Hunziker syndromes, acral pigmentation due to anticancer drugs, pigmented and ridged plantar warts, volar melanotic macules, subcorneal hemorrhage (e.g., so-called black heel due to friction with shoes and PlayStation purpura due to friction with the game controller), and pigmentation due to external pigment such as paraphenylenediamine (Fig. 15). However, most of these conditions can be easily differentiated from early acral melanoma by evaluating the clinical characteristics, number of lesions (single or multiple), personal and/or family history, and other associated clinical signs and

furrow pattern, dots/globules are regularly distributed on the ridge of the skin markings, exhibiting the typical features of the peas-in-a pod pattern (**b**)

symptoms (Saida et al. 2011a; Saida and Koga 2013).

4. In the second step, the clinician must assess whether the benign patterns are typical/regular. Typical parallel furrow or lattice-like patterns are symmetrically and evenly distributed across the lesion. The criteria for classifying a fibrillar pattern as regular are (a) symmetrical and regular overall arrangement of the fibrillar pigmentation, (b) even thickness and length of each fibril, and (c) alignment of the starting points of the fibrils on a surface furrow (Fig. 16a). In contrast, the irregular fibrillar pattern seen in acral melanoma exhibits asymmetrical arrangement of the fibrillar pigmentation and the fibrils vary in thickness and color (Fig. 16b).

#### **BRAAFF** Checklist

Several recent studies found that the sensitivity of the PRP for acral melanoma is only around 60%. This can be explained by the fact that the PRP is a characteristic feature of early acral melanoma and becomes obliterated as the lesions progress. The BRAAFF checklist was proposed for improved dermoscopic detection of acral melanoma (Table 1) (Lallas et al. 2015). This algorithm was based on the analysis of a total 603 acral melanocytic lesions including 131 acral melanomas (42 of them were in situ melanoma). In this study, the checklist shown in Table 1 diagnosed



Fig. 14 The furrow ink test is useful in the determination of the dermoscopic patterns of acral lesions. The ink is seen as parallel green lines in the furrows. Thereby, the dermoscopic features illustrated in (a) are determined

as the parallel ridge pattern of acral melanoma and those in (**b**) as the parallel furrow pattern of acral nevus (see the text in detail) (Fig. 14a was reproduced with permission from Saida and Koga 2013)



Fig. 15 Benign acral lesions which show dermoscopic features mimicking the parallel ridge pattern. There are several benign conditions which exhibit dermoscopic features mimicking the parallel ridge pattern, such as the so-called black heel (calcaneal petechia), known as the

dermoscopic features of the "pebbles on the ridges" (a) and acral pigmented macules due to chemotherapeutic drugs such as 5-fluorouracil (b) (Fig. 15a was reproduced with permission from Saida and Koga 2013)



Fig. 16 Regular fibrillar pattern and irregular fibrillar pattern. Regular fibrillar pattern seen in benign acral nevus (a) and irregular fibrillar pattern in acral melanoma (b) (see the text in detail)

Table 1 The BRAAFFchecklist for thedermoscopic diagnosis ofacral melanoma. A total of $\geq 1$  is needed for a diagnosisof melanoma

Acronym	Criterion	Points
В	Irregular blotch	+1
R	Parallel ridge pattern	+3
A	Asymmetry of structures	+1
A	Asymmetry of color	+1
F	Parallel furrow pattern	-1
F	Fibrillar pattern	-1

Reproduced from Lallas et al. 2015



**Fig. 17 Histopathologic features of advanced primary acral melanoma.** Florid random proliferation of atypical melanocytes is detected not only in the epidermis but also in the dermis. Sheetlike dermal invasion is seen in the center of the lesion (**a**). The melanocytes proliferate as

acral melanoma with 93.1% sensitivity and 86.7% specificity.

Clinical applicability and usefulness of the three-step algorithm and of the BRAAFF checklist in daily practice must be investigated and compared in further studies.

# Histopathologic Diagnosis of Melanoma on the Palms and Soles

Clinically equivocal acral lesions are biopsied and evaluated histoapthologically. Histopathologic diagnosis of advanced melanoma solitary units as well as in nests with variable shapes and sizes (b). Focally, solitary arranged melanocytes are prominent within the epidermis. The melanocytes are different from pagetoid cells commonly seen in SSM/low-CSD melanoma (c)

on the palms and soles is not difficult. The criteria for the diagnosis are common to those for other subtypes of melanoma, but compared with SSM/non-CSD melanoma, intraepidermal upward migration of melanocytes is not prominent in most cases of acral melanoma. The neoplastic cells are typically small oval or dendritic rather than pagetoid, and their cytoplasmic melanin granules are not as fine and dusty as those seen in melanocytes of SSM/non-CSD melanoma (Fig. 17).



Fig. 18 Histopathologic features of Spitz nevus on acral volar skin. Symmetrical proliferation of melanocytes in the hyperplastic epidermis (a, b). Although the

One important histopathologic differential diagnosis of acral melanoma is Spitz nevus, which is not rare on the palms and soles. The histopathologic criteria for the differentiation are similar as for differentiation between both entities on non-glabrous skin. Spitz nevi are symmetric with an evenly hyperplastic epidermis, and melanocytes are arranged mainly in nests, which are situated mostly in the lower epidermis. The nests are sharply demarcated, with artifactual clefts separating them from the surrounding epidermis (Fig. 18). The intradermal component (when present) shows "maturation" with cells becoming smaller in size in the deeper portions, and at the bottom of the lesion, nevus cells tend to be arranged as solitary units among collagen bundles.

In contrast to the advanced lesions, histopathologic diagnosis of early acral melanoma on the palms and soles is sometimes very difficult (Saida 1989) because benign acral nevi not infrequently show prominent proliferation of

melanocytes are large and atypical (c), they are mostly arranged in nests located in the lower epidermis, and the nests are sharply demarcated (b)

melanocytes as solitary units within the epidermis and the proliferation occasionally reaches the upper epidermis, mimicking the features of melanoma in situ. Such confusing histopathologic features are particularly prominent in the tissue sections cut in the direction parallel to the skin markings (Fig. 19). Thus, when we histopathologically evaluate melanocytic lesions on the palms and soles, the tissue specimen should be cut perpendicularly to the skin markings. In such a section, we can recognize two kinds of epidermal rete ridges, one is under the surface furrows and the other under the surface ridges. In early acral melanoma in situ, solitary melanocytes are concentrated in the epidermal rete ridges underlying the surface ridges (Fig. 20a), corresponding to the dermoscopic PRP. In contrast, in most acral melanocytic nevi, nevus cells arranged in nests are mainly detected in the epidermal rete ridges underlying the surface furrow (Fig. 20b), corresponding to the dermoscopic PFP. However, in some cases, nevus cells are detected also in

# **Fig. 19** Effect of sectioning orientation on the histopathologic features of acral nevus.

These two figures show histopathologic features of the same acral nevus on the sole. (a) In the tissue section cut perpendicularly to the surface skin markings, most melanocytes are arranged in nests mainly located at the dermo-epidermal junction, indicating that this is a benign acral nevus. (b) In contrast, in the tissue section cut parallel to the skin markings, many melanocytes are seen as solitary units within the epidermis, simulating the histopathologic features of acral melanoma in situ



epidermal rete ridges underlying the surface ridges. Even in such cases, melanin granules in the cornified layer are arranged in a columnar fashion selectively under the surface furrow (Saida et al. 2011b). This finding aids in the histopathologic differentiation of acral nevus from melanoma in situ.

Melanocytic nevi located on the transitional zones between glabrous and non-glabrous skin (i.e., far peripheral areas of the palms and soles, lateral aspects of fingers and toes, and webs) not infrequently show prominent proliferation of melanocytes arranged as solitary units within the epidermis, histopathologically mimicking melanoma in situ. This is probably due to the complex structures of the epidermal rete ridges in these areas. Similar prominent solitary arrangement of melanocytes is occasionally found also in acral nevi located on the arch area. We consider these histopathologically confusing acral nevi to be a pseudomelanoma. The differentiating features of these nevi from melanoma are a symmetrical, orderly intraepidermal distribution of melanocytes without nuclear atypia and typical nevus cells in the dermis, when there is an intradermal component (Fig. 21).

Histopathologic changes of early acral melanoma in situ on the palms and soles are sometimes very subtle, showing only a slightly increased number of melanocytes in the epidermis. In 1994, several cases of problematic plantar pigmented lesions were described (Nogita et al. 1994). The brownish macular lesions were large in size and irregular in color and shape, fulfilling the clinical criteria for melanoma in situ. However, histopathologically, the lesions showed only a slightly increased number of melanocytes at the basal layer of the epidermis, which did not fulfill the histopathologic criteria for acral melanoma in situ. The authors considered these lesions could not be diagnosed as acral melanoma in situ and called these lesions atypical melanosis of the foot, implying their biologic nature was uncertain (Fig. 22). Later, however, it



Fig. 20 Differential location of neoplastic melanocytes at the dermo-epidermal junction in early acral melanoma and acral nevus. In early acral melanoma on the palms and soles, increased numbers of solitary arranged melanocytes are mainly located in the epidermal rete ridges

underlying the surface ridges ( $\mathbf{a}$ : circles). In contrast, in acral nevus, melanocytes arranged in well-demarcated nests are situated in the epidermal rete ridges underlying the surface furrows ( $\mathbf{b}$ )



Fig. 21 Acral nevus located on the transitional zone between sole and dorsum of the foot. This nevus is located on the lateral aspect of the foot (a). Histopathologically, melanocytes are randomly arranged as solitary units within the epidermis, mimicking the histopathologic

was revealed that most of these lesions showed the PRP on dermoscopy, strongly suggesting these are acral melanoma in situ. Moreover, in

features of acral melanoma (**b**, **c**). However, the overall histopathologic structure is symmetrical and regular, and the proliferation of melanocytes is mostly limited to the lower portion of the epidermis (**b**). In addition, nevus cells in the dermis are small and without nuclear atypia (**c**)

recent years, it was shown that plantar lesions originally diagnosed as the atypical melanosis of the foot later developed into apparent acral



Fig. 22 Clinical and histopathologic features of so-called atypical melanosis of the foot. Clinically, this brownish macule on the heel is large and asymmetrical in shape and color distribution (a), suggesting the diagnosis

of acral melanoma. However, histopathologically, only a slightly increased number of melanocytes are detected at the epidermal basal layer (**b**)

melanoma (Kilinc Karaarslan et al. 2007; Chiu et al. 2008). We now realize that most lesions of the atypical melanosis of the foot represent a special subtype of slowly evolving acral melanoma in situ.

#### Biological Meanings of the Dermoscopic Parallel Ridge Pattern

Histopathological findings indicate that the differential dermoscopic pattern in acral nevi and melanoma in situ are due to differential localization of neoplastic melanocytes in the epidermis. This difference strongly suggests that acral melanoma and acral nevus develop independently, supporting the concept of a de novo genesis of acral melanoma as opposed to an evolution from a preexisting nevus.

The preferential localization of melanocytes in the epidermal rete ridges under the surface ridges rather than the surface furrows in evolving acral melanoma could be explained by their emergence from melanocytes from a particular stem cell niche. As opposed to non-glabrous skin, where the stem cell niche is in the bulge of hair follicles, the stem cell niche for melanocytes is located in the secretory portion of eccrine sweat glands (Okamoto et al. 2014). The ducts of these glands ascend and pass through the epidermis and open at the center of the surface ridges. In acral melanoma in situ, neoplastic melanocytes with stem cell-like features can be detected in the secretary portions of eccrine glands as well as in intradermal eccrine ducts. These melanocytes are small and unpigmented but express MART1 and MCM2, markers for melanocytes and the non- $G_0$ of the cell cycle, respectively, and show amplification of *CCND1*, confirming their neoplastic nature. In contrast, the MART1 and MCM2 positive melanocytes with amplified *CCND1* were not detected in the sweat glands of normal acral skin tissues nor in those of benign acral nevus lesions (unpublished data).

What are the biological meanings of these findings? The concept of cancer stem cell could explain pathogenesis of the PRP. Although melanoma stem cells have been not yet biologically delineated definitely, altered melanocytes in early stages of melanoma in situ could possess some common biological and molecular properties to melanocyte stem cells. In a lesion of evolving acral melanoma in situ, the altered/transformed melanocytes can be maintained and proliferate preferentially in the stem cell niche, which is located in eccrine sweat glands connecting to the epidermal rete ridges underlying the surface ridges through intradermal eccrine ducts. This could be a reason why early acral melanoma in situ specifically exhibits the PRP on dermoscopy. It is still unclear whether acral melanoma cells originate from a melanocyte stem cell in the niche within the eccrine gland or they are transformed epidermal melanocytes which acquire genetically and/or biologically common natures to melanocyte stem cells.

#### Acral Melanoma of the Nail Apparatus

The nail apparatus is anatomically complex. Although melanomas affecting the nail apparatus have been called subungual melanoma, the term "nail apparatus melanoma" may be preferable (Saida 1992). They typically first manifest as longitudinal melanonychia, reflecting increased amount of melanin granules in the nail plate, which are produced by transformed melanocytes in the nail matrix.

#### Clinical Diagnosis of Nail Apparatus Melanoma

Clinical diagnosis of advanced lesions of nail apparatus melanoma is not difficult. It is recognized as a brownish black lesion broadly involving and/or destroying the nail plate (Fig. 23). Nodules may be detected within the lesion, often partly eroded or ulcerated. In addition, in most cases, irregular pigmented macules extend on to the nail fold, which is a diagnostically useful clue for melanoma (Hutchinson's sign). Nail apparatus melanoma is occasionally amelanotic (Fig. 24) and/or hyperkeratotic, which must be differentiated from SCC, viral wart, and dystrophic lesions of tinea unguium. Dermoscopy is useful in the differentiation of these nonpigmented lesions, just as described in amelanotic melanoma of the palms and soles.

Early nail apparatus melanomas are recognized as longitudinal melanonychia, that is, band-like pigmentation running from proximal areas to distal ends of the nail plate (Fig. 25). Various benign conditions such as melanocytic nevus, ethnic-type melanonychia, Addison's disease, and subungual hematoma also exhibit longitudinal pigmentation of the nail plate. Clinical differentiation of these conditions is very important in daily practice, because biopsy or excision of the nail apparatus often leads to nail deformities. In 1989, the author proposed clinical criteria for early detection of nail apparatus melanoma (Saida and Oshima 1989). Vast majority of early nail apparatus melanoma is seen as monodactylic longitudinal melanonychia that manifests during adulthood and shows one or more following criteria: (a) the width of the lesion is at least 6 mm, (b) the brownish color variegated from tan to black, and (c) occasionally accompanied by pigmentation on the nail fold (Hutchinson's sign). The main

**Fig. 23** Clinical features of advanced nail apparatus melanoma affecting the great toe. The nail plate is destroyed by black nodular lesion. Brownish macules are present on the periungual skin (Hutchinson's sign)

**Fig. 24** Clinical features of advanced amelanotic nail apparatus melanoma affecting the left thumb. The nail plate is displaced and destroyed by the big ulcerated red nodule devoid of pigment



differential diagnosis to melanoma is melanocytic nevus of the nail apparatus, which typically presents as narrower longitudinal melanonychia less than 4 mm in width, and the color is uniform as opposed to variegated (Fig. 26a).

Note that broad variegated melanonychia is not infrequently observed in the digits of infants or young children, even with a Hutchinson's sign (Fig. 27a). Histopathologic examination of such nail lesions in infancy reveals increased number



**Fig. 25** Clinical features of early nail apparatus melanoma affecting the thumbnail. In this lesion, although no apparent destruction of the nail plate is observed, the longitudinal melanonychia is broad, covering almost the entire nail plate, and the pigmented lines constituting the melanonychia are variable in color and width and are arranged asymmetrically

of solitary-arranged melanocytes in the epithelium of the nail matrix and nail bed, histopathologically also mimicking acral melanoma in situ. Some investigators considered such lesions to be authentic acral melanoma in situ. Importantly, however, the broad irregular nail pigmentation in children regresses spontaneously in most cases by the end of adolescence (Fig. 27b), confirming this is not a melanoma but a peculiar type of melanocytic nevus. Long-term dermoscopic follow-up of these ambiguous nail lesions in children is a reasonable choice of management (see below).

#### Dermoscopic Diagnosis of Nail Apparatus Melanoma

Thomas' group proposed the following dermoscopic criteria for nail apparatus melanoma (Fig. 28): (a) light to dark brown coloration of the background; (b) presence of longitudinal brown to black lines that are irregular in color, spacing, orientation, and thickness (irregular lines), and (c) micro-Hutchinson's sign (subtle pigmentation of the cuticle that is only visible by dermoscopy) (Ronger et al. 2002). In contrast, melanocytic nevi of the nail apparatus dermoscopically show regular lines (Fig. 26b). In addition, when the pigmentation of the nail lesion spreads to the hyponychial skin, dermoscopy of any hyponychial involvement provides helpful clues such as the PRP indicative of melanoma and the PFP or its modified patterns indicative of acral nevus. Thomas' criteria are useful; however, the irregularity of longitudinal pigmented lines can be equivocal,

Fig. 26. Clinical and dermoscopic features of melanocytic nevus affecting the nail. Clinically, the longitudinal melanonychia is narrow in width, and the pigmentation is mostly symmetrical (a). Dermoscopically, the pigmented lines constituting the melanonychia are arranged regularly and symmetrically (b)





Fig. 27 Unique clinical presentation of melanocytic nevus affecting the nail of a child. This longitudinal melanonychia seen in a 10-year-old boy is broad and highly irregular, which was clinically suspected to be

acral melanoma (a). However, 2 years later, the melanonychia mostly faded out (b), confirming that this was a benign nevus.



Fig. 28 Clinical and dermoscopic features of an early lesion of nail apparatus melanoma. Broad longitudinal melanonychia with some color variegation with a mostly

not infrequently posing troubles in determining the diagnosis (Koga et al. 2011).

We have recently proposed a melanoma discrimination index for the diagnosis of early nail apparatus melanoma. The index represents randomness of colors in dermoscopic images of longitudinal melanonychia. The index is automatically calculated on a computer installed with an application we have developed. In our preliminary study, the index achieved a high level of diagnostic accuracy, seemingly superior to dermoscopic diagnosis by experts. In our study, diagnostic performance of this diagnostic method was 83% in specificity and 92% in sensitivity in the diagnosis of early nail apparatus melanoma (Koga et al. 2014). This objective evaluation system is also useful in monitoring ambiguous nail lesions seen in infants as well

intact nail plate (**a**). Dermoscopically, the pigmented lines constituting the melanonychia are irregularly arranged and highly variable in color and width (**b**)

as in adults. While the index of benign nail lesions is static or decreases during the course, the index steadily increases in most cases of early nail apparatus melanoma during the follow-up periods.

#### Histopathologic Diagnosis of Nail Apparatus Melanoma

Histopathologic characteristics of nail apparatus melanoma are very similar to those of melanoma on the palms and soles. Proliferation of atypical melanocytes are detected in the epithelium of the nail matrix and nail bed as solitary units as well as in nests of variable shapes. Atypical melanocytes also extend into the dermis, arranged in nests or sheets. In advanced lesions, the nail apparatus may be focally or totally destroyed by the proliferation of atypical melanocytes, and in



Fig. 29 Histopathologic features of early melanoma in situ affecting nail apparatus. Slightly increased numbers of melanocytes are arranged as solitary units within the epithelium of the nail bed. The melanocytes are present in the upper epithelium, and the nuclei of melanocytes are large and hyperchromatic

further advanced cases, the underlying bone tissue can be invaded and destroyed. Immunostaining using S-100 or MART-1/Melan-A is useful in diagnosing amelanotic cases.

Histopathologic diagnosis of nail apparatus melanoma in situ is sometimes very difficult. Occasionally only a slightly increased number of melanocytes are detected at the basal layer of the nail matrix and/or nail bed (Fig. 29) (Saida and Oshima 1989). Clues for diagnosis of early nail apparatus melanoma are focal upward migration of melanocytes in the epithelium, uneven distribution of melanocytes, and nuclear atypia of the melanocytes. In addition, melanocytes with long dendrites or dendrites of uneven thickness can be detected in the epithelium. Immunostaining using S-100, MART-1/Melan-A, or HMB-45 is useful to visualize the irregular distribution of melanocytes within the nail epithelium.

#### Management and Prognosis of Acral Melanoma

# Diagnostic Workup and Staging of Acral Melanoma

The AJCC (American Joint Committee on Cancer) staging system is used also for acral melanoma. Thorough physical examination is essential at the beginning of diagnostic workup along with precise histopathologic evaluation of the primary lesion, including presence of ulceration, tumor thickness, and number of mitotic figures, which are necessary to determine the T category. Routine laboratory examinations, sentinel lymph node biopsy, MRI, and/or PET/CT scan is performed in selected cases to determine the stage of the disease.

#### Surgery of Acral Melanoma

Surgical treatment of acral melanoma is based on similar principles than that of melanoma in other anatomical sites, with some adaptation considering the anatomical differences of acral sites. Recommended surgical margins of a primary lesion are 3–5 mm free margin for melanoma in situ, about 1 cm margin for melanomas with 2 mm or less in thickness, and about 2 cm free margin for lesions more than 2 mm in thickness (Haigh et al. 2003). Due to functional or cosmetic considerations, the width can be reduced in certain situations.

When the primary lesions are located on the heel directly receiving body weight pressure, a medial plantar flap is used to reconstruct the tissue defect after excision of the primary lesion. If a digit has to be amputated to advanced nail apparatus melanoma, ray amputation should be considered if possible, which may contribute to better functions and cosmesis. Amputation can typically be avoided for melanoma in situ or early invasive lesions (Sureda et al. 2011). In such cases, the nail apparatus is excised including periosteum but preserving the underlying bone. Thereafter, artificial dermis is temporarily applied onto the defect until granulation tissue has formed and skin grafting can be performed. Functional and cosmetic outcomes are excellent with this approach (Fig. 30).

#### Conventional Chemotherapy and Radiation Therapy of Metastatic Acral Melanoma

Therapeutic guidelines for metastatic lesions of acral melanoma are basically same to those of



Fig. 30 Surgical treatment of melanoma in situ affecting the right thumbnail. Longitudinal melanonychia on the right thumbnail of a 42-year-old man that is narrow and without marked irregularity of pigmentation (a). Dermoscopy however revealed broad irregular lines (b), suggesting the diagnosis of melanoma in situ, which was confirmed histopathologically upon excision. Resection of the entire nail apparatus including the nail bed and

nail matrix was performed along with the periosteum of the distal phalanx, but the digital bone was preserved. Artificial dermis was applied on the tissue defect after surgery. After formation of granulation tissue, fullthickness skin grafting was performed. One year after the surgery, the appearance (c) and function (d) of the thumb are excellent

other subtypes of melanoma. If metastasis is solitary or only a few in number, limited to one organ and static for a while, feasibility of surgical resection is evaluated. Surgical resection of such lesions could prolong survival time of the patients.

Clinical effect of conventional chemotherapy on the patients with advanced acral melanoma with multiple metastases is limited. For a long time, dacarbazine was a standard chemotherapeutic agent for patients with metastatic melanoma. However, the response rate with this drug is around 15–20% and long-term remissions are very rare. Various kinds of combination chemotherapy and biochemotherapy including interleukin-2 and interferon-a have been tried. Higher response rates were reported in some regimens; however, all of them failed to show significant improvement of survival. Note that these combination therapies increased incidence and severity of adverse effects.

Radiation therapy can be used as a palliative therapy. Stereotactic radiosurgery for cerebral metastatic melanoma is a choice of treatment for palliation. Pain from bone metastases can be transiently relieved with radiation therapy.

#### Immunotherapy and Molecular Targeting Therapy for Advanced Acral Melanoma

Among recently introduced new therapies for advanced melanoma, immune checkpoint inhibitors, such as ipilimumab and nivolumab, are effective not only for cutaneous melanomas from sun-exposed skin but also for acral melanoma (Johnson et al. 2015). The opportunity for targeted therapy with BRAF and MEK inhibitors is limited by lower frequency of *BRAF* mutations in acral melanoma (10-20%).

KIT mutations are another therapeutic target. In 43 patients with metastatic melanoma harboring KIT mutation or amplification, imatinib therapy was effective, 23% overall response rate, with significantly longer survival times (Guo et al. 2011). A multicenter phase II trial of imatinib for KIT-mutated or KIT-amplified acral/mucosal melanomas revealed that overall response rates were 54% (7/13) in KIT-mutated melanomas, whereas no response were noted (0/11) in melanomas with KIT amplification only, indicating KIT gene mutations are a marker of good response with imatinib (Hodi et al. 2013). According to another preliminary trial, response rates with sunitinib were 75% (1 complete response and 2 partial responses in 4 patients) in acral/mucosal melanomas with KIT mutations but 17% (1 partial response in 6 patients) in those with KIT amplification only. A recent multicenter phase II uncontrolled trial of sunitinib showed improved survival of patients with acral/mucosal melanoma that was better than expected based on historic controls (overall disease control rate, 44%; 2-month progression-free survival, 52%). KIT mutation status did not influence on the effect (Buchbinder et al. 2015). Further clinical studies are necessary to confirm clinical significance and predictive biomarkers of different KIT inhibitors in the treatment of acral melanoma.

#### Prognostic Data of Acral Melanoma

Several papers have reported that acral melanoma/ ALM is biologically aggressive and the prognosis of patients with acral melanoma is worse compared with other subtypes of melanoma. A recent study from a group of Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center showed that prognosis of patients with acral melanoma was worse compared with that of patients with extremity non-acral melanoma (Bello et al. 2013). However, in our study of a total of 801 acral melanomas in Japan, 5-year survival rates according to the AJCC staging were as follows: stage IA, 98.1%; stage IB, 95.8%; stage IIA, 93.8%; stage IIB, 73.4%; stage IIC, 64.2%; stage IIIA, 48.0%; stage IIIB, 39.4%; stage IIIC, 44.1%; and stage IV, 16.0% (unpublished data). The survival rates in stages IIA, IIB, IIC, and IIIC appear to be slightly better than those reported in the USA, whose patients were mainly White persons suffering from SSM/ non-CSD melanoma.

#### Conclusion

Acral melanoma is clinically and biologically distinct melanoma subtype that affects all world populations irrespective of skin complexion with similar incidence. Most acral melanomas arise de novo, rather than from melanocytic nevi. Its low mutation burden with a relative absence of UV signature mutations along with the presence of structural rearrangements and numerous copy number change including focal amplifications and deletions indicates that a distinct, yet to be discovered, mutational mechanism drives the molecular evolution of these neoplasms.

#### References

- Abu-Abed S, Pennell N, Petrella T, Wright F, Seth A, Hanna W (2012) *KIT* gene mutations and patterns of protein expression in mucosal and acral melanoma. J Cutan Med Surg 16:135–142
- Ashida A, Takata M, Murata H, Kido K, Saida T (2009) Pathological activation of *KIT* in metastatic tumors of acral and mucosal melanomas. Int J Cancer 124:862–868
- Bastian BC (2003) Understanding the progression of melanocytic neoplasia using genomic analysis: from fields to cancer. Oncogene 22:3081–3086
- Bastian BC, Kashani-Sabet M, Hamm H, Godfrey T, Moore DH, Brocker EB, LeBoit PE, Pinkel D (2000) Gene amplifications characterize acral melanoma and permit the detection of occult tumor cells in the surrounding skin. Cancer Res 60:1968–1973
- Bello DM, Chou JF, Panageas KS, Brady MS, Coit DG, Carvajal RD, Ariyan CE (2013) Prognosis of acral melanoma: a series of 281 patients. Ann Surg Oncol 20:3618–3625. https://doi.org/10.1245/s10434-013-3089-0

- Buchbinder EI, Sosman JA, Lawrence DP, McDermott DF, Ramaiya NH, Van den Abbeele AD, Linette GP, Giobbie-Hurder A, Hodi FS (2015) Phase 2 study of sunitinib in patients with metastatic mucosal or acral melanoma. Cancer 121:4007–4015. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/cncr.29622
- Chiu HH, Hu SC, Ke CL, Cheng ST (2008) Dermoscopy identifies histopathologically indiscernible malignant lesion of atypical melanosis of the foot, an early lesion of acral lentiginous melanoma in situ. Dermatol Surg 34:979–983. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1524-4725. 2008.34192.x
- Choi YD, Chun SM, Jin SA, Lee JB, Yun SJ (2013) Amelanotic acral melanomas: clinicopathological, BRAF mutation, and KIT aberration analyses. J AM Acad Dermatol 69:700–707. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jaad.2013.06.035
- Curtin JA, Fridlyand J, Kageshita T, Patel HN, Busam KJ, Kutzner H, Cho HK-H, Aiba S, Bröcker E-B, LeBoit PE, Pinkel D, Bastian BC (2005) Distinct sets of genetic alterations in melanoma. N Engl J Med 353:2135–2147
- Curtin JA, Busam K, Pinkel D, Bastian BC (2006) Somatic activation of *KIT* in distinct subtypes of melanoma. J Clin Oncol 24:4340–4346
- Dai B, Cai X, Kong YY, Yang F, Shen XX, Wang LW, Kong JC (2013) Analysis of *KIT* expression and gene mutation in human acral melanoma: with a comparison between primary tumors and corresponding metastases/ recurrences. Hum Pathol 44:1472–1478. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.humpath.2013.01.007
- Diaz A, Puig-Butillé JA, Valera A, Muñoz C, Costa D, Garcia-Herrera A, Carrera C, Sole F, Malvehy J, Puig S, Alos L (2014a) *TERT* and *AURKA* gene copy number gains enhance the detection of acral lentiginous melanomas by fluorescence in situ hybridization. J Mol Diagn 16:198–206. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jmoldx.2013.10.009
- Diaz A, Puig-Butillé JA, Muñoz C, Costa D, Díez A, Garcia-Herrera A, Carrera C, Badenas C, Solé F, Malvehy J, Puig S, Alos L (2014b) *TERT* gene amplification is associated with poor outcome in acral lentiginous melanoma. J Am Acad Dermatol 71:839–841. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jaad.2014.05.035
- Furney SJ, Turajlic S, Fenwick K, Lambros MB, MacKay A, Ricken G, Mitsopoulos C, Kozarewa I, Hakas J, Zvelebil M, Lord CJ, Ashworth A, Reis-Filho JS, Herlyn M, Murata H, Marais R (2012) Genomic characterisation of acral melanoma cell lines. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res 25:488–492. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1755-148X.2012.01016.x
- Guo J, Si L, Kong Y, Flaherty KT, Xu X, Zhu Y, Corless CL, Li L, Li H, Sheng X, Cui C, Chi Z, Li S, Han M, Mao L, Lin X, Du N, Zhang X, Li J, Wang B, Qin S (2011) Phase II, open-label, single-arm trial of imatinib mesylate in patients with metastatic melanoma harboring c-KIT mutation or amplification. J Clin Oncol 29:2904–2909

- Haigh PI, DiFronzo LA, McCready DR (2003) Optimal excision margins for primary cutaneous melanoma: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Can J Surg 46:419–426
- Hayward NK, Wilmott JS, Waddell N, Johansson PA, Field MA, Nones K, Patch AM, Kakavand H, Alexandrov LB, Burke H, Jakrot V, Kazakoff S, Holmes O, Leonard C, Sabarinathan R, Mularoni L, Wood S, Xu Q, Waddel N, Tembe V, Pupo GM, De Paoli-Iseppi R, Vilain RE, Shang P, Lau LMS, Dagg RA, Schramm SJ, Pritchard A, Dutton-Regester-K, Newell F, Fitzgerald A, Shang CA, Grimmond SM, Pickett HA, Yang JY, Stretch JR, Behren A, Kefford RF, Hersey P, Long GV, Cebon J, Shackleton M, Spillane AJ, Saw RPM, Lopez-Bigas N, Pearson JV, Thompson JF, Scolyer RA, Mann GJ (2017) Whole-genome landscapes of major melanoma subtypes. Nature 545(7653):175–180. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/nature22071
- Hodi FS, Corless CL, Giobbie-Hurder A, Fletcher JA, Zhu M, Marino-Enriquez A, Friedlander P, Gonzalez R, Weber JS, Gajewski TF, O'Day SJ, Kim KB, Lawrence D, Flaherty KT, Luke JJ, Collichio FA, Ernstoff MS, Heinrich MC, Beadling C, Zukotynski KA, Yap JT, Van den Abbeele AD, Demetri GD, Fisher DE (2013) Imatinib for melanomas harboring mutationally activated or amplified *KIT* arising on mucosal, acral, and chronically sun-damaged skin. J Clin Oncol 31:3182–3190. https://doi.org/10.1200/ JCO.2012.47.7836
- Johnson DB, Peng C, Abramson RG, Ye F, Zhao S, Wolchok JD, Sosman JA, Carvajal RD, Ariyan CE (2015) Clinical activity of ipilimumab in acral melanoma: a retrospective review. Oncologist 20:648–652. https://doi.org/10.1634/theoncologist.2014-0468
- Jung HJ, Kweon SS, Lee JB, Lee SC, Yun SJ (2013) A clinicopathologic analysis of 177 acral melanomas in Koreans: relevance of spreading pattern and physical stress. JAMA Dermatol 149:1281–1288. https://doi. org/10.1001/jamadermatol.2013.5853
- Kilinc Karaarslan I, Akalin T, Unal I, Ozdemir F (2007) Atypical melanosis of the foot showing a dermoscopic feature of the parallel ridge pattern. J Dermatol 34:56–59
- Koga H, Saida T (2011) Revised 3-step dermoscopic algorithm for the management of acral melanocytic lesions. Arch Dermatol 147:741–743
- Koga H, Saida T, Uhara H (2011) Key point in dermoscopic differentiation between early nail apparatus melanoma and benign longitudinal melanonychia. J Dermatol 38:45–52
- Koga H, Yoshikawa S, Sekiguchi A, Fujii J, Saida T, Sota T (2014) Automated evaluation system of dermoscopic images of longitudinal melanonychia: proposition of a discrimination index for detecting early nail apparatus melanoma. J Dermatol 41:867–871
- Lallas A, Kyrgidis A, Koga H, Moscarella E, Tschandl P, Apalla Z, Di Stefani A, Ioannides D, Kittler H, Kobayashi K, Lazaridou E, Longo C, Phan A,

Saida T, Tanaka M, Thomas L, Zalaudek I, Argenziano G (2015) The BRAAFF checklist: a new dermoscopic algorithm for diagnosing acral melanoma. Br J Dermatol 173:1041–1049. https://doi.org/10.1111/bjd.14045

- Liau JY, Tsai JH, Jeng YM, Chu CY, Kuo KT, Liang CW (2014) *TERT* promoter mutation is uncommon in acral lentiginous melanoma. J Cutan Pathol 41:504–508. https://doi.org/10.1111/cup.12323
- Murata H, Ashida A, Takata M, Yamaura M, Bastian BC, Saida T (2007) Establishment of a novel melanoma cell line SMYM-PRGP showing cytogenetic and biological characteristics of the radial growth phase of acral melanomas. Cancer Sci 98:958–963
- Namiki T, Tanemura A, Valencia JC, Coelho SG, Passeron T, Kawaguchi M, Vieira WD, Ishikawa M, Nishijima W, Izumo T, Kaneko Y, Katayama I, Yamaguchi Y, Yin L, Polley EC, Liu H, Kawakami Y, Eishi Y, Takahashi E, Yokozeki H, Hearing VJ (2011) AMP kinase-related kinase *NUAK2* affects tumor growth, migration, and clinical outcome of human melanoma. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 108:6597–6602. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1007694108
- Nogita T, Wong TY, Ohara K, Mizushima J, Mihm MC Jr, Kawashima M (1994) Atypical melanosis of the foot: a report of three cases in Japanese populations. Arch Dermatol 130:1042–1045
- North JP, Kageshita T, Pinkel D, LeBoit PE, Bastian BC (2008) Distribution and significance of occult intraepidermal tumor cells surrounding primary melanoma. J Invest Dermatol 128:2024–2030
- Okamoto N, Aoto T, Uhara H, Yamazaki S, Akutsu H, Umezawa A, Nakauchi H, Miyachi Y, Saida T, Nishimura EK (2014) A melanocyte-melanoma precursor niche in sweat glands of volar skin. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res 27:1039–1050
- Phan A, Dalle S, Touzet S, Ronger-Savlé S, Balme B, Thomas L (2010) Dermoscopic features of acral lentiginous melanoma in a large series of 110 cases in a white population. Br J Dermatol 162:765–771
- Puig-Butillé JA, Badenas C, Ogbah Z, Carrera C, Aguilera P, Malvehy J, Puig S (2013) Genetic alterations in *RAS* regulated pathway in acral lentiginous melanoma. Exp Dermatol 22:148–150. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/exd.12080
- Reed R (1976) Acral lentiginous melanoma. In: Hartmann W, Reed R (eds) New concepts in surgical pathology of the skin. Wiley, New York, pp 89–90
- Ronger S, Touzet S, Ligeron C, Balme B, Viallard AM, Barrut D, Colin C, Thomas L (2002) Dermoscopic examination of nail pigmentation. Arch Dermatol 138:1327–1333
- Saida T (1989) Malignant melanoma in situ on the sole of the foot: its clinical and histopathologic characteristics. Am J Dermatopathol 11:124–130
- Saida T (1992) Heterogeneity of the site of origin of malignant melanoma in ungual areas: "subungual" malignant melanoma may be a misnomer. Br J Dermatol 126:529

- Saida T (2007) Morphological and molecular uniqueness of acral melanoma. Expert Rev Dermatol 2:125–131
- Saida T, Koga H (2007) Dermoscopic patterns of acral melanocytic nevi: their variations, changes, and significance. Arch Dermatol 143:1423–1426
- Saida T, Koga H (2013) Dermoscopy of pigmented lesions of the palms and soles. In: UpToDate, Tsao H (ed), UpToDate, Waltham
- Saida T, Oshima Y (1989) Clinical and histopathologic characteristics of early lesions of subungual malignant melanoma. Cancer 63:556–560
- Saida T, Miyazaki A, Oguchi S, Ishihara Y, Yamazaki Y, Murase S, Yoshikawa S, Tsuchida T, Kawabata Y, Tamaki K (2004) Significance of dermoscopic patterns in detecting malignant melanoma on acral volar skin: results of a multi-center study in Japan. Arch Dermatol 140:1233–1238
- Saida T et al (2007) Acral melanoma. In: Soyer HP, Argenziano G, Hofmann-Wellenhof R, Johr RH (eds) Color atlas of melanocytic lesions of the skin. Springer, Berlin, pp 196–203
- Saida T, Koga H, Uhara H (2011a) Key points in dermoscopic differentiation between early acral melanoma and acral nevus. J Dermatol 38:25–34. https:// doi.org/10.1111/j.1346-8138.2010.01174.x
- Saida T, Koga H, Goto Y, Uhara H (2011b) Characteristic distribution of melanin columns in the cornified layer of acquired acral nevus: an important clue for histopathologic differentiation from early acral melanoma. Am J Dermatopathol 33:468–473
- Sakaizawa K, Ashida A, Uchiyama A, Ito T, Fujisawa Y, Ogata D, Matsushita S, Fujii K, Fukushima S, Shibayama Y, Hatta N, Takenouchi T, Uehara J, Okuyama R, Yamazaki N, Uhara H (2015) Clinical characteristics associated with *BRAF*, *NRAS* and *KIT* mutations in Japanese melanoma patients. J Dermatol Sci 80:33–37. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jdermsci.2015.07.012
- Sauter ER, Yeo UC, von Stemm A, Zhu W, Litwin S, Tichansky DS, Pistritto G, Nesbit M, Pinkel D, Herlyn M, Bastian BC (2002) *Cyclin D1* is a candidate oncogene in cutaneous melanoma. Cancer Res 62:3200–3206
- Seiji M, Takahashi M (1974) Malignant melanoma with adjacent intraepidermal proliferation. Tohoku J Exp Med 114:93–107
- Shain AH, Yeh I, Kovalyshyn I, Sriharan A, Talevich E, Gagnon A, Dummer R, North J, Pincus L, Ruben B, Rickaby W, D'Arrigo C, Robson A, Bastian BC (2015) The genetic evolution of melanoma from precursor lesions. N Engl J Med 373:1926–1936. https://doi. org/10.1056/NEJMoa1502583
- Stevens NG, Liff JM, Weiss NS (1990) Plantar melanoma: is the incidence of melanoma of the sole of foot really higher in blacks than whites? Int J Cancer 45:691–693
- Sureda N, Phan A, Poulalhon N, Balme B, Dalle S, Thomas L (2011) Conservative surgical management of subungual (matrix derived) melanoma: report of seven cases and literature review. Br J

Dermatol 165:852–858. https://doi.org/10.1111/ j.1365-2133.2011.10477.x

- The Cancer Genome Network (2015) Genomic classification of cutaneous melanoma. Cell 161:1681–1696. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2015.05.044
- Torres-Cabala CA, Wang WL, Trent J, Yang D, Chen S, Galbincea J, Kim KB, Woodman S, Davies M, Plaza JA, Nash JW, Prieto VG, Lazar AJ, Ivan D (2009) Correlation between *KIT* expression and *KIT* mutation in melanoma: a study of 173 cases with emphasis on the acrallentiginous/mucosal type. Mod Pathol 22:1446–1456. https://doi.org/10.1038/modpathol.2009.116
- Turajlic S, Furney SJ, Lambros MB, Mitsopoulos C, Kozarewa I, Geyer FC, Mackay A, Hakas J, Zvelebil M, Lord CJ, Ashworth A, Thomas M, Stamp G, Larkin J, Reis-Filho JS, Marais R (2012) Whole genome sequencing of matched primary and

metastatic acral melanomas. Genome Res 22:196–207. https://doi.org/10.1101/gr.125591.111

- Uhara H, Koga H, Takata M, Saida T (2009) The whiteboard marker as a useful tool for the dermoscopic "furrow ink test". Arch Dermatol 145:1331–1332
- Yamazaki N, Tanaka R, Tsutsumida A, Namikawa K, Eguchi H, Omata W, Oashi K, Ogawa T, Hayashi A, Nakamura N, Tsuta K (2015) *BRAF* V600 mutations and pathological features in Japanese melanoma patients. Melanoma Res 25:9–14. https://doi.org/ 10.1097/CMR
- Zebary A, Omholt K, Vassilaki I, Höiom V, Lindén D, Viberg L, Kanter-Lewensohn L, Johansson CH, Hansson J (2013) *KIT*, *NRAS*, *BRAF* and *PTEN* mutations in a sample of Swedish patients with acral lentiginous melanoma. J Dermatol Sci 72:284–289. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jdermsci.2013.07.013



### **Mucosal Melanoma**

# 20

### Tjoson Tjoa and Kevin Emerick

#### Contents

Introduction	440
Pigmented Lesions on the Mucosa	440
Melanotic Macule	440
Oral Melanoacanthoma	441
Smoker's Melanosis	441
Other Reactive Pigmentation	441
Systemic Causes of Multifocal Pigmentation	
Neoplastic Pigmentation	442
Mucosal Melanoma Epidemiology Clinical Presentation Tumor Behavior Staging	442 442 443 444 445
Pathogenesis	446
Treatment	447
Conclusion	450
References	450

#### Abstract

Mucosal melanoma (MM) is a distinct entity with unique pathologic features and clinical behavior. It is a rare entity accounting for only 1–2% of all melanoma cases. Head and neck region mucosa comprises the majority of

T. Tjoa (🖂)

MMs. The nose and paranasal sinuses are by far the most common site representing 59–80% of all Head and Neck MM and oral cavity tumors representing the majority of the remaining cases. The pathogenesis of these tumors is poorly understood. Premalignant pigmented mucosal lesions have been identified and may evolve similar to cutaneous melanoma. Presentation of MM varies greatly depending on the location of the primary. Because a lesion may remain undetected for long periods of time in the nasal cavity, for example, MM commonly presents at an

University of California at Irvine, Irvine, CA, USA e-mail: tjoat@uci.edu

K. Emerick Massachusetts Eye and Ear Infirmary, Boston, USA e-mail: Kevin Emerick@meei.harvard.edu

advanced stage. However, even patients who initially present with small localized disease have a high risk of distant relapse making survival rates for MM very low. The mainstay of treatment is surgical removal of the primary melanoma, which is not always possible in certain locations. While adjuvant radiation is often considered, definitive data showing clinical benefit is lacking. Recent progress in immunotherapy for cutaneous melanoma has yet to be fully assessed and understood for MM. Mucosal melanomas have distinct genetic alterations, including activating mutations of KIT, which offer an opportunity for targeted therapy in a subset of cases.

#### Keywords

Mucosal melanoma · Head and neck · Paranasal sinus · Pigmented mucosa · Vulvovaginal mucosa · c-KIT mutation

#### Introduction

Primary MMs were first described by Weber in 1859 (Weber 1859). MM account for approximately 0.8-1.8% of all melanomas in the US (Chang et al. 1998; Batsakis et al. 1982; Mendenhall 2005; McLaughlin et al. 2005), with a higher proportion in Asian and African populations. Any mucosal surface can be affected, with the majority arising from the head and neck, the anorectal, and the vulvovaginal mucosa. MM has been documented to arise in the mucosa of other tissues, including the urinary tract, the penis, gallbladder, esophagus, and intestines. However, these are exceedingly rare and it can be difficult to distinguish primary lesions of the gastrointestinal tract from metastatic lesions. MMs display distinctive behavior, epidemiology, and prognosis from cutaneous melanoma (CM), and despite a relatively stable incidence and increasing knowledge about these tumors, they continue to result in poor survival rates (Postow et al. 2012). This chapter examines the diagnostic, treatment, and outcome characteristics of MM, focusing particularly on sites within the head and neck, which comprise the majority of MMs.

#### **Pigmented Lesions on the Mucosa**

Melanin is the pigment derivative of tyrosine, synthesized by melanocytes, which typically reside in the basal cell layer of the epithelium (Westerhof 2006). Melanocytes, derived from neural crest tissue, are distributed throughout the upper respiratory tract and oral cavity. Although they are found within the mucosa of all races, they are found in much higher numbers in darkskinned individuals (Thompson et al. 2003; Zak and Lawson 1974). While their action of cytoprotection against ultraviolet radiation is known in the skin, their role within mucosal epithelium is unclear. Though depositions of melanin within epithelium do not always have clinical consequence, both solitary and multifocal pigmented lesions should be investigated. Pathologic melanin production within the upper aerodigestive tract can be associated with a variety of etiologies, which can be reactive, neoplastic, and a result of systemic disease (Alawi 2013).

#### Melanotic Macule

The melanotic macule describes a single, wellcircumscribed blue or brown-to-black lesion that is homogeneously colored and less than 1 cm in diameter (Meleti et al. 2008). They represent up to 86% of solitary pigmented lesions, representing the most common solitary pigmented mucosal lesion (Kaugars et al. 1993; Buchner et al. 2004). Some studies have suggested a female preponderance; however, this is not fully established. There is a predilection for the lower lip, gingiva, and palate (Alawi 2013). Functionally, they are caused by hyperactivity of the melanocytes, resulting in increased melanin production. Histologically, they are characterized by increased melanin in the basal cell layer, with incontinence of melanin into the submucosa and melanin within macrophages in the upper lamina propria (Buchner et al. 2004). There is no hyperplasia, or increase in the number of melanocytes. These lesions should be biopsied to confirm that there is in fact no hyperplasia. If melanocytic hyperplasia is found, incipient mucosal melanoma in situ has to be considered and complete excision should be considered.

#### **Oral Melanoacanthoma**

Typically, a larger lesion than the melanotic macule, the oral melanoacanthoma is a rare, acquired lesion, often involving rapid, diffuse pigmentation of a large mucosal area (Buchner et al. 2004). It has a tendency to occur in younger black females on the buccal mucosa. It is thought to be a result of a reactive process, unrelated to the cutaneous melanoacanthoma, a form of seborrhoic keratosis, which is a benign neoplasm. These lesions are typically self-limiting and may spontaneously resolve without any intervention (Alawi 2013). However, they can grow very rapidly, so an incisional biopsy is typically required to rule out a neoplastic process. Histologically, they are characterized by spongiotic epithelium with dendritic pigmented melanocytes throughout the full epidermal thickness, with a mild inflammatory infiltrate (Alawi 2013). Once diagnosis is established, no further treatment is indicated.

#### **Smoker's Melanosis**

Cigarette smoking is known to induce oral mucosal pigmentation, though smoker's melanosis is not considered a preneoplastic condition. Rather, it is thought to represent a reactive mucosal response to the heat or irritants within a cigarette (Alawi 2013). It typically manifests as diffuse patchy irregular pigmentation along the maxillary and mandibular gingival. It occurs in approximately 21.5% of smokers, with intensity of pigmentation directly correlated to the amount and duration of cigarettes consumed (Taybos 2003). It occurs exclusively in smokers, and is more common in females. If it presents as a solitary lesion, a biopsy is indicated to rule out melanoma. Histologically, it appears very similar to a melanotic macule, with increased melanin within the basal layer of the epithelium without melanocytic hyperplasia. Cessation of smoking typically

results in resolution of the pigmentation within 3–36 months (Taybos 2003).

#### **Other Reactive Pigmentation**

Hyperpigmentation can result from a variety of local reactive mechanisms. Inflammationassociated hyperpigmentation typically develops in an area of trauma or irritation. It may be focal or diffuse and patchy, and more commonly develops in dark-skinned individuals. It is characterized histopathologically by the presence of melanophages in the submucosa, and treatment is aimed at decreasing the inflammation or irritative stimulus.

Certain medications can also induce mucocutaneous pigmentation by induction of melanin production. Such medications include antimalarial drugs, phenothiazines, oral contraceptives, and various cytotoxic medications. The pigmentation may be either localized to one mucosal region or multifocal. The pigmentation is typically macular and irregular (Alawi 2013). If the melanosis can be temporally associated with the onset of a specific medication, then no further intervention or biopsy is indicated, and the pigmentation typically resolves within months after discontinuation of the drug (Dereure 2001). If a diagnosis cannot be achieved based on clinical history alone, a biopsy is warranted to rule out malignant melanoma.

#### Systemic Causes of Multifocal Pigmentation

Physiologic pigmentation of mucosal surfaces can commonly occur, and typically manifests as multifocal or diffuse mucosal pigmentation. However, several pathologic conditions can also result in mucosal pigmentation, including endocrinopathies and genetic disorders. Specifically, dysfunction along the pituitary-adrenal axis as a result of either adrenal insufficiency or Cushing disease can result in diffuse mucocutaneous pigmentation. This occurs because adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH), secreted by the anterior pituitary gland, originates from the same gene as the alpha-melanocyte-stimulating hormone (alpha-MSH) through alternative splicing. As serum ACTH levels rise, there is a simultaneous increase in alpha-MSH secretion, which directly stimulates melanocytes.

Clinically, this manifests as diffuse mucocutaneous pigmentation, which is one of the earliest signs of hypoadrenocorticism. This is a potentially serious disease that can result in hypotension, hyponatremia, and hyperkalemia. Laboratory testing, including serum electrolyte and cortisol levels, is indicated if there is suspicion for adrenal insufficiency. Pigmentation and other signs and symptoms of this typically resolve with steroid replacement therapy. Cushing disease can result from continuous secretion of ACTH and alpha-MSH. Again, diffuse mucocutaneous pigmentation can be one of the first manifestations of this disease. Serum laboratory values will show elevated steroid levels and likely high levels of other hormones.

Peutz-Jeghers syndrome is a rare autosomal dominant genetic disorder that is characterized by intestinal polyposis and increased susceptibility for certain cancer types, including pancreatic, gastrointestinal tract, cervical, ovarian, and breast. One of the earliest clinical manifestations of the disorder in these patients is a highly distinctive labial and perioral pigmentation in a spotty pattern. Sometimes, these small, dark lentigines also involve the eye lids, nostrils, anus, and hands and feet. They appear in childhood and can persist throughout the patient's lifetime. A high index of suspicion for Peutz-Jeghers syndrome is necessary in a child with this pigmentation, and treatment is directed at symptomatic relief of gastrointestinal symptoms and cancer surveillance.

#### **Neoplastic Pigmentation**

Melanocytic nevi are a diverse group of benign tumors that arise from melanocytic proliferation induced by oncogenic mutations. They tend to occur more commonly on cutaneous surfaces, but can occasionally involve the mucosa. They are typically identified in patients over the age of 30 as a small, solitary brown or blue, wellcircumscribed nodule or macule. The hard palate, buccal, and gingivolabial surfaces are most commonly affected, though any mucosal surface can be involved. Histologically, these nevi are proliferations of round, ovoid, or spindle-shaped melanocytes. Because the differential diagnosis of these focally pigmented lesions involves mucosal melanoma, biopsy is indicated for accurate diagnosis.

#### **Mucosal Melanoma**

MMs are comparatively rare, accounting for 0.8–1.8% of all melanomas in the US (Chang et al. 1998; Batsakis et al. 1982; Mendenhall 2005; McLaughlin et al. 2005), with an estimated absolute incidence of one in 2 million (Gal 2011). Interestingly, while the incidence of CM is increasing at a rate greater than any other cancer in the United States, the incidence of MM has remained stable over time (Carvajal et al. 2012). Due to its rarity, it is difficult to conduct large randomized controlled studies regarding this disease. Much of the knowledge regarding MM is based on data compiled from retrospective case series and analyses.

#### Epidemiology

The head and neck region comprises the majority of MM. Head and Neck MM (HNMM) can be further subtyped based on the anatomic location of the primary tumor. The nose and paranasal sinuses (SNMM) are by far the most common subsite, with large database studies and case series demonstrating SNMMs to represent 59-80% of all HNMMs (Postow et al. 2012; Patel et al. 2002; Bachar 2008; Jethanamest 2011). The oral cavity is the second most common subsite, representing 16-41% of all HNMMs. Other subtypes within the head and neck have been rarely reported, and include the nasopharynx, oropharynx, and larynx. These sites together account for less than 10% of all HNMMs (Carvajal et al. 2012). Vulvovaginal (VVMMs) and anorectal (ARMMs) melanomas

account for 18% and 24% of all MMs, respectively. Approximately 2–3% of MMs occur in the urinary tract (Chang et al. 1998; McLaughlin et al. 2005). Because of the relative infrequency of these subsites, the majority of this chapter will focus on HNMMs. Specific considerations regarding VVMMs and ARMMs will be discussed at the end of the chapter.

Unfortunately, robust epidemiological data is scarce due to the rarity of this tumor type. The current data is typically focused on specific subsites as described above. Therefore, even common epidemiological data such as age at presentation, gender, or ethnic predispositions are difficult to reliably define. The literature available shows MMs generally present within the fifth to eighth decades of life, with a median age of onset around 60-70 years old. There appears to be a female to male ratio of 1.85:1, largely due to the incidence of VVMM, which is the most common subtype in women (Postow et al. 2012). Head and Neck MM appears to occur in a similar distribution between genders, with perhaps a slight predominance in men (Chang et al. 1998; Moreno 2010; Patrick 2007; Bachar 2008). The absolute incidence of MM is higher in Whites than Blacks (2:1) (McLaughlin et al. 2005). A few publications have shown that within the oral cavity subsite, oral cavity malignancy melanoma (OCMM) is more common in Japanese. Among the Japanese population, 34% of MM occur in the oral cavity and it accounts for 7.5% of all melanomas in this population (Batsakis et al. 1982; Mendenhall 2005). By comparison, in Caucasians, OCMMs account for only around 1% of all melanomas. Similarly, in Ugandan Africans, sinonasal melanoma (SNMM) has been reported to represent 2.6% of all melanomas (Broomhall and Lewis 1967).

There is even less epidemiological data for nonHN sites. ARMMs may occur at a slightly higher rate in women than in men. However, this may be explained by earlier and more frequent detection due to routine gynecologic examinations. The median age at presentation is 70, similarly to HNMM. VVMM occurs at a rate of approximately 0.2 per 100,000 women each year. The majority occur in the vulvar mucosa, with only a 5% occurring within the vaginal mucosa. Vulvar MM tends to occur in older women, with an average age at diagnosis of 60–80 versus 50–70 in vaginal MM. The limited nature of the available epidemiological data makes it difficult to create a clear picture for HNMM, VVMM, and ARMM, respectively, but even more so for MM as a single entity.

#### **Clinical Presentation**

Many MM appear as flat, pigmented lesions on the mucosal surface. These often have characteristics similar to cutaneous melanoma such as areas of increased darkness, irregular borders, and areas with increased thickness. These are commonly isolated lesions surrounded by normal appearing pink mucosa. However, they may present similar to other cutaneous melanomas where there is a field of pigmentation and within this area a distinct increased pigmentation, nodularity, or thickness develops. However, even when the lesion appears to be isolated and surrounded by healthy pink mucosa pathologic changes are almost always seen in the surrounding tissue at the time of resection. Unlike cutaneous melanoma, MM can sometimes have an appearance more like a soft tissue mass. In the sinonasal cavity, MM may present as polyp, typically, but not always, with at least focal pigmenation. These masses can take various shapes and sizes based on their anatomic location. They are often soft and friable unlike other solid tumors. Beyond this initial description, the clinical presentation is dependent on the anatomic location.

SNMMs typically manifest as nonspecific nasal or ocular complaints. The most common presenting symptom among these SNMMs is epistaxis, with as many as 82% of patients seeking initial medical consult due to this (Batsakis et al. 1982: 82%). Other complaints at time of diagnosis are related to an enlarging mass and include nasal obstruction, facial pain and swelling, and vision changes. Proptosis, diplopia, and neurologic symptoms appear in more locally advanced tumor stages when tumors extend from the sinonasal cavity into the orbit (Lopez 2016). Typically, nasal cavity MMs become symptomatic with epistaxis or nasal obstruction and are identified at an earlier stage than MMs of the paranasal sinuses. Paranasal sinus tumors can remain asymptomatic and difficult to visualize until tumors reach a very large size with invasion of nearby structures such as the orbit and skull base.

The most common sites of SNMMs include the lateral nasal wall and nasal septum (Thompson et al. 2003; Lopez 2016), with melanomas arising from the lateral nasal wall accounting for up to 50% of SNMM patients (Moreno 2012). Melanomas arising from the septum have a more favorable prognosis than those arising from other subsites (Dauer 2008; Moreno 2012). The middle and inferior turbinates, as well as the nasal vestibule, are other possible sites within the nasal cavity. Regarding the sinuses, the maxillary sinus is the most commonly affected cavity, followed by the ethmoid, frontal, and sphenoid, in order of decreasing incidence. SNMMs are frequently found to be a polypoid, fleshy mass within the nasal cavity (Batsakis et al. 1982). Therefore, any atypical polyp or polypoid mass in the sinonasal region warrants a biopsy.

OCMMs, which represent approximately 0.5% of all oral malignancies and <1% of total melanoma cases, are typically asymptomatic in their early stages. The hard palate and maxillary gingiva are the most frequently affected sites, but the buccal mucosa, lips, tongue, floor of mouth, and uvula can also be affected. Since these areas can be visualized by patients as well as during routine dental or medical exams, they are most commonly identified by observation rather than overt symptoms. However, some lesions due cause other symptoms that lead to the diagnosis including pain, bleeding, ulceration, and poorly-fitting dentures. In up to 10% of cases, OCMM is lacking pigment (amelanotic) (Alawi 2013; Lopez 2016). When it is pigmented, OCMM can present as a macule, plaque, or a mass. It can be either wellcircumscribed or irregular. Because of its variety of appearances, any solitary pigmented lesion in the oral cavity should be biopsied. Biopsies stain positive for S-100, vimentin, and HMB-45 (Wagner 2008).

Once a suspicious lesion is confirmed upon biopsy, the diagnostic evaluation should also include flexible fiberoptic nasopharyngoscopy to optimally visualize the nasal and paranasal sinus mucosa. The primary tumor should then be further evaluated with computed tomography (CT). This can aid in assessing invasion of the surrounding bone including the skull base. Within the sinonasal cavity, magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) can be valuable in defining the locoregional extent of the tumor. Mucosal melanoma tends to have low signal on T2-weighted images and enhancement on T1 precontrast weighted images. MRI may be helpful when assessing orbit, perineural, and central nervous system invasion. These images can be critical in determining resectability (Lopez 2016). Systemic staging should also be performed at this early stage of the process before undertaking any type of surgical resection. PET CT, including the neck, chest, and abdomen, as well as a brain MRI, is the standard imaging systemic workup for these patients.

For ARMM, the most commonly affected areas include the anal canal and the anal verge/ perianal area. The most common initial symptom at presentation was rectal bleeding, with other symptoms including a palpable mass, incontinence, pruritis, and a change in bowel habits. VVMM are most commonly recognized during routine exams; however, patients may note symptoms including a vulvar mass, pain, bleeding, or itching.

#### Tumor Behavior

It is generally reported that HNMMs exhibit highly aggressive behavior, with a median time between diagnosis and death due to disease of 19 months (Dauer 2008). This is partly due to the fact that some mucosal sites are obscured, resulting in more advanced stage at diagnosis, particularly in the paranasal sinuses (Chang et al. 1998, Papaspyrou 2011, Postow et al. 2012). Additionally, the paranasal sinus subsites are in close proximity to the skull base, orbit, and facial soft tissue. Similarly, the alveolar ridges and palate subsites within the oral cavity typically present with early invasion of the underlying bone given the thin nature of the tissue. This may also help account for their poor prognosis (Lopez 2016)

Despite having a poor prognosis, the majority of patients with HNMM initially present with localized disease. This is especially the case in nasal cavity melanoma, where >75% are diagnosed with clinically localized disease (Lopez 2016). Overall, SNMMs present with lymphatic metastases in 6–20% of cases, and distant metastases in <10% of patients. OCMM patients are more likely to present with nodal involvement, with studies reporting up to 25% of patients having cervical lymph node metastasis at the time of presentation (refs). This likelihood increases when the tumor thickness is more than 5 mm (Patel et al. 2002).

Despite the predominance of localized disease, a metastatic disease workup should be performed at time of initial diagnosis. An additional 20% of SNMM patients can expect to develop nodal metastasis at some point during the course of the disease after initial presentation, and 40–50% will develop distant metastases. Predilection sites for distant metastasis include the lungs, brain, bone, and liver (Medhi 2012).

This high rate of distant metastasis leads to very poor survival in patients with MM. The largest database study found a 25% 5-year survival within all mucosal sites (Chang et al. 1998). Within the head and neck, 5-year overall survival (OS) ranges from 8% to 45% in the literature (Bachar 2008; Manolidis 1997: Owens 2003; Temam 2004; Gal 2011;Jethanamest, Gilligan 1991). In general, melanomas arising in the nasal cavity have a slightly better overall survival than oral cavity, likely owing to the earlier detection (Loree 1999; Wagner 2008; Jethanamest 2011). Sinonasal and nasopharyngeal MMs are associated with inferior survival rates. Various studies have implicated other factors such as age >70 years, tumor size, tumor thickness, presence of vascular invasion, nodal status, and distant metastasis status as independent factors for survival (Patel 2002; Jethanamest 2011). The median survival time

after distant metastasis is detected as only 3 months (Dauer 2008).

Unlike HNMM which predominantly presents with local disease only, 61% of patients with ARMM present with regional nodal involvement, and 20% with distant disease at the time of diagnosis.. The overall prognosis is also poor in VVMM, but considerably worse in vaginal MM, with a 5-year OS of 19%, versus 50% in vulvar MM.

#### Staging

The rarity of HNMM has made it difficult to implement universal staging systems. In 1970, Ballentyne introduced a clinical staging system for CMs and HNMMs that comprises three stages: stage I for local disease only, stage II for regional disease, and stage III for distant disease (Ballentyne 1970). Clinical stage at presentation has been found in some studies to be a predictor of overall survival in HNMM (Patel 2002; Krengli 2006). Additionally, the advantage of this staging system is that it can be used in all MM subsites. However, due to the fact that 75% or greater of HNMM patients present with localized, stage I disease, it is difficult to establish a prognosis on this system alone.

Thompson et al. performed a clinicopathologic study and noted that the presence of metastatic disease was the most important factor in predicting patient outcome (Thompson et al. 2003). They proposed a TNM staging system for SNMM and nasopharyngeal MM. This system divided primary site into T1: single anatomic site and T2: two or more anatomic sites. Any lymph node metastasis was given N1 and distant metastasis was given M1. In this study, it was found that patient outcome was stratifiable by grouping these TNM characteristics into an overall stage (I, II, or III-IV). Around the same time, the AJCC published a staging system meant for all sinonasal malignancies, including SNMM (Table 1). This system was validated to provide an even distribution of stages with accurate, stage-specific prognostic information in a retrospective review by Moreno et al. at MD Anderson (Moreno 2012).

It was recommended that it could be used as the primary staging system for patients with SNMM. However, the obvious limitation of this system is that it is only applicable to one MM subsite.

Table 1

To remedy this, a histologic staging system has been proposed by Prasad et al. who suggested a system based on the depth of invasion into tissue compartments within the mucosa, analogous to Breslow or Clarke's levels for CM (Prasad et al. 2004). Level I was defined as in situ mucosal melanoma without invasion; Level II was invasion into the lamina propria; Level III was invasion into submucosa, bone, cartilage, or skeletal muscle. It was found that there were statistically significant differences in disease-specific survival based on these three levels. The difficulty with this system is that the level can only be determined after surgery, and, even then, histologic landmarks can be lacking and prevent accurate levels of invasion.

The most recent AJCC staging manual (7th edition, Edge 2011) includes a specific HNMM staging system (Table 2). The most striking feature in this staging system is that there is no stage I or II disease, reflecting its advanced stage at diagnosis. The staging system is applicable to all MM subsites, so it is not dependent on any specific anatomic boundaries or landmarks. All patients with regional nodal disease are automatically categorized as stage IV disease. Gal et al. performed a Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results tumor registry study to evaluate the AJCC staging 6th and 7th editions' impact on survival, focusing on SNMM, and advocated the use of the 7th edition. More recently, Michel assessed the prognostic value of the various staging systems for SNMM and found that the AJCC 6th edition was the only one that was significantly correlated with both overall survival and disease-free survival (Michel et al. 2014). Because of this, some recommend that the AJCC 6th edition staging system should be the main staging system for patients with SNMMs. However, this is a site-specific staging system that is not applicable to all other MM subsites, making its wide application across all MMs impossible. Clearly, a staging system that accurately reflects both the biology of MMs and the prognosis of its clinical behavior is still needed.

Table 2

Because the long-term survival of ARMM patients is very poor, the traditional Ballentyne staging of I: local, II: regional, and III: distant is commonly used, but not associated with overall prognosis. However, VVMM has been correlated with the 2002 AJCC staging system. This appears to be the best predictor of recurrence-free survival for vulvar MM. However, similar to ARMM, the Ballentyne staging system is used for vaginal MM.

#### Pathogenesis

MMs have no known association with sun exposure. Some MMs occur in locations with preexisting melanotic macules, but it is not firmly established where melanotic macules play any role as a preneoplastic lesions. Smoker's melanosis has been postulated as a risk factor, and it has been reported that up to 70% of HNMM patients have a history of smoking, but a direct link has yet to have been established (Reuter 1986; Postow 2012).

The pattern of somatic genetic alterations in mucosal melanoma differs from that of cutaneous melanoma (Curtin 2005). Mutations in BRAF are significantly less common (Cohen 2004, Curtin 2005; Maldonado 2003). Instead mutations in NRAS are found in 14-29% of MMs (Laurenco 2014). Activating mutations of KIT have been observed in 10-20% of cases (Curtin 2006; Satzger 2008; Carvajal et al. 2011). A small subset had SF3B1 mutations, similar as in uveal melanoma (Hintzsche et al. 2017; Hayward et al. 2017). Mucosal melanomas have a low mutation burden with UV signature mutations typically lacking. Instead, mucosal melanomas, like acral melanoma, have a high degree of structural rearrangements with a high frequency of amplifications and deletions (Curtin 2005, Hayward et al. 2017, PMID: 12508243). Frequently amplified loci include the sites of the CCDN1, CDK4, and MDM2 genes.

#### Treatment

#### Surgery

Complete surgical resection is the standard initial treatment for surgically resectable disease. However, the therapeutic strategy should be tailored individually according to tumor stage, location, and whether or not metastases are present. Establishing local control with curative intent is the goal of primary treatment without detectable metastases. However, because most patients advanced primary tumors ultimately develop metastatic disease, the patient preference and quality of life issues have to be carefully considered when considering aggressive treatment of the primary tumor.

For SNMM, wide surgical resection with postoperative radiotherapy is the common treatment. The resection has traditionally involved open approaches, including anterior craniofacial resection for tumors involving the cribriform plate, orbital exenteration for orbital involvement, and radical nasal exenteration for diffuse mucosal disease (Carvajal et al. 2012). Tumors involving the maxillary sinus require partial or total maxillectomy often extending into the adjacent structures of the orbit and nasal cavity. If the tumor does not involve the brain, masticator space, central skull base, dura, carotid artery, cranial nerves IX through XII, or the prevertebral space, the lesion is considered potentially resectable (Khalil 2014). These open surgical resections come with significant risk of complications, including wound complications, intracranial hemorrhage, cerebrospinal fluid leak, meningitis, and orbital injury (Ganly 2007). At a minimum, patients experience long-term dryness and crusting. More severe consequences are obvious from surgery such as orbital exenteration. Maxillectomy defects typically lead to a large opening from the oral cavity to the nasal cavity and maxillary sinus requiring free flap reconstruction or obturation. Cheek numbness, visual changes, enopthalmos are also possible longterm sequelae.

Over the last couple decades, there has been increasing adoption of endoscopic approaches in the management of sinonasal tumors, including SNMM. It has been shown that an endoscopic approach may reduce morbidity and improve functional outcomes, without affecting survival outcomes (Hanna 2009; Swegal and Burkey 2013; Lombardi 2016). One study with long-term follow-up after endoscopic resection reported a 5- and 10- year OS of 56% and 39%, which may represent a selection bias of smaller tumors than those that were treated by open approaches. Endoscopic approaches may not be applicable across tumors of all stages (Lund 2015; Rawal 2012). Thus, open surgery remains the gold standard for local control of SNMMs.

With regards to OCMM, open resection with gross negative margins is a common initial treatment for small and moderate size lesions. However, as previously mentioned complete systemic workup and multidisciplinary evaluation is critical prior to any surgical intervention. Fortunately, most OCMM are readily accessible via transoral approaches with limited morbidity. For larger and more extensive tumors more complex resections may be needed. This may involve a marginal or segmental mandibulectomy, partial maxillectomy, total maxillectomy with or without orbital exenteration. These types of defects also require more complex reconstruction including possible free tissue transfer. As the complexity and of resection and reconstruction increases, multidisciplinary teams must continue to weigh the morbidity of treatment versus the short and long-term control of the disease and impact on survival.

Management of regional nodal disease for HNMM is somewhat controversial. Most authors advocate surgical treatment of clinically or radiographically apparent disease. Since OCMM has a higher propensity than SNMM for nodal disease (25% vs. 6%), some advocate for upfront elective treatment of the neck in OCMM (Medina 2003; Mendenhall 2005; Krengli 2006; Wagner 2008). This involves a selective neck dissection of the submandibular and jugular chain levels II-IV lymph node regions. However, the data does not show a difference in 5-year OS in patients who do and do not recur in the lymph nodes. This has led most authors and management teams to not perform elective treatment of the clinically N0 neck (Manolidis 1997; Postow 2012). Sentinel lymph node biopsies have been reported to assist in staging of SNMMs and may provide an alternative means of identifying those patients that would benefit from a therapeutic neck dissection (Starek 2006; Benlyazid et al. 2010). However, the radiotracer injections in the sinonasal cavity are logistically challenging and the overall utility of the findings from the procedure are not clear.

In patients with recurrent local or regional disease, in the absence of distant metastases, a second salvage surgical procedure is considered the best option if the tumor is resectable and an extensive restaging workup has been performed (Postow 2012; Lopez 2016). Surgery for recurrent disease is capable of salvaging up to 25% of patients, but failure to achieve adequate local control at the time of initial resection has consistently been shown to be a poor prognostic factor in terms of distant disease and overall survival (Lopez 2016).

Traditionally, ARMMs were managed with aggressive surgery, which involved abdominopelvic resections. However, local and distant recurrence rates remained high, and overall survival was not affected by the extent of surgical resection. Thus, the surgical treatment for these lesions has been scaled back to wide local excisions with 1 cm margins, with no significant effect on OS. It is accepted that a therapeutic lymph node dissection be performed for clinically apparent nodes, but there is no currently defined role for either an elective lymph node dissection or a sentinel node biopsy in patients with clinically negative regional disease.

As with other MM, VVMM is commonly treated with surgery as the initial treatment. Similarly, surgery was traditionally aggressive, but has transitioned to conservative approaches, as the extent of surgery does not change overall survival. Thus, a wide local excision is favored over radical vulvectomy. A regional lymph node dissection is indicated only if there are clinically apparent nodes, which occurs approximately 23% of the time at presentation. As with HNMM and ARMM, nodal status is not a prognosticator for disease-free or overall survival limiting the benefit any staging lymphadectomy. Additionally, the presence of distant metastases in the absence

of nodal involvement is a well-documented phenomenon.

#### Radiation

Radiotherapy for MM has a very limited role. Historical response rates are very low. With the advent of new techniques enabling higher conformality, such as intensity-modulated radiation therapy (IMRT) and proton therapy, higher radiation volumes can be given to local targets while limiting toxicity and damage to surrounding structures (Lopez 2016). While this is appealing in the HN region, the lack of response by MM to radiation still makes its use in the primary treatment very limited. This has been further limited in recent years with the introduction of additional systemic treatment options. Radiation may have previously been considered in unresectable or marginally resectable tumors. However, given the available systemic treatments available this would often be a preferred treatment option.

Radiotherapy is much more commonly used as an adjuvant treatment in the postoperative setting for HNMM. However, clear indications for its usage have yet to be developed. Most agree that adjuvant radiation can improve local control when there is a positive or close margin on the initial resection (Patel 2002; Owens 2003; Temam 2005; Krengli 2006; Benlyazid et al. 2010). Others have advocated that radiation be used for perineural invasion, known regional lymphatic metastasis, and large tumors. Some have even recommended its consideration in all cases, given the aggressive nature of MM (Wagner 2008). Optimal dose and fractionation schemes have not yet been established, but evidence has shown that total dose greater than 54 Gy and hypofractionation may improve local control (Moreno 2010). If radiotherapy is to be used, the treatment volume for definitive radiotherapy should include the primary tumor with a wide margin and all of the at-risk cervical lymph node regions.

However, despite improvement in local and regional control, it has yet to be shown that postoperative radiation treatment improves either the rate of distant metastasis or OS (Manolidis 1997; Patel 2002; Meleti 2008; Wu 2010; Gal 2011). While there may be selection bias towards more aggressive and advanced tumors, the lack of improvement in survival with adjuvant radiotherapy highlights the high risk of hematogenous spread and the poor prognosis associated with incomplete surgical resection of the primary MM. The role of adjuvant radiation may continue to decrease as better adjuvant systemic treatments become available.

#### Systemic Treatment

Given the high rate of recurrence and distant metastasis, even with aggressive bimodality treatment to the locoregional area, systemic therapy is always considered for these patients. Unfortunately, to date, there has been a paucity of clinical data to support chemotherapy, and no systemic therapy regimen has been proven to be effective for HNMMs (Lopez 2016). Because the rarity and poor prognosis of MM make accrual of patients for prospective clinical trials very difficult, much of the data on systemic therapies is extrapolated from work that has been done in CM. Chemotherapeutic and immunotherapeutic agents that are effective in CM have been utilized in a noncontrolled fashion as adjuvant or palliative treatment for MM without considerable success.

Until 2011, the only FDA-approved agents in the United States for the treatment of advanced melanoma of any subtype were limited to dacarbazine and high-dose interleukin (IL)-2, with limited benefit to OS associated with either drug (Carvajal 2012). These drugs were approved primarily on the basis of trials that included patients with CM, and their efficacy in MM. In a trial out of MD Anderson of 15 patients with advanced, either distantly metastatic or locoregionally recurrent HNMM, 18% of patients showed complete remission and 27% showed partial response after treatment with this combination, along with cisplatin, vinblastin, and interferon (Bartell 2008). However, due to the high toxicity and limited efficacy of this regimen, it is rarely used today. Other studies have shown that various combinations of these biochemotherapeutics are an independent predictor of overall survival, either in CM or MM (Bedikian 2008; Ahn 2010). Because of these results, systemic therapy using chemotherapeutics is currently considered in advanced, widely disseminated disease as an adjunct or for palliation (Lopez 2016).

As with all melanoma subtypes, MM has the ability to evade the natural protection of the immune system by inducing peripheral T-cell exhaustion. The development of immunotherapeutics to overcome this tumor-mediated exhaustion has been studied for decades and is beyond the scope of this chapter. In 2011, the FDA approved ipilimumab, an anticytotoxic T lymphocyte antigen 4 monoclonal antibody, based on phase 3 clinical trial data showing its benefits on overall survival in patients with CM (Hodi 2010). Unfortunately, ipilimumab was not shown to have the same benefit in a multicenter retrospective study involving metastatic or unresectable MM, with a median survival benefit of only 6.4 months (Postow 2013).

Molecular alterations that can serve as therapeutic target include mutations in BRAF and KIT. Only a small fraction of patients have BRAF V600E mutations, but those are expected to respond to a combination of BRAF and MEK inhibitors.

KIT mutations are found in approximately 15% of MMs. There are several kinase inhibitors that affect KIT, which have been tested in MM patients with KIT mutations, and inhibitors specifically targeting KIT are in development. Imatinib is an inhibitor of KIT and has demonstrated clinical activity in other cancers with KIT mutations such as gastrointestinal stromal tumors. It was first shown to have substantial benefit in patients with ARMM in isolated case reports (Lutzky, Hodi, Satzger), and has since been shown to have responses in both CM and MM patient populations with activating KIT mutations (Carvajal 2011; Guo 2011). A phase 2 study in 43 patients with unresectable MM showed that 23% of KIT-mutant MMs achieved partial response, and 30% of patients showed stable disease with a median duration of OS at 15 months in responders versus 9 months in nonwho responders. 90% of the patients demonstrated partial response had mutations in exons 11 and 13, which appear to predict clinical response (Guo 2011).

Unfortunately, the durable response time to imatinib is relatively short, and it is unlikely as a monotherapy to offer significant curative benefit to patients with advanced MM. Several newer generation KIT inhibitors targeting specific alterations are currently in phase 2 trials, including dasatinib, sorafenib, nilotinib, sunitinib, and masitinib. Despite encouraging initial results, more understanding of the biological significance of each KIT mutation is needed in order to characterize the responses to each inhibitor. In addition, longitudinal studies and prospective trials are essential to determine mechanisms of resistance and the long-term prognostic implications of these treatments. Ultimately, a combination of targeted agents to a variety of signaling pathways along with immunotherapies will likely be necessary to gain adequate effectiveness in the systemic treatment of advanced metastatic MM.

#### Conclusion

Overall, MM is a rare form that is distinct from cutaneous melanoma, with its characteristic genetic alterations, clinical behavior, and epidemiology. It is highly aggressive, and despite multimodality approaches, has a very poor 5-year overall survival due to high rates of recurrence and hematogenous spread. No single staging system based on disease characteristics has yet succeeded in stratifying its overall prognosis. Current standard of care is surgical management of the primary lesion and clinically apparent regional disease, with or without postoperative radiotherapy. The role of immune checkpoint blockade effective in other melanoma subtypes has yet to be established and the characterization of molecular targets for therapy is ongoing.

#### References

Ahn HJ, Na II, Park YH, Cho SY, Lee BC, Lee GH, Koh JS, Lee YS, Shim YS, Kim YK, Kang HJ, Ryoo BY, Yang SH (2010) Role of adjuvant chemotherapy in malignant mucosal melanoma of the head and neck. Oral Oncol 46(8):607–611

- Alawi F (2013) Pigmented lesions of the oral cavity: an update. Dent Clin N Am 57(4):699–710
- Bachar G, Loh KS, O'Sullivan B, Goldstein D, Wood S, Brown D, Irish J (2008) Mucosal melanomas of the head and neck: experience of the Princess Margaret Hospital. Head Neck 30(10):1325–1331
- Ballantyne AJ (1970) Malignant melanoma of the skin of the head and neck. An analysis of 405 cases. Am J Surg 120(4):425–431
- Bartell HL, Bedikian AY, Papadopoulos NE, Dett TK, Ballo MT, Myers JN, Hwu P, Kim KB (2008) Biochemotherapy in patients with advanced head and neck mucosal melanoma. Head Neck 30(12):1592–1598
- Batsakis JG, Regezi JA, Solomon AR, Rice DH (1982) The pathology of head and neck tumors: mucosal melanomas, part 13. Head Neck Surg 4(5):404–418
- Bedikian AY, Johnson MM, Warneke CL, McIntyre S, Papadopoulos N, Hwu WJ, Kim K, Hwu P (2008) Systemic therapy for unresectable metastatic melanoma: impact of biochemotherapy on long-term survival. J Immunotoxicol 5(2):201–207
- Benlyazid A, Thariat J, Temam S, Malard O, Florescu C, Choussy O, Makeieff M, Poissonnet G, Penel N, Righini C, Toussaint B, Lacau St Guily J, Vergez S, Filleron T (2010) Postoperative radiotherapy in head and neck mucosal melanoma: a GETTEC study. Arch Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 136(12):1219–1225
- Broomhall C, Lewis MG (1967) Malignant melanoma of the oral cavity in Ugandan Africans. Br J Surg 54(7):581–584
- Buchner A, Merrel PW, Carpenter WM (2004) Relative frequency of solitary melanocytic lesions of the oral mucosa. J Oral Pathol Med 33:550–557
- Carvajal RD, Antonescu CR, Wolchok JD, Chapman PB, Roman RA, Teitcher J, Panageas KS, Busam KJ, Chmielowski B, Lutzky J, Pavlick AC, Fusco A, Cane L, Takebe N, Vemula S, Bouvier N, Bastian BC, Schwartz GK (2011) KIT as a therapeutic target in metastatic melanoma. JAMA 305(22):2327–2334
- Carvajal RD, Spencer SA, Lydiatt W (2012) Mucosal melanoma: a clinically and biologically unique disease entity. J Natl Compr Cancer Netw 10(3):345–356
- Chang AE, Karnell LH, Menck HR (1998) The National Cancer Data Base report on cutaneous and noncutaneous melanoma: a summary of 84,836 cases from the past decade. The American College of Surgeons Commission on Cancer and the American Cancer Society. Cancer 83(8):1664–1678
- Cohen Y, Rosenbaum E, Begum S, Goldenberg D, Esche C, Lavie O, Sidransky D, Westra WH (2004) Exon 15 BRAF mutations are uncommon in melanomas arising in nonsun-exposed sites. Clin Cancer Res 10(10):3444–3447
- Curtin JA, Fridlyand J, Kageshita T, Patel HN, Busam KJ, Kutzner H, Cho KH, Aiba S, Bröcker EB, LeBoit PE, Pinkel D, Bastian BC (2005) Distinct sets of genetic

alterations in melanoma. N Engl J Med 353 (20):2135-2147

- Curtin JA, Busam K, Pinkel D, Bastian BC (2006) Somatic activation of KIT in distinct subtypes of melanoma. J Clin Oncol 24(26):4340–4346
- Dauer EH, Lewis JE, Rohlinger AL, Weaver AL, Olsen KD (2008) Sinonasal melanoma: a clinicopathologic review of 61 cases. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 138(3):347–352
- Dereure O (2001) Drug-induced skin pigmentation. Epidemiology, diagnosis and treatment. Am J Clin Dermatol 2(4):253–262
- Edge (ed) (2011) AJCC cancer staging manual, 7th edn. Springer
- Gal TJ, Silver N, Huang B (2011) Demographics and treatment trends in sinonasal mucosal melanoma. Laryngoscope 121(9):2026–33
- Ganly I, Gross ND, Patel SG, Bilsky MH, Shah JP, Kraus DH (2007) Outcome of craniofacial resection in patients 70 years of age and older. Head Neck 29(2):89–94
- Gilligan D, Slevin NJ (1991) Radical radiotherapy for 28 cases of mucosal melanoma in the nasal cavity and sinuses. Br J Radiol 64(768):1147–1150
- Guo J, Si L, Kong Y, Flaherty KT, Xu X, Zhu Y, Corless CL, Li L, Li H, Sheng X, Cui C, Chi Z, Li S, Han M, Mao L, Lin X, Du N, Zhang X, Li J, Wang B, Qin S (2011) Phase II, open-label, single-arm trial of imatinib mesylate in patients with metastatic melanoma harboring c-Kit mutation or amplification. J Clin Oncol 29(21):2904–2909
- Hanna E, DeMonte F, Ibrahim S, Roberts D, Levine N, Kupferman M (2009) Endoscopic resection of sinonasal cancers with and without craniotomy: oncologic results. Arch Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 135(12):1219–1224
- Hayward NK, Wilmott JS, Waddell N, Johansson PA, Field MA, Nones K, Patch A-M, Kakavand H, Alexandrov LB, Burke H, Jakrot V, Kazakoff S, Holmes O, Leonard C, Sabarinathan R, Mularoni L, Wood S, Xu Q, Waddell N, Tembe V, Pupo GM, De Paoli-Iseppi R, Vilain RE, Shang P, Lau LMS, Dagg RA, Schramm S-J, Pritchard A, Dutton-Regester K, Newell F, Fitzgerald A, Shang CA, Grimmond SM, Pickett HA, Yang JY, Stretch JR, Behren A, Kefford RF, Hersey P, Long GV, Cebon J, Shackleton M, Spillane AJ, Saw RPM, López-Bigas N, Pearson JV, Thompson JF, Scolyer RA, Mann GJ (2017) Whole-genome landscapes of major melanoma subtypes. Nature [Internet] 3 May 2017 [cited 4 May 2017 May 4], advance online publication. Available from: http://www.nature.com/nature/journal/vaop/ ncurrent/full/nature22071.html
- Hintzsche JD, Gorden NT, Amato CM, Kim J, Wuensch KE, Robinson SE, Applegate AJ, Couts KL, Medina TM, Wells KR, Wisell JA, Mccarter MD, Box NF, Shellman YG, Gonzalez RC, Lewis KD, Tentler JJ, Tan AC, Robinson WA (2017) Wholeexome sequencing identifies recurrent sf3b1 R625

mutation and comutation of nf1 and kit in mucosal melanoma. Melanoma Res 27(3):189–199

- Hodi FS, O'Day SJ, McDermott DF, Weber RW, Sosman JA, Haanen JB, Gonzalez R, Robert C, Schadendorf D, Hassel JC, Akerley W, van den Eertwegh AJ, Lutzky J, Lorigan P, Vaubel JM, Linette GP, Hogg D, Ottensmeier CH, Lebbé C, Peschel C, Quirt I, Clark JI, Wolchok JD, Weber JS, Tian J, Yellin MJ, Nichol GM, Hoos A, Urba WJ (2010) Improved survival with ipilimumab in patients with metastatic melanoma. N Engl J Med 363(8):711–723
- Jethanamest D, Vila PM, Sikora AG, Morris LG (2011) Predictors of survival in mucosal melanoma of the head and neck. Ann Surg Oncol 18(10):2748–2756
- Kaugars GE, Heise AP, Riley WT, Abbey LM, Svirsky JA (1993) Oral melanotic macules. A review of 353 cases. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol 76(1):59–61
- Khalil DN, Carvajal RD (2014) Treatments for noncutaneous melanoma. Hematol Oncol Clin North Am 28(3):507–521
- Krengli M, Masini L, Kaanders JH, Maingon P, Oei SB, Zouhair A, Ozyar E, Roelandts M, Amichetti M, Bosset M, Mirimanoff RO (2006) Radiotherapy in the treatment of mucosal melanoma of the upper aerodigestive tract: analysis of 74 cases. A rare cancer network study. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 65(3):751–759
- Lombardi D, Bottazzoli M, Turri-Zanoni M, Raffetti E, Villaret AB, Morassi ML, Ungari M, Vermi W, Battaglia P, Castelnuovo P, Facco C, Sessa F, Donato F, Nicolai P (2016) Sinonasal mucosal melanoma: a 12year experience of 58 cases. Head Neck 38(Suppl 1): E1737–E1745
- López F, Rodrigo JP, Cardesa A, Triantafyllou A, Devaney KO, Mendenhall WM, Haigentz M Jr, Strojan P, Pellitteri PK, Bradford CR, Shaha AR, Hunt JL, de Bree R, Takes RP, Rinaldo A, Ferlito A 2016 Update on primary head and neck mucosal melanoma. Head Neck 38(1):147–155
- Loree TR, Mullins AP, Spellman J, North JH Jr, Hicks WL Jr (1999) Head and neck mucosal melanoma: a 32-year review. Ear Nose Throat J 78(5):372–375
- Lourenço SV, Fernandes JD, Hsieh R, Coutinho-Camillo CM, Bologna S, Sangueza M, Nico MM (2014) Head and neck mucosal melanoma: a review. Am J Dermatopathol 36(7):578–587
- Lund VJ, Wei WI (2015) Endoscopic surgery for malignant sinonasal tumours: an eighteen year experience. Rhinology 53(3):204–211
- Maldonado JL, Fridlyand J, Patel H, Jain AN, Busam K, Kageshita T, Ono T, Albertson DG, Pinkel D, Bastian BC (2003) Determinants of BRAF mutations in primary melanomas. J Natl Cancer Inst 95(24): 1878–1890
- Manolidis S, Donald PJ (1997) Malignant mucosal melanoma of the head and neck: review of the literature and report of 14 patients. Cancer 80(8):1373–86
- McLaughlin CC, XC W, Jemal A, Martin HJ, Roche LM, Chen VW (2005) Incidence of noncutaneous melanomas in the U.S. Cancer 103(5):1000–1007

- Medhi P, Biswas M, Das D, Amed S (2012) Cytodiagnosis of mucosal malignant melanoma of nasal cavity: a case report with review of literature. J Cytol 29(3):208–210
- Medina JE, Ferlito A, Pellitteri PK, Shaha AR, Khafif A, Devaney KO, Fisher SR, O'Brien CJ, Byers RM, Robbins KT, Pitman KT, Rinaldo A (2003) Current management of mucosal melanoma of the head and neck. J Surg Oncol 83(2):116–122
- Meleti M, Leemans CR, de Bree R, Vescovi P, Sesenna E, van der Waal I (2008) Head and neck mucosal melanoma: experience with 42 patients, with emphasis on the role of postoperative radiotherapy. Head Neck 30(12):1543–1551
- Meleti M, Vescovi P, Mooi WJ, van der Waal I (2008) Pigmented lesions of the oral mucosa and perioral tissues: a flow-chart for the diagnosis and some recommendations for the management. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod 105(5):606–616
- Mendenhall WM, Amdur RJ, Hinerman RW, Werning JW, Villaret DB, Mendenhall NP (2005) Head and neck mucosal melanoma. Am J Clin Oncol 28(6):626–630
- Michel J, Perret-Court A, Fakhry N, Braustein D, Monestier S, Richard MA, Grob JJ, Giovanni A, Dessi P (2014) Sinonasal mucosal melanomas: the prognostic value of tumor classifications. Head Neck 36(3):311–316
- Moreno MA, Hanna EY (2010) Management of mucosal melanomas of the head and neck: did we make any progress? Curr Opin Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 18(2):101–106
- Moreno MA, Roberts DB, Kupferman ME, DeMonte F, El-Naggar AK, Williams M, Rosenthal DS, Hanna EY (2010) Mucosal melanoma of the nose and paranasal sinuses, a contemporary experience from the M. D. Anderson Cancer Center. Cancer 116(9):2215–2223
- Owens JM, Roberts DB, Myers JN (2003) The role of postoperative adjuvant radiation therapy in the treatment of mucosal melanomas of the head and neck region. Arch Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 129(8):864–868
- Papaspyrou G, Garbe C, Schadendorf D, Werner JA, Hauschild A, Egberts F (2011) Mucosal melanomas of the head and neck: new aspects of the clinical outcome, molecular pathology, and treatment with c-kit inhibitors. Melanoma Res 21(6):475–482
- Patel SG, Prasad ML, Escrig M, Singh B, Shaha AR, Kraus DH, Boyle JO, Huvos AG, Busam K, Shah JP (2002) Primary mucosal malignant melanoma of the head and neck. Head Neck 24(3):247–257
- Patrick RJ, Fenske NA, Messina JL (2007) Primary mucosal melanoma. J Am Acad Dermatol 56(5):828–834
- Postow MA, Hamid O, Carvajal RD (2012) Mucosal melanoma: pathogenesis, clinical behavior, and management. Curr Oncol Rep 14(5):441–448
- Postow MA, Luke JJ, Bluth MJ, Ramaiya N, Panageas KS, Lawrence DP, Ibrahim N, Flaherty KT, Sullivan RJ, Ott

PA, Callahan MK, Harding JJ, D'Angelo SP, Dickson MA, Schwartz GK, Chapman PB, Gnjatic S, Wolchok JD, Hodi FS, Carvajal RD (2013) Ipilimumab for patients with advanced mucosal melanoma. Oncologist 18(6):726–732

- Prasad ML, Patel SG, Huvos AG, Shah JP, Busam KJ (2004) Primary mucosal melanoma of the head and neck: a proposal for microstaging localized, Stage I (lymph node-negative) tumors. Cancer 100(8): 1657–1664
- Rawal RB, Gore MR, Harvey RJ, Zanation AM (2012) Evidence-based practice: endoscopic skull base resection for malignancy. Otolaryngol Clin North Am 45(5):1127–1142
- Reuter VE, Woodruff JM (1986) Melanoma of the larynx. Laryngoscope 196(4):389–393
- Satzger I, Schaefer T, Kuettler U, Broecker V, Voelker B, Ostertag H, Kapp A, Gutzmer R (2008) Analysis of c-KIT expression and KIT gene mutation in human mucosal melanomas. Br J Cancer 99(12): 2065–2069
- Stárek I, Koranda P, Benes P (2006) Sentinel lymph node biopsy: a new perspective in head and neck mucosal melanoma? Melanoma Res 16(5):423–427
- Swegal W, Koyfman S, Scharpf J, Sindwani R, Greskovich J, Borden E, Burkey BB (2014) Endoscopic and open surgical approaches to locally advanced sinonasal melanoma: comparing the therapeutic benefits. JAMA Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 140(9):840–845
- Taybos G (2003) Oral changes associated with tobacco use. Am J Med Sci 326(4):179–182
- Temam S, Mamelle G, Marandas P, Wibault P, Avril MF, Janot F, Julieron M, Schwaab G, Luboinski B (2005) Postoperative radiotherapy for primary mucosal melanoma of the head and neck. Cancer 103(2): 313–319
- Thompson LD, Wieneke JA, Miettinen M (2003) Sinonasal tract and nasopharyngeal melanomas: a clinicopathologic study of 115 cases with a proposed staging system. Am J Surg Pathol 27(5):594–611
- Wagner M, Morris CG, Werning JW, Mendenhall WM (2008) Mucosal melanoma of the head and neck. Am J Clin Oncol 31(1):43–48
- Weber EO (1859) Chirugische Erfahrungon und Untersuchungen. p 304
- Westerhof W (2006) The discovery of the human melanocyte. Pigment Cell Res 19(3):183–193
- Wu AJ, Gomez J, Zhung JE, Chan K, Gomez DR, Wolden SL, Zelefsky MJ, Wolchok JD, Carvajal RD, Chapman PB, Wong RJ, Shaha AR, Kraus DH, Shah JP, Lee NY (2010) Radiotherapy after surgical resection for head and neck mucosal melanoma. Am J Clin Oncol 33(3):281–285
- Zak FG, Lawson W (1974) The presence of melanocytes in the nasal cavity. Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol 83(4):515–519



## **Ocular Melanoma**

# 21

### Armin R. Afshar, Bertil E. Damato, and Boris C. Bastian

#### Contents

Introduction	454
Epidemiology	454
Molecular Pathology	455
Uveal Melanoma	455
Conjunctival Melanoma	456
Gene Expression Profile	456
Cytogenetic Abnormalities	457
Histopathology	457
Uveal Melanoma	457
Conjunctival Melanoma	458
Clinical Features of the Primary Tumor	458
Uveal Melanoma	458
Conjunctival Melanoma	459
Ocular Investigations	460
Uveal Melanoma	460
Conjunctival Melanoma	461
Ocular Treatment	461
Uveal Melanoma	461

A. R. Afshar

Vitreoretinal Surgery and Ocular Oncology, Department of Ophthalmology, University of California, San Francisco, San Francisco, CA, USA

B. E. Damato (⊠)

Ocular Oncology Service, Departments of Ophthalmology and Radiation Oncology, University of California, San Francisco, San Francisco, CA, USA e-mail: Bertil.Damato@ucsf.edu

B. C. Bastian

Departments of Dermatology and Pathology, Helen Diller Family Comprehensive Cancer Center, University of California, San Francisco, San Francisco, CA, USA

© Springer Science+Business Media, LLC, part of Springer Nature 2019 D. E. Fisher, B. C. Bastian (eds.), *Melanoma*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-7147-9_2

Conjunctival Melanoma	462
Prognostication Uveal Melanoma Conjunctival Melanoma	462 462 463
Metastatic Disease Uveal Melanoma Conjunctival Melanoma	463 463 463
Systemic Investigations Uveal Melanoma Conjunctival Melanoma	463 463 464
Treatment of Metastatic Disease Uveal Melanoma Conjunctival Melanoma	
Conclusions	465
References	465

#### Abstract

Approximately 5% of all melanomas arise in the eye. Of these ocular melanomas, about 97% are of uveal origin and 3% are conjunctival. Uveal and conjunctival melanomas are biologically and clinically distinct diseases. Uveal melanomas are mostly initiated by GNAQ and GNA11 mutations and progress via SF3B1, EIF1AX, and BAP1 mutations, the latter greatly enhancing metastatic potential. Conjunctival melanomas are biologically similar to cutaneous melanomas, with common mutations of BRAF or NRAS as initiating mutations. The first choice of treatment for primary uveal melanomas is radiotherapy in most centers, whereas conjunctival melanomas are treated by excision with adjunctive radiotherapy and/or topical chemotherapy. With uveal melanomas, the prognosis for survival is mostly based on genetic studies, whereas with conjunctival melanomas tumor size and location are more predictive. There currently is no effective treatment for metastatic uveal melanoma. whereas conjunctival melanomas, like cutaneous melanomas, can be treated with targeted therapy and/or immunotherapy.

#### Keywords

Ocular melanoma · Uveal melanoma · Conjunctival melanoma · Targeted therapy · Immunotherapy · Genetics · Histology · Diagnosis · Treatment

#### Introduction

Approximately 5% of all melanomas are ocular, with about 97% of these occurring in the uvea, within the eye, and the remainder arising in conjunctiva. The two kinds of tumor are genetically distinct and behave very differently from each other, with uveal melanomas showing similarities to blue nevus-like melanoma and primary leptomeningeal melanomas and conjunctival melanomas being similar to cutaneous melanoma (Shain and Bastian 2016).

The aims of this chapter are to describe the molecular and clinical pathology of ocular melanomas and to discuss the management of patients with these tumors.

#### Epidemiology

The incidence of uveal melanomas in the USA is approximately 6 per million per year and is stable, unlike conjunctival melanomas, whose incidence is increasing (Larsen 2016). Both kinds of melanoma are most common in individuals with a fair complexion and both affect men and women in equal numbers (Damato and Coupland 2012; Larsen 2016). Presentation peaks at around 60 years and is rare before adulthood. Risk factors for uveal melanoma also include congenital ocular



**Fig. 1** (a) Right and (b) left fundus of a 36-year-old man with congenital ocular melanosis of the left eye. (c) Right and (d) left irides of a 69-year-old woman with congenital ocular melanocytosis of the right eye

melanocytosis (Fig. 1), uveal melanocytoma (Fig. 2a, b) and other nevi (Fig. 2c, d), and germline mutations in the BAP1 (BRCA1associated protein 1) tumor suppressor gene (Wang et al. 2016). A meta-analysis did not find chronic ultraviolet exposure to be a significant risk factor for uveal melanoma (Shah et al. 2005). The growing incidence of conjunctival melanomas has been attributed to tumors in sun-exposed conjunctiva (i.e., bulbar conjunctiva, plica, and caruncle).

#### Molecular Pathology

#### **Uveal Melanoma**

GNAQ and GNA11 mutations are believed to be the first genetic alterations in the pathogenesis of uveal melanoma and are present in approximately 85% of tumors (Van Raamsdonk et al. 2009). These mutations activate the MAPK (mitogen-activated protein kinase) signaling pathway as well as the Hippo, PKC (protein kinase C), and AKT (v-akt murine thymoma viral oncogene) pathways. Less common mutations in this pathway include the G-protein coupled leukotriene receptor, CYSLTR2, immediately upstream of GNAQ/ 11 and in the downstream effector, PLCB4 (phospholipase C beta 4) (Moore et al. 2016). Mutations in these four genes occur in a mutually exclusive pattern. Without additional alterations in other genes they induce benign neoplastic melanocytic proliferations, which include uveal nevi. These nevi are biologically similar to cutaneous blue nevi of the skin and melanocytomas of the central nervous system (Shain and Bastian 2016).

BAP1 is associated associated with a high risk of metastasis from uveal melanoma (van Essen et al. 2014). BAP1 is a nuclear deubiquitinase (DUB), which acts on lysine 119 of histone 2A as part of a complex (PR-DUB) (Wang et al. 2016). Disruption of the PR-DUB complex by loss of BAP1 is thought to result in altered histone modifications and a deregulated gene expression pattern. BAP1 is located at 3p21.1, and biallelic BAP1 inactivation is the major selective force behind chromosome 3 loss in uveal melanoma. Some patients with uveal melanoma have a germline BAP1 mutation and are predisposed to a variety of tumors, such as mesothelioma, cutaneous melanoma, atypical Spitz tumors, thyroid cancer, and renal cell carcinoma (Wang et al. 2016).

SF3B1 (splicing factor 3B subunit 1) is associated with a relatively good prognosis in patients with uveal melanoma (Harbour et al. 2013). It influences the splicing of precursor mRNA and hence the production of mature RNA; SF3B1 mutations cause aberrant splicing to result in abnormal cell proliferation and differentiation. Recurrent SF3B1 mutations occur in approximately 20% of uveal melanomas and in myelodysplastic syndrome, chronic lymphocytic leukemia, breast cancer, and pancreatic cancer.

EIF1AX (eukaryotic translation initiation factor 1A, X-linked) is located on the X-chromosome. EIF1AX is of critical importance in the initiation of transcription, stimulating the binding of Met-tRNAi to the small (40S) ribosomal subunit and the formation of the preinitiation complex. The precise effects of EIF1AX mutations on cellular processes are currently not understood. In any case, these aberrations are associated with a good prognosis in patients with uveal melanoma (Decatur et al. 2016).

PRAME (preferentially expressed antigen in melanoma) enhances cancer cell growth by suppressing retinoic acid receptor (RAR) signaling (Epping et al. 2005). RAR normally induces proliferation arrest, differentiation, and apoptosis. PRAME was originally discovered as a melanoma antigen and was later found to be expressed in several other cancers but not nevi or normal tissues, except testis. PRAME expression in uveal melanomas is associated with poor survival probability (Field et al. 2016).

NRAS (neuroblastoma rat sarcoma viral oncogene homolog), CDKN2A (cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor 2A), and BRAF (rapidly associated fibrosarcoma, homolog B) mutations are absent in ciliary body and choroidal melanomas. Genetic studies on iris melanomas are limited because of the rarity of these tumors but appear to show similar findings to posterior uveal melanomas (Krishna et al. 2016). Interestingly, one study has reported BRAF mutations in some iris melanomas (Henriquez et al. 2007).

#### **Conjunctival Melanoma**

BRAF mutations are present in approximately 30–50% of conjunctival melanomas and in 50% of conjunctival nevi. They activate the MAPK pathway. BRAF V600E and V600K have a ratio of about 4 to 1. These mutations are more common in sun-exposed conjunctiva (i.e., bulbar conjunctiva) and are in keeping with evidence of UV-induced DNA damage in these tumors (Larsen et al. 2016). They are also more common in conjunctival melanomas arising from nevi than from conjunctival melanocytic intra-epithelial neoplasia (CMIN) (Larsen et al. 2016). BRAF mutations in conjunctival melanomas are more prevalent in younger individuals, particularly males (Larsen et al. 2016). They have no prognostic value but indicate likely responsiveness to drugs such as vemurafenib and dabrafenib.

Activating KIT mutations, encoding receptor tyrosine kinase, are rare in conjunctival melanomas arising in Caucasians but more common in ethnic Chinese patients (Sheng et al. 2015). NRAS is reported in 20% of cases (Griewank et al. 2013).

#### Gene Expression Profile

Uveal melanomas have been categorized as class 1a, class1b, and class2 according to their gene expression profile; these classes respectively indicating minimal, intermediate, and high risk for



**Fig. 2** (a) Melanocytoma of the left optic disk in a 48-year-old man. (b) Melanoctyoma of the right iris with histologically proven transformation to melanoma in a

metastasis (Onken et al. 2004). It has recently been reported that metastatic disease in class1 tumors is associated with PRAME expression (Field et al. 2016).

To the authors' knowledge, no clinically relevant gene expression profiles have been established in conjunctival melanomas.

#### **Cytogenetic Abnormalities**

Uveal melanomas develop several recurring cytogenetic abnormalities, which include partial or total chromosome 3 loss ("monosomy 3"), isodisomy 3, isochromosome 8q, isochromosome 6p, chromosome 1p loss, and chromosome 9p loss (Coupland et al. 2013). Metastatic disease occurs almost exclusively in patients with

30-year-old man. (c) Choroidal nevus, with a flat, featureless surface, in a 68-year-old woman. (d) Iris nevus in a 46-year-old woman

chromosome 3 loss, which is associated with high mortality. The survival probability is worse when monosomy 3 and chromosome 8q gain coexist (Damato et al. 2010). Conversely, chromosome 6p gain is associated with a relatively good prognosis (Damato et al. 2010).

Conjunctival melanomas show the same cytogenetic abnormalities as cutaneous melanomas (Griewank et al. 2013).

#### Histopathology

#### **Uveal Melanoma**

Histologically, uveal melanomas are categorized as "spindle-cell," "epithelioid," or "mixed." Epithelioid cytomorphology is associated with more aggressive disease and higher mortality; however, the distinction between spindle and epithelioid melanoma cells can be inconsistent and there is no consensus as to the number of epithelioid cells required for classification as "mixed" or "epithelioid." Mitotic counts correlate with mortality but there is inter-observer variability, particularly when special stains are not deployed. Uveal melanomas show a variety of "extravascular matrix patterns," with "closed loops" being associated with the highest mortality (Kivelä et al. 2004). Other factors known to be associated with higher mortality include IGF-1 (insulin-like growth factor 1) receptor upregulation, microvascular density, and increased accumulations of tumorinfiltrating lymphocytes (de la Cruz et al. 1990; Makitie et al. 1999, 2001; All-Ericsson et al. 2002; Al-Jamal and Kivelä 2011). Immunohistochemical staining for BAP1 protein is being performed more widely and may be superior to mutation analysis in identifying some lethal tumors (Kalirai et al. 2014).

#### **Conjunctival Melanoma**

Most conjunctival melanomas develop from CMIN, the remainder arising from nevi or de novo. CMIN can occur with or without atypia (Damato and Coupland 2008a, b). In the absence of atypia, the melanocytes have normal nuclei and are all located in the basal layer of the epithelium. Atypia is said to be present when the melanocytes develop cytomorphological features of malignancy (i.e., large nuclei, prominent nucleoli, abundant cytoplasm, and mitotic figures) and when they invade the more superficial epithelial layers, initially as isolated cells, then forming clumps, and eventually replacing the entire epithelium. To avoid ambiguous terms such as "mild," "moderate," or "severe," a scoring system has been developed, which grades the degree of malignancy according to the pattern of melanocytic proliferation, extent of vertical spread, and degree of cellular atypia (Damato and Coupland 2008a, b). A score of 0 indicates no cellular atypia, whereas a score of 5 or more

suggests melanoma *in situ*, which corresponds to confluent proliferation of atypical melanocytes involving more than 50% of the thickness of the epithelium.

Invasive conjunctival melanomas are described histologically according to tumor thickness, surface ulceration, cytomorphology, mitotic count, microsatellites, as well as vascular and lymphatic invasion (Damato and Coupland 2008a, b; Larsen 2016). Recognition of melanoma cells is assisted by immunohistochemistry using melanocyte markers such as S100, human melanoma black 45 (HMB-45), SRY-box containing gene 10 (SOX-10), and Melan-A. BRAF V600E oncoprotein can be detected by immunohistochemistry in recent samples but molecular analysis is preferred because this also detects other BRAF mutations such as V600K (Larsen et al. 2016).

#### **Clinical Features of the Primary Tumor**

#### **Uveal Melanoma**

Approximately 90% of all uveal melanomas involve the choroid, the remainder being confined to ciliary body and/or iris (Damato and Coupland 2012). Choroidal melanomas are grey or brown, even if amelanotic, because of proliferation of the overlying retinal pigment epithelium (RPE). RPE disruption causes serous retinal detachment and accumulation of lipofuscin ("orange pigment") (Fig. 3a). These features help distinguish large, benign nevi from small, malignant melanomas. Choroidal melanomas tend to be dome-shaped, multinodular, or diffuse (Fig. 3b). If they rupture Bruch's membrane (i.e., the rigid basement membrane of the RPE), they grow into the retina, developing a pathognomonic mushroom shape. Ciliary body melanomas can press on the lens, to cause cataract, and they can invade the anterior chamber (Fig. 3c). Iris melanomas are mostly nodular, the few diffuse tumors showing higher mortality (Fig. 3d). At any stage, uveal melanomas can spread extraocularly into the orbit or subconjunctival tissues, through


**Fig. 3** (a) Dome-shaped choroidal melanoma, with clumps of orange (lipofuscin) pigment in a 60-year-old man. (b) Diffuse choroidal melanoma surrounding the left optic disc in a 52-year-old woman. (c) Large, supero-

nasal ciliary body melanoma in the right eye of a 72-yearold woman. (d) Large iris melanoma in the right eye of a 30-year-old man

channels for arteries, veins, and nerves (Coupland et al. 2008). Although many choroidal melanomas encircle the optic disc, it is extremely rare for them to invade the optic nerve itself. If left untreated, uveal melanomas can result in a blind, inflamed, and painful eye, with proptosis if there is extensive extraocular spread.

Most patients present with symptoms such as blurred or distorted vision, visual field loss and photopsia, or the perception of light flashes (Damato 2001). About 40% are asymptomatic and detected on routine examination. Approximately 23% of all symptomatic patients report that their tumor was initially missed and these patients are more likely to lose useful vision and the eye. Further studies are needed to determine whether they are also more likely to die of metastatic disease.

#### **Conjunctival Melanoma**

Clinically, conjunctival melanosis appears as one or more brown areas of conjunctiva not present at birth and not secondary to systemic disease. Such "primary acquired melanosis (PAM)" has irregular margins and variable degrees of pigmentation (Fig. 4a). It is not possible to determine whether or not atypia is present unless biopsy is performed. CMIN must be distinguished from the scleral



**Fig. 4** (a) Congenital ocular melanocytosis of the left eye of a 39-year-old woman, with scleral pigmentation super-otemporally and iris hyper-pigmentation superiorly. (b) Primary acquired melanosis of the left eye, which was histologically shown to consist of conjunctival melanocytic intraepithelial neoplasia with severe atypia

pigmentation of congenital ocular melanocytosis (Fig. 4b) and from nevi, which are usually nodular with visible intralesional cysts (Fig. 4c).

Invasive conjunctival melanomas can be: nodular or diffuse; deeply pigmented, lightly pigmented, or amelanotic; unifocal or multifocal; and with or without adjacent melanosis (Fig. 4d). Feeder vessels are usually present. Most tumors are located in the bulbar conjunctiva, usually involving the limbus (Damato and Coupland 2008a, b). Less commonly, tumors develop in the palpebral or forniceal conjunctiva, plica semilunaris, or caruncle. Regional lymph nodes may be affected at presentation. Advanced tumors can invade the eyelids, orbit, nasolacrimal duct, nasal sinuses, and even the intracranial cavity.

in a 57-year-old man. (c) Conjunctival nevus of the right eye of a 49-year-old man, with intralesional cysts. (d) Large melanoma arising in the superior bulbar conjunctiva of the left eye of a 76-year-old woman. The patient was successfully treated by local excision and adjunctive radiotherapy

Intraocular invasion is rare, unless the protective Bowman's layer in the cornea has been disrupted by previous surgery.

#### **Ocular Investigations**

#### **Uveal Melanoma**

Most uveal melanomas are diagnosed by slit-lamp examination or ophthalmoscopy. With choroidal melanomas, auto-fluorescence imaging reveals lipofuscin pigment and optical coherence tomography demonstrates subretinal fluid, both of which suggest malignancy. Ultrasonography is useful for measuring tumor dimensions and demonstrating any extraocular extension, occasionally helping to distinguish melanomas from other kinds of tumor by virtue of their internal acoustic reflectivity. When these investigations are inconclusive, it is conventional to delay treatment for months or years until growth has been documented by sequential imaging; however, the risk of metastatic spread occurring during such procrastination is unknown. In some centers, therefore, transretinal biopsy is offered to the patient, relying on cytology and genetic findings to differentiate between melanomas and nevi (Sen et al. 2006).

#### **Conjunctival Melanoma**

CMIN and invasive melanoma are documented by drawings and color photography (Damato and Coupland 2008a, b).

Incisional biopsy of CMIN is required to determine the degree of malignancy; however, incisional biopsy of nodular melanomas has been associated with increased mortality and is therefore contraindicated (Larsen 2016). Unfortunately, many patients reach an ocular oncology center (often with local seeding) only after their local ophthalmologist has performed inexpert excision (i.e., without following a no-touch technique and without using fresh instruments for wound closure) or after incisional biopsy.

Some centers perform sentinel node biopsy to aid decisions regarding systemic surveillance, neck dissection, and participation in systemic adjuvant therapy trials (Aziz et al. 2015). The value of this procedure in patients with conjunctival melanoma has yet to be demonstrated.

#### Ocular Treatment

#### **Uveal Melanoma**

In most centers, the first choice of treatment is radiotherapy, consisting of plaque brachytherapy, proton beam radiotherapy, or some form of stereotactic radiotherapy (Stannard et al. 2013). If the tumor is not treatable with such methods, then enucleation is performed (Damato and Lecuona 2004). In some centers, there is expertise for transretinal endoresection or transscleral exoresection, which may be preferred for juxtapapillary and large tumors, respectively (Damato et al. 2013). Phototherapy, consisting of transpupillary thermotherapy or photodynamic therapy, is mostly administered as an adjunct to radiotherapy, to reduce exudation from the irradiated tumor. Other treatment for such morbidity includes intraocular injection of antiangiogenic agents and surgical resection of the irradiated "toxic tumor." Where choice exists, treatment selection is personalized according to the tumor features as well as the needs, wishes, and fears of the patient (Damato and Heimann 2013).

Ocular conservation is attempted in approximately 70% of patients and is successful in about 90% of cases. The chances of conserving useful vision depend on tumor size and location, with the best results occurring with small tumors not extending close to optic nerve and fovea.

The impact of ocular treatment on survival has been debated for centuries. In the 1970s, Zimmerman, an eminent US pathologist, hypothesized that enucleation accelerated metastatic death (Zimmerman et al. 1978). At the same time, Manschot, an equally respected Dutch pathologist, condemned radiotherapy of uveal melanomas as unsafe (Manschot et al. 1995). To resolve this dispute, the Collaborative Ocular Melanoma Study (COMS) conducted two randomized clinical trials to determine whether pre-enucleation radiotherapy prevented metastasis and whether plaque radiotherapy was as effective as enucleation in prolonging life (Hawkins and Collaborative Ocular Melanoma Study 2004; Collaborative Ocular Melanoma Study 2006). Lack of any significant statistical differences between the treatment arms profoundly influenced clinical care, promoting radiotherapy for medium-sized tumors and discrediting pre-enucleation radiotherapy. However, both studies were statistically inconclusive because so many patients should have been excluded, because they died soon after treatment, indicating that metastases must already have been present at the time of diagnosis (Damato 2007). When cytogenetic data became available, some authors suggested that disomy-3 and monosomy-3 melanomas were distinct from their inception (Parrella et al. 1999; Tschentscher et al. 2003; Hoglund et al. 2004). This implied that ocular treatment was only palliative. Callejo et al. (2011) reported a patient whose tumor appeared to transform from disomy 3 to monosomy 3 while under observation (Callejo et al. 2011). Local tumor recurrence is associated with increased mortality (Ophthalmic Oncology Task 2016). Whether local treatment failure causes metastatic disease or whether it merely indicates higher grade of malignancy is debatable. Procedures such as endoresection without neoadjuvant radiotherapy are still controversial because of concerns that the piecemeal tumor removal might cause metastasis (Damato 2008). Many of these controversies persist because there is debate as to whether metastatic spread occurs early or late, that is, before or after a tumor grows large. Data from cytogenetic studies suggest that chromosomal abnormalities accumulate in random order, suggesting that monosomy 3 develops early in some patients, late in others, and not at all in a fortunate minority (Damato et al. 2010). According to this hypothesis, treatment prevents metastatic spread only if administered early in the few patients whose tumor would otherwise develop monosomy 3 and start metastasizing at a relatively late stage.

#### **Conjunctival Melanoma**

CMIN with atypia is treated by excision if resectable. Cryotherapy for extensive CMIN has been replaced by topical mitomycin C chemotherapy.

Invasive conjunctival melanomas are excised. Surgical resection alone or with cryotherapy is followed by high recurrence rates in the region of 30–60% (Shields et al. 2000). Such local treatment failure is associated with increased mortality (Larsen 2016). Adjunctive radiotherapy and topical mitomycin C therapy are highly effective for deep tumor remnants and pagetoid spread, respectively (Damato and Coupland 2009a). Good vision is usually retained, unless limbal stem cell deficiency results in corneal opacification. Exenteration for uncontrollable disease has become rare.

#### Prognostication

#### Uveal Melanoma

As with other cancers, prognostication identifies high-risk patients with special needs (e.g., counseling, more intensive surveillance, and enrolment in any clinical trials evaluating systemic adjuvant therapy), while reassuring patients with favorable survival prospects (Damato et al. 2011).

Conventionally, prognostication for patients with choroidal and/or ciliary body melanoma is based on the anatomic extent of the tumor, using the TNM (Tumor, Node, Metastasis) staging system of the AJCC (American Joint Committee on Cancer) (Kujala et al. 2013). This method lacks accuracy, however, because tumors within a particular TNM category vary greatly in their histologic degree of malignancy and their lethality as determined by genetic studies (Damato and Coupland 2009b)

Since 1999, one of the authors (BD) has offered patients genetic tumor typing to inform them whether their tumor has metastatic potential. Initially, Damato and associates in Liverpool, UK, used FISH (fluorescence in situ hybridization) but this was replaced by MLPA (multiplex ligationdependent probe amplification), which provides more data using smaller samples, and by MSA (microsatellite analysis) when tumor samples were insufficient for MLPA (Damato et al. 2007). Elsewhere, genetic typing is performed with gene expression profiling, array comparative genomic hybridization (CGH), and other methods. Such genetic tumor typing enables surveillance for metastatic disease to be individualized according to risk, sparing patients from unnecessary investigations.

In patients undergoing radiotherapy, biopsy for prognostic tumor analysis is performed transretinally or transsclerally, depending on tumor location, either with a fine-needle aspiration or a vitreous cutter. The most common complications are insufficient sampling and vitreous hemorrhage, with rare problems including endophthalmitis, retinal detachment, and tumor seeding (Raja et al. 2011; Grixti et al. 2014; Sellam et al. 2016). One of the authors (BD) has performed genetic analysis of tumor samples obtained soon after proton beam radiotherapy, with apparent success (Hussain et al. 2016). Further studies are needed to validate these results with other forms of radiotherapy and other genetic tests.

Damato and associates in Liverpool, UK, have developed an online tool that enhances prognostic accuracy by multivariate analysis that includes TNM stage, histologic grade of malignancy, and genetic tumor type, also taking account of normal life expectancy as estimated by the patient's age and sex (www.ocularmelanomaonline.org) (Eleuteri et al. 2012). This has recently been validated at UCSF (Sarah DeParis et al. 2016).

With iris melanomas, risk factors for metastasis include diffuse spread, irido-corneal angle involvement, and secondary glaucoma. Further studies are needed to determine the prognostic value of genetic analysis of iris melanomas (Krishna et al. 2016).

#### Conjunctival Melanoma

Clinical predictors of metastasis include large tumor size and nonbulbar conjunctival involvement, particularly caruncular tumor location, which form the basis of the TNM staging system (Tuomaala et al. 2002; Damato and Coupland 2008a, b). Mortality is also higher in patients who develop local tumor recurrence (Larsen 2016). Histologic predictors of metastasis include epithelioid cytomorphology, high mitotic count, and lymphatic invasion (Larsen 2016). As mentioned, the role of sentinel lymphnode biopsy has yet to be determined, since improved survival with this approach has not been conclusively demonstrated (Aziz et al. 2015). BRAF mutation has been associated with higher mortality, but only in univariate analysis (Larsen et al. 2016). Identification of BRAF status is useful in predicting response to treatment with BRAF inhibitors, such as vemurafenib.

#### Metastatic Disease

#### **Uveal Melanoma**

Nearly 50% of patients with uveal melanoma develop metastatic disease, which usually develops from the second postoperative year onwards. Less than 1% of all patients have detectable metastases when their ocular tumor is diagnosed and treated. In over 90% of patients, metastatic disease involves the liver, less common sites being the lung, skin, and bone (Collaborative Ocular Melanoma Study 2001). An algorithm has been developed to predict the length of survival in such patients (Kivelä et al. 2016).

#### **Conjunctival Melanoma**

Like their cutaneous counterparts, conjunctival melanomas frequently metastasize to the regional lymph nodes which is associated with a poor prognosis. Up to 30% of patients develop systemic metastases alone without any clinical evidence of regional metastases (Missotten et al. 2005).

#### Systemic Investigations

#### **Uveal Melanoma**

As metastatic disease almost always presents with liver involvement, most centers image only the liver without performing chest radiography or any other systemic imaging, if there are no suspicious symptoms. Liver function tests have low sensitivity, becoming abnormal only when hepatic metastases are advanced. Liver ultrasonography is operator dependent and may fail if the patient is obese. CT and PET/CT expose patients to ionizing radiation, which is cumulative. MRI performed every 6 months has been shown to detect metastatic disease in 92% of patients before the onset of symptoms, with almost half these patients having fewer than five lesions measuring less than 2 cm in diameter (Marshall et al. 2013).

It is conventional practice to screen for systemic metastases before starting ocular treatment; however, unless the presence of metastases is likely to alter patient management, one of the authors (BD) prefers to perform such investigation preoperatively only if a tumor diameter exceeding 17 mm indicates an increased risk of metastasis. If metastatic disease is found, the main objective of ocular treatment is to remove any risk of the eye becoming acutely painful when the patient has developed terminal illness.

Evidence-based guidelines for systemic surveillance have been prepared in the UK (Nathan et al. 2015). Nevertheless, there is no consensus as to which patients should be investigated, how often, and for how long. Some oncologists recommend the same surveillance program to all patients and others restrict this to patients considered to be at high risk of metastasis because of large tumor size and/or lethal genetic aberrations in the tumor.

There is little if any evidence that systemic surveillance ever results in prolongation of life (Kim et al. 2010; Augsburger et al. 2011). However, early detection enhances prospects for participation in any ongoing clinical trials. A normal liver scan reassures patients that they are unlikely to develop symptomatic metastases within the next few months, even if genetic typing indicates that their prognosis is poor.

#### **Conjunctival Melanoma**

Surveillance after treatment of conjunctival melanoma follows the same principles as cutaneous melanoma.

#### **Treatment of Metastatic Disease**

#### Uveal Melanoma

A wide variety of treatments have been evaluated for metastatic uveal melanoma (Blum et al. 2016; Chattopadhyay et al. 2016; Goh and Layton 2016). Briefly, these include: (1) hepatic therapy (e.g., metastatectomy, radiofrequency ablation, intraarterial chemotherapy, isolated hepatic perfusion, yttrium-90 radioembolization); (2) systemic chemotherapy (e.g., fotemustine, temozolamide); (3) targeted therapies (e.g., tyrosine kinase inhibitors, sunitinib and sorafenib, as well as MEK (mitogen-activated protein kinase) inhibitors, selumetinib and trametinib); and (4) immunotherapy with CTLA-4 (cytotoxic T-lymphocyte associated protein-4) and PD-1 (programmed death ligand-1) inhibitors, such as ipilimumab, nivolumab, and pembrolizumab.

To the authors' knowledge, no studies have demonstrated prolonged survival except perhaps after resection of isolated hepatic metastases (Gomez et al. 2014). It is uncertain whether such apparently good outcomes after hepatic metastatectomy are the result of treatment, patient selection, or less aggressive malignancy.

Following impressive results with cutaneous melanoma, there were hopes that immune checkpoint blockade would be equally effective with uveal melanomas, but results have been disappointing (Blum et al. 2016). Such reduced efficacy may be caused by the relatively low neoantigen expression on uveal melanoma cells, possibly related to the small number of mutations in these tumors. Another possible explanation is ocular immune privilege, which influences immunoresponsiveness, not only intraocularly but also systemically (Oliva et al. 2016).

Animal studies suggesting that IGF-1R may be a useful therapeutic target have led to a clinical trial evaluating an anti-IGF-1R monoclonal antibody, cixutumumab, the results of which are awaited (Goh and Layton 2016). Various antiangiogenic agents, such as bevacizumab and axitinib, are also being investigated

To the authors' knowledge, no completed trials have shown any benefit from systemic adjuvant therapy, with agents such as fotemustine, checkpoint inhibitors, and autologous dendritic cells. Some studies have failed because they selected patients with large tumors, not all of which would have had monosomy 3 or a class 2 gene expression profile (Voelter et al. 2008). Several studies are ongoing, assessing agents such as ipilimumab, sunitinib, crizotinib, and HDAC (histone deacetylase) inhibitors, such as vorinostat (Blum et al. 2016; Chattopadhyay et al. 2016; Goh and Layton 2016).

#### Conjunctival Melanoma

Treatment for metastatic disease is similar to cutaneous melanoma and may include BRAF inhibitors if mutations of this gene are present. Considering the similarity to cutaneous melanoma, immune checkpoint blockade therapy is also expected to be effective.

#### Conclusions

Uveal and conjunctival melanomas are two distinct forms of ocular melanoma. With uveal melanomas, genetics have transformed prognostication but not treatment; with conjunctival melanomas, genetics have enhanced treatment but not prognostication.

Genetic insights into uveal melanomas have not resolved the debate regarding the impact of ocular treatment on survival, so that controversy surrounds many aspects of patient care, such as delayed treatment of small melanomas, primary endoresection of choroidal melanomas without neoadjuvant radiotherapy, and surveillance for systemic metastases.

There is scope for large, multicenter, long-term studies that would continue for several decades, until the cause of death of all patients is known. These objectives would require the development of methods of data collection that are not only scientifically robust but also affordable, given the rarity of ocular melanomas.

Since efforts to conserve the eye and vision are aimed at enhancing patients' quality of life, there is also scope for psychological studies that would enhance the individualization of care according to each patient's needs, wishes, and fears.

A major cause of suboptimal care is that most patients with ocular melanoma are managed by ophthalmologists who have little or no training in oncology, working in ophthalmic departments that lack resources for psychological support and other aspects of holistic care that are normally provided in oncology units.

A survey conducted by the Ocular Melanoma Foundation reveals that many patients are dissatisfied because the consent they had provided for their care was not as informed as they had believed, particularly with respect to genetic tumor analysis and the therapeutic options available for their particular condition.

The management of patients with ocular melanoma would inevitably improve if providers were able to agree on minimum standards of care or if they were obligated to comply with a patientdefined "bill of rights."

Although this chapter has focused on research, ocular outcomes and probably survival would improve greatly through better education. For example, general ophthalmologists need to be aware of the dangers of incisional biopsy and inexpert excision of conjunctival melanomas. As with other cancers, the success of treatment is greatly enhanced by early diagnosis and treatment so that ophthalmologists and optometrists need to have the skills and equipment to differentiate small melanomas from large nevi and other conditions. Importantly, general oncologists need to understand the difference between uveal and cutaneous melanomas.

#### References

- Al-Jamal RT, Kivela T (2011) Prognostic associations of insulin-like growth factor-1 receptor in primary uveal melanoma. Can J Ophthalmol 46(6):471–476
- All-Ericsson C, Girnita L, Seregard S, Bartolazzi A, Jager MJ, Larsson O (2002) Insulin-like growth factor-1 receptor in uveal melanoma: a predictor for metastatic disease and a potential therapeutic target. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 43(1):1–8
- Augsburger JJ, Correa ZM, Trichopoulos N (2011) Surveillance testing for metastasis from primary uveal melanoma and effect on patient survival. Am J Ophthalmol 152(1):5–9 e1
- Aziz HA, Gastman BR, Singh AD (2015) Management of conjunctival melanoma: critical assessment of sentinel lymph node biopsy. Ocul Oncol Pathol 1(4):266–273
- Blum ES, Yang J, Komatsubara KM, Carvajal RD (2016) Clinical management of uveal and conjunctival melanoma. Oncology (Williston Park) 30(1):29–32, 34–43, 48.
- Callejo SA, Dopierala J, Coupland SE, Damato B (2011) Sudden growth of a choroidal melanoma and multiplex ligation-dependent probe amplification findings suggesting late transformation to monosomy 3 type. Arch Ophthalmol 129(7):958–960
- Chattopadhyay C, Kim DW, Gombos DS, Oba J, Qin Y, Williams MD, Esmaeli B, Grimm EA, Wargo JA, Woodman SE, Patel SP (2016) Uveal melanoma: from diagnosis to treatment and the science in between. Cancer 122(15):2299–2312
- Collaborative Ocular Melanoma Study, G (2001) Assessment of metastatic disease status at death in 435 patients with large choroidal melanoma in the Collaborative Ocular Melanoma Study (COMS): COMS report no. 15. Arch Ophthalmol 119(5):670–676

- Collaborative Ocular Melanoma Study, G (2006) The COMS randomized trial of iodine 125 brachytherapy for choroidal melanoma: V. Twelve-year mortality rates and prognostic factors: COMS report No. 28. Arch Ophthalmol 124(12):1684–1693
- Coupland SE, Campbell I, Damato B (2008) Routes of extraocular extension of uveal melanoma: risk factors and influence on survival probability. Ophthalmology 115(10):1778–1785
- Coupland SE, Lake SL, Zeschnigk M, Damato BE (2013) Molecular pathology of uveal melanoma. Eye (Lond) 27(2):230–242
- de la Cruz PO Jr, Specht CS, McLean IW (1990) Lymphocytic infiltration in uveal malignant melanoma. Cancer 65(1):112–115
- Damato B (2001) Detection of uveal melanoma by optometrists in the United Kingdom. Ophthalmic Physiol Opt 21(4):268–271
- Damato B (2007) Legacy of the collaborative ocular melanoma study. Arch Ophthalmol 125(7): 966–968
- Damato B (2008) Choroidal melanoma endoresection, dandelions and allegory-based medicine. Br J Ophthalmol 92(8):1013–1014
- Damato B, Coupland SE (2008a) Clinical mapping of conjunctival melanomas. Br J Ophthalmol 92(11): 1545–1549
- Damato B, Coupland SE (2008b) Conjunctival melanoma and melanosis: a reappraisal of terminology, classification and staging. Clin Experiment Ophthalmol 36(8): 786–795
- Damato B, Coupland SE (2009a) An audit of conjunctival melanoma treatment in Liverpool. Eye (Lond) 23(4): 801–809
- Damato B, Coupland SE (2009b) A reappraisal of the significance of largest basal diameter of posterior uveal melanoma. Eye (Lond) 23(12):2152–2160; quiz 2161–2152.
- Damato BE, Coupland SE (2012) Differences in uveal melanomas between men and women from the British Isles. Eye (Lond) 26(2):292–299
- Damato B, Heimann H (2013) Personalized treatment of uveal melanoma. Eye (Lond) 27(2):172–179
- Damato B, Lecuona K (2004) Conservation of eyes with choroidal melanoma by a multimodality approach to treatment: an audit of 1632 patients. Ophthalmology 111(5):977–983
- Damato B, Duke C, Coupland SE, Hiscott P, Smith PA, Campbell I, Douglas A, Howard P (2007) Cytogenetics of uveal melanoma: a 7-year clinical experience. Ophthalmology 114(10):1925–1931
- Damato B, Dopierala JA, Coupland SE (2010) Genotypic profiling of 452 choroidal melanomas with multiplex ligation-dependent probe amplification. Clin Cancer Res 16(24):6083–6092
- Damato B, Eleuteri A, Taktak AF, Coupland SE (2011) Estimating prognosis for survival after treatment of choroidal melanoma. Prog Retin Eye Res 30(5): 285–295

- Damato BE, Groenewald C, Foulds WS (2013) Surgical resection of choroidal melanoma. In: Ryan SJ (ed) Retina, vol 3. Elsevier, London, pp 2298–2306
- Decatur CL, Ong E, Garg N, Anbunathan H, Bowcock AM, Field MG, Harbour JW (2016) Driver mutations in uveal melanoma: associations with gene expression profile and patient outcomes. JAMA Ophthalmol 134(7):728–733
- De Paris SW, Taktak A, Eleuteri A, Enanoria W, Heimann H, Coupland SE, Damato B (2016) External validation of the liverpool uveal melanoma prognosticator online. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 57(14):6116–6122
- Eleuteri A, Damato B, Coupland SE, Taktak AFG (2012) Enhancing survival prognostication in patients with choroidal melanoma by integrating pathologic, clinical and genetic predictors of metastasis. IJBET 8:18–35
- Epping MT, Wang L, Edel MJ, Carlee L, Hernandez M, Bernards R (2005) The human tumor antigen PRAME is a dominant repressor of retinoic acid receptor signaling. Cell 122(6):835–847
- Field MG, Durante MA, Decatur CL, Tarlan B, Oelschlager KM, Stone JF, Kuznetsov J, Bowcock AM, Kurtenbach S, Harbour JW (2016) Epigenetic reprogramming and aberrant expression of PRAME are associated with increased metastatic risk in Class 1 and Class 2 uveal melanomas. Oncotarget 7(37): 59209–59219
- Goh AY, Layton CJ (2016) Evolving systemic targeted therapy strategies in uveal melanoma and implications for ophthalmic management: a review. Clin Experiment Ophthalmol 44(6):509–519
- Gomez D, Wetherill C, Cheong J, Jones L, Marshall E, Damato B, Coupland SE, Ghaneh P, Poston GJ, Malik HZ, Fenwick SW (2014) The Liverpool uveal melanoma liver metastases pathway: outcome following liver resection. J Surg Oncol 109(6):542–547
- Griewank KG, Westekemper H, Murali R, Mach M, Schilling B, Wiesner T, Schimming T, Livingstone E, Sucker A, Grabellus F, Metz C, Susskind D, Hillen U, Speicher MR, Woodman SE, Steuhl KP, Schadendorf D (2013) Conjunctival melanomas harbor BRAF and NRAS mutations and copy number changes similar to cutaneous and mucosal melanomas. Clin Cancer Res 19(12):3143–3152
- Grixti A, Angi M, Damato BE, Jmor F, Konstantinidis L, Groenewald C, Heimann H (2014) Vitreoretinal surgery for complications of choroidal tumor biopsy. Ophthalmology 121(12):2482–2488
- Harbour JW, Roberson ED, Anbunathan H, Onken MD, Worley LA, Bowcock AM (2013) Recurrent mutations at codon 625 of the splicing factor SF3B1 in uveal melanoma. Nat Genet 45(2):133–135
- Hussain RN, Kalirai H, Groenewald C, Kacperek A, Errington RD, Coupland SE, Heimann H, Damato B. (2016) Prognostic Biopsy of Choroidal Melanoma after Proton Beam Radiation Therapy. Ophthalmology 123 (10):2264–5
- Hawkins BS, G. Collaborative Ocular Melanoma Study (2004) The Collaborative Ocular Melanoma Study

(COMS) randomized trial of pre-enucleation radiation of large choroidal melanoma: IV. Ten-year mortality findings and prognostic factors. COMS report number 24. Am J Ophthalmol 138(6):936–951

- Henriquez F, Janssen C, Kemp EG, Roberts F (2007) The T1799A BRAF mutation is present in iris melanoma. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 48(11):4897–4900
- Hoglund M, Gisselsson D, Hansen GB, White VA, Sall T, Mitelman F, Horsman D (2004) Dissecting karyotypic patterns in malignant melanomas: temporal clustering of losses and gains in melanoma karyotypic evolution. Int J Cancer 108(1):57–65
- Kalirai H, Dodson A, Faqir S, Damato BE, Coupland SE (2014) Lack of BAP1 protein expression in uveal melanoma is associated with increased metastatic risk and has utility in routine prognostic testing. Br J Cancer 111(7):1373–1380
- Kim IK, Lane AM, Gragoudas ES (2010) Survival in patients with presymptomatic diagnosis of metastatic uveal melanoma. Arch Ophthalmol 128(7):871–875
- Kivela T, Makitie T, Al-Jamal RT, Toivonen P (2004) Microvascular loops and networks in uveal melanoma. Can J Ophthalmol 39(4):409–421
- Kivela TT, Piperno-Neumann S, Desjardins L, Schmittel A, Bechrakis N, Midena E, Leyvraz S, Zografos L, Grange JD, Ract-Madoux G, Marshall E, Damato B, Eskelin S (2016) Validation of a prognostic staging for metastatic uveal melanoma. A Collaborative Study of the European Ophthalmic Oncology Group. Am J Ophthalmol 168:217–226
- Krishna Y, Kalirai H, Thornton S, Damato BE, Heimann H, Coupland SE (2016) Genetic findings in treatmentnaive and proton-beam-radiated iris melanomas. Br J Ophthalmol 100(7):1012–1016
- Kujala E, Damato B, Coupland SE, Desjardins L, Bechrakis NE, Grange JD, Kivela T (2013) Staging of ciliary body and choroidal melanomas based on anatomic extent. J Clin Oncol 31(22):2825–2831
- Larsen AC (2016) Conjunctival malignant melanoma in Denmark: epidemiology, treatment and prognosis with special emphasis on tumorigenesis and genetic profile. Acta Ophthalmol 94 Thesis 1:1–27
- Larsen AC, Dahl C, Dahmcke CM, Lade-Keller J, Siersma VD, Toft PB, Coupland SE, Prause JU, Guldberg P, Heegaard S (2016) BRAF mutations in conjunctival melanoma: investigation of incidence, clinicopathological features, prognosis and paired premalignant lesions. Acta Ophthalmol 94(5):463–470
- Makitie T, Summanen P, Tarkkanen A, Kivela T (1999) Microvascular density in predicting survival of patients with choroidal and ciliary body melanoma. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 40(11):2471–2480
- Makitie T, Summanen P, Tarkkanen A, Kivela T (2001) Tumor-infiltrating macrophages (CD68(+) cells) and prognosis in malignant uveal melanoma. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 42(7):1414–1421
- Manschot WA, Lee WR, van Strik R (1995) Uveal melanoma: updated considerations on current management modalities. Int Ophthalmol 19(4):203–209

- Marshall E, Romaniuk C, Ghaneh P, Wong H, McKay M, Chopra M, Coupland SE, Damato BE (2013) MRI in the detection of hepatic metastases from high-risk uveal melanoma: a prospective study in 188 patients. Br J Ophthalmol 97(2):159–163
- Missotten GS, Keijser S, De Keizer RJ, De Wolff-Rouendaal D (2005) Conjunctival melanoma in the Netherlands: a nationwide study. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 46(1):75–82
- Moore AR, Ceraudo E, Sher JJ, Guan Y, Shoushtari AN, Chang MT, Zhang JQ, Walczak EG, Kazmi MA, Taylor BS, Huber T, Chi P, Sakmar TP, Chen Y (2016) Recurrent activating mutations of G-protein-coupled receptor CYSLTR2 in uveal melanoma. Nat Genet 48(6): 675–680
- Nathan P, Cohen V, Coupland S, Curtis K, Damato B, Evans J, Fenwick S, Kirkpatrick L, Li O, Marshall E, McGuirk K, Ottensmeier C, Pearce N, Salvi S, Stedman B, Szlosarek P, Turnbull N (2015) Uveal melanoma UK national guidelines. Eur J Cancer
- Oliva M, Rullan AJ, Piulats JM (2016) Uveal melanoma as a target for immune-therapy. Ann Transl Med 4(9):172
- Onken MD, Worley LA, Ehlers JP, Harbour JW (2004) Gene expression profiling in uveal melanoma reveals two molecular classes and predicts metastatic death. Cancer Res 64(20):7205–7209
- Ophthalmic Oncology Task, F (2016) Local recurrence significantly increases the risk of metastatic uveal melanoma. Ophthalmology 123(1):86–91
- Parrella P, Sidransky D, Merbs SL (1999) Allelotype of posterior uveal melanoma: implications for a bifurcated tumor progression pathway. Cancer Res 59(13): 3032–3037
- Raja V, Russo A, Coupland S, Groenewald C, Damato B (2011) Extraocular seeding of choroidal melanoma after a transretinal biopsy with a 25-gauge vitrector. Retin Cases Brief Rep 5(3):194–196
- Sellam A, Desjardins L, Barnhill R, Plancher C, Asselain B, Savignoni A, Pierron G, Cassoux N (2016) Fine needle aspiration biopsy in uveal melanoma: technique, complications, and outcomes. Am J Ophthalmol 162(28–34):e21
- Sen J, Groenewald C, Hiscott PS, Smith PA, Damato BE (2006) Transretinal choroidal tumor biopsy with a 25-gauge vitrector. Ophthalmology 113(6):1028–1031
- Shah CP, Weis E, Lajous M, Shields JA, Shields CL (2005) Intermittent and chronic ultraviolet light exposure and uveal melanoma: a meta-analysis. Ophthalmology 112(9):1599–1607
- Shain AH, Bastian BC (2016) From melanocytes to melanomas. Nat Rev Cancer 16(6):345–358
- Sheng X, Li S, Chi Z, Si L, Cui C, Mao L, Lian B, Tang B, Wang X, Yan X, Kong Y, Dai J, Guo J (2015) Prognostic factors for conjunctival melanoma: a study in ethnic Chinese patients. Br J Ophthalmol 99(7): 990–996
- Shields CL, Shields JA, Gunduz K, Cater J, Mercado GV, Gross N, Lally B (2000) Conjunctival melanoma: risk factors for recurrence, exenteration, metastasis, and

death in 150 consecutive patients. Arch Ophthalmol 118(11):1497–1507

- Stannard C, Sauerwein W, Maree G, Lecuona K (2013) Radiotherapy for ocular tumours. Eye (Lond) 27(2): 119–127
- Tschentscher F, Husing J, Holter T, Kruse E, Dresen IG, Jockel KH, Anastassiou G, Schilling H, Bornfeld N, Horsthemke B, Lohmann DR, Zeschnigk M (2003) Tumor classification based on gene expression profiling shows that uveal melanomas with and without monosomy 3 represent two distinct entities. Cancer Res 63(10):2578–2584
- Tuomaala S, Eskelin S, Tarkkanen A, Kivela T (2002) Population-based assessment of clinical characteristics predicting outcome of conjunctival melanoma in whites. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 43(11):3399–3408
- van Essen TH, van Pelt SI, Versluis M, Bronkhorst IH, van Duinen SG, Marinkovic M, Kroes WG, Ruivenkamp CA, Shukla S, de Klein A, Kilic E, Harbour JW, Luyten GP, van der Velden PA, Verdijk RM, Jager MJ (2014)

Prognostic parameters in uveal melanoma and their association with BAP1 expression. Br J Ophthalmol 98(12):1738–1743

- Van Raamsdonk CD, Bezrookove V, Green G, Bauer J, Gaugler L, O'Brien JM, Simpson EM, Barsh GS, Bastian BC (2009) Frequent somatic mutations of GNAQ in uveal melanoma and blue naevi. Nature 457(7229):599–602
- Voelter V, Schalenbourg A, Pampallona S, Peters S, Halkic N, Denys A, Goitein G, Zografos L, Leyvraz S (2008) Adjuvant intra-arterial hepatic fotemustine for high-risk uveal melanoma patients. Melanoma Res 18(3):220–224
- Wang A, Papneja A, Hyrcza M, Al-Habeeb A, Ghazarian D (2016) BAP1: gene of the month. J Clin Pathol 69(9): 750–3
- Zimmerman LE, McLean IW, Foster WD (1978) Does enucleation of the eye containing a malignant melanoma prevent or accelerate the dissemination of tumour cells. Br J Ophthalmol 62(6):420–425



22

### **Desmoplastic Melanoma**

Teresa A. Bailey, John F. Thompson, and Richard A. Scolyer

#### Contents

Introduction	470
Clinical Features	471
Histopathological Features	471
Fine Needle Biopsy Features	474
Immunohistochemistry	474
Genetic Features	475
Differential Diagnosis	475
Treatment	477
Surgery	477
Sentinel Lymph Node Biopsy	477
Radiotherapy	477
Systemic Therapy	478
Prognosis	478

T. A. Bailey · J. F. Thompson Melanoma Institute Australia, The University of Sydney, Sydney, NSW, Australia e-mail: Teresa.Bailey@melanoma.org.au; John. Thompson@melanoma.org.au

R. A. Scolyer (⊠) Tissue Pathology and Diagnostic Oncology, Royal Prince Alfred Hospital, Camperdown, Australia

Sydney Medical School, The University of Sydney, Sydney, NSW, Australia

Melanoma Institute Australia, The University of Sydney, Sydney, NSW, Australia e-mail: Richard.Scolyer@melanoma.org.au; Richard. Scolyer@health.nsw.gov.au

© Springer Science+Business Media, LLC, part of Springer Nature 2019 D. E. Fisher, B. C. Bastian (eds.), *Melanoma*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-7147-9_37

Conclusion	478
References	480

#### Abstract

Desmoplastic melanoma is a rare subtype of melanoma accounting for 1-4% of all melanomas. There are a number of clinical and pathological features that distinguish desmoplastic melanoma from conventional melanoma. Desmoplastic melanoma usually occurs in the elderly, particularly males, and on chronically sun-damaged skin, especially on the head and neck region. Lesions often present in an innocuous fashion, and are frequently unrecognized or misdiagnosed clinically. The pathological diagnosis of desmoplastic melanoma can also be very challenging, because the tumor is often very subtle and its morphological features overlap with nonneoplastic conditions such as scars, as well as benign and malignant neoplasms. Histologically, desmoplastic melanoma is characterized by malignant spindle cells in which individual tumor cells are separated by collagen fibers. There are two subtypes of desmoplastic melanoma, namely pure and mixed. In the pure subtype, the overwhelming majority of invasive tumor is desmoplastic, while in the mixed subtype (which may consist of spindled or epithelioid cells, or both), the desmoplastic areas account for less than 90% of the invasive tumor. Desmoplastic melanoma has an affinity for nerves and a propensity for local recurrence. Compared with other melanoma subtypes, desmoplastic melanoma more frequently metastasizes to the lungs and less frequently to lymph nodes. The molecular landscape of desmoplastic melanoma is quite different from that of conventional melanoma; it has a higher mutation rate and almost always lacks BRAF, NRAS, or KIT mutations, commonly present in other subtypes. Recent genomic studies have highlighted the very high DNA mutation load of desmoplastic melanoma and clinical studies suggest patients with metastatic desmoplastic melanoma have higher response rates to

immunotherapy. Primary desmoplastic melanoma should be treated by wide local excision of the primary tumor. The role of sentinel lymph node biopsy in patients with desmoplastic melanoma is controversial; a number of early studies showed the rate of sentinel lymph node metastasis in patients with pure subtype desmoplastic melanoma was very low (approximately 1%), while much higher rates have been reported in more recent studies.

#### Keywords

Desmoplastic · Spindle cell · Neurotropism · Sentinel lymph node

#### Introduction

Desmoplastic melanoma was first described by Conley and colleagues in 1971. They reported a small series of patients with particular clinical and pathological features who had poor clinical outcomes compared to other melanoma patients. These patients were older males with chronically sun-damaged skin who presented with amelanotic lesions, which were characterized microscopically by malignant spindle cells in a collagenrich stroma. Clear surgical margins were difficult to achieve, they had more frequent nerve involvement, and local recurrence was more common (McCarthy et al. 2004).

The origin of the desmoplastic stroma in desmoplastic melanoma has been the subject of much controversy. While some authors have suggested that the tumor cells elicit neighboring fibroblasts to proliferate and lay down abundant collagen, others argue that the tumor cells themselves possess an intrinsic ability to produce collagen. While the latter hypothesis was previously supported by ultrastructural examination findings, more recent studies from melanoma cell lines reveal that fibroblasts are responsible for the production of the collagen rather than melanoma cells, thus favoring the former hypothesis (McCarthy et al. 2004).

#### **Clinical Features**

Desmoplastic melanoma arises most commonly in elderly patients (mean age at diagnosis = 65 years). This is approximately 10 years older than for conventional melanoma. It has a predilection for Caucasian males (M: F = 2: 1). Chronic sun exposure is a strong predisposing risk factor and in order of decreasing frequency, the commonest anatomic sites affected are the head and neck region (~50%), extremities (~30%), and trunk (~20%). However, desmoplastic melanoma can involve any site (Chen et al. 2013).

Unlike conventional melanoma, desmoplastic melanoma often lacks the clinical ABCDE warning signs (asymmetry, border irregularity, color variation, diameter enlargement, and evolution/history of change) of melanoma (Oakley 2017). Patients usually present with a slow-growing painless indurated plaque or nodule, which is amelanotic in more than one half of cases. Some lesions may begin as a small papule. Pigmentation, when present, is usually due to an accompanying melanoma in situ component (often a lentigo maligna), which coexists in up to 50% of cases. Palpation of a lentigo maligna lesion may disclose an underlying thickening or nodularity, which may be a clue to an unsuspected desmoplastic melanoma (Chen et al. 2013).

Desmoplastic melanoma may be mistaken on pathological examination for other disease processes such as a scar, nodular fasciitis, dermatofibroma, or neurofibroma. Under-recognition and low clinical suspicion can result in delayed diagnosis and management. Tumors can be thick before they come to clinical attention; lesions have a median Breslow thickness of 2.5 mm at the time of diagnosis (McCarthy et al. 2004).

Dermoscopy reveals pigmented globules in about one half of cases. There may be features of regression including scar-like areas and gray dots and an atypical or polymorphous vascular pattern can be present (Oakley 2017).

The typical clinical course of desmoplastic melanoma differs from that of conventional melanoma in a number of ways. There is a greater propensity for nerve involvement, achieving clear surgical margins can be difficult, and the risk of local recurrence is higher. On the other hand, the incidence of regional lymph node metastasis is lower than in conventional melanoma. Distant metastases typically occur in the lung or bone as a result of hematogenous spread (Murali et al. 2011).

#### Histopathological Features

Desmoplastic melanoma is a variant of spindle cell melanoma initially centered predominantly in the dermis but often extending more deeply into the subcutis and occasionally involving underlying structures. Desmoplasia refers to the growth of fibrous or connective tissue. Desmoplastic melanoma is characterized by relatively paucicellular amelanotic malignant spindle cells associated with abundant collagen fibers that separate individual tumor cells. On hematoxylinand eosin-stained tissue sections, the predominant stromal component often gives rise to a poorly defined area of pink change at scanning magnification, and is often accompanied by myxoid change. Desmoplastic melanoma tends to infiltrate the dermis and deeper structures in an irregular or tentacular pattern and the microscopic features can be very subtle (McCarthy et al. 2004) (See Figs. 1, 2, 3, and 4).

Criteria proposed by Busam et al. from Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center defined two subtypes of desmoplastic melanoma: pure and mixed (or "combined"). In pure desmoplastic melanoma, the overwhelming majority of invasive tumor (i.e., more than 90%) is desmoplastic. If desmoplastic areas account for less than this, then it is considered a mixed desmoplastic melanoma. The latter subtype consists of both desmoplastic and nondesmoplastic components. The latter may be formed by spindled or epithelioid cells, or both (Murali et al. 2011). Compared to the pure subtype, mixed desmoplastic melanoma has an increased risk of sentinel node positivity as well as of local and distant recurrence, but these rates are intermediate between those of pure desmoplastic melanoma and conventional melanoma (Scolyer and Thompson 2005).

With a strong association with chronic UV radiation, concomitant melanoma in situ (often a lentigo maligna) in the overlying epidermis is present in up to 50% of cases of desmoplastic melanoma (see Figs. 1 and 2). However, an



**Fig. 1** Desmoplastic melanoma with overlying melanoma in situ, lentigo maligna type (H&E)

epidermal component is not essential for the diagnosis. Regardless, the background skin typically shows features of severe sun damage, including epidermal atrophy and moderate to marked solar elastosis. Ulceration is not a common finding (McCarthy et al. 2004).

The tumor cells are fusiform, with epithelioid morphology seen only in mixed subtypes. While the degree of cytological atypia is variable, more often than not the tumor cells show only mild nuclear variability with enlargement and hyperchromasia and perhaps only focal pleomorphism (see Fig. 4c). The cells have elongated nuclei, irregular nuclear contours, and an open chromatin pattern with small but distinct nucleoli. The cytoplasm is poorly defined. Melanin pigment is inconspicuous or absent. Mitoses are usually infrequent but occasionally prominent. Given the mild cytological atypia, the tumor cells can be easily overlooked or misinterpreted as fibroblasts or spindle cells of another histogenesis (McCarthy et al. 2004). Immunohistochemical stains for S100 and Sox10 can be helpful in difficult cases but should be used judiciously (see further details below).

One of the most helpful clues to pathological diagnosis is the presence of lymphoid aggregates, with or without accompanying plasma cells, at the periphery of the tumor or within it. These lymphoid aggregates are often located in the deep



**Fig. 2** (a) Desmoplastic melanoma, pure type (H&E). The predominant stromal component often gives rise to a poorly defined area of pink change at scanning magnification. (b)

Both invasive and overlying in situ components are highlighted by S100 immunohistochemistry



**Fig. 3** (a and b) Desmoplastic melanoma involving the dermis and subcutaneous tissue. There are a number of associated lymphoid aggregates (H&E). (c) S100

dermis or subcutis (Chen et al. 2013). However, lymphoid aggregates are not ubiquitous in desmoplastic melanoma and may not be captured in small biopsies. Furthermore, they may, on occasion, accompany other benign processes that may enter the differential diagnosis such as scars, sclerosing nevi, or neurofibromas.

Neurotropism, seen in about 30% of cases, is more common in desmoplastic melanoma compared with conventional melanoma (where it is present in up to 5%) (McCarthy et al. 2004). Three main patterns of nerve involvement have been described: perineural invasion, intraneural (or endoneural) invasion, and neural transformation, although it is somewhat controversial whether the latter should be regarded as a form of neurotropism (Varey et al. 2017). Perineural and intraneural invasion are terms referring to immunostaining highlights the tentacular infiltration of desmoplastic melanoma

the extension of tumor cells around and within preexisting nerve structures, respectively (see Fig. 5a, b). In contrast, neural transformation occurs when tumor cells adopt the cytological characteristics of nerve cells, often in the form of nerve twigs. Although neurotropism does not influence survival directly, it is associated with a significantly increased risk of local recurrence because of the difficulty in achieving margin control (Murali et al. 2011). When neurotropism is present, postoperative radiotherapy may reduce the risk of local recurrence, particularly when there is difficulty achieving adequate surgical clearance margins (Chen et al. 2013).

Lymphovascular space invasion is rare. Occasionally, angioinvasion may be seen, as this is the presumed route for distant metastatic spread (Murali et al. 2010).



**Fig. 4** (a and b) Desmoplastic melanoma, pure type (H&E). Abundant collagen fibers separate individual tumor cells. (c) Desmoplastic melanoma, pure type (H&E). The tumor cells are fusiform, showing mild nuclear variability with enlargement and hyperchromasia. The cytoplasm is poorly defined and melanin pigment is

#### **Fine Needle Biopsy Features**

Fine needle biopsy (FNB) is frequently used to diagnose metastatic melanoma, including desmoplastic melanoma, but it has only a very limited role in the assessment of primary tumors. FNB specimens from desmoplastic melanoma are often paucicellular due to the significant stromal content. Diagnosis can be even more challenging considering that the tumor cells tend to lack significant cytological atypia and mitotic activity. Compared to conventional melanoma, the tumor cells less frequently contain intranuclear cytoplasmic invaginations or intracytoplasmic melanin pigment (Murali et al. 2008). In the event of an insufficient or nondiagnostic cytology specimen and ongoing

absent. (d) Immunohistochemistry can be helpful in subtle cases. Here, S100 is positive in the tumor nuclei and cytoplasm. Other markers of melanocytic differentiation including HMB45, MelanA/MART1, tyrosinase, and MITF are usually negative or only focally positive

clinical suspicion, formal tissue biopsy for histopathological assessment is warranted.

#### Immunohistochemistry

Desmoplastic melanoma is typically diffusely positive for S100 protein and Sox10 (see Figs. 2, 3, and 4). S100 stains positively in both the cytoplasm and nuclei of desmoplastic melanoma cells and can be useful in highlighting their dendritic appearance, while Sox10 is restricted to staining nuclei. In contrast to conventional melanoma, other markers of melanocytic differentiation including HMB45, MelanA/MART1, tyrosinase, and MITF are usually negative or only focally



**Fig. 5** (a and b) Neurotropism is present in about one third of cases of desmoplastic melanoma. Tumor cells may extend around and/or within preexisting nerve structures (H&E)

positive. These latter markers are more likely to be positive in epithelioid cells of the mixed subtype of desmoplastic melanoma (McCarthy et al. 2004; Murali et al. 2008).

A potential pitfall in the interpretation of immunohistochemical stains, especially in post-biopsy specimens, is that fibroblasts in scars are also immunoreactive with S100 and Sox10. Therefore, pathologists should not rely solely upon this ancillary method for diagnosis – careful attention to morphological detail is of paramount importance as the immunostains need to be interpreted in the appropriate context (Murali et al. 2011).

Desmoplastic melanoma may also exhibit a nonspecific staining pattern for SMA, CD10, and CD34. It has been suggested that CD34 can be useful in distinguishing desmoplastic melanoma from neurofibroma, with the latter showing a "fingerprint distribution" (Yeh and McCalmont 2011); however, it is our experience that this pattern is not uncommon in desmoplastic melanoma and has little practical value.

#### **Genetic Features**

Understanding of the genomic landscape of melanoma (including desmoplastic melanoma) has expanded rapidly in recent years with the discovery of significant genetic alterations that underlie the pathogenesis of the disease. Desmoplastic melanoma is among the most highly mutated of all human neoplasms. With more than 60 mutations per megabase of DNA, it has an exceptionally high mutation burden and DNA signatures have strongly implicated ultraviolet radiation as the dominant etiological cause. This lends support to the theory of a superficially located cell of origin and is consistent with the presence of associated melanoma in situ (lentigo maligna) in a significant proportion of cases (Hunter Shain et al. 2015).

Recently, recurrent NFKBIE promoter mutations and diverse activating mutations in the MAPK pathway have been identified using exome sequencing. The MAPK pathway mutations are mutually exclusive of those well recognized in conventional melanomas (namely BRAF and NRAS). Instead, other mutations involving activation of the MAPK and PI3K signaling cascades, including CDKN2A and NF1, are relatively common. Mutations of the tumor suppressor gene NF1 are usually nonsense mutations with premature stop codons, leading to lack of NF1 protein expression. TP53 mutations are also found in a large proportion of desmoplastic melanomas, in contrast to conventional melanomas (see Fig. 6) (Hunter Shain et al. 2015).

#### **Differential Diagnosis**

Given the wide spectrum of overlapping and often subtle clinicopathological features that may occur in desmoplastic melanoma, its diagnosis can be challenging. It can mimic a range of conditions

Mutational Landscape of Desmoplastic Melanoma 60% 50% Prevalence of mutations (%) 40% 30% Loss of function (tumor suppressor) 20% Activation (oncogene) 10% 0% COKNEA PHK3CA FOLD or instal RACI ARID2 ME FBTNI RASAZ 1953 BRAT BI AP2K PPPOC NF1 etter RAF DH12242 "ANT AF \$ 48)

Fig. 6 Meta-analysis of the prevalence of melanoma driver mutations present in desmoplastic melanomas from two large melanoma genome sequencing studies (Hayward

including both completely benign entities and malignant processes. A previous history of melanoma should always prompt consideration of recurrence or a new primary melanoma. Diagnosis may be inadvertently delayed if clinical suspicion is lacking and a biopsy is not performed, or if the pathologist fails to recognize the subtle histopathological features of desmoplastic melanoma. As a consequence, desmoplastic melanoma is often not diagnosed until it is at an advanced stage. In the setting of chronically sun-damaged skin, pathologists should always consider the possibility of desmoplastic melanoma and search carefully for any of the aforementioned constellation of histopathological features. Clinical mimics include scar, desmoplastic nevus, dermatofibroma (fibrous histiocytoma), and neurofibroma (McCarthy et al. 2004).

Dermal scar is probably the most common diagnostic dilemma. While the dermal tumor cells in desmoplastic melanoma are distributed haphazardly among collagen, the spindle-shaped dermal fibroblasts in scars are typically aligned parallel to the overlying epidermis. A potential hazard in distinguishing scars from desmoplastic melanoma lies in the misinterpretation of immunohistochemical stains as \$100 and \$0x10 can be expressed in both, albeit usually only focally in the former. Careful evaluation of the architectural

et al. 2017; Hunter Shain et al. 2015). (Image courtesy of Dr. James Wilmott)

and cytological features is required to avoid this mistake (Chen et al. 2008).

Desmoplastic nevi typically arise at a younger age than desmoplastic melanoma. Microscopically these lesions usually display symmetry, are confined to the superficial dermis, and few, if any, associated lymphocytes are present. In addition to \$100 and \$50x10\$ immunoreactivity, they also express other melanocytic markers such as MelanA/MART1, in contrast to desmoplastic melanoma (McCarthy et al. 2004).

Dermatofibromas also occur at a younger age and commonly involve the legs of young female adults. The histopathological findings are those of a circumscribed dermal proliferation of spindle cells with a fibrohistiocytic appearance and dermal collagen entrapment at the periphery of the lesion. Associated diffuse epidermal hyperplasia with increased basal pigmentation is also usually present. While assessment can be challenging on a small biopsy where the entire lesion has not been sampled, positive immunostaining for Factor XIIIa and SMA and absent staining for S100 and Sox10 should clinch the diagnosis of dermatofibroma (McCarthy et al. 2004).

Neurofibroma and desmoplastic melanoma can share similar clinical and pathological features. Both usually present as amelanotic papules or nodules and both are characterized microscopically by a spindle cell proliferation with associated collagenous stroma. Unfortunately, immunohistochemistry is not as helpful in distinguishing these two entities, as both are positive for S100 and Sox10 and negative for MelanA/MART1 and HMB45. Therefore, close attention to the morphological findings is required to establish a diagnosis. The growth pattern of neurofibroma is generally more circumscribed (except in the diffuse variant), the lesion is usually symmetrical and the lesional spindle cells tend to have more tapered nuclear contours (Murali et al. 2008).

#### Treatment

The mainstay of management of biopsy-proven desmoplastic melanoma is wide surgical excision with the same recommended clearance margins as for conventional melanoma, which vary according to the primary tumor thickness. The role of sentinel lymph node biopsy in desmoplastic melanoma has been questioned due to the lower incidence of positivity in both pure (1-5%) and mixed (5-20%) subtypes. Nevertheless, this procedure forms part of routine practice in many melanoma treatment centers. Local recurrence rates are higher in desmoplastic melanoma compared to conventional melanoma. Adjuvant radiotherapy may be offered in certain circumstances, usually when margin control is difficult to achieve or when there is nerve involvement. Systemic therapy options continue to evolve. The exceedingly high mutation burden found in desmoplastic melanoma makes it a promising candidate for immune checkpoint blockade therapy and preliminary data suggest that higher response rates are observed in desmoplastic melanoma compared with conventional melanoma.

#### Surgery

Like other types of melanoma, surgery is the mainstay of treatment of desmoplastic melanoma. This involves wide local excision aiming to achieve clear peripheral margins of 1 cm for tumor thickness less than or equal to 1 mm,

1–2 cm for tumors 1–2 mm thick, and at least 2 cm for tumors greater than 2 mm thick. It is also important to achieve adequate deep margins, as there is often extension into the subcutis or even deep fascia and underlying tissues. Achieving clear margins is not always possible on the initial excision due to the insidiously infiltrative nature of the tumor (Varey et al. 2017).

#### Sentinel Lymph Node Biopsy

The role of sentinel lymph node biopsy in patients with desmoplastic melanoma is somewhat controversial. The rate of sentinel lymph node positivity at the time of diagnosis when matched for tumor thickness is lower (1-5% for pure subtype desmoplastic melanoma) than conventional melanoma (about 16%) (Scolver and Thompson 2005; Dunne et al. 2017). While some advocate the routine practice of sentinel lymph node biopsy, others propose that the frequency of sentinel lymph node metastasis is so low that the procedure can be safely avoided (Gyorki et al. 2003). At Melanoma Institute Australia, we continue to offer sentinel lymph node biopsy to all patients with melanoma tumor thickness > 1 mm. With recent clinical trials reporting reduced rates of recurrence in stage III melanoma patients who received adjuvant targeted and immune therapies, it would appear that the role of sentinel lymph node biopsy in desmoplastic melanoma might expand in centers where this staging procedure is not currently part of the routine management of patients with desmoplastic melanoma.

#### Radiotherapy

Radiotherapy may be beneficial in some cases of desmoplastic melanoma, particularly when it is difficult to achieve clear surgical margins or when there is nerve involvement. In the event of positive or narrow margins or extensive neurotropism and where functional and/or cosmetic reasons preclude wider re-excision, radiation in a dose of 20–40 gray over six fractions can be applied to reduce the risk of local recurrence.

This is particularly relevant for lesions arising in the head and neck region (Chen et al. 2008).

#### Systemic Therapy

The exceedingly high mutation burden found in desmoplastic melanoma makes it a promising candidate for immune checkpoint blockade therapy. Emerging data have shown that patients with desmoplastic melanoma respond well to anti-PD1 agents. Response rates are in the order of about 70%, significantly higher than those for conventional melanoma (40%). The presumed reason for this higher response rate is that desmoplastic melanoma expresses high levels of PD-L1. In their study, Eroglu et al. (2018) found that single agent anti-PD1 therapy, rather than the more toxic combination immunotherapy involving both anti-PD1 and anti-CTLA-4 inhibition, might be sufficient for patients with desmoplastic melanoma.

#### Prognosis

In 1988, Egbert et al. asserted that the clinical outcome for desmoplastic melanoma was far worse than for other types of melanoma, but failed to consider important pathologic prognostic features in their analyses (Scolyer and Thompson 2005). In contrast, recent studies have found that when matched for tumor thickness, survival times were actually longer. Some studies have shown a poorer prognosis for patients with desmoplastic melanoma in cases of male gender, older age, and head and neck location (McCarthy et al. 2004).

By definition, recurrence is local when at or near the surgical excision site (<5 cm), in transit when >5 cm from the surgical excision site but not beyond the draining lymph node basin, and regional when it has reached the draining lymph node basin. Local recurrences are common in desmoplastic melanoma compared to conventional melanoma, especially following incomplete or narrow (<10 mm) surgical excision or when there is neurotropism. Most recurrences (78.2%) occur within the first 2 years. Distant metastases occur in 11–40% of patients with desmoplastic melanoma (Chen et al. 2008).

#### Conclusion

Desmoplastic melanoma is a rare subtype of spindle cell melanoma with a strong association with high cumulative UV exposure and a predilection to involve the head and neck region. It affects males almost twice as often as females and occurs with a median age of diagnosis approximately 10 years later than conventional melanoma. Desmoplastic melanoma is a great mimicker both clinically and pathologically and as such, a high index of suspicion, especially in patients with a previous melanoma history, is essential to avoid misdiagnosis. Immunohistochemistry for S100 and Sox10 can be employed as an ancillary test but must be interpreted with caution, as the staining pattern in desmoplastic melanoma is not specific.

Desmoplastic melanoma is among the most highly mutated of all human neoplasms. Recurrent mutations in NF1, TP53, and NFKBIE have been documented in desmoplastic melanoma. This contrasts with the prevalent BRAF and NRAS mutations identified in conventional melanoma.

The mainstay of treatment is surgical excision with a surrounding wide margin of normal tissue. Desmoplastic melanoma infiltrates deeply, sometimes making adequate excision difficult, and it has a propensity for nerve involvement. There is a high risk of local recurrence if peripheral and deep excision margins are narrow or incomplete. Compared to conventional melanoma, there is a reduced likelihood of sentinel node positivity, especially in the pure subtype. When matched for stage, however, prognosis is comparable between conventional and desmoplastic melanomas.

Desmoplastic melanoma			
Clinical features	Differential diagnosis		
Elderly (median age 65 years)	Scar		
Chronically sun-exposed skin (especially head and neck)	Sclerosing nevus		
Indurated plaque or amelanotic papule/nodule	Neurofibroma		
	Spindle cell carcinoma		
	Dermatofibrosarcoma protuberans		
	Malignant peripheral nerve sheath tumor		
Histopathological features	Genetic features		
Dermal-based spindle cell lesion with abundant pink collagen and infiltrative borders into subcutis	Exceptionally high mutation burden (>60 mutations per Mb DNA)		
Associated melanoma in situ (lentigo maligna) present in up to half of cases	Recurrent mutations in NF1, TP53, NFKBIE		
Pure (spindle cells) or mixed (spindle and epithelioid cells)			
Pigment absent or sparse			
Mild to moderate cytological atypia			
Mitoses rare			
Lymphoid aggregates at periphery or within tumor			
Neurotropism (30%)			
Immunohistochemistry	Treatment		
S100 and Sox10 positive	Surgery:		
	Wide local excision mainstay of treatment		
HMB45, MelanA/MART1, tyrosinase, and MITF			
negative or only focally positive	Sentinel lymph node biopsy:		
	Role controversial; lower rates of positivity, but routinely offered in most melanoma referral centers		
	Dedictherenery		
	A diunct for margin control or when there is		
	neurotropism		
	Systemic therapy:		
	Emerging data suggest high response rates to PD1		
	immunotherapy		
	Prognosis		
	Higher risk of local recurrence		
	Lower risk of regional and distant metastasis		
	Overall survival comparable to conventional melanoma when matched for tumor thickness		

	Desmoplastic melanoma	Nondesmoplastic/conventional melanoma	
Age (median)	65 years	55 years	
Site	Head and neck region	Any cutaneous or acral site, mucous membranes	
Clinical features	Typically nonpigmented (unless overlying melanoma in situ)	Typically pigmented	
Pathologic features	Dermal cellular proliferation associated with collagen which separates individual tumor cells Pure (spindle) or mixed (spindle and epithelioid) Mild to moderate cytological atypia Mitoses rare Lymphoid aggregates at periphery or within tumor	Dermally invasive component with or without a junctional component Epithelioid, spindled, nevoid, or a combination of these cell types Usually significant cytological atypia Mitoses common Neurotropism (up to 5%)	
Immunohistochemistry	S100 and Sox10	S100, Sox10, MelanA/MART1, HMB45, tyrosinase, MITF	
Mutations	NF1, TP53, NFKBIE	BRAF, NRAS, CDKN2A (p16), others, e.g., KIT (mucosal), CCND1 (acral), GNAQ (uveal), ALK (Spitz)	
Sentinel lymph node positivity rate	5.4% (pure subtype) 13.8% (mixed subtype)	15–20%	
Common sites of metastases	Lung, bone	Skin, regional lymph nodes, liver, lungs, bone, brain	
Prognosis	Overall survival comparable to conventional melanoma when matched for tumor thickness		
Treatment	Wide local excision	Wide local excision	
	±	±	
	Sentinel lymph node biopsy	Sentinel lymph node biopsy	
	±	±	
	Immunotherapy, radiotherapy	Immunotherapy, targeted molecular therapy, radiotherapy, chemotherapy	

Acknowledgements R.A.S. is supported by the National Health and Medical Research Council of Australia. J.F.T. is supported by the Melanoma Foundation of the University of Sydney. T.A.B.. is supported by a Melanoma Institute Australia Fellowship funded by Deborah and John McMurtrie.

#### References

Chen JY, Hruby G, Scolyer RA, Murali R, Hong A, FitzGerald P, Pham TT, Quinn M, Thompson JF (2008) Desmoplastic neurotropic melanoma: a clinicopathologic analysis of 128 cases. Cancer 113(10):2770–2777. https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.23895

- Chen LL, Jaimes N, Barker CA, Busam KJ, Marghoob AA (2013) Desmoplastic melanoma: a review. J Am Acad Dermatol 68(5):825–833. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jaad.2012.10.041
- Dunne JA, Wormald JCR, Steele J, Woods E, Odili J, Powell BWEM (2017) Is sentinel lymph node biopsy warranted for desmoplastic melanoma? A systematic review. J Plast Reconstr Aesthet Surg 70:274–280
- Eroglu Z, Zaretsky J, Hu-Lieskovan S, Kim D, Algazi A, Johnson D, Liniker E, Kong B, Munhoz R, Rapisuwon S, Gherardini PF, Chmielowski B, Wang X, Shintaku IP, Wei C, Sosman JA, Joseph RW, Postow MA, Carlino MS, Hwu WJ, Scolyer RA, Messina J, Cochran AJ, Long GV, Ribas A (2018) High response rate to PD-1 blockade in desmoplastic melanomas. Nature 553(7688):347–350. https://doi. org/10.1038/nature25187
- Gyorki DE, Busam K, Panageas K, Brady MS, Coit DG (2003) Sentinel lymph node biopsy for patients with cutaneous desmoplastic melanoma. Ann Surg Oncol 10(4):403–407. https://doi.org/10.1245/ASO.2 003.04.003
- Hayward NK, Wilmott JS, Waddell N, Johansson PA, Field MA, Nones K, Patch AM, Kakavand H, Alexandrov LB, Burke H, Jakrot V, Kazakoff S, Holmes O, Leonard C, Sabarinathan R, Mularoni L, Wood S, Xu Q, Waddell N, Tembe V, Pupo GM, De Paoli-Iseppi R, Vilain RE, Shang P, Lau LMS, Dagg RA, Schramm SJ, Pritchard A, Dutton-Regester K, Newell F, Fitzgerald A, Shang CA, Grimmond SM, Pickett HA, Yang JY, Stretch JR, Behren A, Kefford RF, Hersey P, Long GV, Cebon J, Shackleton M, Spillane AJ, Saw RPM, López-Bigas N, Pearson JV, Thompson JF, Scolyer RA, Mann GJ (2017) Whole-genome landscapes of major melanoma subtypes. Nature 545(7653):175–180. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/nature22071
- Hunter Shain A, Garrido M, Botton T, Talevich E, Yeh I, Sanborn JZ, Chung J, Wang NJ, Kakavand H, Mann GJ, Thompson JF, Wiesner T, Roy R, Olshen AB, Gagnon A, Gray JW, Huh N, Hur JS, Busam KJ, Scolyer RA, Cho RJ, Murali R, Bastian BC (2015) Exome sequencing of desmoplastic

melanoma identifies recurrent NFKBIE promoter mutations and diverse activating mutations in the MAPK pathway. Nat Genet 47(10):1194–1199. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng.3382

- McCarthy SW, Scolyer RA, Palmer AA (2004) Desmoplastic melanoma: a diagnostic trap for the unwary. Pathology 36(5):445–451. https://doi.org/10. 1080/00313020412331285336
- Murali R, Loughman NT, McKenzie PR, Watson GF, Thompson JF, Scolyer RA (2008) Cytologic features of metastatic and recurrent melanoma in patients with primary cutaneous desmoplastic melanoma. Am J Clin Pathol 130:715–723. https://doi.org/10.1309/ AJCPG4QZHLWFXMFJ
- Murali R, Shaw HM, Lai K, McCarthy SW, Quinn MJ, Stretch JR, Thompson JF, Scolyer RA (2010) Prognostic factors in cutaneous desmoplastic melanoma: a study of 252 patients. Cancer 116:4130–4138. https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.25148
- Murali R, Zannino D, Synnott M, McCarthy SW, Thompson JF, Scolyer RA (2011) Clinical and pathological features of metastases of primary cutaneous desmoplastic melanoma. Histopathology 58:886–895. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2559.2011.03808.x
- Oakley A (2017) Desmoplastic melanoma. In: DermNet NZ. Available via https://www.dermnetnz. org/topics/desmoplastic-melanoma. Accessed 17 Oct 2018
- Scolyer RA, Thompson JF (2005) Desmoplastic melanoma: a heterogeneous entity in which subclassification as "Pure" or "Mixed" may have important prognostic significance. Ann Surg Oncol 12(3): 197–199. https://doi.org/10.1245/ASO.2005.12.914
- Varey AHR, Goumas C, Hong AM, Mann GJ, Fogarty GB, Stretch JR, Saw RPM, Spillane AJ, Shannon KF, Lee KJ, Quinn MJ, Thompson JF, Scolyer RA (2017) Neurotropic melanoma: an analysis of the clinicopathological features, management strategies and survival outcomes for 671 patients treated at a tertiary referral center. Mod Pathol 30(11):1538–1550. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/modpathol.2017.76
- Yeh I, McCalmont TH (2011) Distinguishing neurofibroma from desmoplastic melanoma: the value of the CD34 fingerprint. J Cutan Pathol 38(8):625–630. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1600-0560.2011.01700.x

Part III

**Clinical Management** 



# Melanoma Clinical Staging (Historical and Current) 23

Michael E. Egger and Jeffrey E. Gershenwald

#### Contents

Introduction	486
Primary Tumor Assessment	486
Primary Tumor Thickness	486
Primary Tumor Ulceration	488
Mitotic Rate	488
Regional Lymph Node Assessment	489
Historical: Approach to the Regional Nodal Basin	490
Current Approach to the Patient with Clinically Negative Regional Lymph Nodes:	
Rationale for Lymphatic Mapping and Sentinel Lymph Node (SLN) Biopsy	490
Non-nodal Locoregional Disease	491
Assessment of Distant Metastasis	491
Site of Distant Metastasis	491
Laboratory Markers	492
Melanoma Stage Groupings	492
Future Directions	493
Primary Tumor Assessment	493
N Category	494
M Category	495
Personalized Risk Assessment Versus Staging	496
Conclusion	496
References	497

#### M. E. Egger

Department of Surgical Oncology, The University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center, Houston, TX, USA

J. E. Gershenwald (⊠) Department of Surgical Oncology, Unit 1484, The University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center, Houston, TX, USA

Melanoma and Skin Center, The University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center, Houston, TX, USA e-mail: jgershen@mdanderson.org

#### Abstract

Melanoma staging has evolved as our understanding of clinical and pathological risk factors have improved and surgical staging strategies have matured. The current American Joint Committee on Cancer (AJCC) melanoma staging system is based on the tumor (T), node (N), metastasis (M) system, similar to most other solid tumors; criteria that define TNM

© Springer Science+Business Media, LLC, part of Springer Nature 2019 D. E. Fisher, B. C. Bastian (eds.), *Melanoma*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-7147-9_11 have changed over time. The T category is determined by primary tumor thickness and presence or absence of ulceration; the N category takes into account both the number of clinically occult and clinically detected lymph node metastases, as well as the presence or absence of non-nodal regional metastases. The M category is defined by anatomic site of disease and lactate dehydrogenase levels. Sentinel lymph node biopsy has become a standard assessment technique by which T2-T4 melanomas, and some T1 melanomas, are staged. Taken together, the melanoma staging system allows for accurate risk stratification of large subsets of melanoma patients that can help guide clinicians and patients regarding prognosis. In the future, melanoma staging may be complemented by validated clinical tools based on multiple clinical, pathological, and molecular risk factors, and may provide a more precise individualized risk assessment for melanoma patients.

#### Keywords

Melanoma · Staging · Sentinel lymph node biopsy · Prognosis · Metastasis · Lymphadenectomy · Lymph node dissection · Risk assessment

#### Introduction

The melanoma staging system is based on pathological characteristics of the primary tumor; extent of regional disease, if any; and the absence or presence of distant metastasis. Since the late 1970s, melanoma has been staged according to the American Joint Committee on Cancer (AJCC) melanoma staging system, a TNM-based system that designates tumor (T), regional nodal (N), and distant metastasis (M) classifications based on pathological tumor characteristics of the primary melanoma (T), the number of lymph nodes involved and/or other evidence of regional disease (N), and the presence of distant metastatic disease (M). Stages I and II, Stage III, and Stage IV comprise patients with localized disease, regional disease, and distant metastases, respectively (Table 1). Criteria used to define the AJCC staging system have evolved over time, utilizing an improved understanding of the biology of melanoma, more accurate and less-invasive staging procedures, and identification of factors that better stratify patients according to risk. In this chapter, we review historical aspects of melanoma staging, new changes to the 8th Edition AJCC melanoma staging system and their rationale, future directions in staging classification and risk stratification, and the development of clinical tools that may enhance clinical decision-making.

#### Primary Tumor Assessment

#### **Primary Tumor Thickness**

Solid tumors are most commonly characterized by primary tumor size to determine T category. Melanoma size is assessed by the extent of tumor penetrance from the skin surface, rather than the surface diameter of the lesion. In 1969, Clark et al. first proposed classification of level of invasion based on the relationship of the primary melanoma to the papillary and reticular dermis and which was defined by five levels (I-V) (Clark et al. 1969). Shortly thereafter, Breslow proposed measuring tumor thickness by depth of invasion from the skin surface using an ocular micrometer (Breslow 1970). This measurement, referred to as the Breslow thickness (or, commonly, tumor thickness), is taken from the top of the granular layer of the epidermis to the deepest invasive cell across the broad base of the tumor. When a primary tumor is ulcerated, the tumor thickness measurement is made from the base of the ulcer. Initially, cutpoints of 0.75, 1.50, 2.25, and 3.0 mm were used to stratify patients (Breslow 1970). Breslow thickness provided a more objective, reproducible measure of tumor thickness and could more accurately risk stratify patients with Clark level III and IV primary melanomas, who were observed to have a wide range of prognoses (Breslow 1975).

Initially, Clark level and Breslow thickness complemented each other and were used together to stage patients with primary cutaneous

T classification	Thickness (mm)	Ulceration status		
T0: no evidence of	NA	NA		
primary tumor				
Tis (melanoma in	NA	NA		
situ)				
T1	≤1.0	a: <0.8 mm without ulceration		
		b: 0.8–1.0 mm with or without ulceration		
T2	>1.0-2.0	a: Without ulceration		
		b: With ulceration		
Т3	>2.0-4.0	a: Without ulceration		
		b: With ulceration		
T4	>4.0	a: Without ulceration		
		b: With ulceration		
N classification	Number of metastatic nodes	Nodal metastatic burden		
NO	No regional metastases detected	NA		
N1	1 tumor-involved node or in-transit, satellite, and/or microsatellite metastases with no	a: Clinically occult (i.e., detected by SLN biopsy)		
	tumor-involved nodes	b: Clinically detected		
		c: No regional nodal disease		
N2	2–3 tumor-involved nodes or in-transit, satellite, and/or microsatellite metastases with 1 tumor-involved node	a: Clinically occult (i.e., detected by SLN biopsy)		
		b: At least one of the two to three nodes clinically detected		
		c: 1 clinically occult or clinically detected node with in-transit, satellite, and/or microsatellite metastases		
N3	4+ metastatic nodes; in-transit, satellite, and/or microsatellite metastases with 2 or more	a: 4+ clinically occult nodes (i.e., detected by SLN biopsy)		
	tumor-involved nodes; or any number of matted nodes without or with in-transit, satellite, and/or microsatellite metastases	b: 4+ nodes, at least one of which was clinically detected, or presence of any number of matted nodes		
		c: 2+ clinically occult or clinically detected and/or presence of any number of matted nodes in the presence of in-transit, satellite, and/or microsatellite metastases		
M classification	Site	Serum LDH		
M0	No distant metastases	NA		
Mla	Distant metastasis to the skin and soft tissue	0: not elevated		
	including the muscle and/or nonregional nodal metastases	1: elevated		
Mlb	Lung metastases with or without M1a sites of	0: not elevated		
	disease	1: elevated		
M1c	Non-CNS visceral metastases with or without	0: not elevated		
	M1a or M1b sites of disease	1: elevated		
M1d	CNS metastases with or without M1a, M1b, or	0: not elevated		
	M1c sites of disease	1: elevated		

Table 1 TNM staging for cutaneous melanoma, 8th Edition AJCC

Used with permission of the American Joint Committee on Cancer (AJCC), Chicago, Illinois. The original and primary source for this adapted information is the AJCC Cancer Staging Manual, eighth edition (2017) published by Springer International Publishing (Gershenwald et al. 2017a).

Clinically occult are diagnosed after sentinel lymph node biopsy

Clinically detected are defined as clinically detectable nodal metastases confirmed pathologically

NA not applicable, CNS central nervous system, LDH lactate dehydrogenase

Suffixes for M category: (0) LDH not elevated, (1) LDH elevated. No suffix is used if LDH is not recorded or is unspecified

melanoma (Beahrs et al. 1992; Fleming et al. 1997). Over time, however, Breslow thickness became the more widely used method and is evidenced by a gradual evolution in the importance placed on these two measurements in the AJCC melanoma staging system. In earlier editions, Clark level and Breslow thickness were both used to determine T category (Wanebo et al. 1975; Balch et al. 1978, 1979). In the 6th Edition (2002) AJCC melanoma staging system, Breslow thickness became the primary T category criterion, using tumor thickness cutpoints of 1.0, 2.0, and 4.0 mm. Clark level was used only to subcategorize T1 lesions (Balch et al. 2001a). In the 7th Edition, mitotic rate (discussed below) replaced Clark level of invasion as a criterion to help define a T1b melanoma (Balch et al. 2009; Edge 2010).

In the 8th Edition (2017) AJCC melanoma staging system, tumor thickness cutpoints of 1.0, 2.0, and 4.0 mm continue to define T1, T2, T3, and T4 primary melanoma (Gershenwald et al. 2017a). As in the 7th Edition, T1 tumors are subcategorized according to the presence or absence of primary tumor ulceration, and new to the 8th Edition, a T1b tumor is also defined by any primary melanoma that is 0.8-1.0 mm in tumor thickness regardless of ulceration status (Gershenwald et al. 2017a). Also new to the 8th Edition AJCC melanoma staging system, Breslow thickness measurements are to be recorded to the nearest 0.1 mm (rather than to the nearest 0.01 mm) (Gershenwald et al. 2017a). This change was made in an effort to avoid clustering of reported measurements around critical cutpoints for staging classification, which has been demonstrated to have bias with implications for staging (Ge et al. 2016).

#### **Primary Tumor Ulceration**

Primary tumor ulceration is a well-established pathological risk factor associated with adverse survival in patients with cutaneous melanoma. Ulceration is defined microscopically as a fullthickness epidermal defect with evidence of reactive changes and thinning, effacement, or reactive hyperplasia of the surrounding epidermis (Smoller et al. 2016; Edge 2010). The incidence of ulceration increases with increasing Breslow thickness (Balch et al. 2009, 1980; White et al. 2011). The 6th Edition (2002) AJCC melanoma staging system was the first to designate the T category as "a" or "b" based on the absence or presence of ulceration, respectively (Balch et al. 2001a). Multiple studies have found that primary tumor ulceration is associated with worse survival across all tumor thickness groups - essentially "upstaging" a patient to the next highest T category with a tumor that is not ulcerated (Balch et al. 2001a, 2009). For example, a clinically nodenegative patient with a T2 primary melanoma that is ulcerated (T2b) has approximately the same survival as a patient with a T3 tumor that is not ulcerated (T3a); stage groupings are discussed below (Balch et al. 2001b, 2009). In patients with tumor-negative sentinel lymph nodes (SLN), ulceration has been shown to be an independent predictor of increased risk of locoregional and distant recurrence and worse melanoma-specific survival, with a relative increase in risk of recurrence or death two to three times that of patients whose primary tumors are non-ulcerated (Balch et al. 2009; Yee et al. 2005; Egger et al. 2016). Primary tumor ulceration is also an important adverse prognostic factor even among patients with Stage III (regional) disease. Primary tumor ulceration has also been shown to impact survival among patients with regional metastasis. Accordingly, in both the 7th and 8th Editions of the AJCC melanoma staging system, the presence or absence of ulceration contributes to the subgrouping of node-positive patients (Gershenwald et al. 2017a; Edge 2010). In summary, primary tumor ulceration is an important staging element for patients with cutaneous melanoma and offers insights into the patient's risk of recurrence and death.

#### Mitotic Rate

Mitotic rate is a pathological feature of the primary tumor that has also been used to stage patients with primary cutaneous melanoma. Mitotic rate is defined as the number of mitoses per mm² using the dermal "hot spot" method (Edge 2010). Clark et al. identified mitotic rate as an important risk factor in localized cutaneous melanoma in the 1980s (Clark et al. 1989). Mitotic rate was introduced into the 7th Edition AJCC melanoma T category assessment of primary melanoma for patients with "thin" T1 melanoma based on a series of tumor thickness-stratified multivariable models (Balch et al. 2009; Edge 2010). Higher mitotic rate has been shown to be an independent risk factor for death from melanoma and was more important than ulceration in some studies (Barnhill et al. 2005; Azzola et al. 2003). Using both Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results (SEER) data and a singleinstitution database, Gimotty et al. demonstrated that a classification system using mitotic rate greater than zero (i.e., as a dichotomous putative prognostic factor), among other factors, was able to stratify patients with thin, non-ulcerated melanomas into groups with significantly different survival rates (Gimotty et al. 2007). Kesmodel et al. reported that a mitotic rate greater than zero was an independent predictor of a tumor-positive SLN patients with thin (Breslow thickness in  $\leq$ 1.0 mm) melanoma (Kesmodel et al. 2005). Using the 7th Edition AJCC melanoma staging database, Thompson et al. showed that mitotic rate was an independent adverse predictor of survival in localized (Stages I and II) cutaneous melanoma; it was the strongest predictor of survival outcome after Breslow thickness (Thompson et al. 2011). Among patients with Stage III cutaneous melanoma in the same database, Balch et al. observed that mitotic rate was an independent adverse predictor of survival in patients with nodal micrometastases (i.e., from a positive SLN or historically from tumor-involved nodes identified at elective lymph node dissection), but not among patients with nodal macrometastases (i.e., clinically evident) (Balch et al. 2010).

The 7th Edition AJCC melanoma staging committee evaluated mitotic rate as a dichotomous variable (i.e., <1 mitosis/mm² versus  $\geq$ 1 mitosis/mm²) within each AJCC tumor thickness group and determined that it was an independent adverse predictor of survival among patients with T1 melanomas. As a result, mitotic rate was introduced into the 7th Edition AJCC staging system as a T1 ( $\leq$ 1.0 mm) primary melanoma criterion; the presence of ulceration and/or a mitotic rate of  $\geq 1/\text{mm}^2$  defined T1b (Balch et al. 2009). However, in the 8th Edition AJCC staging system, mitotic rate is no longer used to subcategorize T1 (Gershenwald et al. 2017a, b). While ulceration continues to be used to subcategorize melanoma, a new approach based on tumor thickness among patients with a thin melanoma is used to define T1 subcategories in the 8th Edition. In particular, mitotic rate was removed as a T1 criterion because analysis of patients with melanomas whose primary tumor thickness was  $\leq 1$  mm in the international database demonstrated that tumor thickness itself (stratified as <0.8 mm vs. 0.8-1.0 mm) was more prognostically important with respect to melanoma-specific survival than was mitotic rate (as a dichotomous variable as employed in the 7th Edition) (Gershenwald et al. 2017a, b).

Importantly, the 8th Edition AJCC melanoma expert panel strongly recommends that mitotic rate continue to be recorded for all patients with a primary cutaneous melanoma and notes that when explored using the mitotic rate continuum, it has been associated with survival across the tumor thickness continuum (Thompson et al. 2011; Gershenwald et al. 2017a, b). Although not a formal component of 8th Edition AJCC melanoma staging system, mitotic rate remains an important component of overall risk assessment and will likely be incorporated into the future development of clinical tools to aid in clinical decision-making through improved risk stratification and prognostic assessment (Gershenwald et al. 2017a).

#### **Regional Lymph Node Assessment**

The N category is the next component of melanoma staging and documents the absence or presence of regional lymph node and/or nonnodal locoregional (i.e., microsatellites, satellites, and/or in-transit) melanoma metastasis. The surgical approaches and pathological assessment of the regional lymph nodes have been refined over the past three decades, with important implications for staging, risk stratification, and assessment for surgical, adjuvant, and other treatment decisions.

## Historical: Approach to the Regional Nodal Basin

The role of lymph node dissection for staging purposes, particularly among clinically nodenegative patients, has evolved over the years as new surgical techniques evolved, including the technique of lymphatic mapping and sentinel lymph node (SLN) biopsy (Gershenwald et al. 1999). Regional lymph node basins are initially routinely assessed by clinical exam. Clinically suspicious lymph nodes can be biopsied by fine needle aspiration, often using ultrasound guidance, to confirm metastatic disease. In the presence of pathologically confirmed, clinically evident lymph node metastasis, a therapeutic lymph node dissection is generally performed. From a staging perspective, such an approach affords an assessment of the regional nodal basin and an accurate count of the number of nodal metastases to determine N category criteria. Prior to the development of the SLN biopsy technique, an elective lymph node dissection was sometimes performed in patients with intermediate (1-4 mm) tumor thickness primary melanoma and clinically negative nodes to identify microscopic regional nodal metastasis and accurately determine the N category.

#### Current Approach to the Patient with Clinically Negative Regional Lymph Nodes: Rationale for Lymphatic Mapping and Sentinel Lymph Node (SLN) Biopsy

The technique of lymphatic mapping and SLN biopsy was introduced by Morton and colleagues in 1992, and its prognostic significance was validated by Gershenwald and colleagues in a 1999 multi-institutional study (Morton et al. 1992; Gershenwald et al. 1999). The rationale for this

approach is based on the concept that for a given area of the skin, there is at least one regional lymph node that receives direct afferent lymphatic drainage from the primary tumor site - the "sentinel node" - prior to the rest of the regional nodal basin. Morton and colleagues initially demonstrated that the SLN is the most likely first site of metastasis to the regional nodal basin if any are involved, and if the SLN is negative, the remaining regional basin nodes are unlikely to harbor microscopic melanoma metastasis (Ross et al. 1993; Reintgen et al. 1994; Thompson et al. 1995). First incorporated into the 6th Edition (2002) AJCC melanoma staging system, the technique's accuracy has been validated in multiple multi-institutional studies (Balch et al. 2001a; Gershenwald et al. 1999; Morton et al. 1999). Over the past two decades, SLN biopsy has become an important cornerstone for the accurate assessment of many patients with at-risk melanoma who have clinically negative regional lymph nodes.

The principal purpose of the technique of lymphatic mapping and SLN biopsy for staging purposes is to identify microscopic regional lymph node metastases in clinically node-negative patients. The decision to perform lymphatic mapping and SLN biopsy for staging is based on the predicted risk of clinically occult regional node disease. Primary tumor factors, such as Breslow thickness, ulceration, and mitotic rate (discussed above), can be used to inform this decision-making (Kesmodel et al. 2005; Rousseau et al. 2003; McMasters et al. 2001; Sondak et al. 2004). Based on the associations of these primary tumor factors with microscopic regional lymph node metastasis, SLN biopsy is required for staging patients with clinically negative lymph node basins with T2, T3, and T4 melanomas to be included in the 8th Edition AJCC staging system; selective consideration of SLN biopsy for patients with T1b melanoma is permitted (Gershenwald et al. 2017a, b). Metastases identified by SLN biopsy are defined as "clinically occult" and designated with an "a" suffix in the AJCC N category. Metastases that are clinically evident and confirmed pathologically are considered "clinically detected" and designated with a "b" suffix in the AJCC N category. The 8th Edition AJCC melanoma staging system defines N category as N1 (one positive lymph node), N2 (two to three positive lymph nodes), or N3 (four or more positive lymph nodes); in-transit, satellite, and/or microsatellite metastases can be categorized as N1c, N2c, or N3c, depending on the number of regional lymph nodes involved (see discussion below) (Gershenwald et al. 2017a). As in the 7th Edition, N category suffixes "a" or "b" continue to denote clinically occult or clinically evident, respectively (see also section below on "Non-nodal Locoregional Disease").

#### Non-nodal Locoregional Disease

Non-nodal regional disease - including microsatellites, satellite lesions, or in-transit metastases - represents an additional component of the AJCC N category staging criteria. In-transit metastases have been classically defined as cutaneous or subcutaneous metastases located greater than 2 cm from the primary tumor site, between the primary tumor and a draining regional nodal basin. Satellite lesions have a similar clinical definition except they are located within 2 cm of the primary tumor. In contemporary practice, however, the distinction between in-transit and satellite metastases is not clinically relevant, as they are equivalent from a staging perspective (i.e., both examples of non-nodal regional disease) and are generally considered in the same context for clinical decisionmaking. As for patients with regional node metastasis, prognosis in patients with satellite or in-transit metastasis is also informed by primary tumor characteristics and the presence of regional lymph node metastases (Shaikh et al. 2005; Bartlett et al. 2014; Read et al. 2015).

Microsatellite disease, another type of non-nodal regional metastasis, is a microscopic cutaneous and/or subcutaneous metastasis adjacent or deep to, and discontinuous from, a primary melanoma on pathological examination of the primary tumor site (Gershenwald et al. 2017a, b). The presence of microsatellites is also a risk factor for regional node metastasis (Kimsey et al. 2009). From a staging perspective, patients with satellite, microsatellite, or in-transit metastasis without regional lymph node metastasis are categorized as N1c, where the "c" designation denotes satellite, microsatellite, or in-transit metastases. In the 7th Edition AJCC melanoma staging system, these patients were all designated as N2c. Patients with regional nodal metastasis who also have satellite, microsatellite, or in-transit metastasis are categorized as N2c or N3c, depending on the number of regional nodal metastases: N2c if there is one regional metastatic node and N3c if there are two or more tumor-involved regional nodes.

#### **Assessment of Distant Metastasis**

In the AJCC melanoma staging system, the M category denotes distant metastatic disease: M1 if present and M0 if absent. Overall, M category criteria are based on anatomic site(s) of distant metastasis as well as serum lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) levels.

#### Site of Distant Metastasis

In the 8th Edition AJCC melanoma staging system, M1a denotes metastatic disease confined to distant skin or subcutaneous tissues (including the muscle) or distant nodal metastasis (Gershenwald et al. 2017a). In general, a nodal metastasis is characterized as M1a disease when located beyond the regional nodal basin(s) of the primary tumor. For example, in the setting of a lower extremity primary, metastasis to the ipsilateral inguinal nodal basin is considered Stage III disease, but metastasis to the axilla is considered M1a. Metastasis confined to distant skin, subcutaneous tissues, or distant lymph nodes is generally associated with a more favorable survival compared to other sites of distant metastasis (Balch et al. 1983, 2009; Bowen et al. 2000; Barth et al. 1995).

M1b is defined as metastasis to the lung, with or without the presence of distant skin or subcutaneous metastasis or distant nodal disease (Gershenwald et al. 2017a). Overall, these patients have been shown to have a somewhat worse prognosis compared to patients with M1a disease but more favorable survival compared to patients with nonpulmonary visceral metastases (Balch et al. 1983, 2009; Barth et al. 1995).

In the 8th Edition AJCC melanoma staging system, M1c is defined as noncentral nervous system (CNS) visceral metastases (Gershenwald et al. 2017a). Previously, in the 7th Edition, M1c was defined as any nonpulmonary visceral metastasis, including CNS metastasis. The 7th Edition M1c definition was refined as noted above, and a new M subcategory, M1d, has been introduced in the 8th Edition to denote metastasis to the brain, including CNS metastasis. As such, patients with CNS disease, regardless of whether other sites of metastasis are involved, will be categorized as M1d. Overall, patients with CNS metastasis have been noted to have a prognosis worse than patients without CNS metastasis, with median survival historically reported to be less than 1 year and 5-year survival rates <10% (Barth et al. 1995; Balch et al. 1983). CNS involvement is also frequently used as an inclusion or exclusion criterion for clinical trial eligibility, as well as a component of clinical trial stratification and analysis. In patients with multiple sites of distant metastases, the highest Μ subcategory corresponding to the anatomic site(s) of distant metastasis is used for staging purposes.

#### Laboratory Markers

It is generally uncommon for a cancer staging system to use serum markers for staging; however, for patients with melanoma, an elevated serum lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) level at the time of diagnosis of distant metastasis has been shown to be a strong adverse predictor of survival, regardless of anatomic site (Sirott et al. 1993; Eton et al. 1998; Deichmann et al. 1999). In the 8th Edition AJCC melanoma staging system, a suffix of "(0)" or "(1)" further characterizes M1a, M1b, M1c, and M1d disease with non-elevated (0) or elevated (1) LDH levels, respectively. The underlying mechanism for the association of elevated LDH levels with prognosis in metastatic melanoma is incompletely understood, but it remains an important tool to assess prognosis. LDH levels have also been shown to be associated with response to some of the targeted therapies for patients with metastatic or unresectable melanoma; normal LDH levels have been associated with a long-term response without progression to combination BRAF/MEK inhibition (hazard ratio for normal LDH for overall survival in the trial was 0.21) (Long et al. 2016).

#### Melanoma Stage Groupings

Once the T, N, and M categories are known, a patient's stage grouping (I–IV) can be determined. The 8th Edition AJCC staging system employs both a clinical and pathological classification system (Table 2). Clinical classification is performed after the biopsy of the primary tumor has been performed with clinical or biopsy assessment of the regional lymph nodes. The only assessment of the lymph nodes required for clinical staging is physical examination. The primary tumor pathological features Breslow thickness and ulceration define clinical Stages IA, IB, IIA, IIB, and IIC. Clinically evident regional lymph node and/or non-nodal regional disease identified in the clinical staging of a patient designates a patient as clinical Stage III, without consideration of the number of positive nodes. Clinical Stage IV includes patients who have distant metastasis at the time of diagnosis.

Pathological stage groups are determined after the status of the regional lymph nodes is determined after either SLN biopsy or completion lymph node dissection. Pathological classification uses information from additional microstaging of the primary tumor after biopsy and wide excision and from assessment of the regional nodal basin by either SLN or complete lymph node dissection; although SLN biopsy may be performed for some patients with T1 melanoma and clinically negative lymph nodes, SLN biopsy is not required for AJCC staging for patients with a T1 melanoma. Primary tumor thickness and ulceration define pathological Stages IA, IB, IIA, IIB, and IIC.

Clinical stage		Patholog	Pathological staging				
	Т	N	М		Т	N	М
0	Tis	N0	M0	0	Tis	NO	M0
IA	T1a	N0	M0	IA	Tla	NO	M0
					T1b	N0	M0
IB	T1b	N0	M0	IB	T2a	N0	M0
	T2a	N0	M0				
IIA	T2b	N0	M0	IIA	T2b	N0	M0
	T3a	N0	M0		T3a	NO	M0
IIB	T3b	N0	M0	IIB	T3b	N0	M0
	T4a	N0	M0		T4a	NO	M0
IIC	T4b	N0	M0	IIC	T4b	NO	M0
III	Any T	N ≥1	M0	IIIA	T1a/b- T2a	N1a or N2a	M0
				IIIB	T0	N1b or N1c	M0
					T1a/b- T2a	N1b/c or N2b	M0
					T2b/T3a	N1a-N2b	M0
				IIIC	T0	N2b, N2c, N3b, or N3c	M0
					T1a-T3a	N2c or N3a/b/c	M0
					T3b/T4a	Any $N \ge N1$	M0
					T4b	N1a-N2c	M0
				IIID	T4b	N3a/b/c	M0
IV	Any T	Any N	M1	IV	Any T	Any N	M1

 Table 2
 Stage groupings for cutaneous melanoma, 8th Edition AJCC

Used with permission of the American Joint Committee on Cancer (AJCC), Chicago, Illinois. The original and primary source for this adapted information is the AJCC Cancer Staging Manual, eighth edition (2017) published by Springer International Publishing (Gershenwald et al. 2017a).

Pathological Stage III is reserved for patients with nodal or non-nodal regional disease. Stages IIIA, IIIB, IIIC, and IIID are determined by primary tumor thickness, ulceration, and the N categorization for nodal or non-nodal regional disease. Pathological Stage IV is for any M1 disease; there are no Stage IV substages.

#### **Future Directions**

Current staging criteria and classification continue to evolve. Reflective of the desire to develop and mature a framework by which additional known or putative prognostic elements can be collected for analysis and the development of improved clinical tools, the AJCC charges each of its expert panels to recommend which additional primary tumor, nodal, and/or distant disease factors be collected. Although these factors are not used to assign stage grouping, they may be of relevance to individual risk assessment; several such elements are discussed below. Prognostic models that take into account a multitude of patient and tumor characteristics can be used to personalize risk assessment and for the development of validated clinical tools.

#### Primary Tumor Assessment

Pathological assessment of the primary tumor includes more features than are included to define the AJCC T category. Some such factors include mitotic rate as a continuous variable and across all tumor thickness categories, level of invasion, regression, lymphovascular invasion, tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes, and neurotropism. While these factors may contribute information to risk assessment for an individual patient, their influence on survival, independent of the more established pathological prognostic factors – Breslow thickness, mitotic rate, and ulceration – has not been unequivocally established. As such, these factors are not included in AJCC staging, but should continue to be collected for ongoing and future research into individual risk assessment models.

Efforts have also been made to subclassify cutaneous melanoma based on histologic subtypes and molecular profiles. Cutaneous melanoma has been classically divided into five histologic subtypes: superficial spreading, nodular, lentigo maligna, acral lentiginous, and desmoplastic. The most common subtype is superficial spreading. While AJCC staging does not currently incorporate these histologic subtypes, variations in biological behavior of the different subtypes can potentially be used to inform future staging and development of clinical tools. In exploratory studies, molecular classification of primary melanomas (e.g., by differential gene expressions) has identified possible strategies to inform clinical outcome (Bittner et al. 2000; Jaeger et al. 2007; Gerami et al. 2015; Koh et al. 2012; Rajkumar and Watson 2016). These approaches have not been sufficiently validated for clinical use nor have they been implemented into AJCC staging criteria, but taken together represent an area of opportunity to develop clinical tools that may improve risk stratification and enhance clinical decisionmaking.

#### N Category

The 8th Edition AJCC staging system incorporates the pathological status of SLNs without consideration for the extent of microscopic tumor burden in positive SLNs. Several studies support that both volume and distribution of microscopic disease have prognostic significance and that all positive SLNs should not therefore be considered at equal risk for non-SLN metastases and death from melanoma. Various measures of metastatic SLN tumor burden have been proposed, including measurement of the diameter of the SLN metastasis, depth of SLN tumor invasion, and anatomic distribution of the metastasis within the SLN (Ranieri et al. 2002; Carlson et al. 2003; Debarbieux et al. 2007; van Akkooi et al. 2008; Dewar et al. 2004; Starz et al. 2004). In general, several assessments of microscopic tumor burden have been shown to be associated with non-SLN metastases among patients who have a completion lymph node dissection, as well as survival. Maximum diameter of the largest metastatic focus has become the most common measurement used in clinical practice, given its reported prognostic significance, ease of measurement, and reproducibility. Although such measurements are currently not yet incorporated into AJCC melanoma staging, the 8th Edition AJCC melanoma staging system recommends that the SLN tumor burden be recorded. In the future, these measures may be incorporated into prognostic models and clinical tools (Gershenwald et al. 2017a, b).

Molecular and immunological analyses have been explored to further refine the assessment of SLNs in an attempt to identify patients at high and low clinical risk. Reverse transcriptase polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR)-based and other techniques have been employed over the past two decades as a way to detect submicroscopic and otherwise undetectable metastatic melanoma using putative surrogate markers of melanoma (Wang et al. 1994; Van der Velde-Zimmermann et al. 1996; Goydos et al. 1998). Early observational studies evaluating the use of RT-PCR-based techniques suggested that this type of so-called molecular staging was prognostically significant. Confounding such early reports, however, other studies reported contrary findings, suggesting that RT-PCR-based analysis does not refine prognostic abilities beyond standard pathological analysis (Shivers et al. 1998; Bostick et al. 1999; Blaheta et al. 2000; Hochberg et al. 2002; Kuo et al. 2003; Ribuffo et al. 2003; Ulrich et al. 2004; Romanini et al. 2005; Kammula et al. 2004; Mangas et al. 2006; Hilari et al. 2009). A multi-institutional randomized clinical trial reported no difference in overall survival between patients with pathologically negative SLNs whose SLNs were "RT-PCR positive" only and whose regional nodal basins were observed and similar patients who

underwent complete lymph node dissection of the mapped nodal basin, with or without adjuvant interferon therapy (Scoggins et al. 2006; McMasters et al. 2016). Currently, this molecular approach is not employed for risk stratification for routine clinical care in cutaneous melanoma and is not a component of AJCC staging guidelines. The immunological milieu of the SLN has also been explored. Tumor-mediated immune modulation may, for example, render a lymph node more or less susceptible to the establishment of metastases (Cochran et al. 2006). Moreover, markers of immune response in the SLN may identify patients at increased risk of recurrence (Ma et al. 2012; Vallacchi et al. 2014). Currently, neither RT-PCR-based nor immunologic assessment of the SLN is included in AJCC melanoma staging; studies are ongoing using contemporary approaches such as next-generation sequencing, etc., to further assess possible roles for molecular profiling in the risk assessment of patients with cutaneous melanoma.

#### M Category

The melanoma M staging category currently includes site of disease and serum LDH levels. Novel ways to assess the risk of progression and potential response to therapy have been proposed for patients with metastatic disease. In the rapidly evolving era of mutation-targeted therapy and immunotherapy, genomic profiling of metastatic melanoma plays an important role in the assessment of patients with Stage IV melanoma to determine suitability for enrollment in clinical trials or other treatment options. These measures may someday play a role in staging.

Estimates of metastatic tumor burden (e.g., number of metastases, size of metastases, change in tumor burden over time) have been shown to correlate with prognosis in patients with Stage IV melanoma (Gaudy-Marqueste et al. 2014; Panasiti et al. 2013). The AJCC melanoma expert panel recognizes that the number of distant metastases has prognostic value; however, such measures have not been incorporated into the staging system because of the variability in the use of imaging to identify metastatic disease and inconsistent and nonuniform inclusion in many institutional melanoma databases that have been used to inform AJCC staging. Fold elevation of serum LDH and exploratory studies of alternative tumor markers such as S100B and YKL-40 have also been associated with prognosis and treatment response (Egberts et al. 2012; Dick et al. 2016; Simeone et al. 2014). Changes in the serum levels of these tumor markers have been shown to be associated with responses to targeted BRAF agents and immunotherapy (Abusaif et al. 2013; Diem et al. 2016). Elevated LDH has been shown to correlate with poor survival in patients treated with the anti-CTLA-4 immunotherapy drug ipilimumab (Kelderman et al. 2014).

Contemporary molecular techniques may also risk stratify patients with metastatic melanoma. Investigators have attempted to correlate circulating markers of immune response, such as neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio, or receptor expression on CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T lymphocytes, with survival (Jacquelot et al. 2016; Gandini et al. 2016). Sera samples can be tested using RT-PCR or melanoma-specific antigen-detecting platforms to quantify minute expression levels of melanomaassociated cells. This so-called "liquid biopsy" approach can identify circulating tumor cells, cell-free circulating DNA, or cell-free circulating microRNA that has been shown to correlate with survival in Stage III and Stage IV patients (Huang and Hoon 2016).

The current (8th) edition AJCC melanoma staging system does not provide specific recommendations regarding the use of mutational testing for staging; nonetheless, it is clear that there is utility in assessing for somatic mutations among patients unresectable with disease or distant metastasis to help inform therapeutic options. High-throughput gene sequencing, termed next-generation sequencing, can identify genetic mutations that can be used to select targeted therapy, potentially classify patients into prognostic groups, and predict response to immunotherapy (Castiglione et al. 2016). These approaches, while not part of the current (8th) AJCC staging system, represent areas of ongoing investigation that may improve individualized risk assessment for patients to help guide decision-making in the future.

#### Personalized Risk Assessment Versus Staging

The complex interplay between multiple risk factors, the wide range of prognoses within stage groups (e.g., heterogeneity of Stage III melanoma), and the power of computer-based analysis provide opportunities to further refine individualized risk assessment beyond TNM. One must understand that cancer staging and personalized risk assessment serve different roles. Staging classifies patients into large groups of generally similar risk. Staging is useful to inform clinical decision-making, to compare patients across clinical trials, and for other research and reporting efforts. The current staging system is necessarily constrained under a TNM-based system and therefore does not allow the inclusion of other risk factors that can potentially provide a more personalized individual risk assessment. This precise (or imprecise) estimation is more suitably determined by clinically validated prognostic tools (Collins et al. 2015; Kattan et al. 2016). These tools use multiple clinical and pathological features to estimate a single individual's risk of melanoma recurrence and death.

Several risk calculators are available online that use a composite of clinical and pathological factors to provide patients and clinicians with personalized risk assessment (Soong et al. 2010; Callender et al. 2012). In principle, such models can be useful clinical tools to improve clinical decision-making and risk assessment. However, one must be mindful of the shortcomings of currently available clinical prognostic tools and discuss such limitations with patients (Mahar et al. 2016). Issues include both the internal and external validity of the studies used to build the predictive models, either of which may limit the applicability of the tools to certain patient populations. Moreover, the data used to build the models may be somewhat dated, and the clinical risk assessments do not take into account newer therapies and improved diagnostic techniques.

The 8th Edition AJCC Precision Medicine Core has developed criteria by which clinical prognostic tools can be critically assessed in an effort to inform both the professional and lay users of these tools (Kattan et al. 2016). Moving forward, AJCC staging guidelines and clinical prognostic tools will likely both play important roles in the study and management of patients with cutaneous melanoma.

The AJCC melanoma staging system is based on estimates of survival at the time of diagnosis based on clinicopathological data available at that time. A complementary approach to survival analysis is the concept of conditional survival. This type of survival estimation is based on a premise that a patient has already survived for a specific period of time following initial diagnosis. Given that they are alive for a certain period of time after diagnosis, their likelihood of survival has improved. Conditional survival has been explored for melanoma across all AJCC stages. These studies demonstrate improved conditional survival over time for AJCC Stage II, III, and IV patients, but not for Stage I patients (Xing et al. 2010; van der Leest et al. 2014). The implication is that the prognosis for localized Stage I disease is overall quite favorable and generally constant over time, while for patients with more advanced locoregional or distant metastatic disease, prognosis improves over time as a patient survives longer following the initial diagnosis. Conditional survival models can be used for all stages in melanoma to improve risk assessment. This approach takes advantage of information gained over time and offers a dynamic complement to the AJCC staging system and associated prognostic models based on the time of diagnosis. It is likely that conditional survival analyses will be explored using contemporary analytic approaches going forward.

#### Conclusion

Contemporary AJCC staging for cutaneous melanoma incorporates a TNM-based assessment of the primary tumor (T), nodal and non-nodal regional metastasis (N), and distant metastases (M). Primary tumor thickness and ulceration are
important prognostic factors that are important to prognosis in both localized and regionally advanced disease. Regionally metastatic disease exists across a spectrum of microscopic tumor deposits in single lymph nodes to non-nodal regional metastases and bulky, clinically apparent nodal metastases. N stage groups stratify these differences in an effort to risk cohort patients with Stage III disease. Patients with distant metastatic melanoma can be risk stratified according to their anatomic site of disease and serum LDH levels. Taken together, these factors can be used to predict the risk of melanoma-related death. As our understanding of melanoma evolves, so too will the potential factors – clinical, pathological, molecular, immunologic, etc. - and tools that can be utilized to assess risk. Clinicians must continue to collect data on clinical and pathological risk factors so that predictive models and staging system can be critically appraised and updated.

# References

- Abusaif S, Jradi Z, Held L et al (2013) S100B and lactate dehydrogenase as response and progression markers during treatment with vemurafenib in patients with advanced melanoma. Melanoma Res 23(5):396–401
- Azzola MF, Shaw HM, Thompson JF et al (2003) Tumor mitotic rate is a more powerful prognostic indicator than ulceration in patients with primary cutaneous melanoma: an analysis of 3661 patients from a single center. Cancer 97(6):1488–1498
- Balch CM, Murad TM, Soong SJ et al (1978) A multifactorial analysis of melanoma: prognostic histopathological features comparing Clark's and Breslow's staging methods. Ann Surg 188(6):732–742
- Balch CM, Murad TM, Soong SJ et al (1979) Tumor thickness as a guide to surgical management of clinical stage I melanoma patients. Cancer 43(3):883–888
- Balch CM, Wilkerson JA, Murad TM et al (1980) The prognostic significance of ulceration of cutaneous melanoma. Cancer 45(12):3012–3017
- Balch CM, Soong SJ, Murad TM et al (1983) A multifactorial analysis of melanoma. IV. Prognostic factors in 200 melanoma patients with distant metastases (stage III). J Clin Oncol 1(2):126–134
- Balch CM, Buzaid AC, Soong SJ et al (2001a) Final version of the American Joint Committee on Cancer staging system for cutaneous melanoma. J Clin Oncol 19(16):3635–3648
- Balch CM, Soong SJ, Gershenwald JE et al (2001b) Prognostic factors analysis of 17,600 melanoma patients: validation of the American Joint Committee on Cancer

melanoma staging system. J Clin Oncol 19(16): 3622-3634

- Balch CM, Gershenwald JE, Soong SJ et al (2009) Final version of 2009 AJCC melanoma staging and classification. J Clin Oncol 27(36):6199–6206
- Balch CM, Gershenwald JE, Soong SJ et al (2010) Multivariate analysis of prognostic factors among 2,313 patients with stage III melanoma: comparison of nodal micrometastases versus macrometastases. J Clin Oncol 28(14):2452–2459
- Barnhill RL, Katzen J, Spatz A et al (2005) The importance of mitotic rate as a prognostic factor for localized cutaneous melanoma. J Cutan Pathol 32(4):268–273
- Barth A, Wanek LA, Morton DL (1995) Prognostic factors in 1,521 melanoma patients with distant metastases. J Am Coll Surg 181(3):193–201
- Bartlett EK, Gupta M, Datta J et al (2014) Prognosis of patients with melanoma and microsatellitosis undergoing sentinel lymph node biopsy. Ann Surg Oncol 21(3):1016–1023
- Beahrs OH, American Joint Committee on Cancer, American Cancer Society (1992) Manual for staging of cancer, 4th edn. Lippincott, Philadelphia
- Bittner M, Meltzer P, Chen Y et al (2000) Molecular classification of cutaneous malignant melanoma by gene expression profiling. Nature 406(6795):536–540
- Blaheta HJ, Ellwanger U, Schittek B et al (2000) Examination of regional lymph nodes by sentinel node biopsy and molecular analysis provides new staging facilities in primary cutaneous melanoma. J Invest Dermatol 114(4):637–642
- Bostick PJ, Morton DL, Turner RR et al (1999) Prognostic significance of occult metastases detected by sentinel lymphadenectomy and reverse transcriptasepolymerase chain reaction in early-stage melanoma patients. J Clin Oncol 17(10):3238–3244
- Bowen GM, Chang AE, Lowe L et al (2000) Solitary melanoma confined to the dermal and/or subcutaneous tissue: evidence for revisiting the staging classification. Arch Dermatol 136(11):1397–1399
- Breslow A (1970) Thickness, cross-sectional areas and depth of invasion in the prognosis of cutaneous melanoma. Ann Surg 172(5):902–908
- Breslow A (1975) Tumor thickness, level of invasion and node dissection in stage I cutaneous melanoma. Ann Surg 182(5):572–575
- Callender GG, Gershenwald JE, Egger ME et al (2012) A novel and accurate computer model of melanoma prognosis for patients staged by sentinel lymph node biopsy: comparison with the American Joint Committee on Cancer model. J Am Coll Surg 214(4):608–617; discussion 617–9
- Carlson GW, Murray DR, Lyles RH et al (2003) The amount of metastatic melanoma in a sentinel lymph node: does it have prognostic significance? Ann Surg Oncol 10(5):575–581
- Castiglione R, Ihle MA, Heydt C et al (2016) The impact of sequencing on diagnosis and treatment of malignant melanoma. Expert Rev Mol Diagn 16(4): 423–433

- Clark WH Jr, From L, Bernardino EA et al (1969) The histogenesis and biologic behavior of primary human malignant melanomas of the skin. Cancer Res 29(3): 705–727
- Clark WH Jr, Elder DE, Guerry D et al (1989) Model predicting survival in stage I melanoma based on tumor progression. J Natl Cancer Inst 81(24): 1893–1904
- Cochran AJ, Huang RR, Lee J et al (2006) Tumourinduced immune modulation of sentinel lymph nodes. Nat Rev Immunol 6(9):659–670
- Collins GS, Reitsma JB, Altman DG et al (2015) Transparent reporting of a multivariable prediction model for individual prognosis or diagnosis (TRIPOD): the TRI-POD statement. Br J Surg 102(3):148–158
- Debarbieux S, Duru G, Dalle S et al (2007) Sentinel lymph node biopsy in melanoma: a micromorphometric study relating to prognosis and completion lymph node dissection. Br J Dermatol 157(1):58–67
- Deichmann M, Benner A, Bock M et al (1999) S100-Beta, melanoma-inhibiting activity, and lactate dehydrogenase discriminate progressive from nonprogressive American Joint Committee on Cancer stage IV melanoma. J Clin Oncol 17(6):1891–1896
- Dewar DJ, Newell B, Green MA et al (2004) The microanatomic location of metastatic melanoma in sentinel lymph nodes predicts nonsentinel lymph node involvement. J Clin Oncol 22(16):3345–3349
- Dick J, Lang N, Slynko A et al (2016) Use of LDH and autoimmune side effects to predict response to ipilimumab treatment. Immunotherapy 8(9): 1033–1044
- Diem S, Kasenda B, Spain L et al (2016) Serum lactate dehydrogenase as an early marker for outcome in patients treated with anti-PD-1 therapy in metastatic melanoma. Br J Cancer 114(3):256–261
- Edge SB, American Joint Committee on Cancer (2010) AJCC Cancer Staging Manual, 7th edn. Springer, New York
- Egberts F, Kotthoff EM, Gerdes S et al (2012) Comparative study of YKL-40, S-100B and LDH as monitoring tools for stage IV melanoma. Eur J Cancer 48(5): 695–702
- Egger ME, Bhutiani N, Farmer RW et al (2016) Prognostic factors in melanoma patients with tumor-negative sentinel lymph nodes. Surgery 159(5):1412–1421
- Eton O, Legha SS, Moon TE et al (1998) Prognostic factors for survival of patients treated systemically for disseminated melanoma. J Clin Oncol 16(3):1103–1111
- Fleming ID, American Joint Committee on Cancer, American Cancer Society et al (1997) AJCC Cancer Staging Manual, 5th edn. Lippincott-Raven, Philadelphia
- Gandini S, Ferrucci PF, Botteri E et al (2016) Prognostic significance of hematological profiles in melanoma patients. Int J Cancer 139:1618–1625
- Gaudy-Marqueste C, Archier E, Grob A et al (2014) Initial metastatic kinetics is the best prognostic indicator in stage IV metastatic melanoma. Eur J Cancer 50(6): 1120–1124

- Ge L, Vilain RE, Lo S et al (2016) Breslow thickness measurements of melanomas around American Joint Committee on Cancer staging cut-off points: imprecision and terminal digit bias have important implications for staging and patient management. Ann Surg Oncol 23:2658–2663
- Gerami P, Cook RW, Russell MC et al (2015) Gene expression profiling for molecular staging of cutaneous melanoma in patients undergoing sentinel lymph node biopsy. J Am Acad Dermatol 72(5):780–5e3
- Gershenwald JE, Thompson W, Mansfield PF et al (1999) Multi-institutional melanoma lymphatic mapping experience: the prognostic value of sentinel lymph node status in 612 stage I or II melanoma patients. J Clin Oncol 17(3):976–983
- Gershenwald JE, Scolyer RA, Hess KR, et al (2017a) Melanoma of the skin. In: Amin MB, Edge SB, Greene FL, et al eds. AJCC Cancer Staging Manual. 8th ed. New York: Springer International Publishing; pp. 563–585
- Gershenwald JE, Scolyer RA, Hess KR et al (2017b) Melanoma staging: evidence-based changes in the American Joint Committee on Cancer Eighth Edition Cancer Staging Manual. CA Cancer J Clin. https://doi. org/10.3322/caac.21409. [Epub ahead of print]
- Gimotty PA, Elder DE, Fraker DL et al (2007) Identification of high-risk patients among those diagnosed with thin cutaneous melanomas. J Clin Oncol 25(9): 1129–1134
- Goydos JS, Ravikumar TS, Germino FJ et al (1998) Minimally invasive staging of patients with melanoma: sentinel lymphadenectomy and detection of the melanoma-specific proteins MART-1 and tyrosinase by reverse transcriptase polymerase chain reaction. J Am Coll Surg 187(2):182–188; discussion 188–90
- Hilari JM, Mangas C, Xi L et al (2009) Molecular staging of pathologically negative sentinel lymph nodes from melanoma patients using multimarker, quantitative real-time rt-PCR. Ann Surg Oncol 16(1):177–185
- Hochberg M, Lotem M, Gimon Z et al (2002) Expression of tyrosinase, MIA and MART-1 in sentinel lymph nodes of patients with malignant melanoma. Br J Dermatol 146(2):244–249
- Huang SK, Hoon DS (2016) Liquid biopsy utility for the surveillance of cutaneous malignant melanoma patients. Mol Oncol 10(3):450–463
- Jacquelot N, Enot DP, Flament C et al (2016) Chemokine receptor patterns in lymphocytes mirror metastatic spreading in melanoma. J Clin Invest 126(3): 921–937
- Jaeger J, Koczan D, Thiesen HJ et al (2007) Gene expression signatures for tumor progression, tumor subtype, and tumor thickness in laser-microdissected melanoma tissues. Clin Cancer Res 13(3):806–815
- Kammula US, Ghossein R, Bhattacharya S et al (2004) Serial follow-up and the prognostic significance of reverse transcriptase-polymerase chain reaction – staged sentinel lymph nodes from melanoma patients. J Clin Oncol 22(19):3989–3996

- Kattan MW, Hess KR, Amin MB et al (2016) American Joint Committee on Cancer acceptance criteria for inclusion of risk models for individualized prognosis in the practice of precision medicine. CA Cancer J Clin 66:370
- Kelderman S, Heemskerk B, van Tinteren H et al (2014) Lactate dehydrogenase as a selection criterion for ipilimumab treatment in metastatic melanoma. Cancer Immunol Immunother 63(5):449–458
- Kesmodel SB, Karakousis GC, Botbyl JD et al (2005) Mitotic rate as a predictor of sentinel lymph node positivity in patients with thin melanomas. Ann Surg Oncol 12(6):449–458
- Kimsey TF, Cohen T, Patel A et al (2009) Microscopic satellitosis in patients with primary cutaneous melanoma: implications for nodal basin staging. Ann Surg Oncol 16(5):1176–1183
- Koh SS, Wei JP, Li X et al (2012) Differential gene expression profiling of primary cutaneous melanoma and sentinel lymph node metastases. Mod Pathol 25(6): 828–837
- Kuo CT, Hoon DS, Takeuchi H et al (2003) Prediction of disease outcome in melanoma patients by molecular analysis of paraffin-embedded sentinel lymph nodes. J Clin Oncol 21(19):3566–3572
- Long GV, Weber JS, Infante JR et al (2016) Overall survival and durable responses in patients with BRAF V600-mutant metastatic melanoma receiving dabrafenib combined with trametinib. J Clin Oncol 34(8):871–878
- Ma MW, Medicherla RC, Qian M et al (2012) Immune response in melanoma: an in-depth analysis of the primary tumor and corresponding sentinel lymph node. Mod Pathol 25(7):1000–1010
- Mahar AL, Compton C, Halabi S et al (2016) Critical assessment of clinical prognostic tools in melanoma. Ann Surg Oncol 23:2753
- Mangas C, Hilari JM, Paradelo C et al (2006) Prognostic significance of molecular staging study of sentinel lymph nodes by reverse transcriptase-polymerase chain reaction for tyrosinase in melanoma patients. Ann Surg Oncol 13(7):910–918
- McMasters KM, Wong SL, Edwards MJ et al (2001) Factors that predict the presence of sentinel lymph node metastasis in patients with melanoma. Surgery 130(2):151–156
- McMasters KM, Egger ME, Edwards MJ et al (2016) Final results of the sunbelt melanoma trial: a multiinstitutional prospective randomized phase III study evaluating the role of adjuvant high-dose interferon alfa-2b and completion lymph node dissection for patients staged by sentinel lymph node biopsy. J Clin Oncol 34(10):1079–1086
- Morton DL, Wen DR, Wong JH et al (1992) Technical details of intraoperative lymphatic mapping for early stage melanoma. Arch Surg 127(4):392–399
- Morton DL, Thompson JF, Essner R et al (1999) Validation of the accuracy of intraoperative lymphatic mapping and sentinel lymphadenectomy for early-stage

melanoma: a multicenter trial. Multicenter Selective Lymphadenectomy Trial Group. Ann Surg 230(4): 453–463; discussion 463–5

- Panasiti V, Curzio M, Roberti V et al (2013) Metastatic volume: an old oncologic concept and a new prognostic factor for stage IV melanoma patients. Dermatology 227(1):55–61
- Rajkumar S, Watson IR (2016) Molecular characterisation of cutaneous melanoma: creating a framework for targeted and immune therapies. Br J Cancer 115(2): 145–155
- Ranieri JM, Wagner JD, Azuaje R et al (2002) Prognostic importance of lymph node tumor burden in melanoma patients staged by sentinel node biopsy. Ann Surg Oncol 9(10):975–981
- Read RL, Haydu L, Saw RP et al (2015) In-transit melanoma metastases: incidence, prognosis, and the role of lymphadenectomy. Ann Surg Oncol 22(2):475–481
- Reintgen D, Cruse CW, Wells K et al (1994) The orderly progression of melanoma nodal metastases. Ann Surg 220(6):759–767
- Ribuffo D, Gradilone A, Vonella M et al (2003) Prognostic significance of reverse transcriptase-polymerase chain reaction-negative sentinel nodes in malignant melanoma. Ann Surg Oncol 10(4):396–402
- Romanini A, Manca G, Pellegrino D et al (2005) Molecular staging of the sentinel lymph node in melanoma patients: correlation with clinical outcome. Ann Oncol 16(11):1832–1840
- Ross MI, Reintgen D, Balch CM (1993) Selective lymphadenectomy: emerging role for lymphatic mapping and sentinel node biopsy in the management of early stage melanoma. Semin Surg Oncol 9(3): 219–223
- Rousseau DL Jr, Ross MI, Johnson MM et al (2003) Revised American Joint Committee on Cancer staging criteria accurately predict sentinel lymph node positivity in clinically node-negative melanoma patients. Ann Surg Oncol 10(5):569–574
- Scoggins CR, Ross MI, Reintgen DS et al (2006) Prospective multi-institutional study of reverse transcriptase polymerase chain reaction for molecular staging of melanoma. J Clin Oncol 24(18):2849–2857
- Shaikh L, Sagebiel RW, Ferreira CM et al (2005) The role of microsatellites as a prognostic factor in primary malignant melanoma. Arch Dermatol 141(6):739–742
- Shivers SC, Wang X, Li W et al (1998) Molecular staging of malignant melanoma: correlation with clinical outcome. JAMA 280(16):1410–1415
- Simeone E, Gentilcore G, Giannarelli D et al (2014) Immunological and biological changes during ipilimumab treatment and their potential correlation with clinical response and survival in patients with advanced melanoma. Cancer Immunol Immunother 63(7):675–683
- Sirott MN, Bajorin DF, Wong GY et al (1993) Prognostic factors in patients with metastatic malignant melanoma. A multivariate analysis. Cancer 72(10): 3091–3098

- Smoller BR, Balch CB, Balzer BL et al (2016) Protocol for the examination of specimens from patients with melanoma of the skin January 2016. Available at: http://www. cap.org/web/home/resources/cancer-reporting-tools/ cancer-protocol-templates. Accessed 12 Apr 2016
- Sondak VK, Taylor JM, Sabel MS et al (2004) Mitotic rate and younger age are predictors of sentinel lymph node positivity: lessons learned from the generation of a probabilistic model. Ann Surg Oncol 11(3): 247–258
- Soong SJ, Ding S, Coit D et al (2010) Predicting survival outcome of localized melanoma: an electronic prediction tool based on the AJCC Melanoma Database. Ann Surg Oncol 17(8):2006–2014
- Starz H, Siedlecki K, Balda BR (2004) Sentinel lymphonodectomy and s-classification: a successful strategy for better prediction and improvement of outcome of melanoma. Ann Surg Oncol 11(Suppl 3): 162S–168S
- Thompson JF, McCarthy WH, Bosch CM et al (1995) Sentinel lymph node status as an indicator of the presence of metastatic melanoma in regional lymph nodes. Melanoma Res 5(4):255–260
- Thompson JF, Soong SJ, Balch CM et al (2011) Prognostic significance of mitotic rate in localized primary cutaneous melanoma: an analysis of patients in the multi-institutional American Joint Committee on Cancer melanoma staging database. J Clin Oncol 29(16):2199–2205
- Ulrich J, Bonnekoh B, Bockelmann R et al (2004) Prognostic significance of detecting micrometastases by tyrosinase RT/PCR in sentinel lymph node biopsies: lessons from 322 consecutive melanoma patients. Eur J Cancer 40(18):2812–2819
- Vallacchi V, Vergani E, Camisaschi C et al (2014) Transcriptional profiling of melanoma sentinel nodes identify patients with poor outcome and reveal an

association of CD30(+) T lymphocytes with progression. Cancer Res 74(1):130–140

- van Akkooi AC, Nowecki ZI, Voit C et al (2008) Sentinel node tumor burden according to the Rotterdam criteria is the most important prognostic factor for survival in melanoma patients: a multicenter study in 388 patients with positive sentinel nodes. Ann Surg 248(6):949–955
- van der Leest RJ, van Steenbergen LN, Hollestein LM et al (2014) Conditional survival of malignant melanoma in The Netherlands: 1994–2008. Eur J Cancer 50(3): 602–610
- Van der Velde-Zimmermann D, Roijers JF, Bouwens-Rombouts A et al (1996) Molecular test for the detection of tumor cells in blood and sentinel nodes of melanoma patients. Am J Pathol 149(3):759–764
- Wanebo HJ, Fortner JG, Woodruff J et al (1975) Selection of the optimum surgical treatment of stage I melanoma by depth of microinvasion: use of the combined microstage technique (Clark-Breslow). Ann Surg 182(3): 302–315
- Wang X, Heller R, VanVoorhis N et al (1994) Detection of submicroscopic lymph node metastases with polymerase chain reaction in patients with malignant melanoma. Ann Surg 220(6):768–774
- White RL Jr, Ayers GD, Stell VH et al (2011) Factors predictive of the status of sentinel lymph nodes in melanoma patients from a large multicenter database. Ann Surg Oncol 18(13):3593–3600
- Xing Y, Chang GJ, Hu CY et al (2010) Conditional survival estimates improve over time for patients with advanced melanoma: results from a population-based analysis. Cancer 116(9):2234–2241
- Yee VS, Thompson JF, McKinnon JG et al (2005) Outcome in 846 cutaneous melanoma patients from a single center after a negative sentinel node biopsy. Ann Surg Oncol 12(6):429–439



24

# **Clinical Management of Primary Cutaneous Melanoma**

Sonia Cohen and Kenneth Tanabe

# Contents

Introduction	501
Historical Overview	502
Excision of Primary Lesion Margins of Surgical Resection Are Tailored to Melanoma Thickness Excision Technique	502 503 506
Role of Lymphadenectomy in Primary Cutaneous Melanoma           Technique of Sentinel Lymph Node Biopsy           Sentinel Lymph Node Biopsy Provides Prognostic and Staging Information	508 508 510
Conclusions and Future Directions	512
References	512

# Abstract

Surgical management continues to provide the mainstay of treatment for patients with early melanoma. In this chapter the authors describe the surgical approach to primary cutaneous melanoma lesions, including sentinel lymph node biopsy. These techniques are not only potentially curative but also provide the prognostic information necessary for subsequent treatment decisions. The current recommendations for the

S. Cohen

Department of Surgery, Massachusetts General Hospital, Boston, MA, USA e-mail: scohen22@partners.org

K. Tanabe (🖂)

surgical management of early melanoma based on randomized prospective clinical trials, as well as future directions, are reviewed.

# Keywords

Surgery · Melanoma · Excision margins · Wide local excision · Sentinel lymph node biopsy

# Introduction

The incidence of cutaneous melanoma has steadily increased over recent decades to 21.6 per 100,000 individuals per year and now represents the sixth most common cancer in the United States (http://seer.cancer.gov). It is estimated that there were over 76,000 cases of melanoma diagnosed in 2016, corresponding to 4.5% of new

Division of Surgical Oncology, Department of Surgery, Massachusetts General Hospital, Boston, MA, USA e-mail: ktanabe@partners.org

[©] Springer Science+Business Media, LLC, part of Springer Nature 2019 D. E. Fisher, B. C. Bastian (eds.), *Melanoma*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-7147-9_7

cancers among males and females of all races, and that 2.1% of the population will be diagnosed with melanoma at some point during their lifetime. At the time of diagnosis, 84% of melanomas show no evidence of regional or distant metastases. The American Joint Commission on Cancer (AJCC) staging system for melanoma identifies several prognostic factors for these early-stage melanomas which aid in predicting survival, all of which are based on biopsy results. These include primary tumor thickness, the presence of ulceration in the primary lesion, the mitotic rate of tumor cells, and the presence of micrometastases identified by analysis of regional lymph nodes. Initial clinical management of most cases of invasive melanoma is guided by biopsy of suspicious lesions for thorough histopathologic assessment. Once the diagnosis of melanoma is confirmed, the patient will undergo surgical resection of the primary lesion, as well as biopsy of regional lymph nodes to detect metastatic disease when indicated. For localized tumors, resection of the primary tumor is potentially curative and provides an excellent prognosis, with 5-year survival rates as high as 98%. For tumors with evidence of regional metastatic disease, resection of the primary lesion and lymphadenectomy for nodal metastases provide further diagnostic and prognostic information, reduce tumor burden, and may extend overall survival. Understanding the data that guide this surgical management of melanoma is essential to providing optimal care for melanoma patients, as well as for designing new strategies to improve future outcomes.

#### **Historical Overview**

Melanoma was first described as a disease entity in the English literature in 1820 by W. Norris, who described tumors arising from pigmented lesions in two separate families (Hecht 1989). Over the subsequent century, the management of melanoma evolved as this disease was further characterized. The observation that there was a high local recurrence rate even after excision prompted the recommendation for aggressive, wide excision of the skin and subcutaneous tissues surrounding the primary lesion. The propensity of melanoma to metastasize led to the recommendation for early surgical intervention accompanied by regional lymphadenectomy at the time of initial resection. By the early 1900s, invasive melanoma was treated with surgical resection of the primary lesion with at least 5 cm margins in all directions, based on the observation of atypical melanocytes up to 5 cm from the edge of a primary lesion (Wong 1970). Primary excision was accompanied by complete regional lymph node dissection for all patients. Due to the frequent need for skin grafts for wound closure as well as wound complications and lymphedema arising from complete lymphadenectomy, this aggressive approach resulted in significant morbidity. Over the past several decades, the surgical management of malignant melanoma was refined using outcomes from clinical trials. While today surgery remains the mainstay of treatment of melanoma, current recommendations tailor treatment based on studies that balance efficacy with morbidity.

# **Excision of Primary Lesion**

The goal of surgical excision of a primary melanoma lesion is durable disease control at the tumor site. This is of particular importance in the large majority of melanoma patients who are free from micrometastases at regional or distant sites. Potential mechanisms of local recurrence include incomplete excision of the primary tumor, incomplete excision of separate nests of melanoma cells (e.g., satellites or in-transit metastases), second primary melanomas, and hematogenous dissemination of cells back to the original excision site. Excision with wider margins may be an effective strategy to combat the first two mechanisms of local recurrence by facilitating complete excision of a primary tumor and any nearby micrometastases. Wider excision could also have a modest impact on the development of second primary melanomas by removal of additional skin affected by an oncogenic field defect. However, large excisions may be prone to poor healing or surgical site infections, require skin grafting for closure, and lead to impaired function and

	Tumor thickness (mm)	Circumferential excision margin (cm)
Thin melanoma	<1	1
Intermediate	1-2	2 ^a
melanoma	2–4	2
Thick melanoma	>4	2

**Table 1** Current recommendations for margins of excision of primary cutaneous melanoma

^a1 cm margin may be acceptable if significantly less morbid than 2 cm margin

mobility. Thus, clinical trials have been used to determine the minimum safe excision margins that are sufficient for cancer treatment while minimizing functional and cosmetic impairments. The current recommendations for surgical margins (Table 1) are based on the results of a series of prospective randomized trials.

# Margins of Surgical Resection Are Tailored to Melanoma Thickness

Tumor thickness is a prognostic factor for local recurrence. The overall recurrence rate for melanomas <1 mm thick after excision is less than 6% across a number of studies, suggesting that extensive resection might be unnecessary for these thin tumors. As surgical practice shifted toward narrower margins in this context, initial retrospective reviews of patient outcomes in the treatment of thin melanomas found that the rate of local recurrence was not affected. For example, in one series of 936 patients with thin tumors in which 62% underwent excision with margins of 2 cm or less, not a single case of local recurrence was documented over 5 years of observation (Urist et al. 1985). These data suggested that reducing excision margins for low-risk melanomas could be safe. However, the retrospective nature of these studies and the resultant variability in treatment combined with the overall low rate of local recurrence may have obscured any effect of narrow excision margins on oncologic outcomes.

To better address the safety of narrow excision margins for thin melanomas, the World Health Organization (WHO) Melanoma Program conducted a randomized prospective trial comparing 1 cm versus 3 cm clinical margins for primary melanomas less than 2 mm thick (Veronesi et al. 1988). Six hundred twelve patients with localized, biopsy-confirmed thin melanoma were randomly assigned to either wide or narrow excision and then followed for evidence of relapse or death. After a median follow-up of 55 months, there was no difference in overall, disease-free survival, or local recurrence among the two groups. There were three cases of isolated local recurrence, and all occurred in the narrow excision margin group. However, the overall rate of local recurrence remained too low (2.7%) for this difference between groups to be of statistical significance. Interestingly, all three local recurrences occurred in patients with melanomas with greater than 1 mm thickness, suggesting that excision margins of 1 cm are safe for thin melanomas, but should perhaps be limited to tumors less than 1 mm thick. No randomized prospective trial since has readdressed the excision margin for melanomas <1 mm thick. Thus, current guidelines continue to recommend a 1 cm margin of surgical resection for melanomas less than 1 mm thick and are supported by case-control series (MacKenzie Ross et al. 2016). For melanomas between 1 and 2 mm in thickness, some surgeons are reluctant to use a margin of only 1 cm because of the trend toward increased local recurrence observed in the 1 cm margin group in the WHO trial. However, in cases in which a 1 cm margin could be achieved with substantially less morbidity than with a wider margin, the WHO clinical trial data suggest that the use of a 1 cm margin leads to the same overall survival and perhaps only a slight increased risk for local recurrence. Therefore, current guidelines accept a 1 cm margin of excision if this will result in significantly less morbidity than a wider margin, requiring intraoperative judgment to balance the risk and benefit on a case-by-case basis.

The Intergroup Melanoma Surgical Trial was the first randomized prospective trial to address the safety of narrow excision margins for intermediate-thickness melanomas (1–4 mm thickness). Four hundred eighty-six patients with intermediate-thickness lesions were randomized to undergo excision with either 2 cm or 4 cm margins. After a median follow-up of 72 months, no significant difference in recurrence rate or survival was observed between the two arms (Balch et al. 1993). Increasing tumor thickness, the presence of ulceration, and truncal location of the tumor did correlate with decreased survival, but the margin of excision did not, even after adjusting for these other prognostic factors. Importantly, there was a statistically significant decrease in the rate of skin grafting required to close the excision site in patients who underwent surgical resection with narrow margins (11% vs. 46% in patients with 4 cm excision margins). Lower rates of skin grafting led to significantly lower rates of wound infection and shorter hospital stays. Even after 10 years of follow-up, there remained no statistically significant difference in local recurrence, 10-year disease-specific survival, and overall survival (Balch et al. 2000), supporting the long-term safety of narrow excision margins. Moreover, the short-term decrease in morbidity associated with wider excision suggested an overall advantage to treatment of intermediate melanomas with narrow margins.

Subsequent large, randomized, prospective studies specifically addressed the safety of narrow margins in subsets of these intermediate-thickness melanomas. The Swedish Melanoma Study Group trial examined cutaneous melanoma between 0.8 and 2 mm in thickness (Ringborg et al. 1996). One subgroup of patients with clinically suspected melanoma underwent initial excision with a 2 cm margin – following this initial excision and analysis of tumor depth, patients with tumors between 0.8 and 2 mm thick were then randomized to either undergo subsequent wide excision of the scar with 3 cm margins (for a total of 5 cm) or no further intervention. These data were combined with those from patients where the initial diagnosis of melanoma was made via excisional biopsy, and patients with tumors of the appropriate depth were then randomized to surgical resection of the scar with either 2 or 5 cm margins. All surgical interventions were completed within 6 weeks of the initial

diagnostic procedure. A total of 989 patients ultimately participated with a median follow-up of 11 years (Cohn-Cedermark et al. 2000). The observed rates of local and distant melanoma recurrence, as well as disease-free and overall survival, were not significantly different between those randomized to 2 cm rather than 5 cm margins. A similar prospective study by the French Melanoma Group which randomized 337 patients with melanomas less than 2.1 mm thick to excision with 2 cm or 5 cm margins confirmed no differences in rates of recurrence or disease-free or overall survival after a median follow-up of 16 years (Khayat et al. 2003). These studies are consistent with the Intergroup Trial results demonstrating that a 2 cm margin is adequate for all intermediate-thickness melanomas.

Two trials have focused on the safety of narrow margin excisions in cutaneous melanoma 2 mm or greater in thickness. As reviewed above, the Intergroup Melanoma Surgical Trial concluded that 2 cm margins of excision should be safe for all tumors less than 4 mm thick. However, to specifically address recommendations for tumors thicker than 2 mm, Gillgren et al. analyzed 2 cm versus 4 cm excision margins in this patient group (Gillgren et al. 2011). Nine hundred thirty-six patients with tumors of the trunk or extremity were included. There was no difference observed in the overall or disease-free survival between the 2 cm and 4 cm excision groups. The authors did find a trend toward an increase in local recurrence in the 2 cm margin group, although this did not reach statistical significance (p = 0.06). In a second study, 900 patients were randomized to excision of melanomas greater than 2 mm thick with 1 cm or 3 cm margins (Thomas et al. 2004). In this study, locoregional relapses were redefined at interim analyses to be inclusive of local recurrence, satellite, in-transit, and regional lymph node metastases. With this new definition including lymph node metastases, the observed increase in the rate of locoregional recurrence identified in the population treated with 1 cm margins of excision (37% vs. 32% in those treated with a 3 cm excision margin) reached statistical significance at a median follow-up of 60 months. By a median follow-up of 106 months, this had translated into a significantly higher risk of death from melanoma in the 1 cm margin group as compared to the 3 cm group (HR 1.24, 95% CI 1.01–1.53, p = 0.041) (Hayes et al. 2016). Notably individuals with tumors greater than 2 mm thick would typically undergo sentinel node biopsy (see below), but patients in this study were treated without sentinel node biopsy. Thus, many of the locoregional recurrences potentially could have been prevented with sentinel node biopsy. This is supported by the finding that the statistical significance of the observed difference in locoregional recurrences between the 1 cm and 3 cm groups is lost when nodal events are taken out of the analysis. Overall these trial results are consistent with the WHO Melanoma Program trial results, summarized above, which suggested that excision with only 1 cm margins is insufficient for tumors greater than 1 mm thick due to a trend toward an increase in the rate of local recurrence (Veronesi et al. 1988). It is therefore not surprising that a 1 cm margin of excision would also be insufficient for tumors greater than 2 mm thick. And for melanomas >2 mm in thickness, the Intergroup Trial results demonstrate that a 4 cm margin is no better than a 2 cm margin, resulting in the current recommendation of 2 cm excision margins for melanoma between 2 and 4 mm thick (Table 1).

Inclusion of all tumors greater than 2 mm in a clinical trial may be too broad a cohort to detect significant differences between excision margin groups. It is possible that melanomas greater than 4 mm in thickness could require more aggressive excision margins than those closer to 2 mm in thickness. Several studies have found that the thickness of tumor (along with the presence of ulceration) correlates with the risk of locoregional recurrence of primary cutaneous melanoma (Urist et al. 1984; Balch et al. 1993; Karakousis et al. 1996), so inclusion of all tumors greater than 2 mm in a single cohort may prevent investigators from identifying significant differences within treatment arms. It seems reasonable to entertain the idea that the thickest tumors may require wider margins of excision. Most melanomas are less than 2 mm thick at the time of diagnosis; thus, the number of very thick primary cutaneous melanomas without clinical evidence of metastatic

disease at the time of diagnosis is relatively small. No randomized prospective trial has examined resection margins in only thick melanomas. One retrospective study examining resection of tumors greater than 4 mm thick with margins of excision either less than or greater than 2 cm found no significant difference in locoregional recurrence or survival (Heaton et al. 1998). However, in another retrospective analysis, Pasquali et al. found that patients with melanomas greater than 4 mm thick with a pathologically determined margin of less than 1.6 cm (corresponding to a fresh tissue margin of about 2 cm) had a significantly increased risk of local recurrence compared to patients whose pathologically determined margin was greater than 1.6 cm (p = 0.01, with a hazard ration of 2.41 and confidence interval of 1.23-4.73) (Pasquali et al. 2013). Thus, 2 cm margins of surgical resection may be safe for any cutaneous melanoma with a Breslow thickness greater than 2 mm, but further investigation using specific thickness subgroups in a prospective randomized trial is needed to definitively tailor recommendations.

Given the potential difficulty in detecting differences in outcomes between narrow and wide excision margins due to low rates of local recurrence in thin melanomas and relatively few cases of thick melanomas, a number of meta-analyses have been undertaken of the studies reviewed above (Haigh et al. 2003; Sladden et al. 2009; Mocellin et al. 2011; Wheatley et al. 2016). These analyses have the advantage of increased statistical power based on larger combined sample sizes, but the disadvantage of combining heterogenous datasets. The most recent meta-analysis which had access to all the trials reviewed found no significantly increased risk of locoregional recurrence or overall survival between narrow margin and wider margin groups. Importantly, however, this conclusion was based on the grouping of both 1 cm and 2 cm margins as "narrow" excisions. When trials with identical arms were combined for analysis, only overall survival was reported, despite the suggestion that locoregional recurrence may be the most affected outcome. Moreover, there was no attempt to analyze the data by specific subgroup of tumor thickness. As discussed above, this heterogeneity in the comparison groups makes it difficult to interpret the conclusions reached by this and previous metaanalyses, supporting a need for further investigation. Additionally, thicker tumors have higher rates of regional metastases at the time of diagnosis (Morton et al. 2014), suggesting that locoregional recurrence is dependent on control of these metastases in addition to excision of the primary lesion (reviewed below). Analysis of locoregional recurrence in patients with thicker melanomas without accounting for this difference in tumor stage likely confounds the results.

To summarize, current recommendations based on the data reviewed above are the use of a 1 cm margin for melanomas <1 mm in thickness and 2 cm margin for melanomas >2 mm in thickness. For melanomas with thickness between 1 and 2 mm, ideally a 2 cm margin would be used. However, in instances in which this margin is associated with significantly greater morbidity compared to the use of 1 cm margin, then the use of a 1 cm margin is appropriate (Table 1).

# **Excision Technique**

The importance of obtaining an adequate biopsy in the diagnosis of melanoma cannot be overemphasized. Tissue samples are examined by a pathologist for the presence of malignantappearing cells, which can be confirmed using immunohistochemistry to detect the presence of cellular markers of melanoma. As discussed previously, the thickness of the melanoma itself, in addition to the mitotic rate of the melanoma cells, and the presence of ulceration within the biopsied lesion are all characteristics of the tumor which provide important prognostic information that drive subsequent treatment decisions. Mutational analysis can also be performed from the tissue obtained to help determine the need and utility of systemic therapies in cases of high-risk or late-stage melanoma. Suspicious lesions are most often identified and biopsied in an office

setting by a dermatologist or general practitioner, and it is critical that the appropriate technique is used for the initial biopsy to ensure that the tissue sample can be thoroughly characterized. Shave biopsies which take a tangential biopsy of the lesion are often insufficient as they may not sample the complete thickness of the lesion. Shave biopsies should therefore be performed only if the suspicion for and risk of melanoma are very low or the shave is very deep. In contrast, punch or excisional biopsies remove a full-thickness sample of the skin and are the preferred method for sampling any suspected melanoma as they can provide more accurate assessment of tumor thickness.

Once a melanoma has been identified by biopsy, the patient will undergo wide local excision to ensure that the lesion has been completely removed with adequate margins (Fig. 1). Wide local excision is often performed under local anesthesia or regional anesthesia in cases where sentinel node biopsy or lymphadenectomy is not planned; otherwise, general anesthesia is used. Recommended excision margins (Table 1) are clinically determined margins measured from the edge of the lesion or prior biopsy scar and do not refer to the width of the margin assessed by the pathologist. By convention the muscle fascia serves as the deep margin, though there are not data to provide guidance on this matter. Excision of the muscular fascia itself is recommended only in cases of fascial involvement by tumor. Specimens are then submitted for permanent pathology as frozen analysis has not proven reliable for melanoma.

A number of techniques are used to close the wound primarily after excision, including the use of an elliptical incision to prevent "dog ears" and raising skin flaps if needed to reduce tension during closure. The excision site (or "wound edge") is then closed in layers to reduce the potential space and prevent seroma formation. In the case of excision of a lesion with significant tension or in a difficult anatomical area (e.g., the head or neck), the use of skin grafts or local flaps may



**Fig. 1** Wide local excision of right arm melanoma with right axillary sentinel node biopsy. The site of the previously biopsied primary cutaneous melanoma on the right upper extremity has been sterilized and draped. The right axilla has been included in the operative field for planned sentinel node biopsy. The site of the previous biopsy has been marked with a circumferential 1 cm margin (blue circle surrounding scar in **a**) to delineate the planned margin of wide local excision. The incision will be extended into a longitudinal ellipse to reduce the size of "dog ears" on the ends (blue ellipse in **a**). Orienting the excision longitudinally will also help minimize future tissue loss if re-excision is necessary. For sentinel node biopsy, the dermis surrounding the lesion is injected properatively

with a radioactive tracer, technetium-99 sulfur colloid. This dye is taken up by the dermal lymphatics which label the drainage basin (in this case the right axilla). The nodes are also labeled with intradermal injection of isosulfan blue (**b**) prior to the start of the procedure. The sentinel node biopsy precedes excision of the primary lesion so as not to disrupt the lymphatic drainage from the lesion. A handheld gamma probe is used to guide the initial incision (**c**). Identification of the sentinel node(s) is made by the presence of radioactivity and the blue coloration of the node (**d**). After dissection of the sentinel node is complete, the primary lesion is excised including all subcutaneous tissues down to the muscle fascia (**e**). The elliptical excision site is then closed primarily (**f**)

prove helpful. In some cases where the surgeon is not confident that the excision margin is free of cancer, or where narrow margins are necessitated by anatomy, the wound may be left open. Alternatively, a temporary wound closure device (e.g., a wound vacuum) can be placed until pathology results are available. If the pathological margins prove to be negative, then a skin graft or local flap can be used to close the excision.

A final important consideration for both the initial biopsy (if incisional) and wide local excision is the orientation of the scar that is formed. Because the margins of any necessary re-excision will extend circumferentially along the entire length of the scar, the initial scar should be oriented accordingly. For example, the initial incisional biopsy or wide local excision of a lesion on an extremity should be oriented longitudinally along the long axis of the extremity. If re-excision is required (such as in a case where what was thought to be a thin melanoma on initial biopsy is found to be of intermediate thickness after complete excision), then a longitudinal orientation along the extremity will maximize the chances that the scar can be removed with adequate margins and still allow for primary closure of the wound. The possible need for re-excision should be considered when determining the best approach to excision of every lesion based on both size and location.

# Role of Lymphadenectomy in Primary Cutaneous Melanoma

Early observations suggested that metastatic cutaneous melanoma initially spreads through intradermal lymphatics to regional nodal basins and then to more distant sites. As early as the 1890s, it was recognized that individuals with clinically evident nodal disease were more likely to have distant metastases. As a result routine, early elective complete lymphadenectomy evolved as part of standard surgical management of intermediatethickness primary cutaneous melanomas to try to prevent distant spread of metastatic disease. Unfortunately analyses of the nodes excised revealed that only 20% of patients undergoing elective lymphadenectomy had nodal metastases at the time of resection (Beitsch and Balch 1992), exposing 80% of patients undergoing this procedure to the associated risks without an obvious benefit. Moreover, there was no survival benefit when elective early lymphadenectomy was compared to performing complete lymphadenectomy only once a patient had developed clinically palpable nodal disease (Balch 1999; Balch et al. 1996). However, the alternative of nodal observation with lymphadenectomy only once a patient developed clinically evident nodal disease was thought to potentially compromise long-term control of metastatic disease (Balch et al. 2010; Cascinelli 1998; Morton et al. 2006). Lymphatic mapping and sentinel lymph node biopsy was developed by Morton and colleagues as a method to try to identify in a less-invasive manner which patients had nodal metastases (Wong et al. 1991). In this setting, completion lymphadenectomy could be limited to individuals with clinically occult metastatic disease where the goal would be to prevent the progression to clinically evident nodal disease. Multiple studies have since demonstrated the prognostic value of sentinel node biopsy. However, completion lymphadenectomy based on the presence of sentinel lymph node metastases without clinically evident nodal disease has not been definitively shown to improve melanoma-specific survival.

# Technique of Sentinel Lymph Node Biopsy

Sentinel lymph node biopsy is based on the premise that lymphatic channels draining from specific cutaneous sites drain to specific first, or sentinel, lymph nodes that can be identified and resected. The presence or absence of melanoma metastases in these sentinel nodes accurately correlates with the presence or absence of metastatic melanoma in the entire nodal basin.

Sentinel node biopsy is performed using preoperative injection of a radioactive tracer, technetium-99 sulfur colloid, into the dermis surrounding a lesion or biopsy scar on the day of wide local excision and sentinel lymph node biopsy. This dye is taken up by the dermal lymphatics which label the drainage basin. Deep injection below the dermis may map the wrong lymphatic channels and lead to the harvesting of the incorrect lymph nodes or prevent migration of the isotope to a regional lymphatic basin. Subcutaneous injection should be suspected if subsequent imaging does not reveal a draining nodal basin. Following injection, a scintillation camera may be used to identify patterns of lymphatic drainage and sentinel nodal basin (s) (Fig. 2). Labeled lymph nodes are apparent within 30 min of injection, and the radioactive signal persists for several hours. This technique



Fig. 2 Lymphoscintigram localizes regional drainage basin containing sentinel nodes. Sentinel node biopsy is performed using preoperative injection of a radioactive tracer, technetium-99 sulfur colloid, into the dermis surrounding a lesion. This dye is taken up by the dermal lymphatics which label the drainage basin. Following injection, a scintillation camera is used to identify patterns of lymphatic drainage and sentinel nodal basin(s) by imaging the radioactive signal, as shown here. (a) Lymphoscintigram of chest and bilateral axillae. Lymphoscintigram taken 5 min after injection of technetium-99 adjacent to the melanoma excision scar located on the left anterior chest (marked with white * on image). The additional foci of radioactive uptake represent three sentinel nodes within the left axilla. Patterns of lymphatic drainage are not predictable for non-extremity

lesions and may even involve contralateral nodes, making preoperative lymphoscintigraphy helpful in focusing intraoperative dissection efforts. In this case, the left anterior chest lesion drained to the left axillary nodal basin. (b) Left chest melanoma prior to resection. Intraoperative photo of left chest melanoma which has been labeled with technetium-99 sulfur colloid (see lymphoscintigram in a). Sentinel nodes were double labeled with radioisotope and isosulfan blue prior to resection to aid in their identification (c). Tumor is marked "YES" as part of the preoperative universal protocol prior to induction of anesthesia to ensure resection of the correct lesion. (c) Left axillary sentinel node. Intraoperative photo of left axillary sentinel node draining left chest melanoma (b) identified both by the presence of radioactivity as demonstrated in lymphoscintigram (a) and by the presence of isosulfan blue may also identify interval or in-transit nodes. Patterns of lymphatic drainage are not reliably predictable for non-extremity lesions and may even involve contralateral nodes, making preoperative lymphoscintigraphy helpful in focusing intraoperative dissection efforts. Intradermal injection of isosulfan blue at the lesion or biopsy scar further helps guide dissection (Fig. 1). The injected site is typically resected as part of the wide local excision; however, if this is not planned (e.g., when sentinel node biopsy is performed after wide local excision), it should be kept in mind that the isosulfan blue injection may leave behind a small but permanent tattoo. A handheld gamma probe and results of lymphoscintigraphy guide the initial target area for incision, while blue lymphatic channels help lead the dissection to the sentinel node(s). Using this double labeling technique, the sentinel node is defined by its blue color as well as by its radioactivity (Figs. 1 and 2). All nodes with radioactivity count at least 10% of the most radioactive node are defined as sentinel nodes and harvested, a technique which minimizes the rate of false-negative sentinel lymph node biopsy results (Luo et al. 2015). The sentinel lymph node can be successfully identified and removed in more than 99% of patients (Gershenwald et al. 1998). Usually between one and three sentinel nodes are identified per basin and sent for permanent pathology to evaluate for the presence of micrometastases using H&E staining and immunohistochemistry of multiple sections. When occurring as part of the same procedure, sentinel lymph node dissection is often performed prior to wide local excision of the primary lesion to prevent disruption of the labeled lymphatics that help to identify the sentinel node(s). However, in some cases, it is beneficial to reverse this sequence to prevent radiation from injection of the primary tumor site from interfering with localization of the sentinel node.

# Sentinel Lymph Node Biopsy Provides Prognostic and Staging Information

Currently the results of sentinel lymph node biopsy are used for accurate staging and prognosis and to help determine whether completion lymphadenectomy or adjuvant therapy would be of benefit. Sentinel lymph node biopsy at the time of wide local excision is recommended for any patients with melanomas greater than 1 mm thick, as well as for melanomas equal to or less than 1 mm thick which have other high-risk features such as ulceration, a high rate of mitoses, or lymphovascular invasion. In terms of prognosis, it has been estimated that individuals with negative sentinel lymph node biopsies have a 90% 3-year disease-free survival, which decreases to 60% if they are found to have positive sentinel lymph nodes (Gershenwald et al. 1999). Moreover, a number of studies have shown that the histological status of the sentinel lymph node is the best predictor of survival in clinically node negative melanoma patients (Table 2).

The Multicenter Selective Lymphadenectomy Trial (MSLT-I) was a phase 3 trial designed to determine whether identifying patients with clinically occult nodal melanoma metastases via sentinel node biopsy and then performing an immediate completion lymphadenectomy in those patients improved outcomes (Morton et al. 2014). A total of 2001 patients were enrolled, and ultimately 1270 patients with intermediatethickness tumors between 1.2 and 3.5 mm thick completed the trial. Another 314 had thicker

**Table 2** Multiple multivariate analyses suggest that the presence of regional node metastases are the most important prognostic factors in early-stage melanoma and most reliably predict survival across studies

Prognostic factor
Node status
Number of involved nodes ^{a, b, c}
Tumor burden within nodes ^b
Primary tumor thickness ^{a, b, c}
Ulceration ^b
Site of primary lesion ^{a, b}
Patient age ^b

An individual patient's risk of sentinel lymph node metastases can be calculated using a number of available tools (Mahar et al. 2016), including the Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center Melanoma Nomogram which is available at https://www.mskcc.org/nomograms/melanoma (Wong et al. 2005)

Based on ^aMorton et al. (1991), ^bBalch et al. (2001), and ^cGershenwald et al. (1999)

primary melanomas. Of the individuals enrolled in the trial, 60% were randomized to wide local excision with 2–3 cm excision margins as well as sentinel lymph node biopsy, while the remaining 40% of patients enrolled underwent wide excision with nodal observation. A positive sentinel node biopsy triggered immediate completion lymphadenectomy. Otherwise, patients were observed and underwent lymphadenectomy only in the case of clinically evident nodal recurrence.

As predicted by previous studies, MSLT-I demonstrated that in the biopsy group, patients with sentinel node metastases had worse outcomes as compared to those without evidence of metastatic disease. In those with intermediatethickness tumors, the 10-year melanoma-specific survival rate was 62.1% in node-positive patients, compared to 85.1% in patients without a positive sentinel lymph node biopsy (p < 0.001). For patients with thick tumors, the respective rates were 48% and 64.6% (p = 0.03). While there seemed to be little debate regarding the prognostic value of the sentinel lymph node biopsy, there remained significant controversy regarding whether SLNB itself actually reduces rates of recurrence and improves disease-free survival.

Much of the controversy surrounding MSLT-I stemmed from the fact that the trial was ultimately insufficiently powered to address the primary endpoint of melanoma-specific survival in all randomized subjects. This was due to the fact that the majority of patients with intermediatethickness melanomas, 80%, demonstrated no nodal metastases – the survival of this group therefore could not be expected to be improved by early nodal excision, making it difficult to detect a significant benefit of sentinel node biopsy across the entire population. However, when subgroups were analyzed to examine the 20% of patients who ultimately developed nodal metastases (either demonstrated by initial sentinel node biopsy or during the observation period), immediate lymphadenectomy was suggested improve outcomes. Individuals with to intermediate-thickness melanomas and nodepositive disease demonstrated a 10-year melanoma-specific survival benefit with early removal of nodal metastases (62.1% in biopsy group

vs. 41.5% in observation group, hazard ratio 0.56, p = 0.006). Disease-free survival was also significantly improved (hazard ratio 0.62, p = 0.02). There was no treatment-related difference demonstrated among those individuals without nodal metastases at sentinel node biopsy or during the observation period. These results suggested that sentinel node biopsy and early completion lymphadenectomy might provide survival benefit to patients with intermediate-thickness melanoma.

A positive result on pathological examination of the sentinel node(s) indicates that the patient has had clinically occult spread of their melanoma into the lymphatic drainage basin examined. Given the aggressive nature of metastatic melanoma until very recently, the standard of care for a patient with a positive sentinel node biopsy was to offer completion lymphadenectomy, which involves dissection of the remainder of the regional lymphatic tissue to remove any other occult disease that may be present. Complete regional lymphadenectomy can be complicated by wound infection and seroma in the short term, as well as chronic lymphedema and neuronal dysfunction, prompting the need to ensure that this relatively morbid procedure results in improved outcomes.

The DeCOG-SLT study randomized patients with sentinel node-positive melanoma to close clinical observation of the nodal basin or completion lymphadenectomy (Leiter et al. 2016). Four hundred eighty-three patients were randomized, and as a whole, they had low risk of harboring disease in non-sentinel lymph nodes, as nearly 70% of the patients had less than 1 mm of sentinel lymph node tumor burden. The study was underpowered, and insufficient events were recorded to reach statistical significance. No melanomaspecific survival difference was observed after a median follow-up of 3 years, despite a significant increase in the nodal basin recurrence rate in the patients randomized to nodal basin observation. Patients randomized to completion lymphadenectomy had more frequent adverse events - primarily wound complications and lymphedema - compared to those in the observation arm.

MSLT-II was a randomized, prospective trial specifically address designed to whether patients with intermediate-thickness melanomas and sentinel node metastases would incur a survival benefit from immediate completion lymphadenectomy (Faries et al. 2017). One thousand nine hundred thirty-four individuals with a positive sentinel node biopsy were assigned to undergo either dissection of the affected lymph node basin or close observation with clinical examination and nodal ultrasonography. Completion lymphadenectomy did provide additional prognostic information in terms of the pathologic status of the non-sentinel nodes and led to a reduction in locoregional recurrence by about 70%. Despite these findings, with relatively short median follow-up of 43 months, there was no significant survival benefit with completion lymphadenectomy as compared to the observation group.

Together these data suggest that patients with melanoma metastatic to a sentinel lymph node are just as likely to have systemic metastases as they are to have metastases to the remainder of the lymph node basin. Completion lymphadenectomy therefore provides no therapeutic advantage over sentinel lymph node biopsy itself. While there are some complications associated with the sentinel lymph node biopsy, including wound infection and seroma formation, multiple studies comparing the rates of postoperative complication demonstrate that the risk is significantly lower for sentinel node biopsy alone as compared to completion lymphadenectomy (10% vs. 37% in MSLT-I, 24% vs. 6% MSLT-II, and 4.6% vs. 23.2% in the Sunbelt Melanoma Trial (Wrightson et al. 2003)). Therefore, as sentinel node biopsy provides equivalent benefit in terms of survival, completion lymph node dissection should not be recommended in patients who can undergo close clinical and ultrasonographic observation. In this new era of effective systemic treatments for melanoma, the true utility of sentinel lymph node biopsy will likely derive not from selecting patients for early completion lymphadenectomy but from identifying patients who will benefit from aggressive systemic therapies.

# **Conclusions and Future Directions**

Despite the increase in the incidence of malignant melanoma, there have been dramatic improvements in the diagnosis and treatment of patients with melanoma in recent years. Surgical resection of early disease remains the mainstay of curative treatment. Current margin guidelines are derived from randomized, controlled studies and are based on tumor thickness. Reduction in surgical margins over the past several decades has limited the need for skin grafting, resulted in fewer wound complications, and led to faster recovery times without compromising disease-free or overall survival. The development of sentinel node biopsy has provided essential prognostic information and may prove to provide sufficient debulking of regional metastatic disease to make completion lymphadenectomy unnecessary. Moving forward, as our understanding of the molecular basis of malignant melanoma evolves, we will be even better able to predict disease behavior based on a tumor's molecular profile. Understanding which markers confer increased risk for metastatic disease will provide the information needed to further tailor surgical management, reserving aggressive surgical resection for those individuals at highest risk. Even with the development of targeted therapies that are transforming the landscape of care for advanced melanoma, surgical management will continue to provide the mainstay of curative treatment for patients with early disease.

#### References

- Balch CM (1999) Randomized surgical trials involving elective node dissection for melanoma. Adv Surg 32:255–270
- Balch CM, Urist MM, Karakousis CP, Smith TJ, Temple WJ, Drzewiecki K, Jewell WR, Bartolucci AA, Mihm MC Jr, Barnhill R et al (1993) Efficacy of 2-cm surgical margins for intermediate-thickness melanomas (1 to 4 mm). Results of a multi-institutional randomized surgical trial. Ann Surg 218(3):262–267; discussion 267–269
- Balch CM, Soong SJ, Bartolucci AA, Urist MM, Karakousis CP, Smith TJ, Temple WJ, Ross MI, Jewell WR, Mihm MC, Barnhill RL, Wanebo HJ (1996) Efficacy of an elective regional lymph node dissection of 1 to 4 mm

thick melanomas for patients 60 years of age and younger. Ann Surg 224(3):255–263; discussion 263–256

- Balch CM, Soong S, Ross MI, Urist MM, Karakousis CP, Temple WJ, Mihm MC, Barnhill RL, Jewell WR, Wanebo HJ, Harrison R (2000) Long-term results of a multi-institutional randomized trial comparing prognostic factors and surgical results for intermediate thickness melanomas (1.0 to 4.0 mm). Intergroup Melanoma Surgical Trial. Ann Surg Oncol 7(2):87–97
- Balch CM, Soong SJ, Gershenwald JE, Thompson JF, Reintgen DS, Cascinelli N, Urist M, McMasters KM, Ross MI, Kirkwood JM, Atkins MB, Thompson JA, Coit DG, Byrd D, Desmond R, Zhang Y, Liu PY, Lyman GH, Morabito A (2001) Prognostic factors analysis of 17,600 melanoma patients: validation of the American Joint Committee on cancer melanoma staging system. J Clin Oncol 19 (16):3622–3634
- Balch CM, Gershenwald JE, Soong SJ, Thompson JF, Ding S, Byrd DR, Cascinelli N, Cochran AJ, Coit DG, Eggermont AM, Johnson T, Kirkwood JM, Leong SP, McMasters KM, Mihm MC Jr, Morton DL, Ross MI, Sondak VK (2010) Multivariate analysis of prognostic factors among 2,313 patients with stage III melanoma: comparison of nodal micrometastases versus macrometastases. J Clin Oncol 28(14):2452–2459. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2009.27.1627
- Beitsch P, Balch C (1992) Operative morbidity and risk factor assessment in melanoma patients undergoing inguinal lymph node dissection. Am J Surg 164(5): 462–465; discussion 465–466
- Cascinelli N (1998) Margin of resection in the management of primary melanoma. Semin Surg Oncol 14(4): 272–275
- Cohn-Cedermark G, Rutqvist LE, Andersson R, Breivald M, Ingvar C, Johansson H, Jonsson PE, Krysander L, Lindholm C, Ringborg U (2000) Long term results of a randomized study by the Swedish Melanoma Study Group on 2-cm versus 5-cm resection margins for patients with cutaneous melanoma with a tumor thickness of 0.8-2.0 mm. Cancer 89(7): 1495–1501
- Faries MB, Thompson JF, Cochran AJ, Andtbacka RH, Mozzillo N, Zager JS, Jahkola T, Bowles TL, Testori A, Beitsch PD, Hoekstra HJ, Moncrieff M, Ingvar C, Wouters M, Sabel MS, Levine EA, Agnese D, Henderson M, Dummer R, Rossi CR, Neves RI, Trocha SD, Wright F, Byrd DR, Matter M, Hsueh E, MacKenzie-Ross A, Johnson DB, Terheyden P, Berger AC, Huston TL, Wayne JD, Smithers BM, Neuman HB, Schneebaum S, Gershenwald JE, Ariyan CE, Desai DC, Jacobs L, McMasters KM, Gesierich A, Hersey P, Bines SD, Kane JM, Barth RJ, McKinnon G, Farma JM, Schultz E, Vidal-Sicart S, Hoefer RA, Lewis JM, Scheri R, Kelley MC, Nieweg OE, Noyes RD, Hoon DSB, Wang HJ, Elashoff DA, Elashoff RM (2017) Completion dissection or observation for sentinel-node metastasis in melanoma. N Engl J Med 376(23):2211-2222. https://doi.org/10.1056/ NEJMoa1613210

- Gershenwald JE, Tseng CH, Thompson W, Mansfield PF, Lee JE, Bouvet M, Lee JJ, Ross MI (1998) Improved sentinel lymph node localization in patients with primary melanoma with the use of radiolabeled colloid. Surgery 124(2):203–210
- Gershenwald JE, Thompson W, Mansfield PF, Lee JE, Colome MI, Tseng CH, Lee JJ, Balch CM, Reintgen DS, Ross MI (1999) Multi-institutional melanoma lymphatic mapping experience: the prognostic value of sentinel lymph node status in 612 stage I or II melanoma patients. J Clin Oncol 17(3):976–983
- Gillgren P, Drzewiecki KT, Niin M, Gullestad HP, Hellborg H, Mansson-Brahme E, Ingvar C, Ringborg U (2011) 2-cm versus 4-cm surgical excision margins for primary cutaneous melanoma thicker than 2 mm: a randomised, multicentre trial. Lancet 378 (9803):1635–1642. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(11)61546-8
- Haigh PI, DiFronzo LA, McCready DR (2003) Optimal excision margins for primary cutaneous melanoma: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Can J Surg 46(6): 419–426
- Hayes AJ, Maynard L, Coombes G, Newton-Bishop J, Timmons M, Cook M, Theaker J, Bliss JM, Thomas JM (2016) Wide versus narrow excision margins for high-risk, primary cutaneous melanomas: long-term follow-up of survival in a randomised trial. UK Melanoma Study Group; British Association of Plastic; Reconstructive and Aesthetic Surgeons, and the Scottish Cancer Therapy Network. Lancet Oncol 17(2):184–192. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1470-2045(15)00482-9
- Heaton KM, Sussman JJ, Gershenwald JE, Lee JE, Reintgen DS, Mansfield PF, Ross MI (1998) Surgical margins and prognostic factors in patients with thick (>4mm) primary melanoma. Ann Surg Oncol 5(4): 322–328
- Hecht F (1989) The annals of cancer genetics. The description by Norris of hereditary malignant melanoma of the skin in 1820. Cancer Genet Cytogenet 42(1):153–156
- Karakousis CP, Balch CM, Urist MM, Ross MM, Smith TJ, Bartolucci AA (1996) Local recurrence in malignant melanoma: long-term results of the multiinstitutional randomized surgical trial. Ann Surg Oncol 3(5):446–452
- Khayat D, Rixe O, Martin G, Soubrane C, Banzet M, Bazex JA, Lauret P, Verola O, Auclerc G, Harper P, Banzet P, French Group of Research on Malignant Melanoma (2003) Surgical margins in cutaneous melanoma (2 cm versus 5 cm for lesions measuring less than 2.1-mm thick). Cancer 97(8):1941–1946. https:// doi.org/10.1002/cncr.11272
- Leiter U, Stadler R, Mauch C, Hohenberger W, Brockmeyer N, Berking C, Sunderkötter C, Kaatz M, Schulte KW, Lehmann P, Vogt T, Ulrich J, Herbst R, Gehring W, Simon JC, Keim U, Martus P, Garbe C (2016) Complete lymph node dissection versus no dissection in patients with sentinel lymph node biopsy positive melanoma (DeCOG-SLT): a multicentre, randomised, phase 3 trial. German Dermatologic Cooperative Oncology Group (DeCOG). Lancet Oncol

17(6):757–767. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1470-2045 (16)00141-8

- Luo S, Lobo AZ, Tanabe KK, Muzikansky A, Durazzo T, Sober A, Tsao H, Cosimi AB, Lawrence DP, Duncan LM (2015) Clinical significance of microscopic melanoma metastases in the nonhottest sentinel lymph nodes. JAMA Surg 150(5):465–472. https://doi.org/10.1001/ jamasurg.2014.3843
- MacKenzie Ross AD, Haydu LE, Quinn MJ, Saw RP, Shannon KF, Spillane AJ, Stretch JR, Scolyer RA, Thompson JF (2016) The association between excision margins and local recurrence in 11,290 thin (T1) primary cutaneous melanomas: a case-control study. Ann Surg Oncol 23(4):1082–1089. https://doi. org/10.1245/s10434-015-4942-0
- Mahar AL, Compton C, Halabi S, Hess KR, Gershenwald JE, Scolyer RA, Groome PA (2016) Critical assessment of clinical prognostic tools in melanoma. Ann Surg Oncol 23:2753. https://doi.org/10.1245/s10434-016-5212-5
- Mocellin S, Pasquali S, Nitti D (2011) The impact of surgery on survival of patients with cutaneous melanoma: revisiting the role of primary tumor excision margins. Ann Surg 253(2):238–243. https://doi.org/ 10.1097/SLA.0b013e318207a331
- Morton DL, Wanek L, Nizze JA, Elashoff RM, Wong JH (1991) Improved long-term survival after lymphadenectomy of melanoma metastatic to regional nodes. Analysis of prognostic factors in 1134 patients from the John Wayne Cancer Clinic. Ann Surg 214(4): 491–499; discussion 499–501
- Morton DL, Thompson JF, Cochran AJ, Mozzillo N, Elashoff R, Essner R, Nieweg OE, Roses DF, Hoekstra HJ, Karakousis CP, Reintgen DS, Coventry BJ, Glass EC, Wang HJ, Group MSTL (2006) Sentinelnode biopsy or nodal observation in melanoma. N Engl J Med 355(13):1307–1317. https://doi.org/ 10.1056/NEJMoa060992
- Morton DL, Thompson JF, Cochran AJ, Mozzillo N, Nieweg OE, Roses DF, Hoekstra HJ, Karakousis CP, Puleo CA, Coventry BJ, Kashani-Sabet M, Smithers BM, Paul E, Kraybill WG, JG MK, Wang HJ, Elashoff R, Faries MB, Group MSTL (2014) Final trial report of sentinel-node biopsy versus nodal observation in melanoma. N Engl J Med 370(7):599–609. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1310460
- Pasquali S, Haydu LE, Scolyer RA, Winstanley JB, Spillane AJ, Quinn MJ, Saw RP, Shannon KF, Stretch JR, Thompson JF (2013) The importance of adequate primary tumor excision margins and sentinel node biopsy in achieving optimal locoregional control for patients with thick primary melanomas. Ann Surg 258(1):152–157. https://doi.org/10.1097/ SLA.0b013e31828421e1
- Ringborg U, Andersson R, Eldh J, Glaumann B, Hafstrom L, Jacobsson S, Jonsson PE, Johansson H, Krysander L, Lagerlof B (1996) Resection margins of 2 versus 5 cm for cutaneous malignant melanoma with

a tumor thickness of 0.8 to 2.0 mm: randomized study by the Swedish Melanoma Study Group. Cancer 77 (9):1809–1814. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1097-0142(19960501)77:9<1809::AID-CNCR8>3.0. CO;2-6

- Sladden MJ, Balch C, Barzilai DA, Berg D, Freiman A, Handiside T, Hollis S, Lens MB, Thompson JF (2009) Surgical excision margins for primary cutaneous melanoma. Cochrane Database Syst Rev (4):CD004835. https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD004835.pub2
- Thomas JM, Newton-Bishop J, A'Hern R, Coombes G, Timmons M, Evans J, Cook M, Theaker J, Fallowfield M, O'Neill T, Ruka W, Bliss JM, United Kingdom Melanoma Study Group, British Association of Plastic S, Scottish Cancer Therapy Network (2004) Excision margins in high-risk malignant melanoma. N Engl J Med 350(8):757–766. https://doi.org/10.1056/ NEJMoa030681
- Urist MM, Balch CM, Soong SJ, Milton GW, Shaw HM, McGovern VJ, Murad TM, McCarthy WH, Maddox WA (1984) Head and neck melanoma in 534 clinical stage I patients. A prognostic factors analysis and results of surgical treatment. Ann Surg 200(6): 769–775
- Urist MM, Balch CM, Soong S, Shaw HM, Milton GW, Maddox WA (1985) The influence of surgical margins and prognostic factors predicting the risk of local recurrence in 3445 patients with primary cutaneous melanoma. Cancer 55(6):1398–1402
- Veronesi U, Cascinelli N, Adamus J, Balch C, Bandiera D, Barchuk A, Bufalino R, Craig P, De Marsillac J, Durand JC et al (1988) Thin stage I primary cutaneous malignant melanoma. Comparison of excision with margins of 1 or 3 cm. N Engl J Med 318(18):1159–1162. https://doi.org/ 10.1056/NEJM198805053181804
- Wheatley K, Wilson JS, Gaunt P, Marsden JR (2016) Surgical excision margins in primary cutaneous melanoma: a meta-analysis and Bayesian probability evaluation. Cancer Treat Rev 42:73–81. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.ctrv.2015.10.013
- Wong CK (1970) A study of melanocytes in the normal skin surrounding malignant melanomata. Dermatologica 141(3):215–225
- Wong JH, Cagle LA, Morton DL (1991) Lymphatic drainage of skin to a sentinel lymph node in a feline model. Ann Surg 214(5):637–641
- Wong SL, Kattan MW, McMasters KM, Coit DG (2005) A nomogram that predicts the presence of sentinel node metastasis in melanoma with better discrimination than the American Joint Committee on Cancer staging system. Ann Surg Oncol 12(4):282–288. https://doi.org/ 10.1245/ASO.2005.05.016
- Wrightson WR, Wong SL, Edwards MJ, Chao C, Reintgen DS, Ross MI, Noyes RD, Viar V, Cerrito PB, McMasters KM, Sunbelt Melanoma Trial Study Group (2003) Complications associated with sentinel lymph node biopsy for melanoma. Ann Surg Oncol 10(6):676–680



# Management of Locally and Regionally Recurrent Melanoma

25

Cristina O'Donoghue, Jonathan S. Zager, and Vernon K. Sondak

# Contents

Introduction	516
Initial Evaluation of Locoregional Recurrent Melanoma	517
Evaluation of an Unknown Primary	518
Treatment Options	519
Surgery	519
Intra-Arterial Regional Therapies	521
Intralesional and Topical Therapies	524
Radiation Therapy	527
Systemic Therapy	528
Conclusion	529
References	530

#### Abstract

Locally and regionally recurrent melanoma is a recurrence at the site of primary disease, the regional draining lymph node basin, or in between, described as satellite or in-transit metastases. Close follow-up of melanoma patients is merited as most recurrence is diagnosed from a physical exam. Adjunct imaging is important to determine the extent of disease and to rule out distant metastases. The

C. O'Donoghue

Department of Surgery, Division of Surgical Oncology, Rush University, Chicago, IL, USA

J. S. Zager · V. K. Sondak (⊠) Department of Cutaneous Oncology, Moffitt Cancer Center, Tampa, FL, USA e-mail: Vernon.Sondak@moffitt.org treatment options for locoregional recurrent melanoma include: surgery, intra-arterial regional therapy, intralesional and topical therapies, radiation and systemic therapies. Factors such as time to recurrence, previous treatments, patient age, recurrence size, location and number should be considered to determine the best treatment option or sequence of options. Patients with melanoma recurrence should be discussed in a multidisciplinary tumor board especially as treatment options continue to develop and evolve.

# Keywords

 $\label{eq:meta} \begin{array}{l} Melanoma \,\cdot\, In-transit \,\cdot\, Satellitosis \,\cdot\, Intra-\\ arterial therapy \,\cdot\, Isolated limb infusion \,\cdot\\ Intralesional therapy \end{array}$ 

[©] Springer Science+Business Media, LLC, part of Springer Nature 2019 D. E. Fisher, B. C. Bastian (eds.), *Melanoma*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-7147-9 17

# Introduction

Locoregional recurrence of melanoma is defined as recurrence locally at the site of the primary excision scar, regionally within the draining lymph node basin, or in between, described as satellite or in-transit metastases. Satellite metastases by convention are those occurring within 2 cm of the primary tumor, whereas in-transit metastases are any dermal or subcutaneous metastases 2 cm or more from the primary tumor but not beyond the draining regional node basin (see Fig. 1) (Amin et al. 2017). Local recurrence can represent persistent disease following a marginpositive initial excision or recurrence in or adjacent to the primary excision scar after a marginnegative prior excision (Karakousis et al. 1996). Clarification of the nature of the local recurrence may be important for prognosis and may have implications for nodal staging as well. Satellite metastases are considered intralymphatic spread of the primary tumor and in-transit metastases are tumor deposits growing along routes of lymphatic drainage (Speicher et al. 2015). Locoregional disease is staged by the American Joint Committee on Cancer (AJCC) as stage III disease, with satellite and/or in-transit metastases defined as a component of nodal (N) staging and subclassified depending on the absence or presence of lymph node involvement (AJCC 2017).

Up to 25% of melanoma patients develop locoregional recurrent disease. The likelihood of recurrence is impacted by initial stage at presentation, occurring in approximately 14% of stage I and II patients (Meier et al. 2002; Statius Muller et al. 2002) but in up to 47% of stage III melanoma patients (Dalal et al. 2007). As practice patterns change with recent randomized controlled trial results, such as the Multicenter Selective Lymphadenectomy Trial II (MSLT-II) (Faries et al. 2017) and DECOG trial (Leiter et al. 2016), which demonstrated immediate completion lymph node dissection for sentinel lymph node positive disease does not improve survival but increases regional control, there may be an increase in regional nodal recurrence as more patients forgo complete lymph node dissections. Elderly patients (>70 years) may have higher

Fig. 1 In-transit metastases from a melanoma of the lower extremity

rates of local and in-transit recurrence despite a lower incidence of sentinel lymph node metastases, and poorer disease-specific mortality (Balch et al. 2013; Macdonald et al. 2011). Primary sites with higher risk for recurrence include melanomas on the head and neck and lower extremity, especially acral lentiginous primaries. Histopathologic features contributing to the risk for local, in-transit, and nodal basin recurrence include ulceration, thickness of primary (especially >4 mm), positive margin, microsatellitosis and nodal involvement, especially with multiple nodes, extracapsular extension or large nodal metastases (Karakousis et al. 1996; Speicher et al. 2015; Pidhorecky et al. 2001; Leon et al. 1991). Microsatellitosis as a recurrence risk factor was demonstrated in the Intergroup Melanoma Trial, which showed local recurrence risk to be 32% in patients with microsatellitosis versus 2% in those without (Karakousis et al. 1996). After recurrence, patients have a reported 44-74% 5-year survival depending on type of locoregional recurrence (Francken et al. 2008), (Bartlett et al.



2014). Patients with locoregional disease should be discussed in a multidisciplinary tumor board to review evaluation, imaging and treatment options taking into account the patient's age and comorbidities, pattern of recurrence, previous treatments and the overall burden of disease.

# Initial Evaluation of Locoregional Recurrent Melanoma

When locoregional metastasis or recurrence is suspected, the first step is typically to biopsy the lesion by fine needle aspiration, core, incisional or excisional biopsy as clinically indicated to confirm melanoma recurrence (Coit et al. 2018). Pathologic analysis may clarify recurrence versus the development of a new primary melanoma, but there can be cases where the distinction between cutaneous metastases and a new primary melanoma can be very difficult to make. A review of the initial primary excision pathology may identify risk factors present for recurrence or recognize margin-positive excisions. Biopsies can be facilitated with the use of ultrasound if the suspected recurrence is difficult to palpate in the subcutaneous tissue or in regional lymph nodes.

Ultrasound imaging is a fast, inexpensive diagnostic modality to evaluate local recurrence or regionally metastatic disease. For local and in-transit disease, ultrasound is more sensitive and specific for detecting satellite and in-transit lesions than a physical examination (Solivetti et al. 2006; Blum et al. 2006). On ultrasonography, dermal metastases appear as subcutaneous hypoechoic nodules with irregular or lobulated margins. For regional disease, ultrasound is also more sensitive than palpation (89% vs. 71%) for detecting tumor-involved lymph nodes (Blum et al. 2000). Additionally, it can be valuable for the evaluation of minor nodal basins, including epitrochlear and popliteal nodes, and other nodes located outside the conventional cervical, axillary and inguinal node basins (McMasters et al. 2002). For non-extremity melanomas, ultrasound evaluation of bilateral nodal basins should be considered when the possibility exists they may metastasize to contralateral locations. For example, for suspected recurrence of nearmidline melanomas in the midportion of the trunk (back or abdomen), ultrasound of bilateral axillary and/or inguinal basins should be considered; and for suspected recurrence of near-midline head/neck melanomas, ultrasound of bilateral parotid, neck and supraclavicular nodal basins should be considered on a case-by-case basis.

Lymphoscintigraphy is another diagnostic tool that can be used to evaluate recurrent melanoma in several ways. As stated above, melanomas at highest risk for contralateral metastases include those located near the midline on the trunk and head/neck. Reviewing the original lymphoscintigraphy may help ascertain if all visualized sentinel lymph nodes were biopsied. Additionally, if a primary melanoma with potentially ambiguous drainage is shown to have metastasized to one nodal basin that will be treated with a lymph dissection, preoperative node lymphoscintigraphy may be useful to evaluate if there is drainage to the contralateral side, which could harbor micrometastatic disease (Norman et al. 1991). Repeating lymphoscintigraphy for recurrent melanoma is controversial, but there is evidence that it is technically feasible for patients with local recurrence or even in-transit disease. Beasley et al. studied 33 patients with in-transit or local recurrence who underwent lymphoscintigraphy, of whom 79% had undergone a sentinel lymph node biopsy previously (Beasley et al. 2014). At least 1 lymph node was present in 30 of 33 cases, with one third of those being positive. Yao et al. reviewed 30 patients who had recurrent melanoma and found 47% of them had a positive sentinel lymph node (Yao et al. 2003). Repeat lymphoscintigraphy and sentinel lymph node biopsy has been shown to be feasible, but the clinical utility of repeat sentinel lymph node biopsy remains uncertain (discussed subsequently).

Because local, regional and distant sites of disease often are present simultaneously, identification of melanoma recurrence in one location should prompt a careful evaluation for other areas of disease. Local and in-transit recurrences,

		Method of detection			
		Self		Physician	
Type of recurrence	No. of patients	Symptom	Physical finding	Physical finding	Tests
Local	11	0	4	7	0
In-transit	44	1	26	17	0
Nodal	42	0	25	13	4
Systemic	101	38	15	9	39
Total	198	39	70	46	43

**Table 1** Method of detection of the initial recurrence in 198 patients with clinical stage I or II cutaneous melanoma that recurred after wide excision and sentinel lymph node biopsy

Tests defined as CT, chest x-ray or PET. Reprinted from Moore Dalal et al. 2008, with permission of Springer

however, are rarely initially detected by diagnostic imaging, but rather by patient or physician examination (Table 1). Whole-body staging for metastatic disease is indicated for stage III melanoma with satellite, in-transit or nodal disease. National Comprehensive Cancer Network (NCCN) recommended modalities include computerized tomography of the chest, abdomen and pelvis with intravenous (IV) contrast or wholebody PET/CT (Coit et al. 2018). If CT is performed, a CT of the neck may be useful if the primary was located on the head and neck or upper torso. PET/CT has been found to have a higher sensitivity in detecting distant metastases, especially bone and subcutaneous sites, as well as a higher specificity and diagnostic odds ratio (Aukema et al. 2010; Reinhardt et al. 2006; Bastiaannet et al. 2009; Xing et al. 2011). Studies have shown PET/CT changing treatment decisions in 19-37% of cases by finding distant metastatic disease (Aukema et al. 2010; Bastiaannet et al. 2009). The cost-effectiveness of PET/CT has been studied in Canada (Hong et al. 2015). This study showed that a PET/CT scan cost \$22,570 Canadian dollars more for each accurate diagnosis achieved compared to CT alone, but resulted in fewer lymphadenectomies and more accurate diagnoses. PET/CT is not as useful for brain metastasis due to the brain's high physiologic uptake of ¹⁸F-fluorodeoxyglucose, which limits its sensitivity. Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) scan of the brain with IV contrast is generally recommended in addition to crosssectional imaging of the rest of the body for patients with recurrent melanoma (Schellinger et al. 1999).

#### **Evaluation of an Unknown Primary**

A special case of locoregional disease is that of lymph nodes found to have melanoma without a known primary site. Plausible explanations for this presentation include: removal of the original primary on the skin without recognizing it as melanoma (e.g., cryoablation of a presumed nonmelanoma skin cancer, unrecognized accidental or traumatic amputation of the primary, misdiagnosis of a prior biopsy as benign), immunemediated regression of the original primary with persistence of metastatic cells in the regional node and primary malignant degeneration of intranodal melanocytes (nodal nevus cells). Patients without a known primary now constitute approximately 13-17% of melanoma patients presenting with clinically positive lymph nodes (Cormier et al. 2006; Lee et al. 2008). A thorough history including questions about prior biopsies, skin treatments and lesions that have regressed is an important first step in evaluation. For unknown primary melanoma presenting in inguinal nodes, questions should include any history of hemorrhoids or genital lesions, and the physical examination should include rectal and (for women) pelvic examinations. For cervical nodes, endoscopy should be considered for the possibility of a nasal or oropharyngeal mucosal primary. Evaluation of an unknown primary melanoma patient routinely includes imaging for occult metastatic disease and determining resectability. Often, we add ultrasound evaluation of other nodal basins, particularly if the original primary lesion may have arisen in an area with ambiguous lymphatic drainage. The outcome for these unknown primary patients

has been shown to be slightly better than that for all patients with macroscopic stage III melanoma from a known primary site (Cormier et al. 2006; Lee et al. 2008).

# **Treatment Options**

Treatment options for locoregionally recurrent melanoma include excision, isolated limb infusion (ILI), hyperthermic isolated limb perfusion (HILP), intralesional injections, topical therapies, radiation and systemic therapies (Table 2). The last decade has seen a surge in the adoption of new therapies for metastatic melanoma, which has resulted in patients living longer with stage IV melanoma (Ugurel et al. 2017). As survival for melanoma increases, so does the importance of locoregional control. Factors that contribute to the decision-making regarding treatment include consideration of therapies the patient has already received, the patient's age and comorbidities, and the size, location and number of identified tumor deposits.

In evaluating a recurrence, it is important to know the therapies that have already been received. Understanding what therapies the patient has already had determines what therapies will potentially be useful for new disease. Understanding the patient's initial surgery to excise the primary, if they had a sentinel lymph node biopsy or a complete lymph node dissection and the number of nodes that were excised all inform decision-making in redo surgeries. Knowing the BRAF and C-KIT mutation status of a recurrence and whether the patient already received a BRAF inhibitor with or without a MEK inhibitor will inform additional treatment options with targeted therapies as well as eligibility for participation in specific clinical trials (Coit et al. 2018; Long et al. 2011). Some patients may have received radiation, which will limit the amount of radiation, if any, they can receive to treat a recurrence. These are a few examples of prior treatments affecting treatment planning and options for further therapy with recurrence.

#### Surgery

Complete surgical excision with negative margins is the preferred approach if the entire recurrence can be excised and the patient rendered disease free (Coit et al. 2018; Squires III and Delman 2013). Surgical excision to clear margins is generally thought to offer the best chance for long-

 Table 2
 Selected treatment options for locoregional recurrent melanoma

Treatment options for locoregional recurrent melanoma		
Surgery	Radical wide excision	
Intra-arterial regional therapy	Hyperthermic isolated limb perfusion	
	Isolated limb infusion	
Intralesional and topical therapies	BCG	
	IL-2	
	GM-CSF	
	TVEC	
	PV-10	
	Topical imiquimod	
	Topical diphenylcyclopropenone	
Radiation therapy	Adjuvant postoperative radiation	
	Palliative radiation	
Systemic therapy	Molecularly targeted agents	
	Anti-CTLA4 antibodies (ipilimumab)	
	Anti-PD1 antibodies (pembrolizumab, nivolumab)	
	Chemotherapy	
	Dacarbazine (DTIC)	
	Temozolomide (TMZ)	
	Carboplatin/paclitaxel	

term disease-free survival (Squires III and Delman 2013). Dong et al. studied a series of 648 patients with primary melanomas and subsequent local recurrence initially treated with surgical excision and found 124 patients (19%) had no further recurrences (Dong et al. 2000). One hundred and ninety-six (30%) developed another local recurrence, 178 (27%) developed in-transit disease, and 150 (23%) eventually developed systemic disease. This demonstrates that close to 20% of patients with a local recurrence are likely to derive long-term benefit from resection. Many of the patients who progressed went on to receive additional treatments including additional surgery or intra-arterial perfusion, and over 50% of the patients in the series were alive at 5 years, with an estimated 10-year survival of 34.9% (Dong et al. 2000).

Surgical considerations include the location of the recurrence with relation to important structures, and the morbidity that would be involved in excising to clear margins. The aim of surgical excision for recurrence is of course to have a clear margin, but the exact specified margin of excision or even the consequences of resection with a microscopically positive margin have never been adequately defined. In our center, we aim for 1 cm grossly negative radial margins, but do not insist on a defined margin for recurrent or metastatic disease as long the excision ultimately has histologically negative margins. For large defects or areas difficult to close that may need a skin graft or flap coverage, deferred closure pending final pathologic assessment of the margins may be important. Homograft skin or acellular dermis (AlloDerm) reconstruction provides temporary coverage alternatives. Additionally, AlloDerm can be used with adjuvant radiation and may not require any further reconstruction (Deneve et al. 2013).

Patients with overwhelming locoregional recurrence are occasionally referred to surgeons for amputation as a last resort. Amputation generally should not be advocated as other forms of aggressive treatment for local control of disease are preferred, such as regional chemotherapy and intralesional therapy that will be discussed below. However, amputations may be considered when limb-preserving strategies have been exhausted or to palliate patients in the case of a dysfunctional limb or uncontrollable pain. Read et al. described the Melanoma Institute Australia experience with 55 cases (17 upper limb, 38 lower limb) (Read et al. 2015a). The most common indications for amputation were progressive in-transit metastases (67%), problematic limb metastases from distant sites (14%), pain or ulceration after regional chemotherapy (14%) and otherwise inoperable regional recurrence (6%). Most patients in their series (58%) had failed prior limb perfusion or infusion. The overall 5-year survival rate from time of amputation was 22.8%. Stage III patients who had all known disease resected at the time of amputation had a 5-year survival of 38.4% (Read et al. 2015a).

#### **Repeat Sentinel Lymph Node Biopsy**

In-transit disease has a high risk for regional lymph node involvement and at this time the NCCN recommends considering sentinel lymph node biopsy for resectable in-transit disease, as a "category 2B" recommendation (Coit et al. 2018). Ultrasonography is a good first step in evaluating lymph node involvement of a recurrence and should be considered prior to a repeat sentinel lymph node biopsy. In one institutional series of 31 patients undergoing elective lymph node dissection after the development of clinically nodenegative in-transit metastasis, the authors found 19.4% of patients had tumor-involved lymph nodes in the dissection, but (like in primary melanomas) an elective lymph node dissection did not have a significant impact on overall 5-year survival (Read et al. 2015b). As mentioned previously, lymphatic mapping and repeat sentinel lymph node biopsy are feasible in patients with local and in-transit recurrent melanoma (Table 3) (Beasley et al. 2014; Yao et al. 2003; Beasley and Tyler 2015). Evidence from these studies shows that patients with clinically occult lymph node involvement along with in-transit metastases have a shorter time to develop metastatic disease; however, it has never been shown that repeating a sentinel lymph node biopsy at the time of recurrence improves disease free or overall survival. Repeat sentinel lymph node biopsy, if considered, should only be performed for resectable disease or

	% Successful SLN biopsies	Patients with prior SLN biopsy	Patients with any positive SLN
Yao et al. (2003)	100% (30/30)	33% (10/30)	47% (14/30)
Coventry et al. (2004)	92% (11/12)	0% (0/12)	33% (4/12)
Beasley et al. (2014)	91% (30/33)	73% (24/32)	33% (10/30)

**Table 3** Series reporting sentinel lymph node (SLN) biopsy for melanoma locoregional recurrence, either as an initial nodal staging procedure or as a repeat procedure after prior negative SLN biopsy

for disease confined to an extremity that can be definitively treated with regional therapy (Beasley et al. 2014). An alternative approach to repeat sentinel lymph node biopsy is to follow clinically negative but at-risk regional nodal basins with ultrasound, and this is our institutional preference. We will, however, perform a sentinel lymph node biopsy for locally recurrent melanoma in patients who did not initially have a sentinel lymph node biopsy performed at the time of their primary excision.

#### Intra-Arterial Regional Therapies

#### Hyperthermic Isolated Limb Perfusion

Hyperthermic isolated limb perfusion (HILP) and isolated limb infusion (ILI) are two techniques used for advanced locoregional disease limited to an extremity, by isolating the extremity from systemic circulation and giving high-dose chemotherapy intra-arterially. Such regional therapies are considered when the extent of local recurrence is beyond what can reasonably be managed surgically, or if resection fails and the patient has persistent disease or subsequent local recurrence.

HILP involves surgically dissecting and isolating the femoral or external iliac vessels for lower extremity disease or the subclavian or axillary vessels for upper extremity disease (Creech et al. 1958). Regional lymphadenectomy can be done at the time of vascular dissection if indicated. Vessels are directly cannulated and the limb is isolated via ligation of collateral vessels and a tourniquet. Chemotherapy is then infused and circulated throughout the limb for 60–90 min by a cardiopulmonary bypass machine, which heats and oxygenates the perfusate with goal flow rates of 400–600 mL/min. Limb temperature is set to reach 39–41 °C, which is thought to amplify the effects of the melphalan-based chemotherapy (Fraker et al. 1996; Fraker 1999, 2004; Noorda et al. 2004). At the end of the circulation time, the extremity is then washed out with 2 L of electrolyte solution (Fraker 2004). With HILP, drug concentrations are 15–25 times higher in the target tissue but the patient is largely spared from toxicities associated with systemic chemotherapy.

Results for HILP have shown objective response rates (ORR) of 60–90% with complete response (CR) rates as high as 70% (Fraker et al. 1996; Fraker 1999, 2004; Noorda et al. 2004, b; Eggermont et al. 1996; Kroon et al. 2002; Grünhagen et al. 2005; Cornett et al. 2006; Aloia et al. 2005; Raymond et al. 2011; Lienard et al. 1994, 1999). The chemotherapeutic agents most widely used for HILP are melphalan in the United States and melphalan combined with tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- $\alpha$ ) in Europe. Melphalan for HILP is dosed at 13 mg/L of limb volume for the lower extremity and 10 mg/L for the upper extremity (Raymond et al. 2011).

The addition of TNF- $\alpha$  to melphalan in European studies has shown CR rates of 60–80%, but the data are not consistently reproducible (Fraker et al. 1996; Noorda et al. 2004; Grünhagen et al. 2005; Lienard et al. 1994, 1999). Moreover, randomized clinical trials in the United States and Europe failed to show significant differences in CR rates between HILP using melphalan versus melphalan plus TNF- $\alpha$  (Eggermont et al. 1996; Cornett et al. 2006). The American College of Surgeons Oncology Group (ACOSOG) Z0020 trial showed no significant differences between the melphalan and melphalan plus TNF- $\alpha$  arms in terms of either ORR (64%) vs. 69%, respectively) or CR rates (25% vs. 26%) at 3 months after the procedure. However, the

TNF- $\alpha$  arm experienced significantly higher complication rates (16% vs. 4% grade IV adverse events, p = 0.04) (Cornett et al. 2006). In the European study, melphalan plus TNF- $\alpha$  was associated with more CRs but the difference was not significant, with CR rates of 45% for melphalan alone versus 59% for melphalan plus TNF- $\alpha$ (p = 0.14) (Noorda et al. 2004). Other drugs have been studied in HILP, including the addition of interferon- $\gamma$ , but without demonstrated benefit (Lienard et al. 1999).

#### **Isolated Limb Infusion**

ILI, developed at the Melanoma Institute Australia by Thompson and colleagues, is often used as the first regional therapy because it is less invasive than HILP. ILI uses percutaneous catheters (5 or 6 French) fluoroscopically placed into the involved limb and a tourniquet to isolate the limb (Fig. 2) (Thompson et al. 1998). ILI uses a low flow rate (typically 80-120 mL/min) in an acidotic, hypoxic environment, as opposed to HILP. A combination of melphalan and actinomycin D chemotherapy is used and dosed by extremity volume. The chemotherapy is infused over 2-5 min to avoid toxicity from peak perfusate concentrations. In ILI, less melphalan is used (10 mg/L and 7.5 mg/L for lower and upper extremity, respectively) than in HILP, with many centers adjusting the dose for ideal body weight (Rashid et al. 2014). Limb temperatures are measured by subcutaneous and intramuscular temperature probes, with a goal temperature of 37 °C. A tourniquet is placed around the proximal aspect of the limb after systemic heparin is given, and isolation of the limb from the systemic circulation is tested using a Doppler. Once the limb temperature is 37 °C, the chemotherapy is circulated through an extracorporeal circuit with a heating coil, then into the arterial catheter and then removed through the venous catheter in a closed circuit for 30 min (Thompson et al. 1998; Thompson and Kam 2004; Gimbel et al. 2008; Beasley et al. 2008). If a concomitant lymph node dissection is indicated, at our institution we perform the dissection after the ILI procedure to monitor bleeding and so that a fresh surgical wound is not exposed to systemic heparin during the time of ILI.

ILI studies have reported CR rates of 23-44% and partial response (PR) rates from 27% to 56%, with a median duration of responses between 12 and 18 months (Beasley et al. 2008; Kroon et al. 2008; Santillan et al. 2009; Beasley et al. 2009; O'Donoghue et al. 2017a). In a retrospective review, Dossett et al. compared the response rates of HILP and ILI and found that although the ORR was higher for HILP (80%) compared with ILI (53%), the median overall survival (OS) was not significantly different (40 months for HILP vs. 46 months with ILI, p = 0.31) despite a higher burden of disease in the ILI patients (Dossett et al. 2016). The largest published study of ILI is from an Australian multicenter experience that reported the results of 316 first ILI procedures performed between 1992 to 2008 and showed an ORR of 75% (CR rate 33%, PR rate 42%) (Kroon et al. 2016). Median survival was 80 months for those with a CR. Another large, single institution study reporting experience with 107 patients in 2013 (Wong et al. 2013) recently updated their results to include 163 patients undergoing 205 procedures of initial and repeat treatment for melanoma, sarcoma, squamous cell carcinoma, and Merkel cell carcinoma (O'Donoghue et al. 2017b). For melanoma, they reported an ORR of 59.0%, with a CR rate of 25.7%. Responders had significantly longer in-field progression free-survival (14.1 vs. 3.2 months, p < 0.001), distant metastatic disease free-survival (not reached vs. 25.8 months, p = 0.006) and OS (56.0 vs. 26.7 months, p = 0.0004) compared to nonresponders. The initial burden of locoregional disease predicted response, as patients with lower burden of disease had an increased CR rate (50%), ORR (73%) and improved PFS (Muilenburg et al. 2015). Another multi-institutional study demonstrated that resection of all residual disease after an ILI results in progression-free and overall survival similar to that for patients achieving a CR after ILI (Wong et al. 2014).

A benefit of ILI compared to HILP is the ability to do repeat procedures on the same limb with ILI. Treatment algorithms for regional perfusions for extremity in-transit melanoma have been proposed by Chai et al. and Beasley et al., noting the role of repeat regional therapy





(Beasley et al. 2009; Chai et al. 2012). Chai et al. recommends ILI be used in most cases for initial regional perfusions and HILP be used initially for high volume in-transit disease and as a salvage regional perfusion procedure for patients who progressed rapidly after ILI. However, if the patient had a good response with the first ILI and then relapsed, repeat ILI is technically much easier to perform and better tolerated than salvage HILP (Chai et al. 2012). Response rates from repeat regional chemotherapy can be as high as 60–83% for overall response and 20–40% for CR (O'Donoghue et al. 2017a; Chai et al. 2012; Kroon et al. 2009).

#### Morbidity from HILP and ILI

Complications from HILP and ILI are multifactorial and can be related to either the surgery or the chemotherapy secondary to local or systemic leakage (Vrouenraets et al. 1999; Thompson et al. 1996; Möller et al. 2008). Either procedure in combination with a lymph node basin dissection will have associated surgical morbidities including infection, lymphedema and paresthesias. Vascular complications including venous

thromboembolism occur in 1-10% of HILP patients (Möller et al. 2008). Given that ILI requires percutaneous access as opposed to dissection, patients with medical surgical comorbidities that preclude HILP can still undergo ILI. Both procedures incur a risk of local effects of the chemotherapy, including skin and soft-tissue damage. Erythema and edema of the extremity are the most common morbidities and occur in 12–36% of patients (Thompson et al. 1998; Möller et al. 2008). Toxicity can range from mild erythema and epidermolysis to extensive tissue damage requiring fasciotomy or even limb amputation (Möller et al. 2008; Noorda et al. 2002). Risk factors for developing local tissue damage include temperatures higher than 40 °C and a higher concentration of chemotherapy administered (Thompson et al. 1998). A scale designed to measure the limb toxicity of limb perfusions, the Wieberdink grading system (Wieberdink et al. 1982) has been found applicable to patients undergoing ILI as well (Dossett et al. 2016). A multi-institutional study of 171 patients undergoing ILI found that 32% of patients had mild (grades I-II) and 32% had severe

(grades >III) toxicity using the Wieberdink grading system, with one patient requiring an amputation. A multi-institutional study in the USA with 128 patients found that papaverine used for vasodilation significantly improved response rate at the expense of increased toxicity (Beasley et al. 2009). This study also found that limb toxicity was reduced with correction of melphalan dose for ideal body weight without altering the CR rate. Studies have shown that high creatinine phosphokinase levels are associated with higher local toxicity, but not perfusate gas analysis at 30 min (pH, PaO₂ and base excess), limb temperature or ischemia time (Santillan et al. 2009; Beasley et al. 2009). Systemic toxicity occurs when chemotherapy leaks from the isolated limb or because of inadequate washout, and is a greater risk for HILP (Sonneveld et al. 1996). Melphalan chemotoxicity can cause gastrointestinal disturbance, myelosuppression and hypotension (Möller et al. 2008). Systemic leakage can be continuously monitored during HILP using radiolabeled red blood cells that can be detected by a precordial probe (Sonneveld et al. 1996).

#### Intralesional and Topical Therapies

Intralesional therapy has been used since the 1960s for the treatment of intradermal and subcutaneous melanoma metastases (Morton et al. 1974). Tumor lysis resulting from the injected agent and/or the resultant immune infiltrate is thought to promote tumor antigen presentation to the immune system and potentially induce a bystander response in which uninjected distant lesions regress from the resultant systemic immunity (Thompson et al. 2008, 2015; Andtbacka et al. 2016). The bystander effect is most commonly seen in close-by uninjected skin and subcutaneous lesions, but uninjected visceral metastases have been documented to regress after intralesional injection of remote lesions. Talimogene laherparepvec (TVEC) is the only intralesional agent approved by the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA), with other therapies listed in NCCN guidelines as supported by category 2B evidence (Coit et al. 2018). Intralesional therapies are used for patients with unresectable melanoma in stages IIIB/C and IV (M1a), recognizing that at times the only distinction between stage III and IV injectable skin or subcutaneous metastases is the location (extremity or non-extremity) and/or the relationship of the disease to the regional nodal basins.

#### **Bacille Calmette-Guérin**

Bacille Calmette-Guérin (BCG) was the first commonly used intralesional therapy in the setting of in-transit metastases, with Morton et al. in 1974 reporting regression in 90% of BCG-injected cutaneous lesions and 17% of uninjected nodules. Complete regression of all injected disease was noted in 31% of patients with a duration of response of 6–74 months (Morton et al. 1974). Its side effect profile includes severe injection site reactions, fevers, chills, seroconversion, rare systemic infections, pneumonitis, BCG granulomas, hypotension and disseminated intravascular coagulation (Cohen et al. 1991; Robinson 1977; Agarwala et al. 2004). With the development of newer agents, most clinicians feel there is no longer a role for BCG, and it is not used in our institution.

#### Intralesional Cytokines

Interleukin-2 (IL-2) as systemic therapy is FDA-approved for the treatment of metastatic melanoma, but this cytokine can also be used intralesionally for patients with locally recurrent and in-transit metastases. In 2003, Radny et al. conducted a phase II trial involving 24 patients treated with intralesional IL-2, given 2-3 times weekly over 1-57 weeks, as salvage therapy. Participants had previously failed surgery, regional perfusion, radiation therapy or systemic chemotherapy. CR was achieved in 15 patients (62.5%) and PR in 5 (21%) additional patients (Radny et al. 2003). Toxicity is mainly flu-like symptoms or grades 1 and 2 local toxicities. IL-2 has not been definitely reported to induce an immune bystander response like other intralesional agents, but formal prospective trials have not been conducted to ascertain whether this is a fundamental property of intralesional IL-2. The utilization of IL-2 is limited both by its high cost and the need for frequent injections, and its use has largely been superseded by newer agents.

Intralesional granulocyte-macrophage colonystimulating factor (GM-CSF) is thought to induce an immunotherapeutic response to treat melanoma by improving antigen-presenting cells activity and stimulating dendritic cells that are deficient in peritumoral tissue (Ridolfi et al. 2001). A study of intralesional GM-CSF in subcutaneous melanoma metastases showed a PR in 3 of 13 patients (23.0%) with 15-50 mg doses of GM-CSF (Si et al. 1996). Responders had increased T cell and Langerhans' cell infiltrates into the tumor. One study looked at GM-CSF followed by subcutaneous IL-2 and found 2 patients to have a partial response out of 14 patients (14%) (Ridolfi et al. 2001). They found that some response was seen in non-injected lesions and that the treatment was well tolerated, with most patients having mild fever and one patient experiencing muscle pain and arthralgia.

#### Talimogene Laherparepvec

Talimogene laherparepvec (TVEC) is a newer intralesional agent, a genetically modified oncolytic herpes simplex type 1 virus (Gangi and Zager 2017). TVEC is designed to replicate within and lyse tumor cells and has been genetically engineered to contain the DNA sequence coding for the GM-CSF protein, which is intended to promote a systemic antitumor immune response. A multi-center phase III trial, the OncoVex Pivotal Trial in Melanoma (OPTiM), randomized 435 patients with unresectable stage IIIB to IV melanoma with no or only limited visceral disease in a 2:1 ratio into two arms: TVEC (295 patients) and systemically (not intralesionally) administered GM-CSF (141 patients) (Andtbacka et al. 2015). The primary endpoint of the study was the durable response rate (DRR), which was defined as an objective response (CR or PR) lasting  $\geq 6$  months. Secondary endpoints were ORR, OS and safety. A significantly higher DRR was seen with TVEC compared to GM-CSF, 16.3% versus 2.1% (p < 0.001). The ORR was also significantly higher in the TVEC arm at 26.4% compared to 5.7% in the GM-CSF

arm (p < 0.001). Bystander effects were observed, with regression of both uninjected nodules and visceral sites of disease in some patients. A CR was seen in 32 TVEC patients (10.8%) but in only 1 GM-CSF patient (<1%). Median follow-up was 44.4 months, with patients in the TVEC arm having a longer median survival of 23.3 months versus 18.9 months in the GM-CSF arm, with the difference reaching borderline statistical significance (p = 0.051). Differences in DRR between the study arms were more pronounced in stage IIIB or IIIC (33% vs. 0%) and IV (M1a) patients (16% vs. 2%) in contrast to stage IV (M1b) (3% vs. 4%) and IV (M1c) disease (8% vs. 3%). Treatment naïve patients receiving TVEC as a first-line therapy were more likely to respond than those receiving treatment as secondline or subsequent therapy (24% vs. 10%). Median survival for treatment-naïve patients receiving TVEC was 33.1 months versus 17.0 months with GM-CSF, compared to second-line therapy where median survival was 17.1 months with TVEC versus 23.2 months with GM-CSF. Median survival for stage IIIB, IIIC or IV (M1a) disease was 41.1 months with TVEC versus 21.5 months with GM-CSF, compared to stage IV (M1b) and IV (M1c) disease where there was a median survival of 13.4 months with TVEC versus 15.9 months with GM-CSF (Andtbacka et al. 2015). The most common side effects included pyrexia, chills, fatigue, nausea and injection site pain (Andtbacka et al. 2015; Hu et al. 2006). The results of the OPTiM trial led the FDA to approve TVEC as Imlygic in 2015.

Following FDA approval, interest in TVEC intralesional therapy has increased and the NCCN melanoma clinical practice guidelines list TVEC as an option supported by category 1 evidence (Coit et al. 2018). Treatment involves intratumoral injection of up to 4 mL of 10⁶ plaque-forming units (PFU)/mL for the initial injection (plaque-forming units are a measure of the total number of viral particles in a specific volume). The amount that is injected into each lesion is based on the lesion diameter. The largest lesion is injected first and then smaller lesions are injected until the total injectate volume has been used or there are no more lesions to inject. Three

weeks later, the dose is increased based on the expectation that the patient will have seroconverted to react to the virus: up to 4 mL of  $10^8$  PFU/mL is injected intralesionally every 2 weeks for a suggested minimum of 6 months or until there is no residual tumor to inject. New lesions are injected first, followed by the largest lesions until all lesions are injected or the total injectate volume has been used. Future directions for TVEC include combination with other immunotherapies such as anti-CTLA4 (Puzanov et al. 2016) and anti-PD1 antibodies (discussed further below).

# Allovectin-7

Allovectin-7 (Vical Inc) has been studied as an intralesional treatment. It consists of an injectable formulation of plasmid DNA encoding the human leukocyte antigen (HLA)-B7 and B2 microglobulin complex, with the hope of augmenting immune recognition of the injected tumor and potentially triggering a powerful immunemediated "rejection" reaction (Bedikian and Del Vecchio 2008). A phase II study was conducted of Allovectin-7 among 133 patients with stage IIIB/ C or IV (M1a/b) injectable cutaneous, subcutaneous, or nodal melanoma that was recurrent or unresponsive to prior therapy (Bedikian et al. 2010). Patients received 6 weekly intralesional injections followed by 3 weeks of observation and evaluation. Patients with stable or responding disease were eligible to receive additional cycles of Allovectin-7. An objective response was seen in 15 patients (11.8%) with a median duration of response of 13.8 months and a median time to progression of 1.6 months. Regression was observed in uninjected lesions in 9 of 42 patients (21%) with stage IV disease (Bedikian et al. 2010). A phase III study, Allovectin Immunotherapy for Metastatic Melanoma (AIMM), randomized 390 patients 2:1 to intralesional injection of 2 mg Allovectin-7 versus systemically administered dacarbazine or temozolomide (DTIC-TMZ) chemotherapy. The trial failed to show that Allovectin-7 was associated with a significant improvement in ORR or OS compared to the chemotherapy arm. The primary outcome of durable and sustained regional response at 24 weeks in

fact showed that DTIC-TMZ was more effective than Allovectin-7, 12.3% versus 4.6%, respectively (p = 0.01), though responses were more durable for Allovectin-7 (Agarwala 2015). The results of AIMM trial also highlight that chemotherapy with either DTIC or TMZ, although better than Allovectin-7, is not very effective for potentially injectable recurrent or metastatic melanoma.

#### PV-10 (Rose Bengal)

PV-10 (Provectus, Inc.) is a 10% solution of rose bengal, a water-soluble xanthene dye that has been used historically for various medical applications but has now been repurposed for intralesional injection into tumors. Intralesional PV-10 differs from the other intralesional agents described in that it induces tumor lysis via non-immune mechanisms, but the resultant local inflammation facilitates exposure of tumor antigens to antigen-presenting cells. A phase II trial of 80 patients with measurable stage III-IV melanoma with a median of 6 prior interventions receiving PV-10 into up to 20 cutaneous and subcutaneous lesions up to four times over a 16-week period showed an ORR of 51% with a 33% CR rate in patients. Of 21 patients with evaluable bystander lesions, 33% achieved a CR in those lesions (Thompson et al. 2015; Agarwala et al. 2010). No grade 4 or 5 adverse events were reported, and side effects included transient pain at injection sites, local edema and vesicles. In a subgroup of 28 patients who received PV-10 into all existing melanoma lesions, the ORR was 71% with CR in 50% (Agarwala et al. 2014). PV-10 tends to work quickly, with rapid shrinkage of tumor and formation of an eschar at the injection site, but with a pink discoloration to the skin that can last for several weeks or longer (Fig. 3). Sarnaik et al. demonstrated in a small study that intralesional PV-10 was associated with a concomitant immune response, with an increase in circulating cytotoxic CD3⁺/CD8⁺ T cells and tumor-specific interferon-gamma release (Sarnaik et al. 2014). The study showed a 50% CR rate (4/8) in injected and uninjected lesions, with all eight patients showing at least partial regression of injected lesions. Six of eight patients had metastatic disease refractory to immunotherapy. Four



**Fig. 3** (a) A 1 cm dermal nodule of metastatic melanoma on the lower extremity, prior to intralesional therapy with PV-10 (10% rose bengal). (b) The same site 3 weeks later, showing complete regression of the tumor with formation of an overlying eschar. Note the residual pink discoloration of the skin that gradually faded away. (c) A different lesion

of the patients who were refractory to prior ipilimumab, anti-PD1 and/or vemurafenib therapy had pathologic CRs in both the injected and uninjected lesions. In 2015, a phase III trial began comparing intralesional PV-10 to systemic DTIC or TMZ for locally advanced cutaneous melanoma in patients who are BRAF V600 wild-type and who failed or are not candidates for checkpoint inhibitor immunotherapy.

#### **Topical Agents**

Imiquimod and diphenylcyclopropenone (DPCP, also referred to as diphencyprone) are topical immunomodulatory creams that have been used in the treatment of cutaneous metastatic melanoma lesions. Imiquimod is a toll-like receptor agonist thought to elicit cell-mediated antitumor immune responses through toll-like receptor 7 (Tomai et al. 1995). Additional mechanisms of imiquimod's effects include activating dendritic cells (Tomai et al. 1995) and proapoptotic activity toward epithelial cancer cells (Schön et al. 2004). One clinical report using imiquimod 5% cream (Aldara) twice daily under occlusive conditions for 21–28 weeks in three patients with cutaneous in-transit melanoma metastases (>15 lesions each) had two patients with >90% regression of treated lesions (Bong et al. 2002). Another case series studied the topical administration of imiquimod and 5-fluorouracil in 5 patients with a combined total of 45 cutaneous metastases (Florin et al. 2012). A clinical response was seen in 44 of

from another patient, photgraphed 4 h after PV-10 injection, demonstrating the bright pink temporary discoloration associated with PV-10 injection. (Photographs courtesy of Amod Sarnaik, MD, Department of Cutaneous Oncology, Moffitt Cancer Center)

the 45 lesions treated, with complete regression of 19 lesions. No patients developed new lesions during treatment.

DPCP is hypothesized to work via activation of TH17 lymphocytes (Damian and Thompson 2007). The largest series of patients treated with DPCP was reported by Damian et al., who studied 50 patients with locally recurrent, in-transit or dermal metastatic melanoma (Damian et al. 2014). A CR was seen in 46% (23/50) of patients and 38% (19/50) had a PR. Patients with superficial disease had a better response, with a CR rate of 61%, compared to those with deeper or more bulky disease, of whom only 21% had a CR. Regression of bystander lesions or distant metastases has not to our knowledge been reported with the use of topical agents.

#### **Radiation Therapy**

Radiation is sometimes considered as adjuvant treatment for locoregional control of high-risk primary melanomas and nodal basins following resection of lymph nodes at high-risk of relapse. Adjuvant radiation has a demonstrated role in the primary treatment of desmoplastic melanoma, particularly if neurotropism is present or the primary was resected with narrow margins (Coit et al. 2018; Strom et al. 2014). Radiation therapy can also be used as a palliative option for unresectable locally recurrent or in-transit metastatic melanoma of any histologic type, particularly if other modalities have failed.

High-risk factors for regional relapse following radical lymphadenectomy include the finding of extranodal extension, increasing number of involved nodes and larger size of tumorcontaining nodes, and adjuvant radiation to the nodal basin has been shown to reduce the risk of recurrence within the radiated field (Agrawal et al. 2009; Burmeister et al. 2012; Strom et al. 2017). A randomized controlled trial of 123 patients randomized 1:1 to receive adjuvant radiotherapy of 48 Gray in 20 fractions or observation, after a median follow-up of 40 months, found that the risk of lymph node field relapse was significantly reduced in the adjuvant radiotherapy group compared with the observation group (Burmeister et al. 2012). However, there was no significant difference in relapse free or overall survival.

# Systemic Therapy

Newer systemic therapies for melanoma have greatly changed the overall prognosis for patients with unresectable metastatic disease. Such systemic treatments include BRAF inhibitors (vemurafenib and dabrafenib) and MEK inhibitors (trametinib and cobimetinib) and immunotherapeutic agents including ipilimumab and anti-PD1 antibodies (pembrolizumab, nivolumab) (Hodi et al. 2010; Flaherty et al. 2012a; Falchook et al. 2012; Flaherty et al. 2012b; Larkin et al. 2015; Long et al. 2014).

Approximately 45–50% of cutaneous melanomas contain BRAF mutations – although locoregional recurrences are somewhat less likely to be BRAF mutant, potentially due to the fact that melanomas in populations at highest risk to recur in this fashion (such as those in the elderly, and acral lentiginous and head/neck primaries) have a lower incidence of BRAF mutations. In 2011, the FDA approved vemurafenib for metastatic melanoma carrying BRAF V600 mutations (Ascierto et al. 2012). Combined BRAF and MEK inhibition has been shown to improve ORR and OS compared to BRAF inhibition alone (Robert et al. 2015; Johnson et al. 2014; Long et al. 2014). Long et al. published a phase III study that demonstrated a response rate of 67% in patients treated with dabrafenib-trametinib versus 51% in patients treated with dabrafenib only (p = 0.002). With such results, there is the potential to use targeted therapies as neoadjuvant treatment, particularly for borderline or unresectable stage III patients. Moffitt Cancer Center reported its experience with 15 patients with locoregional melanoma treated with BRAF inhibition alone (vemurafenib, 11 patients) or combination therapy (dabrafenib plus trametinib, four patients) (Sloot et al. 2016). Using RECIST criteria, 11 patients (73%) had an objective response. Six patients underwent resection of any remaining disease, with two complete and two partial pathologic responses. In a randomized phase 2 trial involving 21 patients with high-risk resectable stage III-IV melanoma, researchers at MD Anderson Cancer Center showed that neoadjuvant targeted therapy with BRAF and MEK inhibitors significantly improved event-free survival versus standard of care (19.7 months vs 2.9 months) (Amaria et al. 2018). Neoadjuvant protocols vary in the length of treatment before surgery, but we generally use 6 months of preoperative therapy and may not continue treatment postoperatively in case of a pathologic CR or near CR.

The role of adjuvant use of dabrafenib plus trametinib in resected stage III melanoma with BRAF V600E or V600 K mutations has also been studied. A recent phase III randomized, placebo-controlled trial showed that patients who received oral dabrafenib (150 mg twice daily) plus trametinib (2 mg daily) had a significantly lower risk of recurrence compared to those treated with a placebo control (Long et al. 2017). The estimated 3-year rate of relapse-free survival was 58% in the combination therapy group and 39% in the placebo group (hazard ratio for relapse or death 0.47, p < 0.001). OS was also improved in the combination arm, with estimated survival rates of 97% at 1 year, 91% at 2 years and 86% at 3 years compared to the placebo arm estimated rates of 94%, 83% and 77%, respectively (hazard ratio for death 0.57, p = 0.0006), but the survival difference did not cross the prespecified interim analysis boundary of p = 0.000019. More mature survival data from this trial are eagerly awaited, and FDA approval of the combination for adjuvant therapy of resected stage III BRAFmutant melanoma was granted in the spring of 2018.

Options for adjuvant immunotherapy treatment after resection of stage III and IV disease are also evolving, as several phase III trials have shown benefit (Luu et al. 2016). In 2015, high dose ipilimumab was approved by the FDA for adjuvant treatment of resected stage III melanoma, specifically stage IIIA with sentinel node metastases >1 mm, stage IIIB-C or resected nodal recurrence. Approval was based on a phase III trial evaluating adjuvant ipilimumab versus placebo after resection of high-risk stage III melanoma (EORTC 18071), which enrolled 951 patients and found improved recurrence-free and overall survival in the ipilimumab group after a median follow-up of 5.3 years (Eggermont et al. 2016). Patients in the ipilimumab arm received intravenous infusions of 10 mg/kg ipilimumab every 3 weeks (which is higher than the 3 mg/kg dose used for systemic disease) for four doses, then every 3 months for up to 3 years. Grade 3-4 toxicities occurred in 54% of the ipilimumab group, with five drug-related deaths (1.1%). Adverse events led to discontinuation of treatment in 245 (52%) of patients in the ipilimumab group (Eggermont et al. 2015).

In 2017, the CheckMate 238 trial showed that adjuvant therapy with the anti-PD1 antibody nivolumab significantly increased recurrence-free survival among patients after resection of stage IIIB, IIIC or IV melanoma, with a lower rate of grade 3 or 4 adverse events, compared with adjuvant therapy with ipilimumab (Weber et al. 2017). The randomized, double-blind phase III trial assigned patients to nivolumab at a standard dose of 3 mg/kg every 2 weeks (453 patients) or ipilimumab at the higher 10 mg/kg dose every 3 weeks for four doses and then every 12 weeks (453 patients). The rate of recurrence-free survival at 1 year was 70.5% (95% CI, 66.1-74.5) in the nivolumab group and 60.8% (95% CI, 56.0-65.2) in the ipilimumab group. Grade 3 or 4 treatmentrelated adverse events were reported in 14.4% of the patients in the nivolumab group and 45.9% in the ipilimumab group. Although survival data is not yet available from this trial, the FDA has now approved nivolumab as an adjuvant treatment

option for patients with resected high-risk stage III-IV melanoma.

#### **Combination Treatments**

Combining intralesional therapies such as TVEC with systemic immunotherapies is increasingly being studied. A phase Ib multicenter trial was designed to evaluate the safety and efficacy of TVEC plus ipilimumab (Puzanov et al. 2016). Ipilimumab (3 mg/kg IV) was given every 3 weeks for four doses starting week 6, after the first two TVEC injection sessions. Nineteen patients were assessed and the ORR was 40%, with 44% having a durable response lasting  $\geq 6$  months. With a median follow-up of 20 months, the 18-month progression free survival was 50% and 18-month survival was 67%.

Another combination trial investigated pembrolizumab with TVEC for stage IIIB/IIIC and IV melanoma (NCT02263508) (Ribas et al. 2015). Patients received TVEC injections then started pembrolizumab 200 mg IV on day 36 for up to 2 years. Twenty-one patients were enrolled. Six patients had grade 3 adverse events (generalized rash, anemia, hyperglycemia, macular rash, and headache); no treatment-related grade 4 adverse events were reported (Long et al. 2015). Efficacy endpoints have not been reported at the time of this writing.

PV-10 is also under investigation as part of combination therapy (Agarwala et al. 2017). A phase Ib/II study of PV-10 in combination with the anti-PD1 antibody pembrolizumab, PV-10-MM-1201 (NCT02557321), evaluated stage IV melanoma patients with at least one injectable lesion and a visceral lesion who could receive pembrolizumab. Initial data from 12 patients shows acceptable tolerability and a 50% response rate, with one CR (Agarwala et al. 2017).

#### Conclusion

Locoregional recurrent melanoma continues to be a difficult disease to treat, but the armamentarium of options has expanded in recent years. The challenge physicians face is to determine what treatments to offer and the timing or sequence of treatments. Patients' individual clinical factors (e.g., time to recurrence, previous treatment, patient age, recurrence size, location, and number) should be discussed in a multidisciplinary setting to weigh the benefits and timing of treatment options. Clinical trials are integral to the advancement the treatment of locoregional melanoma. As new therapies emerge and evidence improves on the efficacy of current treatments, recommendations will continue to evolve for locoregional recurrent melanoma.

# References

- Agarwala SS, Neuberg D, Park Y, Kirkwood JM (2004) Mature results of a phase III randomized trial of Bacillus Calmette–Guerin (BCG) versus observation and BCG plus dacarbazine versus BCG in the adjuvant therapy of American Joint Committee on Cancer stage I–III melanoma (E1673). Cancer 100(8):1692–1698
- Agarwala SS, Thompson JF, Smithers BM, Ross MI, Coventry BJ, Minor DR et al (2010) Chemoablation of metastatic melanoma with rose bengal (PV-10). J Clin Oncol 28(15_suppl):8534
- Agarwala SS, Thompson JF, Smithers BM, Ross MI, Scoggins CR, Coventry BJ et al (2014) Efficacy of intralesional Rose Bengal in patients receiving injection of all existing melanoma in phase II study PV-10-MM-02. J Clin Oncol 32(15 suppl):9027
- Agarwala SS (2015) Intralesional therapy for advanced melanoma: promise and limitation. Curr Opin Oncol 27(2):151–156
- Agarwala SS, Ross M Zager JS, Essner R, Shirai K, Smithers BM, Atkinson V, Wachter E (2017) Preliminary results of a Phase 1b/2 study of PV-10 and pembrolizumab in Stage IV melanoma. In: World Congress of Melanoma/Society for Melanoma Research Congress, Brisbane, 18 Oct 2017
- Agrawal S, Kane JM, Guadagnolo BA, Kraybill WG, Ballo MT (2009) The benefits of adjuvant radiation therapy after therapeutic lymphadenectomy for clinically advanced, high-risk, lymph node-metastatic melanoma. Cancer 115(24):5836–5844
- Amaria RN, Prieto PA, Tetzlaff MT, Reuben A, Andrews MC, Ross MI, Glitza IC, Cormier J, Hwu WJ, Tawbi HA, Patel SP (2018) Neoadjuvant plus adjuvant dabrafenib and trametinib versus standard of care in patients with high-risk, surgically resectable melanoma: a single-centre, open-label, randomised, phase 2 trial. Lancet Oncol 19(2):181–193
- Amin MD et al (2017) AJCC cancer staging manual, 8th edn. Springer, Chicago
- Aloia TA, Grubbs E, Onaitis M, Mosca PJ, Cheng T-Y, Seigler H et al (2005) Predictors of outcome after hyperthermic isolated limb perfusion: role of tumor response. Arch Surg 140(11):1115–1120

- Andtbacka RH, Kaufman HL, Collichio F, Amatruda T, Senzer N, Chesney J et al (2015) Talimogene laherparepvec improves durable response rate in patients with advanced melanoma. J Clin Oncol 33(25): 2780–2788
- Andtbacka RHI, Ross M, Puzanov I, Milhem M, Collichio F, Delman KA et al (2016) Patterns of clinical response with talimogene laherparepvec (T-VEC) in patients with melanoma treated in the OPTiM phase III clinical trial. Ann Surg Oncol 23(13):4169–4177
- Ascierto PA, Kirkwood JM, Grob J-J, Simeone E, Grimaldi AM, Maio M et al (2012) The role of BRAF V600 mutation in melanoma. J Transl Med 10(1):85
- Aukema TS, Valdés Olmos RA, Wouters MWJM, Klop WMC, Kroon BBR, Vogel WV et al (2010) Utility of preoperative ¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT and brain MRI in melanoma patients with palpable lymph node metastases. Ann Surg Oncol 17(10):2773–2778
- Balch CM, S-J S, Gershenwald JE, Thompson JF, Coit DG, Atkins MB et al (2013) Age as a prognostic factor in patients with localized melanoma and regional metastases. Ann Surg Oncol 20(12):3961–3968
- Bartlett EK, Gupta M, Datta J, Gimotty PA, Guerry D, Xu X et al (2014) Prognosis of patients with melanoma and microsatellitosis undergoing sentinel lymph node biopsy. Ann Surg Oncol 21(3):1016–1023
- Bastiaannet E, Wobbes T, Hoekstra OS, EJvd J, Brouwers AH, Koelemij R et al (2009) Prospective comparison of [18F]Fluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography and computed tomography in patients with melanoma with palpable lymph node metastases: diagnostic accuracy and impact on treatment. J Clin Oncol 27(28): 4774–4780
- Beasley G, Tyler D (2015) In-transit melanoma metastases: incidence, prognosis, and the role of lymphadenectomy. Ann Surg Oncol 22(2):358–360
- Beasley GM, Petersen RP, Yoo J, McMahon N, Aloia T, Petros W et al (2008) Isolated limb infusion for in-transit malignant melanoma of the extremity: a well-tolerated but less effective alternative to hyperthermic isolated limb perfusion. Ann Surg Oncol 15(8):2195–2205
- Beasley GM, Caudle A, Petersen RP, McMahon NS, Padussis J, Mosca PJ et al (2009) A multi-institutional experience of isolated limb infusion: defining response and toxicity in the US. J Am Coll Surg 208(5):706–715
- Beasley GM, Speicher P, Sharma K, Seigler H, Salama A, Mosca P et al (2014) Efficacy of repeat sentinel lymph node biopsy in patients who develop recurrent melanoma. J Am Coll Surg 218(4):686–692
- Bedikian AY, Del Vecchio M (2008) Allovectin-7 therapy in metastatic melanoma. Expert Opin Biol Ther 8(6): 839–844
- Bedikian AY, Richards J, Kharkevitch D, Atkins MB, Whitman E, Gonzalez R (2010) A phase 2 study of high-dose Allovectin-7 in patients with advanced metastatic melanoma. Melanoma Res 20(3):218–226
- Blum A, Schlagenhauff B, Stroebel W, Breuninger H, Rassner G, Garbe C (2000) Ultrasound examination of regional lymph nodes significantly improves early detection of locoregional metastases during the

follow-up of patients with cutaneous melanoma. Cancer 88(11):2534–2539

- Blum A, Schmid-Wendtner MH, Mauss-Kiefer V, Eberle JY, Kuchelmeister C, Dill-Muller D (2006) Ultrasound mapping of lymph node and subcutaneous metastases in patients with cutaneous melanoma: results of a prospective multicenter study. Dermatology (Basel, Switzerland) 212(1):47–52
- Bong AB, Bonnekoh B, Franke I, Schön MP, Ulrich J, Gollnick H (2002) Imiquimod, a topical immune response modifier, in the treatment of cutaneous metastases of malignant melanoma. Dermatology (Basel, Switzerland) 205(2):135–138
- Burmeister BH, Henderson MA, Ainslie J, Fisher R, Di Iulio J, Smithers BM et al (2012) Adjuvant radiotherapy versus observation alone for patients at risk of lymph-node field relapse after therapeutic lymphadenectomy for melanoma: a randomised trial. Lancet Oncol 13(6):589–597
- Chai CY, Deneve JL, Beasley GM, Marzban SS, Chen YA, Rawal B et al (2012) A multi-institutional experience of repeat regional chemotherapy for recurrent melanoma of extremities. Ann Surg Oncol 19(5):1637–1643
- Cohen MH, Elin RJ, Cohen BJ (1991) Hypotension and disseminated intravascular coagulation following intralesional bacillus Calmette-Guerin therapy for locally metastatic melanoma. Cancer Immunol Immunother 32(5):315–324
- Coit DG, Thompson JA, Algazi A, Andtbacka R, Bichakjian CK, Carson WE, et al (2018) NCCN guidelines insights. Melanoma, Version 2. 2018. Available from: https://www.nccn.org/professionals/physician_ gls/PDF/melanoma.pdf
- Cormier JN, Xing Y, Feng L, Huang X, Davidson L, Gershenwald JE et al (2006) Metastatic melanoma to lymph nodes in patients with unknown primary sites. Cancer 106(9):2012–2020
- Cornett WR, McCall LM, Petersen RP, Ross MI, Briele HA, Noyes RD et al (2006) Randomized multicenter trial of hyperthermic isolated limb perfusion with melphalan alone compared with melphalan plus tumor necrosis factor: American College of Surgeons Oncology Group Trial Z0020. J Clin Oncol 24(25): 4196–4201
- Coventry BJ, Chatterton B, Whitehead F, James C, Gill PG (2004) Sentinel lymph node dissection and lymphatic mapping for local subcutaneous recurrence in melanoma treatment: longer-term follow-up results. Ann Surg Oncol 11:2038–2078
- Creech O Jr, Krementz E, Ryan RF, Winblad JN (1958) Chemotherapy of cancer: regional perfusion utilizing an extracorporeal circuit. Ann Surg 148(4):616
- Dalal KM, Patel A, Brady MS, Jaques DP, Coit DG (2007) Patterns of first-recurrence and post-recurrence survival in patients with primary cutaneous melanoma after sentinel lymph node biopsy. Ann Surg Oncol 14(6): 1934–1942
- Damian DL, Thompson JF (2007) Treatment of extensive cutaneous metastatic melanoma with topical diphencyprone. J Am Acad Dermatol 56(5):869–871

- Damian DL, Saw RP, Thompson JF (2014) Topical immunotherapy with diphencyprone for in transit and cutaneously metastatic melanoma. J Surg Oncol 109(4): 308–313
- Deneve JL, Turaga KK, Marzban SS, Puleo CA, Sarnaik AA, Gonzalez RJ et al (2013) Single institution outcome experience using AlloDerm[®] as temporary coverage or definitive reconstruction for cutaneous and soft tissue malignancy defects. Am Surg 79(5):476–482
- Dong XD, Tyler D, Johnson JL, DeMatos P, Seigler HF (2000) Analysis of prognosis and disease progression after local recurrence of melanoma. Cancer 88(5): 1063–1071
- Dossett LA, Ben-Shabat I, Bagge RO, Zager JS (2016) Clinical response and regional toxicity following isolated limb infusion compared with isolated limb perfusion for in-transit melanoma. Ann Surg Oncol 23(7): 2330–2335
- Eggermont AM, Schraffordt Koops H, Klausner JM, Kroon BB, Schlag PM, Lienard D et al (1996) Isolated limb perfusion with tumor necrosis factor and melphalan for limb salvage in 186 patients with locally advanced soft tissue extremity sarcomas. The cumulative multicenter European experience. Ann Surg 224(6):756–764. discussion 64-5
- Eggermont AM, Chiarion-Sileni V, Grob J-J, Dummer R, Wolchok JD, Schmidt H et al (2015) Adjuvant ipilimumab versus placebo after complete resection of high-risk stage III melanoma (EORTC 18071): a randomised, double-blind, phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol 16(5):522–530
- Eggermont AMM, Chiarion-Sileni V, Grob J-J, Dummer R, Wolchok JD, Schmidt H et al (2016) Prolonged survival in stage III melanoma with ipilimumab adjuvant therapy. N Engl J Med 375(19):1845–1855
- Falchook GS, Lewis KD, Infante JR, Gordon MS, Vogelzang NJ, DeMarini DJ et al (2012) Activity of the oral MEK inhibitor trametinib in patients with advanced melanoma: a phase 1 dose-escalation trial. Lancet Oncol 13(8):782–789
- Faries MB, Thompson JF, Cochran AJ, Andtbacka RH, Mozzillo N, Zager JS et al (2017) Completion dissection or observation for sentinel-node metastasis in melanoma. N Engl J Med 376(23):2211–2222
- Flaherty KT, Robert C, Hersey P, Nathan P, Garbe C, Milhem M et al (2012a) Improved survival with MEK inhibition in BRAF-mutated melanoma. N Engl J Med 367(2):107–114
- Flaherty KT, Infante JR, Daud A, Gonzalez R, Kefford RF, Sosman J et al (2012b) Combined BRAF and MEK inhibition in melanoma with BRAF V600 mutations. N Engl J Med 367(18):1694–1703
- Florin V, Desmedt E, Vercambre-Darras S, Mortier L (2012) Topical treatment of cutaneous metastases of malignant melanoma using combined imiquimod and 5-fluorouracil. Investig New Drugs 30(4): 1641–1645
- Fraker DL (1999) Hyperthermic regional perfusion for melanoma and sarcoma of the limbs. Curr Probl Surg 36(11):842–908

- Fraker DL (2004) Management of in-transit melanoma of the extremity with isolated limb perfusion. Curr Treat Options in Oncol 5(3):173–184
- Fraker DL, Alexander HR, Andrich M, Rosenberg SA (1996) Treatment of patients with melanoma of the extremity using hyperthermic isolated limb perfusion with melphalan, tumor necrosis factor, and interferon gamma: results of a tumor necrosis factor doseescalation study. J Clin Oncol 14(2):479–489
- Francken AB, Accortt NA, Shaw HM, Wiener M, S-J S, Hoekstra HJ et al (2008) Prognosis and determinants of outcome following locoregional or distant recurrence in patients with cutaneous melanoma. Ann Surg Oncol 15(5):1476–1484
- Gangi A, Zager JS (2017) The safety of talimogene laherparepvec for the treatment of advanced melanoma. Expert Opin Drug Saf 16(2):265–269
- Gimbel MI, Delman KA, Zager JS (2008) Therapy for unresectable recurrent and in-transit extremity melanoma. Cancer Control 15(3):225–232
- Grünhagen DJ, van Etten B, Brunstein F, Graveland WJ, van Geel AN, de Wilt JH et al (2005) Efficacy of repeat isolated limb perfusions with tumor necrosis factor  $\alpha$ and melphalan for multiple in-transit metastases in patients with prior isolated limb perfusion failure. Ann Surg Oncol 12(8):609–615
- Hodi FS, O'day SJ, McDermott DF, Weber RW, Sosman JA, Haanen JB et al (2010) Improved survival with ipilimumab in patients with metastatic melanoma. N Engl J Med 2010(363):711–723
- Hong NJL, Petrella T, Chan K (2015) Cost-effectiveness analysis of staging strategies in patients with regionally metastatic melanoma. J Surg Oncol 111(4):423–430
- Hu JC, Coffin RS, Davis CJ, Graham NJ, Groves N, Guest PJ et al (2006) A phase I study of OncoVEXGM-CSF, a second-generation oncolytic herpes simplex virus expressing granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating factor. Clin Cancer Res 12(22):6737–6747
- Johnson DB, Flaherty KT, Weber JS, Infante JR, Kim KB, Kefford RF et al (2014) Combined BRAF (dabrafenib) and MEK inhibition (trametinib) in patients with BRAF V600-mutant melanoma experiencing progression with single-agent BRAF inhibitor. J Clin Oncol 32(33): 3697–3704
- Karakousis CP, Balch CM, Urist MM, Ross MM, Smith TJ, Bartolucci AA (1996) Local recurrence in malignant melanoma: long-term results of the multinstitutional randomized surgical trial. Ann Surg Oncol 3(5):446–452
- Kroon BB, Noorda EM, Vrouenraets BC, Nieweg OE (2002) Isolated limb perfusion for melanoma. J Surg Oncol 79(4):252–255
- Kroon HM, Moncrieff M, Kam PCA, Thompson JF (2008) Outcomes following isolated limb infusion for melanoma. A 14-year experience. Ann Surg Oncol 15(11):3003
- Kroon HM, Lin DY, Kam PC, Thompson JF (2009) Efficacy of repeat isolated limb infusion with melphalan and actinomycin D for recurrent melanoma. Cancer 115(9):1932–1940

- Kroon HM, Coventry BJ, Giles MH, Henderson MA, Speakman D, Wall M et al (2016) Australian multicenter study of isolated limb infusion for melanoma. Ann Surg Oncol 23(4):1096–1103
- Larkin J, Chiarion-Sileni V, Gonzalez R, Grob JJ, Cowey CL, Lao CD et al (2015) Combined nivolumab and ipilimumab or monotherapy in untreated melanoma. N Engl J Med 2015(373):23–34
- Lee CC, Faries MB, Wanek LA, Morton DL (2008) Improved survival after lymphadenectomy for nodal metastasis from an unknown primary melanoma. J Clin Oncol 26(4):535–541
- Leiter U, Stadler R, Mauch C, Hohenberger W, Brockmeyer N, Berking C et al (2016) Complete lymph node dissection versus no dissection in patients with sentinel lymph node biopsy positive melanoma (DeCOG-SLT): a multicentre, randomised, phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol 17(6):757–767
- Leon P, Daly JM, Synnestvedt M, Schultz DJ, Elder DE, Clark WH (1991) The prognostic implications of microscopic satellites in patients with clinical stage I melanoma. Arch Surg 126(12):1461–1468
- Lienard D, Eggermont A, Schraffordt KH, Kroon B, Rosenkaimer F, Autier P et al (1994) Isolated perfusion of the limb with high-dose tumour necrosis factor-alpha (TNF-alpha), interferon-gamma (IFN-gamma) and melphalan for melanoma stage III. Results of a multi-Centre pilot study. Melanoma Res 4:21–26
- Lienard D, Eggermont A, Koops HS, Kroon B, Towse G, Hiemstra S et al (1999) Isolated limb perfusion with tumour necrosis factor-[alpha] and melphalan with or without interferon-[gamma]; for the treatment of in-transit melanoma metastases: a multicentre randomized phase II study. Melanoma Res 9(5):491–502
- Long GV, Menzies AM, Nagrial AM, Haydu LE, Hamilton AL, Mann GJ et al (2011) Prognostic and clinicopathologic associations of oncogenic BRAF in metastatic melanoma. J Clin Oncol 29(10):1239–1246
- Long GV, Stroyakovskiy D, Gogas H, Levchenko E, de Braud F, Larkin J et al (2014) Combined BRAF and MEK inhibition versus BRAF inhibition alone in melanoma. N Engl J Med 371(20):1877–1888
- Long GV, Dummer R, Ribas A, Puzanov I, Michielin O, VanderWalde A et al (2015) Safety data from the phase 1b part of the MASTERKEY-265 study combining talimogene laherparepvec (T-VEC) and pembrolizumab for unresectable stage IIIB-IV melanoma. Eur J Cancer 51:S722
- Long GV, Hauschild A, Santinami M, Atkinson V, Mandalà M, Chiarion-Sileni V et al (2017) Adjuvant dabrafenib plus trametinib in stage III BRAF-mutated melanoma. N Engl J Med 377(19):1813–1823
- Luu C, Khushalani NI, Zager JS (2016) Intralesional and systemic immunotherapy for metastatic melanoma. Expert Opin Biol Ther 16(12):1491–1499
- Macdonald J, Dueck AC, RJ G (2011) Malignant melanoma in the elderly: different regional disease and poorer prognosis. J Cancer 2:538–543
- McMasters KM, Chao C, Wong SL, Wrightson WR, Ross MI, Reintgen DS et al (2002) Interval sentinel
lymph nodes in melanoma. Arch Surg 137(5):543–547; discussion 7-9

- Meier F, Will S, Ellwanger U, Schlagenhauff B, Schittek B, Rassner G et al (2002) Metastatic pathways and time courses in the orderly progression of cutaneous melanoma. Br J Dermatol 147(1):62–70
- Möller MG, Lewis JM, Dessureault S, Zager JS (2008) Toxicities associated with hyperthermic isolated limb perfusion and isolated limb infusion in the treatment of melanoma and sarcoma. Int J Hyperth 24(3):275–289
- Moore Dalal K, Zhou Q, Panageas KS, Brady MS, Jaques DP, Coit DG (2008) Methods of detection of first recurrence in patients with stage I/II primary cutaneous melanoma after sentinel lymph node biopsy. Ann Surg Oncol 15(8):2206–2214
- Morton DL, Eilber FR, Holmes EC, Hunt JS, Ketcham AS, Silverstein MJ et al (1974) BCG immunotherapy of malignant melanoma: summary of a seven-year experience. Ann Surg 180(4):635
- Muilenburg DJ, Beasley GM, Thompson ZJ, Lee J-H, Tyler DS, Zager JS (2015) Burden of disease predicts response to isolated limb infusion with melphalan and actinomycin D in melanoma. Ann Surg Oncol 22(2): 482–488
- Noorda E, Vrouenraets B, Nieweg O, Van Geel A, Eggermont A, Kroon B (2002) Safety and efficacy of isolated limb perfusion in elderly melanoma patients. Ann Surg Oncol 9(10):968–974
- Noorda EM, Vrouenraets BC, Nieweg OE, van Geel BN, Eggermont AM, Kroon BB (2004) Isolated limb perfusion for unresectable melanoma of the extremities. Arch Surg 139(11):1237–1242
- Norman J, Cruse CW, Espinosa C, Cox C, Berman C, Clark R et al (1991) Redefinition of cutaneous lymphatic drainage with the use of lymphoscintigraphy for malignant melanoma. Am J Surg 162(5):432–437
- O'Donoghue C, Danielle Hardman SS, Mullinax JE, Perez M, Naqvi SMH, Kim Y, Zager JS (2017a) Isolated limb infusion: a single-center experience with 200 infusions. In: Regional Cancer Therapies 12th International Symposium, Snowbird
- O'Donoghue C, Perez MC, Mullinax JE, Hardman D, Sileno S, Naqvi SMH et al (2017b) Isolated limb infusion: a single-center experience with over 200 infusions. Ann Surg Oncol 24(13):3842–3849
- Pidhorecky I, Lee RJ, Proulx G, Kollmorgen DR, Jia C, Driscoll DL et al (2001) Risk factors for nodal recurrence after lymphadenectomy for melanoma. Ann Surg Oncol 8(2):109–115
- Puzanov I, Milhem MM, Minor D, Hamid O, Li A, Chen L et al (2016) Talimogene laherparepvec in combination with ipilimumab in previously untreated, unresectable stage IIIB-IV melanoma. J Clin Oncol 34(22): 2619–2626
- Radny P, Caroli U, Bauer J, Paul T, Schlegel C, Eigentler T et al (2003) Phase II trial of intralesional therapy with interleukin-2 in soft-tissue melanoma metastases. Br J Cancer 89(9):1620–1626
- Rashid OM, Sloot S, Zager JS (2014) Regional therapy in metastatic melanoma: an update on minimally invasive intraarterial isolated limb infusion and percutaneous

hepatic perfusion. Expert Opin Drug Metab Toxicol 10(10):1355–1364

- Raymond AK, Beasley GM, Broadwater G, Augustine CK, Padussis JC, Turley R et al (2011) Current trends in regional therapy for melanoma: lessons learned from 225 regional chemotherapy treatments between 1995 and 2010 at a single institution. J Am Coll Surg 213(2): 306–316
- Read RL, Stalley P, Thompson JF (2015a) The contemporary role of major amputation in the management of advanced limb melanoma. Ann Surg Oncol 22(12): 4067–4072
- Read RL, Haydu L, Saw RPM, Quinn MJ, Shannon K, Spillane AJ et al (2015b) In-transit melanoma metastases: incidence, prognosis, and the role of lymphadenectomy. Ann Surg Oncol 22(2):475–481
- Reinhardt MJ, Joe AY, Jaeger U, Huber A, Matthies A, Bucerius J et al (2006) Diagnostic performance of whole body dual modality ¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT imaging for N-and M-staging of malignant melanoma: experience with 250 consecutive patients. J Clin Oncol 24(7):1178–1187
- Ribas A, Puzanov I, Gajewski T, Long GV, Dummer R, Kirkwood JM et al (2015) A multicenter, open-label trial of talimogene laherparepvec (T-VEC) plus pembrolizumab vs pembrolizumab monotherapy in previously untreated, unresected, stage IIIB-IV melanoma. J Clin Oncol 33(15_suppl):TPS9081
- Ridolfi L, Ridolfi R, Ascari-Raccagni A, Fabbri M, Casadei S, Gatti A et al (2001) Intralesional granulocyte-monocyte colony-stimulating factor followed by subcutaneous interleukin-2 in metastatic melanoma: a pilot study in elderly patients. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 15(3):218–223
- Robert C, Karaszewska B, Schachter J, Rutkowski P, Mackiewicz A, Stroiakovski D et al (2015) Improved overall survival in melanoma with combined dabrafenib and trametinib. N Engl J Med 372(1):30–39
- Robinson JC (1977) Risks of BCG intralesional therapy: an experience with melanoma. J Surg Oncol 9(6): 587–593
- Santillan AA, Delman KA, Beasley GM, Mosca PJ, Hochwald SN, Grobmyer SR et al (2009) Predictive factors of regional toxicity and serum creatine phosphokinase levels after isolated limb infusion for melanoma: a multi-institutional analysis. Ann Surg Oncol 16(9):2570–2578
- Sarnaik A, Crago G, Liu H, Kodumudi KN, Weber A, McCardle T et al (2014) Assessment of immune and clinical efficacy after intralesional PV-10 in injected and uninjected metastatic melanoma lesions. J Clin Oncol 32(15 suppl):9028
- Schellinger PD, Meinck HM, Thron A (1999) Diagnostic accuracy of MRI compared to CCT in patients with brain metastases. J Neuro-Oncol 44(3):275–281
- Schön MP, Wienrich BG, Drewniok C, Bong AB, Eberle J, Geilen CC et al (2004) Death receptor-independent apoptosis in malignant melanoma induced by the small-molecule immune response modifier imiquimod. J Investig Dermatol 122(5):1266–1276

- Si Z, Hersey P, Coates AS (1996) Clinical responses and lymphoid infiltrates in metastatic melanoma following treatment with intralesional GM-CSF. Melanoma Res 6(3):247–255
- Sloot S, Zager JS, Kudchadkar RR, Messina JL, Benedict JJ, Gonzalez RJ et al (2016) BRAF inhibition for advanced locoregional BRAF V600E mutant melanoma: a potential neoadjuvant strategy. Melanoma Res 26(1):83–87
- Solivetti F, Sidozzi ADL, Pirozzi G, Coscarella G, Brigida R, Eibenshutz L (2006) Sonographic evaluation of clinically occult in-transit and satellite metastases from cutaneous malignant melanoma. Radiol Med 111(5):702–708
- Sonneveld EJ, Vrouenraets BC, van Geel BN, Eggermont AM, Klaase JM, Nieweg OE et al (1996) Systemic toxicity after isolated limb perfusion with melphalan for melanoma. Eur J Surg Oncol 22(5):521–527
- Speicher PJ, Meriwether CH, Tyler DS (2015) Regional therapies for in-transit disease. Surg Oncol Clin N Am 24(2):309–322
- Squires MH III, Delman KA (2013) Current treatment of locoregional recurrence of melanoma. Curr Oncol Rep 15(5):465–472
- Statius Muller MG, van Leeuwen PA, van Diest PJ, Pijpers R, Nijveldt RJ, Vuylsteke RJ et al (2002) Pattern and incidence of first site recurrences following sentinel node procedure in melanoma patients. World J Surg 26(12):1405–1411
- Strom T, Caudell JJ, Han D, Zager JS, Yu D, Cruse CW et al (2014) Radiotherapy influences local control in patients with desmoplastic melanoma. Cancer 120(9): 1369–1378
- Strom T, Torres-Roca JF, Parekh A, Naghavi AO, Caudell JJ, Oliver DE et al (2017) Regional radiation therapy impacts outcome for node-positive cutaneous melanoma. J Natl Compr Canc Netw 15(4):473–482
- Thompson JF, Kam PC (2004) Isolated limb infusion for melanoma: a simple but effective alternative to isolated limb perfusion. J Surg Oncol 88(1):1–3
- Thompson J, Eksborg S, Kam P, Ingvar C, Yau D, Lai D et al (1996) Determinants of acute regional toxicity following isolated limb perfusion for melanoma. Melanoma Res 6(3):267–271
- Thompson JF, Kam PC, Waugh RC, Harman CR (eds) (1998) Isolated limb infusion with cytotoxic agents: a simple alternative to isolated limb perfusion. Semin Surg Oncol 14:238–247

- Thompson JF, Hersey P, Wachter E (2008) Chemoablation of metastatic melanoma using intralesional Rose Bengal. Melanoma Res 18(6):405–411
- Thompson JF, Agarwala SS, Smithers BM, Ross MI, Scoggins CR, Coventry BJ et al (2015) Phase 2 study of intralesional PV-10 in refractory metastatic melanoma. Ann Surg Oncol 22(7):2135–2142
- Tomai MA, Gibson SJ, Imbertson LM, Miller RL, Myhre PE, Reiter MJ et al (1995) Immunomodulating and antiviral activities of the imidazoquinoline S-28463. Antivir Res 28(3):253–264
- Ugurel S, Rohmel J, Ascierto PA, Flaherty KT, Grob JJ, Hauschild A et al (2017) Survival of patients with advanced metastatic melanoma: the impact of novel therapies-update 2017. Eur J Cancer 83:247–257
- Vrouenraets BC, Hart GA, Eggermont AM, Klaase JM, van Geel BN, Nieweg OE et al (1999) Relation between limb toxicity and treatment outcomes after isolated limb perfusion for recurrent melanoma. J Am Coll Surg 188(5):522–530
- Weber J, Mandala M, Del Vecchio M, Gogas HJ, Arance AM, Cowey CL et al (2017) Adjuvant nivolumab versus ipilimumab in resected stage III or IV melanoma. N Engl J Med 377(19):1824–1835
- Wieberdink J, Benckhuysen C, Braat R, Van Slooten E, Olthuis G (1982) Dosimetry in isolation perfusion of the limbs by assessment of perfused tissue volume and grading of toxic tissue reactions. Eur J Cancer Clin Oncol 18(10):905–910
- Wong J, Chen YA, Fisher KJ, Zager JS (2013) Isolated limb infusion in a series of over 100 infusions: a singlecenter experience. Ann Surg Oncol 20(4):1121–1127
- Wong J, Chen YA, Fisher KJ, Beasley GM, Tyler DS, Zager JS (2014) Resection of residual disease after isolated limb infusion (ILI) is equivalent to a complete response after ILI-alone in advanced extremity melanoma. Ann Surg Oncol 21(2):650–655
- Xing Y, Bronstein Y, Ross MI, Askew RL, Lee JE, Gershenwald JE et al (2011) Contemporary diagnostic imaging modalities for the staging and surveillance of melanoma patients: a meta-analysis. J Natl Cancer Inst 103(2):129–142
- Yao KA, Hsueh EC, Essner R, Foshag LJ, Wanek LA, Morton DL (2003) Is sentinel lymph node mapping indicated for isolated local and in-transit recurrent melanoma? Ann Surg 238(5):743–747



# Melanoma Brain Metastasis: Insights, Progress, Challenges, and Opportunities

# Grant M. Fischer and Michael A. Davies

## Contents

Introduction	536
The Pathogenesis of Melanoma Brain Metastases	536
Comprehensive Molecular Analyses of Melanoma Brain Metastases	536
Signaling Pathways Implicated in Melanoma Brain Metastases	537
Factors That Promote Penetration of the Blood-Brain Barrier (BBB)	540
Homing to the Brain	542
Immunology of Melanoma Brain Metastases	542
Treatment of Melanoma Brain Metastases	544
Local Therapies: Surgery and Radiation	544
Chemotherapy	546
Targeted Therapy	546
Immunotherapy	548
Combinations	549
Conclusions	550
References	551

G. M. Fischer

M. A. Davies (🖂)

Department of Melanoma Medical Oncology, Department of Systems Biology, Department of Translational Molecular Pathology, Division of Cancer Medicine, The University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center, Houston, TX, USA e-mail: mdavies@mdanderson.org

### Abstract

Brain metastasis is a frequent and often devastating complication of metastatic melanoma. Melanoma has one of the highest rates of brain metastasis among all solid tumors. Historically the survival for melanoma patients with brain metastases has been less than 6 months. However, the development of improved CNS-directed and systemic therapies appears to be resulting in rapidly improving outcomes in these patients. In parallel, there is growing understanding of the unique features of brain metastases that contribute to their aggressive behavior, providing new opportunities to develop additional strategies

© Springer Science+Business Media, LLC, part of Springer Nature 2019 D. E. Fisher, B. C. Bastian (eds.), *Melanoma*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-7147-9 44

Department of Melanoma Medical Oncology, Department of Cancer Biology, Department of Translational Molecular Pathology, The University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center, Houston, TX, USA e-mail: gmfischer@mdanderson.org

to further improve patient outcomes. This chapter will review the current understanding of the pathogenesis of melanoma brain metastases and the treatments used for this disease to provide a context for future investigations in this area.

#### Keywords

Brain metastasis · Melanoma · Whole brain radiation therapy · Stereotactic radiosurgery · Targeted therapy · Immunotherapy

## Introduction

The development of more effective strategies to prevent and treat brain metastases is an increasingly important challenge in oncology. It is estimated that approximately 10% of all cancer patients will be diagnosed with brain metastases and up to 40% of cancer patients with metastatic disease (Bollig-Fischer et al. 2013; Maher et al. 2009). Brain metastases are associated with significant morbidity and mortality, and it is estimated that ~100,000 cancer patients die from brain metastases each year.

The most common sources of brain metastases are lung cancer, breast cancer, and melanoma. Melanoma is much less common than lung and breast cancer. Thus, melanoma has the highest risk of brain metastasis among all common solid tumors. Brain metastases are detected in 20-40% of melanoma patients at the diagnosis of stage IV disease, and autopsy studies detected CNS metastases in ~70% of patients who died from this disease (Cohen et al. 2016). Historically the median survival of metastatic melanoma patients with brain metastases was ~4 months (Glitza et al. 2016). However, new insights into the molecular biology and immunology of this disease have led to the development of new targeted therapies and immune therapies that have achieved very promising results in recent clinical trials. Despite this progress, many of these therapies have demonstrated less efficacy in patients with brain metastases than in patients with extracranial tumors only, and the brain is a frequent initial site of treatment failure for contemporary treatments.

The development of more effective prevention and treatment for melanoma brain metastases (MBMs) will be facilitated by an improved understanding of the molecular features and drivers of these tumors. Thus, in this chapter the current understanding of the pathogenesis of melanoma brain metastases will be reviewed. Outcomes with historical and current therapies will also be summarized, to provide an integrated view of the key challenges that exist in this field.

## The Pathogenesis of Melanoma Brain Metastases

Metastasis of cancer cells to the brain is a complex, multi-step process that involves invasion of tissues surrounding the primary tumor; access to and survival in the lymphatic system and bloodstream; arrest in brain capillaries and extravasation into the brain parenchyma; and growth and survival in the brain (Table 1). Understanding the features that are critical to each of these steps, and the drivers that support the maintenance and aggressive behavior of MBMs, will facilitate the development of rational, more effective treatments for patients. Notably, many of these stud-MBMs have suggest that distinct ies characteristics that may contribute to the distinctly poor outcomes associated with these tumors.

# Comprehensive Molecular Analyses of Melanoma Brain Metastases

While limited, currently available global molecular characterization efforts suggest that MBMs possess unique molecular features compared to metastases that form at other anatomical sites. Gene expression microarray studies have identified numerous differentially expressed genes between MBMs and extracranial metastases (ECMs) (Chen et al. 2014; Hamilton et al. 2013). However, the microarray studies featured a relatively small number of samples, including very few patient-matched metastases, and overall failed to identify significantly enriched

Steps	Description
Growth of primary tumor	Genetic aberrations drive unregulated growth of transformed melanocytes; accumulation of mutations results in creation of subclones with increased metastatic propensity
Migration/invasion of surrounding tissues	Loss of adherence to cells in primary tumors; increased communication with extracellular matrix and surrounding stroma; digestion of extracellular matrix; increased cellular motility
Intravasation/spread to regional lymph nodes	Acquisition of access to lymphatic vessels and growth in regional lymph nodes, the site to which most melanomas spread to initially
Survival in bloodstream	Survival in harsh environment and shear stress inherent to circulatory system; ability to form emboli increases survival
Arrest in brain capillary beds	Mechanical arrest in the capillary beds of brain; mediated by interactions between adhesion molecules expressed on blood vessels of brain capillaries and tumor cells
Extravasation	Exit from the circulatory system across the BBB; mediated by factors able to digest tight junctions of the BBB
Angiogenesis	Acquisition of vital nutrients via formation of new blood vessels or co-option of existing blood vessels in the brain
Evasion of immune system	Evasion of immune attack facilitates tumor growth

 Table 1
 Key steps in brain metastasis formation and maintenance

pathways. Further analysis demonstrated significant heterogeneity of immune-related gene sets between MBMs from different patients and identified a significant correlation between immune-related BioCarta gene sets and prolonged overall survival (OS) (Hamilton et al. 2013). Whole exome sequencing (WES) analysis of multiple tumor types has identified significant differences between BMs and primary tumors, including three tumors from three melanoma patients (Brastianos et al. 2015). The analyses demonstrated significantly divergent evolution of BMs following metastasis from the primary tumors yet minimal divergent evolution between multiple BMs from the same patient.

Gene expression microarray analyses of breast, lung, colorectal, and melanoma cell lines suggest that the brain tumor microenvironment (TME) can trigger a fundamental reprogramming of cell lines grown in mouse brains compared to those grown in subcutaneous tissue or orthotopic sites (Park et al. 2011). Cells grown in the brain overexpressed thousands of genes and acquired neuronal cell characteristics following epigenetic changes induced by interactions with surrounding astrocytes. Interestingly, co-culturing tumor cells with astrocytes replicated this reprogramming. These studies highlighted the importance of the TME in regulating tumor cell biology.

### Signaling Pathways Implicated in Melanoma Brain Metastases

Despite limited global profiling efforts, focused studies have identified numerous signaling pathways that likely contribute to MBM pathogenesis, including the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK), phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase-protein kinase B (PI3K-AKT), Janus kinase-signal transducer and activator of transcription (JAK-STAT), vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), and endothelin pathways. Additional molecules and pathways have been implicated in many of the steps that are critical to the establishment and maintenance of MBMs.

#### MAPK Pathway

MAPK pathway hyperactivation occurs in over 90% of cutaneous melanomas (Cancer Genome Atlas Network 2015). Somatic mutations in v-Raf murine sarcoma viral oncogene homolog (*BRAF*) (35–50%) and neuroblastoma RAS viral oncogene homolog (*NRAS*) (10–25%), and loss of function mutations affecting Neurofibromin 1 (*NF1*) (~15%), primarily drive MAPK pathway activation. Point mutation analysis of patientmatched MBMs and ECMs demonstrated no significant differences in the prevalence of *BRAF* mutations between anatomical sites (Chen et al. 2014). Data regarding NRAS mutation concordance between anatomical sites differs depending on if the comparison occurs between MBMs and ECMs or between MBMs and primary tumors. Analysis of patient-matched MBMs and ECMs identified 100% concordance in NRAS mutations, while significantly lower concordance (80%) was observed between patient-matched MBMs and primary tumors (Chen et al. 2014; Colombino et al. 2012). While no concordance data exist for NF1 mutations, it is clear that MAPK pathway hyperactivation is highly prevalent in MBMs, which is consistent with the fact that activating BRAF and NRAS mutations occur early in melanoma progression and are likely not selected against during the brain metastasis cascade (Pollock et al. 2003; Shain et al. 2015).

### **PI3K-AKT Pathway**

PI3K-AKT pathway activation occurs frequently during tumorigenesis in multiple cancer types and promotes the malignant phenotype through multiple effectors (Davies 2011; Kwong and Davies 2014). The pathway can be activated via receptor tyrosine kinases (RTKs) following stimulation by extracellular ligands [e.g., hepatocyte growth factor (HGF) activating tyrosine-protein kinase Met (c-MET)], point mutations in RTKs [e.g., epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) in non-smallcell lung cancers], and/or gene amplifications in RTKs [e.g., receptor tyrosine-protein kinase erbB-2 (HER2/neu) in breast cancer]. The pathway can also be activated by mutations in key effectors, including point mutations in phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase, catalytic subunit alpha (PIK3CA) (encodes the catalytic subunit of PI3K), AKT1, and AKT3. Constitutive activation of the pathway also results from loss of function of the tumor suppressor phosphatase and tensin homolog (PTEN), which dephosphorylates lipids to counteract the activity of PI3K.

In melanoma, point mutations rarely activate the pathway, affecting AKT1 and AKT3 in 1–2% of cases and PIK3CA in 3% (Omholt et al. 2006; Davies et al. 2008; Cancer Genome Atlas Network 2015). Mutations more commonly affect the NRAS gene, primarily at codons Q60/61 and G12/13, which results in constitutive activation of both the MAPK and PI3K-AKT pathways. Additionally, complete loss of PTEN has been detected in 10-30% of melanomas, generally in tumors with concurrent BRAF mutations, and thus mutually exclusive with NRAS mutations (Bucheit et al. 2014; Davies et al. 2009). Missense mutations that inhibit the tumor suppressor function of PTEN have been recorded and typically occur in exon 5 of the PTEN gene, which encodes the phosphatase domain of the protein. Nonsense mutations are more common genetic causes of loss of PTEN function in melanomas (Aguissa-Toure and Li 2012). Interestingly, genetic aberrations might not explain all instances of loss of PTEN expression in melanomas. Epigenetic events including miRNA signaling and promoter methylation can silence PTEN expression and may facilitate PI3K-AKT pathway hyperactivation in melanomas (Mirmohammadsadegh et al. 2006; Zhang et al. 2015). However, more recent genomic studies of the melanoma TCGA database that employed optimized criteria for identifying copy number alterations demonstrated that only point mutations or highmedium-amplitude focal deletions corresponded with complete loss of PTEN protein expression and significant increases in P-AKT levels (Roszik et al. 2016).

Unlike the MAPK pathway, a significant difference in PI3K-AKT pathway activation has been observed in MBMs compared to metastases at other sites. Reverse phase protein arrays (RPPA) analysis demonstrated significantly higher expression of numerous markers of PI3K-AKT activation and lower expression of PTEN in MBM specimens compared to lung and liver metastases (Davies et al. 2009). Subsequent RPPA analysis of patient-matched MBMs and ECMs confirmed PI3K-AKT pathway hyperactivation in MBMs yet failed to demonstrate significant differences in PTEN protein levels (Chen et al. 2014). Immunohistochemistry (IHC) of an independent cohort of patient-matched samples also demonstrated PI3K-AKT pathway hyperactivation in MBMs, with some (but not all) of the brain lesions demonstrating decreased PTEN expression compared to the patientmatched ECMs (Niessner et al. 2013). Together, these findings suggest that PI3K-AKT pathway hyperactivation plays an important role in MBM pathogenesis and that pathway activation can occur independently of loss of PTEN expression.

PI3K-AKT hyperactivation plays multiple roles in MBM pathogenesis by facilitating cell adhesion, extravasation, and angiogenesis. One study of patients with stage III melanoma determined that loss of PTEN expression correlated with significantly increased risk of MBM formation (Bucheit et al. 2014). Similarly, experiments by Cho et al. using a genetically engineered mouse model showed that PI3K-AKT pathway activation promoted MBM formation. Loss of Pten in melanocytes with concurrent Braf^{V600E} mutations and cyclindependent kinase inhibitor 2A (Cdkn2a) deletions formed primary melanomas in 100% of mice but infrequently caused distant metastases. However, introduction of a constitutively active Akt1 protein promoted MBM formation in 80% of mice (Cho et al. 2015). Together, these findings suggest that PI3K-AKT pathway hyperactivation promotes MBM formation, and primary tumors and ECMs enriched in this pathway may metastasize to the brain more frequently.

The TME also appears to play a critical role in mediating PI3K-AKT pathway hyperactivation. Zhang et al. demonstrated that loss of PTEN expression occurred following intracarotid injection of PTEN-intact cell lines from multiple tumor types, including B16F10 melanoma cells (Zhang et al. 2015). Astrocytes in contact with the tumor cells transferred miRNAs that suppressed expression of PTEN via exosomes. Interestingly, loss of PTEN expression promoted secretion of the cytokine C-C motif chemokine ligand 2 (CCL2), which recruited Iba1+ myeloid cells that promoted growth of the tumor cells. In contrast, the authors failed to observe differences in metastatic incidence between B16F10 cells expressing PTEN and those in which PTEN was silenced. Further, Seifert et al. provided additional evidence that cerebrospinal fluid (CSF), which bathes the brain, can promote PI3K-AKT pathway activation (Seifert et al. 2016). Culturing melanoma cells in the presence of CSF caused significant activation of the PI3K-AKT pathway and mediated resistance to targeted therapies without causing a loss of PTEN expression.

### JAK-STAT Pathway

The JAK-STAT pathway transduces signals from a variety of ligands – often cytokines such as interleukins and interferons – from the cell surface to the nucleus of tumor cells. Unlike RTKs, cytokine receptors typically lack intrinsic kinase activity. Instead, ligand binding triggers dimerization of receptors, which recruits and activates JAKs in the cytoplasm. In turn, JAKs phosphorylate the receptor, which facilitates binding of STAT proteins to the receptor. JAKs then phosphorylate and activate the STATs, which dimerize and move into the nucleus to drive transcription of genes (Jatiani et al. 2010).

STAT3 activity facilitates transcription of tumor cell survival, growth, angiogenesis, and immunosuppressive genes such as B-cell lymphoma 2 (BCL2), c-MYC, Cyclin D1 (CCND1), VEGF-A, and interleukin-10 (IL-10) (Yu and Jove 2004). STAT3 has also been implicated in MBM pathogenesis. Xie et al.'s analysis of MBMs demonstrated significantly stronger staining for phosphorylated STAT3 (P-STAT3) in MBMs compared to primary tumors. In addition, the introduction of a constitutively active form of P-STAT3 transformed nonmetastatic A375P cells into highly brain-metastatic cells but did not alter the growth rates of cells implanted subcutaneously. Likewise, brain-metastatic TXM-18 melanoma cells lost their brain-metastatic capacity following suppression of P-STAT3 (Xie et al. 2006). Huang et al. demonstrated that overexpression of suppressor of cytokine signaling 1 (SOCS1), a negative regulator of JAK-STAT signaling, prevented brain-metastatic melanoma cell lines from forming MBMs following intracarotid injections (Huang et al. 2008). Mechanistic studies determined that JAK-STAT signaling promoted beneficial angiogenesis and invasion signaling cascades by increasing transcription of VEGF-A and matrix metalloprotease-2 (MMP-2) (Xie et al. 2006; Huang et al. 2008). While these findings implicate JAK-STAT signaling in MBM pathogenesis, enforced expression of P-STAT3 also promoted

melanoma cell metastasis to the lungs of mice, while suppression of P-STAT3 prevented lung metastasis formation (Xie et al. 2006). Together, these findings suggest that JAK-STAT signaling may promote the general process of melanoma metastasis instead of metastasis specifically to the brain.

### VEGF

The VEGF signaling cascade is mostly mediated through the binding of the VEGF-A (VEGF) ligand to the VEGFR2 receptor on endothelial cells (Ferrara et al. 2003). Binding of the ligand to the receptor triggers activation of the PI3K-AKT, phospholipase Cy, and Src family kinase signaling pathway to promote angiogenesis and vascular permeability (Guo et al. 1995; Eliceiri et al. 1999). Yano et al. used a panel of cell lines from multiple tumor types - including melanoma - to demonstrate that VEGF expression correlates with brain metastatic capacity in vivo. Cells expressing high levels of VEGF formed large, rapidly growing metastases, while cells lacking VEGF expression formed small, poorly growing metastases (Yano et al. 2000). Additionally, forced overexpression of VEGF facilitated growth of MBMs formed by MEL57 cells following intracarotid injection. Interestingly, VEGF expression did not induce the formation of new vessels but rather caused beneficial co-option of existing blood vessels (Kusters et al. 2002). This propensity for vascular co-option agrees with pathological assessments of human brain metastases that determined vascular co-option occurs more often in MBMs relative to metastases of other tumor types (Berghoff et al. 2013).

### Endothelins

Endothelin signaling appears to facilitate spread of melanomas to the brain. Cruz-Munoz et al. established a mouse model of spontaneous melanoma metastasis and determined via microarray analysis that brain-metastatic WM239 variants significantly overexpressed endothelin receptor B (EDNRB) compared to visceral metastatic variants. However, the visceral variants did not overexpress EDNRB compared to nonmetastatic variants. Forced overexpression of EDNRB in the visceral metastatic variants increased overall metastatic incidence and promoted metastasis to the brain. Pharmacological inhibition of EDNRB inhibited lung metastasis formation and brain metastasis growth. Together, these findings suggest that EDNRB promotes a general metastatic phenotype but plays a critical role in the formation of MBMs (Cruz-Munoz et al. 2012).

# Factors That Promote Penetration of the Blood-Brain Barrier (BBB)

The BBB is a network designed to protect the brain by restricting free access of blood products to the brain parenchyma. Brain capillary walls are composed of endothelial cells connected via tight junctions, end-foot process of astrocytes surrounding the capillaries, and pericytes embedded in the basement membrane of the capillaries (Daneman and Prat 2015). Together, this BBB limits free passage into the brain to small (<400 Da) lipophilic molecules (Pardridge 2003). Circulating melanoma cells must cross this BBB to access the brain parenchyma during a process known as extravasation. As described below, a variety of factors appear capable of contributing to this process (Kircher et al. 2016; Chen and Davies 2012). Very late antigen 4 (VLA-4) mediates adhesion of melanoma cells to vascular cell adhesion molecule 1 (VCAM-1) on the surface of endothelial cells, which facilitates arrest in capillaries and successful extravasation. VLA-4 expression promoted melanoma cell migration across several immortalized endothelial cell lines, and VLA-4 inhibition prevented the formation of melanoma lung metastases in vivo (Garcia-Martin et al. 2018; Schlesinger et al. 2014). To assess the role of VLA-4 in MBM pathogenesis, Garcia-Martin et al. utilized a tissue microarray and determined that over 90% of MBMs express VLA-4. They subsequently constructed a mouse in vitro BBB model and observed that inhibition of VLA-4 prevented melanoma cells from adhering to the endothelial cells and migrating across the BBB (Garcia-Martin et al. 2018). The exact route by which melanoma cells transverse the BBB remains unclear. Melanoma cells might utilize the paracellular route by degrading tight junction proteins via serine proteases such as seprase. Analyses of A2058 and B16-F10 melanoma cells demonstrated that secretion of seprase allowed these cells to migrate across an in vitro model of the BBB. Pharmacological and siRNAmediated inhibition of seprase effectively prevented their transmigration across the BBB (Fazakas et al. 2011). However, the role of seprase in mediating extravasation has not been confirmed in vivo. Heparanase (HPSE) is an enzyme that degrades heparan sulfate chains in endothelial cell layers and appears to mediate extravasation. Murine (B16B15b) and human (70W) cells selected for their brain-metastatic capacity displayed significantly higher HPSE production and activity compared to their parental cell lines (B16F1 and MEWO) (Marchetti 1997). Additionally, in vitro treatment of B16B15b cells with HPSE increased their ability to invade a brain slide model. Pharmacological inhibition of HPSE mitigated this effect (Murry et al. 2006). Interestingly, co-culturing brain-metastatic melanoma cells with syngeneic astrocytes or nerve growth factor (NGF) – a growth factor secreted in the brain - significantly enhanced their secretion of HPSE and invasiveness, indicating that normal brain tissue plays a role in facilitating the entrance of metastatic melanoma cells into the parenchyma (Marchetti et al. 1993, 2000). To date, in vivo studies assessing HPSE's role in BM pathogenesis have been limited to breast cancer. Zhang et al. determined that breast cancer brain metastases lose expression of miRNA-1258, which is a key suppressor of HPSE production. Further, microRNA-1258 expression levels negatively correlated with the brain-metastatic capacity of breast cancer cells. Transfection of miRNA-1258 in breast cancer cells significantly inhibited brain metastasis formation in an experimental model of metastasis (Zhang et al. 2011). Interest in the role of pleckstrin homology domain containing A5 (PLEKHA5) in MBMs arose following Jilaveanu et al.'s integrative comparative analysis of a brain-metastatic A375P subclone (A375Br) and the parental line and between ECMs from patients that did and did not develop MBMs (Jilaveanu et al. 2015). Gene expression

profiling determined that PLEKHA5 expression was significantly higher in A375Br cells and in ECMs from patients that developed MBMs. Interestingly, PLEKHA5 expression correlated only with formation of metastases in the brain. PLEKHA5 suppression inhibited survival of A375Br cells and their ability to invade an *in vitro* BBB model. However, these findings have not been confirmed *in vivo*.

Studies of the A375 cell line's interactions with an in vitro BBB demonstrated that secretion of S100A4 calcium-binding protein A4 (S100A4) mediated BBB invasion by facilitating a loss of tight junction integrity (Herwig et al. 2016). Binding of S100A4 to its receptor [receptor for advanced glycation end products (RAGE)] suppressed expression of the tight junction proteins occludin and VE-cadherin. These findings were confirmed in vivo where forced overexpression of S100A4 increased brain metastasis formation of A375 cells following intracardiac injection. However, S100A4 overexpression also stimulated metastasis to other anatomical sites, suggesting that S100A4 promotes a generic pro-metastatic phenotype as opposed to a brainmetastatic phenotype.

Studies across multiple tumor types have also implicated MMPs in tumor cell invasion and metastasis through their ability to proteolytically degrade components of the extracellular matrix (Gialeli et al. 2011). MMP-2 appears to mediate extravasation across the BBB. MMP-2 catalyzes the breakdown of type IV collagen, which forms a critical component of the basement membrane of endothelial cells in the BBB (Gialeli et al. 2011). Correlation studies determined that tumor MMP-2 expression levels predict worse survival in patients (Rotte et al. 2012). Gene expression studies established that MMP-2 is expressed significantly higher in primary melanoma cultures able to invade an in vitro model of the BBB compared to poorly invasive primary melanoma cultures (Rizzo et al. 2015). Interestingly, astrocytes facilitate expression of MMP-2 in melanoma cells by secreting interleukin-23 (IL-23) (Klein et al. 2015). Tang et al. determined that IL-23 stimulates secretion of IL-17 by  $\gamma\delta$  T cells. The IL-17 drives increased levels of P-STAT3 through

interleukin-6 (IL-6) and is likely the means by which this signaling axis promotes MMP-2 transcription (Tang et al. 2013).

### Homing to the Brain

Circulating melanoma cells arrest in brain capillaries once they exceed the capillary in size (Kienast et al. 2010). Additionally, they express numerous adhesion factors including integrins (including VLA-4, as previously described) and selectins that promote the arrest of the cells within the capillaries. Thus, mechanical factors promote the spread of melanoma cells to the brain. Consistent with Stephen Paget's "seed and soil" hypothesis, however, numerous additional factors (including the PI3K-AKT pathway, as previously described) appear to promote metastasis specifically to the brain.

Using miRNA expression profiling and three cohorts of clinical primary melanomas, Hanniford et al. derived a miRNA signature (miR-150-5p, miR-15b-5p, miR-16-5p, and miR-374b-3p) that predicted the likelihood of brain metastasis formation (Hanniford et al. 2015). Further, their signature distinguished primary melanomas that initially metastasized to the brain from those that metastasized to the brain along with other extracranial sites, suggesting that their signature might predict brain tropism. Zhang et al. demonstrated that TGF- $\beta$  signaling is necessary for metastasis to the brain parenchyma (Zhang et al. 2009). K1735 cells exclusively formed metastases in the brains of mice following intracarotid injections while B16F10 cells formed metastases in the ventricles. K1735 cells expressed high levels of TGF-B2 while B16F10 cells lacked expression of TGF-β2. Forced overexpression of TGF-\u00b32 in B16F10 cells promoted metastasis to the parenchyma while suppression of TGF- $\beta$ 2 in K1735 cells inhibited metastasis to the brain parenchyma. Gene expression studies identified significantly higher levels of C-C chemokine receptor 4 (CCR4) in cell lines from MBMs compared to cell lines from cutaneous tumors (Izraely et al. 2010). Klein et al. confirmed these findings by comparing flow cytometry results between YDFR.CB4, M12.CB3, and M16.CB2 brain-metastatic variants and their parental cell lines (YDFR.C, M12.C, and M16.C). They also determined that astrocytes and microglia secrete known CCR4 ligands and that incubation of these glial cells in brain metastasizing melanoma cellconditioned media upregulates their secretion of CCR4 ligands. Further, incubation of YDFR.C cells overexpressing CCR4 with CCR4 ligands facilitated transmigration across an in vitro BBB model, and pharmacological inhibition of CCR4 prevented metastasis of these cells to the brain metastases in vivo. Together, these studies strongly implicate CCR4 in MBM pathogenesis (Izraely et al. 2010). However, analysis of clinical specimens determined that both MBMs and lymph node metastases expressed CCR4 at significantly higher levels than primary tumors, but CCR4 expression did not differ between MBMs and lymph node metastases, suggesting that CCR4 might not mediate expression exclusively to the brain (Klein et al. 2017). In contrast, brain-metastatic YDFR cells express significantly less claudin-1 (CLDN1) than their parental cells (Izraely et al. 2012). Forced overexpression of CLDN1 in brain-metastatic YDFR cells significantly inhibited the formation of MBMs in vivo but had no effect on the formation of lung metastases, indicating that CLDN1 promotes melanoma metastasis exclusively to the brain (Izraely et al. 2015).

### Immunology of Melanoma Brain Metastases

There is a growing need to improve our understanding of the immunological features of MBMs because of the rapidly expanding role of immunotherapy in the treatment of this disease. To date, Kluger et al. have performed the most comprehensive analysis of the immunological features of MBMs (Kluger et al. 2015). Utilizing a tumor microarray (TMA) of 95 metastatic melanomas, they identified significantly fewer T cells (total and CD8⁺) in MBMs compared to metastases at other anatomical sites. Furthermore, they observed significant heterogeneity in the extent of MBM T cell infiltrate and determined that the amount of T cell infiltrate correlated significantly with improved survival. While MBM T cell infiltrate correlated significantly with PD-L1 expression, they observed no significant differences in PD-L1 staining between MBMs and metastases from other sites. Finally, T cell infiltrate at extracranial metastases correlated significantly with the amount of time to brain metastasis diagnosis. The findings of Kluger et al. agree with Hamilton et al.'s gene expression microarray of MBMs, which identified a significant correlation between immune-related expression signatures and patient survival (Hamilton et al. 2013). Further, miR-150-5p (one component of Hanniford et al.'s miRNA signature that predicts metastasis to the brain) was significantly downregulated in brainmetastatic primary melanomas and correlated with CD45⁺ lymphocyte infiltrate, further implicating immunosuppression in MBM pathogenesis (Hanniford et al. 2015).

The cause for MBM immunosuppression remains unclear. While it might be tempting to blame the BBB for physically impeding immune cells from accessing MBMs, several lines of evidence challenge this conclusion. BBB disruption occurs in numerous neurological diseases such as multiple sclerosis, stroke, and epilepsy. In each case, the BBB is unable to restrict the entry of immune cells into the brain parenchyma and prevent an inflammatory state as it typically does in a normal, healthy brain (Obermeier et al. 2013). MBMs induce significant leakage in the BBB during the processes of extravasation and angiogenesis. The previously described factors HPSE, MMP-2, and S100A4 damage the integrity of the BBB to promote extravasation into the parenchyma, and VEGF causes vessels to leak as it stimulates angiogenesis. Clinical imaging findings confirm MBM-induced BBB leakage. For example, MBMs take up gadolinium contrast agent during MRI imaging while normal brain parenchyma fails to do so. Additionally, as described later in this chapter, immunotherapy with anti-CTLA4 and anti-PD1 antibodies achieves clinical responses in patients with MBMs (Goldberg et al. 2016; Margolin et al. 2012). Both of these treatments depend on T cells crossing the BBB and accessing the tumor. Clinical responses to these agents indicate

that the BBB is not able to prevent the entry of T cells into the brain parenchyma. Together, these findings indicate that physical barriers cannot explain immunosuppression in MBMs.

Several key signaling pathways mediate immunosuppression in melanoma ECMs and play critical roles in MBM pathogenesis. For example, Peng et al. observed that loss of PTEN stimulates PI3K-AKT pathway activation and secretion of VEGF in melanomas (Peng et al. 2016). Expression levels of VEGF inversely correlated with intratumoral T cell infiltrate and response to anti-PD1 immunotherapy. Further, treatment of PTEN-null melanomas with the selective PI3KB inhibitor GSK2636771 overcame the immunosuppression and promoted response to immunotherapy. As multiple investigators have observed increased levels of P-AKT in MBMs compared to metastases from other sites, further studies are needed to directly evaluate the relationship between PI3K-AKT pathway activation and suppression of the immune response in MBMs. The immunosuppressive effects of TGF- $\beta$  signaling have been extensively characterized (Yang et al. 2010; Gigante et al. 2012). Additionally, Walentynowicz et al. demonstrated that TGF-B2 polarizes gliomaassociated macrophages into tumor-supporting cells (Walentynowicz et al. 2018). It is possible that the TGF- $\beta$ 2 signaling axis which is necessary for formation of parenchymal metastases also mediates MBM immunosuppression. Further studies would be necessary to confirm this possibility and to elucidate whether or not the mechanisms of TGF- $\beta$ 2-mediated immunosuppression are the same in MBMs as in ECMs. It is also possible that stromal cells may cause immunosuppression in MBMs via STAT3 signaling. Priego et al. performed IHC on 91 BMs, including 2 MBMs, and identified positive P-STAT3 staining in the peritumoral reactive astrocytes of 89% of the BMs. Further, strong P-STAT3 staining in reactive astrocytes significantly correlated with patient survival. Mechanistic studies determined that the BMs induced P-STAT3 signaling in the astrocytes, which in turn inhibited the activation of CD8⁺ T cells and promoted the activity of pro-tumor macrophages/microglia

expressing cluster of differentiation 74 (CD74). Importantly, inhibition of P-STAT3 signaling in reactive astrocytes inhibited the intracranial growth of the B16/F10-BrM melanoma cell line *in vivo*, suggesting that targeting this signaling axis in reactive astrocytes could be beneficial for patients with MBMs (Priego et al. 2018).

In summary, many new insights have been made into the pathogenesis of brain metastases from melanoma. As described below, this has occurred in parallel to the development of new therapeutic approaches with improved efficacy in these patients. A key challenge remains to translate these new insights into rational, more effective treatment approaches.

### Treatment of Melanoma Brain Metastases

There are multiple therapeutic approaches available for the treatment of MBMs (Table 2). In the past era of ineffective systemic therapies, most treatments for patients with MBMs were locally directed therapies, such as surgery and radiation, which initially consisted of whole brain radiation therapy (WBXRT). Over time, technological advances led to the development of stereotactic radiosurgery (SRS) techniques, which are increasingly used instead of WBXRT. Similarly, systemic treatments for MBMs initially consisted of chemotherapies, particularly ones that were able to penetrate the BBB. However, such treatments have now been largely replaced by molecularly targeted therapies and antibody-based immune therapies, which can have activity simultaneously on brain and extracranial disease. With these many options, the management of patients with MBMs utilizes multidisciplinary evaluation to select among these varied, and very different, treatment options. Further, available data strongly supports the rationale to evaluate the safety and efficacy of combining different modalities together.

### Local Therapies: Surgery and Radiation

The role of locally directed therapies for MBMs is evolving. As noted above, surgery previously was a mainstay in the treatment of these

Treatment modality Strengths Limitations Surgery Often necessary to control large or Morbidity of surgery; risk of recurrence both hemorrhagic brain metastases, which may locally and elsewhere in the brain; no impact enable the use of other treatment modalities on extracranial tumors Whole brain Can provide rapid relief in patients with Generally short duration of disease control when used alone to treat MBMs; significant radiation therapy widespread, symptomatic brain metastases; risk of cognitive decline; no clear impact on reduce the risk of progression in the brain (WBXRT) when used in the adjuvant setting extracranial tumors Stereotactic High rates of disease control of radiated brain Efficacy decreased for tumors >2-3 cm with radiosurgery (SRS) metastases; rapid onset of effects; decreased current technologies; lack of impact on surgical morbidity for non-superficial lesions lesions (i.e., micrometastases) that are not compared to surgery irradiated; no clear impact on extracranial tumors Targeted therapy -High rates of initial intracranial tumor Can only be used in patients with targetable mutations (i.e.,  $BRAF^{V600}$  for BRAF + MEKBRAF + MEK response and disease control; generally rapid inhibitors inhibitors); durability of responses short onset of effects; can be used in patients with symptomatic lesions that require steroids; compared to extracranial tumors and concurrent treatment of intracranial and compared to immunotherapy extracranial disease Immunotherapy -High rates of intracranial responses in Limited data about efficacy in patients with anti-PD-1 + antiasymptomatic patients, the majority of which symptomatic MBMs (i.e., requiring steroids); CTLA-4 antibodies appear to be durable (>6 months or more); lower disease control rates than SRS or use not restricted to specific molecularly targeted therapy defined subpopulations; concurrent treatment of intracranial and extracranial disease

Table 2 Current treatments for melanoma brain metastasis

patients. Survival in most patients treated with neurosurgical approaches was poor in the overwhelming majority of patients, as most patients with MBMs present with concurrent disease elsewhere. Thus, even if surgery could address the brain metastases, the lack of effective therapies to control other tumors resulted in limited survival. However, the subset of patients that presented with brain metastases only could achieve long-term survival (Sampson et al. 1998). Thus, when treating for curative intent, surgical resection can be considered in patients with oligometastatic (<4) brain metastases if extracranial disease is absent or controlled. Surgery can also have a palliative role in the management of symptomatic brain metastases, particularly those with significant hemorrhage or that have been refractory to other treatments (i.e., radiation). Surgical resection is also indicated in patients who present with brain metastases without a known cancer diagnosis, or in patients with more than one cancer type that can metastasize to the brain, to help clarify the tumor of origin and guide further treatment strategies.

The initial form of radiation used in the management of melanoma patients with brain metastases was WBXRT. In historical series, WBXRT resulted in some prolongation of survival, but it very rarely achieved durable control of MBMs (Davies et al. 2011). As such, it was primarily considered for patients with too many brain metastases or tumor locations that precluded surgical resection. WBXRT was shown in studies to improve overall survival when used as an adjuvant treatment after the surgical resection of brain metastases from multiple tumor types (Gaspar et al. 2010). Unfortunately, WBXRT frequently causes significant cognitive decline due to damage to normal brain tissue from this radiation technique (Laack and Brown 2004; Brown et al. 2016). In the era in which treatments for patients with MBMs were largely considered palliative due to the lack of effective systemic therapies, such declines could be considered acceptable due to the short survival of many of these patients, particularly as the onset of cognitive effects may be delayed. However, in an era in which new therapies are providing

markedly increased chances of durable survival, the clinical significance of the cognitive decline caused by WBXRT has increased. Thus, the use of WBXRT in the current era has become more limited, generally reserved for patients who have brain metastases that by size and/or number are not amenable to newer, focused radiation approaches, particularly in the setting of tumorrelated neurological symptoms. New WBXRT techniques are also being evaluated to see if the neurotoxicity of this treatment modality can be reduced.

Stereotactic radiosurgery (SRS) is a technique in which many low-intensity beams of radiation are delivered so that they intersect at the site of a tumor. This technique delivers a high dose of radiation to that specific area that is targeted while delivering much lower doses of radiation of other areas, including normal brain tissue. This technique is highly effective at achieving durable control in tumors that are less that 2-3 cm in maximum diameter, with local disease control rates of >80% at 1 year (Ajithkumar et al. 2015). Importantly, SRS also causes less cognitive effects than WBXRT and thus has significant advantages. While technical limitations initially made it possible to only treat a limited (i.e., <4) brain metastases in a single day, new techniques, such as gamma knife radiosurgery, can allow for many more tumors to be treated expediently, markedly expanding the clinical utilization of SRS. Thus, SRS has largely replaced WBXRT in the management of patients with MBMs despite the lack of head-tohead prospective trials specifically in this disease. Notably, the sparing of normal brain tissue from toxicity has also made SRS a standard option even in patients that have tumors that could be addressed with surgical resection, which thus is often reserved for MBMs that progress despite SRS treatment.

While SRS is highly effective against small MBMs, its ultimate utility in larger tumors is less established. Further, while SRS causes less cognitive decline than WBXRT, it is not as effective at preventing the development of other tumors in the brain (Chang et al. 2009). However, it is possible that this deficit may now be addressable with systemic therapies.

### Chemotherapy

Traditionally the use of chemotherapy for brain metastases has prioritized agents that can cross the BBB. However, the need for this requirement is unclear, as there is significant evidence that brain metastases cause significant disruption of the BBB (Gerstner and Fine 2007).

The chemotherapy agent tested most extensively in MBM patients is temozolomide (TMZ). TMZ is metabolized to the same active metabolite as dacarbazine (DTIC), a DNA alkylator which was approved for the treatment of stage IV metastatic melanoma patients in 1975. In contrast to DTIC, TMZ has very good penetration of the BBB, and it is FDA-approved for the treatment of primary brain tumors. However, TMZ achieved intracranial responses in 7% of patients with previously untreated MBM, and in only 3% of patients with previously treated MBMs, in a phase II trial that included 151 patients (Agarwala et al. 2004). TMZ has also been evaluated in multiple small phase II studies in combination with a variety of other agents, without convincing evidence of significant benefit (Glitza et al. 2016).

### **Targeted Therapy**

As noted earlier in this chapter, approximately 50% of cutaneous melanomas harbor a mutation in the BRAF proto-oncogene that result in substitutions of the V600 residue of the protein and constitutive activation of its serine-threonine kinase activity. In 2011, vemurafenib, a selective small molecule inhibitor of the activated mutant form of BRAF, became the first targeted therapy to be approved for patients with metastatic melanoma. The approval was limited to patients with a  $BRAF^{V600}$  mutation, as both preclinical studies and early-phase clinical trials showed no significant activity in melanomas without this mutation and even the potential to accelerate the growth of such tumors. Dabrafenib was the second such inhibitor to be approved for patients with a BRAF^{V600} mutation, in 2014. Despite being the second agent approved, dabrafenib was the first

BRAF inhibitor to be evaluated in patients with MBMs.

Dabrafenib was selected in part for clinical development based on the fact that it did not cross the BBB in preclinical models, which was thought to be advantageous by minimizing the risk of neurological side effects caused by the drug. Despite this property, intracranial tumor shrinkage was observed in nine out of ten patients, with seven patients achieving confirmed responses, with MBMs in the phase I clinical trial of dabrafenib (Falchook et al. 2012). Based on this promising results, the BREAK-MB phase II trial evaluated the safety and efficacy of dabrafenib in 89 patients with previously untreated MBMs and 83 patients with new or progressing MBMs after previous CNS local therapies (Long et al. 2012). All patients had either mutation resulting either a BRAF^{V600E} or a BRAF^{V600K} substitution, which are the two most common forms seen (~70% and ~20% of Braf mutations, respectively). In addition, all patients were required to have no active neurological symptoms from their MBMs; patients who required corticosteroids to control such symptoms were eligible as long as the steroid dosing regimen was stable or decreasing. Dabrafenib achieved confirmed intracranial responses in 30-40%, intracranial disease control in 80-90%, and a median OS of ~8 months in MBM patients with a BRAF^{V600E} mutation. Slightly lower rates were seen in patients with a BRAF  $V_{600K}$  substitution. While no randomized trial was performed to directly compare dabrafenib versus TMZ, the results with targeted therapy were clearly superior, establishing dabrafenib as a treatment options for MBM patients with a  $\mathsf{BRAF}^{\mathsf{V600}}$  mutation. Notably, a phase II study of vemurafenib in 146 MBM patients reported several years later demonstrated similar intracranial activity and overall survival as was observed with dabrafenib (McArthur et al. 2017).

Several clinical trials in metastatic melanoma patients with a BRAF^{V600} mutation but without MBMs showed that combined treatment with a BRAF and a MEK inhibitor was superior to single-agent BRAF inhibitor therapy (Luke et al. 2017). These trials led to the approval of three

different targeted therapy combinations for metastatic melanoma patients with a BRAF  V600 mutation: dabrafenib and trametinib (2014), vemurafenib and cobimetinib (2015), and encorafenib and binimetinib (2018). In 2017, the results of the first clinical trial with such combination in MBM patients were reported. COMBI-MB was a phase II trial to evaluate the safety and efficacy of the FDA-approved dosing of dabrafenib and trametinib in patients with new or progressing MBMs (Davies et al. 2017). The primary goal of the study was to evaluate dabrafenib and trametinib in patients with a BRAF^{V600E} mutation, asymptomatic MBMs (steroids allowed), and no prior CNS-directed therapies, and the trial included 76 such patients (Cohort A). The trial also included small, exploratory cohorts (16 patients each) of patients with previous CNS-directed therapies and with a BRAF^{V600K} mutation, and one cohort of patients with active neurological symptoms not controlled by steroids (n = 17). The treatment was welltolerated in all cohorts, with no new or increased toxicities compared to what had been seen with this regimen in previous trials. For patients in Cohort A, the intracranial response rate was 58% and the intracranial disease control rate was 78%; similar rates were observed in the other smaller cohorts in the study. These initial response rates were promising and were only slightly lower than the rates previously reported in patients without MBMs. However, the median duration of responses for the MBMs in the patients in cohort A was only 6.5 months. This was approximately half as long as had been reported in the previous phase III trials of dabrafenib and trametinib in extracranial metastases (Long et al. 2016). Further supporting less durable responses in the MBMs, overall approximately 50% of all of the patients in the COMBI-MB study developed progressive disease in the brain before showing evidence of disease progression in their extracranial tumors (Davies et al. 2017). Finally, the median OS for patients in Cohort A was 10.8 months, which was again markedly less than previously reported in clinical trials with dabrafenib and trametinib in patients without MBMs (median 25.6 months) (Long et al. 2016).

At this time the cause of the shorter durability of responses of MBMs with dabrafenib and trametinib is unknown. Previous studies with both single-agent BRAF inhibitors and with BRAF and MEK inhibitor combinations have demonstrated the importance of the degree of MAPK pathway inhibition achieved in tumor cells to the clinical benefits from these regimens (Bollag et al. 2010; Flaherty et al. 2012). While it is clear that BRAF and MEK inhibitors are penetrating the BBB due to the high rates of clinical response and disease control, it is currently unknown whether similar drug levels and MAPK pathway inhibition are being achieved in MBMs compared to ECMs. If inferior pathway inhibition is being achieved in MBMs, then perhaps outcomes could be improved with alternative dosing regimens, or agents with improved BBB penetration, that achieve higher drug levels in the brain. However, as discussed previously, there is also evidence that MBMs can have significant molecular and immune differences compared to ECMs, which could also explain or contribute to the differential activity observed. For example, multiple studies have shown that activation of the PI3K-AKT pathway, either by loss of PTEN or by activation of receptor tyrosine kinases (RTKs), can cause resistance to BRAF and MEK inhibitors in melanomas with a BRAF^{V600} mutation (McQuade and Davies 2015). In addition to identifying hyperactivation of the PI3K-AKT pathway in MBM clinical samples, independent studies also demonstrated clinical activity of PI3K inhibitors in preclinical models of MBMs, including in combination with BRAF inhibitors (Chen et al. 2014; Niessner et al. 2016). While the PI3K-AKT pathway is thus an attractive combinatorial target for MBMs, successful inhibition of the pathway in patients has been challenging due to toxicities. Approaches being explored to overcome this limitation include isoformselective kinase inhibitors and intermittent dosing strategies.

In addition to molecular differences, immunological differences could also play a role in the shorter durability of intracranial responses with targeted therapy. Experiments in preclinical models strongly support that the immune system plays an active role in the clinical benefit achieved by BRAF inhibitors (Knight et al. 2013). Further, the degree of immune cell infiltration in tumors at baseline has been shown to correlate with the duration of responses achieved in metastatic melanoma patients treated with BRAF inhibitors (Kwong et al. 2015). Together the findings support the rationale to evaluate combinations of targeted and immune therapies, which are primarily being explored at this time in patients without MBMs.

### Immunotherapy

The brain is a site that is relatively protected from the immune system, as inflammation of the brain can cause significant morbidity. The use of interleukin-2, the first immunotherapy approved for patients with metastatic melanoma, in patients with brain metastases was further complicated by the need for aggressive fluid hydration to treat the vasodilatory effects of this cytokine, which can increase the risk of cerebral edema. Initial clinical trials also showed that the presence of brain metastases predicted very poor outcomes with interleukin-2 treatment in melanoma patients (Phan et al. 2001). However, much more promising safety and efficacy have been demonstrated in clinical trials with checkpoint inhibitor immunotherapies.

Ipilimumab, which is a monoclonal antibody against CTLA-4 on the surface of immune cells, was the first immune checkpoint inhibitor to be approved for the treatment of metastatic melanoma patients. It was also the first checkpoint inhibitor to be evaluated in melanoma patients with brain metastases. A phase II study evaluated the safety and efficacy of ipilimumab, given at a dose of 10 mg/kg, to 72 MBM patients, who were divided into two cohorts (Margolin et al. 2012). The larger cohort, Cohort A, included patients with small, asymptomatic brain metastases that did not require steroids (n = 51). The objective response rate in the brain for these patients was 18%, and 24% achieved disease control. Although long-term follow-up has yet to be reported, the responses appeared to be durable.

Cohort B (n = 21) included patients with symptomatic brain metastases that required steroids to control symptoms from cerebral edema. Only 5% of patients in Cohort B achieved intracranial responses, and the intracranial disease control rate was 10%. Together, the study provided an important proof-of-principle result that immune checkpoint inhibitors could safely achieve durable clinical responses in MBM patients. The results also suggested that efficacy may be much lower in patients requiring steroids to control cerebral edema from MBMs. Thus, most subsequent studies of immunotherapies in patients with brain metastases have excluded patients that require steroids. However, it is unknown whether the poor outcomes in Cohort B observed in this study were due to steroids antagonizing the effects of the ipilimumab or whether those patients did poorly because they had more aggressive tumors.

Multiple clinical trials in metastatic melanoma patients without CNS involvement demonstrated that anti-PD-1 checkpoint inhibitor antibodies were both more effective and safer than ipilimumab (Luke et al. 2017). The first clinical trial to evaluate anti-PD-1 immunotherapy in patients with brain metastases was a phase II study of pembrolizumab that included both lung cancer (n = 18) and melanoma (n = 18) patients (Goldberg et al. 2016). None of the patients were on steroids at the start of treatment, but many patients had received prior radiation and/or ipilimumab. The intracranial response rate among the melanoma patients was 22%, and recent reports have demonstrated that virtually all of these responses have been durable (Kluger et al. 2019). The Anti-PD1 Brain Collaboration (ABC) study reported a very similar intracranial response rate with the anti-PD-1 antibody nivolumab of 20% in 25 patients with previously untreated MBMs, with again most responses appearing to be durable (Long et al. 2018). While the results again suggested very promising results in a subset of patients, the response rates did appear to be lower than those observed in patients in previous studies who did not have CNS metastases (i.e., response rate of 45% for nivolumab) (Larkin et al. 2015).

Combined treatment with ipilimumab and nivolumab is a highly active therapy that has reported clinical response rates of close to 60% in metastatic melanoma patients without CNS metastases, with most responses occurring very quickly (Larkin et al. 2015; Luke et al. 2017). However, it is also associated with significantly more toxicity than single-agent checkpoint inhibitor therapy. The CheckMate 204 study evaluated this combination in 94 metastatic melanoma patients with asymptomatic brain metastases (Tawbi et al. 2018). The initial report of this study demonstrated an impressive intracranial response rate of 55%, with highly concordant results in the extracranial metastases of these patients, and 90% of the responses were ongoing at the time the results were presented. Impressively, the 12-month overall survival was 81.5%. The ABC study reported a slightly lower intracranial response rate of 46% among 35 asymptomatic patients without prior CNSdirected therapy treated with the same regimen of ipilimumab with nivolumab, with a 6-month overall survival rate of 78% (Long et al. 2018). Both studies reported significant toxicities in  $\sim$ 50% of patients, which is very similar to results observed in patients without CNS disease, and there was no apparent increase in neurotoxicity observed.

The results with ipilimumab and nivolumab quickly established this regimen as an important option to consider in melanoma patients with brain metastases. However, it must also be acknowledged that the results may not apply to all patients. In particular, many patients with brain metastases are diagnosed due to the presence of neurological symptoms and often require steroids to control them. As noted above, the pembrolizumab and CheckMate 204 studies excluded such patients (Tawbi et al. 2018; Goldberg et al. 2016). The ABC trial did report an exploratory cohort of 12 patients who had previous CNS-directed treatment or required steroids for neurological symptoms who were treated with single-agent nivolumab, which achieved an intracranial response in only 1 patient (6%) (Long et al. 2018). The CheckMate 204 will report in the future the outcomes of a cohort of patients treated

with ipilimumab and nivolumab who required concurrent steroids (up to 4 mg per day of dexamethasone) for symptom control. Thus, the optimal management for patients with symptomatic brain metastases remains unclear, and the outcomes of those patients remains poor. Possible strategies for such patients include upfront radiation, particularly stereotactic radiosurgery. Alternatively, for patients with a BRAF^{V600} mutation, initial treatment with targeted therapies could be used based on the high initial response and disease control rates they achieve.

### Combinations

The durability of responses achieved recently with immunotherapy both intracranially and extracranially in metastatic melanoma patients with brain metastases supports a prominent role in the management of these patients moving forward. A key question is how to build upon the initial results that have been observed, particularly with ipilimumab and nivolumab. Notably, while the overwhelming majority of patients who have responded to this treatment appear to achieve durable disease control and survival, 40-50% of patients failed to respond to this treatment, including a significant subset who were removed from the study before they could even be formally assessed for treatment response. In addition, while toxicities are more likely to be tolerated by practitioners in patients who have poor prognosis, such as those with CNS involvement, ultimately it would be beneficial to achieve similar results with less toxic regimens. Many new immunotherapy combinations are now being evaluated to see if similar efficacy can be achieved as that observed with ipilimumab and nivolumab but with less toxicity. However, almost none of these trials include patients with active brain metastases.

One potential strategy to build upon recent advances is to evaluate regimens that combine different treatment modalities. As described earlier, SRS achieves very high rates of disease control in treated lesions. Combining this approach with immunotherapy could potentially result in nearly uniform initial disease control intracranially, particularly in patients with a relatively small number of brain metastases. As there is also evidence that radiation can boost the antitumor immune response, there is also reason to hope that combinations of radiation and immunotherapy may result in therapeutic synergy (Postow et al. 2012; Vanpouille-Box et al. 2017). Supporting this possibility, several retrospective series have reported impressive outcomes in MBM patients that received both checkpoint inhibitors and SRS, and prospective clinical trials are underway or in planning stages (Cohen et al. 2016). While this approach is quite promising, retrospective series also indicate that this approach may increase the risk of radiation necrosis, a known complication of radiation therapy that can cause significant morbidity.

As noted above, there is also clinical rationale to combine targeted therapy with immunotherapy. The rapid onset and high rate of initial disease control with dabrafenib and trametinib in MBM patients with a BRAF^{V600} mutation could potentially provide an opportunity to further improve response rates with immunotherapy. Further, as there is significant preclinical data supporting the importance of the immune system in clinical responses to BRAF and MEK inhibitor targeted therapy, it is possible that checkpoint inhibitors may extend the durability of responses achieved with those targeted therapy agents. Similar to radiation, clinical trials combining anti-PD-1 agents with BRAF and MEK inhibitors have been initiated.

There are additional potential combinatorial approaches based on molecular features and drivers of brain metastases that have been identified. For example, multiple studies have indicated that MBMs frequently demonstrate increased activation of the PI3K-AKT pathway. Activation of the PI3K pathway, and particularly loss of PTEN, has also been shown in this disease to contribute to resistance to BRAF inhibitors, MEK inhibitors, and checkpoint inhibitor immunotherapy, which can be overcome with PI3K pathway inhibitors (Chen et al. 2014; Niessner et al. 2016; Peng et al. 2016). As the PI3K-AKT pathway appears to be activated in MBMs even when it does not appear to be activated in ECMs in individual patients,

agents targeting this pathway may have the greatest clinical impact in patients with CNS involvement. Interestingly, preclinical models suggest that loss of PTEN promotes resistance to immunotherapy in part by inducing the expression of VEGF, which impedes the trafficking of immune cells into regions in which it is expressed (Peng et al. 2016). Increased VEGF has been implicated in MBMs independently, and both antibodies and small molecules are available to inhibit VEGF signaling (Yano et al. 2000). Notably, VEGF inhibition is also utilized clinically to control cerebral edema, particularly in patients in whom steroids fail to be effective. Thus, VEGF inhibition may have steroid-sparing effects that may again help to augment the efficacy of immunotherapy in patients with aggressive brain metastases.

### Conclusions

There has been tremendous progress in the management of melanoma. While brain metastasis remains an all too common problem in this disease, a new era has dawned in which the understanding and treatments of these tumors has improved dramatically. However, significant work remains to be done.

Research has identified multiple molecules and pathways that contribute to the pathogenesis of MBMs. Additional investigation is needed to improve our understanding of the global status of these tumors, to parallel work conducted over the last several years in extracranial tumors and particularly to compare brain metastases to primary tumors and extracranial metastases from the same patients. Notably, there is also an important need to understand how the molecular and immune features of MBMs relate to prognosis and therapeutic resistance in the current era. While multiple studies have shed insight into the selective pressures current therapies exert on extracranial tumors, currently very little is known about the features and/or changes that occur in brain tumors that cause resistance to immune and targeted therapies. Importantly, as oncology increasingly evolves toward defining cancer patients and

their tumors based on molecular and/or immune features, a key challenge in MBM patients will be to define key features of these tumors non-invasively, as obtaining biopsies of intracranial lesions is difficult and frequently risky.

Similarly, the new therapeutic landscape of melanoma is providing new hope to patients, with marked improvements in outcomes being achieved with SRS, targeted therapy, and immunotherapy (Table 2). While each modality has demonstrated impressive results, a key question is whether combining these different therapeutic modalities together will improve outcomes further, or whether they should be used in specific sequences. As research has also identified multiple pathways that are activated in MBMs that are potential therapeutic targets, there are now also opportunities to utilize new agents as additional approaches to further improve outcomes. Another key challenge is to make new therapies more accessible to MBM patients. Historically, patients with brain metastases were often excluded from clinical trials, including all of the registration trials for currently approved immune and targeted therapies for this disease. However, the results of clinical trials conducted in the last several years have demonstrated the feasibility of clinical investigations in this population. Clinical investigators need to continue to support the development of clinical trials for this population with new and emerging agents and particularly investigations into their combinatorial effects with other relevant treatment modalities.

Finally, as noted at the beginning of this chapter, brain metastasis is an important and common problem in multiple other cancers, particularly lung and breast cancer. As progress is made in the understanding and treatment of brain metastases from melanoma, an open question is whether the same pathways and approaches are relevant to brain metastases from other tumor types. Similarly, it will be important to determine if features and strategies identified in other cancers can accelerate progress for MBM patients. Ultimately, a broad and comprehensive approach that integrates basic science, multiple treatment modalities, and investigations across cancer types may be the most effective way to overcome this daunting challenge and further improve outcomes.

Acknowledgments GMF is supported by the MD Anderson Cancer Center Caroline Ross Fellowship, the MD Anderson Cancer Center/UT-Health Graduate School of Biomedical Sciences Schissler Foundation Fellowship, and the NIH National Center for Advancing Translational Sciences (TL1TR000369 and UL1TR000371). MAD acknowledges support from the NIH/NCI (T32CA009666-24, 1R01CA187076-02, 1U54CA224070-01, CA170374), the Melanoma Research Alliance, the Melanoma Research Foundation, AIM at Melanoma, and the Dr. Miriam and Sheldon G. Adelson Medical Research Foundation and philanthropic support from the MD Anderson Cancer Center Melanoma Moon Shot Program.

### References

- Agarwala SS, Kirkwood JM, Gore M, Dreno B, Thatcher N, Czarnetski B et al (2004) Temozolomide for the treatment of brain metastases associated with metastatic melanoma: a phase II study. J Clin Oncol 22(11):2101–2107. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entre z/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=Cit ation&list uids=15169796
- Aguissa-Toure AH, Li G (2012) Genetic alterations of PTEN in human melanoma. Cell Mol Life Sci 69(9):1475–1491. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-011 -0878-0
- Ajithkumar T, Parkinson C, Fife K, Corrie P, Jefferies S (2015) Evolving treatment options for melanoma brain metastases. Lancet Oncol 16(13):e486–e497. https:// doi.org/10.1016/S1470-2045(15)00141-2
- Berghoff AS, Rajky O, Winkler F, Bartsch R, Furtner J, Hainfellner JA et al (2013) Invasion patterns in brain metastases of solid cancers. Neuro Oncol 15(12): 1664–1672. https://doi.org/10.1093/neuonc/not112
- Bollag G, Hirth P, Tsai J, Zhang J, Ibrahim PN, Cho H et al (2010) Clinical efficacy of a RAF inhibitor needs broad target blockade in BRAF-mutant melanoma. Nature 467(7315):596–599. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature0 9454. http://www.nature.com/nature/journal/v467/n73 15/abs/nature09454.html#supplementary-information
- Bollig-Fischer A, Michelhaugh S, Ali-Fehmi R, Mittal S (2013) The molecular genomics of metastatic brain tumours. OA Mol Oncol 1(1). https://www.ncbi.nlm. nih.gov/pubmed/25400938
- Brastianos PK, Carter SL, Santagata S, Cahill DP, Taylor-Weiner A, Jones RT et al (2015) Genomic characterization of brain metastases reveals branched evolution and potential therapeutic targets. Cancer Discov 5(11):1164–1177. https://doi.org/10.1158/2159-8290. CD-15-0369
- Brown PD, Jaeckle K, Ballman KV et al (2016) Effect of radiosurgery alone vs radiosurgery with whole brain

radiation therapy on cognitive function in patients with 1 to 3 brain metastases: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA 316(4):401–409. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama. 2016.9839

- Bucheit AD, Chen G, Siroy A, Tetzlaff M, Broaddus R, Milton D et al (2014) Complete loss of PTEN protein expression correlates with shorter time to brain metastasis and survival in stage IIIB/C melanoma patients with BRAF^{V600} mutations. Clin Cancer Res 20(21): 5527–5536. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-14-1027
- Cancer Genome Atlas Network (2015) Genomic classification of cutaneous melanoma. Cell 161(7): 1681–1696. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2015.05.044
- Chang EL, Wefel JS, Hess KR, Allen PK, Lang FF, Kornguth DG et al (2009) Neurocognition in patients with brain metastases treated with radiosurgery or radiosurgery plus whole-brain irradiation: a randomised controlled trial. Lancet Oncol 10(11):1037–1044. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1470-2045(09)70263-3
- Chen G, Davies MA (2012) Emerging insights into the molecular biology of brain metastases. Biochem Pharmacol 83(3):305–314. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. bcp.2011.09.012
- Chen G, Chakravarti N, Aardalen K, Lazar AJ, Tetzlaff M, Wubberhorst B et al (2014) Molecular profiling of patient-matched brain and extracranial melanoma metastases implicates the PI3K pathway as a therapeutic target. Clin Cancer Res 20(21):5337–5346. https:// doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.ccr-13-3003
- Cho JH, Robinson JP, Arave RA, Burnett WJ, Kircher DA, Chen G et al (2015) AKT1 activation promotes the development of melanoma metastases. Cell Rep 13(5):898–905. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2015. 09.057
- Cohen JV, Tawbi H, Margolin KA, Amravadi R, Bosenberg M, Brastianos PK et al (2016) Melanoma central nervous system metastases: current approaches, challenges, and opportunities. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res 29(6):627–642. https://doi.org/10.1111/pcmr.12 538
- Colombino M, Capone M, Lissia A, Cossu A, Rubino C, De Giorgi V et al (2012) BRAF/NRAS mutation frequencies among primary tumors and metastases in patients with melanoma. J Clin Oncol 30(20):2522–2529. https://doi. org/10.1200/JCO.2011.41.2452
- Cruz-Munoz W, Jaramillo ML, Man S, Xu P, Banville M, Collins C et al (2012) Roles for endothelin receptor B and BCL2A1 in spontaneous CNS metastasis of melanoma. Cancer Res 72(19):4909–4919. https://doi.org/ 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-2194
- Daneman R, Prat A (2015) The blood-brain barrier. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol 7(1):a020412. https://doi. org/10.1101/cshperspect.a020412
- Davies MA (2011) Regulation, role, and targeting of Akt in cancer. J Clin Oncol 29(35):4715–4717. https://doi. org/10.1200/JCO.2011.37.4751
- Davies MA, Stemke-Hale K, Tellez C, Calderone TL, Deng W, Prieto VG et al (2008) A novel AKT3 mutation in melanoma tumours and cell lines. Br J Cancer 99(8):1265–1268. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.bjc.6604637

- Davies MA, Stemke-Hale K, Lin E, Tellez C, Deng W, Gopal YN et al (2009) Integrated molecular and clinical analysis of AKT activation in metastatic melanoma. Clin Cancer Res 15(24):7538–7546. https://doi.org/ 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-09-1985
- Davies MA, Liu P, McIntyre S, Kim KB, Papadopoulos N, Hwu WJ et al (2011) Prognostic factors for survival in melanoma patients with brain metastases. Cancer 117(8):1687–1696. https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.25634
- Davies MA, Saiag P, Robert C, Grob J-J, Flaherty KT, Arance A et al (2017) Dabrafenib plus trametinib in patients with BRAF^{V600}-mutant melanoma brain metastases (COMBI-MB): a multicentre, multicohort, open-label, phase 2 trial. Lancet Oncol 18(7):863–873. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1470-2045(17)30429-1
- Eliceiri BP, Paul R, Schwartzberg PL, Hood JD, Leng J, Cheresh DA (1999) Selective requirement for Src kinases during VEGF-induced angiogenesis and vascular permeability. Mol Cell 4(6):915–924. https:// www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10635317
- Falchook GS, Long GV, Kurzrock R, Kim KB, Arkenau TH, Brown MP et al (2012) Dabrafenib in patients with melanoma, untreated brain metastases, and other solid tumours: a phase 1 dose-escalation trial. Lancet 379(9829):1893–1901. http://linkinghub. elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0140673612603985
- Fazakas C, Wilhelm I, Nagyoszi P, Farkas AE, Hasko J, Molnar J et al (2011) Transmigration of melanoma cells through the blood-brain barrier: role of endothelial tight junctions and melanoma-released serine proteases. PLoS One 6(6):e20758. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0020758
- Ferrara N, Gerber HP, LeCouter J (2003) The biology of VEGF and its receptors. Nat Med 9(6):669–676. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm0603-669
- Flaherty KT, Infante JR, Daud A, Gonzalez R, Kefford RF, Sosman J et al (2012) Combined BRAF and MEK inhibition in melanoma with BRAF V600 mutations. N Engl J Med. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1210093
- Garcia-Martin AB, Zwicky P, Gruber T, Matti C, Moalli F, Stein JV et al (2018) VLA-4 mediated adhesion of melanoma cells on the blood-brain barrier is the critical cue for melanoma cell intercalation and barrier disruption. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 271678x18775887. https://doi.org/10.1177/0271678x18775887
- Gaspar L, Mehta M, Patchell R, Burri S, Robinson P, Morris R et al (2010) The role of whole brain radiation therapy in the management of newly diagnosed brain metastases: a systematic review and evidence-based clinical practice guideline. J Neurooncol 96(1):17–32. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11060-009-0060-9
- Gerstner ER, Fine RL (2007) Increased permeability of the blood-brain barrier to chemotherapy in metastatic brain tumors: establishing a treatment paradigm. J Clin Oncol 25(16):2306–2312. https://doi.org/10.1200/jco.2006. 10.0677
- Gialeli C, Theocharis AD, Karamanos NK (2011) Roles of matrix metalloproteinases in cancer progression and their pharmacological targeting. FEBS J 278(1):16–27. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1742-4658.2010.07919.x

- Gigante M, Gesualdo L, Ranieri E (2012) TGF-beta: a master switch in tumor immunity. Curr Pharm Des 18(27):4126–4134. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pub med/22630082
- Glitza IC, Heimberger AB, Sulman EP, Davies MA (2016) Prognostic factors for survival in melanoma patients with brain metastases. In: Hayat M (ed) Brain metastases from primary tumors. Academic, London, pp 267–292
- Goldberg SB, Gettinger SN, Mahajan A, Chiang AC, Herbst RS, Sznol M et al (2016) Pembrolizumab for patients with melanoma or non-small-cell lung cancer and untreated brain metastases: early analysis of a non-randomised, open-label, phase 2 trial. Lancet Oncol 17(7):976–983. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1470-2045(16)30053-5
- Guo D, Jia Q, Song HY, Warren RS, Donner DB (1995) Vascular endothelial cell growth factor promotes tyrosine phosphorylation of mediators of signal transduction that contain SH2 domains. Association with endothelial cell proliferation. J Biol Chem 270(12): 6729–6733. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/78 96817
- Hamilton R, Krauze M, Romkes M, Omolo B, Konstantinopoulos P, Reinhart T et al (2013) Pathologic and gene expression features of metastatic melanomas to the brain. Cancer 119(15):2737–2746. https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.28029
- Hanniford D, Zhong J, Koetz L, Gaziel-Sovran A, Lackaye DJ, Shang S et al (2015) A miRNA-based signature detected in primary melanoma tissue predicts development of brain metastasis. Clin Cancer Res 21(21):4903–4912. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432. CCR-14-2566
- Herwig N, Belter B, Pietzsch J (2016) Extracellular S100A4 affects endothelial cell integrity and stimulates transmigration of A375 melanoma cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 477(4):963–969. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2016.07.009
- Huang FJ, Steeg PS, Price JE, Chiu WT, Chou PC, Xie K et al (2008) Molecular basis for the critical role of suppressor of cytokine signaling-1 in melanoma brain metastasis. Cancer Res 68(23):9634–9642. https://doi. org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-1429
- Izraely S, Klein A, Sagi-Assif O, Meshel T, Tsarfaty G, Hoon DS et al (2010) Chemokine-chemokine receptor axes in melanoma brain metastasis. Immunol Lett 130(1–2):107–114. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.imlet.20 09.12.003
- Izraely S, Sagi-Assif O, Klein A, Meshel T, Tsarfaty G, Pasmanik-Chor M et al (2012) The metastatic microenvironment: brain-residing melanoma metastasis and dormant micrometastasis. Int J Cancer 131(5): 1071–1082. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.27324
- Izraely S, Sagi-Assif O, Klein A, Meshel T, Ben-Menachem S, Zaritsky A et al (2015) The metastatic microenvironment: Claudin-1 suppresses the malignant phenotype of melanoma brain metastasis. Int J Cancer 136(6):1296–1307. https://doi.org/10.1 002/ijc.29090

- Jatiani SS, Baker SJ, Silverman LR, Reddy EP (2010) Jak/STAT pathways in cytokine signaling and myeloproliferative disorders: approaches for targeted therapies. Genes Cancer 1(10):979–993. https://doi. org/10.1177/1947601910397187
- Jilaveanu LB, Parisi F, Barr ML, Zito CR, Cruz-Munoz W, Kerbel RS et al (2015) PLEKHA5 as a biomarker and potential mediator of melanoma brain metastasis. Clin Cancer Res 21(9):2138–2147. https://doi.org/10.1158/ 1078-0432.CCR-14-0861
- Kienast Y, von Baumgarten L, Fuhrmann M, Klinkert WE, Goldbrunner R, Herms J et al (2010) Real-time imaging reveals the single steps of brain metastasis formation. Nat Med 16(1):116–122. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/nm.2072
- Kircher DA, Silvis MR, Cho JH, Holmen SL (2016) Melanoma brain metastasis: mechanisms, models, and medicine. Int J Mol Sci 17(9). https://doi.org/10.3390/ ijms17091468
- Klein A, Schwartz H, Sagi-Assif O, Meshel T, Izraely S, Ben Menachem S et al (2015) Astrocytes facilitate melanoma brain metastasis via secretion of IL-23.
  J Pathol 236(1):116–127. https://doi.org/10.1002/ path.4509
- Klein A, Sagi-Assif O, Meshel T, Telerman A, Izraely S, Ben-Menachem S et al (2017) CCR4 is a determinant of melanoma brain metastasis. Oncotarget 8(19): 31079–31091. https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.16076
- Kluger HM, Zito CR, Barr ML, Baine MK, Chiang VL, Sznol M et al (2015) Characterization of PD-L1 expression and associated T-cell infiltrates in metastatic melanoma samples from variable anatomic sites. Clin Cancer Res 21(13):3052–3060. https://doi.org/ 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-14-3073
- Kluger HM, Chiang V, Mahajan A, Zito CR, Sznol M, Tran T et al (2019) Long-term survival of patients with melanoma with active brain metastases treated with pembrolizumab on a phase II trial. J Clin Oncol 37(1):52–60. https://doi.org/10.1200/jco.18.00204
- Knight DA, Ngiow SF, Li M, Parmenter T, Mok S, Cass A et al (2013) Host immunity contributes to the antimelanoma activity of BRAF inhibitors. J Clin Invest 123(3):1371–1381. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI66236
- Kusters B, Leenders WP, Wesseling P, Smits D, Verrijp K, Ruiter DJ et al (2002) Vascular endothelial growth factor-A(165) induces progression of melanoma brain metastases without induction of sprouting angiogenesis. Cancer Res 62(2):341–345. https://www.ncbi.nlm. nih.gov/pubmed/11809675
- Kwong LN, Davies MA (2014) Targeted therapy for melanoma: rational combinatorial approaches (Review). Oncogene 33(1):1–9. https://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2013.34
- Kwong LN, Boland GM, Frederick DT, Helms TL, Akid AT, Miller JP et al (2015) Co-clinical assessment identifies patterns of BRAF inhibitor resistance in melanoma. J Clin Invest 125(4):1459–1470. https://doi. org/10.1172/JCI78954
- Laack NN, Brown PD (2004) Cognitive sequelae of brain radiation in adults. Semin Oncol 31(5):702–713. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15497124

- Larkin J, Chiarion-Sileni V, Gonzalez R, Grob JJ, Cowey CL, Lao CD et al (2015) Combined nivolumab and ipilimumab or monotherapy in untreated melanoma. N Engl J Med 373(1):23–34. https://doi.org/ 10.1056/NEJMoa1504030
- Long GV, Trefzer U, Davies MA, Kefford RF, Ascierto PA, Chapman PB et al (2012) Dabrafenib in patients with Val600Glu or Val600Lys BRAF-mutant melanoma metastatic to the brain (BREAK-MB): a multicentre, open-label, phase 2 trial. Lancet Oncol 13(11): 1087–1095. http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/ pii/S147020451270431X
- Long GV, Grob JJ, Nathan PD, Ribas A, Robert C, Schadendorf D et al (2016) Pooled analysis of individual patient data across dabrafenib and trametinib combination therapy randomised trials to identify factors that predict response, progression, and long-term outcomes. Lancet Oncol 17(12):1743–1754
- Long GV, Atkinson V, Lo S, Sandhu S, Guminski AD, Brown MP et al (2018) Combination nivolumab and ipilimumab or nivolumab alone in melanoma brain metastases: a multicentre randomised phase 2 study. Lancet Oncol 19(5):672–681. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S1470-2045(18)30139-6
- Luke JJ, Flaherty KT, Ribas A, Long GV (2017) Targeted agents and immunotherapies: optimizing outcomes in melanoma (Review). Nat Rev Clin Oncol, advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrclinonc. 2017.43
- Maher EA, Mietz J, Arteaga CL, DePinho RA, Mohla S (2009) Brain metastasis: opportunities in basic and translational research. Cancer Res 69(15):6015–6020. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-4347
- Marchetti D (1997) Specific degradation of subendothelial matrix proteoglycans by brain-metastatic melanoma and brain endothelial cell heparanases. J Cell Physiol 172(3):334–342. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1097-4652(199709)172:3<334::AID-JCP7>3.0.CO;2-P
- Marchetti D, Menter D, Jin L, Nakajima M, Nicolson GL (1993) Nerve growth factor effects on human and mouse melanoma cell invasion and heparanase production. Int J Cancer 55(4):692–699. https://www.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8407001
- Marchetti D, Li J, Shen R (2000) Astrocytes contribute to the brain-metastatic specificity of melanoma cells by producing heparanase. Cancer Res 60(17):4767–4770. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10987284
- Margolin K, Ernstoff MS, Hamid O, Lawrence D, McDermott D, Puzanov I et al (2012) Ipilimumab in patients with melanoma and brain metastases: an openlabel, phase 2 trial. Lancet Oncol 13(5):459–465. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1470-2045(12)70090-6
- McArthur GA, Maio M, Arance A, Nathan P, Blank C, Avril MF et al (2017) Vemurafenib in metastatic melanoma patients with brain metastases: an openlabel, single-arm, phase 2, multicentre study. Ann Oncol 28(3):634–641. https://doi.org/10.1093/annonc/ mdw641

- McQuade J, Davies MA (2015) Converting biology into clinical benefit: lessons learned from BRAF inhibitors. Melanoma Manag 2(3):241–254. https://doi.org/10.22 17/mmt.15.18
- Mirmohammadsadegh A, Marini A, Nambiar S, Hassan M, Tannapfel A, Ruzicka T et al (2006) Epigenetic silencing of the PTEN gene in melanoma. Cancer Res 66(13): 6546–6552. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query .fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=Citation& list_uids=16818626
- Murry BP, Blust BE, Singh A, Foster TP, Marchetti D (2006) Heparanase mechanisms of melanoma metastasis to the brain: development and use of a brain slice model. J Cell Biochem 97(2):217–225. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/jcb.20714
- Niessner H, Forschner A, Klumpp B, Honegger JB, Witte M, Bornemann A et al (2013) Targeting hyperactivation of the AKT survival pathway to overcome therapy resistance of melanoma brain metastases. Cancer Med 2 (1):76–85. https://doi.org/10.1002/cam4.50
- Niessner H, Schmitz J, Tabatabai G, Schmid AM, Calaminus C, Sinnberg T et al (2016) PI3K pathway inhibition achieves potent antitumor activity in melanoma brain metastases in vitro and in vivo. Clin Cancer Res 22(23):5818–5828. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-16-0064
- Obermeier B, Daneman R, Ransohoff RM (2013) Development, maintenance and disruption of the blood-brain barrier. Nat Med 19(12):1584–1596. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.3407
- Omholt K, Krockel D, Ringborg U, Hansson J (2006) Mutations of PIK3CA are rare in cutaneous melanoma. Melanoma Res 16(2):197–200. https://doi.org/10.10 97/01.cmr.0000200488.77970.e3
- Pardridge WM (2003) Blood-brain barrier drug targeting: the future of brain drug development. Mol Interv 3(2): 90–105, 51. https://doi.org/10.1124/mi.3.2.90
- Park ES, Kim SJ, Kim SW, Yoon SL, Leem SH, Kim SB et al (2011) Cross-species hybridization of microarrays for studying tumor transcriptome of brain metastasis. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 108(42):17456–17461. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1114210108
- Peng W, Chen JQ, Liu C, Malu S, Creasy C, Tetzlaff MT et al (2016) Loss of PTEN promotes resistance to T cell-mediated immunotherapy. Cancer Discov 6(2): 202–216. https://doi.org/10.1158/2159-8290.CD-15-0283
- Phan GQ, Attia P, Steinberg SM, White DE, Rosenberg SA (2001) Factors associated with response to high-dose interleukin-2 in patients with metastatic melanoma. J Clin Oncol 19(15):3477–3482. http://www.ncbi.nlm. nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMe d&dopt=Citation&list_uids=11481353
- Pollock PM, Harper UL, Hansen KS, Yudt LM, Stark M, Robbins CM et al (2003) High frequency of BRAF mutations in nevi. Nat Genet 33(1):19–20. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd= Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=Citation&list_uids= 12447372

- Postow MA, Callahan MK, Barker CA, Yamada Y, Yuan J, Kitano S et al (2012) Immunologic correlates of the abscopal effect in a patient with melanoma. N Engl J Med 366(10):925–931. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJM oa1112824
- Priego N, Zhu L, Monteiro C, Mulders M, Wasilewski D, Bindeman W et al (2018) STAT3 labels a subpopulation of reactive astrocytes required for brain metastasis. Nat Med 24(7):1024–1035. https://doi.org/10.1038/s4159 1-018-0044-4
- Rizzo A, Vasco C, Girgenti V, Fugnanesi V, Calatozzolo C, Canazza A et al (2015) Melanoma cells homing to the brain: an in vitro model. Biomed Res Int 2015:476069. https://doi.org/10.1155/2015/476069
- Roszik J, Wu CJ, Siroy AE, Lazar AJ, Davies MA, Woodman SE et al (2016) Somatic copy number alterations at oncogenic loci show diverse correlations with gene expression. Sci Rep 6:19649. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/srep19649
- Rotte A, Martinka M, Li G (2012) MMP2 expression is a prognostic marker for primary melanoma patients. Cell Oncol (Dordr) 35(3):207–216. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s13402-012-0080-x
- Sampson JH, Carter JH Jr, Friedman AH, Seigler HF (1998) Demographics, prognosis, and therapy in 702 patients with brain metastases from malignant melanoma. J Neurosurg 88(1):11–20. http://www.ncbi.nlm. nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMe d&dopt=Citation&list_uids=9420067
- Schlesinger M, Roblek M, Ortmann K, Naggi A, Torri G, Borsig L et al (2014) The role of VLA-4 binding for experimental melanoma metastasis and its inhibition by heparin. Thromb Res 133(5):855–862. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.thromres.2014.02.020
- Seifert H, Hirata E, Gore M, Khabra K, Messiou C, Larkin J et al (2016) Extrinsic factors can mediate resistance to BRAF inhibition in central nervous system melanoma metastases. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res 29(1):92–100. https://doi.org/10.1111/ pcmr.12424
- Shain AH, Yeh I, Kovalyshyn I, Sriharan A, Talevich E, Gagnon A et al (2015) The genetic evolution of melanoma from precursor lesions. N Engl J Med 373(20):1926–1936. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa 1502583
- Tang Q, Li J, Zhu H, Li P, Zou Z, Xiao Y (2013) Hmgb1-IL-23-IL-17-IL-6-Stat3 axis promotes tumor growth in murine models of melanoma. Mediators Inflamm 2013:713859. https://doi.org/ 10.1155/2013/713859

- Tawbi HA, Forsyth PA, Algazi A, Hamid O, Hodi FS, Moschos SJ et al (2018) Combined nivolumab and ipilimumab in melanoma metastatic to the brain. N Engl J Med 379(8):722–730. https://doi.org/10.10 56/NEJMoa1805453
- Vanpouille-Box C, Alard A, Aryankalayil MJ, Sarfraz Y, Diamond JM, Schneider RJ et al (2017) DNA exonuclease Trex1 regulates radiotherapy-induced tumour immunogenicity. Nat Commun 8:15618. https://doi. org/10.1038/ncomms15618
- Walentynowicz KA, Ochocka N, Pasierbinska M, Wojnicki K, Stepniak K, Mieczkowski J et al (2018) In search for reliable markers of glioma-induced polarization of microglia. Front Immunol 9:1329. https:// doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2018.01329
- Xie TX, Huang FJ, Aldape KD, Kang SH, Liu M, Gershenwald JE et al (2006) Activation of stat3 in human melanoma promotes brain metastasis. Cancer Res 66(6):3188–3196. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-05-2674
- Yang L, Pang Y, Moses HL (2010) TGF-beta and immune cells: an important regulatory axis in the tumor microenvironment and progression. Trends Immunol 31(6): 220–227. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.it.2010.04.002
- Yano S, Shinohara H, Herbst RS, Kuniyasu H, Bucana CD, Ellis LM et al (2000) Expression of vascular endothelial growth factor is necessary but not sufficient for production and growth of brain metastasis. Cancer Res 60(17):4959–4967. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt =Citation&list_uids=10987313
- Yu H, Jove R (2004) The STATs of cancer new molecular targets come of age. Nat Rev Cancer 4(2):97–105. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc1275
- Zhang C, Zhang F, Tsan R, Fidler IJ (2009) Transforming growth factor-beta2 is a molecular determinant for site-specific melanoma metastasis in the brain. Cancer Res 69(3):828–835. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt =Citation&list uids=19141644
- Zhang L, Sullivan PS, Goodman JC, Gunaratne PH, Marchetti D (2011) MicroRNA-1258 suppresses breast cancer brain metastasis by targeting heparanase. Cancer Res 71(3):645–654. https://doi.org/10.1158/ 0008-5472.CAN-10-1910
- Zhang L, Zhang S, Yao J, Lowery FJ, Zhang Q, Huang WC et al (2015) Microenvironment-induced PTEN loss by exosomal microRNA primes brain metastasis outgrowth. Nature 527(7576):100–104. https://doi. org/10.1038/nature15376



# **Imaging Melanoma**

# 27

# Richard L. Wahl

# Contents

Overall Rationale for Imaging	558
Imaging Methods         Chest X-Ray         CT Scan         MRI Scanning         Ultrasound         PET/CT         Single-Photon Imaging and Single-Photon Emission Computed Tomography/CT	559 559 559 559 560 560
(SPECT/CT)	560 562 562
Imaging for Regional Metastases         FDG PET for Evaluating Sentinel Nodes         Ultrasound for Imaging Sentinel Nodes         Emerging Imaging Approaches to Identify and Characterize the Sentinel Node	563 565 566 566
Imaging for Initial Staging and Follow-Up Imaging in Assessment of Treatment Response	567 569
Chemotherapy	570
BRAF Inhibitors	571
Immunotherapy	572
Brain Tumor Assessments	572
FDG PET in Immunotherapy Response	573
Imaging the Toxicity of Immunotherapy	574
If and When to Image a Patient with Melanoma	574
Extent of Examination	576

R. L. Wahl (🖂)

Mallinckrodt Institute of Radiology, Washington University School of Medicine, St. Louis, MO, USA e-mail: rwahl@wustl.edu

[©] Springer Science+Business Media, LLC, part of Springer Nature 2019 D. E. Fisher, B. C. Bastian (eds.), *Melanoma*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-7147-9_15

Imaging to Determine Suitability for Removal of Lung Metastases	576
Summary	578
References	578

### Abstract

The role of noninvasive imaging in melanoma differs depending on the clinical circumstance. At diagnosis, no or very limited systemic imaging for tumor staging is performed if patients have no clinical evidence of metastatic disease to lymph nodes or systemically. However, imaging is increasingly used to guide radionuclide sentinel lymph node biopsy procedures, especially if complex drainage routes are expected such as in the head and neck where SPECT/CT can be valuable.

Ultrasound can be used to assess and follow regional lymph nodes in patients in whom sentinel node biopsy is not successful or not performed. In higher-risk patients if there is tumor involvement in lymph nodes at sentinel node imaging, or clinically, more extensive whole-body imaging including CT, FDG PET/CT, and MRI of the brain are commonly performed. Surveillance with these methods at regular intervals is recommended by several groups for several years post diagnosis, though guidance varies and is based on the risk of recurrence.

Imaging, especially with PET/CT, is often used to assess suitability for surgical resection. Treatment response assessments by imaging are performed at more frequent intervals related to the timing of the specific therapy. Special attention in imaging patients treated with immune checkpoint inhibitors is necessary. CT, MRI, and PET/CT can have pseudo-progression, where responding tumors can transiently grow in size and metabolic activity, as well as apparent number, before response occurs. A delay of 1-2 months before repeat imaging to confirm progression or response is often needed. Use of imaging in melanoma still requires careful assessment for appropriateness to assure avoidance of overuse and attendant radiation and economic costs. Noninvasive imaging is a crucial part of the management of melanoma at multiple time points across the history of the illness. As new therapies evolve, our understanding of the best imaging methods and timing of imaging will evolve as well.

### Keywords

Imaging · PET/CT · Sentinel-node · FDG surveillance · MRI

### **Overall Rationale for Imaging**

Melanoma is increasing in frequency across the world. While totally curable if diagnosed early, melanoma is highly lethal if systemically disseminated. Melanoma commonly spreads first to regional lymph nodes, then systemically. In general, if there is a very low likelihood of spread to regional lymph nodes (primary tumor <0.75 mm) and negative clinical nodes, no sentinel node assessment is performed and no systemic imaging studies are undertaken. However, in intermediate and thicker melanomas, assessment of the regional draining lymph nodes for tumor involvement for prognostic purposes is important. Even in these patients, only about 20% have nodal metastases. Patients with tumor involvement in the lymph nodes are much more likely to have systemic metastases and to die from melanoma than patients who do not have lymph node involvement with tumor.

Diagnostic lymph node dissections have been replaced with sentinel lymph node diagnostic procedures in most clinical settings. The sentinel node procedures provide important prognostic information and appear to have modest therapeutic benefit in selected patient groups when coupled with lymph node dissections in patients with positive SLNs (Morton et al. 2014).

Sentinel node sampling can be informed by imaging. If there is evidence of disease in lymph nodes, especially of any substantial tumor burden, whole-body imaging is more commonly performed to identify metastatic disease. If there is measurable disease and the patient is undergoing surgical or medical treatment, imaging is used to assess the completeness of resection as well as response to therapy. Imaging to assess treatment response provides evidence of efficacy/inefficacy of therapy before it is continued or changed.

In patients at high risk of tumor recurrence, whole-body (or nodal) imaging is performed periodically as surveillance, as there is emerging evidence that resection of low tumor volume disease is more effective than if high tumor volume is resected. In addition, low tumor volumes appear to be more responsive to therapies such as immunotherapies than higher tumor volumes. The case for aggressive tumor surveillance is made more robust the higher the risk of tumor recurrence, and the more effective therapies become. With the rapid change in melanoma therapies, more imaging is necessary, but therapies have evolved so rapidly that precise guidance on when imaging is most necessary continues to evolve, especially with checkpoint inhibitor therapy.

### **Imaging Methods**

There is a wide range of noninvasive imaging tests available for patients with the diagnosis of melanoma. Their use is detailed in the individual sections of this chapter. Some of the methods involve ionizing radiation (CT, PET/CT), while others do not (e.g., ultrasound, MRI).

### Chest X-Ray

The PA and lateral chest radiograph is a mainstay of imaging in humans. Chest radiographs are typically done in the PA and lateral views and are acquired in most instances using digital techniques. While the chest X-ray is relatively inexpensive and of rather low radiation dose, it is a relatively insensitive tool for finding small pulmonary lesions and can fail to detect small malignant pulmonary nodules.

### CT Scan

The CT scan is an anatomic imaging tool which detects masses and lesions that differ in X-ray absorption from surrounding normal tissues. CT scans typically have higher radiation doses than X-rays and cost more, but with modern digital detectors, iterative reconstruction algorithms, and low energy CT beams, the radiation dose from CT scans has been decreased versus that used previously. CT scan detection of melanoma can be enhanced in some instances with the use of IV contrast. For pulmonary nodule diagnosis, non-contrast, thin-section, breath-hold CT is a superior diagnostic technique to a chest radiograph and is also superior to PET imaging alone for detecting small pulmonary nodules. It is the preferred method for evaluating the presence/ absence of lung lesions.

### MRI Scanning

MRI takes advantage of differences in magnetic susceptibility among tissues to identify tumors. MRI can be improved in sensitivity, especially in the brain, by the use of IV contrast media which alter MRI contrast and lesion detectability that is dependent on the permeability of the blood-brain barrier. MRI scans are less sensitive than CT for identifying lung lesions but may be somewhat superior to CT for identifying liver lesions. MRI imaging takes a fairly long period of time, often an hour, and is relatively expensive. It is not optimally suited to evaluations of the entire body. MRI is the preferred technique for identifying brain metastases. A variety of pulse sequences be used, but typically T1-weighted, can T2-weighed, and diffusion-weighted images are obtained, including some sequences before and after IV contrast.

### Ultrasound

Ultrasound depends on the reflected characteristics of emitted sound waves which are detected by a transducer array system. These systems can have high frequency and very high resolution. While ultrasound can assess many areas of the body, it is degraded by bone and in very large patients. It is well suited to evaluate the size of small lymph nodes and to determine if they have changed in size. Ultrasound can be done in real time and can direct biopsies. This method is quite user dependent, but in expert hands it can identify suspicious nodal lesions 5 mm in size and sometimes smaller, for biopsy. While ultrasound contrast agents have recently been approved, they have not yet been systematically evaluated in the diagnosis of melanoma. Ultrasound tends to be used more in countries where there is less access to CT, MRI, or PET imaging, but tends to have its major niche in evaluating nodal groups, especially those patients who cannot undergo, or did not undergo, sentinel lymph node sampling.

A specialized research use of ultrasound, which is in early clinical evaluations, is photoacoustic imaging, in which a bright light source is applied to a structure with either intrinsic or dye contrast being excited and emits sound waves. These sound waves can be detected as so-called photoacoustic imaging. Recently, elastography has been explored as an adjunct to purely anatomic imaging, as size alone does not determine the presence/absence of cancer in nodes (Uematsu et al. 2013).

### PET/CT

Positron emission tomography (PET) has substantially been replaced by PET/CT and, to a lesser extent, PET/MRI imaging in melanoma. The PET method in melanoma typically involves taking advantage of the typically very high glucose metabolism in melanoma. Early studies by Gritters et al. showed that FDG PET can detect a substantial number of tumor lesions not detected by anatomic imaging methods alone (Gritters et al. 1993).

A cyclotron-produced positron emitting radioactive glucose analog, ¹⁸F-Fluoro-2-deoxy-Dglucose, is given intravenously. About 1 h later, melanomas have selectively accumulated the FDG versus most normal tissues. This increased FDG uptake can be detected by a combined PET/CT scanner which can give high-resolution CT and PET images and display hybrid or individual images. PET/CT is the single most powerful tool for detecting metastatic melanoma, but is limited in that the PET scan often fails to detect tumors under 5-6 mm in diameter. Small pulmonary metastases are better detected on CT (especially if there is a breath hold). If background tracer activity is high, such as in the brain, metastases can fail to be detected by PET, hence the need for MRI to detect brain metastases.

While other PET tracers than FDG have been investigated, FDG is the preferred radiotracer for melanoma detection in most instances. In general, a PET/CT scan requires close to 2 h of patient time, 1 h for tracer uptake, and 20–40 min for imaging. These scans must be done in fasted patients as high serum glucose levels can interfere with scan quality. A variety of other radiotracers have been explored in PET imaging of melanoma, but so far are not compellingly superior to FDG (Ren et al. 2010).

### Single-Photon Imaging and Single-Photon Emission Computed Tomography/CT (SPECT/CT)

Similar to PET imaging, when radionuclides are injected, images can be obtained by a gamma camera. This gamma camera can be stationary or can move around the patient and provide multiple image views that can be reconstructed to 3D images (SPECT). Recently, like PET/CT, SPECT has been combined with CT to produce SPECT/CT images, which allow the display of the radionuclide images on the anatomic background of a CT scan. For many years, the radionuclide bone scan was the main method for detecting metastatic disease to bone. While still available, it has been substantially replaced by the PET/CT scan with FDG, which appears to adequately assess bone metastases.

A more commonly deployed single-photon imaging method is in the form of lymphoscintigraphy, typically performed in the context of sentinel lymph node imaging with a radioactive tracer that is often a radiocolloid (Scarsbrook et al. 2007). The lymphoscintigraphic images can follow the lymphatic channels and identify lymph nodes at risk of having metastases. Since the lymph node metastases are often very small, e.g., 1 or 2 mm in size, the imaging tool only identifies the flow and uptake to the nodes and not the presence/absence of nodal metastases. This approach with imaging is variably practiced.

In situations in which nodal drainage may be expected to go to many sites, such as a vertex lesion of the scalp or a mid-back lesion, the imaging study can be very informative in identifying the at-risk nodal basins (e.g., one or both axilla, left/right neck nodes, axilla or groin, etc.). In some institutions, marking the nodes with an external marker is used to help direct the surgeon to the highest yield location for SLN identification/resection.

In the past several years, there has been more and more interest in 3D identification of the location of sentinel nodes in the neck to minimize surgical morbidity and shorten procedures. The use of SPECT/CT has helped in this domain (Fig. 1).



Fig. 1 Transverse SPECT/CT imaging of lymph nodes identified as sentinel nodes on ^{99m}Tc-sulfur colloid SPECT/CT imaging. Two nodes are identified

The radiotracer imaging agent used for lymphoscintigraphy differs by location in the world and regional approvals by regulatory agencies. ^{99m}Tc-tilmanocept, which binds to CD206-positive cells in lymph nodes, has been approved in the USA. Filtered and unfiltered Tc-sulfur colloid is often used in the USA as well (Sondak et al. 2013). In the rest of the world, agents such as albumin microcolloids and antimony ^{99m}Tc colloids have been used, as well as ^{99m}Tc-human serum albumin. In general, the larger the particle size, the less migration there is from the injection site and the greater the retention is in the proximal nodal group (the true SLN).

Since most studies have shown that blue dye alone shows fewer SLN than radionuclide studies, it is common in many locales to use a dye, such as blue dye, radioactive imaging (lymphoscintigraphy), and a radioactive probe detector (or intraoperative gamma camera) to identify nodal groups for resection as sentinel nodes (Niebling et al. 2016). There has also been recent growth in using combined approaches such as an indocyanine green dye mixed with 99mTc-albumin microcolloid, to allow photoacoustic, fluorescent, and radionuclide imaging of nodes (Fig. 2). Virtually all of the light-based methods deteriorate in the presence of obesity, so radionuclide imaging remains relevant for SLN procedures. It is notable, however, than in some situations, that imaging adds little beyond what is possible simply using a radionuclide probe system.

**Fig. 2** Lateral view of neck showing both ^{99m}Tcalbumin colloid and ICG photoacoustic imaging of the neck showing sentinel nodes (van den Berg et al. 2015 reproduced from Radiology)

### **Radiation Dose**

It would be ideal if all imaging of melanoma could be done with non-ionizing radiation. This is not the case, at present, but careful attention to radiation dose is essential. PET/CT and CT are the two highest systemic radiation dose methods. Sentinel node imaging delivers a high radiation dose to the injected skin and to the nodes, but the skin and nodes are most commonly removed surgically, limiting the relevance of this local dose. There have been major efforts to drive down radiation dose through the use of more sensitive PET scanners, through PET/MRI, and by more doseefficient CT scanners. Despite this, caution is in order if many repeated scans are to be performed, especially in the setting of surveillance and in younger patients. It is, for example, perhaps reasonable to limit evaluation of the pelvis in a patient who has had a head and neck melanoma, as the risk of metastases to the pelvis is low.

### **Emerging Methods**

Optical and photoacoustic methods as well as contrast-enhanced ultrasound are of potential interest at least in the setting of defining the extent of regional disease. It is too early to recommend these techniques for routine approaches, but as our database grows, they may be more appropriate for broader dissemination (Stoffels et al. 2015). The nonradioactive indocyaninine (ICG) dye method is showing promise versus a blue dye optical technique (Korn et al. 2014). There are



imaging methods under investigation, specifically for pigmented suspicious skin lesions, which are in evolution and include confocal microscopy, spectroscopic imaging, and combined methodology approaches (Smith and Macneil 2011; Wang and Hashemi 2010).

### Imaging for Regional Metastases

The sentinel node procedure is considered the reference standard for N staging for melanoma and can be applied when there is no clinical evidence of regional nodal metastasis. This procedure is commonly performed for primary melanomas of >0.75 mm in thickness, but its use and precise method of deployment is variable. There are some controversies, addressed elsewhere, over precisely which patients need a SLN procedure, on the need for complete node dissection post positive SLN, and whether the procedure is truly beneficial to survival (Cordeiro et al. 2016; Madu et al. 2017). The procedure clearly provides prognostic information. Sentinel node procedures are performed in various ways, some of which include no imagbeforehand, which ing but follow an intraoperative injection of a dye or which follow the injection of a radiocolloid before surgery. In the latter instance, imaging is commonly performed with a gamma camera before the surgery. In many centers, the location of the sentinel node(s) is marked to assist in expediting the surgical procedure to remove the sentinel node.

In some instances, if there is clinical suspicion of metastatic adenopathy, ultrasound of the nodal basin with fine-needle aspiration (FNA) or biopsy of suspiciously enlarged nodes can be performed. There is then the possibility of proceeding directly to formal regional lymphadenectomy. In the case of palpable nodes, FDG PET imaging has been shown to be reasonably reliable in determining if the nodal basin is involved with tumor, but tissue is essential to confirm the presence of metastatic disease (Macfarlane et al. 1998). In the event of a negative sentinel lymph node biopsy, the patient is considered to have clinical stage I or II disease. No systemic imaging is indicated for these patients.

Increasing evidence suggests early diagnosis and resection of tumor-involved sentinel nodes is of value both in reducing local recurrence rates and, seemingly, in increasing survival of patients with intermediate-thickness melanomas versus a delayed observation strategy. While the differences in survival are modest, they might be expected to increase as newer therapies of melanoma are being deployed such as checkpoint inhibitors, including those for lower-volume stage III disease (Balch and Gershenwald 2014; Morton et al. 2014).

All imaging methods, including US, CT, and PET-CT, have limited utility for the early stages of melanoma, with very low diagnostic yield and a burden of false-positive results leading to unnecessary workup. Positive sentinel lymph node biopsy indicates clinical stage III disease. The next step in management usually includes complete formal regional lymphadenectomy.

Newly diagnosed low metastatic burden, i.e., stage IIIA, disease may or may not require systemic imaging. While yields from systemic imaging are low, failing to detect systemic metastatic disease may be problematic as it relates to delayed care and increased morbidity. Conversely, clinically-evident stage III disease requires baseline imaging to detect the possibility of clinically occult stage IV disease. This is of particular importance if the disease is considered to be resectable or amenable to other locoregional treatment, such as isolated limb infusion with chemotherapy or more radical surgical excision (Patnana et al. 2011).

Some groups have evaluated less invasive methods of lymph node evaluation, such as ultrasound. This tool can perform well in experienced hands. However, SLN biopsy is typically well tolerated, especially in comparison to lymph node excision; it contributes little additional morbidity to wide local excision, though it is resource consumptive. At present, an experienced sonographer is able to identify only those SLN metastases that have reached a minimum diameter of approximately 4–5 mm, which represents a significant burden of disease that itself is associated with a relatively high rate of future distant disease. False-positive enlarged nodes are common as well. It is important to contrast this minimum threshold for detection to the experience of (Gershenwald and Ross) who indicated the median largest SLN metastatic focus was only 1 mm for patients who had a positive SLN biopsy and fewer than one in five patients had a largest SLN metastatic focus >4 mm.

Such limited sensitivity in detecting SLN disease argues against the routine use of sonography as the sole surveillance tool for early detection of clinically occult regional nodal disease – assuming detecting early metastases to lymph nodes is important prognostically (Ross and Gershenwald 2013). Several groups have used SPECT/CT imaging to detect and locate sentinel lymph nodes in patients with melanoma.

In 35 patients with a primary melanoma who were scheduled for wide local excision and sentinel node biopsy, conventional lymphoscintigraphy and subsequently SPECT/CT were performed. SPECT/CT depicted the same 69 sentinel nodes detected through conventional lymphoscintigraphy in the 35 patients, and identified 8 additional sentinel nodes in 7 patients (20%). In two of these patients (5.7%), an additional nodal basin had to be explored to find the extra sentinel nodes. SPECT/CT provided additional anatomic information that was helpful to the surgeon in 11 patients (31%), which led to an adjustment of the surgical approach in 10 patients (29%). Overall, SPECT/CT provided relevant additional information in 16 (46%) of the 35 patients (Veenstra et al. 2012).

In head and neck nodal staging in 20 patients, SPECT/CT was compared to planar imaging. SPECT/CT depicted an additional sentinel node in 16% of the patients and clearly showed the anatomic location of the hot nodes in all patients. The surgical approach was adjusted on the basis of SPECT/CT images in 11 patients (55%) (Vermeeren et al. 2011). In a small series, SPECT/CT lymphoscintigraphy of the head and neck resulted in a change in surgical approach in over 60% of cases (Lopez-Rodriguez et al. 2016).

Zender et al. studied 14 patients with melanoma who had sentinel nodes located near the parotid glands, and lymphatic drainage to the parotid region was suspected. They had received lymphoscintigraphy followed by SPECT/CT prior to surgical excision and SLN biopsy. Retrospective analyses showed SPECT/CT provided data which changed management in 57% of patients. The authors concluded the distinction between level II and parotid sentinel lymph nodes which was clearly identified through SPECT/CT images (Zender et al. 2014).

Stoffel et al. evaluated metastatic node detection and disease-free survival using single-photon emission computed tomography/computed tomography (SPECT/CT)-aided sentinel lymph node excision (SLNE) versus standard SLNE in patients with melanoma. A total of 403 patients with clinically-negative lymph nodes, who underwent SLNE with or without preoperative SPECT/CT, qualified for subsequent analysis. Two hundred fifty-four patients underwent the standard SLNE technique. Subsequently 149 patients underwent the SPECT/CT technique.

Using SPECT/CT allowed SLNE in the head and neck area more frequently (2.0% for standard versus 23.5% for SPECT/CT; difference, 21.1%; 95% CI, 14.1%–28.2%; P < 0.001). In the SPECT/CT cohort, more sentinel lymph nodes per patient were detected than in the standard cohort (2.40 vs. 1.87; 95% CI, 1.93–2.18; P < 0.001). The number of positive sentinel lymph nodes per patient was significantly higher in the SPECT/CT cohort than in the standard cohort (0.34 vs. 0.21; 95% CI, 0.21-0.31; P = 0.04). The local relapse rate in the SPECT/ CT cohort was lower than in the standard cohort (6.8% vs. 23.8%, P = 0.03), with prolonged 4-year disease-free survival (93.9% vs. 79.2%; P = 0.02).

The authors concluded that in patients with clinically lymph node-negative melanoma, the use of SPECT/CT-aided SLNE compared with SLNE alone was associated with a higher frequency of metastatic involvement and a higher rate of disease-free survival (Stoffels JAMA (Stoffels et al. 2014)).

These same patients were studied for costeffectiveness of the SLN procedure augmented or not augmented by SPECT/CT imaging. There was a mean cost saving of <euro> 710.50 when SPECT/CT was added to preoperative imaging. This was achieved by a reduction in operative time (median 40 min vs. 45 min; p = 0.002), hospital stay duration (5 days vs. 8 days; p < 0.001), and more frequent use of local anesthesia (90.6% vs. 70.5%; p < 0.001). The median cost of SLNE using SPECT/CT was <euro> 1,619.7 and of SLNE without SPECT/CT was <euro> 2,330.2), a cost saving of 30.5%.

These authors concluded that in patients with cutaneous melanoma, the use of preoperative SPECT/CT-aided SLNE compared with standard SLNE was associated not only with higher detection of metastatic involvement but also with a significant cost reduction. Whether these results will extend to the USA and other systems is uncertain, as the duration of the inpatient stay is substantially longer than the stays typical in the USA, especially with some of the procedures being done as fully outpatient procedures in the USA (Stoffels et al. 2012, 2014).

From these limited new data, if the technology is available, routine use of SPECT/CT in addition to conventional lymphoscintigraphy is recommended in melanoma patients undergoing lymphatic mapping. This is especially true in the head and neck or other areas where the anatomy may be complex and surgical risks more substantial. Some authors have suggested that the algorithm for imaging for lymphoscintigraphy, even for relatively straightforward indications for sentinel node location (like extremities) aberrant basins. including epitrochlear, popliteal, intermuscular, retroperitoneal and in transit nodes are seen best with imaging, especially SPECT/CT as a complement to the sentinel node detection.

This recent improvement in imaging is leading to a new paradigm of "see and open" in contraposition to the former "open and see" in the SN procedure. The new mixed reality protocols which are able to transfer SPECT/CT to the operating room for surgical navigation will reinforce this "see and open" concept (Valdes Olmos et al. 2014).

It should be noted that there are continuing advancements in surgical navigation in the operating room. While "hot nodes" have been typically detected with a radiation-sensitive probe system, 3D navigation systems have been developed. For example, a "free hand SPECT" system has been developed for the operating room. This system has been piloted in a small number of centers, but is not yet the widespread standard of care. The approach appears at least as good as planar imaging and may be superior to an intraoperative probe system. One disadvantage of these systems is that the time for acquisition of images may be longer than those to obtain radioactive probe counts (Mihaljevic et al. 2014). This area of technology is advancing rapidly.

### FDG PET for Evaluating Sentinel Nodes

There was initially great enthusiasm for FDG PET imaging of regional nodal metastases (Gritters et al. 1993; Macfarlane et al. 1998). The early studies were performed in patients with palpable lymph nodes, and in such settings lesion detection was quite accurate. However, larger studies have shown FDG PET can miss many small nodal lesions in patients with melanoma; hence the use of FDG PET cannot be recommended as a tool for nodal staging in the clinically N0 nodal basins, in contrast to the SLN procedures discussed in this section (Friedman and Wahl 2004; Perng et al. 2015).

Wagner et al. and Crippa reported that the sensitivity of FDG-PET for detection of metastatic melanoma in lymph nodes depends on sufficient tumor volume. FDG-PET begins to reliably detect metastatic tumor in lymph nodes at volumes greater than approximately 80 mm³, but sensitivity falls rapidly below this.

The experience of Singh et al. is representative (Singh et al. 2008). They evaluated the role of preoperative ¹⁸F-fluorodeoxyglucose-positron emission tomography/computed tomography (FDG/PET-CT) scanning, preoperative lymphoscintigraphy (LS), and sentinel lymph node biopsy in 52 patients with malignant melanoma. None of the study patients had clinical or radiological evidence of regional lymph node metastatic disease. At least one sentinel node was identified in all patients. Preoperative LS detected a total of 111 sentinel lymph nodes (average 2.13 sentinel lymph node per patient) and demonstrated a single nodal draining basin in 38 patients (73%) and multiple (two to three draining basins) in the remaining 14 patients (27%). Fourteen out of the 52 patients (27%) had at least one involved sentinel node. Positron emission tomography showed true positive in two patients with a sentinel node greater than 1 cm and false positive in two other patients. In this study, the detection of sentinel lymph node by LS and gamma probe had a sensitivity of 100%. In contrast, ¹⁸F-FDG-PET imaging demonstrated very low sensitivity (14.3%; 95% CI, 2.5-44%) and positive predictive value (50%; 95% CI, 9-90%) for localizing the subclinical nodal metastases.

They concluded that in patients with non-palpable nodes, FDG PET/CT is not able to replace LS/sentinel lymph node biopsy in patients at stage I or II (Singh et al. 2008). While the Singh study is small and the positive predictive value of PET is lower than in some other series, this study clearly indicates the challenge of using PET to noninvasively assess palpably normal lymph node basins.

### Ultrasound for Imaging Sentinel Nodes

Ultrasound can be used to assess regional lymph nodes and guide nodal biopsies. It is not a substitute for sentinel node imaging or sampling, but can be a useful adjunct. It has a particular role in patients in whom sentinel node imaging is not successful or if patients refuse to have a sentinel node sampling procedure performed. In such settings, sequential ultrasound imaging may be very helpful in identifying interval nodal growth which may indicate early growth of tumors in lymph nodes and suggest the need for biopsy.

Xing conducted a meta-analysis of imaging methods for locoregional nodal disease and systemic disease imaging methods including ultrasonography, computed tomography (CT), positron emission tomography (PET), and a combination of both PET and CT for the staging and surveillance of melanoma patients (Xing et al. 2011).

Patient-level data from 74 studies containing 10,528 patients (between January 1, 1990, and June, 30, 2009) were used to derive characteristics of the diagnostic tests used. Among the four imaging methods examined for the staging of regional lymph nodes, ultrasonography had the highest sensitivity (60%, 95% CrI = 33-83%), specificity (97%, 95% CrI = 88-99%), and diagnostic odds ratio (42, 95% CrI = 8.08–249.8). For staging of distant metastases, PET-CT had the highest sensitivity (80%, 95% CrI = 53-93%), specificity (87%, 95% CrI = 54-97%), and diagnostic odds ratio (25, 95% CrI = 3.58-198.7). Similar trends were observed for melanoma surveillance of lymph node involvement, with ultrasonography having the highest sensitivity (96%, 95% CrI = 85–99%), specificity (99%, 95% CrI = 95-100%), and diagnostic odds ratio (1675, 95% CrI = 226.6 - 15, 920).

Positive predictive values were likewise highest for ultrasonography in lymph node staging and for PET-CT in detecting distant metastases. Among the compared modalities, ultrasonography was superior for detecting lymph node metastases, and PET-CT was superior for the detection of distant metastases in both the staging and surveillance of melanoma patients.

Because US is less sensitive than SLN imaging, SLN procedures will provide greater sensitivity and specificity, though at the price of an invasive procedure and considerable expense. In some settings US is used instead of SLN, with SLN reserved for cases where there is nodal growth on US surveillance (Xing et al. 2011; Rueth et al. 2014; Trotter et al. 2013).

### Emerging Imaging Approaches to Identify and Characterize the Sentinel Node

A combined imaging agent with -^{99m}Tc and indocyanine as well as a separate blue dye injection were prospectively compared in 104 patients with newly diagnosed melanoma to determine efficacy in detecting sentinel lymph nodes. Following intradermal hybrid tracer administration, lymphoscintigraphy and single-photon emission computed tomography/computed tomography were performed. Blue dye was intradermally injected prior to the start of the surgical operation (excluding patients with a facial melanoma). Intraoperatively, SNs were initially pursued by using gamma tracing followed by fluorescence imaging (FI) and, when applicable, blue dye detection. A portable gamma camera was used to confirm SN removal. Collected data included number and location of the preoperatively and intraoperatively identified SNs and the intraoperative number of SNs that were radioactive, fluorescent, and blue.

Preoperative imaging revealed 2.4 SNs (range, 1-6) per patient. Intraoperatively, 93.8% (286 of 305) of the SNs were radioactive, 96.7% (295 of 305) of the SNs were fluorescent, while only 61.7% (116 of 188) of the SNs stained blue (P < 0.0001). Fluorescent imaging (FI) was of value for identification of near-injection-site SNs (two patients), SNs located in complex anatomic areas (head and neck [28 patients]), and SNs that failed to accumulate blue dye (19 patients). This study is intriguing, and while the imaging agent is not FDA approved in the USA, it illustrates that radioactive and optical dyes may be complementary to one another, with the combination clearly superior to using only the blue dye optical approaches for SLN visualization (van den Berg et al. 2015).

In a combined in vitro and in vivo study, Stoffels et al. were able, using multispectral optoacoustic imaging (MSOT), to detect melanin content in excised sentinel nodes from melanoma patients. They relied on different spectral characteristics for melanin versus other nodal tissues. MSOT significantly improved the tumor metastasis detection rate in excised SLN (506 SLNs from 214 melanoma patients) compared with the conventional EORTC (European Organisation for Research and Treatment of Cancer) Melanoma Group in vitro protocol (22.9% vs. 14.2%). MSOT identified cancer-free SLNs in vivo and ex vivo without a single false negative (189 total lymph nodes), with 100% sensitivity and 48–62% specificity, suggesting this approach may have a role in vitro and possibly in vivo in assessing SLNs noninvasively. MSOT combined with the

near-infrared fluorophore indocyanine green reliably visualized SLNs in vivo in 20 patients, up to 5 cm depth of visualization penetration and with 100% concordance with ^{99m}Tc-marked SLN lymphoscintigraphy (Stoffels et al. 2015).

Photoacoustic imaging and optoacoustic imaging are promising tools for imaging small nodal metastases, at least in animal models. Preliminary data suggest this tool may be superior to FDG PET/CT (Neuschmelting et al. 2016).

# Imaging for Initial Staging and Follow-Up

While 80% of melanoma patients have no nodal metastases at presentation, 10–15% do have nodal metastases, and up to 5% of patients have systemic metastases. In general, stage I and II patients do not need systemic staging. But, many stage III and suspected stage IV patients will typically have systemic imaging. If there are palpable lymph nodes, biopsy-proven sentinel lymph nodes involved with cancer, an elevated LDH, an elevated serum S100 protein, a high mitotic rate, tumor ulceration, and/or a deep primary tumor, the probability of systemic metastases at staging increases.

The NCCN guidelines offer flexibility in terms of which patients should have systemic staging procedures. Staging guidelines differ substantially by country (Trotter et al. 2013). At some point, the yield of whole-body staging becomes sufficiently low that it is not cost-effective to undertake the requisite imaging.

Since FDG PET was introduced for imaging areas of the whole body in 1993 and showed superior performance to CT imaging, many studies have shown the superiority of FDG PET/CT to CT and other methods in detecting most visceral metastases of melanoma (Gritters et al. 1993).

Niebling et al. examined the prognostic value of staging in FDG-PET and CT-negative or FDG-PET and CT-positive melanoma patients to assess which factors have an independent prognostic impact on survival of these patients. Patients with palpable and histologically or cytologically proven LNM of melanoma, referred to participating hospitals for examination with FDG-PET and CT, were selected from a previous study. For all 252 patients selected, 5-year melanoma-specific survival was 38.2%. For FDG-PET and CT-negative and FDG-PET and CT-positive patients, 5-year MSS was 47.6 and 16.9%, respectively.

The disease-free period for FDG-PET and CT-negative patients was 46.0% after 5 years. Gender, a positive FDG-PET and CT, LNM in the axilla compared to the head or neck, and the presence of extranodal growth were independent factors for worse MSS in all patients. Positive FDG-PET and CT was the most important prognostic factor for MSS with a hazard ratio of 2.54 (95% CI, 1.55–4.17, P < 0.001).

These authors concluded that staging melanoma patients with palpable LNM was more accurate when whole-body FDG-PET and CT is added to the diagnostic workup and recommended the tests in the staging of clinical stage III melanoma patients (Niebling et al. 2013).

In a retrospective and blinded study of 250 consecutive patients who underwent FDG-PET/CT for staging of cutaneous melanoma at different time points in the course of disease. Diagnostic accuracy for N- and M-staging was determined for CT alone, PET alone, and PET/CT. PET/CT detected significantly more visceral and nonvisceral metastases than PET alone and CT alone 88.8%, and 69.7%, respectively). (98.7%, PET/CT imaging provided significantly more accurate interpretations regarding overall N- and M-staging than PET alone and CT alone. Overall N- and M-stage was correctly determined by PET/CT in 243 of 250 patients (97.2%; 95% CI, 95.2-99.4%) compared with 232 patients (92.8%; 95% CI, 89.6-96.0%) by PET, and 197 patients (78.8%; 95% CI, 73.7-83.9%) by CT. All differences were significant. The accuracy of PET/CT was significantly higher than that of PET and CT for M-staging (0.98 vs. 0.93 and 0.84) and significantly higher than that of CT for N-staging (0.98 vs. 0.86). Change of treatment according to PET/CT findings occurred in 121 patients (48.4%). This high sensitivity is probably biased by including patients with more advanced disease (Reinhardt et al. 2006).

Fuster et al. determined the accuracy of ¹⁸F-FDG PET in detecting recurrent melanoma. In 156 patients with confirmed melanoma and recurrence suspected by clinical examination, 184 PET scans were retrospectively reviewed. Histology or clinical follow-up was used for the final diagnosis. They found the sensitivity and specificity of PET for detecting lesions on an individual patient basis were 74% and 86%, respectively, compared with values of 58% and 45% for conventional imaging alone. The overall accuracy for PET was 81%, compared with 52% for other methods. PET was more accurate (91% vs. 67%) than conventional imaging in detecting locoregional disease and distant metastases (85% vs. 55%), and PET results led to a change in the planned clinical management of 36% of patients included in this study.

PET was more accurate than CT in detecting skin lesions, malignant lymph nodes, and metastases to the abdomen, liver, and bone. In the assessment of pulmonary disease, PET showed higher specificity (92% vs. 70%) than CT for the detection of lung parenchyma lesions; however, the sensitivity was better for CT (93%) than for PET (57%). They concluded PET was better than conventional imaging in detecting locoregional disease and distant metastases in all sites except the lung, where it appears to be a useful adjunct to CT (Fuster et al. 2004).

In a meta-analysis of over 10,000 patients, to determine if distant metastases were present, PET-CT had the highest sensitivity (86%, 95% CrI = 76–93%), specificity (91%, 95% CrI = 79–97%), and diagnostic odds ratio (67, 95% CrI = 20.42–229.7) in comparison to CT or ultrasound (Xing et al. 2011).

In a systematic review, Schröer-Günther and colleagues reported finding no randomized clinical trials investigating the patient-relevant benefit of PET(/CT) and no prognostic accuracy studies. Seventeen diagnostic accuracy studies of varying quality were identified. For patients with American Joint Committee on Cancer (AJCC) stages I and II, sensitivity mostly ranged from 0% to 67%, again reflecting the lower sensitivity of PET for nodal metastases, which are often small. Specificity ranged from 77% to 100%. For AJCC stages III and IV, sensitivity ranged from 68% to 87% and specificity from 92% to 98%.

They concluded that there was currently no evidence of a patient-relevant benefit of PET (/CT) in the primary staging of malignant melanoma and suggested the opportunity for RCTs investigating patient-relevant outcomes. Of course, the lack of RCT evidence does not mean that PET is not valuable, and for nearly 15 years FDG PET/CT has been reimbursed by CMS in the USA (Schroer-Gunther et al. 2012). Rohren has also reviewed the role of FDG PET/CT in tumor staging and outcomes, as the disease evolves (Rohren 2015). Examples of positive FDG PET/CT scans are shown in Figs. 3a–c.

There is clear evidence that FDG PET/CT can meaningfully change management of patients. Gulec et al. reported on 49 patients with known or suspected metastatic melanoma who underwent diagnostic evaluations using computerized tomography (CT) of the chest, abdomen, and pelvis and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) of the brain (Gulec et al. 2003). After formulation of an initial treatment plan, the patients underwent FDG-PET imaging. Treatment plans pre- and post-PET were compared. The PET scan identified more metastatic sites in 27 of 49 patients (55%). In 6 of those 27 patients, PET-detected disease outside the fields of CT and MRI. Fifty-one lesions were resected surgically. Of these, 44 were pathologically confirmed to be melanoma. The results of PET led to treatment changes in 24 patients (49%). Eighteen of these changes (75%) were surgical. In 12 cases (67%), the planned operative procedure was cancelled, and in 6 cases (33%), an additional operation was performed. In 6 of 24 patients (25%), systemic therapy was prompted by identification of new focus of disease. Significant surgical and medical treatment alterations were made based on the PET results.

It is important to note that FDG PET/CT can fail to detect small lung metastases (on the PET portion of the exam) and brain metastases. Close examination of the CT scans of the thorax (breath hold) and of brain MRI are essential for optimal evaluation. The NCCN guidelines version 1-2017 offer flexibility on which studies to include in imaging for staging and when to image, but, they say, to include the chest, abdomen, and pelvis with CT and IV contrast and/or PET/CT of the whole body. MRI is required to exclude brain metastases, if suspected.

Friedman et al. stated cumulative data suggests that FDG-PET is the modality of choice for evaluating patients who fit into one of four categories: (1) individuals with a high risk for distant metastases based on the extent of locoregional disease, (2) patients with findings that are suspicious for distant metastases, (3) individuals with known distant tumor deposits who still stand to benefit from customized therapies if new lesions are discovered or treated lesions regress, and (4) patients at high risk for systemic relapse who are considering aggressive medical therapy (Friedman and Wahl 2004).

Despite the overall superiority of FDG-PET in the detection of melanoma metastases, limitations exist with respect to detection of small (Uematsu et al. 2013) lung nodules and brain metastases, which are better evaluated by computed tomography and magnetic resonance imaging, respectively (Friedman and Wahl 2004). In some instances, CT or MRI may be more sensitive for liver metastases than FDG PET/CT (Friedman and Wahl 2004). In some settings with different availability of resources, ultrasound may be a useful tool for evaluating the liver for metastases (Ulrich et al. 2011).

### Imaging in Assessment of Treatment Response

Until a few years ago, imaging melanomas for treatment response was not a major part of the use of imaging, as many melanomas did not respond to standard treatments. In the past few years, there has been great progress in melanoma therapy, and imaging has had a growing role to help monitor and guide therapies. In general, PET/CT or CT (or MRI if a brain lesion) is used to follow treatment response. Response criteria such as RECIST 1.1 and PERCIST 1.0 are now


**Fig. 3** (a) FDG PET whole-body imaging mainly showing intense uptake in cutaneous tumor foci in the left leg. (b) FDG PET whole-body imaging showing a suspicious lesion in right axilla, proven to be metastatic melanoma to

the axilla. (c) FDG PET whole-body imaging showing extensive systemic metastases, including in the liver, in a patient with stage IV melanoma

increasingly applied, at least in clinical trials of therapy (Eisenhauer et al. 2009; Wahl et al. 2009). However, immune responses differ and additional modifications of response criteria have become necessary.

# Chemotherapy

For chemotherapy, the reality is most treatments do not work well in melanoma. However, PET has been used extensively in assessment of treatment response in a wide range of cancer types, and those results directly relate to PET in treatment response. Strobel and Kalff compared ¹⁸F-FDG-PET/CT, CT, brain MRI, and the tumor marker S-100B in assessment of the response to chemotherapy for 25 stage IV melanoma patients (Strobel et al. 2008). These tests were obtained at baseline and after 2–3 months (three cycles) of chemotherapy. They then linked these early findings to longer-term outcomes. In patients with a clinical suspicion for brain metastases, MRI or CCT was performed. They found general agreement between FDG-PET/CT and CT regarding response to chemotherapy in all patients. There was a clear trend to a longer overall survival of PET/CT responders (n = 10) compared with PET/CT non-responders (n = 15; p = 0.072) with better 1-year OS of 80% compared to 40% (p = 0.048). There was a significant longer PFS of PET/CT responders compared with PET/CT non-responders (p = 0.002). S-100B was normal at baseline in 8 of 22 patients where it was available.

Chemotherapy response assessment with S-100B failed to show correlation with OS or PFS. Eleven patients developed brain metastases during treatment, first detected by PET/CT in two and by MRI or CCT in 9 of 11 patients. Appearance of brain metastases was associated with a poor survival. These authors concluded ¹⁸F-FDG-PET/CT and CT alone are equally suitable for assessment of response to chemotherapy in melanoma patients and clearly superior to S-100B. PET/CT responders have better early survival, but this is short-lived due to late therapy failure - often with brain recurrence. Additional brain MRI for assessment of response to therapy in such high-risk patients is mandatory to detect brain metastases missed by PET/CT.

In contrast to systemic chemotherapy, regional delivery of chemotherapy with isolated limb perfusion, radiation therapy, and hyperthermia can be of value for regional disease. In a two-center trial, Beasley et al. evaluated 97 patients with stage IIIB/IIIC extremity melanoma undergoing isolated limb infusion (ILI). They had whole-body FDG-PET/CT scans before and every 3 months after treatment. Clinical response was determined at 3 months by Response Evaluation Criteria in Solid Tumors (Beasley et al. 2012; McArthur et al. 2012).

Consistent with the greater efficacy of regional delivery, complete response (CR) after ILI occurred in 33% (32/97) of patients. FDG-PET/CT accurately identified 59% of patients who were CRs (19/32), whereas 41% (13/32) had residual metabolic activity in the extremity that was histologically negative for melanoma. The 3-year disease-free rate was 62.2% for those patients who were CRs by both clinical/pathologic examination and FDG-PET/ CT (n = 19) compared to only 29.4% of those CRs who still had residual FDG-PET/CT activity (n = 13). FDG-PET/CT was utilized for surveillance of disease recurrence outside the regional field of treatment. Fifty-two percent of patients developed disease outside the extremity at a median time of 212 days from pre-ILI FDG-PET/CT. In 47% of these cases, the recurrence was resected.

Although FDG-PET/CT did not appear to accurately identify patients who appear to be CRs to ILI, it appeared to identify a subgroup of patients whose regional progression-free survival was markedly worse. In these patients, FDG-PET/ CT was an excellent method for surveillance in stage IIIB/IIIC patients after regional chemotherapy infusion with an ability to identify surgically resectable recurrent disease in these high-risk patients. A challenge in studies using qualitative assessments is that there is relatively little background radiotracer uptake. This means that achieving a "negative" scan versus background can be difficult and qualitative readings of a dichotomous yes/no to increased tracer uptake versus in an extremity are inherently subjective.

# **BRAF Inhibitors**

Inhibitors of driver mutations of cancer are promising therapeutics. These agents have a role in the treatment of melanomas having the relevant mutations. Consistent with results in other tumor types, rapid declines in FDG uptake are seen when these agents are used in patients with sensitive tumors.

McArthur et al. (2012) and Beasley et al. reported on 31 melanoma patients with BRAF mutations. Baseline and day 15 FDG-PET was evaluated mainly at doses expected to be therapeutic with vemurafenib (PLX06-02). In the 27 patients treated at potentially therapeutic levels, at least a partial metabolic response was found in 24, and 3 patients achieved a complete metabolic response. In the 27 patients, there was an 80  $\pm$  3% reduction in the maximum standardized uptake value (SUVmax) of target lesions. There was a positive correlation between %ID in all identified disease and target-lesion SUVmax (r (2) = 0.66; P < 0.001). This indicated a significant homogeneity of the response between lesions in individual patients.

Although no relationship was found between the reduction in target lesion SUVmax and the best response according to RECIST (Response Evaluation Criteria in Solid Tumors), there was a trend for patients with greater reductions in uptake of FDG to have longer progression-free survival. These data suggest rapid changes in glycolysis, and presumably to some extent tumor viability, are seen with this treatment. These results seem similar to those that have been reported in GIST with FDG and imatinib therapy. It is quite possible, however, that drops in tumor metabolism do not mean the tumors have died.

# Immunotherapy

There has been a revolution in the past decade in the use of immune checkpoint inhibitors to treat melanoma such as anti-CTLA-4 and anti-PD-1 agents. These treatments are discussed elsewhere in the text, but it is important to note that some of the responses to these treatments may be much different in their kinetics than responses to chemotherapy. The RECIST criteria were developed mainly based on chemotherapeutic approaches. Given that the biological mechanism of response in immunotherapy differs greatly from that of traditional cytotoxic chemotherapy, these RECIST criteria may not be appropriate for immunotherapy response (Wolchok et al. 2009).

Wolchok et al. described the following four types of responses associated with favorable survival in melanoma patients undergoing therapy with ipilimumab: (1) shrinking the baseline target lesion with no new lesions, (2) durable stability with subsequent a slow gradual decline in tumor burden, (3) an initial increase in tumor burden with subsequent shrinkage, and (4) shrinkage of baseline target lesions with new interval lesions.

They proposed that the four types of responses can be unified into one general category of controlled disease. It is notable that only the first of the proposed criteria would be a response by RECIST and the last two would be progressive disease by RECIST. It is presumed that tumor enlargement seen in patients who do well may be related to infiltration of tumors by reactive activated lymphocytes that increases lesion size.

Nishino et al. have studied immune-related responses by CT quite extensively. In addition to the conventional response pattern of a decrease in tumor burden, irRC describes two additional patterns of immune-related response specific to immunotherapy, including (1) responses after an initial increase in total tumor burden and (2) reduction in total tumor burden during or after the appearance of new lesions at time points later than 12 weeks since the initiation of therapy. These additional patterns of response are likely due to the activation of T cell immunity caused by ipilimumab. In a case study of an ipilimumabtreated patient with apparent increase of tumor burden at 12 weeks of therapy, histologic analyses showed that the increase in lesion size was due to T-cell infiltration rather than tumor cell proliferation [17].To capture these immune-related response patterns, irRC requires confirmation for progressive disease by a repeat consecutive assessment no less than 4 weeks from the first documentation (Nishino et al. 2015).

# **Brain Tumor Assessments**

Pseudoprogression can also occur anatomically in brain tumors. It has been suggested that the anatomic RANO criteria be modified to the I-RANO criteria (van den Bent et al. 2011; Okada et al. 2015). In patients who have imaging findings that meet RANO criteria for progressive disease within 6 months of starting immunotherapy, including the development of new lesions or confirmation of radiographic progression on followup imaging, before defining the patient as non-responsive to treatment, provided that the patient does not have new or substantially worse neurological deficits, longer observation may be required. For example, such patients might be allowed a window of 3 months before confirming disease progression with the scan that first showed initial progressive changes as the new reference scan for comparison with subsequent imaging studies. If RANO criteria for progressive disease are met on the follow-up scan 3 months later, non-responsiveness to treatment should be assumed, and the date of progressive disease should be back-dated to the initial date when it was first identified. This area is under further study and evolving, but indicates caution needs to be in order when it comes to assessing brain tumor response to immunotherapy (Okada et al. 2015).

#### FDG PET in Immunotherapy Response

Sachpekidis and Haberkorn evaluated FDG PET/CT performed at baseline and after two and four cycles of ipilimumab to predict the final response to ipilimumab (anti-CTLA-4) therapy in 22 patients with unresectable metastatic melanoma (Sachpekidis et al. 2015). Evaluation of the patient response to treatment assessed with PET was based on the 1999 criteria of the European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer. After completing treatment, 15 patients were characterized as having progressive metabolic disease (PMD) and five as having stable metabolic disease (SMD), and two patients showed a partial metabolic response (PMR). Early PET/CT performed after two ipilimumab cycles predicted treatment response in 13 of the 15 PMD patients, in five of the five SMD patients and in neither of the two PMR patients. Both patients with PMR showed pseudoprogression

after the second cycle and were therefore wrongly classified.

According to the patients' clinical outcome, patients with early PMD had a median PFS of 2.7 months (mean 5.5 months) and patients with early SMD had a median PFS of 6.3 months (mean 7.5 months). The difference in PFS between the two groups was statistically significant (log-rank p < 0.001). The median OS among patients with early PMD was 8.8 months (mean 12.0 months) and among those with early SMD 9.8 months (mean 10.0 months). The difference in OS between the two groups was statistically significant (log-rank p < 0.001). While the authors concluded (18)F-FDG PET/CT after two cycles of ipilimumab was highly predictive of the final treatment outcome in patients with PMD and SMD, it should be noted that the only two PMR patients were misclassified as progression due to pseudoprogression. Thus, FDG has some challenges in this population, though it appears that progression after two cycles on PET is often, though not always, associated with a less favorable outcome.

From these limited data, and preliminary data from Cho (2017) et al., a repeat PET/CT scan after 40.8 weeks more of therapy is suggested to more confidently assess treatment response by PET and to avoid erroneously confusing the favorable response of pseudoprogression with true progression that requires additional treatment.

The challenge of pseudoprogression has been reviewed by Chiou et al. (Chiou and Burotto 2015). They pointed out that 9.7% of patients with melanoma had clinical responses (PR and SD) that would have been misclassified as progression by anatomic criteria with ipilimumab. Similar figures of 4-12% of atypical responses potentially classified as progression (pseudoprogression) were seen in preliminary reports on melanomas treated with anti-PD-1 antibodies (Chiou et al.). There is much more to be learned in this area of study, but it is clear that a small, but not insubstantial, fraction of patients with an ultimately good response to checkpoint inhibitor therapy will have transient tumor "progression" before their good response is apparent.

# Imaging the Toxicity of Immunotherapy

In addition to the changes in tumors treated with immunotherapy, there can be immunological side effects from these treatments imaged on anatomic or functional imaging (Bronstein et al. 2011). Bronstein et al. retrospectively reviewed the images and medical records of 119 patients with metastatic melanoma treated with anti-CTLA-4 for the presence of radiologic manifestations of immune-related adverse events and the clinical responses to therapy.

The responses were categorized as progressive or controlled disease. Radiologic manifestations of immune-related adverse events were found in 20 patients (16.8%). Clinically evident manifestations included colitis, hypophysitis, thyroiditis, and arthritis. Clinically silent manifestations were benign lymphadenopathy and inflammatory changes in the soft tissues, such as myositis, fasciitis, and retroperitoneal fat haziness. There was a significant association between the incidence of radiologic manifestations of immune-related adverse events and clinical responses to anti-CTLA-4 therapy.

The disease control rates were 18% for the entire group, 55% for the group with radiologic manifestations, and 10% for the group without radiologic manifestations of immune-related adverse events. In three patients (2.5%), lymphadenopathy related to radiologic manifestations of immune-related adverse events was interpreted as suspected metastasis but was proved benign at biopsy. Radiologic manifestations of immunerelated adverse events are associated with significant clinical benefit of anti-CTLA-4 therapy. In the era of developing immune checkpointtargeted therapy for metastatic melanoma, radiologists should be alert to the possibility of these manifestations, which can mimic radiologic disease progression (Bronstein).

Much less is reported related to FDG PET and toxicity. Wachsman et al. have reported that four patients with immune-mediated side effects were identified among the patients being treated with ipilimumab who underwent ¹⁸F-FDG PET-CT for monitoring therapeutic effects (Wachsmann et al. 2017). These immune-mediated side effects include new findings of abnormal increased FDG uptake associated with immune-mediated pancreatitis and hypophysitis, as well as immune-mediated thyroiditis and colitis (Fig. 4). Attention must be paid to both CT and PET/CT for findings that suggest an immunological side effect.

# If and When to Image a Patient with Melanoma

Early detection of a melanoma recurrence is a major concern for the clinician. However, the follow-up care of melanoma patients lacks a uniform approach. Different dermatological and oncological organizations have developed their own strategies of follow-up management that vary by specialty and methods of screening for recurrence (Trotter et al). It is important to develop an effective, evidence-based approach to melanoma clinical follow-up care. However, such evidence is impacted by the therapeutic options available, which have been in evolution. Guidelines based on nihilistic approaches to metastatic melanoma are no longer relevant given the multiple new effective treatments now available and emerging.

It is largely agreed that most patients with stage I and II melanomas need no systemic imaging. Gold et al. reviewed an 8-year experience of 181 patients who had a positive SLNB (Gold et al. 2007). At least one study (computed tomography or magnetic resonance imaging of the brain; chest X-ray; computed tomography of the thorax, abdomen, or pelvis; positron emission tomography scan; or bone scan) was obtained around the time of SLNB in 178 patients (98%).

Studies were obtained after SLNB in 107 patients (59%). Studies ordered after SLNB resulted in indeterminate findings in 51 patients (48% of those studied). Among patients tested after SLNB, four were found to have metastatic disease (positive rate 3.7%). All of these patients had both a thick melanoma and macrometastasis within the SLN. The number of patients with indeterminate findings would be decreased, and the yield of the workup increased fourfold by restricting the workup to those with thick melanoma and macrometastasis.

These authors propose restricting workup to patients with thick melanoma and macrometastasis on SLNB to spare patients from indeterminate findings and increase the yield of the whole-body imaging evaluation (Gold et al. 2007).

Danielsen et al. reviewed the records of 167 patients with newly diagnosed "high-risk" primary cutaneous melanoma who underwent a PET/CT scan performed as part of their initial staging (Danielsen et al. 2016). Clinical and histologic factors were evaluated as possible predictors of melanoma metastasis identified on PET/CT scanning. Thirty-two patients (19.2%) had a positive PET/CT finding of metastatic melanoma. In more than half of these patients (56.3%), PET/CT scanning identified disease that was not detectable on clinical examination. Mitotic rate, tumor thickness, lymphadenopathy, and bleeding were significantly predictive of PET/CT positivity. A combinatorial index constructed from these factors revealed a significant association between the number of high-risk factors observed and the prevalence of PET/CT positivity, which increased from 5.8% (with the presence of 0-2 factors) to 100.0%, when all four factors were present.

These results indicate that combining clinical and histologic prognostic factors enables the identification of patients with a higher likelihood of a positive PET/CT scan. It appears that "high-risk" melanoma patients can be identified who are more appropriate candidates for PET/CT imaging, though how reliable such stratification algorithms are in practice remains to be determined (Danielsen et al. 2016).



**Fig. 4** FDG PET imaging showing diffuse pancreatic FDG uptake indicative of active pancreatitis associated with immune check-point therapy (Reproduced from Wachsmann et al. 2017)

In stage III and IV melanoma, the role of PET/CT and imaging at presentation seems well established. Krug et al. estimated the diagnostic performance of ¹⁸F- fluorodeoxyglucose (FDG) positron emission tomographic (PET) imaging in the initial staging of cutaneous malignant melanoma (CMM). They identified 28 studies involving 2,905 patients who met the inclusion criteria. The pooled estimates of FDG PET performance for the detection of metastasis in the initial staging of CMM were sensitivity, 83%, and specificity, 85%; positive likelihood ratio (LR), 4.56; negative LR, 0; and diagnostic odds ratio, 19.8. Results from eight studies suggested that FDG PET was associated with 33% disease management changes (range, 15-64%). These authors pointed out the need for prospective studies in this space (Krug et al. 2008).

Mena et al. reviewed clinical records of PET/CT scans of 232 biopsy-proven melanoma patients who underwent FDG-PET/CT scans. Of these, 71 patients had 4 or more follow-up FDG-PET/CT scans after completion of primary treatment, with a total of 246 fourth or subsequent follow-up PET/CT scans.

The added value of each follow-up PET/CT scan to the patient's clinical assessment and treatment management was established. Of the 246 fourth and subsequent follow-up PET/CT scans, 61% (150/246) were negative for malignancy, and 39.0% (96/246) were positive for recurrence/metastases. The PET/CT scan resulted in change of the patient's management in approximately 16.7% (41/246) of the scans. Change in management was significantly greater in patients whose scans were done with prior clinical signs suggestive of malignancy or for therapy assessment than without prior clinical suspicion (29.3% vs. 4.1%; P < 0.0001).

The authors concluded the fourth and subsequent FDG-PET/CT scans obtained after completion of primary treatment added value to clinical assessment in patients with melanoma, especially in patients with clinical signs suggestive of recurrence or metastases. Those being monitored for treatment response are more likely to benefit from the fourth or subsequent FDG PET/CT than those without prior clinical suspicion (Mena et al. 2016).

#### **Extent of Examination**

Although pelvic computed tomography (CT) scans are frequently performed as a part of routine surveillance, the evidence for or against the routine use of these scans in patients with primary melanoma in the head and neck is weak. Alvrado et al. conducted a retrospective study to evaluate the value of pelvic CT scans as routine surveillance in patients with primary melanoma in the head and neck in 146 patients with either primary or mucosal primary melanoma who had adequate follow-up evaluation for at least 5 years in institution. A total of 82 patients (56%) had eventually developed distant metastases, but only 10 (7%) had developed metastases in the pelvis, and none had developed pelvic metastases as the first and the only site of recurrence. This study suggests that the routine use of a pelvic CT scan as a surveillance method does not have any impact on the management in patients with primary melanoma in the head and neck (Alvarado et al. 2011).

# Imaging to Determine Suitability for Removal of Lung Metastases

Complete surgical resection of melanomas remains a proven therapy. It appears that lung metastases with low Glut 1 expression and slow proliferation may be the most appropriate for resection (of course these parameters can be best known after the tissue is removed). However, performing a pulmonary metastectomy is likely not sensible if there is extrapulmonary non-resected metastatic disease.

Krug et al. developed a cost-effectiveness analysis, using a Markov model over a 10-year period, which was performed to compare two different surveillance programs, either PET-CT or wholebody CT, in patients with suspected pulmonary metastasized melanoma. The PET-CT strategy provided 86.29 life-months gained (LMG) at a discounted cost of euro 3,974, while the conventional strategy provided 86.08 LMG at a discounted cost of euro 5,022. This PET-CT strategy resulted in a net saving of euro 1,048 with a gain of 0.2 LMG. Based on PET-CT findings, 20% of futile surgeries could be avoided.

The authors concluded that integrating PET-CT in the management of patients with high-risk MM appears to be less costly and more accurate by avoiding futile thoracotomies in one of five patients as well as by providing a small survival benefit at 10 years (Krug et al. 2010).

#### **Controversies in Surveillance**

There is no international consensus on optimal follow-up schedules, and supplementary tests should be used after resection of a primary melanoma. Recommendations vary drastically by region and by stage of melanoma. Low-risk, SLN negative patients require no imaging and only regular skin exams for new lesions and exams for lymph node growth. Abbott et al. found that for microscopic node + SLN, the role of surveillance FDG PET had a lower yield than performing annual surveillance PET in patients with substantial lymph node burden, but in both groups, recurrences were identified in 10% or more of patients. By contrast, patients with more advanced melanoma may benefit from intensive surveillance using advanced imaging tools. Podlipnik et al. prospectively evaluated 290 consecutive patients with a diagnosis of stage IIB, IIC, and III melanoma. Patients were followed up with an intensive protocol based on imaging studies (computed tomography of the chest, abdomen, and pelvis, and brain magnetic resonance imaging), periodic laboratory tests, regular physical examinations, and patient self-examinations. A total of 2,382 clinical examinations and 3,069 imaging tests were performed. The patients completed 899.8 person-years of follow-up, with a median of 2.5 years. In all, 115 recurrences in 290 patients were recorded, of which computed tomography detected 48.3%; brain magnetic resonance imaging, 7.6%; laboratory test, 2.5%; physician, 23.7%; and patient, 17.8%. The authors

concluded that intensive monitoring is appropriate for early detection of recurrence in stage IIB, IIC, and III melanoma, though they did not use PET/CT extensively (Podlipnik et al. 2016). Baker et al., in a small retrospective study, found a low utility of follow-up PET/CT in a small group of SLN+ patients any occurred recurrences were missed by PET and challenges with false-positive studies, and the a-H were not convinced of the utility of FDG/PET for finding early recurrence (Baker et al. 2014).

Peric Zagar et al. examined the role of serum marker addition in melanoma surveillance and concluded that adding an S-100B serum level enhanced the value of PET/CT imaging in surveillance of patients for recurrence (115 patients), again indicating that imaging is a very important part of assessing patients for recurrence, but not the only tool available to clinicians (Peric et al. 2011).

Danielsen et al. reviewed the performance of FDG PET in follow-up programs for asymptomatic patients at high risk of relapse to detect systemic recurrences. Their systematic literature search in PUBMED, EMBASE, and the Cochrane Controlled Trials Register identified seven original studies on the diagnostic value of FDG-PET in the follow-up of CMM. Sensitivity, specificity, and positive and negative predictive values were calculated to examine PET's diagnostic value in detecting relapse. The mean sensitivity of PET was 96% and the specificity was 92%. The positive and negative predictive values were, respectively, 92% and 95%. Overall, PET has a high diagnostic value and the many advantages of PET indicate utility in the routine follow-up program of CMM. However, the number of prospective studies of high quality is scarce, and as the use of PET and PET/CT is becoming more widespread and the technology is expensive, these authors suggested there is an urgent need for systematic assessment of the diagnostic value (Danielsen et al. 2013, 2016).

Leiter has presented intriguing data suggesting patient survival is increased by aggressive surveillance. This assertion is based on a long-term survival analysis of 1,969 patients with stage I-III CM documented during 1996–1998 in the frame of a prospective surveillance study. Development of metastatic spread was detected in 112 patients during this period and classified as early phase or advanced phase based on tumor load and operability. Of 59 patients with metastases detected in an early phase of development, 64.4% died of CM, of 43 patients with advanced phase metastases 86% died (P = 0.013). The 10-year overall survival probability was 42.6% for early and 25.6% for advanced phase metastases (P = 0.012). This comparison remained significant after adjustment for sojourn time. Multivariate analysis identified detection of early phase metastases (P = 0.022) and stage at primary diagnosis (P < 0.0001) as independent prognostic factors. This study did not use PET to a significant extent, but it is intriguing nonetheless (Leiter et al. 2010).

#### Summary

The role of noninvasive imaging in melanoma differs depending on the clinical circumstance. At diagnosis, no or very limited systemic imaging for tumor staging is performed if patients have no clinical evidence of metastatic disease to lymph nodes. However, imaging increasingly is used to guide radionuclide sentinel lymph node biopsy procedures, especially if complex drainage routes are expected such as in the head and neck where SPECT/CT can be valuable.

Ultrasound can be used to assess and follow regional lymph nodes in patients in whom sentinel node biopsy is not successful or not performed. If there is tumor involvement in lymph nodes at sentinel node imaging, or clinically, at least in higher-risk patients, more extensive whole-body imaging including CT of the thorax, FDG PET/CT, and MRI of the brain is commonly performed in the USA. Surveillance with these methods at regular intervals is recommended by several groups for several years post diagnosis, though guidance varies and is informed by risks of recurrence and must be balanced against radiation dose and costs.

Imaging, especially with PET/CT, is often used to assess treatment response and is performed at more frequent intervals related to the timing of the therapy. Special cautions in imaging patients treated with immune checkpoint inhibitors is necessary, as CT, US, MRI, and PET/CT can have pseudo-progression, where lymphocytic infiltration in tumors can cause growth in size and metabolic activity transiently, as well as apparent number, before response occurs. One to 2 month delayed repeat imaging to confirm progression/response is often needed. Use of imaging in melanoma still requires careful assessment for appropriateness to assure avoidance of overuse and attendant radiation and economic costs.

Noninvasive imaging is a crucial part of the management of melanoma at multiple time points across the history of the illness. Since therapies have been changing so rapidly, the use of imaging is currently informed by expert opinion and small trials, as opposed to prospective randomized trials, which should eventually be performed to better refine the best utilization of imaging techniques in this disease.

# References

- Alvarado GC, Papadopoulos NE, Hwu WJ, Bedikian AY, Homsi J, Myers JN, Bronstein Y, Bassett RL, Hwu P, Kim KB (2011) Pelvic computed tomography scans for surveillance in patients with primary melanoma in the head and neck. Melanoma Res 21(2):127–130
- Baker JJ, Meyers MO, Frank J, Amos KD, Stitzenberg KB, Ollila DW (2014) Routine restaging PET/CT and detection of initial recurrence in sentinel lymph node positive stage III melanoma. Am J Surg 207(4):549–554
- Balch CM, Gershenwald JE (2014) Clinical value of the sentinel-node biopsy in primary cutaneous melanoma. N Engl J Med 370(7):663–664
- Beasley GM, Parsons C, Broadwater G, Selim MA, Marzban S, Abernethy AP, Salama AK, Eikman EA, Wong T, Zager JS, Tyler DS (2012) A multicenter prospective evaluation of the clinical utility of F-18 FDG-PET/CT in patients with AJCC stage IIIB or IIIC extremity melanoma. Ann Surg 256(2):350–356
- van den Bent MJ, Wefel JS, Schiff D, Taphoorn MJ, Jaeckle K, Junck L, Armstrong T, Choucair A, Waldman AD, Gorlia T, Chamberlain M, Baumert BG, Vogelbaum MA, Macdonald DR, Reardon DA, Wen PY, Chang SM, Jacobs AH (2011) Response assessment in neuro-oncology (a report of the RANO group): assessment of outcome in trials of diffuse low-grade gliomas. Lancet Oncol 12(6):583–593

- van den Berg NS, Brouwer OR, Schaafsma BE, Matheron HM, Klop WM, Balm AJ, van Tinteren H, Nieweg OE, van Leeuwen FW, Valdes Olmos RA (2015) Multimodal surgical guidance during sentinel node biopsy for melanoma: combined gamma tracing and fluorescence imaging of the sentinel node through use of the hybrid tracer indocyanine green-(99m)Tc-Nanocolloid. Radiology 275(2):521–529
- Bronstein Y, Ng CS, Hwu P, Hwu WJ (2011) Radiologic manifestations of immune-related adverse events in patients with metastatic melanoma undergoing anti-CTLA-4 antibody therapy. AJR Am J Roentgenol 197(6):W992–W1000
- Chiou VL, Burotto M (2015) Pseudoprogression and immune-related response in solid tumors. J Clin Oncol 33(31):3541–3543
- Cho SY, Lipson EJ, Im HJ, Rowe SP, Gonzalez EM, Blackford A, Chirindel A, Pardoll DM, Topalian SL, Wahl RL (2017) Prediction of response to Immune Checkpoint Inhibitor Therapy Using Early-Time-Point 18F-FDG- PET/CT Imaging in Patients with Advanced Melanoma. J Nucl Med. 58(9):1421–1428
- Cordeiro E, Gervais MK, Shah PS, Look Hong NJ, Wright FC (2016) Sentinel lymph node biopsy in thin cutaneous melanoma: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Ann Surg Oncol 23(13):4178–4188
- Danielsen M, Hojgaard L, Kjaer A, Fischer BM (2013) Positron emission tomography in the follow-up of cutaneous malignant melanoma patients: a systematic review. Am J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 4(1):17–28
- Danielsen M, Kjaer A, Wu M, Martineau L, Nosrati M, Leong SP, Sagebiel RW, Iii JR, Kashani-Sabet M (2016) Prediction of positron emission tomography/ computed tomography (PET/CT) positivity in patients with high-risk primary melanoma. Am J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 6(5):277–285
- Eisenhauer EA, Therasse P, Bogaerts J, Schwartz LH, Sargent D, Ford R, Dancey J, Arbuck S, Gwyther S, Mooney M, Rubinstein L, Shankar L, Dodd L, Kaplan R, Lacombe D, Verweij J (2009) New response evaluation criteria in solid tumours: revised RECIST guideline (version 1.1). Eur J Cancer 45(2):228–247
- Friedman KP, Wahl RL (2004) Clinical use of positron emission tomography in the management of cutaneous melanoma. Semin Nucl Med 34(4):242–253
- Fuster D, Chiang S, Johnson G, Schuchter LM, Zhuang H, Alavi A (2004) Is 18F-FDG PET more accurate than standard diagnostic procedures in the detection of suspected recurrent melanoma? J Nucl Med 45(8):1323–1327
- Gold JS, Jaques DP, Busam KJ, Brady MS, Coit DG (2007) Yield and predictors of radiologic studies for identifying distant metastases in melanoma patients with a positive sentinel lymph node biopsy. Ann Surg Oncol 14(7):2133–2140
- Gritters LS, Francis IR, Zasadny KR, Wahl RL (1993) Initial assessment of positron emission tomography using 2-fluorine-18-fluoro-2-deoxy-D-glucose in the imaging of malignant melanoma. J Nucl Med 34(9):1420–1427

- Gulec SA, Faries MB, Lee CC, Kirgan D, Glass C, Morton DL, Essner R (2003) The role of fluorine-18 deoxyglucose positron emission tomography in the management of patients with metastatic melanoma: impact on surgical decision making. Clin Nucl Med 28(12):961–965
- Korn JM, Tellez-Diaz A, Bartz-Kurycki M, Gastman B (2014) Indocyanine green SPY elite-assisted sentinel lymph node biopsy in cutaneous melanoma. Plast Reconstr Surg 133(4):914–922
- Krug B, Crott R, Lonneux M, Baurain JF, Pirson AS, Vander Borght T (2008) Role of PET in the initial staging of cutaneous malignant melanoma: systematic review. Radiology 249(3):836–844
- Krug B, Crott R, Roch I, Lonneux M, Beguin C, Baurain JF, Pirson AS, Vander Borght T (2010) Costeffectiveness analysis of FDG PET-CT in the management of pulmonary metastases from malignant melanoma. Acta Oncol 49(2):192–200
- Leiter U, Buettner PG, Eigentler TK, Forschner A, Meier F, Garbe C (2010) Is detection of melanoma metastasis during surveillance in an early phase of development associated with a survival benefit? Melanoma Res 20(3):240–246
- Lopez-Rodriguez E, Garcia-Gomez FJ, Alvarez-Perez RM, Martinez-Castillo R, Borrego-Dorado I, Fernandez-Ortega P, Zulueta-Dorado T (2016) Role of SPECT-CT in sentinel lymph node biopsy in patients diagnosed with head and neck melanoma. Rev Esp Med Nucl Imagen Mol 35(1):22–28
- Macfarlane DJ, Sondak V, Johnson T, Wahl RL (1998) Prospective evaluation of 2-[18F]-2-deoxy-D-glucose positron emission tomography in staging of regional lymph nodes in patients with cutaneous malignant melanoma. J Clin Oncol 16(5):1770–1776
- Madu MF, Wouters MW, van Akkooi AC (2017) Sentinel node biopsy in melanoma: current controversies addressed. Eur J Surg Oncol 43(3):517–533
- McArthur GA, Puzanov I, Amaravadi R, Ribas A, Chapman P, Kim KB, Sosman JA, Lee RJ, Nolop K, Flaherty KT, Callahan J, Hicks RJ (2012) Marked, homogeneous, and early [18F]fluorodeoxyglucose-positron emission tomography responses to vemurafenib in BRAF-mutant advanced melanoma. J Clin Oncol 30(14):1628–1634
- Mena E, Taghipour M, Sheikhbahaei S, Mirpour S, Xiao J, Subramaniam RM (2016) 18F-FDG PET/CT and melanoma: value of fourth and subsequent posttherapy follow-up scans for patient management. Clin Nucl Med 41(9):e403–e409
- Mihaljevic AL, Rieger A, Belloni B, Hein R, Okur A, Scheidhauer K, Schuster T, Friess H, Martignoni ME (2014) Transferring innovative freehand SPECT to the operating room: first experiences with sentinel lymph node biopsy in malignant melanoma. Eur J Surg Oncol 40(1):42–48
- Morton DL, Thompson JF, Cochran AJ, Mozzillo N, Nieweg OE, Roses DF, Hoekstra HJ, Karakousis CP, Puleo CA, Coventry BJ, Kashani-Sabet M, Smithers BM, Paul E, Kraybill WG, McKinnon JG, Wang HJ,

Elashoff R, Faries MB, M. Group (2014) Final trial report of sentinel-node biopsy versus nodal observation in melanoma. N Engl J Med 370(7):599–609

- Neuschmelting V, Lockau H, Ntziachristos V, Grimm J, Kircher MF (2016) Lymph node micrometastases and in-transit metastases from melanoma: in vivo detection with multispectral optoacoustic imaging in a mouse model. Radiology 280(1):137–150
- Niebling MG, Bastiaannet E, Hoekstra OS, Bonenkamp JJ, Koelemij R, Hoekstra HJ (2013) Outcome of clinical stage III melanoma patients with FDG-PET and wholebody CT added to the diagnostic workup. Ann Surg Oncol 20(9):3098–3105
- Niebling MG, Pleijhuis RG, Bastiaannet E, Brouwers AH, van Dam GM, Hoekstra HJ (2016) A systematic review and meta-analyses of sentinel lymph node identification in breast cancer and melanoma, a plea for tracer mapping. Eur J Surg Oncol 42(4):466–473
- Nishino M, Tirumani SH, Ramaiya NH, Hodi FS (2015) Cancer immunotherapy and immune-related response assessment: the role of radiologists in the new arena of cancer treatment. Eur J Radiol 84(7):1259–1268
- Okada H, Weller M, Huang R, Finocchiaro G, Gilbert MR, Wick W, Ellingson BM, Hashimoto N, Pollack IF, Brandes AA, Franceschi E, Herold-Mende C, Nayak L, Panigrahy A, Pope WB, Prins R, Sampson JH, Wen PY, Reardon DA (2015) Immunotherapy response assessment in neuro-oncology: a report of the RANO working group. Lancet Oncol 16(15):e534–e542
- Patnana M, Bronstein Y, Szklaruk J, Bedi DG, Hwu WJ, Gershenwald JE, Prieto VG, Ng CS (2011) Multimethod imaging, staging, and spectrum of manifestations of metastatic melanoma. Clin Radiol 66(3):224–236
- Peric B, Zagar I, Novakovic S, Zgajnar J, Hocevar M (2011) Role of serum S100B and PET-CT in followup of patients with cutaneous melanoma. BMC Cancer 11:328
- Perng P, Marcus C, Subramaniam RM (2015) (18)F-FDG PET/CT and melanoma: staging, immune modulation and mutation-targeted therapy assessment, and prognosis. AJR Am J Roentgenol 205(2):259–270
- Podlipnik S, Carrera C, Sanchez M, Arguis P, Olondo ML, Vilana R, Rull R, Vidal-Sicart S, Vilalta A, Conill C, Malvehy J, Puig S (2016) Performance of diagnostic tests in an intensive follow-up protocol for patients with American Joint Committee on Cancer (AJCC) stage IIB, IIC, and III localized primary melanoma: a prospective cohort study. J Am Acad Dermatol 75(3):516–524
- Reinhardt MJ, Joe AY, Jaeger U, Huber A, Matthies A, Bucerius J, Roedel R, Strunk H, Bieber T, Biersack HJ, Tuting T (2006) Diagnostic performance of body dual modality 18F-FDG PET/CT imaging for N- and M-staging of malignant melanoma: experience with 250 consecutive patients. J Clin Oncol 24(7):1178–1187
- Ren G, Pan Y, Cheng Z (2010) Molecular probes for malignant melanoma imaging. Curr Pharm Biotechnol 11(6):590–602

- Rohren EM (2015) PET/computed tomography and patient outcomes in melanoma. PET Clin 10(2):243–254
- Ross MI, Gershenwald JE (2013) Sentinel lymph node biopsy for melanoma: a critical update for dermatologists after two decades of experience. Clin Dermatol 31(3):298–310
- Rueth NM, Xing Y, Chiang YJ, Cromwell KD, Ross MI, Lee JE, Gershenwald JE, Royal RE, Cormier JN (2014) Is surveillance imaging effective for detecting surgically treatable recurrences in patients with melanoma? A comparative analysis of stage-specific surveillance strategies. Ann Surg 259(6):1215–1222
- Sachpekidis C, Larribere L, Pan L, Haberkorn U, Dimitrakopoulou-Strauss A, Hassel JC (2015) Predictive value of early 18F-FDG PET/CT studies for treatment response evaluation to ipilimumab in metastatic melanoma: preliminary results of an ongoing study. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 42(3):386–396
- Scarsbrook AF, Ganeshan A, Bradley KM (2007) Pearls and pitfalls of radionuclide imaging of the lymphatic system. Part 1: sentinel node lymphoscintigraphy in malignant melanoma. Br J Radiol 80(950):132–139
- Schroer-Gunther MA, Wolff RF, Westwood ME, Scheibler FJ, Schurmann C, Baumert BG, Sauerland S, Kleijnen J (2012) F-18-fluoro-2-deoxyglucose positron emission tomography (PET) and PET/computed tomography imaging in primary staging of patients with malignant melanoma: a systematic review. Syst Rev 1:62
- Singh B, Ezziddin S, Palmedo H, Reinhardt M, Strunk H, Tuting T, Biersack HJ, Ahmadzadehfar H (2008) Preoperative 18F-FDG-PET/CT imaging and sentinel node biopsy in the detection of regional lymph node metastases in malignant melanoma. Melanoma Res 18(5):346–352
- Smith L, Macneil S (2011) State of the art in non-invasive imaging of cutaneous melanoma. Skin Res Technol 17(3):257–269
- Sondak VK, King DW, Zager JS, Schneebaum S, Kim J, Leong SP, Faries MB, Averbook BJ, Martinez SR, Puleo CA, Messina JL, Christman L, Wallace AM (2013) Combined analysis of phase III trials evaluating [(9)(9)mTc]tilmanocept and vital blue dye for identification of sentinel lymph nodes in clinically nodenegative cutaneous melanoma. Ann Surg Oncol 20(2):680–688
- Stoffels I, Boy C, Poppel T, Kuhn J, Klotgen K, Dissemond J, Schadendorf D, Klode J (2012) Association between sentinel lymph node excision with or without preoperative SPECT/CT and metastatic node detection and disease-free survival in melanoma. JAMA 308(10):1007–1014
- Stoffels I, Muller M, Geisel MH, Leyh J, Poppel T, Schadendorf D, Klode J (2014) Cost-effectiveness of preoperative SPECT/CT combined with lymphoscintigraphy vs. lymphoscintigraphy for sentinel lymph node excision in patients with cutaneous malignant melanoma. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 41(9):1723–1731

- Stoffels I, Morscher S, Helfrich I, Hillen U, Leyh J, Burton NC, Sardella TC, Claussen J, Poeppel TD, Bachmann HS, Roesch A, Griewank K, Schadendorf D, Gunzer M, Klode J (2015) Metastatic status of sentinel lymph nodes in melanoma determined noninvasively with multispectral optoacoustic imaging. Sci Transl Med 7(317):317ra199
- Strobel K, Dummer R, Steinert HC, Conzett KB, Schad K, Lago MP, Soyka JD, Veit-Haibach P, Seifert B, Kalff V (2008) Chemotherapy response assessment in stage IV melanoma patients-comparison of 18F-FDG-PET/CT, CT, brain MRI, and tumor marker S-100B. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 35(10):1786–1795
- Trotter SC, Sroa N, Winkelmann RR, Olencki T, Bechtel M (2013) A global review of melanoma follow-up guidelines. J Clin Aesthet Dermatol 6(9):18–26
- Uematsu T, Kasami M, Kiyohara Y (2013) B-mode ultrasound imaging, Doppler imaging, and real-time elastography in cutaneous malignant melanoma and lymph node metastases. Healthcare (Basel) 1(1):84–95
- Ulrich J, van Akkooi AJ, Eggermont AM, Voit C (2011) New developments in melanoma: utility of ultrasound imaging (initial staging, follow-up and pre-SLNB). Expert Rev Anticancer Ther 11(11):1693–1701
- Valdes Olmos RA, Rietbergen DD, Vidal-Sicart S, Manca G, Giammarile F, Mariani G (2014) Contribution of SPECT/CT imaging to radioguided sentinel lymph node biopsy in breast cancer, melanoma, and other solid cancers: from "open and see" to "see and open". Q J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 58(2):127–139
- Veenstra HJ, Vermeeren L, Olmos RA, Nieweg OE (2012) The additional value of lymphatic mapping with routine SPECT/CT in unselected patients with clinically

localized melanoma. Ann Surg Oncol 19(3):1018–1023

- Vermeeren L, Valdes Olmos RA, Klop WM, van der Ploeg IM, Nieweg OE, Balm AJ, van den Brekel MW (2011) SPECT/CT for sentinel lymph node mapping in head and neck melanoma. Head Neck 33(1):1–6
- Wachsmann JW, Ganti R, Peng F (2017) Immunemediated disease in ipilimumab immunotherapy of melanoma with FDG PET-CT. Acad Radiol 24(1):111–115
- Wahl RL, Jacene H, Kasamon Y, Lodge MA (2009) From RECIST to PERCIST: evolving considerations for PET response criteria in solid tumors. J Nucl Med 50(Suppl 1):122S–150S
- Wang SQ, Hashemi P (2010) Noninvasive imaging technologies in the diagnosis of melanoma. Semin Cutan Med Surg 29(3):174–184
- Wolchok JD, Hoos A, O'Day S, Weber JS, Hamid O, Lebbe C, Maio M, Binder M, Bohnsack O, Nichol G, Humphrey R, Hodi FS (2009) Guidelines for the evaluation of immune therapy activity in solid tumors: immune-related response criteria. Clin Cancer Res 15(23):7412–7420
- Xing Y, Bronstein Y, Ross MI, Askew RL, Lee JE, Gershenwald JE, Royal R, Cormier JN (2011) Contemporary diagnostic imaging modalities for the staging and surveillance of melanoma patients: a metaanalysis. J Natl Cancer Inst 103(2):129–142
- Zender C, Guo T, Weng C, Faulhaber P, Rezaee R (2014) Utility of SPECT/CT for periparotid sentinel lymph node mapping in the surgical management of head and neck melanoma. Am J Otolaryngol 35(1): 12–18



# **Genetic Counseling**

# 28

Kelly Jo Hamman, Wendy Kohlmann, and Sancy Leachman

# Contents

Introduction	584
Melanoma Predisposition Genes	584
P16/CDKN2A	584
P14 ^{arf} /CDKN2A	586
CDK4	586
BAP1	586
Telomere-Related Genes	587
Low- and Moderate-Penetrance Genes	588
Melanocortin 1 Receptor (MC1R)	588
Microphthalmia-Associated Transcription Factor (MITF)	588
Other Less Penetrant Melanoma Predisposition Genes	588
Cancer Predisposition Genes with Effects on Melanoma Risk	589
Hereditary Breast/Ovarian Cancer	589
PTEN Hamartoma Syndrome	589
CHEK2	589
Risk Assessment	589
Genetic Testing	591
Picking a Test	591
Interpretation of Test Result	592
Insurance Discrimination	593

K. J. Hamman

Department of Molecular and Medical Genetics, Oregon Health and Science University, Portland, OR, USA e-mail: hammank@ohsu.edu

W. Kohlmann Huntsman Cancer Institute, University of Utah, Salt Lake City, UT, USA e-mail: Wendy.Kohlmann@hci.utah.edu

S. Leachman (⊠) Department of Dermatology, Oregon Health and Science University, Portland, OR, USA e-mail: leachmas@ohsu.edu

© Springer Science+Business Media, LLC, part of Springer Nature 2019 D. E. Fisher, B. C. Bastian (eds.), *Melanoma*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-7147-9 8

The Unique Impact of Genetic Testing	593
Conclusion	594
References	595

#### Abstract

Since the first international consensus paper in 2009, genetic counseling and testing options for melanoma have progressed rapidly. The number of known high-penetrance genes has expanded from P16/CDKN2A, P14^{arf}/CDKN2A, and CDK4, to include BAP1, and several telomererelated genes, including TERT, POT1, ACD, and TERF21P. In addition, moderate- and lowpenetrance genes have been added to MC1R as contributors to overall risk for melanoma, including: MITF, HERC2/OCA2, TYR, TYRP1, SLC45A2, and ASIP. Besides these genes that increase the inherited risk for melanoma, there are other genes that have well-established roles as high-penetrance genes for other cancer syndromes that appear to also serve as less-penetrant melanoma predisposition genes as well. These other cancer predisposition genes include BRCA1, BRCA2, PTEN, and CHEK2. (The xeroderma pigmentosum spectrum genes are not included in this chapter because genetic counseling for this subset of disorders requires additional considerations specific to the syndrome.) This chapter reviews the data supporting high-, moderate- and low-penetrance genes as relevant melanoma susceptibility genes, suggests a standardized protocol for risk assessment, and presents referral criteria for genetic assessment. The chapter also reviews rapidly progressing genetic testing technologies with an emphasis on selecting the most appropriate test and tailoring the testing process to each individual. Finally, a discussion of nuances related to genetic test interpretation, insurance discrimination, and the unique impact that genetic testing can have on individuals and society is explored.

#### **Keywords**

Melanoma · Genetics · Counseling · Testing · FAMMM · Inherited · Familial · Predisposition · Susceptibility

#### Introduction

Melanoma risk is conferred through a complex and overlapping set of genetic features and modified by the inherent genetic background and environmental exposures sustained by an individual over time (Berwick et al. 2016; Goldstein et al. 2007; Lo 2014). For example, inherited features that create a melanoma-vulnerable phenotype such as red hair, lightly colored skin, and freckles not only increase sensitivity to damage from ultraviolet radiation (UVR) but will also be modified by inherited factors such as DNA damage and repair gene polymorphisms (Berwick et al. 2016). Rarely, families are at substantially increased risk for melanoma due to inherited mutations in cancer predisposition genes (Ransohoff et al. 2016). These genes have higher penetrance for melanoma than the more common skin or hair color genes but are also likely modified by other inherited and environmental factors. In 1994, p16/CDKN2A was identified as the first melanoma predisposition gene (Kamb et al. 1994). Since that time, multiple genetic factors contributing to melanoma risk have been identified, and genetic testing has evolved to allow for a more thorough analysis of high-risk families. This review addresses new developments in the genetics of melanoma, incorporating risk assessment into practice, and current and evolving practice for genetic counseling and testing.

#### **Melanoma Predisposition Genes**

#### P16/CDKN2A

*CDKN2A*, which encodes for the p16 protein, is the most significant melanoma predisposition identified to date, with mutations accounting for 20–40% of high-risk families (Goldstein et al. 2007, 2006). Estimates of risk associated with *CDKN2A* mutations have been variable due to differences in the populations tested and inclusion criteria. Initial studies of CDKN2A mutation carriers enrolled families with multiple cases and found a high lifetime melanoma risk. Lifetime risks for CDKN2A mutation carriers in Europe, the USA, and Australia were 58%, 76%, and 91% respectively (Bishop et al. 2002). However, population-based ascertainment resulted in much lower, but still significant, risk estimate of 28% (Begg et al. 2005). Ascertainment strategies likely account for this wide range of penetrance estimates. Families selected on the basis of multiple cases of melanoma may be more likely to have co-inheritance of additional risk factors. For example, carrying a melanocortin 1 receptor (MC1R) variant, along with a CDKN2A mutation, significantly increases melanoma risk (Box et al. 2001; Demenais et al. 2010). Members of multiple-case, CDKN2A families, who test negative for the familial mutation, have been found to have residual elevated risk, providing further evidence of that high-penetrance families, and may have multiple risk factors interacting with CDKN2A (Florell et al. 2008; Hansen et al. 2004). CDKN2A mutation status alone may not be sufficient for determining specific risk estimates, and clinical counseling of patients should incorporate the family history and phenotype.

The interaction between CDKN2A and ultraviolet (UV) radiation exposure has also been investigated. Bishop et al. found differences in penetrance that corresponded with geographical differences in UV intensity, with the United Kingdom (UK) having the lowest UV intensity and the lowest penetrance, Australia having both the highest UV intensity and penetrance estimates, and the USA being intermediate in both factors. More recent comparisons between countries, using population-based recruitment, did not detect significant difference in risk between carriers in the United Kingdom compared to those in Australia (or between high and low ambient areas of Australia), with lifetime penetrance estimates of 45% and 52%, respectively (Cust et al. 2011), thereby calling into question whether UV exposure impacts melanoma risk in CDKN2A mutation carriers. However, while the interaction between UV and CDKN2A is uncertain, UV is a well-established contributor to melanoma risk in

the general population (Gandini et al. 2005a; Green et al. 2011; Hodis et al. 2012). In vitro assays have also demonstrated that p16, in complex with CDK4 and Sp1, is involved in regulation of cell response to UV-induced DNA damage (Al-Khalaf et al. 2013). Further study is needed to clarify the extent of interaction between germ line *CKND2A* mutations and UV exposure, but mutation carriers should be counseled to minimize UV exposure in avoiding further enhancement of melanoma risk.

Familial atypical multiple mole melanoma (FAMMM) syndrome was the diagnosis given to families presenting with numerous, large, atypical nevi and a high melanoma risk. Families with this phenotype were selected for inclusion in the original studies to identify the genetic contributions to melanoma risk. Some families with the FAMMM phenotype were found to have CDKN2A mutations, while others were not. Of note, even within a single family, some mutation carriers will have a FAMMM phenotype, while others will not (Florell et al. 2008). Other studies have found that the presence of multiple atypical nevi alone is not a strong predictor of carrying a CDKN2A mutation (Celebi et al. 2005; de Snoo et al. 2007). It is likely that additional factors, possibly interacting with or independent from CDKN2A, are required for the FAMMM phenotype. Therefore, genetic testing for CDKN2A is appropriate for families with multiple cases of melanoma (Table 1), regardless of whether they express the FAMMM phenotype. Conversely, relatives who test negative for familial mutations, but have a high-risk features, should still be considered at increased risk and screened appropriately. In addition to melanoma, CDKN2A predisposes to pancreatic cancer (up to 25% lifetime risk) (Parker et al. 2003; de Snoo et al. 2008). Vasen et al. followed 178 CDKN2A mutation carriers with annual endoscopic ultrasound and/or magnetic resonance cholangiopancreatography (MRCP). During this study, 13 (7.3%) developed pancreatic cancer, 75% were diagnosed at a resectable stage, and the 5-year survival rate was 24% (Vasen et al. 2016). This and other studies suggest that screening can make modest improvements in the outcome of pancreatic cancer in these high-risk individuals, and the International Pancreas

Criteria for high-incidence areas ^a	Criteria for low-incidence areas ^b
$\geq$ 3° case of melanoma and/or° pancreatic cancer among first- and second-degree relatives on the same side of the family	$\geq 2^3$ cases of melanoma and/or ^c pancreatic cancer among first- and second-degree relatives on the same side of the family
$\geq$ 3 synchronous or metachronous melanomas in an individual	$\geq$ 2 synchronous or metachronous melanomas in an individual

 Table 1
 Genetic testing criteria for hereditary melanoma (Leachman et al. 2009)

^aHigh incidence  $\geq 10$  cases/100,000

^bLow incidence <10 cases/100,000

^cAt least one case must be melanoma

Screening consortium recommends that *CDKN2A* mutation carriers, with a first-degree relative with pancreatic cancer, have screening with annual endoscopic ultrasound or magnetic resonance cholangiopancreatography beginning at age 50 (or earlier if there has been an early diagnosis in the family) (Canto et al. 2013).

# P14^{arf}/CDKN2A

CDKN2A encodes two proteins, p16 and p14^{arf}. Mutations in the gene can affect either one or both of these proteins. No significant differences in risk or cancer spectrum have been identified between mutations disrupting just p16 or p16 and p14^{arf}. Mutations that disrupt only p14^{arf} are rare. Families segregating both melanoma and a neural tumor, particularly astrocytoma, have been reported and linked to the chromosomal location of CDKN2A (19p23.1). Analysis of the few such reported cases has suggested that this combination of tumor risks may result from mutations affecting p14^{arf}, though undetected alterations in other gene products offer an alternative explanation. A 2001 case report described a family with melanoma and neural tumors that segregated with a deletion that affected only p14^{arf} (Randerson-Moor et al. 2001). Overall, mutations in p14^{arf} are so rare; it has been difficult to confirm this genotype/phenotype association (Goldstein et al. 2006).

# CDK4

*CDK4* has also been identified as a very rare cause of hereditary melanoma. Unlike the majority of

cancer predisposition genes, CDK4 is a protooncogene which becomes activated by a mutation, mostly commonly Arg24His or Arg24Cys (Soura et al. 2016). Specific lifetime risk estimates have not been calculated, but a 2013 review of 89 mutation carriers and 79 mutation-negative family members found that of those who developed melanoma, 41% developed a second melanoma. They also found a higher prevalence of atypical nevi (approximately 70%) compared to the mutationnegative family members (27%) (Puntervoll et al. 2013). Because CDK4 functions in a complex with p16, it would be anticipated that mutations in CDK4 would result in a similar phenotype as CDKN2A mutations (Al-Khalaf et al. 2013). However, an association with pancreatic or other cancers has not yet been confirmed.

# BAP1

BAP1 is a tumor suppressor gene that has been shown to have several roles in the cell, which, if disrupted, could contribute to carcinogenesis. BAP1 has several functions, that if impaired could impact cancer risk, including chromatin remodeling, regulation of cell cycle progression, differentiation, and DNA damage response (Soura et al. 2016). BAP1 was initially identified through the study of families presenting with a hereditary pattern of uveal melanoma and mesothelioma. Other risks related to BAP1 mutations include cutaneous melanoma and renal cancer. Review of BAP1 mutation carriers indicates that 13% (23/174) have been diagnosed with cutaneous melanoma, and of those with melanoma, 22% (5/23) had multiple primary melanoma (Rai et al.

2015). *BAP1* is commonly somatically mutated in uveal melanoma (Nasu et al. 2015). However, germ line mutations in *BAP1* are rare, accounting for only 3–4% of uveal melanomas and slightly larger portion of metastatic tumors. A study looking at germ line incidence found *BAP1* mutations in 4/50 metastatic cases versus 0/50 non-metastatic cases (Njauw et al. 2012).

*BAP1* mutations may also cause an increased risk for non-melanoma skin cancer. Basal cell carcinoma (BCC) has been reported in 11/174 mutation carriers. Analysis of BCC in mutation carriers has demonstrated loss of heterozygosity of *BAP1*, suggesting that these lesions are related to the underlying predisposition rather than reflective of the relatively high general population risk for BCC (Rai et al. 2015).

In addition to malignancies, BAP1 mutations are also associated with atypical melanocytic lesions. These lesions have been described as ranging from pink to tan in color and size from 0.2 to 1 cm (Rai et al. 2015; Soura et al. 2016). They can begin to develop during the first decade of life and become numerous (range 5-50). Clinically, the appearance is similar to a dermal nevus, but they have unique histological and molecular features which have led to the suggestions that these lesions be designated as melanocytic BAP1-mutated, atypical intradermal tumors (MBAITs) or atypical Spitz tumors (ASTs). Histologically, they are characterized by large epithelioid and spindled melanocytes, cytologic atypia, and pleomorphic hyperchromatic nuclei. These lesions may occur sporadically as well as due to an underlying BAP1 mutation. Immunohistochemical staining of the BAP1 protein can be performed on biopsied tissue. Loss of BAP1 expression detected on immunohistochemistry would be an indication to pursue germ line genetic testing. Characterization of the metastatic potential of these lesions is underway, and the prognosis is unclear. Until these lesions are better characterized, management with conservative re-excision and consideration of sentinel lymph node biopsy for lesions that fulfill criteria for melanoma are appropriate.

Consensus guidelines for *BAP1* mutation carriers have not been established, but management strategies have been derived based on the literature. Rai and Pilarski propose that *BAP1* mutation carriers have annual dilated eye exams beginning at age 11, screening for cutaneous malignancies with annual total body skin exam and monthly self-skin exams beginning by age 20, avoid UV exposure, and have annual abdominal imaging for renal cancer screening (Rai et al. 2015).

#### **Telomere-Related Genes**

Several genes related to telomere maintenance, *TERT*, *POT1*, *ACD*, and *TERF21P*, have been implicated in conferring melanoma risk. Mutations in these genes are very rare causes of hereditary melanoma, with each only accounting for a few families (Soura et al. 2016). The families found to carry mutations in these genes have generally been high-penetrance families with multiple cases of melanoma. However, numbers are insufficient at this time to derive specific penetrance estimates or establish definitive associations with non-melanoma cancers.

TERT encodes the enzyme, telomerase reverse transcriptase, which is a component of the telomerase complex that is responsible for adding a TTAGGG repeat to keep the ends from prematurely shortening. Overexpression of telomerase is key to the uncontrolled growth of cancer cells (Harland et al. 2016). One family reported to have a mutation in the promoter of TERT had 14 cases of melanoma. Two affected individuals in this family also developed ovarian cancer, and a third member of the family had five primary cancers including ovarian, renal, bladder, breast, and lung. Another family with a TERT mutation was identified after screening 273 families with three or more cases of melanoma. This family had seven members affected with melanoma. One member also had bladder and basal cell carcinoma.

*POT1*, *ACD*, and *TERF21P* form the shelterin complex which also contributes to telomere maintenance. Mutations in these genes are collectively thought to account for about 1% of hereditary melanoma (Potrony et al. 2015). Families with mutations in these genes have been reported to have had onset of melanoma as early as

adolescence (Soura et al. 2016). Other cancers such as breast, prostate, and lung have been described, but it has not been confirmed that the other cancers in these families are related to the underlying mutations.

At this time clinical genetic testing for telomere maintenance genes related to melanoma risk is predominately restricted to research. These genes are not generally included in clinical test offerings at this time.

#### Low- and Moderate-Penetrance Genes

A significant portion of familial melanoma cannot be accounted for by the high-risk genes identified to date. Low- and moderate-penetrance genes are likely factors in these families. While these genetic variants individually have small effects on risk, some combinations of genetic factors may be additive and, when inherited together, could confer greatly increased risk.

#### Melanocortin 1 Receptor (MC1R)

MC1R, previously noted to enhance the risks associated with CDKN2A mutations, has been a prominent target for evaluation. Outstanding reviews have been published summarizing the structure and function of MC1R, which highlight the mechanism of action of the receptor on a variety of nonpigmentary antitumor effects including nucleotide excision repair, apoptosis, and oxidative stress pathway control (Swope 2016; Wolf Horrell and D'Orazio 2016). Some variants in MC1R affect the ratio between eumelanin and pheomelanin, leading to the red hair and pinkish skin tone in carriers of these variants. Additional overlapping MC1R variants have been associated with melanoma, and it is not completely clear if certain functional MC1R mutations are capable of conferring a predisposition to melanoma without red hair. Heterozygote carriers of these variants are predisposed to melanoma but frequently do not have red hair or a photovulnerable phenotype. These individuals tan normally and appear to have a higher risk for melanoma than heterozygotes with red hair and photo-vulnerability (Tagliabue et al. 2016). It has been hypothesized that heterozygotes without red hair or photo-vulnerability may be at higher risk because of behavioral issues associated with tolerance to greater sun exposure (Tagliabue et al. 2016).

# Microphthalmia-Associated Transcription Factor (MITF)

*MITF* is a helix-loop-helix transcription factor and transcriptional repressor that plays a central regulatory role in melanocyte development and pigmentation. Inheritance of a germ line mutation at a sumoylation site of the protein, E318K, is associated with an increased risk of melanoma in a relatively small number of families worldwide (Ghiorzo et al. 2013). As with the high-penetrance genes described above, definitive penetrance estimates are difficult to establish but have been reported to range from about three- to fivefold increased risk of melanoma. Of interest, E318K MITF mutations also lead to an increased risk of renal cell carcinoma at a rate similar to that of melanoma, and pancreatic cancer, breast cancer, and lymphoma have also been reported in association with this mutation. It has been reported that the phenotype associated with the MITF E318K mutation includes increased number and size of nevi; increased numbers of large, atypical nevi; young age of onset of melanoma (<40); non-blue eye color, amelanotic melanoma formation; and no apparent association with skin or hair color or freckling. When observed under dermoscopy, a reticular pattern has been noted in the nevi.

# Other Less Penetrant Melanoma Predisposition Genes

Additional, more common, but less penetrant genes have been identified through case-control and genome-wide association studies (e.g., *HERC2/OCA2, TYR, TYRP1, SLC45A2*, and *ASIP*). However, it is premature to include these as part of routine clinical genetic testing because

the impact they have on melanoma penetrance and risk for other cancers is yet to be determined.

# Cancer Predisposition Genes with Effects on Melanoma Risk

#### **Hereditary Breast/Ovarian Cancer**

Women with a pathogenic variant in BRCA1 or BRCA2 have an average lifetime risk (to age 70) of 60% to develop breast cancer and 59% to develop ovarian cancer (Mavaddat et al. 2013). Men with a pathogenic variant in BRCA2 have a 6-9% lifetime risk (to age 80) to develop male breast cancer (Evans et al. 2010) and an increased risk to develop prostate cancer (Narod et al. 2008). The Breast Cancer Linkage Consortium documented a 2.58-fold increased risk for melanoma in individuals with a pathogenic variant in BRCA2 (CI = 1.28-5.17). More recently, a study from the University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center revealed a trend toward increased melanoma with BRCA1 pathogenic variants (Mersch et al. 2015). The National Comprehensive Cancer Network (NCCN) publishes management recommendations for individuals with a BRCA1 or BRCA2 pathogenic variant (Genetic/Familial High-Risk Assessment: Breast and Ovarian Cancer Version 2.2016 2016). At this time, although noting a full-body skin and eye exam could be considered, the NCCN has no specific screening guideline for melanoma in individuals with a BRCA mutation (Genetic/Familial High-Risk Assessment: Breast and Ovarian Cancer Version 2.2016, 2016).

#### PTEN Hamartoma Syndrome

Another established inherited cancer syndrome that has been associated with an increased risk for melanoma is *PTEN* hamartoma tumor syndrome, also called Cowden syndrome, caused by pathogenic variants in the *PTEN* gene. Individuals with *PTEN* have an average lifetime risk (to age 70) of >60% to develop female breast cancer, and increased risks to develop thyroid, endometrial,

kidney, and colorectal cancers, and an increased risk of up to 6% to develop melanoma (Pilarski et al. 2013). As for individuals with a *BRCA* pathogenic variant, the NCCN publishes management recommendations for individuals with a *PTEN* pathogenic variant and does not detail specific screening guideline for melanoma but includes "dermatologic management may be indicated for some patients" (Genetic/Familial High-Risk Assessment: Breast and Ovarian Cancer Version 2.2016, 2016).

# CHEK2

Pathogenic variants in the *CHEK2* gene have been associated with an increased risk of breast, prostate, kidney, thyroid, and colon cancers (Cybulski et al. 2004). A study investigating one of the most common pathogenic variants in *CHEK2*, 1100delC, and the risk of melanoma revealed a twofold increased risk for melanoma (Weischer et al. 2012). The authors have observed melanocytic neoplasms and melanoma in patients with a *CHEK2* pathogenic variant. At the time of this publication, melanoma risk and management are not addressed in the NCCN guidelines (Daly et al. 2016).

# **Risk Assessment**

Risk assessment for hereditary melanoma begins with taking a personal and family history. In a busy clinical practice, taking time to review family history can be challenging. The use of questionnaires that patients can fill out prior to appointments can help to ensure that information is available to quickly review. Also, allowing patients to have some time to think about the history and confer with relatives will generate more complete, accurate information. Individuals who have features suggestive of an inherited cancer predisposition will benefit from a referral for genetic counseling. Genetic counselors will expand and verify the family history information in order to determine if genetic testing is appropriate.

When evaluating family history in clinic, key elements to assess and document include (Lu et al. 2014):

- The patient's personal history of cancer
- Their first- and second-degree relatives
  - First-degree relatives parents, siblings, and children
  - Second-degree relatives grandparents, aunts, uncles, grandchildren, and nieces
- Ethnicity
- For each cancer reported in the family, document the type of cancer, age at diagnosis, and linage

Criteria for referral for genetics evaluation for hereditary melanoma have focused on identifying families with a significant probability of harboring a *CDKN2A* mutation. The "Rule of 3s" criteria can be met by identification of three or more cases of invasive melanoma or pancreatic adenocarcinoma in an individual or a family (Table 1). These guidelines were suggested for areas of high melanoma incidence. When evaluating individuals from populations with a low incidence of melanoma, only two cases of melanoma or pancreatic cancer are needed to warrant referral ("Rule of 2s") (Leachman et al. 2009).

However, as previously described, melanoma is a component of multiple genetic syndromes that have tumor spectrums that go beyond that of CDKN2A. The Rule of 3s will not identify these families. To date, the diagnosis of melanoma has not been incorporated into the testing criteria for other hereditary cancer syndromes. The NCCN guidelines for genetics evaluation include melanoma, along with breast, ovarian, brain, pancreatic, prostate, endometrial, gastric, thyroid, and kidney cancers, leukemia, and sarcoma, in the constellation of cancers that may signify a hereditary cancer predisposition (Daly et al. 2016). However, NCCN's guidelines for genetic testing for hereditary breast/ovarian cancer syndrome, of which many of the causative genes also confer melanoma risk, do not include melanoma in the testing criteria. This may change in the future as research continues to expand the phenotypes associated with genetic mutations.

Therefore, clinicians should take a comprehensive family history that not only includes family history of melanoma but other cancers as well. Patients with family histories exhibiting features of hereditary cancer (Table 2) should be referred for genetic counseling because determining whether the pattern of cancer in the family is related to an identifiable genetic cause will likely lead to more accurate risk assessment and more tailored screening. For example, consider a patient presenting for routine dermatology care who reports that her mother and sister had breast cancer in their 40s and that her brother had melanoma. Her risk for melanoma may be increased twofold because she has a first-degree relative with melanoma, and her risk may be higher than that if the cancer in the family is related to a BRCA2 mutation which she has also inherited or close to average risk if the family history is due to a genetic mutation she did not inherit.

Multiple, specific guidelines have been developed for the multitude of hereditary cancer syndromes that have been identified. Determining whether patients meet detailed guidelines, such as the NCCN's guidelines for hereditary breast/ ovarian cancer, PTEN hamartoma syndrome, Li-Fraumeni syndrome, etc., may not be feasible in general clinical practice. The American Society of Clinical Oncology has suggested some general red flags that are easily evaluated in clinical practice (Lu et al. 2014) (Table 2). Earlier than average age of onset is a red flag for most common adult forms of cancer. It is important to remember that melanoma can occur in young adults and even in children. Therefore melanoma occurring at a young age is not on its own a strong predictor of genetic risk. However, for cancers in which the median age is later in life, such as breast or colon cancer, a diagnosis under the age of 50 is highly suggestive of a genetic cause. Families with multiple individuals diagnosed with the same type of cancer or types of cancer that are known to share a genetic link are also candidates for genetics evaluation. Three or more cases of similar or related cancers on the same side of the family would warrant an evaluation, but fewer cases would be needed if one or more of the diagnoses occurred at young ages. Finally, there are certain types of

Criteria	Examples	
Multiple relatives on the same side of the family with similar	Three relatives with breast cancer at any age	
or related types of cancer	Three relatives on the same side of the family with prostate cancer at any age	
Development of cancer at a younger than average age	Breast or colon cancer <50 years of age	
Individuals with multiple primary cancers	Bilateral breast cancer	
	Breast and ovarian cancer	
	Colon and endometrial	
	Melanoma and pancreatic cancer	
	Melanoma and mesothelioma	
Certain cancers warrant a genetics evaluation regardless of additional history	Epithelial ovarian cancer	
	Triple-negative ^a breast cancer <60	
	Paraganglioma/pheochromocytoma	
	Retinoblastoma	
	Colorectal and endometrial cancers exhibiting microsatellite instability	
	Medullary thyroid cancer	
	Acoustic or vestibular schwannoma	
	Atypical teratoid/rhabdoid tumor	
	Optic pathway tumor	
	Malignant peripheral nerve sheath tumor	
	Juvenile myelomonocytic leukemia	

**Table 2** General red flags for identifying common patients appropriate for a genetics referral for common hereditary cancer syndromes (Lu et al. 2014)

^aTriple-negative breast cancers lack expression of estrogen and progesterone receptor and overexpression of Her2/neu

cancer that are so closely associated with a genetic syndrome that a genetics referral is warranted regardless of age or whether there is additional genetic testing (Table 2).

# **Genetic Testing**

Genetic testing technology is evolving rapidly. This provides greater opportunities for determining the cause of melanoma risk in families, but challenges come along with these benefits including selection of the appropriate test, interpreting the results and appropriately consenting patients.

# Picking a Test

Genetic counseling and risk assessment for inherited cancer syndromes have historically been offered to individuals at an increased risk for an inherited cancer syndrome based on their personal and/or family history and established testing criteria. The testing most often included one or a few genes associated with a wellestablished inherited cancer syndrome. For example, women with a personal history of premenopausal breast cancer and a first-degree relative diagnosed with ovarian cancer were offered genetic testing for *BRCA1* and *BRCA2*, the two genes known to account for most inherited breast and ovarian cancers. If that testing did not reveal a mutation, the family would be counseled that the cancers were most likely not due to a known hereditary cancer syndrome, and risk for additional cancers was based on empiric estimates from family history data.

The advent of next-generation sequencing techniques now allows for multiple genes or even entire exomes or genomes, to be sequenced for a fraction of the cost of traditional sequencing. Elimination of genetic sequence patents has also contributed to increased competition, lower costs, and more options for testing. However, not all genetic testing offerings are equal. Several areas of service may vary between laboratories including level of

	e e i	
Resource	Services	Website
National Society of Genetic Counselors	Search for genetic counselors by specialty throughout the USA and internationally	www.nsgc.org
	Patient-friendly resources for explaining genetic testing	
National Cancer Institute Genetic Services Providers Directory	Search for cancer genetics providers nationally and internationally	https://www.cancer.gov/about- cancer/causes-prevention/ genetics/directory
GenoMEL	An international hereditary melanoma research consortium	http://www.genomel.org/
	Genetic counseling guides and management recommendations for patients with hereditary melanoma	
Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act	Information on legal protections for patients	http://www.hhs.gov/ocr/privacy/ hipaa/understanding.index.html
Genetic Information Nondiscrimination Act	Information on legal protections for patients	http://www.genome.gov/ PolicyEthics/LegDatabase/ pubserach.cfm
Affordable Care Act	Information about mandated coverage of preventive services	https://www.healthcare.gov/get- answers/
	Resources for uninsured patients	

Table 3 Resources for finding genetic services and genetic discrimination protections

sequencing coverage (this determines the likelihood that a mutation will be detected if present), whether large deletions or genomic rearrangements can be detected, the genes offered, variant classification approaches, policies for notification about reclassifications, and insurance authorization support. Providers should be aware of a laboratory's methods and policies before ordering a test or refer patients to genetic counselors who are knowledgeable about laboratory options (Table 3).

To date, whole exome sequencing (evaluation of the areas of genetic material that code for proteins) and whole genome sequencing (evaluation of both coding and noncoding areas of genome) are being applied to tumors for treatment planning but are rarely used in cancer predisposition testing. A more common approach for predisposition testing of panels of genes is associated with cancer predisposition. Tests may be targeted toward a few genes related to a specific cancer type, such as melanoma or breast cancer, or the tests may be broad and include a range of cancer predisposition genes. Not all genes available through panels have been well studied. Some may only have very preliminary data regarding penetrance and tumor spectrum, and many do not have established management guidelines. The potential for increased mutation detection needs to be balanced with the increased chance of receiving results of uncertain clinical significance, which can be challenging to explain to patients.

Pretest counseling is an important step in the selection of a test. During this process, the provider and patient should discuss the purpose of the testing (what is the question trying to be answered?) and the patient's interest in evaluating additional risks.

#### Interpretation of Test Result

There are three possible findings from genetic testing. First, one or more pathogenic mutations may be detected. The identification of a pathogenic mutation in an individual often determines the ongoing clinical management and enables familial mutation testing in family members. Historically, family members that test negative for the familial mutation are given the recommendations for screening based on their own age and personal medical history, no longer considering the family history of cancer. However, when a mutation is identified in a moderate-risk or limited evidence gene, result interpretation for the proband and their family members may not be clear. Available data on the particular gene and variant identified should be reviewed. As has been described with *CDKN2A*, penetrance for other genes has been reported to vary based on family history.

The second possible outcome is that no mutation is identified. This result cannot rule out an increased familial risk. Even though testing may include multiple genes, the genetic factors known to be associated with cancer risk still only account for a portion of familial risk. A negative test result in a proband does not eliminate risk for them or relatives. Individuals with a prior melanoma have a ninefold risk of developing a second melanoma, and unaffected individuals with a first-degree relative (parent, siblings, child) with melanoma have approximately a twofold increased risk for melanoma (Gandini et al. 2005b).

Finally, testing may result in a variant of uncertain significance (VUS). These are genetic variants for which there is insufficient data to determine if they are simply part of normal human variation or if they are related to disease risk. Variants of uncertain significance are identified in approximately 30% of multigene panel test (Tung et al. 2016). Findings classified as VUS are not clinically actionable, meaning that management recommendations do not change based on the test result; management recommendations remain based on personal and family history (Lindor et al. 2013). Further, family members are not offered testing for a VUS as the result should not be used to alter their management either. Over time, variants may be reclassified as pathogenic or benign. As discussed previously, laboratory efforts regarding variant classification differ. Tracking and review of new data on VUS are difficult and time-consuming. Working with laboratories that have an active process for reclassifying variants over time and that have policies in place for notifying clinicians of new information is often the best way to ensure that management is being determined based on the most accurate information.

# **Insurance Discrimination**

There are both national and state laws that protect most individuals from health insurance discrimination based on genetic test results. The national laws include the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA) and the Genetic Information Nondiscrimination Act (GINA), and state laws vary by state. HIPAA ensures that individuals can keep continuity of health insurance and helps to ensure health information is kept private and secure. It was amended in 2013 to prohibit the use of genetic information in underwriting. Information regarding the protections provided by HIPAA can be found at http://www. hhs.gov/ocr/privacy/hipaa/understanding.index. html. Signed into law in 2008, GINA prohibits the use of genetic information by health insurers or employers. Genetic information is defined broadly and includes information about risk based on family history as well as test results. When there are discrepancies between federal and state laws, whichever law offers the greatest protection takes precedence. Information about state laws can be found at http://www.genome. gov/PolicyEthics/LegDatabase/pubserach.cfm. Federal government employees and military personnel are not covered by GINA. The protections provided by GINA predominately benefit unaffected individuals who may have a genetic predisposition but do not yet have any features of the disease. The Affordable Care Act, which limits exclusions based on preexisting conditions, now offers protection for those who are already symptomatic. Information about the Affordable Care Act can be found at https://www.healthcare.gov/ get-answers/. However, to date laws do not address the use of genetic information by life or disability insurers.

# The Unique Impact of Genetic Testing

Because risk for melanoma can be conferred by phenotype and family history, the argument has been raised that genetic testing does not add significantly to assessment of risk (Kefford et al. 2002). However, research has shown that the process of receiving genetic test results may have a unique impact on risk perception and screening behaviors beyond family history-based risk assessment alone. A study of patients from highrisk families compared screening and preventive behaviors before and after receiving results from testing for familial CDKN2A mutations. Two years following genetic testing, unaffected, mutation carriers' adherence to recommendations for total body skin exams (TBSE) increased from 40% to 70% (Aspinwall et al. 2013a). Those who tested negative for the familial mutation demonstrated significant reduction in the frequency of skin exams. However, this was appropriate given their reduced level of risk. Unaffected, mutation carriers also reported increased thoroughness of self-skin examinations. In this same cohort, unaffected, mutation carriers also demonstrated increase in sun protection, with greater than 96% utilizing at least one sun protection strategy per day, up from 76% at baseline (Aspinwall et al. 2014).

Despite being aware of the family history of melanoma, baseline compliance in these high-risk families was low, and receiving genetic counseling and testing prompted greater adherence. Evaluation of the psychological impact of receiving genetic test results found that identifying a mutation did not result in fatalistic attitudes; rather 93% reported that they could take actions to help prevent or decrease the likelihood of developing melanoma (Aspinwall et al. 2015). Receiving genetic test results has also not been associated with significant increases in anxiety or depression in the short or long term (Aspinwall et al. 2013b).

However, a limitation of this research has been that genetic test results were provided in the context of thorough education and counseling. Therefore, the effects of the education and genetic testing on attitudes and behavior cannot be evaluated independently. To address this, a recent study compared two cohorts of patients, one group were unaffected members of families with known *CDKN2A* mutation and the other group were from families with multiple cases of melanoma, but no identifiable genetic etiology. Both groups received similar, thorough education about risk, screening, and prevention measure, but only those from *CDKN2A* families received personal test results. Comparison of these two groups at 1 month found that those who received genetic testing reported greater understanding of risk as well as greater applicability of the information compared to those receiving family historybased counseling alone. Those in the testing group were less likely to discount or downplay risk information. These findings suggest that inclusion of personalized genetic information may provide benefits beyond just intensive education based on less specific risk factors (Taber et al. 2015).

The highly personal and technical nature of genetic testing may lead to this information being uniquely valued by patients. Not all studies have consistently found that receiving genetic testing results will lead to behavioral changes such as smoking cessation or diet changes (Hollands et al. 2016). However, further study regarding the optimal ways to communicate genetic information in order to maximize the benefit on behavior is warranted.

# Conclusion

We are currently in an era of rapid evolution with respect to genetic testing. The technology applied to genetic testing is transitioning from single-gene based tests into whole exome and whole genome sequencing. Molecular tumor boards are becoming more prevalent within genetic testing centers and will be invaluable as we move into personalized medicine at an individual level. Although it is likely that these sequencing technologies and molecular evaluations of genetic alterations will be the gold-standard of the future, we are currently in a transitional era of panel testing. In this era, it remains critical to identify which genes have data to support the value of testing, which patients fulfill the criteria for testing, and which test/s should be performed. It is paramount to balance the application of powerful technological tools for the benefit of clinical care with the need to assure that valid, useful information is provided to the patients. Nowhere more than the field of genetic counseling/testing are technological "growing pains" being felt; yet, it is an essential evolution of the field that holds exceptional promise for the benefit of mankind.

# References

- Al-Khalaf HH, Mohideen P, Nallar SC, Kalvakolanu DV, Aboussekhra A (2013) The cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor p16INK4a physically interact with transcription factor Sp1 and cyclin-dependent kinase 4 to transactivate microRNA-141 and microRNA-146b-5p spontaneously and in response to ultraviolet light-induced DNA damage. J Biol Chem 288(49):355511–355525
- Aspinwall LG, Taber J, Leaf SL, Kohlmann W, Leachman SA (2013a) Melanoma genetic counseling and test reporting improve screening adherence among unaffected carriers 2 years later. Cancer Epidemiol Biomark Prev 22(10):1687–1697
- Aspinwall LG, Taber J, Leaf SL, Kohlmann W, Leachman SA (2013b) Genetic testing for hereditary melanoma and pancreatic cancer: a longitudinal study of psychologal outcomes. Psychooncology 22(2):276–289
- Aspinwall LG, Taber J, Kohlmann W, Leaf SL, Leachman SA (2014) Unaffected family members report improvements in daily routine sun protection 2 years following melanoma. Genet Med 16(11):846–853
- Aspinwall LG, Stump T, Taber JM, Kohlmann W, Leaf SL, Leachman SA (2015) Impact of melanoma genetic test reporting on perceived control over melanoma prevention. J Behav Med 38(5):754–765
- Begg CB, Orlow I, Hummer AJ, Armstrong BK, Kricker A, Marrett LD, Millikan RC, Gruber SB, Anton-Culver H, Zanetti R, Gallager RP, Dwyer T, Rebbeck TR, Mitra N, Busam K, From L, Berwick M, Genes Environment and Melanoma Study Group (2005) Lifetime risk of melanoma in CDKN2A mutation carriers in a population-based sample. J Natl Cancer Inst 97(20):1507–1515
- Berwick M, Buller D, Cust A, Gallagher R, Lee TK, Meyskens F, Pandey S, Thomas NE, Veierod MB, Ward S (2016) Melanoma epidemiology and prevention. Cancer Treat Res 167:17–49
- Bishop DT, Demenais F, Goldstein AM, Bergman W, Bishop JN, Bressac-de Paillerets B, Chompret A, Ghiorzo P, Gruis N, Hansson J, Harland M, Hayward N, Holland EA, Mann GJ, Mantelli M, Nancarrow D, Platz A, Tucker MA, Melanoma Genetics Consortium (2002) Geographical variation in the penetrance of CDKN2A mutations for melanoma. J Natl Cancer Inst 94(12):894–903
- Box NFDD, Chen W, Stark M, Martin NG, Sturm RA, Hayward NK (2001) MC1R genotype modifies risk of melanoma in families segregating CDKN2A mutations. Am J Hum Genet 64(4):765–773
- Canto MI, Harinck F, Hruban RH, Offerhaus GJ, Poley J-W, Kamel I, Nio Y, Schulick RS, Bassi C, Lluijt I,

Levy MJ, Chak A, Fockens P, Goggins M, Bruno M, International Cancer of the Pancreas Screening (CAPS) Consortium (2013) International Cancer of the Pancreas Screening (CAPS) Consortium summit on the management of patients with increased risk for familial pancreatic cancer. Gut 62(3):339–347

- Celebi JT, Ward K, Wanner M, Polsky D, Kopf AW (2005) Evaluation of germline *CDKN2A,ARF,CDK4,PTEN* and *BRAF* alterations in atypical mole syndrome. Clin Exp Dermatol 30:68–70
- Cust AE, Harland M, Makalic E, Schmidt D, Dowty JG, Aitken JF, Agha-Hamiltom C, Armstrong BK, Barrett JH, Chan M, Chang YM, Gascoyne J, Giles GG, Holland EA, Kefford RF et al (2011) Melanoma risk for CDKN2A mutation carriers who are relatives of population-based case carriers in Australia and the UK. J Med Genet 48(4):266–272
- Cybulski C, Górski B, Huzarski T, Masojc B, Mierejewski M, Debniak T, Teodorczyk U, Byrski T, Gronwald J et al (2004) CHEK2 is a multiorgan cancer susceptibility gene. Am J Hum Genet 75(6):1131–1135
- Daly MB, Pilarski R, Axilbund JE, Berry M, Buys SS, Crawfor B, Farmer M, Friedman S, Garber JE, Khan S, Klein C, Kohlmann W, Kurian A, Litton JK, Madlensky L, Marcom PK, Merajver SD, Offit K, Pal T, Rana H, Reiser G, Robson ME, Shannon KM, Swisher E, Voian NC, Weitzel JN, Whelan A, Wick MJ, Wiesner GL, Dwyer M, Kumar R, Darlow S (2016) Genetic/familial high-risk assessment: breast and ovarian, version 2.2015. J Natl Compr Cancer Netw 14(2):153–162
- de Snoo FA, Kroon MW, Bergman W, ter Huume JA, Houwing-Duistermaat JJ, van Mourik L et al (2007) From sporadic atypical nevi to familial melanoma: risk analysis for melanoma in sporadic nevus patients. J Am Acad Dermatol 56:748–752
- de Snoo FA, Bishop D, Bergman W, van Leeuwen I, van der Drift C, van Nieupoort F et al (2008) Increased risk of cancer other than melanoma in CDKN2A found mutation (p16-Leiden)-positive melaoma families. Clin Cancer Res 14:7151–7157
- Demenais F, Mohamdi H, Chaudru V, Am G, Newton-Bishop JA, Bishop DT, Kanetsky PA, Hayward NK, Gillanders E, Elder DE, Avril MF, Azizi E, van Belle P, Bergman W, Bianchi-Scarra G, Bressac-de paillerets B, Calista D, Carrera C, Hansson J et al (2010) Association of MC1R variants and host phenotypes with melanoma risk in CDKN2A mutation carriers: a GenoMEL study. J Natl Cancer Inst 102(20):1568–1583
- Evans DG, Susnerwala I, Dawson J, Woodward E, Maher ER, Lalloo F (2010) Risk of breast cancer in male BRCA2 carriers. J Med Genet 47(10):710–711
- Florell SR, Meyer L, Boucher KM, Grossman D, Cannon-Albright LA, Harris RM, Samlowski WE, Zone JJ, Leachman SA (2008) Increased melanocytic nevi and nevus density in a G-34T CDKN2A/p16 melanoma prone pedigree. J Invest Dermatol 128(8):2122–2125
- Gandini S, Sera F, Cattaruzza MS, Pasquini P, Picconi O, Boyle P, Melchi CF (2005a) Meta-analysis of risk

factors for cutaneous melanoma: II. Sun exposure. Eur J Cancer 41(1):45–60

- Gandini S, Sera F, Cattaruzza MS, Pasquini P, Zanetti R, Masini C, Boyle P, Melchi CF (2005b) Meta-analysis of risk factors for cutaneous melanoma: III. Family history, actinic damage and phenotypic factors. Eur J Cancer 41(14):2040–2059
- Genetic/Familial High-Risk Assessment: Breast and Ovarian Cancer Version 2.2016 (2016) NCCN clinical practice guidelines in oncology. National Comprehensive Cancer Network, Fort Washington
- Ghiorzo P, Pastorino L, Queirolo P, Bruno W, Tibiletti MG, Nasti S, Andreotti V, Genoa Pancreatic Cancer Study Group, Paillerets BB, Bianchi Scarra G (2013) Prevalence of the E318K MITF germline mutation in Italian melanoma patients: associations with histological subtypes and family cancer history. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res 26(2):259–262
- Goldstein AM, Chan M, Harland M, Gillanders EM, Hayward NK, Avril MF, Aziz E, Bianchi-Scarra G, Bishop DT, Bressac-de Paillerets B, Bruno W, Calista D, Cannon Albright LA, Demenais F, Elder DE, Ghiorzo P, Gruis NA, Hansson J, Hogg D, Holland EA, Kanetsky PA et al (2006) High-risk melanoma susceptibility genes and pancreatic cancer, neural system tumors, and uveal melanoma across GenoMEL. Cancer Res 66(20):9818–9828
- Goldstein AMCA, Harland M, Hayward NK, Demenais F, Bishop DT, Aziz E, Bergman W, Bianchi-Scarra G, Bruno W, Calista D, Albright LA, Chaudru V, Chompret A, Cuellar F, Elder DE, Ghiorzo P, Gillanders EM, Gruis NA, Hansson J, Hogg D, Holland EA, Kanetsky PA, Kefford RF, Landi MT, Lang J, Leachman SA, MackKie RM, Magnusson V, Mann GJ, Bishop JN, Palmer JM, Puig S, Puig-Butille JA, Stark M, Tsao H, Tucker MA, Whitaker L, Yakobson E, Lund Melaoma Study Group, Melanoma Genetics Consortium (GenoMEL) (2007) Features associated with germline CDKN2A mutations: a GenoMEL study of melanoma-prone families from three continents. J Med Genet 44(2):99–106
- Green AC, Williams G, Logan V, Strutton GM (2011) Reduced melanoma after regular sunscreen use: randomized trial follow-up. J Clin Oncol 29(3):257–263
- Hansen CB, Wadge L, Lowstuter K, Boucher K, Leachman SA (2004) Clinical germline genetic testing for melanoma. Lancet Oncol 5(5):314–319
- Harland M, Petljak M, Robles-Espinoza CD, Ding Z, Gruis NA, van Doorn R, Pooley KA, Dunning AM, Aoude LG et al (2016) Germline TERT promoter mutations are rare in familial melanoma. Familial Cancer 15:139–144
- Hodis E, Watson I, Kryukov GV, Arnold ST, Imielinski M, Theurillat JP, Nickerson E, Auclair D, Li L, Place C, Dicara D, Ramos AH, Lawrence MS, Cibulski K, Sivachenko A, Boet D, Saksensa G, Stransky N et al (2012) A landscape of driver mutations in melanoma. Cell 150(2):251–263

- Hollands GJ, French DP, Griffin SJ, Prevost AT, Sutton S, King S, Marteau TM (2016) The impact of communicating genetic risks of disease on risk-reducing health behavior: a systematic review. BMJ 15(352): i1102
- Kamb A, Shattuck-Eidens D, Eeles R, Liu Q, Gruis NA, Ding W, Hussey C, Tran T, Miki Y, Weaver-Feldhaus J et al (1994) Analysis of the p16 gene (CDKN2) as a candidate for the chromosome 9p melanoma susceptibility locus. Nat Genet 8(1):23–26
- Kefford R, Bishop J, Tucker M, Bressac-de Paillerest B, Bianchi-Scarra G, Bergman W, Goldstein A, Puig S, Mackie R, Elder D et al (2002) Genetic testing for melanoma. Lancet Oncol 3(11):653–654
- Leachman SA, Carucci J, Kohlmann W, Banks KC, Asgari MM, Bergman W, Bianchi-Scarra G, Brentall T, Bressac-de Paillerets B, Bruno W et al (2009) Selection criteria of genetic assessment of patients with familial melanoma. J Am Acad Dermatol 61:677.e671–677.e614
- Lindor NM, Goldgar D, Tavtigian SV, Plon SE, Couch FJ (2013) BRCA1/2 sequence variants of uncertain significance: a primer for providers to assist in discussions and in medical management. Oncologist 18:518–524
- Lo JA, Fisher D (2014) The melanoma revolution: from UV carcinogenesis to a new era in therapeutics. Science 346(6212):945–949
- Lu KH, Wood ME, Daniels M, Burke C, Ford J, Kauff ND, Kohlmann W, Lindor NM, Mulvey TM, Robinson L, Rubinstein WS, Stoffel EM, Synder C, Syngal S, Merrill JK, Swartzberg Wollins D, Hughes KS (2014) American Society of Clinical Oncology Expert Statement: collection and use of a cancer family history for oncology providers. J Clin Oncol 32(8):833–840
- Mavaddat N, Peock S, Frost D et al (2013) Cancer risks for BRCA1 and BRCA2 mutation carriers: results from prospective analysis of EMBRACE. J Natl Cancer Inst 105(11):812–822
- Mersch J, Jackson M, Park M, Nebgen D, Peterson SK, Singletary C, Arun BK, Litton JK (2015) Cancers associated with BRCA1 and BRCA2 mutations other than breast and ovarian. Cancer 121(2):269–275
- Narod SA, Neuhausen S, Vichodez G et al (2008) Rapid progression of prostate cancer in men with a BRCA2 mutation. Br J Cancer 99(2):371–374
- Nasu M, Emi M, Pastorino S, Tanji M, Powers A, Luk H, Baumann F, Zhang YA, Gazdar A, Kanodia S et al (2015) High incidence of somatic BAP1 alterations in sporadic malignant mesothelioma. J Thorac Oncol 10(4):565–576
- Njauw CN, Kim I, Piris A, Gabree M, Taylor M, Lane AM, DeAngelis MM, Graqoudas E, Duncan LM, Tsao H (2012) Germline BAP1 inactivation is preferentially associated with metastatic ocular melanoma and cutaneous-ocular melanoma families. PLoS One 7(4):e35295
- Parker JF, Florell S, Alexander A, DiSario JA, Shami PJ, Leachman SA (2003) Pancreatic carcinoma surveillance

in patients with familial melanoma. Arch Dermatol 139(8):1091–1025

- Pilarski R, Burt R, Kohlmann W, Pho L, Shannon KM, Swisher E (2013) Cowden syndrome and the PTEN hamartoma tumor syndrome: systematic review and revised diagnostic criteria. J Natl Cancer Inst 105(21):1607–1616
- Potrony M, Badenas C, Aguilera P, Puig-Butille JA, Carrera C, Malvehy J, Puig S (2015) Update in genetic susceptibility in melanoma. Ann Transl Med 3(15):210
- Puntervoll HE, Yang X, Vetti HH, Bachmann IM, Avril MF, Benfodda M, Catricala C, Dalle S, Duval-Modeste AB, Ghiorzo P, Grammatico P et al (2013) Melanoma prone families with CDK4 germline mutations: phenotypic profile and associations with MC1R variants. J Med Genet 50(4):264–270
- Rai K, Pilarski R, Cebulla CM, Abdel-Rahman MH (2015) Comprehensive review of BAP1 tumor predisposition syndrome with report of two new cases. Clin Genet 89:285–294
- Randerson-Moor JA, Harland M, Williams S, Cuthbert-Heavens D, Sheridan E, Aveyard J, Sibley K, Whitaker L, Knowles M, Bishop JN, Bishop DT (2001) A germline deletion of p14(ARF) but not CDKN2A in a melanoma-neural system tumour syndrome family. Hum Mol Genet 10(1):55–62
- Ransohoff KJ, Jaju P, Tang JY, Carbone M, Leachman S, Sarin KY (2016) Familial skin cancer syndromes: increased melanoma risk. J Am Acad Dermatol 74(3):423–434
- Soura E, Eliades P, Shannon K, Stratigos AJ, Tsao H (2016) Hereditary melanoma: update on syndromes and management. J Am Acad Dermatol 74:411–420
- Swope VB, Abdel-Malek Z (2016) Significance of the melanocortine 1 and endothelin B receptors in

melanocytes homeostasis and prevention of sun-induced genotoxicity. Front Genet 7:146

- Taber JM, Aspinwall L, Stump TK, Kohlmann W, Champine M, Leachman SA (2015) Genetic test reporting enhances understanding of risk information and acceptance of prevention recommendations compared to family history-based counseling alone. J Behav Med 38(5):740–753
- Tagliabue E, Gandini S, Garcia-Borron JC, Maisonneuve P, Newton-Bishop J, Polsky D, Lazovich D, Kumar R, Ghiorzo P, Ferrucci L, Gruis NA, Puig S, Kanetsky PA, Motokawa T et al (2016) Association of melanocortin-1 receptor variants with pigmentary traits in humans: a pooled analysis from the M-Skip Project. J Invest Dermatol 136(9):1914–1917
- Tung N, Lin N, Kidd J, Allen BA, Singh N, Wenstrup RJ, Hartman AR, Winer EP, Garber JE (2016) Frequency of germline mutations in 25 cancer susceptibility genes in a sequential series of patients with breast cancer. J Clin Oncol 34(13):1460–1468
- Vasen H II, Ponce GC, Slater EP, Matthai E, Carrato A, Earl J, Robbers K, van Mil A, Potjer T, Bonsign BA et al (2016) Benefit of surveillance for pancreatic cancer in high-risk individuals: outcome of long-term prospective follow-up studies from three European Expert Centers. J Clin Oncol 34(17):2010–2019
- Weischer M, Heerfordt I, Bojesen SE, Eigentler T, Garbe C, Rocken M, Holmich LR, Schmidt H et al (2012) CHEK2 *1100delC and risk of malignant melanoma: Danish and German studies and meta-analysis. J Invest Dermatol 132(2):299–303
- Wolf Horrell EM, Boulanger M, D'Orazio JA (2016) Melanocortin 1 receptor: structure, function and regulation. Front Genet 7:95



Clara Curiel-Lewandrowski, Roberto A. Novoa, Elizabeth Berry, M. Emre Celebi, Noel Codella, Felipe Giuste, David Gutman, Allan Halpern, Sancy Leachman, Yuan Liu, Yun Liu, Ofer Reiter, and Philipp Tschandl

# Contents

Introduction	600
What is Artificial Intelligence?	601
Artificial Intelligence Approaches and Medical Applications	604
Electronic Health Records	604
Medical Imaging	605
Summary	608
Role of Artificial Intelligence in Malignant Melanoma	608
Imaging Databases: Relevance and Current State	608
Current State of Image Databases	609

C. Curiel-Lewandrowski (⊠) Department of Dermatology, University of Arizona Cancer Center, University of Arizona, Tucson, AZ, USA e-mail: ccuriel@email.arizona.edu

R. A. Novoa Departments of Pathology and Dermatology, Stanford University, Stanford, CA, USA e-mail: rnovoa@stanford.edu

E. Berry · S. Leachman Department of Dermatology, Oregon Health and Science University, Portland, OR, USA e-mail: berryel@ohsu.edu; sswetter@stanford.edu

M. E. Celebi Department of Computer Science, University of Central Arkansas, Conway, AR, USA e-mail: ecelebi@uca.edu

N. Codella IBM Research AI, Armonk, NY, USA e-mail: nccodell@us.ibm.com

F. Giuste Department of Biomedical Engineering, Emory University, Georgia Tech, Atlanta, GA, USA e-mail: fgiuste@emory.edu

© Springer Science+Business Media, LLC, part of Springer Nature 2019 D. E. Fisher, B. C. Bastian (eds.), *Melanoma*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-7147-9 43

Artificial Intelligence Applications in Malignant Melanoma Based on Clinical Photography and Dermoscopy	610
The Role of Artificial Intelligence in Melanoma Diagnosis: The Consumer	
Perspective	616
Consumer Opinion	616
Barriers to Implementation and Limitations	617
Potential Harms	618
Regulation	618
Additional Considerations and Challenges Ahead	619
Comprehensive Data	619
Resilience and Generalizability	620
Clinical Integration	620
Conclusion	621
Excursus: MelaFind	621
References	622

#### Abstract

Since its inception in the mid-twentieth century, the field of artificial intelligence (AI) has undergone numerous transformations and retreats. Using large datasets, powerful computers, and modern computational methods, the subset of AI known as machine learning can identify complex patterns in real-world data, yielding observations, associations, and predictions that can match or exceed human capabilities. After decades of promise, the field stands poised to influence a broad range of human endeavors, from the most complex

#### D. Gutman

Department of Neurology & Psychiatry, Emory University, Atlanta, GA, USA e-mail: dgutman@emory.edu

#### A. Halpern

Department of Medicine, Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center, New York, NY, USA e-mail: halperna@MSKCC.ORG

#### Y. Liu · Y. Liu

Google AI Healthcare, Mountain View, CA, USA e-mail: yuanliu@google.com; liuyun@google.com

#### O. Reiter

Dermatology Service, Department of Medicine, Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center, New York, NY, USA e-mail: reiterao@mskcc.org

#### P. Tschandl

ViDIR Group, Department of Dermatology, Medical University of Vienna, Wien, Austria e-mail: philipp.tschandl@meduniwien.ac.at strategic games to autonomous vehicle navigation, financial engineering, and health care. Therefore, the purpose of this chapter is to provide an introduction to AI approaches and medical applications while elaborating on the role of AI in malignant melanoma detection and diagnosis from a healthcare provider and consumer perspective. It is critical that we continue to balance the opportunity and threat of AI in malignant melanoma, as this technology becomes more robust to maximize an effective implementation.

#### Keywords

Artificial intelligence · Machine learning · Dermatology · Dermoscopy · Medical imaging · Imaging databases · Melanoma · Skin cancer

# Introduction

Since its inception in the mid-twentieth century, the field of artificial intelligence (AI) has undergone numerous transformations and retreats prior to reaching its current state (LeCun et al. 2015). Using large datasets, powerful computers, and modern computational methods, the subset of AI known as machine learning can identify complex patterns in real-world data, yielding observations, associations, and predictions that can match or exceed human capabilities. After decades of promise, the field stands poised to influence a broad range of human endeavors, from the most complex strategic games (Silver et al. 2017) to autonomous vehicle navigation (Fagnant and Kockelman 2015), financial engineering (Heaton et al. 2016), and health care (Jha and Topol 2016).

As images on computer screens represent a discrete set of data points, a subset of AI known as computer vision has been applied to image analysis, with remarkable results. The analysis of dermatology images in general and melanoma images in particular represent a natural application of this field. Machine learning can be used to generate diagnoses (i.e., melanocytic nevus vs. melanoma) (Esteva et al. 2017). However, it can also be used to improve temporal tracking of lesions and provide results that are more robust to changes in lighting and angle (Li et al. 2016). Furthermore, the detection of subtle patterns in visual data may yield new insights that have yet to be discovered. For example, AI-led analysis of retinal images can predict cardiovascular risk status and even the gender of patients, the latter a heretofore-unknown association (Poplin et al. 2018). Similar insights into melanoma biology and outcomes may yet be garnered from AI-led analysis of the skin. Finally, AI can demonstrate enormous scalability, as these algorithms can be downloaded onto smartphones and used all over the world. With increasing data collection, the performance of the algorithms is expected to continuously improve, driving greater adoption and increased data collection.

In the sections below, we provide a general overview of the field of artificial intelligence. We will introduce relevant concepts, such as supervised learning, training versus validation datasets, neural networks, backpropagation, and deep learning. Next, we will discuss the use of AI in various medical applications, ranging from electronic medical records to the prediction of hospital mortality. As large datasets lie at the core of many recent advances, we will discuss the creation and curation of effective shared datasets with melanoma cases, along with the current state of the art in image classification as applied to dermatology, with an emphasis in melanoma. As with all scientific innovations, however, AI has significant shortcomings, ranging from interpretability to bias. We will review these challenges before discussing the technology's relevance to patients as end-users and the potential limitations of such an approach.

#### What is Artificial Intelligence?

Artificial intelligence (AI), also known as machine intelligence, has many definitions. This is not surprising as the concept of intelligence itself has many definitions (Legg and Hutter 2007). In fact, according to the leading psychologist Robert Sternberg, "viewed narrowly, there seem to be almost as many definitions of intelligence as there were experts asked to define it." An intuitive definition of AI, a term coined in 1956, is "the study of how to make computers do things at which, at the moment, people do better" (Rich 1987). AI is a vast field and composed of six main areas according to Russell and Norvig (2016): natural language processing, knowledge representation, automated reasoning, machine learning, computer vision, and robotics. In the following, we will briefly discuss two of these fields, namely, machine learning (ML) and computer vision (CV), as they are the most pertinent to the application of AI to melanoma diagnosis. Russell and Norvig also enumerate the fields that contributed ideas, viewpoints, and techniques to AI as follows: philosophy, mathematics, economics, neuroscience, psychology, computer engineering, control theory and cybernetics, and linguistics (2016). Many experts, however, consider AI to be mainly a subfield of Computer Science (CS).

As mentioned earlier in this chapter, we will focus on ML and CV primarily as they relate to melanoma. Mitchell defines *learning* in the context of machines as "a computer program is said to learn from experience E with respect to some class of tasks T and performance measure P if its performance at tasks in T, as measured by P, improves with experience E" (Mitchell 1997). Two fields that heavily overlap with ML, and thus with AI, are pattern recognition and data mining. Jain et al. define pattern recognition (PR), also known as pattern classification (Duda et al. 2007) or pattern analysis, as "the study of how machines can observe the environment, learn to distinguish patterns of interest from their background, and make sound and reasonable decisions about the categories of the patterns" (Jain et al. 2000). Data mining (DM), on the other hand, can be defined as "automated or convenient extraction of patterns representing knowledge implicitly stored or captured in large databases, data warehouses, the web, other massive information repositories, or data streams" (Han et al. 2012). As mentioned before, ML, PR, and DM are substantially overlapping fields. Generally speaking, the common theme in these three fields is learning, where statistical approaches play a dominant role (Hand 1998).

There are two major paradigms in ML: supervised learning (SL) and unsupervised learning (UL). Here, "supervision" refers to the availability of class labels, or established, "ground truth" for the examples of interest. In dermatology, the quality of this label may vary from a dermatologist's clinical impression to the lesions' histopathological diagnosis to molecular data and clinical history.

It is often convenient to assume that the available samples are represented as D-dimensional numerical feature vectors, where D is referred to as the "dimensionality" of the data. In many applications, D is a large number because practitioners do not have a good understanding of which features may be relevant to the learning task; some features may also be redundant or noisy. As a concrete example, consider a biopsy algorithm for dermoscopic images of pigmented lesions, with four dichotomous features: the presence or absence of a blue-white veil, peripheral streaking, size greater than 6 mm, and the clinical information of age greater than 65 years. Each lesion is positioned in a four-dimensional space according to these various features, and if we have the histopathological diagnosis associated with each photographed lesion, we can then perform supervised learning on our dataset. This type of SL is referred to as "classification."

So, as one can see, features may represent visual information, such as pixels in an image, or metadata, defined as "data about data." Metadata is usually text-based information that describes the dermatologic imaging study (Caffery et al. 2018) and includes both clinical data (i.e., age, skin type, clinical history) as well as contextual data (i.e., temporal evolution of a lesion or a rash) (Caffery et al. 2018). In earlier forms of machine learning, experts might pick the various relevant features that would be analyzed by the algorithm.

Classification has two main phases: training and testing. Training is the process of building a classification model based on training data (in our example, the biopsy-proven skin lesions). Training implicitly or explicitly entails the partitioning of the feature space (see Fig. 1 for a two-dimensional illustration). Testing, on the other hand, is the process of evaluating the model on as-yet-unseen (test) data. The fundamental goal of training is to generalize beyond the samples in the training data. In other words, we would like to obtain a classification model that characterizes the training data well, but, more importantly, produces accurate predictions on the test data. Algorithms for classification are called classifiers, of which there are many techniques in machine learning, like nearest neighbors, decision trees, artificial neural networks, support vector machines, and ensemble classifiers (Fernández-Delgado et al. 2014).

Modern versions of ML-algorithms can be applied to complex information with high dimensionality, incorporating thousands of features. While earlier expert systems relied on extensive domain expertise to determine which features were relevant, this process is laborious and limited to one specific problem. Furthermore, in the example above, the algorithm relies on an expert to not only identify the important features but also then to subclassify patterns of pixels in each individual picture into the various categories (i.e., presence or absence of a blue-white veil). the of supervised In context learning. convolutional neural networks (CNNs) have recently become immensely popular, especially in computer vision applications (Guo et al. 2016; Litjens et al. 2017). CNNs alleviate the ML expert's burden of "feature engineering" by automatically discovering high-level abstractions from "low-level" data, such as image pixels (Goodfellow et al. 2016). Figure 2 schematically





illustrates how a CNN processes single pixels layer by layer to abstract shapes to reach a final class decision. Modeled on the relationship of neurons in the visual cortex, a CNN is a series of mathematical functions that can accept individual pixels as inputs. These are multiplied by various weights and summed, "firing" if they exceed the function's threshold. These neurons are then arrayed in multiple layers, allowing the algorithm to find complex patterns in pixels and how they relate to each other, proceeding from detecting edges of objects to curves, shapes, objects themselves, and complex categories, such as "basal cell carcinoma" and "dermatofibroma." The algorithm yields an output which is then compared to the image's "ground truth" label. During "training," the algorithm automatically adjusts the weights of its neurons, based on the difference between the "output" and "ground-truth." This iterative, computationally intensive process requires powerful modern processors and enormous datasets, and is an example of an approach referred to as "deep learning" (LeCun et al. 2015), which is capable of extraordinarily complex classification tasks (Krizhevsky et al. 2017).

UL (Celebi and Aydin 2016), that is, learning without class labels, is the second major paradigm in ML. The prototypical example of UL is clustering (Jain and Dubes 1988), also known as

cluster analysis (Anderberg 1973), which can be defined as "grouping a set of samples in such a way that those in the same group (cluster) are similar, whereas those in different groups are dissimilar." Primary goals of clustering include gaining insight into data, classifying data, and compressing data. Clustering algorithms can be broadly classified into two groups: hierarchical and partitional. Hierarchical algorithms (Murtagh 1983) find nested clusters either in a top-down or bottom-up fashion. In contrast, partitional algorithms (Celebi 2014) find all the clusters simultaneously as a partition of the data and do not impose a hierarchical structure. Hierarchical algorithms are often unsuitable for large data sets. Partitional algorithms, on the other hand, typically require careful initialization (Celebi et al. 2013). Regardless of the nature of learning, supervised or unsupervised, it is crucial to have relevant, independent, and noise-free features; otherwise, we are at risk of "garbage in, garbage out." Two common problems that plague classification applications are overfitting (capturing random quirks, rather than general trends, in the training data), and the curse of dimensionality (difficulty of generalization in complex high dimensional spaces, where the fixed-size training data covers only a negligible fraction of the feature space) (Domingos 2012). For example, if a study



**Fig. 2** Illustration of a deep learning classification model. As we move from the bottom (visible layer) towards the top (output layer), the classifier extracts increasingly

abstract features from the input image. (Reproduced with permission from Goodfellow et al. 2016)

tracking the natural history of benign nevi has a unique ruler or size marker in those images, and if the benign images with this ruler comprise a significant number of benign lesions within a dataset, an algorithm may "learn" that lesions with that ruler or size marker are more likely to be benign. For this reason and many others, it is ideal to obtain transparent, understandable, and explainable models (Goebel et al. 2018), especially in medical applications. A less frequently problem encountered in ML and melanoma is underfitting, by failing to include relevant data with features indicative of MM diagnosis.

# Artificial Intelligence Approaches and Medical Applications

There is a long history of using machine learning for artificial intelligence in biomedical applications. The spectrum of machine learning applications (Beam and Kohane 2018) ranges from clinical decision rules that utilize patient demographics and clinical measurements (e.g., the  $CHA_2DS_2$ -VASc clinical risk score (Lip et al. 2010) for stroke prediction in patients with atrial fibrillation), to statistical classifiers that rely on hand-crafted features derived from images or texts, to more recent deep learning-based computer-aided systems for diagnosis, prognosis, or treatment planning. A few examples of major machine learning applications, primarily focused on deep learning, that have started to demonstrate or could have clinical impact are discussed below (Fenton 2015).

# **Electronic Health Records**

Electronic health records (EHRs) include both structured data (e.g., diagnoses, medications, laboratory measurements) and unstructured data (e.g., free-text clinical notes for admission, discharge, or transfer). In particular, better machine understanding of these unstructured "free-text" can help improve the search of patient records for specific medical concepts (i.e., entities of interest such as medical problems, disorders, and treatment) and analysis of such concepts for epidemiological studies. Prior works have attempted to address this by extracting medical concepts with ML approaches, assigning notions of time to each extraction (Bethard et al. 2016), identifying structured relationships between different medical concepts (Uzuner et al. 2011), or disambiguating medical abbreviations (Pakhomov et al. 2005). Another primary goal of applying ML to EHR data is for clinical decision support, such as for predicting suicide risk (Tran et al. 2015) and other future adverse outcomes (Miotto et al. 2016; Nguyen et al. 2017; Rajkomar et al. 2018). One recent example demonstrated a novel method to standardize representation of raw EHR data and used this approach to develop deep learning models to make effective predictions for length of stay, future illness, readmission, and mortality across multiple institutions (Rajkomar et al. 2018). In addition, the large volume of EHR data has made it possible to learn richer, data-driven descriptions of illnesses (Che et al. 2015), representing a step towards the

eventual goal of personalized precision healthcare (Fig. 3).

An emerging research area for ML in EHR applications is the generation of clinical notes. In the current clinical workflow, clinicians spend significant time documenting patient encounters. Although the use of voice recognition tools can help improve report turnaround time, they can result in higher error rates than medical transcription services (Hodgson and Coiera 2015). Deep learning has been shown to significantly reduce the error rates of automated speech recognition systems (Abdel-Hamid et al. 2014) and dramatically improve the usability of these systems in practice. These are encouraging results for future research development.

#### Medical Imaging

Medical imaging is one of the primary beneficiaries of recent advances in ML, in particular, the CNN-based methods, to address a variety of image analysis tasks. Typical tasks include: (1) image-level diagnoses, i.e., prediction of disease state from one or multiple images, (2) organ segmentation, i.e., outlining the precise boundaries of the organ of interest, and (3) image registration, i.e., spatial



Fig. 3 Examples of applications of machine learning for electronic health records

alignment of two or more images into the same coordinate system. Many studies have demonstrated promising results in different domains of medical imaging, spanning from radiology, ophthalmology, pathology, to dermatology, as will be illustrated below in each subsection.

#### Radiology

Radiology is one of the earliest application domains for ML methods in medical imaging, particularly for the classification of disorders or the prediction of disease progression (Fig. 4). For example, researchers have been applying



**Fig. 4** Sample applications of machine learning for medical imaging. (Radiology images reproduced from Wikimedia; ophthalmology images reproduced from Wikimedia; pathology images derived from

CAMELYON16: https://camelyon16.grand-challenge. org/; dermatology images reproduced from Wikimedia and ISIC Skin Image Analysis Workshop: https://work shop2018.isic-archive.com/) such approaches to chest X-rays to detect common thoracic diseases like pneumonia (Wang et al. 2017b), as well as to assess the age of skeletal bones (Spampinato et al. 2017). Another active field is in neuroimaging for the early diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease in subjects with mild cognitive impairment based on structural magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), thanks to the large public dataset provided by the Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging Initiative (ADNI) (Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging Initiative 2018). Recently, ML was employed to identify abnormalities such as the subtypes of intracranial hemorrhage and fractures, using more than 300,000 cranial computed tomography (cCT) images (Chilamkurthy et al. 2018). Another large body of work focuses on segmenting organs or lesions using scans from one or more modalities: MRI, CT, and positron emission tomography (PET). Such segmentation allows quantitative analysis of clinical parameters and empowers the development of computer-aided systems for applications such as surgical planning or radiation treatment planning. The use of deep learning for segmentation has achieved state-of-the-art results in many public challenges. For example, the top three entries among 50+ participating teams in the 2017 brain tumor segmentation challenge ("BRATS") leveraged deep learning (Multimodal Brain Tumor Segmentation Challenge 2017 2017).

#### Ophthalmology

In diabetic eye disease screening, early detection can prevent or delay the onset of blindness. However, one of the biggest challenges in the development of screening programs is to train and retain skilled personnel to review the fundus images for signs of diabetic retinopathy or macular edema and refer eligible patients for further follow-up if indicated (Freudenstein and Verne 2001). Recently, deep learning algorithms have been introduced to assist graders in this repetitive task and have been shown to perform comparably with retinal specialists (Gulshan et al. 2016; Ting et al. 2017; Krause et al. 2018). More promisingly, these results have borne out prospectively (Abràmoff et al. 2018), and one approach has gained U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) approval (Office of the Commissioner 2018). Although hurdles such as integration into the clinical workflow remain, the use of these technologies at scale to reduce preventable blindness may soon be within reach. Tantalizingly, similar algorithms have also been developed to quantify previously unknown associations such as cardiovascular risk (Poplin et al. 2018) and refractive error (Varadarajan et al. 2018). These findings suggest that retinal fundus photographs, which provide cheap and noninvasive imaging of vasculature, could be used to extract biomarkers for multiple conditions simultaneously.

#### Pathology

Pathology has had a slower start to medical image analysis, in part because of the lack of digitized images and the technical difficulty of working with the resultant gigapixel-sized images (each digitized slide is equivalent to 1,000 smartphone photographs). However, with the approval and gradual implementation of digital pathology scanners (Mukhopadhyay et al. 2018), adoption of digital pathology is growing, and with it the efforts in image analysis. One particular use case involves detection of lymph node metastases. Part of the challenge lies in the relative length scales; tissue samples (e.g., 1–2 cm across) appear as large expanses when viewed under the microscope, but tumors can be as small as one-tenthousandth of the tissue area (e.g.,  $0.0004 \text{ cm}^2$ ). Thus nodal metastasis detection is tedious and potentially error prone for small tumor foci. Driven by the "CAMELYON16" challenge that provided hundreds of gigapixel images, deep learning algorithms have been derived and validated for detecting metastatic breast cancer (Bejnordi et al. 2017; Liu et al. 2018). Encouragingly, using one such algorithm to help review slides with small tumor foci halved the review time and false negative rate (Steiner et al. 2018). Importantly, the study also showed that the algorithm-assisted pathologists were more accurate than either unassisted pathologists or the algorithm alone, suggesting that humans and algorithms can work together effectively. Though promising, more work remains to study the
impact of using such algorithms in real clinical workflows.

### Dermatology

Application of computational intelligence methods in dermatology traces back to 1987 (Cascinelli et al. 1987) and has gained increasing attention over the years. Most works so far focus on recognizing skin cancers in dermoscopic images (Celebi et al. 2007b) and even standard photographic images (Esteva et al. 2017). Work related to melanoma will be covered in more detail in subsequent sections. For other skin disorders, Han et al. (2018) trained a region-based classifier using clinical photographs to identify onychomycosis. Yang et al. (2018) presented a new visual representation to diagnose up to 198 skin lesions using a dataset of 6,584 clinical images (Sun et al. 2016) uploaded by dermatologists or patients. Despite the equivalent or even superior classification accuracy against experts reported by many papers, a direct measure of the impact of their work on clinical workflow is still lacking at this time.

### Summary

Propelled by the latest development of deep learning technology and increasingly vast amounts of patient data, there has been a drastic rise in the number of publications in AI for healthcare, spanning a variety of medical applications from EHR to imaging, bioinformatics, genomics, and more. AI has been considered a potential game changer in healthcare in the near future, for example, by improving patient outcomes or reducing costs. However, most of the examples described above are still early-phase, ranging from "basic science" (i.e., model development or targeting a similar nonmedical application) to "preclinical" (i.e., model validation or studies in idealized settings that show efficacy). Although many studies have reported "clinicianlevel" performance, this is far from sufficient. Many nuanced issues remain, such as intended use and interpretability. Subsequent sections will discuss in detail challenges and barriers ahead in adopting AI for dermatology, and melanoma in particular.

# Role of Artificial Intelligence in Malignant Melanoma

Due to a large prevalence, and a continuously growing incidence of skin cancer, its automated detection is currently the most prominent application in the field of automated diagnostics in dermatology. Especially early detection of melanoma has raised interest because of a drastic reduction of mortality through early diagnosis and broad knowledge of morphologic distinct patterns seen by dermoscopy. After a first wave of research on artificial intelligence (and neural network) - based classifiers in the late 1990s including a controlled prospective clinical trial (Dreiseitl et al. 2009), current improvements of image classification with convolutional neural networks have restarted scientific interest in the field. Since these models need robust and accurate collections of images to be trained effectively, creation and collection of appropriate image-databases was - and is -a critical element for their development and described below.

# Imaging Databases: Relevance and Current State

In the current era of sophisticated AI technologies, the need for large data pipelines is one of the primary barriers to developing clinical level AI, as the development and training of such algorithms requires large datasets of images tagged with a "ground truth" diagnosis. The "ground truth" tagging can include a histological or clinical diagnosis of the lesion in the image for training of UL algorithms, or more detailed annotations on the image itself (e.g., annotations of specific dermoscopic structures such as pigmented network) to be used for SL algorithms.

### **Challenges and Risk of Bias**

There are several challenges in developing large image databases. First is the lack of imaging and

metadata standards in dermatology. While there have been some efforts to create guidelines and standards for skin image acquisition and storage (Finnane et al. 2017), they are not easy to implement and require extensive time and resources. In addition, current dermatology databases (see below) typically do not include image metadata, while EHR systems are not data driven and fail to integrate this data in an easily extracted format. Image metadata is important for interpreting dermatologic images and its absence may decrease diagnostic accuracy, as two seemingly identical skin lesions can have different meanings in different clinical contexts (e.g., a new spitzoid lesion that appears on the skin of a young child as opposed to an elderly individual).

Second, there are unique privacy issues associated with skin/naked images. Many concerns have been raised about obtaining and storing such images in clinical settings and in secured closed systems. Some have even suggested that written consent be obtained from each patient before acquiring skin images (Kunde et al. 2013). These concerns are even greater when the images are uploaded to a public domain.

A third challenge is posed by image copyright issues. Whether the image owner is the patient, the person who took the image or the medical center delivering the care, is a matter of continued debate. In addition, while some databases are free and open to the public, many others are private and require permission and/or payment to access. Even in public databases, images can have different licensures, e.g., commercial versus noncommercial Creative Commons licenses, which may prohibit commercial companies from using these images to develop AI algorithms.

A fourth major challenge is the diagnostic "ground truth." The "ground truth" diagnosis of skin lesions is determined by histopathological characteristics and in an ideal world by longterm clinical behavior. Dermatologists have a high clinical sensitivity for the majority of benign skin lesions, and so these lesions are not routinely biopsied (Corbo et al. 2012). If databases only include images that have a histopathological diagnosis, they will contain a severe underrepresentation of the most common skin lesions seen in clinical practice. This can lead to a much lower diagnostic accuracy of AI systems in clinical settings despite their good performance in experimental settings. On the other hand, the inclusion of metadata that is not based on "ground truth" histopathology can lead to misclassified images and reduced accuracy of training AI algorithms.

Databases are susceptible to bias (lack of generalizability) if they are not representative of all skin types, cultures, geography, and disease distributions. Most of the current existing databases include a high representation of Fitzpatrick skin types I–III. Since AI algorithms are only as good as the data from which they learn, their accuracy on darker skin may be hampered (Adamson and Smith 2018). This was recently demonstrated when an algorithm that was trained on databases with a high proportion of Asian patients did not perform as well on images from Caucasian patients (Navarrete-Dechent et al. 2018; Han et al. 2018).

Another potential bias is complete absence of many diagnoses from image databases. While dermatology has over 3,000 entities identified in the literature (Lim et al. 2017), a large portion of the existing image databases includes only 2–14 entities. The discrepancy between the limited number of entities included in the databases that are used to train the AI algorithms and the variety of entities in real life again may hamper the performance of such algorithms in clinical settings as compared to experimental conditions (Tschandl et al. 2018c).

### Current State of Image Databases

The numerous dermatological image databases that currently exist can be divided into three categories:

 Dermatology atlases – These websites comprise the majority of image databases available online. These sites contain primarily clinical (as opposed to dermoscopic) images of a large number of entities along with an explanation about each entity. Examples include: www.dermIS.net, www.dermnetnz. org, www.derm101.com, and www.dermatlas. net. Some atlases, such as www.Dermnet.com, specifically state that the use of their images for algorithm analysis or image processing without written consent is prohibited.

- 2. Private image databases from universities, medical centers, and private individuals. These databases contain clinical and dermoscopic images obtained from patients during clinical work. The number of images is variable, ranging from a few dozen to hundreds of thousands. The databases are not available online and can be accessed by obtaining permission from their owners. Examples include the Asan medical center database and the Hallym University database (Han et al. 2018).
- 3. Free online dermatologic image databases that include clinical and dermoscopic images. These databases are available for the public to download and use. The most notable example is the International Skin Imaging Collaboration Archive (see below), which glues together a collection of Creative Commons licensed datasets from the MSKCC, the SONIC study HAM10000-dataset. Additional and the examples include The University of Edinburgh database (https://licensing.eri.ed.ac.uk/i/soft ware/dermofit-image-library.html) and MED-NODE database (http://www.cs.rug.nl/~imag ing/databases/melanoma naevi).

The International Skin Imaging Collaboration (ISIC) is a combined academia and industry effort aimed at improving melanoma diagnoses and reducing melanoma mortality by facilitating the application of digital skin imaging technologies. ISIC has developed and is expanding the largest public archive (www. isic-archive.com) of dermoscopic and clinical images of skin lesions, with over 40,000 images from leading clinical centers across the globe. The images are acquired from a variety of devices within each center and are screened for both privacy and quality assurance. Most images have associated clinical metadata, which has been vetted by recognized melanoma experts. The images on the ISIC archive are free and available for everyone to use and download. The archive's software infrastructure is open source and is freely available to the public as well.

All of the above-mentioned databases include only clinical and dermoscopic images. In addition, there are several databases that include histologic images of dermatologic diagnoses. They are generally educational databases and fall into the first (atlases) and second (private databases) categories. Some examples include https:// digitalpathologyassociation.org, https://atlases. muni.cz, and the University of Michigan Virtual Slide Box (https://www.pathology.med.umich. edu/slides/search.php?collection=DermPath& dxview=show).

Medical image databases are not limited to the field of dermatology, and similar initiatives have been undertaken in other medical specialties. One of the best examples is the "Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging Initiative" in the field of neuroradiology (Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging Initiative 2018). It is an initiative that aims to promote the early detection of Alzheimer's disease, and it includes a large database of both MRI and PET images that are free and publically available.

# Artificial Intelligence Applications in Malignant Melanoma Based on Clinical Photography and Dermoscopy

The current field of research in AI applied to melanoma detection is broad: methods span across multiple imaging modalities, including dermoscopy, clinical photographs, confocal microscopy, and pathology. Most recent work has been primarily centered on dermoscopy and clinical photographs, for which data is simplest, least costly to acquire, and in many instances, available for public use as mentioned in section "Current State of Imaging Databases." Therefore, these modalities comprise the focus of the rest of this section. For historical surveys, the reader is referred to (Korotkov and Garcia 2012; Scharcanski and Celebi 2013; Celebi et al. 2015b, 2019; Mishra and Celebi 2016).

A dermatoscope captures digital photographs of suspicious skin lesions at a magnification of usually 10X with, or without, a polarized lighting system to assist in lesion diagnosis and tracking (Errichetti and Stinco 2016; Bakos et al. 2018). Clinical interpretation is simplified, as images are acquired with consistent lighting, magnification, and reduced skin reflectance. Dermoscopy has been repeatedly shown to increase sensitivity, specificity, and accuracy of melanoma detection with training (Vestergaard et al. 2008; Kittler et al. 2002; Binder 1995).

Within dermoscopy, automated recognition of melanoma has involved several image analysis tasks, including lesion segmentation, feature detection, and disease diagnosis. In segmentation, the area of skin within the dermoscopic field-ofview constituting the lesion is separated from background (Celebi et al. 2009, 2015a). In feature detection, the goal is to identify and localize dermoscopic feature patterns inside the lesion area, such as dots, globules, streaks, pigment network, etc. (Argenziano et al. 2003). For disease diagnosis, classification approaches may be directly applied to image pixel data, or additionally make use of segmentation data, dermoscopic feature data, or other available metadata. As the number of independent works in each of these tasks is incredibly large, segmentation and feature extraction will only be covered in this section as they relate to the subsequent classification of melanoma.

Within clinical photography, particularly in reference to imaging of individual lesions, automated recognition of melanoma may involve the image analysis tasks of skin area segmentation, lesion detection, and disease classification. Skin area segmentation is the only task which is not also a component of automated analysis of dermoscopic images. While the dermatoscope is usually in contact with skin, clinical photography may include background, garment and other artifacts, depending on the distance of the camera to the patient. However, until now, only one work is known to address this problem in a patient cohort with varying demographics and disease states (Codella et al. 2018a), and no known works yet study the use of skin segmentation for subsequent melanoma classification in clinical photography.

Historically, solutions to image analysis tasks have involved various classical computer vision and machine learning techniques (see section "What is Artificial Intelligence?"). These studies typically involved segmentation (particularly, clustering and thresholding techniques (Celebi et al. 2009, 2015a)), low-level shape/texture/ color features (Barata et al. 2018) extracted from the lesion of interest (e.g., area/diameter of the lesion, statistical texture features extracted from the gray-level co-occurrence matrix, and mean/ variance of select color channels), and traditional classifiers (e.g., decision trees, artificial neural networks, and support vector machines), with the resulting systems often evaluated on proprietary datasets (Celebi et al. 2007a, b; 2008; Celebi and Zornberg 2014; Barata et al. 2016, 2017). Later attempts were made at establishing a standard dataset for evaluation and comparison between methods (Mendonca et al. 2013; Barata et al. 2013, 2014), but the dataset was limited in size and scope (200 images) (see section "Challenges and Risk of Bias").

In recent years, dermoscopy and clinical photography image analysis tasks have been revolutionized by the advances in deep learning. The most common group of topologies used for study involve the CNN, of which several varieties have been developed over the years, including AlexNet (Krizhevsky et al. 2017), Inception (Szegedy et al. 2015), ResNet (He et al. 2016), and DenseNet (Huang et al. 2017) for classification, and U-Net (Ronneberger et al. 2015) for segmentation.

In the first work to apply current deep learning techniques to dermoscopic image analysis for the detection of melanoma (Codella et al. 2015) used a dataset of 2,624 dermoscopic images from the ISIC Archive consisting of 334 melanomas, 144 atypical nevi, and 2,146 benign nevi. The method used an ensemble of multiple machine learning classifiers in order to make predictions. Measured accuracy reached 93.1%, with sensitivity and specificity reported at 94.9% and 92.8%,

respectively. Deep features alone were found to achieve the best performance among all the individual features, at 91.9% accuracy, 90.3% sensitivity, and 92.1% specificity. Shortly after this work, an additional study on 1,760 dermoscopic images demonstrated a 5.8% improvement in melanoma recognition AUC by using classical image analysis techniques to align images according to the major axis of skin lesions prior to classification via a CNN (Yoshida et al. 2016).

Since that time, significant efforts have been undertaken by the International Skin Imaging Collaboration (ISIC) to host large-scale public challenges for melanoma detection in dermoscopic images. The first such challenge was hosted in 2016 at the IEEE International Symposium on Biomedical Imaging (ISBI), comprising 900 images for training and 250 for testing (Codella et al. 2018b). The challenge received 324 registrations and 65 final submissions, across three tasks of lesion segmentation, dermoscopic feature detection, and disease classification. For the disease classification task, participants were asked to build algorithms to discriminate between two disease categories: malignant and benign. The winning team for the disease classification task (Yu et al. 2017), as determined by average precision (AP), implemented a two-stage framework consisting of a network for segmentation, followed by a network for disease classification. The segmentation network localizes the lesion, which is then rescaled to fixed image dimensions before being input into the classification framework. Classification output was computed by a fusion of softmax scores from the disease classification layer as well as a support vector machine trained on top of network outputs. The resulting performance was 0.637 AP, 85.5% accuracy, and 0.804 area-under-curve (AUC). Performance degraded when removing the segmentation network or by using softmax alone.

Later in the same year, the first work to demonstrate an automated melanoma classification accuracy higher than the average expert dermatologist in dermoscopic images was released in preprint (Codella et al. 2017). The dataset used for experimentation came from the 2016 ISIC Challenge (Codella et al. 2018b). Similar to Codella et al. (2015), an ensemble of multiple machine learning approaches was employed; however, a U-Net variant was used to first segment the lesion, and features were extracted at two scales: from the whole image level and from the cropped lesion area after segmentation. Features extracted included hand-designed features, sparse codes, and deep learning features from AlexNet, ResNet, as well as the fully connected bottleneck layer from the U-Net used for lesion segmentation. Compared to the average of eight expert dermatologists on a subset of 100 images from the ISIC 2016 test dataset, the ensemble system achieved 76% accuracy, versus 70.5%. On the entire test dataset, a 0.649 AP was achieved, with a 0.843 AUC.

Notable advancements for analysis of clinical photographs began to be developed around the same time frame. For example, a standardized dataset for clinical photography, called SD-198, containing 6,584 images across 198 disease classes, was released, along with baseline experiments incorporating a variety of classical computer vision approaches and early convolutional neural networks (Sun et al. 2016). Highest performances were reported at approximately 50% multiclass accuracy.

In 2017, the largest scale joint clinical photography and dermoscopy dataset, containing 129,450 clinical images and 3,374 dermoscopy images, with 2,032 different disease diagnoses arranged in a hierarchical taxonomy, was conducted (Fig. 5). This work studied the performance of the GoogLeNet Inception v3 architecture in this setting and compared against the performance of expert clinicians (Esteva et al. 2017). Data was acquired from a variety of sources, including, Stanford hospital, the ISIC Archive, and the Edinburgh Dermofit Library. Around 127,463 images were split for training and the remaining 1,942 images used for test. In ninefold training validation, the algorithm was tasked to classify the first two hierarchy levels, including three disease states of benign lesions, malignant lesions, and non-neoplastic lesions, followed by nine disease states. For the first validation task, the algorithm achieved 72.1% accuracy, and on the second task, the algorithm



**Fig. 5** A partial example of the hierarchical taxonomy constructed from 2,032 disease diagnoses and labels. (Reproduced from Esteva et al. 2017)

achieved 55.4%. Two dermatologists tested on a subset of the training data were measured at 65.56% and 66.0%, and 53.3% and 55.0%, respectively. Subsequently, a direct head-to-head comparison between algorithms and 21 dermatologists was conducted on a subset of the test dataset. The tasks included detection of carcinoma from clinical images (135 total), melanoma from clinical images (130 total), and melanoma from dermoscopy (111 total), with algorithm ROC curves falling consistently above average dermatologist operating points (Fig. 6).

Between 2017 and 2018, the number of published works on skin image analysis in dermoscopy and clinical photographs grew remarkably, in part due to the organization of the following three events: (1) The 2017 ISIC Challenge of Skin Image Analysis for Melanoma Detection at the International Symposium on Biomedical Imaging 2017, (2) The Special Issue on Skin Lesion Image Analysis for Melanoma Detection in the IEEE Journal of Biomedical and Health Informatics (JBHI), and (3) the ISIC Skin Image Analysis Workshop and Challenge at the Conference for Medical Image Computing and Computer Aided Intervention (MICCAI) 2018, hosted in Granada, Spain.

At the 2017 ISIC Challenge, 593 registrations, 81 presubmissions, and 46 finalized submissions were received across three tasks of lesion segmentation, dermoscopic feature detection, and disease classification. All finalized submissions



Fig. 6 Performance of convolutional neural network versus 21 dermatologists on binary classification of lesions: "biopsy/treat versus reassure." (a) It represents the performance of the dermatologist cohort and the algorithm on clinical images of keratinocyte carcinomas versus benign lesions, while b and c represent algorithm and cohort performance on 130 clinical and 111 dermoscopic images

required the inclusion of a four-page manuscript describing the methodology behind the submission. For the disease classification task, participants were asked to build algorithms to discriminate between three disease categories: melanoma, seborrheic keratosis, and nevus. The winning submission for the disease classification task (Matsunaga et al. 2017) used an approach that first normalized inputs, then input augmented samples into parallel ensemble 50-layer ResNets. Two classifiers were created, one for each disease state of the challenge (Seborrheic Keratosis, Melanoma). The outputs were fed into a simple logic system using thresholds that take into account age and gender information when available. Codella, Gutman, et al. performed a meta-study that demonstrated fusions of all

of pigmented lesions, respectively. The *bold line* represents the algorithm's performance at varying diagnostic thresholds. In all three tests, the AUC is greater than 0.9, with performance comparable to the average dermatologist (green point). (**d**–**f**) It represent the algorithm's performance on an expanded test set, with comparable performance. (Reproduced from Esteva et al. 2017)

participant submissions outperformed any single system alone (2018b).

In the Special Issue on Skin Lesion Image Analysis for Melanoma Detection in JBHI, 12 works were published, including 2 on melanoma classification from dermoscopic images (Gonzalez Diaz 2018; Kawahara et al. 2018) that will be covered here. The remainder of the works covered segmentation (6) (Yuan and Lo 2017; Riaz et al. 2018; Guarracino and Maddalena 2018; Navarro et al. 2018; Jahanifar et al. 2018; Li et al. 2018a), feature extraction (3) (Saez et al. 2018; Sabbaghi et al. 2018; Kawahara and Hamarneh 2018), image registration for lesion total tracking using body photography (1) (Korotkov et al. 2018), and diagnosis in microscopy (Argenziano et al. 1998).

In DermaKNet (Gonzalez Diaz 2018), dermoscopic classification of melanoma is carried out in conjunction with both segmentation and dermoscopic feature classification. Images are first segmented using a fully convolutional network (FCN). The segmented images then go through a cropping and data augmentation step, which is then fed to a dermoscopic structure segmentation network (DSSN), which is trained with weak image-level annotations rather than image masks. Finally, the diagnosis network takes the previous steps as input and computes a diagnosis, using a variation of a ResNet architecture. The technique was evaluated on the 2017 ISIC Challenge and achieved state-of-art results for seborrheic keratosis and average AUC among all disease classes.

In the work by Kawahara et al. (2018), classification is carried out in conjunction with automatic extraction of 7-point checklist criteria (Argenziano et al. 1998), using a multimodal dataset consisting of 1,011 cases containing both dermoscopic and clinical close-up images, as well as metadata (gender, lesion location, and lesion elevation). A multimodal multitask objective loss function is employed to train on various combinations of modalities, making the approach robust to potentially missing data. In addition, the method can produce a melanoma classification score either directly from classification network outputs or as a result of inference from the 7-point checklist. While direct classification achieves the best performance (AUC 86.3), inference surprisingly performs competitively (AUC 81.6), making this perhaps the first interpretable disease diagnosis approach in this field.

At the 2018 ISIC Challenge at MICCAI 2018, approximately 900 users registered for data download, 115 submitted to the lesion segmentation task, 25 submitted to the lesion attribute detection task, and 159 submitted to the disease classification task, all with supplied manuscripts describing each the approaches (https://challenge2018.isic-archive. com/). For the disease classification task, participants were asked to build algorithms to discriminate between seven disease categories, including intraepithelial carcinoma, basal cell carcinoma, benign keratotic lesions, dermatofibroma, melanoma, melanocytic nevus, and vascular lesions. Over 10,000 images were made available for training, and 1,511 images were held-out for testing (Tschandl et al. 2018c). The winning top performing submission (Nozdryn-Plotnicki et al. 2018) achieved a normalized multiclass accuracy (equivalent to the mean sensitivities for every class) of 88.5%. This approach utilized the given training dataset (10,015 images), data from the ISIC Archive (4,163 images), as well as a proprietary dataset (33,644 images). In addition, 19 different models were trained on this data, including variants of ResNet, DenseNet, and others. The outputs of each of the models were fused together in a meta-learning approach. Classification scores were reweighted to enforce a balanced prior distribution among classes.

At the 2018 ISIC Workshop at MICCAI 2018, 10 papers unrelated to the challenge were accepted and published in proceedings. Three papers covered the topic of lesion segmentation (Li et al. 2018b; Venkatesh et al. 2018; Vesal et al. 2018), two papers explored the generation of synthetic images using a recent technology referred to as Generative Adversarial Networks (Bissoto et al. 2018; Baur et al. 2018), two papers covered nonmelanoma disease classification (Burlina et al. 2018; Pal et al. 2018), and three papers covered melanoma classification (Gu et al. 2018; Perez et al. 2018; Thandiackal and Goksel 2018).

Additional works related to melanoma detection have continued to be published across other major medical imaging conferences and workshops. One common thread being explored more recently is the development of classification systems that are interpretable or provide some evidence or justification for decisions that can be independently verified by the user. Aside from Gonzalez Diaz (2018) and Kawahara et al. (2018), which have been previously discussed, (Yang et al.) presents a system for classification developed on features meant to mimic manual measurements taken by clinicians, such a asymmetry, color, texture, border irregularity. Experiments were performed on the SD-198 dataset (Sun et al. 2016). New state-of-the-art performance was achieved at 57.62% accuracy. In Ge et al. (2017), a multimodal neural network architecture was

proposed that incorporated class activation maps (CAM) to localize image regions most critical for resultant classification decisions. In Sadeghi et al. (2018), a content-based image retrieval (CBIR) was studied for its efficacy of improving the diagnostic capability of novice users, and Tschandl et al. (2018a) showed equivalent diagnostic accuracy of CBIR to softmax-based classification. In Noel, Codella, Lin et al., a CBIR system is built that can jointly learn from both disease labels of images as well as additional annotations of similarity between images as defined by untrained human observation (2018c). For a given query, the CBIR system both returns similar images as well as activation maps highlighting the regions of images used to measure similarity. Results demonstrated that using both sets of annotation, melanoma classification performance improves according to both criteria of classification AUC, as well as human-measured similarity of results.

# The Role of Artificial Intelligence in Melanoma Diagnosis: The Consumer Perspective

With the refinement of AI and the frenetic pace of mobile application (app) development, early detection of melanoma has fallen directly into the hands of consumers. According to a Pew Research Center survey in January 2018, 77% of adults in the United States own smart phones. Ownership rates exceeded 90% in three groups: persons aged 18-29 years, those with annual household incomes >\$75,000, and college graduates (Mobile Fact Sheet). As of August 2017, 526 dermatology apps were available for Apple, Android, and Windows users. This total represented growth of more than 80% since the last comprehensive review in 2014. Ninety (17%) of those apps pertained to self-surveillance and diagnosis (Flaten et al. 2018). A 2014 survey estimated that 1 in 5 dermatology patients under the age of 50 years had used a smart phone to diagnose a skin problem. Of those who tried to self-diagnose, they most commonly sought information about skin cancer, moles, or concerning spots. Interestingly, these attempts at self-



**Fig. 7** Mobile apps designed to diagnose melanoma early have the potential to benefit patients, clinicians, and researchers

diagnosis in young patients did not correlate with distance traveled to the clinic or insurance status (Wolf et al. 2015).

Mobile technology designed to provide lesion assessments has the potential to improve the dynamic among consumers, clinicians, and researchers (Fig. 7). Apps equipped with AI risk stratification algorithms may flag concerning lesions and alert the consumer to seek care. Indeed, apps with validated algorithms could serve as inexpensive triage tools to ensure all potentially malignant lesions are seen in person (Chao et al. 2017). Additionally, these apps could streamline clinic visits by giving consumers and providers a quantitative, impartial measure on which to make informed decisions. With the rich dataset of images gathered from this experience, these apps could foster further research to allow the process to continue to improve. Successful future apps will need to optimize consumer safety without impeding the opportunity and duty to expand care to those with limited access to dermatologists.

# **Consumer Opinion**

To date, no published studies have directly examined the consumer's opinion on the role of AI in diagnosing their skin lesions. However, the abundant research surrounding the consumer perspective on teledermatology and teledermoscopy may provide insight. Teledermatology and teledermoscopy remove the barriers of time and space by sending images to experts for evaluation. Many studies have demonstrated that mobile teledermatology and teledermoscopy are feasible and well-accepted (Horsham et al. 2016; Spinks et al. 2016; Mounessa et al. 2018; Warshaw et al. 2011). In fact, some consumers have reported that they are as satisfied with telemedicine care as they are with face-to-face dermatology examination (Coates et al. 2015). Rapid diagnosis, ease of use, and increased awareness of the importance of skin self-monitoring have traditionally been drivers of consumer satisfaction (Horsham et al. 2016). As AI algorithms in apps become more mainstream, further research will be essential to address the knowledge gap that exists surrounding consumer perception of AI for melanoma diagnosis.

# Barriers to Implementation and Limitations

Despite rapid growth of mobile technology, several important barriers have prevented routine implementation of AI algorithms for lesion risk stratification, including technology literacy, access, trust, and confidentiality (including compliance with US government regulations as discussed below). Although technology literacy is improving, smartphone ownership remains inversely associated with age. Only 73% of those 50-64 years of age and 46% of those over 65 years of age owned smartphones in early 2018 (Mobile Fact Sheet). A number of studies have identified difficulty downloading and using apps as a major obstacle for those in the older population (Dehzad et al. 2014; Hall and Murchie 2014; Horsham et al. 2016). Additionally, if smartphone ownership can serve as a surrogate marker for access to this revolutionary technology, some traditionally disadvantaged populations are still not being reached. Only 65% adults in rural areas own smartphones. Decreased rates of ownership

also track with lower education levels and socioeconomic status. Of note, smart phone ownership does not appear to significantly vary by race (Mobile Fact Sheet)

Trust is another important limitation to adoption. Nearly half of participants in a survey by Horsham's group reported that they did not completely trust telediagnosis when compared to in-person dermatology examination (Horsham et al. 2016). Although Anyanwu et al. found 27% of dermatologists reported patient concerns about the storage and sharing of their photographs, the study comprised a small cross-sectional survey in Philadelphia (Anyanwu and Lipoff 2015). Several other studies have raised concerns about the security and confidentiality of submitted photos (Chao et al. 2017; Hamilton and Brady 2012). Creators of the Molemapper[™] app discovered that 26% of images submitted for research had identifiable characteristics of the app users that required removal from the public data set (Webster et al. 2017). The US government is now working through two of its regulatory agencies to protect consumers as discussed below.

Lesions selected by consumers and the quality of the images they submit for evaluation can impair the ability of these apps to accurately risk stratify moles and melanoma. Janda et al. report that the lay members of their teledermoscopy study primarily selected benign lesions to photograph rather than suspicious lesions (2014). Furthermore, dermatologists conducting in-person follow-up examinations detected additional highrisk lesions that had not been identified by the patients themselves (Janda et al. 2014). Even medical personnel outside of dermatology have difficulty selecting appropriate lesions for telediagnosis (Gendreau et al. 2017). Melanoma can arise in any location, but certain body sites are extremely difficult to visualize and photograph, including the ears, nail bed, mucosa, genitals, and hair-bearing areas (Horsham et al. 2016; March et al. 2015; Janda et al. 2014). Lesions that are ulcerated, on tanned skin, or in the midst of several background lesions can also prove troublesome for AI algorithms (Rat et al. 2018). Ten percent of images submitted to the MolemapperTM study were of insufficient quality for research and

many images were too blurry or did not contain skin (Webster et al. 2017). Until consumer app-based examinations improve in both lesion selection and photo quality, machine learning and AI will fall short of histopathology as the current gold-standard diagnostic tool.

### **Potential Harms**

Initial worry about a skin lesion may lead a person to seek assistance from an app. However, perpetuating and increasing consumer anxiety when an app incorrectly categorizes a benign lesion as high-risk remains a major concern. In this situation, the psychological and emotional burden may be excessive while waiting for formal evaluation (Wang et al. 2017a; Chao et al. 2017). Wolf et al. surveyed patients who had recently used mobile technology to evaluate their skin lesions. The team asked participants to rate their anticipated degree of worry on a five-point scale if the Internet or smartphone app flagged a mole as high risk. Overall, the median worry rating increased from three to five, indicating the profound impact these apps have on consumer anxiety. Importantly, this study did not quantify relief from worry in the case of individuals who received reassurance that the lesion submitted was low-risk (Wolf et al. 2015).

Even more concerning is the situation in which an AI algorithm incorrectly labels a high-risk lesion as benign, which could potentially lead to life-threatening delays in melanoma diagnosis. The historically poor sensitivity and specificity of these apps can lead to false reassurance of consumers and have sparked an outcry from the medical community (Hamilton and Brady 2012; Wolf et al. 2013, 2015; Wang et al. 2017a; Chao et al. 2017; Rat et al. 2018; Robson et al. 2012; Dorairaj et al. 2017; Ngoo et al. 2018; Ferrero et al. 2013; Maier et al. 2015; Zouridakis et al. 2015). Experts worry that AI algorithms have been too rapidly deployed to the consumer without involvement of dermatologists and appropriate validation. In a critical evaluation of dermatology app advertising material, one group found that 36% of apps failed to mention involvement of any medical

team in the development (Hamilton and Brady 2012). Five published studies that analyzed apps exclusively advertising the capability to diagnose melanoma or risk stratify moles were unreliable, with wide-ranging sensitivities (6.8-80%) and specificities (9-100%) (Wolf et al. 2013; Robson et al. 2012; Dorairaj et al. 2017; Ngoo et al. 2018; Maier et al. 2015; Rat et al. 2018). Some apps incorrectly reported 30% or more of melanomas as low-risk lesions (Wolf et al. 2013). One app only classified 10.8% of melanomas as high-risk lesions (Ferrero et al. 2013). As Wang and colleagues wrote in their 2016 editorial, the most important question surrounding future development and distribution of this technology is "Are we doing 'good'?"(Wang et al. 2017a).

### Regulation

In February of 2015, the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) labeled mobile apps "performing patient-specific analysis and providing patientspecific diagnosis, or treatment recommendations" as regulated medical devices (U.S. Food and Drug 2015). Concurrently, the Federal Trade Commission (FTC) cracked down on app producers that made unfounded claims to diagnose melanoma. MelApp and Mole Detective settled with the FTC for \$17,963 and \$3,930, respectively (Federal Trade Commission 2015). The commissioner of the FDA, Scott Gottlieb, has underscored the importance of fostering "greater innovation in digital health, including the use of Artificial Intelligence" (Gottlieb 2018). In the spring of 2018, the FDA launched the Digital Health Action plan that outlined a pilot for a "reimagined" expedited review process for mobile health technology (U.S. Food and Drug 2018). Despite these initial steps, no formal regulatory structure exits and there are no quality standards governing development of these apps (Chao et al. 2017). As the AI algorithms improve and this technology becomes more widely accepted, government officials, healthcare providers, and researchers must work together to ensure the proper regulatory framework is in place to prioritize consumer safety and outcomes above all else.

# Additional Considerations and Challenges Ahead

Within this chapter, we provided an overview on current automated diagnostics through artificial intelligence, its potential roles, and its current state of application. To conclude the topic, we will provide a brief overview of challenges and additional considerations (see Marcus (2018) for an in-depth review).

### Comprehensive Data

Current artificial intelligence systems, among these CNNs are limited to prediction of classes they have seen during "training." Since all current systems require training data, many of the previous advances in the field were built upon large, well annotated image collections. One of the best known collections in the field of modern ML, ImageNet, contains over 14 million handlabeled images, currently comprising more than 20,000 categories (Russakovsky et al. 2015). Obtaining and labelling hundreds or thousands of pictures as dog, cat, or fish lends itself to crowd sourcing and can be easily validated. As the task becomes harder, such as labeling individual breeds of dogs or cats, the complexity of the task and availability of domain experts can become limiting.

Thus, until recently, public datasets were limited in size and mostly confined to nevi and melanomas (e.g., PH2 [Mendonca et al. 2013]), and as a consequence, automated skin lesion analysis has historically been performed on pigmented skin lesions only (Dreiseitl et al. 2009). Newer dataset initiatives incentives, such as the ISIC-archive (see chapter "Current State of Imaging Databases") or the HAM10000dataset (Tschandl et al. 2018c) try to close this gap for pigmented skin lesions, but probably still have too few – or too biased – examples of common benign diseases such as dermatofibromas and angiomas.

A bigger challenge remains a good collection of nonpigmented skin lesions. The ML system of a recent study (Tschandl et al. 2018b) performed well only on common malignant diseases such as basal cell carcinomas prevalent in their dataset. Other common diagnoses such as nonpigmented dermatofibroma or clear-cell-acanthoma were not predicted at all because they were simply missing in the training data.

As recently discussed, algorithms will likely produce biased or erroneous results when applied generally (Adamson and Smith 2018; Takeshita 2018), which may also be the case if a system has not been trained on images obtained from patients of different skin types/colors. Therefore, in early adoption, and until the applied clinical performance is robust enough, the proposed algorithms will likely require inclusion criteria for lesion selection.

Several major trends may lead to more robust image databases in the future. An increasing number of dermatologists and institutions are using photography for the diagnosis and follow-up of skin lesions (Milam and Leger 2018), creating a much larger pool of clinical and dermoscopic images. These images are expected to have more accurate metadata tagging due to the implementation of standard formats such as the Digital Imaging Communication in Medicine (DICOM) format. This format was specified by the DICOM standard, an international, interoperability standard for the storage and transmission of digital medical images. It includes two components: the first is text-based metadata describing patient, study, acquisition, and image attributes, and the second is the pixel data of the image (Finnane et al. 2017). In addition, there ongoing international effort to standardized image acquisition at the community and institutional level (Finnane et al. 2017; Katragadda et al. 2016). Finally, resolving the regulatory and legal issues will remove the obstacle of adding more images to the databases from variable sources. Together, these trends will make it possible to include many more accurately tagged images of variable skin lesions from different skin types, cultures, and geographies and will help create larger and more comprehensive image databases, ultimately leading to enhanced AI diagnostic systems for melanoma diagnosis.

# **Resilience and Generalizability**

Current deep learning constructs can be fooled by small, and sometimes perceptibly insignificant, perturbations to images, mistakenly producing high probability results for incorrect classifications (Szegedy et al. 2013). Known as "adversarial examples," Nguyen et al. provides many examples of these inaccurate, and high confidence classifications for images, and illustrates the insidious nature of relying on hidden features in cases where reliability matters (2015). One such example of misclassification leading to potentially disastrous results was illustrated by Eykholt et al. where images of stop signs were altered in such a way where most humans would still recognize the sign, yet it was identified as a speed limit sign by a deep learning system (see Fig. 8) (2017). If we intend to use such algorithms in cases where clinical decisions are being made, human review is still essential.

Generalizability of systems is another significant problem. As an example, deep learning systems were successfully built to win in multiple video games (Mnih et al. 2015), yet similar algorithms failed miserably when challenged with minor changes to game structure, thus illustrating the inability to extrapolate success in response to minor game perturbations (Kansky et al. 2017). This has clear implications for the analysis of dermatology images in a clinical setting. In most cases, numerous transformations occur between the photons hitting the imaging sensor and the final saved image. Since it is common to use "off the shelf" cameras to obtain clinical images, compression settings and built-in preprocessing steps can potentially induce imperceptible changes to the human eye that may produce unpredictable changes to machine-generated predictions.

### **Clinical Integration**

It is improbable that an automated classification system on digital images will meaningfully outperform experienced physicians in a routine skin examination, especially in specialized centers that have demonstrated excellent diagnostic performance when implementing dermoscopy assessment (Salerni et al. 2012). Therefore, in this setting, the benefit of an automated system will be less in increasing accuracy and more in enhancing efficacy and throughput of patients by prescreening straightforward cases, or improving the use of total-body photography. On the other hand, for general providers or physician extenders, like a general practitioner confronted with an occasional patient with a skin lesion in question, or assessment of multiple lesions in a given individual, accuracy is more important than high-volume screening. Safety and interpretability of confidence become a bigger issue, as the user is less experienced in the topic, making it less probable that an error of an automated system will be uncovered through follow-up examinations. These dangers can probably be overcome if a CNN-based classifier is not used for a final diagnoses but rather for referral stratification, similar to teledermatology as used by Börve et al. (2015).

Given previously mentioned shortcomings, as well as the inability of CNNs to dynamically integrate clinical findings, situations or patient



Fig. 8 Application of image classification systems into the real world may be hindered by unexpected variations not represented within the training set. High confidence

misclassification may lead to serious consequences such as traffic accidents or medical malpractice. (Figure adapted from Eykholt et al. 2017)

preferences, the primary objective of AI in skin cancer detection today is to "augment" our current practice and not necessarily to replace the role of the medical provider. Therefore, it is of critical importance for ongoing and future AI efforts to specifically assess its influence on medical decision-making, practice flow, and patient outcome and satisfaction. A critical element in this development process relates to the need to enhance medical provider performance through a feedback mechanism based on accurate AI results. Only then will AI be effectively implemented in our field.

This refers to one last, pressing, problem which is the lack of clinical testing of CNN architectures in the field of dermatology. It remains unclear whether reported claims of "expert-level" or "superhuman" performance in experimental studies actually transform to clinical practice. One previous prospective clinical trial using a neural network to analyze a digital dermoscopic image (Dreiseitl et al. 2009) found a marked decrease of diagnostic values for the binary distinction of nevus versus melanoma. An FDA-approved device with promising experimental data eventually failed in clinical practice (see Excursus: MelaFind). Until further controlled and prospective studies are commenced with current state-ofthe-art CNNs, as has occurred in the field of ophthalmology (Abràmoff et al. 2018), we will not know if promises from experimental studies hold and prove of benefit in practice.

# Conclusion

Moving forward, the challenges in the clinical application of AI to melanoma detection are as follows: (1) the continued creation of larger, more comprehensive, and less biased datasets, both for training and evaluation, that capture a sufficient representation of the standardized full spectrum of patients for which the system will be used (age, gender, ethnicity, genetics, actinic damage, etc.); (2) the development of AI systems that provide interpretable explanation or justification that can be independently verified by a nonexpert user; (3) the development of AI systems that are robust and self-aware in the sense of being able to recognize images or disease states for which it has not been trained sufficiently; and (4) evidence-based, impactful, and safe implementations in specified clinical scenarios.

# **Excursus: MelaFind**

MelaFind was an FDA-approved device developed to aid dermatologists in their decision to biopsy suspicious lesions which received FDA approval (Fink et al. 2017). MelaFind generates a score based on a proprietary algorithm with scores  $\geq 2$  representing a probability of melanoma greater than 6% (Winkelmann et al. 2014). Its high sensitivity and low specificity for malignant melanoma detection in the prospective study, 98.4% and 10.5%, respectively, showed promising clinical implications (Monheit et al. 2011). A study by Wells et al. replicated high sensitivity rates but showed lackluster specificity measurements when compared to dermatologists (estimated biopsy specificity of 0.08 vs. 0.43, respectively) (2012). MelaFind recommended biopsy on 44 out of 47 lesions, with a sensitivity of 96% (Cukras 2013). A later study by Fink et al. demonstrated a melanoma detection specificity in biopsied lesions of 5.5%, and diagnostic accuracy of 2.3% using a cutoff score of 2 (2017). Given its high sensitivity and low specificity, it was suggested that MelaFind may be a good candidate as a clinical pretest to rule out melanoma. This was consistent with results from the pilot study suggesting that MelaFind was more sensitive than dermatologists, 98.4% versus 78% (Monheit et al. 2011). On March 2017, notice was sent to all 90 MelaFind owners that support would no longer be offered for the device after September 2017 (STRATA Skin Sciences 2017). While MelaFind likely did not incorporate modern deep learning algorithms, it highlights potential issues related to determining the appropriate balance of sensitivity and specificity for a clinically useful device, as well as how to incorporate machine-based assessments into the clinical decision process.

Acknowledgments We thank Delaney Stratton, RN for her valuable editorial and artistic support.

# References

- Abdel-Hamid O, Mohamed A-r, Jiang H, Deng L, Penn G, Yu D (2014) Convolutional neural networks for speech recognition. IEEE/ACM Trans Audio Speech Lang Process 22(10):1533–1545
- Abràmoff MD, Lavin PT, Birch M, Shah N, Folk JC (2018) Pivotal trial of an autonomous AI-based diagnostic system for detection of diabetic retinopathy in primary care offices. npj Digit Med 1(1):39
- Adamson AS, Smith A (2018) Machine learning and health care disparities in dermatology. JAMA Dermatol. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamadermatol.2018.2348
- Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging Initiative (2018). http://adni.loni.usc.edu/
- Anderberg MR (1973) Cluster analysis for applications. Office of the Assistant for Study Support Kirtland AFB N MEX
- Anyanwu CO, Lipoff JB (2015) Smartphones, photography, and security in dermatology. J Am Acad Dermatol 72(1):193–195. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaad.2014.09. 035
- Argenziano G, Fabbrocini G, Carli P, De Giorgi V, Sammarco E, Delfino M (1998) Epiluminescence microscopy for the diagnosis of doubtful melanocytic skin lesions. Arch Dermatol 134(12):1563. https://doi. org/10.1001/archderm.134.12.1563
- Argenziano G, Soyer HP, Chimenti S, Talamini R, Corona R, Sera F, Binder M, Cerroni L, De Rosa G, Ferrara G (2003) Dermoscopy of pigmented skin lesions: results of a consensus meeting via the Internet. J Am Acad Dermatol 48(5):679–693
- Bakos RM, Blumetti TP, Roldán-Marín R, Salerni G (2018) Noninvasive imaging tools in the diagnosis and treatment of skin cancers. Am J Clin Dermatol 19(S1):3–14. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40257-018-03 67-4
- Barata C, Marques JS, Celebi ME (2013) Towards an automatic bag-of-features model for the classification of dermoscopy images: the influence of segmentation. Paper presented at the 2013 8th international symposium on image and signal processing and analysis (ISPA), 2013/09
- Barata C, Ruela M, Francisco M, Mendonca T, Marques JS (2014) Two systems for the detection of melanomas in dermoscopy images using texture and color features. IEEE Syst J 8(3):965–979. https://doi.org/10.1109/ jsyst.2013.2271540
- Barata C, Celebi E, Marques JS, Rozeira J (2016) Clinically inspired analysis of dermoscopy images using a generative model. Comput Vis Image Underst 151:124–137. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.cviu.2015.09.011
- Barata C, Celebi ME, Marques JS (2017) Development of a clinically oriented system for melanoma diagnosis. Pattern Recogn 69:270–285. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. patcog.2017.04.023
- Barata F, Catarina A, Celebi EM, Marques J (2018) A survey of feature extraction in dermoscopy image analysis of skin cancer. IEEE J Biomed Health Inform 1-1. https://doi.org/10.1109/jbhi.2018.2845939

- Baur C, Albarqouni S, Navab N (2018) Generating highly realistic images of skin lesions with GANs. Lecture notes in computer science. Springer International Publishing, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-01201-4_28
- Beam AL, Kohane IS (2018) Big Data and machine learning in health care. JAMA 319(13):1317–1318. https:// doi.org/10.1001/jama.2017.18391
- Bejnordi BE, Veta M, Van Diest PJ, Van Ginneken B, Karssemeijer N, Litjens G, Van Der Laak JAWM, Hermsen M, Manson QF, Balkenhol M (2017) Diagnostic assessment of deep learning algorithms for detection of lymph node metastases in women with breast cancer. JAMA 318(22):2199–2210
- Bethard S, Savova G, Chen W-T, Derczynski L, Pustejovsky J, Verhagen M (2016) Semeval-2016 task 12: clinical tempeval. In: 10th international workshop on semantic evaluation (SemEval-2016). Association for Computer Linguistics, San Diego, pp 1052–1062. https://doi.org/10.18653/v1/S16-1165
- Binder M (1995) Epiluminescence microscopy. A useful tool for the diagnosis of pigmented skin lesions for formally trained dermatologists. Arch Dermatol 131(3):286–291. https://doi.org/10.1001/archderm.13 1.3.286
- Bissoto A, Perez F, Valle E, Avila S (2018) Skin lesion synthesis with generative adversarial networks. Lecture notes in computer science. Springer International Publishing, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-01201-4_32
- Börve A, Gyllencreutz J, Terstappen K, Backman E, Aldenbratt A, Danielsson M, Gillstedt M, Sandberg C, Paoli J (2015) Smartphone teledermoscopy referrals: a novel process for improved triage of skin cancer patients. Acta Derm Venereol 95(2):186–190. https://doi.org/10.2340/00015555-19 06
- Burlina P, Joshi N, Ng E, Billings S, Rebman A, Aucott J (2018) Skin image analysis for erythema migrans detection and automated lyme disease referral. Lecture notes in computer science. Springer International Publishing, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-01201-4_26
- Caffery LJ, Clunie D, Curiel-Lewandrowski C, Malvehy J, Soyer HP, Halpern AC (2018) Transforming dermatologic imaging for the digital era: metadata and standards. J Digit Imaging 31(4):568–577. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s10278-017-0045-8
- Cascinelli N, Ferrario M, Tonelli T, Leo E (1987) A possible new tool for clinical diagnosis of melanoma: the computer. J Am Acad Dermatol 16(2):361–367
- Celebi ME (2014) Partitional clustering algorithms. Springer, Berlin
- Celebi ME, Aydin K (2016) Unsupervised learning algorithms. Springer, Cham
- Celebi ME, Zornberg A (2014) Automated quantification of clinically significant colors in dermoscopy images and its application to skin lesion classification. IEEE Syst J 8(3):980–984. https://doi.org/10.1109/jsyst.201 4.2313671

- Celebi ME, Aslandogan YA, Stoecker WV, Iyatomi H, Oka H, Chen X (2007a) Unsupervised border detection in dermoscopy images. Skin Res Technol 13(4):454–462. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0846.2007.00 251.x
- Celebi ME, Kingravi HA, Uddin B, Iyatomi H, Aslandogan YA, Stoecker WV, Moss RH (2007b) A methodological approach to the classification of dermoscopy images. Comput Med Imaging Graph 31(6):362–373. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compmedima g.2007.01.003
- Celebi ME, Iyatomi H, Stoecker WV, Moss RH, Rabinovitz HS, Argenziano G, Soyer HP (2008) Automatic detection of blue-white veil and related structures in dermoscopy images. Comput Med Imaging Graph 32(8):670–677. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compmedimag.2008.08.003
- Celebi ME, Iyatomi H, Schaefer G, Stoecker WV (2009) Lesion border detection in dermoscopy images. Comput Med Imaging Graph 33(2):148–153. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.compmedimag.2008.11.002
- Celebi ME, Kingravi HA, Vela PA (2013) A comparative study of efficient initialization methods for the k-means clustering algorithm. Expert Syst Appl 40(1):200–210
- Celebi M, Wen Q, Iyatomi H, Shimizu K, Zhou H, Schaefer G (2015a) A state-of-the-art survey on lesion border detection in dermoscopy images. Dermoscopy image analysis. CRC Press, Boca Raton. https://doi.org/10.1201/b19107-5
- Celebi ME, Mendonça T, Marques JS (2015b) Dermoscopy image analysis. Digital imaging and computer vision. CRC Press, Boca Raton. https://doi.org/ 10.1201/b19107
- Celebi EM, Codella N, Halpern A (2019) Dermoscopy image analysis: overview and future directions. IEEE J Biomed Health, to appear
- Chao E, Meenan CK, Ferris LK (2017) Smartphone-based applications for skin monitoring and melanoma detection. Dermatol Clin 35(4):551–557. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.det.2017.06.014
- Che Z, Kale D, Li W, Bahadori MT, Liu Y (2015) Deep computational phenotyping. In: Proceedings of hte 21st ACM SIGKDD international conference on knowledge discovery and data mining, New York, NY, 2015. ACM, pp 507–516
- Chilamkurthy S, Ghosh R, Tanamala S, Biviji M, Campeau NG, Venugopal VK, Mahajan V, Rao P, Warier P (2018) Deep learning algorithms for detection of critical findings in head CT scans: a retrospective study. Lancet 392:2388
- Coates SJ, Kvedar J, Granstein RD (2015) Teledermatology: from historical perspective to emerging techniques of the modern era: Part I: history, rationale, and current practice. J Am Acad Dermatol 72(4): 563–574; quiz 575–566. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jaad.2014.07.061
- Codella N, Cai J, Abedini M, Garnavi R, Halpern A, Smith JR (2015) Deep learning, sparse coding, and SVM for melanoma recognition in dermoscopy images. In: Machine learning in medical imaging. Springer International Publishing, Cham. https://doi. org/10.1007/978-3-319-24888-2 15

- Codella NCF, Nguyen QB, Pankanti S, Gutman DA, Helba B, Halpern AC, Smith JR (2017) Deep learning ensembles for melanoma recognition in dermoscopy images. IBM J Res Dev 61(4/5):5:1–5:15. https://doi. org/10.1147/jrd.2017.2708299
- Codella NCF, Anderson D, Philips T, Porto A, Massey K, Snowdon J, Feris R, Smith J (2018a) Segmentation of both diseased and healthy skin from clinical photographs in a primary care setting. Paper presented at the 2018 40th annual international conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society (EMBC), 2018/07
- Codella NCF, Gutman D, Celebi ME, Helba B, Marchetti MA, Dusza SW, Kalloo A, Liopyris K, Mishra N, Kittler H, Halpern A (2018b) Skin lesion analysis toward melanoma detection: a challenge at the 2017 international symposium on biomedical imaging (ISBI), hosted by the international skin imaging collaboration (ISIC). Paper presented at the 2018 IEEE 15th international symposium on biomedical imaging (ISBI 2018), 2018/04
- Codella NCF, Lin C-C, Halpern A, Hind M, Feris R, Smith JR (2018c) Collaborative Human-AI (CHAI): evidence-based interpretable melanoma classification in dermoscopic images. In: Understanding and interpreting machine learning in medical image computing applications. Springer International Publishing, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-02628-8_11
- Corbo MD, Vender R, Wismer J (2012) Comparison of dermatologists' and nondermatologists' diagnostic accuracy for malignant melanoma. J Cutan Med Surg 16(4):272–280. https://doi.org/10.1177/120347541201 600410
- Cukras AR (2013) On the comparison of diagnosis and management of melanoma between dermatologists and MelaFind. JAMA Dermatol 149(5):622. https://doi. org/10.1001/jamadermatol.2013.3405
- Dehzad F, Hilhorst C, de Bie C, Claassen E (2014) Adopting health apps, what's hindering doctors and patients? Health 6(16):2204
- Domingos P (2012) A few useful things to know about machine learning. Commun ACM 55(10):78–87
- Dorairaj JJ, Healy GM, McInerney A, Hussey AJ (2017) Validation of a melanoma risk assessment smartphone application. Dermatol Surg 43(2):299–302. https://doi. org/10.1097/dss.000000000000916
- Dreiseitl S, Binder M, Hable K, Kittler H (2009) Computer versus human diagnosis of melanoma: evaluation of the feasibility of an automated diagnostic system in a prospective clinical trial. Melanoma Res 19(3):180–184. https://doi.org/10.1097/cmr.0b013e32832a1e41
- Duda R, Hart P, Stork D (2007) Pattern classification, vol 24. Journal of Classification, vol 2. Wiley, New York
- Errichetti E, Stinco G (2016) Dermoscopy in general dermatology: a practical overview. Dermatol Ther 6(4):471–507. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13555-016-0141-6
- Esteva A, Kuprel B, Novoa RA, Ko J, Swetter SM, Blau HM, Thrun S (2017) Dermatologist-level

classification of skin cancer with deep neural networks. Nature 542(7639):115

- Eykholt K, Evtimov I, Fernandes E, Li B, Rahmati A, Chaowei X, Prakash A, Tadayoshi K, Song D (2017) Robust physical-world attacks on machine learning models. arXiv preprint arXiv:170708945
- Fagnant DJ, Kockelman K (2015) Preparing a nation for autonomous vehicles: opportunities, barriers and policy recommendations. Transp Res A Policy Pract 77: 167–181. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tra.2015.04.003
- Federal Trade Commission (2015) FTC cracks down on marketers of "Melanoma Detection" apps. https:// www.ftc.gov/news-events/press-releases/2015/02/ftccracks-down-marketers-melanoma-detection-apps
- Fenton JJ (2015) Is it time to stop paying for computeraided mammography? JAMA Intern Med 175(11): 1837–1838
- Fernández-Delgado M, Cernadas E, Barro S, Amorim D (2014) Do we need hundreds of classifiers to solve real world classification problems? J Mach Learn Res 15(1):3133–3181
- Ferrero NA, Morrell DS, Burkhart CN (2013) Skin scan: a demonstration of the need for FDA regulation of medical apps on iPhone. J Am Acad Dermatol 68(3):515–516. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaad.2012.10.045
- Fink C, Jaeger C, Jaeger K, Haenssle HA (2017) Diagnostic performance of the MelaFind device in a real-life clinical setting. J Dtsch Dermatol Ges 15(4):414–419. https://doi.org/10.1111/ddg.13220
- Finnane A, Curiel-Lewandrowski C, Wimberley G, Caffery L, Katragadda C, Halpern A, Marghoob AA, Malvehy J, Kittler H, Hofmann-Wellenhof R, Abraham I, Soyer HP, International Society of Digital Imaging of the Skin (ISDIS) for the International Skin Imaging Collaboration (ISIC) (2017) Proposed technical guidelines for the acquisition of clinical images of skin-related conditions. JAMA Dermatol 153(5):453–457. https://doi.org/10.1001/ja madermatol.2016.6214
- Flaten HK, St Claire C, Schlager E, Dunnick CA, Dellavalle RP (2018) Growth of mobile applications in dermatology – 2017 update. Dermatol Online J 24(2):1–4
- Freudenstein U, Verne J (2001) A national screening programme for diabetic retinopathy: needs to learn the lessons of existing screening programmes. BMJ 24(2):1–4
- Ge Z, Demyanov S, Chakravorty R, Bowling A, Garnavi R (2017) Skin disease recognition using deep saliency features and multimodal learning of dermoscopy and clinical images. Lecture notes in computer science. Springer International Publishing, Cham. https://doi. org/10.1007/978-3-319-66179-7_29
- Gendreau JL, Gemelas J, Wang M, Capulong D, Lau C, Bratten DM, Dougall B, Markham C, Raugi GJ (2017) Unimaged melanomas in store-and-forward teledermatology. Telemed J E Health 23(6):517–520. https://doi.org/10.1089/tmj.2016.0170
- Goebel R, Chander A, Holzinger K, Lecue F, Akata Z, Stumpf S, Kieseberg P, Holzinger A (2018)

Explainable AI: the new 42? Proceedings of the second IFIP TC 5, TC 8/WG 8.4, 8.9, TC 12/WG 12.9. In: International cross-domain conference, 2018. Springer, pp 295–303

- Gonzalez Diaz I (2018) DermaKNet: incorporating the knowledge of dermatologists to Convolutional Neural Networks for skin lesion diagnosis. IEEE J Biomed Health Inform 1-1. https://doi.org/10.1109/ jbhi.2018.2806962
- Goodfellow I, Bengio Y, Courville A (2016) Deep learning. MIT Press, Cambridge, MA
- Gottlieb S (2018) FDA budget matters: advancing innovation in digital health. https://www.fda.gov/ NewsEvents/Newsroom/FDAVoices/ucm621675.htm
- Gu Y, Partridge Y-P, Zhou J (2018) A hyperspectral dermoscopy dataset for melanoma detection. Lecture notes in computer science. Springer International Publishing, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-01201-4_29
- Guarracino MR, Maddalena L (2018) SDI+: a novel algorithm for segmenting dermoscopic images. IEEE J Biomed Health Inform 1-1. https://doi.org/10.1109/ jbhi.2018.2808970
- Gulshan V, Peng L, Coram M, Stumpe MC, Wu D, Narayanaswamy A, Venugopalan S, Widner K, Madams T, Cuadros J (2016) Development and validation of a deep learning algorithm for detection of diabetic retinopathy in retinal fundus photographs. JAMA 316(22):2402–2410
- Guo Y, Liu Y, Oerlemans A, Lao S, Wu S, Lew MS (2016) Deep learning for visual understanding: a review. Neurocomputing 187:27–48
- Hall S, Murchie P (2014) Can we use technology to encourage self-monitoring by people treated for melanoma? A qualitative exploration of the perceptions of potential recipients. Support Care Cancer 22(6): 1663–1671. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00520-014-213 3-3
- Hamilton AD, Brady RR (2012) Medical professional involvement in smartphone 'apps' in dermatology. Br J Dermatol 167(1):220–221. https://doi.org/10.1111/ j.1365-2133.2012.10844.x
- Han J, Pei J, Kamber M (2012) Data mining: concepts and techniques, 3rd edn. Elsevier, Burlington
- Han SS, Kim MS, Lim W, Park GH, Park I, Chang SE (2018) Classification of the clinical images for benign and malignant cutaneous tumors using a deep learning algorithm. J Invest Dermatol 138(7):1529–1538. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jid.2018.01.028
- Hand DJ (1998) Data mining: statistics and more? Am Stat 52(2):112–118
- He K, Zhang X, Ren S, Sun J (2016) Deep residual learning for image recognition. Paper presented at the 2016 IEEE conference on computer vision and pattern recognition (CVPR), 2016/06
- Heaton JB, Polson NG, Witte JH (2016) Deep learning in finance. arXiv preprint arXiv:160206561
- Hodgson T, Coiera E (2015) Risks and benefits of speech recognition for clinical documentation: a systematic review. J Am Med Inform Assoc 23(e1): e169–e179

- Horsham C, Loescher LJ, Whiteman DC, Soyer HP, Janda M (2016) Consumer acceptance of patientperformed mobile teledermoscopy for the early detection of melanoma. Br J Dermatol 175(6):1301–1310. https://doi.org/10.1111/bjd.14630
- Huang G, Liu Z, van der Maaten L, Weinberger KQ (2017) Densely connected convolutional networks. Paper presented at the 2017 IEEE conference on computer vision and pattern recognition (CVPR), 2017/07
- Jahanifar M, Zamani Tajeddin N, Mohammadzadeh Asl B, Gooya A (2018) Supervised saliency map driven segmentation of lesions in dermoscopic images. IEEE J Biomed Health Inform 1-1. https://doi.org/10.1109/ jbhi.2018.2839647
- Jain AK, Dubes RC (1988) Algorithms for clustering data. Prentice-Hall Inc, Upper Saddle River, NJ
- Jain AK, Duin RPW, Mao J (2000) Statistical pattern recognition: a review. IEEE Trans Pattern Anal Mach Intell 22(1):4–37
- Janda M, Loescher LJ, Banan P, Horsham C, Soyer HP (2014) Lesion selection by melanoma high-risk consumers during skin self-examination using mobile teledermoscopy. JAMA Dermatol 150(6):656–658. https:// doi.org/10.1001/jamadermatol.2013.7743
- Jha S, Topol EJ (2016) Adapting to artificial intelligence: radiologists and pathologists as information specialists. JAMA 316(22):2353–2354. https://doi.org/10.1001/ jama.2016.17438
- Kansky K, Silver T, Mély DA, Eldawy M, Lázaro-Gredilla M, Lou X, Dorfman N, Sidor S, Phoenix S, George D (2017) Schema networks: zero-shot transfer with a generative causal model of intuitive physics. arXiv preprint arXiv:170604317
- Katragadda C, Finnane A, Soyer HP, Marghoob AA, Halpern A, Malvehy J, Kittler H, Hofmann-Wellenhof R, Da Silva D, Abraham I, Curiel-Lewandrowski C (2016) Technique standards for skin lesion imaging: a Delphi consensus statement. JAMA Dermatol. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamaderma tol.2016.3949
- Kawahara J, Hamarneh G (2018) Fully convolutional neural networks to detect clinical dermoscopic features. IEEE J Biomed Health Inform 1-1. https://doi.org/ 10.1109/jbhi.2018.2831680
- Kawahara J, Daneshvar S, Argenziano G, Hamarneh G (2018) 7-Point checklist and skin lesion classification using multi-task multi-modal neural nets. IEEE J Biomed Health Inform 1-1. https://doi.org/10.1109/ jbhi.2018.2824327
- Kittler H, Pehamberger H, Wolff K, Binder M (2002) Diagnostic accuracy of dermoscopy. Lancet Oncol 3(3):159–165. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1470-2045(02) 00679-4
- Korotkov K, Garcia R (2012) Computerized analysis of pigmented skin lesions: a review. Artif Intell Med 56 (2):69–90. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.artmed.2012.08.002
- Korotkov K, Quintana J, Campos R, Jesus Silva MA, Iglesias P, Puig S, Malvehy J, Garcia R (2018) An improved skin lesion matching scheme in total body

photography. IEEE J Biomed Health Inform 1-1. https://doi.org/10.1109/jbhi.2018.2855409

- Krause J, Gulshan V, Rahimy E, Karth P, Widner K, Corrado GS, Peng L, Webster DR (2018) Grader variability and the importance of reference standards for evaluating machine learning models for diabetic retinopathy. Ophthalmology 125:1264
- Krizhevsky A, Sutskever I, Hinton GE (2017) ImageNet classification with deep convolutional neural networks. Commun ACM 60(6):84–90. https://doi.org/10.1145/ 3065386
- Kunde L, McMeniman E, Parker M (2013) Clinical photography in dermatology: ethical and medico-legal considerations in the age of digital and smartphone technology. Australas J Dermatol 54(3):192–197. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajd.12063
- LeCun Y, Bengio Y, Hinton G (2015) Deep learning. Nature 521:436. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature14539
- Legg S, Hutter M (2007) Universal intelligence: a definition of machine intelligence. Mind Mach 17(4): 391–444
- Li Y, Esteva A, Kuprel B, Novoa R, Ko J, Thrun S (2016) Skin cancer detection and tracking using data synthesis and deep learning. arXiv preprint arXiv:161201074
- Li H, He X, Zhou F, Yu Z, Ni D, Chen S, Wang T, Lei B (2018a) Dense deconvolutional network for skin lesion segmentation. IEEE J Biomed Health Inform 1-1. https://doi.org/10.1109/jbhi.2018.2859898
- Li X, Yu L, Fu C-W, Heng P-A (2018b) Deeply supervised rotation equivariant network for lesion segmentation in dermoscopy images. Lecture notes in computer science. Springer International Publishing, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-01201-4 25
- Lim HW, Collins SAB, Resneck JS Jr, Bolognia JL, Hodge JA, Rohrer TA, Van Beek MJ, Margolis DJ, Sober AJ, Weinstock MA, Nerenz DR, Smith Begolka W, Moyano JV (2017) The burden of skin disease in the United States. J Am Acad Dermatol 76(5):958–972.e952. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaad.20 16.12.043
- Lip GYH, Nieuwlaat R, Pisters R, Lane DA, Crijns HJGM (2010) Refining clinical risk stratification for predicting stroke and thromboembolism in atrial fibrillation using a novel risk factor-based approach: the euro heart survey on atrial fibrillation. Chest 137(2):263–272
- Litjens G, Kooi T, Bejnordi BE, Setio AAA, Ciompi F, Ghafoorian M, Van Der Laak JA, Van Ginneken B, Sánchez CI (2017) A survey on deep learning in medical image analysis. Med Image Anal 42:60–88
- Liu Y, Kohlberger T, Norouzi M, Dahl GE, Smith JL, Mohtashamian A, Olson N, Peng LH, Hipp JD, Stumpe MC (2018) Artificial intelligence–based breast cancer nodal metastasis detection: insights into the black box for pathologists. Arch Pathol Lab Med
- Maier T, Kulichova D, Schotten K, Astrid R, Ruzicka T, Berking C, Udrea A (2015) Accuracy of a smartphone application using fractal image analysis of pigmented moles compared to clinical diagnosis and histological

result. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 29(4):663–667. https://doi.org/10.1111/jdv.12648

- March J, Hand M, Grossman D (2015) Practical application of new technologies for melanoma diagnosis: Part I. Noninvasive approaches. J Am Acad Dermatol 72(6):929–941; quiz 941–942. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.jaad.2015.02.1138
- Marcus G (2018) Deep learning: a critical appraisal. arXiv preprint arXiv:180100631
- Matsunaga K, Hamada A, Minagawa A, Koga H (2017) Image classification of melanoma, nevus and seborrheic keratosis by deep neural network ensemble. arXiv preprint arXiv:170303108
- Mendonca T, Ferreira PM, Marques JS, Marcal ARS, Rozeira J (2013) A dermoscopic image database for research and benchmarking. Paper presented at the 2013 35th annual international conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society (EMBC), 2013/07
- Milam EC, Leger MC (2018) Use of medical photography among dermatologists: a nationwide online survey study. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 32(10): 1804–1809. https://doi.org/10.1111/jdv.14839
- Miotto R, Li L, Kidd BA, Dudley JT (2016) Deep patient: an unsupervised representation to predict the future of patients from the electronic health records. Sci Rep 6:26094
- Mishra NK, Celebi ME (2016) An overview of melanoma detection in dermoscopy images using image processing and machine learning. arXiv preprint arXiv:160107843
- Mitchell TM (1997) Machine learning, vol 45, no 37. McGraw Hill, Burr Ridge, pp 870–877
- Mnih V, Kavukcuoglu K, Silver D, Rusu AA, Veness J, Bellemare MG, Graves A, Riedmiller M, Fidjeland AK, Ostrovski G, Petersen S, Beattie C, Sadik A, Antonoglou I, King H, Kumaran D, Wierstra D, Legg S, Hassabis D (2015) Human-level control through deep reinforcement learning. Nature 518 (7540):529–533. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature14236
- Mobile Fact Sheet. (2018) Pew Research Center, Washington, DC. www.pewinternet.org/fact-sheet/mobile/
- Monheit G, Cognetta AB, Ferris L, Rabinovitz H, Gross K, Martini M, Grichnik JM, Mihm M, Prieto VG, Googe P, King R, Toledano A, Kabelev N, Wojton M, Gutkowicz-Krusin D (2011) The performance of MelaFind. Arch Dermatol 147(2):188. https://doi.org/ 10.1001/archdermatol.2010.302
- Mounessa JS, Chapman S, Braunberger T, Qin R, Lipoff JB, Dellavalle RP, Dunnick CA (2018) A systematic review of satisfaction with teledermatology. J Telemed Telecare 24(4):263–270. https://doi.org/10.1177/1357633x17696587
- Mukhopadhyay S, Feldman MD, Abels E, Ashfaq R, Beltaifa S, Cacciabeve NG, Cathro HP, Cheng L, Cooper K, Dickey GE (2018) Whole slide imaging versus microscopy for primary diagnosis in surgical pathology: a multicenter blinded randomized noninferiority study of 1992 cases (pivotal study). Am J Surg Pathol 42(1):39

- Multimodal Brain Tumor Segmentation Challenge 2017 (2017). https://www.med.upenn.edu/sbia/brats2017/ rankings.html
- Murtagh F (1983) A survey of recent advances in hierarchical clustering algorithms. Comput J 26(4):354–359
- Navarrete-Dechent C, Dusza SW, Liopyris K, Marghoob AA, Halpern AC, Marchetti MA (2018) Automated dermatological diagnosis: hype or reality? J Invest Dermatol 138(10):2277–2279. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.jid.2018.04.040
- Navarro F, Escudero-Vinolo M, Bescos J (2018) Accurate segmentation and registration of skin lesion images to evaluate lesion change. IEEE J Biomed Health Inform 1-1. https://doi.org/10.1109/jbhi.2018.2825251
- Ngoo A, Finnane A, McMeniman E, Tan JM, Janda M, Soyer HP (2018) Efficacy of smartphone applications in high-risk pigmented lesions. Australas J Dermatol 59(3):e175–e182. https://doi.org/10.1111/ ajd.12599
- Nguyen A, Yosinski J, Clune J (2015) Deep neural networks are easily fooled: High confidence predictions for unrecognizable images. Paper presented at the 2015 IEEE Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition (CVPR), 2015/06
- Nguyen P, Tran T, Wickramasinghe N, Venkatesh S (2017) Deepr: a convolutional net for medical records. IEEE J Biomed Health Inform 21(1):22–30
- Nozdryn-Plotnicki A, Yap J, Yolland W (2018) Ensembling convolutional neural networks for skin cancer classification. International Skin Imaging Collaboration (ISIC) Challenge on Skin Image Analysis for Melanoma Detection. MICCAI
- Office of the Commissioner (2018) Press announcements FDA permits marketing of artificial intelligence-based device to detect certain diabetes-related eye problems. https://www.fda.gov/NewsEvents/Newsroom/PressAn nouncements/ucm604357.htm
- Pakhomov S, Pedersen T, Chute CG (2005) Abbreviation and acronym disambiguation in clinical discourse. In: AMIA annual symposium proceedings, 2005. American Medical Informatics Association, pp 589–593
- Pal A, Chaturvedi A, Garain U, Chandra A, Chatterjee R, Senapati S (2018) Severity assessment of psoriatic plaques using deep CNN based ordinal classification. Lecture notes in computer science. Springer International Publishing, Cham. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/978-3-030-01201-4_27
- Perez F, Vasconcelos C, Avila S, Valle E (2018) Data augmentation for skin lesion analysis. Lecture notes in computer science. Springer International Publishing, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-01201-4_33
- Poplin R, Varadarajan AV, Blumer K, Liu Y, McConnell MV, Corrado GS, Peng L, Webster DR (2018) Prediction of cardiovascular risk factors from retinal fundus photographs via deep learning. Nat Biomed Eng 2(3):158–164. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41551-018-0195-0
- Rajkomar A, Oren E, Chen K, Dai AM, Hajaj N, Hardt M, Liu PJ, Liu X, Marcus J, Sun M (2018) Scalable and

accurate deep learning with electronic health records. npj Digit Med 1(1):18

- Rat C, Hild S, Rault Serandour J, Gaultier A, Quereux G, Dreno B, Nguyen JM (2018) Use of smartphones for early detection of melanoma: systematic review. J Med Internet Res 20(4):e135. https://doi.org/ 10.2196/jmir.9392
- Riaz F, Naeem S, Nawaz R, Coimbra MT (2018) Active contours based segmentation and lesion periphery analysis for characterization of skin lesions in dermoscopy images. IEEE J Biomed Health Inform 1-1. https://doi. org/10.1109/jbhi.2018.2832455
- Rich E (1987) Artificial intelligence. In: Encyclopedia of artificial intelligence, vol 1. Wiley, New York
- Robson Y, Blackford S, Roberts D (2012) Caution in melanoma risk analysis with smartphone application technology. Br J Dermatol 167(3):703–704. https:// doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2133.2012.11046.x
- Ronneberger O, Fischer P, Brox T (2015) U-Net: convolutional networks for biomedical image segmentation. Lecture notes in computer science. Springer International Publishing, Cham. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/978-3-319-24574-4 28
- Russakovsky O, Deng J, Su H, Krause J, Satheesh S, Ma S, Huang Z, Karpathy A, Khosla A, Bernstein M, Berg AC, Fei-Fei L (2015) ImageNet large scale visual recognition challenge. Int J Comput Vis 115(3): 211–252. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11263-015-0816-y
- Russell SJ, Norvig P (2016) Artificial intelligence: a modern approach. Malaysia; Pearson Education Limited
- Sabbaghi M S, Aldeen M, Stoecker WV, Garnavi R (2018) Biologically inspired QuadTree colour detection in dermoscopy images of melanoma. IEEE J Biomed Health Inform 1-1. https://doi.org/10.1109/jbhi.2018. 2841428
- Sadeghi M, Chilana PK, Atkins MS (2018) How users perceive content-based image retrieval for identifying skin images. In: Understanding and interpreting machine learning in medical image computing applications. Springer International Publishing, Cham. https:// doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-02628-8_16
- Saez A, Acha B, Serrano A, Serrano C (2018) Statistical detection of colors in dermoscopic images with a texton-based estimation of probabilities. IEEE J Biomed Health Inform 1-1. https://doi.org/10.1109/ jbhi.2018.2823499
- Salerni G, Terán T, Puig S, Malvehy J, Zalaudek I, Argenziano G, Kittler H (2012) Meta-analysis of digital dermoscopy follow-up of melanocytic skin lesions: a study on behalf of the International Dermoscopy Society. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 27(7): 805–814. https://doi.org/10.1111/jdv.12032
- Scharcanski J, Celebi ME (2013) Computer vision techniques for the diagnosis of skin cancer. Series in BioEngineering. Springer, Berlin/Heidelberg. https:// doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-39608-3
- Silver D, Schrittwieser J, Simonyan K, Antonoglou I, Huang A, Guez A, Hubert T, Baker L, Lai M, Bolton A, Chen Y, Lillicrap T, Hui F, Sifre L, van den Driessche G, Graepel T, Hassabis D (2017) Mastering

the game of Go without human knowledge. Nature 550:354. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature24270. https:// www.nature.com/articles/nature24270#supplementary -information

- Spampinato C, Palazzo S, Giordano D, Aldinucci M, Leonardi R (2017) Deep learning for automated skeletal bone age assessment in X-ray images. Med Image Anal 36:41–51
- Spinks J, Janda M, Soyer HP, Whitty JA (2016) Consumer preferences for teledermoscopy screening to detect melanoma early. J Telemed Telecare 22(1):39–46. https://doi.org/10.1177/1357633x15586701
- Steiner DF, MacDonald R, Liu Y, Truszkowski P, Hipp JD, Gammage C, Thng F, Peng L, Stumpe MC (2018) Impact of deep learning assistance on the histopathologic review of lymph nodes for metastatic breast cancer. Am J Surg Pathol 42(12):1636–1646. https://doi. org/10.1097/pas.00000000001151
- STRATA Skin Sciences Inc (2017) Seeking Alpha. United States Secrutities and Exchange Commission https:// seekingalpha.com/filing/3550049. Accessed 19 Nov 2018
- Sun X, Yang J, Sun M, Wang K (2016) A benchmark for automatic visual classification of clinical skin disease images. In: Computer vision – ECCV 2016. Springer International Publishing, Cham. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/978-3-319-46466-4 13
- Szegedy C, Zaremba W, Sutskever I, Bruna J, Erhan D, Goodfellow I, Fergus R (2013) Intriguing properties of neural networks. arXiv preprint arXiv:13126199
- Szegedy C, Wei L, Yangqing J, Sermanet P, Reed S, Anguelov D, Erhan D, Vanhoucke V, Rabinovich A (2015) Going deeper with convolutions. Paper presented at the 2015 IEEE conference on computer vision and pattern recognition (CVPR), 2015/06
- Takeshita J (2018) Identifying disparities in dermatology. JAMA Dermatol 154(11):1251. https://doi.org/10.100 1/jamadermatol.2018.2938
- Thandiackal K, Goksel O (2018) A structureaware convolutional neural network for skin lesion classification. Lecture notes in computer science. Springer International Publishing, Cham. https://doi. org/10.1007/978-3-030-01201-4 34
- Ting DSW, Cheung CY-L, Lim G, Tan GSW, Quang ND, Gan A, Hamzah H, Garcia-Franco R, San Yeo IY, Lee SY (2017) Development and validation of a deep learning system for diabetic retinopathy and related eye diseases using retinal images from multiethnic populations with diabetes. JAMA 318(22):2211–2223
- Tran T, Nguyen TD, Phung D, Venkatesh S (2015) Learning vector representation of medical objects via EMR-driven nonnegative restricted Boltzmann machines (eNRBM). J Biomed Inform 54:96–105
- Tschandl P, Argenziano G, Razmara M, Yap J (2018a) Diagnostic accuracy of content-based dermatoscopic image retrieval with deep classification features. Br J Dermatol. https://doi.org/10.1111/bjd.17189
- Tschandl P, Rosendahl C, Akay BN, Argenziano G, Blum A, Braun RP, Cabo H, Gourhant J-Y, Kreusch J, Lallas A, Lapins J, Marghoob A, Menzies S, Neuber NM, Paoli J, Rabinovitz HS, Rinner C,

Scope A, Soyer HP, Sinz C, Thomas L, Zalaudek I, Kittler H (2018b) Expert-level diagnosis of nonpigmented skin cancer by combined convolutional neural networks. JAMA Dermatol. https://doi.org/ 10.1001/jamadermatol.2018.4378

- Tschandl P, Rosendahl C, Kittler H (2018c) The HAM10000 dataset, a large collection of multi-source dermatoscopic images of common pigmented skin lesions. Sci Data 5:180161. https://doi.org/10.1038/ sdata.2018.161
- U.S. Food and Drug (2015) Mobile medical applications: guidance for industry and Food and Drug Administration staff. https://www.fda.gov/downloads/Medical Devices/DeviceRegulationandGuidance/GuidanceDoc uments/UCM263366.pdf
- U.S. Food and Drug (2018) Digital Health Innovation Action Plan. https://www.fda.gov/downloads/Medical Devices/DigitalHealth/UCM568735.pdf. Accessed 18 Dec 2018
- Uzuner Ö, South BR, Shen S, DuVall SL (2011) 2010 i2b2/ VA challenge on concepts, assertions, and relations in clinical text. J Am Med Inform Assoc 18(5):552–556
- Varadarajan AV, Poplin R, Blumer K, Angermueller C, Ledsam J, Chopra R, Keane PA, Corrado GS, Peng L, Webster DR (2018) Deep learning for predicting refractive error from retinal fundus images. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 59(7):2861–2868
- Venkatesh GM, Naresh YG, Little S, O'Connor NE (2018) A deep residual architecture for skin lesion segmentation. Lecture notes in computer science. Springer International Publishing, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/ 978-3-030-01201-4_30
- Vesal S, Malakarjun Patil S, Ravikumar N, Maier AK (2018) A multi-task framework for skin lesion detection and segmentation. Lecture notes in computer science. Springer International Publishing, Cham. https:// doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-01201-4_31
- Vestergaard ME, Macaskill P, Holt PE, Menzies SW (2008) Dermoscopy compared with naked eye examination for the diagnosis of primary melanoma: a meta-analysis of studies performed in a clinical setting. Br J Dermatol. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2133.2008.08713.x
- Wang JV, Chapman LW, Keller M (2017a) Challenges to smartphone applications for melanoma detection. Dermatol Online J 23(2):1–2
- Wang X, Peng Y, Lu L, Lu Z, Bagheri M, Summers RM (2017b) Chestx-ray8: hospital-scale chest x-ray database and benchmarks on weakly-supervised classification and localization of common thorax diseases. In: IEEE, pp 3462–3471
- Warshaw EM, Hillman YJ, Greer NL, Hagel EM, MacDonald R, Rutks IR, Wilt TJ (2011) Teledermatology for diagnosis and management of skin

conditions: a systematic review. J Am Acad Dermatol 64(4):759–772. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jaad.2010.08.026

- Webster DE, Suver C, Doerr M, Mounts E, Domenico L, Petrie T, Leachman SA, Trister AD, Bot BM (2017) The Mole Mapper Study, mobile phone skin imaging and melanoma risk data collected using ResearchKit. Sci Data 4:170005. https://doi.org/10.1038/sdata.20 17.5
- Wells R, Gutkowicz-Krusin D, Veledar E, Toledano A, Chen SC (2012) Comparison of diagnostic and management sensitivity to melanoma between dermatologists and MelaFind: a pilot study. Arch Dermatol 148(9):1083. https://doi.org/10.1001/archdermatol.20 12.946
- Winkelmann RR, Yoo J, Tucker N, White R, Rigel DS (2014) Assessment of a diagnostic predictive probability model provided by a multispectral digital skin lesion analysis device for melanoma and other high-risk pigmented lesions and its impact on biopsy decisions. J Clin Aesthet Dermatol 7(12):16
- Wolf JA, Moreau JF, Akilov O, Patton T, English JC 3rd, Ho J, Ferris LK (2013) Diagnostic inaccuracy of smartphone applications for melanoma detection. JAMA Dermatol 149(4):422–426. https://doi.org/ 10.1001/jamadermatol.2013.2382
- Wolf JA, Moreau JF, Patton TJ, Winger DG, Ferris LK (2015) Prevalence and impact of health-related internet and smartphone use among dermatology patients. Cutis 95(6):323–328
- Yang J, Sun X, Jie L, Paul R (2018) Clinical skin lesion diagnosis using representations inspired by dermatologist criteria. In: Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition, Salt Lake City, UT. Computer Vision Foundation, pp 1258–1266
- Yoshida T, Celebi ME, Schaefer G, Iyatomi H (2016) Simple and effective pre-processing for automated melanoma discrimination based on cytological findings. Paper presented at the 2016 IEEE international conference on Big Data (Big Data), 2016/12
- Yu L, Chen H, Dou Q, Qin J, Heng P-A (2017) Automated melanoma recognition in dermoscopy images via very deep residual networks. IEEE Trans Med Imaging 36(4):994–1004. https://doi.org/10.1109/tmi.2016.2642839
- Yuan Y, Lo Y-C (2017) Improving dermoscopic image segmentation with enhanced convolutionaldeconvolutional networks. IEEE J Biomed Health Inform 1-1. https://doi.org/10.1109/jbhi.2017.2787487
- Zouridakis G, Wadhawan T, Situ N, Hu R, Yuan X, Lancaster K, Queen CM (2015) Melanoma and other skin lesion detection using smart handheld devices. Methods Mol Biol 1256:459–496. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/978-1-4939-2172-0 30



# Molecular Diagnostics in Melanocytic **30** Neoplasia

Jeffrey P. North

# Contents

Introduction	630
DNA-Based Testing	630
Comparative Genomic Hybridization (CGH)	630
Fluorescence In Situ Hybridization (FISH)	636
Next Generation (Massive Parallel) Sequencing	638
RNA-Based Testing	640
Gene Expression Analysis	640
MicroRNA	642
Protein-Based Testing	643
Immunohistochemistry	643
Mass Spectrometry	645
Conclusion	645
References	646

### Abstract

Ancillary molecular tests have been developed to assist in the diagnosis of histopathologically ambiguous tumors and as prognostic tools in melanoma. These include DNA-based assays such as comparative genomic hybridization (CGH), fluorescent in situ hybridization (FISH), and next generation sequencing, as well as RNA-based tests including gene expression profiling and microRNA analysis. Protein-based techniques such as immunohistochemistry and mass spectrometry are also available, with immunohistochemistry representing the mostly widely available and highly utilized modality in melanoma diagnostic testing. Each type of test has strengths and limitations. Many of them are expensive (>\$1000) and require proper resources and expertise to perform. Familiarity with the available testing options combined with knowledge of genetic and histopathologic features of the various types of melanocytic tumors allows for judicious use of molecular testing to increase diagnostic accuracy and provide valuable prognostic information. Molecular tests can also be used to guide treatment decisions in the expanding era of precision medicine where

J. P. North  $(\boxtimes)$ 

Departments of Dermatology and Pathology, University of California, San Francisco, CA, USA e-mail: Jeffrey.North@ucsf.edu

[©] Springer Science+Business Media, LLC, part of Springer Nature 2019 D. E. Fisher, B. C. Bastian (eds.), *Melanoma*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-7147-9 40

treatment is based on individual tumor characteristics rather than summary clinical trial data.

### Keywords

Comparative genomic hybridization · CGH · Fluorescent in situ hybridization · FISH · DNA sequencing · Gene expression analysis · Immunohistochemistry · MicroRNA · Mass spectrometry

# Introduction

Accurate diagnosis in melanocytic neoplasia requires incorporation of clinical features (patient age, lesion size, and clinical evolution), histopathologic characteristics, and genomic abnormalities. Despite continued research developments that provide insight into various distinguishing features between melanocytic nevi and melanomas, there is considerable variability among pathologists in the diagnosis of melanocytic tumors, with discordance rates ranging from 15% in routine referral cases, to as high as 38% when focusing on histopathologically challenging biopsies (Shoo et al. 2010; Farmer et al. 1996). This diagnostic imprecision continues to hinder optimal treatment of patients. Ancillary molecular tests have been developed to assist with histopathologically ambiguous tumors in hopes of attaining more accurate diagnoses. While some experts have advocated the idea of a dichomatous diagnostic world in which melanocytic neoplasms are either benign melanocytic nevi or malignant melanoma, increasing evidence supports the paradigm that melanocytic neoplasia progresses through a spectrum that begins with unequivocally benign nevi initiated by a single activating mutation or translocation in a proliferative oncogene (Shain et al. 2015). Additional mutations in oncogenes and tumor suppressor genes (e.g., TERT promoter, CDKN2A) produce intermediate neoplasms with varying degrees of histopathologic atypia that generate high degrees of diagnostic discordance. Unequivocal melanomas then develop with accumulation of additional mutations and chromosomal aberrations.

Multiple molecular tests are now available to assist in the diagnosis of ambiguous melanocytic neoplasms that cannot be reliably classified based on clinical and histopathologic features alone. These include DNA, RNA, and protein based platforms. While there is overlap in the genetic changes that generate most types of melanocytic tumors (e.g., MAP kinase pathway activation), continuing research of the genetic landscape of melanocytic neoplasia indicates there is significant heterogeneity in the evolution of melanocytic neoplasms. Given this heterogeneity, caution is advised for any test claiming the ability to distinguish between all types of melanocytic tumors. Each molecular test available has strengths and limitations. Knowledge of the genetic changes that correlate with histopathologic phenotypes can help inform decisions on which molecular test to obtain for various tumor types.

# **DNA-Based Testing**

# Comparative Genomic Hybridization (CGH)

The vast majority of melanomas show genetic instability in the form of multiple chromosomal gains and losses indicative of failure of the innate cellular checkpoints that maintain a normal diploid state (Bastian et al. 1998). These chromosomal gains and losses are not randomly distributed in the genome, but are selected for when growth advantage is conferred by gain of an oncogene or loss of a tumor suppressor gene. Gains at chromosomes 1q, 5p, 6p, 7, 8q, 11q, 17q, and 20 are most common among melanoma, while losses commonly occur at chromosomes 6q, 8p, 9p, 9q, 10q, and 11q (Fig. 1) (Bastian et al. 1998). Solitary chromosomal abnormalities can be seen in subsets of nevi (e.g., 11p gain in HRAS mutant Spitz nevi (Fig. 2), and loss of the BAP1 locus on chromosome 3p in BAP1-inactivated melanocytomas (BAP1-inactivated Spitzoid tumors (Fig. 3)), but multiple gains and losses are typical of melanoma and are generally not found in melanocytic nevi.

Comparative genomic hybridization (CGH) is one method for copy number alteration (CNA)



**Fig. 1** CGH analysis of chromosomal copy number alterations (CNAs) in melanoma. Chromosome number/location is listed along the X axis. Deviations below the 0 value on the Y axis indicate copy number loss, while those above

assessment. CGH involves fluorescent labeling of normal control diploid DNA in one color and tumor DNA in a different color. The differentially labeled DNA samples are then hybridized to microarrays containing DNA probes covering the genome at different densities. Tumor and control DNA compete for binding sites on the array, and neoplasms with copy number gains show brighter tumor signals at array probes corresponding to regions of copy number gain compared to the control DNA. Brighter control DNA signal intensity is seen at array probes corresponding to regions of copy number loss in the neoplasm. DNA contamination from nonneoplastic cells in the tumor sample can mask CNAs. Microdissection of the tumor cells from the surrounding tissue is recommended before DNA extraction to minimize the amount of nonneoplastic DNA and provide optimal results. Biopsies with low tumor volume or heavily inflamed neoplasms are best analyzed with other molecular tests such as fluorescent in situ hybridization or next generation sequencing. CGH microarrays incorporating probes for single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNP) can also be used in melanoma diagnostics (Carter et al. 2018). Such SNP arrays also provide allelic ratios to help identify copy number-neutral loss of heterozygosity, which cannot be detected with traditional CGH microarrays.

Both the number of CNAs and their chromosomal location can assist in diagnosing melanocytic tumors. As noted above, gains of chromosome

0 indicate copy number gain. This tracing illustrates many of the common melanoma CNAs with chromosome 1q, 6p, 7, 8q, and 20 gain, and chromosome 6q, 8p, 9p loss. Additional losses of chromosome 4, 15, and 16 are also present

11p occur in HRAS mutant Spitz nevi where increased copy number of mutated HRAS confers growth advantage. Losses of the BAP1 locus on chromosome 3 are seen in BAP1 inactivated melanocytomas, uveal melanoma, and blue nevuslike melanomas. The losses tend to be focused in BAP1 inactivated melanocytomas, and mainly present as loss of the entire chromosome (monosomy 3) in the latter entities. Chromosomal rearrangements involving multiple tyrosine kinases as well as BRAF have been identified as a common initiating event in spitzoid neoplasms and occasionally other types of melanomas (Table 1) (Wiesner et al. 2014; Yeh et al. 2019; Ablain et al. 2018). The resulting fusion genes are often subject to subsequent copy number increases. The location of CNAs at specific chromosomal loci can be a clue to the presence of such a rearrangement. For example, CNAs on chromosome 7q34 in Spitz tumors can indicate an underlying *BRAF* fusion event (Fig. 4).

Distribution and quantity of CNAs has been shown to vary based on the degree of UV exposure. One of the earliest molecular melanoma classification schemes is based on differential CNA patterns which distinguish melanomas occurring on chronically sun exposed skin, intermittently sun exposed skin, acral skin, and mucosal sites (Curtin et al. 2005). Melanomas on sun protected sites (i.e., acral and mucosal melanomas) have a particularly high number of CNAs, including high numbers of chromosomal amplifications, while their genomic mutation burden is much lower than other types of melanomas (Curtin et al. 2005; Genomic



**Fig. 2** *HRAS* mutant Spitz nevus in 2-month-old baby. (**a**) The neoplasm has a symmetrical appearance with prominent desmoplastic stroma (H&E 20x). (**b**) *HRAS*-mutant Spitz nevi have characteristic features including epithelioid

Classification of Cutaneous Melanoma 2015; Hayward et al. 2017). Ninety percent of acral melanomas have focal chromosomal amplifications involving oncogenes such as the genes encoding cyclin D1 (*CCND1* on 11q13), CDK4 (12q14), and telomerase (*TERT* on 5p15). Such amplifications are infrequent in melanomas on sun exposed

melanocytes with sclerotic stroma and infiltrative appearance in the dermis (H&E 200x). (c) CGH analysis shows a single aberration with gain of chromosome 11p where HRAS is located

skin. As these amplifications in acral melanoma can be detected early in tumor progression, including in melanoma in situ and precursor field cells (North et al. 2008), they represent a distinguishing feature of acral melanoma that can be assessed for in DNA-based assays such as CGH and fluorescent in situ hybridization (FISH).



**Fig. 3** Combined melanocytic nevus with BAP1 loss (BAP1-inactivated melanocytoma). (a) A biphasic proliferation of melanocytes is present with a large central population of amelanotic cells and small peripheral collections of pigmented melanocytes (H&E 20x). (b) The amelanotic melanocytes have larger nuclei, abundant eosinophilic

**Table 1**Common sites of<br/>translocation in Spitz nevi<br/>and other spitzoid<br/>melanocytic neoplasms

Gene	Chromosome
ALK	2p23
BRAF	7q34
NTRK1	1q23
NTRK3	15q
MET	7q31
RET	10q11
ROS1	1q21

As molecular profiling of melanocytic tumors has progressed, increasing evidence has been found that malignant transformation of melanocytic neoplasms progresses in stepwise fashion through the accumulations of mutations, structural rearrangements, and chromosomal gains or losses

cytoplasm, and numerous multinucleated melanocytes are present (right side). Smaller melanocytes with more pigmented cytoplasm are present on the left (H&E 200x). (c) CGH analysis shows solitary loss of chromosome 3 where *BAP1* resides

that overcome cellular checkpoints that normally prevent oncogenesis. These phases of progression from unequivocally benign to partially transformed to overtly malignant can be molecularly traced in biopsies that contain melanomas with adjacent precursor nevi (Shain et al. 2015). In general, increasing numbers of CNAs parallels the degree of histopathologic atypia. This pattern of increasing CNAs has been demonstrated across various types of melanocytic tumors, including tumors of the blue nevus family. Common or cellular blue nevi show no detectable CNAs, whereas blue nevus-like neoplasms with ambiguous/atypical features have 0–3 CNAs, consistent with partial transformation. Unequivocal blue nevus-like melanomas show a



**Fig. 4** Spitz tumor with *BRAF* fusion. (**Top**) Epithelioid melanocytes form nests and fascicles with prominent clefts and associated epidermal hyperplasia (H&E 40x). (**Mid-dle**) CGH analysis shows a complex pattern of gains and losses on chromosome 7q with additional losses on chromosome 1 and 8 and gains on 7p and 15. Multiple CNAs are indicative of genomic instability and indicate a

differential diagnosis of atypical Spitz tumor and spitzoid melanoma. (**Bottom**) Close up view of chromosome 7q where multiple short chromosomal gains and losses are clustered. Green arrowheads highlight locus 7q34 where *BRAF* is located. The sharp transition from chromosomal gain to loss within the *BRAF* gene is a clue to the presence of a *BRAF* gene fusion event

greater degree of genomic instability with >3 CNAs (Costa et al. 2016; Maize et al. 2005). Similar to uveal melanomas which are genetically related to blue nevi in that they share mutations in the G $\alpha$ q signaling pathway, loss of *BAP1* on chromosome 3 in tumors with a blue nevus phenotype is associated with aggressive disease and poor prognosis (Costa et al. 2016).

A similar pattern of increasing CNAs has been documented in Spitz tumors, which frequently cause diagnostic uncertainty due to ambiguous histopathologic features. One study documented 0-1 CNAs in unambiguous Spitz nevi and 1–8 CNAs in atypical Spitz tumors and spitzoid melanomas (Raskin et al. 2011). Ambiguous spitzoid neoplasms are the most common tumors for which ancillary molecular testing is requested (North et al. 2014). Unfortunately, outside of a few distinct scenarios such as isolated chromosome 11p gain in HRAS mutant Spitz nevi (Fig. 2) and isolated losses chromosome 3p in BAP1-inactivated on melanocytomas (Fig. 3), there is a dearth of evidence regarding the reliability of ancillary molecular tests in this setting. Practically speaking, ambiguous spitzoid tumors with CGH testing showing solitary chromosomal abnormalities at loci which are not typically associated with melanoma such as chromosome gain at 11p or 7q can be regarded as benign, while spitzoid tumors with multiple melanoma-associated CNAs should be regarded as melanoma. An intermediate category of spitzoid tumors may exist in children which have small numbers of CNAs that are not commonly found in melanoma. These tumors frequently metastasize to the regional lymph nodes, but risk of metastasis beyond regional lymph nodes is low. Such atypical Spitz tumors could represent partially transformed neoplasms, but current understanding of such cases is limited.

Another setting which causes diagnostic uncertainty is the development of hypercellular, mitotically active nodules within a preexisting congenital melanocytic nevus. CGH testing of such proliferative nodules frequently shows gains or losses of entire chromosomes, particularly loss of chromosomes 7, 9, or 10, rather than the segmental chromosomal gains and losses seen in melanomas arising in congenital nevi (Bastian et al. 2002). However, a case of melanoma arising in a giant congenital nevus with only whole chromosome gains has been reported (Machan et al. 2015), and proliferative nodules with partial chromosomal losses involving chromosomes 7, 10, and 11 have also been reported (Yélamos et al. 2015a). Hypercellular nodules can also arise within congenital plaque type blue nevi (plaque type blue nevus with subcutaneous cellular nodules). In contrast to the benign proliferative nodules seen in conventional congenital nevi, CGH analysis of these nodules suggests that they often represent bona fide melanomas arising within blue nevi with classical melanoma associated CNAs such as chromosome 6p gain and 6q loss (North et al. 2012).

### Prognosis

In addition to functioning as a diagnostic aid in ambiguous melanocytic neoplasms, CGH may also provide prognostic information. A study comparing 10 lethal melanomas to 10 melanomas with favorable outcomes found a relationship between number of CNAs and prognosis. Lethal melanomas had a mean CNA count of 14 compared to a mean of 2 CNAs in the nonlethal melanomas (Hirsch et al. 2012). Specific CNAs can also have prognostic implications, such as chromosome 3 loss as a poor prognostic indicator in blue nevus-like melanoma and uveal melanoma (Costa et al. 2016; Sisley et al. 1997). Chromosome 8q gain is also associated with aggressive disease in uveal melanoma (Sisley et al. 1997).

### Limitations of CGH

- High cost and limited availability of CGH testing
- Limitations in assessing clonal heterogeneity within a tumor
- Relatively large amount of tumor DNA required
- Possible false negative results through normal cell contamination
- No mutation information
- Relatively long term around time ( $\geq 2$  weeks)

# Fluorescence In Situ Hybridization (FISH)

The discovery of recurrent CNAs in melanoma by CGH led to the development of FISH probe sets targeting those melanoma associated CNAs. In FISH, fluorescently labeled nucleic acid probes target chromosomal loci of interest and can be used to assess for CNAs and/or chromosomal translocations. These probes are hybridized to tissue sections on glass slides where fluorescent signals can be counted in individual tumor cells through a fluorescent microscope. Signals are enumerated in randomly selected nuclei in the most suspicious area of the lesion. When the percentage of nuclei with deviating signal counts exceeds the preset threshold (Table 2), the results support a diagnosis of melanoma (Figs. 5 and 6). Familiarity with the FISH technique is critical to ensure that only tumor cells are counted, and that counts from overly truncated nuclei are excluded.

The first study assessing multiple FISH probes for distinguishing nevi from melanomas evaluated FISH probes targeted to chromosomal regions that prior CGH studies had identified as most frequently altered in melanoma. In this study, a probe set targeting 6p25, 6q23, and 11q13, with a reference centromere 6 probe to assess for relative 6p gain and 6q loss, yielded the best results (Gerami et al. 2009a). This original probe set discriminated definitive melanomas from nevi with 87% sensitivity and 95% specificity, and correctly identified all 6 of 27 ambiguous primary tumors with long-term clinical follow-up that later metastasized. Subsequent studies validated the high sensitivity and specificity of this probe set in distinguishing blue nevi from blue nevus-like melanoma (Gammon et al. 2011),

lentiginous melanocytic neoplasms (Newman et al. 2009), nodal nevi from metastatic melanoma (Dalton et al. 2010), nevoid melanoma from mitotically active nevi (Gerami et al. 2009b), conjunctival nevi from conjunctival melanoma (Busam et al. 2010), and atypical intraepidermal melanocytic neoplasms (Gerami et al. 2010). While maintaining high specificity in desmoplastic nevi, the sensitivity for detecting desmoplastic melanomas in this probe set was only 47% in one study (Gerami et al. 2011a).

While FISH performs with high sensitivity and specificity in studies of unequivocal nevi and melanomas, the limited number of studies with ambiguous neoplasms with known follow-up indicates caution is warranted when interpreting FISH results. A sensitivity of 43% was reported for the detection of lymph node or distant metastatic spread in a cohort of 90 ambiguous melanocytic tumors which contained a large percentage of spitzoid tumors (Vergier et al. 2011). In an effort to address this, addition of a probe for detection of chromosome 9p21 (CDKN2A) loss was shown to increase sensitivity from 70% to 85% in a study of 43 spitzoid melanomas (Gammon et al. 2012). Homozygous 9p21 loss was also found to be particularly significant in a cohort of 75 atypical Spitz tumors in which 6/8 patients who developed stage 4 disease and 3/3 patients who died of metastatic melanoma had homozygous 9p21 loss (Gerami et al. 2013). These results justify addition of a 9p probe to assess for CDKN2A loss, particularly for spitzoid tumors.

A second FISH probe set incorporating homozygous 9p21 loss with 6p25, 11q13, and 8q24 gain outperformed the original probe set in distinguishing melanoma from nevi in one study,

		Rel. 6p				Homozygous 9p
	6p gain	gain ^b	6q loss ^c	11q gain	8q gain	loss
Gerami et al. 2009a	>29%	>55%	>40%	>38%	N/A	N/A
Gerami et al. 2012	>29%	N/A	N/A	>29%	>29%	>29%
Neogenomics	>29%	N/A	N/A	>29%	>29%	>29%
NeoSITE	17-29% b-line ^a			20–29% b-line ^a	11-29% b-line ^a	11-29% b-line ^a

Table 2 Criteria for positive FISH testing in melanocytic tumors

^aBorderline positive

^bRelative 6p gain determined by the number of nuclei with 6p signal count greater than reference centromere 6 count ^c6q loss determined by the number of nuclei with 6q count less than centromere 6 count



Fig. 5 FISH showing 11q13 gain in a melanoma. Neoplastic cells show  $\geq$ 3 green signals per nucleus indicative of chromosome 11q13 gain. FISH 400x: Green probe-11q13, red probe- 6p25

showing 94% sensitivity and 98% specificity (Gerami et al. 2012). As this second probe set targets four different chromosomes compared to two in the original set, it permits better detection of polyploidy. Polyploidy can be found in both melanomas and nevi, particularly Spitz nevi, and can generate false positive FISH results (Fig. 7) (Zembowicz et al. 2012). The addition of an 8q24 probe appears to be particularly useful in acral and nevoid melanomas, both of which harbor frequent 8q24 gains (Su et al. 2017; Yélamos et al. 2015b). Similar >90% sensitivity and specificity for the second probe set was also found in 39 unequivocal melanomas and nevi in one study (Minca et al. 2016). However, sensitivity and specificity dropped dramatically (56% and 83%, respectively) when testing ambiguous cases, and one additional study of the second probe set involving 37 challenging melanocytic tumors showed an even lower sensitivity (39%) (Al-Rohil et al. 2016). While the lack of correlation with long -term follow-up and metastatic spread was a limitation in both these studies, their results combined with the paucity of



**Fig. 6** FISH showing homozygous 9p21 loss indicative of *CDKN2A* loss. Neoplastic cells have no detectable 9p21 signal (red), but show 1–2 signal counts for the control green probe (centromere 9). Stromal cells show 1–2 red signals (white arrows). FISH 400x: Green probe – centromere 9, red probe 9p21

other studies comparing the original and second probe sets makes it difficult to determine which is superior. While a single probe set suitable for all types of melanocytic tumors would be ideal, it is more likely that a tailored approach with different FISH probes targeting the most common CNAs in the type of neoplasm being tested would bring the highest sensitivity and specificity.

### Prognosis

FISH has also demonstrated prognostic value in the assessment of melanocytic tumors. In a cohort of 144 primary melanomas of at least 2 mm thickness, positive FISH testing with the original chromosome 6 and 11 probe set was associated with increased risk of metastasis (hazard ratio 5.9) even after controlling for other known prognostic factors such sentinel lymph node status, ulceration, Breslow depth, and patient age (North et al. 2011). Gain of 11q13 (CCND1) and 8q24 (MYC) have been associated with metastatic potential (Gerami et al. 2011b). As previously mentioned,



**Fig. 7** Tetraploidy in FISH. Tetraploidy should be suspected in FISH when 3–4 probe signals are seen for all probes in the cells of interest. As only partial sections of nuclei are present in FISH sections, not all cells will show four signals in tetraploid states. In this case, many cells

have 3–4 signals of green (11q13), red (6p25), and blue (centromere 6). While the signal count reaches the threshold for a positive FISH test, tetraploidy can be seen in both nevi and melanomas and should not be reported as positive (FISH 400x)

homozygous loss of 9p21 was associated with metastatic and lethal spitzoid melanomas, while spitzoid neoplasms with solitary 6q23 loss appear to have a good prognosis with low rates of spread beyond regional lymph nodes (Shen et al. 2013, 23).

### Limitations of FISH

- Copy number assessment limited to only a small number of chromosomal loci
- Requires expertise and special equipment
- Different laboratories use differing thresholds and include borderline positive categories which impairs comparison of test results between laboratories (Table 2)
- False positive tests due to polyploidy

# Next Generation (Massive Parallel) Sequencing

The development of a melanocytic neoplasm, whether it is a nevus or melanoma, requires an initial mutation that stimulates cell proliferation (driver mutation). Driver mutations in melanocytic tumors most frequently involve the MAP-kinase pathway, with *BRAF*, *NRAS*, and *KIT* mutations being among the most common. Such mutations are easily detectable through DNA sequencing and can provide treatment guidance in directing targeted therapy of

advanced stage melanoma (e.g., BRAF inhibitors). However, detection of these driver mutations holds minimal benefit for the diagnosis of ambiguous melanocytic tumors given the shared presence of these mutations in both nevi and melanomas. The development of massive parallel/next generation (next gen) sequencing has revolutionized molecular testing and our understanding of melanocytic neoplasia as it allows for a more comprehensive assessment, namely the identification of secondary and tertiary mutations that mark the transition to melanoma. This type of sequencing can be tailored for analysis of the whole genome, the exome (i.e., all protein-encoding sequences of genes), or any desired panel of cancer-associated genes. Data produced from next generation sequencing not only provides mutation analysis of cancer associated genes; it can identify chromosomal rearrangements, and simultaneously provide chromosomal copy number information to indicate the presence of CNAs (Shain et al. 2015). Next gen sequencing can be used for in depth analysis of clonal evolution within a heterogeneous tumor through microdissection of different cell populations and sequencing these distinct areas (Fig. 8).

While the detection of a MAP-kinase driver mutation cannot distinguish a nevus from melanoma, detection of such a mutation in combination with additional mutations in tumor suppressor and other genes can be informative in distinguishing



# **BRAFV600K**

### BRAFV600K + CTNNB1

# BRAFV600K + CDKN2A

**Fig. 8** Next gen sequencing in a complicated melanocytic neoplasm. (**Top**) A large, heterogeneous melanocytic neoplasm shows three distinct populations of melanocytes labeled (**a**), (**b**), and (**c**). Each area was microdissected and analyzed with next gen sequencing. Copy number analysis and salient mutations for each area are located in the lower panels. (**a**) An area of unequivocal melanocytic nevus with nests of small melanocytes is present in the epidermis. Next gen sequencing shows no CNAs with a solitary  $BRAF^{V600K}$  mutation. (**b**) Centrally, larger melanocytes form fascicles in the dermis with numerous melanophages (depth 2.5 mm). Next gen sequencing shows  $BRAF^{V600K}$  mutation with additional chromosome 7q gain where BRAF is located, and mutation of the

benign and malignant melanocytic neoplasms, particularly when accompanied by CNA assessment. A study of melanomas arising within precursor nevi indicates unequivocal melanocytic nevi frequently *CTNNB1* gene encoding beta-catenin. (c) On the right, large melanocytes are irregularly distributed in the epidermis with pagetoid scatter. Nests of similar cells are present in the dermis (depth 0.7 mm) with a florid lymphocytic inflammatory reaction. Next gen sequencing shows  $BRAF^{V600K}$  mutation with an additional *CDKN2A* mutation, but no *CTNNB1* mutation. Numerous CNAs are present including gains of chromosome 1q, 5, 6p, 7, 8q, 15, 18, and 20 and losses of 4, 6q, 9p, and 16. Incorporating both the molecular and histopathologic features leads to the correct diagnosis: Melanoma, 0.7 mm thickness, arising in a  $BRAF^{V600K}$  nevus with a separate deep penetrating nevus that arose independently from the same precursor *BRAF* mutant nevus. Top – H&E 20x, Middle – H&E 100x

possess only a single driver mutation (most often  $BRAF^{V600E}$ ) with no additional mutations or CNAs (Shain et al. 2015). Meanwhile nevi with some degree of histopathologic atypia that

generate diagnostic uncertainty often harbor NRAS or  $BRAF^{\text{non-V600E}}$  mutations with some additional mutations such as heterozygous CDKN2A or TERT promoter mutations. Further mutations in tumor suppressors such as PTEN, TP53, ARID1/2, and homozygous mutation/loss of CDKN2A arise during progression to invasive melanoma. Next generation sequencing provides a complete picture of both initiating and subsequent mutations as well as CNAs, and thus represents an improved test for assessing ambiguous melanocytic neoplasms. Due to the high cost and labor intensive nature of next gen sequencing, there is a lack of studies assessing the value of this molecular test in this capacity. However, as illustrated by the tumor in Fig. 8, next gen sequencing can be an extremely valuable adjunct to assist in accurate classification of difficult melanocytic neoplasms. Next gen sequencing also provides valuable information to guide treatment. In a study of targeted next gen sequencing for 274 consecutive melanomas, actionable mutations were detected in 72% of tumors, highlighting the utility of such analysis for guiding therapy (Leichsenring et al. 2018). Next gen sequencing also provides information on mutational burden allowing an estimate of the neoantigen load to help assess the likelihood of response to immune checkpoint blockade therapy. The greater the mutation burden and neoantigen load in a melanoma, the more likely the tumor is to respond to such immunotherapies (Van Allen et al. 2015).

# Prognosis

Numerous studies have assessed mutation status with prognosis. While *BRAF* mutation has no implications in the distinction of melanocytic nevi from melanomas, the presence of *BRAF* mutations in melanomas has been associated with more aggressive disease when compared to *BRAF* wild type melanomas in some studies (Nagore et al. 2014; Long et al. 2011). *TERT* promoter mutations have also been associated with a poor prognosis in non-acral cutaneous melanomas (Griewank et al. 2014). Regarding spitzoid neoplasms, *TERT* promoter mutations were found in the only four lethal melanomas in a study of 56 atypical Spitz tumors and spitzoid melanomas, while all nonlethal tumors lacked the

mutation (Lee et al. 2015a). Bi-allelic inactivation of *BAP1*, often through a combination of mutation and chromosome 3 loss, is a poor prognostic indicator in uveal and blue nevus-like melanoma (Harbour et al. 2010), while mutations in *SF3B1* or *EIF1AX* are associated with less aggressive uveal melanomas (Harbour et al. 2013; Martin et al. 2013).

### Limitations

- Requires special equipment and bioinformatic infrastructure
- Expertise required to determine which DNA alterations represent true pathogenic mutations

# **RNA-Based Testing**

### Gene Expression Analysis

Commercially available gene expression tests are available for both diagnostic and prognostic assistance in melanocytic tumors. Quantitative reverse transcriptase polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) is used to assess mRNA levels in select genes from formalin fixed, paraffin embedded tissue. A 23 gene panel with a reported sensitivity and specificity of approximately 90% in distinguishing unequivocal nevi from melanomas is commercially available from Myriad (myPath® Melanoma) to assist in the diagnosis of ambiguous melanocytic neoplasms (Clarke et al. 2015). mRNA levels of 23 genes including one melanocytic differentiation gene (PRAME), 8 immune-related genes, 5 cell signaling genes, and 9 housekeeping genes are assessed in a proprietary algorithm, and a score from -16.7 to 11.1 is generated (Table 3). Scores from -16.7 to -2.1 are considered likely benign, scores from -2.0 to -0.1 are indeterminate, and scores from 0.0 to +11.1 are considered likely malignant. Large validation cohorts have been studied with this test with a range of different types of nevi, but the vast majority of melanomas assessed include only superficial spreading, lentigo maligna, and nodular melanomas (Clarke et al. 2015, 2017a). Lower sensitivity of 75% was reported in a later study on desmoplastic melanoma and desmoplastic nevi, while specificity remained

Table 3 Myriad myPath

gene expression panel

PRAME	CLTC ^a
S100A7	MRFAPI ^a
S100A8	PPP2CA ^a
S100A9	PSMA1 ^a
S100A12	RPL13A ^a
PI3	RPL8 ^a
CCL5	RPS29 ^a
CD38	SLC25A3 ^a
CXCL9	TXNLI ^a
CXCL10	
IRF1	
LCP2	
PTPRC	
SELL	
^a Control genes	

high in this setting (100%) (Clarke et al. 2017b). Limited numbers of acral, spitzoid, nevoid, and blue nevus-like melanomas have been assessed. Case reports of false negative myPath[®] results in blue nevus-like melanomas indicate caution is warranted when testing less common variants of melanoma with this assay (Castillo et al. 2018). A significant limitation for incorporating this gene expression test into clinical practice is the lack of data on performance in ambiguous melanocytic tumors with known clinical outcomes. As the test is intended for use in such ambiguous tumors and not unequivocal nevi and melanomas, further studies are needed to determine the sensitivity and specificity in ambiguous neoplasms.

# myPath[®] Gene Expression Versus FISH

In a head-to-head study of FISH and the myPath[®] gene expression test, FISH outperformed myPath[®] with 93% sensitivity, 100% specificity in unequivocal nevi and melanomas compared to 62% sensitivity, 97% specificity for myPath[®] (Minca et al. 2016). Performance of both tests decreased for histopathologically ambiguous cases with sensitivity and specificity of 52% and 80% for myPath[®] compared to 56% and 83% for FISH, with 15% of cases yielding indeterminate readings for myPath[®]. Sensitivity was particularly poor in spitzoid tumors (30% myPath, 50% FISH). A similar study comparing myPath[®] with FISH showed 72% sensitivity and 94% specificity

for myPath in an initial cohort of unambiguous nevi and melanomas, which decreased to 50% sensitivity and 96% specificity in tumors with ambiguous histopathologic features (Reimann et al. 2018). FISH was not tested in the initial unambiguous cohort, but showed 61% sensitivity, 100% specificity in the ambiguous tumors. A limited number of the ambiguous cases were also tested with SNP array CGH. Overall, SNP array CGH had the best correlation with consensus diagnoses, followed by FISH and then myPath[®]. A major limitation of these studies is the lack of clinical outcome data for the ambiguous tumors.

### **Noninvasive Gene Expression Testing**

In addition to extracting RNA from a skin biopsy, RNA can also be isolated from the stratum corneum of the epidermis through a tape stripping technique. A customized adhesive is applied to the skin and when removed, pulls a portion of the outer cornified layer off that can be assessed with RT-PCR for gene expression. Early testing of this technique generated a 17 gene expression panel that distinguished between melanoma and nevi in a validation cohort with a sensitivity and specificity of 100% and 88% respectively (Wachsman et al. 2011). Follow-up studies found a simplified two gene assay targeting expression levels of LINC00518 and PRAME had sensitivity and specificity of 91% and 69%, respectively (Gerami et al. 2017). Specificity appears to be highest when expression levels for both genes test positive (Ferris et al. 2018). This testing is commercially available as the pigmented lesion assay (PLA) from DermTech. The number of studies assessing the clinical utility of this technique is limited.

# Limitations

- Diagnostic gene expression tests are only validated for primary biopsies of primary tumors and are not recommended for re-excision specimens
- Additionally, tape stripping analysis is not validated for use on mucosal surfaces, acral sites, areas where non-vellus hair cannot be trimmed (e.g., scalp), bleeding or ulcerated lesions, pediatric patients, patients with a Fitzpatrick

skin type IV or higher, and nonpigmented lesions

- Reports indicate poor sensitivity for spitzoid and blue nevus-type tumors
- A significant percentage of cases return an indeterminate result for myPath[®]

### Prognosis

Commercially available prognostic gene expression tests are available for uveal melanoma (Castle Biosciences, DecisionDx-UM) and cutaneous melanoma (Castle Biosciences, DecisionDx-Melanoma). Both tests divide melanomas into prognostic classes based on differential gene expression patterns. The uveal DecisionDx-UM test utilizes a 15-gene panel to identify tumors as class 1A with a 2% chance of metastasis within 5 years, class 1B with a 21% chance, and class 2 with a 72% chance (Gill and Char 2012). The DecisionDx-Melanoma test uses a 31-gene panel to determine prognosis for cutaneous melanoma (Table 4) (Gerami et al. 2015). Cutaneous class 1 melanomas have an 8% risk of metastasis within 5 years, while class 2 tumors have a 38% risk (Zager et al. 2018). The prognostic value of these gene expression tests appears to be independent of other known prognostic factors including tumor thickness and sentinel lymph node status. In an effort to further subclassify prognostic groups, class 1 and 2 were split into classes 1A, 1B, 2A, and 2B. This results in greater separation between prognostic groups 1A and 2B, but creates a more confusing classification for 1B and 2A, where class 1B tumors can have a worse prognosis than 2A tumors (Zager et al. 2018). Concern has also been raised regarding the use of the test in early stage melanoma, as there could be potential

harm from overtreatment and emotional distress for patients with class 2b results that still have >85% five year survival rates (Marchetti et al. 2018). The cost of the test (~\$8000) is also a potential concern. The 2018 recommendations from the American Joint Committee on Cancer (AJCC) did not find sufficient evidence to recommend gene expression profiling for staging of cutaneous melanoma. Prospective clinical trials are needed to demonstrate test benefits outweigh potential harms and high costs.

### MicroRNA

MicroRNAs (miRNA) are small, noncoding RNA molecules that regulate gene expression by binding messenger RNA (mRNA) and preventing protein translation. Hundreds of miRNA genes have been discovered, indicating broad involvement of this type of RNA in cellular function. Additionally, dysregulation of miRNA has been demonstrated in various cancers, including melanoma (Lu et al. 2005). A small number of studies have looked at the differential expression of miRNAs in different types of melanocytic tumors (Table 5). Significant increase in miR-21-5p and miR-424-5p has been found in invasive melanoma compared with in situ melanoma, while let-7b levels were decreased in invasive and in situ melanomas compared with melanocytic nevi (Babapoor et al. 2017). miR-21 and miR-155 have been reported as two of the most highly upregulated miRNAs in melanoma and borderline melanocytic neoplasms compared to nevi (Grignol et al. 2011). Spitzoid melanomas have increased miR-21, miR-150, miR-155, and miR-200c levels, while Spitz nevi

Table 4 DecisionDx-   Melanoma prognostic gene expression panel						
	BAP1	SAP130	CRABP2	TRIM29		
	MGP	ARG1	KRT14	AQP3		
	SPP1	KRT6B	ROBO1	TYRP1		
	CXCL14	GJA1	RBM23	PPL		
	CLCA2	ID2	TACSTD2	LTA4H		
	S100A8	EIF1B	DSC1	CST6		
	S100A9	BTG1	SPRR1B			
	<i>HNRPNL</i> ^a	YKT6 ^a	FXR1 ^a			

^aControl genes

Upregulated	Up in
in melanoma	nevi
miR-17-5p	Let-7b
miR-21	miR- 22
miR-107	miR- 211
miR-130	
miR-150	
miR-155	
miR-181-b	
miR-200c	
miR-221	
miR-424-5p	

**Table 5**MicroRNA levelsin melanocytic neoplasms

have upregulation of miR-22 (Latchana et al. 2017). miRNA levels can be quantified with RT-PCR, or in situ hybridization can also be used to assess miRNA expression levels in routine biopsies. Due to the limited amount of study data, miRNA analysis is not currently routinely used in clinical practice for evaluating melanocytic tumors.

# **Protein-Based Testing**

### Immunohistochemistry

Immunohistochemistry involves the use of monoclonal or polyclonal antibodies to assess for the presence of a target protein. A direct method can be employed in which the primary antibodies are conjugated to a signaling molecule such as a fluorescent tag which can be visualized with microscopy. An indirect method utilizes an unlabeled primary antibody followed by a secondary antibody that binds the Fc portion of the primary antibody. The secondary antibody is linked to a marker molecule or enzyme that catalyzes a detection signal (e.g., peroxidase). The indirect method has the advantage of signal amplification, where multiple secondary antibodies will bind the primary antibody and amplify the signal.

Immunohistochemical staining (immunostaining) is routinely used by pathologists to aid in the diagnosis of melanocytic neoplasms. Immunostaining with antibodies to proteins such as SOX10, S100, Melan-A, tyrosinase, HMB45, and MITF can be used to assess for melanocytic differentiation in a tumor. SOX10 and S100 stains offer high sensitivity for the detection of melanocytic tumors, but lack specificity. Immunostains targeting melanosomeassociated proteins such as Melan-A and HMB45 are more specific, but are frequently negative in poorly differentiated melanocytic tumors (e.g., desmoplastic melanoma). Dermal maturation gradients that are typically found in melanocytic nevi and not in melanoma can also be assessed for with HMB45 staining.

In addition to identifying melanocytic lineage, immunostains are also used as diagnostic adjuncts in the assessment of ambiguous melanocytic neoplasms. Markers of cellular proliferation and mitosis such as Ki-67 and phosphohistone H3 show increased labeling in melanomas compared to nevi. Assessing their expression in the context of other clinical and histopathologic features can add value in distinguishing melanocytic nevi and melanomas and can also add prognostic value (Ladstein et al. 2010; Nielsen et al. 2013). Loss of tumor suppressor proteins such as p15, p16, and p21, which play critical roles in the prevention of melanoma development, can also be assessed with immunohistochemistry. Semiquantitative or quantitative analysis of p16 staining can provide insight into hetero- or homozygous loss of the CDKN2A gene (Shain et al. 2015). Loss of p16 expression has been found in multiple studies as a distinguishing feature between melanoma (absent p16 expression) and Spitz nevi (Harms et al. 2016; Wiedemeyer et al. 2018)

Recently, an antibody for PRAME was developed to assist in distinguishing nevi from melanomas. PRAME was first discovered as a protein in metastatic melanoma, but it has subsequently been identified as a tumor antigen in cancers of numerous organ systems. *PRAME* expression levels are a component of multiple RNA expression assays used as diagnostic and prognostic tests in the assessment of melanocytic tumors (see GENE EXPRESSION ANALYSIS section). Positive immunostaining for PRAME has recently been reported as ~85% sensitive for the detection of melanoma in a cohort of 255 primary and metastatic melanomas (Lezcano et al. 2018).
Sensitivity was high for acral, superficial spreading, nodular, and lentigo maligna melanoma subtypes, while only 35% of desmoplastic melanomas were positive. PRAME expression may be useful to assess surgical margins for subtle melanoma in situ as well. Approximately 15% of melanocytic nevi are PRAME positive, typically showing only focal staining for PRAME.

#### Immunohistochemistry and Epigenetics

As understanding of the epigenetics of melanocytic neoplasia has increased, immunostains have been developed to target epigenetic differences between melanocytic nevi and melanomas. Loss of the epigenetic marker 5-hydroxymethylcytosine (5-hmC) has been reported as a distinguishing feature of melanoma that can be assessed by immunostaining (Lian et al. 2012). Numerous studies have shown sensitivity and specificity >90% for 5-hmC staining in the diagnosis of various types of nevi including conventional nevi, Spitz nevi, dysplastic nevi, blue nevi, deep penetrating nevi, and intranodal nevi and various types of melanoma including melanomas on acral skin, skin from both low and high cumulative sun exposure, mucosal melanomas, and metastatic melanomas (Lee et al. 2015b, 2017; Uchiyama et al. 2014). 5-hmC staining in histopathologically ambiguous neoplasms has been reported in one study and appears less definitive showing intermediate levels of 5-hmC expression.

An additional epigenetic alteration reported to assist in the diagnosis of melanomas is loss of trimethylation at lysine 27 of histone H3 (H3K27me3). Distinguishing spindle cell and desmoplastic melanomas from malignant peripheral nerve sheath tumors (MPNSTs) can be exceedingly difficult. Loss of H3K27me3 was initially reported as a highly specific feature of higher grade MPNSTs that was not seen in spindle cell melanomas (Schaefer et al. 2016). However, a larger follow-up study of 122 MPNSTs and 265 melanomas did not support this high specificity, with 72% of MPNSTs showing complete loss of expression and 37% of melanomas also showing complete loss of expression (Le Guellec et al. 2017). The lack

of specificity of H3K27me3 loss in this differential diagnosis limits the clinical utility of this stain.

# Immunohistochemistry for the Detection of Genetic Alterations

Immunohistochemistry can also serve as a screening tool for genetic alterations in melanocytic tumors. As previously mentioned, loss of p16 expression can indicate inactivation/loss of CDKN2A. Loss of nuclear BAP1 expression is indicative of bi-allelic inactivation. When the nuclear localization sequence of BAP1 is disrupted, BAP1 protein can be seen accumulating in the cytoplasm outside the nuclear membrane by BAP1 immunostaining (Fig. 9). However, some inactivating mutations of BAP1 still show preserved immunoreactivity, limiting the sensitivity of the stain. Immunostains have also been developed to detect common conserved mutations in melanoma such as  $BRAF^{V600E}$  and NRAS^{Q61R} with very high sensitivity and specificity (Anwar et al. 2016; Massi et al. 2015). Similarly, some kinase fusions can be assessed for using immunostains. ALK immunostaining is highly effective for the detection of ALK fusions, as ALK protein is not normally expressed in melanocytes (Busam et al. 2014). Of note, a small percentage of melanocytic neoplasms without ALK gene fusion can activate ALK through alternative transcript



**Fig. 9** Immunohistochemistry of BAP1 inactivation. The large neoplastic melanocytes show negative nuclear staining, while positive staining is present in the cytoplasm adjacent to the nucleus (yellow arrows). Nonneoplastic stromal cells have normal nuclear expression of BAP1 (green arrows). BAP1 stain 600x, red chromagen

activation of ALK, which can also produce positive ALK immunostaining (Wiesner et al. 2015). NTRK1 staining can be helpful in detecting *NTRK* fusions, but is more difficult to interpret due to basal expression of NTRK proteins in normal melanocytes. ROS1 and MET stains are also available, and high expression levels can indicate the presence of the respective fusion kinase.

# Immunohistochemistry for Immune Checkpoint Blockade

Recent advances in immunotherapy for late-stage melanoma have revolutionized treatment and increased survival for patients. Given the high cost and potential serious side effects of these new immunologic therapies such as the immune checkpoint blockade agents targeting PD1 and PDL1, there is great interest in biomarkers that can indicate likelihood of tumor response to therapy. Dense infiltrates of CD8+ cytotoxic T lymphocytes have been observed in biopsies of patients experiencing tumor regression after anti-PD1 therapy (Hamid et al. 2013). When assessing pretreatment biopsies, the presence higher numbers of CD8+, PD-1+, and PD-L1+ cells at the invasive tumor margin has been associated with favorable treatment responses, with CD8 expression at the invasive margin being the most significant predictor in one study (Tumeh et al. 2014). Expression of cell surface PDL1 by at least 5% of tumor cells has been shown to indicate higher likelihood of treatment response to anti-PD1 therapy (Topalian et al. 2012). However, variable tumor PDL1 expression can be seen in multiple biopsies from the same patient, indicating this method is problematic to predict treatment response based on a single biopsy. Additionally, while greater expression of PDL1 appears to consistently indicate a higher likelihood of treatment response (~45%) for both anti-PD1 and anti-PDL1 therapy across multiple studies, approximately 15% of tumors that lack expression of PDL1 also respond to treatment (Sunshine and Taube 2015). Standardization of scoring and staining for PDL1 expression also presents challenges. While there does appear to be some utility in immunostaining to predict treatment response, it remains an imperfect modality and cannot be

relied on as a sole predictor to guide therapeutic decisions.

#### Mass Spectrometry

Mass spectrometry involves separation of a target sample into its constituent parts based on mass and charge. In a biopsy, this technique can be used to identify different proteins in a given piece of tissue and create multi-protein spectral plots for comparison between nevi and melanomas. A pilot study using matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization (MALDI) mass spectrometry to assess spitzoid melanocytic neoplasms was reported in 2012 (Lazova et al. 2012). By analyzing both the tumor and the adjacent tumor microenvironment, this technique was able to differentiate between Spitz nevi and spitzoid melanoma with 97% sensitivity and 90% specificity. Two of the protein peaks in the spectra used for distinguishing the neoplasms were identified as actin and vimentin. However, follow-up studies using immunohistochemistry did not show any significant difference in the expression of these proteins between the nevi and melanomas (Alomari et al. 2015). Additional reports indicate promise for this test in atypical spitzoid tumors with long-term followup and anecdotally in a congenital nevus and proliferative nodule (Lazova et al. 2016, 2017). The test is now commercially available. However, given the limited amount of published data, which comes exclusively from the group that developed and commercialized the test, clinical utility of this test remains uncertain.

#### Conclusion

Multiple molecular tests are available to assist in the diagnosis of melanocytic tumors. Immunohistochemistry has become fundamental in all pathology labs and is used daily to assist pathologists in the diagnosis of melanocytic tumors. In cases where a definitive diagnosis is not achieved from histopathologic and immunohistochemical assessment, the DNA-based modalities of CGH and FISH have the most study data to support their utility. Both can provide valuable information regarding DNA copy number changes in a melanocytic neoplasm, with CGH providing a comprehensive view of the genome and FISH assessing for targeted CNAs associated with melanoma. Next gen sequencing provides the most comprehensive genomic information, but presents the most challenges with data interpretation. Gene expression panels and mass spectrometry are commercially available for both diagnostic and prognostic use, but their niche in ancillary testing of melanocytic tumors is less well defined. Further studies are necessary to identify scenarios in which these tests would be preferred.

#### References

- (2015) Genomic classification of cutaneous melanoma. Cell 161(7):1681–1696. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. cell.2015.05.044
- Ablain J, Xu M, Rothschild H, Jordan RC, Mito JK, Daniels BH, Bell CF et al (2018) Human tumor genomics and zebrafish modeling identify SPRED1 loss as a driver of mucosal melanoma. Science (New York, NY) 362 (6418):1055–1060. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aau 6509
- Alomari AK, Klump V, Neumeister V, Ariyan S, Narayan D, Lazova R (2015) Comparison of the expression of vimentin and actin in Spitz nevi and Spitzoid malignant melanomas. Am J Dermatopathol 37(1):46–51. https:// doi.org/10.1097/DAD.00000000000147
- Al-Rohil RN, Curry JL, Torres-Cabala CA, Nagarajan P, Ivan D, Aung PP, Lyons GF, Bassett RL, Prieto VG, Tetzlaff MT (2016) Proliferation indices correlate with diagnosis and metastasis in diagnostically challenging melanocytic tumors. Hum Pathol 53:73–81. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.humpath.2016.02.019
- Anwar MAF, Murad F, Dawson E, Abd Elmageed ZY, Tsumagari K, Kandil E (2016) Immunohistochemistry as a reliable method for detection of BRAF-V600E mutation in melanoma: a systematic review and metaanalysis of current published literature. J Surg Res 203 (2):407–415. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jss.2016.04.029
- Babapoor S, Wu R, Kozubek J, Auidi D, Grant-Kels JM, Dadras SS (2017) Identification of MicroRNAs associated with invasive and aggressive phenotype in cutaneous melanoma by next-generation sequencing. Lab Investig J Techn Methods Pathol 97(6):636–648. https://doi.org/10.1038/labinvest.2017.5
- Bastian BC, LeBoit PE, Hamm H, Bröcker E-B, Pinkel D (1998) Chromosomal gains and losses in primary cutaneous melanomas detected by comparative genomic hybridization. Cancer Res 58(10):2170–2175

- Bastian BC, Xiong J, Frieden IJ, Williams ML, Chou P, Busam K, Pinkel D, LeBoit PE (2002) Genetic changes in neoplasms arising in congenital melanocytic nevi: differences between nodular proliferations and melanomas. Am J Pathol 161(4):1163–1169. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/S0002-9440(10)64393-3
- Busam KJ, Fang Y, Jhanwar SC, Pulitzer MP, Marr B, Abramson DH (2010) Distinction of conjunctival melanocytic nevi from melanomas by fluorescence in situ hybridization. J Cutan Pathol 37(2):196–203. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0560.2009.01488.x
- Busam KJ, Kutzner H, Cerroni L, Wiesner T (2014) Clinical and pathologic findings of Spitz nevi and atypical Spitz tumors with ALK fusions. Am J Surg Pathol 38(7):925–933. https://doi.org/ 10.1097/PAS.00000000000187
- Carter MD, Durham AB, Miedema JR, Harms PW, Chan MP, Patel RM, Lowe L et al (2018) Molecular testing of borderline cutaneous melanocytic lesions: SNP array is more sensitive and specific than FISH. Hum Pathol. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.humpath.2018.12.002
- Castillo SA, Pham AK, Barton DT, Lefferts JA, Yan S, Bridge JA, Linos K (2018) A diagnosticallychallenging case of melanoma ex blue nevus with comprehensive molecular analysis, including the 23-gene expression signature (myPath melanoma). J Cutan Pathol. https://doi.org/10.1111/cup.13400
- Clarke LE, Warf MB, Flake DD, Hartman A-R, Tahan S, Shea CR, Gerami P et al (2015) Clinical validation of a gene expression signature that differentiates benign nevi from malignant melanoma. J Cutan Pathol 42(4):244–252. https://doi.org/10.1111/cup.12475
- Clarke LE, Flake DD, Busam K, Cockerell C, Helm K, McNiff J, Reed J et al (2017a) An independent validation of a gene expression signature to differentiate malignant melanoma from benign melanocytic nevi. Cancer 123(4):617–628. https://doi.org/10.1002/ cncr.30385
- Clarke LE, Pimentel JD, Zalaznick H, Wang L, Busam KJ (2017b) Gene expression signature as an ancillary method in the diagnosis of desmoplastic melanoma. Hum Pathol 70:113–120. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. humpath.2017.10.005
- Costa S, Byrne M, Pissaloux D, Haddad V, Paindavoine S, Thomas L, Aubin F et al (2016) Melanomas associated with blue nevi or mimicking cellular blue nevi: clinical, pathologic, and molecular study of 11 cases displaying a high frequency of GNA11 mutations, BAP1 expression loss, and a predilection for the scalp. Am J Surg Pathol 40(3):368–377. https://doi.org/10.1097/ PAS.000000000000568
- Curtin JA, Fridlyand J, Kageshita T, Patel HN, Busam KJ, Kutzner H, Cho K-H et al (2005) Distinct sets of genetic alterations in melanoma. N Engl J Med 353(20):2135–2147. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa0 50092
- Dalton SR, Gerami P, Kolaitis NA, Charzan S, Werling R, LeBoit PE, Bastian BC (2010) Use of fluorescence in situ hybridization (FISH) to distinguish Intranodal

nevus from metastatic melanoma. Am J Surg Pathol 34(2):231–237. https://doi.org/10.1097/PAS.0b013e31 81c805c4

- Farmer ER, Gonin R, Hanna MP (1996) Discordance in the histopathologic diagnosis of melanoma and melanocytic nevi between expert pathologists. Hum Pathol 27(6):528–531
- Ferris LK, Gerami P, Skelsey MK, Peck G, Hren C, Gorman C, Frumento T, Siegel DM (2018) Realworld performance and utility of a noninvasive gene expression assay to evaluate melanoma risk in pigmented lesions. Melanoma Res 28(5):478–482. https://doi.org/10.1097/CMR.00000000000478
- Gammon B, Beilfuss B, Guitart J, Busam KJ, Gerami P (2011) Fluorescence in situ hybridization for distinguishing cellular blue nevi from blue nevus-like melanoma. J Cutan Pathol 38(4):335–341. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1600-0560.2010.01667.x
- Gammon B, Beilfuss B, Guitart J, Gerami P (2012) Enhanced detection of Spitzoid melanomas using fluorescence in situ hybridization with 9p21 as an adjunctive probe. Am J Surg Pathol 36(1):81–88. https://doi. org/10.1097/PAS.0b013e31822d5ff8
- Gerami P, Jewell SS, Morrison LE, Blondin B, Schulz J, Ruffalo T, Matushek P et al (2009a) Fluorescence in situ hybridization (FISH) as an ancillary diagnostic tool in the diagnosis of melanoma. Am J Surg Pathol 33(8):1146–1156. https://doi.org/10.1097/PAS.0b013e3 181a1ef36
- Gerami P, Wass A, Mafee M, Fang Y, Pulitzer MP, Busam KJ (2009b) Fluorescence in situ hybridization for distinguishing nevoid melanomas from mitotically active nevi. Am J Surg Pathol 33(12):1783–1788. https://doi.org/10.1097/PAS.0b013e3181ba6db6
- Gerami P, Barnhill RL, Beilfuss BA, LeBoit P, Schneider P, Guitart J (2010) Superficial melanocytic neoplasms with pagetoid melanocytosis: a study of interobserver concordance and correlation with FISH. Am J Surg Pathol 34(6):816–821. https://doi.org/10.1097/PAS.0b013e31 81dd1e72
- Gerami P, Beilfuss B, Haghighat Z, Fang Y, Jhanwar S, Busam KJ (2011a) Fluorescence in situ hybridization as an ancillary method for the distinction of desmoplastic melanomas from sclerosing melanocytic nevi. J Cutan Pathol 38(4):329–334. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/j.1600-0560.2010.01666.x
- Gerami P, Jewell SS, Pouryazdanparast P, Wayne JD, Haghighat Z, Busam KJ, Rademaker A, Morrison L (2011b) Copy number gains in 11q13 and 8q24 [corrected] are highly linked to prognosis in cutaneous malignant melanoma. J Mol Diagn: JMD 13(3): 352–358. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmoldx.2011.01.011
- Gerami P, Li G, Pouryazdanparast P, Blondin B, Beilfuss B, Slenk C, Jing D, Guitart J, Jewell S, Pestova K (2012) A highly specific and discriminatory FISH assay for distinguishing between benign and malignant melanocytic neoplasms. Am J Surg Pathol 36(6):808–817. https://doi.org/10.1097/ PAS.0b013e31824b1efd

- Gerami P, Scolyer RA, Xiaowei X, Elder DE, Abraham RM, Fullen D, Prieto VG et al (2013) Risk assessment for atypical spitzoid melanocytic neoplasms using FISH to identify chromosomal copy number aberrations. Am J Surg Pathol 37(5):676–684. https://doi. org/10.1097/PAS.0b013e3182753de6
- Gerami P, Cook RW, Russell MC, Wilkinson J, Amaria RN, Gonzalez R, Lyle S et al (2015) Gene expression profiling for molecular staging of cutaneous melanoma in patients undergoing sentinel lymph node biopsy. J Am Acad Dermatol 72(5):780–785.e3. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.jaad.2015.01.009
- Gerami P, Yao Z, Polsky D, Jansen B, Busam K, Ho J, Martini M, Ferris LK (2017) Development and validation of a noninvasive 2-gene molecular assay for cutaneous melanoma. J Am Acad Dermatol 76(1):114–120. e2. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaad.2016.07.038
- Gill HS, Char DH (2012) Uveal melanoma prognostication: from lesion size and cell type to molecular class. Can J Ophthalmol 47(3):246–253. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.jcjo.2012.03.038
- Griewank KG, Murali R, Puig-Butille JA, Schilling B, Livingstone E, Potrony M, Carrera C et al (2014) TERT promoter mutation status as an independent prognostic factor in cutaneous melanoma. J Natl Cancer Inst 106(9). https://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/dju246
- Grignol V, Fairchild ET, Zimmerer JM, Lesinski GB, Walker MJ, Magro CM, Kacher JE et al (2011) MiR-21 and MiR-155 are associated with mitotic activity and lesion depth of borderline melanocytic lesions. Br J Cancer 105(7):1023–1029. https://doi.org/10.1038/ bjc.2011.288
- Hamid O, Robert C, Daud A, Stephen Hodi F, Hwu W-J, Kefford R, Wolchok JD et al (2013) Safety and tumor responses with Lambrolizumab (anti-PD-1) in melanoma. N Engl J Med 369(2):134–144. https://doi.org/ 10.1056/NEJMoa1305133
- Harbour JW, Onken MD, Roberson EDO, Duan S, Cao L, Worley LA, Council ML, Matatall KA, Helms C, Bowcock AM (2010) Frequent mutation of BAP1 in metastasizing uveal melanomas. Science (New York, NY) 330(6009):1410–1413. https://doi.org/10.1126/ science.1194472
- Harbour JW, Roberson EDO, Anbunathan H, Onken MD, Worley LA, Bowcock AM (2013) Recurrent mutations at codon 625 of the splicing factor SF3B1 in uveal melanoma. Nat Genet 45(2):133–135. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/ng.2523
- Harms PW, Hocker TL, Zhao L, Chan MP, Andea AA, Wang M, Harms KL et al (2016) Loss of P16 expression and copy number changes of CDKN2A in a spectrum of spitzoid melanocytic lesions. Hum Pathol 58:152–160. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.humpath.2016.07.029
- Hayward NK, Wilmott JS, Waddell N, Johansson PA, Field MA, Nones K, Patch A-M et al (2017) Whole-genome landscapes of major melanoma subtypes. Nature 545 (7653):175–180. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature22071
- Hirsch D, Kemmerling R, Davis S, Camps J, Meltzer PS, Ried T, Gaiser T (2012) Chromothripsis and focal copy

number alterations determine poor outcome in malignant melanoma. Cancer Res. https://doi.org/10.1158/ 0008-5472.CAN-12-0928

- Ladstein RG, Bachmann IM, Straume O, Akslen LA (2010) Ki-67 expression is superior to mitotic count and novel proliferation markers PHH3, MCM4 and Mitosin as a prognostic factor in thick cutaneous melanoma. BMC Cancer 10(April):140. https://doi.org/ 10.1186/1471-2407-10-140
- Latchana N, Martin Del Campo SE, Grignol VP, Clark JR, Albert SP, Zhang J, Wei L et al (2017) Classification of indeterminate melanocytic lesions by microRNA profiling. Ann Surg Oncol 24(2):347–354. https://doi.org/ 10.1245/s10434-016-5476-9
- Lazova R, Seeley EH, Keenan M, Gueorguieva R, Caprioli RM (2012) Imaging mass spectrometry – a new and promising method to differentiate Spitz nevi from Spitzoid malignant melanomas. Am J Dermatopathol 34(1):82–90. https://doi.org/10.1097/DAD.0b013e31 823df1e2
- Lazova R, Seeley EH, Kutzner H, Scolyer RA, Scott G, Cerroni L, Fried I et al (2016) Imaging mass spectrometry assists in the classification of diagnostically challenging atypical Spitzoid neoplasms. J Am Acad Dermatol 75(6):1176–1186.e4. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.jaad.2016.07.007
- Lazova R, Yang Z, El Habr C, Lim Y, Choate KA, Seeley EH, Caprioli RM, Yangqun L (2017) Mass spectrometry imaging can distinguish on a proteomic level between proliferative nodules within a benign congenital nevus and malignant melanoma. Am J Dermatopathol 39(9):689–695. https://doi.org/ 10.1097/DAD.00000000000849
- Le Guellec S, Macagno N, Velasco V, Lamant L, Lae M, Filleron T, Malissen N et al (2017) Loss of H3K27 Trimethylation is not suitable for distinguishing malignant peripheral nerve sheath tumor from melanoma: a study of 387 cases including mimicking lesions. Mod Pathol Off J U S Can Acad Pathol Inc 30(12):1677–1687. https://doi.org/10.1038/modpathol.2017.91
- Lee S, Barnhill RL, Dummer R, Dalton J, Jianrong W, Pappo A, Bahrami A (2015a) TERT promoter mutations are predictive of aggressive clinical behavior in patients with Spitzoid melanocytic neoplasms. Sci Rep 5(June):11200. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep11200
- Lee JJ, Granter SR, Laga AC, Saavedra AP, Zhan Q, Guo W, Shuyun X, Murphy GF, Lian CG (2015b) 5-Hydroxymethylcytosine expression in metastatic melanoma versus nodal nevus in sentinel lymph node biopsies. Mod Pathol Off J U S Can Acad Pathol Inc 28(2):218–229. https://doi.org/10.1038/ modpathol.2014.99
- Lee JJ, Vilain RE, Granter SR, Hu NR, Bresler SC, Xu S, Frank AH et al (2017) 5-Hydroxymethylcytosine is a nuclear biomarker to assess biological potential in histologically ambiguous heavily pigmented melanocytic neoplasms. J Cutan Pathol 44(3):249–255. https://doi. org/10.1111/cup.12880
- Leichsenring J, Stögbauer F, Volckmar A-L, Buchhalter I, Oliveira C, Kirchner M, Fröhling S et al (2018) Genetic profiling of melanoma in routine diagnostics: assay

performance and molecular characteristics in a consecutive series of 274 cases. Pathology 50(7):703–710. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pathol.2018.08.004

- Lezcano C, Jungbluth AA, Nehal KS, Hollmann TJ, Busam KJ (2018) PRAME expression in melanocytic tumors. Am J Surg Pathol 42(11):1456–1465. https:// doi.org/10.1097/PAS.00000000001134
- Lian CG, Yufei X, Ceol C, Feizhen W, Larson A, Dresser K, Wenqi X et al (2012) Loss of 5-Hydroxymethylcytosine is an epigenetic Hallmark of melanoma. Cell 150(6):1135–1146. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.cell.2012.07.033
- Long GV, Menzies AM, Nagrial AM, Haydu LE, Hamilton AL, Mann GJ, Hughes TM, Thompson JF, Scolyer RA, Kefford RF (2011) Prognostic and Clinicopathologic associations of oncogenic BRAF in metastatic melanoma. J Clin Oncol Off J Am Soc Clin Oncol 29(10):1239–1246. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2010.32.4327
- Lu J, Getz G, Miska EA, Alvarez-Saavedra E, Lamb J, Peck D, Sweet-Cordero A et al (2005) MicroRNA expression profiles classify human cancers. Nature 435 (7043):834–838. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature03702
- Machan S, Molina-Ruiz AM, Fernández-Aceñero MJ, Encabo B, LeBoit P, Bastian BC, Requena L (2015) Metastatic melanoma in association with a Giant congenital melanocytic nevus in an adult: controversial CGH findings. Am J Dermatopathol 37(6):487–494. https://doi.org/10.1097/DAD.00000000000152
- Maize JCJ, McCalmont TH, Carlson JA, Busam KJ, Kutzner H, Bastian BC (2005) Genomic analysis of blue nevi and related dermal melanocytic proliferations. Am J Surg Pathol 29(9):1214–1220
- Marchetti MA, Bartlett EK, Dusza SW, Bichakjian CK (2018) Use of a prognostic gene expression profile test for T1 cutaneous melanoma: will it help or harm patients? J Am Acad Dermatol. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.jaad.2018.11.063
- Martin M, Maßhöfer L, Temming P, Rahmann S, Metz C, Bornfeld N, van de Nes J et al (2013) Exome sequencing identifies recurrent somatic mutations in EIF1AX and SF3B1 in uveal melanoma with Disomy 3. Nat Genet 45(8):933–936. https:// doi.org/10.1038/ng.2674
- Massi D, Simi L, Sensi E, Baroni G, Xue G, Scatena C, Caldarella A et al (2015) Immunohistochemistry is highly sensitive and specific for the detection of NRASQ61R mutation in melanoma. Mod Pathol Off J U S Can Acad Pathol Inc 28(4):487–497. https://doi. org/10.1038/modpathol.2014.137
- Minca EC, Al-Rohil RN, Wang M, Harms PW, Ko JS, Collie AM, Kovalyshyn I et al (2016) Comparison between melanoma gene expression score and fluorescence in situ hybridization for the classification of melanocytic lesions. Mod Pathol Off J U S Can Acad Pathol Inc 29(8):832–843. https://doi.org/10.1038/ modpathol.2016.84
- Nagore E, Requena C, Traves V, Guillen C, Hayward NK, Whiteman DC, Hacker E (2014) Prognostic value of BRAF mutations in localized cutaneous melanoma. J Am Acad Dermatol 70(5):858–862.e1-2. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jaad.2013.10.064

- Newman MD, Mirzabeigi M, Gerami P (2009) Chromosomal copy number changes supporting the classification of lentiginous junctional melanoma of the elderly as a subtype of melanoma. Mod Pathol Off J U S Can Acad Pathol Inc 22(9):1258–1262. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/modpathol.2009.93
- Nielsen PS, Riber-Hansen R, Jensen TO, Schmidt H, Steiniche T (2013) Proliferation indices of Phosphohistone H3 and Ki67: strong prognostic markers in a consecutive cohort with stage I/II melanoma. Mod Pathol Off J U S Can Acad Pathol Inc 26(3):404–413. https://doi.org/10.1038/modpathol.2012.188
- North JP, Kageshita T, Pinkel D, LeBoit PE, Bastian BC (2008) Distribution and significance of occult Intraepidermal tumor cells surrounding primary melanoma. J Invest Dermatol 128(8):2024–2030. https:// doi.org/10.1038/jid.2008.41
- North JP, Vetto JT, Murali R, White KP, Jr CRW, Bastian BC (2011) Assessment of copy number status of chromosomes 6 and 11 by FISH provides independent prognostic information in primary melanoma. Am J Surg Pathol 35(8):1146–1150. https://doi.org/10.1097/ PAS.0b013e318222a634
- North JP, Yeh I, McCalmont TH, Leboit PE (2012) Melanoma ex blue nevus: two cases resembling large plaque-type blue nevus with subcutaneous cellular nodules. J Cutan Pathol 39(12):1094–1099. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/cup.12015
- North JP, Garrido MC, Kolaitis NA, LeBoit PE, McCalmont TH, Bastian BC (2014) Fluorescence in situ hybridization as an ancillary tool in the diagnosis of ambiguous melanocytic neoplasms. Am J Surg Pathol 38:824–831
- Raskin L, Ludgate M, Iyer RK, Ackley TE, Bradford CR, Johnson TM, Fullen DR (2011) Copy number variations and clinical outcome in atypical Spitz tumors. Am J Surg Pathol 35(2):243–252. https://doi.org/10.1097/ PAS.0b013e31820393ee
- Reimann JDR, Salim S, Velazquez EF, Wang L, Williams KM, Flejter WL, Brooke L, Sunder S, Busam KJ (2018) Comparison of melanoma gene expression score with histopathology, fluorescence in situ hybridization, and SNP Array for the classification of melanocytic neoplasms. Mod Pathol Off J U S Can Acad Pathol Inc 31(11):1733–1743. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/s41379-018-0087-6
- Schaefer I-M, Fletcher CD, Hornick JL (2016) Loss of H3K27 Trimethylation distinguishes malignant peripheral nerve sheath tumors from histologic mimics. Mod Pathol Off J U S Can Acad Pathol Inc 29(1):4–13. https://doi.org/10.1038/modpathol.2015.134
- Shain AH, Yeh I, Kovalyshyn I, Sriharan A, Talevich E, Gagnon A, Dummer R et al (2015) The genetic evolution of melanoma from precursor lesions. N Engl J Med 373(20):1926–1936. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJM oa1502583
- Shen L, Cooper C, Bajaj S, Liu P, Pestova E, Guitart J, Gerami P (2013) Atypical Spitz tumors with 6q23 deletions: a clinical, histological, and molecular study. Am J Dermatopathol 35(8):804–812. https://doi.org/ 10.1097/DAD.0b013e31828671bf

- Shoo BA, Sagebiel RW, Kashani-Sabet M (2010) Discordance in the histopathologic diagnosis of melanoma at a melanoma referral center. J Am Acad Dermatol 62(5):751–756. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jaad.2009.09.043
- Sisley K, Rennie IG, Parsons MA, Jacques R, Hammond DW, Bell SM, Potter AM, Rees RC (1997) Abnormalities of chromosomes 3 and 8 in posterior uveal melanoma correlate with prognosis. Genes Chromosomes Cancer 19(1):22–28
- Su J, Yu W, Liu J, Zheng J, Huang S, Wang Y, Qi S, Ma X, Chen J, Zhang Y (2017) Fluorescence in situ hybridisation as an ancillary tool in the diagnosis of acral melanoma: a review of 44 cases. Pathology 49(7):740–749. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.pathol.2017.08.006
- Sunshine J, Taube JM (2015) PD-1/PD-L1 inhibitors. Curr Opin Pharmacol 23:32–38. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. coph.2015.05.011
- Topalian SL, Stephen Hodi F, Brahmer JR, Gettinger SN, Smith DC, McDermott DF, Powderly JD et al (2012) Safety, activity, and immune correlates of anti-PD-1 antibody in cancer. N Engl J Med 366(26):2443–2454. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1200690
- Tumeh PC, Harview CL, Yearley JH, Peter Shintaku I, Taylor EJM, Robert L, Chmielowski B et al (2014) PD-1 blockade induces responses by inhibiting adaptive immune resistance. Nature 515(7528):568–571. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature13954
- Uchiyama R, Uhara H, Uchiyama A, Ogawa E, Takazawa Y, Ashida A, Koga H, Hayashi K, Kiniwa Y, Okuyama R (2014) 5-Hydroxymethylcytosine as a useful marker to differentiate between malignant melanomas and benign melanocytic nevi. J Dermatol Sci 73(2):161–163. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.jdermsci.2013.09.008
- Van Allen EM, Miao D, Schilling B, Shukla SA, Blank C, Zimmer L, Sucker A et al (2015) Genomic correlates of response to CTLA-4 blockade in metastatic melanoma. Science (New York, NY) 350(6257):207–211. https:// doi.org/10.1126/science.aad0095
- Vergier B, Prochazkova-Carlotti M, de la Fouchardière A, Cerroni L, Massi D, De Giorgi V, Bailly C et al (2011) Fluorescence in situ hybridization, a diagnostic aid in ambiguous melanocytic tumors: European study of 113 cases. Mod Pathol Off J U S Can Acad Pathol Inc 24(5):613–623. https://doi.org/10.1038/modpathol.20 10.228
- Wachsman W, Morhenn V, Palmer T, Walls L, Hata T, Zalla J, Scheinberg R et al (2011) Noninvasive genomic detection of melanoma. Br J Dermatol 164(4):797–806. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2133.2011.10239.x
- Wiedemeyer K, Guadagno A, Davey J, Brenn T (2018) Acral Spitz nevi: a Clinicopathologic study of 50 cases with Immunohistochemical analysis of P16 and P21 expression. Am J Surg Pathol 42(6):821–827. https:// doi.org/10.1097/PAS.00000000001051
- Wiesner T, He J, Yelensky R, Esteve-Puig R, Botton T, Yeh I, Lipson D et al (2014) Kinase fusions are frequent in Spitz Tumours and Spitzoid melanomas. Nat Commun 5(3116). https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms4116
- Wiesner T, Lee W, Obenauf AC, Ran L, Murali R, Zhang QF, Wong EWP et al (2015) Alternative transcription

initiation leads to expression of a novel ALK isoform in Cancer. Nature 526(7573):453-457. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/nature15258

- Yeh I, Jorgenson E, Shen L, Xu M, North JP, Hunter Shain A, Reuss D et al (2019) Targeted genomic profiling of Acral melanoma. J Natl Cancer Inst. https:// doi.org/10.1093/jnci/djz005
- Yélamos O, Arva NC, Obregon R, Yazdan P, Wagner A, Guitart J, Gerami P (2015a) A comparative study of proliferative nodules and lethal melanomas in congenital nevi from children. Am J Surg Pathol 39(3):405–415. https://doi.org/10.1097/PAS.00000000000351
- Yélamos O, Busam KJ, Lee C, Meldi Sholl L, Amin SM, Merkel EA, Obregon R, Guitart J, Gerami P (2015b) Morphologic clues and utility of fluorescence in situ

hybridization for the diagnosis of nevoid melanoma. J Cutan Pathol 42(11):796–806. https://doi.org/10.1111/ cup.12627

- Zager JS, Gastman BR, Leachman S, Gonzalez RC, Fleming MD, Ferris LK, Ho J et al (2018) Performance of a prognostic 31-gene expression profile in an independent cohort of 523 cutaneous melanoma patients. BMC Cancer 18(1):130. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12885-018-4016-3
- Zembowicz A, Yang S-E, Kafanas A, Lyle SR (2012) Correlation between histologic assessment and fluorescence in situ hybridization using MelanoSITE in evaluation of histologically ambiguous melanocytic lesions. Arch Pathol Lab Med 136(12):1571–1579. https://doi.org/10.5858/arpa.2011-0673-OA



# Melanoma Immunology and Immunotherapy

31

Ryan J. Sullivan and F. Stephen Hodi

# Contents

Introduction	652
Requirements for Anti-melanoma Immunity	653
Immunotherapy Proof-of-Concept Examples in Melanoma         High-Dose Interleukin 2         Anti-CTLA4 Inhibition         Anti-PD-1 Inhibition         Combination Immune Checkpoint Inhibition         Oncolvtic Viruses	654 654 655 656 656 657
Current Dilemmas and Future Directions of Immunotherapy for Patients with Melanoma Predictive Biomarkers/Patient Selection Strategies Prediction/Mitigation of Toxicity	657 657 659
Conclusion	661
References	661

# Abstract

Immunotherapy has been a mainstay for decades, however in recent years a number of new approaches to harness the immune system have been developed and revolutionized the treatment of this disease. This chapter serves as an introduction to immunotherapy efforts in

Center for Melanoma, MGH Cancer Center, Boston, MA, USA e-mail: rsullivan7@mgh.harvard.edu

F. S. Hodi Department of Medicine, Brigham and Women's Hospital, Dana-Farber Cancer Institute, Boston, MA, USA

e-mail: Stephen_Hodi@dfci.harvard.edu

melanoma that includes a description of the immune system elements and tumor immune microenvironment and the justification for their targeting, presentation of proof of concept examples of effective immunotherapy, and a discussion of some of the present dilemmas in the field that need to be sorted out over the coming decade.

#### Keywords

PD-1 inhibitor · Interleukin 2 · CTLA4 · Immune related adverse events · Biomarkers

© Springer Science+Business Media, LLC, part of Springer Nature 2019 D. E. Fisher, B. C. Bastian (eds.), *Melanoma*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-7147-9_36

R. J. Sullivan (⊠)

# Introduction

In the modern history of cancer therapy, distinct eras can be defined going back to the nineteenth century. With the rise of antiseptic technique, "heroic" and radical surgeries were made possible that focused on removing solid tumors and often the draining basin lymph nodes. In this era of surgery, the morbidity of surgery was significant, and it was not until nearly a full century had passed before modified surgeries, often followed by adjuvant radiation therapy to optimize local control, became the new standard of care (Fisher et al. 1989). While surgery and radiation therapy were well-established methods of controlling locoregional disease and, if performed "early," or perhaps more accurately in patients with favorable biology, could be associated with improved survival, systemic therapy was always designed to treat disseminated disease. The early days of cytotoxic therapy led to the development of regimens that were designed to target different points in the cell division machinery and combined agents with non-overlapping, dose-limiting toxicities (Frei et al. 1958). During the era of chemotherapy, the care of hematologic malignancies and many solid tumors (e.g., testicular cancer, ovarian cancer, breast cancer) was revolutionized; however these efforts only minimally impacted the care of patients with certain tumor types, such as melanoma, and further discoveries were required to definitively impact the survival of these patients (Korn et al. 2008).

Over the past 20 years, so-called targeted therapies have been developed to treat a number of diseases, including melanoma. These include monoclonal antibodies that inhibit cell surface markers (CD-20; rituximab), cell surface receptors (erb-B2 receptor kinase (ERBB2/HER2); trastuzumab), and growth factors associated with angiogenesis (vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF); bevacizumab), as well as small molecule inhibitors of a number of cellular targets (Imai and Takaoka 2006). This latter category includes inhibitors of driving oncoproteins including BRAF in melanoma and lung cancer, epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) in lung cancer, KIT in gastrointestinal stromal tumor (GIST), and many others. However, and with few exceptions, developing therapeutic regimens that include multiple targeted agents, whether monoclonal antibodies or small molecules, has been challenging due to overlapping toxicity, and these approaches tend to be associated with transient control of disease but rarely, if ever, cure.

The search for truly curative therapy has been the goal of cancer treatment efforts since the days of the morbid, radical surgeries defined above. Curiously, the origin of revolutionary therapies aimed at inspiring the patient's immune system to kill the cancer rather than deliver agents designed to kill cancer cells directly has their roots in the era of surgery. Indeed, a surgeon named Thomas Coley observed near the turn of the twentieth century a curious, albeit rare, phenomenon of complete and durable tumor response during the recovery of a patient with a head and neck tumor and a life-threatening bacterial infection (Coley 1910). Subsequently, Coley attempted to harness the mediators of this type of response by designing and delivering a "toxin" derived from Streptococcus. While this ultimately was not proven effective for the treatment of cancer generally, it offered a proof of concept that the immune system could indeed be weaponized against an active and life-threatening malignancy. In the subsequent century, a fuller understanding of the immune system has been gained and more recently translated into the treatment of therapies that have efficacy in a number of indications.

A disease at the center of nearly all immunotherapy development is melanoma, a malignancy notoriously resistant to chemotherapy. In fact, nearly every type of immune therapy developed to date - cytokines, adoptive cell therapy (ACT), vaccines, checkpoint inhibitors, bi-specific antibodies - has been tested with some effectiveness in patients with melanoma. The initial efforts with the cytokines, interferon alpha 2b, and interleukin 2 (IL-2) were effective in a small percentage of patients and led to FDA approval of each agent in the adjuvant and metastatic setting, respectively (Kirkwood et al. 1996, 2004; Atkins et al. 1999). More importantly, the results with these agents set the stage for melanoma to be the training ground for new immunotherapy strategies. Building on

the results of IL-2, ACT was developed by investigators at the National Cancer Institute and, initially, involved isolating tumor-infiltrating T cells (TIL), growing and activating these ex vivo, and then giving these back to the patient in the context of IL-2 following lymphodepleting chemotherapy (Rosenberg et al. 2011). Building upon this approach, cellular engineering to both TIL and peripherally isolated lymphocytes has led to new products called chimeric antigen receptor (CAR)-modified T cells and T-cell receptor (TCR)-engineered cells that provide more specific T-cell activation and perhaps more robust responses than generic TIL (Maus and June 2016; Robbins et al. 2011). And yet, perhaps the most important translatable discovery was the identification of the regulatory elements around T-cell activation and effector function that, when inhibited, led to dramatic responses in a significant percentage of patients (Hodi et al. 2010; Topalian et al. 2012). These so-called immune checkpoint inhibitors do not require any ex vivo work or cell engineering but rather are given by infusion every 2-3 weeks. More importantly, these agents have activity in a broad range of malignancies and have changed the field of oncology more than any class of agents to date.

What follows is an introduction to immunotherapy efforts in melanoma that includes a description of the immune system elements and tumor immune microenvironment and the justification for their targeting, presentation of proof-of-concept examples of effective immunotherapy, and discussion of some of the present dilemmas in the field that need to be sorted out over the coming decade.

# Requirements for Anti-melanoma Immunity

Cancer in its development in a host has developed the ability to progress despite doing so within the context of an active immune system. Schreiber and colleagues described the three "Es" of the interaction between malignant cells and immune cells that either lead to the elimination of the tumor, a state of equilibrium between tumor and host immune system, or escape from immune regulation leading to the propagation of the malignant phenotype (Dunn et al. 2002). This process is, of course, hopelessly more complex that this simple model suggests, and an iterative process of malignant alterations, immune system adaptation to these alterations, leading to more malignant cell alterations and on and on. In melanoma, there are two unique aspects to the natural history of the disease that highlight this concept. First, it is a well-known phenomenon that long latencies may occur from the diagnosis of primary disease to widespread metastases. While the majority of patients with melanoma who relapse do so in the first 3 years from diagnosis, a small minority recur more than a decade afterward (Ossowski and Aguirre-Ghiso 2010). While this may be related to a number of factors, tumor-immune equilibrium remains a likely contributor to these types of cases. A second important aspect to melanoma natural history is that in a small percentage of cases, spontaneous tumor regression has been noted (summarized nicely by William Coley himself) and more commonly histologic regression in the primary tumor site (Coley and Hoguet 1916). This latter finding is also the theoretical reason behind the thinking that melanoma of unknown primary is typically considered to be from a cutaneous primary that has undergone complete regression. Further support for this theory is that genetic analyses of these unknown primary melanomas more closely match the pattern of driving mutations seen in cutaneous melanoma than in acral, mucosal, or uveal melanoma (Siroy et al. 2015). Interestingly, in the cases of melanoma of unknown primary, by definition, the elimination of the primary tumor is not associated with the prevention of metastatic disease, as some tumor cells were able to escape immune destruction in order to develop into a clinically identifiable tumor.

In essence, the mechanism of action of immunotherapy is to tip the balance of this interaction and lead to the elimination of escaped tumors or at least trigger a period of sustained equilibrium. However, the bulk of immunotherapy development has aimed to improve the activity of effector T lymphocytes that leads to more effective cell-mediated immunity. Chen and Mellman famously have described this process in a figure that has been utilized in seemingly every immunotherapy lecture since its publication in 2013 (Chen and Mellman 2013). The concept is that tumor immunity, and in particular T-cell immunity generated against tumor cells, involves a cyclical process that involves a number of critical steps that are all potentially druggable. The first steps involve the release of cancer antigens and their processing and presentation by antigenpresenting cells (APCs) in the context of major histocompatibility (MHC) molecules. T cells, via interaction of their T-cell receptor (TCR) with antigen, then undergo priming and activation. This process is highly regulated by a number of molecules, known as immune checkpoints, that either positively or negatively affect the activation status of the T cell. Once activated, T cells migrate to and infiltrate into tumors where they recognize tumor cells in an antigen-dependent manner, again through TCR interaction with antigen in the context of MGH, and then kill tumor cells.

At every step, this process can be altered or evaded (Chen and Mellman 2013, 2017). Negative regulators of T-cell priming and activation, such as the cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated antigen 4 (CTLA4), can reduce populations of antigen-specific T cells that are capable of leading to tumor elimination. Certain tumors, including some with genetic aberrations in betacatenin signaling, exclude either T-cell trafficking or infiltration, leading to a tumor microenvironment state known as an immune desert devoid of immune elements (Spranger et al. 2015). Once present, activated T cells may be thwarted by tumors that have either downregulated antigen expression or have been enriched by regulatory elements such as T-regulatory cells (Tregs) and/or myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs) that impair effector T-cell function. However, it seems that the lowest common denominator required to protect the tumor from immunemediated destruction is the expression (either on the tumor cells or in the immune microenvironment) of proteins that are capable of suppressing the activity of activated effector T cells. The most common of these are the programmed death 1 receptor ligands 1 and 2 (PD-L1, PD-L2) which interact with the programmed death 1 receptor (PD-1) that is expressed on activated T cells. When this interaction occurs, effector T cells are rendered ineffective. However, when this interaction is disrupted pharmacologically, for example, with monoclonal antibodies that inhibit PD-1 or PD-L1, tumors utilizing this mechanism to prevent immunologic destruction become vulnerable to antigen-specific T-cell-mediated immunity. It is this last concept that has led to revolutionary advances in immunotherapy, as anti-PD-1/PD-L1 agents have become the most effective immune oncology agents developed to date (Chen and Mellman 2017).

# Immunotherapy Proof-of-Concept Examples in Melanoma

#### **High-Dose Interleukin 2**

The first "modern" immunotherapy developed and subsequently approved to treat metastatic melanoma was high-dose interleukin 2 (HD IL-2). Originally discovered as (and named) T-cell growth factor, IL-2 quickly was moved into the clinic (Mier and Gallo 1980). In patients with melanoma and renal cell carcinoma, complete and durable remissions were seen in a small minority of patients (Atkins et al. 1999; Fyfe et al. 1995). In a collection of 270 patients with metastatic melanoma treated at a number of specialized centers, the response rate was 16% with durable and complete responses seen in approximately 6% of patients. Additionally, the median overall survival was 11.4 months, longer than other contemporary studies, although patients enrolled tended to have better prognosis features due to the potential for life-threatening toxicity (Atkins et al. 1999). In fact, due to its limited efficacy and high toxicity, namely, a capillary leak syndrome that is associated with hypotension, renal insufficiency, edema, and neurologic toxicity, HD IL-2 was not widely adopted. Still, specialized centers continued to treat patients, typically younger and with lower tumor volume, excellent performance status, and excellent cardiac and pulmonary function. More contemporary datasets have corroborated response rates in the 16–20% range with durable benefit (progression-free at 18 months or greater) seen in 5-10% of patients, although in this era of more effective alternative systemic therapies, as expected, the overall survival of patients is improved to the historical dataset (Alva et al. 2016; Curti et al. 2017; Joseph et al. 2012). While this data is not nearly as strong as that seen with anti-PD-1 therapy in patients with metastatic melanoma, HD IL-2 is the original therapy that led to a discussion about considering where the "tail" on the survival curve is when determining the value of immunotherapy.

Interestingly, the major limitation to efficacy appears to be the fact that IL-2 receptors are found on both effector and regulatory T cells (Fontenot et al. 2005). This fact may be exploitable with certain modifications to IL-2, such as pegylation (PEG), and a number of modified IL-2s are in clinical trials as single agents and in combination with immune checkpoint inhibitors (NCT02350673, NCT02869295, NCT02983045, NCT03138889, NCT02799095) (Charych et al. 2017). Still, HD IL-2 is the original therapy that led to a discussion about considering where the "tail" on the survival curve is when determining the value of immunotherapy. The earliest data to emerge from these new takes on an old agent has been with NKTR-214, a 6-PEG IL-2 that preferentially binds to the beta-gamma subunits of the IL-2 receptor and not the alpha, which results in biased signaling of effector and natural killer T cells as opposed to regulatory T cells (Alva et al. 2016). In the Phase I single-agent study, NKTR-214 was considered to be safe and without the dose-limiting toxicities of high-dose IL-2 which allows for outpatient dosing (Bernatchez et al. 2017). Unfortunately, in this population of typically heavily pretreated patients, a clinical efficacy signal of single-agent therapy did not emerge. However, the initial data with NKTR-214 in combination with nivolumab was more encouraging. Specifically, in the first 41 patients treated at the recommended Phase II dose, responses were seen in 20 of the 38 evaluable patients, with 9 (24%) experiencing a complete response (Diab et al. 2018a). In the larger group of treated patients with a spectrum of solid tumor malignancies, it is important to note that the grade 3 or higher rate of immune-related adverse events is at least no different and numerically lower than predicted from single-agent nivolumab (Diab et al. 2018a, b). Based on the early results of this study, a randomized Phase III trial was launched (NCT03635983).

#### Anti-CTLA4 Inhibition

The first immune checkpoint molecule identified was CTLA4, and its inhibition was associated with significant preclinical activity in immunocompetent mouse models (Leach et al. 1996). Specifically, the activity of CTLA4 blockade became evident when combined with a GM-CSF secreting B16 murine tumor vaccine (Soiffer et al. 2003). The potential for inflammatory events was noted as approximately half the mice lost pigment in their fur from this combination treatment. As a single agent in early clinical trials, ipilimumab demonstrated a single-digit response rate in previously treated patients with melanoma (Weber et al. 2008). As CTLA4 is a major regulator of T-cell activation, it was felt that the use of anti-CTLA therapy might be most useful in conjunction with a vaccination strategy (Quezada et al. 2006). Treatment with ipilimumab importantly demonstrated an influx of a variety of immune effector cells into the tumor microenvironment as a function of treatment (Hodi et al. 2003). Many of the first clinical efforts with ipilimumab included combination with or subsequent to a vaccination strategy (Hodi et al. 2008, 2010). Interestingly, it became clear that targeting CTLA4 might be sufficient, and a three-armed randomized trial of ipilimumab, ipilimumab plus a gp100 peptide vaccine, and gp100 peptide vaccine alone demonstrated clear superiority of the ipilimumab-containing regimens (hazard ratio (HR) for death 0.68, p-value <0.001), but no advantage of gp100 vaccination in combination with ipilimumab (HR 1.04, p-value = 0.76) (Hodi et al. 2010). This was the first study to show an improvement in overall survival in the setting of metastatic melanoma and led to the regulatory approval of ipilimumab including US FDA approval in 2011. In subsequent studies, it appears that treatment with ipilimumab is associated with long-term survival in approximately 22% of patients, marking a new benchmark for the "tail on the curve" for patients with metastatic melanoma (Schadendorf et al. 2015). Another important aspect to anti-CTLA4 inhibitors is the constellation of autoimmune toxicities that never before has been seen with conventional antineoplastic therapy. These so-called immune-related adverse events (irAEs) can be severe and even fatal, often require treatment with immunosuppression, and represent the major limitation of immune checkpoint inhibition (Weber et al. 2013).

# Anti-PD-1 Inhibition

With the development of ipilimumab, the field of tumor immunology had a clear success, but it was of limited clinical value to the majority of patients. However, the initial data from the Phase I trial of nivolumab suggested that targeting anti-PD-1 might be a more effective strategy with less toxicity (Topalian et al. 2012). Specifically, responses in over 30% of patients with melanoma, all of whom had been treated with prior therapy, established a new benchmark for immunotherapy response rates. Indeed, both PD-1 inhibitors nivolumab and pembrolizumab were associated with response rates in the 30% range following ipilimumab, leading to regulatory approval of both agents in that patient population based on this data from open-label dosing with pembro (Keynote, KN, 001) and randomized trials of single-agent anti-PD versus chemotherapy (KN002, Checkmate, CM, 037) (Hamid et al. 2013; Weber et al. 2015; Ribas et al. 2015). However, in the frontline setting, as demonstrated in KN006 and CM067, these agents are clearly superior to ipilimumab with response rates in the 40-45% range, 1-year progression-free rates of approximately 40%, 2-year overall survival of 56-58%, and irAE rates of less than 20% (Larkin et al. 2015; Robert et al. 2015a). As with

ipilimumab before, the data with these two anti-PD-1 inhibitors reset the bar for efficacy in this disease, and single-agent therapy with either of these agents became the indisputable frontline immunotherapy for patients with metastatic melanoma.

# Combination Immune Checkpoint Inhibition

A consistent practice in the era of chemotherapy was to build combinatorial regimens of therapies with slightly different mechanisms of action and single-agent efficacy. With the development of ipilimumab and anti-PD-1 antibodies, it was a logical next step to evaluate the combination of the two in melanoma. In this case, there was strong preclinical data supporting the combination of ipilimumab and nivolumab (ipi/nivo) (Curran et al. 2010). The phase I trial of this regimen showed that ipilimumab 3 mg/kg in combination with nivolumab 1 mg/kg given every three weeks times four doses followed by full dose nivolumab every two weeks, was associated with unprecedented efficacy, response rates in excess of 50%, and toxicity and treatment-related irAE rates greater than 55%, as a clear majority of patients had an objective response to therapy and a majority of patients had severe or life-threatening irAEs (Wolchok et al. 2013). Based on this data, both randomized Phase II trial, CM069, comparing ipi/nivo with single-agent ipilimumab, and three-armed randomized Phase III trial, CM067, comparing the combination versus both singleagent ipilimumab and single-agent nivolumab, were conducted (Larkin et al. 2015; Postow et al. 2015). In both Phase II and III trials, the combination was shown to be superior to single-agent ipilimumab. However, it is less clear whether ipi/nivo is substantially better than single-agent nivolumab to justify the substantial increase in toxicity. For example, with at least 3 years of follow-up, the progression-free and overall survival rates, respectively, of the three arms were 39% and 58% for combination ipi/nivo, 32% and 52% for single-agent nivolumab, and 10% and 34% for ipilimumab. As this trial was not powered

to compare the two nivolumab-containing regimens, these differences in those two arms are not statistically significant. However, the development of this combination marks an important milestone in the treatment of melanoma, and the lessons learned with this regimen in melanoma have been applied to a number of other malignancies where this combination (at various doses) is being evaluated.

In melanoma, the use of low-dose ipilimumab (typically 1 mg/kg) given in combination with standard-dose anti-PD-1 therapy has been explored in a number of studies. In the most recent update of KN029, a Phase I/II trial of standarddose pembrolizumab with low-dose ipilimumab, the rate of grade 3/4 toxicity was 47%, with 26% rate of irAEs, as well as a 62% response rate and a 27% complete response rate (Long et al. 2018a). In CM511, alternative dosing regimens of ipi/nivo were compared. Specifically, the standard induction dosing (IPI 3/NIVO 1 every 3 weeks) was compared to NIVO 3/IPI1 followed by standard nivolumab maintenance (Lebbé et al. 2018). Not surprisingly, the rate of irAEs is lower in patients who received low-dose ipilimumab, but the preliminary progression-free and overall survival of the two cohorts were no different.

#### **Oncolytic Viruses**

The first routinely used immune therapy in melanoma was intralesional bacillus Calmette-Guerin (BCG), a tuberculosis vaccine that causes a robust T-cell-mediated response at the site of injection (Morton et al. 1974). While this often was associated with regression of tumors, in the setting of suboptimal systemic therapies, the true value of this approach was very limited. In recent years, renewed interest in intralesional therapies facilitated the development of talimogene laherparepvec (TVEC), an oncolytic herpesvirus engineered to secrete GM-CSF (Hu et al. 2006). In a Phase III trial (OPTIM), 436 patients with advanced Stage III or IV melanoma with palpable, injectable lesions were randomized, in a 2:1 fashion, to receive intralesional TVEC versus subcutaneous GM-CSF (Andtbacka et al. 2015). With respect to the primary end-point, durable response rate, TVEC was superior to GM-CSF in patients with local-regional or limited metastatic disease, leading to its approval (Andtbacka et al. 2015). There was also a strong trend to improved overall survival (HR 0.79, 95% confidence interval 0.62-1.00, *p*-value = 0.051), a key secondary endpoint, in patients randomized to TVEC. Importantly, the early data with combination with ipilimumab or pembrolizumab looks promising; suggesting that the ideal use of this agent may be in combination with immune checkpoint inhibition (Chesney et al. 2017; Ribas et al. 2017). For example, in the Phase I trial of ipilimumab plus TVEC, the response rate was 50%, a finding that led to a trial randomizing 175 patients to receive ipilimumab with or without TVEC (Chesney et al. 2017; Puzanov et al. 2016). While this study demonstrated a doubling of the response rate with combination therapy (39% vs. 18%), the progressionfree survival of both cohorts was similar. More recently, the combination of pembrolizumab plus TVEC has been reported in a Phase I/II study (Ribas et al. 2017). The response rate was confirmed to be over 60%, with response seen in patients with and without pretreatment tumor characteristics associated, in other studies, with response (CD8 density, tumoral PD-L1 expression, interferon gamma gene expression profile scoring). Not surprisingly, there is a lot of interest in this approach generally, and it appears that TVEC is just the beginning, with a number of intralesional therapies, most commonly oncolytic viruses entering the clinic for the treatment of melanoma and other solid tumor malignancies.

# Current Dilemmas and Future Directions of Immunotherapy for Patients with Melanoma

# Predictive Biomarkers/Patient Selection Strategies

The most pressing clinical dilemma is determining selecting the correct treatment for the right patient. In oncology, this invariably includes histopathology and immunohistochemistry (IHC) to identify the specific type of malignancy (e.g., carcinoma of the lung) or, better yet, pathologic subset that may behave differently (e.g., small cell vs. non-small cell lung carcinoma). More recently, large-scale genomic testing has been performed in most cancers and helped to identify molecularly defined subsets that may be clinically relevant. In cutaneous melanoma, for example, four molecularly defined subsets have been identified by the type of driving genetic alteration (either oncogene or tumor suppressor gene) that is or is not present (Cancer Genome Atlas Network 2015). These include (Fisher et al. 1989) BRAF mutant (~50%), (Frei et al. 1958) NRAS mutant (~25%), (Korn et al. 2008) NF1 mutant (10–15%), and (Imai and Takaoka 2006) triple wild-type (~10-15%). In only the BRAF mutant population, and more specifically patients with a BRAF^{V600} mutation, are there agents that are proven to benefit this and only this population. These are the BRAF and MEK inhibitors, typically given in combination such as dabrafenib plus trametinib, vemurafenib plus cobimetinib, and encorafenib plus binimetinib (Dummer et al. 2018; Larkin et al. 2014; Long et al. 2015; Robert et al. 2015b). With respect to immunotherapy, there does not appear to be a major difference in outcomes with immunotherapy in patients with BRAF mutant or non-BRAF mutant melanoma (IL-2, ipi, nivo/pembro, ipi/nivo); however there are some data that patients with NRAS mutant melanoma may be more likely to benefit from IL-2 and immune checkpoint inhibitors, although this was not corroborated in a small study looking at using a next-generation sequencing (NGS) platform in patients treated with anti-PD-1/PD-L1 inhibitors (Joseph et al. 2012; Shahabi et al. 2012; Johnson et al. 2015, 2016). In that same NGS analysis, patients with NF1 mutations had a higher response rate but also had a significantly higher tumor mutational burden (TMB), which had been shown in this and other reports to be a strong predictor of response to immune checkpoint inhibitors (Johnson et al. 2016; Van Allen et al. 2015). Interestingly, in NSCLC, molecular defined populations where targeted therapy is available, namely, patients with either EGFR,

ROS, or ALK aberrancy, anti-PD-1/PD-L1 therapy is ineffective (Gainor et al. 2016).

Beyond evaluating for specific genetic aberrations, such as activating (oncogenes) or inactivating (tumor suppressor gene) mutations, there have been a number of efforts to evaluate tumors and blood to help predict response to immune checkpoint inhibitor therapy. As described above, TMB has been associated with improved efficacy in patients with metastatic melanoma treated with immune checkpoint inhibitors (Johnson et al. 2016; Van Allen et al. 2015). This is predictable since TMB is a reflection of how altered from self is the tumor. The model follows that the more altered a tumor is, the more likely that the tumor would have immunogenic neoantigens produced, expressed on the cell surface in the context of major histocompatibility complex (MHC), and attract tumor-specific effector T cells. The subsequent response to immune cell infiltration may be expression of PD-L1, either in the tumor cells or induced in the tumor microenvironment, that will engage with PD-1 on the surface of activated effector T cells.

Given that PD-L1 expression seemingly is the final step to blunting a tumor-antigen specific response in the above model and that PD-L1 is involved in the mechanism of action of anti-PD-1 and PD-L1 inhibitors, it logically was the first tissue-based biomarker evaluated for responsiveness in melanoma and other diseases. The clear conclusion from the preponderance of evidence is that the presence of PD-L1 staining above a 1% cut-off is associated with improved outcomes, both in terms of response and survival endpoints. Interestingly, this is true for the anti-PD-1 antibodies pembrolizumab (Daud, JCO, 2016) and nivolumab (CM067, NEJM 2017) and the combination of ipilimumab plus nivolumab (CM067), but not with ipilimumab single-agent therapy (Daud et al. 2016; Wolchok et al. 2017). Specifically in 451 patients with melanoma enrolled onto the Phase I trial of pembrolizumab (KN001), which included firstline and previously treated patients, response rates in patients with below 1% were 10% and above 39% (Daud et al. 2016). In a frontline

study comparing ipilimumab, nivolumab, and the combination of the two (Checkmate 067), the response rates in patients with <1% staining were 18%, 35%, and 54%, respectively, and in patients with  $\geq 1\%$ , they were 19%, 54%, and 65% (Wolchok et al. 2017). Still, given that a quarter to a third of patients with PD-L1 <1% respond to single-agent pembrolizumab or nivolumab, the value of PD-L1 staining is not strong enough to be used to exclude the use of these treatments. One possible use of PD-L1 staining in melanoma could be to discriminate those who might be offered single-agent versus combination ipilimumab and nivolumab, although in the Checkmate 067 study, generation of a receiver operating curve indicated that the use PD-L1 status to predict overall survival of either treatment was poor (Wolchok et al. 2017).

A number of markers independent to tissue PD-L1 status have been explored as a potential biomarker of efficacy in patients with melanoma. The data looks promising with a number of tissue markers including presence of CD8+ T cells interacting with PD-L1 at the leading edge of the tumor, interferon gamma signature, MHC I and II expression, and TMB (Johnson et al. 2016; Van Allen et al. 2015; Tumeh et al. 2014; Taube et al. 2012). More recently the presence of specific CD8 + T-cell subsets, particularly those expressing the transcription factor TCF7, has been identified from signal cell RNA sequencing (scRNA seq) data, demonstrated to be present with a validated immunofluorescence assay, and shown to predict responsiveness to PD-1 inhibition in patients with melanoma (Sade-Feldman et al. 2018). Additionally, certain markers have been associated with poor outcomes including absence of CD-8 positive cells, PTEN loss, wnt/beta-catenin pathway genetic aberrations, and a resistance gene expression program identified from scRNA seq and validated in bulk RNA sequencing data (Spranger et al. 2015; Peng et al. 2016; Jerby-Arnon et al. 2018). In the blood, a number of markers seem to be prognostic, including serum LDH, total lymphocyte count, and a serum proteomic signature (Martens et al. 2016; Weber et al. 2018). To date, however, none of these tests have

been validated in large trials as a biomarker that can truly predict efficacy or non-efficacy.

#### Prediction/Mitigation of Toxicity

Perhaps the best sign to herald the coming wave of data demonstrating the efficacy immune checkpoint inhibitors in patients was the reports of true autoimmune toxicity in patients receiving ipilimumab (Beck et al. 2006; Maker et al. 2005; Yang et al. 2007). Since there have been volumes of literature written on the topic, and with the widespread approval of anti-PD-1/PD-L1 monoclonal antibodies for a variety of indications, the use of immune checkpoint inhibition is no longer limited to a smaller number of centers with experience using these agents. Thus, understanding the nature of common and rare toxicities is critical, as is the development of strategies to diagnose and treat or better yet predict and prevent these toxicities.

Immune checkpoint inhibitor toxicity may be mild or fatal and can involve every organ system (Postow et al. 2018). In general, tissue infiltration and/or expansion of inflammatory cells, typically T cells, can cause tissue damage that can manifest clinically. Early diagnosis and treatment is critical, since more severe toxicity will not resolve with discontinuation of the immune checkpoint inhibitor and rather can only be reversed with immune suppression (Puzanov et al. 2017). The best analogy to this is in oncology graft-versushost disease (GVHD) seen with hematopoietic stem cell transplantation, although many of the autoimmune toxicities seen with checkpoint inhibitors mimic well-described autoimmune disease such as inflammatory bowel disease and inflammatory arthritis. As such, the treatment of these conditions has been crafted with the corresponding autoimmune condition. For example, the treatment of checkpoint inhibitor colitis involves corticosteroids followed by monoclonal antibodies against TNF, agents that are approved for the use of IBD (Puzanov et al. 2017). The concern with immunosuppressive therapy is that the introduction of these agents early into therapy may mitigate efficacy. While this is a theoretical

concern, a fair amount of data supports the conclusion that immune suppression in the setting of checkpoint inhibitor toxicity is not associated with poorer outcomes.

One of the key issues in the field today is to better educate clinicians as to the potentially serious risks of these agents and to develop algorithms to work up and treat these toxicities. Over the past few years, professional societies such as the Society for Immunotherapy of Cancer (SITC) have been instrumental in providing educational material and published guidelines (Puzanov et al. 2017). More recently, the American Society of Clinical Oncology (ASCO) has also drafted and published guidelines for the diagnosis and management of these toxicities (Brahmer et al. 2018). These efforts are critical, but there is an opportunity, in the coming years, to leverage emerging technologies, such as singlecell RNA sequencing and wide-scale proteomic arrays, in order to have a deeper understanding of the driving forces in specific types of toxicity (e.g., colitis vs. pneumonitis vs. inflammatory arthritis). Once this has occurred, strategies may then be implemented to predict, monitor for the development of, better treat, and even prevent checkpoint inhibitor toxicity.

#### **New Combinations**

As opposed to blocking the brakes to the immune system, new immune targets are being explored including agonists such as OX40, GITR, CD137, and CD40. These agents have the potential to improve antigen presentation and immune activation, as well as deplete cells in the tumor microenvironment with immune regulatory function. With the efficacy of immune checkpoint blockade, there remains the constant effort to improve upon results through combination therapies. These include immuno-immuno combinations such as checkpoint blockade with agonist targets, priming with a variety of vaccination strategies including neoantigen vaccines, improving immune priming with TLR agonists, and combinations with targeted therapies (BRAF and MEK inhibition). Additional methods in attempt to improve current immune therapy strategies include targeting immunosuppressive metabolic pathways such as indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase 1 (IDO1), transforming growth factor beta (TGF-beta), and nitric oxide, recognizing the importance of innate immunity by attempting to shift the myeloid cell populations in the tumor microenvironment to more tumoricidal that is immune suppressive as well as investigating means to improve NK cell function. These approaches likely represent the next wave of immunologic attempts to improve patient outcomes.

While there is excitement about a number of approaches to target alternative immune checkpoints (e.g., TIM3, LAG3, GITR, TIGIT, CD137, OX40/OX40L, etc.), microenvironment factors (IDO, TGF-beta, etc.), or other immune cells (Tregs, myeloid cells, B cells, etc.), it is important to remember the basics of drug development when moving potentially promising combination therapies forward. This is of particular importance in the setting of the data from the ECHO-301/KN-252 study that randomized 706 patients with previously untreated advanced melanoma either pembrolizumab to or pembrolizumab in combination with the IDO1 inhibitor epacadostat. The basis of this trial was promising data from the Phase I/II trial of this combination (ECHO-202/KN-037) demonstrating a response rate of 55% in the cohort of patients with treatment-naïve melanoma without substantial additional toxicity (Hamid et al. 2017). However, in the randomized trial, the addition of epacadostat to pembrolizumab was not associated with improvement in the primary endpoints, progression-free (HR 1.00) and overall survival (HR 1.13), or an improved response rate (Long et al. 2018b). In trying to figure out why a combination therapy with promising preliminary evidence could fail so spectacularly, it is clear that several key tenets of drug development were not followed. In fact, the supporting data failed to meet any of the following criteria that need to be met (at least one of the criteria) prior to advancing with a registration trial of a combination therapy. They are (Fisher et al. 1989) single-agent efficacy of both agents in the population being studied, (Frei et al. 1958) identification of a well-defined biomarker population that gleans the most benefit

from the combination, (Korn et al. 2008) data showing improved efficacy of surrogate markers in a small randomized study, and (Imai and Takaoka 2006) efficacy with the combination in a population of patients resistant/refractory to one of the agents in the combination. Hopefully the field will learn from this study and vet promising combinations more thoroughly in the future.

#### **Role of Cellular Therapy**

The actual "drug" for high-dose IL-2, ipilimumab, and anti-PD-1/PD-L1 inhibitors is the effector T cell, meaning that each of these agents works by better enabling T cells to directly kill cancer cells. This concept has always been known, and furthermore the identification of tumor infiltrating lymphocytes (TIL) had been described many decades before the development of immune checkpoint inhibitors (Rosenberg et al. 1982). With the development of high-dose IL-2, it became clear that immunotherapy was feasible, but not effective for the majority of patients (Atkins et al. 1999). In an attempt to enhance the effects of IL-2, the NCI, under the leadership of Dr. Steven Rosenberg, launched a new type of immune therapy that involved the harvesting of tumors to isolate TIL, grow and expand these ex vivo, and then infuse back into the patient and treatment with IL-2 (Rosenberg et al. 2011; Rosenberg 2011). It became clear early on that lymphodepleting chemotherapy was required to enhance efficacy. With this inclusion, the basic framework of adoptive cell therapy (ACT) was in place. Since the early trials of basic TIL therapy, a number of newer approaches have been pursued. These include better selection of higher-affinity or effective TIL clones, as well as cellular engineering of TIL and, more recently, peripheral blood lymphocytes to insert receptors that better recognize tumorexpressed antigens. These constructs include engineering T cells to express tumor-specific T-cell receptors (TCR) against a shared (across patients) tumor antigen (e.g., MAGE A10) or to insert chimeric antigen receptors (CAR) that can recognize surface-expressed proteins that are not processed and expressed in the context of MHC (Maus and June 2016). The challenge with any engineered T cell, be it a TCR-T or CAR-T cell, is the specificity. Mainly, the target antigen must only be expressed tumor cells or only on tumor cells and host cells that are not critical for survival. For example, CAR-T cells against CD-19 lead to dramatic results in patients with B-cell malignancies; however a CAR-T against ERBB2 leads to rapid, lethal toxicity (Maude et al. 2018; Neelapu et al. 2017; Morgan et al. 2010). In melanoma, a number of ACT studies are ongoing, and those that have concluded show responses in the 40-50% range (Rosenberg et al. 2011). These include TIL therapy and TCR-T cell therapies against shared antigens such as MAGE, MART1, and gp100. However, to date, these approaches appear to be more complicated and, at best, no more effective than immune checkpoint inhibition. Thus, ACT only is being tested in the checkpoint inhibitor refractory population, although combination therapy with immune checkpoint inhibitors is a logical strategy in the future.

#### Conclusion

From Coley to combined immune checkpoint inhibition, the field of cancer immunotherapy has captured the minds of patients and doctors. With recent advances, the concept has become the most exciting type of anticancer therapy. However, with this success have arisen new challenges, namely, innate and acquired resistance to therapy as well as diagnosis and management of toxicity, that will surely be the focus of future work.

# References

- Alva A, Daniels GA, Wong MK, Kaufman HL, Morse MA, McDermott DF et al (2016) Contemporary experience with high-dose interleukin-2 therapy and impact on survival in patients with metastatic melanoma and metastatic renal cell carcinoma. Cancer Immunol Immunother 65(12):1533–1544
- Andtbacka RH, Kaufman HL, Collichio F, Amatruda T, Senzer N, Chesney J et al (2015) Talimogene Laherparepvec improves durable response rate in patients with advanced melanoma. J Clin Oncol 33(25):2780–2788

- Atkins MB, Lotze MT, Dutcher JP, Fisher RI, Weiss G, Margolin K et al (1999) High-dose recombinant interleukin 2 therapy for patients with metastatic melanoma: analysis of 270 patients treated between 1985 and 1993. J Clin Oncol 17(7):2105–2116
- Beck KE, Blansfield JA, Tran KQ, Feldman AL, Hughes MS, Royal RE et al (2006) Enterocolitis in patients with cancer after antibody blockade of cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated antigen 4. J Clin Oncol 24(15):2283–2289
- Bernatchez C, Haymaker CL, Hurwitz ME, Kluger HM, Tetzlaff MT, Jackson N et al (eds) Effect of a novel IL-2 cytokine immune agonist (NKTR-214) on proliferating CD8+T cells and PD-1 expression on immune cells in the tumor microenvironment in patients with prior checkpoint therapy. ASCO 2017 annual meeting, 2017, Chicago. J Clin Oncol
- Brahmer JR, Lacchetti C, Schneider BJ, Atkins MB, Brassil KJ, Caterino JM et al (2018) Management of Immune-Related Adverse Events in Patients Treated With Immune Checkpoint Inhibitor Therapy: American Society of Clinical Oncology Clinical Practice Guideline. J Clin Oncol 36:1714. https://doi.org/ 10.1200/JCO.2017.77.6385
- Cancer Genome Atlas Network (2015) Genomic classification of cutaneous melanoma. Cell 161(7):1681–1696
- Charych D, Khalili S, Dixit V, Kirk P, Chang T, Langowski J et al (2017) Modeling the receptor pharmacology, pharmacokinetics, and pharmacodynamics of NKTR-214, a kinetically-controlled interleukin-2 (IL2) receptor agonist for cancer immunotherapy. PLoS One 12(7):e0179431
- Chen DS, Mellman I (2013) Oncology meets immunology: the cancer-immunity cycle. Immunity 39(1):1–10
- Chen DS, Mellman I (2017) Elements of cancer immunity and the cancer-immune set point. Nature 541(7637):321–330
- Chesney J, Puzanov I, Collichio F, Singh P, Milhem MM, Glaspy J et al (2017) Randomized, open-label phase II study evaluating the efficacy and safety of Talimogene Laherparepvec in combination with Ipilimumab versus Ipilimumab alone in patients with advanced, unresectable melanoma. J Clin Oncol. https://doi.org/ 10.1200/JCO.2017.73.7379
- Coley WB (1910) The treatment of inoperable sarcoma by bacterial toxins (the mixed toxins of the *Streptococcus erysipelas* and the *Bacillus prodigiosus*). Proc R Soc Med 3(Surg Sect):1–48
- Coley WB, Hoguet JP (1916) Melanotic cancer: with a report of 91 cases. Ann Surg 64(2):206–241
- Curran MA, Montalvo W, Yagita H, Allison JP (2010) PD-1 and CTLA-4 combination blockade expands infiltrating T cells and reduces regulatory T and myeloid cells within B16 melanoma tumors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107(9):4275–4280
- Curti B, Daniels GA, McDermott DF, Clark JI, Kaufman HL, Logan TF et al (2017) Improved survival and tumor control with Interleukin-2 is associated with the development of immune-related adverse events: data

from the PROCLAIM(SM) registry. J Immunother Cancer 5(1):102

- Daud AI, Wolchok JD, Robert C, Hwu WJ, Weber JS, Ribas A et al (2016) Programmed death-ligand 1 expression and response to the anti-programmed death 1 antibody Pembrolizumab in melanoma. J Clin Oncol 34(34):4102–4109
- Diab A, Tykodi SS, Curti BD, Cho DC, Wong MK, Puzanov I et al (eds) Immune monitoring after NKTR-214 plus nivolumab (PIVOT-02) in previously untreated patients with metastatic stage IV melanoma. Society of Immunotherapy in Cancer (SITC) annual meeting; 2018a, Washington, DC
- Diab A, Hurwitz ME, Cho DC, Papadimitrakopoulou V, Curti BD, Tykodi SS et al (eds) NKTR-214 (CD122biased agonist) plus nivolumab in patients with advanced solid tumors: Preliminary phase 1/2 results of PIVOT. ASCO 2018 annual meeting, 2018b, Chicago. J Clin Oncol
- Dummer R, Ascierto PA, Gogas HJ, Arance A, Mandala M, Liszkay G et al (2018) Encorafenib plus binimetinib versus vemurafenib or encorafenib in patients with BRAF-mutant melanoma (COLUM-BUS): a multicentre, open-label, randomised phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol. 19(5):603–615
- Dunn GP, Bruce AT, Ikeda H, Old LJ, Schreiber RD (2002) Cancer immunoediting: from immunosurveillance to tumor escape. Nat Immunol 3(11):991–998
- Fisher B, Redmond C, Poisson R, Margolese R, Wolmark N, Wickerham L et al (1989) Eight-year results of a randomized clinical trial comparing total mastectomy and lumpectomy with or without irradiation in the treatment of breast cancer. N Engl J Med 320(13):822–828
- Fontenot JD, Rasmussen JP, Gavin MA, Rudensky AY (2005) A function for interleukin 2 in Foxp3expressing regulatory T cells. Nat Immunol 6(11): 1142–1151
- Frei E 3rd, Holland JF, Schneiderman MA, Pinkel D, Selkirk G, Freireich EJ et al (1958) A comparative study of two regimens of combination chemotherapy in acute leukemia. Blood 13(12):1126–1148
- Fyfe G, Fisher RI, Rosenberg SA, Sznol M, Parkinson DR, Louie AC (1995) Results of treatment of 255 patients with metastatic renal cell carcinoma who received high-dose recombinant interleukin-2 therapy. J Clin Oncol 13(3):688–696
- Gainor JF, Shaw AT, Sequist LV, Fu X, Azzoli CG, Piotrowska Z et al (2016) EGFR mutations and ALK rearrangements are associated with low response rates to PD-1 pathway blockade in non-small cell lung Cancer: a retrospective analysis. Clin Cancer Res 22(18): 4585–4593
- Hamid O, Robert C, Daud A, Hodi FS, Hwu WJ, Kefford R et al (2013) Safety and tumor responses with lambrolizumab (anti-PD-1) in melanoma. N Engl J Med 369(2):134–144
- Hamid O, Gajewski TF, Frankel AE, Bauer TM, Olszanski AJ, Luke JJ, et al (eds) Epacadostat plus

Pembrolizumab in patients with advanced melanoma: phase 1 and 2 efficacy and safety results from ECHO-202/KEYNOTE-037. ESMO annual meeting, 2017, Madrid, ESP

- Hodi FS, Mihm MC, Soiffer RJ, Haluska FG, Butler M, Seiden MV et al (2003) Biologic activity of cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated antigen 4 antibody blockade in previously vaccinated metastatic melanoma and ovarian carcinoma patients. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100(8):4712–4717
- Hodi FS, Butler M, Oble DA, Seiden MV, Haluska FG, Kruse A et al (2008) Immunologic and clinical effects of antibody blockade of cytotoxic T lymphocyteassociated antigen 4 in previously vaccinated cancer patients. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105(8):3005–3010
- Hodi FS, O'Day SJ, McDermott DF, Weber RW, Sosman JA, Haanen JB et al (2010) Improved survival with ipilimumab in patients with metastatic melanoma. N Engl J Med 363(8):711–723
- Hu JC, Coffin RS, Davis CJ, Graham NJ, Groves N, Guest PJ et al (2006) A phase I study of OncoVEXGM-CSF, a second-generation oncolytic herpes simplex virus expressing granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating factor. Clin Cancer Res 12(22):6737–6747
- Imai K, Takaoka A (2006) Comparing antibody and smallmolecule therapies for cancer. Nat Rev Cancer 6(9):714–727
- Jerby-Arnon L, Shah P, Cuoco MS, Rodman C, Su MJ, Melms JC et al (2018) A Cancer cell program promotes T cell exclusion and resistance to checkpoint blockade. Cell 175(4):984–97.e24
- Johnson DB, Lovly CM, Flavin M, Panageas KS, Ayers GD, Zhao Z et al (2015) Impact of NRAS mutations for patients with advanced melanoma treated with immune therapies. Cancer Immunol Res 3(3):288–295
- Johnson DB, Frampton GM, Rioth MJ, Yusko E, Xu Y, Guo X et al (2016) Targeted next generation sequencing identifies markers of response to PD-1 blockade. Cancer Immunol Res 4(11):959–967
- Joseph RW, Sullivan RJ, Harrell R, Stemke-Hale K, Panka D, Manoukian G et al (2012) Correlation of NRAS mutations with clinical response to highdose IL-2 in patients with advanced melanoma. J Immunother 35(1):66–72
- Kirkwood JM, Strawderman MH, Ernstoff MS, Smith TJ, Borden EC, Blum RH (1996) Interferon alfa-2b adjuvant therapy of high-risk resected cutaneous melanoma: the Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group Trial EST 1684. J Clin Oncol 14(1):7–17
- Kirkwood JM, Manola J, Ibrahim J, Sondak V, Ernstoff MS, Rao U (2004) A pooled analysis of eastern cooperative oncology group and intergroup trials of adjuvant high-dose interferon for melanoma. Clin Cancer Res 10(5):1670–1677
- Korn EL, Liu PY, Lee SJ, Chapman JA, Niedzwiecki D, Suman VJ et al (2008) Meta-analysis of phase II cooperative group trials in metastatic stage IV melanoma to determine progression-free and overall

survival benchmarks for future phase II trials. J Clin Oncol 26(4):527–534

- Larkin J, Ascierto PA, Dreno B, Atkinson V, Liszkay G, Maio M et al (2014) Combined vemurafenib and cobimetinib in BRAF-mutated melanoma. N Engl J Med 371(20):1867–1876
- Larkin J, Chiarion-Sileni V, Gonzalez R, Grob JJ, Cowey CL, Lao CD et al (2015) Combined Nivolumab and Ipilimumab or monotherapy in untreated melanoma. N Engl J Med 373(1):23–34
- Leach DR, Krummel MF, Allison JP (1996) Enhancement of antitumor immunity by CTLA-4 blockade. Science 271(5256):1734–1736
- Lebbé C, Meyer N, Mortier L, Marquez-Rodas I, Robert C, Rutkowski P et al (eds) Initial results from a phase 3b/4 study evaluating two dosing regimens of nivolumab (NIVO) in combination with ipilimumab (IPI) in patients with advanced melanoma. ESMO annual meeting, 2018, Munich
- Long GV, Stroyakovskiy D, Gogas H, Levchenko E, de Braud F, Larkin J et al (2015) Dabrafenib and trametinib versus dabrafenib and placebo for Val600 BRAF-mutant melanoma: a multicentre, double-blind, phase 3 randomised controlled trial. Lancet 386(9992): 444–451
- Long GV, Atkinson V, Cebon JS, Jameson MB, Fitzharris BM, McNeil CM et al (eds) Long-term follow-up of standard-dose pembrolizumab plus reduced-dose ipilimumab in 153 patients with advanced melanoma: KEYNOTE-029 1B. Society for Melanoma Research Annual Congress, 2018a, Manchester
- Long GV, Dummer R, Hamid O, Gajewski TF, Caglevic C, Dalle S et al (eds) Epacadostat plus Pembrolizumab versus Pembrolizumab alone in patients with Unresectable or metastatic melanoma: results of the phase 3 ECHO-301/KEYNOTE-252 study. ASCO annual meeting, 2018b, Chicago
- Maker AV, Phan GQ, Attia P, Yang JC, Sherry RM, Topalian SL et al (2005) Tumor regression and autoimmunity in patients treated with cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated antigen 4 blockade and interleukin 2: a phase I/II study. Ann Surg Oncol 12(12):1005–1016
- Martens A, Wistuba-Hamprecht K, Geukes Foppen M, Yuan J, Postow MA, Wong P et al (2016) Baseline peripheral blood biomarkers associated with clinical outcome of advanced melanoma patients treated with Ipilimumab. Clin Cancer Res 22(12): 2908–2918
- Maude SL, Laetsch TW, Buechner J, Rives S, Boyer M, Bittencourt H et al (2018) Tisagenlecleucel in children and Young adults with B-cell lymphoblastic leukemia. N Engl J Med 378(5):439–448
- Maus MV, June CH (2016) Making better chimeric antigen receptors for adoptive T-cell therapy. Clin Cancer Res 22(8):1875–1884
- Mier JW, Gallo RC (1980) Purification and some characteristics of human T-cell growth factor from phytohemagglutinin-stimulated lymphocyte-

conditioned media. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 77(10):6134-6138

- Morgan RA, Yang JC, Kitano M, Dudley ME, Laurencot CM, Rosenberg SA (2010) Case report of a serious adverse event following the administration of T cells transduced with a chimeric antigen receptor recognizing ERBB2. Mol Ther 18(4):843–851
- Morton DL, Eilber FR, Holmes EC, Hunt JS, Ketcham AS, Silverstein MJ et al (1974) BCG immunotherapy of malignant melanoma: summary of a seven-year experience. Ann Surg 180(4):635–643
- Neelapu SS, Locke FL, Bartlett NL, Lekakis LJ, Miklos DB, Jacobson CA et al (2017) Axicabtagene Ciloleucel CAR T-cell therapy in refractory large B-cell lymphoma. N Engl J Med 377(26):2531–2544
- Ossowski L, Aguirre-Ghiso JA (2010) Dormancy of metastatic melanoma. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res 23(1):41–56
- Peng W, Chen JQ, Liu C, Malu S, Creasy C, Tetzlaff MT et al (2016) Loss of PTEN promotes resistance to T cell-mediated immunotherapy. Cancer Discov 6(2): 202–216
- Postow MA, Chesney J, Pavlick AC, Robert C, Grossmann K, McDermott D et al (2015) Nivolumab and ipilimumab versus ipilimumab in untreated melanoma. N Engl J Med 372(21):2006–2017
- Postow MA, Sidlow R, Hellmann MD (2018) Immune-related adverse events associated with immune checkpoint blockade. N Engl J Med 378(2):158–168
- Puzanov I, Milhem MM, Minor D, Hamid O, Li A, Chen L et al (2016) Talimogene Laherparepvec in combination with Ipilimumab in previously untreated, unresectable stage IIIB-IV melanoma. J Clin Oncol 34(22): 2619–2626
- Puzanov I, Diab A, Abdallah K, Bingham CO 3rd, Brogdon C, Dadu R et al (2017) Managing toxicities associated with immune checkpoint inhibitors: consensus recommendations from the Society for Immunotherapy of Cancer (SITC) Toxicity Management Working Group. J Immunother Cancer 5(1):95
- Quezada SA, Peggs KS, Curran MA, Allison JP (2006) CTLA4 blockade and GM-CSF combination immunotherapy alters the intratumor balance of effector and regulatory T cells. J Clin Invest 116(7):1935–1945
- Ribas A, Puzanov I, Dummer R, Schadendorf D, Hamid O, Robert C et al (2015) Pembrolizumab versus investigator-choice chemotherapy for ipilimumabrefractory melanoma (KEYNOTE-002): a randomised, controlled, phase 2 trial. Lancet Oncol 16(8):908–918
- Ribas A, Dummer R, Puzanov I, VanderWalde A, Andtbacka RHI, Michielin O et al (2017) Oncolytic virotherapy promotes Intratumoral T cell infiltration and improves anti-PD-1 immunotherapy. Cell 170(6): 1109–19.e10
- Robbins PF, Morgan RA, Feldman SA, Yang JC, Sherry RM, Dudley ME et al (2011) Tumor regression in patients with metastatic synovial cell sarcoma and melanoma using genetically engineered

lymphocytes reactive with NY-ESO-1. J Clin Oncol 29(7):917–924

- Robert C, Schachter J, Long GV, Arance A, Grob JJ, Mortier L et al (2015a) Pembrolizumab versus Ipilimumab in Advanced Melanoma. N Engl J Med 372(26):2521–2532
- Robert C, Karaszewska B, Schachter J, Rutkowski P, Mackiewicz A, Stroiakovski D et al (2015b) Improved overall survival in melanoma with combined dabrafenib and trametinib. N Engl J Med 372(1):30–39
- Rosenberg SA (2011) Cell transfer immunotherapy for metastatic solid cancer – what clinicians need to know. Nat Rev Clin Oncol 8(10):577–585
- Rosenberg SA, Eberlein TJ, Grimm EA, Lotze MT, Mazumder A, Rosenstein M (1982) Development of long-term cell lines and lymphoid clones reactive against murine and human tumors: a new approach to the adoptive immunotherapy of cancer. Surgery 92(2): 328–336
- Rosenberg SA, Yang JC, Sherry RM, Kammula US, Hughes MS, Phan GQ et al (2011) Durable complete responses in heavily pretreated patients with metastatic melanoma using T-cell transfer immunotherapy. Clin Cancer Res 17(13):4550–4557
- Sade-Feldman M, Yizhak K, Bjorgaard SL, Ray JP, de Boer CG, Jenkins RW et al (2018) Defining T cell states associated with response to checkpoint immunotherapy in melanoma. Cell 175(4):998–1013.e20
- Schadendorf D, Hodi FS, Robert C, Weber JS, Margolin K, Hamid O et al (2015) Pooled analysis of Long-term survival data from phase II and phase III trials of Ipilimumab in unresectable or metastatic melanoma. J Clin Oncol 33(17):1889–1894
- Shahabi V, Whitney G, Hamid O, Schmidt H, Chasalow SD, Alaparthy S et al (2012) Assessment of association between BRAF-V600E mutation status in melanomas and clinical response to ipilimumab. Cancer Immunol Immunother 61(5):733–737
- Siroy AE, Boland GM, Milton DR, Roszik J, Frankian S, Malke J et al (2015) Beyond BRAF(V600): clinical mutation panel testing by next-generation sequencing in advanced melanoma. J Invest Dermatol 135(2): 508–515
- Soiffer R, Hodi FS, Haluska F, Jung K, Gillessen S, Singer S et al (2003) Vaccination with irradiated, autologous melanoma cells engineered to secrete granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor by adenoviral-mediated gene transfer augments antitumor immunity in patients with metastatic melanoma. J Clin Oncol 21(17):3343–3350
- Spranger S, Bao R, Gajewski TF (2015) Melanomaintrinsic beta-catenin signalling prevents anti-tumour immunity. Nature 523(7559):231–235
- Taube JM, Anders RA, Young GD, Xu H, Sharma R, McMiller TL et al (2012) Colocalization of inflammatory response with B7-h1 expression in human melanocytic lesions supports an adaptive resistance mechanism of immune escape. Sci Transl Med 4(127):127ra37

- Topalian SL, Hodi FS, Brahmer JR, Gettinger SN, Smith DC, McDermott DF et al (2012) Safety, activity, and immune correlates of anti-PD-1 antibody in cancer. N Engl J Med 366(26):2443–2454
- Tumeh PC, Harview CL, Yearley JH, Shintaku IP, Taylor EJ, Robert L et al (2014) PD-1 blockade induces responses by inhibiting adaptive immune resistance. Nature 515(7528):568–571
- Van Allen EM, Miao D, Schilling B, Shukla SA, Blank C, Zimmer L et al (2015) Genomic correlates of response to CTLA-4 blockade in metastatic melanoma. Science 350(6257):207–211
- Weber JS, O'Day S, Urba W, Powderly J, Nichol G, Yellin M et al (2008) Phase I/II study of ipilimumab for patients with metastatic melanoma. J Clin Oncol 26(36):5950–5956
- Weber JS, Dummer R, de Pril V, Lebbe C, Hodi FS (2013) Patterns of onset and resolution of immunerelated adverse events of special interest with ipilimumab: detailed safety analysis from a phase 3 trial in patients with advanced melanoma. Cancer 119(9):1675–1682

- Weber JS, D'Angelo SP, Minor D, Hodi FS, Gutzmer R, Neyns B et al (2015) Nivolumab versus chemotherapy in patients with advanced melanoma who progressed after anti-CTLA-4 treatment (CheckMate 037): a randomised, controlled, open-label, phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol 16(4):375–384
- Weber JS, Sznol M, Sullivan RJ, Blackmon S, Boland G, Kluger HM et al (2018) A serum protein signature associated with outcome after anti-PD-1 therapy in metastatic melanoma. Cancer Immunol Res 6(1):79–86
- Wolchok JD, Kluger H, Callahan MK, Postow MA, Rizvi NA, Lesokhin AM et al (2013) Nivolumab plus Ipilimumab in advanced melanoma. New Eng J Med 369:122
- Wolchok JD, Chiarion-Sileni V, Gonzalez R, Rutkowski P, Grob JJ, Cowey CL et al (2017) Overall survival with combined Nivolumab and Ipilimumab in advanced melanoma. N Engl J Med 377(14):1345–1356
- Yang JC, Hughes M, Kammula U, Royal R, Sherry RM, Topalian SL et al (2007) Ipilimumab (anti-CTLA4 antibody) causes regression of metastatic renal cell cancer associated with enteritis and hypophysitis. J Immunother 30(8):825–830



# Targeted Therapy in Advanced Melanoma

32

Jeffrey A. Sosman and Douglas B. Johnson

# Contents

Introduction	668
Melanoma Genetics	668
BRAF Inhibitors	670 672
MEK Inhibitors	673
BRAF + MEK Inhibition	673
Therapy Selection	674
Long-Term Outcomes	675
BRAF Inhibitor Resistance	675
Targeting BRAF Inhibitor Resistance	676
Therapy of Melanomas Without BRAF ^{V600} Mutations         Genetics of BRAF V600 Wild-Type Melanomas         NRAS-Mutated Melanomas         Targeting of the NF1 Loss of Function (LOF) Melanomas         Targeting Atypical BRAF Mutant Melanoma (Non-V600)         Targeting KIT	677 677 677 680 681 681
Conclusions	683
References	683

J. A. Sosman

Northwestern University and Robert H. Lurie Comprehensive Cancer Center, Chicago, IL, USA e-mail: jeff.sosman@vanderbilt.edu; Jeffrey.Sosman@nm.org

D. B. Johnson (🖂) Vanderbilt University Medical Center and Vanderbilt Ingram Cancer Center, Nashville, TN, USA e-mail: douglas.b.johnson@vanderbilt.edu

# Abstract

Molecularly targeted therapy, specifically small molecule therapeutics against particular oncogenes, has transformed the treatment landscape in melanoma and other cancers. Activating mutations in  $BRAF^{V600}$  produce constitutive activation of the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathway, causing unrestrained growth in nearly half of all

© Springer Science+Business Media, LLC, part of Springer Nature 2019 D. E. Fisher, B. C. Bastian (eds.), *Melanoma*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-7147-9_12 melanomas. In turn, therapeutic blockade of this pathway through BRAF inhibitors prodramatic duces clinical responses and improved survival compared to traditional cytotoxic chemotherapy. The addition of downstream MAPK blockade via MEK inhibition has further improved clinical outcomes. Although initial responses are impressive in most patients, and durable responses occasionally occur, acquired resistance remains a major barrier to long-term efficacy with these agents. A number of other potential therapeutic targets have been identified among other subsets of melanoma, including those with NRAS mutations, KIT mutations, and atypical BRAF alterations. Further. combinatorial regimens targeted MAPK and other pathways (including CDK4/6 and PI3K/AKT pathways) have shown early promise. This chapter reviews the development, current clinical activity, and future development directions for targeted therapy in melanoma.

#### Keywords

BRAF · Targeted therapy · NRAS · KIT · Vemurafenib · Dabrafenib · Trametinib

# Introduction

Historically, advanced melanoma has been associated with a poor prognosis and a median survival of 6–9 months (Balch et al. 2009). This was, in part, explained by a notorious lack of efficacy of traditional cytotoxic chemotherapy in patients with this disease. As such, a powerful drive to identify novel therapeutic strategies for advanced melanoma has persisted among the melanoma community.

Targeting specific genetic alterations that fuel cancer cell growth and division has led to major advances across several cancer types, and is now a cornerstone of melanoma therapeutics. A prerequisite for effective targeted therapy, however, is the identification of an appropriate "target." Several characteristics make particular molecular changes attractive for targeting by anticancer agents. First, it should be cancer specific, with limited or no expression on healthy tissues. This issue surfaces more frequently when targeting cell surface molecules, and less often presents a problem when targeting cancer-specific mutations. Second, it needs to contribute to cancer growth and progression. Genomic alterations that are fundamental to tumor growth are preferable than those that arise following malignant transformation or metastatic spread. Third, it should occur in a "targetable" protein. Transcription factors and GTPase proteins have proven difficult to target, whereas kinases are more amenable to therapeutic modulation. Fourth, the cancer cell would be highly dependent on the target, with a dearth of co-occurring, functionally redundant mutations. Finally, it would occur at a high frequency in a particular cancer type or across cancers. While frequency is not necessary for successful targeting, it provides enormous advantages in terms of detection, characterization, and drug development. A recurrent mutation in the 600th codon of BRAF was identified in 2002 in approximately half of melanoma tumors, fulfilling all of the above criteria except the fourth (as melanoma is among the most highly mutated of human cancers) (Alexandrov et al. 2013).

While early targeted therapy efforts predated 2002, the discovery of these recurrent  $BRAF^{V600}$ mutations sparked the first sustained and successful rational targeted therapy approaches in this disease (Davies et al. 2002). A number of comprehensive sequencing efforts have subsequently identified numerous potential genetic and nongenetic candidates for targeted therapies beyond BRAF mutations (discussed in "Melanoma Genetics" below). With the description of these recurrent genetic alterations, a novel classification schema was born, derived not from histologic or anatomic features, but from the genetic makeup of the tumor. The development of active targeted therapies has highlighted the clear clinical applications of this novel classification scheme.

# **Melanoma Genetics**

A review of the genetics of melanoma as described by The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA) provides an ideal basis for a discussion of targeted therapy of melanomas (Cancer Genome Atlas Network 2015). The TCGA is based on melanoma tissue obtained from regional lymph nodes and primary melanomas that were all cutaneous in origin and included no melanomas originating from mucosal surfaces, acral surfaces, or uveal origin. The TCGA provides an overall framework for melanoma genomic classification based on presumed driver mutations. This approach has classified melanoma by the predominant driver, BRAF, NRAS, NF1 or "Triple Wild Type" (TWT). The major driver oncogenes and several of those present within the TWT population strongly support mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathway inhibition as an important component of any targeted therapy, since over 90% of melanomas in the TCGA have driver genes activating this pathway (Cancer Genome Atlas Network 2015).

As mentioned, recurrent mutations in the serine threonine kinase BRAF at the 600th codon offered a previously unrecognized approach in treating this disease. Most commonly, this mutation involved a valine to glutamine substitution (V600E), but also included other changes (most often valine to arginine – V600 K) (Davies et al. 2002). Other, non-V600 mutations were also identified in a smaller proportion of melanomas (roughly 5%), primarily in exons 11 and 15, and most commonly codons 466, 469, 597, and 601 (Wan et al. 2004). These mutations lock BRAF into its active conformation, inducing constitutive downstream MAPK signaling through MEK1/2 and ERK independent of upstream RAS signaling. Other alterations in *BRAF* have also been identified at lower frequencies, including fusions, gene amplifications, and kinase domain duplications. The discovery of recurrent NRAS mutations at codons 12, 13, and 61 actually predated the identification of recurrent BRAF mutations. These changes are present in 15–20% of melanomas, with codon 61 mutations predominating, and less frequent codon 12 and 13 mutations. Less than 5% of the RAS-mutated melanomas involve KRAS or HRAS. This contrasts with mutation patterns in KRAS in other cancers (colon, lung adenocarcinomas), where codon 12 and 13 mutations predominate. Loss of function and truncating mutations in the tumor suppressor gene NF1 were also identified in approximately 15% of melanomas (Hodis et al. 2012; Krauthammer et al. 2012). NF1 mutations often co-occur with other MAPK activating mutations, suggesting that although they promote MAPK signaling, additional alterations are required for oncogenic pathway activation. Other low frequency mutations that promote MAPK signaling were also identified, including those in KRAS, HRAS, MAP2K1, CRAF, and various receptor tyrosine kinase encoding genes. Notably, these "driver" type mutations are largely mutually exclusive (with the exception of NF1). Thus, MAPK signaling is dysregulated and promoted in nearly all melanomas, suggesting that targeting this pathway could be effective in multiple genetically defined subtypes. See Fig. 1 for potential therapeutic targets and agents.

The other cohort of cutaneous melanomas has been identified as triple wild type (TWT) melanomas. Oncogenic drivers in this group are diverse, and include KIT, GNAQ, and GNA11 (drivers of uveal melanoma);  $PDGFR\alpha$  amplifications; CTNNB1; and EZH2 mutations (Cancer Genome Atlas Network 2015). The overall frequency of a UV signature (C to T inversion or CC to TT inversion) is seen in less than 30% of TWT melanomas while >90% of those from the other genetic classifications demonstrate a UV signature. Finally, copy number alterations (CNA) and other structural events such as TERT, CCND1, CDK4, MDM2, MITF, and PDL1 amplifications may also occur. Despite the somewhat distinct genetic makeup of this group, evidence of MAPK activation is still present in most TWT melanomas.

The stereotypic oncogenic "driver" mutations such as *BRAF* and *NRAS* were often found to coexist with cooperating genetic alterations that promote an invasive phenotype. These include *CDKN2A* loss or mutations, *TP53* mutations, *TERT* promoter mutations, *PTEN* loss, or other alterations in the PI3K-AKT pathway (Cancer Genome Atlas Network 2015; Hodis et al. 2012). A large, elegant study performed sequencing of numerous pre-malignant and primary melanoma tumors, and showed that these changes



accumulate in a predictable, stepwise fashion as melanomas evolve from pre-neoplastic lesions (Shain et al. 2015).  $BRAF^{V600E}$  mutations occurred in benign nevi, whereas NRAS mutations and several other drivers occurred in intermediate lesions. These intermediate lesions and melanoma in situ also frequently harbored *TERT* promoter mutations. *CDKN2A* deletions, *PTEN* loss, and *TP53* mutations occurred only in invasive melanomas. Furthermore, total mutational burden, the total number of somatic nucleotide variants identified in the tumor, accumulated with malignant progression. These co-occurring mutations may provide additional therapeutic targets.

Oncogenic driver mutations are also associated with unique clinical patterns. *BRAF* mutations occur more commonly in melanomas from skin with intermittent sun exposure, and are infrequent in melanomas arising from skin with chronic sun damage (CSD) (Curtin et al. 2005). If *BRAF* mutations are identified in skin with CSD, they frequently are V600 K rather than V600E. *NRAS* mutations occur in a relatively predictable 15–20%, regardless of anatomic location (with the exception of uveal melanoma). These alterations are also correlated with an inferior overall prognosis and thicker primary tumors. *KIT* mutations are present in 15–20% of acral and mucosal melanomas and 2% of CSD melanomas, but rarely in other cutaneous melanomas. *GNAQ* and *GNA11* mutations occur in nearly 90% of uveal melanomas, but rarely in other subtypes (Van Raamsdonk et al. 2009, 2010). *NF1* mutations also commonly occur in skin with CSD and are associated with a high overall burden of somatic mutations (Krauthammer et al. 2012).

#### **BRAF Inhibitors**

BRAF is a canonical member of the mitogen activated protein kinase (MAPK) signaling pathway. Mutations in codon V600 produce constitutive activation and MAPK signaling independent of upstream RAS stimulation. Since this mutation is present in nearly half of all melanomas, this represented a potential high frequency target with plausible biologic rationale. Initial trials of the putative BRAF inhibitor sorafenib showed disappointing clinical activity despite promising preclinical results in *BRAF* mutant cell lines. The infrequent responses observed were thought to arise from the anti-angiogenic and multikinase inhibitory effects of sorafenib, rather than to direct inhibition of mutant *BRAF*.

A novel set of small molecules that directly target BRAF were subsequently developed. The first of these with preclinical validation and to enter clinical trials was vemurafenib (also known as PLX4032 and RG7204). The first few patients were treated with a crystalline formulation that inhibited ERK in on-treatment tumor biopsies, but failed to cause tumor regression and had unfavorable pharmacokinetics. The agent was reformulated as an amorphous formulation that enabled higher drug exposures and clinical responses (Bollag et al. 2010). Initially, several patients without BRAF mutations were included in the phase I portion, none of whom responded to treatment. Thereafter, only patients with  $BRAF^{V600}$  mutations received vemurafenib.

The phase I study of vemurafenib produced remarkable clinical activity comparable to the most effective targeted therapies of the time (Flaherty et al. 2010). Many patients experienced dramatic clinical improvement even within hours to days of commencing treatment. In a small expansion cohort, the objective (unconfirmed) response rate was 81%, with a median progression-free survival (PFS) of approximately 7 months. Furthermore, nearly all patients experienced some degree of tumor regression, including those that did not achieve a true partial response.

Follow-up studies were similarly encouraging. A large phase III study was conducted, comparing vemurafenib with the alkylating agent dacarbazine in 675 patients with  $BRAF^{V600E}$ mutant melanoma. This study demonstrated a dramatic improvement in clinical outcomes with vemurafenib, including confirmed response rates (48% vs. 5%), PFS (hazard ratio [HR] for progression = 0.26;median 5.3 months vs. 1.6 months), and OS (HR for death = 0.37; 6 month OS 84% vs. 64%, all p values <0.001) (Chapman et al. 2011). Benefits were observed in essentially all subgroups, including in both patients with poor traditional prognostic features (elevated lactate dehydrogenase [LDH], visceral

disease involvement, advanced age) and those with favorable clinical prognosis (normal LDH, nonvisceral metastases, younger age). The phase II study of vemurafenib was subsequently reported with a longer duration of follow-up. This study demonstrated a 53% ORR and a median overall survival of 15.9 months among previously treated patients (Sosman et al. 2012). The median duration of response in this study was 6.7 months, although some patients remained on study for a longer duration (>12 months). In context, the historical median survival in advanced melanoma ranged from 6 to 9 months in prior series. See Table 1 for clinical activity of approved and experimental targeted therapies.

Subsequently, dabrafenib, another BRAF inhibitor, entered clinical development. A phase III clinical trial was the first large published experience with this agent, and confirmed clinical efficacy that was comparable with vemurafenib (Hauschild et al. 2012). This study randomized 250 patients at a 2:1 ratio to receive either dabrafenib or dacarbazine, and noted that dabrafenib produced superior ORR (50%) 5.1 7%) and PFS (median vs. months vs. 2.7 months, p < 0.001). Crossover to dabrafenib was permitted after progression on chemotherapy, decreasing the likelihood of observing an overall survival difference (which was not observed on this trial).

The original vemurafenib studies limited treatment to patients specifically with the BRAF V600E mutation. While V600E is the most common BRAF mutation, approximately 20% of mutations at the same codon involve alternative substitutions, most often valine to lysine (V600 K). Most subsequent studies included both mutations, however, found similar benefit for V600E and V600 K mutations. Several case series later showed that less common BRAF V600 mutations could also respond to treatment, including V600R and V600 M (Klein et al. 2013). Thus, many clinical trials (and clinical guidelines) now consider alternate V600 mutations as likely to benefit from BRAF (+/- MEK) inhibition. By contrast, non-V600 mutations appear to be insensitive to mutant-specific BRAF inhibitors (see "MEK Inhibitors" section below).

Agent	Indication	Response rate	PFS (median)	OS (median)	Reference
Vemurafenib	BRAF-mutant	48%	5.3 months	13.6 months	
Vemurafenib + cobimetinib	BRAF-mutant	68%	9.9 months	81% at 9 months	
Dabrafenib	BRAF-mutant	50%	5.1 months	Not reported	
Trametinib	BRAF-mutant	22%	4.8 months	81% at 6 months	
Dabrafenib + trametinib	BRAF-mutant	64%	11.4 months	72% at 12 months	
Binimetinib ^{a,b}	NRAS-mutant	20%	3.7 months	Not reported	
Imatinib ^a	<i>KIT</i> -mutant	16–29% ^c	2.9–3.5 months	10.7 months	
Nilotinib ^a	<i>KIT</i> -mutant, imatinib refractory	11% (2/19 patients)	3.3 months	9.1 months	
Trametinib ^a	Atypical BRAF-mutant	Case reports, but numerous responses reported for $BRAF^{L597}$ and $BRAF^{K601}$ mutations			

 Table 1
 Available targeted therapy options for melanoma

^aNot FDA approved for this indication

^bNot clinically available at the time of publication

^cResponses appear be in the 30–50% range for exon 11 and 15 mutations, <10% for amplifications

Most initial studies also excluded patients with active brain metastases. Separate phase II studies were performed specifically for patients with brain involvement. In the BREAK-MB study, 172 patients with at least one asymptomatic brain metastasis between 0.5 and 4 cm were treated with dabrafenib (Long et al. 2012). Patients were divided into those naïve to local treatment (e.g., radiation; cohort A) or patients with prior treatment (cohort B). Among those with  $BRAF^{V600E}$  mutations, 39% and 31% of patients in cohorts A and B experienced intracranial disease responses. Concordance between intracranial and extracranial responses was generally high, although some patients did experience intracranial disease progression despite systemic control. Retrospective data also suggest that vemurafenib is also active in the setting of brain metastases (Harding et al. 2015). Thus, BRAF inhibitors can be an important therapeutic tool when patients develop melanoma brain metastases.

BRAF inhibitors were generally well tolerated but were associated with a characteristic toxicity profile. Chronic effects included arthralgias, fevers, gastrointestinal symptoms, and numerous cutaneous toxicities (Chapman et al. 2011; Hauschild et al. 2012; Sosman et al. 2012). The skin effects included various hyperproliferative skin lesions, including papular rashes, papillomas, and most notably, cutaneous squamous cell carcinomas (cuSCCs). In most cases, patients were able to continue therapy following surgical resection. When sequenced, these cuSCCs were found to harbor RAS mutations (Su et al. 2012a). Interestingly, BRAF inhibitors appeared to neither initiate nor promote carcinogenesis in these tumors. Instead, they paradoxically promoted MAPK signaling, thus hastening tumor growth in these RAS-mutated cells. Several other rare cases of other RAS mutant cancers arising on BRAF inhibitors have also been described.

Although vemurafenib and dabrafenib had relatively similar toxicity profiles, several key differences were observed. Vemurafenib was generally associated with higher rates of phototoxicity, whereas dabrafenib caused more pyrexia. Overall, these agents are generally thought to have equivalent efficacy, and can thus be chosen based on tolerability and physician or patient preference. At this time however, BRAF inhibitors are rarely used as single agents, and are generally combined with MEK inhibitors.

#### **Other BRAF Inhibitors**

Encorafenib (LGX818) is a highly potent BRAF inhibitor currently under clinical development.

While early trials demonstrated clinical activity in small numbers of patients, further studies are primarily focusing on combining this agent with the MEK inhibitor binimetinib (see BRAF + MEK Inhibitors). PLX8394 is a structurally distinct agent termed a "paradox-breaker" BRAF inhibitor. This agent, in preclinical models, inhibits BRAF without inducing paradoxical MAPK signaling in RAS-mutant cells (Zhang et al. 2015). PLX8394 is currently in phase I/II clinical trials. Other multikinase inhibitors with some degree of specificity for BRAF, including RAF265, are also undergoing clinical development (Su et al. 2012b).

#### MEK Inhibitors

MEK is immediately downstream of RAF in the MAPK pathway. As such, it was hoped that inhibition of this signaling node would have activity in both RAF and RAS mutant cancers. A phase I/II study was conducted that included patients with a variety of malignancies. A large subset of melanoma was enrolled, consisting of 36 patients with BRAF mutations, 10 with NRAS mutations, and 29 with BRAF/NRAS wild-type disease (Falchook et al. 2012). Among the BRAF mutant cohort, the response rate was 33% and the median PFS was 5.7 months. Notably, no responses were observed among the six patients who previously received a BRAF inhibitor. No patients with NRAS mutations responded to therapy, and 10% of the BRAF/NRAS WT group responded. Two of these patients were later found to have atypical non-V600 BRAF mutations, suggesting that only a small proportion of truly BRAF wild-type melanomas would benefit from trametinib.

To follow up this study, a phase III study comparing trametinib to investigator's choice chemotherapy was performed in 322 patients (Flaherty et al. 2012b). The median PFS was substantially higher in patients treated with trametinib (4.8 vs. 1.5 months, p < 0.001). In addition, OS was superior, despite allowing for crossover to trametinib for patients who progressed on chemotherapy (6 month OS rate 81% vs. 67%, p = 0.01). Based on these data, trametinib received FDA approval for advanced, *BRAF*-mutated melanoma. Given the marginally inferior outcomes compared to BRAF inhibition (albeit comparing across trials), trametinib has not been extensively used as a single agent in this setting. Several other MEK inhibitors have undergone clinical development (see "*NRAS* Mutant Melanoma" and "Uveal Melanoma" sections).

The toxicities observed with trametinib were quite distinct from those of BRAF inhibitors. Cutaneous events were also present, but stemmed from hypoproliferative effects on keratinocytes. Clinically, this manifests as an acneiform rash similar to that observed with EGFR inhibitors (e.g., erlotinib, gefitinib). Ocular toxicities, including central serous retinopathy and retinal vein occlusion, were observed occasionally, but at much lower rates than earlier generation MEK inhibitors. Cardiomyopathy, which usually reversed following treatment, was also observed infrequently. Gastrointestinal symptoms, edema, and joint pain also occurred and were generally of low-grade and clinically manageable.

# **BRAF + MEK Inhibition**

A number of sequencing efforts demonstrated that most tumors resistant to BRAF inhibitors had incomplete MAPK blockade (see BRAF resistance, below) (Shi et al. 2014). Further, both BRAF and MEK inhibitors demonstrated substantial clinical activity as single agents at distinct nodes in the MAPK pathway. Thus, combining these agents was thought to be a rational therapeutic strategy for the BRAF mutant cohort. A phase I/II trial was conducted with dabrafenib and trametinib. In a randomized portion of this study, dabrafenib and trametinib were compared with dabrafenib monotherapy (Flaherty et al. 2012a). Improvements were noted in ORR (76%) vs. 54%, p = 0.03) and median PFS (9.4) vs. 5.8 months, p < 0.001) with the highest dose of the combination (dabrafenib 150 mg twice daily and trametinib 2 mg daily). Based on these data, the combination of dabrafenib and trametinib received FDA approval in 2014.

Several follow-up phase III studies have verified and extended these findings in larger populations. Dabrafenib and trametinib were compared with dabrafenib (COMBI-D study) in 423 patients with advanced, *BRAF*-mutant melanoma (Long et al. 2015). The combination resulted in superior PFS (median 11 vs. 8.8 months, p < 0.001) and OS (median 25.1 vs. 18. months, p = 0.01). Survival at 1 year (74% vs. 68%) and 2 years (51% vs. 42%) were also improved in the combination arm. In parallel, the COMBI-V study compared the same combination with vemurafenib in 704 patients (Robert et al. 2014). Similar findings were reported in this study, with improved 12 month OS (72% vs. 65%, p = 0.005), median PFS (11.4 vs. 7.3 months, p < 0.001), and response rates (64% vs. 51%).

Vemurafenib has also been evaluated in combination with another MEK inhibitor, cobimetinib. After promising response rates and PFS were observed in early phase trials, a phase III study comparing this combination with vemurafenib monotherapy was conducted (Larkin et al. 2014). Similar to the other BRAF + MEKinhibitor regimen, the combination produced superior PFS (median 9.9 vs. 6.2 months, p < 0.001) and response rate (68% vs. 45%, p < 0.001). Vemurafenib and cobimetinib received regulatory approval in November 2015 for treatment of BRAF V600 mutant melanoma. Based on these data, combined BRAF and MEK inhibition with either dabrafenib + trametinib or vemurafenib + cobimetinib is preferred over single-agent therapy and is now widely used.

Combined BRAF/MEK inhibition produced a unique toxicity profile. Stereotypic MEK inhibitor effects were observed at expected rates (cardiac, ocular) (Larkin et al. 2014; Long et al. 2015; Robert et al. 2014). Fevers also emerged as the most problematic, stereotypic toxicity with dabrafenib + trametinib. In most cases, these manageable with nonsteroidal were antiinflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) and/or corticosteroids. Intriguingly, the cutaneous effects of either single agent were attenuated by combining agents. This apparent "cancelling out" of toxicities is attributed to blockade of paradoxical MAPK activation by the concurrent MEK inhibition in BRAF WT skin cells. The combination of vemurafenib and cobimetinib was not associated with pyrexia, but photosensitivity, diarrhea, and elevated creatinine phosphokinase levels were observed. Overall, the toxicity profiles of either combination are generally viewed as equivalent or potentially even superior compared to BRAF or MEK inhibitor monotherapy.

Another BRAF and MEK inhibitor combination is also undergoing clinical development: encorafenib and binimetinib. Early results suggest that response rates, progression-free survival, and incidence of toxicities are relatively comparable to the approved combinations. A randomized phase III study is currently comparing encorafenib and binimetinib with vemurafenib.

#### **Therapy Selection**

The data presented above clearly demonstrates superiority for combined BRAF + MEK inhibitors compared to single agent BRAF inhibitors. Therapy selection between BRAF + MEK inhibitors and immune therapy, however, is not so clear. In fact, this decision presents a common conundrum for patients with  $BRAF^{V600}$  mutations. The clinical efficacy of immune checkpoint inhibitors extends to patients with and without BRAF mutations, providing a compelling alternative clinical option for these patients. A cooperative group trial sponsored by the US National Cancer Institute is currently evaluating dabrafenib + trametinib compared to ipilimumab + nivolumab with crossover to the alternative group at the time of progression (https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT02224781). This study will provide more definitive guidance for clinicians about the most appropriate first-line selection. In the interim, there are several principals to guide this decision.

In general, BRAF-directed therapies are associated with high response rates and clinical benefit in nearly all patients. Therefore, for patients who are highly symptomatic and "need a response," many clinicians will choose BRAF + MEK inhibition as the initial therapy over immune checkpoint inhibition. Unfortunately, this group of patients generally has poor outcomes overall, with a limited duration of benefit from BRAF + MEK inhibitors. By contrast, immune therapies may provide durable benefit for a sizable minority of patients (or perhaps even a majority for ipilimumab + nivolumab). Thus, many clinicians prefer an immune approach for most patients initially and reserve BRAF-directed therapies for the salvage setting.

Recent long-term data from early dabrafenib + trametinib studies add complexity to this decision (Long et al. 2016). Patients with low LDH or <3sites of disease had outstanding outcomes to targeted therapy, with 3-year overall survival rates of 62% and 58%, respectively. This is a population that typically performs well with immune therapy as well. By contrast, patients with high LDH and those with  $\geq 3$  sites of disease involvement had dismal long-term outcomes with dabrafenib + trametinib, with 3-year OS of 5% and 19%, respectively. Thus, the traditional melanoma risk factors (metastatic stage, LDH) appear to correlate with outcomes for both immune and targeted therapies. Better therapies and improved selection markers are needed, particularly for the poor-prognostic subgroups.

#### Long-Term Outcomes

The traditional dogma has been that BRAFdirected therapy produces responses of limited duration with inevitable onset of acquired resistance. The long-term outcome data has challenged these assumptions, with extended follow-up from BRAF inhibitor monotherapy and BRAF+MEK combination studies. Particularly with the combination, a 3-4 year survival of approximately 20% appears to be emerging, with a "tail of the curve" appearance to the PFS figures (i.e., very few patients have disease progression between 2.5 and 4 years) (Long et al. 2016). While it is unclear whether these patients will have truly long-lasting responses, the lack of delayed progression argues for durability. Our own clinical experience mirrors these studies, with a small but definite patient population still receiving treatment many years after beginning therapy.

## **BRAF Inhibitor Resistance**

Unfortunately, long-term PFS with BRAFdirected therapy is the exception rather than the rule. While this topic is comprehensively covered in another chapter, the core signaling nodes and concepts that underpin resistance are briefly reviewed here. Although nearly all patients receive clinical benefit and tumor regression from BRAF inhibitors, most ultimately develop acquired resistance to therapy causing disease progression. Posttreatment biopsies, obtained at the time of disease progression, revealed that MAPK signaling was reactivated in most progressing tumors despite ongoing BRAF inhibition. Intensive sequencing efforts by a number of groups revealed numerous and recurrent genetic and transcriptomic changes that reinvigorate MAPK signaling (Rizos et al. 2014; Shi et al. 2014; Van Allen et al. 2014). These included NRAS mutations, BRAF amplification, alternate splicing of BRAF (causing dimerization and efficient signaling), MEK1/2 mutations, and COT overexpression. A smaller set of resistant samples displays MAPK-independent resistance mechanisms, including PI3K-AKT pathway changes or receptor tyrosine kinase upregulation. Overall, though, the majority of these changes leading to BRAF inhibitor resistance involved MAPK pathway reactivation. Hence, combined BRAF and MEK inhibition was considered to more completely extinguish MAPK signaling. Several studies have also shown, however, that genetic changes promoting MAPK signaling drive combination therapy resistance as well. More recently, a number of nongenetic and immune correlates of resistance have been identified which may further complicate attempts to target resistant pathways and impact immune therapy approaches (Hugo et al. 2015). Further, substantial heterogeneity within and across progressing tumors has been described. This diverse and complex landscape of resistance has decreased our optimism that targeting canonical signaling pathways can reverse or overcome resistance. A number of different approaches, however, have been attempted or are ongoing.

# **Targeting BRAF Inhibitor Resistance**

One initial trial assessed MEK inhibition with trametinib following resistance to dabrafenib or vemurafenib. In a phase II study, 40 patients who failed BRAF inhibition received trametinib; none responded to therapy, and the median PFS was a dismal 1.8 months (Kim et al. 2013). Combined BRAF and MEK inhibition, which clearly delayed the onset of acquired resistance and improved clinical outcomes compared to monotherapy, was assessed in the BRAF inhibitor resistant setting. As part of the initial phase II study of dabrafenib + trametinib, a cohort of patients who failed vemurafenib or dabrafenib was included. These patients had markedly inferior outcomes to patients treated in the naïve setting, with median PFS of 3.6 months and a response rate of 12% (Johnson et al. 2014). Similar results were observed with vemurafenib and cobimetinib (Ribas et al. 2014). Thus, this approach is not commonly used.

Other single agents or combinations of targeted therapies have produced promising preclinical results, but this has yet to translate into clear clinical efficacy. ERK inhibitors may have a role in overcoming BRAF inhibitor resistance. The final canonical member of the MAPK pathway, however, has been challenging to target. Several inhibitors are now in clinical trials, with some early and modest signs of efficacy. Various combinations with preclinical support are also being tested to prevent or overcome resistance, including combinations of BRAF +/- MEK inhibitors with inhibitors of the PI3K/AKT pathway, heat shock proteins, MDM2 (a protein that interacts with p53), and autophagy (hydroxychloroquine).

Another intriguing strategy to delay resistance is intermittent dosing of BRAF inhibitors. While this approach has not been confirmed clinically, preclinical data suggests that drug dependence develops with continuous dosing of vemurafenib (Das Thakur et al. 2013). Discontinuous dosing, by contrast, exploits this dependency and forestalls the onset of resistance. A US National Cancer Institute-sponsored cooperative group study is currently testing this strategy with dabrafenib and trametinib. (https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/ NCT02196181). In this study, patients receive continuous dosing for 8 weeks. Nonprogressing patients are then randomized to a 5 weeks on and 3 weeks off treatment schedule or continuous dosing. While the intermittent dosing schedule has not been validated for routine use, many experts prefer this strategy to repeated dose decreases in the presence of toxicities.

Finally, combining targeted and immune therapies, the two active therapeutic classes in melanoma, remains of great interest. Several elegant preclinical studies have suggested that BRAF and/or MEK inhibitors have various effects on the tumor microenvironment (preclinical and clinical data reviewed in Robert et al. 2016). Specifically, BRAF inhibitors have been associated with upregulation of melanoma differentiation antigens, major histocompatibility complexes, and immunogenic cytokines. MEK inhibitors have been shown to dampen T cell proliferation, which could either compromise immune therapy activity, or suppress toxicities. The combination has also demonstrated increased tumor infiltrating lymphocytes with increased clonality (suggesting a more specific antitumor response), and increase in PD-1/PD-L1 expression.

Clinically, combined BRAF-directed and immune therapies have had mixed results. The combination of vemurafenib and ipilimumab produced unacceptable hepatotoxicity, and the initial experience with the triple combination of dabrafenib, trametinib, and ipilimumab was complicated by frequent colitis and bowel perforations. While these initial studies have demonstrated the unpredictable nature of these toxicities, several subsequent studies have been more promising. Dabrafenib and ipilimumab appear to have a tolerable side effect profile in early results. Several other studies combining anti-PD-1/PD-L1 directed agents (atezolizumab, pembrolizumab) with BRAF+MEK inhibitors have shown signs of efficacy without substantial additive toxicity. Interestingly, a run-in period of vemurafenib and cobimetinib (for 28 or 56 days) appeared to produce superior activity (responses in 14 of 16 patients vs. 1 of 3 patients) and toxicity (grade 3/4 toxicities in 5 of 14 vs. 2 of 3) compared to concurrent administration with

atezolizumab. The median PFS in these few patients was 10.9 months, however, which is similar to vemurafenib + cobimetinib alone. Further study is needed to assess these novel approaches.

# Therapy of Melanomas Without BRAF^{V600} Mutations

# Genetics of *BRAF* V600 Wild-Type Melanomas

Following BRAF, RAS is the next most frequent driver mutation making up approximately 20% of the cases of cutaneous melanoma in numerous studies (Cancer Genome Atlas Network 2015; Hodis et al. 2012; Krauthammer et al. 2012). NF1 loss of function (LOF) mutations make up 14% of melanomas analyzed with some overlap with BRAF-non-V600 mutations. The tumors which have NF1 mutations also have the highest overall somatic mutation burden, likely reflecting their primaries on chronically sun-exposed sites from older patients (Krauthammer et al. 2012). Other recurrent alterations in RAC1, PPP6C, ARID2, IDH1, RB1, and DDX3X have been identified. Finally, there are a number of candidate fusion drivers in cases involving BRAF and other genes (Hutchinson et al. 2013). Many of these fusions have intact kinase domains without the regulatory sequences, leading to constitutive kinase activation.

Another way of looking at the TCGA would be the class of the genetic alteration in terms of the strength of evidence for them to be actionable targets. Class 1 would be those which are known to be clinically targetable including those responsive to BRAF inhibition or MEK inhibition, CDK inhibition, MDM2/p53 inhibition, PI3K/Akt, mTOR inhibitors; or class 2 translational actionable, ERK inhibitors, MEK inhibitors, IDH1 inhibitors, EZH2 inhibitors and even Aurora kinase inhibitors (PPP6C) and class 3 preclinical, chromatin remodelers inhibition, BH3 mimetics, and others. The TCGA report also included an extensive gene expression and protein expression analysis (Cancer Genome Atlas Network 2015). This was most revealing for the presence of a strong immune RNA expression signature with overexpression of genes associated with T cells, B cells, NK cells, chemokines, cytokines, and immune signaling molecules and inhibitory checkpoint proteins in melanomas from all of the genetically classified TCGA melanoma cohorts. The presence of an immune signature was associated with an improved prognosis independent of any treatment. This likely is of greatest relevance to the responsiveness to immunotherapy, although it may also have implications in targeted therapies. The remainder of this chapter will focus on defined subsets of BRAF V600 WT melanomas including those with mutations in NRAS, NF1, TWT and followed by uveal, mucosal, and acral, subtypes not represented in the TCGA.

#### NRAS-Mutated Melanomas

*NRAS* mutant melanomas present with several specific clinical features (Thomas et al. 2015). Primary tumors have been associated with regions of chronic sun damage, increase in number of mitoses, decrease in tumor infiltrating lymphocytes, and frequently upstaged primaries. At diagnosis of stage IV (M1) disease *NRAS* melanomas have a worse prognosis to TWT melanomas and more likely involvement of the central nervous system.

Directly targeting NRAS has been a challenge, since it is not a kinase and because of the very tight RAS-GTP binding (Stephen et al. 2014). NRAS-mediated activation involves the reversible exchange of GDP for GTP whereas turning off RAS involves hydrolysis of GTP to GDP. Guanine nucleotide exchange factors (GEFs) accelerate the activation of NRAS, while GTPase activating proteins (GAP) accelerate the off switch. The downstream effectors include ERK through the MAP kinase pathway, PI3K and PDK1, RALGDS, RAL guanine nucleotide dissociation stimulator, PLD phospholipase D (PLD), Phospholipase C (PLC), protein kinase C (PKC), and T-cell lymphoma invasion and metastasis 1 (TIAM1) (Johnson and Puzanov 2015). In preclinical studies completely knocking down

(extinguishing) PIK3CA, p110 $\alpha$  can reduce both NRAS- and KRAS-driven tumors formation. These results highlight the need to simultaneously inhibit other pathways beyond MAPK signaling for *NRAS*-mutated melanomas. Most of the down-stream pathways, however, are not tumor-specific targets which may lead to significant side effects. As always, well-designed clinical studies with both pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamic endpoints are needed for combination therapy.

Numerous attempts have been made including preventing the binding of NRAS from the cell membrane with initially farnesyltransferase inhibitors, and following their failure, the targeting of the geranyl-geranyl-transferase, inhibition of RAS-SOS protein interaction with small molecules, and inhibiting the binding of RAS to the RAF molecule (s) (Gajewski et al. 2012). Since NRAS mutant melanomas predominantly have a Q61 mutation, the cysteine reactive molecules selective for KRAS G12C binds to another pocket and would not be effective (Burd et al. 2014). This has led to a focus on MEK inhibition downstream from RAS-RAF, which is already known to be problematic due to the greater ERK reactivation feedback that it induces. Nevertheless an oral MEK inhibitor (MEK162, Binimetinib), a noncompetitive ATP inhibitor of MEK1 and MEK2, has been tested clinically in patients with metastatic melanoma harboring BRAF or NRAS mutations. Early encouraging results in NRASmutated patients have been noted, with an objective response rate of 20%, of which only 10% were confirmed with imaging (Ascierto et al. 2013). The median PFS was 3.7 months with a median duration of response of 7.6 weeks. This is consistent with rapid development of acquired resistance, even for responding patients. This phase I/II study led to a phase III trial comparing versus chemotherapy binimetinib enrolling 402 NRAS-mutant melanoma patients with a 2:1 randomization favoring binimetinib. The study was recently reported at the 2016 ASCO meeting. Patients were required to have a Q61 NRAS mutation and towards the completion of accrual, prior immunotherapy was allowed. Only 20% had prior checkpoint inhibitors, including 13% with ipilimumab and only a few percent (5-6%)

receiving prior anti-PD1. The study met its primary endpoint with an improvement of PFS (HR = 0.62, p = 0.001). However, the increase in median PFS was not especially impressive, increasing from 1.5 to 2.8 months, and the ORR favored binimetinib 15% versus 7%. The PFS benefit appeared to be more pronounced in those patients with poor prognostic factors including those with stage IV M1c, more numbers of organ involved, presence of visceral disease, and elevated serum LDH. Interestingly, even though those with prior immunotherapy represented only 20% of the patients, they had the most obvious benefit in terms of median PFS, increasing from 1.6 months to 5.5 months. The median overall survival for all patients enrolled was no different (11 vs. 10.1 months, HR = 1.0). Of note 45% of both groups received immunotherapy following protocol treatment with those who received binimetinib being slightly more likely to have PD as their best response to immunotherapy. Results of this trial may lead to approval of the first targeted agent for NRAS mutant melanoma, but the results are below the hoped-for improvement. It may provide a component of therapy in the future. The results with those patients who have had prior immunotherapy is the most promising aspect of the trial, since nearly all patients in the future would be treated in this order, even with the availability of a MEK inhibitor.

Combination therapy with a MEK inhibitor backbone has also been a treatment strategy of interest. Generally, combined PI3K and MEK inhibitor therapy has seemed to be feasible with manageable safety and toxicity profile. The most common adverse events (AEs) of therapy include diarrhea, rash, fatigue, vomiting, and hyperglycemia. The clinical activity of GDC-0973 (MEK1/2 inhibitor) and GDC-0941 (class I PI3K inhibitor) was studied in 78 patients with advanced solid tumors (Asati et al. 2016). Daily dosing of BKM120 (pan-PI3K inhibitor) and trametinib (MEK inhibitor) was evaluated with 49 patients with advanced RAS- or B-RAF-mutant cancers. In another combination study, 49 patients were treated with the pan-PI3K inhibitor copanlisib and the MEK inhibitor refametinib (Asati et al. 2016). The combination of BYL719 (PI3K $\alpha$ 

inhibitor) and binimetinib (MEK inhibitor) was studied in 58 patients with advanced solid tumors with RAS or B-RAF mutations (Asati et al. 2016). None of these trials with MEK inhibitors and PI-3 kinase/mTOR inhibitors generated promising enough results to pursue phase II trials in melanoma, including in *NRAS* mutant melanoma. Toxicity of the regimen, while tolerable, never allowed dose escalation required to see the promising clinical effects in patients.

Interestingly, hyperactivation of AKT and loss of PTEN expression dominates the picture in brain metastasis versus other sites of disease (Davies et al. 2009). Brain-derived factors appear to induce hyperactivation of the AKT survival pathway and to promote the survival and drug resistance of melanoma cells in the brain. Thus, inhibition of PI3K-AKT signaling shows potential for enhancing and/or prolonging the antitumor effect of MEK inhibitors in melanoma brain metastases.

In all of non-BRAF V600 mutant melanoma (NRAS, NF1, TWT), interest in combining MEK inhibitors with CDK4/6 inhibitors has the frequent dysregulation of the CDK4/6-RB1 pathway. This occurs through several mechanisms, including overexpression and/or amplification of D-type cyclins, mutation or amplification of CDK4/6, or loss of cyclin D-CDK4/6 negative regulators such as p16INK4A (Hodis et al. 2012). In mouse models of NRAS mutant melanoma, including xenograft and syngeneic models, combined MAPK and CDK4/6 inhibition has been promising (Kwong et al. 2012). Inhibition of MEK activates apoptosis, but not cell-cycle arrest. Therefore, cell death is balanced by continued proliferation, leading to tumor stasis in vivo. In contrast, the knock out (extinguishing) of NRAS induces apoptosis and cell cycle arrest. CDK4 was identified as the critical driver of this differential phenotype. The predominant cytostatic effects of CDK4/6 inhibition, when combined with MEK inhibition, led to apoptosis with blockade of continued proliferation, resulting in net tumor regression and substantial synergy in therapeutic efficacy. Consistent with these results, combined CDK4 and MEK inhibition led to increased apoptosis and/or reduced viability in

colony formation assays in human melanoma and pancreatic cancer cell lines.

Combination of CDK4/6 inhibitors with RAS/RAF/MEK/ERK pathway inhibitors is a promising therapeutic approach, particularly in patients with melanoma. Identifying the optimal dose and schedule to maximally inhibit both pathways while minimizing toxicity remains an elusive goal. Treatment-related toxicities were common and included creatinine phosphokinase elevation, rash, edema, anemia, nausea, diarrhea, and fatigue. Clinical studies have included binimetinib + ribociclib, trametinib + palbociclib, and PD901+ palbociclib (Sosman et al. 2014). There is the most experience with the combination of binimetinib + ribociclib, first with a 28-day cycle of ribociclib (3 weeks on and 1 week off) and continuous binimetinib. Twenty-two patients were enrolled with some significant toxicities including renal, creatinine phosphokinase elevations, anemia, atrial fibrillation with five DLTs including an intracranial bleed. Only well below single-agent MTD could be assessed for ribociclib and binimetinib, but still clinical activity was extremely encouraging with five confirmed PR, four unconfirmed PR, and eight SD - 9/22 (41%) ORR. The duration of response was 56-351 days and overall median PFS was 6.7 months. Due to toxicity, a 21-day cycle of ribociclib (14 days on, 7 days off) was assessed enrolling 22 patients with 4 objective responses and a median PFS of 4 months. An additional 7 patients were enrolled to receive 200 mg ribociclib daily for 14 of 28 days/45 mg BID binimetinib. Ultimately, this was the recommended phase 2 dose. Cumulatively, 6 responses were seen out of 16 treated patients at this selected dose and level with an overall RR of 35% (10/29), median DOR of 5.0 months, and median PFS of 6.4 months. All of these metrics appeared superior to binimetinib alone. While trametinib plus palbociclib has completed a phase I trial, the heterogenous composition of patients did not allow any assessment of clinical activity in NRAS mutant melanoma.

There have been numerous approaches that are currently being tested in clinical trials, but too early to provide a clear idea of the clinical activity. One approach of great interest is ERK inhibition which would conceptually prevent the ERK-induced feedback seen with MEK inhibitors. Three ERK inhibitors have entered clinical trial development. SCH772984 and RG7842 (GDC0994; Genentech/Roche) are currently being tested in Phase I clinical trials (Morris et al. 2013). BVD-523 (ulixertinib; Biomed Valley Discoveries), a novel ERK1/2 kinase inhibitor, has recently entered phase I clinical trials with responses noted in three patients with BRAF mutant melanoma, including one refractory to prior BRAF/MEK inhibition. Expansion cohorts have included over 20 patients with NRAS mutant melanoma, but no results have been reported at this time.

For RAS-mutant tumors, effective inhibition of MAPK signaling remains a major challenge. MEK inhibitors have shown definite modest clinical activity in this setting and they may be more effective if combined with either CDK4/6 inhibitors, PI3K/mTOR inhibitors, or other approaches. ERK inhibitors or RAF inhibitors that can overcome resistance due to RAF dimerization or even potential RAS inhibitors may ultimately become a reality.

Other potential approaches include c-Met inhibition, based on ex vivo work demonstrating increased C-Met phosphorylation in NRAS mutant melanoma. Inhibition of NRAS decreases C-MET responsiveness to HGF, and NRAS mutant tumors more sensitive to c-Met blockade were (Chattopadhyay et al. 2012). RAF paradox breakers (PLX7904 and PLX8394) are RAF inhibitors that evade paradoxical MAPK pathway activation with no pERK induction in RAS mutant tumors, and pan-RAF inhibitors are in early clinical trials (Zhang et al. 2015). Finally, inhibitors of polo-like kinase (PLK1), a molecule which is overexpressed in NRAS Q61 mutant melanoma, when combined with MEK inhibitors, lead to major reduction in cell cycle-related genes including CCND1, CDC25A, CHEK2, E2F1, causing dual cell cycle arrest (Posch et al. 2015). Results suggest that cells escaping G1 arrest induced by MEK inhibition, or cells escaping G2/M arrest from PLK1 inhibition, maintain their susceptibility to the other drugs in combination. This will have to be tested in the clinic but remains of interest.

Additional targets include MDM2, through its effect on p53, BET inhibitors, where members of family of BET proteins (especially BRD4 and BRD2) are overexpressed in many melanomas, and MITF, due to the finding that MEK inhibition increased MITF expression, which in turn elevated levels of PGC1a (Fedorenko et al. 2012). A HIV1 protease nelfinavir suppresses both MITF and PAX3 and inhibits growth. Finally, the combination of metformin and trametinib has a synergistic effect in *NRAS* mutant tumors and reduces tumor size in a xenograft model (Smith et al. 2016). This is likely a result of suppressing the phosphorylation of NRAS effector proteins ERK and S6 decreasing cell viability.

# Targeting of the NF1 Loss of Function (LOF) Melanomas

In the TCGA and the Yale cohort (213 melanomas), three genes are mutated with an incidence greater than 10%: BRAF and NRAS, with known recurrent activating mutations, and NF1. NF1 had a high number of inactivating or damaging mutations; 90% are nonsense, splice-site variant or insertion-deletion (indel) and LOH (loss of the other allele in most of these cases) (Hodis et al. 2012; Krauthammer et al. 2012). These are cases where NF1 was presumably the driver of the melanoma without activations through BRAF or NRAS mutations. Inactivating NF1 mutations were present in 46% of melanomas expressing wild-type *BRAF* and wild-type *RAS*, occurred in older patients, harbored many more somatic mutations throughout the entire exome, and had an OS similar to BRAF, NRAS, and TWT melanomas. NF1 is a GTPase-activating protein, a GAP protein that suppresses RAS function. NF1 suppression leads to increased RAS activation in a large percentage of melanomas (Krauthammer et al. 2012). Loss of NF1, however, does not predict sensitivity to MEK or ERK inhibitors. These tumors showed a distinct pattern of co-mutation with other genes related to RAS pathways such as RASopathy gene mutations (Krauthammer et al. 2012). These are included in (15/26) 60% with RASopathy gene mutations in RASA2 (9 cases),
*PTPN11* (4), *SOS1* (2), *RAF1* (2), and *SPRED1* (2) that may enhance its role in melanoma development.

In terms of therapy specific for *NF1* mutant melanomas, there is very little information. One preclinical study suggested that MEK inhibition could be effective, although we do not yet have clinical experience demonstrating this finding (Nissan et al. 2014). However, in neurofibromatosis type 1, where the *NF1* gene is damaged in the germline, patients are predisposed to cutaneous neurofibromas, plexiform neurofibromas (PNFs), and malignant peripheral nerve sheath tumors (MPNSTs) among other neoplasias and manifestations. In these cases, MEK inhibition has shown substantial benefit (Dombi et al. 2016).

BRAF/NRAS wild-type melanomas are highly sensitive to the MEK inhibitor, trametinib, ex vivo, but the loss of *NF1* protein expression alone does not select for sensitive cell lines. In a review of "exceptional responses" (objective response or SD > 6 months) to everolimus, one patient with head and neck cancer with a LOF *NF1* mutation had PFS of nearly 10 months (Lim et al. 2016). Ultimately, the most effective targeted therapy approaches for melanomas with *NF1* mutations has yet to be defined.

BRAF-resistant cell lines are sensitive to AZ628, an inhibitor of *BRAF*^{V600E}, WT *BRAF*, and *CRAF* (a so-called pan-RAF inhibitor) (Peng et al. 2015). This inhibitor was combined with the MEK inhibitor selumetinib with near complete pERK decrease and improved responses in resistant cell lines through the loss-of-function mutations in NF1 (LOXIMVI, HCT116). It should be noted that AZ628, RAF265, and MLN2480 are all type II RAF inhibitors (pan-RAF), whereas vemurafenib and dabrafenib are type I inhibitors. These agents could potentially have activity in NRAS, NF1, and TWT melanomas.

#### Targeting Atypical BRAF Mutant Melanoma (Non-V600)

Approximately 5% of all melanomas harbor mutations in *BRAF* at loci other than *V600* (*BRAF non-V600 mutations*) (Cancer Genome Atlas Network 2015). These mutations are often not detected by testing platforms commonly used in clinical practice that assess only codon 600 for mutations. However, they are detected by sequencing all the BRAF exons. A number of these BRAF non-V600 mutations result in increased kinase activity of the BRAF protein in vitro (i.e., L597 V, K601E, G469A). In addition, other mutations that do not increase the catalytic activity of BRAF (including G466E, D594V, G596R) appear to increase MAPK pathway activity through protein-protein interactions with CRAF or wild-type BRAF (Wan et al. 2004). This occurs in the setting of upstream activation (NRAS mutation or receptor tyrosine kinase (RTK) activation). Furthermore, BRAF fusions which activate MAPK signaling have been identified in a small percentage of melanomas (Hutchinson et al. 2013). MEK inhibitors have demonstrated activity in vitro in melanomas with high activity non-V600 BRAF mutations, and individual patients with these mutations have demonstrated significant clinical responses to treatment with MEK inhibitors. A phase II trial is currently ongoing to assess the activity of trametinib across the spectrum of atypical BRAF mutations and fusions.

#### Targeting KIT

KIT mutations and/or amplifications are rare in melanoma, although 5-20% of melanomas originating on mucosal, acral, and chronic sun damage (CSD) surfaces demonstrate KIT genetic abnormalities (Curtin et al. 2006). By contrast, these alterations are almost never seen originating from other cutaneous areas without CSD. The mutant allele is sometimes amplified and in some tumors the wild-type KIT locus is amplified. Given the experience with gastrointestinal stromal tumors, inhibition of KIT was thought to be an attractive therapeutic strategy. Exon 11 and 13 are the most sensitive and the most abundant mutations are at L576P and K642E. The first large cohort from the USA enrolled patients with mutations and/or amplifications in KIT (Carvajal et al. 2011). Two hundred and ninety-seven patients were screened with melanomas originating in one of these three sites and only 51 were found to have mutations and/or amplifications in KIT, with only 28 enrolled onto imatinib treatment over 3 years. Of 25 evaluable patients treated at 400 mg daily imatinib, there were four objective responses, (2CR and 2PR; ORR 16%) and all were durable >12 months. All responders had mutations (rather than amplifications) and those were at codons L576 and K642 in two of four patients. Of the 209 actually screened, 18/84 acral melanoma, 17/93 mucosal melanoma, and 5/32 CSD had KIT mutations. In another trial undertaken in China, 43 patients were enrolled with either KIT amplification or mutation or both and received imatinib at 400 mg/day which could be increased to 800 mg q day at progression (Guo et al. 2011). In this study, there were 10 PR and no CR; 9/10 responses had mutations at exon 11 or 13 (9/26), while 1 of 3 patients with amplified KIT responded. More recently, Hodi and colleagues published on 25 treated patients out of 213 screened over 5 years (Hodi et al. 2013). Of 24 patients with KIT alterations, 8 had KIT mutations alone, 5 had mutations+ amplifications of KIT, and 11 had only KIT amplification. Seven patients experienced PRs, but these only occurred in KIT-mutated melanomas. The ORR was 29%, but in 13 patients with mutations, the ORR was over 50% (7/13), and 6 responses had exon 11 or 13 mutations (of which 4 had L576P and K642E mutations). However, only 1/7 patients had response duration >12 months with one ongoing response at 27+ months. Two other studies of nilotinib or sunitinib were performed. In patients who were refractory or with intolerable side effect on imatinib, only 2/11 had a response in second line to nilotinib (Carvajal et al. 2015). Finally, 52 patients with acral or mucosal melanoma were treated with sunitinib and only 13 of the 44 patients whose tumors were tested for KIT

mutations. 1/13 with mutations responded while

3/31 WT responded to sunitinib (Buchbinder et al.

2015). In this study, the presence of mutations did

not correlate with response rate and all responses

were 5-10 months in duration. In summary, the

primary drug studied in KIT mutant/amplified

melanoma has been imatinib, and overall

responses were almost always observed in those with mutations in exon 11 and exon 13 (particularly L576P and K642E). Although some responses were very durable, most lasted less than 12 months. The ORR has been in the range of 15–25%, leaving plenty of room for further improvement.

Uveal melanomas have a distinct biology from cutaneous melanoma with a low mutation burden without a UV signature and absence of mutations of BRAF, NRAS, KIT, or NF1. In over 80% of tumors, either GNAQ or GNA11 is mutated in a mutually exclusive fashion. These genes appear to activate the MAP kinase pathway through PKC and the RAS-GEF RasGRP3 (Chen et al. 2017; Van Raamsdonk et al. 2009, 2010). More recently the YAP- hippo pathway has also been implicated in uveal melanomas (Feng et al. 2014). About 40-50% of uveal melanoma have LOF mutations or deletions in the BAP1 gene, which is associated with inferior prognosis and high likelihood of metastases (Harbour et al. 2010). SF3B1, a splicing factor, is another recurrently mutated gene which occurs in 15% of uveal melanomas and is associated with a good prognosis (Harbour et al. 2013). Therapy with interferon in the adjuvant setting and checkpoint inhibitors in the metastatic setting have been very disappointing (Luke et al. 2013). One promising lead had been seen with a MEK inhibitor, selumetinib. A randomized phase II trial showed a RR of 14% versus 0% for dacarbazine chemotherapy and a doubling of PFS, increasing from a median of 7 weeks to 15.9 weeks (Carvajal et al. 2014). However in a follow-up study with selumetinib + dacarbazine versus dacarbazine alone, the PFS endpoint was not met (Komatsubara et al. 2016). Finally, more disappointment occurred with a recent study presentation where a MEK inhibitor, trametinib alone or with an AKTi, demonstrated only one objective response in 20 patients, and the study was closed early due to lack of efficacy. Other approaches are ongoing with a MEK inhibitor and a PKC inhibitor, and targeting BAP1 with EZH2 inhibitor, targeting of YAP, or inhibition of the hippo pathway. Certainly therapy of uveal melanoma has been stagnant without any real evidence of efficacy with either targeted or immunotherapy. New

approaches targeting the biology of uveal melanoma are desperately needed.

#### Conclusions

Ultimately, targeted therapy in melanoma has been a qualified success story thus far. The dramatic clinical efficacy of BRAF and MEK inhibitors in *BRAF* mutant melanoma greatly benefits patients harboring these mutations, although acquired resistance limits the duration of benefit. Novel strategies to overcome resistance in the *BRAF* cohort, to identify tractable therapeutic targets in the *BRAF* WT population, and to design effective combinatorial strategies remain urgent needs.

#### References

- Alexandrov LB, Nik-Zainal S, Wedge DC, Aparicio SA, Behjati S, Biankin AV, Bignell GR, Bolli N, Borg A, Borresen-Dale AL et al (2013) Signatures of mutational processes in human cancer. Nature 500:415–421
- Asati V, Mahapatra DK, Bharti SK (2016) PI3K/Akt/ mTOR and Ras/Raf/MEK/ERK signaling pathways inhibitors as anticancer agents: structural and pharmacological perspectives. Eur J Med Chem 109:314–341
- Ascierto PA, Schadendorf D, Berking C, Agarwala SS, Van Herpen CM, Queirolo P, Blank CU, Hauschild A, Beck JT, St-Pierre A et al (2013) MEK162 for patients with advanced melanoma harbouring NRAS or Val600 BRAF mutations: a non-randomised, open-label phase 2 study. Lancet Oncol 14:249–256
- Balch CM, Gershenwald JE, Soong SJ, Thompson JF, Atkins MB, Byrd DR, Buzaid AC, Cochran AJ, Coit DG, Ding S et al (2009) Final version of 2009 AJCC melanoma staging and classification. J Clin Oncol 27:6199–6206
- Bollag G, Hirth P, Tsai J, Zhang J, Ibrahim PN, Cho H, Spevak W, Zhang C, Zhang Y, Habets G et al (2010) Clinical efficacy of a RAF inhibitor needs broad target blockade in BRAF-mutant melanoma. Nature 467:596–599
- Buchbinder EI, Sosman JA, Lawrence DP, Mcdermott DF, Ramaiya NH, Van Den Abbeele AD, Linette GP, Giobbie-Hurder A, Hodi FS (2015) Phase 2 study of sunitinib in patients with metastatic mucosal or acral melanoma. Cancer 121:4007–4015
- Burd CE, Liu W, Huynh MV, Waqas MA, Gillahan JE, Clark KS, Fu K, Martin BL, Jeck WR, Souroullas GP et al (2014) Mutation-specific RAS oncogenicity explains NRAS codon 61 selection in melanoma. Cancer Discov 4:1418–1429

- Cancer Genome Atlas Network (2015) Genomic classification of cutaneous melanoma. Cell 161:1681–1696
- Carvajal RD, Antonescu CR, Wolchok JD, Chapman PB, Roman RA, Teitcher J, Panageas KS, Busam KJ, Chmielowski B, Lutzky J et al (2011) KIT as a therapeutic target in metastatic melanoma. JAMA 305:2327–2334
- Carvajal RD, Lawrence DP, Weber JS, Gajewski TF, Gonzalez R, Lutzky J, O'day SJ, Hamid O, Wolchok JD, Chapman PB et al (2015) Phase II study of Nilotinib in melanoma harboring KIT alterations following progression to prior KIT inhibition. Clin Cancer Res 21:2289–2296
- Carvajal RD, Sosman JA, Quevedo JF, Milhem MM, Joshua AM, Kudchadkar RR, Linette GP, Gajewski TF, Lutzky J, Lawson DH et al (2014) Effect of selumetinib vs chemotherapy on progression-free survival in uveal melanoma: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA 311:2397–2405
- Chapman PB, Hauschild A, Robert C, Haanen JB, Ascierto P, Larkin J, Dummer R, Garbe C, Testori A, Maio M et al (2011) Improved survival with vemurafenib in melanoma with BRAF V600E mutation. N Engl J Med 364:2507–2516
- Chattopadhyay C, Ellerhorst JA, Ekmekcioglu S, Greene VR, Davies MA, Grimm EA (2012) Association of activated c-Met with NRAS-mutated human melanomas. Int J Cancer 131:E56–E65
- Chen X, Wu Q, Depeille P, Chen P, Thornton S, Kalirai H, Coupland SE, Roose JP, Bastian BC (2017) RasGRP3 mediates MAPK pathway activation in GNAQ mutant uveal melanoma. Cancer Cell 31(685–696):e6
- Curtin JA, Busam K, Pinkel D, Bastian BC (2006) Somatic activation of KIT in distinct subtypes of melanoma. J Clin Oncol 24:4340–4346
- Curtin JA, Fridlyand J, Kageshita T, Patel HN, Busam KJ, Kutzner H, Cho KH, Aiba S, Brocker EB, Leboit PE et al (2005) Distinct sets of genetic alterations in melanoma. N Engl J Med 353:2135–2147
- Das Thakur M, Salangsang F, Landman AS, Sellers WR, Pryer NK, Levesque MP, Dummer R, Mcmahon M, Stuart DD (2013) Modelling vemurafenib resistance in melanoma reveals a strategy to forestall drug resistance. Nature 494:251–255
- Davies H, Bignell GR, Cox C, Stephens P, Edkins S, Clegg S, Teague J, Woffendin H, Garnett MJ, Bottomley W et al (2002) Mutations of the BRAF gene in human cancer. Nature 417:949–954
- Davies MA, Stemke-Hale K, Lin E, Tellez C, Deng W, Gopal YN, Woodman SE, Calderone TC, Ju Z, Lazar AJ et al (2009) Integrated molecular and clinical analysis of AKT activation in metastatic melanoma. Clin Cancer Res 15:7538–7546
- Dombi E, Baldwin A, Marcus LJ, Fisher MJ, Weiss B, Kim A, Whitcomb P, Martin S, Aschbacher-Smith LE, Rizvi TA et al (2016) Activity of Selumetinib in Neurofibromatosis type 1-related plexiform Neurofibromas. N Engl J Med 375:2550–2560

- Falchook GS, Lewis KD, Infante JR, Gordon MS, Vogelzang NJ, Demarini DJ, Sun P, Moy C, Szabo SA, Roadcap LT et al (2012) Activity of the oral MEK inhibitor Trametinib in patients with advanced melanoma: a phase 1 dose-escalation trial. Lancet Oncol 13:782–789
- Fedorenko IV, Gibney GT, Smalley KS (2012) NRAS mutant melanoma: biological behavior and future strategies for therapeutic management. Oncogene 32(25):3009
- Feng X, Degese MS, Iglesias-Bartolome R, Vaque JP, Molinolo AA, Rodrigues M, Zaidi MR, Ksander BR, Merlino G, Sodhi A et al (2014) Hippo-independent activation of YAP by the GNAQ uveal melanoma oncogene through a trio-regulated rho GTPase signaling circuitry. Cancer Cell 25:831–845
- Flaherty KT, Infante JR, Daud A, Gonzalez R, Kefford RF, Sosman J, Hamid O, Schuchter L, Cebon J, Ibrahim N et al (2012a) Combined BRAF and MEK inhibition in melanoma with BRAF V600 mutations. New Engl J Med 367:1694
- Flaherty KT, Puzanov I, Kim KB, Ribas A, Mcarthur GA, Sosman JA, O'dwyer PJ, Lee RJ, Grippo JF, Nolop K et al (2010) Inhibition of mutated, activated BRAF in metastatic melanoma. N Engl J Med 363:809–819
- Flaherty KT, Robert C, Hersey P, Nathan P, Garbe C, Milhem M, Demidov LV, Hassel JC, Rutkowski P, Mohr P et al (2012b) Improved survival with MEK inhibition in BRAF-mutated melanoma. N Engl J Med 367:107–114
- Gajewski TF, Salama AK, Niedzwiecki D, Johnson J, Linette G, Bucher C, Blaskovich MA, Sebti SM, Haluska F (2012) Phase II study of the farnesyltransferase inhibitor R115777 in advanced melanoma (CALGB 500104). J Transl Med 10:246
- Guo J, Si L, Kong Y, Flaherty KT, Xu X, Zhu Y, Corless CL, Li L, Li H, Sheng X et al (2011) Phase II, openlabel, single-arm trial of imatinib mesylate in patients with metastatic melanoma harboring c-kit mutation or amplification. J Clin Oncol 29:2904–2909
- Harbour JW, Onken MD, Roberson ED, Duan S, Cao L, Worley LA, Council ML, Matatall KA, Helms C, Bowcock AM (2010) Frequent mutation of BAP1 in metastasizing uveal melanomas. Science 330:1410–1413
- Harbour JW, Roberson ED, Anbunathan H, Onken MD, Worley LA, Bowcock AM (2013) Recurrent mutations at codon 625 of the splicing factor SF3B1 in uveal melanoma. Nat Genet 45:133–135
- Harding JJ, Catalanotti F, Munhoz RR, Cheng DT, Yaqubie A, Kelly N, Mcdermott GC, Kersellius R, Merghoub T, Lacouture ME et al (2015) A retrospective evaluation of Vemurafenib as treatment for BRAFmutant melanoma brain metastases. Oncologist 20:789–797
- Hauschild A, Grob JJ, Demidov LV, Jouary T, Gutzmer R, Millward M, Rutkowski P, Blank CU, Miller WH Jr, Kaempgen E et al (2012) Dabrafenib in BRAFmutated metastatic melanoma: a multicentre, openlabel, phase 3 randomised controlled trial. Lancet 380:358–365

- Hodi FS, Corless CL, Giobbie-Hurder A, Fletcher JA, Zhu M, Marino-Enriquez A, Friedlander P, Gonzalez R, Weber JS, Gajewski TF et al (2013) Imatinib for melanomas harboring mutationally activated or amplified KIT arising on mucosal, acral, and chronically sun-damaged skin. J Clin Oncol 31:3182–3190
- Hodis E, Watson IR, Kryukov GV, Arold ST, Imielinski M, Theurillat JP, Nickerson E, Auclair D, Li L, Place C et al (2012) A landscape of driver mutations in melanoma. Cell 150:251–263
- Hugo W, Shi H, Sun L, Piva M, Song C, Kong X, Moriceau G, Hong A, Dahlman KB, Johnson DB et al (2015) Non-genomic and immune evolution of melanoma acquiring MAPKi resistance. Cell 162:1271–1285
- Hutchinson KE, Lipson D, Stephens PJ, Otto G, Lehmann BD, Lyle PL, Vnencak-Jones CL, Ross JS, Pietenpol JA, Sosman JA et al (2013) BRAF fusions define a distinct molecular subset of melanomas with potential sensitivity to MEK inhibition. Clin Cancer Res 19:6696–6702
- Johnson DB, Flaherty KT, Weber JS, Infante JR, Kim KB, Kefford RF, Hamid O, Schuchter L, Cebon J, Sharfman WH et al (2014) Combined BRAF (Dabrafenib) and MEK inhibition (Trametinib) in patients with BRAFV600-mutant melanoma experiencing progression with single-agent BRAF inhibitor. J Clin Oncol 32(33):3697
- Johnson DB, Puzanov I (2015) Treatment of NRASmutant melanoma. Curr Treat Options Oncol 16:15
- Kim KB, Kefford R, Pavlick AC, Infante JR, Ribas A, Sosman JA, Fecher LA, Millward M, Mcarthur GA, Hwu P et al (2013) Phase II study of the MEK1/MEK2 inhibitor Trametinib in patients with metastatic BRAF-mutant cutaneous melanoma previously treated with or without a BRAF inhibitor. J Clin Oncol 31:482–489
- Klein O, Clements A, Menzies AM, O'toole S, Kefford RF, Long GV (2013) BRAF inhibitor activity in V600R metastatic melanoma. Eur J Cancer 49(5):1073–1079
- Komatsubara KM, Manson DK, Carvajal RD (2016) Selumetinib for the treatment of metastatic uveal melanoma: past and future perspectives. Future Oncol 12:1331–1344
- Krauthammer M, Kong Y, Ha BH, Evans P, Bacchiocchi A, Mccusker JP, Cheng E, Davis MJ, Goh G, Choi M et al (2012) Exome sequencing identifies recurrent somatic RAC1 mutations in melanoma. Nat Genet 44:1006–1014
- Kwong LN, Costello JC, Liu H, Jiang S, Helms TL, Langsdorf AE, Jakubosky D, Genovese G, Muller FL, Jeong JH et al (2012) Oncogenic NRAS signaling differentially regulates survival and proliferation in melanoma. Nat Med 18(10):1503
- Larkin J, Ascierto PA, Dreno B, Atkinson V, Liszkay G, Maio M, Mandala M, Demidov L, Stroyakovskiy D, Thomas L et al (2014) Combined Vemurafenib and Cobimetinib in BRAF-mutated melanoma. N Engl J Med 371:1867–1876

- Lim SM, Park HS, Kim S, Kim S, Ali SM, Greenbowe JR, Yang IS, Kwon NJ, Lee JL, Ryu MH et al (2016) Nextgeneration sequencing reveals somatic mutations that confer exceptional response to everolimus. Oncotarget 7:10547–10556
- Long GV, Stroyakovskiy D, Gogas H, Levchenko E, De Braud F, Larkin J, Garbe C, Jouary T, Hauschild A, Grob JJ et al (2015) Dabrafenib and trametinib versus dabrafenib and placebo for Val600 BRAFmutant melanoma: a multicentre, double-blind, phase 3 randomised controlled trial. Lancet 386:444–451
- Long GV, Trefzer U, Davies MA, Kefford RF, Ascierto PA, Chapman PB, Puzanov I, Hauschild A, Robert C, Algazi A et al (2012) Dabrafenib in patients with Val600Glu or Val600Lys BRAF-mutant melanoma metastatic to the brain (BREAK-MB): a multicentre, open-label, phase 2 trial. Lancet Oncol 13:1087
- Long GV, Weber JS, Infante JR, Kim KB, Daud A, Gonzalez R, Sosman JA, Hamid O, Schuchter L, Cebon J et al (2016) Overall survival and durable responses in patients with BRAF V600-mutant metastatic melanoma receiving Dabrafenib combined with Trametinib. J Clin Oncol 34:871–878
- Luke JJ, Callahan MK, Postow MA, Romano E, Ramaiya N, Bluth M, Giobbie-Hurder A, Lawrence DP, Ibrahim N, Ott PA et al (2013) Clinical activity of ipilimumab for metastatic uveal melanoma: a retrospective review of the Dana-Farber Cancer Institute, Massachusetts General Hospital, Memorial Sloan-Kettering Cancer Center, and University Hospital of Lausanne experience. Cancer 119(20):3687
- Morris EJ, Jha S, Restaino CR, Dayananth P, Zhu H, Cooper A, Carr D, Deng Y, Jin W, Black S et al (2013) Discovery of a novel ERK inhibitor with activity in models of acquired resistance to BRAF and MEK inhibitors. Cancer Discov 3:742–750
- Nissan MH, Pratilas CA, Jones AM, Ramirez R, Won H, Liu C, Tiwari S, Kong L, Hanrahan AJ, Yao Z et al (2014) Loss of NF1 in cutaneous melanoma is associated with RAS activation and MEK dependence. Cancer Res 74:2340–2350
- Peng SB, Henry JR, Kaufman MD, Lu WP, Smith BD, Vogeti S, Rutkoski TJ, Wise S, Chun L, Zhang Y et al (2015) Inhibition of RAF isoforms and active dimers by LY3009120 leads to anti-tumor activities in RAS or BRAF mutant cancers. Cancer Cell 28:384–398
- Posch C, Cholewa BD, Vujic I, Sanlorenzo M, Ma J, Kim ST, Kleffel S, Schatton T, Rappersberger K, Gutteridge R et al (2015) Combined inhibition of MEK and Plk1 has synergistic antitumor activity in NRAS mutant melanoma. J Invest Dermatol 135:2475–2483
- Ribas A, Gonzalez R, Pavlick A, Hamid O, Gajewski TF, Daud A, Flaherty L, Logan T, Chmielowski B, Lewis K et al (2014) Combination of vemurafenib and cobimetinib in patients with advanced BRAF(V600)mutated melanoma: a phase 1b study. Lancet Oncol 15:954–965
- Rizos H, Menzies AM, Pupo GM, Carlino MS, Fung C, Hyman J, Haydu LE, Mijatov B, Becker TM, Boyd SC

et al (2014) BRAF inhibitor resistance mechanisms in metastatic melanoma: Spectrum and clinical impact. Clin Cancer Res 20:1965–1977

- Robert C, Karaszewska B, Schachter J, Rutkowski P, Mackiewicz A, Stroiakovski D, Lichinitser M, Dummer R, Grange F, Mortier L et al (2014) Improved overall survival in melanoma with combined Dabrafenib and Trametinib. New Engl J Med 372(1):30
- Robert L, Ribas A, Hu-Lieskovan S (2016) Combining targeted therapy with immunotherapy. Can 1+1 equal more than 2? Semin Immunol 28:73
- Shain AH, Yeh I, Kovalyshyn I, Sriharan A, Talevich E, Gagnon A, Dummer R, North J, Pincus L, Ruben B et al (2015) The genetic evolution of melanoma from precursor lesions. N Engl J Med 373:1926–1936
- Shi H, Hugo W, Kong X, Hong A, Koya RC, Moriceau G, Chodon T, Guo R, Johnson DB, Dahlman KB et al (2014) Acquired resistance and clonal evolution in melanoma during BRAF inhibitor therapy. Cancer Discov 4:80–93
- Smith MP, Brunton H, Rowling EJ, Ferguson J, Arozarena I, Miskolczi Z, Lee JL, Girotti MR, Marais R, Levesque MP et al (2016) Inhibiting drivers of non-mutational drug tolerance is a salvage strategy for targeted melanoma therapy. Cancer Cell 29:270–284
- Sosman JA, Kim KB, Schuchter L, Gonzalez R, Pavlick AC, Weber JS, Mcarthur GA, Hutson TE, Moschos SJ, Flaherty KT et al (2012) Survival in BRAF V600mutant advanced melanoma treated with vemurafenib. N Engl J Med 366:707–714
- Sosman JA, Kittaneh M, MPJ L, Postow MA, Schwartz G et al (2014) A phase 1b/2 study of LEE011 in combination with binimetinib (MEK162) in patients with NRAS-mutant melanoma: early encouraging clinical activity. J Clin Oncol 32:9009
- Stephen AG, Esposito D, Bagni RK, Mccormick F (2014) Dragging RAS back in the ring. Cancer Cell 25:272–281
- Su F, Viros A, Milagre C, Trunzer K, Bollag G, Spleiss O, Reis-Filho JS, Kong X, Koya RC, Flaherty KT et al (2012a) RAS mutations in cutaneous squamous-cell carcinomas in patients treated with BRAF inhibitors. N Engl J Med 366:207–215
- Su Y, Vilgelm AE, Kelley MC, Hawkins OE, Liu Y, Boyd KL, Kantrow S, Splittgerber RC, Short SP, Sobolik T et al (2012b) RAF265 inhibits the growth of advanced human melanoma tumors. Clin Cancer Res 18:2184–2198
- Thomas NE, Edmiston SN, Alexander A, Groben PA, Parrish E, Kricker A, Armstrong BK, Anton-Culver H, Gruber SB, From L et al (2015) Association between NRAS and BRAF mutational status and melanomaspecific survival among patients with higher-risk primary melanoma. JAMA Oncol 1:359–368
- Van Allen EM, Wagle N, Sucker A, Treacy DJ, Johannessen CM, Goetz EM, Place CS, Taylor-Weiner-A, Whittaker S, Kryukov GV et al (2014) The genetic landscape of clinical resistance to RAF inhibition in metastatic melanoma. Cancer Discov 4:94–109

- Van Raamsdonk CD, Bezrookove V, Green G, Bauer J, Gaugler L, O'brien JM, Simpson EM, Barsh GS, Bastian BC (2009) Frequent somatic mutations of GNAQ in uveal melanoma and blue naevi. Nature 457:599–602
- Van Raamsdonk CD, Griewank KG, Crosby MB, Garrido MC, Vemula S, Wiesner T, Obenauf AC, Wackernagel W, Green G, Bouvier N et al (2010) Mutations in GNA11 in uveal melanoma. N Engl J Med 363:2191–2199
- Wan PT, Garnett MJ, Roe SM, Lee S, Niculescu-Duvaz D, Good VM, Jones CM, Marshall CJ, Springer CJ, Barford D et al (2004) Mechanism of activation of the RAF-ERK signaling pathway by oncogenic mutations of B-RAF. Cell 116:855–867
- Zhang C, Spevak W, Zhang Y, Burton EA, Ma Y, Habets G, Zhang J, Lin J, Ewing T, Matusow B et al (2015) RAF inhibitors that evade paradoxical MAPK pathway activation. Nature 526:583–586



# Combinatorial Approach to Treatment **33** of Melanoma

Kamran Abri and Adil I. Daud

#### Contents

Introduction	688
Combination Immunotherapy + Chemotherapy	688
Rationale	688
Clinical Trials	689
Combination Immunotherapy + Targeted Therapy	689
Rationale	689
Ipilimumab + Vemurafenib	690
Sequential Therapy	690
Rationale	690
Experience and Next Directions	691
Recent Trials of Other Combinations across Modalities or Pathways	691
Rationale	691
Clinical Trials	691
Conclusion	691
References	694

#### Abstract

There are now multiple effective, well-tolerated, FDA-approved systemic therapy options for

K. Abri

A. I. Daud (🖂)

the treatment of advanced melanoma, as well as exciting new immunotherapy and targeted therapy agents currently in clinical trials. Both traditional cytotoxic chemotherapy and targeted BRAF inhibitors can increase antigen presentation and can rebalance the intratumoral immune milieu. The combination of pulsed cytotoxic therapy and immunotherapy is a logical next step forward in designing treatment regimens. Combination radiotherapy and immunotherapy also has experimental and clinical support. Not all combinations are likely to be additive or synergistic; indeed in

Early Phase Investigational Therapeutics, University of California San Francisco, San Francisco, CA, USA e-mail: Kamran.abrilavasani@ucsf.edu

Department of Medicine, Division of Hematology/ Oncology, Melanoma Clinical Research, UCSF Helen Diller Family Comprehensive Cancer Center, University of California, San Francisco, CA, USA e-mail: adil.daud@ucsf.edu

[©] This is a U.S. government work and not under copyright protection in the U.S.; foreign copyright protection may apply 2019 D. E. Fisher, B. C. Bastian (eds.), *Melanoma*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-7147-9 18

some murine models, BRAF inhibitors may be more cytostatic than cytotoxic in tumors with PTEN loss, and may actually deter immune response. Additionally, combinations of drugs with apparently nonoverlapping toxicities can lead to unexpected adverse events, as has been shown in ipilimumab (Yervoy) + vemurafenib (Zelboraf). The standard of care for patients with advanced melanoma remains participation in clinical trials in order to enhance our understanding of the effectiveness and toxicities of combination regimens, and there remains a need for correlative studies (e.g., serial biopsies) to further elucidate the alterations in the tumor microenvironment engendered by combination therapy and allow for customization of regimens to tumor genotype.

#### Keywords

Melanoma · BRAF · MEK · Immunotherapy · Combination therapy · Targeted therapy

#### **Key Points**

- Given the multiple FDA-approved therapies for patients with advanced melanoma, the next logical step is exploration of combination therapy.
- Cytotoxic therapies, including targeted therapies, increase antigen presentation and in many cases create a favorable environment for the action of immune therapy.
- Response to the combination of targeted therapy and immunotherapy may vary by tumor genotype (e.g., concurrent PTEN loss).
- Exploration of combination therapy should be explored in a clinical trial setting due to possible unanticipated adverse effects, to maximize scientific understanding through correlative studies.
- Clinical trials have been moving away from exploration of chemotherapy (alone and in combination) in melanoma in favor of immunotherapy and targeted therapy.

#### Introduction

The past several years have seen a rapid increase in effective and tolerable treatment options for patients with advanced melanoma across the major modalities in systemic therapy: we have progressed from cytotoxic chemotherapy to targeted therapy to dramatic improvements in immunotherapy. Cytotoxic chemotherapy, despite multiple clinical trials of various combination regimens, has not proven effective in increasing overall survival but can lead to an objective response in a fraction of patients. Historically, trials of biochemotherapy (cytokine therapy + chemotherapy) regimens in advanced melanoma have not demonstrated improved overall survival as compared to chemotherapy (Sasse et al. 2007; Ives et al. 2007). Targeted therapy has an excellent response rate in BRAF V600^{E/K}-mutant advanced melanoma, up to 76% when given as combination BRAF + MEK inhibition, but the duration of response is limited, with the longest median time to progression reported so far at 9.4 months (Flaherty et al. 2012). Immunotherapy with new anti-PD1 antibodies has shown a  $\geq$  30% response rate, displaying even higher response rates when given in combination (Wolchok et al. 2013) with anti-CTLA4 antibody ipilimumab (Yervoy), with durable responses in most patients. Research into combinations of chemotherapy, targeted therapy, and immunotherapy must be expanded so that we might achieve both a higher overall response rate and a prolonged duration of response for our patients with advanced melanoma; however, the past several years have seen a drastic decrease in scientific attention to chemotherapy as a treatment class for melanoma.

#### Combination Immunotherapy + Chemotherapy

#### Rationale

Cytotoxic chemotherapy can act in two complementary ways: direct damage and death of cancer cells and the attraction and activation of cytotoxic immune cells. Cell death triggered by treatment with chemotherapy has been shown to be immunogenic and lead to dendritic cell activation and subsequent activation of tumor antigenspecific T cells (Hannani et al. 2011; Green et al. 2009; Kepp et al. 2011). After administration of dacarbazine (DTIC), activation of genes involved in cytokine production, leukocyte activation, immune response, and cell motility has been observed, changes thought to create a favorable environment for tumor antigen-specific CD8⁺ T-cell responses (Nisticò et al. 2009). In another study, a low dose of melphalan (Alkeran) was shown to induce tumor expression of chemokines that lead to enhanced recruitment of tumorreactive T cells (Hong et al. 2015) and improved response to anti-CTLA4 therapy (Mokyr et al. 1998). Additionally, in examination of pretreatment biopsy specimens, a tumor microenvironment with infiltrate featuring CD8⁺ T cells has been associated with an improved response rate to chemotherapy (DeNardo et al. 2011).

#### **Clinical Trials**

Phase II–III trials have shown early evidence of tolerability and efficacy with the combination of ipilimumab with cytotoxic drugs such as alkylating agents dacarbazine and temozolomide, which is also active in the central nervous system, or fotemustine, a drug available in Europe (Table 1).

#### Combination Immunotherapy + Targeted Therapy

#### Rationale

The combination of targeted therapy and immunotherapy appears to have a pleasing symmetry: high response rate and rapid onset of action in targeted therapy, with hope of long-term response to slower-acting immunotherapy. There is little evidence that patients with BRAF^{V600E} mutations are less responsive to immunotherapy (Shahabi et al. 2012). Vemurafenib (Zelboraf) and the biochemically similar compound, PLX4720, have been shown to have a cytotoxic effect in melanoma (Lee et al. 2010), and as previously discussed with chemotherapy, drugs with cytotoxic effect can enhance immune activity. BRAF inhibition has been shown to enhance T-cell recognition of melanoma cells and not interfere with lymphocyte functioning (Boni et al. 2010). Review of tumor biopsies from patients treated with BRAF inhibitors vemurafenib or dabrafenib (Tafinlar) showed enhanced melanoma antigen expression and a more favorable tumor microenvironment in patients with metastatic melanoma (Wilmott et al. 2012; Frederick et al. 2013). Response to ipilimumab is linked to an immuneactive tumor microenvironment (Ji et al. 2012).

Preclinical testing of combination immunotherapy + targeted therapy has been done in the context of an anti-CTLA4 monoclonal antibody + PLX4720 (vemurafenib precursor) in an immunocompetent mouse model of BRAF  $^{V600E}/PTEN^{-/-}$ mutant melanoma. In contrast to the observed cytotoxicity of BRAF inhibitors reported in human patients with melanoma (Lee et al. 2010), treatment in this mouse model does not cause cell death but leads to decreased tumor proliferation (Hooijkaas et al. 2012). Decreased tumor-resident lymphocyte frequencies were observed after treatment with PLX4720 (decreased CD45⁺ leukocytes, CD8⁺ T cells, CD4⁺ T cells, Tregs; no change in B lymphocytes; slightly increased NK cells, myeloid-derived suppressor cells, macrophages), along with decrease in visible inflammation at tumor sites. These changes in T-lymphocyte frequencies were not found elsewhere in the mouse tissues (lymph nodes or spleen) or in similarly treated mice with BRAF-WT tumors, arguing against a direct effect of PLX4720 on the T cells. No synergy was observed in the combination of PLX4720 and anti-CTLA4 mAb in this study. Concurrent treatment with PLX4720 and the anti-CTLA4 mAb did not restore the intratumoral immune milieu. Of note, in a group of human patients with BRAF^{V600E} mutations treated with dabrafenib, those with concurrent PTEN loss had decreased median

Regimen	Phase	N	ORR	PFS	OS
Ipilimumab + dacarbazine versus ipilimumab (Hersh et al. 2011)	II	35 versus 37	14.3 versus 5.4%	No difference	14.3 months versus 11.4 months; 1-year OS 62 versus 45%, 2-year OS 24 versus 21%, 3-year OS 20 versus 9%
Ipilimumab + dacarbazine versus dacarbazine (Robert et al. 2011)	III	196 versus 218	38 versus 26%; 4% CR, 34% PR, and 45% SD versus 2% CR, 24% PR, 50% SD	No difference	1-year OS 47.3 versus 36.3%, 2-year OS 28.5 versus 17.9%, 3-year OS 20.8 versus 12.2%
Ipilimumab + temozolomide (Patel and Hwu 2012; Wang et al. 2012)	Π	64	28.1%: 10 CR, 8 PR	5.1 months	NR
Ipilimumab + fotemustine (Di Giacomo et al. 2012a, b)	II	86	irORR 29.1%; 5 CR, 20 PR	irPFS 5.3 months	1-year OS 51.8%

 Table 1
 Ipilimumab + cytotoxic chemotherapy

progression-free survival (Flaherty et al. 2010; Nathanson et al. 2013). One interpretation from this may be that in patients with PTEN loss, a tendency for BRAF inhibitors to have a more cytostatic than cytotoxic effect may lead to decreased efficacy, and there may also be a deleterious effect on the immune tumor microenvironment that actually decreases likelihood of response to anti-CTLA therapy. This will need further examination on clinical trials of the combination of BRAF inhibitors and the anti-PD1 antibodies, with studies of the correlation between observed clinical responses, tumor genetics, and lymphocyte profiling. It should be noted that PLX4720 has a less dramatic effect in mouse models than vemurafenib does in human melanoma.

#### Ipilimumab + Vemurafenib

A phase I study of concurrent vemurafenib + ipilimumab showed dose-limiting toxicity of grades III–IV hepatotoxicity in 50% of patients, asymptomatic LFT elevations that were reversible with dose interruption or administration of corticosteroids (Ribas et al. 2013), and the study was closed to further accrual. Efficacy outcomes were not reported. The authors recommend well-designed clinical trials to examine future combinations of even approved therapies with nonoverlapping toxicities and separate mechanisms of action.

Interestingly, a more recent phase I study of vemurafenib followed by ipilimumab has shown an absence of the hepatotoxicity seen in the combination (Amin and Lawson 2015).

#### **Sequential Therapy**

#### Rationale

In clinical oncology, combinations regimens are often developed to maximize response, but these can be limited by overlapping toxicities, and patients often proceed from one regimen sequentially to another at the time of progression of disease or end of tolerability. In the past, we have only seen the efficacy of sequential therapies through retrospective analysis of patients moving naturally from one trial to another. Recent studies, however, have directly examined the role of immunotherapy versus chemotherapy in pretreated patients, clarifying our knowledge of secondary and tertiary lines of treatment in melanoma.

As monotherapy (e.g., choosing between available open clinical trials) has often been the only option at a given point in a patient's care, targeted therapy may be the first option chosen for its high response rate and rapid onset of action, for example, in a patient presenting with widely metastatic disease or bulky symptomatic disease causing pain or threatening organ function, while immune therapy may be chosen up front for patients with a low burden of disease who are able to tolerate a delayed onset of action and trade a relatively lower response rate for the opportunity at a longterm response.

#### **Experience and Next Directions**

An interesting dichotomy of response has been revealed in patients at the time of discontinuation of BRAF inhibitor therapy. A retrospective review of 28 patients first treated with a BRAF inhibitor (vemurafenib or dabrafenib) followed by ipilimumab reported that 43% of the patients experienced rapid progression of disease when the BRAF inhibitor was discontinued, and this prevented successful completion of planned treatment with ipilimumab (Ascierto et al. 2012, 2014). In another series of patients, however, a proportion was observed to have tumor shrinkage at the time of discontinuation of BRAF inhibitor (Stuart 2013). The response to BRAF inhibitors can be rescued in some patients with reinitiation of treatment after an interruption (Romano et al. 2013). This has led to exploration of intermittent dosing of BRAF inhibitors in an effort to delay or overcome resistance (Das Thakur et al. 2013). A strategy of continuous targeted therapy followed by abrupt discontinuation of treatment at time of progression and then initiation of immunotherapy is unlikely to be successful in many patients, and combination strategies (+/- intermittent dosing of BRAF inhibitor) are more likely to yield longlasting benefits.

We have also begun to see increasing clarity in sequential therapies post immunotherapy failure. One phase II trial of 540 patients examined response rates of patients treated with pembrolizumab versus chemotherapy in an ipilimumab refractory population. The results were decisive: 6-month progression-free survival for those treated with 2 mg/kg and 10 mg/kg of the PD-1 inhibitor were 34% and 38%, respectively, compared to 16% in the chemotherapy group (Ribas et al. 2015). Several other trials have confirmed the efficacy of following immunotherapy with immunotherapy (Robert et al. 2014; Weber et al. 2015), signaling the increasing relevance of checkpoint inhibitors in melanoma and driving chemotherapy further into the realm of situational, palliative, or salvage therapy.

Another recently published paper indicated impressive efficacy of nab-paclitaxel in melanoma, possibly pointing to this as a therapy to be used prior to the oft used dacarbazine (Leon-Ferre and Markovic 2015); it is reasonable to expect that nab-paclitaxel may be increasingly tested in new combinations in melanoma as well. However, these authors also concede to the increasing use of immunotherapy in the first and second lines and advocate for nab-paclitaxel to be used as a salvage therapy in heavily pretreated populations.

#### Recent Trials of Other Combinations across Modalities or Pathways

#### Rationale

Given the complexity of cell signaling and the multitude of genetic errors characteristic of advanced melanoma tumors, trials are ongoing with various combinations of agents designed to hit multiple targets of growth signaling, combine cytotoxicity with immunotherapy, or otherwise take advantage of synergy between agents with different mechanisms.

#### **Clinical Trials**

See Table 2

#### Conclusion

This is an exciting time in the field of treatment of advanced melanoma, and the aim of therapy has shifted from temporary response in a small

Table 2         Other combination	on trials (2	2012–prese	nt)		
Regimen	Phase	N	ORR	PFS	OS
Preclinical studies revealed	d that the	proteasom	e inhibitor bortezomib +	cytokine interferon-α	(IFN-α) synergistically
induce apoptosis in human	n melanon	na cells, an	id combined treatment in	a murine model led t	o improved survival. A
phase I study showed (Ma	rkowitz e	t al. 2014):		0.5 1	10.0 1
IFN $\alpha$ -2B + bortezomib	1	16	1 PR, 7 SD, 8 PD	2.5 months	10.3 months
Preclinical studies showed angiogenesis, modulate ex showed (Sullivan et al. 20	that borte pression ( 13):	ezomib and of BCL-far	l sorafenib, a multikinas nily members and augm	e inhibitor that blocks ent cytotoxicity in cell	tumor growth and l lines. A phase I study
Bortezomib + sorafenib	Ι	11	2 SD, 9 PD	NR	NR
The MET receptor tyrosine combination with sorafeni	e kinase is b. Preclir	activated in nical data in	n NRAS-mutant melanon ndicated synergy betwee	na. Oral MET inhibito n these two agents. A	r tivantinib was studied in phase I study (Means-
Powell et al. 2012) perform	ned in par	tients with	NRAS-mutant or NRAS	S-WT melanoma show	ed:
Sorafenib + tivantinib	I	11	1 CR, 3 PR, 3 SD	5.3 months	NR
NRAS-mutant patients only		8	1 CR, 1 PR, 2 SD	9.2 months	NR
A double-blind, randomize sorafenib to cytotoxic cher	ed, placeb motherapy	o-controlle	ed phase III study showe oplatin + paclitaxel (Fla	d no improvement in the herty et al. 2013)	OS with the addition of
Sorafenib + carboplatin + paclitaxel versus carboplatin + paclitaxel	III	823	20 versus 18%, $p = 0.427$	4.9 versus 4.2 months	11.3 versus 11.1 months
A phase II trial in patients	with meta	astatic uve	al melanoma was closed	early for lack of respo	onse (Bhatia et al. 2012)
Sorafenib + carboplatin + paclitaxel	П	24	0	4 months; 6 months PFS 29%	11 months
Multikinase inhibitor sorat temsirolimus and sorafenil et al. 2012). Neither comb	fenib was b + tipifar ination sh	the foundanib, an ora	tion of two compared re l farnesyl transferase inh cient activity to merit fu	gimens: sorafenib + n nibitor in a randomized rther use	nTOR inhibitor I phase II trial (Margolin
Sorafenib + temsirolimus versus sorafenib + tipifarnib	Π	63 versus 39	3 PR versus 1 PR	<ul><li>2.1 versus</li><li>1.8 months</li></ul>	7 versus 7 months
In preclinical models, beva hepatic establishment of m alkylating agent dacarbazi	cizumab, nicrometas ne. A pha	a mAb to ' stases, and se II trial (	VEGF inhibiting angioge a potential clinical bene BEVATEM) showed (Pi	enesis and tissue growt fit of the combination perno-Neumann et al.	h, suppressed growth and of bevacizumab + 2012, 2013):
Bevacizumab + temozolomide	II	35	9/35 SD	3 months; 6-month PFS 26%	12 months
Temsirolimus is a targeted phase II trial of the combined	inhibitor	of mTOR	kinase activity, blocking	progression of the ce wed (Slingluff et al. 2	ll cycle past G1 phase. A
Bevacizumab + temsirolimus	П	16	3 PR in BRAF-WT pts, 9 SD; one response duration >3 years	NR	NR
A phase II trial evaluated b	evacizum	ab in com	oination with oral alkylat	ing agent temozolomi	de (von Moos et al. 2012)
Bevacizumab + temozolomide	П	62	1 CR, 9 PR (16.1%)	4.2 months	9.6 months; BRAF WT 12 months, BRAF ^{V600E} 9.2 months, $p = 0.014$
A phase II trial compared nab-paclitaxel + bevacizur	bevacizur nab + car	nab as the	foundation of two regim	ens: bevacizumab + te	emozolomide (BT) and
BT versus ABC	П	42	1 CR. 9 PR (23.8%)	3.8 versus	12.3 months versus
	1	versus 51	versus 0 CR, 17 PR (33.3%)	6.7 months; 6-month PFS 32.8 versus 56.1%	13.9 months
Another randomized phase paclitaxel (CP) alone (Kin	e II study n et al. 20	evaluated (12)	carboplatin + bevacizum	ab + paclitaxel (CBP)	versus carboplatin +

(continued)

#### Table 2 (continued)

Regimen	Phase	N	ORR	PFS	OS		
CBP versus CP	II	143	25.5% versus	5.6 versus	12.3 versus 8.6 months,		
		versus	16.4%, <i>p</i> = 0.1577	4.2 months,	p = 0.0366		
		71		p = 0.1414			
Hypomethylating agent decitabine was evaluated in combination with temozolomide, an oral alkylating agent, in a phase I/II trial (Tawbi et al. 2013)							
Decitabine +	I/II	35	2 CR, 4 PR, 14 SD	3.4 months;	12.4 months; 1-year OS		
temozolomide				6-month PFS 32%	56%		
ALT-801 is a recombinant	human II	L-2 fused to	o a single-chain T-cell re	ceptor specific to hum	an p53 peptide antigen		
presented in the setting of cisplatin in melanoma xen	HLA-A2 ograft mc	positivity. ouse model	This fusion protein show s. This phase Ib study sh	ved activity as monoth lowed (Milhem et al. 2	erapy and synergy with 2012):		
Cisplatin + ALT-801	Ib	22	NR	NR	6-month PFS 87%; 12-month PFS 58%		
Angiogenesis inhibitor rh- this randomized, placebo-	endostatii controlled	n in combii I phase II C	nation with dacarbazine Chinese trial (Guo et al. 2	was compared to daca (012) that showed:	rbazine monotherapy in		
Dacarbazine +	Π	110	NR	5 versus	16 versus 7 months;		
rh-endostatin versus				1.5 months	1-year OS 51 versus		
dacarbazine alone					22%		
Lenvatinib is an oral, reception	ptor TKI	targeting V	EGFR1-3, FGFR1-4, RI	ET, KIT, and PDGFR	B. Dacarbazine (DTIC)		
combination of anti-angiog	genic drug	g could pot	tentiate DTIC (Maio et a	A phase if study was p l. 2013)			
Lenvatinib + DTIC versus DTIC	П	78	NR	19.1 weeks versus 7 weeks	NR		
Lenvatinib was given at 24	mg PO d	aily + temc	zolomide 150 mg/m ² PC	0 d1-5/28 in this phase	Ib trial (Hong et al. 2015)		
Lenvatinib +	Ib	32	6 PR	5.4 months;	NR		
temozolomide				6-month PFS 37%			
Plitidepsin is a synthetic for	orm of a p	eptide isol	ated from Aplidium albi	cans which triggers ap	optosis and block VEGF		
secretion in tumor models.	A phase I	/II trial of c	lacarbazine + plitidepsin	versus plitidepsin alon	e showed (Plummer et al.		
Dacarbazine +	I/II	28	1 CR 5 PR 9 SD	3 3 versus	NR		
plitidepsin versus	1/11	versus	versus 0 CR, 0 PR.	1.5 months			
plitidepsin		16	2 SD				
Histone deacetylase inhibitor (HDAC inhibitor) panobinostat and demethylating agent decitabine were given in							
combination with temozol	omide in	an effort to	overcome development	of epigenetically med	iated temozolomide		
resistance in this phase I/II	I trial (Xia	a et al. 201	2). The MTD of this con	nbination has not yet b	been reached		
Decitabine +	I/II	17	NR	NR	NR		
panobinostat +							
temozolomide		,					
ERK1/2 is constitutively a	ctive in m	elanoma ce	ells regardless of BRAF r	nutation status; selume	etinib is a highly selective		
status Selumetinib and do	⊾1/2, supj cetavel ha	ve demons	trated synergy in yenogr	aft models of melanom	$\Delta$ and NKAS initiation a $\Delta$ randomized phase II		
trial (DOC-MEK) showed	(Gunta e	t al $2014$ ).	diated synergy in xellogia		a. A fandofinzed phase fi		
Selumetinib + docetaxel	П	83	32 versus 14%	6-month PFS 40%	NR		
versus docetaxel	1	05	52 Versus 1170	versus 26%			
Selumetinib was also teste	d in com	ination wi	th cytotoxic alkylating a	gent dacarbazine versi	is dacarbazine alone in a		
phase II double-blind randomized study (Robert et al. 2013)							
Selumetinib +	II	45	1 CR, 17 PR, 13 SD	5.6 versus	13.9 months versus		
dacarbazine versus		versus	versus 1 CR, 11 PR,	3 months,	10.5 months, $p = 0.39$		
dacarbazine		46	10 SD	p = 0.021			
YM155 is an inhibitor of su	YM155 is an inhibitor of survivin, a microtubule-associated protein overexpressed in melanoma and associated with cell						
viability and regulation of mitosis. An open-label phase II study (Steinberg et al. 2012) of YM155 in combination with microtubule-stabilizing chemotherapy agent docetaxel showed							
microtubule-stabilizing ch	urvivin, a mitosis. A emothera	microtubul An open-lat py agent do	e-associated protein over bel phase II study (Steinb bocetaxel showed:	rexpressed in melanom perg et al. 2012) of YM	a and associated with cell 1155 in combination with		
microtubule-stabilizing ch Docetaxel + YM155	urvivin, a mitosis. A emothera II	microtubul An open-lat py agent do 64	e-associated protein over pel phase II study (Steinb poetaxel showed: 8 PR (12.5%), 33 SD	expressed in melanom berg et al. 2012) of YM 6 month PFS	a and associated with cell 1155 in combination with 1-year OS 50.5%		

(continued)

#### Table 2 (continued)

Regimen	Phase	N	ORR	PFS	OS	
Everolimus is an oral inhibitor of mTOR, a component of the PI3k/AKT pathway, and has single-agent activity in advanced melanoma. A phase II trial tested everolimus in combination with chemotherapy with DNA cross-linking agent carboplatin and microtubule-stabilizing agent paclitaxel (Hauke et al. 2013). As this was not a marked improvement over previously published data with carboplatin + paclitaxel alone, further development was not recommended						
Everolimus + carboplatin + paclitaxel	II	70	12 PR, 42 SD	4 months	10 months	
Pazopanib is an antiangiog xenografts. A phase II stud	genic inhil ly of pazo	oitor of VE panib give	GFR-1,2,3, PDGFR-B, n in combination with p	and c-KIT with activit aclitaxel showed (Ein-	y in melanoma tumor Gal et al. 2013):	
Pazopanib + paclitaxel	II	31	32%: 1 CR, 9 PR, 13 SD, 8 PD	NR	NR	
PARP inhibitor rucaparib v showed (Plummer et al. 20	vas exami 13b):	ned in con	bination with oral alkyla	ating agent temozolom	ide in a phase II trial that	
Rucaparib + temozolomide	II	46	8 PR 17.4%, 8 SD	3.5 months; 6-month PFS 36%	9.9 months	
Preclinical data indicated t inhibitor dasatinib was cor	hat Src in nbined wi	hibitors ser	nsitize cells to the effects zine in a phase I trial (A	s of cytotoxic chemoth lgazi et al. 2012)	herapy. Src and c-Kit	
Dasatinib (70 mg PO BID cohort) + dacarbazine	Ι	29	4 PR, 17 SD	6-month PFS 20.7%	12-month OS 34.5%	
Ramucirumab is a fully hu compared to a combination	Ramucirumab is a fully humanized monoclonal antibody targeting VEGFR-2. It was tested as monotherapy and compared to a combination with dacarbazine in a phase II trial (Carvaial et al. 2014)					
Ramucirumab + dacarbazine versus ramucirumab	II	52 versus 50	9 PR, 19 SD versus 2 PR, 21 SD	2.6 months versus 1.7 months	8.7 months versus 11.1 months	
Based on data suggesting that VEGF expression may be prediction of clinical outcomes to CTLA-4 blockade, ipilimumab was combined with bevacizumab in this phase I trial (Hodi et al. 2014)						
Ipilimumab + bevacizumab	Ι	46	8 PR, 22 SD	9.0 months	25.1 months	
Autophagy inhibition has been proposed as a potential mechanism to augment the cytotoxicity of targeted therapies. In this phase I trial, the autophagy inhibitor hydroxychloroquinone is used in combination with temsirolimus, an mTOR inhibitor in a variety of cancers (melanoma results below) (Rangwala et al. 2014a)						
Hydroxychloroquinone + temsirolimus	Ι	19	14 SD	3.5 months	NR	
In similar concept to the ab solid tumors (melanoma re	ove trial, sults belo	this phase w) (Rangv	I trial combined hydroxy vala et al. 2014b):	chloroquinone with te	mozolomide in advanced	
Hydroxychloroquinone + temozolomide	Ι	22	3 PR, 6 SD	NR	NR	
solid tumors (melanoma re Hydroxychloroquinone + temozolomide	I	ow) (Rangv 22	vala et al. 2014b): 3 PR, 6 SD	NR	NR	

*N* number of treated patients, *ORR* overall response rate, CR + PR, *CR* complete response, *PR* partial response, *PFS* median progression-free survival, *OS* median overall survival, *NR* not reported, *irORR* immune-related overall response rate, *irPFS* immune-related progression-free survival

minority of patients to meaningful durable complete or partial responses. While the excitement over targeted kinase inhibitors continues, it is clear that these drugs do not lead to durable remissions except in a small number of patients. Immunotherapy has also experienced rapid advances recently but still leaves many tumor anergic patients without response. Ultimately, combination therapy may deliver this goal better than either cytotoxic or targeted or immunotherapy is able to.

#### References

Algazi AP, Weber JS, Andrews SC et al (2012) Phase I clinical trial of the Src inhibitor dasatinib with dacarbazine in metastatic melanoma. Br J Cancer 106:85–91. https://doi.org/10.1038/bjc.2011.514

- Amin A, Lawson DH (2015) A single-arm, open-label, phase II study to evaluate the safety of vemurafenib (VEM) followed by ipilimumab (IPI) in BRAF V600-mutated metastatic melanoma (MM). 2015 ASCO annual meeting. Abstracts. Meeting Library. http://meetinglibrary. asco.org/content/145651-156. Accessed 22 Mar 2016
- Ascierto PA, Simeone E, Giannarelli D et al (2012) Sequencing of BRAF inhibitors and ipilimumab in patients with metastatic melanoma: a possible algorithm for clinical use. J Transl Med 10:107. https:// doi.org/10.1186/1479-5876-10-107
- Ascierto PA, Simeone E, Sileni VC et al (2014) Sequential treatment with ipilimumab and BRAF inhibitors in patients with metastatic melanoma: data from the Italian cohort of the ipilimumab expanded access program. Cancer Investig 32:144–149. https://doi.org/10.3109/07357907.2014.885984
- Bhatia S, Moon J, Margolin KA et al (2012) Phase II trial of sorafenib in combination with carboplatin and paclitaxel in patients with metastatic uveal melanoma: SWOG S0512. PLoS One 7:e48787. https://doi.org/ 10.1371/journal.pone.0048787
- Boni A, Cogdill AP, Dang P et al (2010) Selective BRAFV600E inhibition enhances T-cell recognition of melanoma without affecting lymphocyte function. Cancer Res 70:5213–5219. https://doi.org/10.1158/00 08-5472.CAN-10-0118
- Carvajal RD, Wong MK, Thompson JA et al (2014) A phase 2 randomised study of ramucirumab (IMC-1121B) with or without dacarbazine in patients with metastatic melanoma. Eur J Cancer 50:2099–2107. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.ejca.2014.03.289
- Das Thakur M, Salangsang F, Landman AS et al (2013) Modelling vemurafenib resistance in melanoma reveals a strategy to forestall drug resistance. Nature 494:251–255. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature11814
- DeNardo DG, Brennan DJ, Rexhepaj E et al (2011) Leukocyte complexity predicts breast cancer survival and functionally regulates response to chemotherapy. Cancer Discov 1:54–67. https://doi.org/10.1158/2159-8274.CD-10-0028
- Di Giacomo AM, Ascierto PA, Pilla L et al (2012a) Ipilimumab and fotemustine in patients with advanced melanoma (NIBIT-M1): an open-label, single-arm phase 2 trial. Lancet Oncol 13:879–886. https://doi. org/10.1016/S1470-2045(12)70324-8
- Di Giacomo AM, Ascierto PA, Pilla L et al (2012b) Phase II multicenter trial of ipilimumab combined with fotemustine in patients with metastatic melanoma: The Italian Network for Tumor Biotherapy (NIBIT)-M1 trial. 2012 ASCO annual meeting. Abstracts. Meeting Library. http://meetinglibrary.asco.org/content/952 43-114. Accessed 19 Apr 2016
- Ein-Gal SY, Tsang W, Alger B et al (2013) Updated interim analysis of UCI 09-53: a phase II, single arm study of pazopanib and paclitaxel as first-line treatment for subjects with unresectable advanced melanoma. 2013 ASCO annual meeting. Abstracts. Meeting Library. http://meetinglibrary.asco.org/content/116078-132. Accessed 19 Apr 2016

- Flaherty KT, Puzanov I, Kim KB et al (2010) Inhibition of mutated, activated BRAF in metastatic melanoma. N Engl J Med 363:809–819. https://doi.org/10.1056/ NEJMoa1002011
- Flaherty KT, Infante JR, Daud A et al (2012) Combined BRAF and MEK inhibition in melanoma with BRAF V600 mutations. N Engl J Med 367:1694–1703. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1210093
- Flaherty KT, Lee SJ, Zhao F et al (2013) Phase III trial of carboplatin and paclitaxel with or without sorafenib in metastatic melanoma. J Clin Oncol 31:373–379. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2012.42.1529
- Frederick DT, Piris A, Cogdill AP et al (2013) BRAF inhibition is associated with enhanced melanoma antigen expression and a more favorable tumor microenvironment in patients with metastatic melanoma. Clin Cancer Res 19:1225–1231. https://doi.org/10.1158/10 78-0432.CCR-12-1630
- Green DR, Ferguson T, Zitvogel L, Kroemer G (2009) Immunogenic and tolerogenic cell death. Nat Rev Immunol 9:353–363. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri2545
- Guo J, Cui CL, Gu K et al (2012) Randomized, double-blind, and multicenter phase II trial of rh-endostatin plus dacarbazine versus dacarbazine alone as first-line therapy for the patients with advanced melanoma. 2012 ASCO annual meeting. Abstracts. Meeting Library. http:// meetinglibrary.asco.org/content/96099-114. Accessed 19 Apr 2016
- Gupta A, Love S, Schuh A et al (2014) DOC-MEK: a double-blind randomized phase II trial of docetaxel with or without selumetinib in wild-type BRAF advanced melanoma. Ann Oncol 25:968–974. https:// doi.org/10.1093/annonc/mdu054
- Hannani D, Sistigu A, Kepp O et al (2011) Prerequisites for the antitumor vaccine-like effect of chemotherapy and radiotherapy. Cancer J 17:351–358. https://doi.org/10. 1097/PPO.0b013e3182325d4d
- Hauke RJ, Infante JR, Rubin MS et al (2013) Everolimus in combination with paclitaxel and carboplatin in patients with metastatic melanoma: a phase II trial of the Sarah Cannon research institute oncology research consortium. Melanoma Res 23:468–473. https://doi.org/10. 1097/CMR.00000000000014
- Hersh EM, O'Day SJ, Powderly J et al (2011) A phase II multicenter study of ipilimumab with or without dacarbazine in chemotherapy-naïve patients with advanced melanoma. Investig New Drugs 29: 489–498. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10637-009-9376-8
- Hodi FS, Lawrence D, Lezcano C et al (2014) Bevacizumab plus ipilimumab in patients with metastatic melanoma. Cancer Immunol Res 2:632–642. https://doi.org/10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-14-0053
- Hong DS, Kurzrock R, Falchook GS et al (2015) Phase 1b study of lenvatinib (E7080) in combination with temozolomide for treatment of advanced melanoma. Oncotarget 6:43127–43134. https://doi.org/10.18632/ oncotarget.5756
- Hooijkaas A, Gadiot J, Morrow M et al (2012) Selective BRAF inhibition decreases tumor-resident lymphocyte frequencies in a mouse model of human melanoma.

Oncoimmunology 1:609-617. https://doi.org/10.4161/ onci.20226

- Ives NJ, Stowe RL, Lorigan P, Wheatley K (2007) Chemotherapy compared with biochemotherapy for the treatment of metastatic melanoma: a meta-analysis of 18 trials involving 2,621 patients. J Clin Oncol 25:5426–5434. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2007.12. 0253
- Ji R-R, Chasalow SD, Wang L et al (2012) An immuneactive tumor microenvironment favors clinical response to ipilimumab. Cancer Immunol Immunother 61:1019–1031. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00262-011-11 72-6
- Kepp O, Galluzzi L, Martins I et al (2011) Molecular determinants of immunogenic cell death elicited by anticancer chemotherapy. Cancer Metastasis Rev 30:61–69. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10555-011-9273-4
- Kim KB, Sosman JA, Fruehauf JP et al (2012) BEAM: a randomized phase II study evaluating the activity of bevacizumab in combination with carboplatin plus paclitaxel in patients with previously untreated advanced melanoma. J Clin Oncol 30:34–41. https://doi.org/ 10.1200/JCO.2011.34.6270
- Kottschade LA, Suman VJ, Perez DG et al (2013) A randomized phase 2 study of temozolomide and bevacizumab or nab-paclitaxel, carboplatin, and bevacizumab in patients with unresectable stage IV melanoma: a North Central Cancer Treatment Group study, N0775. Cancer 119:586–592. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/cncr.27760
- Lee JT, Li L, Brafford PA et al (2010) PLX4032, a potent inhibitor of the B-Raf V600E oncogene, selectively inhibits V600E-positive melanomas. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res 23:820–827. https://doi.org/10.1111/ j.1755-148X.2010.00763.x
- Leon-Ferre RA, Markovic SN (2015) Nab-paclitaxel in patients with metastatic melanoma. Expert Rev Anticancer Ther 15:1371–1377. https://doi.org/10.1586/ 14737140.2015.1110024
- Maio M, Hassel JC, Del Vecchio M et al (2013) Lenvatinib combined with dacarbazine versus dacarbazine alone as first-line treatment in patients with stage IV melanoma. 2013 ASCO annual meeting. Abstracts. Meeting Library. http://meetinglibrary.asco.org/content/1152 63-132. Accessed 19 Apr 2016
- Margolin KA, Moon J, Flaherty LE et al (2012) Randomized phase II trial of sorafenib with temsirolimus or tipifarnib in untreated metastatic melanoma (S0438). Clin Cancer Res 18:1129–1137. https://doi.org/ 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-11-2488
- Markowitz J, Luedke EA, Grignol VP et al (2014) A phase I trial of bortezomib and interferon-α-2b in metastatic melanoma. J Immunother 37:55–62. https://doi.org/10. 1097/CJI.000000000000009
- Means-Powell JA, Adjei AA, Puzanov I et al (2012) Safety and efficacy of MET inhibitor tivantinib (ARQ 197) combined with sorafenib in patients (pts) with NRAS wild-type or mutant melanoma from a phase I study. 2012 ASCO annual meeting. Abstracts. Meeting

Library. http://meetinglibrary.asco.org/content/94834-114. Accessed 19 Apr 2016

- Milhem M, Weber JS, Amin A et al (2012) Clinical experience of a targeted TCR-IL2 fusion protein in combination with cisplatin (CDDP) in patients (pts) with metastatic melanoma. 2012 ASCO annual meeting. Abstracts. Meeting Library. http://meetinglibrary.asco. org/content/99205-114. Accessed 19 Apr 2016
- Mokyr MB, Kalinichenko T, Gorelik L, Bluestone JA (1998) Realization of the therapeutic potential of CTLA-4 blockade in low-dose chemotherapy-treated tumor-bearing mice. Cancer Res 58:5301–5304
- von Moos R, Seifert B, Simcock M et al (2012) First-line temozolomide combined with bevacizumab in metastatic melanoma: a multicentre phase II trial (SAKK 50/07). Ann Oncol 23:531–536. https://doi.org/10.10 93/annonc/mdr126
- Nathanson KL, Martin A-M, Wubbenhorst B et al (2013) Tumor genetic analyses of patients with metastatic melanoma treated with the BRAF inhibitor dabrafenib (GSK2118436). Clin Cancer Res 19:4868–4878. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-13-0827
- Nisticò P, Capone I, Palermo B et al (2009) Chemotherapy enhances vaccine-induced antitumor immunity in melanoma patients. Int J Cancer 124:130–139. https://doi. org/10.1002/ijc.23886
- Patel S, Hwu W-J (2012) Phase II study of the frontline combination of ipilimumab and temozolomide in patients with metastatic melanoma. 2012 ASCO annual meeting. Abstracts. Meeting Library. http:// meetinglibrary.asco.org/content/93186-114. Accessed 19 Apr 2016
- Piperno-Neumann S, Servois V, Bidard F-C et al (2012) BEVATEM: phase II single-center study of bevacizumab in combination with temozolomide in patients (pts) with first-line metastatic uveal melanoma (MUM): first-step results. 2012 ASCO annual meeting. Abstracts. Meeting Library. http://meetinglibrary.asco. org/content/95035-114. Accessed 19 Apr 2016
- Piperno-Neumann S, Servois V, Bidard F-C et al (2013) BEVATEM: Phase II study of bevacizumab (B) in combination with temozolomide (T) in patients (pts) with first-line metastatic uveal melanoma (MUM): final results. 2013 ASCO annual meeting. Abstracts. Meeting Library. http://meetinglibrary.asco.org/content/ 112901-132. Accessed 19 Apr 2016
- Plummer R, Lorigan P, Brown E et al (2013a) Phase I-II study of plitidepsin and dacarbazine as first-line therapy for advanced melanoma. Br J Cancer 109:1451–1459. https://doi.org/10.1038/bjc.2013.477
- Plummer R, Lorigan P, Steven N et al (2013b) A phase II study of the potent PARP inhibitor, Rucaparib (PF-01367338, AG014699), with temozolomide in patients with metastatic melanoma demonstrating evidence of chemopotentiation. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol 71:1191–1199. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00 280-013-2113-1
- Rangwala R, Chang YC, Hu J et al (2014a) Combined MTOR and autophagy inhibition: phase I trial of

hydroxychloroquine and temsirolimus in patients with advanced solid tumors and melanoma. Autophagy 10:1391–1402. https://doi.org/10.4161/auto.29119

- Rangwala R, Leone R, Chang YC et al (2014b) Phase I trial of hydroxychloroquine with dose-intense temozolomide in patients with advanced solid tumors and melanoma. Autophagy 10:1369–1379. https://doi. org/10.4161/auto.29118
- Ribas A, Hodi FS, Callahan M et al (2013) Hepatotoxicity with combination of vemurafenib and ipilimumab. N Engl J Med 368:1365–1366. https://doi.org/10.1056/ NEJMc1302338
- Ribas A, Puzanov I, Dummer R et al (2015) Pembrolizumab versus investigator-choice chemotherapy for ipilimumab-refractory melanoma (KEYNOTE-002): a randomised, controlled, phase 2 trial. Lancet Oncol 16:908–918. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1470-2045(15)00083-2
- Robert C, Thomas L, Bondarenko I et al (2011) Ipilimumab plus dacarbazine for previously untreated metastatic melanoma. N Engl J Med 364:2517–2526. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1104621
- Robert C, Dummer R, Gutzmer R et al (2013) Selumetinib plus dacarbazine versus placebo plus dacarbazine as first-line treatment for BRAF-mutant metastatic melanoma: a phase 2 double-blind randomised study. Lancet Oncol 14:733–740. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1470-2045(13)70237-7
- Robert C, Ribas A, Wolchok JD et al (2014) Anti-programmed-death-receptor-1 treatment with pembrolizumab in ipilimumab-refractory advanced melanoma: a randomised dose-comparison cohort of a phase 1 trial. Lancet 384:1109–1117. https://doi.org/10.1016/S01 40-6736(14)60958-2
- Romano E, Pradervand S, Paillusson A et al (2013) Identification of multiple mechanisms of resistance to vemurafenib in a patient with BRAFV600E-mutated cutaneous melanoma successfully rechallenged after progression. Clin Cancer Res 19:5749–5757. https:// doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-13-0661
- Sasse AD, Sasse EC, Clark LGO et al (2007) Chemoimmunotherapy versus chemotherapy for metastatic malignant melanoma. Cochrane database Syst Rev CD005413. https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858. CD005413.pub2
- Shahabi V, Whitney G, Hamid O et al (2012) Assessment of association between BRAF-V600E mutation status in melanomas and clinical response to ipilimumab. Cancer Immunol Immunother 61:733–737. https://doi. org/10.1007/s00262-012-1227-3
- Slingluff CL, Petroni GR, Molhoek KR et al (2013) Clinical activity and safety of combination therapy

with temsirolimus and bevacizumab for advanced melanoma: a phase II trial (CTEP 7190/Mel47). Clin Cancer Res 19:3611–3620. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-12-3919

- Steinberg J, Bedikian AY, Ernst S et al (2012) A phase II, multicenter, open-label study of YM155 plus docetaxel in subjects with stage III (unresectable) or stage IV melanoma. 2012 ASCO annual meeting. Abstracts. Meeting Library. http://meetinglibrary.asco.org/con tent/100582-114. Accessed 19 Apr 2016
- Stuart DD (2013) Intermittent treatment with vemurafenib may prevent lethal drug resistance in melanoma – ScienceDaily. https://www.sciencedaily.com/releases/ 2013/04/130407183553.htm. Accessed 19 Apr 2016
- Sullivan RJ, Ibrahim N, Lawrence DP et al (2013) A phase I study of the combination of sorafenib (Sor) and bortezomib (Bor) in patients (pts) with metastatic melanoma (MM). 2013 ASCO annual meeting. Abstracts. Meeting Library. http://meetinglibrary.asco.org/con tent/115334-132. Accessed 19 Apr 2016
- Tawbi HA, Beumer JH, Tarhini AA et al (2013) Safety and efficacy of decitabine in combination with temozolomide in metastatic melanoma: a phase I/II study and pharmacokinetic analysis. Ann Oncol 24:1112–1119. https://doi.org/10.1093/annonc/mds 591
- Wang J, Patel S, Hwu W-J et al (2012) Development of brain metastases in patients with metastatic melanoma treated with ipilimumab plus temozolomide. 2012 ASCO annual meeting. Abstracts. Meeting Library. http://meetinglibrary.asco.org/content/94126-114. Accessed 19 Apr 2016
- Weber JS, D'Angelo SP, Minor D et al (2015) Nivolumab versus chemotherapy in patients with advanced melanoma who progressed after anti-CTLA-4 treatment (CheckMate 037): a randomised, controlled, openlabel, phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol 16:375–384. https:// doi.org/10.1016/S1470-2045(15)70076-8
- Wilmott JS, Long GV, Howle JR et al (2012) Selective BRAF inhibitors induce marked T-cell infiltration into human metastatic melanoma. Clin Cancer Res 18:1386–1394. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-11-2479
- Wolchok JD, Kluger H, Callahan MK et al (2013) Nivolumab plus ipilimumab in advanced melanoma. N Engl J Med 369:122–133. https://doi.org/10.1056/ NEJMoa1302369
- Xia C, Laux DE, Deutsch JM et al (2012) A phase I/II study to evaluate the ability of decitabine and panobinostat to improve temozolomide chemosensitivity in metastatic melanoma. 2012 ASCO annual meeting. Abstracts. Meeting Library. http://meetinglibrary.asco.org/con tent/98768-114. Accessed 19 Apr 2016



## Viral-Based Therapies in Melanoma

#### Ann Silk, Praveen K. Bommareddy, and Howard L. Kaufman

#### Contents

Introduction	700
Preclinical Studies of Oncolytic Immunotherapy	702
Tumor Tropism	702
Immunogenic Cell Death and Activation of Innate of Adaptive Immune	703
Responses	704
Clinical Studies of Oncolytic Viruses for Melanoma	706
Talimogene Laherparepvec	707
Coxsackievirus	708
Rigvir	708
Adenoviruses	709
Clinical Studies of Other Viral Therapies for Melanoma	709
Viral Delivery of Defined Melanoma Antigens	709
Virus-Engineered Dendritic Cells	710
Safety, Biosafety, and Logistical Issues Related to Viral Therapies	710
Conclusions and Future Directions in Viral Therapies for Melanoma	712
References	712

#### A. Silk

Rutgers Cancer institute of New Jersey, New Brunswick, NJ, USA

P. K. Bommareddy Rutgers Cancer institute of New Jersey, New Brunswick, NJ, USA

School of Graduate Studies, Rutgers University, New Brunswick, NJ, USA

H. L. Kaufman (⊠) Division of Surgical Oncology, Massachusetts General Hospital, Boston, MA, USA

Replimune, Inc., Woburn, MA, USA e-mail: HLKaufman@mgh.harvard.edu

#### Abstract

Viruses are microscopic organisms that can mediate antitumor activity by commandeering their natural ability to induce innate and adaptive immune responses and through genetic engineering, therapeutic transgene expression by the viral genome. Melanoma is especially well suited for viral-based therapeutics due to the underlying immunogenicity of melanoma cells and the relatively easy ability to inject established tumors in patients. Pharmacologic development of viral therapy in melanoma has focused on viral-based vaccines and oncolytic

© Springer Science+Business Media, LLC, part of Springer Nature 2019 D. E. Fisher, B. C. Bastian (eds.), *Melanoma*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-7147-9 39 immunotherapy. In fact, the first approved oncologic application of viral-based agents has been the oncolytic virus, talimogene laherparepvec, for the treatment of advanced melanoma. This chapter will provide the biologic rationale and preclinical proof of concept for viral therapy, describe recent clinical trial results, and discuss some of the unique logistical and biosafety issues associated with the clinical application of viral-based therapeutics. The versatility of viruses as therapeutic agents coupled with a highly tolerable safety profile suggests that viral-based therapies may be important agents for further drug development alone and as part of multicomponent treatment regimens for patients with melanoma.

#### Keywords

Immunotherapy · Intratumoral treatment · Melanoma · Oncolytic virus · Vaccine

#### Introduction

Viral-based therapy represents a new class of antineoplastic treatment and is based on adapting biologic features of viruses to kill tumor cells and enhance host antitumor immunity. Viruses possess several unique features that makes them well suited for melanoma therapy, including an ability to selectively replicate in and kill tumor cells, activate host immunity and express antineoplastic and/or immune modulating transgenes (Bommareddy et al. 2018). The first viral-based therapy to achieve approval is talimogene laherparepvec (T-VEC), an oncolytic herpes simplex virus, type 1 (HSV-1) encoding granulocytemacrophage colony stimulating factor (GM-CSF) for the treatment of advanced cutaneous, subcutaneous, and nodal melanoma that recurs after initial excision. The approval of T-VEC was based on improved durable and objective response rates, improved progression-free survival and enhanced overall survival, especially in patients with unresectable stage III or IVM1a disease, based on a prospective, randomized clinical trial (Andtbacka et al. 2015). These data provided clinical validation that viral-based therapies are clinically meaningful in melanoma and has generate considerable interest in expanding the role of viral therapy for the treatment of melanoma.

Viruses are microscopic organisms that are composed of nucleic acid core and typically surrounded by a protein or glycoprotein coat. There are approximately 320,000 known mammalian viruses and these can be broadly classified as DNA or RNA viruses based on their core nucleic acid composition (Anthony et al. 2013). All viruses replicate in host cells and each virus follows a specific life cycle that utilizes a combination of enzymatic proteins carried or encoded by the virus and from infected host cells to replicate progeny viral particles, and typically induces cell lysis with release of new viruses to infect other host cells. In this way, viruses propagate and expand within a single host and can be transmitted to other hosts based on the anatomic location of the viral infection and biologic features of each virus. Some viruses have been associated with zoonotic or human diseases that range from mild infections, such as the common cold, to uniformly fatal syndromes, such as Ebola. The host immune system plays an important role in preventing ongoing viral infection and includes innate viral sensing within eukaryotic cells through a set of intracellular proteins collectively known as the antiviral machinery. Once engaged, the machinery will alert the host immune system and a more orchestrated induction of innate and adaptive immune responses occurs to eradicate the virus and focusing the immune response on identifying virus-infected cells since viruses exist largely as intracellular microbes.

The dependency on host cells for replication and their usual detection by the intracellular antiviral mechanisms explains, in part, the early observations dating back to the early part of the twentieth century that some tumor cells can be killed by viruses (Pelner et al. 1958). Indeed, contemporary studies have shown that viruses can replicate more efficiently in host cells undergoing rapid cell division due to the presence of excess nucleic acid production that can be commandeered for viral replication (Kaufman et al. 2015). Further, many tumor cells have defects in antiviral machinery elements that permit more selective replication, especially for attenuated viruses. Some viruses exhibit innate tropism for neoplastic cells and exhibit preferential replication in such cells, whereas other viruses can be genetically engineered to effectively replicate in tumor cells and not in normal host cells. While many viruses can replicate efficiently in tumor cells, even under the best conditions, ongoing viral infection and replication is ultimately halted by the immune system. This occurs because viruses are highly immunogenic and are potent activators of immune responses, and this characteristic can be exploited for melanoma therapy as well.

While most viruses induce humoral immune responses as evidenced by antibody production against virion particles, the obligate intracellular life cycle of viruses also results in strong cellular immune responses. Indeed, viruses are among the most potent inducers of host cellular immunity, a feature that can be utilized for melanoma immunotherapy. From an evolutionary perspective, viruses have had a long relationship with host immune systems and many have evolved elaborate molecular mechanisms for escaping immune detection. For example, the vaccinia virus B18R gene encodes an interferon receptor decoy protein that can bind and neutralize type 1 interferons, which allows further viral propagation even after antiviral immunity has been initiated (Symons et al. 1995). Herpes simplex viruses encodes an infected cell protein 47 (ICP47) that blocks the entry of viral peptides into the antigen-processing machinery and prevents binding of viral peptides to host cell major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I molecules allowing the virus to replicate undetected by circulating T cells (Galocha et al. 1997). Since melanoma immunotherapy is dependent on the presence of CD8+ T cells in the tumor microenvironment (Riaz et al. 2017), the use of viruses to induce cellular immunity can potentially augment T cell responses and can theoretically enhance antitumor immunity. Oncolytic viruses have, in fact, demonstrated increased recruitment of T cells to the tumor microenvironment in melanoma patients, and this was associated with improved therapeutic responses to systemic immunotherapy (Ribas et al. 2017a). Achieving a balance between the antiviral and antitumor immune response is critical when considering viral-based therapy since immune activation against viral and tumor-associated antigens may be linked, and premature viral clearance may circumvent effective antitumor immunity. Further, weakened antiviral immunity could potentially cause toxicity due to uncontrolled viral infection. The ability to select native viruses or genetically engineer viruses has allowed the development of viral agents that exhibit appropriate balance between antiviral and antitumor immunity.

An additional feature of viruses is the ability of some viruses to encode eukaryotic transgenes and express them upon infection. Among the first such constructs was a vaccinia virus engineered to express the human carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA) gene (Kaufman et al. 1991). The virus was used to immunize patients with CEA-expressing adenocarcinomas and generate CEA-specific T cell responses but therapeutic activity was not observed (McAneny et al. 1996). In addition to single transgenes, it is now well established that certain large viruses can accommodate multiple eukaryotic transgenes (Kaufman et al. 2002; Duggan et al. 2016). Thus, genes encoding cytotoxic agents could be delivered directly into tumor cells by viruses, and additional immune modulating genes can be expressed within the local tumor microenvironment or utilized for systemic vaccination purposes.

Viral-based therapy for melanoma has emerged as a new class of therapeutic agents receiving increasing attention. There are two major approaches, one uses viruses as oncolytic agents to directly infect and induce immunogenic tumor cell death and the other using viruses as expression vehicles for systemic immunization or delivery of antineoplastic genes to tumor cells. In this chapter, we will discuss the biologic rationale for using viruses as therapeutic agents in melanoma, describe some of the important preclinical and clinical studies supporting viral-based therapeutics, discuss some of the unique logistical and biosafety issues associated with administering viruses in the clinic setting, and provide insights into high-priority areas for future investigation in this rapidly emerging field.



**Fig. 1** Schematic showing the basic mechanisms of action for oncolytic viruses. Oncolytic viruses mediate antitumor activity through preferential infection and replication in tumor cells (**a**), induction of immunogenic cell death and release of soluble tumor-associated antigens and danger

#### Preclinical Studies of Oncolytic Immunotherapy

A number of preclinical studies in animal models and tumor cell lines have demonstrated the potential therapeutic benefit of oncolytic immunotherapy and improved our understanding of the mechanisms of action while guiding clinical development. In this section, we will review some of the more pertinent preclinical data. Small molecules and monoclonal antibodies can be used to induce oncolvtic effects, but the oncolytic platform in melanoma has largely focused on viruses due to their preferential replication in melanoma cells, ability to trigger multiple immune modulatory pathways, and tolerable safety profile (Fig. 1). Although many oncolytic viruses can infect normal cells, most oncolytic viruses are unable to replicate efficiently in normal cells. This may be due to altered viral receptor

associated molecular pattern (DAMP) factors (**b**), recruitment of dendritic cells and innate immune cells (**c**), cross presentation of tumor antigens, and (**d**) generation of antigen specific T cells

expression between tumor and normal cells, defective intracellular antiviral machinery elements in cancer cells or due to genetic manipulation of the viral genome through deletions of nonessential viral genes or inclusion of transgenes that can limit replication in normal cells.

#### **Tumor Tropism**

Some viruses exhibit innate tropism for tumor cells, while other viruses can be selected or genetically modified to promote and/or enhance tumor tropism. For example, selection of group I adenoviruses that contain fiber knobs with highly specific CD46-binding properties has been shown to enter and lyse CD46-expressing tumor cells with higher efficiency than other adenovirus strains (Tuve et al. 2006). Deletion of the HSV-1 infected cell protein 34.5 (ICP34.5) decreases pathogenicity since the ICP34.5 gene product mediates neurotoxicity, but deletion also confers a selective replication advantage to HSV-1 in tumor cells (Bommareddy et al. 2018). Furthermore, preclinical studies have shown that downregulation of protein kinase R (PKR), part of the antiviral machinery, can help some strains of HSV-1 replicate better in tumors with RAS mutations (Bommareddy et al. 2017). In contrast to tumor cells, normal cells while susceptible to HSV-1 infection, will have normal PKR levels that undergoes autophosphorylation upon viral detection, and then further phosphorylation of eukaryotic translation initiation factor (EIF2a) occurs and inhibits protein synthesis with selective restriction of viral infection in normal cells (Cassady and Gross 2002).

Adenoviruses generally require that quiescent cells enter the cell cycle in order to propagate. Thus, oncolytic adenoviruses can take advantage of tumor cells harboring mutations in the Rb tumor suppressor gene. In normal cells, E2F drives cell cycle entry and the process is regulated by Rb binding and inactivation of E2F. Preclinical studies have confirmed that oncolytic adenovirus infection of Rb-mutated tumor cells resulted in rapid viral replication and highly efficient cell killing, which was not observed in cells containing intact Rb function (Pelka et al. 2011; Savontaus et al. 2002). Another approach that enhances tumor selective replication has been by regulating viral replication component genes by tumor tissuespecific promoters. For example, an oncolytic adenovirus encoding CD40L used the human reverse transcriptase (hTERT) promoter to restrict replication to tumor cells (Zafar et al. 2017). Other tumorand tissue-specific promoters such as c-myc and prostate-specific antigen (PSA) have also been used to limit oncolytic virus replication to specific tumor cells and/or prostate tissue respectively.

#### Immunogenic Cell Death and Activation of Innate of Adaptive Immune Responses

The role of oncolytic viruses in inducing immunogenic cell death has been well documented but the mechanism(s) through which this occurs are not as well defined (see Fig. 1). In one study, an oncolytic reovirus was shown to enhance killing of BRAF-mutant melanoma cells treated with BRAF and MEK inhibitors through reovirusinduced endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stressmediated apoptosis (Roulstone et al. 2015). In another study, an oncolytic vaccinia virus encoding a CXCL4 antagonist was able to mediate antitumor activity in a chemoresistant ovarian melanoma cell model by inducing tumor immunity via the oncolytic effect of the vaccinia virus and reprogramming the suppressive immune network in the tumor microenvironment through the antagonistic activity of the anti-CXCL4 (Komorowski et al. 2016). Immunogenic cell death induced by oncolytic viruses is often accompanied by the release of DAMPs from tumor cells – such as adenosine triphosphate (ATP), uric acid, HMGB1, and the translocation of calreticulin (CALR), an ER-associated chaperone - to the cell surface (Nishio et al. 2014). Extracellular ATP can act as a chemoattractant for several immune cells and also plays a major role in dendritic cell activation (Ottolino-Perry et al. 2010). HMGB1 and CALR can act as ligands for TLR4 receptors on dendritic cells resulting in conditioning of dendritic cells, which help prime T cell activation (Galluzzi et al. 2017). CALR neutralize CD47 receptors present on tumors cells, which serve as an eatme-not signals, thus promoting tumor cell engulfment by macrophages and dendritic cells (Sick et al. 2012). The release of DAMPs helps promote activation of tumor-specific dendritic cells and orchestrate priming and recruitment of tumorspecific T cells into the tumor microenvironment.

Toll-like receptors (TLRs) are sensing devices of the innate immune system which helps the host recognize and fight microbial pathogens and infections. The TLR family was initially discovered as part of the essential gene components involved in Drosophila development (Anderson et al. 1985). Immune activation occurs when TLRs detect defined structures of pathogens called pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs). In humans, ten different kinds of TLRs have been identified, each of which have unique functions designed to identify and eradicate specific pathogens. Some TLRs exist as cell surface receptors and others are located within the cytoplasm of host cells, including tumor cells (Salaun et al. 2007). Intracellular pathogens and RNA viruses are frequently "sensed" via intracellular TLRs, which is among the earliest pathways to initiate antimicrobial immunity. Therapeutically, TLR agonists are being actively investigated as agents alone or in combination to promote melanoma immunotherapy. TLR agonists often aid the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines (e.g., IL-1, TNF, IL-6), which can help mature dendritic cells, enhance antigen presentation and activate adaptive T cell antitumor immunity. Several TLR agonists such as TLR3, TLR4, and TLR7/8 agonists are currently being investigated as agents that can activate innate and adaptive immune responses based on promising preclinical studies. A detailed review of each of the TLR agonists and their mechanism of action can be found elsewhere (Gnjatic et al. 2010).

In contrast to TLRs which recognize RNA viral genome segments, DNA viruses are detected by specialized sensing complex collectively known as the cyclic GMP-AMP synthase and stimulatory of interferon gene expression (cGAS-STING) complex. cGAS binding of DNA elements produces cyclic dinucleotides 2'3'-cGAMP, which can bind to STING directly, and upon activation, STING translocates from the ER to the Golgi apparatus where it binds to tank-binding kinase 1 (TBK1), which leads to STING phosphorylation. Phosphorylation of STING results in the recruitment of interferon regulatory factor 3 (IRF3) to the complex, which phosphorylates IRF3. Following this, the complex enters the cell nucleus and induces transcription of interferonrelated genes, such as IFNB1, tumor necrosis factor (TNF), and interleukin 6 (IL-6) (Corrales et al. 2016). STING appears to also play an important role in mediating antitumor immunity as shown by studies in which STING expression is deficient and this results in a lymphoid deficient tumor microenvironment, which could be restored by local expression of STING within tumor cells (Corrales et al. 2017). Preclinical studies using STING agonists as intratumoral therapies have shown promising results and seem to be dependent on CD8+ T cells (Corrales et al. 2015). In these studies, the effects of STING agonists were partially abrogated in RAG2^{-/-} mice, which lack functional T cells. While the mechanism of action of STING agonists are complex and generally thought to be mediated through recruitment and activation of tumor-specific T cells, other studies have suggested a role for TNF-mediated vascular destruction in clearing established tumors in vivo (Corrales et al. 2015).

#### Viral Vaccines

In addition to oncolytic viruses, nononcolytic viruses - often termed as viral vaccines - may also be considered for the treatment of melanoma (Fig. 2). These nononcolvtic viruses can be utilized as vaccination strategies to activate antitumor responses through expression of defined tumor-associated antigens by encoding the antigen genes under a viral promoter. Other strategies have used viruses to deliver cytotoxic agents and/or immune stimulatory cytokines directly into the tumor microenvironment, where native antigens including neoantigens can be presented in a more immunogenic manner. Viral vaccines carrying defined melanoma or neoantigens can serve to activate host antitumor immunity. While many nonreplicating or heat-inactivated viruses have been evaluated in the past for their potential to serve as a therapeutic melanoma vaccine, most studies conducted, to date, have not been clearly associated with clinical benefit. Today, armed with a better understanding of tumor immunology and the opportunity to combine viral-based vaccines with immune checkpoint blockade, there has been renewed interested in the role of viral vaccines for melanoma treatment. Thus, we will limit our discussion to the more recent approaches under clinical development.

MG1-MAGEA3 is an oncolytic Maraba virus encoding melanoma antigen family A3 (MAGEA3), a cancer-testis antigen that is frequently expressed in melanoma (Pol et al. 2018). The goal of this vaccine strategy is to deliver the



Enhanced immunogenic cell death

Fig. 2 Schematic showing how viruses can be modified to enhance safety and can be used to encode tumor-associated antigens to induce systemic immunization. (a) Viral replication genes can be placed under tumor specific promotors for selective replication in tumor cells; (b) Deletion of nonessential viral genes to enhance to safety profile; (c)

virus to the tumor where MAGEA3 expression should generate MAGEA3-specific CD8+ T cell, which can initiate tumor eradiation and presumably induce antigen spreading to other tumorrelated neoantigen responses. This approach has been especially interesting in preclinical tumor models when used in a heterologous prime-boost strategy (Pol et al. 2014; Aitken et al. 2018). In studies using a murine melanoma model, a combination of adenovirus and Maraba virus MG1 demonstrated significant therapeutic responses, which related to the tumor accumulation and oncolytic activity of Maraba virus coupled with the ability of adenovirus to boost immune responses (Pol et al. 2014). This concept has also been extended to MG1 and Listeria monocytogenes (Aitken et al. 2018). MG1 can

Encoding blocking antibodies, immune stimulatory ligands, cytokines, and/or tumor associated antigens to enhance immune-modulatory functions; and (d) Encoding tumor cytotoxic agents that can induce immunogenic cell death and soluble antigen release

also be engineered to deliver other desired tumor antigens. The strategy has demonstrated activation of dendritic cells and natural killer (NK) cells in preclinical models and human clinical trials are anticipated in the near future (Zhang et al. 2014; Alkayyal et al. 2017).

Toca 511 is a nonlytic murine leukemia virus (MLV) engineered to encode yeast cytosine deaminase, which when expressed results in conversion of the precursor drug 5-flurocytosine (5-FC) to the antineoplastic agent 5-fluorouracil (5-FU) (Perez et al. 2012). This virus preferentially replicates in actively dividing cells making it particularly attractive in targeting melanoma cells. In a study of immunocompetent mice implanted with human brain tumors, infection with Toca 511 following pretreatment with 5-FC led to reduction in tumor burden and a survival advantage (Hiraoka et al. 2017). A unique advantage of this system is the ability of locally produced 5-FU to cross the cell membrane and diffuse to nearby tumor cells that remain uninfected, leading to a pronounced bystander effect. Furthermore, the nonlytic nature of the virus confers a continued reservoir of virus available for ongoing infection of new tumor cells which can be reignited by further rounds of treatment with 5-FC prodrug (Twitty et al. 2016). Further improvements in the therapeutic effectiveness of the Toca 511 virus were observed in a human glioblastoma cell line when viral therapy was combined with radiation treatment (Takahashi et al. 2014).

Other strategies for enhancing the therapeutic potential of oncolytic immunotherapy have relied on mathematical models (Mahasa et al. 2017). These models have considered various factors associated with oncolytic immunotherapy and have suggested new approaches, including lower viral doses with oncolytic viruses may be associated with better production of new virions and higher overall infection rates within a tumor mass. Computational models have also shed light on the possibility of amplifying the antitumor immune response by dual infection with two different oncolytic viruses (Effimie et al. 2011).

Despite these encouraging preclinical results, there are many challenges inherent to current preclinical models. For some viruses, murine models have been complicated by a lack of viral tropism, which may be high in humans but not in rodents. For example, HSV-1 is fairly resistant to infection of murine tumor cells whereas human cells are typically highly sensitive. Likewise, subtle differences in viral entry receptors among tumors and preclinical models may render studies of therapeutic activity and toxicity unreliable. The impact of prior exposure to specific viral agents may also be an important determinant of clinical response, and it is unclear how well animal models can replicate prior viral exposure in humans in order to test therapeutic strategies of oncolytic immunotherapy in the face of preexisting antiviral immunity. Nonetheless, progress in preclinical studies of oncolytic immunotherapy have supported early phase clinical development, which is allowing new insights into how oncolytic immunotherapy can be used in treating melanoma.

#### Clinical Studies of Oncolytic Viruses for Melanoma

Melanoma, with its tendency to form satellite, in transit and subcutaneous metastases in approximately one third of patients, is suitable for study of intratumoral virus delivery. The first oncolytic virus to achieve regulatory approval in the United States was talimogene laherperepvec (T-VEC) for advanced melanoma treatment in 2015. T-VEC was subsequently approved in Europe and Australia as well. T-VEC is administered by injection directly into the tumor. Clinical studies of various oncolytic viruses have used intravenous, intramuscular, intratumoral, and intravesicular approaches. In this section, selected viruses for melanoma and methods for drug delivery will be discussed.

Viral-based vaccines have been administered through a variety of delivery sites, including intradermal, subcutaneous, intramuscular, mucosal, intranodal, and intravenous routes. While there is limited consensus on the optimal delivery approach, considerations include the type of virus, anatomic location of tumor, potential targeting of individual immune elements (i.e., lymph node or tissue resident dendritic cells, tumor cells, mucosal epithelium, endothelium) depending on the presumed mechanism(s) of immune modulation, ease of clinical administration, anticipated safety and shedding potential, and cost. Although viral vaccines used for systemic immunization can be administered through multiple administrative routes, most oncolytic viruses have been restricted to two major delivery pathways, intravenous and intratumoral.

Intravenous (IV) delivery has obvious advantages and disadvantages. First, IV delivery can be used for any patient and is not limited to those with anatomically accessible tumors. Secondly, IV dosing is straightforward – either flat-dose or weight-based dosing can be used. With intratumoral administration, dosing is more complicated because the administered volume is usually adjusted for the size of the tumor, with a larger volume for larger tumors. IV delivery has potential disadvantages, however. The virus may not reach the tumor because of rapid clearance from the circulation through sequestration in the liver and spleen or binding to circulating antibodies or serum proteins. In addition, effective viral delivery to tumor sites may be further decreased by dilution in the peripheral blood compartment. In general, IV-delivered viruses may be associated with a higher incidence and severity of adverse events (AEs). Although there are limited comparative studies of IV vs. IT (intratumoral) administration, the incidence of fevers and other flu-like symptoms were greater following IV administration (Pandha et al. 2017a) appears to be greater compared to intratumoral administration of coxsackievirus CVA21 (Silk et al. 2017).

Intratumoral delivery, including intravesicular administration for bladder cancer, has distinct advantages. First, as mentioned above, there may be less systemic toxicity. There may also be immune advantages. Administering the virus directly into the tumor conveys specificity by promoting a more prominent local inflammatory response, which may increase the presentation of tumor-associated antigens by antigen presenting cells. In this way, intratumoral administration is serving as a personalized in situ vaccination allowing tumor-associated defined antigens, and possibly neoantigens, to achieve optimal processing and presentation (Toda et al. 1999). Some preclinical models demonstrate that intratumoral administration of immune stimulants may be more effective than systemic administration (Sagiv-Barfi et al. 2018).

#### Talimogene Laherparepvec

Talimogene laherparepvec (T-VEC) is an attenuated herpes simplex virus type 1 (HSV-1) encoding human granulocyte-macrophage colony stimulating factor (GM-CSF). GM-CSF recruits and activates antigen presenting cells which can process and present tumor-derived antigens to promote effector T cell responses. Normal cells are able to protect against T-VEC infection as they have intact antiviral defense mechanisms, and T-VEC will undergo an aborted infection in normal cells. In contrast, cancer cells are susceptible to lysis following infection. T-VEC has been further modified by functional deletion of two nonessential viral genes – ICP34.5 that encodes the neurovirulence factor and ICP47 that encodes a viral protein that blocks peptide loading onto MHC class I complexes. The deletions of ICP34.5 and ICP47 allow selective replication in tumor tissue and prevent inhibition of antigen processing and presentation, respectively.

In a phase II study of 50 patients with advanced melanoma, an initial objective response rate of 26% was reported with adverse events largely consisting of low-grade constitutional symptoms and local injection site reactions (Senzer et al. 2009). Notably, responses were durable, some lasting at least 2 years. Activity was evident in injected lesions as well as those not directly injected, suggestive of an anenestic effect (Marabelle et al. 2018). This was followed by a prospectively randomized phase III study known as OPTiM which became the first study of an oncolytic immunotherapy to demonstrate a statistically significant benefit for the treatment of melanoma (Andtbacka et al. 2015). In this open-label study, T-VEC was compared with recombinant GM-CSF in 436 patients with unresectable stage IIIB, IIIC, and IV melanoma. Patients were assigned in a 2:1 randomization to receive intratumoral T-VEC or subcutaneous recombinant GM-CSF. The primary endpoint was durable response rate, defined as a response initiating within the first 12 months of therapy and lasting at least 6 months. Analysis of efficacy demonstrated that durable response rate was significantly higher in the T-VEC arm compared with the GM-CSF arm (16.3% vs. 2.1%, p < 0.001). In addition, an improvement in objective response rate (26.4% vs. 5.7) and the median overall survival was 23.3 months in the T-VEC arm compared with 18.9 months in the control arm, which approached but did not cross the significance threshold (hazard ratio 0.79, p = 0.051) on initial analysis. The greatest benefits were seen in

patients with less advanced disease. In a subset analysis of patients with IIIB, IIIC, or IVM1a disease versus M1b/c, overall survival was significantly improved (hazard ratio 0.57, p < 0.001). With further follow-up at a median of 49 months, the median OS for T-VEC was 24.5 months compared to 18.9 months for patients in the GM-CSF arm (HR, 0.78; 95% CI, 0.61–0.99; P = 0.0439) (PMID:pending). Thus, OPTiM serves as a proof of concept for oncolytic viral immunotherapy in melanoma and led to the FDA and EMA approval of T-VEC.

Overall, most adverse events (AEs) reported in subjects administered with T-VEC were mild. In the phase III study, the three most frequent AEs observed in the T-VEC group were fatigue (36.2% GM-CSF, 50.3% T-VEC), chills (8.7%, 48.6%), and pyrexia (8.7%, 42.8%). The only grade 3 or 4 adverse event that occurred in more than 2% of patients was cellulitis, which occurred in 2.1% of T-VEC treated patients. There were no treatment-related deaths in the phase III trial (Andtbacka et al. 2015).

T-VEC works better locally then it works systemically. In a lesion-by-lesion analysis of the phase III patient data, injected tumors were more likely to respond and responded more quickly compared with uninjected visceral metastases (Kaufman et al. 2016). Among lesions directly injected with T-VEC, 86/128 (67.2%) responded, including 59/128 (46.1%) completely resolved. Among uninjected nonvisceral lesions, 60/146 (41.1%) responded, including 44/146 (30.1%) which completely resolved. While the response rate in injected and uninjected nonvisceral lesions was impressive, the response rate in visceral lesions was poor. Four out of 32 (12.5%) responded, with only 3/32 (9.4%) complete responses. The median time to response in injected tumors versus visceral uninjected tumors was 18.4 versus 51.3 weeks, respectively.

To optimize the systemic activity of T-VEC, combination approaches with immune checkpoint inhibitors have been under clinical development. In a study of advanced melanoma patients treated with T-VEC and ipilimumab, the initial response rate was 39% compared to 18% with ipilimumab alone (Chesney et al. 2018). In a phase I study

of T-VEC and systemic pembrolizumab in 21 patients, responses were seen in 62% of the patients with a 33% complete response rate. Although the number of patients was small, responses were observed even in tumors with low PD-L1 expression and low interferon-gamma gene expression signatures, suggesting that T-VEC can introduce inflammation into a "cold" tumor, priming it for response to immune checkpoint blockade (Ribas et al. 2017b). This approach is currently being tested in a large randomized phase III study that has fully accrued over 700 melanoma patients, but results are not yet available.

#### Coxsackievirus

Coxsackievirus A21 (CVA21) is a naturally occurring strain of coxsackievirus, a single stranded RNA virus. The CVA21 strain was bio selected for its oncolytic properties and has been studied for the past 7 years using both intravenous and intratumoral approaches in multiple tumor types, especially melanoma. In a phase I study, advanced melanoma patients were treated with IV coxsackievirus A21 (Pandha et al. 2017b). Post-treatment tumor samples demonstrated an increase in CD8+ T cell infiltration and an increase in PD-L1 expression. Follow-up studies in melanomas are pairing intratumoral CVA21 with systemic ipilimumab (Curti et al. 2017) and with systemic pembrolizumab (Silk et al. 2017). Common adverse events (>10%)were injection site pain, pyrexia, fatigue, chills, myalgia, and headache. There have been no reports of myocarditis or pericarditis.

#### Rigvir

Rigvir, a wild type ECHO-7 virus, was first approved in Latvia in 2004 and was tested in melanoma and other solid tumors (Alberts et al. 2018). Rigvir was administered after surgical resection of early stage melanoma with multiple intramuscular doses over three years (Donina et al. 2015). The study was not well done and lacked a control group, so the treatment group was compared to a retrospective cohort of melanoma patients. The Rigvir virus did not garner much support outside of Latvia until it was approved by the country of Georgia in 2015 and later in several other Eastern European countries.

#### Adenoviruses

Multiple types of recombinant adenoviruses have been tested against melanomas including a serotype 5/3 chimeric adenovirus encoding GM-CSF, which was tested in nine melanoma patients with activity in at least one patient (Bramante et al. 2015). In another phase I study, an adenovirus engineered to express IL-12 under the control of an oral activator ligand, Ad-RTS-hIL-12 showed clinical activity in five of seven patients treated by intratumoral injection (Linette et al. 2013). Serum levels of IL-12 and IFN- $\gamma$  increased with treatment and absolute numbers of CD3+ and CD8+ T cells increased sevenfold.

#### Clinical Studies of Other Viral Therapies for Melanoma

#### Viral Delivery of Defined Melanoma Antigens

In contrast to oncolytic viruses which generate tumor-specific immune response by exposing tumor-derived soluble antigens after lysis and promoting a proinflammatory tumor microenvironment, viruses can also be used to generate systemic immunogenicity through expressing defined antigens or delivery of immunomodulatory genes into the tumor microenvironment. Large DNA viruses, such as vaccinia and HSV viruses, can be engineered with multiple payload transgenes for cancer immunization (Kaufman et al. 2005). An example of this is a recombinant UV-inactivated vaccinia virus expressing five engineered genes, including three HLA-A0201restricted tumor-associated epitopes (Melan-A/ MART-1₂₇₋₃₅, gp100₂₈₀₋₂₈₈, and tyrosinase₁₋₉),

as well as two costimulatory proteins, CD80 and CD86 (Zajac et al. 2003). This virus was tested intradermally in a phase I/II trial in melanoma patients without clinically significant toxicity. The authors observed regression of individual metastases in 3 of 18 patients. In the peripheral blood, 43% of subjects with stage III melanoma demonstrated induction of cytotoxic T lymphocytes specific for all three epitopes; however, none of the three subjects with stage IV disease demonstrated a response to the desired epitopes. The same viral construct was tested intranodally in a follow-up study, again in melanoma patients (Adamina et al. 2010). The vaccine was immunogenic, but the clinical activity was still very modest, so there does not appear to be an advantage to intranodal injection over intradermal. Although there have not been any large phase III studies to date, the recombinant DNA viral constructs are versatile and promising, and studies are ongoing in melanoma and other solid tumors.

A vaccinia virus engineered to express the B7.1 (CD80) costimulatory molecule was tested in a small phase 1 trial in patients with melanoma (Kaufman et al. 2005). The virus was injected intratumorally to induce tumor lysis and release of antigen in the context of local B7.1 cell surface expression to provide additional costimulation for responding T cells. Treatment was associated with low grade fever, fatigue, and myalgias. Although the sample size was small, of 12 patients treated, two had disease stabilization and one had a complete response that was ongoing at 59 months following injection. Treatment effects correlated with the appearance of memory gp100- and MART-1-specific CD8+ T cells and local accumulation of CD8+ T cells and interferon-y. To improve upon these outcomes, a vaccinia virus encoding three costimulatory molecules, including B7.1, ICAM-1, and LFA-3, was generated and tested in a similar phase I study (Kaufman et al. 2006). A similar adverse event profile was seen with mild fatigue and myalgias being the most common effects observed. In addition, one patient developed post-treatment autoimmune vitiligo. There was a 30.7% objective response rate with one patient achieving a complete response that was ongoing at 22 months.

#### Virus-Engineered Dendritic Cells

Viral-based vaccines have also been introduced into cell products as another strategy to avoid neutralization in the systemic circulation and enhance the induction of antitumor immunity. Retroviruses have the ability to transfer engineered genes into critical antigen presenting cells, such as dendritic cells. Successful transduction of dendritic cells with a lentivirus that expresses MAGE-A3 has been accomplished in the laboratory (Lin et al. 2014). Clinical studies using dendritic cells with engineered viruses and with personalized neoantigens are underway. In addition, various nanodelivery techniques are also in development for optimizing tumor delivery of oncolytic and nononcolytic virus particles (Badrinath et al. 2018).

#### Safety, Biosafety, and Logistical Issues Related to Viral Therapies

As a new class of anticancer agents, viruses pose several unique challenges with respect to safety and side effect management as well as biosafety and logistical issues when integrating viral treatment into busy ambulatory clinics. Table 1 lists the adverse events associated with viral-based therapeutics and provides guidelines for initial management. To date, most viral-based therapeutics have exhibited tolerable safety profiles with adverse events largely consisting of low-grade generalized constitutional symptoms, such as fatigue, fever, chills, anorexia, and myalgias. These are often preventable with early use of analgesics and antipyretics, such as acetaminophen. Oncolytic viruses have also been associated with low-grade injection site reactions, which may include localized pain, tenderness, warmth, and erythema at sites of injection that begin around 6-12 h after injection and may last 24-72 h. Such reactions may respond to local cold compresses and analgesics. In cases where erythema and tenderness do not recede, work-up for secondary bacterial cellulitis may be indicated. In general, clinically symptomatic viremia has not been observed even in patients with advanced

malignancies. Many viruses retain sensitivity to antiviral agents, such as acyclovir, but this depends on the individual virus and physicians using viral agents should be aware of the antiviral sensitivity profile of individual viruses. Although contact transmission to close household contacts is possible, no such cases have been reported for viral-based therapeutics. In the event of such transmission, infected individuals should be closely monitored, and if symptoms develop, antiviral medications can be used. In some cases where viruses are resistant to antiviral medications or systemic viremia is present, treatment with immune globulin may be useful (Wittek 2006).

While patient safety has not been a significant issue with viral-based therapeutics, additional attention to biosafety is necessary since most of the viruses retain replicative ability and could theoretically be transmitted from patients or materials contaminated with drug to other people, such as healthcare providers or household contacts, or into the environment. To date, there have been several cases of viral transmission to healthcare workers, but no evidence has emerged for transmission to close household contacts or into the environment (Lewis et al. 2006). In the case of accidental exposure, antiviral medications, such as acyclovir, may be appropriate if the virus retains sensitivity to treatment, as is the case for most herpes viruses. Alternatively, immune globulin may be indicated for treatment of viremia with some viruses, such as vaccinia virus. Because of the small but real risk to healthcare providers preparing viral products, injecting virus, or working with viruses in the laboratory, strict adherence to standard universal precautions and practices designed to avoid needlestick injuries should be utilized. A formal educational training program may also be helpful. Healthcare providers with immunosuppressive conditions, including pregnancy, should probably not work directly with viruses. A plan for rapid assessment and initiation of prophylactic treatment following exposure should also be implemented at sites using viral-based therapeutics.

In addition to following standard operating procedures for use of oncolytic viruses, attention

Adverse event	Incidence	Management
<b>Constitutional symptoms</b> Fatigue	Common	Mild analgesics, such as acetaminophen; usually self-limited to 24–48 h
Fever		
Chills		
Myalgias		
Gastrointestinal	Common	Usually mild, consider antiemetics if persistent
complaints		
Nausea		
Vomiting		
Local reactions	Common	Cold compresses, analgesics
Injection site pain		Consider bacterial cellulitis if not resolved within 48-72 h
Tenderness		
Erythema		
Injection site cellulitis	Rare	Cultures, IV antibiotics
Viremia	Very rare	Antiviral medications, if sensitive
		Immune globulin
Contact transmission	Not	Antiviral prophylaxis, if sensitive
	reported	

 Table 1
 Adverse events associated with viral-based therapies and management guidelines

to proper drug administration, injection site management, and waste disposal is important. Most oncolytic viruses are neutralized by 10% bleach solution and this can be used to clean spills and disinfect patient areas following exposure to viral products, although confirmation of effective disinfectant practices should be sought for individual viral strains. Proper management of injection sites includes washing the area prior to injection with an aseptic solution, such as alcohol wipes or betadine solution. Following injection and withdrawal of the needle, the site injected should be covered with a small dry gauze and an occlusive bandage, such as Tegaderm[™]. Prior studies have shown Tegaderm[™] is an effective barrier to viral penetration. In addition, patient education to wash hands before and after dressing changes is helpful. Patients can be given instructions for placing soiled dressings in a small biohazard plastic bag for return to the institution or appropriate disposal and provided with fresh dressing materials should a change be necessary. Depending on the expected persistence of the virus, sites should be dressed up until the risk of continued virus is minimal, usually around 5-7 days. Most viral waste can be disposed of in biohazard waste receptacles or biohazard sharp containers for needles or other sharp objects.

In addition to establishing standard procedures for dealing with biosafety issues, the implementation of an oncolytic virus or viral-based therapeutic program requires logistical considerations for most ambulatory clinics. There are numerous guidelines that have been published providing recommendations for establishing such clinics (Harrington et al. 2017; Collichio et al. 2018; Larson et al. 2018). Since patients may require tumor measurements prior to defining the injection volume on any given treatment day, establishing clinic flow that allows for rapid patient assessment prior to drug preparation and delivery can allow an efficient clinic experience for patients and staff. A single room on specific days can be dedicated to viral injections and terminal cleaning with 10% bleach solution or other appropriate disinfectant can be completed at the end of the treatment visit. We have found that a cart dedicated to oncolytic virus administration, which contains gowns, gloves, masks, eye protection, gauze, bandages, and solid and sharp biohazard waste receptacles, is helpful and can be moved from room to room if a dedicated area is not available. Additional education on infection control procedures and injection technique for healthcare providers can also minimize anxiety and confusion related to caring for patients undergoing viral-based therapy. Finally, as some studies are now exploring image-guided delivery of viral products, similar logistical implementation can be utilized for interventional radiology suites.

# Conclusions and Future Directions in Viral Therapies for Melanoma

Viruses are versatile genetic agents that can be harnessed for therapeutic purposes in the treatment of cancer. The use of the native ability of viruses to induce host innate and adaptive immunity can be utilized to target cancer through expression of tumor-associated antigens and through induction of immunogenic cell death by oncolytic virus infection of tumor cells. The approach has now been clinically validated in melanoma with the approval of intratumoral talimogene laherparepvec, an oncolytic HSV-1 virus encoding GM-CSF. While many viruses are under clinical development for melanoma and other cancers, progress in expanding the immunogenic potential of oncolytic viruses is being supported by combination studies with immune checkpoint inhibitors with early data showing additive, if not even synergistic, activity. Given these preliminary data and the tolerable safety profile demonstrated with most viral therapeutics, additional combination studies of oncolytic viruses and other immunotherapy agents, cytotoxic chemotherapy, targeted therapy, and radiation therapy are high priorities for clinical translation.

Although the first oncolytic virus has been approved for the treatment of melanoma, there is little information on the optimal dosing, schedule, and sequencing of oncolytic viruses or viral vaccines in the management of patients with cancer. Viruses are well suited for neoadjuvant treatment and this may be another important setting to develop virus-based therapeutics. Similar to other immuno-oncology agents, the identification of predictive biomarkers of oncolytic virus therapy is a critical unmet need, which could help identify which patients will benefit from such treatment and could help guide personalized combination approaches. The importance of tumor neoantigens has been recently stressed in immunotherapy treatment (Schumacher and Schreiber 2015), and viruses are well positioned as a platform to encode individual patient tumorderived neoantigens, or alternatively using oncolytic viruses to provide an in situ source of neoantigen release. Although viruses are best known as human pathogens, an improved understanding of the molecular virology and tumor immunology has resulted in the ability to utilize viruses as therapeutic agents for the treatment of cancer, and this appears to be especially potent for patients with melanoma.

#### References

- Adamina M, Rosenthal R, Weber WP, Frey DM, Viehl CT, Bolli M, Huegli RW, Jacob AL, Heberer M, Oertli D, Marti W, Spagnoli GC, Zajac P (2010) Intranodal immunization with a vaccinia virus encoding multiple antigenic epitopes and costimulatory molecules in metastatic melanoma. Mol Ther 18:651–659
- Aitken AS, Roy DG, Martin NT, Sad S, Bell JC, Bourgeois-Daigneault MC (2018) Brief communication; a heterologous oncolytic bacteria-virus primeboost approach for anticancer vaccination in mice. J Immunother 41:125–129
- Alberts P, Tilgase A, Rasa A, Bandere K, Venskus D (2018) The advent of oncolytic virotherapy in oncology: the Rigvir(R) story. Eur J Pharmacol 837:117–126
- Alkayyal AA, Tai LH, Kennedy MA, de Souza CT, Zhang J, Lefebvre C, Sahi S, Ananth AA, Mahmoud AB, Makrigiannis AP, Cron GO, Macdonald B, Marginean EC, Stojdl DF, Bell JC, Auer RC (2017) NK-cell recruitment is necessary for eradication of peritoneal carcinomatosis with an IL12expressing maraba virus cellular vaccine. Cancer Immunol Res 5:211–221
- Anderson KV, Bokla L, Nusslein-Volhard C (1985) Establishment of dorsal-ventral polarity in the Drosophila embryo: the induction of polarity by the toll gene product. Cell 42:791–798
- Andtbacka RH, Kaufman HL, Collichio F, Amatruda T, Senzer N, Chesney J, Delman KA, Spitler LE, Puzanov I, Agarwala SS, Milhem M, Cranmer L, Curti B, Lewis K, Ross M, Guthrie T, Linette GP, Daniels GA, Harrington K, Middleton MR, Miller WH Jr, Zager JS, Ye Y, Yao B, Li A, Doleman S, VanderWalde A, Gansert J, Coffin RS (2015) Talimogene laherparepvec improves durable response rate in patients with advanced melanoma. J Clin Oncol 33:2780–2788
- Anthony SJ, Epstein JH, Murray KA, Navarrete-Macias I, Zambrana-Torrelio CM, Solovyov A, Ojeda-Flores R, Arrigo NC, Islam A, Ali Khan S, Hosseini P, Bogich TL, Olival KJ, Sanchez-Leon MD,

Karesh WB, Goldstein T, Luby SP, Morse SS, Mazet JA, Daszak P, Lipkin WI (2013) A strategy to estimate unknown viral diversity in mammals. MBio 4: e00598–e00513

- Badrinath N, Jeong YI, Woo HY, Bang SY, Kim C, Heo J, Kang DH, Yoo SY (2018) Local delivery of a cancerfavoring oncolytic vaccinia virus via poly (lactic-coglycolic acid) nanofiber for theranostic purposes. Int J Pharm 552:437–442
- Bommareddy PK, Patel A, Hossain S, Kaufman HL (2017) Talimogene laherparepvec (T-VEC) and other oncolytic viruses for the treatment of melanoma. Am J Clin Dermatol 18:1–15
- Bommareddy PK, Shettigar M, Kaufman HL (2018) Integrating oncolytic viruses in combination cancer immunotherapy. Nat Rev Immunol 18:498–513
- Bramante S, Kaufmann JK, Veckman V, Liikanen I, Nettelbeck DM, Hemminki O, Vassilev L, Cerullo V, Oksanen M, Heiskanen R, Joensuu T, Kanerva A, Pesonen S, Matikainen S, Vähä-Koskela M, Koski A, Hemminki A (2015) Treatment of melanoma with a serotype 5/3 chimeric oncolytic adenovirus coding for GM-CSF: results in vitro, in rodents and in humans. Int J Cancer 137:1775–1783
- Cassady KA, Gross M (2002) The herpes simplex virus type 1 U(S)11 protein interacts with protein kinase R in infected cells and requires a 30-amino-acid sequence adjacent to a kinase substrate domain. J Virol 76:2029–2035
- Chesney J, Puzanov I, Collichio F, Singh P, Milhem MM, Glaspy J, Hamid O, Ross M, Friedlander P, Garbe C, Logan TF, Hauschild A, Lebbé C, Chen L, Kim JJ, Gansert J, Andtbacka RHI, Kaufman HL (2018) Randomized, open-label phase II study evaluating the efficacy and safety of talimogene laherparepvec in combination with Ipilimumab versus Ipilimumab alone in patients with advanced, unresectable melanoma. J Clin Oncol 36:1658–1667
- Collichio F, Burke L, Proctor A, Wallack D, Collichio A, Long PK, Ollila DW (2018) Implementing a program of talimogene laherparepvec. Ann Surg Oncol 25:1828–1835
- Corrales L, Glickman LH, McWhirter SM, Kanne DB, Sivick KE, Katibah GE, Woo SR, Lemmens E, Banda T, Leong JJ, Metchette K, Dubensky TW Jr, Gajewski TF (2015) Direct activation of STING in the tumor microenvironment leads to potent and systemic tumor regression and immunity. Cell Rep 11:1018–1030
- Corrales L, McWhirter SM, Dubensky TW Jr, Gajewski TF (2016) The host STING pathway at the interface of cancer and immunity. J Clin Invest 126:2404–2411
- Corrales L, Matson V, Flood B, Spranger S, Gajewski TF (2017) Innate immune signaling and regulation in cancer immunotherapy. Cell Res 27:96–108
- Curti B, Richards J, Hallmeyer S, Faries M, Andtbacka R, Daniels G, Grose M, Shafren DR (2017) Abstract CT114: the MITCI (phase 1b) study: a novel immunotherapy combination of intralesional Coxsackievirus A21 and systemic ipilimumab in advanced melanoma

patients with or without previous immune checkpoint therapy treatment. Cancer Res 77:CT114-CT

- Donina S, Strele I, Proboka G, Auzinš J, Alberts P, Jonsson B, Venskus D, Muceniece A (2015) Adapted ECHO-7 virus Rigvir immunotherapy (oncolytic virotherapy) prolongs survival in melanoma patients after surgical excision of the tumour in a retrospective study. Melanoma Res 25:421–426
- Duggan MC, Jochems C, Donahue RN, Richards J, Karpa V, Foust E, Paul B, Brooks T, Tridandapani S, Olencki T, Pan X, Lesinski GB, Schlom J, Carson Iii WE (2016) A phase I study of recombinant (r) vaccinia-CEA(6D)-TRICOM and rFowlpox-CEA (6D)-TRICOM vaccines with GM-CSF and IFN-alpha-2b in patients with CEA-expressing carcinomas. Cancer Immunol Immunother 65:1353–1364
- Eftimie R, Dushoff J, Bridle BW, Bramson JL, Earn DJ (2011) Multi-stability and multi-instability phenomena in a mathematical model of tumor-immune-virus interactions. Bull Math Biol 73:2932–2961
- Galluzzi L, Buque A, Kepp O, Zitvogel L, Kroemer G (2017) Immunogenic cell death in cancer and infectious disease. Nat Rev Immunol 17:97–111
- Galocha B, Hill A, Barnett BC, Dolan A, Raimondi A, Cook RF, Brunner J, McGeoch DJ, Ploegh HL (1997) The active site of ICP47, a herpes simplex virusencoded inhibitor of the major histocompatibility complex (MHC)-encoded peptide transporter associated with antigen processing (TAP), maps to the NH2-terminal 35 residues. J Exp Med 185:1565–1572
- Gnjatic S, Sawhney NB, Bhardwaj N (2010) Toll-like receptor agonists: are they good adjuvants? Cancer J 16:382–391
- Harrington KJ, Michielin O, Malvehy J, Pezzani Gruter I, Grove L, Frauchiger AL, Dummer R (2017) A practical guide to the handling and administration of talimogene laherparepvec in Europe. Onco Targets Ther 10:3867–3880
- Hiraoka K, Inagaki A, Kato Y, Huang TT, Mitchell LA, Kamijima S, Takahashi M, Matsumoto H, Hacke K, Kruse CA, Ostertag D, Robbins JM, Gruber HE, Jolly DJ, Kasahara N (2017) Retroviral replicating vector-mediated gene therapy achieves long-term control of tumor recurrence and leads to durable anticancer immunity. Neuro-Oncology 19:918–929
- Kaufman H, Schlom J, Kantor J (1991) A recombinant vaccinia virus expressing human carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA). Int J Cancer 48:900–907
- Kaufman HL, Flanagan K, Lee CS, Perretta DJ, Horig H (2002) Insertion of interleukin-2 (IL-2) and interleukin-12 (IL-12) genes into vaccinia virus results in effective anti-tumor responses without toxicity. Vaccine 20:1862–1869
- Kaufman HL, DeRaffele G, Mitcham J, Moroziewicz D, Cohen SM, Hurst-Wicker KS, Cheung K, Lee DS, Divito J, Voulo M, Donovan J, Dolan K, Manson K, Panicali D, Wang E, Hörig H, Marincola FM (2005) Targeting the local tumor microenvironment with vaccinia virus expressing B7.1 for the treatment of melanoma. J Clin Investig 115:1903–1912

- Kaufman HL, Cohen S, Cheung K, DeRaffele G, Mitcham J, Moroziewicz D, Schlom J, Hesdorffer C (2006) Local delivery of vaccinia virus expressing multiple costimulatory molecules for the treatment of established tumors. Hum Gene Ther 17:239–244
- Kaufman HL, Kohlhapp FJ, Zloza A (2015) Oncolytic viruses: a new class of immunotherapy drugs. Nat Rev Drug Discov 14:642–662
- Kaufman HL, Amatruda T, Reid T, Gonzalez R, Glaspy J, Whitman E, Harrington K, Nemunaitis J, Zloza A, Wolf M, Senzer NN (2016) Systemic versus local responses in melanoma patients treated with talimogene laherparepvec from a multi-institutional phase II study. J Immunother Cancer 4:12
- Komorowski MP, McGray AR, Kolakowska A, Eng K, Gil M, Opyrchal M, Litwinska B, Nemeth MJ, Odunsi KO, Kozbor D (2016) Reprogramming antitumor immunity against chemoresistant ovarian cancer by a CXCR4 antagonist-armed viral oncotherapy. Mol Ther Oncol 3:16034
- Larson C, Oronsky B, Varner G, Caroen S, Burbano E, Insel E, Hedjran F, Carter CA, Reid TR (2018) A practical guide to the handling and administration of personalized transcriptionally attenuated oncolytic adenoviruses (PTAVs). Oncoimmunology 7:e1478648
- Lewis FM, Chernak E, Goldman E, Li Y, Karem K, Damon IK, Henkel R, Newbern EC, Ross P, Johnson CC (2006) Ocular vaccinia infection in laboratory worker, Philadelphia, 2004. Emerg Infect Dis 12:134–137
- Lin L, Wei J, Chen Y, Huang A, Li KK-W, Zhang W (2014) Induction of antigen-specific immune responses by dendritic cells transduced with a recombinant lentiviral vector encoding MAGE-A3 gene. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol 140:281–289
- Linette GP, Hamid O, Whitman ED, Nemunaitis JJ, Chesney J, Agarwala SS, Starodub A, Barrett JA, Marsh A, Martell LA, Cho A, Reed TD, Youssoufian H, Vergara-Silva A (2013) A phase I open-label study of ad-RTS-hIL-12, an adenoviral vector engineered to express hIL-12 under the control of an oral activator ligand, in subjects with unresectable stage III/IV melanoma. J Clin Oncol 31:3022
- Mahasa KJ, Eladdadi A, de Pillis L, Ouifki R (2017) Oncolytic potency and reduced virus tumor-specificity in oncolytic virotherapy. A mathematical modelling approach. PLoS One 12:e0184347
- Marabelle A, Andtbacka R, Harrington K, Melero I, Leidner R, de Baere T, Robert C, Ascierto PA, Baurain JF, Imperiale M, Rahimian S, Tersago D, Klumper E, Hendriks M, Kumar R, Stern M, Ohrling K, Massacesi C, Tchakov I, Tse A, Douillard JY, Tabernero J, Haanen J, Brody J (2018) Starting the fight in the tumor: expert recommendations for the development of human intratumoral immunotherapy (HIT-IT). Ann Oncol 29:2163
- McAneny D, Ryan CA, Beazley RM, Kaufman HL (1996) Results of a phase I trial of a recombinant vaccinia virus that expresses carcinoembryonic antigen in patients

with advanced colorectal cancer. Ann Surg Oncol 3:495-500

- Nishio N, Diaconu I, Liu H, Cerullo V, Caruana I, Hoyos V, Bouchier-Hayes L, Savoldo B, Dotti G (2014) Armed oncolytic virus enhances immune functions of chimeric antigen receptor-modified T cells in solid tumors. Cancer Res 74:5195–5205
- Ottolino-Perry K, Diallo JS, Lichty BD, Bell JC, McCart JA (2010) Intelligent design: combination therapy with oncolytic viruses. Mol Ther 18:251–263
- Pandha H, Harrington K, Ralph C, Melcher A, Gupta S, Akerley W, Sandborn RE, Rudin C, Rosenberg J, Kaufman D, Schmidt E, Grose M, Shafren DR (2017a) Abstract CT115: phase 1b KEYNOTE 200 (STORM study): a study of an intravenously delivered oncolytic virus, Coxsackievirus A21 in combination with pembrolizumab in advanced cancer patients. Cancer Res 77:CT115-CT
- Pandha HS, Ralph C, Harrington K, Curti BD, Sanborn RE, Akerley WL, Gupta S, Rudin CM, Rosenberg JE, Kaufman DR, Schmidt EV, Grose M, Shafren D (2017b) Keynote-200 phase 1b: a novel combination study of intravenously delivered coxsackievirus A21 and pembrolizumab in advanced cancer patients. J Clin Oncol 35:TPS3108-TPS
- Pelka P, Miller MS, Cecchini M, Yousef AF, Bowdish DM, Dick F, Whyte P, Mymryk JS (2011) Adenovirus E1A directly targets the E2F/DP-1 complex. J Virol 85:8841–8851
- Pelner L, Fowler GA, Nauts HC (1958) Effects of concurrent infections and their toxins on the course of leukemia. Acta Medica Scand Suppl 338:1–47
- Perez OD, Logg CR, Hiraoka K, Diago O, Burnett R, Inagaki A, Jolson D, Amundson K, Buckley T, Lohse D, Lin A, Burrascano C, Ibanez C, Kasahara N, Gruber HE, Jolly DJ (2012) Design and selection of Toca 511 for clinical use: modified retroviral replicating vector with improved stability and gene expression. Mol Ther 20:1689–1698
- Pol JG, Zhang L, Bridle BW, Stephenson KB, Resseguier J, Hanson S, Chen L, Kazdhan N, Bramson JL, Stojdl DF, Wan Y, Lichty BD (2014) Maraba virus as a potent oncolytic vaccine vector. Mol Ther 22:420–429
- Pol JG, SAA BY, Tang N, Stephenson KB, Atherton MJ, Hanwell D, El-Warrak A, Goldstein A, Moloo B, Turner PV, Lopez R, LaFrance S, Evelegh C, Denisova G, Parsons R, Millar J, Stoll G, Martin CG, Pomoransky J, Breitbach CJ, Bramson JL, Bell JC, Wan Y, Stojdl DF, Lichty BD, McCart JA (2018) Preclinical evaluation of a MAGE-A3 vaccination utilizing the oncolytic Maraba virus currently in first-inhuman trials. OncoImmunology 19:8(1):e1512329.
- Riaz N, Havel JJ, Makarov V, Desrichard A, Urba WJ, Sims JS, Hodi FS, Martin-Algarra S, Mandal R, Sharfman WH, Bhatia S, Hwu WJ, Gajewski TF, Slingluff CL Jr, Chowell D, Kendall SM, Chang H, Shah R, Kuo F, Morris LGT, Sidhom JW, Schneck JP, Horak CE, Weinhold N, Chan TA (2017) Tumor and

microenvironment evolution during immunotherapy with nivolumab. Cell 171:934–49.e16

- Ribas A, Dummer R, Puzanov I, Vander Walde A, Andtbacka RHI, Michielin O, Olszanski AJ, Malvehy J, Cebon J, Fernandez E, Kirkwood JM, Gajewski TF, Chen L, Gorski KS, Anderson AA, Diede SJ, Lassman ME, Gansert J, Hodi FS, Long GV (2017a) Oncolytic virotherapy promotes intratumoral T cell infiltration and improves anti-PD-1 immunotherapy. Cell 170:1109–19.e10
- Ribas A, Dummer R, Puzanov I, VanderWalde A, Andtbacka RHI, Michielin O, Olszanski AJ, Malvehy J, Cebon J, Fernandez E, Kirkwood JM, Gajewski TF, Chen L, Gorski KS, Anderson AA, Diede SJ, Lassman ME, Gansert J, Hodi FS, Long GV (2017b) Oncolytic virotherapy promotes intratumoral T cell infiltration and improves anti-PD-1 immunotherapy. Cell 170:1109–19.e10
- Roulstone V, Pedersen M, Kyula J, Mansfield D, Khan AA, McEntee G, Wilkinson M, Karapanagiotou E, Coffey M, Marais R, Jebar A, Errington-Mais F, Melcher A, Vile R, Pandha H, McLaughlin M, Harrington KJ (2015) BRAF- and MEK-targeted small molecule inhibitors exert enhanced antimelanoma effects in combination with oncolytic reovirus through ER stress. Mol Ther 23:931–942
- Sagiv-Barfi I, Czerwinski DK, Levy S, Alam IS, Mayer AT, Gambhir SS, Levy R (2018) Eradication of spontaneous malignancy by local immunotherapy. Sci Transl Med 10. https://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed. aan4488
- Salaun B, Lebecque S, Matikainen S, Rimoldi D, Romero P (2007) Toll-like receptor 3 expressed by melanoma cells as a target for therapy? Clin Cancer Res 13:4565–4574
- Savontaus MJ, Sauter BV, Huang TG, Woo SL (2002) Transcriptional targeting of conditionally replicating adenovirus to dividing endothelial cells. Gene Ther 9:972–979
- Schumacher TN, Schreiber RD (2015) Neoantigens in cancer immunotherapy. Science 348:69–74
- Senzer NN, Kaufman HL, Amatruda T, Nemunaitis M, Reid T, Daniels G, Gonzalez R, Glaspy J, Whitman E, Harrington K, Goldsweig H, Marshall T, Love C, Coffin R, Nemunaitis JJ (2009) Phase II clinical trial of a granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor–encoding, second-generation oncolytic herpesvirus in patients with unresectable metastatic melanoma. J Clin Oncol 27:5763–5771
- Sick E, Jeanne A, Schneider C, Dedieu S, Takeda K, Martiny L (2012) CD47 update: a multifaceted actor in the tumour microenvironment of potential therapeutic interest. Br J Pharmacol 167:1415–1430
- Silk AW, Kaufman H, Gabrail N, Mehnert J, Bryan J, Norrell J, Medina D, Bommareddy P, Shafren D,

Grose M, Zloza A (2017) Abstract CT026: phase lb study of intratumoral Coxsackievirus A21 (CVA21) and systemic pembrolizumab in advanced melanoma patients: interim results of the CAPRA clinical trial. Cancer Res 77:CT026-CT

- Symons JA, Alcami A, Smith GL (1995) Vaccinia virus encodes a soluble type I interferon receptor of novel structure and broad species specificity. Cell 81:551–560
- Takahashi M, Valdes G, Hiraoka K, Inagaki A, Kamijima S, Micewicz E, Gruber HE, Robbins JM, Jolly DJ, McBride WH, Iwamoto KS, Kasahara N (2014) Radiosensitization of gliomas by intracellular generation of 5-fluorouracil potentiates prodrug activator gene therapy with a retroviral replicating vector. Cancer Gene Ther 21:405–410
- Toda M, Rabkin SD, Kojima H, Martuza RL (1999) Herpes simplex virus as an in situ cancer vaccine for the induction of specific anti-tumor immunity. Hum Gene Ther 10:385–393
- Tuve S, Wang H, Ware C, Liu Y, Gaggar A, Bernt K, Shayakhmetov D, Li Z, Strauss R, Stone D, Lieber A (2006) A new group B adenovirus receptor is expressed at high levels on human stem and tumor cells. J Virol 80:12109–12120
- Twitty CG, Diago OR, Hogan DJ, Burrascano C, Ibanez CE, Jolly DJ, Ostertag D (2016) Retroviral replicating vectors deliver cytosine deaminase leading to targeted 5-fluorouracil-mediated cytotoxicity in multiple human cancer types. Hum Gene Ther Methods 27:17–31
- Wittek R (2006) Vaccinia immune globulin: current policies, preparedness, and product safety and efficacy. Int J Infect Dis 10:193–201
- Zafar S, Parviainen S, Siurala M, Hemminki O, Havunen R, Tahtinen S, Bramante S, Vassilev L, Wang H, Lieber A, Hemmi S, de Gruijl T, Kanerva A, Hemminki A (2017) Intravenously usable fully serotype 3 oncolytic adenovirus coding for CD40L as an enabler of dendritic cell therapy. Oncoimmunology 6:e1265717
- Zajac P, Oertli D, Marti W, Adamina M, Bolli M, Guller U, Noppen C, Padovan E, Schultz-Thater E, Heberer M, Spagnoli G (2003) Phase I/II clinical trial of a nonreplicative vaccinia virus expressing multiple HLA-A0201-restricted tumor-associated epitopes and costimulatory molecules in metastatic melanoma patients. Hum Gene Ther 14:1497–1510
- Zhang J, Tai LH, Ilkow CS, Alkayyal AA, Ananth AA, de Souza CT, Wang J, Sahi S, Ly L, Lefebvre C, Falls TJ, Stephenson KB, Mahmoud AB, Makrigiannis AP, Lichty BD, Bell JC, Stojdl DF, Auer RC (2014) Maraba MG1 virus enhances natural killer cell function via conventional dendritic cells to reduce postoperative metastatic disease. Mol Ther 22:1320–1332



## **Adjuvant Therapy**

# 35

#### Diwakar Davar and John M. Kirkwood

#### Contents

718
718
719
720
721
730
731
734
735
737

#### Abstract

Of the estimated 76,380 patients who will be diagnosed with melanoma in the USA in 2016, only 4% will have metastatic disease, while the proportion of patients with localized and regional disease is substantially larger at 84% and 9%, respectively. It is in this group of patients who are candidates for adjuvant therapy given that they are at elevated risk of relapse and subsequent mortality. Given the substantially lower burden of disease in the

Division of Hematology-Oncology, Department of Medicine, University of Pittsburgh Medical Center, Pittsburgh, PA, USA e-mail: davard@upmc.edu; kirkwoodjm@upmc.edu adjuvant setting, treatments that have a limited role in the advanced setting may be significantly more effective in the former setting. This principle of adjuvant therapy underlies why effective immune inhibitor and targeted therapies have been studied in trials designed to evaluate their potential adjuvant benefit. Although only interferons (IFN- $\alpha$  and pegylated IFN- $\alpha$ ) and anti-CTLA-4 blocking antibody ipilimumab have reached regulatory approval for adjuvant therapy, trials evaluating anti-PD-1 blocking antibodies and BRAF as well as BRAF+MEK inhibitors have been conducted, with early results suggesting significantly increased activity for which definitive results are anticipated shortly.

D. Davar · J. M. Kirkwood (🖂)

[©] Springer Science+Business Media, LLC, part of Springer Nature 2019 D. E. Fisher, B. C. Bastian (eds.), *Melanoma*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-7147-9 21

#### Keywords

Melanoma · Adjuvant · High-dose interferon · Vaccines · Radiotherapy · BRAF · Targeted therapy · Checkpoint · PD-1 · CTLA-4

#### Introduction

Data from the surveillance, epidemiology, and end results (SEER) program of the National Cancer Institute suggest that in 2016 an estimated 76,380 patients will be diagnosed with melanoma of whom 10,130 will die in the USA (Melanoma of the Skin – SEER Stat Fact Sheets [Internet]). The incidence of melanoma is rapidly increasing in both sexes: among men, melanoma is rising more than any other malignancy, and among women it is rising more than all except lung cancer (Melanoma of the Skin - SEER Stat Fact Sheets [Internet]). The current median age at diagnosis of melanoma is 59 years, and the lifetime risk is 1:34 (women) and 1:53 (men), so that melanoma results in a greater loss of productive years of potential life (20.4 years) than many other more common malignancies that occur later in life (16.6 years) (Melanoma of the Skin - SEER Stat Fact Sheets [Internet]).

In the USA, the majority of patients (84%) are diagnosed with localized disease, while 9% and 4% of patients present with regional and distant metastatic disease, respectively, with associated 5-year disease-specific survivals of 39-97% (stages IIC-IA), 39-70% (stages IIIC-IIIA), and 7-20% (stage IV, substages A-C) (Balch et al. 2009). Although regional and metastatic disease account for the minority of incident cases, they account for the vast majority of treatment-related expense. The goal of adjuvant therapy has been to identify patients who are at the highest risk of recurrence and to intervene with treatment that may reduce or eliminate the likelihood of recurrence. In this chapter, we focus on the rationale and indications for adjuvant therapy while summarizing the recent studies in the areas of immunotherapy, radiation therapy and molecularly targeted therapy. The results of the pivotal studies and pending studies that have been conducted for adjuvant therapy are reviewed.

#### Prognostication and Indications for Adjuvant Therapy

The consideration of therapy in the adjuvant setting is predicated on the assessment of the risk of disease recurrence and mortality. Consensus recommendations regarding risk stratification and adjuvant therapy for surgically resected high-risk melanoma have been published by the Society for Immunotherapy of Cancer (SITC) and National Comprehensive Cancer Network (NCCN) (Coit et al. 2016; Kaufman et al. 2013). In patients with operable locoregional disease, primary tumor characteristics (depth, ulceration status, and mitotic rate) and the extent of regional lymph node involvement determine stage – as delineated by the tumor, node, and metastasis (TNM) staging system of the American Joint Committee on Cancer (AJCC) (Balch et al. 2009, 2011).

Primary Breslow tumor depth in millimeters partially predicts the risk of nodal involvement, 1% (Breslow depth <0.75 mm), 8% (Breslow depth 0.75-1.5 mm), 23% (Breslow depth 1.5–4.0 mm), and 36% (Breslow depth >4.0 mm), and is reflected in the "T" substaging categories of both the 6th and 7th editions of the AJCC staging system (Balch et al. 2009, 2001). The risk of sentinel lymph node (SLN) involvement in thin (<1.0 mm) melanomas has historically been considered to be low, and these patients are generally therefore not offered SLN evaluation. However, the incidence of SLN involvement in thin (<1.00 mm) melanomas varies significantly between 1% and 5% in reported series, risk factors for which include Breslow tumor depth (particularly >0.75 mm), Clark level IV/V, mitoses, and microsatellites (Balch et al. 2011; Wong et al. 2012; Cordeiro et al. 2016). Lack of consensus regarding prognostication of the T1A substage led to changes in T1A/T1B designations between the 6th (ulceration and Clark level) and 7th (ulceration and mitoses) editions of AJCC staging system. These disparate factors are reconciled in the 8th edition which gives primacy to Breslow tumor depth in defining T1A (<0.80 mm) and T1B (0.81–1.00 mm) melanoma (see Table 1). Consensus guidelines recommend
	6th edition AJCC (Balch et al. 2001)	7th edition AJCC (Balch et al. 2009)	8th edition AJCC
T stage			
T1	<1.00 mm	<1.00 mm	<1.00 mm
А	Non-ulcerated and level II/III	Non-ulcerated and mitoses <1/mm ²	<0.8 mm
В	Ulcerated and/or level IV/V	Ulcerated and/or mitoses $\geq 1/\text{mm}^2$	0.81–1.00 mm
T2	1.01–2.00 mm	1.01–2.00 mm	1.01–2.00 mm
А	Non-ulcerated	Non-ulcerated	Non-ulcerated
В	Ulcerated	Ulcerated	Ulcerated
T3	2.01–4.00 mm	2.01–4.00 mm	2.01-4.00 mm
А	Non-ulcerated	Non-ulcerated	Non-ulcerated
В	Ulcerated	Ulcerated	Ulcerated
T4	>4.00 mm	>4.00 mm	>4.00 mm
А	Non-ulcerated	Non-ulcerated	Non-ulcerated
В	Ulcerated	Ulcerated	Ulcerated

Table 1 "T" stage migration in AJCC cutaneous melanoma staging systems

SLN evaluation in  $\geq$ T2 melanomas. Following SLN evaluation, patients can be more comprehensively stratified for risk as follows:

- Low-risk node-negative (stages IA–IIA)
- Elevated-risk node-negative (stages IIB–IIC)
- Microscopic node-positive (IIIA)
- Macroscopic node-positive or multiple node involvement (IIIB–IIIC)

Up till relatively recently, patients with positive SLN were usually advised to undergo completion lymph node dissection (CLND) although no prospective data existed to support the efficacy of this approach. The Multicenter Selective Lymphadenectomy Trial II (MSLT-II) was a large randomized phase III study that evaluated melanoma-specific survival (MSS) in 1934 melanoma patients randomized to either CLND or nodal surveillance following SLN (Faries et al. 2017). In the subgroup of 608 SLN-positive patients, 3-year MSS was similar in both CLND  $(86 \pm 1.3\%)$  and nodal surveillance groups  $(86 \pm 1.2\%)$ . The risk of regional recurrence was unsurprisingly higher in the surveillance group at 23% (compared to 8% with CLND); the similar MSS across groups indicated that the majority of regional recurrences could be salvaged (Faries et al. 2017). Although MSLT-II patients were highly selected with a relatively low SLN disease burden, these practice-changing

results suggest that CLND should be optional in this patient population.

In summary, current consensus recommendations argue against considering adjuvant systemic therapy in patients with low-risk node-negative (stages IA–IIA) disease. There is strong consensus to support consideration of adjuvant systemic therapy in patients with high-risk node-negative (stages IIB–IIC) as well as microscopic nodepositive (IIIA) and macroscopic node-positive disease (IIIB–IIIC). Adjuvant therapy trials aiming to address the highest-risk populations have also more recently included resectable stage IV (M1A/B).

#### Predictive and Prognostic Biomarkers

Patients with node-negative (stages IA–IIC) disease have a generally lower risk of disease progression but comprise a heterogeneous group among which a 5-/10-year survival ranges from 97%/93% (IA) to 53%/39% (IIC) (Balch et al. 2011). Efforts aimed at developing predictive and prognostic models to guide clinical decisionmaking for patients and providers have generally taken two approaches. Predictive algorithms largely based on logistic regression analysis of factors identified by the AJCC staging system have been developed to estimate the risk of SLN involvement (Memorial Sloan Kettering (MSK) sentinel node metastasis prediction tool) and 5-/10-year survival (AJCC Individualized Melanoma Patient Outcome Prediction Tool) with a high degree of accuracy (Wong et al. 2005; AJCC - American Joint Committee on Cancer [Internet]). The MSK SLN nomogram has been validated in 979 patients who underwent SLN biopsy at a single Irish institution and accurately predicted SLN involvement with a slightly higher concordance index compared to the AJCC staging system (Woods et al. 2015). Separately, other investigators have evaluated microarray expression data to generate prognostic gene signatures. Utilizing data from published genomic analyses of cutaneous melanomas, Gerami and colleagues identified 28 prognostic genes and 3 control genes and created a 31-gene genetic signature using radial basis machine (RBM) modeling (DecisionDx-Melanoma, Castle **Biosciences** Inc.) (Gerami et al. 2015a). In a test cohort comprising 107 stage I/II cutaneous melanoma patients, this signature dichotomized low-risk (class I) and high-risk (class II) patients (Gerami et al. 2015a). A second cohort comprising SLN-positive and SLN-negative patients demonstrated that although the 31-gene signature had similar positive predictive value (for recurrence and distant metastases) as a positive SLN, the signature had better negative predictive value than negative SLN (Gerami et al. 2015b). Genetic signatures such as these would be most clinically useful to either predict SLN status in patients pre-SLN evaluation or predict recurrence in patients with negative SLN, thereby guiding decision-making regarding adjuvant therapy decision - the lack of prospective validation of this signature in either setting argues against its use at this time.

Although prognostic biomarkers such as DecisionDx-Melanoma (Castle Biosciences Inc.) exist, these have not been prospectively validated in appropriate risk cohorts, and hence their use cannot be recommended outside of a clinical trial.

# **Adjuvant Therapy: Radiotherapy**

Melanoma has historically been considered refractory to radiotherapy (RT), but RT has been considered in the adjuvant management of melanoma patients in particular settings. Desmoplastic melanoma (DM) is a rare variant of melanoma commonly found in chronic sun-damaged (CSD) skin, particularly in the head and neck region. Histopathologically distinguished by the presence of abundant stromal collagen, one subtype of neurotropic DM (NDM) is associated with extension along cutaneous nerves and tends to recur locally (Quinn et al. 1998). Retrospective data suggests that postoperative RT can improve local control rates in DM particularly for lesions with certain characteristics: location in the head/neck region, primary Breslow thickness  $\geq 4$  mm, and/or exhibiting neutropism (Vongtama et al. 2003; Arora et al. 2005). RT has also been considered for locally recurrent DM and/or DM that has not been resected with adequate margins (Coit et al. 2016).

Retrospective data suggests that adjuvant RT following definitive lymph node dissection reduces regional recurrence after controlling for other factors on multivariate analysis, albeit at the cost of increased treatment-related morbidity especially lymphedema (Agrawal et al. 2009). The only prospective data comes from a prospective multicenter study conducted by the Australia and New Zealand Melanoma Trials Group (ANZMTG) in coordination with Trans-Tasman Radiation Oncology Group (TROG). ANZMTG 01.02/TROG 02.01 was a prospective multicenter phase III study that randomized 250 patients with high risk including clinically node-positive melanoma (N1b, N2b or N3) to receive either observation or regional nodal basin RT (48 Gy in 20 fractions) within 12 weeks of definitive lymph node dissection (Henderson et al. 2015). At a median follow-up time of 73 months, RT significantly reduced local relapse (HR 0.52, 95% CI 0.31–0.88, p = 0.023) although overall survival (OS) and relapse-free survival (RFS) did not differ significantly between the treated and observed groups. A follow-up TROG (RTN2, NCT00975520) study selectively evaluating adjuvant RT following completion lymph node dissection in head/neck primary melanomas with neurotropic features is currently in accrual.

Although early studies suggested that melanoma was a tumor refractory to RT, recent work has established that RT is well tolerated and demonstrates moderate efficacy in the disease. Various fractionation schedules have been studied with no apparent difference in efficacy between standard and hypofractionated schemes, although the latter has a slightly lower incidence of toxicity (Hallemeier et al. 2013). The vast majority of patients with primary melanoma will undergo definitive surgical resection; and RT can be considered an adjunct to surgery in patients with DM (particularly NDM) and/or in primaries located in the head/neck region, especially when surgical margins have not been possible to obtain. Adjuvant RT reduces incidence of regional lymph node relapse in patients with high-risk clinically palpable LN involvement based on ANZMTG 01.02/ TROG 02.01. Unfortunately, the toxicity with radiation fibrosis and local symptoms, with the lack of overall RFS/OS benefit, has qualified the adoption of RT in the adjuvant setting.

# Adjuvant Therapy: IFN- $\alpha$ and Biochemotherapy

Traditional adjuvant chemotherapeutic approaches have been ineffective to improve either RFS or OS in melanoma. Interferons (IFNs) comprise a large group of structurally related molecules with diverse properties and actions. Type 1 IFNs (IFN- $\alpha$ , IFN- $\beta$ , IFN- $\omega$ , IFN- $\varepsilon$ , and IFN- $\kappa$ ) are primarily produced by dendritic cells responding to infectious agents, where this family links the adaptive and innate arms of the immune response. Canonical type I IFN- $\alpha$ signaling involves the cell surface IFN- $\alpha$  receptor (IFN-\alpha R) and signaling via the JAK/STAT pathway (JAK1/TYK2) and IFN-α regulatory factor (IRF)-9 which binds the cytosolic STAT1-STAT2 complex that subsequently migrates to the nucleus and induces expression of genes with either interferon-stimulated response elements (ISREs) or gamma interferon activation site (GAS) elements (Ivashkiv and Donlin 2014). Of the various type 1 IFNs studied as anticancer agents, IFN- $\alpha$ -2b is the most extensively described with potent activity against multiple malignancies (Ivashkiv and Donlin 2014).

The mechanism of action of IFN- $\alpha$  is thought to be immunomodulatory rather than directly cytotoxic or anti-angiogenic. IFN- $\alpha$  has disparate effects on antitumor immunity, **augmenting** Tcell-mediated antitumor responses through MHC class I/II upregulation, constitutive activation of STAT3, and improved T-cell recruitment and dendritic cell-mediated T-cell priming while **concurrently increasing** expression of inhibitory T-cell markers such as PD-L1 (Ivashkiv and Donlin 2014; Bellucci et al. 2015). Collectively, IFN- $\alpha$ administration appears to promote antitumor immunity. Following initial reports of activity in advanced disease, IFN- $\alpha$  were studied as an adjuvant therapy in high-risk resected melanoma.

Although many trials have tested the broad swath of IFN- $\alpha$  dosages, schedules, routes, as well as durations of therapy, high-dose IFN- $\alpha$ (HDI) has been the most widely used regimen in the adjuvant arena in the USA. HDI has been approved by regulatory agencies worldwide for adjuvant therapy. HDI comprises an initial 1-month-long intravenous IFN- $\alpha$ -2b 20 MU/m²/ daily 5 days per week for 4 weeks (induction phase), followed by 11-month-long subcutaneous maintenance IFN- $\alpha$ -2b 10 MU/m²/daily 3 days per week (maintenance phase). HDI has been studied in six large prospective randomized clinical trials (see Table 2) that enrolled stage IIB-IIIC patients, although ECOG E2696 allopatients with very-high-risk disease wed (in-transit N3 and resectable distant metastatic M1A) and Sunbelt Melanoma Trial accrued only patients with at least one positive sentinel lymph node (N1A).

North Central Cancer Treatment Group (NCCTG) 83-0752 and Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group (ECOG) E1684 were the first prospective randomized phase III studies to test high-dose IFN- $\alpha$ -2b for the adjuvant therapy of high-risk resected melanoma (Kirkwood et al. 1996; Creagan et al. 1995). NCCTG 83-0752 tested a truncated high-dose IFN- $\alpha$ -2a regimen (20 MU/m² thrice weekly IM for 12 weeks) against observation in 262 stage II/III patients (61% lymph node positive) and reported nonsignificantly improved RFS/OS. Rather than IFN- $\alpha$ -2a for 12 weeks, ECOG E1684 tested a

	Number of					Median follow-		
	patients eligible					up at time of		
Study reference	for analysis	Stage	% node positive	Therapy and IFN subspecies	Dose and schedule – treatment arm	reporting (years)	DFS/RFS	SO
High dose				-		•		
NCCTG	262	IIA–IIIC	61%	IFN-α-2a	IM 20 MU/m ² thrice	6.1	HR: 1.20 (HDI	HR: 1.11 (HDI
83-7052				vs. observation	weekly for 4 months		vs. observation)	vs. observation)
(Kirkwood et al.							(NS)	(NS)
1996)							Median RFS: not reported	Median OS: not reported
ECOG E1684	287	IIB-IIIC	89%	IFN-α-2b	High-dose IFN (HDI)	12.6	HR	HR
(Creagan et al.				vs. observation	Induction – IV 20 MU/		1.38 (HDI vs. obs)	1.22 (HDI vs. obs)
1995)					$m^2$ 5 davs a week for		(S)	(S at 6.9 vears but
					4 weeks			NS at 12.6 years)
					Maintenance - SC		Median RFS: not	Median OS: not
					10 MU/m ² 3 days a		reported	reported
					week for 48 weeks		-	4
ECOG E1690	642	IIB-IIIC	74%	IFN-α-2b high dose	HDI as above	4.3	HR	HR
(Kirkwood et al. 2000)				vs. low dose vs. observation	Low-dose IFN: C. 3 MU/m ² 2 days a		1.28 (HDI vs. obs) (S)	1.0 (HDI vs. obs) (NS)
					week for 2 years		1.19 (LDI vs. obs)	1.04 (LDI vs. obs)
							(NS)	(NS)
							Median RFS	Median OS
							44% (HDI) vs. 40%	52% (HDI) vs. 53%
							(LDI) vs. 35% (obs)	(LDI) vs. 55%
								(obs)
ECOG E1694	774	IIB-IIIC	77%	IFN-α-2b vs. GMK	HDI as above	2.1	HR	HR
(Kirkwood et al.				vaccine			1.49 (HDI vs. GMK)	1.38 (HDI
2001a)							(S)	vs. GMK) (S)
							Median RFS	Median OS
							25% (HDI) vs. 39% (GMK)	78% (HDI) vs. 73% (GMK)

**Table 2** Phase II/III studies of adjuvant IFN- $\alpha$  in high-risk resected melanoma

ECOG E2696 (Kirkwood et al.	107	IIB-resected stage IV	Not available	GMK vaccination with concurrent HDI (arm A)	HDI as above	2.4	HR	HR
2001b)		)		vs. GMK vaccination	GMK vaccination:		1.75 (C vs. A) (S)	Not reported
				with HDI beginning D28 (arm B)			× ×	۰.
				vs. GMK vaccination	GM2-KLH/QS-21 on		1.96 (C vs. B) (S)	Median OS
				alone (arm C)	D1, 8, 15, and 22 and		Median RFS	Not reached (A, B,
					then weeks 12, 24, and		Not reached (A)	or C)
					30		vs. 30.72 months (B)	
							vs. 14.85 months (C)	
Sunbelt	218	IIIA-IIIC	100%	Protocol A:	HDI as above	5.9	HR: 0.82 (HDI	HR: 1.10 (HDI
Melanoma Trial				histologically positive			vs. obs) (NS)	vs. obs) (NS)
(McMasters				sentinel lymph node			Median RFS: not	Median OS: not
et al. 2016)				biopsy, followed by			reported	reported
				completion lymph node dissection and then				
				randomized to HDI				
				vs. observation				
Oxford phase II	194	IIB-IIIC	77%	IFN- $\alpha$ -2b high dose	HDI as above without	3.3	HR: 0.8 (arm B	HR: 0.59 (arm B
(Payne et al.				without maintenance	maintenance (arm A)		vs. arm A) (NS)	vs. arm A) (S)
2014)				vs. with maintenance	vs. with maintenance		Median RFS:	Median OS:
					(arm B)		22.7 months (arm A)	41.5 months (arm
							vs. 33.3 (arm B)	A) vs. not reported
							(NS)	(arm B) (S)
Hellenic	364	IIB-IIIC	58%	Modified IFN-α-2b	Non-inferiority design	5.3	Median RFS:	Median OS:
He13A/98				induction-only (arm A)	Modified induction		24.1 months (arm A)	64.4 months (arm
(Pectasides				vs. modified IFN- $\alpha$ -2b	IV 15 MU/m ² 5 days a		vs. 27.9 (arm B)	A) vs. 65.3 (arm B)
et al. 2009)				induction and	week for 4 weeks		(NS, primary	(NS)
				maintenance (arm B)	Modified maintenance		non-interiority	
					SC 10 MU 3 days a			
					week for 48 weeks			
E1697	1150	IIA–IIIA	18%	IFN- $\alpha$ -2b high dose	HDI as above without	7.0	HR: 0.98 (IFN	HR: 1.08 (IFN
(Agarwala et al.				without maintenance	maintenance (IFN)		vs. obs) (NS)	vs. obs) (NS)
2017)				vs. observation	vs. observation (obs)		5-year RFS: 0.70	Median RFS: 0.83
							(IFN) vs. 0.70 (obs)	(IFN) vs. 0.83 (obs)
							(NS)	(NS)
								(continued)

SO	Median OS: 9.9 years (biochemotherapy) vs. 6.7 years (HDI) (S) 5-year OS: 56% (biochemotherapy) vs. 56% (HDI) (NS)	Median OS: 88.7 months (IHDI) vs. 82.6 months (HDI) (NS) 5-year OS 60.1% (IHDI) vs. 52.7% (HDI) vs.
DFS/RFS	Median RFS: 4.0 years (biochemotherapy) vs. 1.9 years (HDI) (S) (S) (biochemotherapy) vs. 48% (HDI) (S) (S)	Median RFS: 47.9 months (IHDI) vs. 35.6 months (HDI) (NS) 5-year RFS 45.8% (IHDI) vs. 44.3% (HDI) vs.
Median follow- up at time of reporting (years)	7.2	5.0
Dose and schedule – treatment arm	HDI as above Biochemotherapy Dacarbazine 800 mg/ m² (day 1), cisplatin 20 mg/m², vinblastine 1.2 mg/m², IL-2 at 9 MU/m² continuous IV infusion (day 1–4), IFN 5 MU/m² (day 1–5, 8, 10, 12). Repeated every 21 days for 3 cycles	IHDI IV 20 MU/m ² 5 days a week for 4 weeks every other month for 4 cycles HDI as above
Therapy and IFN subspecies	HDI vs. biochemotherapy (IL-2, IFN, cisplatin, vinblastine, and dacarbazine)	Intensified IFN-α-2b (IHDI) every other month vs. IFN-α-2b for l year
% node positive	24%	100%
Stage	IIIA-IIIC	IIIA-IIIC
Number of patients eligible for analysis	402	330
Study reference	S0008 (Flaherty et al. 2014)	Italian Melanoma Intergroup (Chiarion-Sileni et al. 2011)

Table 2 (continued)

$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	1200		Ì	O IO INII UI IN		¢.;		
Image: Normal in the image in the	×	IIIA-IIIC	/4%	Modified IFN-α-2b for 1 year vs. 2 years	Modified HDI induction	11.0	K+S	SO
Neek for 4 weeks         veek for 4 weeks         veeks         veek				vs. observation	IV 10 MU 5 days a		IFN (13 months)	IFN (13 months)
Modified maintenance         IFN (25 months)         IFN (25 months)           SC 10 MU 3 days a week for 48 weeks or SC 5 MU 3 days a week for 96 weeks         IFN (15 months)         IFN (25 months)           FFN (13 months)         No. 0.95 (NS)         No. 0.95 (NS)         No. 0.95 (NS)           FFN (13 months)         No. 0.95 (NS)         No. 0.95 (NS)         No. 0.95 (NS)           FFN (13 months)         No. 0.95 (NS)         No. 0.95 (NS)         No. 0.95 (NS)           FFN (13 months)         No. 0.95 (NS)         No. 0.95 (NS)         No. 0.95 (NS)           FFN (13 months)         No. 0.95 (NS)         No. 0.95 (NS)         No. 0.95 (NS)           FFN (13 months)         No. 0.92 (NS)         No. 0.95 (NS)         No. 0.95 (NS)           FFN (13 months)         No. 0.92 (NS)         No. 0.92 (NS)         No. 0.95 (NS)           FFN (13 months)         No. 0.92 (NS)         No. 0.92 (NS)         No. 0.95 (NS)           FFN (13 months)         No. 0.92 (NS)         No. 0.92 (NS)         No. 0.95 (NS)           FFN (13 months)         No. 0.92 (NS)         No. 0.92 (NS)         No. 0.95 (NS)           FFN (13 months)         No. 0.92 (NS)         No. 0.92 (NS)         No. 0.95 (NS)           FFN (13 months)         No. 0.92 (NS)         No. 0.95 (NS)         No. 0.95 (NS)      <					week for 4 weeks		vs. obs: 0.94 (NS)	vs. obs: 0.95 (NS)
Sc 10 MU 3 days a week for 48 weeks or S MU 3 days a week for 96 weeks for 96 weeks         No. 08: 0.84 (NS)         No. 008: 0.95 (NS)           S MI 2 For 96 weeks         No. 08: 0.95 (NS)         No. 08: 0.95 (NS)         No. 08: 0.95 (NS)           S MU 3 days a week         No. 08: 0.95 (NS)         No. 08: 0.95 (NS)         No. 08: 0.95 (NS)           S MI 2 For 96 weeks         No. 08: 0.84 (NS)         No. 08: 0.84 (NS)         No. 08: 0.84 (NS)           S MI 2 For 96 weeks         No. 08: 0.84 (NS)         No. 08: 0.82 (NS)         No. 08: 0.80 (NS)           S MI 2 For 00         No. 08: 0.82 (NS)         No. 08: 0.82 (NS)         No. 08: 0.80 (NS)           S MI 2 For 00         No. 08: 0.61 (S)         No. 08: 0.61 (S)         No. 08: 0.59 (S)           S MI 2 For 00         No. 08: 0.61 (S)         No. 05: 0.57 (S)         No. 05: 0.57 (S)           S MI 2 For 00         S years vs. observation         S e gug/kg/week for 8 weeks         No. 05: 0.57 (S)         No. 05: 0.57 (S)           S S years         S years vs. observation         S years         No. 2.56 months)         No. 46.4% (obs);					Modified maintenance		IFN (25 months)	IFN (25 months)
SC 10 MU 3 days a week for 48 weeks or SC 5 MU 3 days a week         DMFS         DMFS           RFN (13 months)         FN (13 months)         FN (13 months)           Ys. obs: 0.55 (NS)         IFN (25 months)         VS: obs: 0.95 (NS)           IFN (13 months)         VS: obs: 0.95 (NS)         Ulcerated primaries           IFN (13 months)         VS: obs: 0.81 (NS)         IFN (13 months)           YS: obs: 0.81 (NS)         IFN (13 months)         VS: obs: 0.80 (NS)           IFN (13 months)         VS: obs: 0.81 (NS)         IFN (13 months)           VS: obs: 0.81 (NS)         IFN (13 months)         VS: obs: 0.91 (NS)           IFN IIIC         100%         Pegylated IFN-e-2b for         PEG-IFN induction -         7.6           So IIIA-IIIC         100%         Pegylated IFN-e-2b for         SC 6 µg/kg/week for         VS: obs: 0.76 (NS)           IIA-IIIC         100%         Pegylated IFN-e-2b for         SC 6 µg/kg/week for         VS: obs: 0.76 (NS)           So SC 5 µg/kg/week for         SC 6 µg/kg/week for         S. obs: SC 6 µg/kg/week for         VS: obs: SC 6 µg/kg/week for           So SC 6 µg/kg/week for         SC 6 µg/kg/week for         SC 6 µg/kg/week for         S. SC 6 µg/kg/week for         S. SC 6 µg/kg/week for           So SC 8 µg/kg/week for         SC 8 µg/kg/week for         S. SC 6 µg/kg/week fo							vs. obs: 0.84 (NS)	vs. obs: 0.84 (NS)
56         IIA-IIIC         100%         PeG-IFN induction - cols: 0.55 (NS)         IFN (13 months)           56         IIA-IIIC         100%         PeG-IFN induction - s vs. obs: 0.81 (NS)         IFN (13 months)           56         IIA-IIIC         100%         PeG-IFN induction - s vs. obs: 0.57 (S)         Vs. obs: 0.59 (S)           56         IIA-IIIC         100%         PeG-IFN induction - s vs. obs: 0.57 (S)         7.6         3.4.8 months)           56         IIA-IIIC         100%         PeG-IFN induction - s vs. obs: 0.57 (S)         7.6         3.4.8 months)           56         IIA-IIIC         100%         PeG-IFN induction - s vs. obs: 0.57 (S)         7.6         3.4.8 months (IFN)           5         years vs. observation s vs. obs: 0.57 (S)         Ys. obs: 0.57 (S)         Ys. obs: 0.56 (S)         Ys. obs: 0.56 (S)					SC 10 MU 3 days a		DMFS	
56     IIA-IIIC     10%     Pegylated FN-a-2b for 8 weeks     Vs. obs: 0.95 (NS)     Vs. obs: 0.95 (NS)       56     IIA-IIIC     100%     Pegylated FN-a-2b for 8 weeks     PEG-FN induction - 10 weeks     7.6     34.8 months)       56     IIA-IIIC     100%     Pegylated FN-a-2b for 8 weeks     PEG-FN induction - 10 ws. obs: 0.57 (S)     Vs. obs: 0.39 (S)       56     IIA-IIIC     100%     Pegylated FN-a-2b for 8 weeks     PEG-FN induction - 10 ws. obs: 0.57 (S)     Vs. obs: 0.57 (S)       56     IIA-IIIC     100%     Pegylated FN-a-2b for 8 weeks     PEG-FN induction - 10 ws. obs: 0.57 (S)     Vs. obs: 0.59 (S)       56     IIA-IIIC     100%     Pegylated FN-a-2b for 8 weeks     PEG-FN induction - 10 ws. obs: 0.57 (S)     Vs. obs: 0.57 (S)       5     years vs. observation     SC 6 µg/kg/week for 8 weeks     Vs. 25.6 months     Vs. 46.4% (obs);       5     Stars     5 years     Stars     Vs. 25.6 months     Vs. 46.4% (obs);					week for 48 weeks or		IFN (13 months)	I
Image: Second					SC 5 MU 3 days a week		vs. obs: 0.95 (NS)	
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$					for 96 weeks		IFN (25 months)	
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$							vs. obs: 0.84 (NS)	
SeeIIA-IIICINAINAINAINASeeIIA-IIIC100%Pegylated IFN-a-2b for 5 years vs. observationPeG-IFN induction - 3 weeks7.6PAS months) 3 weeksWe. 47.8% (IFN)SeeIIA-IIIC100%Pegylated IFN-a-2b for 5 years vs. observationPEG-IFN induction - 3 weeks7.63.4.8 months (IFN)47.8% (IFN)SeeIIA-IIIC100%Pegylated IFN-a-2b for 5 years vs. observationPEG-IFN induction - 3 weeks7.63.4.8 months (IFN)47.8% (IFN)SeeIIA-IIIC100%S years vs. observationS C 6 µg/kg/week for ws. obs: 0.57 (S)Vs. 46.4% (obs);SeeIIA-IIIC100%S years vs. observationS weeksVs. 46.4% (obs);SeeS yearsS yearsS yearsVs. 46.4% (obs);SeeS yearsS yearsS yearsVs. 46.4% (obs);S yearsS yearsS yearsS yearsVs. 46.4% (obs);S yearsS years <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>Ulcerated primaries</td> <td>Ulcerated primaries</td>							Ulcerated primaries	Ulcerated primaries
SeeIIA-IIIC100%Fegylated IFN-or2b for 8 weeksFeG-FFN inductionFeG-FFN inductionFeW (13 months) we. obs: 0.82 (NS)FFN (13 months) we. obs: 0.61 (S)FFN (25 months) we. obs: 0.50 (S)SeeIIA-IIIC100%Pegylated IFN-or2b for 8 weeksFeG-FFN induction7.634.8 months (IFN)47.8% (IFN)SeeIIA-IIIC100%5 years vs. observation8 weeks7.634.8 months (IFN)47.8% (IFN)SeeIIA-IIIC100%5 years vs. observation8 weeksvs. dos: 0.57 (S)47.8% (IFN)SeeIIA-IIIC100%5 years vs. observation8 weeksvs. dos: 0.57 (S)87.4% (0bs);SeeSears vs. observation8 weeksvs. dos: 0.57 (S)vs. dos: 0.57 (S)vs. dos: 0.57 (S)Sears vs. observation8 weeks8 weeksvs. dos: 0.57 (S)vs. dos: 0.57 (S)vs. dos: 0.57 (S)Sears vs. observation8 weeksvs. dos: 0.57 (S)vs. dos: 0.57 (S)vs. dos: 0.57 (S)Sears vs. observation8 weeksvs. dos: 0.57 (S)vs. dos: 0.57 (S)vs. dos: 0.57 (S)Sears vs. observation8 weeksvs. dos: 0.57 (S)vs. dos: 0.57 (S)vs. dos: 0.57 (S)Sears vs. observation8 weeksvs. dos: 0.57 (S)vs. dos: 0.57 (S)vs. dos: 0.57 (S)SearsSearsSearsvs. dos: 0.57 (S)vs. dos: 0.57 (S)vs. dos: dos: 0.57 (S)SearsSearsSearsSearsvs. dos: 0.57 (S)vs. dos: dos: dos: dos: 0.57 (S)SearsSears <t< td=""><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>RFS</td><td>SO</td></t<>							RFS	SO
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$							IFN (13 months)	IFN (13 months)
11111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111 <th< td=""><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>vs. obs: 0.82 (NS)</td><td>vs. obs: 0.80 (NS)</td></th<>							vs. obs: 0.82 (NS)	vs. obs: 0.80 (NS)
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$							IFN (25 months)	IFN (25 months)
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c } \hline \begin{tabular}{ c c c c } \hline \begin{tabular}{ c c c c c c c } \hline \begin{tabular}{ c c c c c c c } \hline \begin{tabular}{ c c c c c c c } \hline \begin{tabular}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$							vs. obs: 0.61 (S)	vs. obs: 0.59 (S)
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c } \hline \begin{tabular}{ c c c c } \hline \begin{tabular}{ c c c c } \hline \begin{tabular}{ c } \hline \begin{tabular}{ c c } \hline \begin{tabular}{ c } \hline \begin$							DMFS	
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$							IFN (13 months)	
56 IIIA-IIIC 100% Pegylated IFN- $\alpha$ -2b for PEG-IFN induction – 7.6 IFN (25 months) 58 IIIA-IIIC 100% System of the second secon							vs. obs: 0.76 (NS)	
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$							IFN (25 months)	
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$							vs. obs: 0.57 (S)	
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	256	IIIA-IIIC	100%	Pegylated IFN-α-2b for	PEG-IFN induction –	7.6	34.8 months (IFN)	47.8% (IFN)
$\begin{array}{c c} PEG-IFN \ maintenance \\ -SC \ 3 \ \mu g/kg/week \ for \\ 5 \ years \end{array} \hspace{1.5cm} vs. \ 25.6 \ months \\ NS \\ NS \\ \end{array}$				5 years vs. observation	SC 6 μg/kg/week for 8 weeks			
- SC 3 μg/kg/week for     (obs); S     NS       5 years     (obs)     NS					<b>PEG-IFN</b> maintenance		vs. 25.6 months	vs. 46.4% (obs);
5 years					- SC 3 μg/kg/week for		(obs); S	NS
					5 years			

S	6.1 months (A)	s. 72.1 months B) vs. 64.3 months C) (NS)							Vot available		IR	.70 (LDI vs. obs) S)
DFS/RFS	23.2 months (A) 5	vs. 37.8 months vs. 37.8 months (1) vs. 28.6 months (1) (1) (2) (2) (2) (2) (2) (2) (2) (3) (3) (3) (3) (4) (4) (4) (4) (4) (5) (5) (5) (5) (5) (5) (5) (5) (5) (5	IFN vs. obs and IFN 1 year vs. obs (S)	IFN 2 years vs. obs (NS)					RFS/DMFS not Network	Rate of relapse: (24.0% LDI vs. 36.3% obs)	HR	0.74 (LDI vs. obs) 0 ((
Median follow- up at time of reporting (years)	6.0	<u> </u>	1	1					3.4		~	
Dose and schedule – treatment arm	Modified HDI induction	IV 10 MU 5 days a week for 4 weeks	Modified maintenance	SC 10 MU 3 days a week for 48 or 96 weeks	Arms: A (observation), B (4 weeks induction,	48 weeks maintenance) and C (4 weeks	induction, 96 weeks maintenance)		SC 3 MU 7 days a week for 3 weeks $\rightarrow$ then $\rightarrow$	SC 3 MU 3 days a week for 1 year	SC 3 MU 3 days a week	for 18 months
Therapy and IFN subspecies	Modified IFN-α-2b for 1 year vs. 2 years	vs. observation		1					IFN-α-2a vs. observation	-	IFN-α-2a	vs. observation
% node positive	81%								0%0		0%0	
Stage	IIB-IIIB								IB–IIC		IB-IIC	
Number of patients eligible for analysis	855								311		499	
Study reference	Nordic IFN (Hansson et al.	2011)						Low dose	Austrian Melanoma	Cooperative Group (AMCG) (Pehamberger et al. 1998)	French	Melanoma Cooperative Group (FCGM) (Grob et al. 1998)

Table 2 (continued)

WHO Melanoma Program Trial 16 (Cascinelli et al. 2001)	444	IIIA-IIIC	100%	IFN-α-2a vs. observation	SC 3 MU 3 days a week for 36 months	7.3	NS	XS
Scottish Melanoma Cooperative Group (Cameron et al. 2001)	96	IIA-IIIC	Not available	IFN-α-2a vs. observation	SC 3 MU 3 days a week for 6 months	9<	XS	NS
UKCCCR-AIM HIGH (Hancock et al. 2004)	674	IIA-IIIC	Not available	IFN-α-2a vs. observation	SC 3 MU 3 days a week for 24 months	3.1	NS	NS
DeCOG (Garbe et al. 2008)	840	IIIA-IIIC	Not available	IFN-α-2a	SC 3 MU 3 days a week for 18 months (A) vs 5 years (B)	4.3	5-year DMFS 81.9% (A) vs. 79.7% (B) (NS)	5-year OS 85.9% (A) vs. 84.9% (B) (NS)
DeCOG (Hauschild et al. 2010)	444	IIIA-IIIC	100%	IFN-α-2a	SC 3 MU 3 days a week for 24 months (A) vs. SC 3 MU 3 days a week for 24 months + DTIC 850 mg/m ² every A 8 weeke for	3.9	HR 0.69 (A)	HR 0.62 (A)
				,	24 months (B) vs. observation (C)		vs. 1.01 (B) vs. 1.0 (C)	vs. 0.96 (B) vs. 1.0 (C)
Very low dose							-	
EORTC 18871/ DKG 80-1 (Kleeberg et al.	728	IIA-IIIC	58%	IFN-α-2b vs. IFN-γ vs. ISCADOR M [®] vs. observation	IFN-α-2b SC 1 MU every other day for 12 months	8.2	NS	NS
2004)					IFN-y SC 0.2 mg every other day for 12 months			

DFS disease-free survival, DMFS distant metastases-free survival, HDI high-dose IFN, LDI low-dose IFN, NS not significant, OS overall survival, obs observation, RFS relapse-free survival, S significant

longer IFN-a-2b regimen comprising induction (IV 20 MU/m² daily for 5 days for 4 weeks) and maintenance (SC 10 MU/m² thrice weekly for 48 weeks) phases in 287 stage IIB-IIIC patients (89% lymph node positive). When initially reported at 6.9 years median follow-up, HDI significantly improved both RFS (5-year RFS rate 37% vs. 26%) and OS (5-year OS rate 46%) vs. 37%). Toxicity was considerable – with most patients experiencing constitutional adverse events (AEs) that were rapidly reversible with treatment delays and/or dose reductions. These results prompted the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) in the USA and the European Medicines Agency (EMA) in Europe to approve HDI for the adjuvant treatment of high-risk resected melanoma in 1995.

Five other studies have studied the same regimen against various comparators including lower IFN- $\alpha$  doses (E1690), adjuvant ganglioside vaccine GMK (E1694 and E2696), and observation (E1690 and Sunbelt Melanoma Trial - Protocol A) (Kirkwood et al. 1996, 2000, 2001a, b; Creagan et al. 1995; McMasters et al. 2016). Results from these studies vary slightly but overall suggest that HDI improves RFS consistently and significantly, with less consistent benefit in terms of OS. When RFS/OS data from E1684, E1690, E1694, and E2696 were reanalyzed at 12.6 years median follow-up, RFS improvement was shown to be durably sustained although OS benefit was not significant on this reanalysis possibly due to competing causes of death. The variability in OS benefit across these studies suggests that the benefit of HDI is likely limited to a subset of patients - although it remains unclear how to identify this subset of patients.

Efforts to improve the toxicity/benefit profile of HDI, while maintaining RFS/OS benefits, have prompted multiple investigators to design alternate regimens of lower intensity, utilizing different schedules and/or shorter durations of therapy. Lower-intensity regimens include very-low-dose regimens (1 MU SC every other day) in the European Organisation for Research and Treatment of Cancer (EORTC) 18871; low-dose regimen (3 MU SC thrice weekly) tested in WHO Melanoma Program Trial 16, ECOG E1690, UKCCCR AIM-High trial, Scottish trial, and German DeCOG 2008 and DeCOG 2010 studies (Pehamberger et al. 1998; Grob et al. 1998; Cascinelli et al. 2001; Cameron et al. 2001; Hancock et al. 2004; Garbe et al. 2008; Hauschild et al. 2010; Kleeberg et al. 2004); and intermediate-dose regimens tested in EORTC 18952, EORTC 18991, and Nordic IFN- $\alpha$  trials (Eggermont et al. 2005, 2008, 2012, 2016a; Hansson et al. 2011). Significant inter-study heterogeneity precludes cross-trial comparisons, and it remains unclear which of these regimens, if any, provide clinical benefit that equals or exceeds that seen with standard HDI. At the present time none of these are recommended outside of a clinical trial.

Analyses of the RFS benefit in E1684 suggested that the improvement in RFS occurred early with treatment, perhaps even in the first month of therapy – suggesting that the overall RFS benefit of this regimen might be attributable to the intravenous "induction" phase. Three prospective randomized studies have now evaluated the value of a truncated HDI regimen, compared either to observation (E1697) or standard/modified 1-year-long regimen (Hellenic He13A/98 and Oxford phase II study) (Payne et al. 2014; Pectasides et al. 2009; Agarwala et al. 2017). E1697 compared the standard HDI induction regimen to observation alone in resected stage IIA-IIIB patients. Interim analyses of 1150 patients of a planned enrollment of 1420 (19% lymph node positive) were presented at ASCO 2011 – where investigators reported no improvement in RFS or 5-year OS for the truncated schedule following which the study was terminated for futility. The Oxford phase II study randomized 194 patients (77% lymph node positive) to either HDI induction alone or standard HDI and concluded that HDI induction alone lacked any benefit. Hellenic He13A/98 utilized a non-inferiority design that tested a modified induction/maintenance dosage in stages IIB-IIIC (58% lymph node positive) and concluded that the modified induction-only regimen was not inferior although the nonstandard doses and small stage III enrollment without a control arm qualify these results. A meta-analysis that included several of these studies concluded that the truncated regimens did not meet the prespecified non-inferiority bar for either RFS or OS (Malczewski et al. 2016).

Other investigators have attempted to answer the antipodal question of whether prolonging duration of therapy confers greater treatment benefit. To improve the tolerability of longer regimens, studies have used either lower doses of IFN alpha-2b or pegylated interferon alpha-2b (PEG-IFN- $\alpha$ ) – the latter being a mainstay of therapy for chronic viral hepatitis prior to the advent of more highly effective nucleotide analogs. These studies included ECOG E1690, WHO 16, EORTC 18952/Nordic IFN- $\alpha$  trial (IFN- $\alpha$ -2b for 1 year vs. 2 years vs. observation), and EORTC 18991 (PEG-IFN- $\alpha$ for 5 years vs. observation) (Eggermont et al. 2005, 2008, 2012, 2016a; Hansson et al. 2011). Neither WHO trial 16 nor ECOG trial E1690 demonstrated RFS/OS benefit with 2-3 years of lower-dosage IFN alpha-2a or 2b (3 MU two to three times weekly). Although EORTC 18952 and Nordic IFN- $\alpha$  trial were similar in many respects, the maintenance IFN-a doses on the 2-year arms of these trials were different: 5 MU 3/week in EORTC 18952 but 10 MU 3/week in Nordic IFN-α study. At initial reporting after ~5 years of median followup, both the Nordic IFN- $\alpha$  trial and EORTC 18952 concluded that adjuvant IFN- $\alpha$  for 1 year improved RFS but not OS without incremental benefit derived from additional treatment. Interestingly, following extended follow-up (median 11 years), EORTC 18952 showed that RFS, distant metastases-free survival (DMFS), and/or OS were not significantly different in either treatment arm compared to observation in the primary analysis but that patients with ulcerated primaries benefited from longer therapy in unplanned subgroup analyses. EORTC 18991 reported that PEG-IFN- $\alpha$ given for 5 years improved RFS (HR 0.87; 7-year RFS 39.1% vs. 34.6%) but has shown no impact on OS in stage III melanoma. Toxicity of PEG-IFN- $\alpha$ resulted in treatment discontinuation among 37% of patients. Similar to the observations in EORTC 18952, PEG-IFN- $\alpha$  therapy resulted in greater RFS, DMFS, and OS benefits in patients with ulcerated primaries and N1a disease. Selective benefits in patients with ulcerated primaries at initial

reporting (median follow-up 3.8 years) were still present at subsequent reporting (median follow-up 7.6 years). These observations have spurred EORTC to evaluate PEG-IFN- $\alpha$  for 2 years against observation in patients with ulcerated primaries and/or microscopic nodal metastases in EORTC 18081.

Efforts to augment the benefits of HDI either by dose intensification or with the addition of chemotherapy have generally demonstrated disappointing results, with high toxicity rates and no greater impact upon overall survival. Southwest Oncology Group's (SWOG) S0008 evaluated an intensive biochemotherapy regimen comprising vinblastine, IFN-α, cisplatin, IL-2, and dacarbazine given for 3 months, compared to standard HDI for 1 year among 402 patients with stage III (24% IIIC) melanoma (Flaherty et al. 2014). Notably, biochemotherapy improved RFS at a median follow-up of 7.2 years without any improvement in OS. Toxicity was considerable in both arms although grade 4 toxicity rates were greater with biochemotherapy than for HDI (40% vs. 7%). Treatment discontinuation rates were similar in both cohorts, and further evaluation of this regimen is not planned. The Italian Melanoma Intergroup (IMI) evaluated a doseintense HDI schedule (comprising standard HDI induction given every other month for four courses - intermittent HDI, IHDI) in 336 stage IIIA-IIIC patients (Chiarion-Sileni et al. 2011). The incidence of grade 3/4 toxicity and treatment-related discontinuation was balanced in both arms, but more IHDI patients completed therapy compared to HDI patients (66% vs. 49%). RFS and 5-year RFS statistics were not significantly different for the two arms, suggesting that intensive HDI is feasible and increases overall drug exposure.

Multiple systemic reviews, pooled individual patient data analysis, and pooled meta-analyses have examined the results of IFN- $\alpha$  treatment upon disease-free survival (DFS) and OS in patients with resected high-risk cutaneous melanoma (Lens and Dawes 2002; Garbe et al. 2011; Wheatley et al. 2003, 2007; Mocellin et al. 2010, 2013). Collectively these studies have concluded that IFN- $\alpha$ -based adjuvant therapy regardless of

the dosage tested consistently improves RFS by 17% (HR 0.83, 95% CI 0.78-0.87, p-value significant), with 9% OS improvement (HR 0.91, 95% CI 0.85-0.97, p-value significant) in the most recent Cochrane database review by Mocellin and colleagues (2013). HDI and PEG-IFN- $\alpha$  are approved by American, European (HDI only, not PEG-IFN- $\alpha$ ), and Australian regulatory authorities for the adjuvant treatment of high-risk resected melanoma defined as node-positive disease or node-negative disease with a primary Breslow thickness of T3b or greater. Both yearlong HDI and 5-year PEG-IFN-α regimens improve RFS (30% HDI; 13% PEG-IFN- $\alpha$ ) with lesser effects upon OS, or no detectable effect upon OS (PEG-IFN- $\alpha$ ). Therapy-related toxicity was considerable with both regimens and required delays or discontinuation in  $\sim$ 50% of treated patients?

# **Adjuvant Therapy: Vaccines**

Anecdotal reports of spontaneous antitumor immunity with subsequent tumor eradication have spawned multiple attempts at cancer vaccination. Early vaccines tested non-mutated immutumor-associated nogenic antigens and demonstrated rare clinical responses. Cancer vaccines can be categorized based on the antigen and/or cell incorporated - whole cell/cell lysate (autologous, allogeneic), dendritic cell (DC), peptide, ganglioside, DNA, and viral vectors. Early vaccine studies tested non-specific targets in highly heterogeneous patient populations and occasionally yielded early responses that could not be reproduced in large studies, and this data is summarized elsewhere (Ozao-Choy et al. 2014; Weiss et al. 2014).

Two vaccines with promising positive results in early-phase studies have recently reported negative results in definitive phase III studies: Vical's Allovectin-7[®] and GlaxoSmithKline's MAGE-A3 antigen-specific cancer immunotherapeutic (ASCI). Allovectin-7[®] is a DNA-liposome complex containing a plasmid that encoded major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I (HLA-B7/B-2 microglobulin) encased in a cationic lipid vector. Early-phase studies of intralesional Allovectin-7[®] injections were promising with several partial responses (Stopeck et al. 1997, 2001). In the pivotal phase III study, Allovectin-7[®] was compared to first-line chemother-(Dacarbazine or Temolozomide) apy in 390 previously patients with untreated unresectable stage III/IV melanoma where Allovectin-7[®] failed to demonstrate significant improvements for either the primary response endpoint or secondary OS endpoint. No further studies are planned. MAGE-A3 ASCI consists of recombinant MAGE-A3 protein and a novel immunostimulant AS15 (QS-21 Stimulon[®] adjuvant, monophosphoryl lipid A, and TLR-9 agonist CpG7909 in a liposomal formulation). MAGE-A3 ASCI was studied in 1351 patients with MAGE-A3+ high-risk stage III melanoma with macroscopic lymph node involvement. Compared to placebo, MAGE-A3 ASCI failed to improve DFS at first interim analysis which led to early study termination. Follow-up is ongoing to evaluate the co-primary endpoint of DFS in patients positive for a gene signature, expression of which was associated with clinical benefit in patients treated with MAGE-A3 ASCI in early-phase studies (Ulloa-Montoya et al. 2013).

Amgen's talimogene laherparepvec (T-VEC, Imlygic[®]) is a first-in-class oncolytic virus based on a modified herpes simplex virus (HSV) type 1 designed to selectively replicate in and lyse tumor cells while encouraging regional and systemic antitumor immunity following intralesional injection. T-VEC lacks herpes virus neurovirulence factor ICP34.5 and ICP47 genes. ICP34.5 deletion attenuates virulence while enhancing tumorselective replication, while ICP47 deletion increases antigen presentation and increases expression of the HSV US11 gene which in turn increases replication and oncolysis. T-VEC also contains a gene encoding human granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) which increases local GM-CSF production with resultant recruitment and activation of antigen-presenting cells. Earlier proof-of-principle studies demonstrated immunogenicity and clinical responses in virus-injected and non-injected lesions (Kaufman et al. 2016). The registration phase III OPTiM study randomized 436 unresected stage IIIB-IV (M1A-C) melanoma patients 2:1 to receive either T-VEC or subcutaneous GM-CSF powered for a primary endpoint of independently assessed durable ( $\geq 6$  months) response rate (DRR) (Andtbacka et al. 2015). Although this study permitted stage IIIB-IV (M1A-C) patients to enroll, M1B/C patients were limited to 40% of enrollment with response stratified by presence/absence of liver metastases. T-VEC significantly improved DRR over GM-CSF (16.3% vs. 2.1%) with nonsignificantly improved OS (HR 0.79, 95% CI 0.62-1.00, p = 0.051). T-VEC was most effective in treatmentnaive patients and those with stage IIIB/C or M1A disease. Currently approved for local treatment of unresectable and nodal disease in patients with recurrent melanoma, T-VEC is being evaluated as a neoadjuvant treatment prior to surgery for completely resectable stage IIIB/IIIC/M1A melanoma (NCT02211131).

# Adjuvant Therapy: Checkpoint Inhibitors

CTLA-4 and PD-1 are negative regulatory checkpoints that restrict T-cell activation. Blocking antibodies to CTLA-4 and PD-1 demonstrated potent antitumor activity in murine models and led to evaluation in patients with advanced melanoma. Two phase III trials evaluated the CTLA-4 blocking antibody ipilimumab with improved responses and overall survival compared to GP-100 (MDX010-020) in previously treated patients and dacarbazine (CA184-024) in previously untreated patients (Hodi et al. 2010; Robert et al. 2011). Notably, these studies tested different doses and schedules (020 trial, 3 mg/kg for four doses; 024 trial, 10 mg/kg for four doses and then 10 mg/kg maintenance till progression) and reported relatively similar rates of response but significantly greater rates of toxicity with higher doses of ipilimumab. Response rates with ipilimumab are 10-15%, and at 3 years, 21% of patients remain alive with a plateau in survival curves, suggesting that responders at this time point have durable benefit (Maio et al. 2015). PD-1 inhibitors nivolumab and pembrolizumab are associated with response rates of 35–50%,

while the ipilimumab/nivolumab combination produces even greater response rates (58%) compared to single-agent therapy with either nivolumab (44%) or ipilimumab (19%) albeit with significantly increased toxicity (55% grade 3/4 AEs) (Hodi et al. 2010; Larkin et al. 2015a; Robert et al. 2015a, b). Similar to ipilimumab, with nivolumab responses seen and pembrolizumab and the combination ipilimumab/nivolumab are exceedingly durable (Larkin et al. 2015b; Ribas et al. 2016; Wolchok et al. 2017). The efficacy of these agents has prompted a spate of adjuvant studies (see Table 3).

EORTC 18071 tested adjuvant ipilimumab against placebo in a randomized blinded phase III study that enrolled 951 patients with stage III melanoma, although patients with <1.0 mm lymph node involvement or in-transit disease were excluded. The dose of ipilimumab used in this adjuvant trial was higher (10 mg/kg every 3 weeks) than that approved for use in advanced disease in the USA, and additional maintenance treatment was specified (10 mg/kg every 3 months for 3 years) (Eggermont et al. 2015). At a median follow-up of 2.7 years, adjuvant ipilimumab 10 mg/kg significantly improved RFS (26.1 vs. 17.1 months) and 3-year RFS (46.5% vs. 34.8%) albeit with significant attendant toxicity: 54% of patients had grade 3/4 toxicity, and 52% discontinued treatment due to toxicity, with five deaths (1%). More recently, a report performed at a median of 5.3 years follow-up suggested that this RFS benefit was sustained with additional benefit in OS (hazard ratio for death 0.72) (Eggermont et al. 2016b). On the basis of these results, the FDA and EMA approved adjuvant ipilimumab at 10 mg/kg dose for the adjuvant treatment of stage III melanoma following surgery. Unfortunately, EORTC 18071 did not clarify the role of adjuvant therapy in with resected distant patients metastases (M1A/M1B) nor whether the less intense but more tolerable regimen tested in MDX010-020 was similarly efficacious.

ECOG's intergroup trial E1609 was a phase III study that tested adjuvant ipilimumab at 10 mg/kg and 3 mg/kg against to HDI in both high-risk (stage IIIC/IIIC) and very high-risk (stage IV

	۰						
Study reference	Number of patients eligible for analysis	Stage	Agents	Dose and schedule – treatment arm	Median follow-up at time of reporting (years)	DFS/RFS	SO
EORTC 18071/CA 184-029 (Eggermont et al. 2015, 2016b)	951	IIIA (T1-4AN1AM0) to IIIC (T1-4BN1B-3M0) excluding in-transit	Ipilimumab vs. placebo	Ipilimumab	5.3	Median RFS (ipi vs. placebo): 27.6 vs. 17.1 months	Median OS (ipi vs. placebo): not reported
		disease		Induction: 10 mg/kg q3 weeks $\times 4$		5-year RFS rate: 40.5% (ipi) vs. 30.3% (placebo)	5-year OS rate: 65.4% (ini)
							vs. 54.4% (placebo)
				Maintenance: 10 mg/kg q3 months for 3 years		HR: 0.76 (S)	HR: 0.72 (S)
ECOG E1609 (Tarhini et al. 2017)	1670	IIIB (T1-4BN1A-2AM0 or	Ipilimumab 10 mg/kg or	Ipilimumab	3.1	Median RFS: not reported	Not reported
		T1–4AN1B–N2CM0), IIIC	3 mg/kg vs. HDI	Induction: 3 or 10 mg/ kg q3 weeks or 4 doses		3-year RFS rate: 54% (ipilimumab-10) vs. 56%	
		(11-4BN1B-N3M0) and IVA/B (TxNxM1A-B)		Maintenance: 3 or 10 mg/kg q3 months for 4 doses		(ipilimumab-3); not reported for HDI	
				HDI as above			

Table 3 Phase III studies of adjuvant checkpoint inhibition in high-risk resected melanoma

CheckMate		IIIB_IIIC· IV_A·	Nivolumah	Inilimimah	16	Median RFS: not	Not renorted
238 (Weber et al.		IV-B; IV-C	vs. ipilimumab	J		reached in either group	
2017)			10 mg/kg	Induction: 3 or 10 mg/		1-year RFS rate: 71%	
				kg q3 weeks or 4 doses		(nivolumab) vs. 61%	
						(ipilimumab-10)	
				Maintenance: 3 or		18-month RFS rate: 66%	
				10 mg/kg q3 months for		(nivolumab) vs. 53%	
				4 doses		(ipilimumab-10)	
				Nivolumab: 2 mg/kg		HR: 0.65 (S)	
				every 2 weeks for 1 year			
CheckMate	006	IIIB-IIIC; IV-A;	Nivolumab	Ipilimumab: as in	Pending	Pending	Pending
915 (NCT03068455)	(planned)	IV-B; IV-C	vs. ipilimumab	CheckMate 238			
			10 mg/kg	Nivolumab: as in			
			vs. ipilimumab	CheckMate 238			
				Ipilimumab/			
				Nivolumab:			
				ipilimumab induction			
				with nivolumab as in			
				CheckMate 238			
SWOG S1404	1378	IIIB (T1-4BN2AM0 or	Pembrolizumab	Pembrolizumab:	Pending	Pending	Pending
(NCT02506153)	(accrued)	T1-4AN1B-N2CM0),	vs. investigator's	200 mg q3 weeks for			
		IIIC	choice HDI or	1 year			
		(T1-4BN1B-N3M0),	ipilimumab	HDI as above			
		and IVA/B (TxNxM1A–B)		Ipilimumab as in ECOG E1609			
	T DAVES 1:		TIDI Lich Jose IE		Indiana Ilanan	L	

DFS disease-free survival, DMFS distant metastases-free survival, HDI high-dose IFN, NS not significant, OS overall survival, obs observation, RFS relapse-free survival, S significant

M1A/B) resected melanoma. Ipilimumab was dosed at 3 mg/kg or 10 mg/kg every 3 weeks for four doses (induction) followed by a shorter maintenance phase (3 mg/kg or 10 mg/kg every 3 months for four cycles) than that which was utilized in EORTC 18071. The study was originally powered to evaluate the co-primary endpoints of RFS and OS in the three arms by allocating type I error in a hierarchical fashion initially between IFN- $\alpha$  and ipilimumab arms, permitting a comparison between ipilimumab-3 and ipilimumab-10 only if this former analysis was statistically significant. However, with the interim approval of adjuvant ipilimumab-10 based on EORTC 18071 and its' attendant toxicity, there was a pressing need to evaluate the relative efficacy of ipilimumab-3 schedule as tested in ECOG E1609. At ASCO 2017, authors presented an unplanned interim analysis of RFS in ipilimumab-3 and ipilimumab-10 (Tarhini et al. 2017). At a median of 3.1 years follow-up, 3-year RFS rates were similar in both ipilimumab-3 and ipilimumab-10 (54% vs. 56%, respectively) patients although patients treated with ipilimumab-10 had a much higher rate of discontinuation treatment compared to ipilimumab-3 (54% vs. 35%, respectively). Given the unplanned and interim nature of the analyses, neither OS data nor RFS/OS data comparing either ipilimumab dose to the HDI comparator were provided.

Given the favorable safety profile and better efficacy reported with PD-1 inhibitors compared to ipilimumab in unresectable stage IV melanoma, multiple studies were launched to evaluate these agents as adjuvant therapy in patients with resected stage IIIC and IV melanoma. CheckMate 238 was a randomized, double-blind, phase III trial that compared nivolumab (3 mg/kg every 2 weeks for 1 year) to ipilimumab (10 mg/kg every 3 weeks for four doses and then every 12 weeks for up to 1 year) in patients with resected stage IIIB, IIIC, or IV (M1A/B/C) melanoma (Weber et al. 2017). Randomization was stratified by stage (IIIB/C vs. M1A/B vs. M1C) and PD-L1 staining using a 5% cutoff on tumor cells (negative vs. intermediate vs. positive). Patients with stage IV disease accounted for ~20% of enrollment in both arms and mostly comprised M1A patients (~60%). Prespecified interim analyses at 19.5 months of follow-up showed that 12-month RFS rate was significantly greater with nivolumab compared to ipilimumab (71% vs. 61%) with significantly less treatment-related toxicity (14% vs. 46% grade 3/4 AEs).

A similar study was conducted by the Southwest Oncology Group (SWOG) in cooperation with ECOG to test the efficacy of pembrolizumab against investigator's choice of either ipilimumab (EORTC 18071 schedule) or HDI in resected stage IIIA–IV melanoma – SWOG S1404. Patients with stage IIIA disease are required to have at least N2 disease for eligibility, and only stage IV A/B patients are permitted to enroll. Accrual in this study is complete, and results will shed light on the comparative efficacy of PD-1 inhibition against CTLA-4 inhibition and IFN- $\alpha$  in the adjuvant arena.

To summarize, adjuvant ipilimumab as tested in EORTC 18071 significantly improves RFS and OS with significant attendant toxicity. Ipilimumab given at a lower dose for a shorter duration may be similarly efficacious (ECOG E1609), but reported analyses are very preliminary. CheckMate 238 demonstrated that adjuvant nivolumab was clearly superior to ipilimumab in stage III/IV melanoma in both RFS and OS terms. Based on these results, the FDA has granted a priority review to a supplemental biologics license application (sBLA) for nivolumab in this indication. The results of SWOG S1404 and CheckMate 915 (nivolumab vs. ipilimumab vs. ipilimumab/ nivolumab) are eagerly awaited.

# **Adjuvant Therapy: Signaling Inhibitors**

Deep sequencing data has identified several driver mutations in distinct subsets of melanoma including *BRAF/NRAS/NF1* (cutaneous), *GNA11/ GNAQ* (uveal), and *KIT* (mucosal/acral). Activating *BRAF* mutations are present in 40–60% of cutaneous melanomas – mostly comprising a glutamic acid for valine substitution at amino acid 600 (V600E) (Curtin et al. 2005, 2006). *BRAF*-mutated melanoma is associated with certain features (truncal primary, lack of chronic sun damage (CSD), and earlier age of onset) and an aggressive clinical course. BRAF inhibitors result in dramatic responses and prolonged survival in a large fraction of patients. Combining BRAF inhibitors with inhibitors of downstream MEK yields higher response rates and longer RFS/OS compared with BRAF inhibition alone (Chapman et al. 2011; Flaherty et al. 2012; Larkin et al. 2014; Long et al. 2014, 2015). BRAF and MEK inhibitors are being evaluated as adjuvant options in *BRAF V600E/K* mutant high-risk resected melanoma in several trials (see Table 4).

The role of single-agent BRAF inhibition in the adjuvant setting was tested in BRIM8: a phase III, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study of 1 year of vemurafenib adjuvant therapy in patients with surgically resected stage II and III melanoma (Lewis et al. 2017). BRIM8 included patients with deep/ulcerated primaries that were lymph node-negative (stage IIC) in addition to lymph node-positive (stage III A/B/C) patients but analyzed patients in two cohorts: lower-risk stage IIC-IIIB (cohort 1) and higher-risk stage IIIC (cohort 2). BRIM8 was powered on a primary endpoint of RFS that was evaluated in a hierarchical fashion in which cohort 2 was required to meet the primary endpoint before cohort 1 could be analyzed. Although vemurafenib monotherapy improved RFS in cohort 2 (hazard ratio for relapse 0.80), this was nonsignificant and precluded formally analyzing RFS data in cohort 1 (hazard ratio for relapse 0.54).

COMBI-AD was a randomized, placebocontrolled, double-blinded, phase III trial that studied the combination of oral dabrafenib/trametinib compared to placebo for 1 year in BRAF V600E/ K-mutated patients with stage III (A/B/C) melanoma following definitive surgery (Long et al. 2017). Enrollment was stratified by BRAF mutation status (V600E or V600K) and stage (IIIA, IIIB, or IIIC). In an interim analysis at a median follow-up of 2.8 years, adjuvant dabrafenib/trametinib significantly improved RFS (58% vs. 39%) and OS. Of note, 3-year OS rate was greater (86% vs. 77%) with dabrafenib/trametinib although this difference did not meet the prespecified threshold to claim statistical significance.

Unlike BRAF/NRAS/NF1 mutations, KIT mutations and amplification of wild-type KIT are typically observed in mucosal, acral, or CSD melanomas. KIT mutations in melanoma are typically located in the juxtamembrane domain with constitutive kinase activity - functionally similar to the activating mutations associated with gastrointestinal stromal tumors (GIST). Although ineffective in unselected patients, dramatic responses have been reported with the use of small molecular KIT inhibitors imatinib and dasatinib in patients with activating KIT mutations (Wyman et al. 2006; Lutzky et al. 2008; Woodman et al. 2009). A phase II study comparing adjuvant imatinib 400 mg daily for 1 year to modified HDI in a cohort of KIT-mutated stage IIB-IIIC Chinese patients was launched in 2012. As this study only enrolled seven patients at 2013 when it was initially reported, the limited sample size and follow-up preclude definitive conclusions being drawn regarding the use of adjuvant KIT inhibition in KIT-mutated melanoma (A phase II randomized study of adjuvant imatinib versus highdose interferon alpha-2b for resected high-risk c-kit mutated melanoma 2013).

In summary, adjuvant BRAF and MEK inhibition appears to meaningfully improve RFS in stage III melanoma. However, the role of BRAF monotherapy and/or KIT inhibition in *BRAF*mutated or *KIT*-mutated melanoma at high risk of recurrence following resection remains investigational at this time.

## Conclusion

Data from multiple phase III studies definitively demonstrate the impact of adjuvant IFN- $\alpha$  on RFS, while the impact on OS is less significant and diminishes after 10 years. PEG-IFN- $\alpha$  exclusively improves RFS with no OS benefit. Some features including systemic autoimmunity and certain features of the primary tumor (ulcerated primaries and/or microscopic node-positive disease) appear to be predictive biomarkers of IFN- $\alpha$ benefit; and the latter will be prospectively validated in an EORTC study (18081) (Gogas et al. 2006).

e patients to be enrolled 5 475 1				- VICUIAII JULIUW-		
be enrolled 5475 1			Dose and schedule	up at time of		
475 I	Stage	Agents	- treatment arm	reporting (years)	RFS	OS
	IIC or IIIA–C BRAF V600E/K mutated melanoma in two cohorts:	Vemurafenib vs. nlacebo	Vemurafenib 960 mg BID	2.7	Median RFS (cohort 1): not renorted (V) vs	Not reached
	lower-risk stages IIC–IIIB (cohort 1)	va. piaceo			36.9 months (placebo)	
	and higher-risk stage IIIC (cohort 2)					
H	Hierarchical analyses of primary RFS				HR (cohort 1): 0.54	
0	endpoint required cohort 2 to meet				(S but not interpretable)	
1	prior to analyses of cohort 1				Median RFS (cohort 2):	
					not reported	
					HR (cohort 2): 0.80 (NS)	
870 1	IIIA-IIIC BRAF V600E/K-mutated	Dabrafenib/	Dabrafenib	2.8	Median RFS: not reached	Median OS:
1	melanoma	trametinib	150 mg BID and		(D/T) vs. 16.6 months	not reached
		vs. placebo	trametinib 2 mg		(placebo)	
			daily		1-year: 88% (D/T)	1-year: 97%
					vs. 56% (placebo)	(D/T)
						vs. 94%
						(placebo)
					2-year: 67% (D/T)	2-year: 91%
					vs. 44% (placebo)	(D/T)
						vs. 83%
						(placebo)
					3-year: 58% (D/T)	3-year: 86%
					vs. 39% (placebo)	(D/T)
					,	vs. 77%
						(placebo)
					HR: 0.47 (S)	HR: 0.57
						(NS)

 Table 4
 Phase III studies of adjuvant targeted therapies in high-risk resected melanoma

Adjuvant ipilimumab at 10 mg/kg as tested in EORTC 18071 significantly improves RFS and OS, albeit with significant attendant toxicity. Although approved for this indication, how ipilimumab performs against HDI and whether lower doses are just as effective are unknown. ECOG E1609 suggests that ipilimumab 3 mg/kg is as efficacious as 10 mg/kg although the unplanned and interim nature of the reported analyses suggests data must be interpreted cautiously. In comparison, CheckMate 238 demonstrated that adjuvant nivolumab for 1 year significantly and meaningfully improved RFS and OS over ipilimumab in stage III and IV melanoma. Whether the ipilimumab/nivolumab combination further raises the bar over nivolumab monotherapy remains to be seen (CheckMate 915).

Molecularly targeted therapy with BRAF/ MEK inhibitors and to a lesser extent KIT inhibitors has demonstrated high response rates and survival benefits in metastatic melanoma, prompting evaluation in the adjuvant setting. While adjuvant BRAF/MEK inhibition is superior to placebo in BRAF-mutated melanoma, the impact of BRAF monotherapy is less clear.

To accelerate progress in this arena, trials of candidate adjuvant interventions in the neoadjuvant setting are vital. The advantages of this approach include the ability to evaluate tissue samples prior to and following 1-2 months of therapy, the mechanism of action of therapies, the clinical antitumor effects of the neoadjuvant intervention, and the evaluation of alternative endpoints (pathological complete response and others) that may be surrogates for RFS and OS endpoints. This approach offers a solution to the long window of time that adjuvant trials typically require for maturity. Separately, combinations of PD-1 inhibitors with BRAF/MEK inhibitors, small molecular inhibitors of immunomodulatory enzymes (IDO), and other immune checkpoint inhibitors (TIM3, LAG-3, TIGIT) are being considered and may raise the bar further. Biomarkers of prognostic utility, as well as biomarkers that may predict the therapeutic benefit or toxic events that are likely from adjuvant therapy, are increasingly important for adjuvant therapy discussions with patients.

Acknowledgments This work was supported by Award Number P50 CA121973 from the National Cancer Institute. The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of the National Cancer Institute or the National Institutes of Health.

## References

- A phase II randomized study of adjuvant imatinib versus high-dose interferon alpha-2b for resected high-risk c-kit mutated melanoma (2013) 2013 ASCO annual meeting|abstracts|meeting library [internet]. Cited 24 May 2016. Available from: http://meetinglibrary. asco.org/content/115887-132
- Agarwala SS, Lee SJ, Yip W, Rao UN, Tarhini AA, Cohen GI et al (2017) Phase III randomized study of 4 weeks of high-dose interferon-α-2b in stage T2bNO, T3a-bNO, T4a-bNO, and T1-4N1a-2a (microscopic) melanoma: a trial of the Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group-American College of Radiology Imaging Network Cancer Research Group (E1697). J Clin Oncol 35 (8):885–892
- Agrawal S, Kane JM, Guadagnolo BA, Kraybill WG, Ballo MT (2009) The benefits of adjuvant radiation therapy after therapeutic lymphadenectomy for clinically advanced, high-risk, lymph node-metastatic melanoma. Cancer 115(24):5836–5844
- AJCC American Joint Committee on Cancer [Internet]. Cited 24 May 2016. Available from: https:// cancerstaging.org/Pages/default.aspx
- Andtbacka RH, Kaufman HL, Collichio F, Amatruda T, Senzer N, Chesney J et al (2015) Talimogene laherparepvec improves durable response rate in patients with advanced melanoma. J Clin Oncol 33 (25):2780–2788
- Arora A, Lowe L, Su L, Rees R, Bradford C, Cimmino VC et al (2005) Wide excision without radiation for desmoplastic melanoma. Cancer 104(7):1462–1467
- Balch CM, Buzaid AC, Soong SJ, Atkins MB, Cascinelli N, Coit DG et al (2001) Final version of the American Joint Committee on Cancer staging system for cutaneous melanoma. J Clin Oncol 19 (16):3635–3648
- Balch CM, Gershenwald JE, Soong S-J, Thompson JF, Atkins MB, Byrd DR et al (2009) Final version of 2009 AJCC melanoma staging and classification. J Clin Oncol 27(36):6199–6206
- Balch CM, Gershenwald JE, Soong S-J, Thompson JF (2011) Update on the melanoma staging system: the importance of sentinel node staging and primary tumor mitotic rate. J Surg Oncol 104(4):379–385
- Bellucci R, Martin A, Bommarito D, Wang K, Hansen SH, Freeman GJ et al (2015) Interferon-γ-induced activation of JAK1 and JAK2 suppresses tumor cell susceptibility to NK cells through upregulation of PD-L1 expression. Oncoimmunology 4(6): e1008824

- Cameron DA, Cornbleet MC, Mackie RM, Hunter JA, Gore M, Hancock B et al (2001) Adjuvant interferon alpha 2b in high risk melanoma – the Scottish study. Br J Cancer 84(9):1146–1149
- Cascinelli N, Belli F, MacKie RM, Santinami M, Bufalino R, Morabito A (2001) Effect of long-term adjuvant therapy with interferon alpha-2a in patients with regional node metastases from cutaneous melanoma: a randomised trial. Lancet 358(9285):866–869
- Chapman PB, Hauschild A, Robert C, Haanen JB, Ascierto P, Larkin J et al (2011) Improved survival with vemurafenib in melanoma with BRAF V600E mutation. N Engl J Med 364(26):2507–2516
- Chiarion-Sileni, Guida V, Romanini M, Ridolfi A, Mandala R, Bianco MD et al (2011) Intensified highdose intravenous interferon alpha 2b (IFNa2b) for adjuvant treatment of stage III melanoma: a randomized phase III Italian Melanoma Intergroup (IMI) trial [ISRCTN75125874]. ASCO Meeting Abstracts [Internet]. Available from: http://meeting.ascopubs.org/cgi/ content/abstract/29/15_suppl/8506
- Coit DG, Thompson JA, Algazi A, Andtbacka R, Bichakjian CK, Carson WE et al (2016) Melanoma, version 2.2016, NCCN clinical practice guidelines in oncology. J Natl Compr Cancer Netw 14(4):450–473
- Cordeiro E, Gervais MK, Shah PS, Look Hong NJ, Wright FC (2016) Sentinel lymph node biopsy in thin cutaneous melanoma: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Ann Surg Oncol 23:4178–4188
- Creagan ET, Dalton RJ, Ahmann DL, Jung SH, Morton RF, Langdon RM et al (1995) Randomized, surgical adjuvant clinical trial of recombinant interferon alfa-2a in selected patients with malignant melanoma. J Clin Oncol 13(11):2776–2783
- Curtin JA, Fridlyand J, Kageshita T, Patel HN, Busam KJ, Kutzner H et al (2005) Distinct sets of genetic alterations in melanoma. N Engl J Med 353(20):2135–2147
- Curtin JA, Busam K, Pinkel D, Bastian BC (2006) Somatic activation of KIT in distinct subtypes of melanoma. J Clin Oncol 24(26):4340–4346
- Eggermont AM, Suciu S, MacKie R, Ruka W, Testori A, Kruit W et al (2005) Post-surgery adjuvant therapy with intermediate doses of interferon alfa 2b versus observation in patients with stage IIb/III melanoma (EORTC 18952): randomised controlled trial. Lancet 366 (9492):1189–1196
- Eggermont AM, Suciu S, Santinami M, Testori A, Kruit WH, Marsden J et al (2008) Adjuvant therapy with pegylated interferon alfa-2b versus observation alone in resected stage III melanoma: final results of EORTC 18991, a randomised phase III trial. Lancet 372(9633):117–126
- Eggermont AMM, Suciu S, Testori A, Santinami M, Kruit WHJ, Marsden J et al (2012) Long-term results of the randomized phase III trial EORTC 18991 of adjuvant therapy with pegylated interferon alfa-2b versus observation in resected stage III melanoma. J Clin Oncol 30 (31):3810–3818
- Eggermont AMM, Chiarion-Sileni V, Grob J-J, Dummer R, Wolchok JD, Schmidt H et al (2015)

Adjuvant ipilimumab versus placebo after complete resection of high-risk stage III melanoma (EORTC 18071): a randomised, double-blind, phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol 16(5):522–530

- Eggermont AM, Suciu S, Rutkowski P, Kruit WH, Punt CJ, Dummer R et al (2016a) Long term follow up of the EORTC 18952 trial of adjuvant therapy in resected stage IIB-III cutaneous melanoma patients comparing intermediate doses of interferon-alpha-2b (IFN- $\alpha$ ) with observation: ulceration of primary is key determinant for IFN- $\alpha$ -sensitivity. Eur J Cancer 55:111–121
- Eggermont AMM, Chiarion-Sileni V, Grob J-J, Dummer R, Wolchok JD, Schmidt H et al (2016b) Prolonged survival in stage III melanoma with ipilimumab adjuvant therapy. N Engl J Med 375 (19):1845–1855
- Faries MB, Thompson JF, Cochran AJ, Andtbacka RH, Mozzillo N, Zager JS et al (2017) Completion dissection or observation for sentinel-node metastasis in melanoma. N Engl J Med 376(23):2211–2222
- Flaherty KT, Robert C, Hersey P, Nathan P, Garbe C, Milhem M et al (2012) Improved survival with MEK inhibition in BRAF-mutated melanoma. N Engl J Med 367(2):107–114
- Flaherty LE, Othus M, Atkins MB, Tuthill RJ, Thompson JA, Vetto JT et al (2014) Southwest Oncology Group S0008: a phase III trial of high-dose interferon Alfa-2b versus cisplatin, vinblastine, and dacarbazine, plus interleukin-2 and interferon in patients with high-risk melanoma – an intergroup study of cancer and leukemia Group B, Children's Oncology Group, Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group, and Southwest Oncology Group. J Clin Oncol 32(33):3771–3778
- Garbe C, Radny P, Linse R, Dummer R, Gutzmer R, Ulrich J et al (2008) Adjuvant low-dose interferon {alpha}2a with or without dacarbazine compared with surgery alone: a prospective-randomized phase III DeCOG trial in melanoma patients with regional lymph node metastasis. Ann Oncol 19(6):1195–1201
- Garbe C, Eigentler TK, Keilholz U, Hauschild A, Kirkwood JM (2011) Systematic review of medical treatment in melanoma: current status and future prospects. Oncologist 16(1):5–24
- Gerami P, Cook RW, Wilkinson J, Russell MC, Dhillon N, Amaria RN et al (2015a) Development of a prognostic genetic signature to predict the metastatic risk associated with cutaneous melanoma. Clin Cancer Res 21 (1):175–183
- Gerami P, Cook RW, Russell MC, Wilkinson J, Amaria RN, Gonzalez R et al (2015b) Gene expression profiling for molecular staging of cutaneous melanoma in patients undergoing sentinel lymph node biopsy. J Am Acad Dermatol 72(5):780–5.e3
- Gogas H, Ioannovich J, Dafni U, Stavropoulou-Giokas C, Frangia K, Tsoutsos D et al (2006) Prognostic significance of autoimmunity during treatment of melanoma with interferon. N Engl J Med 354(7):709–718
- Grob JJ, Dreno B, la Salmonière P, de Delaunay M, Cupissol D, Guillot B et al (1998) Randomised trial

of interferon alpha-2a as adjuvant therapy in resected primary melanoma thicker than 1.5 mm without clinically detectable node metastases. French Cooperative Group on Melanoma. Lancet 351(9120):1905–1910

- Hallemeier CL, Garces YI, Neben-Wittich MA, Olivier KR, Shon W, García JJ et al (2013) Adjuvant hypofractionated intensity modulated radiation therapy after resection of regional lymph node metastases in patients with cutaneous malignant melanoma of the head and neck. Pract Radiat Oncol 3(2):e71–e77
- Hancock BW, Wheatley K, Harris S, Ives N, Harrison G, Horsman JM et al (2004) Adjuvant interferon in highrisk melanoma: the AIM HIGH study – United Kingdom Coordinating Committee on Cancer Research randomized study of adjuvant low-dose extended-duration interferon Alfa-2a in high-risk resected malignant melanoma. J Clin Oncol 22(1):53–61
- Hansson J, Aamdal S, Bastholt L, Brandberg Y, Hernberg M, Nilsson B et al (2011) Two different durations of adjuvant therapy with intermediate-dose interferon alfa-2b in patients with high-risk melanoma (Nordic IFN-α trial): a randomised phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol 12(2):144–152
- Hauschild A, Weichenthal M, Rass K, Linse R, Berking C, Böttjer J et al (2010) Efficacy of low-dose interferon {alpha}2a 18 versus 60 months of treatment in patients with primary melanoma of >= 1.5 mm tumor thickness: results of a randomized phase III DeCOG trial. J Clin Oncol 28(5):841–846
- Henderson MA, Burmeister BH, Ainslie J, Fisher R, Di Iulio J, Smithers BM et al (2015) Adjuvant lymph-node field radiotherapy versus observation only in patients with melanoma at high risk of further lymph-node field relapse after lymphadenectomy (ANZMTG 01.02/ TROG 02.01): 6-year follow-up of a phase 3, randomised controlled trial. Lancet Oncol 16 (9):1049–1060
- Hodi FS, O'Day SJ, McDermott DF, Weber RW, Sosman JA, Haanen JB et al (2010) Improved survival with ipilimumab in patients with metastatic melanoma. N Engl J Med 363(8):711–723
- Ivashkiv LB, Donlin LT (2014) Regulation of type I interferon responses. Nat Rev Immunol 14(1):36–49
- Kaufman HL, Kirkwood JM, Hodi FS, Agarwala S, Amatruda T, Bines SD et al (2013) The Society for Immunotherapy of Cancer consensus statement on tumour immunotherapy for the treatment of cutaneous melanoma. Nat Rev Clin Oncol 10 (10):588–598
- Kaufman HL, Amatruda T, Reid T, Gonzalez R, Glaspy J, Whitman E et al (2016) Systemic versus local responses in melanoma patients treated with talimogene laherparepvec from a multi-institutional phase II study. J Immunother Cancer 4:12
- Kirkwood JM, Strawderman MH, Ernstoff MS, Smith TJ, Borden EC, Blum RH (1996) Interferon alfa-2b adjuvant therapy of high-risk resected cutaneous melanoma: the Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group Trial EST 1684. J Clin Oncol 14(1):7–17

- Kirkwood JM, Ibrahim JG, Sondak VK, Richards J, Flaherty LE, Ernstoff MS et al (2000) High- and low-dose interferon alfa-2b in high-risk melanoma: first analysis of intergroup trial E1690/S9111/C9190. J Clin Oncol 18(12):2444–2458
- Kirkwood JM, Ibrahim JG, Sosman JA, Sondak VK, Agarwala SS, Ernstoff MS et al (2001a) High-dose interferon alfa-2b significantly prolongs relapse-free and overall survival compared with the GM2-KLH/ QS-21 vaccine in patients with resected stage IIB-III melanoma: results of intergroup trial E1694/S9512/ C509801. J Clin Oncol 19(9):2370–2380
- Kirkwood JM, Ibrahim J, Lawson DH, Atkins MB, Agarwala SS, Collins K et al (2001b) High-dose interferon alfa-2b does not diminish antibody response to GM2 vaccination in patients with resected melanoma: results of the Multicenter Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group Phase II Trial E2696. J Clin Oncol 19 (5):1430–1436
- Kleeberg UR, Suciu S, Bröcker EB, Ruiter DJ, Chartier C, Liénard D et al (2004) Final results of the EORTC 18871/DKG 80-1 randomised phase III trial. rIFNalpha2b versus rIFN-gamma versus ISCADOR M versus observation after surgery in melanoma patients with either high-risk primary (thickness >3 mm) or regional lymph node metastasis. Eur J Cancer 40(3):390–402
- Larkin J, Ascierto PA, Dréno B, Atkinson V, Liszkay G, Maio M et al (2014) Combined vemurafenib and cobimetinib in BRAF-mutated melanoma. N Engl J Med 371(20):1867–1876
- Larkin J, Chiarion-Sileni V, Gonzalez R, Grob JJ, Cowey CL, Lao CD et al (2015a) Combined nivolumab and ipilimumab or monotherapy in untreated melanoma. N Engl J Med 373(1):23–34
- Larkin J, Lao CD, Urba WJ, McDermott DF, Horak C, Jiang J et al (2015b) Efficacy and safety of nivolumab in patients with BRAF V600 mutant and BRAF wildtype advanced melanoma: a pooled analysis of 4 clinical trials. JAMA Oncol 1(4):433–440
- Lens MB, Dawes M (2002) Interferon alfa therapy for malignant melanoma: a systematic review of randomized controlled trials. J Clin Oncol 20 (7):1818–1825
- Lewis K, Maio M, Demidov L, Mandala M, Ascierto PA, Herbert C et al (2017) LBA7_PRBRIM8: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study of adjuvant vemurafenib in patients (pts) with completely resected, BRAFV600+ melanoma at high risk for recurrence. Ann Oncol 28(Suppl_5):v605–v649
- Long GV, Stroyakovskiy D, Gogas H, Levchenko E, de Braud F, Larkin J et al (2014) Combined BRAF and MEK inhibition versus BRAF inhibition alone in melanoma. N Engl J Med 371(20):1877–1888
- Long GV, Stroyakovskiy D, Gogas H, Levchenko E, de Braud F, Larkin J et al (2015) Dabrafenib and trametinib versus dabrafenib and placebo for Val600 BRAF-mutant melanoma: a multicentre, double-blind, phase 3 randomised controlled trial. Lancet 386 (9992):444–451

- Long GV, Hauschild A, Santinami M, Atkinson V, MandalàM, Chiarion-Sileni V et al (2017) Adjuvant Dabrafenib plus Trametinib in Stage III BRAF-Mutated Melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2017 Nov 9;377 (19):1813–1823.
- Lutzky J, Bauer J, Bastian BC (2008) Dose-dependent, complete response to imatinib of a metastatic mucosal melanoma with a K642E KIT mutation. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res 21(4):492–493
- Maio M, Grob J-J, Aamdal S, Bondarenko I, Robert C, Thomas L et al (2015) Five-year survival rates for treatment-naive patients with advanced melanoma who received ipilimumab plus dacarbazine in a phase III trial. J Clin Oncol 33(10):1191–1196
- Malczewski A, Marshall A, Payne MJ, Mao L, Bafaloukos D, Si L et al (2016) Intravenous high-dose interferon with or without maintenance treatment in melanoma at high risk of recurrence: meta-analysis of three trials. Cancer Med 5(1):17–23
- McMasters KM, Egger ME, Edwards MJ, Ross MI, Reintgen DS, Noyes RD et al (2016) Final results of the sunbelt melanoma trial: a multi-institutional prospective randomized phase III study evaluating the role of adjuvant high-dose interferon alfa-2b and completion lymph node dissection for patients staged by sentinel lymph node biopsy. J Clin Oncol 34 (10):1079–1086
- Melanoma of the Skin SEER Stat Fact Sheets [Internet]. Cited 10 May 2016. Available from: http://seer.cancer. gov/statfacts/html/melan.html
- Mocellin S, Pasquali S, Rossi CR, Nitti D (2010) Interferon alpha adjuvant therapy in patients with high-risk melanoma: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Natl Cancer Inst 102(7):493–501
- Mocellin S, Lens MB, Pasquali S, Pilati P, Chiarion Sileni V (2013) Interferon alpha for the adjuvant treatment of cutaneous melanoma. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 6: CD008955
- Ozao-Choy J, Lee DJ, Faries MB (2014) Melanoma vaccines: mixed past, promising future. Surg Clin N Am 94 (5):1017–1030, viii
- Payne MJ, Argyropoulou K, Lorigan P, McAleer JJ, Farrugia D, Davidson N et al (2014) Phase II pilot study of intravenous high-dose interferon with or without maintenance treatment in melanoma at high risk of recurrence. J Clin Oncol 32(3):185–190
- Pectasides D, Dafni U, Bafaloukos D, Skarlos D, Polyzos A, Tsoutsos D et al (2009) Randomized phase III study of 1 month versus 1 year of adjuvant high-dose interferon alfa-2b in patients with resected high-risk melanoma. J Clin Oncol 27(6):939–944
- Pehamberger H, Soyer HP, Steiner A, Kofler R, Binder M, Mischer P et al (1998) Adjuvant interferon alfa-2a treatment in resected primary stage II cutaneous melanoma. Austrian Malignant Melanoma Cooperative Group. J Clin Oncol 16(4):1425–1429
- Quinn MJ, Crotty KA, Thompson JF, Coates AS, O'Brien CJ, McCarthy WH (1998) Desmoplastic and

desmoplastic neurotropic melanoma: experience with 280 patients. Cancer 83(6):1128–1135

- Ribas A, Hamid O, Daud A, Hodi FS, Wolchok JD, Kefford R et al (2016) Association of pembrolizumab with tumor response and survival among patients with advanced melanoma. JAMA 315(15):1600–1609
- Robert C, Thomas L, Bondarenko I, O'Day S, Weber J, Garbe C et al (2011) Ipilimumab plus dacarbazine for previously untreated metastatic melanoma. N Engl J Med 364(26):2517–2526
- Robert C, Schachter J, Long GV, Arance A, Grob JJ, Mortier L et al (2015a) Pembrolizumab versus ipilimumab in advanced melanoma. N Engl J Med 372(26):2521–2532
- Robert C, Long GV, Brady B, Dutriaux C, Maio M, Mortier L et al (2015b) Nivolumab in previously untreated melanoma without BRAF mutation. N Engl J Med 372(4):320–330
- Stopeck AT, Hersh EM, Akporiaye ET, Harris DT, Grogan T, Unger E et al (1997) Phase I study of direct gene transfer of an allogeneic histocompatibility antigen, HLA-B7, in patients with metastatic melanoma. J Clin Oncol 15(1):341–349
- Stopeck AT, Jones A, Hersh EM, Thompson JA, Finucane DM, Gutheil JC et al (2001) Phase II study of direct intralesional gene transfer of allovectin-7, an HLA-B7/ beta2-microglobulin DNA-liposome complex, in patients with metastatic melanoma. Clin Cancer Res 7 (8):2285–2291
- Tarhini AA, Lee SJ, Hodi FS, Rao UNM, Cohen GI, Hamid O et al (2017) A phase III randomized study of adjuvant ipilimumab (3 or 10 mg/kg) versus highdose interferon alfa-2b for resected high-risk melanoma (U.S. intergroup E1609): preliminary safety and efficacy of the ipilimumab arms. J Clin Oncol [Internet] 35 (15_suppl):9500–9500. Available from: http:// ascopubs.org/doi/abs/10.1200/JCO.2017.35.15_suppl. 9500
- Ulloa-Montoya F, Louahed J, Dizier B, Gruselle O, Spiessens B, Lehmann FF et al (2013) Predictive gene signature in MAGE-A3 antigen-specific cancer immunotherapy. J Clin Oncol 31(19):2388–2395
- Vongtama R, Safa A, Gallardo D, Calcaterra T, Juillard G (2003) Efficacy of radiation therapy in the local control of desmoplastic malignant melanoma. Head Neck 25 (6):423–428
- Weber J, Mandala M, Del Vecchio M, Gogas HJ, Arance AM, Cowey CL et al (2017) Adjuvant nivolumab versus ipilimumab in resected stage III or IV melanoma. N Engl J Med 377:1824–1835
- Weiss SA, Chandra S, Pavlick AC (2014) Update on vaccines for high-risk melanoma. Curr Treat Options in Oncol 15(2):269–280
- Wheatley K, Ives N, Hancock B, Gore M, Eggermont A, Suciu S (2003) Does adjuvant interferon-alpha for high-risk melanoma provide a worthwhile benefit? A meta-analysis of the randomised trials. Cancer Treat Rev 29(4):241–252

- Wheatley, Ives K, Eggermont N, Kirkwood A, Cascinelli J, Markovic N et al (2007) Interferon-{alpha} as adjuvant therapy for melanoma: an individual patient data metaanalysis of randomised trials. ASCO Meeting Abstracts [Internet]. Available from: http://meeting.ascopubs. org/cgi/content/short/25/18_suppl/8526
- Wolchok JD, Chiarion-Sileni V, Gonzalez R, Rutkowski P, Grob J-J, Cowey CL et al (2017) Overall survival with combined nivolumab and ipilimumab in advanced melanoma. N Engl J Med 377(14):1345–1356
- Wong SL, Kattan MW, McMasters KM, Coit DG (2005) A nomogram that predicts the presence of sentinel node metastasis in melanoma with better discrimination than the American Joint Committee on Cancer staging system. Ann Surg Oncol 12(4):282–288
- Wong SL, Balch CM, Hurley P, Agarwala SS, Akhurst TJ, Cochran A et al (2012) Sentinel lymph node biopsy for

melanoma: American Society of Clinical Oncology and Society of Surgical Oncology joint clinical practice guideline. J Clin Oncol 30(23):2912–2918

- Woodman SE, Trent JC, Stemke-Hale K, Lazar AJ, Pricl S, Pavan GM et al (2009) Activity of dasatinib against L576P KIT mutant melanoma: molecular, cellular, and clinical correlates. Mol Cancer Ther 8 (8):2079–2085
- Woods JF, De Marchi JA, Lowery AJ, Hill AD (2015) Validation of a nomogram predicting sentinel lymph node status in melanoma in an Irish population. Ir J Med Sci 184(4):769–773
- Wyman K, Atkins MB, Prieto V, Eton O, McDermott DF, Hubbard F et al (2006) Multicenter phase II trial of high-dose imatinib mesylate in metastatic melanoma: significant toxicity with no clinical efficacy. Cancer 106 (9):2005–2011



# Cutaneous Adverse Events of Systemic **36** Melanoma Treatments

Christian Menzer, Steven T. Chen, Gregory S. Phillips, and Mario E. Lacouture

# Contents

Introduction	745
Grading of Dermatologic Toxicities	745
Immunotherapy-Related Cutaneous Adverse Events (ircAEs)	745
Overarching Principles	746
Rash	747
Pruritus	747
Vitiligo	752
Lichen Planus (LP)/Lichenoid Eruption	753
Bullous Pemphigoid (BP)-Like Reaction	753
Targeted Therapy-induced Cutaneous Adverse Events	755
Rash	756
Folliculitis and Acneiform Rash	758
Paronychia	758
Hair Changes	759
Epidermal Tumors	759
Melanocytic Proliferations and New Primary Melanomas	760
Hand-Foot Reaction (Hyperkeratosis)	760
Photosensitivity	761
Radiation Sensitivity and Radiation Recall Dermatitis	761
Panniculitis	762

C. Menzer · G. S. Phillips Dermatology Service, Department of Medicine, Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center, New York, NY, USA

S. T. Chen Department of Dermatology, Massachusetts General Hospital, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, USA

M. E. Lacouture (⊠) Dermatology Service, Department of Medicine, Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center, New York, NY, USA e-mail: lacoutum@mskcc.org

© Springer Science+Business Media, LLC, part of Springer Nature 2019 D. E. Fisher, B. C. Bastian (eds.), *Melanoma*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-7147-9_38

Chemotherapy-Induced Cutaneous Adverse Events	762
Phototoxicity	766
Hypersensitivity	766
Conclusion	766
References	767

#### Abstract

Cutaneous adverse events (AEs) are frequent with systemic melanoma treatments. As a result of a paradigmatic shift in melanoma management from traditional cytotoxic chemotherapy to immunotherapies and targeted therapies as first-line treatment, the spectrum of skin AEs to these treatments has significantly broadened. Cutaneous toxicities from anticancer therapy manifest as doubly burdensome as visible stigmatization often carries profound psychosocial implications. Early detection and treatment help to minimize a reduction in patients' quality of life and maximize anticancer treatment adherence and outcome. The knowledge of typical presentations associated with the specific drug regimen administered to the patient is essential for timely management of these conditions. A dermatological evaluation of the skin condition appears to be essential for an interdisciplinary approach as very often even dramatic skin presentations do not necessitate a cessation of the potentially lifesaving antineoplastic drug. Since the onset of AEs of some therapies can take up to several months or years and may also occur in cancer survivors long after completion of their therapy, thorough dermatological follow-up may be advised even after successful completion of antineoplastic treatments.

#### Keywords

Cutaneous toxicities · Immune checkpoint inhibitor (ICI) · BRAF inhibitor (BRAFi) · MEK inhibitor (MEKi) · Chemotherapy · Adverse events (AEs)

Abbreviatio	ns
AD	Atopic dermatitis
ADLs	Activities of daily living
AE	Adverse event
AH	Antihistamines
AK	Actinic keratosis
BP	Bullous pemphigoid
BPAG	Bullous pemphigoid antigen
BRAF wt	BRAF wild-type mutation
BRAFi	BRAF inhibitor
BSA	Body surface area
CIA	Chemotherapy-induced alopecia
CsA	Cyclosporin A
CTCAE	Common Terminology Criteria
	for Adverse Events
CTLA-4	Cytotoxic T-lymphocyte antigen-
	4
cuSCC/	(Cutaneous) Squamous cell
SCC	carcinoma
DEJ	Dermo-epidermal junction
DRESS	Drug reaction with eosinophilia
	and systemic symptoms
DTIC	5-(3,3-Dimethyl-1-triazeno)
	imidazole-4-carboxamide
EGFRi	Epidermal growth factor receptor
	inhibitor
FDA	Food and Drug Administration
H&E	Hematoxylin and Eosin stain
HDAC	Histone deacetylase
HFS	Hand-foot syndrome
ICI	Immune checkpoint inhibitor
IDO	Indoleamine-pyrrole
	2,3-dioxygenase
ircAE	Immune-related cutaneous
	adverse event
irAE	Immune-related adverse event
KA	Keratoacanthoma
LP	Lichen planus

MAPK	Mitogen-activated protein kinase
pathway	pathway
MEKi	MEK inhibitor
MMF	Mycophenolate mofetil
MTIC	5-3-Methyltriazen-1-yl-imidazo-
	4-carboxamide
MTX	Methotrexate
NSCLC	Non-small cell lung cancer
OS	Overall survival
OTC	Over-the-counter
PD-1	Programmed cell death protein-1
PD-L1	Programmed cell death ligand-1
PFS	Progression-free survival
QoL	Quality of life
RCC	Renal cell carcinoma
RR	Response rate
SCAR	Severe cutaneous adverse
	reaction
SJS	Stevens-Johnson syndrome
TCR	T-cell receptor
TEN	Toxic epidermolytic necrolysis

#### Introduction

The therapy profile of advanced malignant melanoma has rapidly evolved from chemotherapy regimens with low response rates and no survival benefit toward an immunotherapy-based model beginning in 2011 after the introduction of the cytotoxic T-lymphocyte antigen-4 (CTLA-4) inhibitor ipilimumab and the development of targeted therapies such as BRAF and MEK inhibitors. These new therapies have shown a dramatic increase in response rates (RR), progression-free survival (PFS), and overall survival (OS). Hence, formerly utilized chemotherapies such as dacarbazine have acquired a second-line role in the therapeutic landscape of metastatic melanoma. Thus, the spectrum of therapy-associated adverse events (AEs) encountered in daily practice has shifted to phenomena associated with immune response augmentation or mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathway inhibition exploited by modern melanoma therapy agents. The introduction of novel mechanisms of modern tumor therapies has also necessitated a rethinking of the management of their AEs.

#### Grading of Dermatologic Toxicities

Accurate grading is critical to assess response to antitoxicity interventions and impact on patients (Lynch et al. 2007). The most widely used system to grade toxicities in clinical trials is the **Common Terminology Criteria for Adverse Events (CTCAE)** in its current version 5.0, published by the US Department of Health and Human Services on November 27, 2017. Adverse events are graded from 1 to 5, taking into consideration the severity of symptoms and the impact an AE has on patient functional status, capsulized as activities of daily living (ADLs) (Table 1).

# Immunotherapy-Related Cutaneous Adverse Events (ircAEs)

In 2011, ipilimumab, an anti-CTLA-4 monoclonal antibody, was the first checkpoint inhibitor to be approved by the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) for the treatment of metastatic melanoma. The concept of immunotherapy as a means of harnessing the patient's own immune system in the fight against cancer represents a paradigm shift from traditional chemotherapy regimens, which had always demonstrated low response rates below 20% and no proven overall survival benefit. Given the remarkable effect that ipilimumab had on melanoma patient outcomes, immunotherapy quickly became one of the main pillars in first-line melanoma therapy and has been adapted for a variety of solid tumors as well. Soon after ipilimumab, new immune checkpoint inhibitors (ICIs) were developed, including those that block programmed cell death protein-1 (PD-1; nivolumab and pembrolizumab), and those that block programmed cell death ligand-1 (PD-L1; avelumab, atezolizumab, and durvalumab). Now, combination therapy with the use of multiple ICIs is common in the treatment of advanced malignancies with the benefit of increased survival. However, with immunotherapy, the upregulation of the immune system also meant a new host of adverse reactions secondary to the disinhibition of tightly regulated immune processes. Given the differences

Grade 1	Grade 2	Grade 3	Grade 4	Grade 5
Mild; asymptomatic or	Moderate; minimal, local	Severe or medically	Life-	Death
mild symptoms; clinical	or noninvasive	significant but not	threatening	related
or diagnostic	intervention indicated;	immediately life-	consequences;	to AE
observations only;	limiting age-appropriate	threatening; hospitalization	urgent	
intervention not indicated	instrumental ADL	or prolongation of	intervention	
		hospitalization indicated;	indicated	
		disabling; limiting self-care		
		ADL		

 Table 1
 Common Terminology Criteria for Adverse Events (CTCAE) grading system for adverse events, version 5.0

**Table 2** Skin toxicity data of FDA-approved immunotherapies for advanced melanoma. (Adapted from Hassel et al. 2017)

	Ipilimumab ^a	Nivolumab ^b	Pembrolizumab ^c	Ipilimumab/nivolumab ^a
Drug	(N=357)	(N=787)	(N=786)	(N=407)
Target molecule	CTLA-4	PD-1	PD-1	CTLA-4 and PD-1
Skin toxicity (any grade)	61.9%	38.4%	28.3%	64%
Skin toxicity (grade $\geq$ 3)	6.4%	1.1%	0.02%	7%
Rash (any grade)	31%	16.9%	13.4–16.1%	30%
Rash (grade $\geq$ 3)	3.2%	0.4%	0-0.2%	3%
Pruritus (any grade)	33.4%	18.4%	14.1–17.7%	35%
Pruritus (grade ≥3)	1.7%	0.1%	0%	2%
Vitiligo (any grade)	7.6%	8.8%	4.7–11.2%	9%

^aData was obtained from CheckMate-067 and CheckMate-069 (ipilimumab 3 mg/kg plus nivolumab 1 mg/kg q3w in stage IV melanoma)

^bData from CheckMate-037, CheckMate-066, and CheckMate-067 (nivolumab 3 mg/kg q2w in stage IV melanoma)

^cData obtained from KEYNOTE-006 and KEYNOTE-054 (pembrolizumab 2 mg/kg q3w in stage IV melanoma and resected stage III melanoma) (Eggermont et al. 2018; Robert et al. 2015a)

in underlying mechanisms of these drugs, as well as the variability in which they are used in combination, we are still learning about the different immune-related cutaneous adverse events (ircAEs) that are possible. Each drug has its own profile and likelihood of producing a certain set of ircAEs, and when used in combination, the expected frequencies can be quite different (Khoja et al. 2017).

#### **Overarching Principles**

ircAEs are the most common and earliest AEs to manifest from immunotherapy (Habre et al. 2016; Weber et al. 2012). All-grade rash and pruritus have been reported to occur in up to 62% of subjects (Table 2) (Larkin et al. 2015). However, incidences vary depending on the drug used and the type of tumor treated. In an article by Khoja et al, ircAEs were found to occur more frequently with ipilimumab than newer ICIs. Additionally, ircAEs were also more commonly seen when ICIs were used to treat melanoma versus non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) or renal cell carcinoma (RCC) (Khoja et al. 2017).

Given that systemic immunomodulators – in particular oral corticosteroids – have been positioned as a mainstay in the management of moderate to severe ircAEs, clinicians need to remain cognizant of the theoretical concern that systemic immunosuppression could cause unwanted blunting of the original ICI's antitumor activity. While early reports reassured oncologists that the use of systemic steroids did not affect overall prognosis for this population (Horvat et al. 2015), recent reports have evidenced a deleterious effect of systemic corticosteroids in the efficacy of ICIs when used in high doses or during ICI initiation (Arbour et al. 2018). Specifically, systemic steroids used in high doses to treat ipilimumabrelated hypophysitis in melanoma patients has been associated with worse prognosis (Faje et al. 2018), opening the possibility that a similar detrimental effect on the antitumor response may be seen with systemic steroids used in the course of ircAE management.

Ultimately, as ICI use continues to expand into new settings, the changing landscape of the safety profile begets a dynamic interpretation of AE diagnosis and management. Herein we present the established and common ircAEs seen with immune checkpoint blockade in the treatment of melanoma, with the caveat that this field is constantly changing (Table 3).

#### Rash

The frequently cited irAE "rash" in fact encompasses a variety of possible cutaneous presentations of reactions of immunotherapy. The most common morphologies are eczematous eruptions (Hwang et al. 2016; Min Lee et al. 2018), morbilliform eruptions (Mochel et al. 2016), and erythroderma (Coleman et al. 2018). Notably, eczematous eruptions were one of the top three ircAEs seen with blockade of PD-1 (Hwang et al. 2016). Eczematous eruptions, along with lichenoid eruptions, were associated with improved overall prognosis (Min Lee et al. 2018). Lichenoid eruptions will be discussed below.

Depending on the type of eruption, the clinical presentation can differ and may or may not be associated with pruritus (Lacouture et al. 2014). Morbilliform eruptions are 3–4 mm papules that coalesce into plaques, commonly considered the classic "exanthematous drug eruption" (Chen et al. 2017). Eczematous eruptions are described as erythematous plaques with collarettes of scale, occasionally preceded by small papules in the same distribution. Eczematous

plaques can be moist and weepy if acute but can also become lichenified with accentuated skin markings if in the chronic phase. Erythroderma, by definition, involves diffuse erythema in the skin covering over 80% of the body surface area (BSA) (Chen et al. 2017). A pityriasis rubra pilaris (PRP)-like pattern has also been described (Coleman et al. 2018).

Clinicians should be cognizant of systemic symptoms or laboratory abnormalities that may accompany immunotherapy-related rash in order to early recognize severe cutaneous adverse reactions (SCARs) (see section "Pruritus").

The rash observed with ICIs resembles the maculopapular drug rash seen with antibiotics, NSAIDs, or atopic dermatitis (AD) where increased T-cell activation and cytokine secretion with subsequent inflammatory infiltrate lead to a type IV-like hypersensitivity reaction (Lacouture et al. 2014).

Typical histologic findings include a superficial and deep perivascular lymphocytic infiltrate occasionally accompanied by a prominent eosinophilic component. Eczematous eruptions would usually show spongiosis (edema) in the epidermis with overlying acanthosis and hyperkeratosis. Erythroderma can have many of the aforementioned findings but sometimes are present to a milder extent.

As with most dermatologic drug eruptions, first-line therapy includes topical corticosteroids, especially in grade 1 or 2 cutaneous eruptions (Lacouture et al. 2014; Chen et al. 2017). If necessary, Class I superpotent steroids (such as clobetasol propionate 0.05% ointment) can be trialed up to twice daily for 2 weeks. Milder eruptions can be managed with milder steroids (such as triamcinolone acetonide 0.1% ointment) twice daily monitoring for improvement after 2 weeks. Care should be taken not to overuse topical steroids given the risk of skin atrophy and striae.

#### Pruritus

Patients receiving immunotherapy can develop pruritus without rash (Collins et al. 2017). Despite the lack of skin findings, the pruritus can be

patients 2014; Lacoutur					
CTCAE term	Grade 1	Grade 2	Grade 3	Grade 4	Grade 5
Rash maculopapular	Macules/papules covering <10% BSA with or without symptoms (e.g., pruritus, burning, tightness)	Macules/papules covering 10–30% BSA with or without symptoms (e.g., pruritus, burning, tightness); limiting instrumental ADL; rash covering > 30% BSA with or without mild symptoms	Macules/papules covering >30% BSA with moderate or severe symptoms; limiting self- care ADL		
	Continue ICIs at current dose; topical mild corticosteroids (hydrocortisone 2.5% cream) to face AND mid-strength (triamcinolone 0.1% cream) to body BID	Continue ICIs at current dose; topical mild corticosteroids to face AND mid-strength to body BID	Interrupt ICI treatment until severity decreases to grade 1–2; topical mild corticosteroids (hydrocortisone 2.5% cream) to face AND potent corticosteroids (fluocinonide 0.1% cream) to body BID AND prednisone 0.5 mg/kg for 10 days; if no improvement or deterioration consider dose interruption or discontinuation		
Eczema	Asymptomatic or mild symptoms; additional medical intervention over baseline not indicated Continue ICIs at current dose; avoid skin irritants, OTC topical emollients	Moderate; topical or oral intervention indicated; additional medical intervention over baseline indicated Continue ICI at current dose; same as grade 1 AND topical mild corticosteroids (hydrocortisone 2.5% cream) to face AND mid-strength corticosteroids (triamcinolone 0.1% cream) to body BID; AHs for itch	Severe or medically significant but not immediately life- threatening; IV intervention indicated Interrupt ICI treatment until severity decreases to grade 1–2; same as grade 2 AND 0.5–1 mg/ kg prednisone (or equivalent dose of methylprednisolone) for 3 days and then wean over 1–2 weeks		

**Table 3** CTCAE v5.0 grades of most common adverse events under immunotherapy with suggested management. Grades range from 1 to 5 with grade 1 only causing mild symmoms and grade 5 describing fatality due to adverse events. (Adapted from (Dermatologic principles and practice in oncology; conditions of the skin, hair and nails in cancer

Erythroderma		Erythema covering >90% BSA without associated symptoms; limiting instrumental ADL	Erythema covering >90% BSA with associated symptoms (e.g., pruritus or tenderness); limiting self-care ADL	Erythema covering >90% BSA with associated fluid or electrolyte abnormalities; ICU care or burn unit indicated	Death
		Continue ICI at current dose;	Interrupt ICI treatment until	Discontinue ICI treatment;	
		topical mild corticosteroids (hydrocortisone 2.5% cream) to	severity decreases to grade 1–2; same as grade 2 AND AHs for	topical therapy as grade 2–3; AHs for itch AND 1–2 mg/kg	
		face AND mid-strength	itch AND 0.5-1 mg/kg	prednisone (or equivalent dose	
		corticosteroids (triamcinolone	prednisone (or equivalent dose	of methylprednisolone) for	
		0.1% cream) to body BID;	of methylprednisolone) for	3 days and then wean over $1-2$	
		additional topical emollients	3 days and then wean over $1-2$	weeks; IV fluids/ICU care	
		$1-2 \times /days$	weeks		
Dry skin	Covering <10% BSA and no	Covering 10–30% BSA and	Covering >30% BSA and		
	associated erythema or pruritus	associated with erythema or	associated with pruritus;		
		pruritus; limiting instrumental ADL	limiting self-care ADL		
	Prophylactic/supportive treatment	t: use of bath oils and mild soaps; da	aily moisturizing creams,		
	avoidance of extreme temperature	es and direct sunlight			
	Continue ICIs at current dose;	Continue ICIs at current dose;	Interrupt ICI treatment until		
	OTC emollient or ointment to	OTC emollient or ointment to	severity decreases to grade 1-2;		
	face BID AND ammonium	face BID AND ammonium	same topicals as grade 2 AND		
	lactate 12% cream or urea 10%	lactate 12% OR urea 10%	topical mild corticosteroids		
	ointment to body BID	ointment OR salicylic acid 6%	(hydrocortisone 2.5% cream) to		
		cream to body BID	face AND mid-strength		
			corticosteroids (triamcinolone		
			0.1% cream) to body BID		
				3)	continued)

CTCAE term	Grade 1	Grade 2	Grade 3	Grade 4	Grade 5
Pruritus	Mild or localized; topical intervention indicated	Widespread and intermittent; skin changes from scratching (e.g., edema, papulation, excoriations, lichenification, oozing/crusts); oral intervention indicated; limiting instrumental ADL	Widespread and constant; limiting self-care ADL or sleep; systemic corticosteroid or immunosuppressive therapy indicated		
	Continue ICIs at current dose; topical doxepin AND/OR medium to high-potency corticosteroids (triamcinolone acetonide 0.025%, desonide 0.05%, fluticasone propionate 0.05%, alclometasone 0.05%)	Continue ICIs at current dose; topical treatments as grade 1, oral AHs	Consider interruption of ICI treatment/dose modification until severity decreases to grade 1–2; topical treatments as grade 1–2, oral AHs, gabapentin/ pregabalin, doxepin, prednisone		
Skin hypopigmentation (e.g., vitiligo)	Hypopigmentation or depigmentation covering <10% BSA; no psychosocial impact	Hypopigmentation or depigmentation covering >10% BSA; associated psychosocial impact			
	Continue ICIs at current dose; no treatment necessary	Continue ICIs at current dose; consider psychological guidance and patient education about association with better response rate; mid- to high- potency corticosteroids can be tried BID on hypopigmented lesions			

Table 3 (continued)

Death		Death	
Blisters covering >30% BSA; associated with fluid or electrolyte abnormalities; ICU care or burn unit indicated	Discontinue ICI; treat as grade 3 AND ICU care/burn unit	SJS-TEN overlap, skin sloughing covering $10-30\%$ BSA with associated signs (e.g., erythema, purpura, epidermal detachment, and mucous membrane detachment); TEN, skin sloughing covering $\geq 30\%$ BSA with associated symptoms (e.g., erythema, purpura, or epidermal detachment)	Same as grade 3
Blisters covering >30% BSA; limiting self-care ADL	Interrupt ICI treatment until severity decreases to grade 1–2; 1–2 mg/kg prednisone (or equivalent dose of methylprednisolone), wean over 4–8 weeks, local wound care, pain medication as needed	Skin sloughing covering <10% BSA with associated signs (e.g., erythema, purpura, epidermal detachment, and mucous membrane detachment)	Discontinue ICI treatment; ICU care/burn unit, IV fluids, IVIGs >2 g/kg total dose over 3-4 days, additional systemic immunosuppressants
Blisters covering 10–30% BSA; painful blisters; limiting instrumental ADL	Continue ICIs at current dose; topical potent corticosteroids (e.g., clobetasol propionate ointment BID); non-adherent wound covering for erosions		
Asymptomatic; blisters covering <10% BSA	Continue ICIs at current dose; topical potent steroids (e.g., clobetasol propionate ointment BID); non-adherent wound covering for erosions		
Bullous dermatitis		Stevens-Johnson syndrome (SJS)/ toxic epidermal necrolysis (TEN)	

extremely disconcerting and bothersome, impact sleep quality, functioning, and have a great negative impact on the quality of life (QoL) (Lacouture et al. 2014). With ICIs, pruritus appears to be a direct result of enhanced unmyelinated C fiber stimulation by disinhibited T cells (Ensslin et al. 2013).

Patients can present with pruritus in association with skin findings; however, for the purposes of this section, we will focus on the pruritus without rash. It was reported that the immune-related pruritus QoL burden was greater than the one found in hemodialysis patients with chronic itch and that the QoL burden was the same (no statistically significant difference) between patients with pruritus and rash and patients with just pruritus (Phillips et al. 2018). As with most patients with chronic itch, patients often report worsening of pruritus in the evening. Patients may present with secondary changes from pruritus, including excoriated prurigo-like papules, hemorrhagic crusting at sites of self-induced trauma, and lichenified skin from constant rubbing.

Of note, the process of immunosenescence can also lead to pruritus without rash and should be considered in the geriatric population as a potential cause outside of direct effects of immunotherapy (Berger and Steinhoff 2011). As is seen in immunosenescence, it is important to consider certain organic dermatologic processes, such as a pre-bullous bullous pemphigoid, which is more likely in immunotherapy (see below).

In the case of pruritus without rash, the biopsy may show normal skin histology or may show a superficial and deep perivascular infiltrate with possible eosinophils if a subclinical allergic response is occurring. In the case of a pre-bullous bullous pemphigoid, typical findings of this autoimmune condition (subepidermal blister with positive direct immunofluorescence at the dermalepidermal junction positive for IgG and C3) are possible.

In a first attempt to treat patients with pruritus, emollients, antihistamines (AH), and menthol containing products can be tried (Lacouture et al. 2014). Further treatment of pruritus in immunotherapy recipients may include neuromodulatory medications that may help blunt the transmission of itch stimulus to the central nervous system. Medications that have been trialed include GABA analogues (gabapentin, pregabalin) and mirtazapine (Lacouture et al. 2014). There have also been reports of the neurokinin-1 inhibitor aprepitant being useful in pruritus triggered by ICI (Ito et al. 2017).

# Vitiligo

Vitiligo, the depigmentation of the skin from the autoimmune destruction of melanocytes, has been reported with use of immunotherapy in particular in patients treated for melanoma (Choi 2014; Teulings et al. 2015; Hua et al. 2016). Vitiligo has been reported in 5–25% of patients among all ICI classes, and the presence of vitiligo has been associated with an improved PFS and OS for the patient (Choi 2014; Teulings et al. 2015; Hua et al. 2015; Hua et al. 2016).

Although immunotherapy-related vitiligo has been rarely reported in patients with other tumor entities, the incidence is much higher in melanoma patients. It has been hypothesized that shared antigens (e.g., tyrosinase-related protein-2 [TRP-2]) on melanoma oncocytes and melanocytes may cause cross reactivity among CD8+ T cells in the context of checkpoint blockade. This proxy of immune activation might underscore the strong correlation between vitiligo and tumor response to immunotherapy (Sanlorenzo et al. 2015; Freeman-Keller et al. 2016). Histopathological examination of immunotherapy-related vitiligo shows skin lesions infiltrated with CD8+ T cells expressing C-X-C motif receptor 3, with elevated levels of INF-g and TNFa (Uenami et al. 2017; Yin et al. 2017).

Vitiligo is not associated with other symptoms, but patients may suffer from its appearance in terms of cosmesis. As a treatment, topical steroids can be trialed; however, response is highly variable. If further treatment is desired, referral to a dermatologist would be prudent (Fig. 1).



Fig. 1 Vitiligo due to immunotherapy with ipilimumab and later pembrolizumab for malignant melanoma

#### Lichen Planus (LP)/Lichenoid Eruption

Lichenoid, or lichen planus (LP)-like, eruptions are among the most common skin manifestations in the setting of ICI use (Min Lee et al. 2018; Sibaud 2018). Usually, these eruptions are mild and can be managed with topical steroids. There are severe cases that require systemic immunosuppression or ICI discontinuation, as is further detailed below.

The clinical appearance of LP or lichenoid eruptions is that of the purple to pink, planar (flat topped), polygonal, pruritic papules which may be associated with intense itch. Lesions are typically found on the torso and the extremities but may present in any location. In one case series, lichenoid eruption occurred on average 42 days after ICI initiation (Tetzlaff et al. 2017); however, a recent article demonstrated delayed cutaneous eruptions, sometimes even after ICIs had already been stopped (Wang et al. 2018). Some cases co-occur with a lichenoid mucositis, which has similar histologic findings when biopsied (Enomoto et al. 2018).

In severe cases, skin lesions can be hypertrophic and can mimic squamous cell carcinomas (SCCs) (Fontecilla et al. 2018), especially if biopsy is too superficial. Cases of lichenoid eruptions with suprabasilar clefting mimicking a clinical appearance of paraneoplastic pemphigus have also been reported (Chou et al. 2017).

Mucocutaneous lesions characteristically have a lichenoid interface dermatitis: a dense band-like infiltrate of lymphocytes in the superficial dermis. Hyperkeratosis, hypergranulosis, dyskeratosis, and saw-tooth rete ridge pattern are frequently seen, occasionally accompanied by eosinophils (Tetzlaff et al. 2017) (Enomoto et al. 2018). Lichenoid rash in patients treated with ICIs is very similar to idiopathic LP, except for a slightly increased abundance of CD163-positive cells indicating a macrophage-monocyte lineage (Lacouture and Sibaud 2018).

Grade 1 and 2 lichenoid eruptions are usually treated with topical corticosteroids. However, systemic corticosteroids may be required for grade 3 and 4 eruptions, especially those that show hypertrophic or vesiculobullous variants or present with mucositis. In severe cases, ICI discontinuation may be required after discussion between the oncologist, the dermatologist, and the patient.

#### **Bullous Pemphigoid (BP)-Like Reaction**

Bullous pemphigoid (BP) is an autoimmune blistering disorder reported with all ICI classes but most commonly with PD-1 and PD-L1 inhibitors (Naidoo et al. 2016; Jour et al. 2016; Hanley et al. 2018). One case series from Yale estimated BP to occur in approximately one percent of patients treated with PD-1 and PD-L1 inhibitors (Siegel et al. 2018). Since vast bullous disease with multiple erosions compromises the QoL of patients and results in life-threatening conditions such as infections and sepsis, ICI discontinuation is often advised.

BP may present with intense pruritus that evolves into eczematous plaques or urticaria that eventually form tense, fluid-filled vesicles and bullae, with negative Nikolsky sign. With time, vesicles and bullae may become purulent and flaccid with rupture (Chen et al. 2017). Mucosal lesions can occur in a minority of cases. Laboratory studies may reveal an eosinophilia and positive serum BP 120/180/BPAGs. Although ircAE mechanisms are primarily thought to involve T-cell hyperactivation, primary autoimmune bullous pemphigoid is considered a largely B-cell-mediated process, whereby autoantibodies cause disruption of hemidesmosomes in the basal layer of the epidermis; hence, it has been hypothesized that B cells may be implicated in ircAEs such as immunotherapy-related BP (Chen et al. 2017).

On hematoxylin and eosin stain (H&E), a split is seen in the subepidermal space with a spongiotic eosinophilic infiltrate. Direct immunofluorescence shows linear deposition of IgG and C3 at the dermo-epidermal junction (DEJ).

Mild cases of BP can be managed with potent topical steroids, which has demonstrated comparable efficacy to systemic steroids with a milder side effect profile (Joly et al. 2002). However, in our experience, many of our patients who develop BP from ICI have a more severe course which requires systemic agents. In the Yale series, all seven BP patients required systemic corticosteroids and interruption in ICI use (Siegel et al. 2018). Steroid-sparing immunomodulatory agents used in the course of BP include intravenous immunoglobulin (IVIG), dapsone. doxycycline/niacinamide, mycophenolate mofetil (MMF), cyclosporin A, and methotrexate (MTX); however, these agents have not been assessed prospectively for efficacy and safety in immunotherapy-related BP. Given its progressive course and impact on QoL and ICI administration, consultation with dermatology for bullous reactions to immunotherapy is advised (Fig. 2).

# Severe Cutaneous Adverse Reactions (SCARs)

Although rare (<1%), immunotherapy can induce severe cutaneous adverse reactions (SCARs) which are potentially life-threatening. SCARs comprise drug rash with eosinophilia with systemic symptoms (DRESS), Stevens-Johnson syndrome (SJS), and toxic epidermal necrolysis (TEN) and may initially present as a less concerning morphology like a maculopapular rash (Chen et al. 2017). SJS/TEN and DRESS have been reported in association with all classes



**Fig. 2** Bullous pemphigoid in patient on nivolumab therapy showing intact, tense bullae and ruptured bullae with multiple erosions

of ICIs but are still rare in frequency (Chirasuthat and Chayavichitsilp 2018; Hwang et al. 2018; Nayar et al. 2016; Dika et al. 2017). SCARs may have a latency of several weeks between drug exposure and clinical presentation, taking up to several weeks.

SJS and TEN typically show multiple targetoid eruptions. The lesions usually involve acral surfaces including palms and soles and classically present with a severe mucositis. Nikolsky sign may be positive (rubbing the skin next to a blister or erosion causes an additional blister to form). Patients often complain of an ocular foreign body sensation, dysuria, dysphagia, and odynophagia given the mucosal involvement commonly seen. Body surface area (BSA) involvement dictates diagnosis: SJS is diagnosed when there is less than 10% BSA skin detachment, TEN requires over 30% BSA detachment, and 10-30% BSA involvement is termed SJS/TEN overlap syndrome. In SJS/DRESS clinical and histopathological findings are essential to make the diagnosis. Yet, elevation of serum urea, creatinine, and levels, as well as neutropenia, glucose lymphopenia, and thrombocytopenia have been linked to a poor outcome. In DRESS, laboratory testing may reveal eosinophilia, transaminitis, atypical lymphocytes, and cytopenias. Vital signs could show hypotension, fever, or other aberrations and patients are usually quite ill (Chen et al. 2017).

The pathophysiology of SJS and TEN remains under debate. Hypothesized mechanisms include fatty acid synthetase (Fas) and Fas Ligand interactions leading to caspase activation and keratinocyte apoptosis (Chen et al. 2017). A systematic histologic analysis of a small series of patients showed signs of cytotoxic lesions characterized by an accumulation of CD8+ T cells at the DEJ and CD8+ T-cell exocytosis into the epidermis with apoptotic keratinocytes. Similar features can also be observed in severe immunemediated skin diseases, such as acute GVHD. Gene expression analysis of lesional skin from anti-PD-1-treated patients revealed a gene expression profile resembling SJS/TEN with an upregulation of major inflammatory chemokines and cytotoxic mediators as well as the proapoptotic molecule FASLG. These data suggest that, at least in some patients, anti-PD-1 antibody can induce SJS/TEN-like adverse cutaneous reactions (Goldinger et al. 2016). In the case of DRESS, there is some evidence implicating HHV-6 in the aberrant systemic inflammatory response (Chen et al. 2017).

Histopathological findings in SJS and TEN show full-thickness epidermal necrosis with prominent interface dermatitis and necrotic/apoptotic keratinocytes. SJS/TEN is thought to represent a pauci-inflammatory process; however, there are many cases of SJS and TEN that show an inflammatory infiltrate of lymphocytes. The histopathological findings in DRESS are similar to eczematous eruptions, and as such, clinical findings are critical to diagnosis.

Universally, SCARs require management that involves systemic immunosuppression and ICI discontinuation, given the high risk of morbidity and mortality associated with these reactions (Chen et al. 2017). In classic cases of SJS and TEN, systemic steroids were sometimes avoided given the increased risk of infection with systemic immunosuppression. Instead, the use of steroid sparing agents has been attempted, including the use of cyclosporine, etanercept, thalidomide, IVIG, and only supportive care (Chen et al. 2017). There have been no convincing studies to support one treatment over another. However, with ICI as the inciting agent, there may be more of a pathophysiologic basis for warranting use of systemic corticosteroids. While there are no prospective, randomized studies to suggest treatment superiority, prove efficacy, or determine optimal dosing, typically 0.5–1 mg/kg/day of prednisone is a standard starting dose. Dermatologic and ophthalmologic consultations are highly advised, with consideration of gynecologic consultation (for female patients) or urologic consultation (for male patients). ICI should be permanently discontinued without possibility of ICI retrial after SCAR resolution.

# Targeted Therapy-induced Cutaneous Adverse Events

The mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathway is one of the most frequently deregulated pathways in melanoma explaining the profound efficacy of BRAF and MEK inhibition in the treatment of advanced disease with overall response rates of BRAFi/MEKi combinations of around 70% and improved PFS and OS (Long et al. 2015; Ascierto et al. 2016; Dummer et al. 2018a). BRAF mutations are found in about 50% of all melanomas (Curtin et al. 2005). Combined inhibition of BRAF and MEK in the RAS-BRAF-MEK-ERK pathway with multi-agent therapy has a reduced side effect profile and less potential for development of tumor resistance to treatment as compared to BRAF inhibition alone (Long et al. 2017a). Yet, mutations in one of the mediators along the pathway often lead to resistance against the antiproliferative medication or result in aberrant keratinocytic proliferation as one of the major side effects of targeted therapies. Thus, PFS tends to drop to about 50% after 12 months and 20-30% after 3 years of BRAFi/MEKi therapy (Ascierto et al. 2016; Dummer et al. 2018a; Long et al. 2017a).

The skin is the organ most frequently affected by AEs during targeted therapy for advanced melanoma. Cutaneous AEs were registered in over 95% of patients treated with BRAFi and
756

over 90% of those treated with MEKi monotherapy. Whereas some of the AEs such as keratinocytic proliferations can be seen with all BRAFi agents, others are specific to one drug class such as photosensitivity for vemurafenib or pyrexia for dabrafenib (Belum et al. 2013). Since the introduction of combination therapies of BRAFi/MEKi, a significant reduction of AEs was achieved (Robert et al. 2015b; Keating 2016). Most reported AEs with BRAFi/MEKi occur within the first 3 months after therapy initiation and tend to be grade 1 or 2 without the need for dose interruption or discontinuation.

Medication combinations approved by the FDA for the treatment of advanced melanoma comprise vemurafenib plus cobimetinib, dabrafenib plus trametinib, and most recently, encorafenib plus binimetinib (Dummer et al. 2018b).

Additional targeted therapies such as indoleamine-pyrrole 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO) and histone deacetylase (HDAC) inhibitors in combination with checkpoint inhibitors are still under investigation and are not yet established in routine melanoma regimens. In patients with tumors harboring a c-Kit mutation more individualized therapeutic approaches such as the multi-kinase inhibitor imatinib may be considered (Guo et al. 2011). While these agents have their own distinct sets of AEs, the following paragraph focuses on the cutaneous AEs of targeted therapies approved for stage IV melanoma by the FDA, e.g., BRAFi/ MEKi (Table 4).

#### Rash

The major phase III studies of BRAFi/MEKi therapy for treatment of metastatic melanoma did not distinguish between maculopapular, eczematous, erythematous, and other exanthematous skin manifestations, instead referring to them as "rash" (Ascierto et al. 2016; Long et al. 2017a). Rashes were reported in up to 70% of both, patients receiving BRAFi and the BRAFi/MEKi combination, throughout the first few weeks of therapy (Ascierto et al. 2016; Flaherty et al. 2012b). Thus, rashes are one of the most frequent and earliest cutaneous AEs from targeted therapies. Skin eruptions may start in the face or trunk and disseminate to the rest of the body. Erythematous, maculopapular, and papulopustular presentations have been described with acneiform eruptions being more frequent under MEKi therapy (see below) (Long et al. 2015; Flaherty et al. 2012b). Maculopapular rash was specifically reported in 30% of patients receiving dabrafenib, 4-21% of patients receiving vemurafenib, and in 10% of patients receiving encorafenib (Lacouture and Sibaud 2018; Chapman et al. 2011). The severity of the exanthem appears to be dose-dependent (Amitay-Laish et al. 2011). In rare cases the occurrence of very severe skin reactions such as a Stevens-Johnson syndrome (SJS), drug reaction with eosinophilia and systemic symptoms (DRESS) or toxic epidermal necrolysis (TEN) necessitates systemic corticosteroids and the permanent discontinuation of the responsible agent (Yorio et al. 2014; Minor et al. 2012; Wenk et al. 2013).

Usually within the first weeks to months after the start of therapy, eruptive folliculocentric papules on the torso and extremities may emerge and coalesce into broad morbilliform erythematous plaques.

Exanthematous drug eruptions have been described for numerous drugs as cell-mediated hypersensitivity reactions. The sensitization to and presentation of the drug antigen to T lymphocytes lead to a cytotoxic reaction with inflammation and destruction of cutaneous keratinocytes.

Histopathology shows features of exanthematous drug eruption with perivascular and interstitial lymphocytic infiltrate, interface changes, and possibly some eosinophils.

Emollients and observation may be sufficient for grade 1 eruptions; grade 2 and 3 eruptions may require antihistamines and mild to medium strength topical corticosteroids. In severe cases, a short course of systemic corticosteroid and interruption of treatment may be necessary. Rare, grade 4 eruptions demand additional hospital admission, administration of i.v. fluids, and drug discontinuation. **Table 4** Skin toxicity data of FDA-approved targeted therapies (BRAF/MEKi monotherapies and combination) for advanced melanoma. Adapted from (Long et al. 2015; Ascierto et al. 2016; Dummer et al. 2018a; Long et al. 2017b; Flaherty et al. 2012a)

									Dabrafenil	)q				
									trametinib		Vemurafen	uib/	Encorafeni	p/
	Vemurafe	nib	Dabrafeni	p	Encorafen	ib	Trametinil	0	(COMBI-6	J/	cobimetini	p	binimetinil	
	(Columbu	1S)	(Combi-d		(Columbu:	s)	(METRIC	(	COMBI-A	D*)	(CoBRIM		(Columbus	(
											960 mg Bl	D plus		
									150 mg Bl	(D plus	60 mg 1×/	'day	450 mg 1×	:/day
	960 mg B	Ð	150 mg B	Ð	300 mg 1>	<td>$2 \text{ mg } 1 \times 6$</td> <td>lay</td> <td>2 mg 1×/6</td> <td>lay</td> <td>over 21 da</td> <td>ys</td> <td>plus 45 mg</td> <td>BID</td>	$2 \text{ mg } 1 \times 6$	lay	2 mg 1×/6	lay	over 21 da	ys	plus 45 mg	BID
	(N=186)		(N=211)		(N=192)		(N=221)		(N=209/*)	644)	(N=247)		(N=192)	
Severity grade	All	Grade	All	Grade	All	Grade	All	Grade	All	Grade	All	Grade	All	Grade
	grades	>3	grades	$\geq 3$	grades	>3	grades	$\geq 3$	grades	>3	grades	>3	grades	>3
Dry skin	23%	0%0	9%0	0%0	30%	0%0	N/A	N/A	13%	0%0	N/A	N/A	14%	0
Hyperkeratosis	29%	0%0	6%	0%0	38%	4%	0%0	0%0	33%	<1%	10%	< 1%	14%	1%
Rash	29%	3%	24%	0%0	21%	2%	55%	7%	23%	<1%	72%	17%	14%	1%
Alopecia	37%	0%0	5%	0%0	56%	0%0	16%	< 1%	26%	0%0	17%	< 1%	14%	0
Pruritus	11%	0%0	7%	0%0	22%	1%	N/A	N/A	11%	0%0	N/A	N/A	11%	1%
Hand-foot	14%	1%	6%	<1%	51%	14%	N/A	N/A	27%	<1%	N/A	N/A	7%	0
syndr.														
Skin papilloma	17%	0%0	1%	0%0	9%0	0%0	0%0	0%0	19%	0%0	N/A	N/A	6%	0
Photosensitivity	24%	1%	N/A	N/A	4%	0%0	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	4%	1%
Acneiform rash	N/A	N/A	8%	0%0	N/A	N/A	18%	< 1%	9%0	<1%	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
CuSCC or KA	28%	20%	3%	3%	14%	8%	0%0	0%0	4%	4%	6%	5%	5%	3%
CuSCC cutaneous	squamous c	ell carcinoi	mas, KA ker	atoacanthor	ma, * adjuv:	ant data								

### Folliculitis and Acneiform Rash

Acneiform rash is the most frequent AE seen with MEKi monotherapy (77%) but also occurs in about 10% of patients treated with BRAFi monotherapy (Balagula et al. 2011; Kim et al. 2013). Its appearance resembles the acneiform eruptions seen with epidermal growth factor inhibitors (EGFRi), most often seen 1–4 weeks after the start of therapy.

Papules, pustules, and inflammatory erythema with possibly cyst formation are observed predominantly on the seborrheic areas, e.g., face, chest, upper back, and shoulders (Balagula et al. 2011). The eruptions may be accompanied by extreme pruritus and even skin pain. Notably, there are no comedones. About a third of patients are reported to develop secondary infections at the sites of acneiform eruptions.

While the exact pathomechanism remains poorly understood, it is not surprising that MEKis show similar cutaneous side effects as EGFRi as in both substance classes the MAP kinase pathway is inhibited. It has been shown that EGFRi-induced chemokine production in epidermal keratinocytes affects the inhibition of Staphylococcus aureus colony formation. Furthermore, cutaneous inflammation, immunomodulatory effects, neutrophil accumulation, epidermal keratinocyte proliferation, and erosion of the stratum corneum appear to contribute to the acneiform morphology (Lacouture and Sibaud 2018). More precisely, the release of pro-inflammatory cytokines may lead to recruitment of leukocytes with subsequent tissue damage and apoptosis, hence forming the inflammatory papules and pustules seen in papulopustular eruptions. Immunohistochemical analyses of the acute phase of acneiform eruptions show apoptotic keratinocytes with increased p53 expression and focal perifollicular inflammatory infiltrates of mostly neutrophils and sparse lymphocytes (Schad et al. 2010).

In a Phase II study of EGFRi-treated patients, the prophylactic use of systemic doxycycline, topical corticosteroids, sunscreen, and moisturizer led to a fivefold reduction of the incidence of dermatological toxicities (Lacouture et al. 2010). Reactive therapy approaches utilized for EGFRiinduced rashes are also useful in the management



Fig. 3 Acneiform rash induced by the MEKi trametinib

of MEKi-induced cutaneous AEs including mild syndets, topical steroids, topical antibiotics, emollients, and systemic tetracyclines such as doxycycline. Retinoids are preserved for treatmentresistant cases in this setting. Interruption of culprit medications often leads to rapid improvement in cutaneous AEs (Fig. 3).

#### Paronychia

Paronychia, an acute or chronic inflammation of the nail fold characterized by painful edema and erythema, is a nail toxicity mostly seen with MEK is but may also appear with BRAF is in rare cases. The incidence is estimated at a slightly lower rate as in EGFR (17.8%) but was never reconfirmed in a prospective trial (Robert et al. 2015c).

In the chronic form, a periungual pyogenic granuloma in the form of a hyperemic friable papule may evolve from unremitting nail fold inflammation. Impaired function and restrictions in ADLs are not uncommon especially with hand nail involvement.

The exact pathomechanism underlying the development of paronychia in targeted therapeutics is unknown. MAP kinase pathway inhibition may lead to changes in differentiation and migration of epidermal cells, compromising the skin barrier, which may subsequently lead to piercing of the paronychium by the lateral edges of the nail plate resulting in a foreign body reaction (Robert et al. 2015c). The pyogenic granuloma form evolves from a pre-existing injury or irritation, limited capacity for growth, and reactive neovascularization.

Histologically, paronychia findings are nonspecific and concordant with reactive inflammation. Pyogenic granulomas are characterized by a proliferation of small capillaries, often arranged in a lobular pattern, with thick, intervening bands of fibrous tissue.

Patients should be educated about appropriate nail care and apply emollients to protect nail folds. In mild cases of paronychia, the topical application of 2% povidone-iodine has shown efficacy in 76% of patients on MEKi over the course of a 6-week treatment (Capriotti et al. 2017). In addition, topical formulations combining glucocorticoids and fusidinic acid have proven more efficacious than topical antibiotics alone (Wollina 2001). If pyogenic granuloma appears, ablative procedures or surgery can increase the rate of healing. Superinfection may warrant the use of systemic antibiotics (Fig. 4).

#### Hair Changes

Alopecia has been reported in up to a quarter of patients receiving BRAFi monotherapy for advanced melanoma with a lower incidence of 6-13% with the use of the combination of BRAFi and MEKi (Lacouture and Sibaud



Fig. 4 Paronychia induced by the MEKi trametinib

2018). Usually, the hair changes represent a non-scarring diffuse alopecia with possible hair shaft changes including increased curling or altered hair color (Anforth et al. 2013). The extent of hair loss is mild and fully reversible after the medication is discontinued.

The mechanism leading to follicular changes is unknown. Similar to nail changes, the perturbation of the MAP kinase pathway and subsequent disturbances in proliferation and differentiation of keratinic cells in the epithelium may explain the follicular changes seen in BRAFi and MEKi.

Application of topical minoxidil may improve impaired hair growth if alopecia is bothersome to the patient.

#### **Epidermal Tumors**

BRAFi therapy targets the mutations V600E and V600K in melanoma cells and leads to cell cycle arrest by interrupting the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathway. Paradoxically, BRAFi can lead to a mild activation of the MAP kinase signal pathway in normal body cells, supporting the growth of mucocutaneous tumors. Keratinocytic lesions appear in over 50% of patients under BRAFi monotherapy and range from benign verrucal keratoses to neoplasms of malignant potential such as actinic keratoses, keratoacanthomas, and squamous cell carcinomas (SCCs) (Lacouture et al. 2013). Keratinocytic vertucal hyperproliferations are the most frequent BRAFi-induced cutaneous AEs with 29-50% of patients affected under BRAFi monotherapy (Anforth et al. 2015). SCC are reported to develop in up to 12% under BRAFi monotherapy. Of concern, new melanomas lacking a BRAF mutation may emerge from preexistent melanocytic nevi (see below) (Su et al. 2012; Zimmer et al. 2012a).

New lesions usually develop within the first 2–3 months of therapy and can be appreciated anywhere on the body including the oral mucosa. The clinical picture resembles that of other epitheliomas in non-BRAFi-exposed patients (Lacouture and Sibaud 2018). Histopathologically, 80% of vertucous lesions were found to

have slight to moderate atypia and KRAS and HRAS mutations, which have also been found in association with BRAFi-induced SCCs (Anforth et al. 2015). Transformation from verrucous lesions into malignant neoplasms has not been reported. SCCs occurring under BRAFi tend to be clinically well-defined and histologically well-differentiated (Anforth et al. 2013).

MEKi is efficacious in downregulating the MAPK pathway not only in BRAF-mutated cells but also wt melanoma cells. Therefore, the rate of skin tumors has drastically decreased since the regular use of BRAFi plus MEKi combination therapy (Ascierto et al. 2016; Long et al. 2017a). Monotherapy with dabrafenib leads to SCC in 19%, hyperkeratoses in 30%, and papillomas in 15% of patients. Meanwhile the combination with trametinib leads to relatively lower rates of 7%, 9%, and 4%, respectively. Whereas the BRAFi molecule causes hetero- and homodimerization of RAF isotypes promoting the paradoxical activation of the MAPK pathway in RAS-mutated BRAF wt cells, the MEKi is able to interrupt this cascade (Robert et al. 2015b).

The most frequent manifestations are benign vertucous keratoses, and also SCCs are usually well-differentiated (Chu et al. 2012). Excision is the therapy of choice for newly discovered tumors if suspicious for malignancy. Regular whole-body skin exams every 4–6 weeks should be conducted as part of the follow-ups (Fig. 5).



Fig. 5 Squamous cell carcinoma in patient receiving the BRAFi vemurafenib

# Melanocytic Proliferations and New Primary Melanomas

Similar to keratinocytic proliferation, albeit more seldomly, paradoxical MAPK pathway activation from BRAFi in BRAF wild-type cells can lead to increased melanocytic proliferation. The development of new melanocytic nevi as well as changes in shape and color of pre-existing lesions have been described. About 50% of pre-existing pigmented lesions were found to demonstrate changes after initiation of treatment with vemurafenib (Lacouture and Sibaud 2018). However, only 1.2% of these altered melanocytic transform into actual melanomas lesions (Lacouture and Sibaud 2018). The incidence of new primary melanomas in BRAFi-treated patients (approximately 2.5%) is equal to the incidence of secondary melanomas in non-BRAFi-treated melanoma patients. New primary melanomas are mostly seen within the first few months of therapy with greater frequency in sun-exposed regions (Zimmer et al. 2012a). The treatment of therapy-induced melanomas does not differ from sporadic cases.

#### Hand-Foot Reaction (Hyperkeratosis)

Hand-foot reaction, affecting up to 30% of patients under BRAFi monotherapy, appears exclusively in mechanically used areas of the skin exposed to friction or pressure, such as the hands and feet (Lacouture and Sibaud 2018). With the addition of MEKi, the incidence has decreased to 6–10% (Long et al. 2015; Ascierto et al. 2016).

Typically, several weeks after the initiation of therapy, hyperkeratotic areas can form in areas prone to friction such as the palms and soles. There may be mild inflammation with some erythema, which can lead to pain and discomfort in the affected areas. Dysesthesia has also been reported (Anforth et al. 2013).

Similar to epidermal tumor formation, BRAF/ MEK inhibition can result in a paradoxical activation of the MAPK pathway by mutated RAS activation. Augmented proliferation of keratinocytes ensues, resulting in palmoplantar hyperkeratosis, follicular hyperkeratosis, milia, and follicular keratosis, some of which may progress to keratinocytic tumors.

Histopathology shows necrosis of keratinocytes with perivascular inflammatory infiltrates.

Prophylactic treatment with emollients as well as avoidance of pressure and mechanical stress by means such as spacious footwear or cushioned gloves is recommended. Ointments containing salicylic acid or urea can help reduce existing hyperkeratosis. If inflammation and pain are prominent, medium strength topical steroids and keratolytic topicals such as urea 10–40% ointment may be considered. Fissures can be addressed by local therapy, e.g., tissue glue (dermabond) or topical silver nitrate. Otherwise, dose reduction or interruption of the responsible therapy may be necessary for severe or unremitting cases.

#### Photosensitivity

Photosensitivity almost exclusively occurs with the use of vemurafenib (all grades, 41%; grade 3–4, 4%) (Dummer et al. 2012) as photosensitivity reactions are seldomly observed in patients under dabrafenib (1-3%) and encorafenib (4%)therapies (Hauschild et al. 2012; Dummer et al. 2018c). Even minor doses of UVA transmitted through window glass can initiate an inflammatory reaction of the skin (Chu et al. 2012). In fact, a lower threshold for UVA tolerance and normal UVB tolerance have been demonstrated in patients with vemurafenib through minimal erythema dose testing (Dummer et al. 2012). It is one of the earliest AEs – usually noticed within the first two weeks after initiation of therapy - and it is fully reversible after therapy cessation.

Patients report a burning sensation and redness without recalling direct sun exposure. Grade 3 photosensitive dermatitis can present with blistering and painful erythema. The onset of the inflammatory reaction may only take minutes after UVA exposure, which differs from classic drug-induced phototoxicity where the skin reaction takes several hours to develop.

It is unclear how the chemical structure of vemurafenib leads to the difference in photosensitivity as compared to the other BRAFis. A protoporphyrin and niacin-dependent mechanism has been proposed where delta-aminolevulinate synthase 2 (ALAS2) activation by vemurafenib catalyzes heme biosynthesis, leading to an increase in erythrocyte porphyrin. At the same time, vemurafenib has been observed to decrease vitamin B3 (niacin) which interferes with the tryptophan-kynurenine-niacin pathway (Gelot et al. 2013).

Histologically, necrotic keratinocytes, edema, a sparse dermal lymphocytic infiltrate, and vasodilation can be appreciated.

Strict sun protection is mandatory in patients receiving vemurafenib. Patients should avoid the sun, wear photoprotective clothing, and use broad-spectrum sunscreen with potent UVA-blocking features on a daily basis even under cloudy weather conditions. UVA-blocking agents include titanium dioxide, zinc oxide, ecamsule, and avobenzone (Macdonald et al. 2015). It is important to educate patients about the penetration of UVA radiation through window glass. UV-blocking window films can be applied to car, home, and office windows for further protection. Serum vitamin D levels should be monitored on a regular basis in these patients.

# Radiation Sensitivity and Radiation Recall Dermatitis

BRAFi can lead to more pronounced inflammatory reactions in concurrently irradiated areas as well as induce a dermatitis in areas previously exposed to radiation therapy (Boussemart et al. 2013).

Radiation sensitivity or radiation recall is characterized by a well-demarcated erythematous area with edema, dry or moist desquamation, and bullae in severe cases, restricted to an area of (prior) irradiation. Skin symptoms can include burning or itching. The mechanism underlying the increased sensitivity to irradiation is unknown. In chemotherapy-related radio-sensitization, theories implicate vascular damage during antineoplastic therapy with proliferative changes, depletion of epithelial stem cells, sensitization of the epithelial stem cells, or a drug hypersensitivity reaction (Camidge and Price 2001).

Radiation dermatitis shows ballooning degeneration of epidermal keratinocytes, arterioles obstructed by fibrin thrombi, mixed inflammatory infiltrate, and prominent edema.

In order to prevent radiation sensitivity and radiation recall dermatitis, the BRAFi may be paused 5–7 days prior to radiotherapy. If this is not feasible, regular skin checks should be performed every 1–2 days throughout the course of radiotherapy. In the event of radiodermatitis, the interruption of BRAFi therapy is recommended. Topical corticosteroids can be used to hasten reconstitution of the skin. If persistent radiation recall dermatitis poses a problem, a dose reduction of the BRAFi may be necessary.

#### Panniculitis

Although a very rare AE, neutrophilic panniculitis has been described in both BRAFi- and MEKitreated patients, especially on the extensor areas of the extremities in female patients receiving targeted therapy.

Subcutaneously palpable, erythematous to purplish nodules appear in the extensor areas of arms and legs that may be tender to palpation. Sometimes arthralgia and concomitant edema can affect the extremity's range of motion. The nodules may be intermittent and improve without any adjustments to the underlying agent.

Although the pathomechanism causing this condition remains unknown, the symptoms could be linked to a systemic inflammatory reaction to the drug, to the melanoma (i.e., a paraneoplastic panniculitis), or to a dysregulation of neutrophil migration (Vazquez-Osorio et al. 2016).

Histologically, a lobular panniculitis with neutrophilic infiltrate and non-caseating granulomas within fat lobules can be appreciated with possible small vessel perivascular inflammation. Similarities to erythema nodosum, sweet syndrome, or granulomatous inflammatory dermatoses have been described (Zimmer et al. 2012b; Park et al. 2014; Pattanaprichakul et al. 2014).

The therapy of targeted therapy-induced panniculitis comprises a similar approach as in the case of autoimmune panniculitis. Antiinflammatory treatment with systemic COX-2 inhibitors or nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) is recommended. For persisting cases, systemic corticosteroids and cessation of the causative agent may be considered (Fig. 6 and Table 5).

# Chemotherapy-Induced Cutaneous Adverse Events

Traditional cytotoxic chemotherapy plays a relatively minor role reserved for unique cases in the first-line setting of advanced melanoma therapy since the emergence of targeted and immunotherapy. RR for all chemotherapies regardless of the agent used have shown rates between 10% and 20%; furthermore, no OS benefit has ever been demonstrated with any chemotherapy regimen throughout their vast historical use for metastatic melanoma (Pasquali et al. 2018; Crosby et al. 2000). However, chemotherapy, especially the alkylating agent dacarbazine, clearly holds an important role in the palliative setting (Luke and Schwartz 2013). Other chemotherapeutic agents that have been used in advanced melanoma and



Fig. 6 Vemurafenib-/trametinib-induced drug-induced panniculitis on the lower leg

AE v5.0 grading of the most common AEs under targeted therapy for advanced melanoma with corresponding recommended management. (Adapted from	principles and practice in oncology: conditions of the skin, hair and nails in cancer patients 2014; Lacouture et al. 2019)
e 5 CTCA	matologic pi
Tabl	(Der

Uniterorogic print	ipics and practice in oncorogy. cond		anou panonio 2017, Lacounto VI al. 2		
CTCAE term	Grade 1	Grade 2	Grade 3	Grade 4	Grade5
Rash	Macules/papules covering <10% BSA with or without symptoms (e.g., pruritus, burning, tightness)	Macules/papules covering 10–30% BSA with or without symptoms (e.g., pruritus, burning, tightness); limiting instrumental ADL; rash covering >30% BSA with or without mild symptoms	Macules/papules covering >30% BSA with moderate or severe symptoms; limiting self-care ADL		
	Prophylaxis with moisturizing crea	ams; gentle skin care instructions giv	ven		
	Continue BRAFi/MEKi at current dose; topical mild corticosteroids (hydrocortisone	Continue BRAFi/MEKi at current dose; topical mild corticosteroids to face AND	Interrupt BRAFi/MEKi treatment until sevenity decreases to grade 1–2; topical mild corticosteroids		
	2.5% cream) to face AND mid-strength (triamcinolone	mid-strength to body BID	(hydrocortisone 2.5% cream) to face AND potent corticosteroids		
	0.1% cream) to body BID		(fluocinonide 0.1% cream) to body BID AND prednisone 0.5 mg/kg for 10 days; if no improvement or deterioration consider dose reduction or discontinuation		
Hand-foot reaction (hyperkeratosis)	Minimal skin changes or dermatitis (e.g., erythema, edema, or hyperkeratosis) without pain	Skin changes (e.g., peeling, blisters, bleeding, edema, or hyperkeratosis) with pain; limiting instrumental ADL	Severe skin changes (e.g., peeling, blisters, bleeding, edema, or hyperkeratosis) with pain; limiting self-care ADL		
	Prophylaxis with ammonium lacta	te 12% cream BID OR heavy moist	urizer (e.g., Vaseline) BID; orthopedic	shoe inserts	
	Continue BRAFi/MEKi at current dose; keratolytic topicals (e.g., salicylic acid 6% or urea	Continue BRAFi/MEKi at current dose; keratolytic topicals (e.g., salicylic acid 6% or urea	Interrupt BRAFi/MEKi treatment until severity decreases to grade 1-2; potent topical corticosteroid		
	10-40% or ammonium lactate 12%), potent topical corticosteroid (clobetasol	10-40% or ammonium lactate 12%), potent topical corticosteroid (clobetasol	(clobetasol propionate 0.05%), topical analgesics (e.g., lidocaine 3%, EMLA, diclofenac gel);		
	propionate 0.05%)	propionate 0.03%), topical analgesics (e.g., lidocaine 3%, EMLA, diclofenac gel)	systemic analgesics (NSAIDs, GABA agonists, opioids as needed); if no improvement or deterioration, consider dose reduction or discontinuation		
				(0)	(continued)

Table 5 (continue	d)				
CTCAE term	Grade 1	Grade 2	Grade 3	Grade 4	Grade5
Paronychia	Nail fold edema or erythema; disruption of the cuticle	Local intervention indicated; oral intervention indicated (e.g., antibiotic, antifungal, antiviral); nail fold edema or erythema with pain; associated with discharge or nail plate separation; limiting instrumental ADL	Operative intervention indicated; IV antibiotics indicated; limiting self-care ADL		
	Prophylaxis with moisturizing crea	ams; manicure/pedicure; gentle skin	care; avoid traumatization of nail strue	sture	
	Continue BRAFi/MEKi at current dose; topical 2%	Continue BRAFi/MEKi at current dose; topical 2%	Interrupt BRAFi/MEKi treatment until severity decreases to grade		
	povidone-lodine or hvdrocortisone nlus tonical	povidone-loaine or hydrocortisone nhis tonical	1-2; surgery or laser surgery; consider dose reduction or		
	fusidinic acid	fusidinic acid cream, silver	discontinuation if no improvement		
		nitrate application on pyogenic granuloma weekly	or deterioration		
folliculitis	covering <10% BSA, which may or may not be associated with symptoms of pruritus or tenderness <i>Prophylactic therapy:</i> sunscreen (5 minocycline 100 mg QD for the fi Continue BRAFi/MEKi at current dose; hydrocortisone	10–30% BSA, which may or may not be associated with symptoms of pruritus or tenderness; associated with psychosocial impact; limiting instrumental ADL; papules and/or pustules covering > 30% BSA with or without mild symptoms SPF ≥30), hydrocortisone 2.5% creat rst 6–8 weeks rst 6–8 weeks Continue BRAFi/MEKi at current dose, hydrocortisone	>30% BSA with moderate or severe symptoms; limiting self- care ADL; associated with local superinfection with oral antibiotics indicated an AND clindamycin 1% gel or dapson Interrupt BRAFi/MEKi treatment until severity decreases to grade	papules and/or pustules covering any % BSA, which may or may not be associated with symptoms of pruritus or tenderness and are associated with extensive superinfection with IV antibiotics indicated antibiotics indicated antibiotics indicated ne 5% gel AND doxycycline 100 m piscontinue BRAFi/MEKi, piscontinue BRAFi/MEKi,	ag BID or
	2.5% creatil AND clinitatilycill 1% gel or dapsone 5% gel	2.5% cream of alconnetasone 0.05% cream or fluocinonide	or alclometasone 0.05% cream or	ou memorypreumsorone equivalent), broad-spectrum	
		0.05% cream BID AND	fluocinonide 0.05% cream BID	antibiotics, hospitalization	
		minocycline 100 mg QD	minocycline 100 mg BID AND		
			oral prednisone 0.5 mg/kg for 5 days; if no improvement or		

764

			deterioration, consider dose reduction or discontinuation		
Photosensitivity	Painless erythema and erythema covering <10% BSA	Tender erythema covering 10–30% BSA	Erythema covering >30% BSA and erythema with blistering; photosensitivity; oral corticosteroid therapy indicated; pain control indicated (e.g., narcotics or NSAIDS)	Life-threatening consequences; De urgent intervention indicated	Death
	Prophylactic use of sun protection and avoidance of sun exposure du	; patients should be educated about thring peak UV hours but also through	the use of broad-spectrum sunscreen, s a glass of windows (UVA penetration)	un-protective clothing, broad-brimmed	d hats,
	Continue BRAFi/MEKi at current dose; topical mild	Continue BRAFi/MEKi at current dose; topical mild	Interrupt BRAFi/MEKi treatment until severity decreases to grade	Transfer to burn unit/ICU	
	corticosteroids (hydrocortisone 2.5% cream) to face AND	corticosteroids (hydrocortisone 2.5% cream) to face AND notent	1–2; topical mild corticosteroids (hvdrocortisone 2.5% cream) to		
	mid-strength (triamcinolone	corticosteroids (fluocinonide	face AND potent corticosteroids		
	0.1% cream) to body BID	0.1% cream) to body BID	(fluocinonide 0.1% cream) to body BID AND prednisone 0.5 mg/		
			$kg \times 10$ days (or equivalent of		
			methylprednisolone); if no improvement or deterioration.		
			consider dose reduction or		
			discontinuation		
Radiation dermatitis/	Faint erythema or dry desonamation	Moderate to brisk erythema; natchy moist descuamation.	Moist desquamation other than skin folds and creases: bleeding	Skin necrosis or ulceration of full-thickness dermis:	
radiation recall		mostly defined to skin folds and creases: moderate edema	induced by minor trauma or abrasion	spontaneous bleeding from	
	Prophylaxis with mometasone 0.1	% cream BID throughout therapy, BI	RAFi may be paused 5–7 days prior to	o radiotherapy	
	Continue BR AFi/MFKi at	Continue BRAFi/MEKi at	Interrunt BRAFi/MFKi treatment		
	current dose; topical	current dose; topical	until severity decreases to grade		
	mid-strength corticosteroid	mid-strength corticosteroid	1–2; topical mid-strength		
	(mometasone furoate 0.1%	(mometasone furoate 0.1%	corticosteroid (mometasone funcate 0 1% cream) BID AND		
		sulfadiazine 1% cream BID to	silver sulfadiazine 1% cream BID		
		open areas	to open AND pain control with		
			NSAIDs/GABA agonists/		
			narcotics; consider dose reduction		
			or discontinuation if no		

have shown comparable activity to dacarbazine are temozolomide (MTIC), carmustine (BCNU), lomustine (CCNU), carboplatin, paclitaxel, and docetaxel. A difference in toxicity-related adverse events has led to the preference of monotherapy with dacarbazine over polychemotherapy regimens and other cytotoxic drugs (Pasquali et al. 2018; Luke and Schwartz 2013).

Dacarbazine or 5-(3,3-dimethyl-1-triazeno) imidazole-4-carboxamide (DTIC) is also the only chemotherapeutic drug which has ever acquired approval by the FDA for use in advanced malignant melanoma since 1975. While each chemotherapy has its own distinct set of AEs, the following paragraph focuses on the cutaneous AEs encountered with dacarbazine, which is the most frequently used chemotherapy as second- or third-line treatment in stage IV melanoma. Compared to gastrointestinal and hematopoietic AEs which are seen in about 90% of patients, cutaneous AEs are rarely seen and mainly comprise hypersensitivity and phototoxic reactions (Palathinkal et al. 2014).

#### Phototoxicity

Several case reports have shown rash-like eruptions in the sun-exposed areas shortly after receiving chemotherapy with intravenous dacarbazine (DTIC) (Kunze et al. 1980; Yung et al. 1981).

The range of onset was reported at various time points, ranging from very early after the first or second session of therapy to the 16th session with a median of about 6 sessions (Treudler et al. 2004).

UV exposure caused pruritic erythematous urticarial macules or papules confined to those areas that had been in contact with UV radiation, which occurred approximately 12 h after drug application and lasted about 72 h with full recovery after this time (Yung et al. 1981). It is known that DTIC is unstable in solutions, showing rapid photodegradation after exposure to sunlight into 2-azahypoxanthine, the apparent culprit photosensitizer (Treudler et al. 2004). As in phototoxic reactions seen with other agents such as the BRAFi vemurafenib, investigations have revealed increased sensitivity to UVA after dacarbazine (Treudler et al. 2004). Since patch testing in these investigations was negative, a phototoxic rather than a photoallergic mechanism is suspected. Additionally, the accumulation of phototoxic products in the skin may be linked to a decrease in enzymes which metabolize DTIC to MTIC (5-3-methyltriazen-1yl-imidazo-4-carboxamide).

Sun exposure should be avoided during the first 3 days after dacarbazine infusion. Photoprotective clothing and use of broad-spectrum sunscreen with potent UVA-blocking features even during cloudy weather are recommended. The penetration of UVA radiation through window glass should be kept in mind and protective measures should be planned accordingly.

#### Hypersensitivity

Hypersensitivity reactions during or shortly after infusions are most frequent with platinum-based antineoplastic drugs (after several cycles), taxanes (at the first or second cycle), and liposomal doxorubicin (Sibaud et al. 2016) but have also been reported with dacarbazine (Levy et al. 2006). Hypersensitivity reactions can present in the form of flush, urticaria, morbilliform exanthem, pruritus, and angioedema accompanied by systemic symptoms such as dyspnea, pain, coughing, tachycardia, abdominal pain, and hypertension, potentially deteriorating to severe anaphylaxis necessitating intensive care. Although the reactions resemble type I hypersensitivity reactions, no prior sensitization is required as opposed to a classic allergic reaction (Sibaud et al. 2016). The infusion should be immediately stopped, and symptoms should be addressed accordingly. Premedication, reduction of infusion speed, and desensitization may be required to prevent recurrence.

# Conclusion

Cutaneous toxicities profoundly diminish the quality of life (QoL) of affected patients and impairment seems to be more severe in patients receiving modern melanoma therapies such as targeted therapy as compared to conventional chemotherapy (Rosen et al. 2013). Aside from

significant symptoms and functional burden, cutaneous AEs make the anticancer therapy visible, leaving patients with a profound psychosocial burden that may impact therapy administration. Prompt diagnosis, severity assessment, and management are therefore crucial for the well-being and conservation of QoL in oncological patients. At times the severity and the impact of cutaneous adverse events are overestimated by oncological specialists not trained in dermatology (Barrios et al. 2017). Since this may lead to the interruption or even discontinuation of potentially lifesaving therapies, an interdisciplinary approach including a dermatologist is recommended in the case of cutaneous adverse events to ensure the best possible outcome for the oncological patient.

#### References

- Amitay-Laish I, Stemmer SM, Lacouture ME (2011) Adverse cutaneous reactions secondary to tyrosine kinase inhibitors including imatinib mesylate, nilotinib, and dasatinib. Dermatol Ther 24:386–395. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1529-8019.2011.01431.x
- Anforth R, Fernandez-Penas P, Long GV (2013) Cutaneous toxicities of RAF inhibitors. Lancet Oncol 14:e11–e18. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1470-2045(12) 70413-8
- Anforth R, Carlos G, Clements A, Kefford R, Fernandez-Penas P (2015) Cutaneous adverse events in patients treated with BRAF inhibitor-based therapies for metastatic melanoma for longer than 52 weeks. Br J Dermatol 172:239–243. https://doi.org/10.1111/ bjd.13200
- Arbour KC et al (2018) Impact of baseline steroids on efficacy of programmed cell death-1 and programmed death-ligand 1 blockade in patients with non-small-cell lung cancer. J Clin Oncol 36:2872–2878. https://doi. org/10.1200/JCO.2018.79.0006
- Ascierto PA et al (2016) Cobimetinib combined with vemurafenib in advanced BRAF(V600)-mutant melanoma (coBRIM): updated efficacy results from a randomised, double-blind, phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol 17:1248–1260. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1470-2045(16)30122-X
- Balagula Y, Barth Huston K, Busam KJ, Lacouture ME, Chapman PB, Myskowski PL (2011) Dermatologic side effects associated with the MEK 1/2 inhibitor selumetinib (AZD6244, ARRY-142886). Investig New Drugs 29:1114–1121. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10637-010-9567-3
- Barrios D, Ciccolini K, Phillips G, Skripnik Lucas A, Hsu M, Freites-Martinez A, Marchetti M, Deng L, Belum R, Lacouture ME (2017) Anti-cancer therapy

interruption and diagnostic concordance between referring clinicians and dermatologists at Memorial Sloan Kettering cancer Center. Paper presented at the American Academy of Dermatology 75th annua meeting, Orlando, 3 Mar 2017

- Belum VR, Fontanilla Patel H, Lacouture ME, Rodeck U (2013) Skin toxicity of targeted cancer agents: mechanisms and intervention. Future Oncol 9:1161–1170. https://doi.org/10.2217/fon.13.62
- Berger TG, Steinhoff M (2011) Pruritus in elderly patients – eruptions of senescence. Semin Cutan Med Surg 30:113–117. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. sder.2011.04.002
- Boussemart L et al (2013) Vemurafenib and radiosensitization. JAMA Dermatol 149:855–857. https:// doi.org/10.1001/jamadermatol.2013.4200
- Camidge R, Price A (2001) Characterizing the phenomenon of radiation recall dermatitis. Radiol Oncol 59:237–245
- Capriotti K, Capriotti J, Pelletier J, Stewart K (2017) Chemotherapy-associated paronychia treated with 2% povidone-iodine: a series of cases. Cancer Manag Res 9:225–228. https://doi.org/10.2147/CMAR.S139301
- Chapman PB et al (2011) Improved survival with vemurafenib in melanoma with BRAF V600E mutation. N Engl J Med 364:2507–2516. https://doi.org/ 10.1056/NEJMoa1103782
- Chen S, Velez N, Saavedra A (2017) Adverse cutaneous drug reactions. In: McKean SRJ, Dressler D, Scheurer D (eds) Principles and practice of hospital medicine, vol 2. McGraw-Hill, New York, pp 1114–1124
- Chirasuthat P, Chayavichitsilp P (2018) Atezolizumabinduced Stevens-Johnson syndrome in a patient with non-small cell lung carcinoma. Case Rep Dermatol 10:198–202. https://doi.org/10.1159/000492172
- Choi JN (2014) Dermatologic adverse events to chemotherapeutic agents, Part 2: BRAF inhibitors, MEK inhibitors, and ipilimumab. Semin Cutan Med Surg 33:40–48
- Chou S, Zhao C, Hwang SJE, Fernandez-Penas P (2017) PD-1 inhibitor-associated lichenoid inflammation with incidental suprabasilar acantholysis or vesiculation-Report of 4 cases. J Cutan Pathol 44:851–856. https:// doi.org/10.1111/cup.13013
- Chu EY et al (2012) Diverse cutaneous side effects associated with BRAF inhibitor therapy: a clinicopathologic study. J Am Acad Dermatol 67:1265–1272. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jaad.2012.04.008
- Coleman E, Panse G, Haldas J, Gettinger SN, Leventhal JS (2018) Pityriasis rubra pilaris-like erythroderma in the setting of pembrolizumab therapy responsive to acitretin. JAAD Case Rep 4:669–671. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.jdcr.2018.06.022
- Collins LK, Chapman MS, Carter JB, Samie FH (2017) Cutaneous adverse effects of the immune checkpoint inhibitors. Curr Probl Cancer 41:125–128. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.currproblcancer.2016.12.001
- Crosby T, Fish R, Coles B, Mason MD (2000) Systemic treatments for metastatic cutaneous melanoma. Cochrane Database Syst Rev:CD001215. https://doi. org/10.1002/14651858.CD001215

- Curtin JA et al (2005) Distinct sets of genetic alterations in melanoma. N Engl J Med 353:2135–2147. https://doi. org/10.1056/NEJMoa050092
- Dika E et al (2017) Cutaneous adverse effects during ipilimumab treatment for metastatic melanoma: a prospective study. Eur J Dermatol 27:266–270. https://doi. org/10.1684/ejd.2017.3023
- Dummer R, Rinderknecht J, Goldinger SM (2012) Ultraviolet A and photosensitivity during vemurafenib therapy. N Engl J Med 366:480–481. https://doi.org/ 10.1056/NEJMc1113752
- Dummer R et al (2018a) Encorafenib plus binimetinib versus vemurafenib or encorafenib in patients with BRAF-mutant melanoma (COLUMBUS): a multicentre, open-label, randomised phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol 19:603–615. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1470-2045(18)30142-6
- Dummer R et al (2018b) Overall survival in patients with BRAF-mutant melanoma receiving encorafenib plus binimetinib versus vemurafenib or encorafenib (COLUMBUS): a multicentre, open-label, randomised, phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol. https://doi.org/10.1016/ s1470-2045(18)30497-2
- Dummer R et al (2018c) Overall survival in patients with BRAF-mutant melanoma receiving encorafenib plus binimetinib versus vemurafenib or encorafenib (COLUMBUS): a multicentre, open-label, randomised, phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol 19:1315–1327. https://doi. org/10.1016/S1470-2045(18)30497-2
- Eggermont AMM et al (2018) Adjuvant pembrolizumab versus placebo in resected stage III melanoma. N Engl J Med 378:1789–1801. https://doi.org/ 10.1056/NEJMoa1802357
- Enomoto Y, Nakatani H, Kondo S, Kasai T, Tsuchiya Y (2018) Drug-induced oral lichenoid reaction during nivolumab therapy. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.ijom.2018.07.025
- Ensslin CJ, Rosen AC, Wu S, Lacouture ME (2013) Pruritus in patients treated with targeted cancer therapies: systematic review and meta-analysis. J Am Acad Dermatol 69:708–720. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.jaad.2013.06.038
- Faje AT et al (2018) High-dose glucocorticoids for the treatment of ipilimumab-induced hypophysitis is associated with reduced survival in patients with melanoma. Cancer 124:3706–3714. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/cncr.31629
- Flaherty KT et al (2012a) Improved survival with MEK inhibition in BRAF-mutated melanoma. N Engl J Med 367:107–114. https://doi.org/10.1056/ NEJMoa1203421
- Flaherty KT et al (2012b) Combined BRAF and MEK inhibition in melanoma with BRAF V600 mutations. N Engl J Med 367:1694–1703. https://doi.org/10.1056/ NEJMoa1210093
- Fontecilla NM, Kittler NW, Lopez A, Yang C, Geskin L (2018) Programmed cell death protein-1 inhibitorinduced granuloma annulare and hypertrophic lichen planus masquerading as squamous cell carcinoma. JAAD Case Rep 4:636–639. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jdcr.2018.01.020

- Freeman-Keller M, Kim Y, Cronin H, Richards A, Gibney G, Weber JS (2016) Nivolumab in resected and unresectable metastatic melanoma: characteristics of immune-related adverse events and association with outcomes. Clin Cancer Res 22:886–894. https://doi. org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-15-1136
- Gelot P et al (2013) Vemurafenib: an unusual UVA-induced photosensitivity. Exp Dermatol 22:297–298. https://doi.org/10.1111/exd.12119
- Goldinger SM, Stieger P, Meier B, Micaletto S, Contassot E, French LE, Dummer R (2016) Cytotoxic cutaneous adverse drug reactions during anti-PD-1 therapy. Clin Cancer Res 22:4023–4029. https://doi. org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-15-2872
- Guo J et al (2011) Phase II, open-label, single-arm trial of imatinib mesylate in patients with metastatic melanoma harboring c-Kit mutation or amplification. J Clin Oncol 29:2904–2909. https://doi.org/10.1200/ JCO.2010.33.9275
- Habre M, Habre SB, Kourie HR (2016) Dermatologic adverse events of checkpoint inhibitors: what an oncologist should know. Immunotherapy 8:1437–1446. https://doi.org/10.2217/imt-2016-0074
- Hanley T, Papa S, Saha M (2018) Bullous pemphigoid associated with ipilimumab therapy for advanced metastatic melanoma. JRSM Open 9. https://doi.org/ 10.1177/2054270418793029
- Hassel JC et al (2017) Combined immune checkpoint blockade (anti-PD-1/anti-CTLA-4): evaluation and management of adverse drug reactions. Cancer Treat Rev 57:36–49. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ctrv. 2017.05.003
- Hauschild A et al (2012) Dabrafenib in BRAF-mutated metastatic melanoma: a multicentre, open-label, phase 3 randomised controlled trial. Lancet Lond Engl 380:358–365. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(12) 60868-X
- Horvat TZ et al (2015) Immune-related adverse events, need for systemic immunosuppression, and effects on survival and time to treatment failure in patients with melanoma treated with ipilimumab at memorial Sloan Kettering cancer center. J Clin Oncol 33:3193–3198. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2015.60.8448
- Hua C et al (2016) Association of vitiligo with tumor response in patients with metastatic melanoma treated with pembrolizumab. JAMA Dermatol 152:45–51. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamadermatol.2015.2707
- Hwang SJ et al (2016) Cutaneous adverse events (AEs) of anti-programmed cell death (PD)-1 therapy in patients with metastatic melanoma: a single-institution cohort. J Am Acad Dermatol 74:455–461 e451. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.jaad.2015.10.029
- Hwang A, Iskandar A, Dasanu CA (2018) Stevens-Johnson syndrome manifesting late in the course of pembrolizumab therapy. J Oncol Pharm Pract. https:// doi.org/10.1177/1078155218791314
- Ito J, Fujimoto D, Nakamura A, Nagano T, Uehara K, Imai Y, Tomii K (2017) Aprepitant for refractory nivolumab-induced pruritus. Lung Cancer 109:58–61. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lungcan.2017.04.020
- Joly P et al (2002) A comparison of oral and topical corticosteroids in patients with bullous pemphigoid.

N Engl J Med 346:321–327. https://doi.org/10.1056/ NEJMoa011592

- Jour G et al (2016) Autoimmune dermatologic toxicities from immune checkpoint blockade with anti-PD-1 antibody therapy: a report on bullous skin eruptions. J Cutan Pathol 43:688–696. https://doi.org/10.1111/cup.12717
- Keating GM (2016) Cobimetinib plus vemurafenib: a review in BRAF (V600) mutation-positive unresectable or metastatic melanoma. Drugs 76:605–615. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40265-016-0562-7
- Khoja L, Day D, Wei-Wu Chen T, Siu LL, Hansen AR (2017) Tumour- and class-specific patterns of immunerelated adverse events of immune checkpoint inhibitors: a systematic review. Ann Oncol 28:2377–2385. https://doi.org/10.1093/annonc/mdx286
- Kim KB et al (2013) Phase II study of the MEK1/MEK2 inhibitor Trametinib in patients with metastatic BRAFmutant cutaneous melanoma previously treated with or without a BRAF inhibitor. J Clin Oncol 31:482–489. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2012.43.5966
- Kunze J, Roeber H, Kollakowski M (1980) Phototoxic dermatitis caused by DTIC-treatment. Z Hautkr 55:100–101
- Lacouture ME (2014) Dermatologic principles and practice in oncology: conditions of the skin, hair and nails in cancer patients, 1st edn. Wiley-Blackwell, Philadelphia
- Lacouture M, Sibaud V (2018) Toxic side effects of targeted therapies and immunotherapies affecting the skin, oral mucosa, hair, and nails. Am J Clin Dermatol. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40257-018-0384-3
- Lacouture ME et al (2010) Skin toxicity evaluation protocol with panitumumab (STEPP), a phase II, open-label, randomized trial evaluating the impact of a pre-Emptive Skin treatment regimen on skin toxicities and quality of life in patients with metastatic colorectal cancer. J Clin Oncol 28:1351–1357. https:// doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2008.21.7828
- Lacouture ME et al (2013) Analysis of dermatologic events in vemurafenib-treated patients with melanoma. Oncologist 18:314–322. https://doi.org/10.1634/theoncologist.2012-0333
- Lacouture ME, Wolchok JD, Yosipovitch G, Kahler KC, Busam KJ, Hauschild A (2014) Ipilimumab in patients with cancer and the management of dermatologic adverse events. J Am Acad Dermatol 71:161–169. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaad.2014.02.035
- Lacouture ME, Wu J, Markova A (2019) Dermatologic adverse events from cancer treatments. In: Shear N, Dodiuk-Gad R (eds) Advances in diagnosis and management of cutaneous adverse drug reactions. Springer Nature Singapore, Singapore. https://doi.org/10.1007/ 978-981-13-1489-6 10
- Larkin J et al (2015) Combined Nivolumab and Ipilimumab or monotherapy in untreated melanoma. N Engl J Med 373:23–34. https://doi.org/10.1056/ NEJMoa1504030
- Levy A, Guitera P, Kerob D, Ollivaud L, Archimbaud A, Dubertret L, Basset-Seguin N (2006) Hypersensitivity to dacarbazine in patients with metastatic malignant melanoma. Ann Dermatol Venereol 133:157–160
- Long GV et al (2015) Dabrafenib and trametinib versus dabrafenib and placebo for Val600 BRAF-mutant

melanoma: a multicentre, double-blind, phase 3 randomised controlled trial. Lancet Lond Engl 386:444-451. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(15) 60898-4

- Long GV et al (2017a) Dabrafenib plus trametinib versus dabrafenib monotherapy in patients with metastatic BRAF V600E/K-mutant melanoma: long-term survival and safety analysis of a phase 3 study. Ann Oncol 28:1631–1639. https://doi.org/10.1093/annonc/ mdx176
- Long GV et al (2017b) Adjuvant dabrafenib plus trametinib in stage III BRAF-mutated melanoma. N Engl J Med 377:1813–1823. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa 1708539
- Luke JJ, Schwartz GK (2013) Chemotherapy in the management of advanced cutaneous malignant melanoma. Clin Dermatol 31:290–297. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. clindermatol.2012.08.016
- Lynch TJ Jr, Kim ES, Eaby B, Garey J, West DP, Lacouture ME (2007) Epidermal growth factor receptor inhibitorassociated cutaneous toxicities: an evolving paradigm in clinical management. Oncologist 12:610–621. https://doi.org/10.1634/theoncologist.12-5-610
- Macdonald JB, Macdonald B, Golitz LE, LoRusso P, Sekulic A (2015) Cutaneous adverse effects of targeted therapies: Part II: inhibitors of intracellular molecular signaling pathways. J Am Acad Dermatol 72:221–236; quiz 237–228. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jaad.2014.07.033
- Min Lee CK, Li S, Tran DC, Zhu GA, Kim J, Kwong BY, Chang ALS (2018) Characterization of dermatitis after PD-1/PD-L1 inhibitor therapy and association with multiple oncologic outcomes: a retrospective casecontrol study. J Am Acad Dermatol. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.jaad.2018.05.035
- Minor DR, Rodvien R, Kashani-Sabet M (2012) Successful desensitization in a case of Stevens-Johnson syndrome due to vemurafenib. Melanoma Res 22:410–411. https:// doi.org/10.1097/CMR.0b013e 3283573437
- Mochel MC et al (2016) Cutaneous autoimmune effects in the setting of therapeutic immune checkpoint inhibition for metastatic melanoma. J Cutan Pathol 43:787–791. https://doi.org/10.1111/cup.12735
- Naidoo J et al (2016) Autoimmune bullous skin disorders with immune checkpoint inhibitors targeting PD-1 and PD-L1. Cancer Immunol Res 4:383–389. https://doi. org/10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-15-0123
- Nayar N, Briscoe K, Fernandez Penas P (2016) Toxic epidermal necrolysis-like reaction with severe satellite cell necrosis associated with nivolumab in a patient with ipilimumab refractory metastatic melanoma. J Immunother 39:149–152. https://doi.org/10.1097/ CJI.000000000000112
- Palathinkal DM, Sharma TR, Koon HB, Bordeaux JS (2014) Current systemic therapies for melanoma. Dermatol Surg 40:948–963. https://doi.org/10.1097/ 01.DSS.0000452626.09513.55
- Park JJ, Hawryluk EB, Tahan SR, Flaherty K, Kim CC (2014) Cutaneous granulomatous eruption and successful response to potent topical steroids in patients undergoing targeted BRAF inhibitor treatment for metastatic

melanoma. JAMA Dermatol 150:307-311. https://doi. org/10.1001/jamadermatol.2013.7919

- Pasquali S, Hadjinicolaou AV, Chiarion Sileni V, Rossi CR, Mocellin S (2018) Systemic treatments for metastatic cutaneous melanoma. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2:CD011123. https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858. CD011123.pub2
- Pattanaprichakul P et al (2014) Sweet syndrome following vemurafenib therapy for recurrent cholangiocarcinoma. J Cutan Pathol 41:326–328. https://doi.org/10.1111/ cup.12273
- Phillips GS, Freites-Martinez A, Wu J, Chan D, Fabbrocini G, Hellmann MD, Lacouture ME (2018) Clinical characterization of immunotherapy-related pruritus among patients seen in 2 oncodermatology clinics. JAMA Dermatol. https://doi.org/10.1001/ jamadermatol.2018.4560
- Robert C et al (2015a) Pembrolizumab versus ipilimumab in advanced melanoma. N Engl J Med 372:2521–2532. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1503093
- Robert C et al (2015b) Improved overall survival in melanoma with combined dabrafenib and trametinib. N Engl J Med 372:30–39. https://doi.org/10.1056/ NEJMoa1412690
- Robert C, Sibaud V, Mateus C, Verschoore M, Charles C, Lanoy E, Baran R (2015c) Nail toxicities induced by systemic anticancer treatments. Lancet Oncol 16: e181–e189. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1470-2045(14) 71133-7
- Rosen AC, Case EC, Dusza SW, Balagula Y, Gordon J, West DP, Lacouture ME (2013) Impact of dermatologic adverse events on quality of life in 283 cancer patients: a questionnaire study in a dermatology referral clinic. Am J Clin Dermatol 14:327–333. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s40257-013-0021-0
- Sanlorenzo M et al (2015) Pembrolizumab cutaneous adverse events and their association with disease progression. JAMA Dermatol 151:1206–1212. https://doi. org/10.1001/jamadermatol.2015.1916
- Schad K, Baumann Conzett K, Zipser MC, Enderlin V, Kamarashev J, French LE, Dummer R (2010) Mitogenactivated protein/extracellular signal-regulated kinase kinase inhibition results in biphasic alteration of epidermal homeostasis with keratinocytic apoptosis and pigmentation disorders. Clin Cancer Res 16:1058–1064. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-09-1766
- Sibaud V (2018) Dermatologic reactions to immune checkpoint inhibitors: skin toxicities and immunotherapy. Am J Clin Dermatol 19:345–361. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s40257-017-0336-3
- Sibaud V et al (2016) Dermatological adverse events with taxane chemotherapy. Eur J Dermatol 26:427–443. https://doi.org/10.1684/ejd.2016.2833
- Siegel J et al (2018) Bullous disorders associated with anti-PD-1 and anti-PD-L1 therapy: a retrospective analysis evaluating the clinical and histopathologic features,

frequency, and impact on cancer therapy. J Am Acad Dermatol. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaad.2018.07.008

- Su F et al (2012) RAS mutations in cutaneous squamouscell carcinomas in patients treated with BRAF inhibitors. N Engl J Med 366:207–215. https://doi.org/ 10.1056/NEJMoa1105358
- Tetzlaff MT et al (2017) Lichenoid dermatologic toxicity from immune checkpoint blockade therapy: a detailed examination of the clinicopathologic features. Am J Dermatopathol 39:121–129. https://doi.org/10.1097/ DAD.0000000000000688
- Teulings HE, Limpens J, Jansen SN, Zwinderman AH, Reitsma JB, Spuls PI, Luiten RM (2015) Vitiligo-like depigmentation in patients with stage III-IV melanoma receiving immunotherapy and its association with survival: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Clin Oncol 33:773–781. https://doi.org/10.1200/ JCO.2014.57.4756
- Treudler R, Georgieva J, Geilen CC, Orfanos CE (2004) Dacarbazine but not temozolomide induces phototoxic dermatitis in patients with malignant melanoma. J Am Acad Dermatol 50:783–785. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jaad.2003.12.016
- Uenami T et al (2017) Vitiligo in a patient with lung adenocarcinoma treated with nivolumab: a case report. Lung Cancer 109:42–44. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. lungcan.2017.04.019
- Vazquez-Osorio I, Sanchez-Aguilar MD, Garcia-Rodino S, Suarez-Penaranda JM, Aliste C, Vazquez-Veiga H (2016) Vemurafenib-induced neutrophilic panniculitis: a new case and review of the literature. Am J Dermatopathol 38:e93–e96. https://doi.org/10.1097/ DAD.000000000000528
- Wang LL et al (2018) Timing of onset of adverse cutaneous reactions associated with programmed cell death protein 1 inhibitor therapy. JAMA Dermatol 154:1057–1061. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamadermatol. 2018.1912
- Weber JS, Kahler KC, Hauschild A (2012) Management of immune-related adverse events and kinetics of response with ipilimumab. J Clin Oncol 30: 2691–2697. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2012.41.6750
- Wenk KS, Pichard DC, Nasabzadeh T, Jang S, Venna SS (2013) Vemurafenib-induced DRESS. JAMA Dermatol 149:1242–1243. https://doi.org/10.1001/ jamadermatol.2013.5278
- Wollina U (2001) Acute paronychia: comparative treatment with topical antibiotic alone or in combination with corticosteroid. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 15:82–84
- Yin ES, Totonchy MB, Leventhal JS (2017) Nivolumabassociated vitiligo-like depigmentation in a patient with acute myeloid leukemia: a novel finding. JAAD Case Rep 3:90–92. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jdcr.2016.10.008
- Yorio JT et al (2014) Case of vemurafenib-induced Sweet's syndrome. J Dermatol 41:817–820. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/1346-8138.12430

- Yung CW, Winston EM, Lorincz AL (1981) Dacarbazineinduced photosensitivity reaction. J Am Acad Dermatol 4:541–543
- Zimmer L et al (2012a) Atypical melanocytic proliferations and new primary melanomas in patients with advanced melanoma undergoing selective BRAF inhibition. J Clin Oncol 30:2375–2383. https://doi. org/10.1200/JCO.2011.41.1660
- Zimmer L, Livingstone E, Hillen U, Domkes S, Becker A, Schadendorf D (2012b) Panniculitis with arthralgia in patients with melanoma treated with selective BRAF inhibitors and its management. Arch Dermatol 148:357–361. https://doi.org/10.1001/archdermatol. 2011.2842



# Side Effects of Systemic Therapy and Their Clinical Management 37

Suthee Rapisuwon and Geoffrey T. Gibney

# Contents

Introduction	774
Targeted Therapy	774
Pyrexia	776
Skin Toxicity	777
Ocular Toxicities	777
Cardiac Toxicities	778
Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors	778
Skin Toxicity	780
Gastrointestinal Toxicity	781
Hepatic Toxicity	782
Pulmonary Toxicity	783
Endocrine Toxicity	784
Less Common Toxicities	785
Oncolytic Viral Therapy	786
Conclusions	786
References	786

S. Rapisuwon

Georgetown-Lombardi Comprehensive Cancer Center, Washington, DC, USA

Department of Oncology, Georgetown University, Washington, DC, USA

G. T. Gibney (⊠) Georgetown-Lombardi Comprehensive Cancer Center, Washington, DC, USA

Division of Hematology/Oncology, Medstar-Georgetown University Hospital, Washington, DC, USA e-mail: geoffrey.t.gibney@gunet.georgetown.edu

#### Abstract

Understanding when to interrupt or permanently discontinue systemic therapy in patients with advanced melanoma is dependent on the class of therapy, type of adverse event, and severity. Criteria for resuming therapy following adverse events differs among drug classes. While patients can be re-challenged with reduced doses of BRAF and MEK inhibitors after improvement or resolution of toxicities, grade 2 or higher immune related adverse events (irAEs) associated with immune checkpoint inhibitor therapy usually requires drug interruption or discontinuation and upfront corticosteroids. This chapter will discuss toxicities of BRAF-targeted therapy, current immune checkpoint inhibitors, and injectable oncolytic viral therapy as well as toxicity management guidelines. The toxicities associated with targeted and immune checkpoint inhibitor therapies in patients with advanced melanoma present unique challenges to providers and patients.

#### Keywords

Cutaneous toxicities · Immune checkpoint inhibitor (ICI) · BRAF inhibitor (BRAFi) · MEK inhibitor (MEKi) · Chemotherapy · Adverse events (AEs) · Immune related adverse events (irAEs)

#### Introduction

Prior to 2011, relatively, few systemic therapies were approved for use in patients with highrisk resected and advanced melanoma. These included dacarbazine, interferon (IFN)-alpha2b, and interleukin-2 (IL-2) (Gibney and Atkins 2015). While most oncologists have been well versed in the management of side effects with dacarbazine and IFN, high-dose IL-2 presented unique challenges due to the need for repeated intravenous infusion every 8 h for up to 15 doses and the severity of adverse events due in a large part to a capillary leak syndrome. Significant toxicities with IL-2 such as hypotension, arrhythmias, respiratory failure, and acute kidney injury have required aggressive supportive care (Atkins et al. 1999). As a result, the use of IL-2 has been limited to the inpatient setting administered by experienced providers.

In recent years, more effective therapeutics have been developed and approved by the FDA for use in patients with melanoma. These include selective inhibitors of the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathway in BRAF-mutant melanoma (dabrafenib, trametinib, vemurafenib, and cobimetinib), immune checkpoint inhibitors (ipilimumab, pembrolizumab, and nivolumab), and a genetically engineered oncolytic virus (talimogene laherparepvec). Consequently, the spectrum of treatment-related side effects in melanoma has also expanded. Recognition and management of these toxicities require a new set of skills by treating providers, especially with the emergence of immune-related adverse events with checkpoint immunotherapy.

In this chapter, we focus on the management of side effects associated with newer targeted therapies and immunotherapies in patients with advanced melanoma. Toxicity management is largely based on grading the severity of adverse events using the Common Terminology Criteria for Adverse Events (CTCAE) that was developed by the US Department of Health and Human Services (Common Terminology of Clinical Adverse Events (CTCAE)). Providers should familiarize themselves with the CTCAE grading schemas. The following sections discuss adverse events seen with these approved therapies and their general management. For more information and specifics on dosing, it is recommended to refer to the updated package inserts available for each therapy.

# **Targeted Therapy**

Currently, FDA-approved targeted therapies in patients with BRAF V600-mutant melanoma include the selective BRAF V600-mutant inhibitors dabrafenib and vemurafenib and the MEK inhibitors trametinib and cobimetinib. Both BRAF and MEK inhibitors have been studied as single agents and show significant clinical activity and favorable toxicity profiles in this patient population (Chapman et al. 2011; Flaherty et al. 2012; Hauschild et al. 2012). Of note, less data on cobimetinib as monotherapy is available, and it is approved for use only in combination with vemurafenib (Rosen et al. 2016). The combinations of dabrafenib plus trametinib and vemurafenib plus cobimetinib have become the standard of care for BRAF-targeted therapy based on superior response rates and survival seen in three randomized phase III trials (COMBI-d, COMBI-v, and coBRIM) (Larkin et al. 2014; Long et al. 2015; Robert et al. 2015a).

In comparison to BRAF inhibitor monotherapy, the rates of severe toxicities (grade 3-4 events) are not substantially different with combination BRAF plus MEK inhibition. A grade 3 adverse event rate of 32% was seen in patients receiving dabrafenib plus trametinib, whereas the rate was 33% in patients receiving dabrafenib monotherapy on the COMBI-d study (of note, updated data reported treatment-related rates of 23% and 24%, respectively) (Long et al. 2015; Flaherty et al. 2016). Similarly, equivalent rates of grade 3 adverse events and fewer grade 4 adverse events were seen with vemurafenib plus cobimetinib compared to vemurafenib monotherapy in the coBRIM study (Larkin et al. 2014). Although BRAF plus MEK inhibitor therapy is generally well tolerated, dose

interruptions and reductions are relatively common. For example, up to 55% of patients receiving dabrafenib plus trametinib required a dose interruption, and 33% of patients required a dose reduction as reported on the COMBI-v study (Robert et al. 2015a). However, only 13% of patients required permanent discontinuation, which was similar to the COMBI-d study (Long et al. 2015). While there are slight differences in the toxicity profiles for dabrafenib plus trametinib and vemurafenib plus cobimetinib, the two regimens have not been directly compared head to head making it difficult to determine if one regimen is better tolerated than the other (Table 1).

 Table 1
 Select reported adverse events (treatment-emergent) in patients treated with BRAF plus MEK inhibitor combinations on phase III studies

Adverse event	Dabrafenib p trametinib (C Long et al. (2	lus COMBI-d) 2015)	Dabrafenib p (COMBI-v) I (2015a)	Dabrafenib plus trametinib (COMBI-v) Robert et al. (2015a)		Vemurafenib plus cobimetinib (coBRIM) Larkin et al. (2014)	
	All grades	Grade 3	All grades	Grade 3	All grades	Grade 3	
Any	87%	32%	98%	48%	96%	49%	
Pyrexia	52%	7%	53%	4%	26%	2%	
Chills	28%	0%	31%	1%	NR	NR	
Fatigue	27%	2%	NR	NR	32%	4%	
Rash	24%	0%	22%	1%	38%	5%	
Nausea	20%	0%	35%	<1%	39%	1%	
Headache	19%	0%	NR	NR	NR	NR	
Diarrhea	18%	<1%	32%	1%	57%	6%	
Vomiting	14%	<1%	29%	1%	21%	1%	
Increased AST	11%	3%	NR	NR	22%	8%	
Peripheral edema	11%	1%	NR	NR	NR	NR	
Increased ALT	10%	2%	NR	NR	23%	11%	
Pruritus	7%	0%	NR	NR	NR	NR	
Hyperkeratosis	6%	0%	4%	0%	10%	0%	
HFS	6%	<1%	4%	0%	NR	NR	
Alopecia	5%	0%	6%	0%	14%	<1%	
Arthralgias	NR	NR	24%	1%	33%	2%	
Photosensitivity reaction	NR	NR	NR	NR	28%	2%	
Increased CK	NR	NR	NR	NR	26%	7%	
cuSCC	3% ^a	3% ^a		1% ^a		3%	
Keratoacanthoma	NR		NR		1%		
Chorioretinopathy	<1%	0%	1%	0%	12%	<1%	
Retinal detachment	NR	NR	NR	NR	8%	2%	
Decreased ejection fraction	4%	3%	8%	4%	7%	1%	
QT interval prolongation	NR	NR	NR	NR	4%	<1%	

AST Aspartate aminotransferase, ALT alanine aminotransferase, HFS hand-foot syndrome or palmar-plantar erythrodysesthesia, CK creatine kinase, cuSCC cutaneous squamous cell carcinoma, NR not reported ^aIncludes both cuSCC and keratoacanthomas

One of the unusual findings seen with selective BRAF inhibition using vemurafenib or dabrafenib monotherapy is a paradoxical activation of the MAPK pathway in BRAF wild-type cells (Gibney et al. 2013). This is thought to occur through BRAF inhibitor-mediated homodimerization or heterodimerization of the nonmutant RAF isoforms, which activates MEK and ERK signaling. This process may be further accelerated in cells harboring RAS mutations. Proliferative skin events ranging from benign such as hyperkeratosis and keratoses to malignant verrucal such as keratoacanthomas/squamous cell carcinomas and new primary melanomas have been reported (Anforth et al. 2013). In addition, gastric and colonic polyps and non-skin secondary malignancies have been reported, which have also been attributed to BRAF inhibitor-mediated paradoxical activation of the MAPK pathway. The latter include reports on the emergence of leukemia, colorectal cancer, pancreatic cancer, breast cancer, and other secondary malignancies in patients with advanced melanoma on BRAF inhibitor therapy (Long et al. 2015; Gibney et al. 2013; Grey et al. 2014). The addition of the MEK inhibitor appears to significantly reduce the paradoxical activation of the MAPK pathway and the resultant proliferative skin events. For example, markedly fewer events of hyperkeratosis, hand-foot syndrome, keratoacanthomas, and cutaneous SCCs were reported in patients treated with BRAF plus MEK inhibitor combination therapy compared to BRAF inhibitor monotherapy in all phase III trials (Larkin et al. 2014; Long et al. 2015; Robert et al. 2015a).

In addition to the proliferative events seen with BRAF inhibitor therapy, there are other toxicities that are unique to either BRAF or MEK inhibitor classes, which has implications for dose interruptions and modifications. In particular, BRAF inhibitors have been associated more with pyrexia, photosensitivity reactions, arthralgias, and QT interval prolongation, whereas MEK inhibitors have been more associated with peripheral edema, serous retinopathy, retinal vein occlusion, and decreased ejection fraction (Flaherty et al. 2012; Larkin et al. 2014; Long et al. 2015). Other toxicities may have significant overlap between the two drug classes, making it difficult to know if one or both agents are causing the adverse event(s). In general, if a patient experiences a grade 3–4 event, then the BRAF-targeted therapy would need to be held until improvement to grade 1 or resolution. Typically, one or both drugs would be dose reduced upon restarting. In some cases, re-treatment is not advised. Exceptions do exist, and drug interruptions may be necessary for lower-grade events (such as ocular and cardiac toxicities). The following subsections address management of important adverse events seen with combination of BRAF plus MEK inhibitor therapy in patients with advanced melanoma.

#### Pyrexia

Pyrexia, defined as a temperature over 38 °C/ 100.4 °F, was seen in 52-53% of patients treated with dabrafenib plus trametinib in the COMBI-d and COMBI-v studies (Long et al. 2015; Robert et al. 2015a). In contrast, vemurafenib plus cobimetinib appeared to have a lower rate of pyrexia (26% in the coBRIM study) (Larkin et al. 2014). Grade 3 pyrexia (temperature >40 °C/ 102.3 °F for  $\leq$ 24 h) was seen in 4–7% of patients treated with dabrafenib plus trametinib and 2% of patients treated with vemurafenib plus cobimetinib. Of note, rates of pyrexia for dabrafenib and vemurafenib monotherapies in these studies were 25% and 21-22%, respectively. The underlying mechanism(s) for the pyrexia remains unknown. In the phase I/II study of dabrafenib plus trametinib, there was a trend for pyrexia in patients achieving higher blood levels of dabrafenib, whereas baseline characteristics were not associated with pyrexia (Menzies et al. 2015). The median timing to first pyrexia event was 19 days, with subsequent events frequently observed.

Guidelines on management of pyrexia have evolved with more experience on using dabrafenib plus trametinib (Menzies et al. 2015). For cases of pyrexia, it is recommended to temporarily hold dabrafenib. For grade 3 pyrexia (or pyrexia associated with other signs/symptoms such as rigors or hypotension), both dabrafenib and trametinib should be held. Symptom management with acetaminophen or NSAIDs can be administered. An infectious workup may also be appropriate, especially in more severe cases. Drug therapy can be reinstituted once pyrexia has resolved for at least 24 h. Dose reductions are appropriate in patients with recurrent or more severe pyrexia episodes. Low-dose corticosteroids can be considered in patients who do not respond to acetaminophen or NSAIDs. Premedication with antipyretic agents may also be useful in patients with recurrent pyrexia. A similar approach can be utilized for managing pyrexia in patients receiving vemurafenib plus cobimetinib.

#### **Skin Toxicity**

A range of cutaneous adverse events have been reported in patients treated with BRAF-targeted therapies. These primarily include proliferative skin events, photosensitivity, and rash. The former is largely related to the paradoxical MAPK activation as described earlier. In patients who do develop uncomplicated secondary cutaneous neoplastic disease on combination BRAF/MEK inhibitor therapy, such as the 1-3% of patients with keratoacanthomas or squamous cell carcinomas (Larkin et al. 2014; Long et al. 2015; Robert et al. 2015a), local management with cryotherapy or excision is usually feasible, and patients can continue on treatment (Anforth et al. 2013). With regard to photosensitivity, this is more common in patients treated with vemurafenib. In the coBRIM study, 28% of patients treated with vemurafenib plus cobimetinib reported photosensitivity, with a grade 3 rate of 2% (Larkin et al. 2014). Patients can experience a painful burning sensation that evolves into an erythematous skin reaction similar to serious sunburns when exposed to the sun or other ultraviolet light sources. This appears to be more due to UVA rather than UVB exposure, and the burning sensation can last up to 10 min after exposure even in less severe cases (Anforth et al. 2013). Patient education and protective measures (sun avoidance along with topical sunblock and sun-protective clothing) are important. In severe cases, temporary drug hold is warranted until resolution and dose reductions when restarting therapy may be considered (Vemurafenib package insert).

Both BRAF and MEK inhibitor monotherapies have also been associated with rash. An erythematous maculopapular rash that is either confluent or patchy in distribution is often described with dabrafenib and vemurafenib. Other cases that are potentially severe, such as erythema nodosum, DRESS syndrome, Sweet's syndrome, and toxic epidermal necrolysis (TEN)/Stevens-Johnson syndrome, have been reported (Jeudy et al. 2015; Mossner et al. 2015; Sinha et al. 2015; Wenk et al. 2013; Yorio et al. 2014). With regard to MEK inhibitor monotherapy, an acneiformtype rash has also been described (Flaherty et al. 2012; Rosen et al. 2016). In the phase III studies of dabrafenib plus trametinib and vemurafenib plus cobimetinib, rash has been observed in 22-24% and 38% of melanoma patients, respectively (Larkin et al. 2014; Long et al. 2015; Robert et al. 2015a). Fortunately, only 5% or less of treated patients experienced a grade 3 rash covering more than 30% of the body surface area (BSA). Drug interruption or discontinuation is usually necessary for grade 3 or higher rash. As it is difficult to determine which drug is primarily responsible, typically both the BRAF and MEK inhibitors are held. Supportive therapy may be helpful (such as topical/oral corticosteroids or antibiotics depending on the situation). In less severe cases, patients who have recovered can be restarted on BRAF-targeted therapy at reduced doses. However, permanent discontinuation may be necessary in patients who experience severe life-threatening rashes. Interestingly, in patients with BRAF-induced TEN/Stevens-Johnson syndrome, there are reports of successful desensitization and switching from one BRAF agent to another (Jeudy et al. 2015; Minor et al. 2012).

#### **Ocular Toxicities**

In early- and late-phase development of BRAF and MEK inhibitor-targeted therapies, infrequent but significant ocular toxicities have been observed. In a retrospective review of 568 patients treated with vemurafenib, ocular adverse events were noted in 22% of patients (Choe et al. 2014). The most common were uveitis (4%), conjunctivitis (3%), and dry eyes (2%). Similar events have been reported for dabrafenib. With MEK inhibitor therapy, blurred vision and dry eyes have been reported, as well as rare cases of central serous retinopathy and retinal vein occlusion (Rosen et al. 2016; Infante et al. 2012). Serous retinopathy appears more common with BRAF plus MEK inhibitor therapy, which was reported in 26% of patients treated with vemurafenib plus cobimetinib from the coBRIM study where serial ophthalmic exams were required (De la Cruz-Merino et al. 2015). Most were grade 1 events and did not require dose interruption; dose modification or interruption of cobimetinib was sufficient in most grade 2 and 3 events. Chorioretinopathy, which represents a subset of serous retinopathy, has been reported in 13% of patients receiving vemurafenib plus cobimetinib and less than 1% of patients treated with dabrafenib plus trametinib - although the divergence in rates may be due to differences in monitoring/reporting (Long et al. 2015; Robert et al. 2015a). Patients on BRAF-targeted therapy should be monitored for ocular events. For most clinically significant toxicities, treatment should be interrupted, and patients should be managed by an ophthalmologist. Permanent discontinuation of BRAF-targeted therapy may be necessary.

# **Cardiac Toxicities**

Prolongation of the QT interval has been reported in 4-5% of patients receiving vemurafenib alone or in combination with cobimetinib on the coBRIM study and 7% of patients receiving vemurafenib in an expanded access program where cardiac events were closely monitored (Larkin et al. 2014; Flaherty et al. 2014). Less than 1-3% of patients on treatment were identified to have a QT interval of  $\geq$ 500 ms (grade 3), and no related significant arrhythmias were reported. Similar rates of grade 3 prolongation of the QT interval have been reported in the package insert for dabrafenib alone or in combination with trametinib (Dabrafenib package insert). The addition of MEK inhibitor therapy does not appear to increase this risk of significant QT interval

prolongation, which is supported by a phase I study of trametinib where even supratherapeutic dosing did not affect the QT interval (Patnaik et al. 2016). Monitoring by electrocardiogram while on therapy is recommended, and treatment should be held in patients with QT intervals  $\geq$ 500 ms or uncontrolled arrhythmias.

Cardiomyopathy, mainly documented as left ventricular dysfunction or decreased ejection fraction (EF) by echocardiogram, has been a concern with MEK inhibitor therapy. In the phase I trial of trametinib, this was reported in 8% of patients (Infante et al. 2012). Less data is available on cardiomyopathy with cobimetinib monotherapy. Decreased ejection fraction has also been reported in patients receiving vemurafenib and dabrafenib monotherapies (0-3% and 3%, respectively) (Larkin et al. 2014; Long et al. 2015; Robert et al. 2015a). In patients receiving combination of BRAF plus MEK inhibitor therapy, the rates were 7% with vemurafenib plus cobimetinib and 4–8% with dabrafenib plus trametinib, which may not be substantially increased over MEK inhibitor monotherapy. Grade 3 events (EF of 20-39% or a >20% drop from baseline) have been reported in 1-4% of patients. Monitoring by echocardiogram is recommended. Interruption of MEK inhibitor therapy should be considered in patients with a decrease of 10% or greater in EF or a symptomatic decrease in EF (i.e., presence of signs/symptoms of heart failure). Permanent discontinuation of BRAF-targeted therapy should also be considered in severe cases. Re-initiation of BRAF-targeted therapy (dose reduced) is dependent on the severity of the event and recovery of cardiac function.

#### Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors

Focus on immunotherapies in melanoma has largely shifted toward immune checkpoint inhibition. The first approved agent in this class is ipilimumab, which is a fully humanized monoclonal IgG1 antibody against cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated antigen 4 (CTLA-4). CTLA-4 functions as a potent immune inhibitory receptor on activated T lymphocytes where it has a higher affinity for B7-1 or B7-2 proteins on antigen-presenting cells than the co-stimulatory molecule CD28 (Baksh and Weber 2015; Yao et al. 2013). It plays diverse roles in regulating immune responses in normal immune homeostasis as well as antitumor responses. The second approved agents, nivolumab and pembrolizumab, are monoclonal antibodies targeting the programmed death-1 (PD-1) receptor, which is also a cell surface inhibitory molecule in the B7-CD28 family. PD-1 receptor has two known ligands: PD-L1 (B7-H1) and PD-L2 (B7-DC) - both of which have distinct expression patterns on tumor cells, antigen-presenting cells, and other cell populations (Dong et al. 1999; Latchman et al. 2001). PD-1 plays a role in the induction and maintenance of normal T-cell tolerance, which can also lead to T-cell exhaustion and tumor immune evasion (primarily via PD-1/PD-L1 interaction) (Baksh and Weber 2015; Yao et al. 2013). When either CTLA-4 or PD-1 is genetically knocked out in mouse models, autoimmune

disorders develop, such as rapid lymphocytic proliferation and myocarditis with CTLA-4 loss or glomerulonephritis, arthritis, and cardiomyopathy with PD-1 loss (Nishimura et al. 1999, 2001; Waterhouse et al. 1995). Not surprisingly, immune-related adverse events (irAEs) are observed in patients treated with immune checkpoint inhibitor therapy, in addition to traditional constitutional symptoms.

Almost every patient treated with ipilimumab reported at least one adverse event (97%) in the phase III trial that led to its FDA approval (Hodi et al. 2010). In this study and others, treatmentrelated grade 3 and 4 adverse events have been reported in 23–27% of patients (Table 2; Larkin et al. 2015; Postow et al. 2015). The most common reported events were rash, pruritus, fatigue, nausea, diarrhea, and decreased appetite. One of the more worrisome toxicities has been immunemediated colitis, with grade 3–4 cases seen in up to 9% of patients. Similar to ipilimumab,

	Ipilimumab Ho Larkin et al. (20 et al. (2015), ar (2015b)	di et al. (2010), 015), Postow nd Robert et al.	Pembrolizumab or nivolumab Larkin et al. (2015), Robert et al. (2014, 2015b)		Nivolumab plus ipilimumab Larkin et al. (2015) and Postow et al. (2015)	
Adverse event	All grades	Grades 3–4	All grades	Grades 3-4	All grades	Grades 3-4
Any	73–93%	20-27%	73-82%	10–16%	91–96%	54-55%
Fatigue	15-43%	1-7%	19–34%	0–1%	35–39%	4-5%
Decreased appetite	8-27%	0-2%	5-11%	0%	15-18%	0-1%
Headache	4-15%	0–2%	2-7%	0%	10-14%	0.3–2%
Pyrexia	2-15%	0-0.3%	1-7%	0%	19–20%	0–1%
Pruritus	24-35%	0-0.4%	14–19%	0-1%	33-35%	1-2%
Rash	15-33%	0-2%	13–26%	0–1%	40-41%	5%
Vitiligo	2–9%	0%	7–11%	0-0.3%	7–11%	0%
Nausea	9–35%	0.4–2%	10-17%	0%	22-26%	1-2%
Vomiting	6–24%	0-2%	6%	0.3–1%	14-15%	1-3%
Diarrhea	33-37%	3-11%	14–19%	1-3%	44-45%	9–11%
Colitis	8-13%	5-9%	1-3%	1-2%	12-23%	8-17%
Increased ALT	2-4%	0-2%	1-4%	0-1%	18-22%	8-11%
Increased AST	2-4%	0-2%	1-5%	0–1%	15-21%	6-7%
Arthralgia	6–9%	0-1%	8-12%	0-0.4%	11%	0-0.3%
Dyspnea	1-15%	0-4%	1-5%	0-0.4%	10%	1-3%
Pneumonitis	0.4-4%	0.3–2%	0.4–2%	0-0.4%	6–11%	1-2%
Hypothyroidism	2-15%	0%	4–9%	0-0.4%	15-16%	0-0.3%
Hyperthyroidism	1-2%	0-0.4%	3-6%	0%	4-10%	0-1%
Hypophysitis	2-4%	0-2%	0.4–1%	0–1%	8-12%	2%

**Table 2** Select reported adverse events (treatment-related) in patients treated with immune checkpoint inhibitor therapy

AST Aspartate aminotransferase, ALT alanine aminotransferase

most patients treated with either nivolumab or pembrolizumab have reported adverse events during therapy (Larkin et al. 2015; Robert et al. 2014, 2015b). The most common reported events were fatigue/asthenia, rash, pruritus, vitiligo, arthralgias, diarrhea, constipation, and nausea. However, treatment-related grade 3 and 4 adverse events have been seen in 13–16% of patients. The most common grade 3–4 adverse events reported have been fatigue (up to 2%) and diarrhea (up to 2%).

Combination immunotherapy with nivolumab ipilimumab has demonstrated higher plus response rates (up to 60%) and longer survival over ipilimumab and nivolumab monotherapy strategies in patients with advanced melanoma based on results from the Checkmate-069 and Checkmate-067 studies (Larkin et al. 2015; Postow et al. 2015). In addition to the increased antitumor activity, higher rates of grade 3-4 adverse events have been reported as well (54-55%). The most common treatment-related adverse events included diarrhea, rash, fatigue, pruritus, colitis, nausea, elevated transaminase levels, pyrexia, and hypothyroidism. Other important irAEs that were captured in over 10% of patients include thyroiditis and hypophysitis (resulting in hypothyroidism and adrenal insufficiency), pneumonitis, and arthralgias (related to arthritis). In addition, elevated serum lipase, including 9% of patients with grade 3-4 levels, was seen in these studies, but most have not been associated with clinically relevant pancreatitis. The greater incidence of elevated transaminase level (or hepatitis) and diarrhea/colitis grade 3–4 events accounted for a major proportion of the increased severe adverse event rate. Rates of treatment discontinuation due to adverse events with combination nivolumab plus ipilimumab therapy were 36-47% compared to 8% with nivolumab monotherapy and 15-17% with ipilimumab monotherapy in the two studies.

The recognition and optimal management of irAEs require vigilance on behalf of patients and providers, along with familiarity of recommended toxicity management algorithms. In contrast to most chemotherapy and targeted therapy adverse events, immune checkpoint inhibitor interruption alone usually does not result in improvement or resolution of significant irAEs. Typically, toxicities reaching a grade 3-4 level require treatment with high-dose corticosteroids (e.g., prednisone or equivalent at 1-2 mg/kg body weight administered daily and tapered over 4-5 weeks). In certain cases, less severe toxicities, such as grade 2 pneumonitis or other persistent grade 2 irAEs, will also require this approach. Situations that are refractory to corticosteroids may require additional immunomodulatory agents, such as infliximab or mycophenolate mofetil. After recovery, a decision needs to be made with the patient whether or not to restart the immune checkpoint inhibitor therapy based on the type and degree of toxicity treated. Dose reductions are not recommended, and recurrence of the toxicity can occur if the same regimen is restarted. Fortunately, antitumor activity achieved in patients who discontinue immune checkpoint inhibitor therapy and receive immunomodulatory agents appears equivalent to that achieved by patients who remain on active treatment (Postow et al. 2015; Horvat et al. 2015; Weber et al. 2015a). Also, even though irAEs overlap between anti-CTLA-4 and anti-PD-1 therapies and are managed similarly, patients can move from one immune checkpoint inhibitor class to another if needed with a low likelihood of experiencing a recurrence of the prior irAE. Below is further information on specific irAEs and their management.

#### **Skin Toxicity**

Dermatologic side effects (primarily rash, pruritus, and vitiligo) are one of the most common categories of adverse reactions from anti-CTLA-4 and anti-PD-1 antibody therapies. With ipilimumab monotherapy, rates of rash have been reported in 15–33% of melanoma patients, pruritus in 24–35%, and vitiligo in up to 9% (Hodi et al. 2010; Larkin et al. 2015; Postow et al. 2015; Robert et al. 2015b). Similarly, melanoma patients who received anti-PD-1 therapy with either pembrolizumab or nivolumab reported rash in 13–26% of patients, pruritus in 17–27%, and vitiligo in up to 11% (Larkin et al. 2015; Robert et al. 2015b). With combination nivolumab plus ipilimumab, rates of rash and pruritus are even

higher (rash 40–41%, pruritus 33–35%). While rates of severe rash or pruritus are relatively low overall, up to 5% of patients treated with nivolumab plus ipilimumab have reported grade 3–4 rash. The symptoms usually present within the first month.

Exacerbation of autoimmune skin conditions, e.g., psoriasis, has been reported with both nivolumab and pembrolizumab (Hofmann et al. 2016; Kato et al. 2015; Sahuquillo-Torralba et al. 2016). Other uncommon dermatologic side effects reported with anti-PD-1 antibody have ranged from eczema, lichenoid skin reaction (lichen sclerosus et atrophicus, lichen planus), and bullous skin eruption (bullous pemphigoid and bullous erythema multiforme) (Hofmann et al. 2016; Carlos et al. 2015; Hwang et al. 2016; Jour et al. 2016; Naidoo et al. 2016). Similarly, cases of TEN/Stevens-Johnson syndrome, DRESS syndrome, and Sweet's syndrome have been reported with ipilimumab (Gormley et al. 2014; Ipilimumab package insert; Kyllo et al. 2014; Voskens et al. 2013).

Referral to dermatology and biopsy of skin reactions may be warranted to clarify the diagnosis. Microscopically, the maculopapular or lichenoid rashes have been described as showing perivascular lymphocytic infiltration extending from the dermis into the epidermal layer with primarily CD4+ and CD8+ T cells, as well as the presence of occasional eosinophils and apoptotic keratinocytes (Goldinger et al. 2016; Joseph et al. 2015; Weber et al. 2012). PD-L1 positivity has been reported in 10-20% of the T-cell infiltrate. Furthermore, melan-A or gp100-specific CD8+ T cells may cross-react against both melanocytes and melanoma cells, which could explain the frequent loss of pigmentation or vitiligo (Weber et al. 2012; Downey et al. 2007).

While the majority of cutaneous toxicities require no treatment (such as grade 1 rash or grade 1–2 vitiligo), oral antihistaminergic agents (e.g., diphenhydramine) and/or topical corticosteroid or emollient creams may be helpful in treating patients with more diffuse or symptomatic rashes. Low-potency topical steroids such as 1% hydrocortisone can be used initially, but higher-potency topical steroids such as 0.1% triamcinolone or 0.05% clobetasol may be necessary in refractory cases. However, once an immune-related rash has become grade 3 or the emergence of more serious cases as described above, the immune checkpoint inhibitor (s) should be held and systemic high-dose corticosteroids administered. After resolution or improvement to grade 1 (<10% BSA), restarting the immunotherapy can be considered in select cases after the corticosteroid taper.

#### **Gastrointestinal Toxicity**

Gastrointestinal adverse effects from immune checkpoint inhibitor therapy are relatively common. Treatment-related diarrhea has been reported in 33–37% among subjects who received ipilimumab, 14-19% for anti-PD-1 antibody, and 44-45% for nivolumab plus ipilimumab (Hodi et al. 2010; Larkin et al. 2015; Postow et al. 2015; Robert et al. 2014, 2015b). Severe cases of diarrhea (grade 3-4;  $\geq 7$  stools per day over baseline, incontinence, hospitalization indicated, or lifethreatening consequences) are most often seen with ipilimumab regimens - up to 11% with both ipilimumab monotherapy and combined with nivolumab. Of note, there may be some overlap with the reporting between colitis and diarrhea in the referenced studies. Diarrhea associated with signs/symptoms such as abdominal pain, blood in the stool, and/or confirmation by endoscopy and biopsy is usually referred to as colitis. Some patients may have predominantly enteritis with inflammation affecting only the small bowel. Pathology shows either a neutrophilic, lymphocytic, or mixed neutrophilic-lymphocytic infiltrate (Weber et al. 2012). Grade 3-4 colitis (severe abdominal pain, peritoneal signs, medical intervention indicated, or life-threatening consequences) has been observed in up to 9% of patients treated with ipilimumab, 2% with anti-PD-1 monotherapy, and 17% with nivolumab plus ipilimumab. Because of the potential for intestinal perforation, obstruction, and death with severe cases of diarrhea/colitis, careful attention and management are necessary. Other gastrointestinal symptoms, such as nausea and vomiting, can be seen in up to a third of patients treated with immune checkpoint therapy and usually can be managed with antiemetic therapy.

Patients who experience mild diarrhea or colitis (grade 1; increase of <4 stools per day over baseline or mild increase in ostomy output over baseline or diagnostic evidence of inflammation in an asymptomatic patient) can be treated with the oral anti-motility agent loperamide, dosed to achieve a normal stool output. Oral hydration is important, and alternative anti-motility agents, such as diphenoxylate-atropine, can be used. Stool studies to rule out infection (including routine bacterial and C. difficile (+/- parasite) assays) should be performed in patients with prolonged mild diarrhea and in those with more significant cases. Immune checkpoint inhibitor therapy can usually be continued with grade 1 diarrhea/colitis, but patients need to be monitored closely. In patients with grade 2 diarrhea or colitis (four to six stools per day over baseline or moderate increase in ostomy output compared to baseline or diarrhea accompanied by abdominal pain/blood in stool), the immune checkpoint inhibitor therapy should be held and patients managed as above.

In patients with grade 2 diarrhea/colitis lasting more than several days or in patients presenting with grade 3–4 diarrhea/colitis, systemic corticosteroids also should be initiated. Hospitalization for supportive care (intravenous hydration, temporary bowel rest, and antidiarrheal/emetic agents) and intravenous methylprednisolone may be necessary in more severe cases. Urgent sigmoidoscopy or colonoscopy is recommended in most cases to confirm the diagnosis but is not always feasible. CT scan of the abdomen and pelvis may also be helpful in looking for bowel inflammation.

In patients without clinical improvement in 48 h after starting corticosteroids, the diagnosis should be confirmed by endoscopy (if not already done), and ensure infectious and other causes are ruled out. For this situation, escalation of immunomodulatory agents should be pursued, such as the addition of the anti-TNF $\alpha$  inhibitor infliximab (Weber et al. 2012). Repeated dosing of infliximab can be considered every 2 weeks. Prior to infliximab, many centers rule out latent tuberculosis due to the potential for reactivation. Optimized management of diarrhea/ colitis is currently being studied with the use of

upfront infliximab plus a lower dose of corticosteroids versus high-dose corticosteroids alone (NCT02763761). More aggressive approaches, including resection of inflamed bowel segments and diverting colostomies, have been needed in rare cases. Tapering of the corticosteroids usually starts after there is substantial clinical improvement in the patient and needs to be extended to 4 weeks or longer to prevent recurrence of symptoms.

Ipilimumab should not be restarted in patients after recovery from grade 3 to 4 diarrhea/colitis and steroid taper. In patients treated for grade 2 toxicity, restarting ipilimumab can be considered after improvement to <grade 1 symptoms and corticosteroid taper (per package insert) (Ipilimumab package insert). Restarting treatment with anti-PD-1 monotherapy can be considered after recovery from either grade 2 or 3 diarrhea/ colitis (per package inserts) (Nivolumab package insert; Pembrolizumab package insert). However, both scenarios pose a risk to the patient for recurrence of the same toxicity and must be approached with caution. In patients who experience grade 2-3 diarrhea/colitis during the induction phase of combined nivolumab and ipilimumab, some experts feel comfortable with restarting treatment in the nivolumab maintenance phase after recovery due to the likelihood that the diarrhea/colitis was largely driven by the ipilimumab.

Prior efforts to prevent immune-related diarrhea and colitis were unsuccessful in a randomized phase II ipilimumab study using oral budesonide (Weber et al. 2009). This trial of patients with advanced melanoma, both previously treated and treatment-naïve and randomized to ipilimumab 10 mg/kg plus either daily oral budesonide or placebo, resulted in no substantial difference in the incidence of diarrhea or colitis. Use of prophylactic anti-motility agents or systemic corticosteroids in asymptomatic patients is not recommended.

#### **Hepatic Toxicity**

Hepatic toxicity attributed to immune-mediated injury within the hepatobiliary system is usually captured by either elevation in blood levels of alanine aminotransferase (ALT), aspartate aminotransferase (AST), or bilirubin. Additionally, some studies have also included hepatitis in adverse event reporting. Typically, patients with hepatic toxicity are found to have elevated ALT and/or AST on blood work and are asymptomatic (lack of related nausea, vomiting, decreased appetite, or jaundice). Bilirubin elevation is not common but may be a sign of severe liver injury or a nonimmune-mediated cause such as biliary obstruction. Treatment-related increased ALT or AST has been reported in 1–5% of patients treated with ipilimumab or anti-PD-1 monotherapy (Hodi et al. 2010; Larkin et al. 2015; Postow et al. 2015; Robert et al. 2014, 2015b). Grade 3-4 events are rare. However, in patients treated with the combination nivolumab plus ipilimumab, the risk is much greater. As many as 22% of patients have been reported to have elevated ALT or AST, which includes up to 11% at the grade 3–4 level. Histologically, the hepatocytes are surrounded by diffuse T-cell infiltration, which can be difficult to distinguish from other drug-induced hepatitis, viral hepatitis, and other etiologies (Weber et al. 2012).

Patients with presumed treatment-related grade 1 elevation of ALT and/or AST (up to  $3 \times$  the upper limit of normal) or bilirubin (up to  $1.5 \times$  the upper limit of normal) can generally continue immune checkpoint inhibitor therapy but require close monitoring for worsening of the blood levels. Grade 2 elevation in levels  $(ALT/AST = 3-5 \times \text{the upper limit of normal};)$ bilirubin =  $1.5-3 \times$  the upper limit of normal) or greater requires holding immune checkpoint inhibitor therapy and warrants further investigation with imaging studies, such as a right upper quadrant ultrasound, to evaluate for nontreatmentrelated causes. Concurrent medications should be reviewed for possible contribution to liver toxicity and viral hepatitis screen considered. Liver biopsy may be helpful to clarify the diagnosis, especially in patients with pre-existing liver metastases. In patients with grade 2 or greater immune-related liver toxicity, initiation of corticosteroids is warranted. Frequent monitoring of the liver function tests should be performed during the initial

management until significant improvement is seen. Patients who recover from grade 2 toxicity and are tapered off corticosteroids may be considered for retreatment. However, retreatment after recovery from grade 3 to 4 toxicity is generally not advised.

Not all cases are straightforward. Some patients have elevated baseline liver function tests due to underlying disease. In these patients, careful monitoring during immune checkpoint inhibitor therapy is important. While standard ranges utilized by the CTCAE for grading may not apply, substantial elevations in ALT, AST, and/or bilirubin should be treated as grade 3-4 hepatic toxicity unless due to disease progression or another nonimmune-related cause. In addition, some patients with immune-related hepatic toxicity may not respond appropriately to high-dose corticosteroids. If there is no improvement in 48-72 h,, mycophenolate mofetil is usually added to the treatment regimen. Treatment with mycophenolate mofetil should be continued until toxicity decreases to grade 1 level and then tapered after the corticosteroid has been discontinued. Use of three drug immunomodulatory regimens, such as corticosteroid, mycophenolate mofetil, and antithymocyte globulin, has been reported in recalcitrant cases (Ahmed et al. 2015; Chmiel et al. 2011).

#### **Pulmonary Toxicity**

While dyspnea has been reported as a treatmentrelated adverse event in 1-15% of patients treated with ipilimumab, 1-5% of patients treated with anti-PD-1 monotherapy, and 10% of patients treated with nivolumab plus ipilimumab (Hodi et al. 2010; Larkin et al. 2015; Postow et al. 2015; Robert et al. 2014, 2015b), the major concern for patients is the development of treatmentrelated pneumonitis. Treatment-related pneumonitis has been reported in up to 4% of melanoma patients treated with ipilimumab or anti-PD-1 monotherapy, although severe cases are rare. With nivolumab plus ipilimumab, the risk appears greater with pneumonitis reported in 6-11% of patients (1-2% severe cases). Patients can present with dyspnea and a dry cough and are usually afebrile. On imaging studies, the inflammatory response may be characterized as patchy diffuse infiltrative process, ground-glass appearance, or focal infiltrative patterns that can mirror edema, pneumonia, or even fungal infection. It may be difficult to discern pneumonitis from other diagnoses by radiographic appearance alone.

While asymptomatic cases of pneumonitis can be detected during restaging scans (grade 1), the emergence of symptoms possibly related to pneumonitis warrants further investigation. This would include clinical exam, pulse oximetry, and imaging studies (either chest x-ray or CT scan). Bronchoscopy with washings or lung biopsy has been recommended by some to look for signs of inflammation and to rule out infection. In patients with respiratory symptoms and signs of pneumonitis on imaging studies, systemic corticosteroids should be administered. In patients with hypoxia and/or severe symptoms (grade 3-4), hospitalization should be considered for supplemental oxygen, supportive care, and intravenous methylprednisolone. Additional immune modulatory agents, such as infliximab or mycophenolate mofetil, may be required if there is no clinical improvement in the first 48 h. Retreatment with the immune checkpoint inhibitor therapy may be considered in patients with grade 2 pneumonitis (mild to moderate symptoms, no oxygen requirement) after recovery and corticosteroid taper.

# **Endocrine Toxicity**

Endocrine side effects can range from asymptomatic hypothyroidism or hyperthyroidism to more serious cases of adrenal crisis. These usually result from inflammation in the thyroid, pituitary, or adrenal glands and can present with an acute excess or deficiency in hormone levels. The average time to onset of endocrine toxicity is approximately 6 weeks with ipilimumab (Weber et al. 2012) and approximately 10 weeks in PD-1-treated patients (Weber et al. 2015b). Co-management with an endocrinologist is recommended.

Hypothyroidism has been reported in 2–15% of patients treated with ipilimumab and 4-9% of patients treated with either pembrolizumab or nivolumab (Hodi et al. 2010; Larkin et al. 2015; Postow et al. 2015; Robert et al. 2014, 2015b). The rate is up to 16% in patients treated with nivolumab plus ipilimumab. Most patients with immune-related hypothyroidism have grade 1-2 toxicity levels where only levothyroxine replacement is necessary. However, more severe cases of hypothyroidism have been reported. The starting dose of levothyroxine is dependent on clinical presentation and hormone levels. Complete weight-based replacement of thyroid hormone and interruption/discontinuation of immune checkpoint inhibitor therapy are usually not necessary. It is important to determine if the patient is experiencing primary versus central hypothyroidism. The latter would be due to inflammation at the pituitary level and will likely require hormone replacement beyond the thyroid axis as well.

Hyperthyroidism tends to be less common with an overall incidence of up to 10% with nivolumab plus ipilimumab (Larkin et al. 2015; Postow et al. 2015). Most patients develop subclinical hyperthyroidism with mild elevation of serum-free T4, although cases of overt hyperthyroidism have been documented. The patients with symptomatic immune-related hyperthyroidism can be treated with beta-blockers, such as propranolol. Occasionally, more severe situations require additional inhibition of thyroid peroxidase (e.g., methimazole or propylthiouracil). The use of high-dose corticosteroids may be indicated in grade 3-4 toxicity situations. Patients with symptomatic hyperthyroidism should withhold their treatment with immune checkpoint blockade and resume the treatment when the side effects reduced to grade 1 or less. It is important to keep in mind that most patients with hyperthyroidism will eventually develop hypothyroidism. Because thyroid dysfunction is commonly seen in both anti-CTLA-4 and anti-PD-1therapy, routine monitoring is indicated during treatment.

Inflammation of the pituitary gland, termed hypophysitis in most studies, has been captured at low rates with immune checkpoint inhibitor monotherapy and up to 12% of patients treated with nivolumab plus ipilimumab (Larkin et al. 2015; Postow et al. 2015). Presenting symptoms of hypophysitis can sometimes be nonspecific such as fatigue, decreased appetite, or mild nausea. Headache and visual disturbance can occur in more serious cases due to swelling of pituitary gland, or others can have significant hemodynamic/electrolyte changes with adrenal crisis. When hypophysitis is suspected, laboratory workup should include morning ACTH and cortisol levels, as well as TSH and T3/T4 levels. Other hormone levels can be assessed, including prolactin, LH/FSH, and testosterone (in males). MRI with cuts of the sella turcica and para-sella areas may show edema of the pituitary gland and be helpful in confirming the diagnosis. However, a normal-appearing pituitary does not rule out hypophysitis. High-dose corticosteroid and interruption of immune checkpoint inhibitor therapy are usually indicated in grade 3–4 hypophysitis. Otherwise, only hormone replacement of the deficient axis is necessary. Recovery of endocrine gland function after an immune-related event is not common, and long-term hormone replacement is usually required.

#### Less Common Toxicities

In preclinical mouse models with CTLA-4 and PD-1 gene knockout experiments, inflammatory responses were seen in both renal and cardiac organ systems (Nishimura et al. 1999, 2001; Waterhouse et al. 1995). Fortunately, severe renal or cardiac toxicities in patients treated with immune checkpoint inhibitor therapy are rare. With regard to renal events, proteinuria and interstitial nephritis have been reported, along with a case report of lupus nephritis in association with ipilimumab (Hofmann et al. 2016; Fadel et al. 2009). Elevation of serum creatinine is usually the first sign of immune-related renal toxicity in the absence of other obvious causes (such as volume depletion or obstruction). Further workup includes urine assessment and imaging studies of the renal system. Referral to nephrology is recommended in severe cases. The presence of urine eosinophils helps support the diagnosis but does not rule it out or exclude other causes. Renal biopsy may be indicated to clarify the diagnosis. Management for immune-related renal toxicities grade 2 or greater includes interruption/discontinuation of immune checkpoint inhibitor therapy and administration of high-dose systemic corticosteroids followed by a taper.

Cases of severe cardiac toxicities have been reported in patients receiving anti-CTLA-4 and anti-PD-1 therapies. In a case series of pooled data from six cancer centers, eight cases of immune-related cardiotoxicity were identified (Heinzerling et al. 2016). These included myocarditis, myocardial fibrosis, cardiomyopathy, heart failure, and cardiac arrest. Two cases were fatal. Other cardiovascular toxicities that have been reported in patients receiving anti-PD-1 therapy include angina, sinus tachycardia, hypertension, atrial flutter, ventricular arrhythmia, and asystole (Zimmer et al. 2016). Some may be indirectly related, such as hyperthyroidism, from thyroiditis that leads to a hyperdynamic state. In the asystole case, workup revealed moderately reduced left ventricular function resembling takotsubo cardiomyopathy. Cardiac biopsy in patients suspected of myocarditis can show interstitial inflammation with lymphocytes (predominantly CD8+ T cells) and fibrosis (Heinzerling et al. 2016; Laubli et al. 2015). Workup of suspected cardiac toxicity typically includes cardiac serologic markers, electrocardiogram, and echocardiogram. Further investigation may be necessary such as cardiac catheterization and biopsy to clarify the diagnosis. Prompt treatment with high-dose corticosteroids and discontinuation of immune checkpoint inhibitor therapy is indicated. Early escalation of care with further immune modulatory agents and transfer of care to a cardiac transplant center with experience in managing graft rejection may be necessary.

Another potentially serious but rare complication of immune checkpoint inhibitor therapy is the development of grade 3–4 neurotoxicities. Cases of meningoencephalitis and aseptic meningitis, necrotic myelopathy, Guillain-Barre syndrome (GBS), transverse myelitis, and chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy have been reported in association with ipilimumab treatment (Abdallah et al. 2016; Bot et al. 2013; Gaudy-Marqueste et al. 2013; Liao et al. 2014; Stein et al. 2015; Wilgenhof and Neyns 2011). Similarly, cases of peripheral neuropathy, seizure, myasthenia gravis, GBS, and multifocal central nervous system demyelination have been attributed to anti-PD-1 therapy (Zimmer et al. 2016; Mandel et al. 2014). Prompt recognition and management are critical in grade 3-4 situations. Corticosteroids should be administered and immune checkpoint inhibitor therapy discontinued. Plasmapheresis or intravenous immunoglobulin administration for myasthenia gravis, GBS, and chronic intermittent demyelinating polyneuropathy resistant to high-dose corticosteroid has been recommended.

#### **Oncolytic Viral Therapy**

Genetically modified oncolytic viral therapies for advanced melanoma have been under investigation for almost 20 years. Talimogene laherparepvec (T-VEC), a second-generation oncolytic virus (herpes simplex virus JS1 strain with compound deletion of its neurovirulent factor, ICP34.5, and a protein essential for immune evasion, ICP-47, with the gene producing human GM-CSF), was approved by the FDA in 2015 as the first oncolytic viral therapy for patients with melanoma based on a randomized phase III trial (OPTiM) (Andtbacka et al. 2015). Adverse events occurring more frequently in the T-VEC arm compared to subcutaneous GM-CSF were chills (49%), pyrexia (43%), injection-site pain (28%), nausea (36%), influenza-like illness (30%), and fatigue (50%). The incidence of grade 3 or higher treatment-related adverse events was 11% in the T-VEC arm compared to 5% in the GM-CSF arm. Cellulitis was the only grade 3-4 adverse event reported in more than 2% in T-VEC arm (2.1%). There were no patient deaths attributed to T-VEC in this study. Hematologic dissemination and urine shedding of the virus appear to be transient with no clear clinical impact based on earlier studies (Hu et al. 2006; Senzer et al. 2009). Serious immune-related adverse events similar to immune checkpoint inhibitor therapy have not been reported, although immune-mediated vitiligo has been observed with T-VEC. Management of severe adverse events is usually limited to drug hold and supportive care.

#### Conclusions

The toxicities associated with targeted and immune checkpoint inhibitor therapies in patients with advanced melanoma present unique challenges to providers and patients. Understanding when to interrupt or permanently discontinue therapy is dependent on the class of therapy, type of adverse event, and severity. With BRAF-targeted therapies, drug interruption and supportive care are indicated for some recurrent grade 2 and most grade 3-4 adverse events. Additional management is usually limited to supportive care. Patients can be rechallenged with reduced doses of BRAF and MEK inhibitors after improvement or resolution of the toxicities. On the contrary, grade 2 or higher irAEs associated with immune checkpoint inhibitor therapy require drug interruption or discontinuation and upfront corticosteroids in most cases. Without prompt initiation of corticosteroids, irAEs can escalate leading to fatal situations. In patients that do not respond to high-dose corticosteroids, additional immunomodulating agents are necessary. Upon improvement or resolution of irAEs, providers can consider rechallenging with the immune checkpoint inhibitor therapy in select situations. Dose reductions are not recommended. While T-VEC is generally well tolerated, patients may be treated in close temporal proximity to targeted and immune checkpoint inhibitor therapies where overlapping toxicities might exist.

#### References

- Abdallah AO, Herlopian A, Ravilla R et al (2016) Ipilimumab-induced necrotic myelopathy in a patient with metastatic melanoma: a case report and review of literature. J Oncol Pharm Pract 22:537–542
- Ahmed T, Pandey R, Shah B, Black J (2015) Resolution of ipilimumab induced severe hepatotoxicity with triple immunosuppressants therapy. BMJ Case Rep 2015: bcr2014208102

- Andtbacka RH, Kaufman HL, Collichio F et al (2015) Talimogene laherparepvec improves durable response rate in patients with advanced melanoma. J Clin Oncol 33:2780–2788
- Anforth R, Fernandez-Penas P, Long GV (2013) Cutaneous toxicities of RAF inhibitors. Lancet Oncol 14: e11–e18
- Atkins MB, Lotze MT, Dutcher JP et al (1999) High-dose recombinant interleukin 2 therapy for patients with metastatic melanoma: analysis of 270 patients treated between 1985 and 1993. J Clin Oncol Off J Am Soc Clin Oncol 17:2105–2116
- Baksh K, Weber J (2015) Immune checkpoint protein inhibition for cancer: preclinical justification for CTLA-4 and PD-1 blockade and new combinations. Semin Oncol 42:363–377
- Bot I, Blank CU, Boogerd W, Brandsma D (2013) Neurological immune-related adverse events of ipilimumab. Pract Neurol 13:278–280
- Carlos G, Anforth R, Chou S et al (2015) A case of bullous pemphigoid in a patient with metastatic melanoma treated with pembrolizumab. Melanoma Res 25: 265–268
- Chapman PB, Hauschild A, Robert C et al (2011) Improved survival with vemurafenib in melanoma with BRAF V600E mutation. N Engl J Med 364: 2507–2516
- Chmiel KD, Suan D, Liddle C et al (2011) Resolution of severe ipilimumab-induced hepatitis after antithymocyte globulin therapy. J Clin Oncol 29: e237–e240
- Choe CH, McArthur GA, Caro I et al (2014) Ocular toxicity in BRAF mutant cutaneous melanoma patients treated with vemurafenib. Am J Ophthalmol 158: 831–837. e832
- Common Terminology of Clinical Adverse Events (CTCAE). http://evs.nci.nih.gov/ftp1/CTCAE/CTCAE_ 4.03_2010-06-14_QuickReference_5x7.pdf. Accessed 6 Sept 2016
- Dabrafenib package insert. https://www.pharma.us.novar tis.com/sites/www.pharma.us.novartis.com/files/tafinla r.pdf. Accessed 6 Sept 2016
- De la Cruz-Merino L, Di Guardo L, Grob JJ et al (2015) Clinical features of cobimetinib (COBI)–associated serous retinopathy (SR) in BRAF-mutated melanoma patients (pts) treated in the coBRIM study. J Clin Oncol Off J Am Soc Clin Oncol 33:abstr 9033
- Dong H, Zhu G, Tamada K, Chen L (1999) B7-H1, a third member of the B7 family, co-stimulates T-cell proliferation and interleukin-10 secretion. Nat Med 5:1365–1369
- Downey SG, Klapper JA, Smith FO et al (2007) Prognostic factors related to clinical response in patients with metastatic melanoma treated by CTL-associated antigen-4 blockade. Clin Cancer Res 13:6681–6688
- Fadel F, El Karoui K, Knebelmann B (2009) Anti-CTLA4 antibody-induced lupus nephritis. N Engl J Med 361: 211–212
- Flaherty KT, Robert C, Hersey P et al (2012) Improved survival with MEK inhibition in BRAF-mutated melanoma. N Engl J Med 367:107–114

- Flaherty L, Hamid O, Linette G et al (2014) A single-arm, open-label, expanded access study of vemurafenib in patients with metastatic melanoma in the United States. Cancer J 20:18–24
- Flaherty K, Davies MA, Grob JJ et al (2016) Genomic analysis and 3-y efficacy and safety update of COMBI-d: a phase 3 study of dabrafenib (D) + trametinib (T) vs D monotherapy in patients (pts) with unresectable or metastatic BRAF V600E/K-mutant cutaneous melanoma. J Clin Oncol Off J Am Soc Clin Oncol 34:abstr 9502
- Gaudy-Marqueste C, Monestier S, Franques J et al (2013) A severe case of ipilimumab-induced Guillain-Barre syndrome revealed by an occlusive enteric neuropathy: a differential diagnosis for ipilimumab-induced colitis. J Immunother 36:77–78
- Gibney GT, Atkins MB (2015) Immunotherapy or molecularly targeted therapy: what is the best initial treatment for stage IV BRAF-mutant melanoma? Clin Adv Hematol Oncol 13:451–458
- Gibney GT, Messina JL, Fedorenko IV et al (2013) Paradoxical oncogenesis – the long-term effects of BRAF inhibition in melanoma. Nat Rev Clin Oncol 10: 390–399
- Goldinger SM, Stieger P, Meier B et al (2016) Cytotoxic cutaneous adverse drug reactions during anti-PD-1 therapy. Clin Cancer Res 22:4023–4029
- Gormley R, Wanat K, Elenitsas R et al (2014) Ipilimumabassociated Sweet syndrome in a melanoma patient. J Am Acad Dermatol 71:e211–e213
- Grey A, Cooper A, McNeil C et al (2014) Progression of KRAS mutant pancreatic adenocarcinoma during vemurafenib treatment in a patient with metastatic melanoma. Intern Med J 44:597–600
- Hauschild A, Grob JJ, Demidov LV et al (2012) Dabrafenib in BRAF-mutated metastatic melanoma: a multicentre, open-label, phase 3 randomised controlled trial. Lancet 380:358–365
- Heinzerling L, Ott PA, Hodi FS et al (2016) Cardiotoxicity associated with CTLA4 and PD1 blocking immunotherapy. J Immunother Cancer 4:50
- Hodi FS, O'Day SJ, McDermott DF et al (2010) Improved survival with ipilimumab in patients with metastatic melanoma. N Engl J Med 363:711–723
- Hofmann L, Forschner A, Loquai C et al (2016) Cutaneous, gastrointestinal, hepatic, endocrine, and renal sideeffects of anti-PD-1 therapy. Eur J Cancer 60:190–209
- Horvat TZ, Adel NG, Dang TO et al (2015) Immunerelated adverse events, need for systemic immunosuppression, and effects on survival and time to treatment failure in patients with melanoma treated with ipilimumab at Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center. J Clin Oncol 33:3193–3198
- Hu JC, Coffin RS, Davis CJ et al (2006) A phase I study of OncoVEXGM-CSF, a second-generation oncolytic herpes simplex virus expressing granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating factor. Clin Cancer Res 12: 6737–6747
- Hwang SJ, Carlos G, Chou S et al (2016) Bullous pemphigoid, an autoantibody-mediated disease, is a novel immune-related adverse event in patients treated

with anti-programmed cell death 1 antibodies. Melanoma Res 26:413–416

- Infante JR, Fecher LA, Falchook GS et al (2012) Safety, pharmacokinetic, pharmacodynamic, and efficacy data for the oral MEK inhibitor trametinib: a phase 1 doseescalation trial. Lancet Oncol 13:773–781
- Ipilimumab package insert. http://packageinserts.bms. com/pi/pi_yervoy.pdf. Accessed 6 Sept 2016
- Jeudy G, Dalac-Rat S, Bonniaud B et al (2015) Successful switch to dabrafenib after vemurafenib-induced toxic epidermal necrolysis. Br J Dermatol 172:1454–1455
- Joseph RW, Cappel M, Goedjen B et al (2015) Lichenoid dermatitis in three patients with metastatic melanoma treated with anti-PD-1 therapy. Cancer Immunol Res 3:18–22
- Jour G, Glitza IC, Ellis RM et al (2016) Autoimmune dermatologic toxicities from immune checkpoint blockade with anti-PD-1 antibody therapy: a report on bullous skin eruptions. J Cutan Pathol 43:688–696
- Kato Y, Otsuka A, Miyachi Y, Kabashima K (2015) Exacerbation of psoriasis vulgaris during nivolumab for oral mucosal melanoma. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 2016;30(10):e89–e91. https://doi.org/10.1111/jdv.13336
- Kyllo RL, Parker MK, Rosman I, Musiek AC (2014) Ipilimumab-associated Sweet syndrome in a patient with high-risk melanoma. J Am Acad Dermatol 70: e85–e86
- Larkin J, Ascierto PA, Dreno B et al (2014) Combined vemurafenib and cobimetinib in BRAF-mutated melanoma. N Engl J Med 371:1867–1876
- Larkin J, Hodi FS, Wolchok JD (2015) Combined nivolumab and ipilimumab or monotherapy in untreated melanoma. N Engl J Med 373:1270–1271
- Latchman Y, Wood CR, Chernova T et al (2001) PD-L2 is a second ligand for PD-1 and inhibits T cell activation. Nat Immunol 2:261–268
- Laubli H, Balmelli C, Bossard M et al (2015) Acute heart failure due to autoimmune myocarditis under pembrolizumab treatment for metastatic melanoma. J Immunother Cancer 3:11
- Liao B, Shroff S, Kamiya-Matsuoka C, Tummala S (2014) Atypical neurological complications of ipilimumab therapy in patients with metastatic melanoma. Neuro Oncol 16:589–593
- Long GV, Stroyakovskiy D, Gogas H et al (2015) Dabrafenib and trametinib versus dabrafenib and placebo for Val600 BRAF-mutant melanoma: a multicentre, double-blind, phase 3 randomised controlled trial. Lancet 386:444–451
- Mandel JJ, Olar A, Aldape KD, Tremont-Lukats IW (2014) Lambrolizumab induced central nervous system (CNS) toxicity. J Neurol Sci 344:229–231
- Menzies AM, Ashworth MT, Swann S et al (2015) Characteristics of pyrexia in BRAFV600E/K metastatic melanoma patients treated with combined dabrafenib and trametinib in a phase I/II clinical trial. Ann Oncol 26:415–421
- Minor DR, Rodvien R, Kashani-Sabet M (2012) Successful desensitization in a case of Stevens-Johnson syndrome due to vemurafenib. Melanoma Res 22: 410–411

- Mossner R, Zimmer L, Berking C et al (2015) Erythema nodosum-like lesions during BRAF inhibitor therapy: report on 16 new cases and review of the literature. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 29:1797–1806
- Naidoo J, Schindler K, Querfeld C et al (2016) Autoimmune bullous skin disorders with immune checkpoint inhibitors targeting PD-1 and PD-L1. Cancer Immunol Res 4:383–389
- Nishimura H, Nose M, Hiai H et al (1999) Development of lupus-like autoimmune diseases by disruption of the PD-1 gene encoding an ITIM motif-carrying immunoreceptor. Immunity 11:141–151
- Nishimura H, Okazaki T, Tanaka Y et al (2001) Autoimmune dilated cardiomyopathy in PD-1 receptor-deficient mice. Science 291:319–322
- Nivolumab package insert. http://packageinserts.bms.com/ pi/pi_opdivo.pdf. Accessed 6 Sept 2016
- Patnaik A, Tolcher A, Papadopoulos KP et al (2016) Phase 1 study to evaluate the effect of the MEK inhibitor trametinib on cardiac repolarization in patients with solid tumours. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol 78: 491–500
- Pembrolizumab package insert. https://www.merck.com/ product/usa/pi_circulars/k/keytruda/keytruda_pi.pdf. Accessed 6 Sept 2016
- Postow MA, Chesney J, Pavlick AC et al (2015) Nivolumab and ipilimumab versus ipilimumab in untreated melanoma. N Engl J Med 372:2006–2017
- Robert C, Long GV, Brady B et al (2014) Nivolumab in previously untreated melanoma without BRAF mutation. N Engl J Med 2015;372(4):320–30. https:// doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1412082
- Robert C, Karaszewska B, Schachter J et al (2015a) Improved overall survival in melanoma with combined dabrafenib and trametinib. N Engl J Med 372:30–39
- Robert C, Schachter J, Long GV et al (2015b) Pembrolizumab versus ipilimumab in advanced melanoma. N Engl J Med 372:2521–2532
- Rosen LS, LoRusso P, Ma WW et al (2016) A first-inhuman phase I study to evaluate the MEK1/2 inhibitor, cobimetinib, administered daily in patients with advanced solid tumors. Investig New Drugs 34: 604–613
- Sahuquillo-Torralba A, Ballester-Sanchez R, Pujol-Marco C, Botella-Estrada R (2016) Pembrolizumab: a new drug that can induce exacerbations of psoriasis. Actas Dermosifiliogr 107:264–266
- Senzer NN, Kaufman HL, Amatruda T et al (2009) Phase II clinical trial of a granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor-encoding, second-generation oncolytic herpesvirus in patients with unresectable metastatic melanoma. J Clin Oncol 27:5763–5771
- Sinha R, Larkin J, Gore M, Fearfield L (2015) Cutaneous toxicities associated with vemurafenib therapy in 107 patients with BRAF V600E mutation-positive metastatic melanoma, including recognition and management of rare presentations. Br J Dermatol 173: 1024–1031
- Stein MK, Summers BB, Wong CA et al (2015) Meningoencephalitis following ipilimumab administration in metastatic melanoma. Am J Med Sci 350:512–513

- Vemurafenib package insert. http://www.gene.com/down load/pdf/zelboraf_prescribing.pdf. Accessed 6 Sept 2016
- Voskens CJ, Goldinger SM, Loquai C et al (2013) The price of tumor control: an analysis of rare side effects of anti-CTLA-4 therapy in metastatic melanoma from the ipilimumab network. PLoS One 8:e53745
- Waterhouse P, Penninger JM, Timms E et al (1995) Lymphoproliferative disorders with early lethality in mice deficient in Ctla-4. Science 270:985–988
- Weber J, Thompson JA, Hamid O et al (2009) A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase II study comparing the tolerability and efficacy of ipilimumab administered with or without prophylactic budesonide in patients with unresectable stage III or IV melanoma. Clin Cancer Res 15:5591–5598
- Weber JS, Kahler KC, Hauschild A (2012) Management of immune-related adverse events and kinetics of response with ipilimumab. J Clin Oncol Off J Am Soc Clin Oncol 30:2691–2697
- Weber JS, Antonia SJ, Topalian SL et al (2015a) Safety profile of nivolumab (NIVO) in patients (pts) with advanced melanoma (MEL): a pooled analysis. J Clin Oncol Off J Am Soc Clin Oncol 33:abstr 9018

- Weber JS, Gibney GT, Yu B et al (2015b) Survival, biomarker, and toxicity analysis of nivolumab (NIVO) in patients that progressed on ipilimumab (IPI). In: ASCO annual meeting proceedings. J Clin Oncol 2015; 33(15 suppl):9055–9055
- Wenk KS, Pichard DC, Nasabzadeh T et al (2013) Vemurafenib-induced DRESS. JAMA Dermatol 149: 1242–1243
- Wilgenhof S, Neyns B (2011) Anti-CTLA-4 antibodyinduced Guillain-Barre syndrome in a melanoma patient. Ann Oncol 22:991–993
- Yao S, Zhu Y, Chen L (2013) Advances in targeting cell surface signalling molecules for immune modulation. Nat Rev Drug Discov 12:130–146
- Yorio JT, Mays SR, Ciurea AM et al (2014) Case of vemurafenib-induced Sweet's syndrome. J Dermatol 41:817–820
- Zimmer L, Goldinger SM, Hofmann L et al (2016) Neurological, respiratory, musculoskeletal, cardiac and ocular side-effects of anti-PD-1 therapy. Eur J Cancer 60: 210–225



# Evolving Role of the Oncology Nurse in the Care of Patients with Melanoma **38**

Krista M. Rubin

# Contents

Introduction	792
Diagnosis	793
Treatment of Melanoma Surgery High-Risk Melanoma	793 793 795
Adjuvant Treatment         Locally Directed Therapy         Systemic Therapy         Future Considerations	796 796 797 798
Follow-Up/Surveillance	798
Recurrent Melanoma	799
Treatment of Metastatic Melanoma Chemotherapy Interleukin-2 Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors Specific irAEs Molecularly Targeted Therapies Oncolytic Viruses	799 799 800 800 802 808 811
Central Nervous System Metastases	811
Palliative Care/End of Life	812
Survivorship Coordination	813 815
Conclusion	815
References	815

K. M. Rubin (🖂)

Center for Melanoma, Massachusetts General Hospital Cancer Center, Boston, MA, USA e-mail: kmrubin@mgh.harvard.edu

© Springer Science+Business Media, LLC, part of Springer Nature 2019 D. E. Fisher, B. C. Bastian (eds.), *Melanoma*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-7147-9 14

#### Abstract

Over the past several years, treatment for melanoma has undergone a revolutionary change. A virtual explosion of scientific knowledge has given rise to a plethora of novel therapies as evidenced by the FDA approval of 14 new drugs and/or combinations since 2011. Patients have derived tremendous benefit from this, and the survival statistics have beneficially changed transforming a once uniformly fatal disease to one with the hope of sustained control, possibly even cure. However, the complex nature of melanoma makes it one of the most challenging malignancies to treat, and it is recognized that patients with melanoma have considerable unmet needs. This chapter will describe the evolving role of oncology nursing in the patient's journey through the melanoma disease spectrum. The various components of the nursing role will be illustrated in the context of the disease trajectory including that of communicator, patient advocate, educator, coordinator, and often as a coach for the patient and caregiver/family. Furthermore, the value of nursing presence on the interdisciplinary care team will be highlighted, as well as the everimportant role of toxicity management.

#### Keywords

Metastatic melanoma · Disease spectrum · Evolving role · Nursing care · Nursing role · Oncology nurse · Immune checkpoints · Immune toxicity · Multidisciplinary

#### Introduction

Melanoma is a notoriously aggressive cancer that can metastasize even at the earliest stages. It is a malignancy resistant to traditional anticancer therapies such as chemotherapy and radiotherapy. Fortunately, about 90% of melanomas are diagnosed as primary tumors without any evidence of metastasis (Garbe et al. 2016) and are likely cured with surgical intervention only. Decades of research have led to breakthroughs in treatment as the result of increased understanding of the underlying biology of melanoma and role of the immune system and cancer. This has resulted in the development of novel therapies dramatically improving the treatment landscape including the introduction of immune checkpoint inhibitors (ICIs) and molecularly targeted agents. As the field advances, there is excitement among the melanoma community. These novel therapies offer the promise of hope. Improved disease and survival outcomes are a reality, and the momentum of successes is driving the field forward. However, toxicities associated with these agents not only differ among class but differ from traditional chemotherapy, and management is often complex and time-consuming, with some patients requiring significant support (Lomax et al. 2017).

Despite the historic paradigm change, melanoma remains a challenging malignancy. Heterogenous in nature and complex in behavior, the clinical management of an individual with advanced melanoma often presents a clinical conundrum for treating physicians. Only a subset of patients will derive long-term benefit from ICIs, and for patients eligible for targeted therapy, the benefit does not continue beyond a year or two (Ugurel et al. 2017). Unanswered questions remain about ideal patient selection, sequencing, and best treatment approaches, notably whether all stage III or M1a patients should receive adjuvant therapy (Dimitriou et al. 2018). Predictive biomarkers have yet to be established. As such, a multidisciplinary approach to patient care is recommended, wherein individual patients are discussed among diverse specialists and a consensus decision regarding management is reached (Dummer et al. 2017).

Nurses are an essential member of the multidisciplinary team. They are often the most accessible, play a variety of roles, and provide support beyond care directly related to the illness (Cooper and de Lord 2018). Nurses play a unique role in the care and management of patients with cancer, one of the most important is providing knowledge and assistance, since patients can become overwhelmed by the care and information they receive. Thus, patients and families must be supported in times of their vulnerabilities (Cooper and de Lord 2018: Tariman et al. 2016). Furthermore, with the emergence of new and novel treatments including ICIs and targeted therapies, it is essential that oncology nurses are knowledgeable and skilled in assessing toxicities and following agreed pathways in order to manage the complexity of various toxicities, leading to improved outcomes

#### Diagnosis

A diagnosis of melanoma is devastating. For most individuals, such a diagnosis unleashes a vast array of emotions. It is important to recognize approximately 30% of all patients diagnosed with melanoma, including long-term survivors, report levels of psychological distress, notably anxiety and depression (Vogel et al. 2017; Kasparian et al. 2009; Beesley et al. 2015; Tan et al. 2014). A sense of uncertainty frequently accompanies a diagnosis, not only for the patient but also the family and/or caregiver(s) as they face complex, and potentially lifeunfamiliar, threatening experiences (Kasparian et al. 2016; Stamataki et al. 2015). It is not uncommon for multiple providers of various specialties to be involved in the care of patients with melanoma (e.g., dermatology, surgical oncology, medical oncology, radiation oncology, and occasionally plastic surgery). Each provider has a distinct role in the care; nonetheless, individual care is often uncoordinated, and it is easy for patients to become confused and overwhelmed if left to navigate a highly specialized but fragmented care system.

A component of the oncology nurse role is coordination among various providers. In addition, nurses support and assist patients as they learn to navigate the healthcare system, offer reassurance, answer questions, address concerns, and ensure patients' needs are met (Tariman et al. 2016). Every interaction provides an exchange of information which enables the nurse to get to know a patient and their caregiver(s) via assessment of their physical and emotional state, past health history, health practices, and beliefs. This exchange begins the formation of the everimportant therapeutic relationship establishing the foundation from which patient-centered care evolves.

#### Treatment of Melanoma

#### Surgery

Surgery is the most common treatment for melanoma and spans the spectrum from wide excision of a primary lesion with curative intent to palliative resection. It is the preferred treatment for local and regional melanoma. Fortunately for most patients presenting with a primary tumor, surgical resection will represent definitive treatment without the need for any further treatment. Despite a favorable prognosis, it is imperative providers be cognizant of the emotional, social, and psychological consequences that may result from cancer surgery. Findings from multiple qualitative studies reveal dissatisfaction with scar appearance of (Vogel et al. 2017; Kasparian et al. 2009; Tan et al. 2014), especially among patients who underwent resections on the head or neck as the scars prove more difficult to disguise with clothing (Vogel et al. 2017; Kasparian et al. 2009). The visible nature of cancer, associated scarring and/or disfigurement, and altered body image that may occur are identified as significant concerns expressed by melanoma patients (Tan et al. 2014; Oliveria et al. 2011). Stamataki et al. (2015) describe how, for some patients, altered body image was linked to a disparity in the preand postsurgery expectations of scar appearance. Respondents felt they had not been fully prepared for the reality of the scar appearance despite speaking to health professionals beforehand. Furthermore, the authors highlight disparity between doctors' perceptions of a healing scar and the language used to describe it, compared to patients' perceptions of their healing scar and language they (the patient) would use to describe it (Stamataki et al. 2015).

Nurses with awareness of these findings can minimize distress in the postsurgical setting by anticipating such concerns and importantly setting expectations about the scar and other physical sequelae. Including family/caregivers in these
discussions improves communication and patient/ caregiver satisfaction. Interventions such as showing photos or thoroughly describing the process of wound healing can decrease distress about scar appearance (Cassileth et al. 1983). Anticipatory guidance about postoperative expectations for pain; need for medications, drain, and/or wound care; and recognizing complications are important information to provide for both patients and caregivers (Tan et al. 2014). Tailored information should be provided about what patients can expect in terms of functional capacity, limitations, or restrictions on activity (Tan et al. 2014) such as driving; lifting; ability to weight-bear; ability to work, drive, and care for children; etc. as these may negatively affect recovery if patients are not adequately prepared.

For patients whom sentinel lymph node biopsy (SLNB) is advised, reiterate that the procedure is a staging procedure and will involve a team of providers from both nuclear medicine and surgery. Some patients may benefit from a detailed description of how the procedure is performed, while others may want only minimal information; discussions should be tailored accordingly. It is essential, however, to ensure all patients understand the procedure objectives and rationale, and what to expect postoperatively, including when pathology results may be available and what they mean. Providing as much information as possible and setting expectations will minimize anxiety.

Historically, patients with a positive SLNB were advised to proceed with immediate completion lymph node dissection (CLND). Despite significant associated morbidity, the procedure was recommended because it provided increased regional disease control and additional prognostic information (Faries et al. 2017) such as number and extent of nodal involvement. However, recent evidence demonstrates a lack of a survival advantage with immediate CLND (Faries et al. 2017; Leiter et al. 2016). Findings from the Multicenter Selective Lymphadenectomy Trial (MSLT-II) (Faries et al. 2017) and from German Dermatologic Cooperative Oncology Group (DeCOG) (Leiter et al. 2016) demonstrate similar survival outcomes whether nodal dissection is immediate or when/if a nodal relapse is detected. These findings provide unequivocal evidence that not all patients with a positive sentinel node biopsy require CLND. These findings support a change in practice, not proceeding immediately to CLND but, instead, following closely with the aid of frequent nodal ultrasound, reserving nodal dissection for patients in whom clinically detected nodal recurrence had developed (Faries et al. 2017). Such practice spares those patients who do not relapse from a morbid (and unnecessary) surgery, and for those that do relapse, performing LND at that time of relapse does not negatively impact survival. Moreover, in the current era of effective adjuvant therapies (discussed below), foregoing immediate CLND facilitates earlier commencement of adjuvant systemic, augmenting the potential for long-term benefit.

For some patients, the idea of not pursuing CLND despite a positive sentinel node biopsy may be a difficult concept to grasp. Nurses must be prepared to provide support to patients and families through education and counseling, despite the prognostic significance of having an involved sentinel node(s). Preparing patients for potential outcomes through anticipatory guidance provided prior to the sentinel node biopsy procedure sets expectations. Early education prepares patients for what may be advised postoperatively; thus patients are better able to understand the recommendation for a "watch-and-wait" approach despite involved sentinel node(s). Reiterating the rationale for avoiding CLND to spare a potentially morbid surgery should be emphasized. Nurses should also stress the importance and rationale for ongoing patient self-examination as well as followup visits including the need for regular imaging (ultrasound to evaluate the nodal basin as well as systemic imaging to evaluate for distant relapse). For patients who do need lymph node dissection (LND), it is important they are prepared for the potential outcomes given the procedure can be associated with significant morbidities including development of seroma, infection, wound dehiscence, bleeding, deep vein thrombosis, and, notably, lymphedema (Ahmed et al. 2013).

Lymphedema is a significant health issue for cancer survivors with a considerable impact on

patients' health-related quality of life (Tan et al. 2014). The amount of edema can range from mild to severe and when left untreated can lead to skin changes, impaired function, loss of normal sensation, discomfort, pain, and chronic infections that affect the quality of life (Chang and Cormier 2013). Complete decongestive therapy (CDT) is the mainstay treatment for lymphedema and should only be performed by certified lymphedema therapist (Chang and Cormier 2013). Oncology nurses play a vital role in the prevention and management of this disorder by assessing for early signs and symptoms of lymphedema and prospectively identifying high-risk individuals. Early diagnosis is important because lymphedema is most successfully treated and complications minimized when therapies are introduced early (Chang and Cormier 2013). For example, patients who undergo inguinal LND are at greater risk of developing lymphedema compared with those who undergo axillary LND (Ahmed et al. 2013). Other factors contribute to increased risk including prior radiation to a lymphatic basin, development of a postoperative infection or seroma, and obesity (Ridner 2013). Obtaining preoperative limb measurements for high-risk individuals in comparing to postoperative measurements promotes early identification of lymphedema. Patients should be instructed to self-monitor for physical signs of lymphedema including noting the presence of edema during exercise, changes in skin texture, change in range of motion or skin tone, as well as sensation changes such as limb heaviness or numbress. During follow-up visits, query patients about "heaviness" or swelling area near resection site or if clothing or jewelry has become tighter (Ridner 2013). A positive response to the above inquiries should trigger a prompt referral to specialty care with a dedicated lymphedema specialist.

#### High-Risk Melanoma

The concept of "recurrence risk" is difficult for many patients to comprehend because they are disease-free but are being treated for a future statistical possibility of recurrence and death. Patients considered high risk include those with stage II and III disease. For patients with stage IIB/C disease [American Joint Committee on Cancer (AJCC) 8th edition] (between 2.0 and 4.0 mm with ulceration or >4.0 mm regardless of ulceration status), discussions regarding recurrence risk may be particularly difficult as they are often focused on the notion that "the cancer was removed, and there was no spread to lymph nodes" but are then surprised to hear about the underlying risk of relapse and death despite uninvolved nodes. Stage III disease represents a vastly heterogenous population encompassing resected nodal disease, as well as non-nodal locoregional sites (e.g., microsatellites, satellites, and in-transit metastases). Five-year survival rates vary greatly, from 93% for stage IIIA to 32% for IIID (Gershenwald et al. 2017). Treatment recommendations are based on stage and associated prognosis; thus patients may be faced with the decision to pursue adjuvant therapy, a difficult decision for many patients as they are unintentionally confronted with facing their own mortality.

Increasingly there has been a swing toward more active patient involvement in their own treatment making decisions. Stacey et al. (2010) found improved outcomes when patients were actively engaged in the decision-making process about cancer screening and treatment. This collaborative approach is known as "shared decisionmaking" (SDM). It is described by Tariman et al. (2016) as "the process of choosing between treatment alternatives or multiple treatment options. It is a complex process in which data are gathered and evaluated, information is exchanged between patients and clinicians, and a decision is mutually agreed upon." This approach implies that not only should patients be provided with the necessary information to make informed decisions about their healthcare but incorporates understanding about those factors that influence an individual's preferences and view on treatment based on their personal situation (Jansen et al. 2004). In other words, understanding the values of each individual patient enables providers to assess risk for that individual. To best support patients through this process, Jansen et al. (2004) emphasize the importance of getting to know patients by taking the time to explore their willingness to accept side effects for a given therapy or to forego benefits of an alternative treatment. This decides the relative strength of their treatment preference. Each patient has a sense of what risk-benefit ratio is acceptable to them, and the threshold at which risk outweighs benefit will vary among individual patients as well as providers. Patients need information about what they can realistically expect in terms of toxicity, how it is managed, and how the treatment will impact his or her everyday life, as well as caregivers/family (Tariman and Szubski 2015). Case in point is the decision to pursue postoperative radiation in the setting of bulky, matted nodes noted upon LND. Weighing the risk of lymphedema against the benefit of increased local control may be a straightforward choice, but it needs to be clear to patients that the risk of systemic relapse is not reduced. Concern for disfigurement if a local relapse were to occur may influence one patient's decision to proceed with the radiation, while another patient may choose to forgo radiation due to the risk of lymphedema. Knowing a patient, encouraging that individual to take an active role in their own care, and advocating for their treatment preference will improve the quality of decision-making (Tariman and Szubski 2015). Shared decision-making contributes to shaping the patient experience. Cooper and de Lord (2018) call attention to the cancer patient experience being reported as on a par with clinical effectiveness [of treatment] in terms of importance.

## Adjuvant Treatment

The landscape of adjuvant therapy has recently undergone a revolutionary transformation with results from two pivotal phase III clinical trials revealing practice-changing results (Eggermont and Dummer 2017). There has been a shift to PD-1 inhibitor therapy as the mainstay treatment for all patients, and for those with an identified v-Raf murine sarcoma viral oncogene homolog B (BRAF) mutation, treatment options may also include BRAF inhibitor-based therapy (with or without mitogen-activated protein kinase (MEK) inhibition (Eggermont and Dummer 2017)). The role of local therapy such as radiation or isolated limb perfusion/infusion remains unclear but may be appropriate in select instances. Adjuvant ipilimumab, on the other hand, has most certainly been replaced by nivolumab based on superior efficacy and an improved toxicity profile (Eggermont and Dummer 2017). Interferon too has also fallen out of form and will have little to no role in the adjuvant arena. Its utility should be limited to patients with ulcerated primary melanomas only, and this may remain the mainstay treatment in countries without access to the novel therapies (Eggermont and Dummer 2017). As the landscape continues to evolve, it is important that nurses remain knowledgeable about these therapies to appropriately counsel and support patients during their decision-making process. A brief review of currently available therapies will be discussed along with nursing considerations.

# Locally Directed Therapy

## Radiation

Adjuvant radiation may be recommended in select situations, for instance, in the treatment of patients with recurrent, in-transit, or nodal metastatic melanoma needing local control (Dimitriou et al. 2018; Garbe et al. 2016). Nurses provide support by ensuring patients and their family understand the goal of treatment and risks involved such as lymphedema and perform ongoing assessments of patient and caregiver coping. If applicable, nurses may facilitate referrals to the appropriate provider (s) such as to physical therapy for lymphedema management or to social work or other resources if a need has been identified by the patient or nurse. Nurses also aid in coordinating care among various providers, counsel patients, and family about proper skin care during radiotherapy and provide anticipatory guidance about treatment.

## **Limb Perfusion and Infusion**

Isolated limb perfusion and isolated limb infusion (a simpler and less invasive procedure) are

therapies available for treatment of new or recurrent in-transit disease of an extremity. Both are highly specialized surgical procedures providing intravascular delivery of chemotherapy, most commonly melphalan, occasionally combined with tumor necrosis factor. These procedures are available only at select facilities with trained staff. For the most part, the direct care of patients receiving limb perfusion is delivered by perianesthesia and surgical nurses; however, oncology nurses should possess general knowledge and understanding of the procedures to provide support and anticipatory guidance before and after the procedure (Ashton 2012).

# Systemic Therapy

## Interferon

At present, there remains little to no role for use of adjuvant interferon. Instead, it has been replaced by more effective therapies such as anti-PD-1 agents and molecularly targeted therapies. In countries with only access to IFN, its use can be restricted to patients with ulcerated melanoma where the benefit is felt to be greatest (Eggermont and Dummer 2017).

#### Ipilimumab

Ipilimumab is a human IgG1 monoclonal antibody against cytotoxic T-lymphocyte antigen-4 (CTLA-4) and was approved by the FDA in late 2015 for use in the adjuvant setting. Known as immune checkpoint inhibitor an (ICI), ipilimumab is a novel therapy with a novel toxicity profile completely unlike traditional anticancer therapies. The unique mechanism of action directly leads to a characteristic and vast toxicity spectrum almost exclusively autoimmune-based referred to as immune-mediated adverse events (imAEs) or immune-related adverse events (irAEs). The dose of ipilimumab in the adjuvant setting (10 mg/kg) is higher than that approved in the metastatic setting (3 mg/ kg). In the phase III trial, nearly half of the participants experienced severe (grade 3-4) toxicity and five deaths occurred from drug-related causes (Eggermont 2016) [Detailed discussion

of specific ICI-related toxicity is discussed below in the section on checkpoints in metastatic disease.].

## **Nivolumab and Pembrolizumab**

Nivolumab and pembrolizumab are human IgG4 monoclonal antibodies against programmed death 1 (PD-1). Like ipilimumab, nivolumab and pembrolizumab are known as immune checkpoint inhibitors (ICIs). Nivolumab was approved by the FDA in late 2017 for use in the adjuvant setting. The approval of nivolumab was based on data showing improved RFS and, notably, a lower rate of grade 3 or 4 adverse events when compared to adjuvant ipilimumab (Dimitriou et al. 2018; Eggermont and Dummer 2017). Checkmate 054, is a phase III trial enrolling patients with resected stage IIIA (limited to those with sentinel node tumor volume >1 mm) IIIB, IIIC, or IV and compared pembrolizumab to placebo. Findings demonstrated improved RFS, with a similar toxicity profile to that of nivolumab and no new toxicities (Eggermont et al. 2018). Based on these results reported in May 2018, pembrolizumab is expected to gain FDA approval sometime in the next year.

While generally well tolerated, the risk of severe and/or permanent toxicity makes the decision to recommend adjuvant immunotherapy a challenging one, a decision that should be reached together with the patient and family. It remains to be seen whether it is best to treat patients in the adjuvant setting versus waiting to see if relapse occurs. Data suggests that due to the primed immune system, toxicities may be greater in the adjuvant setting than in advanced disease setting (Napolitano et al. 2018). Conversely, a major advantage of adjuvant immunotherapy is the possibility to discontinue treatment and maintain antitumor responses. The immunological "memory" induced by the immunotherapy agent offers the potential for long-lasting, lifelong, therapeutic responses (Napolitano et al. 2018).

As with any adjuvant discussion, it must be made clear to patients that surgical resection alone may be curative. Adjuvant therapy recommendations are based *on a risk*: risk of relapse, notably risk of systemic (visceral) relapse. Local relapse can be managed, for the most part, with additional surgical resection, but when the relapse is a systemic, management becomes complex. Each risk/benefit discussion must be based on the estimated *individualized risk* for a specific patient and should consider comorbidities or other related factors that may influence treatment outcomes (age, prior treatment, psychosocial issues, etc.) carefully weighed against the risk of both short- and long-term adverse events associated with PD-1 blockade (discussed in detail in the metastatic treatment section).

Given the lack of predictive and prognostic biomarkers or other means of ideal patient selection, questions will remain regarding best treatment approach. Until that time is reached, patients must be encouraged to be active participants in their care and treatment decisions and to partner with their oncology team to make decisions that are best for them. The process of shared decisionmaking is discussed in more detail below.

## **Dabrafenib and Trametinib**

In April 2018, the FDA approved the combination of dabrafenib and trametinib (D/T) for the adjuvant treatment of patients with *BRAF* V600E- or V600 K-positive stage III melanoma following complete resection. This approval is the first oral molecularly targeted agents available as an adjuvant treatment option. The approval was based on results from the COMBI-AD trial, a phase III trial comparing D/T to placebo. Results demonstrate improved RFS without concern for additional toxicity than is seen in patients with unresectable stage III or stage IV (Long et al. 2017). Additional details and the nursing role in the care of patients receiving these agents will be discussed in the metastatic section below.

# **Future Considerations**

Checkmate 915 is a phase III clinical trial, currently underway, comparing the combination of nivolumab plus ipilimumab versus nivolumab monotherapy in the adjuvant setting. The study enrolls patients after complete resection of stage IIIB/IIIC/IIID or stage IV melanoma, based on the AJCC 8th edition staging criteria. The rationale for this trial stems from the observation reported by Wolchok et al. (2017) that combination of CTLA-4 with PD-1 blockade augments the immune response when compared with each agent alone in metastatic melanoma (Dimitriou et al. 2018).

## Follow-Up/Surveillance

Upon completion of definitive treatment (surgical or medical), recommendations for follow-up should be outlined and discussed with patients and their families. Nurses must be able to effectively convey the main objectives of follow-up care: early detection of relapse and identification of additional primary melanomas (Kurtz et al. 2017; Mrazek and Chao 2014; Garbe et al. 2016). An estimated 50% of recurrences in stages II and III melanoma are identified by clinical examination alone including physician detection, patient detection, or symptoms that prompt further testing (Kurtz et al. 2017). Of the relapses, approximately 50% recur in regional lymph nodes, 20% recur locally, and 30% recur at distant site(s) (Rueth et al. 2015). Ninety percent of relapses occur within 5 years (Garbe et al. 2016), with most relapses occurring within 2–3 years from diagnosis (Rueth et al. 2015; Kurtz et al. 2017). Early detection of recurrence is important as surgical resection of metastatic disease can provide a survival benefit in addition to the survival benefit of effective modern systemic therapy (Kurtz et al. 2017).

The survival advantage from early detection of relapses underscores the importance of patient education and establishing a strong patient-nurse relationship. Anticipatory guidance about what to expect at follow-up visits should be provided. Patients should know that a detailed history and review of symptoms is performed at every visit to identify early symptoms that may be suggestive of relapse. For the same reason, patients should be instructed to report any new symptoms that may develop in between visits. Instruction on skin and lymph node self-examination should be provided as well as counseling about proper UV/sun protection (Garbe et al. 2016; Mrazek and Chao 2014). Nurses are the ideal member of the oncology team to provide this type of education. Nursing assessment of patient learning will help define best counseling methods and may include demonstration, video or web-based educational tools, or other strategies that best fit the patients' learning need. In addition, barriers to learning should be identified and addressed. Subsequent visits allow the nurse to reassess self-exam technique, and the visit also provides an opportunity for assessment of patient coping and their willingness to engage in self-care and evaluate adherence to follow-up recommendations.

In addition to history and physical exam, the use of surveillance imaging has an evolving role in management. Approximately 50% of asymptomatic recurrences are detected via imaging (Kurtz et al. 2017); however, there is controversy in defining optimal follow-up strategies (Kurtz et al. 2017; Garbe et al. 2016). Hence the frequency and intensity of follow-up should be determined based on estimated individual risk along with other factors, if present including history of multiple primary melanomas, the presence of clinically atypical nevi, family history of melanoma, patient anxiety, and the patient's awareness and ability to detect early signs and symptoms of disease (Garbe et al. 2016).

The period of follow-up, referred to by some as a time of "watch and wait," is often enormously challenging for patients (Boyle 2003) and family members. The so-called "active therapy" such as surgical resection or adjuvant therapy has been completed, and many patients report significant anxiety as they feel they are "waiting for the other shoe to drop." Numerous qualitative studies examining the supportive care needs of patients with melanoma demonstrate a consistent need for disease-specific information for both the patient and their caregivers, provided in a timely and easy to understand language (Beesley et al. 2015; Kasparian et al. 2016; Stamataki et al. 2015). Findings also reveal concerns including anxiety, fear of relapse, and what to expect if recurrence occurs (Stamataki et al. 2015; Beesley et al. 2015). Emotional support for physical symptoms (e.g., lymphedema, pain, fatigue) was also identified as important to respondents. Setting expectations, providing anticipatory guidance, and simply "being present" improve the understanding of disease management. It is also a time to clarify patient or family misunderstandings or misconceptions regarding diagnosis, prognosis, or treatment plans. Through active listening and encouraging patients to express underlying fears, concerns, and worries, nurses can assess patient coping level of distress and, when necessary, refer for emotional or psychological supports. As reported by Stamataki et al. (2015), patients describe improved outcomes when provided with an opportunity to meet individually for 1 h with a melanoma nurse specialist. Patients valued the time spent, reported feeling better informed, and experienced decreased stress and anxiety.

# **Recurrent Melanoma**

Recurrent melanoma is devastating and may be accompanied by anxiety, fear, and, once again, uncertainty for the future. When a recurrence is suspected or confirmed, additional diagnostic and/or genomic testing may be required to ascertain the extent of the relapse and determine treatment options. The primary role of the oncology nurse is supportive: ensuring patients understand why certain testing is being performed, what results mean, and assessing the psychosocial impact. Tariman et al. (2016) emphasize that many patients are facing life-changing illness; are often overwhelmed and overburdened with the diagnosis, treatment decisions, and overall healthcare system; and thus should be supported in times of their vulnerabilities. Nurses ensure patients' needs are met, their concerns addressed, and their questions answered (Tariman et al. 2016).

# **Treatment of Metastatic Melanoma**

# Chemotherapy

Up until recently, a diagnosis of metastatic melanoma equated a dismal survival of less than 1 year and was considered an incurable malignancy without effective treatments. Various chemotherapy regimens have been tried including dacarbazine, temozolomide, and carboplatin/paclitaxel among others. Responses are marginal at best, typically short-lived, and without demonstrated survival advantage. Combination regimens have slightly better responses but with increased toxicity. In the current arena, chemotherapy may be considered in second and third line in patients with resistance to immunotherapy and targeted therapy (Garbe et al. 2016). In the rare instance chemotherapy is used, the primary nursing role is providing support and education regarding expectations of treatment and toxicity management.

# Interleukin-2

Interleukin-2 (IL-2), a cytokine, received FDA approval in 1998 for the treatment of unresectable or metastatic melanoma. It is historically one of the few treatments that could produce complete responses (CRs) that were often durable for decades without further therapy (Atkins et al. 1999). However, only highly selected patients with excellent organ function and performance status are candidates for treatment (Atkins et al. 1999) which entails 2 near-week-long inpatient admissions. Treatment is associated with significant toxicity often requiring intensive care level of support, and for that reason, availability is limited to specialized centers with highly trained staff expert in administration and management (Atkins et al. 1999). Given the historical lack of effective treatments for advanced melanoma, oncology nurses may have little experience in caring for this patient population. Instead, the experience may be limited to nurses in academic medical centers or institutions heavily involved in clinical research. In the community setting, care may be limited to patients receiving salvage chemotherapy and/or palliative/supportive care.

## Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors

The integration of ICIs into clinical practice has led to a dramatic change in practice with the contemporary melanoma clinic strikingly different than a few years ago. The anti-CTLA-4 antibody ipilimumab and the PD-1 antibodies pembrolizumab and nivolumab are now what should be considered standard of care treatments. Their use either as monotherapy or in combination has redefined the meaning of long-term survival for a population of patients with little to no effective therapies. As the field continues to advance with newer therapies and combination approaches evolving, the ability to tailor treatment and improve quality of life continues to expand. As a group, oncologists tend to direct efforts to riskbenefit assessment and the ultimate treatment goal of improved overall and disease-free survival. Yet they caution that less attention directed toward safety assessments and delayed recognition of symptoms can lead to increased morbidity, prolonged hospitalizations, nonadherence, premature termination of treatment, and potentially lethal outcomes (Gordon et al. 2017; Kirkwood and Ribas 2017).

In what has now been deemed an era of immunotherapy, oncology nurses in a variety of settings are more likely to be involved in the care of patients with metastatic melanoma receiving ICIs. Early identification and management of toxicity are essential to achieving all treatment outcomes (Kirkwood and Ribas 2017). Dummer et al. (2017) foresee oncology nurses increasingly being integrated into the treatment processes and be given major responsibilities, especially in keeping regular contact with patients regarding irAEs. The authors also highlight that many patients feel more comfortable and are more likely to call a nurse than the physician; hence, nurses could provide open and easy contact with the treatment team. As such, nurses must possess a thorough understanding of how ICIs work and truly comprehend how distinctly different these agents are from traditional chemotherapy. Insight into when certain toxicities are more likely to appear, and which patients are at greater risk, will maximize prompt diagnosis. Published algorithms and consensus on guidelines for management of irAEs are available from organizations including European Society of Medical Oncology, Society for Immunotherapy of Cancer, and American Society of Clinical Oncology-National

Comprehensive Cancer Network. Nursingspecific information is available through the Oncology Nursing Society and the Society for Immunotherapy of Cancer, and an entire nursecentric educational initiative was developed by the Melanoma Nursing Initiative. Nurses should be familiar with these valuable multimodality resources which offer tools, strategies, and interventions to maximize patient care, including best practices for telephone triage, a critical skill for nurses caring for these patients.

Nurses cognizant of the wide spectrum of toxicities associated with ICIs will anticipate and recognize subtle signs and facilitate appropriate intervention. Due diligence warrants thoughtful assessment of symptoms. Once an irAE has been identified, a suitable intervention will depend on the severity, or grade, as defined by the most current version of Common Toxicity Criteria for Adverse Events (CTCAE). This process allows for interpretation of subjective symptoms in an objective manner (Rubin 2017a) by employing a grading system from 1 (mild) to 5 (death) to represent symptoms defined by specific parameters based on the organ system involved (National Cancer Institute (NCI) 2017). Interventions are based on the assigned grade; therefore, nurses must be able to identify and grade symptoms. A key strategy is establishing and documenting patients' "baseline" health. It must be made clear to patients how important it is to report any change in baseline health, no matter how subtle or seemingly insignificant (McGettigan and Rubin 2017). It is imperative patients understand toxicity from ICIs can be atypical in presentation and easily overlooked. While most toxicities occur within the first 4 months of therapy, they can occur at any time, including during and after completion of therapy (Puzanov et al. 2017; Weber et al. 2015).

The most common irAEs affect the skin (rash, pruritus), gastrointestinal organs (diarrhea, colitis), endocrine, and hepatic systems; these are discussed below. Neurologic events occur with less frequency (Friedman et al. 2016) but may have dire consequences if not identified. Toxicity from ipilimumab appears to be dose related (Michot et al. 2016; Weber et al. 2015). Notably, the approved dose of ipilimumab in the metastatic setting is 3 mg/kg, while the approved dose in the adjuvant setting is 10 mg/kg. Nurses must be mindful of the differences in doses when educating patients and families regarding treatment and when assessing for toxicity. It is not unusual to see an earlier onset of toxicity with higher [10 mg/kg] doses of ipilimumab (Madden and Hoffner 2017). Importantly, nurses must keep in mind the incidence of irAEs is higher with combination of ipilimumab plus nivolumab with either agent alone (Wolchok et al. 2017).

Unlike traditional cancer therapies, dose reductions are not strategies employed as management of ICIs. Generally, mild irAEs are managed conservatively without the need for treatment interruption; however, close monitoring is necessary to assess for increasing severity. Persistent mild or moderate toxicity requires initiation of oral corticosteroids and a hold of the immunotherapy and, for the most part, should be manageable on an outpatient basis (Friedman et al. 2016; Weber et al. 2015). Severe or lifethreatening irAEs require immediate hospitalizain some cases intensive care, and tion, prompt initiation of high-dose intravenous (IV) corticosteroids and permanent discontinuation of the immunotherapy. In rare instances, toxicities such hepatitis or colitis not responding to IV steroids after 3-5 days require additional immunosuppression such as mycophenolate mofetil or infliximab (Weber et al. 2015; Friedman et al. 2016). For many of the common toxicities, algorithms have been developed with detailed management guidelines to help clinicians manage and treat the most common irAEs. The key management strategies employed by oncology nurses include ongoing assessment and vigilant toxicity screening. Bottom-line, prompt intervention is crucial as outcomes depend on how quickly irAEs are recognized, reported, and treated.

The potential for toxicity underscores the importance of open communication among the patient, family, and treating oncology team. Patient education is paramount. Ideally, every patient has a pretreatment comprehensive education session with the nurse or nurse practitioner. This session would be dedicated to the provision of ICI-specific education tailored to individual patients including a discussion of safe sexual practices, pregnancy avoidance, and fertility preservation for appropriate patients with referral to a fertility specialist as necessary prior to starting treatment. Toxicity-specific counseling includes direction about when patients should call, how to call (e.g., how to contact the provider outside of office hours), and specifically what to say when they call. This is of particular importance if on-call providers are not familiar with ICI toxicity. Further complicating such a scenario is if patients are not taught to correctly refer to treatment by the drug name or as "immunotherapy" and instead refer to it as "chemotherapy." Interventions for "chemotherapy-related diarrhea" vastly differ from interventions for "ipilimumab-related diarrhea." Such detail is not trivial.

The pretreatment visit also offers opportunity for nurses to assess patients' understanding of their disease, recommended treatment, and goals of care and whether they demonstrate a clear understanding of risks and benefits of treatment, including the risk of serious toxicity. It is also a chance for nurses to identify potential barriers to treatment or adherence (e.g., lack of physical resources such as transportation or telephone) (Madden and Hoffner 2017) and to identify comorbid conditions that may negatively affect treatment outcomes (e.g., current or prior history of serious mental illness, cognitive deficit, substance abuse, underlying autoimmune disease).

# Specific irAEs

**Skin-related** adverse events are the most common and typically the earliest to develop (Puzanov et al. 2017; Weber et al. 2015; Friedman et al. 2016). Nurses must educate patients about cutaneous irAEs, implement self-care strategies for at-risk individuals, and minimize the severity of irAEs that do develop (Madden and Hoffner 2017). Rash and/or pruritus are seen in approximately half the patients (Weber et al. 2015) and are typically mild to moderate in severity. Symptoms are managed conservatively with over-thecounter moisturizers, antihistamines, and topical corticosteroids. Pruritus is managed conservatively with moisturizers and antipruritus medications as the mainstay. However, pruritus can be very distressing and therefore requires prompt intervention and aggressive management even in the absence of rash. Grade 3 dermatitis requires oral or IV systemic corticosteroids, and grade 4 symptoms require hospitalization with the initiation of intravenous (IV) corticosteroids.

Nurses should encourage patients to employ proactive prevention strategies including skin hygiene with regular use of a gentle skin cleanser (non-soap), moisturizing once or twice daily with nonsteroidal emollients or creams, vigilant sun protection, and treating existing xerosis (McGettigan and Rubin 2017). In some cases, providing a prescription for a topical corticosteroid can expedite treatment but will require specific instructions for use. Ongoing assessment of cutaneous toxicity is necessary as serious events have been reported including Stevens-Johnson syndrome and toxic epidermal necrolysis (Puzanov et al. 2017; Friedman et al. 2016). Nurses play a crucial role in counseling patients, providing individualized interventions, assessing patient and caregiver understanding, assessing treatment adherence and barriers to treatment, and assessing skin integrity. Dermatologic toxicities can have a detrimental impact on quality of life. Pruritus can be incredibly distressing and be distracting to patients (McGettigan and Rubin 2017); therefore proactive and aggressive management of cutaneous toxicity including early referral to dermatology will improve outcomes.

**Gastrointestinal (GI)** effects are associated with ICIs. Diarrhea is one of the most common GI presentations. Abdominal pain, when accompanied by the presence of mucus and/or blood in the stool, is suggestive of colitis (Madden and Hoffner 2017). Recognizing symptoms early is critical to minimize the risk of bowel obstruction and/or perforation or other grave complications. Awareness that colitis is commonly seen 4–6 weeks from treatment start and is more likely in patients receiving ipilimumab (Weber et al. 2015) enables nurses to individualize assessments and education. Establishing patients' baseline bowel pattern is crucial as a change from baseline may be indicative of evolving toxicity. Therefore, patients should be queried about change in bowel pattern, consistency or frequency, and/or other symptoms that may be indicative of evolving GI toxicity such as reflux, chance in appetite, abdominal pain, or cramping. A focused and detailed review of systems should include assessing for a recent change in diet, recent travel, and taking the time to fully review and reconcile each patient's medication list. Patients should be queried about all medications including prescription, over the counter, vitamins, minerals, herbals, and any type of supplement both current and recent. Due diligence warrants thoughtful assessment of symptoms and can sometimes reveal simple etiology of seemingly big problems. Case in point: a patient receiving anti-PD-1 monotherapy calls shortly after the second infusion to report diarrhea for 2 days. Via directed questioning and ROS, it was apparent the symptoms were a result of overuse of laxative stool softeners resulting in symptoms mimicking colitis. The patient had not mentioned he was taking the bowel agents as he did not consider them "medications."

Autoimmune hepatitis is a less common but notable toxicity because the majority of clinical presentations are characterized by asymptomatic elevations in liver function tests (LFTs) including aspartate aminotransferase (AST) and/or alanine aminotransferase (ALT) and may or may not include elevations in bilirubin (Puzanov et al. 2017; Friedman et al. 2016; Weber et al. 2012). Rarely, patients may report nonspecific symptoms such as fever, fatigue, nausea, and abdominal pain making a prompt diagnosis more challenging. However, the knowledge that median onset of hepatitis is approximately 6-14 weeks after starting therapy and is most commonly seen in patients receiving combined anti-CTLA-4 and anti-PD-1 provides insight (Puzanov et al. 2017; Friedman et al. 2016) and enables nurses to facilitate expedited work-up by narrowing down vague symptoms. Nurses should ensure baseline LFTs are obtained before starting ICI therapy and reassessed prior to each cycle. Recognition of even mild increases from baseline, when low grade, should prompt intervention such as

querying patients more in-depth about alcohol intake and use of hepatoxic medications (Friedman et al. 2016; Madden and Hoffner, 2017). As applicable, patients should be instructed to abstain from alcohol, avoid or minimize acetaminophen, and consider withholding statin. Repeating LFTs a few days later to determine trajectory is recommended. Higher-grade elevations require withholding the ICI and corticosteroids started. Abdominal imaging and/or liver biopsy may be warranted in certain instances (Puzanov et al. 2017; Weber et al. 2012), and referral to hepatologist or GI specialist may be beneficial (Madden and Hoffner 2017; McGettigan and Rubin 2017).

**Pneumonitis** is a rare but potentially fatal irAE seen with ICIs that can be fatal if not recognized early (Friedman et al. 2016; Puzanov et al. 2017). It is more prevalent with PD-1 inhibitors than with ipilimumab, but it is most likely to occur with combination of CTLA-4 and PD-1 inhibition (Friedman et al. 2016). Onset tends to be later than other irAEs, occurring several months after the start of treatment, though it may occur at any time (Friedman et al. 2016; Madden and Hoffner 2017). Presentations vary; symptoms include dyspnea, dry cough, tachypnea, tachycardia, fatigue, or less commonly fevers and chills (Puzanov et al. 2017; Friedman et al. 2016; Weber et al. 2015). When pneumonitis is suspected, a chest CT scan is indicated (Friedman et al. 2016; Michot et al. 2016). Importantly, clinical and radiographic findings may closely mimic pneumonia or disease progression (Puzanov et al. 2017) which may lead to improper treatment. Findings may be described as "ground-glass opacities" or "multifocal consolidation." Any new findings suggestive of an infiltrative process predominately in the lower lobes (Michot et al. 2016; Friedman et al. 2016) should be presumed to be pneumonitis in patients receiving (or having received) ICIs.

Treatment for pneumonitis is based on severity and includes oral or IV corticosteroids. ICI will be held. In some cases, bronchoscopy with or without lung biopsy may be performed to exclude infectious etiologies before starting immunosuppression. In severe cases, patients should be hospitalized, and treatment with high-dose corticosteroids (e.g., methylprednisolone 2–4 mg/ kg/d) should be initiated. For refractory cases, additional immunosuppression, including mycophenolate mofetil, cyclophosphamide, and infliximab, can be administered. Severe cases require permanent discontinuation of ICIs (Friedman et al. 2016; Michot et al. 2016; Weber et al. 2015).

Patient outcomes are influenced by vigilant nursing assessment as early management is associated with improved prognosis and reduced morbidity and mortality (Gordon et al. 2017). Baseline oxygen saturation should be documented and reassessed at every visit. Hypoxia (pulse oximetry < 90%) is reported as a presenting symptom of pneumonitis (Weber et al. 2015; Friedman et al. 2016); however, nurses with knowledge of the spectrum of irAEs with ICIs would heed subtleties such as a slight decrease in oxygen saturation (rather than a decrease to <90%) resulting in diagnosis when low grade. Knowing patients allows nurses to identify a patient report of only being able to play a 9-hole round of golf rather than his usual 18 holes as a red flag, once again, possibly identifying pneumonitis when low grade. The ongoing, directed, and focused questioning as part of a nursing assessment allows for identification of seemingly innocuous signs and symptoms suggestive of evolving toxicity that otherwise would be easily overlooked. The key is maintaining a high index of clinical suspicion in any patient treated with ICIs (Gordon et al. 2017; McGettigan and Rubin, 2017) and the realization that attention to detail cannot be underestimated.

Endocrine-related toxicities, or endocrinopathies, tend to appear after the sixth or seventh week of treatment, with a median time to onset of 7-20 weeks (González-Rodríguez and Rodríguez-Eberu 2016). They occur in up to 1/3 of patients treated with ICIs (Alessandrino et al. 2018) and include thyroid dysfunction, hypophysitis, primary adrenal insufficiency (AI), and autoimmune diabetes mellitus (DM). Awareness is key. Endocrinopathy is outside of the typical side-effect profile of chemotherapies. If not identified early and promptly treated, endocrinopathies can progress and pose serious, possibly life-threatening consequences as in the

case of adrenal insufficiency or adrenal crisis. However, nurses with awareness and understanding of these distinct toxicities can mitigate risk through vigilant screening, triage, and ready strategies to facilitate expedited work-up ensuring correct diagnosis and management. The result is decreased morbidity and increased likelihood of patients staying on treatment (Madden and Hoffner 2017; González-Rodríguez and Rodríguez-Eberu 2016).

Hypophysitis and thyroid dysfunction are the most common of the endocrinopathies (Alessandro et al. 2018). Nurses are frequently the primary and constant contact for patients (Sznol et al. 2017); therefore nurses must be mindful as hypophysitis can be challenging to recognize as signs and symptoms are often subtle, nonspecific in presentation (Alessandro et al. 2018), and can mimic symptoms common to patients with advanced cancer such as headaches, fatigue, nausea, and/or vomiting. It is most common in older males and in patients treated with combination of anti-CTLA-4 plus anti-PD-1. Incidence with anti-CTLA-4 is dose dependent; a higher incidence is seen in doses >3 mg/kg(Alessandro et al., 2018; González-Rodríguez and Rodríguez-Abreu 2016). Hypophysitis is rare with PD-1 monotherapy. If suspected, nurses should ensure treatment is held and facilitate obtaining proper labs and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) with pituitary cuts. Results of hormone studies and MRI will confirm the diagnosis. Adrenal insufficiency or crisis is a potentially life-threatening condition. Patients require immediate intervention with stress-dose corticosteroids (e.g., hydrocortisone 100 mg IV immediately, followed by 50-100 mg every 8 h), hydration, and supportive care (Gordon et al. 2017; Sznol et al. 2017).

Management of hypophysitis includes decreasing the pituitary inflammation with steroids, which are then slowly tapered; and at the same time, hormone replacement of affected hypothalamic-pituitary axes should be started when a deficiency is present (cortisol, thyroxine, and testosterone/estradiol) (Iglesias 2018). For the most part, once side effects are controlled, and steroids are tapered to <10 mg prednisone or equivalent per day, ICI therapy may be restarted González-Rodríguez (Iglesias, 2018: and Rodríguez-Abreu, 2016). These patients are usually followed by endocrinology with oncology nurses serving as a liaison between the patients, oncologists, and various specialty providers (Sznol et al. 2017). Patients and their families may require a great deal of support during this time given the often complex nature of endocrine toxicity and need for specialty involvement. Nurses provide emotional support, assess patient understanding and coping, and provide anticipatory guidance regarding disease and toxicity management.

Thyroid dysfunction or thyroiditis is seen more frequently with PD-1 antibodies than ipilimumab and more commonly in women (González-Rodríguez and Rodríguez-Abreu 2016; Alessandro et al. 2018). However, the incidence is highest in patients receiving combination of anti-CTLA-4 plus anti-PD-1. Thyroiditis manifests most commonly as hypothyroidism and less commonly hyperthyroidism. Median onset of hypothyroidism ranges from 1 to 5 months sometimes following a brief period of hyperthyroidism. Treatment involves replacing thyroid hormone (e.g., levothyroxine), while hyperthyroidism is treated with  $\beta$ -blockers in symptomatic cases, followed by levothyroxine for hypothyroidism that develops later (Sznol et al. 2017).

Type 1 diabetes results from complete insulin deficiency caused by autoimmune destruction of pancreatic beta cells (González-Rodríguez and Rodríguez-Abreu 2016). It has been reported in patients receiving PD-1 inhibitors as well as in patients receiving combination of anti-CTLA-4 plus anti-PD-1 (Iglesias 2018). Management requires insulin therapy. Nurses should ensure baseline glucose level is obtained and repeated regularly. Typically, these patients are referred to endocrinology or to a diabetes specialty provider (Madden and Hoffner 2017).

Unique from other irAEs, endocrinopathies typically do not resolve because the function of the gland rarely recovers. Lifelong hormone replacement is therefore required (Iglesias 2018; Sznol et al. 2017). Patient counseling must be provided regarding "sick-day rules" of steroid dosing for medical procedures or acute illness (fever or cases of nausea, vomiting, and diarrhea), and patients should be encouraged to obtain a medical alert necklace or bracelet (Sznol et al. 2017). In some cases, providing patients with a prescription and instructions for use of hydrocortisone emergency injections may be beneficial (González-Rodríguez Rodríguez-Abreu and 2016). It is also prudent to assess for barriers to medication adherence (e.g., inability to take oral medication, cognitive dysfunction, lack of caregiver resource, financial problems that may impact inability to afford medication). Due to the risk of adrenal crisis, medication adherence is critical (González-Rodríguez and Rodríguez-Abreu 2016).

Arthralgias and inflammatory arthritis are reported by approximately 10% of patients receiving ICIs, particularly PD-1 inhibitors, and those receiving combination of PD-1 and anti-CTLA-4 inhibition (Madden and Hoffner 2017). A thorough medical history and review of symptoms will highlight patients at greater risk including those with underlying joint inflammation from prior injury or overuse (tendonitis, bursitis) or those with underlying rheumatologic disorders such as polymyalgia rheumatica or rheumatoid arthritis. For example, a patient with a history of a rotator cuff injury, even decades prior, may develop recrudescence of tenderness, pain, or discomfort during treatment with ICIs. Since delayed diagnosis and treatment can lead to long-term disability, and disorders may become chronic and require ongoing immunosuppressive/immunomodulatory therapy, it is important to understand typical symptom presentation and recommended management (Puzanov et al. 2017).

Treatment is directed at managing the inflammation with resultant pain, maintaining or improving physical functioning and ability to perform activities of daily living (ADLs), and decreasing the impact on quality of life (Madden and Hoffner 2017; McGettigan and Rubin 2017; Puzanov et al. 2017). Most patients will find conservative management strategies effective; nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) such as ibuprofen, or topical diclofenac gel applied to localized or limited sore joints, or for those who cannot tolerate NSAIDs (Madden and Hoffner 2017; McGettigan and Rubin 2017). In some cases, low doses of prednisone may be necessary (Michot et al. 2016).

Rheumatologic consultation should be initiated for patients in whom symptoms do not improve with conservative management or for those where mobility or quality of life is impaired. Nurses should assess patients at risk of fall and implement safety strategies. Low-intensity physical activity should be encouraged to improve physical conditioning and sleep and decrease pain perception (Madden and Hoffner 2017; McGettigan and Rubin 2017).

Xerostomia and mucositis are less common rheumatologic irAEs seen with ICIs. Sicca syndrome with severe eye and mouth dryness and parotitis (Puzanov et al. 2017) and Sjögren's syndrome have been reported (Michot et al. 2016). Importantly, even mild symptoms may have a negative impact on quality of life and affect day-to-day functioning such as eating. Even mild symptoms can lead to more serious sequelae such as decreased oral intake, weight loss, or aspiration. Withholding the ICI may be indicated and will be determined on an individual basis. Prior to starting treatment, nurses should screen patients for preexisting symptoms, notably xerostomia, from prior surgery such as parotid dissection or parotid radiation. Review of medication list may reveal patients at risk including those with concomitant medications known to cause or contribute to xerostomia such as antihistamines. Because of the impact on quality of life, proactive and aggressive symptom management should be instituted by nurses. For dry eyes, lubricating eye drop (Michot et al. 2016) should be encouraged and consideration should be given to ophthalmological consultation if symptoms are impacting vision or for patients who wear contact lenses. Xerostomia and mucositis treatments may overlap and include oral moisturizing agents such as saliva substitutes or synthetic saliva and/or secretagogues both non-pharmacologic (sugarless gum, sour candies). If ineffective, nurses may advocate for pharmacologic agents (pilocarpine, cevimeline hydrochloride) depending on the severity of symptoms (Michot et al. 2016; Madden and Hoffner 2017; McGettigan and Rubin 2017). Patient education includes counseling regarding vigilant oral hygiene: increasing frequency of brushing to every 4 hours and at bedtime using a soft toothbrush, daily flossing, avoidance of alcohol-based mouthwashes, proper fit of dentures (if applicable), and regular dental exams. For patients unable to tolerate brushing, chlorhexidine gluconate 0.12% or sodium bicarbonate rinses (1 teaspoon baking soda in 8 ounces of water or 1/2 tsp. salt and 2 tablespoons sodium bicarbonate dissolved in 4 cups of water) can be effective. Encourage patients to sip cool water or crushed ice. Soft, bland, nonacidic foods are better tolerated. Advocate for use of pharmacologic agents for appropriate patients (Gelclair[®] and Zilactin[®], 2% viscous lidocaine applied to lesions 15 minutes prior to meals, 2% morphine mouthwash, and 0.5% doxepin mouthwash or "miracle mouthwash" of diphenhydramine, lidocaine, and simethicone may be effective). Corticosteroid rinse (dexamethasone oral solution) can also be effective but will require prophylactic treatment for candidiasis such as weekly fluconazole (Madden and Hoffner 2017; McGettigan and Rubin 2017).

Neurologic toxicity is rare but can be seen with both anti-CTLA-4 and anti-PD-1. A range of neurologic conditions has been reported including Guillain-Barré syndrome, myasthenia gravis, encephalitis, motor dysfunction, meningitis, demyelination, neuropathy, and nerve paresis (Michot et al. 2016; Friedman et al. 2016; Weber et al. 2015; Puzanov et al. 2017). Because symptoms can be subtle, overlap, or be misinterpreted by patients, nurses should perform focused assessments and direct questioning at every visit to evaluate for changes from baseline neurologic functioning. Prompt referral to a neuromuscular specialist is indicated as accurate diagnosis can be delayed if not identified early leading to poorer outcomes (Madden and Hoffner 2017). Depending on presentation, patients may require neuroimaging, nerve conduction studies, and, potentially, nerve or muscle biopsy to arrive at a diagnosis (Puzanov et al. 2017). Once again, the key to prompt recognition of possibly early toxicity is maintaining a high index of clinical suspicion in any patient treated with ICIs (Gordon et al. 2017; McGettigan and Rubin 2017).

Nephritis, another rare toxicity, should be considered with an increase in creatinine. Nurses should ensure baseline renal function is documented and take note of change from baseline and notify the treating provider. Vigilant nursing assessment can reveal subtle changes in renal function enabling early intervention to minimize the risk of high-grade toxicity. Focused and detailed nursing assessment may reveal modifiable risks such as the use of NSAIDs or inadequate oral hydration around the time of routine scans. Appropriate counseling and intervention may mitigate such risks, thus optimizing treatment. However, a 1.5-fold increase from baseline creatinine or development of proteinuria requires further evaluation, referral to nephrology, and consideration of renal biopsy (Puzanov et al. 2017). Nurses should anticipate the use of highdose corticosteroids to prevent late damage to the kidneys, need for IV hydration, and avoidance or modification(s) to nephrotoxic medications and contrast media (Madden and Hoffner 2017; McGettigan and Rubin 2017).

Ocular and orbital toxicity includes uveitis most commonly, and others include conjunctivitis, blepharitis, iritis, keratitis, scleritis, episcleritis, vitritis, choroiditis, and serous retinal detachment (Michot et al. 2016; Puzanov et al. 2017; Madden and Hoffner 2017). Symptoms include eye pain, redness, photophobia, excessive tearing, floaters, and decreased visual acuity (Gordon et al. 2017). Awareness that ocular toxicities are frequently accompanied by irAEs in other systems, especially colitis (Puzanov et al., 2017), improves vigilance. Prompt ophthalmologic evaluation is required.

**Cardiotoxicity** includes myocardial fibrosis, pericarditis, cardiomyopathy, heart block, and myocarditis. Though exceedingly rare, several cases of fatal myocarditis have been reported in patients treated with ICIs. Data reveals incidence and severity is greatest in patients who received combination ipilimumab and nivolumab (Mahood et al. 2018; Varricchi et al. 2017; Johnson et al. 2016) compared with monotherapy regimens. Overall incidence is reported from <1% (Johnson et al. 2016; Puzanov et al. 2017) to 2.4% with anti-PD-1/anti-CTLA-4 combined therapy (Mahood et al. 2018). However, Johnson et al. (2016) assert the true incidence of early and late cardiotoxicity is unknown and likely underestimated because routine cardiac monitoring with EKG and/or assessing troponin levels was not routinely performed in most of the immunotherapy trials (Varricchi et al. 2017).

Findings reported by Mahmood and colleagues (2018) provide important clinical feature clinicians to be aware with regard to myocarditis. These include time to onset of myocarditis from first ICI was 34 days, 81% of patients presented with 3 months of starting therapy, nearly all cases of myocarditis (94%) had an elevated troponin, and 89% had an abnormal ECG, both of which were normal prior to starting therapy. Furthermore, they emphasize of the 51% of patients also with myocarditis, LVEF was normal. Based on these findings, the authors do not recommend pretreatment screening EKG or ECHO; however, they do advise obtaining baseline troponin. Nurses, therefore, anticipate and ensure baseline troponin levels are obtained as part of the pretreatment laboratory assessment on all patients commencing ICI-based therapy.

Clinical suspicion must be maintained by nurses when patients report vague symptoms such as fatigue, weakness, muscle pain, or syncope, with higher suspicion with reports of more typical cardiac symptoms such as chest pain, shortness of breath, lower extremity edema, or palpitations. Patients with underlying cardiac dysfunction require careful monitoring as do patients with evidence of myocarditis, vasculitis, or myositis. Weights should be monitored. For patients presenting with symptoms or concern for evolving cardiotoxicity, nurses should anticipate obtaining N-terminal pro-B-type natriuretic peptide (NT pro-BNP), troponin, and EKG and assisting in the prompt referral to specialty care (Johnson et al. 2016; Madden and Hoffner 2017). Cardiac MRI and/or cardiac biopsy may be requested. The ICI will likely be withheld and, more likely, will be permanently discontinued depending on the severity.

## Molecularly Targeted Therapies

The integration of molecularly targeted agents into the therapeutic landscape for melanoma has contributed to the successes seen not only in metastatic disease but also now in the adjuvant set-Combination **BRAF/MEK** ting. is now considered a standard treatment option for patients with unresectable metastatic melanoma with an identified BRAF V600E or V600 K mutation (Daud and Tsai 2017). At this time there are two combination regimens approved by the FDA: dabrafenib/trametinib and vemurafenib/ cobimetinib. A third combination, encorafenib/ binimetinib, has completed phase III trials with results demonstrating improved ORR and PFS as well as what appears to be a more favorable toxicity profile (Dummer et al. 2017; Daud and Tsai 2017; Flaherty 2017). Data is currently being evaluated by the FDA and is expected to be approved in summer 2018.

As with every cancer therapy, patient education is a fundamental component of the oncology nurse role. With targeted therapy, however, the need for counseling starts way before a treatment plan has been formulated. Anticipatory guidance about targeted therapies includes conveying the guiding principle of this treatment: the presence of a BRAF mutation. Identification of a BRAF mutation within the tumor by an FDA-approved test is critical to ensuring a patient is receiving appropriate therapy and education begins with this concept. It should also be made clear that a BRAF mutation is an acquired mutation, not somatic, as many patients fear a positive BRAF result implies increased risk to offspring.

There are currently two approved mutation tests: cobas® 4800 BRAF V600 which identifies V600E mutations (for vemurafenib plus cobimetinib) and THxIDTM which identifies both V600E and V600K (for dabrafenib plus trametinib). Some institutions may use other assays based on sequencing methods due to improved sensitivity and ability to analyze multiple genes; however, insurance coverage may vary. Because BRAFi are contraindicated in patients with wild-type tumors as they may promote tumor growth by activating MAPK pathway signaling (Czupryn and Cisneros 2017; Rubin 2017b), nurses must be prepared to field questions regarding testing. Nurses are in key positions to anticipate and expedite specific BRAF testing (or retesting), necessary for intended treatment (Czupryn and Cisneros 2017). This is especially important for patients with aggressive disease or those with a heavy symptom burden who need to begin therapy as soon as possible. Minimizing delays may be a matter of life or death and is therefore of the utmost importance.

Targeted agents are administered until disease progression or unacceptable toxicity. The goal of treatment is to prolong survival with minimal impairment of quality of life; therefore, drugrelated AEs require prompt management to ensure patients derive optimal benefit from therapy (Daud and Tsai 2017). BRAF and MEK inhibitors are generally very well tolerated. Several AEs associated with BRAFi or MEKi (e.g., fatigue, nausea, diarrhea) are common with other cancer treatments and have well-reported management strategies; however, there are distinct, classspecific AEs of BRAF inhibitors, MEK inhibitors, as well as characteristic AEs seen with combination BRAFi/MEKi (Czupryn and Cisneros 2017; Daud and Tsai 2017; Rubin 2017b). Anticipating, continuously assessing, promptly recognizing, and managing AEs are a key role of oncology nurses and require a comprehensive understanding of the MOA and etiology of AEs. Nurses with in-depth knowledge of the AE profiles and a thorough understanding of which AEs are most likely attributed to the BRAFi or MEKi possess skills necessary for early identification of AE prompt intervention, thus resultant improved outcomes as well as patient satisfaction.

Targeted therapies are oral agents, thus offering more convenient administration compared with injectable therapies. Furthermore, oral delivery allows alterations in treatment – interruptions and dose reductions – to be made readily (Flaherty 2017). Nonetheless oral delivery has its own challenges that may hamper appropriate use (Czupryn and Cisneros 2017), most notably patient adherence. Nurses improve outcomes by simply anticipating, assessing, and addressing both real and perceived barriers that may influence proper administration and dosing. Barriers include delays in accessing drugs from specialty pharmacies, high copays, difficulties following complex dosing regimens, lack of social supports, reluctance to report AEs, and challenges associated with managing AEs (Kottschade and Reed 2017). When educating patients, nurses must include counseling on proper dosing and administration and drug and food interactions and provide anticipatory guidance about AEs. Counseling about safe sexual practices including pregnancy avoidance for appropriate patients should be a component of the education. Importantly, dabrafenib can interact with hormonal contraceptives (oral pills, injections, or patches); thus when necessary, patients should be referred to their primary care physician or to an obstetrician/gynecologist when necessary. Furthermore, nurses should be prepared to discuss fertility preservation options and/or provide referred to a fertility specialist as necessary prior to initiating therapy (Kottschade and Reed 2017).

Of the novel AEs associated with targeted therapies, pyrexia, by far, is identified as a characteristic and challenging AE associated with BRAFibased therapy, primarily seen with combination dabrafenib/trametinib. Long et al. (2017) reported 5-year safety and efficacy outcomes for patients enrolled on the landmark BRF113220 phase II study. Pyrexia was the most commonly reported AE with the incidence of 69%. It was also the most frequent cause of treatment discontinuation. These findings were similar to those reported by Robert and colleagues (2015) in the COMBI-v trial, comparing combination dabrafenib plus trametinib with vemurafenib. In this study, pyrexia was the most commonly reported AE with combination D/T, and pyrexia was the most common reason for dose interruption or reduction, as well as most common reason for treatment discontinuation. Conversely, results from the COLUMBUS trial demonstrate a low frequency of pyrexia seen with encorafenib monotherapy, as well as when encorafenib was combined with binimetinib (Dummer et al. 2018; Flaherty 2017). The low rate of pyrexia seen with encorafenib and binimetinib (enco/bini) distinguishes this combination from the other combination targeted therapies and will likely have significant clinical implications.

Defined by oral temperature >38.5 °C (101.3 °F) in the absence of clinical or microbiologic evidence of infection (Rubin 2017b), the etiology of pyrexia is not well understood and does not appear to correlate with any predictive baseline characteristics or be predictive of clinical outcome or response to treatment (Daud and Tsai 2017). Some patients will often identify a prodrome prior to the development of fever or significant symptoms of pyrexia, and if this occurs, management should be the same as for established pyrexia syndrome (Atkinson et al. 2016). Management guidelines vary in the literature, but most agree on withholding both dabrafenib and trametinib (Daud and Tsai 2017) and restarting at the same dose once afebrile for 24 hours. Additional recommendations include the use of antipyretics (such as acetaminophen and/or nonsteroidal anti-inflammatories), supportive care strategies such as maintaining hydration, and ensuring patients are adhering to treatment recommendations, particularly those concerning treatment holds or dose adjustments (Czupryn and Cisneros 2017; Rubin 2017b). For recurrent episodes, scheduled administration of antipyretics continued upon reinitiating the targeted therapy can be effective. For patients with persistent pyrexia, a short course of corticosteroids (e.g., prednisone 10 mg daily for 5 days) may be considered. Alternatively, an intermittent dosing schedule can be effective employing full doses of medications. Expert opinion suggests that intermittent dosing is an effective management strategy that is unlikely to impact efficacy and is preferable to dose reduction although randomized clinical trial evidence is lacking (Atkinson et al. 2016; Daud and Tsai 2017). The authors provide an example: if a patient experiences pyrexia syndrome every 2–3 weeks, consider treating for 12 days followed by a 2-day break. Atkinson and colleagues also suggest considering prophylactic corticosteroids (e.g., prednisone 10-25 mg/day), with plans to taper if/when the patient has remained pyrexia free for at least 1 month. Dose reductions should be considered only if intermittent dosing and corticosteroid prophylaxis have failed, with an attempt to escalate doses as tolerated (Daud and Tsai 2017).

Experience may influence how patients are managed. Nonetheless, effective management requires significant clinical support, commonly provided by nurses. This often involves daily phone calls for symptom assessment and management. In addition, frequent clinic visits may be necessary for assessment and/or supportive care (such as IV hydration), not to mention the psychosocial support patients and families should be provided through education and anticipatory guidance. Throughout the process, nurses should be managing expectations and assess coping to minimize anxiety. This level and degree of care is resource and time intensive and require nurses with knowledge, skill, and experience to manage this unique toxicity. The arduous clinical management makes the safety profile of encorafenib/ binimetinib a particularly attractive treatment options given the low incidence of associated pyrexia.

Arthralgias are a common AE more common with BRAFi monotherapy and less so with combination BRAF/ MEKi (Rubin 2017b). Management depends on severity; therefore patient education requires reporting of symptoms including severity and how impactful symptoms are on quality of life. NSAIDs and/or acetaminophen is advised for mild to moderate symptoms, while more severe symptoms may require a dose interruption until symptoms improve and dose reduction when restarting. For recurrent pain, low-dose prednisone can be very effective (Rubin 2017b).

Cutaneous AEs are associated with the available BRAF/MEKi and include rash, pruritus, and photosensitivity (Daud and Tsai 2017). The photosensitivity associated with vemurafenib is of particular clinical significance as it can be seen with even short sun exposures and therefore requires dedicated significant patient education and intervention to minimize UV. Notably results from the COLUMBUS trial (Dummer et al. 2018) demonstrated *low incidence* of photosensitivity with enco/bini. This finding represents yet another distinctive clinical advantage of enco/bini compared to other available combinations in the same class; specifically, it provides a safer option for patients at greater risk of photosensitivity or unwilling to adhere to UV protection.

Nurses should be familiar with rash and pruritus management including generalized skin care strategies: avoidance of harsh soaps, use of tepid (not hot) water for bathing, and daily use of moisturizers to minimize irritation. Anti-itch interventions include adding menthol to moisturizers, cool cloths to focal areas of pruritus, antihistamines, and steroids (topical or oral). Patients should be counseled to avoid direct sun or ultraviolet (UV) exposure. Use of protective clothing and/or sunscreen should be employed to minimize UV exposure. Use of physical sunscreens is preferred over chemical sunscreens as they are less irritating and work as soon as they are applied avoiding the need to apply in advance of UV exposure (Rubin 2017b). Hyperproliferative skin disorders such as keratoacanthoma (KA) and KA-like squamous cell carcinomas (SCCs) are a class effect of BRAFi resulting from paradoxical activation of the MAPK pathway by BRAFi in BRAF wildtype cells. For this reason, it is important to counsel patients to report any new or changing skin lesions, and routine full-body skin examinations (including oral and genitalia) by a dermatology provider are advised. Some skin lesions may resolve without intervention. Other management modalities include excision, cryotherapy, and curettage (Czupryn and Cisneros 2017; Rubin 2017b).

Other AEs are associated with BRAF/MEKi requiring awareness by nurses. Ocular and cardiac effects are rare but warrant awareness to ensure signs and symptoms are recognized and managed appropriately. Guidelines for management are available and should be familiar to nurses. Uveitis and retinal disorders are associated with BRAFi and MEKi, respectively. Ophthalmologic screening is recommended at regular intervals for patients treated with MEKi with or without BRAFi, and patients should be counseled to report any visual symptoms including blurred or double vision, redness of the eyes, or any type of eye pain (Czupryn and Cisneros 2017; Rubin 2017b). Cardiac effects associated with BRAFi include QT prolongation, and with MEKi ventricular dysfunction can be seen. Nurses should ensure baseline EKG and cardiac echocardiogram are obtained pretreatment and repeated at various intervals. Patients with an asymptomatic decrease in LVEF of 10% or greater from baseline require withholding the MEKi. If improvement is seen, agents can be restarted with appropriate dose reduction. If no improvement is seen, MEKi should be permanently discontinued (Daud and Tsai 2017). Anticipatory guidance regarding management of toxicity is essential to minimize patient dissatisfaction. Patients must understand the rationale for management and how it will impact overall treatment goals.

## **Oncolytic Viruses**

Talimogene laherparepvec (TVEC) is first-inclass oncolytic virus derived from a herpes simplex virus-1 (HSV-1). It received FDA approval in October 2015 for local treatment of unresectable cutaneous, subcutaneous, and nodal melanoma metastases (Seery 2017; Rehman et al. 2016). TVEC is a live, attenuated virus, which has been modified to replicate specifically within tumor cells resulting in cell destruction (Seery 2017). The approval of TVEC offers a unique treatment option for a select subset of patients.

The logistics of TVEC administration requires a coordinated effort among multiple departments and personnel. While technically feasible for nurses to administer, at the centers currently offering this therapy, oncologists (medical or surgical) or advanced practice providers (APPs) tend to be the ones administering TVEC (personal communication with V. Seery; personal communication with H. Kaufman). Select nursing staff at various centers have been involved in coordinating and implementing TVEC into their institution and subsequently providing patient (and staff) education.

Providers who are pregnant or immunocompromised should not prepare or administer TVEC, touch a patient injection site(s) or dressing, or encounter any bodily fluids (Seery 2017). Treatment is contraindicated in pregnant or immunocompromised patients, in patients with clinical or laboratory evidence of an active herpetic infection, or in patients who require daily antiviral therapy such as acyclovir (Rehman et al. 2016). Patient education should include a description of treatment logistics, side effects, and postinjection care. The first injection consists of a lower concentration and is given initially to allow all patients to seroconvert if not previously exposed to HSV-1. The second injection is administered 3 weeks later at a higher concentration as are all subsequent injections. Treatment continues every 2 weeks, depending on treatment response and patient tolerability (Seery 2017; Rehman et al. 2016). An occlusive dressing is applied to the injection site(s), and patients should be instructed to keep site(s) covered for at least the first week after each treatment visit or longer if the injection site is weeping or oozing and to replace the dressing if it falls off. Patients should be instructed to avoid touching or scratching the injection sites, even if covered, to prevent the transfer of TVEC, and should be counseled to avoid kissing close contacts if either has an open mouth sore and to use condoms when engaging in sexual activity (Amgen 2017).

Adverse reactions are generally mild and resolve within 2-3 days. Common side effects include fatigue, chills, fever, nausea/vomiting, arthralgias and/or myalgias, and injection site pain (Seery 2017; Amgen 2017). Premedication with acetaminophen and/or nonsteroidal antiinflammatories can prevent or minimize symptoms (Seery 2017); local anesthetics are not required but may be used if a patient has previously experienced significant pain during the injections (Rehman et al. 2016). In rare instances, cellulitis may develop at an injection site; therefore any reports of persistent or worsening erythema or edema or for a fever that persists beyond 48 h warrant evaluation (Seery 2017).

## Central Nervous System Metastases

Approximately 50% of patients with stage IV melanoma will develop brain metastases (Olivia et al. 2017; Venur et al. 2017b; Flanigan et al. 2013) and up to 75% of patients in autopsy series

(Olivia et al. 2017). The presence of BRAF or NRAS mutations increases the risk of CNS metastases in patients with advanced melanoma by 24% and 23%, respectively, compared with a 12% rate in wild-type tumors (Venur et al. 2017b). Common clinical manifestations include headache, neurologic deficits, cognitive impairment, and seizure, yet many patients will be asymptomatic with metastases identified on routine imaging. Though an individual clinical course is difficult to predict, certain prognostic indicators determine survival and thus guide treatment/management decisions. These include age, performance status, comorbidities, extent of systemic (extracranial) disease, number and location of CNS metastases, time from primary tumor diagnosis, the presence of neurologic symptoms, and elevated lactate dehydrogenase (Venur et al. 2017a; Flanigan et al. 2013).

Management strategies are broadly divided into supportive and therapeutic (Venur et al. 2017a). Supportive treatments include corticosteroids to reduce peritumoral edema, antiepileptics for seizure control, and medications to preserve cognitive function. Traditionally, therapeutic strategies focused on local treatment, including surgery, whole-brain radiation therapy (WBRT), and stereotactic radiosurgery (SRS) and often a combination. Novel treatment approaches are being investigated, and early clinical trials with immunotherapy have shown encouraging intracranial activity in patients with asymptomatic brain metastases as have trials with BRAF-directed targeted therapies (Venur et al. 2017b). Combination of radiation and systemic therapy may be used to improve local control.

Caring for patients with CNS involvement is challenging and requires insight and experience by the nursing team. A clinical course for patients with CNS involvement varies considerably, and patients and families require much support. Nursing care must be comprehensive: meeting both the direct physical needs of patients and families (e.g., managing symptoms) while at the same time addressing the psychosocial and emotional responses to and spiritual aspects of cancer.

# Palliative Care/End of Life

Immunotherapy brings with it the promise of meaningful benefit. However, despite advances that have dramatically improved outcomes for so many, there remain a significant number of patients who will not benefit from contemporary therapies and will die of melanoma. When treatment(s) fails, or if risks outweigh perceived benefits of treatment, patients must be informed. Nevidjon and Mayer (2012) advise frank, open, and ongoing discussions to ensure patients, their family/caregivers, and providers are all on the same page and goals of care are clearly described. They go on to explain if a patient does not have an honest picture of the prognosis, a realistic conversation can't even begin about end-of-life care. When it does, concerns about the financial impact of end-of-life care for the individual and his or her family, differences between patient and family wishes, and fears of abandonment from the healthcare providers can overshadow the qualityof-life desires of the individual. These conversations are difficult to conduct in a brief office or inpatient visit, especially if the health of the patient is deteriorating (Nevidjon and Mayer 2012). Ideally, these types of discussions are explored with patients prior to when answers are needed. Within the confines of a therapeutic nurse-patient relationship, nurses should be prepared to bring up difficult topics (Nevidjon and Mayer 2012) such as code status; preference for dying at home, hospital, or hospice house; and exploring the emotional and psychosocial implications of transitioning care from a disease focus to symptom focus.

Nurses provide support though simply listening and encouraging patients to identify what is important to them, correcting any misconceptions they may have about the process of dying, and inquiring about any religious, spiritual, and cultural aspects of care that are important to the patients and should advocate for inclusion into the plan of care. In knowing a patient, the nurse can provide or facilitate care tailored to the needs of the patient. This may include interfacing with family or other caregivers when needed and acting as an advocate for other healthcare providers.

Fundamental to the nursing role is symptom management. Unlike most other malignancies, melanoma commonly metastasizes to the skin, subcutaneous tissue, and lymph nodes. Malignant wounds often develop which can be intensely painful disfiguring tumors that are both physically and psychologically devastating to not only the patient but to caregivers/family (Young 2017). These lesions may weep and bleed and, due to necrosis, often have a terrible odor that causes intense distress and embarrassment. Often the care of the malignant wound takes over the lives of the individuals and their caregivers (Young 2017). Healing is often not a therapeutic reality, instead, the goal wound care with symptom control what Young (2017) calls "palliative wound care." This requires palliative care to be combined with effective wound management with priority given to symptom management and the relief/prevention of pain along with psychological, spiritual, and emotional support. Oncology nurses are ideally positioned to spearhead this type of effort through facilitating interdisciplinary collaboration among palliative care provider(s) and individuals providing wound care, whether that be as part of a home care team such as hospice or visiting nurse service. Goals of wound care must be defined with various providers on the same page regarding management strategies for both physical care and psychological support. When appropriate, oncology nurses provide guidance during the transition to the end of life care. Young (2017) emphasizes how even at the end of life, combining a palliative model of care with effective wound management can significantly enhance the patient's quality of life.

# Survivorship

Cancer survivorship is a term that has gained popularity over the past few decades. It began with the establishment of the National Coalition of Cancer Survivors (NCCS) in 1986 and then later evolved to the Office of Cancer Survivorship at the National Cancer Institute (NCI). The primary intent was recognition of cancer survivors as a unique population with unique needs. Survivorship is defined by the NCI as "the health and life of a person with cancer post treatment until the end of life. It covers the physical, psychosocial, and economic issues of cancer, beyond the diagnosis and treatment phases." To formalize care, the Institute of Medicine defined four major components of survivorship care models: prevention, surveillance, interventions, and coordination.

There is a paucity of data in the literature about melanoma-specific survivorship. The available evidence is analogous to the components identified by IOM and, for the most part, is already included in standard melanoma follow-up care. It is worth mentioning that the term "survivor" has a different meaning to different people (Smith et al. 2015). Oliveria et al. (2011) conducted a series of focus groups with stages I-III melanoma patients diagnosed 1-10 years prior; none were receiving treatment. The respondents varied in how they perceived their diagnosis. Those who did not consider themselves to be a survivor provided reasons such as not a "real" cancer, nor was it as serious as other cancers. One respondent remarked she did not consider herself a survivor as it [the melanoma] was on "the outside of the body, never inside"; therefore it was not interpreted as serious. Another respondent provided a similar reason, stating because it was not metastatic, it was not "real." Some felt the label "survivor" should be reserved for individuals who received chemotherapy, radiation, or other extensive treatment. Another believed that one was not considered a survivor until reaching the 5-year mark from diagnosis (Oliveria et al. 2011; Vogel et al. 2017). Knowing how individuals see themselves influences follow-up care.

Prevention is a critical component of melanoma survivorship due to the higher risk of secondary melanoma and other skin cancers as discussed previously. Through assessment of existing knowledge, nurses can provide tailored education on proper use and application of sunscreens, use of UV protective clothing and hats, and eye protection. Education also includes strategies to reduce ambient and recreational sun exposure: seeking shade when possible, avoiding sunburns and tanning bed usage, and other safe sun practices (Mrazek and Chao 2014). Interestingly, Oliveria et al. (2011) found many survivors become less stringent with UV protection with pasting time, the reason being the desire to "live life" normally by going outdoors, and felt barriers to sun protection presented by lack of convenience. Regular and ongoing nursing assessment identifies those at risk and allows for tailored strategies aimed at increasing independence adherence.

Hereditary forms of melanoma (those with germline mutations in CDKN2A or CDK4) are rare. However, these patients have a high risk of developing multiple primary melanomas as well as increased risk of additional malignancies including pancreatic, breast, and lung (Soura et al. 2016). These individuals are best managed by a multidisciplinary team to address all required subspecialty care and screenings. Nurses should facilitate any appropriate referrals and ensure patients understand the rationale for ongoing follow-up.

Surveillance is an important aspect of follow-up and stems from higher risk of additional skin cancer development (Kasparian et al. 2016; Mrazek and Chao 2014). If not already, patients should be referred to a pigmented lesion clinic or to a dermatology provider skilled in high-risk skin cancer assessment for ongoing surveillance. Patient education should include instructions on skin and lymph node self-examination. Ongoing assessment and reinforcement of proper technique will identify any barriers to adherence. It is also helpful to clarify when and why patients should contact their primary care provider versus oncologist provider (Grant et al. 2010). Interventions focus on symptom management or education for long-term effects of cancer and cancer treatments. Grant et al. (2010) illustrate how interventions can be organized in relation to four domains of quality of life: physical, psychological, social, and spiritual.

Physical interventions are directed at management of symptoms such as lymphedema, pain, or decreased range of motion or addressing physical consequences from disease or treatment such as scar or other body image issues identified (Tan et al. 2014; Oliveria et al. 2011).

Psychological support has been identified as a priority need among individuals with melanoma (Tan et al. 2014; Mrazek and Chao 2014). In a systematic review of published studies, Kasparian

et al. (2009) found approximately 30% of patients diagnosed with melanoma, including long-term survivors, and 20–30% of cancer caregivers reported levels of psychological distress report indicative of the need for clinical intervention. Anxiety and depression are the most commonly reported emotions experienced by melanoma patients (Mrazek and Chao 2014). Despite limited data, results of multiple studies highlight the psychological challenges faced by individuals with or a survivor of melanoma.

The primary goal of melanoma follow-up care is early detection of recurrent disease or new primary melanoma (Mrazek and Chao 2014); however, best practice would suggest that psychological care and support be incorporated into standard follow-up. Interventions include ongoing screening for psychological distress at various time points throughout care, facilitating access to specialty care when necessary (e.g., social work, psycho-oncology, local mental health provider), and promoting effective communication between patients, family members, and healthcare professionals (Wouters et al. 2018).

A melanoma diagnosis and subsequent treatment can affect social supports and family dynamics, often adversely affecting patients and their caregivers. Caregivers may benefit from receiving information/support interventions to address caregiver burden resulting from new roles and responsibilities. Such interventions help caregivers maintain their own psychosocial well-being (Tan et al. 2014). Support groups are another means of effective social support. Group programs are costeffective and provide a safe environment for patients and caregivers to meet to support each other, feel a sense of belonging, develop friendships, and share ideas and thoughts (Tan et al. 2014).

Religion and/or spiritual beliefs are a tremendous source of support for patients and families and can help them cope with cancer (Vogel et al. 2017; Tan et al. 2014). Religious and spiritual preferences should be incorporated into comprehensive care. Churches, synagogues, and other religious institutions are often sources of community support, and efforts should be made to facilitate inclusion into plans of care as appropriate.

# Coordination

Oncology care does not end when treatment ends. Nurses have a significant role in the dissemination and coordination of information between the patient and other healthcare providers (Grant et al. 2010). Simple interventions such as ensuring visit notes are being sent to relevant providers will enhance effective communication. Helping patients to prioritize their health needs and navigate the healthcare system will reduce stress and assisting patients to coordinate appointments among the multiple providers.

## Conclusion

The arsenal of effective treatments for melanoma is expected to expand as result of ongoing research into various combinations and as new agents become available. As treatment options for melanoma expand, so does the role of oncology nurses. Nurses are on the front lines of patient care, play an important role in the multidisciplinary team, and influence treatment adherence and completion of therapy yielding more successful outcomes across the entire disease spectrum. Quintessential to providing effective patient-centered care is taking the time to build a therapeutic nurse-patient relationship. This relationship affords the framework for care and is necessary to provide individualized care that meets the needs of patients and their families.

# References

- Ahmed A, Sadadcharam G, Huisma G et al (2013) Postoperative complications following nodal dissection and their association with melanoma recurrence. ISRN Surgery. https://doi.org/10.1155/2013/382138
- Alessandro F, Shah HJ, Khasrothroni K et al (2018) Multimodality imaging of endocrine immune-related adverse events: a primer for radiologists. Clin Imaging 50:96–103. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinimag.2017.12.014
- Amgen (2017) Imlygic (talimogene laherparepvec) Retrieved 5 Feb 2018 from http://www.imlygic.com/ Safety
- Ashton K (2012) Nursing care of patients undergoing isolated limb procedures for recurrent melanoma of

the extremity. J Perianesthesia Nsg 27(2):94–109. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jopan.2012.01.005

- Atkins MB, Lotze MB, Dutcher JP et al (1999) High-dose recombinant interleukin 2 therapy for patients with metastatic melanoma: analysis of 270 patients treated between 1985 and 1993.J. Clin Oncol 17(7): 2105–2116
- Atkinson V, Long GV, Menzies AM, McArthur G, Carlino MS et al (2016) Optimizing combination dabrafenib and trametinib therapy in BRAF mutation-positive advanced melanoma patients: Guidelines from Australian melanoma medical oncologists. Asia-Pac J Clin Oncol 12(Suppl. 7):5–12. https://doi.org/10.1111/ ajco.12656
- Beesley VL, Smithers BM, Khosrothrani K et al (2015) Supportive care needs, anxiety, depression and quality of life amongst newly diagnosed patients with localised invasive cutaneous melanoma in Queensland, Australia. Psychooncology 24:763–770. https://doi. org/10.1002/pon.3718
- Boyle DA (2003) Psychological adjustment to the melanoma experience. Semin Oncol Nurs 19(1):70–77
- Cassileth BR, Lusk EJ, Tenaglia AN (1983) Patients' perceptions of the cosmetic impact of melanoma resection. Plast Reconstr Surg 71(1):73–75
- Chang C, Cormier JN (2013) Lymphedema interventions: exercise, surgery, and compression devices. Semin Oncol Nurs 29(1):28–40
- Cooper S, de Lord K (2018) The provision of ambulatory systemic anti-cancer therapy. B J Nurs 27(4):S12–S17
- Czupryn M, Cisneros J (2017) BRAF/MEK inhibitor therapy: consensus statement from the faculty of the melanoma nursing initiative on managing adverse events and potential drug interactions. Clin J Oncol Nurs 21 (4 Suppl):11–29. https://doi.org/10.1188/17.CJON. S4.11-29
- Daud A, Tsai K (2017) Management of treatment-related adverse events with agents targeting the MAPK pathway in patients with metastatic melanoma. Oncologist 22:823–833. https://doi.org/10.1634/theoncologist. 2016-0456
- Dimitriou F, Braun RP, Magnana J (2018) Update on adjuvant melanoma treatments. Curr Opin Oncol 30:118–124
- Dummer R, Ascierto PA, Gogas HJ et al (2018) Encorafenib plus binimetinib versus vemurafenib or encorafenib in patients with *BRAF*-mutant melanoma (COLUMBUS): a multicentre, open-label, randomised phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol 19:603–615. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/S1470-2045(18)30142-6
- Dummer R, Ramelyte E, Levesque M et al (2017) Critical aspects to achieve a high-quality melanoma clinic. Curr Opin Oncol 29:145–150. https://doi.org/10.1097/ CCO.000000000000357
- Eggermont AM (2016) Adjuvant ipilimumab in stage III melanoma: New landscape, new questions. Euro Jrnl of CA 69:36–42. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejca.2016.10.009
- Eggermont AM, Blank CU, Mandala M et al (2018) Adjuvant pembrolizumab versus placebo in resected stage

III melanoma [published online April 15, 2018]. NEJM. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1802357

- Eggermont AM, Dummer R (2017) The 2017 complete overhaul of adjuvant therapies for high-risk melanoma and its consequences for staging and management of melanoma patients. Eur J Cancer 86:101–105
- Faries MB, Thompson JF, Cochran AJ et al (2017) Completion dissection or observation for sentinel-node metastasis in melanoma. NEJM 376:2211–2222
- Flaherty KT (2017) In the pipeline: encorafenib and binimetinib in BRAF-mutated melanoma. Clin Adv Hematol Oncol 15(10):745–747. Retrieved 10 Feb 2018
- Flanigan C, Jilaveanu LB, Chiang VL et al (2013) Advances in therapy for melanoma brain metastases. Clin Dermato 31(3):264–281. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.clindermatol.2012.08.008
- Friedman CF, Proverbs-Singh TA, Postow MA (2016) Treatment of the immune-related adverse effects: a review. JAMA Onco 2(10):1346–1353. https://doi. org/10.1001/jamaoncol.2016.1051
- Garbe C, Peris K, Hauschild A (2016) Diagnosis and treatment of melanoma: European consensus-based interdisciplinary guidelines- update 2016. Eur J Cancer 63:201–217
- Gershenwald JE, Scoyler RA, Hess KR et al (2017) Evidence-based changes in the American joint committee on Cancer eighth edition cancer staging manual. CA Cancer J Clin 67:472–492. https://doi.org/10.3322/ caac.21409
- Gonzalez-Rodriguez E, Rodriguez-Eberu D (2016) Immune checkpoint inhibitors: review and management of endocrine adverse events. Oncologist 21:804–816. https://doi.org/10.1634/theoncologist.2015-0509
- Gordon RA, Kasler MK, Stasik K et al (2017) Checkpoint inhibitors: common immune-related adverse events and their management. Clin J Oncol Nurs 21(2 suppl):45–52. https://doi.org/10.1188/17.CJON.S2.45-52
- Grant M, Economou D, Ferrell B (2010) Oncology nurse partnership in survivorship care. Clin J Oncol Nurs 14 (6):709–715. https://doi.org/10.1188/10.CJON.709-715
- Iglesias P (2018) Cancer immunotherapy-induced endocrinopathies: clinical behavior and therapeutic approach. Eur J Intern Med 47:6–13. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.ejim.2017.08.019
- Jansen SJ, Otten W, Stiggelbout AM (2004) Review of determinants of patients' preferences for adjuvant therapy in cancer. J Clin Oncol 22(15):3181–3190. https:// doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2004.06.109
- Johnson DB, Balko JM, Compton ML et al (2016) Fulminant myocarditis with combination immune checkpoint blockade. NEJM 375:1749–1755. https://doi.org/ 10.1056/NEJMoa1609214
- Kasparian NA, McLoone JK, Butow PN (2009) Psychological responses and coping strategies among patients with malignant melanoma: a systematic review of the literature. Arch Dermatol 145(12):1415–1427
- Kasparian NA, Mireskandari S, Butow PN et al (2016) Melanoma: questions and answers. Development and evaluation of a psycho-educational resource for people

with a history of melanoma. Support Care Cancer 24:4849–4859. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00520-016-3339-3

- Kirkwood J, Ribas A (2017) Collaborative care in melanoma: the essential role of the nurse. Clin J Oncol Nurs 21(4 suppl):4–6. https://doi.org/10.1188/17. CJON
- Kottschade LA, Reed ML (2017) Promoting oral therapy adherence: consensus statement from the faculty of the melanoma nursing initiative on oral melanoma therapies. Clin J Oncol Nurs 21(4 suppl):87–96. https://doi. org/10.1188/17.CJON.87-96
- Kurtz J, Beasley GM, Agnese D et al (2017) Surveillance strategies in the follow up of melanoma patients: too much or not enough. J Surg Res 214:32–37. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jss.2017.02.070
- Leiter U, Stadler R, Mauch C et al (2016) Complete lymph node dissection versus no dissection in patients with sentinel lymph node biopsy positive melanoma (DeCOG-SLT): a multicentre, randomised, phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol 17(6):757–767
- Lomax AJ, Nielsen T, Visintin L et al (2017) Clinical nurse consultant support: management of patients with melanoma receiving immunotherapy. Clin J Oncol Nurs 21(4):E93–E98. https://doi.org/10.1188/17.CJON. E93-E98
- Long GV, Hauschild A, Santinami M et al (2017) Adjuvant dabrafenib plus trametinib in stage III BRAF-mutated melanoma. NEJM 377:1813–1823. https://doi.org/ 10.1056/NEJMca1708539
- Madden KM, Hoffner B (2017) Ipilimumab-based therapy. Clin J Oncol Nurs 21(4 Suppl):30–41. https://doi.org/ 10.1188/17.CJON.S4.30-41
- Mahmood SS, Fradley MG, Cohen JV, Nohria A, Reynolds KL et al (2018) Myocarditis in patients treated with immune checkpoint inhibitors. J Am Coll Cardio 24718. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2018.02.037v
- McGettigan S, Rubin KM (2017) PD-1 inhibitor therapy: consensus statement from the faculty of the melanoma nursing initiative on managing adverse events. Clin J Oncol Nurs 21(4 suppl):42–51. https://doi.org/ 10.1188/17.CJON.S4.42-51
- Michot JM, Bigenwald C, Champiat S (2016) Immunerelated adverse events with immune checkpoint blockade: a comprehensive review. EurJ Cancer 54:139–148. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejca.2015.11.016
- Mrazek AA, Chao C (2014) Surviving cutaneous melanoma: a clinical review of follow-up practices, surveillance, and management of recurrence. Surg Clin North Am 94(5):989–1002. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. suc.2014.07.003
- National Cancer Institute (2017) Retrieved 1 Dec 2017 from National Cancer Institute: https://www.cancer. gov/publications/dictionaries/cancer-terms/def/adverseevent
- Napolitano S, Brancaccio G, Argenziano G et al (2018) It is finally time for adjuvant therapy in melanoma. Cancer Treat Rev 69:101–111. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ctrv.2018.06.003 [Epub ahead of print]

- Nevidjon BM, Mayer DK (2012) Death is not an option, how you die is- reflections from a career in oncology nursing. Nurs Econ 30(3):148–152
- Oliveria SA, Shuk E, Hay JL et al (2011) Melanoma survivors: health behaviors, surveillance, psychosocial factors, and family concerns. Psycho-Oncology 22:106–116. https://doi.org/10.1002/pon.2059
- Olivia IG, Tawbi H, Davies M (2017) Melanoma brain metastases: current areas of investigation and future direction. Can J 23(1):68–74. https://doi.org/10.1097/ PPO.00000000000237
- Puzanov I, Diab A, Abdallah K et al (2017) Managing toxicities associated with immune checkpoint inhibitors: consensus recommendations from the Society for Immunotherapy of Cancer (SITC) toxicity management working group. J Immunother 5(1):95. https:// doi.org/10.1186/s40425-017-0300-z
- Rehman H, Silk AW, Kane MP et al (2016) Into the clinic: talimogene laherparepvec (T-VEC), a first-in-class intratumoral oncolytic viral therapy. J Immunother 4(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s40425-016-0158-5
- Ridner SH (2013) Pathophysiology of lymphedema. Semin Oncol Nurs 29(1):4–11. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.soncn.2012.11.002
- Robert C, Karaszewska B, Schachter J et al (2015) Improved overall survival in melanoma with combined dabrafenib and trametinib. N Engl J Med 372:30–39. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1412690
- Rubin KM (2017a) Advances in melanoma: the rationale for the melanoma nursing initiative. Clin J Oncol Nurs 21(4 Suppl):7–10. https://doi.org/10.1188/17. CJON.S4.7-10
- Rubin KM (2017b) MAPK pathway-targeted therapies: care and management of unique toxicities in patients with advanced melanoma. Clin J Oncol Nurs 21(6): 699–709. https://doi.org/10.1188/17.CJON.699-709
- Rueth N, Cromwell KD, Cormier JN (2015) Long-term follow up for melanoma patients: is there any evidence of a benefit? Surg Oncol Clin North Am 24:359–377. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soc.2014.12.012
- Seery V (2017) Intralesional therapy: consensus statements for best practices in administration from the melanoma nursing initiative. Clin J Oncol Nurs 21(4 Suppl):77–86. https://doi.org/10.1188/17.CJON.S4.76-86
- Smith KC, Klassen A, Coa KI, Hannum SM (2015) The salience of cancer and the "survivor" identity for people who have completed acute cancer treatment: a qualitative study. J Can Surviv 10:457–446. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s11764-015-0489-0
- Soura E, Eliades PJ, Shannon K et al (2016) Hereditary melanoma: update on syndromes and management. Genetics of familial atypical multiple mole melanoma syndrome. J Am Acad Dermatol 74:395–407. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.jaad.2015.08.038
- Stacey D, Paquet L, Samant R (2010) Exploring cancer treatment decision-making by patients: a descriptive study. Curr Oncol 17(4):85–93
- Stamataki L, Brunton L, Lorigan P et al (2015) Assessing the impact and diagnosis and the related supportive care

needs in patients with cutaneous melanoma. Suppor Care Oncol 23:779-789

- Sznol M, Postow M, Davies MJ et al (2017) Endocrinerelated adverse events associated with immune checkpoint blockade and expert insights on their management. Cancer Treat Rev 58:70–76
- Tan JD, Butow PN, Boyle FM (2014) A qualitative assessment of psychosocial impact, coping, and adjustment in high-risk melanoma patients and caregivers. Melanoma Res 24(3):252–260. https://doi.org/ 10.1097/CMR.000000000000059
- Tariman JD, Szubski KL (2015) The evolving role of the nurse during the cancer treatment decision-making process: a literature review. Clin J Oncol Nurs 19(5): 548–556
- Tariman JD, Mehmeti E, Spawn N et al (2016) Oncology nursing and shared decision making for cancer treatment. Clin J Oncol Nurs 20(5):560–563. https://doi. org/10.1188/16.CJON.560-563
- Ugurel S, Rohmel J, Ascierto PA et al (2017) Survival of patients with advanced metastatic melanoma: the impact of novel therapies–update 2017. Eur J Cancer 83:247–257. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejca.2017.06.02
- Varricchi G, Galdiero MR, Marone G (2017) Cardiotoxicity of immune checkpoint inhibitors. ESMO 2:e000247. https://doi.org/10.1136/esmoopen-2017-000247
- Venur VA, Funchair P, Kotecha R et al (2017a) Changing treatment paradigms for brain metastases from melanoma- part 1: diagnosis, prognosis, symptom control, and local treatment. Oncology 31(8):602–606. Accessed 24 June 2018
- Venur VA, Funchain P, Kotecha R et al (2017b) Changing treatment paradigms for brain metastases from melanoma- part 2: when and how to use the new systemic agents. Oncology 31(9):659–667. Accessed 24 June 2018
- Vogel RI, Strayer LG, Ahmed R et al (2017) A qualitative study of quality of life concerns following a melanoma diagnosis. J Skin Cancer. https://doi.org/ 10.1155/2017/204
- Weber JS, Yang JC, Akins MB et al (2015) Toxicities of immunotherapies for the practitioner. J Clin Oncol 33(18):2092–2099. https://doi.org/10.1200/ JCO.2014.60.0379
- Weber JS, Kahler KC, Hauschild A (2012) Managment of immune-related adverse events and kinetics of responses with ipilimumab. J Clin Oncol 30(21):2691–2697. https:// doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2012.41.6750
- Wolchok JD, Chiarion-Sileni V, Gonzalez R et al (2017) Overall survival in combination nivolumab and ipilimumab in advanced melanoma. NEJM. https:// doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1709684
- Wouters MW, Michielin O, Bastiaannet E et al (2018) ECCO essential requirements for quality cancer care: melanoma. Crit Rev Oncol 122:164–178. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.critrevonc.2017.12.020
- Young T (2017) Caring for patients with malignant and end-of-life wounds. Wounds UK 13:20–29

# Index

#### A

ACD, 230, 587 Acneiform rash, 756-758 Acral lentiginous melanoma (ALM), 412 cell of origin, 357 initiating and characteristic oncogenic events, 355-357 Acral melanoma, 412-435 definition and epidemiology, 412-413 genetic alterations, 414-417 management and prognosis, 433-435 mutational landscape, 416-417 nail apparatus, 430-433 on palms and soles, 417-429 pathogenesis, 413 Activities of daily living (ADLs), 745 Adenovirus, 709 Adjuvant radiation, 796 Adjuvant therapy biochemotherapy, 721, 728-730 checkpoint inhibitors, 731-734 indications, 718 interferons, 721 predictive biomarkers, 719 prognostication, 718-719 prognostic biomarkers, 720 radiotherapy, 720 signaling inhibitors, 734-735 vaccines, 730-731 Adoptive cell therapy (ACT), 652, 653, 661 Adverse events (AEs) chemotherapy-induced, 762-766 CTCAE grading system, 745 cutaneous AE, 745-755 ircAEs, 745-755 targeted therapy, 755-762 AKT, 68 Allovectin-7 (Vical Inc), 526, 730 Alpha diversity, 292 American Joint Committee on Cancer (AJCC), locoregional disease, 516 American Joint Committee on Cancer (AJCC) melanoma staging system, 486, 489 conditional survival, 496 distant metastasis assessment, 491-492

primary tumor assessment, 486-489 regional lymph node assessment, 489-491 survival analysis, 496 Angiogenesis, 150, 152, 156, 157 Anti-CTLA-4 inhibition, 655-656 Anti-CTLA-4 therapy, 574 Anti-melanoma immunity, requirements for, 653-654 Anti-PD-1 inhibition, 656 Arnold-Chiari malformation, 376 Arthralgias, 810 Artificial intelligence applications in malignant melanoma, 610 barriers to implementation and limitation, melanoma diagnosis, 617-618 clinical integration, 620 comprehensive data, 619 consumer opinion, 616 definition, 601 dermatological image databases, 609 dermatology, 608 electronic health records, 604-605 imaging databases, 608-609 medical imaging, 605-608 mobile apps, 616 ophthalmology, 607 pathology, 607-608 potential harms, 618 radiology, 606 regulation, melanoma diagnosis, 618 resilience and generalizability, 620 role in melanoma diagnosis, 616-618 Attention deficit hyperactivity disorder, 375 Atypical Spitz tumor, 399 molecular diagnostics, 635, 636, 640 AURKA, 415 Australian SunSmart program, 275 Autoimmune hepatitis, 803 Autophagy, 107, 111, 116, 118 5'-Aza-2'-Deoxycytidine (5-Aza), 88

**B** Bacille Calmette-Guérin (BCG), 524 BAP1, 211–213, 228, 404, 456, 586–587, 631, 635, 640 BBB, *see* Blood brain barrier (BBB)

© Springer Science+Business Media, LLC, part of Springer Nature 2019 D. E. Fisher, B. C. Bastian (eds.), *Melanoma*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-7147-9 Beta diversity, 292 Biochemotherapy, 721 Blood brain barrier (BBB), 540-542 Blue nevi, 137 cell of origin, 351 clinical and histologic presentation, 350-351 definition, 349-350 initiating oncogenic event, 351 risk for melanoma, 351-352 Body surface area (BSA), 747, 754 BRAF, 65-67, 166, 304, 312, 313, 318, 322, 416 dabrafenib, 671, 674, 676, 681 fusion 631 + MEK inhibition, 673-675, 775 mutant melanoma, 681 and NRAS mutations, 167 and RAS, 167 resistance, 675-677 trametinib, 673, 674, 676, 678, 680, 681 V600, 677 vemurafenib, 671, 672, 674, 676, 681 BRAF inhibitor (BRAFi), 572, 735, 755, 756, 758, 761, 763, 766 therapy, 691 Brain tumor assessments, 572 BRCA1, 589 BRCA2, 589 Breslow thickness, 486, 488 Brg/Brahma-associated factors (BAF) complex, 93 Bromodomain (BrD), 91 Bullous pemphigoid (BP), 753-754

# С

Cancer survivorship, 813 Canine melanoma models, 321, 322 Carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA) gene, 701 Cardiac toxicities, 778 Cardiotoxicity, 807 β-Catenin, 74-75, 319 C-C chemokine receptor 4 (CCR4), 542 CCND1, 414 CDK4/6, 71-72 CDK4, 586 CDKN2A, 227-228, 403-404, 414 Cell line xenografts, 305 Central nervous system metastases, 811-812 CHEK2 gene, 589 Chemotherapy, 546, 800 Chemotherapy-induced cutaneous adverse events, 762-766 hypersensitivity, 766 phototoxicity, 766 Chimeric antigen receptors (CAR), 661 Chromatin interacting protein complexes, 93-94 Chromosomal copy number alterations in melanoma, 128, 138, 630, 631, 633, 635, 639, 646 Class activation maps, 616 Clostridium difficile colitis, 297

CNS melanoma, 376, 390-391 Cobas[®] 4800 BRAF V600, 808 Cobimetinib, 172 Collaborative Ocular Melanoma Study (COMS), 461 Colorectal cancer, 292 Combination immune checkpoint inhibition, 656-657 Common acquired nevi cell of origin, 344 clinical and histologic features, 339-344 initiating oncogenic events, 344 risk for melanoma, 345 senescence and factors, 344-345 Common Terminology Criteria for Adverse Events (CTCAE), 745, 748-755, 763 Comparative genomic hybridization (CGH), 630-636, 641, 645 Comprehensive integrative analysis epigenetic analysis, 204 genomic classification, 190 integrative pathway analysis, 194 mRNA expression signatures, 202-204 structural aberrations, in melanoma, 196 Confetti/Brainbow mouse line, 310 Congenital melanocytic nevus (CMN) cell of origin, 348 classification for clinical management, 368-369 clinical and histologic presentation, 345-347 clinical features, 373-379 cutaneous classification, 367 cutaneous features, 373-375 definition, 345, 366 dermoscopy features in, 378-379 endocrinological and metabolic abnormalities, 377-378 epidemiology, 370-371 ethnicity, gender and environmental factors, 371 facial features in, 377 genetic testing, 383-387 genotypic classification, 367 germline predisposition, 373 histopathological features, 379-383 incidence, 371 initiating oncogenic event, 347-348 management, 387-391 melanoma in, 371 melanoma risk, 349 mosaicism, 372 mutations in, 372-373 naevus spilus type, 370 neurological manifestations, 375-378 pathogenesis of, 372-373 rhabdomyosarcoma, 378 senescence and factors, 349 tardive, 370 Congenital nevi, 137, 366-392 Conjunctival melanocytic neoplasms, 136-137 Conjunctival melanoma, 459-460 clinical features, 459 cytogenetic abnormalities, 457

histopathology, 458 metastatic disease, 463 molecular pathology, 456 ocular investigations, 461 systemic investigations, 464 treatment, 462 treatment for metastatic disease, 464 Content based image retrieval (CBIR), 616 Convolutional neural networks, 602, 614 Copy-neutral rearrangements, 128-130 Copy number variations (CNV), 128, 630, 631, 633, 635, 639, 646 cutaneous melanoma, 184 uveal melanoma, 210 Coxsackievirus A21 (CVA21), 708 CpG-island methylator phenotype (CIMP), 204  $C \rightarrow T$  mutations, 54, 55, 59 Culturomics, 292 Cutaneous adverse events chemotherapy-induced, 762-766 ircAEs, 745-755 targeted therapy, 755-762 Cutaneous melanoma, 250, 257, 390 Australian SunSmart program, 275 copy number variations, 184 first generation sequencing, 183-184 gender and calendar period, 254-255 genomic classification, 190-194 early detection, 280 economics of prevention, 277-278 German screening program, 280-281 hats/clothing/shade, 277 histologic subtypes, 494 historical background, 273 host susceptibility factors, 260-263 hotspot non-coding mutations, 189-190 integrative epigenetic analysis, 194-196 integrative pathway analysis, 194-196 international variation, 250-251 interventions on melanoma rates, 278 medical conditions, 263-264 mRNA expression profiles, 199-201 non-coding RNA, 207-208 population health interventions, 274 race and ethnicity, 252-254 recurrent synonymous mutations, 190 risk prediction models, 263 screening, 281, 282 solar and artificial UV radiation, 258-260 solar UV index, 273-274 stage groupings for, 493 structural abberrations, 196 sunbeds, 278-280 sunscreen, 276-277 survival, 256 targeted screening program, 281-282 temporal acquisition of mutations and tumor heterogeneity, 196-198 TNM staging for, 487

transcriptions factors, 198–199 U.S. population-based data, 251–252 whole exome and whole genome sequencing, 184–189 Cutaneous toxicities, 766 Cyclin dependent kinase 4 (*CDK4*), 228 Cytotoxic therapy, 652, 688 Cytotoxic T-lymphocyte associated antigen 4 (CTLA4), 654, 655, 745, 778

## D

Dabrafenib, 170, 798 Dandy-Walker malformation, 376 Dasatinib, 735 Data mining, 602 Dct::LacZ mice, 309-310 DecisionDx-Melanoma, 201, 720 DeCOG-SLT study, 511 Deep learning classification model, 604 Dermal melanocytosis, 349, 351 Dermoscopic diagnosis of melanoma on nail apparatus, 431-432 on palms and soles, 418-425 Desmoplastic melanoma (DM), 134, 479, 480, 720 clinical features, 471 differential diagnosis, 475-477 FNB features, 474 genetic features, 475 histopathological features, 471-473 immunohistochemistry, 474-475 prognosis, 478 radiotherapy, 477-478 sentinel lymph node biopsy, 477 surgery, 477 systemic therapy, 478 Dietary intervention, 298 Distant metastasis assessment, 491 DNA copy number changes, 128, 405, 406, 630, 631, 633, 635, 639, 646 DNA demethylation, 88 DNA methylation, 85 DNA methyltransferase (DNMT) enzyme, 85 DNA methyltransferase (DNMT) inhibitors, 89 DNA photoproducts, 54, 56, 58 DNA repair, 236-237 DNA sequencing, 638 Dormancy, 149 in metastatic melanoma, 149-151 Driver mutation analysis, 385-386 Driver mutations, 182 Drug reaction with eosinophilia and systemic syndromes (DRESS), 754, 756 Dysplastic nevi, 340, 345

## Е

Eczematous eruptions, 747 Edn3 receptor, 12 EIF1AX, 456 Electronic health records, 604-605 Embryonic development, 4, 5, 14 Embryonic stem (ES) cells, 6 Encorafenib, 171 Endocrine toxicity, 784 Endocrinopathies, 804 Endothelin receptor B (EdnrB), 12, 320, 540 Endothelins, 540 Epidermal tumors, 759-760 Epigenetics, 84, 644 Epigenetic silencing, tumor supressor genes, 85-87 Epithelial-mesenchymal-transition transcription factors (EMT-TFs), 199 Equine melanoma models, 322, 323 ERK1/2 pathway, 65-67 ERK inhibitors, 172 Eumelanin, 25 Excision technique margins of surgical resection, 503-506 sentinel node biopsy, 506-508 Exome sequencing, 230, 240 Extracranial metastases (ECMs), 536 EZH2, 206

#### F

Familial atypical multiple mole melanoma syndrome (FAMMM), 585 FDG PET/CT, immunotherapy response, 573 FDG PET imaging, 563 sentinel lymph nodes, 565-566 surveillance role, 577 Fecal microbiota transplant (FMT), 297 Fine needle aspiration biopsy (FNAB), 211, 474 Flat-topped proliferations, 374 Fluorescence in situ hybridization (FISH), 632, 636-637, 645 limitations of, 638 vs. myPath[®] gene expression, 641 prognosis, 637-638 Fluorescent imaging, for sentinel lymph nodes, 567 Folliculitis, 756–758 FoxD3, 10 Free hand SPECT system, 565 Fusion kinase, 402, 403, 406

## G

Gastric cancer, 292 Gastrointestinal (GI) effects, 802 Gastrointestinal toxicity, 781, 782 Gastrointestinal (GI) tract, 294 Gene expression analysis, 640–641 limitations, 641–642 myPath[®] gene expression vs. FISH, 641 non-invasive, 641 prognosis, 642 Genetically engineered mouse (GEM) models, 307 Genetic counselling, CMN, 386–387 Genetic discrimination protections, resources for, 592 Genetics of melanoma, 138, 140 Genetics of nevi, 134 Genetic testing technology, 591-592 impact of, 593-594 test results, 592-593 Genome-wide association studies (GWAS), 231-232 Genomics, 344, 352, 355, 357, 359, 360 German screening program, 280 Glabrous skin, 134, 412 GNA11, 69, 455 GNAQ, 69, 455 Graft-versus-host disease (GVHD), 659 Granulocyte-macrophage colony stimulating factor (GM-CSF), 700 GTPase activating protein (GAPs), 168 Gut-associated lymphoid tissue (GALT), 289 Gut dysbiosis, 294 Gut microbiota, 289, 298

## H

H3K27me3, 644 Hand-foot reaction, 760-761, 763 Head and neck MM (HNMM), 442, 449 Health insurance discrimination, 593 Hepatic toxicity, 782, 783 Hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC), 294 Hereditary melanoma, risk assessment, 589-591 High cumulative sun-induced damage (high-CSD) melanomas, 133-134 High-dose IFN-α (HDI), 721, 728, 729 High-dose interleukin 2 (HD IL-2), 654-655 Histone deacetylase (HDAC) inhibitors, 91-93 Histone modifications, 89-91 Histone variants, 93 Hotspot mutation, 182 Hotspot promoter mutations, 190 HOX transcript antisense RNA (HOTAIR), 95 HRAS, 402, 630, 631, 635 5-Hydroxymethylcytosine (5-hmC), 89, 644 Hypersensitivity, 766 Hyperthermic isolated limb perfusion (HILP), 521 Hypophysitis, 804 Hypoxia, 100, 104, 107, 113, 116, 118

#### I

Imatinib, 176, 735
Imlygic[®], 730
Immune checkpoint(s), 654
blockade, 294, 295, 297
Immune checkpoint inhibitors (ICIs), 745, 749, 751, 755, 779
Immune-related adverse events (irAEs), 656, 657, 745–746, 797
bullous pemphigoid (BP)-like reaction, 753–754
cardiotoxicity, 807
endocrine-relates, 804

gastrointestinal (GI) effects, 802 immune toxicity, 803 lichen planus/lichenoid eruption, 752-753 nephritis, 807 neurologic toxicity, 806 ocular and orbital toxicity, 807 overarching principles, 746-747 pneumonitis, 803 pruritus, 747-752 rash, 747 SCARs, 754-755 skin, 802 vitiligo, 752-753 xerostomia and mucositis, 806 Immune toxicity, 803 Immunogenic cell death, 703-704 Immunohistochemistry, 474-475, 643 and epigenetics, 644 genetic alterations, detection of, 644-645 for immune checkpoint blockade, 645 Immunohistochemistry (IHC), 658 Immuno-oncology, 175 Immunotherapy, 548-549, 572 and chemotherapy combination, 688-689 FDG PET/CT, 573 and targeted therapy combination, 689-690 toxicity of, imaging, 574 with anti-PD1 antibodies, 688 Incidence, cutaneous melanoma, see Cutaneous melanoma Indocyaninine (ICG) dye method, 562 Inflammatory bowel disease (IBD), 289 Interferons (IFN-α), 721, 797 Intergroup Melanoma Surgical Trial, 503 Interleukin-2, 800 International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC), 251 International Skin Imaging Collaboration (ISIC), 610 Intralesional cytokines, 524 Intralesional therapy, 524 In-transit metastases, 491 Intraparenchymal melanosis, 376 Ipilimumab, 655, 659, 731, 745, 797 Ipilimumab and vemurafenib combination, 690 Isolated limb infusion (ILI), 521, 523 Isoprenyl cysteine methyltransferase, 167

## J

Janus kinase-signal transducer and activator of transcription (JAK-STAT) pathway, 539–540 Juvenile melanoma, 396

# K

KIT, 415, 681
 inhibitors, 176
 mutations, 136, 415–416, 446, 449
 KSR proteins, 166

#### L

Laboratory markers, 492 Lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) levels, 492 LacZ gene, 309 Lentigo maligna melanoma (LMM), 354 Leptomeningeal disease, 376 Leptominingeal melanocytosis, 345 Lichen planus (LP)/lichenoid eruption, 753 Limb perfusion and infusion, 796 Lineage specification, 7, 10, 12 Liquid biopsy approach, 495 Local invasion, 148, 149, 151-153 Locoregional recurrent melanoma combining intralesional therapies, 529 definition, 516 initial evaluation, 517-519 lymphoscintigraphy, 517 radiation, 527 randomized controlled trial, 516 systemic therapies, 528 topical agents, 527 treatment options, 519-529 ultrasound imaging, 517 unknown primary evaluation, 518 Long non-coding RNA (IncRNA), 94, 208 Low cumulative-sun-damage (low-CSD) melanocytic neoplasm, 131-133, 358 Lung metastases, removal of, 576-577 Lymphangiogenesis, 151, 153, 155, 158, 159 Lymphatic mapping technique, 490 Lymphatic vessels, 151, 153, 156 Lymphoscintigraphy, 561, 562, 565

## M

Machine learning, 601 Major histocompatibility complex (MHC), 658 Malignant Spitz tumor clinical features, 401 clinical management, 401 definition, 400 histopathologic features, 401 Masson bodies, 380 Mass spectrometry, 645 MBM, see Melanoma brain metastasis (MBMs) MEK inhibitor (MEKi), 172, 176, 673, 735, 755, 756, 758, 760, 762, 765 Melanin, 22, 25 Melanoblasts, 7, 379 Melanocortin 1 receptor (MC1R) mutation, 30, 34, 36, 40, 43, 44, 65, 588 Melanocyte, 4, 23-27, 55 metabolism, 104-106 stem cells, 31, 32 Melanocytic neoplasia epithelial melanocytes, 130 MAPK/Gaq signaling, activation of, 139-141 mutational processes, 124-127 non-epithelial melanocytes, 137

Melanocytic neoplasia (cont.) p16/cyclin/CDK/Rb pathway, disruption of, 141 structural alterations, 127-130 telomerase activity, 141 Melanocytic neoplasia, molecular diagnostics DNA based testing, 630-640 protein based testing, 643-645 RNA based testing, 640-643 Melanocytomas, 138 Melanocytosis, 376 Melanoma-associated antigen 1 (MAGEA1), 88 Melanoma brain metastasis (MBMs) blood brain barrier, 540-542 brain capillaries, 542 cancer cells, 536 CCR4, 542 chemotherapy, 546 clinical imaging, 543 dabrafenib and trametinib, 550 endothelins, 540 extracranial metastases, 536 immunosuppression, 543 immunotherapy, 548-549 ipilimumab and nivolumab, 549 JAK-STAT pathway, 539-540 MAPK pathway, 537-538 microarray analyses, 537 miRNA expression, 542 PI3K-AKT pathway, 538-539, 550 pro-tumor macrophages/microglia, 543 surgery and radiation, 544-545 targeted therapy, 546-548 therapeutic synergy, 550 tumor microarray, 542 VEGF pathway, 540 whole brain radiation therapy, 544 Melanomagenesis, 304 Metabolism amino acid, 110-112 definition, 100 glucose, 110 lipid, 112-113 melanocyte, 104 oxygen, 104 ROS and mitochondrial, 114-116 sugar, 108-110 Meta-data, 602 Metastatic adenopathy, 563 Metastatic melanoma, 519, 520, 522, 524, 526-528, 536, 539, 540-543, 546-549 chemotherapy, 799 staging, 489-492 immune checkpoint inhibitor, 654-661, 800-802 interleukin-2, 800 irAEs (see Immune-related adverse events (irAEs)) Methylated-CpG island recovery assay (MIRA)-seq, 87 Methylated DNA immunoprecipitation (MeDIP), 87 5-Methylcytosine (5-mC), 85 Microbiome

cancer therapy, 292-295 diarrhea, 297 FMT, 297-298 gut, 289 in melanoma, 295-297 profiling, 292 skin, 289-292 Microenvironment, 108, 113, 116 Microphthalmia-associated transcription factor (MITF), 25, 32, 33, 35, 39, 88, 588 E318K MITF mutations, 588 MicroRNAs (miRNA), 94, 642-643 Microsatellites, 491 Miescher's nevi, 340 Minichromosome maintenance proteins (MCM), 200 Missing heritability, 238–239 Mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathway, 64-67, 84, 537-538, 745, 755, 759, 760, 774 Mitotic rate, 488-489 Molecular targeted therapy, 808–811 MolemapperTM app, 617 Mouse, 305 melanoma models, 305 xenograft models, 305-321 mT/mG mouse line, 310 ^{99m}Tc and indocyanine imaging agent, for sentinel lymph node detection, 566 ^{99m}Tc-tilmanocept, 562 Mucosal melanoma (MM), 136, 264-265 clinical presentation, 443-444 epidemiology, 442-443 pathogenesis, 446 radiation, 448-449 surgery, 447-448 systemic treatment, 449-450 tumor behavior, 444-446 Multicenter Selective Lymphadenectomy Trial (MSLT-I), 510-511 Multicenter Selective Lymphadenectomy Trial (MSLT-II), 512 Multiple CMN, 389 Multispectral optoacoustic imaging (MSOT), 567 MutSig, 191 Myeloid derived suppressor cells (MDSCs), 654

## Ν

Nab-paclitaxel, 691 Naevus spilus, 370 National Comprehensive Cancer Network (NCCN), 518 Nephritis, 807 Neural crest, 4 in vivo, 6 Neural crest stem cells (NCSCs), 4, 5 Neurocutaneous melanosis, 345 Neuroid bodies, 380 Neuroid type proliferations, 374 Neurologic toxicity, 806 Neurotization, 375 Neurotropic DM (NDM), 720 Neurotropism, 473, 475, 477, 478, 480 Nevus (nevi), 250, 254, 256, 260, 263, 267, 339-351 blue nevi, 349 common acquired and dysplastic nevi, 339 congenital nevi, 345, 365-391 Spitz, 133, 396-399, 402-405, 426 Nevus number, 234–236 Next generation (massive parallel) sequencing, 292, 495, 658 limitations, 640 in molecular diagnostics, 638-640 prognosis, 640 NF1 gene, 167, 168, 680-681 Nivolumab, 656, 658, 797 Nodular melanoma, 353 Non-coding RNAs (ncRNAs), 84, 94 Non-invasive gene expression testing, 641 Non-mammalian melanoma models, 323, 325 Non-nodal locoregional disease, 491 Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs), 762 NRAS, 312, 314, 315, 319, 320, 416, 456 mutated melanomas, 677 mutations, 167 NUAK2, 416 Nucleotide excision repair (NER), 125 Nursing care, 812 Nutrients, 100, 103, 104, 107, 111, 116, 117

## 0

Ocular melanoma, 252, 264–267 Ocular toxicities, 777–778, 807 Oncology nurse, 793 adverse event management, 808 coordination, 793 imunotherapy, 800 management strategies, 801 role of, 795, 799 Oncolytic viral therapy, 786 Oncolytic viruses, 657 Optoacoustic imaging, 567

## P

```
Palliative wound care, 813
Panniculitis, 762
Paranasal sinus, 442, 444
P14arf /CDKN2A, 586
PARK2, 239
Paronychia, 758–759, 764
Passenger mutation, 183
Patient-derived xenografts (PDX), 305, 306
Pattern recognition, 601
Pelvic computed tomography (CT) scans, 576
```

Pembrolizumab, 797 Pheomelanin, 25 Phosphatase and tensin homologue (PTEN), 68, 69, 71, 85 Hamartoma syndrome, 589 phosphatidyl-inositol 3'-kinase (PI3K), 67-69 Phosphatidyl-inositol 3-kinase-protein kinase B (PI3K-AKT) pathway, 538-539 Photo acoustic imaging, 560, 567 Photoproducts, 54, 56 Photoprotection, melanoma prevention, 58 Photosensitivity, 761, 765 Phototoxicity, 766 Pigmentation, 22, 23, 26, 29, 30 eye, 32 genetics, 232-234 facultative, 40 hair, 30 and melanomagenesis, 43 molecular pigment, 34 skin, 30 Pigmented lesions, mucosa melanotic macule, 440-441 multifocal pigmentation, systemic causes of, 441-442 neoplastic pigmentation, 442 oral melanoacanthoma, 441 reactive pigmentation, 441 smoker's melanosis, 441 Pigmented spindle cell nevus dermoscopy, 398 histopathology, 398 PLX3603, 170 Pneumonitis, 803-804 Point mutations, 124-127 Polycomb repressive complex (PRC), 93 Post-zygotic mosaicism, 372 POT1, 587 PRAME, 456, 643 Predictive biomarkers, 719 Prenatal nevi, 370 PREX, 69, 71 Primary tumor assessment mitotic rate, 488 tumor thickness, 486-488 ulceration, 488 Prognostic biomarkers, 720 Programmed death 1 (PD-1), 731, 745 Proliferation, 304, 312, 313, 315, 316, 318, 320, 324 Proliferative nodules, 346, 349, 635.645 CMN, 374, 382 Protection of telomeres 1 (POT1), 229 Pruritus, 747-752 Psoriatic T cell, 291 Pulmonary toxicity, 783 PV-10 (Provectus, Inc.), 526 Pyrexia, 776

## R

Rac signaling pathway, 70-71 Radial base machine (RBM) modeling, 201, 720 Radiation recall dermatitis, 761–762 Radiation sensitivity, 761-762 Radiotherapy, 477-478, 652, 720-721 RAF inhibitors, 169 paradox, 173-174 RAF kinase, 167 RANO criteria, 573 RAS, 64, 66, 67, 167 activation, 167 GTPase activity, 168 Ras associated domain family protein 1A (RASSF1A), 86 Rash, 747, 756, 763 Reactive oxygen species (ROS), 126 RECIST criteria, 572 Recurrence risk, 795 Refractory pruritus, 388 Regional lymph nodes basins, clinical exam, 490 lymphatic mapping technique, 490 SLN biopsy, 490 Regional metastasis, sentinel lymph node biopsy, 563 Regorafenib, 170 Resistance, 168, 174-175, 177 Retinal pigment epithelium (RPE), 458 Reverse transcriptase polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR)-based techniques, 494 Rhabdomyosarcoma, 378 Rho proteins, 70 Rigvir, 708 Risk Factors for cutaneous melanoma, see Cutaneous melanoma R26R-Confetti, 7 rs498136, 237

## S

Satellite lesions, 153, 491 Satellite nevi, 370 Scalp CMN, 374 Senescence, 304, 305, 312, 313, 315, 319, 320 Sentinel lymph node biopsy, 477 DeCOG-SLT study, 511 lymphoscintigram, 509, 510 MSLT-I, 510-511 MSLT-II, 512 prognostic factors, 510 technique of, 508-510 Serum marker addition, in melanoma surveillance, 577 Severe cutaneous adverse reactions (SCARs), 754-755 SF3B1, 456 Shelterin complex mutations, 229 Short chain fatty acids (SCFAs), 289 Sicca syndrome, 806

Signal cell RNA sequencing (scRNA seq), 659 Signaling cell, 100, 104 pathways, 104 and senescence, 106-108 Single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNP), 631, 641 Single photon imaging method, 561 Skin cancer prevention, 273, 275, 278 Skin microbiota autoimmune disorder, 291 psoriasis, 291 Skin-related adverse events, 802 Skin toxicity, 777 SLN biopsy, 490 Society for Immunotherapy of Cancer (SITC), 660 Solar UV index, 273 Solitary CMN, 388-389 Sorafenib, 170 Sox10, 9 SPECT/CT-aided sentinel lymph node excision (SLNE), 564, 565 Spitz nevus, 630, 631, 633, 635, 637, 642, 645 atypical spitz tumor, 399 characteristic features, 396 classification, 396 clinical appearance, 397 clinical features, 396-397 clinical management, 398-400 description, 396 genetics, initiating events in, 401-402 histopathologic features and subtypes, 397-398 HRAS, 402 kinase fusions, 402-403 secondary genetic alterations, 403 targeted therapy, 406 Spitzoid melanoma, 399, 402, 405 Spitz tumors, 133 Squamous cell carcinomas (SCC), 759, 760 SRS, see Stereotactic radiosurgery (SRS) 16s sequencing, 292 Stereotactic radiosurgery (SRS), 545 Steven Johnson syndrome (SJS), 751, 754, 756 Suberoylanilide hydroxamic acid (SAHA), 92 Sunbeds, 278 Sunscreen, 276 Superficial spreading melanoma (SSM), 353 Supervised learning, 602 Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results (SEER), 251, 256, 264, 265 Survival, 252, 255-257, 263, 265, 266 Swine melanoma models, 323

#### Т

Talimogene laherparepvec (T-VEC), 525, 657, 700, 707, 730, 811 Tanning, 23, 35, 39, 40, 44, 46 Tardive CMN, 370 Targeted screening program, 281 Targeted therapy, 652, 660, 755-757 BRAF + MEK inhibition, 688 BRAF, 546, 548 vs. BRAF inhibitor monotherapy, 774 characteristics, 668 clinical trials, 546 dabrafenib, 546 dabrafenib and trametinib combinations, 774 epidermal tumors, 759-760 folliculitis and acneiform rash, 758 hair changes, 759 hand-foot reaction (hyperkeratosis), 760-761, 763 and immuno-oncology, 175 and immunotherapy combination, 689 KIT inhibitors, 175-176, 681-683 MAPK pathway, 547 MEK and ERK inhibitors, 172-173 MEK inhibition, 673 melanocytic proliferations and new primary melanomas, 760 melanoma genetics, 668-670 NF1 loss of function, 680-681 NRAS mutated melanomas, 677-680 panniculitis, 762 paronychia, 758-759, 764 photosensitivity, 761 PI3K-AKT pathway, 547 radiation sensitivity and radiation recall dermatitis, 761-762 RAF inhibitors, 169-172 RAS, 167-168 rash, 756 with BRAF/MEK inhibitors, 737 TAZ, 75 T-cell receptor (TCR), 653, 654, 661 Tcf/Lef family, 12 Technology literacy, 617 Teledermatology, 617 Teledermoscopy, 617 Telomerase activity, 141-142 Telomerase reverse transcriptase gene (TERT), 229, 403-404, 415, 587 Telomere related genes, 587 Telomeres, 228-230 Ten eleven translocation (TET) proteins, 88 TERF2IP, 230, 587 5' Terminal oligopyrimidine tract (5'TOP), 189 The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA), 84 THxID™. 808 Thyroid dysfunction, 805 TNM staging system vs. risk assessment, 496 Total body skin exams (TBSE), 594 Toxic epidermal necrolysis (TEN), 751, 754, 756 Trametinib, 798

Transforming growth factor beta (TGF-beta), 660 T regulatory cells (T regs), 654 *Triple WT* melanomas, 192 Tumor cell of origin, 14 Tumor infiltrating lymphocytes (TIL), 661 Tumor microarray (TMA), 542 Tumor mutational burden (TMB), 658 Tumor tropism, 702–703 Type 1 diabetes, 805

## U

Ulceration, 488 Ulixertinib, 173 Ultrasound, sentinel lymph nodes, 566 Ultraviolet radiation (UVR), 22, 52, 54, 56, 58, 273 exposure, 339 Unna's nevus, 340 Unsupervised learning, 603 UVB, 53, 54, 57 Uveal melanoma, 209 clinical features, 458 copy number variations, 210 cytogenetic abnormalities, 457 first generation sequencing, 209-210 future studies, 214-216 gene expression profile, 456 histopathology, 457, 458 incidence of, 454 metastatic disease, 463 molecular pathology, 455-456 mRNA/miRNA expression profiling, 211 next-generation sequencing, epigenetics and integrative analysis, 211-214 ocular investigations, 460 prognostication, 462, 463 systemic investigations, 463 treatment, 461 treatment of metastatic disease, 464 UV-signature mutations, 54, 57

#### V

Variant of uncertain significance (VUS), 593 Vascular endothelial factors (VEGFs), 150, 152, 158, 540 receptors (VEGFRs), 170 Vemurafenib, 170, 171 and ipilimumab combination, 690 Viral-based therapy, 700 Viral vaccines, 704–706 Virus-engineered dendritic cells, 710 Vitamin D resistant rickets, 378 Vitiligo, 750, 752–753 Vorinostat, 92 Vulvovaginal mucosa, 440

## W

Wegner-Meissner bodies, 380 Whole body imaging, metastatic disease identification, 559 Whole brain radiation therapy (WBXRT), 544, 545 Whole genome copy number analysis, 386 Whole metagenomic sequencing (WMS), 292 Wide local excision, 506, 508, 510, 511 Wnt/β-catenin, 12 Wnt signaling pathway, 72-75

Xerostomia and mucositis, 806

# Y

Х

Yes associated protein, 70

## Z

Zebrafish, 324, 325 Z/EG mouse line, 310